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INTRODUCTION 

A  REVIEW  OF    THE  EMPIRE,   WITH   PARTICULAR  REFERENCE 

TO  THE  COLONIAL  WORLD' 

By  lady  LUGARD 

The  land  surface  of  the  earth  is  estimated  to  extend  over  about  52,500,000 
square  miles.  Of  this  area  the  British  Empire  occupies  nearly  one-quarter, 
extending  over  an  area  of  about  12,000,000  square  mUes.  By  far  the  greater 
portion  lies  within  the  temperate  zones,  and  is  suitable  for  white  settlement. 
The  notable  exceptions  are  the  southern  half  of  India  and  Burma;  East,  West, 
and  Central  Africa;  the  West  Indian  Colonies;  the  northern  portion  of  Aus- 

tralia; New  Guinea,  British  Borneo,  and  that  portion  of  North  America  which 
extends  into  Arctic  regions.  The  area  of  the  territory  of  the  empire  is 
divided  almost  equally  between  the  southern  and  the  northern  hemispheres, 
the  great  divisions  of  Australasia  and  South  Africa  covering  between  them  in 
the  southern  hemisphere  5,308,506  square  miles,  while  the  United  Kingdom, 
Canada,  and  India,  including  the  native  states,  cover  between  them  in  the 
northern  hemisphere  5,271,375  square  miles.  The  alternation  of  the  seasons 
is  thus  complete,  one-half  of  the  empire  enjoying  summer,  while  one-half  is  in 
winter.  The  division  of  territory  between  the  eastern  and  western  hemi- 

spheres is  less  equal,  Canada  occupying  alone  in  the  western  hemisphere 
3,653,946  square  miles,  while  Australasia,  South  Africa,  India,  and  the  United 
Kingdom  occupy  together  in  the  eastern  hemisphere  6,925,975  square  miles. 
As  a  matter  of  fact,  however,  the  eastern  portions  of  Australasia  border  so 
nearly  upon  the  western  hemisphere  that  the  distribution  of  day  and  night 
throughout  the  empire  is,  like  the  alternations  of  the  seasons,  almost  complete, 
one-half  enjoying  daylight,  while  the  other  half  is  in  darkness.  These  alter- 

nations of  time  and  of  seasons,  combined  with  the  variety  of  soils  and  climates, 
are  calculated  to  have  an  increasingly  important  effect  upon  the  material  and 
industrial,  as  well  as  upon  the  social  and  political  developments  of  the  empire. 
This  will  become  evident  in  considering  the  industrial  productions  of  the 
different  divisions,  and  the  harvest  seasons  which  permit  the  summer  produce 
of  one  portion  of  the  empire  to  supply  the  wmter  requirements  of  its  other 
markets,  and  conversely. 

The  empire  contains  or  is  boimded  by  some  of  the  highest  mountains,  the 
greatest  lakes,  and  the  most  important  rivers  of  the  world.  Its  climates  may 
be  said  to  include  all  the  known  climates  of  the  world;  its  soils  are  no  less 
various.  In  the  prairies  of  central  Canada  it  possesses  some  of  the  mos*  \  Su- 

able wheat-producing  land;  in  the  grass  lands  of  the  interior  of  Austr;  j,  the 
best  pasture  country;  and  in  the  uplands  of  South  Africa  the  most  \  Juable 
gold  and  diamond-bearing  beds  which  exist.  The  United  Kmgdom  at  present 
produces  more  coal  than  any  other  single  country  except  the  United  States 

[  '  Reproduced,  hj  permission,  from  the  new  volumes  of  the  EneyelopiBdia  Brittumiea, 
London  and  New  York,  1903.    Copyright,  1903,  by  The  Encyclopsedia  Britannica  Co.] 
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(which  exceeded  the  British  output  in  1900).  The  effect  of  climate  through- 
out the  empire  in  modifying  the  type  of  the  Anglo-Saxon  race  has  as  yet 

received  only  partial  attention,  and  conclusions  regarding  it  are  of  a  somewhat 
empiric  nature.  The  general  tendency  in  Canada  is  held  to  be  towards  some- 

what smaller  size,  and  a  hardy  active  habit;  in  Australia  to  a  tall,  slight,  pale 
development  locally  known  as  "cornstalkers,"  characterised  by  considerable 
nervous  and  intellectual  activity.  In  New  Zealand  the  type  preserves  almost 
exactly  the  characteristics  of  the  British  Isles.  The  South  African,  both 
Dutch  and  British,  is  readily  recognised  by  an  apparently  sun-dried,  lank,  and 
hard  habit  of  body.  In  the  tropical  possessions  of  the  empire  where  white 
settlement  does  not  take  place  to  any  considerable  extent  the  individual  alone 
is  affected.  The  type  undergoes  no  modification.  It  is  to  be  observed,  in 
reference  to  this  interesting  aspect  of  imperial  development,  that  the  multi- 

plication and  cheapening  of  channels  of  communication  and  means  of  travel 
throughout  the  empire  will  tend  to  modify  the  future  accentuation  of  race 
difference,  while  the  variety  of  elements  in  the  vast  area  occupied  should  have 
an  important,  though  as  yet  not  scientifically  traced,  effect  upon  the  British 
imperial  type. 

POPULATION  OF  THE   EMPIRE 

The  white  population  of  the  empire  reaches  a  total  of  upwards  of  52,000,000 
or  about  one-eighth  of  its  entire  population,  which,  including  native  races,  is 
estimated  at  something  over  430,000,000.  The  white  population  includes 
some  French,  Dutch,  and  Spanish  peoples,  but  is  mainly  of  Anglo-Saxon  race. 
It  is  distributed  roughly  as  follows: 

United  Kingdom  and  Ireland    41,454,578 
Australia    4,.600,000 
Canada— French   1,400,000 

EngUsh   3,800,000    5,200,000 

Africa — Dutch   )  ^  nnn  nnn 

British  f    1,000,000 
India    100,000 
West  Indies  and  Bermuda    100,000 

62.454,578 

These  figures  must  be  taken  only  as  approximate.  In  some  cases  census 
details  are  out  of  date,  and  official  estimates  have  been  accepted. 

The  native  population  of  the  empire  includes  types  of  the  principal  black, 
yellow,  and  brown  races,  classing  with  these  the  high-type  races  of  the  East, 
which  may  almost  be  called  white.    It  is  distributed  as  follows: 

India 

British  Provinces  )  Mainlv  hiffh  tvne    )   231,085,132 
Native  States         h      t °  l^^    ̂ ^'  f   63,181,569 
British  Tracts        )       °^°^^  )        ......  607.710 

294,874.411 

The  population  of  India  is  divided  into  118  groups,  on  the  basis  of  language. 
These  may,  however,  be  collected  into  twelve  principal  groups  as  follows: 

Aryo-Indic 
Dravidlan 
Eolarian 
Gypsy 

Ehasi 
Tibeto-Burman 
Mon  Annam 

Shan 

Sinitic 

Aryo-Iranic Semitic 
Aiyo-European 



THE   COLONIAL   WOELD 

Eastern  Colonies 

Ceylon — High  type,  brown  and  mixed    3,391,000 
Straits  Settlements — Brown  and  mixed    267,073 

Chinese  yellow    228,000 
Hong-Kong— Chinese  yellow    211,000 

Brown    1,901 
North  Borneo— Mixed  brown    200,000 

4,298,974 

Of  the  various  races  which  inhabit  these  Eastern  dependencies  the  most 
important  are  the  2,000,000  Sinhalese  and  the  750,000  Tamil  that  make  up 
the  population  of  Ceylon.  The  rest  is  made  up  of  Malays,  Chinese  (in  the 
Straits  Settlements  and  Hong-Kong),  Dyaks,  Eurasians,  and  others. 

West  Indies 

The  West  Indies,  including  the  continental  colonies  of  British  Guiana  and 
Honduras,  and  seventeen  islands  or  groups  of  islands,  have  a  total  coloured 
population  of  about  1,600,000.  The  colonies  of  this  group  which  have  the 
largest  coloured  populations  are: 

Jamaica — Chiefly  black,  some  brown  and  yellow   626,000 
Trinidad— Black  and  brown    244,000 
Briti$h  Guiana— Black  and  brown   270,000 

1,139,000 

The  populations  of  the  West  Indies  are  very  various,  being  made  up  largely 
of  imported  African  negroes.  In  Jamaica  these  contribute  four-fifths  of  the 
population.  There  are  also  in  the  islands  a  considerable  number  of  imported 
East  Indian  coolies  and  some  Chinese.  The  aboriginal  races  include  American 
Indians  of  the  mainland  and  Caribs.  With  these  there  has  been  intermixture 
of  Spanish  and  Portuguese  blood,  and  many  mixed  types  have  appeared. 
The  total  European  population  of  this  group  of  colonies  amounts  to  upwards 
of  80,000,  to  which  15,000  on  accoimt  of  Bermuda  may  be  added. 

Africa South    )    n,i«fl,w.,.t    i   5,000,000 
Central  f   d^efly  black    j   3,000.000 

The  aboriginal  races  of  South  Africa  were  the  Hottentots  and  Bushmen. 
The  Hottentots  are  a  yellow-skinned  race  with  crisp  light  hair.  The  Bush- 

men, who  appear  to  have  been  a  lower  order  of  the  same  race,  are  believed  to 
be  the  aboriginal  type  of  the  Abatwa  or  pigmy  race  of  Central  Africa.  Both 
these  races  are  rapidly  diminishing  in  numbers,  and  in  British  South  Africa 
it  is  expected  that  they  will  in  the  course  of  the  twentieth  century  become 
extinct.  Besides  these  primitive  races  there  are  the  dark-skinned  negroids 
of  Bantu  stock,  commonly  known  in  their  tribal  groups  as  Kaffirs,  Zulus, 
Makalakas,  Bechuanas,  and  Damaras,  which  are  again  subdivided  into  many 
lesser  groups.  The  Bantu  compose  the  greater  part  of  the  native  population. 
There  are  also  in  South  Africa  Malays  and  Indians  and  others,  who  during  the 
last  two  himdred  years  have  been  introduced  from  Java,  Ceylon,  Madagascar, 
Mozambique,  and  British  India,  and  by  intermarriage  with  each  other  and 
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with  the  natives  have  produced  a  hybrid  population  generally  classed  together 
under  the  heading  of  the  Mixed  Races.  These  are  of  all  colours,  varying  from 
yeUow  to  dark  brown.  The  tribes  of  Central  Africa  are  as  yet  less  Imown. 
Many  of  them  exhibit  racial  characteristics  allied  to  those  of  the  trices  of  South 
Africa,  but  with  in  some  cases  an  admixture  of  Arab  blood. 

East  Africa 

Proteotorate-Blackandbrown{^^-«-|         :::!::      ''1^;^ Zanzibar — Black  and  brown   250,000 
Uganda— Estimated  in  1899   3,800,000 

6,550,000 
West  Africa 

Nigeria — Black  and  brown— Estimated  in  1900   35,000,000 

Lagos              )                   f    3,000,000 
Gold  Coast       I    Caiiefljr   J    1,500,000 
Sierra  Leone  f     black    1    260,000 
Gambia           J                   (.    14,000 

4,774,000 

From  east  to  west  across  Africa  the  aboriginal  nations  are  mostly  of  the 
black  negroid  type,  their  varieties  being  only  imperfectly  known.  The  tend- 

ency of  some  of  the  lower  negroid  types  has  been  to  drift  towards  the  west 
coast,  where  they  still  practise  cannibalistic  and  fetish  rites.  On  the  east 
coast  are  foimd  much  higher  types  approaching  to  the  Christian  races  of 
Abyssinia,  and  from  east  to  west  there  has  been  a  wide  admixture  of  Arab 
blood  producing  a  light  brown  type.  In  Uganda  and  Nigeria  a  large  propor- 

tion of  the  population  is  Arab  and  relatively  light-skinned. 

Australasia 
Australia — Black,  very  low  type   

Chinese  and  half  castes,  yellow   
New  Zealand — Maoris,  brown   
Fiji — Polynesian,  black  and  brown   
New  Guinea — Polynesian,  black  and  brown   

200,000 

50,000 
40,000 

121,700 
250,000 

661,700 

The  native  races  of  Australia  and  the  Polynesian  groups  of  islands  are 
divided  into  main  types  known  as  the  dark  and  light  Polynesian.  The  dark 
type,  which  is  black,  is  of  a  very  low  order,  and  in  some  of  the  islands  still 
retains  its  cannibal  habits.  The  aboriginal  tribes  of  Australia  are  of  a  low- 
class  black  tribe,  but  generally  peaceful  and  inoffensive  in  their  habits.  The 
white  Polynesian  races  are  of  a  very  superior  type,  and  exhibit,  as  in  the  Maoris 
of  New  Zealand,  characteristics  of  a  high  order.  The  natives  of  New  Guinea 
are  in  a  very  low  state  of  civilisation.  The  estimate  given  of  their  numbers  is 
approximate,  as  no  census  has  been  taken. 

Canada 

Indians— Brown   100,000 

The  only  coloured  native  races  of  Canada  are  the  Red  Indians,  many  in 
tribal  variety,  but  few  in  numbers. 
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Summary 

Native  Popclations  op  Pmncipai.  Divisions  of  the  Ehfibb 

India    294,874,411 
Ceylon  and  Eastern  Colonies    4,398,974 
West  Indies    1,650,000 
South  Africa    5,000,000 
British  Central  Africa    3,000,000 
East  Africa    6,550,000 
West  Africa    40,000,000 
Australasia  and  Islands    661,000 
Canada    100,000 

356,134,385 
White  populations   52,454,578 

Giving  a  total  of   408,588,963 

This  is  without  taking  into  account  the  population!  of  the  lesser  crown  colonies 
or  allowing  for  the  increase  likely  to  be  shown  by  a  later  census.  Throughout 
the  empire,  and  notably  in  the  United  Kingdom,  there  is  among  the  white  races 
a  considerable  sprinkling  of  Jewish  blood. 

The  latest  calculation  of  the  entire  population  of  the  world,  including  a 
liberal  estimate  of  650,000,000  for  peoples  not  brought  under  any  census, 
gives  a  total  of  something  over  1,500,000,000.  The  population  of  the  empire 
may  therefore  be  calculated  as  amounting  to  something  more  than  one-fourth 
of  the  population  of  the  world. 

DIVISIONS  AND   GROWTH  OF  THE  EMPIRE 

It  is  a  matter  of  first  importance  in  the  geographical  distribution  of  the 
empire  that  the  five  principal  divisions,  the  United  Kingdom,  South  Africa, 
India,  Australia,  and  Canada,  are  separated  from_  each  other  by  the  three 
great  oceans  of  the  world.  The  distance  as  usually  calculated  in  nautical 
miles:  from  an  English  port  to  the  Cape  of  Good  Hope  is  5,840  miles;  from 
the  Cape  of  Good  Hope  to  Bombay  is  4,610;  from  Bombay  to  Melbourne  is 
5,630;  from  Melbourne  to  Auckland  is  1,830;  from  Auckland  to  Vancouver 
6,210;  from  Halifax  to  Liverpool  is  2,744.  From  a  British  port  direct  to 
Bombay  by  way  of  the  Mediterranean  it  is  6,272;  from  a  British  port  by  the 
same  route  to  Sydney  11,548  miles.  These  great  distances  have  necessitated 
the  acquisition  of  intermediate  ports  suitable  for  coaling  stations  on  the  trade 
routes,  and  have  determined  the  position  of  many  of  the  lesser  crown  colonies, 
which  are  held  simply  for  military  and  commercial  purposes.  Such  are  the 
Bermudas,  Gibraltar,  Malta,  Aden,  Ceylon,  the  Straits  Settlements,  Labuan, 
Hong-Kong,  which  complete  the  chain  of  connection  on  the  eastern  route, 
and  such  on  other  routes  are  the  lesser  West  African  stations  —  Ascension, 
St.  Helena,  the  Mauritius,  and  Seychelles,  the  Falklands,  Tristan  d'Acunha, 
and  the  groups  of  the  western  Pacific.  Some  of  the  latest  annexations  of 
the  British  Empire  have  been  rocky  islets  of  the  northern  Pacific  required  for 
the  purpose  of  telegraph  stations  in  connection  with  an  all-British  cable. 

For  purposes  of  political  administration  the  empire  falls  into  the  three 
sections  of  the  United  Kingdom  of  Great  Britain  and  Ireland,  with  the  depend- 

encies of  the  Channel  Islands  and  the  Isle  of  Man;  the  Indian  Empire,  con- 
sisting of  British  India  and  the  feudatory  native  states;  and  the  colonial 

empire,  comprising  all  other  colonies  and  dependencies. 
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In  the  modem  sense  of  extension  beyond  the  limits  of  the  United  Kingdom 
the  growth  of  the  empire  is  of  comparatively  recent  date.  The  Channel  Islands 
became  British  as  a  part  of  the  Norman  inheritance  of  William  the  Con- 

queror. The  Isle  of  Man,  which  was  for  a  short  time  held  in  conquest  by 
Edward  I  and  restored,  was  sold  by  its  titular  sovereign  to  Sir  William  Scroop, 
earl  of  Wiltshire,  in  the  year  1393,  and  by  his  subsequent  atta,inder  for  high 
treason  and  the  confiscation  of  his  estates,  became  a  fief  of  the  English  crown. 
It  was  granted  by  Henry  IV  to  the  earls  of  Stanley,  and  held  by  them  and 
their  collateral  descendants  imtU  the  sovereignty  and  revenues  of  the  island 
were  finally  surrendered  to  the  crown  in  1765.  With  these  exceptions  and 
the  nominal  possession  taken  of  Newfoundland  by  Sir  Humphrey  Gilbert  in 
1583,  all  the  territorial  acquisitions  of  the  empire  have  been  made  in  the  seven- 

teenth, eighteenth  and  nineteenth  centiu-ies. 
The  following  list  of  British  colonies  and  dependencies  shows  the  date  and 

manner  of  theu*  acquisition: 
Method  of  Acqaieition 

Possession  taken  by  Sir  H.  Oilbert  for  the  crown. 

Seventeenth  Century 

Captured.    Settled  \>j  East  India  Clompany,     1651. 
Oovemment  vested  in  British  crown,1833. 

Settlement. 

»» 

"  (•  Ceded  to  France  1632  ;  recovered  1713. 

'•  [•  Ceded  to  France  ;  recovered  1713. 

,,  A  second  time  in  1817. 

Conquered. 
Settlement. 

Settlement  under  royal  charter  of  Hudson  Bay  Com- 
pany. Purchased  1869,  and  transferred  to  Canada 

1870. 

Eighteenth  Century 

Name Date 
Newfoundland     . 1583 

St.  Helena    . 

Se 

1600 

Barbadoes    . 1605 
Bermudas     . 1609 
Prince  Edward  Island  . 1626 

Nova  Scotia . 1626 

New  Brunswick   . 1636 
St.  Christopher    . 

1623 

Nevis   .... 1628 
Bahamas 1639 
Gambia 1631 
Antigua 1632 
Leeward  Islands  . 1632 
Jamaica 1655 
Gold  Coast    . 1661 
N.-W.  Territories  of  Canada I         1670 

Name 
Gibraltar 
Ontario 

Quebec 
Dominica 
St.  Vincent  . 
Grenada 
Windward  Islands 
Tobago 
Falkland  Islands 
Honduras 
Sierra  Leone 
N.  S.  Wales 
Ceylon  . 
Trinidad 

Date 

1704 
1759-1790 
1759-1790 1763 

1763 
1763 
1763 

1763 
1765 

1783-1786 
1787 
1788 
1795 
1797 

Capitulation. 

Method  of  Acqaisition 

Settlement. Treaty. 

Settlement. 

Capitulation. 

Malta    . 
British  Guiana 
St.  Lucia      , 

1800 
1803 
1803 

Nineteenth  Century 

Capitulation. 
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Nineteenth  Century  (Continued) 
Name 

Tasmania     .        .        .        . 
Cape  of  Good  Hope 
Seychelles    .         .         .         . 
Mauritius      .         .         .         . 

Ascension  and  Tristan  d'A- 
cunha 

West  Australia    . 
South  Australia 
New  Zealand 

Hong-Kong  . 
Natal    .... 
Labuan 
Turks  and  Caicos  Islands 
Victoria 
British  Columbia . 

Date 
1803 
1806 
1806 
1810 

1815 

1829 
1836 
1840 

1843-1861 1844 
1846 
1848 
1851 
1858 

Settlement. 

Capitulation. 

Method  of  Acqaisltion 

Straits  Settlements  1868 

Queensland  .        .        .  1859 
Lagos    1861 
Manitoba      ....  1870 
Fiji    1874 
West  Pacific  Islands,  includ-  1877 

ing  Union,  Ellic6,  Gilbert, 
Southern    Solomon,    and 
other  groups 

Cyprus         ....  1878 
North  Borneo       .        .  1881 
Niger  Coast  or  S.  Nigeria    .  1884 
British  New  Guinea     .         .  1884 
Becbuanaland       .         .         .  1885 
Nigeria         ....  1886 

Somaliland  ....  1887 
Sarawak       ....  1888 
Brunei          .                  .         .  1888 
British  East  Africa       .         .  1888 

Rhodesia      ....  1889 
British  Central  Africa  .  1891 

Federated  Malay  States        .  1874-1895 
Uganda         ....  1894-1896 
Pacific  Islands  —  Christmas,  1898 

Fanning,     Penrhyn,     Su- 
warrow 

Wei-hai-Wei        .        .        .  1898 
Orange  River  Colony  .        .  1900 
Transvaal     ....  1900 

Military  occupation. 

Settlement. 

Settlement  and  treaty. 
Treaties.     Kowloon  on  the  mainland  added  in  1861. 
By  separation  from  Cape. 
Cession. 

Separation  from  Bahamas. 
Separation  from  N.  S.  Wales. 
Settlement  under  Hudson  Bay  Company .  Transferred 

to  crown  1869.  Entered  Canadian  Confederation 
1871. 

Vested  in  crown  by  East  India  Company.  Trans- 
ferred from  Indian  to  colonial  possessions,  1867. 

By  separation  from  N.  S.  Wales. 
Cession. 

By  separation  from  N.-W.  Territory. 
Cession. 

By  international  agreement.  High  commission  created 
by  order  in  council,  giving  jurisdiction  over  islands 
not  included  in  other  colonial  governments,  nor 
within  jurisdiction  of  other  civilised  powers.  Tonga 
and  Cook  Islands  annexed  to  New  Zealand  1900. 

Occupied  by  treaty. 
Treaty  and  settlement  under  royal  charter. 
Protectorate  declared. 

Treaty,  conquest,  and  settlement  under  royal  charter. 
Transferred  to  crown,  incorporated  with  Niger 
Coast  Protectorate  and  divided  into  N.  and  S. 

Nigeria,  1900. 
Protectorate  declared. 

Treaty,  conquest,  and  settlement  under  royal  charter. 
Transferred  to  crown  1895. 

Treaty,  conquest,  and  settlement  under  royal  charter. 
Protectorate  declared. Treaty. 

Protectorate  declared. 

Annexed  for  purposes  of  projected  Pacific  cable. 

Lease  from  China. 
Annexation. 
Annexation. 

In  the  Pacific  there  are,  in  addition  to  the  possessions  already  mentioned, 
Bauman  Islands,  Bakir  Island,  Bell  Cay,  Bird  Island,  Bramble  Cay,  Caroline 
Island,  Cato  Island,  Coral  Island  and  Dudosa,  Danger  Island,  Ducie  Island, 
Flint  Island,  Rowland  Island,  Humphrey  Island,  Jarvis  Island,  Lihow  Island, 
Little  Scrub  Island,  Maiden  Island,  Manihiki  Islands,  Nassau  Island,  Palmer- 
ston  Island,  Palmyra  Island,  Phoenix  group  of  Islands,  Pitcaim  Island,  Purdy 
group,  Raine  Island,  Rierson  Island,  Roggewein  Island,  Sophia  Island,  Star- 
buck  Island,  Surprise  Island,  Teinhoven  Island,  Vestoc,  Washington  or  New 
York  Island,  Willis  group,  Wreck  Reef,  Macquarie  Island,  Rotuma  Island, 
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and  islands  adjacent  to  British  New  Guinea.  Among  the  dependencies  of 
New  Zealand  should  be  mentioned  the  Kennadec  Islands, 

In  the  Indian  Ocean  there  are,  besides  the  colonies  already  mentioned, 
Seychelles,  Rodrigues,  the  Chagos  Islands,  St.  Brandon  Islands,  Amirante 
Islands,  AJdabra  and  some  other  small  groups.  There  are  also  the  Kuria- 
Muria  Islands,  the  Maldive  Islands,  and  the  Ashmore  Islands.  * 

In  America  there  is  all  land  which  lies  to  the  north  of  the  Canadian  prov- 
inces, with  the  exception  of  the  United  States  territory  of  Alaska  and  its 

dependencies. 
The  Indian  section  of  the  empire  was  acquired  during  the  same  three  cen- 

turies under  a  royal  charter  granted  to  the  East  India  Company  by  Queen 
Elizabeth  in  1600.  It  was  transferred  to  the  imperial  government  in  1858, 
and  Queen  Victoria  was  proclaimed  empress  under  the  Royal  Titles  Act  in 
1877.  The  following  list  gives  the  dates  and  methods  of  acquisition  of  the 
centres  of  the  main  divisions  of  the  Indian  Empire.  They  have,  in  most 
instances,  grown  by  general  process  of  extension  to  their  present  dimensions. 

The  nine  provinces  are: 

Name  Date  Method  of  AcqaiBltion 

Madras         ....    1639-1748    B7   treatj   and    subsequent    conquest.      Fort  St. 
George,  the  foundation  of  Madras,  was  the  first 
territorial  possession  of  the  East  India  Company  in 
India.  It  was  acquired  by  treaty  with  its  Indian 
ruler.  Madras  was  raised  into  a  presidency  in  1683 ; 
ceded  to  France  1746 ;  recovered  1748. 

Bombay        ....    1608-1685    Treaty  and  cession.     Trade  first  established  1608. 
Ceded  to  British  crown  by  Portugal  1661.  Trans- 

ferred to  East  India  Company  1668.  Presidency 
removed  from  Snrat  1685. 

Bengal  ....    1633-1765    Treaty  and  subsequent  conquests.  First  trade  settle- 
ment established  by  treaty  at  Pipli  in  Orissa  1633. 

Erected  into  presidency  by  separation  from  Madras 
1681 .  Virtual  sovereignty  announced  by  East  India 
Company,  as  results  of  conquests  of  Clive,  1765. 

N.-W.  Provinces  and  Oudh    1764-1856    By  conquests   and  treaty,  of  which   the   principal 
dates  were  1801-3-14-15.  In  1882  the  nominal 
sovereignty  of  Delhi,  till  then  retained  by  the  great 
Mughal,  was  resigned  into  the  hands  of  the  East 
India  Company.  Oudh,  of  which  the  conquest 
may  be  said  to  have  begun  with  the  battle  of 
Baxar  in  1768,  was  finally  annexed  in  1856.  It 
was  attached  as  a  commissionership  to  the  N.-W. 
Provinces  in  1879. 

Central  Provinces        .        .    1802-1817    By  conquest  and  treaty. 
Assam  ....    1825-1836    Craiquest  and  cesmon. 
Burmah        ....     1824-1852    Conquest  and  cession. 
Punjab  ....  1849  Conquest  and  annexation.  Made  into  distinct  prov- ince 1859. 

N.-W.  Frontier  Province     .         1901         Subdivision. 

The  senior  commissionerships  are  : 
Ajmere  and  Merwara  .         .  1818  By  conquest  and  cession. 
Coorg   1834  Conquest  and  annexation. 
British  Baluchistan      .         .  1841-1876  Conquest  and  treaty. 
Andaman  Islands         .        .         1858  Annexation 

The  following  is  a  list  of  the  principal  Indian  states  or  agencies  which  are 
more  or  less  under  the  control  of  the  British  government: 

Hyderabad  Kashmir 
Baroda  Sikkim 
Mysore  Shan  States 
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Rajputana  States,  including 
UdaipuT  Dholpur 
JodhpuT  Alwar 
Bikaner  Jhalawar 
Jaipur  (and  feudatories)  Tonk 
Bburtpur  Kotah 

Central  Indian  States,  including 
Indore  Bhopal 
Rewa  Gwalior 

Bombay  States,  including 
Cutcb  Ebairpur  (Sind) 
Kolbapur  (and  dependencies) 

Madras  States,  including 
Travancore  Cocbin 

Central  Provinces  States 
Bastar 

Bengal  States 
Coocb  Bebar  HUl  Tipperdi 

N.-W.  Provinces  States,  including 
Rampur  Garbwal 

Punjab  States,  including 
Patiala  Sirmur  (Naban) 
Babawulpur  Maler  Eotla 
Jind  Faridkot 
Nabba  Cbamba 
Eapurtbala  Suket 
Mandi  Ealsia 

In  addition  to  these  there  are  British  tracts  known  as  the  Upper  Burma 
frontier  and  the  Burma  frontier.  There  is  also  a  sphere  of  British  influence 
in  the  border  of  Afghanistan.  The  state  of  Nepal,  though  independent,  has 
been  since  the  campaign  of  1814^^15  in  close  relations  with  Great  Britain. 
All  these  native  states  have  come  into  relative  dependency  upon  Great  Britain 
as  a  result  of  conquest  or  of  treaty  consequent  upon  the  annexation  of  the 
neighbouring  provinces.  The  settlement  of  Aden,  with  its  dependencies  of 
Perim  and  Socotra  Island,  forms  part  of  the  government  of  Bombay. 

ADMINISTRATION   OP  THE   EMPIRE 

This  vast  congeries  of  states,  widely  different  in  character,  and  acquired 
by  many  different  methods,  holds  together  under  the  supreme  headship  of  the 
crown  on  a  generally  acknowledged  triple  principle  of  self-government,  self- 
support,  and  self-defence.  The  principle  is  more  fully  applied  in  some  parts 
of  the  empire  than  in  others;  there  are  some  parts  which  have  not  yet  reached 
their  full  political  evolution;  some  others  in  which  the  principle  is  tempo- 

rarily or  for  special  reasons  in  abeyance;  others,  again  —  chiefly  those  of  very 
small  extent,  which  are  held  for  purposes  of  the  defence  or  advantage  of  the 
whole  —  to  which  it  is  not  applicable;  but  the  principle  is  generally  acknowl- 

edged as  the  structural  basis  upon  which  the  constitution  of  the  empire  exists. 
In  its  relation  to  the  empire  the  home  section  of  the  British  Isles  is  dis- 

tinguished from  the  others  as  the  place  of  origin  of  the  British  race  and  the 
residence  of  the  crown.  The  history  and  constitutional  development  of  this 
portion  of  the  empire  will  be  found  fully  treated  under  separate  headings. 

The  total  revenue,  expenditure,  and  trade  of  the  home  section  of  the 
empire  in  1900  were  as  follows : 

Revenue    £119,839,905 
Expenditure    133,976,920 
Imports    563,146,659 
Exports        ...                   387,522,633 
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It  is  enough  to  say  that  for  purposes  of  administration  the  Indian  Empire 
is  divided  into  nine  great  provinces  (of  which  the  ninth,  the  N.-W.  Frontier, 
was  proclaimed  in  1901)  and  four  minor  commissionerships.  The  nine  great 
provinces  are  presided  over  by  two  governors  (Bombay  and  Madras),  four 
lieutenant-governors  (Bengal,  North- West  Provmces,  the  Punjab,  and  Burma) 
and  three  chief  commissioners  (Assam,  the  Central  Provinces,  and  the  N.-W. 
Frontier  Province).  The  four  minor  commissionerships  are  presided  over 
each  by  a  chief  commissioner.  Above  these  the  supreme  executive  authority 
in  India  is  vested  in  the  viceroy  in  council.  The  council  consists  of  five  ordi- 

nary members  besides  the  existing  commander-in-chief.  For  legislative  pur- 
poses the  governor-general's  council  is  increased  by  the  addition  of  sixteen 

members  nominated  by  the  crown,  and  has  power  under  certain  restrictions 
to  make  laws  for  British  India,  for  British  subjects  in  the  native  states,  and 
for  native  Indian  subjects  of  the  crown  in  any  part  of  the  world.  The  admin- 

istration of  the  Indian  Empire  in  England  is  carried  on  by  a  secretary  of  state 
for  India  assisted  by  a  council  of  not  less  than  ten  members.  The  expenditure 
of  the  revenues  is  imder  the  control  of  the  secretary  in  council. 

The  total  revenue,  expenditure,  and  trade  of  India  for  1900  were  as  follows : 

Revenue    £67,617,800 
Expenditure    64,976,920 
Imports    64,185,440 
Exports    78,646,690 

The  colonial  empire  —  exclusive  of  the  Transvaal  and  Orange  River 
colonies  —  comprises  forty-three  district  governments.  It  is  divided  into 
colonies  of  three  classes  and  dependencies;  these,  again,  are  in  some  instances 
associated  for  administrative  purposes  in  federated  groups.  The  three  classes 
of  colonies  are  crown  colonies,  colonies  possessing  representative  institutions 
but  not  responsible  government,  and  colonies  possessing  representative  insti- 

tutions and  responsible  government.  In  crown  colonies  theicrown  has  entire 
control  of  legislation,  and  the  public  officers  are  under  the  control  of  the  home 
government.  In  representative  colonies  the  crown  has  only  a  veto  on  legis- 

lation, but  the  home  government  retains  control  of  the  public  ofiicers.  In 
responsible  colonies  the  crown  retains  a  veto  upon  legislation,  but  the  home 
government  has  no  control  of  any  public  officer  except  the  governor. 

In  crown  colonies  —  with  the  exception  of  Gibraltar  and  St.  Helena,  where 
laws  may  be  made  by  the  governor  alone  —  laws  are  made  by  the  governor 
with  the  concurrence  of  a  council  nominated  by  the  crown.  In  some  crown 
colonies,  chiefly  those  acquired  by  conquest  or  cession,  the  authority  of  this 
council  rests  wholly  on  the  crown;  in  others,  chiefly  those  acquired  by  settle- 

ment, the  council  is  created  by  the  crown  under  the  authority  of  local  or 
imperial  laws.  The  crown  council  of  Ceylon  may  be  cited  as  an  example  of 
the  first  kind,  and  the  crown  council  of  Jamaica  of  the  second. 

In  colonies  possessing  representative  institutions  without  responsible  gov- 
ernment, the  crown  cannot  (generally)  legislate  by  order  in  council,  and  laws 

are  made  by  the  governor  with  the  concurrence  of  the  legislative  body  or 
bodies,  one  at  least  of  these  bodies  in  cases  where  a  second  chamber  exists 
possessing  a  preponderance  of  elected  representatives.  The  Bahamas,  Bar- 
badoes,  and  Bermuda  have  two  legislative  bodies  —  one  elected  and  one  nomi- 

nated by  the  crown;  Malta  and  the  Leeward  Islands  have  but  one,  which  is 
partly  elected  and  partly  nominated. 

Under  responsible  government  legislation  is  carried  on  by  parliamentary 
means  exactly  as  at  home,  with  a  cabinet  responsible  to  parliament,  the 
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crown  reserving  only  a  right  of  veto  which  is  exercised  at  the  discretion  of  the 
governor  in  the  case  of  certain  bills.  The  executive  councils  in  those  colonies 
designated  as  at  home  by  pariiamentary  choice  are  appointed  by  the  governor 
alone,  and  the  other  public  officers  only  nominally  by  the  governor  on  the 
advice  of  his  executive  council. 

Colonial  governors  are  classed  as  governors-general;  governors;  lieutenant- 
governors;  administrators;  high  commissioners;  and  commissioners,  accord- 

ing to  the  status  of  the  colony  and  dependency,  or  group  of  colonies  and 
dependencies  over  which  they  preside.  Their  powers  vary  according  to  the 
position  which  they  occupy.  In  all  cases  they  represent  the  authority  of  the 
crown. 

As  a  consequence  of  this  organisation  the  finance  of  crown  colonies  is 
tinder  the  direct  control  of  the  imperial  government;  the  finance  of  repre- 

sentative colonies,  though  not  directly  controlled,  is  usually  influenced  in 
important  departures  by  the  opinion  of  the  imperial  government.  In  respon- 

sible colonies  the  finance  is  entirely  under  local  control,  and  the  imperial  gov- 
ernment is  dissociated  from  either  moral  or  material  responsibility  for  colonial 

debts. 
The  total  revenue,  expenditure,  and  trade  of  the  colonial  empire  for  1900 

were  as  follows: 

Revenue    £58,815,700 
Expenditure    56,663,660 
Imports    181,846,110 
Exports    192,330,040 

In  federated  groups  of  colonies  and  dependencies  matters  which  are  of 
common  interest  to  a  given  nimiber  of  separate  governments  are  by  mutual 
consent  of  the  federating. communities  adjudged  to  the  authority  of  a  common 
government,  which,  in  the  case  of  self-governing  colonies,  is  voluntarily  created 
for  the  purpose.  The  associated  states  form  under  the  federal  government 
one  federal  body,  but  the  parts  retain  control  of  local  matters,  and  exercise 
all  their  original  rights  of  government  in  regard  to  these.  The  advantages 
of  united  action  are  thus  secured  for  larger  questions  without  impairing  the 
vigour  of  independent  initiative  in  matters  of  individual  concern.  The  two 
great  self-governing  groups  of  federated  colonies  within  the  empire  are  the 
Dominion  of  Canada  and  the  Commonwealth  of  Australia.  India,  of  which 
the  associated  provinces  are  under  the  control  of  the  central  government,  may 
be  given  as  an  example  of  the  practical  federation  of  dependencies.  Examples 
of  federated  crown  colonies  and  lesser  dependencies  are  to  be  found  in  the 
Leeward  Island  group  of  the  West  Indies  and  the  federated  Malay  States. 

This  rough  system  of  self-government  for  the  empire  has  been  evolved  not 
without  some  strain  and  friction,  by  the  recognition  through  the  vicissitudes 
of  three  hundred  years  of  the  value  of  independent  initiative  in  the  develop- 

ment of  young  countries.  Queen  Elizabeth's  first  patent  to  Sir  Walter 
Raleigh  permitted  British  subjects  to  accompany  him  to  America,  "with 
guarantee  of  a  continuance  of  the  enjoyment  of  all  the  rights  which  her 

subjects  enjoyed  at  home." This  guarantee  may  presumably  have  been  intended  at  the  time  only  to 
assure  the  intending  settlers  that  they  should  lose  no  rights  of  British  citizen- 

ship at  home  by  taking  up  their  residence  in  America.  Its  mutual  interpre- 
tation in  a  wider  sense,  serving  at  once  to  establish  in  the  colony  rights  of 

citizenship  equivalent  to  those  enjoyed  in  England,  and  to  preserve  for  the 
colonist  the  status  of  British  subject  at  home  and  abroad,  has  formed  in 



12  THE   BEITISH   EMPIEE 

application  to  all  succeeding  systems  of  British  colonization  the  unconscious 
charter  of  union  of  the  empire. 

The  first  American  colonies  were  all  settled  under  royal  grants.  Each  had 
its  own  constitution,  and  looked  to  no  other  head  but  the  king.  Their  gov- 

ernments were  free  —  the  executive  being  responsible  to  the  elective  element 
in  the  legislature,  as  now  in  the  colonies  which  enjoy  responsible  self-govern- 

ment. The  immense  distance  which  in  those  days  separated  America  from 
Great  Britain  secured  them  from  interference  on  the  part  of  the  home  author- 

ities. They  paid  their  own  most  moderate  governing  expenses]  and  they 
contributed  largely  to  their  own  defence.  From  the  middle  of  the  seventeenth 
century  their  trade  was  not  free,  but  this  was  the  only  restriction  from  which 
they  suffered.  The  great  war  with  France  in  the  middle  of  the  eighteenth 
century  temporarily  destroyed  this  system.  That  war,  which  resulted  in  the 
conquest  of  Canada  and  the  delivery  of  the  North  American  colonies  from 
French  antagonism,  cost  the  imperial  exchequer  £90,000,000.  The  attempt 
to  avert  the  repetition  of  such  expenditure  by  the  assertion  of  a  right  to  tax 
the  colonies  through  the  British  parliament  led  to  the  one  great  rupture  which 
has  marked  the  history  of  the  empire.  It  has  to  be  noted  that  at  home  during 
the  latter  half  of  the  seventeenth  century  and  the  earlier  part  of  the  eighteenth 
century  parliamentary  power  had  to  a  great  extent  taken  the  place  of  the 
divine  right  of  kings.  But  parliamentary  power  meant  the  power  of  the 
English  people  and  taxpayers.  The  struggle  which  developed  itself  between 
the  American  colonies  and  the  British  parliament,  was  in  fact  a  struggle  on 
the  part  of  the  people  and  taxpayers  of  one  portion  of  the  empire  to  resist  the 
domination  of  the  people  and  taxpayers  of  another  portion.  In  this  light  it 
may  be  accepted  as  having  historically  established  the  fundamental  axiom  of 
the  constitution  of  the  empire,  that  the  crown  is  the  supreme  head  from 
which  the  parts  take  equal  dependence. 

The  crown  requiring  advice  in  the  ordinary  and  constitutional  manner 
receives  it  in  matters  of  colonial  administration  from  the  secretaries  of  state 
for  the  colonies  and  for  India.  After  the  great  rupture  separate  provision 
in  the  home  government  for  the  administration  of  colonial  affairs  was  at  first 

judged  to  be  unnecessary,  and  the  "council  of  trade  and  plantations,"  which 
up  to  that  date  had  supplied  the  place  now  taken  by  the  two  offices  of  the 
colonies  and  India,  was  suppressed  in  1782.  There  was  a  reaction  from  the 
liberal  system  of  colonial  self-government,  and  an  attempt  was  made  to  govern 
the  colonies  which  remained,  simply  as  dependencies,  the  home  treasury 
being  responsible  for  their  expenditure  as  now  in  the  crown  colonies. 

In  1791,  not  long  after  the  extension  of  the  range  of  parliamentary  author- 
ity in  another  portion  of  the  empire,  by  the  creation  in  1784  of  the  board  of 

control  for  India,  Pitt  made  the  step  forward  of  granting  to  Canada  represen- 
tative institutions,  of  which  the  home  government  kept  the  responsible  con- 
trol. Similar  institutions  were  also  given  at  a  later  period  to  Australia  and 

South  Africa.  But  the  long  peace  of  the  early  part  of  the  nineteenth  century 
was  marked  by  great  colonial  developments;  Australia,  Canada,  and  South 
Africa  became  important  commimities.  Representative  institutions  con- 

trolled by  the  home  government  were  insufficient  for  their  needs,  and  they 
reasserted  the  old  British  colonial  claim  for  liberty  to  manage  their  own  affairs. 

Fully  responsible  government  was  granted  to  Canada  in  1840,  and  gradu- 
ally extended  to  the  other  colonies.  In  1854  a  separate  secretary  of  state  for 

the  colonies  was  appointed  at  home,  and  the  colonial  office  was  established 
on  its  present  footing.  In  India,  as  in  the  colonies,  there  came  with  the  grow- 

ing needs  of  empire  a  recognition  of  the  true  relations  of  the  parts  to  each  other 
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and  of  the  whole  to  the  crown.  In  1858,  on  the  complete  transference  of  the 
territories  of  the  East  India  Company  to  the  crown,  the  board  of  control  was 
abolished,  and  the  India  council,  under  the  presidency  of  a  secretary  of  state 
for  India,  was  created.  It  was  especially  provided  that  the  members  of  the 
council  may  not  sit  in  pariiament. 

Thus,  although  it  has  not  been  foimd  practicable  in  the  working  of  the 
British  constitution  to  carry  out  the  fuU  theory  of  the  direct  and  exclusive 
dependence  of  colonial  possessions  on  the  crown,  the  theory  is  recognised  as 
far  as  possible.  It  is  understood  that  the  principal  sections  of  the  empire 
enjoy  equal  rights  under  the  crown,  and  that  none  are  subordinate  to  each 
other.  The  intervention  of  the  imperial  parliament  in  colonial  affairs  is  only 
admitted  theoretically  in  so  far  as  the  support  of  parliament  is  required  by 
the  constitutional  advisers  of  the  crown.  To  bring  the  practice  of  the  empire 
into  complete  harmony  with  the  theory  it  would  be  necessary  to  constitute 
for  the  purpose  of  advising  the  crown  upon  imperial  affairs,  a  parliament  or 
council  in  which  all  important  parts  of  the  empire  should  be  represented. 

The  gradual  recognition  of  the  constitutional  theory  of  the  British  Empire, 
and  the  assumption  by  the  principal  colonies  of  full  self-governing  responsi- 

bilities, has  cleared  the  way  for  a  movement  in  favour  of  a  further  develop- 
ment which  should  bring  the  supreme  headship  of  the  empire  more  into  accord 

with  modem  ideas. 

It  was  during  the  period  of  domination  of  the  "Manchester  school,"  of 
which  the  most  effective  influence  in  public  affairs  was  exerted  for  about 
thirty  years,  extending  from  1845  to  1875,  that  the  fullest  development  of 
colonial  self-government  was  attained,  the  view  being  generally  accepted  at 
that  time  that  self-governing  institutions  were  to  be  regarded  as  the  prelimin- 

ary to  inevitable  separation.  A  general  inclination  to  withdraw  from  the 
acceptance  of  imperial  responsibilities  throughout  the  world  gave  to  foreign 
nations  at  the  same  time  an  opportunity  by  which  they  were  not  slow  to  profit 
and  contributed  to  the  force  of  a  reaction  of  which  the  part  played  by  Great 
Britain  in  the  scramble  for  Africa  marked  the  culmination.  Under  the 
increasing  pressure  of  foreign  enterprise,  the  value  of  a  federation  of  the  empire 
for  purposes  of  common  interest  began  to  be  discussed.  Imperial  federation 
was  openly  spoken  of  in  New  Zealand  as  early  as  1852.  A  similar  suggestion 
was  officially  put  forward  by  the  general  association  of  the  Australian  colonies 
in  London  in  1857.  The  Royal  Colonial  Institution,  of  which  the  motto 

"  United  Empire"  illustrates  its  aims,  was  foimded  in  1868. 
First  among  leading  British  statesmen  to  repudiate  the  old  interpretation 

of  colonial  self-goveminent  as  a  preliminary  to  separation.  Lord  Beaconsfield, 
in  1872,  spoke  of  the  constitutions  accorded  to  the  colonies  as  "  part  of  a  great 
policy  of  imperial  consolidation."  In  1875  Mr.  W.  E.  Forster,  afterwards  a 
member  of  the  liberal  government,  made  a  speech  in  which  he  advocated 
imperial  federation  as  a  means  by  which  it  might  become  practicable  to 

"replace  dependence  by  association."  The  foundation  of  the  Imperial  Fed- 
eration League  —  in  1884,  with  Mr.  Forster  for  its  first  president,  shortly  to 

be  succeeded  by  Lord  Rosebery  —  marked  a  distinct  step  forward.  The 
colonial  conferences  of  1887  and  1894,  in  which  colonial  opinion  was  sought 
and  accepted  in  respect  of  important  questions  of  imperial  organisation  and 
defence,  and  the  enthusiastic  loyalty  displayed  by  the  colonies  towards  the 

Crown  on  the  occasion  of  the  jubilee  manifestations  of  Queen  Victoria's  reign, 
were  further  indications  of  progress  in  the  same  direction.  Coincidently  with 
this  development,  the  achievements  of  Sir  George  Goldie  and  Mr.  Cecil  Rhodes, 
who,  the  one  in  West  Africa,  and  the  other  in  South  Africa,  added  between 
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them  to  the  empire  in  a  space  of  less  than  twenty  years  a  dominion  of  greater 
extent  than  the  whole  of  British  India,  followed  by  the  action  of  a  host  of 
distinguished  disciples  in  other  parts  of  the  world,  effectually  stemmed  the 
movement  initiated  by  Cobden  and  Bright.  A  tendency  which  had  seemed 
temporarily  to  pomt  towards  a  complacent  dissolution  of  the  empire  was 
arrested,  and  the  closing  years  of  the  nineteenth  century  were  marked  by  a 
growing  disposition  to  appreciate  the  value  and  importance  of  the  xmique 
position  which  the  British  Empire  has  created  for  itself  in  the  world.  No 
stronger  demonstration  of  the  reality  of  imperial  union  can  be  needed  than 
that  which  was  afforded  by  the  support  given  to  the  imperial  forces  by  the 
colonies  and  India  in  the  South  African  War.  It  remains  only  to  be  seen  by 
what  process  of  evolution  the  further  consolidation  of  the  empire  will  find 
expression  in  the  machinery  of  government. 

The  question  of  self-government  is  closely  associated  with  the  question 
of  self-support.  Plenty  of  good  land  and  the  liberty  to  manage  their  own 
affairs  were  the  causes  assigned  by  Adam  Smith  for  the  marked  prosperity  of 
the  British  colonies  towards  the  end  of  the  eighteenth  century.  The  same 
causes  are  still  to  be  observed  to  produce  the  same  effects,  and  it  may  be 

pointed  out  that  since  the  date  of  the  latest  of  Adam  Smith's  writings,  up- 
wards of  6,000,000  square  miles  of  virgin  soil,  rich  with  possibilities  of  agri- 

cultural, pastoral,  and  mineral  wealth,  have  been  added  to  the  empire.  In 
the  same  period  the  white  population  has  grown  from  about  12,000,000  to 
52,000,000,  and  the  developments  of  agricultural  and  industrial  machinery 
have  multiplied,  almost  beyond  computation,  the  powers  of  productive  labour. 

INDUSTRY  AND   TRADE 

It  is  scarcely  possible  within  this  article  to  deal  with  so  widely  varied  a 
subject  as  that  of  the  productions  and  industry  of  the  empire.  For  the  pur- 

poses of  a  general  statement,  it  is  interesting  to  observe  that  concurrently 
"with  the  acquisition  of  the  vast  continental  areas  during  the  nineteenth 
century,  the  progress  of  industrial  science  in  apphcation  to  means  of  trans- 

port and  communication  brought  about  a  revolution  of  the  most  radical 
character  in  the  accepted  laws  of  economic  development.  Railways  did 
away  with  the  old  law  that  the  spread  of  civilisation  is  necessarily  governed 
by  facilities  for  water  carriage  and  is  consequently  confined  to  river  valleys 
and  sea-shores.  Steam  and  electricity  opened  to  industry  the  interior  of 
continents  previously  regarded  as  vmapproachable.  The  resources  of  these 
vast  inland  spaces  which  have  lain  untouched  since  history  began  became 
available  to  individual  enterprise,  and  over  a  great  portion  of  the  earth's 
surface  were  brought  within  the  possessions  of  the  British  Empire.  The 
production  of  raw  material  within  the  empire  increased  at  a  rate  which  can 
only  be  appreciated  by  a  careful  study  of  figures. 

The  tropical  and  temperate  possessions  of  the  empire  include  every  field 
of  production  which  can  be  required  for  the  use  of  man.  There  is  no  main 
staple  of  human  food  which  is  not  grown;  there  is  no  material  of  textile 
industry  which  is  not  produced.  The  British  Empire  gives  occupation  to  more 
than  one-third  of  the  persons  employed  in  mining  and  quarrying  in  the  world. 
It  may  be  interesting,  as  an  indication  of  the  relative  position  in  this  respect 
of  the  British  Empire  to  the  world,  to  state  that  at  present  it  produces  one- 
third  of  the  coal  supply  of  the  world,  one-sixth  of  the  wheat  supply,  and  very 
nearly  two-thirds  of  the  gold  supply.    But  while  these  figures  may  be  taken 
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as  in  themselves  satisfactoryj  it  is  far  more  important  to  remember  that  as  yet 
the  potential  resoiu-ces  of  the  new  lands  opened  to  enterprise  have  been  barely 
conceived,  and  their  wealth  has  been  little  more  than  scratched.  Population 
as  yet  has  been  only  very  sparsely  sprinkled  over  the  surface  of  maiiy  of  the 
areas  most  suitable  for  white  settlement.  In  the  wheat  lands  of  Canada,  the 
pastoral  country  of  Australasia,  and  the  mineral  fields  of  South  Africa  and 
western  Canada  alone,  the  imdeveloped  resoiu-ces  are  such  as  to  ensure 
employment  to  the  labour  and  satisfaction  to  the  needs  of  at  least  as  many 
millions  as  they  now  contain  thousands  of  the  British  race.  In  respect  of 
this  promise  of  the  future  the  position  of  the  British  Empire  is  unique. 

In  regard  to  the  distribution  of  existing  industry,  although  the  more 
important  colonies  have  established  manufactures  of  their  own,  of  which  the 
prosperity  is  assured,  the  general  conditions  have  hitherto  been  maintained 
under  which  Great  Britain  has  remained  the  manufacturing  centre  for  the 
raw  material  of  the  whole.  The  primary  production  of  the  colonies  and  the 
industrial  development  of  Great  Britain  are  still,  therefore,  the  important 
divisions  of  the  subject.    These  subjects  are  dealt  with  elsewhere  in  detail. 

It  is  not  too  much  to  say  that  trade  has  been  at  once  the  most  active  cause 
of  expansion  and  the  most  potent  bond  of  union  in  the  development  of  the 
empire.  Trade  with  the  tropical  and  settlement  in  the  temperate  regions  of 
the  world  formed  the  basis  upon  which  the  foundations  of  the  empire  were  laid. 
Trading  companies  founded  most  of  the  American  and  West  Indian  colonies; 
a  trading  company  won  India;  a  trading  company  colonised  the  northwestern 
districts  of  Canada;  commercial  wars  during  the  greater  part  of  the  eigh- 

teenth century  established  the  British  command  of  the  sea,  which  rendered  the 
settlement  of  Australasia  possible.  The  same  wars  gave  Great  Britain,  South 
Africa,  and  chartered  companies  in  the  nineteenth  century  carried  the  British 
flag  into  the  interior  of  the  African  continent  from  south  and  east  and  west. 
Trading  companies  produced  Borneo  and  Fiji.  The  bonds  of  prosperous  trade 
have  kept  the  Australasian  colonies  within  the  empire.  The  protection  of 
colonial  commerce  by  the  imperial  navy  is  one  of  the  strongest  of  material 
links  which  connect  the  crown  with  the  outlying  possessions  of  the  empire. 

The  trade  of  the  empire,  like  the  other  developments  of  imperial  public 
life,  has  been  profoundly  influenced  by  the  variety  of  local  conditions  under 
which  it  has  flourished.  In  the  early  settlement  of  the  North  American 
colonies  their  trade  was  left  practically  free;  but  by  the  famous  Navigation 
Act  of  1660  the  importation  and  exportation  of  goods  from  British  colonies 
were  restricted  to  British  ships,  of  which  the  master  and  three-fourths  of  the 
mariners  were  English.  This  act,  of  which  the  intention  was  to  encourage 
British  shipping  and  to  keep  the  monopoly  of  British  colonial  trade  for  the 
benefit  of  British  merchants,  was  followed  by  many  others  of  a  similar  nature 
up  to  the  time  of  the  repeal  of  the  Corn  Laws  in  1846  and  the  introduction  of 
free  trade  into  Great  Britain.  And  the  Navigation  Acts  were  repealed  in  1849. 
Thus  for  very  nearly  two  hundred  years  British  trade  was  subject  to  restric- 

tions, of  which  the  avowed  intention  was  to  curtail  the  commercial  intercoiu-se 
of  the  empire  with  the  world.  During  this  period  the  commercial  or  mercantile 
system,  of  which  the  fallacies  were  exposed  by  the  economists  of  the  latter  half 
of  the  eighteenth  century,  continued  to  govern  the  principles  of  British  trade. 
Under  this  system  monopolies  were  common,  and  among  them  few  were  more 
important  than  that  of  the  East  India  Company. 

In  1813  the  trade  of  India  was,  however,  thrown  open  to  competition,  and 
in  1846,  after  the  introduction  of  free  trade  at  home,  the  principal  British 
colonies  which  had  not  yet  at  that  date  received  the  grant  of  responsible  gov- 
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ernment  were  specially  empowered  to  abolish  differential  duties  upon  foreign 
trade.  A  first  result  of  the  commercial  emancipation  of  the  colonies  was  the 
not  altogether  unnatural  rise  in  the  manufacturing  centres  of  a  school  known 
as  the  Manchester  school,  which  was  disposed  to  question  the  value  to  Great 
Britain  of  the  retention  of  colonies  which  were  no  longer  bound  to  give  her  the 
monopoly  of  their  commercial  markets.  An  equally  natural  desire  on  the 
part  of  the  larger  colonies  to  profit  by  the  opportunity  which  was  opened  to 
them  of  establishing  local  manufactures  of  their  own,  combined  with  the 
convenience  in  new  countries  of  using  the  customs  as  an  instrument  of  tax- 

ation, led  to  something  like  a  reciprocal  feeling  of  resentment,  and  there  fol- 
lowed a  period  during  which  the  poHcy  of  Great  Britain  was  to  show  no  con- 

sideration for  colonial  trade,  and  the  policy  of  the  principal  colonies  was  to 
impose  heavy  duties  upon  British  trade.  By  a  gradual  process  of  better 
understanding,  largely  helped  by  the  development  of  means  of  communica- 

tion, the  antagonistic  extreme  was  abandoned,  and  a  tendency  towards  a 
system  of  preferential  duties  within  the  empire  displayed  itself.  At  the 
colonial  conference  held  in  London  in  1887,  a  proposal  was  formally  submitted 
by  the  South  African  delegate  for  the  establishment  within  the  empire  of  a 
preferential  system,  imposing  a  duty  of  2  per  cent,  upon  all  foreign  goods,  the 
proceeds  to  be  directed  to  the  maintenance  of  the  imperial  navy.  To  this  end 
it  was  requested  that  certain  treaties  with  foreign  nations  which  imposed 
restrictions  on  the  trade  of  various  parts  of  the  empire  with  each  other  should 
be  denounced.  Some  years  later  the  treaties  in  question  Were  denounced,  but 
simultaneously  with  the  movement  in  favour  of  reciprocal  fiscal  advantages 
to  be  granted  within  the  empire  by  the  many  local  governments  to  each  other, 
there  was  a  growth  of  the  perception  that  an  increase  of  the  foreign  trade  of 
Great  Britain,  which  is  carried  on  chiefly  in  manufactured  goods,  was  accom- 

panied by  a  corresponding  enlargement  of  the  home  markets  for  colonial  raw 
material,  and  consequently  that  injuiy  to  the  foreign  trade  of  Great  Britain 
must  necessarily  react  upon  the  colonies.  This  view  was  definitely  expressed 
at  the  colonial  conference  at  Ottawa  in  1894,  and  made  itself  felt  in  the  relin- 

quishment of  the  demand  that  in  return  for  colonial  concessions  there  should 
be  an  imposition  on  the  part  of  Great  Britain  of  a  differential  duty  upon 
foreign  goods.  Canada  was  the  first  important  British  colony  to  give  sub- 

stantial expression  to  the  new  imperial  sentiment  in  commercial  matters  by 
the  introduction  in  1897  of  an  imperial  tariff,  granting  without  any  reciprocal 
advantage  a  deduction  of  25  per  cent,  upon  customs  duties  imposed  upon 
British  goods.  The  same  advantage  is  offered  to  all  British  colonies  trading 
with  her  upon  equal  terms.  Although  in  Great  Britain  trade  is  free,  and 
customs  duties  are  only  imposed  for  purposes  of  revenue  on  a  few  selected 
articles,  about  half  the  national  income  is  derived  from  customs  and  excise. 
In  most  of  the  colonies  customs  form  of  necessity  one  of  the  important  sources 
of  revenue.  It  is,  however,  worthy  of  remark  that  in  the  self-governing  colo- 

nies, even  those  which  are  avowedly  protectionist,  a  smaller  proportion  of 
the  public  revenue  is  derived  from  customs  and  excise  than  is  derived  from 
these  sources  at  home.  The  proportion  in  Australasia  before  federation  was 
about  one-quarter.  In  Canada  it  is  more  difficult  to  estimate  it,  as  customs 
and  excise  form  the  principal  provision  made  for  federal  finance,  and  note 
must  therefore  be  taken  of  the  separate  sources  of  revenue  in  the  provinces. 
With  these  reservations  it  will  still  be  seen  that  customs,  or,  in  other  words,  a 
tax  upon  the  movements  of  trade,  forms  one  of  the  chief  sources  of  imperial 
revenue. 

The  development  of  steam  shipping  and  electricity  gave  to  the  movements 
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of  trade  a  stimulus  no  less  remarkable  than  that  given  by  the  introduction  of 
railroads  and  industrial  machinery  to  production  and  manufactures.  Whereas 
at  the  beginning  of  the  nineteenth  century  the  journey  to  Australia  occupied 
eight  months,  and  business  communications  between  Sydney  and  London 
could  not  receive  answers  within  the  year,  the  journey  can  now  be  accom- 

plished in  thirty-one  days,  and  telegraphic  despatches  enable  the  most  import- 
ant business  to  be  transacted  within  twenty-four  hours.  For  one  cargo  carried 

in  the  year  at  the  beginning  of  the  nineteenth  century  at  least  six  may  now 
be  carried  by  the  same  ship,  and  from  the  point  of  view  of  trade  the  difference 
of  a  venture  which  realises  its  profits  in  two  months,  as  compared  with  one 
which  occupied  a  whole  year,  does  not  need  to  be  insisted  on.  The  increased 
rapidity  of  the  voyage  and  the  power  of  daily  communication  by  telegraph 
with  the  most  distant  markets  have  introduced  a  wholly  new  element  into 
the  national  trade  of  the  empire,  and  commercial  intercourse  between  the 
southern  and  the  northern  hemispheres  has  received  a  development  from  the 
natural  alternation  of  the  seasons,  of  which  untU  quite  recent  years  the  value 
was  not  even  conceived.  Fruit,  eggs,  butter,  meat,  poultry,  and  other  perish- 

able commodities  pass  in  daily  increasing  quantities  between  the  northern  and 
the  southern  hemispheres  with  an  alternate  flow  which  contributes  to  raise 
in  no  inconsiderable  degree  the  volume  of  profitable  trade.  Thus  the  butter 
season  of  Australasia  is  from  October  to  March,  while  the  butter  season  of 
Ireland  and  Northern  Europe  is  from  March  to  October.  In  three  years 
after  the  introduction  of  ice-chambers  into  the  steamers  of  the  great  shipping 
lines,  Victoria  and  New  South  Wales  built  up  a  yearly  butter  trade  of  £1,- 
000,000  with  Great  Britain  without  seriously  affecting  the  Irish  and  Danish 
markets  whence  the  summer  supply  is  drawn.  These  facilities,  combined 
with  the  enormous  additions  made  to  the  public  stock  of  land  and  labour,  con- 

tributed to  raise  the  volume  of  trade  of  the  empire  from  a  total  of  less  than 
£100,000,000  in  the  year  1800  to  a  total  of  nearly  £1,500,000,000  in  1900. 
The  declared  volume  of  British  exports  to  all  parts  of  the  world  in  1800  was 
£38,120,120,  and  the  value  of  British  imports  from  all  parts  of  the  world  was 
£30,570,605;  total,  £68,690,725.  As  in  those  days  the  colonies  were  not 
allowed  to  trade  with  any  other  country  this  must  be  taken  as  representing 
imperial  trade.  The  exact  figures  of  the  trade  of  India,  the  colonies,  and  the 
United  Kingdom  for  1900  were:  imports,  £809,178,209;  exports,  £657,- 
899,363;   total,  £1,467,077,572. 

DEFENCE   OF  THE   EMPIRE 

A  question  of  sovereign  importance  to  the  continued  existence  of  the  empire 
is  the  question  of  defence.  A  country  of  which  the  main  thoroughfares  are 
the  oceans  of  the  world  demands  in  the  first  instance  a  strong  navy.  It  has 
of  late  years  been  accepted  as  a  fundamental  axiom  of  defence  that  the  British 
navy  should  exceed  in  strength  any  reasonable  combination  of  foreign  navies 
which  could  be  brought  against  it.  The  expense  of  maintaining  such  a  float- 

ing armament  is  colossal,  and  imtil  within  the  decade  of  1890-1900  it  was 
borne  exclusively  by  the  taxpayers  of  the  United  Kingdoms.  As  the  benefits 
of  united  empire  have  become  more  consciously  appreciated  in  the  colonies, 
and  the  value  of  the  fleet  as  an  insurance  for  British  commerce  has  been 

recognised,  a  desire  manifested  itself  on  the  part  of  the  self-governing  colonies 
to  contribute  towards  the  formation  of  a  truly  imperial  navy.  As  yet  the 
movement  remains  in  its  infancy.  In  1895  the  Australasian  colonies  voted  a 
small  subsidy  of  £126,000  per  annum  for  the  maintenance  of  an  Australasian 

H.  W.  —  VOL.  xzn.  o 
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squadron,  and  in  1897  the  Cape  Colony  also  offered  a  contribution  of  £30,000 
a  year  to  be  used  at  the  discretion  of  the  imperial  government  for  naval  pur- 

poses. The  colonies  have  also  contributed  in  some  degree  to  their  own  naval 
defence  by  the  erection  of  fortifications  at  selected  points  upon  their  shores. 
The  net  cost  of  the  navy  to  the  imperial  exchequer,  as  estimated  for  the  year 
1900-1901  was  £27,522,600.  Though  available  for  service  throughout  the 
empire,  and  forming  the  principal  biSwark  of  colonial  defence,  the  cost,  with 
the  trivial  exceptions  named,  is  still  borne  exclusively  by  the  home  govern- 

ment, and  recruiting  for  the  navy  is  carried  on  wholly  in  the  British  Isles. 
Land  defence  has  hitherto  been  regarded  as  forming  a  secondary  branch 

of  the  great  question  of  imperial  defence.  But  though  secondary  it  has  been 
intimately  connected  with  the  development  and  internal  growth  of  the  empire. 
In  the  case  of  the  first  settlement  of  the  American  colonies  they  were  expected 
to  provide  for  their  own  land  defence.  To  some  extent  in  the  early  part  of 
their  career  they  carried  out  this  expectation,  and  even  on  occasion,  as  in  the 
taking  of  Louisburg,  which  was  subsequently  given  back  at  the  Peace  of 
Aix-la-Chapelle  as  the  price  of  the  French  evacuation  of  Madras,  rendered 
public  service  to  the  empire  at  large.  In  India  the  principle  of  local  self- 
defence  was  from  the  beginning  carried  into  practice  by  the  East  India  Com- 

pany. But  in  America  the  claim  of  the  French  wars  proved  too  heavy  for 
local  resources.  In  1755  Great  Britain  intervened  with  troops  sent  from  home 
imder  General  Braddock,  and  up  to  the  outbreak  of  the  American  war  the 
cost  of  the  defence  of  the  North  American  colonies  was  borne  by  the  imperial 
exchequer.  To  meet  this  expense  the  imperial  parliament  took  upon  itself 
the  right  to  tax  the  American  colonies.  In  1765  a  Quartering  Act  was  passed 
by  which  10,000  imperial  troops  were  quartered  in  the  colonies.  As  a  result 
of  the  American  war  which  followed  and  led  to  the  loss  of  the  colonies  affected, 
the  imperial  authorities  accepted  the  charge  of  the  land  defences  of  the  empire, 
and  with  the  exception  of  India  and  the  Hudson  Bay  territories,  where  the 
trading  companies  determined  to  pay  their  own  expenses,  the  whole  cost  of 
imperial  defence  was  borne  as  the  cost  of  the  navy  still  is,  by  the  taxpayers 
of  the  United  Kingdom.  This  condition  of  affairs  lasted  till  the  end  of  the 
Napoleonic  wars. 

During  the  thirty  years'  peace  which  followed  there  came  time  for  recon- 
sideration. The  fiscal  changes  which  towards  the  middle  of  the  nineteenth 

century  gave  to  the  self-governing  colonies  the  command  of  their  own  resources 
very  naturally  carried  with  them  the  consequence  that  a  call  should  be  made 
on  colonial  exchequers  to  provide  for  their  own  governing  expenses.  Of  these 
defence  is  obviously  one  of  the  most  essential.  Coincidently,  therefore,  with 
the  movements  of  free  trade  at  home,  the  renunciation  of  what  was  known  as 
the  mercantile  system  and  the  accompanjing  grants  of  constitutional  free- 

dom to  the  colonies,  a  movement  for  the  reorganisation  of  imperial  defence 
was  set  on  foot.  In  the  decade  which  elapsed  between  1846  and  1856  the 
movement  as  regards  the  colonies  was  confined  chiefly  to  calls  made  upon 
them  to  contribute  to  their  own  defence  by  providing  barracks,  fortifications, 
etc.,  for  the  accommodation  of  imperial  troops,  and  in  some  cases  paying  for 
the  use  of  troops  not  strictly  required  for  imperial  purposes.  In  1^57  the 
Australian  colonies  agreed  to  pay  the  expenses  of  the  imperial  garrison  quar- 

tered in  Australia.  This  was  a  very  wide  step  from  the  imperial  attempt  to 
tax  the  American  colonies  for  a  similar  purpose  in  the  preceding  centm-y. 
Nevertheless,  in  evidence  given  before  a  departmental  committee  in  1859,  it 
was  shown  that  at  that  time  the  colonies  of  Great  Britain  were  free  from 
almost  every  obligation  of  contributing  either  by  personal  service  or  money 
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pajmient  towards  their  own  defence,  and  that  the  cost  of  military  expendi- 
ture in  the  colonies  in  the  preceding  year  had  amounted  in  round  figiu-es  to 

£4,000,000.  A  committee  of  the  house  of  commons  sat  in  1861  to  consider 

the  question,  and  in  1862  it  was  resolved  without  a  division,  that  "colonies 
exercising  the  right  of  self-government  ought  to  imdertake  the  main  respon- 

sibility of  providing  for  their  own  internal  order  and  security,  and  ought  to 
assist  in  their  own  external  defence."  The  decision  was  accepted  as  the  basis of  imperial  policy. 

The  first  effect  was  the  gradual  withdrawing  of  imperial  troops  from  the 
self-governing  colonies,  together  with  the  encouragement  of  the  development 
of  local  military  systems  by  the  loan,  when  desired,  of  imperial  military 
experts.  A  call  was  also  made  for  larger  military  contributions  from  some 
of  the  crown  colonies.  The  committee  of  1859  had  emphasised  in  its  report 
the  fact  that  the  principal  dependence  of  the  colonies  for  defence  is  necessarily 
upon  the  British  navy,  and  in  1865,  exactly  100  years  after  the  Quartering 
Act,  which  had  been  the  cause  of  the  troubles  that  led  to  the  independence 
of  the  United  States,  a  Colonial  Naval  Defence  Act  was  passed  which  gave 
power  to  the  colonies  to  provide  ships  of  war,  steamers,  and  volxmteers  for 
their  own  defence,  and  in  case  of  necessity  to  place  them  at  the  disposal  of 
the  crown.  In  1868  the  Canadian  Militia  Act  gave  the  fully  organised 
nucleus  of  a  local  army  to  Canada.  In  the  same  year  the  imperial  troops  were 
withdrawn  from  New  Zealand,  leaving  the  colonial  militia  to  deal  with  the 
native  war  still  in  progress.  In  1870  the  last  imperial  troops  were  withdrawn 
from  Australia,  and  in  1873  it  was  officially  announced  that  military  expen- 

diture in  the  colonies  was  almost  "wholly  for  imperial  purposes."  In  1875 
an  imperial  officer  went  to  Australia  to  report  for  the  Australian  government 
upon  Australian  defence.  The  appointment  in  1879  of  a  royal  commission  to 
consider  the  question  of  imperial  defence,  which  presented  its  report  in  1882, 
led  to  a  considerable  development  and  reorganisation  of  the  system  of  imperial 

fortifications.  Coaling  stations  were  also  selected  with  reference  to  the  tra'de 
routes.  In  1885  rumours  of  war  roused  a  very  strong  feeling  in  connection 
with  the  still  imfinished  and  in  many  cases  imarmed  condition  of  the  fortifi- 

cations reconamended  by  the  commission  of  1879.  Military  activity  was 
stimulated  throughout  the  empire,  and  the  Colonial  Defence  Committee  was 
created  to  supply  a  much-felt  need  for  organised  direction  and  advice  to 
colonial  administrations  acting  necessarily  in  independence  of  each  other. 
The  question  of  colonial  defence  was  among  the  most  important  of  the  sub- 

jects discussed  at  the  colonial  conference  held  in  London  in  1887,  and  it  was 
at  this  conference  that  the  Australasian  colonies  first  agreed  to  contribute  to 
the  expense  of  their  own  naval  defence. 

From  this  date  the  principle  of  local  responsibility  for  self-defence  has  been 
fully  accepted.  With  the  exception  of  Natal  all  the  self-governing  colonies 
have  provided  practically  for  their  own  military  requirements.  India  has  its 
own  native  army,  and  pays  for  the  maintenance  within  its  frontiers  of  an 
imperial  garrison.  Early  in  the  summer  of  1899,  when  hostilities  in  South 
Africa  appeared  to  be  imminent,  the  government  of  the  principal  colonies 
took  occasion  to  express  their  approval  of  the  policy  pursued  by  the  imperial 
government,  and  offers  were  made  by  the  governments  of  India,  the  Austral- 

asian colonies,  Canada,  Hong-Kong,  the  Federal  Malay  states,  some  of  the 
West  African  and  other  colonies,  to  send  contingents  for  active  service  in  the 
event  of  war.  On  the  outbreak  of  hostilities  these  offers,  on  the  part  of  the 
self-governing  colonies,  were  accepted,  and  colonial  contingents  upwards  of 
thirty  thousand  strong  were  among  the  most  efficient  sections  of  the  British 
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fighting  force.  The  manner  in  which  these  colonial  contingents  were  raised, 
their  admirable  fighting  qualities,  and  the  service  rendered  by  them  in  the 
field,  have  disclosed  altogether  new  military  possibilities  within  the  empire, 
and  the  reorganisation  of  the  army  on  an  imperial  footing  is  among  the  more 
probable  developments  of  the  near  future. 

The  feudatory  and  dependent  native  states  have  native  armies  of  their 
own  which,  according  to  the  latest  available  estimates,  number  about  350,000 
men,  with  upwards  of  4,000  guns.  Offers  of  military  service  in  South  Africa 
in  1900  were  received  from  some  of  the  principal  feudatory  states. 

Special  expenditure  has  been  made  by  the  Indian  government  upon  coast 
defences  armed  with  modem  breechloading  guns.  Large  siuns  have  also  been 
spent  upon  external  and  border  defences,  and  an  establishment  of  two  coast- 
defence  ironclads,  a  despatch  vessel,  two  first-class  torpedo  gunboats,  seven 
first-class  torpedo  boats,  as  well  as  armed  gimboats,  etc.,  is  maintained. 

With  the  exceptions  of  Natal  and  the  garrisons  of  the  naval  stations  of 
Cape  Town  and  Halifax,  no  imperial  garrisons  are  under  normal  conditions 
maintained  in  the  self-governing  colonies.  In  the  crown  colonies  garrisons 
are  maintained  in  Gibraltar,  Malta,  Mauritius,  Sierra  Leone,  St.  Helena,  Cey- 

lon, Straits  Settlements,  Hong-Kong,  and  the  West  Indies.  There  are  impe- 
rial naval  stations  at  Simon's  Bay,  Trincomalee,  Bermuda,  Esquimalt,  Halifax, 

Malta,  Gibraltar,  St.  Lucia,  Ascension,  Hong-Kong,  and  Wei-hai-Wei. 
Systems  of  justice  throughout  the  empire  have  a  close  resemblance  to 

each  other,  and  the  privy  council  of  the  house  of  lords,  on  which  the  self- 
governing  colonies  and  India  are  represented,  constitutes  a  supreme  comt  of 
appeal  for  the  entire  empire;  but  common  law  varies  according  to  its  origin 
in  some  important  divisions.  Religion,  of  which  the  forms  are  infinitely  varied 
is  everywhere  free  except  in  cases  where  the  exercise  of  religious  rites  leads 
to  practices  foreign  to  accepted  laws  of  humanity.  Systems  of  instruction  of 
which  the  aim  is  generally  similar  in  the  white  portions  of  the  empire,  and  is 
directed  towards  giving  to  every  individual  the  basis  of  a  liberal  education, 
are  governed  wholly  by  local  requirements.  Native  schools  are  established 
in  all  settled  communities  under  British  rule. 
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THE  HISTORY  OF  BRITISH  INDIA 

CHAPTER  I 

THE  MOHAMMEDAN  AND  THE  MUGHAL  EMPIRES 

[664-1857  A.D.] 

Modern  critics  have  remarked  with  surprise  how  well  the  descriptions 
of  India  given  by  the  officers  of  Alexander  the  Great  portray  what  we  now 
behold  in  that  country  at  the  distance  of  two  thousand  years.  The  delicate 
and  slender  forms  of  the  people;  their  dark  complexion;  their  black,  imcurled 
hair;  their  cotton  raiment;  their  vegetable  food;  their  training  of  elephants 
to  battle;  their  division  into  separate  castes;  the  prohibition  of  intermarriage 
from  one  caste  to  another;  the  name  of  Brachmani  orBrahmans  to  their  priests; 
the  custom  of  widows  burning  themselves  on  the  funeral  pjTes  of  their  hus- 

bands —  these  and  several  other  particulars  which  Arrian  has  recorded  apply 
to  the  modern  quite  as  perfectly  as  to  the  ancient  Hindus. 

The  fffogress  of  Alexander  in  India  itself  did  not  extend  beyond  the 
district  of  the  Punjab,  and  the  navigation  of  the  Indus  between  that  district 
and  the  sea.  But  on  Afghanistan  he  made  a  more  lasting  impression;  a 
djmasty  which  he  founded  in  that  country  is  proved  by  its  coins  to  have 
subsisted  during  several  generations;  and  a  monument  which  he  raised  even 
now  remains.  When,  in  May,  1842,  a  melancholy  train  of  captives,  the  sur- 

vivors of  the  greatest  military  disaster  that  England  had  ever  yet  to  mourn,, 
were  slowly  wending  up  the  mountain  passes  of  Kabul,  they  beheld,  towering 
high  above  them,  the  column  of  the  Macedonian  conqueror. 

Many  ages  after  Alexander's  expedition,  the  tide  of  Mohammedan  inva- 
sion, which  had  already  overwhelmed  the  kingdom  of  Persia,  approached  the 

shores  of  the  Indus  and  the  Ganges.  The  gentle,  unwarlike  Hindus  were 
ill  fitted  to  withstand  the  enthusiasm  of  a  new  religion,  and  the  energy  of 
a  fiercer  race.  But  it  is  remarkable  that,  widely  as  the  disciples  of  the  Koran 
spread  in  India,  there  was  never,  as  in  like  cases,  any  amalgamation  between 
the  conquered  and  the  conquerors  —  between  the  old  faith  and  the  new. 
Although  the  Mohammedans  have  succeeded  in  converting  almost  every  man 
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of  almost  every  other  nation  that  they  conquered,  and  although  in  India  they 
formed  the  sovereign  and  controlling  power  in  so  many  states  and  for  so  inany 
years,  yet  they  do  not  now  exceed,  and  never  have  exceeded,  one-fifth  of 
the  whole  Indian  population.* 

THE  MOHAMMEDAN  CONQUEST  (664-1001);   MAHMUD   OF  GHAZNI    (997-1026  A.D.) 

In  volume  II  we  have  traced  the  history  of  India  down  to  the  Mohamme- 
dan era,  and  described  the  cults  of  Brahma  and  Buddha.  The  first  Mussul- 
man invasions  of  India  go  back  as  far  as  the  seventh  century  [the  first  in 

664;  the  second  in  711,  under  Muhammed  Khasim].  They  were  successful 
incursions;  but  they  were  not  followed  by  lasting  settlements.  [In  750  the 
Hindus  revolted  and  expelled  the  Mohammedans.]  It  was  only  at  the  begin- 

ning of  the  eleventh  century  that  the  serious  conquest  of  India  was  begun 
under  the  leadership  of  Mahmud  of  Ghazni. 

Mahmud  was  the  descendant  of  a  Turkish  adventurer  who  had  created 
for  himself  an  independent  principality  in  the  mountainous  district  of  Ghazni, 
a  town  situated  in  Afghanistan,  to  the  south  of  Kabul.  When  he  appeared 
in  India,  the  northwest  of  the  peninsula  was  divided  between  several  Rajput 
princes  who,  in  a  greater  or  less  degree,  acknowledged  the  supremacy  of 
the  rajah  of  Delhi.  The  rajah  of  Kanauj,  as  a  descendant  of  Rama,  was 
lord  over  the  principahties  of  Oudh  and  of  the  Ganges  valley.  Bengal  and 
Behar  obeyed  the  Pal  dynasty  and  Malwa  was  governed  by  the  successors 
of  Vikramaditya. 

Mahmud  of  Ghazni  did  not  establish  his  supremacy  without  difficulty. 
The  Rajputs,  notably  the  king  of  Lahore,  opposed  to  him  a  desperate  resis- 

tance. It  required  no  less  than  seventeen  expeditions,  between  the  years 
1001  and  1026  to  subdue  the  north  of  the  peninsula.  He  carried  his  arms  as 
far  as  Guzerat,  where  he  pillaged  the  temple  of  Somnath,  but  he  retained 
lasting  possession  only  of  the  Punjab.  The  Rajputs  remained  practically 
independent,  and  later  on,  when  the  successors  of  Mahmud  extended  the 
Mussulman  conquests,  they  emigrated  into  the  mountainous  regions  of  Raj- 
putana,  to  which  access  was  difficult  and  where  they  founded  states,  that, 
even  under  the  Mughals  [or  Moguls]  were  never  really  subdued.  Several 
Rajput  dynasties  still  continue  to  reign. 

Mahmud's  conquest  was  as  much  religious  as  political.  He  was  a  Mussul- 
man by  conviction,  desirous  to  enforce  the  law  of  the  prophet.  He  every- 

where gave  himself  out  as  the  propagator  of  the  religion  and  of  the  civilisation 
of  the  Arabs,  and  the  caliph  of  Baghdad  bestowed  on  him  the  title.  Protector 
of  the  True  Believers.  When  Mahmud  penetrated  into  India,  that  country 
was  of  an  incomparable  opulence.  The  oriental  historians  and  Mahmud  him- 

self have  no  terms  strong  enough  to  express  their  admiration.  When  he 
entered  Muttra,  in  1019,  Mahmud  was  amazed  at  the  splendour  displayed 
on  all  sides.    This  is  what  he  wrote  on  the  subject: 

"This  marvellous  city,"  he  said,  "encloses  more  than  a  thousand  struc- 
tures, the  greater  number  in  marble  and  as  firmly  established  as  the  faith 

of  the  true  believers.  If  we  reckon  the  money  which  all  these  monuments 
must  have  cost,  it  will  not  be  too  much  to  estimate  it  at  several  millions  of 
dinars,  and  moreover  it  must  be  said  that  such  a  city  could  not  be  built  even 
in  two  centuries.  In  the  pagan  temples  my  soldiers  found  five  idols  of  gold, 
whose  eyes  were  formed  of  rubies  of  the  value  of  50,000  dinars;  another  idol 
wore  as  an  ornament  a  sapphire,  weighing  400  miskals,  and  the  image  itself, 
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when  melted,  yielded  98  miskals  of  pure  gold.    We  found  besides  a  hundred 
silver  idols,  representing  as  many  camel  loads." 

Mahmud  encountered  the  same  wonders  in  all  the  cities  he  passed  through. 
On  the  expedition  which  he  made  in  1024,  chiefly  for  the  purpose  of  destroy- 

ing the  temple  of  Somnath  in  Guzerat,  Mahmud  found  a  wonderful  temple 
whose  fifty-six  pillars  were  covered  with  plates  of  gold  and  had  precious  stones 
scattered  all  about  them;  thousands  of  statues  of  gold  and  silver  surrounded 
the  sanctuary.  The  successors  of  Mahmud  were  no  less  surprised  at  the 
wealth  and  marvels  which  they  encountered  everjrwhere  in  India,  At 
Benares,  Mahmud  of  Ghor  destroyed  the  idols  of  a  thousand  temples  and 
loaded  four  thousand  camels  with  the  booty  seized. 

THE  AFGHAN  DYNASTY  OF  GHOR;    THE   SLAVE  KINGS,   ALA-UD-DIN,  FIROZ, 
AND   TUGHLAK 

The  first  Afghan  dynasty,  founded  by  Mahmud  of  Ghazni,  reigned  from 
996  to  1186  at  Ghazni  and  Lahore.  In  1186  it  was  overthrown  by  Mahmud 
of  Ghor  [or  Ghur],  founder  of  a  second  Afghan  dynasty.  He  began  his  con- 

quest by  following  a  very  simple  method  which  was  employed  with  success 
by  all  subsequent  conquerors,  including  the  English.  It  consisted  of  inter- 

vening in  the  quarrels  of  the  native  princes  and  of  profiting  by  their  rivalries, 
first  to  enfeeble  them,  and  afterwards  to  take  possession  of  their  kingdoms. 
Having  intervened  as  an  ally  in  a  quarrel  which  divided  the  kings  of  Delhi 
and  Kanauj,  he  united  these  two  kingdoms  and  formed  a  vast  empire,  hav- 

ing for  borders  Benares  on  the  east  and  Gwalior  and  Guzerat  on  the  south; 
the  seat  of  the  government  was  Delhi. 

After  the  death  of  Mahmud,  one  of  his*viceroys,  Kutub-ud-din  [or  Kutab], 
made  himself  independent  and  became  the  chief  of  a  dynasty,  Afghan  by 
origin  and  known  as  that  of  the  Slave  Kings.  This  dynasty  reigned  from 
1206  to  1290.  It  was  this  prince  who  founded  the  famous  tower  of  the  Kutab 
at  Delhi.  The  most  celebrated  sovereign  of  this  dynasty  was  the  emperor 
Altamsh,  whose  magnificent  mausoleum  is  one  of  the  most  remarkable  monu- 

ments of  Delhi.  He  reigned  from  1211  to  1236  and  had  several  times  to  con- 
tend with  the  incursions  of  the  Mughals  and  the  revolts  of  the  native  tribes. 

The  dynasty  of  Ghor  was  soon  replaced  by  another  dynasty,  of  which  Ala- 
ud-din  was  one  of  the  most  notable  princes  (1294-1316).  He  considerably 
extended  the  Mussulman  conquests  and  had  the  same  taste  for  architecture 
a,s  his  predecessors.  The  famous  sculptured  gate  at  Delhi  which  bears  his 
name  is  the  proof  of  this.  Unfortunately  for  the  new  dynasty,  the  Mughals 
enrolled  in  the  imperial  army  became  more  and  more  dangerous.  The  chief 
of  these  mercenaries  soon  founded  a  fifth  Afghan  dynasty  (1320  to  1414),  of 
which  Firoz  and  Tughlak  were  the  most  remarkable  princes.  They  also  dis- 

tinguished themselves  by  the  impulse  they  gave  to  architecture.  Elphinstone  « 
■calls  Tughlak  "one  of  the  most  accomplished  princes  and  one  of  the  most 
furious  tyrants  that  ever  adorned  or  disgraced  human  nature." 

THE  MUGHAL  INVADERS:  TIMUR   (1398  A.D.)  AND  BARER   (1525  A.D.) 

It  was  in  1398,  in  the  reign  of  this  last  prince,  that  the  Mughal  Timur,  or 
Tamerlane,  invaded  India.  He  pillaged  Delhi,  but  merely  crossed  the  penin- 

sula like  a  storm  and  soon  regained  his  own  country.  During  the  struggles 
which  the  sovereigns  of  Delhi  had  to  sustain,  the  governors  of  the  provinces 
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attempted  to  make  themselves  independent;  in  this  several  of  them  succeeded 
and  founded  different  kingdoms,  whose  capitals  rivalled  each  other  in 
splendour  and  were  adorned  with  monuments  that  still  subsist  in  great 
numbers. 

After  Timur's  invasion  the  anarchy  was  complete.  The  governors  of  the 
Mussulman  provinces,  having  become  independent,  tried  to  make  themselves 
masters  of  Delhi.  In  1450  the  Lodi,  who  were  governors  of  Lahore,  managed 
to  seize  it  and  founded  a  new  Afghan  dynasty  —  the  seventh.  In  1517  they 
were  still  reigning  there. 

At  this  period  a  new  governor  of  Lahore,  who  had  complied  with  tradition 
by  endeavouring  to  make  himself 

^  independent,  finding  that  he  was 
pursued  by  Ibrahim  Lodi  who 
wished  to  make  him  return  to  his 

obedience,  called  to  his  aid  a  Mug- 
hal king  of  Kabul,  Zehir-ud-din, 

surnamed  Baber,  or  the  Tiger,  who 
was  a  descendant  of  Timur  and 

Jenghiz  Khan. " In  1525  Baber  invaded  India, 
won  the  victory  of  Panipat  over 
Ibrahim  the  last  of  the  Lodi  dy- 

nasty, and  founded  the  Mughal 
Empire,  which  lasted,  at  least  in 
name,  until  1857.<*  Ibrahim  was 
killed,  and  the  Indian  army,  hav- 

ing been  nearly  surrounded  during 
the  battle,  suffered  prodigious  loss 
in  the  defeat.  Baber  judged  from 
observation  that  fifteen  thousand 
lay  dead  on  the  field,  of  whom  five 
thousand  lay  in  one  spot  around 
their  king.  The  Indians  reported 
that  not  less  than  forty  thousand 
perished  in  the  battle  and  pursuit. 
Delhi  was  surrendered,  and  Baber 
advanced  and  took  possession  (May 
10th)  of  Agra,  which  had  lately 
been  the  royal  residence. 

Baber's  conduct  to  the  places where  he  met  with  resistance  was  as 
inhuman  as  that  of  Timur,  who  was 
naturally  his  model.    The  smallness 

of  his  force  was  some  justification  of  the  means  he  took  to  strike  a  terror;  but 
the  invariable  practice  of  his  country  is  the  best  palliation  for  him.« 

Baber's  own  Memoirs,  which  are  still  preserved,  relate  in  detail  the  exploits 
by  which  he  overcame  and  the  arts  by  which  he  circumvented  his  numerous 
opponents.^  They  contain  a  minute  account  of  the  life  of  a  great  Tatar 
monarchy  along  with  a  natural  effusion  of  his  opinions  and  feelings,  free  from 
disguise  and  reserve,  and  no  less  free  from  all  affectation  of  extreme  frankness 
and  candour.  His  mind  was  as  active  as  his  body:  besides  the  business  of 
the  kingdom,  he  was  constantly  taken  up  with  acjueducts,  reservoirs,  and  other 
improvements;  as  well  as  introducing  new  fruits  and  other  productions  of 

t^^-^' 
^*-

 

EUTAB  MiNAB,   0I.D  DELHI 

(Erected  bj  the  MaeBulmanB  to  commemorate  their  victory 
over  the  Bajputa  in  1193) 
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remote  countries.  Yet  he  found  time  to  compose  many  elegant  Persian  poems 
and  a  collection  of  Turki  compositions,  which  are  mentioned  as  giving  him  a 
high  rank  among  the  poets  of  his  own  country .e  Baber  died  in  1530,  when 
on  the  point  of  carrying  his  arms  beyond  Behar.  But  his  schemes  of  conquest 
were  fulfilled  or  exceeded  by  his  successors,  each  of  whom  became  known  in 
Europe  by  the  title,  Great  Mogul  (Mughal)  .& 

Humayun,  eldest  son  of  Baber,  succeeded  to  the  throne  of  his  father,  but 
was  not  long  suffered  to  enjoy  it  in  peace.  His  brother  Kamran,  in  the  gov- 

ernment of  Kabul,  formed  a  resolution  of  seizing  upon  the  Punjab;  and 
Humayun  was  fain  to  confer  upon  him  the  government  of  all  the  country  from 
the  Indus  to  Persia,  on  condition  of  his  holding  it  as  a  dependency.  A  con- 

spiracy was  formed  in  favour  of  Muhammed,  a  prince  of  the  race  of  Timur; 
and  Bahadur,  king  of  Guzerat,  was  excited  to  hostilities  by  the  protection 
Humayun  afforded  to  the  Rana  of  Chitor.  Bahadur  was  unequal  to  his  enter- 

prise; the  war  against  him  was  pushed  with  activity  and  vigour,  and  he  lost 
entirely  the  kingdom  of  Guzerat.  From  Guzerat  Humayun  marched  to  the 
eastern  provinces,  and  reduced  Chunar.  Having  gained  the  passes  he  then 
entered  Bengal,  the  government  of  which  had  recently  been  usurped,  and  its 
sovereign  expelled  by  Shir  the  Afghan  regent  of  Behar.  After  a  negotiation, 
it  was  agreed  that  the  government  of  Behar  and  Bengal  should  be  conferred 
upon  Shir,  on  his  paying  a  slight  tribute  in  acknowledgment  of  dependence. 
The  chance  of  finding  the  camp  of  the  emperor  unguarded,  under  the  negli- 

gence inspired  by  the  jprospect  of  peace,  was  one  among  the  motives  which  led 
Shir  to  open  the  negotiation.  The  perfidy  succeeded;  and  Humayun,  having 
lost  his  army,  was  constrained  to  fly.  He  fled  from  one  place  to  another, 
subject  at  times  to  the  greatest  hardships;  and  was  at  last  obliged  to  quit  the 
kingdom,  and  seek  an  asylum  in  Persia,  where  he  was  hospitably  and  honour- 

ably entertained.  His  misfortunes  excited  the  compassion  of  a  favourite 
sister  of  the  king,  and  of  several  of  his  councillors.  At  their  instigation  an 
army  of  ten  thousand  horse  was  intrusted  to  Humajoin  [by  means  of  which 

he  eventually  succeeded  in  recovering  his  father's  dominions  of  Kabul,  Kanda- 
har, and  Badakshan]. 

Immediately  after  his  victory,  Shir  assumed  the  imperial  title  Shah,  and 
exerted  himself  with  great  activity  in  reducing  the  provinces  to  his  obedience.  ̂  
Shir  Shah  is  hardly  treated  with  justice  by  the  usual  historian,  according  to 

W.  Crooke,'  who  credits  him  with  forestalling  many  of  Akbar's  broad  ideals. 
Keene"*  says  that  "No  government,  not  even  the  British,  has  shown  so  much 
wisdom  as  this  Pathan."  He  was  killed  accidentally  by  an  explosion  during 
a  siege  in  1545;  his  son  Islam  Shah  proved  a  cruel  monarch  who  undid  his 
father's  work  in  the  course  of  a  nine  years'  reign  and  led  the  way  to  Hiunayim's 
restoration.** 

Though  now  in  possession  of  part  of  his  ancient  dominions,  though  aware 
of  the  distraction  which  prevailed  in  the  rest,  and  invited  by  the  inhabitants  of 
Agra  and  Delhi,  Humayun  paused  at  the  thought  of  invading  Hindustan. 
At  first  he  was  able  to  raise  an  army  of  only  fifteen  thousand  horse.  With  that 
he  began  to  advance  towards  the  Indus,  where  he  was  joined  by  his  veterans 
from  Kandahar.  [He  was  opposed  by  Sekunder,  a  nephew  of  Shir  and  for  the 
time  master  of  Hindustan]  and  a  great  battle  was  fought  imder  the  walls  of 
Sirhind,  in  which  the  young  Akbar,  son  of  Humayim,  showed  remarkable 
spirit  and  resolution.  Sekunder,  being  routed,  fled  to  the  movmtains  of 
Sewalik.  Humayun  re-entered  Delhi,  but  was  not  destined  to  a  long  enjoy- 

ment of  the  power  which  he  had  regained.  As  he  was  supporting  hunself  by 
his  staff  on  the  marble  stairs  of  his  palace,  the  staff  slipped,  and  the  emperor 
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fell  from  the  top  to  the  bottom.    He  was  taken  up  insensible,  and  expu-ed  in  a 
few  days  in  the  year  1556,  the  fifty-first  of  his  age. 

THE  GREAT  AKBAR,   "GUARDIAN  OF  MANKIND"    (1556-1605   A.D.) 

Alcbar,  the  son  of  Humayun,  though  not  quite  fourteen  years  of  age,  was 

placed  on  his  father's  throne.  Bairam,  a  man  of  talents,  but  of  a  severe,  or 
rather  of  a  cruel  disposition,  was  appointed  regent  during  the  minority; 
which,  in  so  unsettled  and  turbulent  an  empire,  was  not  likely  to  be  attended 
with  general  submission  and  peace.  The  first  object  of  the  new  government 
was  to  exterminate  the  party  of  the  late  pretended  emperor,  Sekunder;  and 
for  this  purpose  an  army,  with  the  young  sovereign  at  its  head,  marched 
towards  the  mountains.  Sekunder  fled;  and  the  rainy  season  coming  on, 
the  army  retired  into  quarters. 

In  the  mean  time  the  governor,  who  had  been  left  by  Humayun  in  the 
command  of  Budakshan,  assumed  independence;  and  presumed  so  far  upon 
the  weakness  of  the  new  government  as  to  march  against  Kabul.  The  city 
stood  a  siege  of  four  months;  but  at  last  submitted,  and  acknowledged  the 
authority  of  the  invader. 

This  calamity  arrived  not  alone.  Himu,  the  vizir  of  Sekunder's  prede- 
cessor, retained  a  part  of  the  eastern  provinces,  and  now  marched  to  the 

centre  of  the  empire  with  a  formidable  army.  He  took  Agra.  He  took 
Delhi.  The  contending  parties  arrived  in  presence  of  one  another  in  the 
neighbourhood  of  Panipat.  The  Mughals,  who  had  been  reinforced  on  the 
march,  fought  with  great  constancy,  and  the  enemy  were  thrown  into  dis- 
order. 

When  the  battle  ended,  Himu  was  brought  into  the  presence  of  Akbar, 
almost  expiring  with  his  wounds.  Bairam,  addressing  the  king,  told  him  it 
would  be  a  meritorious  action  to  kiU  that  dangerous  infidel  with  his  own  hands. 
Akbar,  in  compliance  with  the  advice  of  his  minister,  drew  his  sword,  but 
only  touching  with  it  gently  the  head  of  his  gallant  captive,  burst  into  tears. 
This  movement  of  generous  compassion  was  answered  by  the  minister  with 
a  look  of  stern  disapprobation;  and  with  one  blow  of  his  sabre  he  struck 
the  head  of  the  prisoner  to  the  ground. 

This  important  victory  restored  tranquillity  to  the  principal  part  of 

Akbar's  dominions.  The  overbearing  pretensions  of  an  imperious,  though 
useful  servant,  and  the  spirit  of  a  high-minded,  though  generous  sovereign, 
could  not  long  be  reconciled.  Mutual  jealousies  and  discontents  arose. 
When  the  royal  ear  was  found  open  to  accusations  against  the  harsh  and  domi- 

neering Bairam,  courtiers  were  not  wanting  to  fill  it.  He  was  secretly  chained 
with  designs  hostile  to  the  person  and  government  of  the  shah;  and  the  mind 
of  Akbar,  though  firm,  was  not  unmoved  by  imputations  against  the  man 
he  disliked,  however  destitute  of  facts  to  support  them.  After  some  irreso- 

lution and  apprehension,  a  proclamation  was  issued  to  announce  that  Akbar 
had  taken  upon  himself  the  government;  and  that  henceforth  no  mandates 
but  his  were  to  be  obeyed.  Bairam  attempted  arms,  but  met  with  no  sup- 

port; and,  driven  to  his  last  resource,  implored  the  clemency  of  his  master. 
Akbar  hastened  to  assure  him  of  forgiveness,  and  invited  him  to  his  presence. 
Bairam,  desiring  leave  to  repair  to  Mecca,  received  a  splendid  retinue  and 
allowance;  but  in  his  passage  through  Guzerat  an  Afghan  chief,  whose  father 
he  had  formerly  slain  in  battle,  pretending  salutation,  stabbed  him  with  a 
dagger,  and  killed  him  on  the  spot./ 

Akbar  stands  among  the  pitifully  small  number  of  those  sovereigns  who, 
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not  fearing  to  wield  the  sword,  have  used  their  power  as  a  protection  for 
religious  freedom  and  the  freedom  of  thought.  His  efforts  to  protect  his 
subjects  from  discriminating  injustices  and  from  many  a  hardship  —  notably 
the  burning  of  widows  (suttee  or  sati)  —  brought  him  the  title  from  posterity, 
the  Guardian  of  Mankind;  a  more  glorious  title  never  was  devised." 

W.  Crooke  thus  estimates  this  monarch:  " The  life  of  Akbar  is  the  history 
of  India  during  his  long  reign  of  forty-nine  years,  and  his  personality  stands 
high,  even  when  compared  with  his  great  contemporaries  —  EHzabeth  of 
England  and  Philip  II  of  Spain.  In  his  courage  and  strength,  his  love  of 
sport,  and  knightly  exercises,  he  was  curiously  like  another  notable  prince 
of  the  same  age  —  Henry  IV  of  Navarre.  He  was  only  thirteen  when,  with 
the  aid  of  the  gallant  Bairam  Khan,  he  crumpled  up  the  Afghan  host,  on 
the  historic  field  of  Panipat." ' 

Tomb  of  Akbar  at  Secundra 

When  his  rule  was  thus  established,  the  later  life  of  Akbar  falls,  as  Keene 

has  shown,  into  three  periods:  "During  the  first,  which  lasted  about  fifteen 
years,  he  was  much  occupied  with  war,  field  sports,  and  building;  and  the 
men  by  whom  he  was  ultimately  influenced  were  still  at  that  time  young, 
like  himself.  Opinions  were  forming;  territorial  and  administrative  opera- 

tions were  in  hand.  About  1576  began  a  second  period,  marked  by  the 
arrival  of  certain  Shiahs  and  other  persons  of  heretical  opinions  from  Persia, 
and  the  growth  of  their  influence  over  Akbar.  At  the  same  time  the  emperor, 
now  in  the  maturity  of  his  intellect,  turned  his  attention  to  the  Hindus,  and 
to  the  amelioration  and  establishing  of  the  revenue  system,  by  which  they 
were  so  much  affected.  This  period  lasted  for  about  fifteen  years,  and  was 
followed  by  that  sadder  period  when,  as  must  happen,  except  under  exceptional 
circumstances,  men  in  power  grow  old  without  having  found  competent  suc- 

cessors. In  such  conditions  originality  drivels  into  cant,  and  caution  withers 
into  decay.  One  by  one  the  reformers,  a  few  years  since  so  full  of  hope  and 
vigour,  drop  into  senility,  or,  more  fortunate,  into  the  tomb.  No  one  is  left 
but  some  lover  of  letters  who,  wiser  than  the  rest,  retires  betimes  into  the 

shade  to  prepare  the  record  of  departed  greatness." »" The  charge  which  Akbar  had  taken  on  himself  seemed  beyond  the  strength 
of  a  youth  of  eighteen;  but  the  young  king  was  possessed  of  more  than  usual 
advantages,  both  from  nature  and  education. 
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He  was  born  in  the  midst  of  hardships,  and  brought  up  in  captivity.  His 
courage  was  exercised  in  his  father's  wars,  and  his  prudence,  called  forth 
by  the  delicacy  of  his  situation  during  the  ascendancy  of  Bairam.  He  was 
engaging  in  his  manners,  well  formed  in  his  person,  excelled  in  all  exercises 
of  strength  and  agility,  and  showed  exuberant  courage  even  in  his  amuse- 

ments, as  in  taming  unbroken  horses  and  elephants,  and  in  rash  encoimters 
with  tigers  and  other  wild  beasts.  Yet  with  this  disposition  and  a  passionate 
love  of  glory  he  founded  his  hopes  of  fame  at  least  as  much  on  the  wisdom 
and  liberality  of  his  government  as  on  its  military  success.  It  required  all 
his  great  qualities  to  maintain  him  in  the  situation  in  which  he  was  placed. 

Of  all  the  dynasties  that  had  yet  ruled  in  India,  that  of  Timur  was  the 
weakest  and  the  most  insecure  in  its  foundations.  Its  only  adherents  were 
a  body  of  adventurers,  whose  sole  bond  of  union  was  their  common  advantage 
during  success.  The  weakness  arising  from  this  want  of  natural  support 
had  been  shown  in  the  easy  expulsion  of  Humayun,  and  was  still  felt  in  the 
early  part  of  the  reign  of  his  son. 

It  was  probably  by  these  considerations,  joined  to  a  generous  and  candid 
nature,  that  Akbar  was  led  to  form  the  noble  design  of  putting  himself  at 
the  head  of  the  whole  Indian  nation,  and  forming  the  inhabitants  of  that 
vast  territory,  without  distinction  of  race  or  religion,  into  one  community. 
This  policy  was  steadily  pursued  throughout  his  reign.  He  admitted  Hindus 
to  every  degree  of  power,  and  Mussulmans  of  every  party  to  the  highest  sta- 

tions in  the  service,  according  to  their  rank  and  merit;  imtil,  as  far  as  his 
dominions  extended,  they  were  filled  with  a  loyal  and  united  people.  But 
these  were  the  fruits  of  time;  and  the  first  calls  on  Akbar 's  attention  were  of 
an  urgent  nature:  (1)  to  establish  his  authority  over  his  chiefs;  (2)  to 
recover  the  dominions  of  the  crown;  (3)  to  restore,  in  the  internal  adminis- 

tration of  them,  that  order  which  had  been  lost  amidst  so  many  revolutions. 
It  is  to  his  internal  policy  that  Akbar  owes  his  place  in  that  highest  order 

of  princes,  whose  reigns  have  been  a  blessing  to  mankind;  and  that  policy 
shows  itself  in  different  shapes,  as  it  affects  religion  or  civil  government. 

Akbar's  tolerant  spirit  was  displayed  early  in  his  reign,  and  appears  to  have 
been  entirely  independent  of  any  doubts  on  the  divine  origin  of  the  Moham- 

medan faith.  It  led  him  however  to  listen,  without  prejudice,  to  the  doctrines 
of  other  religions,  and  involved  him  in  enmity  with  the  bigoted  members  of 
his  own;  and  must  thus  have  contributed  to  shake  his  early  belief,  and  to 
dispose  him  to  question  the  infallible  authority  of  the  Koran.  The  political 
advantages  of  a  new  religion,  which  should  take  in  all  classes  of  his  subjects, 
could  not  fail,  moreover,  to  occur  to  him.  The  blame  of  corrupting  Akbar's 
orthodoxy  is  thrown  by  all  Mussulman  writers  on  Feizi  and  his  brother  Abul 
Fazl.  These  eminent  persons  were  the  sons  of  a  learned  man  named  Mobarik, 
who  was  probably  a  native  of  Nagor,  and  who,  at  one  time,  taught  a  coUege 
or  school  of  law  and  divinity  at  Agra.  He  was  at  first  a  Sunni,  but  turned 
Shia;  and  afterwards  took  to  reading  the  philosophical  works  of  ancients, 
and  became  a  freethinker,  or,  according  to  his  enemies,  an  atheist.  So  great 
a  persecution  was  raised  against  him  on  this  account,  that  he  was  constrained 
to  give  up  his  school,  and  fly  with  his  family  from  Agra.  His  sons  conformed, 
in  all  respects,  to  the  Mohammedan  religion;  though  it  is  probable  that  they 
never  were  deeply  imbued  with  attachment  to  the  sect.  Feizi  was  the  first 
Mussulman  that  applied  himself  to  a  diligent  study  of  Hindu  literature  and 
science. 

Along  with  Feizi  and  Abul  Fazl,  there  were  many  other  learned  men  of 
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all  religions  about  the  court;  and  it  was  the  delight  of  Akbar  to  assemble 
them,  and  sit  for  whole  nights  assisting  at  their  philosophical  discussions. 

Some  specimens  of  the  discussions  at  those  meetiags  (probably  imaginary- 
ones)  are  given  in  the  Ddbistan,  a  learned  Persian  work  on  the  various  religions 
of  Asia.  Notwithstanding  the  adulation  of  his  courtiers,  and  some  expres- 

sions in  the  formulae  of  his  own  religion,  Akbar  never  seems  to  have  enter- 
tained the  least  intention  of  laying  claims  to  supernatural  illumination.  His 

fundamental  doctrine  was,  that  there  were  no  prophets;  his  appeal  on  all  occa- 
sions was  to  human  reason;  and  his  right  to  interfere  at  all  with  religion  was 

grounded  on  his  duty  as  civil  magistrate.  He  took  the  precaution,  on  pro- 
mulgating his  innovations  to  obtain  the  legal  opinions  of  the  principal  Moham- 

medan lawyers  that  the  king  was  the  head  of  the  church  and  had  a  right 
to  govern  it  according  to  his  own  judgment,  and  to  decide  all  disputes  among 
its  members;  and,  in  his  new  confession  of  faith,  it  was  declared  that  "There 
is  no  god  but  God,  and  that  Akbar  is  his  caliph." 

In  the  propagation  of  his  opinions,  Akbar  confined  himself  to  persuasion, 
and  made  little  progress  except  among  the  people  about  his  court  and  a  few 
learned  men;  but  his  measures  were  much  stronger  in  abrogating  the  obli- 

gations of  the  Mussulman  religion,  which,  till  now,  had  been  enforced  by  law. 
Prayers,  fasts,  alms,  pilgrimages,  and  public  worship  were  left  optional:  the 
prohibition  of  unclean  animals,  that  of  the  moderate  use  of  wine,  and  that  of 
gaming  with  dice  were  taken  off;  and  circumcision  was  not  permitted  untU 
the  age  of  twelve,  when  the  person  to  undergo  it  could  judge  the  propriety 
of  the  rite. 

Some  of  the  other  measures  adopted  seemed  to  go  beyond  indifference,  and 
to  show  a  wish  to  discountenance  the  Mohammedan  religion.  The  era  of 
the  Hegira  and  the  Arabian  months  were  changed  for  a  solar  year,  dating 

from  the  vernal  equinox  nearest  the  king's  accession,  and  divided  into  months 
named  after  those  of  ancient  Persia.  The  study  of  the  Arabic  language  was 
discouraged:  Arabian  names  (as  Muhammed,  Ali,  etc.)  were  disused.  Even 
wearing  the  beard,  a  practice  enjoined  by  the  Koran,  was  so  offensive  to 
Akbar,  that  he  would  scarcely  admit  a  person  to  his  presence  who  conformed 
to  it.  This  last  prohibition  gave  peculiar  disgust  to  the  Mohammedans,  as 
did  a  regulation  introducing  on  certain  occasions  the  Persian  custom  of  pros- 

trating (or  kissing  the  ground,  as  it  was  called)  before  the  king;  a  mark  of 
respect  regarded  by  the  Mohammedans  as  exclusively  appropriated  to  the 
Deity. 

As  the  Hindus  had  not  been  supported  by  the  government,  Akbar  had 
less  occasion  to  interfere  with  them;  and,  indeed,  from  the  tolerant  and 
inoffensive  character  of  their  religion,  he  seems  to  have  had  little  inclination. 
He,  however,  forbade  trials  by  ordeal,  and  marriages  before  the  age  of  puberty, 
and  the  slaughter  of  animals  for  sacrifice.  He  also  permitted  widows  to 
marry  a  second  time,  contrary  to  the  Hindu  law;  above  all,  he  positively 
prohibited  the  burning  of  Hindu  widows  against  their  will,  and  took  effectual 
precautions  to  ascertain  that  their  resolution  was  free  and  uninfluenced.  On 

one  occasion,  hearing  that  the  rajah  of  Jodpur  was  about  to  force  his  son's 
widow  to  the  pyre,  he  mounted  his  horse  and  rode  to  the  spot  to  prevent  the 
intended  sacrifice. 

In  the  seventh  year  of  his  reign  he  abolished  the  jezia  or  capitation  tax 
on  infidels;  an  odious  impost  which  served  to  keep  up  animosity  between 
people  of  the  predominant  faith  and  those  under  them.  Another  humane 
edict,  issued  still  earlier,  (1561),  though  not  limited  to  any  one  class,  was, 
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it  was  a  prohibition  against in  practice,  mainly  beneficial  to  the  Hindus: 
making  slaves  of  persons  taken  in  war. 

Akbar's  revenue  system,  though  so  celebrated  for  the  benefits  it  conferred 
on  India,  presented  no  new  invention.  It  only  carried  the  previous  system 
into  effect  with  greater  precision  and  correctness :  it  was,  in  fact,  only  a  con- 

tinuation of  a  plan  commenced  by  Shir  Shah,  whose  short  reign  did  not  admit 
of  his  extending  it  to  all  parts  of  his  kingdom.  The  objects  of  it  were:  (1)  to 
obtain  a  correct  measurement  of  the  land;  (2)  to  ascertain  the  amount  of  the 
produce  of  each  bigah  of  land,  and  to  fix  the  proportion  of  that  amount  that 

each  ought  to  pay  to  the  govern- 
ment; (3)  to  settle  an  equivalent  for 

the  proportion  so  fixed,  in  money. 
When  Akbar  made  these  improve- 

ments respecting  the  land  tax,  he 
abolished  a  vast  number  of  vexa- 

tious taxes  and  fees  to  officers. 
The  result  of  these  measures 

was  to  reduce  the  amount  of  the 
public  demand  considerably,  but 
to  diminish  the  defalcation  in  real- 

ising it;  so  that  the  profit  to  the 
state  remained  nearly  the  same, 
while  the  pressure  on  individuals 
was  much  lessened.  Abul  Fazl 
even  asserts  that  the  assessment 
was  lighter  than  that  of  Shir  Shah, 
although  he  professed  to  take  only 
one-fourth  of  the  produce,  while 
Akbar  took  one-third.  The  author 
of  the  reform  was  rajah  Todar 
Mai,  by  whose  name  it  is  still 
called  everywhere. 

Amidst  the  reforms  of  other 
departments,  Akbar  did  not  forget 
his  army.  We  have  no  means  of 
guessing  the  number  of  the  troops. 
Abul  Fazl^  says  the  local  militia 
of  the  provinces  amounted  to 

4,400,000;  but  this  is  probably  an  exaggerated  account  of  those  bound  by  their 
tenure  to  give  a  limited  service  in  certain  cases:  probably  few  could  be  called 
on  for  more  than  a  day  or  two  to  beat  the  woods  for  a  hunting  party;  and 
many,  no  doubt,  belonged  to  hill  rajahs  and  tribes  who  never  served  at  all. 

The  same  methodical  system  was  carried  through  all  branches  of  Akbar's 
service.  The  Ayeni  Akberi  (Regulations  of  Akbar)  by  Abul  Fazl,  from  which 
the  above  account  of  the  civil  and  military  arrangements  is  mostly  taken, 
contains  a  minute  description  of  the  establishment  and  regulations  of  every 
department,  from  the  mint  and  the  treasury  down  to  the  fruit,  perfumery, 
and  flower  offices,  the  kitchen  and  the  kennel.  The  whole  presents  an  aston- 

ishing picture  of  magnificence  and  good  order;  where  unwieldy  numbers  are 
managed  without  disturbance,  and  economy  is  attended  to  in  the  midst  of 
profusion.  Akbar,  according  to  Ferishta,*  had  never  less  than  five  thousand 
elephants  and  twelve  thousand  stable  horses,  one  thousand  hunting  leopards, 
besides  vast  hunting  and  hawking  establishments,  etc. 

j'uaSfcjjii;:"""! Sentinel  God  Siba 
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The  greatest  displays  of  his  grandeur  were  at  the  annual  feasts  of  the  vernal 

equinox,  and  the  king's  birthday.  They  lasted  for  several  days,  during  which there  was  a  general  fair  and  many  processions  and  other  pompous  shows.  The 

king's  usual  place  was  in  a  rich  tent,  in  the  midst  of  awnings  to  keep  off  the 
sun.  At  least  two  acres,  according  to  Hawkins  as  quoted  by  Purchas,  i  were 
thus  spread  with  sUk  and  gold  carpets  and  hangings,  as  rich  as  velvet,  em- 

broidered with  gold,  pearl  and  precious  stones,  could  make  them.  The  nobil- 
ity had  similar  pavilions,  where  they  received  visits  from  each  other,  and  some- 

times from  the  king;  dresses,  jewels,  horses,  and  elephants  were  bestowed  on 
the  nobility;  the  king  was  weighed  in  golden  scales  against  silver,  gold,  per- 

fumes, and  other  substances,  in  succession,  which  were  distributed  among  the 
spectators. 

In  the  midst  of  all  this  splendour,  Akbar  appeared  with  as  much  simplicity 
as  dignity.  He  is  thus  described  by  two  European  eye-witnesses,  quoted  by 
Purchas.?  After  remarking  that  he  had  less  show  or  state  than  other  Asiatic 
princes,  and  that  he  stood  or  sat  below  the  throne  to  administer  justice,  they 
say,  "He  is  affable  and  majestical,  merciful,  and  severe;  skilful  in  mechanical 
arts,  as  making  guns,  casting  ordnance,  etc. ;  of  sparing  diet,  sleeps  but  three 
hours  a  day,  curiously  industrious,  affable  to  the  vulgar,  seeming  to  grace 
them  and  their  presents  with  more  respective  ceremonies  than  the  grandees; 

loved  and  feared  of  his  own,  terrible  to  his  enemies,  "e 
Notwithstanding  the  virtues  of  Akbar's  administration,  the  spirit  of  rebel- 

lion, inherent  in  the  principles  of  Indian  despotism,  left  him  hardly  a  moment's 
tranquillity,  during  the  whole  course  of  a  long  and  prosperous  reign.  Hussun 
revolted  in  Ajmir,  and  gained  at  first  a  victory  over  the  imperial  troops  who 
were  sent  to  oppose  him.  Hakim,  brother  of  Akbar,  a  weak  man,  the  gov- 

ernor of  Kabul,  began  to  act  as  an  independent  prince.  A  slave  of  his, 
approaching  the  king  while  marching  with  his  troops,  let  fly  an  arrow  which 
wounded  him  in  the  shoulder.  Akbar,  whom  neither  exertion  nor  danger 
dismayed,  opposed  himself  to  his  enemies  with  an  activity  which  often 
repaired  the  deficiencies  of  prudence.  It  would  be  tedious  to  follow  minutely 
a  series  of  expeditions,  so  much  the  same,  to  subdue  one  rebellious  chieftain 
after  another. 

The  province  of  Bengal  paid  a  nominal  submission  to  the  throne  of  Delhi, 
but  during  several  reigns  had  been  virtually  independent.  After  the  other 
provinces  of  the  empire  were  reduced  to  more  substantial  obedience,  it  was 
not  likely  that  grounds  of  quarrel  would  long  fail  to  be  laid  between  Akbar 
and  the  king  of  Bengal.  [That  province  like  Guzerat  in  1580  and  Kashmir  in 
1586  was  also  added  to  Akbar's  dominions.] 

Next  his  brother,  in  Kabul,  marched  against  Lahore.  Akbar  never 
allowed  disobedience  in  the  upper  provinces  to  gain  strength  by  duration. 
He  hastened  to  Lahore,  overcame  his  brother,  followed  him  close  to  Kabul,  and 
received  a  message  from  the  vanquished  prince,  imploring  forgiveness.  Akbar, 
with  his  usual  generosity,  which  was  often  inconsiderate  and  cost  him  dear, 
replaced  him  in  his  government.  Soon  after  this,  the  governor  of  Kandahar, 
a  province  which  hitherto  had  paid  but  a  nominal  submission  to  the  Mughal 
throne,  unable  to  defend  himself  against  his  rebellious  brothers,  and  the 
Usbegs,  who  had  now  rendered  themselves  masters  of  Transoxania  and 

Bactria,  and  were  formidable  neighbours  to  the  northern  provinces  of  Hindu- 
stan, offered  to  deliver  up  his  government  to  Akbar;  and  received  that  of 

Multan  in  exchange. 
Akbar,  who  now  beheld  himself  master,  from  the  mountains  of  Persia,  and 

Tatary,  to  the  confines  of  the  Deccan,  began  to  cast  the  eyes  of  ambition  on 
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that  contiguous  land.  He  gave  directions  to  his  governors,  in  the  provinces 
nearest  the  Deccan,  to  prepare  as  numerous  armies  as  possible;  and  to  omit 
no  opportunity  of  extending  the  empire.  He  despatched  ambassadors  to  the 
kingdoms  of  the  Deccan,  more  with  a  design  to  collect  information,  than  to 
settle  disputes.  And  at  last  a  great  army,  under  Mirza,'  the  son  of  Bairam, 
marched  in  execution  of  this  project  of  unprovoked  aggression  and  unprin- 

cipled ambition./ 
This  expedition  resulted  in  a  long  war  and  the  conquest  of  Berar,  which 

was  incorporated  in  Akbar's  dominions.  It  was  the  last  addition  to  the 
Mughal  Empire  made  before  the  death  of  the  emperor,  which  took  place  in 
1605.« 

SELIM  AND  SHAH  JAHAN   (1605-1668  A.D.) 

After  Akbar's  death  there  appear  in  the  empire  of  the  great  Mughal  of 
Delhi  the  same  phenomena  as  are  observable  in  the  other  eastern  realms,  at 
Constantinople  and  Ispahan  —  revolt  and  civil  war,  harem  intrigues,  family 
ties  destroyed,  the  rule  of  women  and  the  influences  of  favourites,  debauchery 
and  prodigality,  crime  and  sensuality.  All  these  evils  appeared  even  under 

Akbar's  son  Selim,  who  assumed  the  title  Jahangir,  that  is  Conqueror  of  the 
World.    In  his  day  the  fair  Nur  Mahal  (Light  of  the  Harem),  whom  Jahangir 

'  Mirza  was  his  title ;  his  name  was  Abdul  Ruheem,  but  he  was  commonly  called  Mirza 
Ehan  :  he  was  also  entitled  Khan-khanan. 
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had  won  as  David  won  the  wife  of  Uriah,  ruled  both  court  and  empire.  [It 
was  during  this  reign  that  the  sovereign  of  Delhi  received  the  first  embassy 
despatched  thither  from  the  power  which  was  to  replace  that  of  the  great 
mughals.] 

Jahangir's  son  and  successor  (reigned  1627-1658)  who  styled  himself  Shah 
Jahan  (King  of  the  World)  was  a  great  lover  of  display.  His  great  peacock 
throne  is  said  to  have  been  worth  more  than  six  millions  sterling.  His  mag- 

nificent palace  in  Delhi  and  the  mausoleum  [known  as  the  Taj  Mahal],  which 
he  built  at  Agra  to  the  memory  of  his  wife,  are  reckoned  amongst  the  wonders 

of  the  world.ff  Crooke  says  of  him :  "  The  wealth  and  magnificence  of  this 
famous  monarch  are  part  of  the  world's  history.  In  his  early  days  he  was  a 
keen  soldier;  but  he  was  three  parts  a  Hindu,  and  to  this  was  due  the  support 
of  the  Rajputs  in  the  early  part  of  his  career.  In  his  time  that  persecution  of 
the  Hindus,  which  was  fated  to  cause  the  ruin  of  the  dynasty,  recommenced. 
Jahangir  seems  to  have  treated  their  religion  with  contemptuous  toleration. 
His  own  belief  was  too  vague  to  encourage  iconoclasm.  But  in  1632,  the  year 
after  the  death  of  Mumtaz  Mahal,  Shah  Jahan  embarked  in  active  persecu- 

tion. The  chronicler  writes :  *  It  had  been  brought  to  the  notice  of  his  majesty 
that  during  the  late  reign  many  idol  temples  had  been  begun,  but  remained 
unfinished,  at  Benares,  the  great  stronghold  of  infidehty.  The  infidels  were 
now  desirous  of  completing  them.  His  majesty  gave  orders  that  at  Benares, 
and  throughout  his  dominions  in  every  place,  all  temples  that  had  been  begun 
should  be  cast  down.  It  was  now  reported  from  the  province  of  Allahabad, 

that  seventy-six  temples  had  been  destroyed  in  the  district  of  Benares.'  This 
evil  example  was  followed  with  disastrous  results  by  his  bigoted  successor. 
The  popular  idea  is  that  Shah  Jahan  was  always  absorbed  in  the  pleasures  of 
the  harem,  and  neglected  the  duties  of  administration;  this  is  certainly  incor- 

rect." I 
But  his  reign  was  clouded  by  domestic  troubles.  As  in  France  during  the 

reign  of  Louis  le  D^bonnaire,  so  even  during  the  lifetime  of  Shah  Jahan  a 
fratricidal  war  broke  out  between  his  four  sons.  The  three  youngest,  Suja, 
Aurangzeb,  and  Morad,  grudged  the  eldest,  Dara,  the  succession  which  his 
father  intended  him.  They  declared  themselves  independent  in  the  govern- 

ments which  had  been  assigned  to  them  and  assumed  the  titles  of  kings.  Shah 
Jahan  himself  was  conquered  by  their  arms  and  ended  his  life  as  a  prisoner. 
After  long  conflicts  the  crafty  and  treacherous  Aurangzeb  won  the  imperial 
seat  at  Delhi,  after  having  caused  his  eldest  brother  to  be  put  to  death  and 
the  two  others  to  be  shut  up  in  prison.? 

It  was  in  1658  that  Aurangzeb  proclaimed  himself  emperor,  and  he  swayed 
the  sceptre  of  the  great  Mughal  for  nearly  fifty  years  during  an  epoch  which 

constitutes  the  apogee  of  the  dynasty's  power  and  which  was  followed  by  its 
swift  decay.  We  must  here  pause  to  give  some  account  of  that  southern 
portion  of  India  whose  conquest  Akbar,  as  we  have  seen,  had  aheady  begun 
more  than  half  a  century  before." 

EARLT  DYNASTIES  IN  SOUTHERN  INDIA:    MADURA;    THE  DECCAN 

The  earliest  local  traditions  agree  in  dividing  the  extreme  south  into  four 
provinces,  Kerala,  Pandya,  Chola,  and  Chera,  which  together  made  up  the 
country  of  DraVida,  occupied  by  Tamil-speaking  races.  Of  these  kingdoms 
the  greatest  was  that  of  Pandya,  with  its  capital  of  Madura,  the  foundation  of 
which  is  assigned  on  high  authority  to  the  fourth  century,  B.C.  The  local 
-purana,  or  chronicle  of  Madura,  gives  a  list  of  two  Pandyan  dynasties,  the 
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fir^t  of  which,  has , seventy-three  kings,  the  second  forty-three.  Parakrama,, 
the  last  king  of  the  second  dynasty,  was  overthrown  by  the  Mohammedan 
invader  MaHk  Kafur,  in  1324;  but  the  Mussulmans  never  established  their 
power  in  the  extreme  south,  and  a  series  of  Hindu  lines  ruled  at  Madura  into 
the  eighteenth  century. 

No  other  Dravidian  kingdom  can  boast  such  a  continuous  succession  as 
that  of  Madura.  The  chronicles  enumerate  fifty  Chera  kings,  and  no  less 
than  sixty-six  Chola  kings,  as  well  as  many  minor  dynasties  which  ruled  at 
various  periods  over  fractions  of  the  south.  Little  confidence,  however,  can 
be  placed  in  Hindu  genealogies,  and  the  early  history  of  the  Dravidian  races; 
yet  remains  to  be  deciphered  from  mouldering  palm  leaves  and  the  more 
trustworthy  inscriptions  on  copper  and  ctone. 

Authentic  history  begins  with  the  Hindu  Empire  of  Vijayanagar  or  Nar- 
singha,  which  exercised  an  ill-defined  sovereignty  over  the  entire  south  from 
the  twelfth  to  the  sixteenth  centuries.  The  foundation  of  the  city  of  Vijay- 

anagar is  assigned  to  the  year  1118,  and  to  an  eponjTnous  hero,  Raja  Vijaya, 
the  fifth  of  his  line.  Its  extensive  ruins  are  still  to  be  traced  on  the  right  bank 
of  the  Tungabhadra  river  within  the  Madras  district  of  Bellary.  The  city 
itself  has  not  been  inhabited  since  it  was  sacked  by  the  Mohammedans  in. 
1565,  but  vast  remains  still  exist  of  temples,  fortifications,  tanks,  and  bridges, 
haunted  by  beasts  of  prey  and  venomous  reptiles.  The  empire  of  Vijayanagar 
represents  the  last  stand  made  by  the  national  faith  in  India  against  con- 

quering Islam.  For  at  least  three  centuries  its  sway  over  the  south  was  undis- 
puted, and  its  rajahs  waged  wars  and  concluded  treaties  of  peace  with  the 

sultans  of  the  Deccan  on  equal  terms. 
The  earliest  of  the  Mohammedan  dynasties  in  the  Deccan  was  that  founded 

by  Ala-ud-din  in  1347  or  1357,  which  has  received  the  name  of  the  Bahmani 
dynasty  from  the  supposed  Brahman  descent  of  its  founder.  Towards  the 
close  of  the  fourteenth  century  the  Bahmani  Empire  fell  to  pieces,  and  five 
independent  kingdoms  divided  the  Deccan  among  them.  TTiese  were  (1)  the 
Adil  Shahi  dynasty,  with  its  capital  at  Bijapur,  founded  in  1489  by  a  son  of 
Murad  II,  sultan  of  the  Ottomans;  (2)  the  Kutab  Shahi  dynasty,  with  its  cap- 

ital at  Golconda,  founded  in  1512  by  a  Turkoman  adventurer;  (3)  the  Nizam 
Shahi  dynasty,  with  its  capital  at  Ahmadnagar,  founded  in  1490  by  a  Brahman 
renegade,  from  the  Vijayanagar  court;  (4)  the  Imad  Shahi  dynasty  of  Berar, 
with  its  capital  at  Ellichpur,  founded  in  1484,  also  by  a  Hindu  from  Vijay- 

anagar; (5)  the  Barid  Shahi  dynasty,  with  ite  capital  at  Bidar,  founded  about 
1492  by  one  who  is  variously  described  as  a  Turk  and  a  Georgian  slave. 

It  is,  of  course,  impossible  here  to  trace  in  detail  the  history  of  these  several 
dynasties.  In  1565  they  combined  against  the  Hindu  rajah  of  Vijayanagar, 
who  was  defeated  and  slain  in  the  decisive  battle  of  Talilcota.  But,  though 
the  city  was  sacked  and  the  supremacy  of  Vijayanagar  forever  destroyed,  the 
Mohammedan  victors  did  not  themselves  advance  into  the  south.  The  Naiks 

or  feudatories  of  Vijayanagar  evers^where  asserted  their  independence.  From 
them  are  descended  the  well-known  Palegars  (Polygars)  of  the  south,  and  also 
the  present  rajah  of  Mysore.  One  of  the  blood-royal  of  Vijayanagar  fled  to 
Chandragiri,  and  founded  a  line  which  exercised  a  prerogative  of  its  former 
spyereignty  by  granting  the  site  of  Madras  to  the  English  in  1639.  Another 
scion  claiming  the  same  high  descent  lingers  to  the  present  day  near  the  ruins. 
of  Vijayanagar,  and  is  known  as  the  rajah  of  Anagundi,  a  feudatory  of  the 
nizam  of  Hyderabad.  Despite  frequent  internal  strife,  the  sultans  of  the 
Deccan  retained  their  independence  until  conquered  by  the  Mughal  emperor; 
Aurangzeb,  in  the  latter  half  of  the  seventeenth  century. 
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THE  BEIGN  OF  AURANGZEB   (1658-1707  A.D.) 

Aurangzeb's  long  reign,  from  1658  to  1707,  may  be  regarded  as  representing 
both  the  culminating  point  of  Mughal  power  and  the  beginning  of  its  decay. 
Unattractive  as  his  character  was,  it  contained  at  least  some  elements  of 
greatness.  None  of  his  successors  on  the  throne  was  anything  higher  than  a 
debauchee  or  a  puppet.  He  was  the  first  to  conquer  the  independent  sultans 
of  the  Deccan,  and  to  extend  his  authority  to  the  extreme  south.  But  even 
during  his  lifetime  two  new  Hindu  nationalities  were  being  formed  in  the 
Marhattas  [or  Mahrattas]  and  the  Sikhs;  while  immediately  after  his  death 
the  nawabs  of  the  Deccan,  of  Oudh,  and  of  Bengal  raised  themselves  to  practical 
independence.  Aurangzeb  had  enlarged  the  empire,  but  he  had  not  strength- 

ened its  foundations.  During  the  reign  of  his  father  Shah  Jahan  he  had  been 
the  viceroy  of  the  Deccan,  or  rather  of  the  northern  portion  only,  which  had 
been  annexed  to  the  Mughal  Empire  since  the  reign  of  Akbar.  His  early 
ambition  was  to  conquer  the  Mohammedan  kings  of  Bijapur  and  Golconda, 
who,  since  the  downfall  of  Vijayanagar,  had  been  practically  supreme  over 
the  south.  This  object  was  not  accomplished  without  many  tedious  cam- 

paigns, in  which  Sivaji,  the  founder  of  the  Mahratta  confederacy,  first  comes 
upon  the  scene.  In  name  Sivaji  was  a  feudatory  of  the  house  of  Bijapur,  on 
whose  behalf  he  held  the  rock  forts  of  his  native  Ghats;  but  in  fact  he  foimd 
his  opportunity  in  playing  off  the  Mohammedan  powers  against  one  another, 
and  in  rivalling  Aurangzeb  himself  in  the  art  of  treachery.** 

SIR  HENRY  LAWRENCE   ON  SIVAJI 

Few  conquerors  have  effected  so  much  with  equal  means.  Long  disowned 
by  his  father,  and  unaided  by  the  local  chiefs,  until  by  his  own  stripling  arm 
he  had  rendered  himself  independent,  he  died  the  recognised  ruler  of  a  terri-' 
tory  fifty  thousand  square  miles  in  area;  his  name  was  dreaded  from  Surat  to 
Tanjore,  and  in  every  quarter  between  those  remote  points  his  bands  had 
IcAded  contributions  and  tribute.  The  Mohammedan  yoke  was  now  forever 
broken  in  Maharashthra.  The  long-dormant  military  spirit  of  the  people  was 
aroused,  to  be  quelled  only  in  another  disruption  of  that  system  on  which  it 
had  risen.  The  genius  of  Sivaji  emancipated  the  Mahrattas:  succeeding 
chiefs,  by  neglecting  the  policy  which  had  aggrandised  their  founder  and 
adopting  an  organisation  which  they  could  never  perfectly  master,  precipi- 

tated the  state  to  a  second  downfall. 
Personally  brave,  Sivaji  never  fought  when  he  could  fly,  or  when  stratagem 

or  treachery  could  effect  his  object:  but  whatever  was  his  design,  he  weighed 
it  deliberately,  gained  the  most  accurate  information  on  all  necessary  points 
and  then,  when  least  expected,  pounced  upon  his  prey.  The  heavy  and  slow- 
moving  Mughals  must  have  been  sadly  puzzled  at  encoimtering  such  a  foe. 
Many  stories  are  told  of  the  terror  his  very  name  inspired.  He  was  equally 
feared  as  a  soldier,  a  marauder,  and  an  assassin.  His  own  dagger,  or  those  of 
his  emissaries,  could  reach  where  his  troops  could  not  penetrate;  no  distance 
or  precaution  could  keep  his  prey  from  him.  It  must  be  remembered  that  it 
was  not  with  the  chiefs  that  Sivaji  commenced  operations,  but  with  the 
despised  and  half-starving  peasantry.  It  was  when  Sivaji  had  gained  a  name, 
and  had  himself  become  a  chief,  that  chiefs  joined  his  standard.  It  is  ever  so 
in  India.  There  is  always  ample  material  abroad  to  feed  the  wildest  flame  of 
insurrection;  but  not  until  it  has  assumed  a  head  will  those  who  have  a  stake 
in  the  land  join  it.    They  will  attack,  they  will  riot,  they  will  plot;  but  seldom, 
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unless  in  instances  of  great  infatuation,  when  misled  by  false  prophets,  will 
the  chiefs  of  the  land  join  an  insurrectionary  move,  so  long  as  their  own  izzut 
has  not  been  touched. 

During  Sivaji's  whole  career,  he  cannot  be  said  to  have  enjoyed  or  rather 
suffered  one  single  year  of  peace.  He  seems  from  the  outset  to  have  declared 
perpetual  hostility  agahist  all  who  had  anything  to  lose.  His  pacifications, 
or  rather  truces,  were  but  breathing  spaces,  to  enable  him  to  recruit  or  collect 
a  means,  or  to  leave  him  unshackled  to  direct  his  whole  force  in  another  quar- 

ter. Aurangzeb  played  into  Sivaji's  hands  by  his  timid  and  suspicioxis  policy. 
The  emperor  was  incessantly  changing  his  commanders,  and  feared  to  trust 
any  one  of  his  sons  or  generals  with  means  sufficient  to  quell  the  Deccan  insur- 

rections, lest  the  power,  so  deputed,  should  be  used,  as  he  himself  had  used  it, 
to  the  usurpation  of  the  throne.  Thus  distrusted,  his  children  and  officers 
managed  the  war  with  Sivaji,  as  with  Bijapur  and  Golconda,  for  their  own 
aggrandisement.  They  fought  as  httle  as  they  could,  yet  they  plundered  and 
received  bribes  as  much  as  possible. 

There  was  thus  much  in  the  times  and  there  was  more  in  the  condition  and 
feeling  of  the  country  favourable  to  Sivaji.  His  cause  was,  and  appeared  to 
be,  that  of  the  people.  They  had  long  groaned  beneath  a  Mohammedan 
yoke,  and  some  openly,  all  secretly,  haUed  a  liberator  of  their  own  blood, 
caste,  and  country.  It  was  this  strong  feeling  in  his  favour  that  enabled  him 
to  procure  the  excellent  intelligeance  for  which  he  was  noted;  his  spies  were  in 
•every  quarter.  The  Mohammedan  government  in  India  had,  in  short,  lost 
its  tact,  elasticity,  and  vigour;  luxury  had  sapped  the  Moslem  strength,  and 
-deadened  their  one  solitary  virtue.  Their  hardihood  declined,  and  with  it 
■their  empire  fell.  Sivaji  was  first  to  take  advantage  of  the  imperial  decay, 
^itd  his  example  was  soon  followed  in  every  quarter  of  India. 

Sivaji  early  established  a  strict  military  systeih.  Horse  and  foot  of  all 
ranks  were  hardy,  active,  and  abstemious.  Camp  equipage  was  imknown 
among  them,  a  single  blanket,  in  addition  to  their  light  coarse  vestments,  com- 

pleted their  wardrobe;  and  a  small  bag  of  parched  grain  sufficed  for  their 
commissariat  supplies.  Thus  furnished,  the  infantry  would  for  days  and 
days  thread  the  defiles  and  jungles  of  their  wild  country,  and,  by  paths  known 
only  to  themselves,  appear  where  least  expected;  while  the  cavalry,  supplied 
with  small  saddle-bags  to  hold  such  grain  or  plunder  as  they  might  pick  up, 
swept  the  country  at  the  rate  of  fifty,  sixty,  and  even  eighty  miles  within 
twenty-four  hours.  The  grand  secret  of  Mahratta  hardihood  was  that  chiefs 
and  officers  shared  equally  in  the  privations  of  their  men.  During  Sivaji's  life 
all  the  plunder  was  pubHc  property.  It  was  brought  at  stated  periods  to  his 
darbar,  where  the  man  who  had  taken  it  was  praised,  rewarded,  or  promoted. 

"  Then  lands  were  fairly  proportioned ; 
Then  spoils  were  fairly  sold : 
The  Burgees  were  like  brothers 

In  the  brave  days  of  old." 

Sivaji  had  sense  enough  to  perceive  how  much  he  would  personally  gain 
by  the  punctual  payment  of  his  army.  All  accounts  were  closed  annually: 
assignments  were  given  for  balances  on  collectors,  but  never  on  villages. 
Cows,  cultivators,  and  women  were  exempt  from  plunder.  Rich  Moham- 

medans and  Hindus  in  their  service  were  favourite  game.  Towns  and  villages 
were  systematically  sacked,  and  where  money  or  valuables  were  not  forth- 

coming, Sivaji  would  take  promissory  notes  from  the  local  authorities.  He 

shed  no  unnecessary  blood;  he  was  not  cruel  for  cruelty's  sake,  but  on  these 
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occasions  of  plunder  he  mercilessly  slaughtered  and  tortured  all  who  were 
supposed  to  have  concealed  treasure.  An  Englishman,  captured  by  Sivaji  at 
Surat,  reported  that  he  foimd  the  marauder,  surroimded  by  executioners,  cut- 

ting off  heads  and  limbs.  The  moimtain  fortresses  were  the  keystones  of  his 
power.  His  treasure,  plunder,  and  family  safe,  he  could  freely  move  wherever 
an  opening  offered. 

It  is  only  justice  to  state  that  this  extraordinary  man,  while  devastating 
other  lands,  was  not  unmindful  of  the  dut^  he  owed  to  his  own  subjects.  In 
his  conquered  territory,  and  where  the  inhabitants  had  compounded  for 
security,  he  was  kind,  considerate,  and  consequently  popular.  On  the  whole, 
we  may  pronounce  the  founder  of  the  Mahratta  Empire  to  have  been  the  man 
of  his  day  in  India  —  greater  than  any  of  the  Mahratta  kings  who  succeeded 
him,  and  unrivalled  since,  even  by  Ryder  Ali  or  Ranjit  Singh.  Sivaji  could 
not  only  conquer  and  destroy,  but  he  could  legislate  and  build  up.  There  is  a 
germ  of  civil  organisation  in  his  arrangement;  and  had  he  lived  the  ordinary 

period  of  man's  life,  he  might  have  left  to  his  successors  a  united  and  well- 
established  principality.  He  died  suddenly,  and  with  him  his  empire  may  be 
said  to  have  expired. 

Sivaji  left  immense  treasure.  The  amount  has  been  variously  estimated; 
but  always  in  millions  of  pounds  sterling.  Heaped  together  in  his  coffers  at 
Rajjurh  were  the  dollars  of  Spain,  the  sequins  of  Venice,  the  pagodas  of  the 
Camatic,  and  all  the  various  gold  mohurs  of  the  different  quarters  of  India^ 
with  innumerable  kinds  of  rupees  of  every  shape  and  stamp.  But  all  his  spoil, 
the  harvest  of  more  than  thirty  years  of  crime  and  blood,  of  restless  nights,  of 
ceaseless  and  imseasonable  marches,  did  not  bring  peace  to  the  owner,  nor 
save  his  son  from  a  fearful  death;  it  did  not  preserve  his  successors  from  the 
prison  his  own  hands  had  prepared,  nor  his  people  from  being  split  into  factions 
that  soon  sealed  their  own  destruction.^ 

THE  GLORY  OF  AURANGZEB 

The  loss  of  Sivaji  was,  for  the  time  at  least,  irreparable  to  the  Mahrattas. 
Though  never  subdued,  they  were  defeated  and  dispersed,  and  compelled  to 
take  shelter  in  their  hill  forts  or  impervious  jungles.  On  the  whole,  it  is 
probable  that  there  never  yet  had  been  a  time  in  Hindustan  when  the  whole 
peninsula  was  so  nearly  brought  beneath  the  supreme  dominion  of  one  man. 

The  power  of  Aurangzeb  and  the  magnificence  of  the  court  of  Delhi  are 

described  by  more  than  one  intelligent  European  traveller.  "In  riches  and 
resources,"  says  Tavernier,"  "the  great  Mughal  is  in  Asia  what  the  king  of 
France  is  in,  Em-ope.  When  I  took  leave  of  his  majesty  on  the  1st  of  Novem- 

ber, 1665,  he  was  pleased  to  desire  that  I  should  stay,  and  see  the  festivals  in 
honour  of  his  birth  day.  On  this  occasion  the  emperor  is  weighed  in  state, 
and  if  he  is  found  to  weigh  more  than  on  the  preceding  year  there  are  great 

public  rejoicings.  The  grandees  of  the  empu-e,  the  viceroys  of  the  provinces, and  the  ladies  of  the  court  came  to  make  their  offerings,  which,  in  precious 
stones,  gold  and  silver,  rich  carpets  and  brocades,  elephants,  camels,  and 
horses,  amounted  when  I  was  present  to  upwards  of  thirty  millions  of  our 
livres.  The  tents  are  of  red  velvet,  embroidered  with  gold,  so  heavy  that  the 
poles  which  support  them  are  as  thick  as  the  masts  of  ships,  and  some  of  them 
from  thirty-five  to  forty  feet  in  height.  The  great  Mughal  has  seven  splendid 
thrones;  one  covered  with  diamonds,  others  with  rubies,  with  emeralds,  and 
with  pearls.  The  value  of  the  one  most  precious  (called  the  peacock  throne) 
is  estimated  by  the  royal  treasurers  at  a  number  of  lacs  of  rupees  equivalent  to 
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above  one  hundred  and  sixty  millions  of  livres.  While  the  emperor  is  on  his 
throne  fifteen  horses  stand  ready  caparisoned  on  his  right  and  as  many  on  his 
left,  the  bridles  of  each  horse  enriched  with  precious  stones,  and  some  great 
jewel  dependent  from  his  neck.  Elephants  are  trained  to  kneel  down  before 
the  throne,  and  do  his  majesty  reverence  with  their  trunks;  and  the  emperor's 
favourite  elephant  costs  five  hundred  rupees  of  monthly  expense,  being  fed  on 
good  meat  with  abundance  of  sugar,  and  having  brandy  to  drink,  Wien  the 
emperor  rides  abroad  on  his  elephant  he  is  followed  by  a  great  number  of  his 
omrahs,  or  nobles,  on  horseback  —  and  the  meanest  of  these  omrahs  com- 

mands two  thousand  cavalry."  & 

LAST  YEARS  OF  ATJRANGZEB 

It  was  in  1680  that  Sivaji  died,  and  his  son  and  successor,  Sambhaji,  was 
betrayed  to  Aurangzeb  and  put  to  death.  The  rising  Mahratta  power  was 
thus  for  a  time  checked,  and  the  Mughal  armies  were  set  free  to  operate  in 
the  eastern  Deccan.  In  1686  the  city  of  Bijapur  was  taken  by  Aurangzeb  in 
person,  and  in  the  following  year  Golconda  also  fell.  No  independent  power 
then  remained  in  the  south,  though  the  numerous  local  chieftains,  known  as 
palegars  and  naiks,  never  formally  submitted  to  the  Mughal  Empire.  During 
the  early  years  of  his  reign  Aurangzeb  had  fixed  his  capital  at  DeUii,  while  he 
kept  his  dethroned  father.  Shah  Jahan,  in  close  confinement  at  Agra.  In  1682 
he  set  but  with  his  army  on  his  victorious  march  into  the  Deccan,  and  from 
that  time  until  his  death  in  1707  he  never  again  returned  to  Delhi. 
■  In  this  camp  life  Aurangzeb  may  be  taken  as  representative  of  one  aspect 
of  the  Mughal  rule,  which  has  been  picturesquely,  described  by  European 
travellers  of  that  day.  They  agree  in  depicting  the  emperor  as  a  peripatetic 
sovereign,  and  the  empire  as  held  together  by  its  military  highways  no  less 
than  by  the  strength  of  its  armies.  The  great  road  running  across  the  north 
of  the  peninsula,  from  Dacca  in  the  east  to  Lahore  in  the  west,  is  generally 
attributed  to  the  Afghan  usurper.  Shir  Shah.  The  other  roads  branching  out 
southward  from  Agra,  to  Surat  and  Burhanpur  and  Golconda,  were  undoubt- 

edly the  work  of  Mughal  times.  Each  of  these  roads  was  laid  out  with  avenues 
of  trees,  with  wells  of  water,  and  with  frequent  sarais  or  rest-houses.  Constant 
communication  between  the  capital  and  remote  cities  was  maintained  by  a 
system  of  foot-runners,  whose  aggregate  speed  is  said  to  have  surpassed  that 
of  a  horse.  Commerce  was  conducted  by  means  of  a  caste  of  bullock-drivers, 
whose  occupation  in  India  is  hardly  yet  extinct. 

THE  DECLINE  OF  THE  MUGHAL  AND  THE  MOHAMMEDAN  POWERS 

(1707-1857  A.D.) 

On  the  death  of  Aurangzeb,  in  1707,  the  decline  of  the  Mughal  Empire  set 
in  with  extraordinary  rapidity.  Ten  emperors  after  Aurangzeb  are  enumer- 

ated in  the  chronicles,  but  none  of  them  has  left  any  mark  on  history.  His 
son  and  successor  was  Bahadur  Shah,  who  reigned  only  five  years.  Then 
followed  in  order  three  sons  of  Bahadur  Shah,  whose  united  reigns  occupy  only 
five  years  more.  In  1739  Nadir  Shah  of  Persia,  the  sixth  and  last  of  the  great 
Mohammedan  conquerors  of  India,  swept  like  a  whirlwind  over  Hindustan, 
and  sacked  the  imperial  city  of  Delhi. 

Thenceforth  the  great  Mughal  became  a  mere  name,  though  the  hereditary 
succession  continued  unbroken  down  to  our  own  day.  Real  power  had  passed 
into  the  hands  of  Mohammedan  courtiers  and  Mahratta  generals,  both  of 



THE   MOHAMMEDAN   AND   MUGHAL   EMPIEES  39 
•[1707-1857  A.D.] 

whom  were  then  carving  for  themselves  kingdoms  out  of  the  dismembered 
-empire,  until  at  last  British  authority  placed  itself  supreme  over  all.  Frcan 
the  time  of  Aurangzeb  no  Mussulman,  however  powerful,  dared  to  assunje 
the  title  of  sultan  or  emperor,  with  the  single  exception  of  Tipu's  brief  parox- ysm of  madness.  ! 

The  name  of  naipab,  corrupted  by  Europeans  into  "nabob,"  appears  to  be 
an  invention  of  the  mughals  to  express  delegated  authority,  and  as  such  it  is 
ithe  highest  title  conferred  upon  Mohammedan^  at  the^  present  day,  ii,s  maha- 
'raja  is  the  highest  title  conferred  upon  Hindus.  At  first  nawabs  were  foimd 
■only  in  important  cities,  such  as  Surat  and  Dacca,  with  the  special  function  of 
administering  civil  justice;-  criminal  justice  was  in- the  hands  of  the  kotwal. 
The  corresponding  officials  at  that  time  in  a  large  tract  of  country  were  the 
svhahdar  and  the  faujdar.  But  the  title  of  subahdar,  or  viceroy,  gradually 
dropped  into  desuetude,  as  the  paramount  power  was  shaken  off,  and  nawab 
became  a  territorial  title  with  some  distinguishing  adjunct. 

During  the  troubled  period  of  intrigue  and  assassination  that  followed  on 
the  death  of  Aurangzeb,  two  Mohammedan  foreigners  rose  to  high  positions 
as  courtiers  and  generals,  and  succeeded  in  transmitting  their  power  to  their 
sons.  The  one  was  Chin  Kulich  Khan,  also  called  Asof  Jah,  and  still  more 
commonly  Nizam-ul-Mulk,  who  was  of  Turkoman  origin,  and  belonging  to  the 
Sunni  sect.  His  independence  at  Hyderabad  in  the  Deccan  dates  from  1712. 
The  other  was  Saadat  Ali  Khan,  a  Persian,  and  therefore  a  Shia,  who  was 
appointed  subahdar  or  nawab  of  Oudh  in  1720.  Thenceforth  these  two 
important  provinces  paid  no  more  tribute  to  Delhi,  though  their  hereditary 
rulers  continued  to  seek  formal  recognition  from  the  emperor  on  their  succes- 

sion. The  Mahrattas  were  in  possession  of  the  entire  west  and  great  part  of 
the  centre  of  the  penmsula;  while  the  rich  and  unwarlike  province  of  Bengal, 
though  governed  by  an  hereditary  line  of  nawabs  founded  by  Murshid  Kuli 
Khan  in  1704,  still  continued  to  pour  its  wealth  into  the  imperial  treasury. 

The  central  authority  never  recovered  from  the  invasion  of  Nadir  Shah  in 
1739,  who  carried  off  plunder  variously  estimated  at  from  eight  to  thirty 
milhons  sterling.  The  Mahrattas  closed  round  Delhi  from  the  south,  and  the 
Afghans  from  the  west.  The  victory  of  Panipat,  won  by  Ahmad  Shah  Durani 
over  the  united  Mahratta  confederacy  in  1761,  gave  the  Mohammedan  one 
more  chance  to  rule.  But  Ahmad  Shah  had  no  ambition  to  found  a  dynasty 
of  his  own,  nor  were  the  British  in  Bengal  yet  ready  for  territorial  conquest. 
Shah  Alam,  the  lineal  heir  of  the  mughal  line,  was  thus  permitted  to  ascend 
the  throne  of  Delhi,  where  he  lived  during  the  great  part  of  a  long  life  as  a 
puppet  in  the  hands  of  Mahadaji  Sindhia.  He  was  succeeded  by  Akbar  II, 
who  lived  similarly  under  the  shadow  of  British  protection.  Last  of  all  came 
Bahadur  Shah,  who  atoned  for  his  association  with  the  mutineers  in  1857  by 
banishment  to  Burmah. 

Thus  ended  the  Mughal  line,  after  a  history  which  covers  three  hundred 
and  thirty  years.  Mohammedan  rule  remodelled  the  revenue  system,  and 

has  left  behind  forty  millions  of  Mussulmans  in  British  India.** 



CHAPTER  II 

THE  EUROPEAN  EMPIRE  IN  INDIA:   THE  RISE   OF  CLIVE 

[1498-1774  A.D.] 

PORTUGUESE   AND  DUTCH   SETTLEMENTS 

At  about  the  same  period  that  the  Mughals  were  founding  their  empire 
along  the  Ganges  the  Portuguese  discovered  the  passage  of  the  Cape  of  Good 
Hope.  Vasco  da  Gama  and  his  brave  companions  stepped  on  the  Indian 
shore  at  Calicut  in  the  month  of  May,  1498.  Seldom  have  truth  and  poetry 
been  so  closely  combined;  the  achievement  of  that  voyage  by  Vasco  da  Gama 
is  the  greatest  feat  of  the  Portuguese  in  arms;  the  celebration  of  that  voyage 
by  Luiz  de  Camoens  is  their  greatest  feat  in  letters.  The  valour  of  their 
captains  overcame  the  resistance  of  the  native  chiefs,  and  made  good  their 
settlements  from  the  coast  of  Malabar  to  the  Gulf  of  Persia.** 

The  story  of  the  valour,  cruelty,  and  greed  of  their  warriors,  governors, 
and  merchants,  and  their  full  century  of  monopoly  of  the  trade  from  1500  to 
1600,  has  been  told  with  such  fulness  in  the  history  of  Portugal,  Chapters  II 
and  III,  that  it  need  not  be  recounted  here  further  than  to  emphasise  the 
importance  in  Indian  history  of  such  names  as  Vasco  da  Gama,  Cabral, 
Almeida,  Pacheco,  the  great  Albuquerque,  Silveira,  Mascarenhas,  and  Da 
Cunha.« 

The  Dutch  were  the  first  European  nation  to  break  through  the  Portu- 
guese monopoly.  During  the  sixteenth  century  Bruges,  Antwerp,  and 

Amsterdam  became  successively  the  great  emporia  whence  Indian  produce, 
imported  by  the  Portuguese,  was  distributed  to  Germany  and  even  to  England. 
At  first  the  Dutch,  following  in  the  track  of  the  English,  attempted  to  find 
their  way  to  India  by  sailing  round  the  north  coasts  of  Europe  and  Asia. 
William  Barents  is  honourably  known  as  the  leader  of  three  of  these  arctic 
expeditions,  in  the  last  of  which  he  perished.  The  first  Dutchman  to  double 
the  Cape  of  Good  Hope  was  Cornelius  Houtman,  who  reached  Sumatra  and 
Bantam  in  1596. 

Forthwith  private  companies  for  trade  with  the  East  were  formed  in  many 
parts  of  the  United  Provinces,  but  in  1602  they  were  all  amalgamated  by  the 
states  general  into  The  Dutch  East  India  Company.    Within  a  few  years  the 
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Dutch  had  established  factories  on  the  continent  of  India,  in  Ceylon,  in 
Sumatra,  on  the  Persian  Gulf,  and  on  the  Red  Sea,  besides  having  obtained 
exclusive  possession  ot  the  Moluccas.  In  1618  they  laid  the  foundation  of 
the  city  of  Batavia  in  Java,  to  be  the  seat  of  the  supreme  government  of  the 
Dutch  possessions  in  t^he  Bast  Indies,  which  had  previously  been  at  Amboyna. 
At  about  the  same  time  they  discovered  the  coast  of  Australia,  and  in  North 
America  founded  the  city  oif  New  Amsterdam,  or  Manhattan,  now  New  York. 
During  the  seventeenth  century  the  Dutch  maritime  power  was  the  first  in 
the  world. 

The  massacre  of  Amboyna  in  1623  led  the  English  East  India  Company 
to  retire  from  the  eastern  seas  to  the  continent  of  India,  and  thus,  though 
indirectly,  contributed  to  the  foundation  of  the  British  Indian  empire.  The 
long  naval  wars  and  bloody  battles  between  the  English  and  the  Dutch  within 
the  narrow  seas  were  not  terminated  until  William  of  Orange  united  the  two 
crowns  in  1689. 

In  the  Far  East  the  Dutch  ruled  without  a  rival,  and  gradually  expelled 
the  Portuguese  from  almost  all  their  territorial  possessions.  In  1635  they 
occupied  Formosa;  in  1640  they  took  Malacca  —  a  blow  from  which  the 
Portuguese  never  recovered;  in  1651  they  founded  a  colony  at  the  Cape  of 
Good  Hope,  as  a  half-way  station  to  the  East;  in  1658  they  captured  Jaff- 
napatam,  the  first  stronghold  of  the  Portuguese  in  Ceylon;  in  1664  they 
wrested  from  the  Portuguese  all  their  earlier  settlements  on  the  pepper- 
bearing  coast  of  Malabar. 

The  rapid  and  signal  downfall  of  the  Dutch  colonial  empire  is  to  be 
explained  by  its  short-sighted  commercial  policy.  It  was  deliberately  based 
upon  a  monopoly  of  the  trade  in  spices,  and  remained  from  first  to  last  desti- 

tute of  the  true  imperial  spirit.  Like  the  Phoenicians  of  old,  the  Dutch  stopped 
short  of  no  acts  of  cruelty  towards  their  rivals  in  commerce;  and,  like  the 
PhoBhicians,  they  failed  to  introduce  a  respect  for  their  own  higher  civilisation 
among  the  natives  with  whom  they  came  in  contact.  The  knell  of  Dutch 
supremacy  was  sounded  by  Clive,  when  in  1758  he  attacked  the  Dutch  at 
Chinsura  both  by  land  Bnd  water,  and  forced  them  to  an  ignominious  capitu- 

lation. In  the  great  French  war  from  1781  to  1811  England  wrested  from 
Holland  every  one  of  her  colonies,  though  Java  was  restored  in  1816  and 
Sumatra  in  exchange  for  Malacca  in  1824. 

The  earliest  English  attempts  to  reach  India  were  made  by  the  Northwest 
Passage.  In  1553  the  ill-fated  Sir  Hugh  Willoughby  attempted  to  force  a 
passage  along  the  north  of  Europe  and  Asia,  the  successful  accomplishment  of 
which  was  reserved  for  a  Swedish  savant  of  the  nineteenth  century.  Sir 
Hugh  perished  miserably,  but  his  second  in  command.  Chancellor,  reached 
an  harbour  on  the  White  Sea,  now  Archangel.  Thence  he  penetrated  by 
land  to  the  court  of  the  grand  duke  of  Moscow,  and  laid  the  foundation  of 
"  the  Russia  company  for  carrying  on  the  overland  trade  between  India, 
Persia,  Bokhara,  and  Moscow." 

Many  subsequent  attempts  were  made  by  the  Northwest  Passage  from 
1576  to  1616,  which  have  left  on  our  modern  maps  the  imperishable  names 
of  Frobisher,  Davis,  Hudson,  and  Bafl5n.  Meanwhile,  in  1577,  Sir  Francis 
Drake  had  circumnavigated  the  globe,  and  on  his  way  home  had  touched  at 
Temate  one  of  the  Moluccas,  the  king  of  which  island  agreed  to  supply  the 
English  nation  with  all  the  cloves  it  produced. 

The  first  Englishman  who  actually  visited  India  was  Thomas  Stephens,  in 
1579  —  unless  there  be  any  foundation  for  the  statement  of  William  of 
Malmesbury,**  that  in  the  year  833  Sighehnus  of  Sherborne,  being  sent  by 
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King  Alfred  to  Rome  with  presents  to  the  pope,  proceeded  from  thence  to  the 
East  Indies  to  visit  the  tomb  of  St.  Thomas  at  Mylapore  (Mailapur,  also  called 
Saint  Thom4,  a  suburb  of  Madras),  and  brought  back  with  him  a  quantity  of 
jewels  and  spices.  Stephens  was  educated  at  New  College,  Oxford,  and  was 

rector  of  the  Jesuits'  College  in  Salsette.  His  letters  to  his  father  are  said  to 
have  roused  great  enthusiasm  in  England  to  trade  directly  with  India. 

In  1583  three  English  merchants,  Ralph  Fitch,  James  Newberry,  and 
Leedes,  went  out  to  India  overland  as  mercantile  adventurers.  The  jealous 
Portuguese  threw  them  into  prison  at  Ormuz,  and  again  at  Goa.  At  length 
Newberry  settled  down  as  a  shopkeeper  at  Goa,  Leedes  entered  the  service  of 
the  great  Mughal,  and  Fitch,  after  a  lengthened  peregrination  in  Ceylon, 
Bengal,  Pegu,  Siam,  Malacca,  and  other  parts  of  the  East  Indies,  returned  to 
England. 

The  defeat  of  the  Invincible  Armada  in  1588,  at  which  time  the  crowns  of 
Spain  and  Portugal  were  imited,  gave  a  fresh  stimulus  to  maritime  enterprise 
in  England;  and  the  successful  voyage  of  Cornelius  Houtman  in  1596  showed 
the  way  round  the  Cape  of  Good  Hope  into  waters  hitherto  monopolised  by 
the  Portuguese. 

THE  ENGLISH  EAST  INDIA  COMPANY  FOUNDED   (1600  A.D.) 

The  foimdation  of  the  English  East  India  Company  was  on  this  wise :  "  In 
1599  the  Dutch,  who  had  now  firmly  estabhshed  their  trade  in  the  east,  having 
raised  the  price  of  pepper  against  us  from  3s.  per  pound  to  6s.  and  8s.,  the 

merchants  of  London  held  a  meeting  on  the  22nd  of  September  at  Founders' 
Hall,  with  the  lord  mayor  in  the  chair,  and  agreed  to  form  an  association  for 
the  purpose  of  trading  directly  with  India.  Queen  Elizabeth  also  sent  Sir 
John  Mildenhall  by  Constantinople  to  the  great  Mughal  to  apply  for  privi- 

leges for  the  English  company,  for  which  she  was  then  preparing  a  charter, 
and  on  the  31st  of  December,  1600,  the  English  East  India  Company  was 
incorporated  by  royal  charter  under  the  title  of  The  Governor  and  Company 

of  Merchants  of  London  trading  to  the  East  Indies." 
The  original  company  had  only  one  hundred  and  twenty-five  shareholders, 

and  a  capital  of  £70,000,  which  was  raised  to  £400,000  in  1612,  when  voyages 

were  first  undertaken  on  the  joint-stock  account.  Coiu-ten's  association, 
known  also  as  the  Assada  Merchants,  from  a  factory  foimded  by  them  in 
Madagascar,  was  established  in  1635,  but  after  a  period  of  mtemecinc  rivalry 
united  with  the  London  Company  in  1650.  In  1655  the  Company  of  Merchant 
Adventurers  obtained  a  charter  from  Cromwell  to  trade  with  India,  but  imited 
with  the  original  company  two  years  later.  A  more  formidable  rival  subse- 

quently appeared  in  the  English  company,  or  General  Societ,  trading  to  the 
East  Indies,  which  was  incorporated  under  powerful  patronage  in  1698,  with 
a  capital  of  £2,000,000  sterling. 

According  to  Evelyn,/  in  his  Diary  for  March  5th,  1698,  "the  old  East 
India  Company  lost  their  business  against  the  new  company  by  ten  votes  in 
pariiament,  so  many  of  their  friends  being  absent,  going  to  see  a  tiger  baited 

by  dogs."  However,  a  compromise  was  speedily  effected  through  the  arbi- 
tration of  Lord  Godolphin  in  1702,  and  the  London  and  the  English  companies 

were  finally  amalgamated  in  1709,  under  the  style  of  the  United  Company  of 
Merchants  of  England  trading  to  the  East  Indies.  At  the  same  time  the 
company  advanced  a  loan  to  the  state  of  £3,190,000  at  3  per  cent,  interest, 
in  consideration  of  the  exclusive  privilege  to  trade  to  all  places  between  the 
Cape  of  Good  Hope  and  the  Straits  of  Magellan. 
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'  The  early  voyages  of  the  company,  from  1600  to  1612,  are  distinguished  as 
the  "separate  voyages,"  twelve  in  number.  The  subscribers  individually 
bore  the  expenses  of  each  voyage,  and  reaped  the  whole  profits.  With  the 
exception  of  the  fourth,  all  these  separate  voyages  were  highly  prosperous, 
the  profits  hardly  ever  falling  below  100  per  cent.  After  1612  the  voyages 
■were  conducted  on  the  joint-stock  account. ' 

During  the  civil  wars  the  company  shared  in  the  decline  of  every  other 
branch  of  trade  and  industry.  But  soon  after  the  accession  of  Charles  II  they 
obtained  a  new  charter,  which  not  only  confirmed  their  ancient  privileges  but 
vested  in  them  authority,  through  their  agents  in  India,  to  make  peace  and 
war  with  any  prince  or  people  not  being  Christians,  and  to  seize  within  their 
limits  and  send  home  as  prisoners,  any  Englishmen  found  without  a  licence. 
It  may  well  be  supposed  that  in  the  hands  of  any  exclusive  company  this  last 
privilege  was  not  likely  to  lie  dormant.  Thus,  on  one  occasion,  when  one  of 
their  governors  had  been  urged  to  enforce  the  penalties  against  interlopers 
with  the  utmost  rigour,  and  had  replied  that  unhappily  the  laws  of  England 
would  not  let  him  proceed  so  far  as  might  be  wished  —  Sir  Josiah  Child,  as 
chairman  of  the  court  of  directors,  wrote  back  in  anger  as  follows-  "We 
expect  that  our  orders  are  to  be  your  rules,  and  not  the  laws  of  England,  which 
are  a  heap  of  nonsense,  compiled  by  a  few  ignorant  country  gentlemen,  who 
hardly  know  how  to  make  laws  for  the  good  of  their  own  families  much  less 

for  the  regulating  of  companies  and  foreign  commerce." 

ENGLISH  COLLISIONS  WITH  THE  PORTUGXJESE  AND  THE  DUTCH 

After  the  grant  of  the  first  charter  by  Queen  Elizabeth  and  the  growth  of 

the  company's  trade  in  India,  their  two  main  factories  were  fixed  at  Surat  and 
Bantam.  Surat  was  then  the  principal  sea-port  of  the  Mughal  Empire,  where 
the  Mohammedan  pilgrims  were  wont  to  assemble  for  their  voyages  towards 
Mecca.  Bantam,  from  its  position  in  the  island  of  Java,  commanded  the  best 

part  of  the  spice  trade.  But  at  Surat  the  company's  servants  were  harassed 
by  the  hostility  of  the  Portuguese,  as  at  Bantam  by  the  hostility  of  the  Dutch. 

To  such  heights  did  these  differences  rise  that  in  1622  the  English  assisted 
the  Persians  in  the  recovery  of  Ormuz  from  the  Portuguese,  and  in  1623  the 
l3utch  committed  the  outrage  termed  the  Massacre  of  AmbojTia  —  putting 
to  death,  after  a  trial  and  confession  of  guilt  extorted  by  torture,  Captain 
Towerson  and  nine  other  Englishmen,  on  a  charge  of  conspiracy.  In  the  final 
result  many  years  afterwards  the  factories  both  at  Bantam  and  Surat  were 
relinquished  by  the  company.  Other  and  newer  settlements  of  theirs  had, 
meanwhile,  grown  into  importance. 

In  1640  the  English  obtained  permission  from  a  Hindu  prince  in  the 
Carnatic  to  purchase  the  ground  adjoining  the  Portuguese  settlement  of  St. 
Thom^,  on  which  they  proceeded  to  raise  Fort  St.  George  and  the  town  of 
Madras.  "At  the  Company's  first  beginning  to  build  a  fort"  —  thus  writes 
the  Agency  —  "  there  were  only  the  French  padre's  and  about  six  fishermen's 
houses!"  But  in  a  very  few  years  Madras  had  become  a  thriving  town. 
About  twenty  years  afterwards,  on  the  marriage  of  Charles  II  to  Catherine  of 
Braganza,  the  town  and  island  of  Bombay  were  ceded  to  the  king  of  England 
as  a  part  of  the  infanta's  dowry.  For  some  time  the  Portuguese  governor 
continued  to  evade  the  grant,  alleging  that  the  patent  of  his  majesty  was  not 
in  accordance  with  the  customs  of  Portugal;  he  was  compelled  to  yield;  but 
the  possession  being  found  on  trial  to  cost  more  than  it  produced,  it  was  given. 
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up  by  King  Charles  to  the  East  India  Company,  and  became  one  of  their 
principal  stations. 

Considering  the  beauty  and  richness  of  Bengal,  a  proverb  was  current 
among  the  Europeans  that  there  are  a  hxmdred  gates  for  entering  and  not  one 
for  leaving  it.  The  Dutch,  the  Portuguese,  and  the  English  had  established 
their  factories  at  or  near  the  town  of  Hooghly  [Hugli]  on  one  of  the  branches 
—  also  called  Hooghly  —  of  the  Ganges.  But  during  the  reign  of  James  II 
the  imprudence  of  some  of  the  company's  servants,  and  the  seizure  of  a  Mughal 
junk  had  highly  incensed  the  native  powers.  The  English  foimd  it  necessary 
to  leave  Hooghly,  and  drop  twenty-five  miles  down  the  river  to  the  village  of 
Sutanati.  Some  petty  hostilities  ensued,  not  only  in  Bengal  but  along  the^ 
coasts  of  India;  several  small  factories  of  the  company  were  taken  and  plun- 

dered, nor  did  they  speed  well  in  their  endeavours  either  for  defence  or  reprisal. 
It  was  about  this  period  that  their  settlement  at  Surat  was  finally  trans- 

ferred to  Bombay.  So  much  irritated  was  Aurangzeb  at  the  reports  of  these 

hostilities  that  he  issued  orders  for  the  total  expulsion  of  the  company's  ser- 
vants from  his  dominions,  but  he  was  appeased  by  the  humble  apologies  of  the 

English  traders,  and  the  earnest  intercession  of  the  Hindu,  to  whom  this  com- 
merce was  a  source  of  profit.  The  English  might  even  have  resumed  their 

factory  at  Hooghly,  but  preferred  their  new  station  at  Sutanati,  and  in  1698^ 
obtained  from  the  Mughal,  on  pa3Tnent  of  an  annual  rent,  a  grant  of  the  land 
on  which  it  stood.  Then,  without  delay,  they  began  to  construct  for  its 
defence  a  citadel,  named  Fort  William,  under  whose  shelter  there  grew  by 
degrees  from  a  mean  village  the  great  town  of  Calcutta  —  the  capital  of  modem 
India. 

Thus  before  the  accession  of  the  house  of  Hanover  these  three  main  sta- 
tions —  Fort  WiUiam,  Fort  St.  George,  and  Bombay  —  had  been  erected  inta 

presidencies  or  central  posts  of  government,  each  independent  of  the  rest. 
Each  was  governed  by  a  president  and  a  coxmcil  of  nine  or  twelve  members,, 
appointed  by  the  court  of  directors  in  England.  Each  was  surrounded  with 

fortifications,  and  guarded  by  a  small  force,  partb'^  European  and  partly  native, 
in  the  service  of  the  company.  The  Europeans  were  either-  recruits  enlisted 
in  England  or  strollers  and  deserters  from  other  services  in  India.  Among^ 
these  the  descendants  of  the  old  settlers,  especially  the  Portuguese,  were 
called  Topasses  —  from  the  tope  or  hat  which  they  wore  instead  of  turban. 
The  natives,  as  yet  ill-armed  and  ill-trained,  were  known  by  the  name  of 
sepoys  —  a  corruption  from  the  Indian  word  dpahi,  a  soldier.  But  the 
territory  of  the  English  scarcely  extended  out  of  sight  of  their  towns,  nor  had 
their  military  preparations  any  other  object  than  the  unmolested  enjojTnent  of 
their  trade.  Far  from  aiming  at  conquest  and  aggrandisement,  they  had 
often  to  tremble  for  their  homes.  So  late  as  1742  the  Mahratta  Ditch  was 
dug  round  a  part  of  Calcutta,  to  protect  the  city  from  an  inroad  of  the  fierce 
race  of  Sivaji. 

THE  FRENCH  SETTLEMENTS:     LA  BOUBDONNAIS  AND  DUPLEIX 

Even  before  the  commencement  of  the  eighteenth  century,  it  might  be  said 
that  all  rivalry  had  ceased  in  India  between  the  company's  servants  and  the 
Dutch  or  Portuguese.  The  latter,  besides  their  treaties  of  close  alliance  with 
England,  had  utterly  declined  from  their  ancient  greatness  and  renown.  The 
Dutch  directed  by  far  their  principal  attention  to  their  possessions  in  Java 
and  the  adjoining  islands.  But  another  still  more  formidable  power  had 
already  struck  root  on  the  Indian  soil. 
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The  French  under  Louis  XIV  had  established  an  East  India  Company ' 
in  emulation  of  the  English;  like  them,  they  had  obtained  a  settlement  on  the 
Hooghly  river  —  at  Chandernagor,  above  Calcutta;  like  them,  they  had  built 
a  fort  on  the  coast  of  the  Carnatic,  about  eighty  miles  south  of  Madras,  which 
they  called  Pondichefry.  In  Malabar  and  Khandesh  they  had  no  settlement 
to  vie  with  Bombay;  but  on  the  other  hand  they  had  colonised  two  fertile 
islands  in  the  Indian  Ocean  —  the  one  formerly  a  Dutch  possession,  and  called 
Mauritius,  from  Prince  Maurice  of  Orange;  the  second,  discovered  by  the 
Portuguese,  with  the  appellation  of  Mascarenhas.  The  first  now  received 
the  name  of  Isle  de  France,  and  the  second  of  Isle  de  Bourbon,  and  both, 
under  the  assiduous  care  of  their  new  masters,  rapidly  grew  in  wealth  and 
population.  On  the  whole,  the  settlements  of  the  French  on  the  Indian  coasts 
and  seas  were  governed  by  two  presidencies  —  the  one  at  Isle  de  France,  the 
other  at- Pondicherry. 

It  so  chanced  that  at  the  breaking  out  of  the  war  between  France  and 
England  in  1744  both  the  French  presidencies  were  ruled  by  men  of  superior 
genius.  Mah6  de  la  Bourdonnais  conunanded  at  Isle  de  France;  a  man  of 
Breton  blood,  full  of  the  generous  ardour,  of  the  resolute  firmness,  which  have 
ever  marked  that  noble  race.  Since  his  tenth  year  he  had  served  in  the  navy 
on  various  voyages  from  the  Baltic  to  the  Indian  seas,  and  he  had  acquired 
consvunmate  skill,  not  only  in  the  direction  and  pilotage  but  in  the  building 
and  equipment  oi  a  fleet.  Nor  was  he  less  skilled  in  the  cares  of  civil  admin- 

istration. It  is  to  him  that  Mauritius  owes  the  first  dawn  of  its  prosperity. 

Ever  zealous  for  his  country's  weKare,  he  was  yet  incapable  of  pursuing  it 
by  any  other  means  than  those  of  honour  and  good  faith. 

Dupleix  was  the  son  of  a  farmer  general,  and  the  heir  of  a  considerable 
fortune.  From  early  youth  he  had  been  employed  by  the  French  East  India 
Company,  and  had  gradually  risen  to  the  government  of  Pondicherry  and  of 
all  the  subordinate  factories  on  the  continent  of  Hindustan.  During  his 
whole  career  he  had  zealously  studied  the  interests  of  the  company  without 
neglecting  his  own,  and  the  abilities  which  he  had  displayed  were  great  and 
various.  The  calculations  of  commerce  were  not  more  habitual  or  more  easy 
to  him  than  the  armaments  of  war  or  the  wiles  of  diplomacy.  With  the  idea 
of  Indian  sovereignty  ever  active  in  his  mind,  he  had  plunged  headlong  into  all 
the  tangled  and  obscure  intrigues  of  the  native  powers.  Above  all  he  caballed 
with  the  native  nawab  [or  nabob]  or  deputed  prince  of  Arcot,  or,  as  sometimes 
called,  of  the  Carnatic  (Arcot  being  the  capital,  and  Carnatic  the  country), 
and  with  his  superior  the  subahdar  or  viceroy  of  the  Deccan,  more  frequently 
termed  the  nizam. 

Beguiled  by  a  childish  vanity,  he  was  eager  to  assume  for  himself,  as 
they  did,  the  pompous  titles  of  nawab  and  bahadur,  which,  as  he  pretended, 
had  been  conferred  upon  him  by  the  court  of  Delhi.  His  breach  of  faith 
on  several  occasions  with  his  enemies  is  even  less  to  be  condemned  than  his 
perfidy  to  some  of  his  own  coimtrymen  and  colleagues.  But  fortunate  was  it 
perhaps  for  the  supremacy  of  England  in  the  East,  that  two  such  great  com- 

manders as  Dupleix  and  La  Bourdonnais  should  by  the  faiilt  of  the  first 
have  become  estranged  from  any  effective  combination,  and  have  turned 
their  separate  energies  against  each  other. 

[•  The  first  E^rencli  East  India  Company  was  founded  in  1604 ;  a  second  in  1611 ;  a  third  in 
1615;  Richelieu's  in  1643  ;  Colbert's  in  1644,  and  a  sixth  in  1719,  called  the  "Compagnie  des 
Indes,"  and  formed  by  the  union  of  the  East  and  West  Indian  companies  with  those  of  Senegal 
and  China.  The  monopoly  was  suspended  by  the  king  in  1769,  and  the  company  abolished  by 
the  National  Assembly  in  1796.] 



46  THE   HISTOKY   OF   BEITISH   I1«[DIA 
[1744-1746  Ji.D.I 

FEENCH  VICTORIES  OVER  THE  ENGLISH   (1746  A.D.) 

On  the  declaration  of  war  in  1744  an  English  squadron  under  Commodore 
Barnet  had  been  sent  to  the  Indian  seas.  LaBourdonnais,  exerting  his  scanty 
means  with  indefatigable  perseverance,  succeeded  in  fitting  out  nine  ships, 
but  nearly  all  leaky  and  unsound,  and  he  embarked  upwards  of  three  thousand 
men,  but  of  these  there  were  four  hundred  invalids  and  seven  hundred  Kaffirs 
or  L^cars.  On  the  6th  of  July,  1746,  the  two  fleets  engaged  near  Fort  St. 
David,  but  the  battle  began  and  ended  in  a  distant  cannonade.  Next  morning 
the  English  stood  out  to  sea,  while  the  French  directed  their  course  to  Pondi- 
cherry.  The  object  of  La  Bourdonnais  was  the  capture  of  Madras,  and  he 
made  a  requisition  on  Dupleix  for  some  stores  and  sixty  pieces  of  artillery. 

But  the  jealous  mind  of  Dupleix  could  ill  brook  contributing  to  his  rival's 
success.  He  refused  the  stores,  allowed  only  thirty  cannon  of  inferior  calibre, 
and  sent  on  board  water  so  bad  as  to  produce  a  dysentery  in  the  fleet. 

Not  disheartened,  however,  by  these  vuiexpected  difficulties.  La  Bourdon- 
nais appeared  off  Madras  in  September,  1746,  and  proceeded  to  disembark 

his  motley  force.  The  city,  though  at  this  period  rich  and  populous^  was  ill- 
defended;  one  division,  called  the  Black  Town,  only  covered  by  a  common 
wall;  the  other,  the  White  Town,  or  Fort  St.  George,  begirt  with  a  rampart 
and  bastions,  but  these  very  slight  and  faulty  in  construction.  There  were 
but  three  himdred  Englishmen  in  the  colony,  and  of  them  only  two  hundred 
were  soldiers.  Under  such  circumstances  no  effective  resistance  could  be 
expected;  nevertheless  the  garrison  sustained  a  bombardment  during  three 
days,  and  obtained  at  last  an  honourable  capitulation.  It  was  agreed  that 
the  English  should  be  prisoners  of  war  upon  parole,  and  that  the  town  should 
remain  in  possession  of  the  French  vmtil  it  should  be  ransomed.  La  Bourdon- 

nais giving  his  promise  that  the  ransom  required  should  be  fair  and  moderate. 
The  sum  was  fixed  some  time  afterwards  between  the  French  commander  and 
the  English  council  at  440,000Z.  On  these  terms  the  invaders  marched  in; 
the  keys  were  delivered  by  the  governor  at  the  gate,  and  the  French  colours 
were  displayed  from  Fort  St.  George.  Not  a  single  Frenchman  had  been 
killed  during  the  siege,  and  only  four  or  five  English  from  the  explosion  of 
a  bomb. 

Dupleix  could  not  restrain  his  resentment  when  he  heard  the  terms  of 
the  capitulation.  To  his  views  of  sovereignty  in  India  it  was  essential  that 
the  English  should  be  expelled  the  country,  and  Madras  be  either  retained  or 
rased  to  the  ground.  Accordingly  when  La  Bourdonnais  again  disembarked 
at  Pondicherry  with  the  spoOs  of  the  conquered  town,  a  long  and  fierce  alter- 

cation arose  between  the  rival  chiefs. 
These  differences  with  Dupleix  prevented  La  Bourdonnais  from  pursuing 

as  he  had  designed,  his  expedition  against  the  other  British  settlements  in 
India.  All  his  proposals  for  a  imion  of  coimsels  and  resources  were  scornfully 
rejected  by  Dupleix,  who  had  now  no  other  object  than  to  rid  himself  of  an 
aspiring  colleague.  For  this  object  he  stooped  at  length  to  deliberate  false- 

hood. He  gave  a  solemn  promise  to  fulfil  the  capitulation  of  Madras,  on  the 
faith  of  which  La  Bourdonnais  consented  to  re-embark,  leaving  a  part  of  his 
fleet  with  Dupleix,  and  steering  with  the  rest  to  Achin  in  quest  of  some  Eng- 

lish ships.  Not  succeeding  in  the  search  he  returned  to  the  Mauritius,  and 
from  thence  to  France,  to  answer  for  his  conduct.  On  his  voyage  home  he 
was  taken  by  the  English,  and  conveyed  to  London,  but  was  there  received 
with  respect  and  dismissed  on  parole. 

At  Paris,  on  the  contrary,  he  found  himself  preceded  by  the  perfidious 
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insinuations  of  his  rival.  He  was  thrown  into  the  Bastille,  his  fortune  plun- 
dered, his  papers  seized,  and  his  will  torn  open.  He  was  secluded  from  his  wife 

and  children,  and  even  debarred  the  use  of  pen  and  ink  for  his  defence.  When 
after  many  months'  suspense  he  was  examined  before  a  royal  commission  he 
heard  his  services  denied,  his  integrity  questioned,  and  the  decline  of  com- 

merce resulting  from  the  war  urged  as  his  reproach.  "  Will  you  explain," 
asked  of  him  one  of  the  East  Indian  Directors,  "  how  it  happened  that  under 
your  management  your  own  private  affairs  have  thriven  so  weU  and  those  of 

the  Company  so  ill?" 
"  Because,"  answered  La  Bourdonnais  without  hesitation,  "  I  managed  my 

own  affairs  according  to  my  own  judgment,  and  I  managed  the  Company's 
according  to  your  instructions!"  After  many  harassing  inquiries,  and  three 
years'  detention,  his  innocence  was  pubhcly  acknowledged;  but  his  long 
imprisonment  had  broken  his  health,  or  rather,  perhaps,  his  heart;  he  lingered 
for  some  time  in  a  painful  illness,  and  in  1754  expired.  The  government, 
wise  and  just  too  late,  granted  a  pension  to  his  widow. 

THE  AMBITIONS  AND   SUCCESSES  OF  DUPLEIX 

Only  seven  days  after  La  Bourdonnais  had  sailed  from  Pondicherry, 
Dupleix,  in  utter  defiance  of  his  recent  promise,  obtained  a  warrant  from  his 
council  annulling  the  capitulation  of  Madras.  Thus,  so  far  from  restoring 
the  city  within  a  few  weeks,  on  payment  of  the  stipulated  sum,  the  principal 
inhabitants  were  brought  imder  a  guard  to  Pondicherry,  and  paraded  in 
triumph  through  the  streets.  Such  conduct  had,  at  least,  the  advantage 
of  absolving  them  from  the  obligation  of  their  previous  parole,  and  several 
of  them,  assuming  Hindu  attire  or  other  disguises,  made  their  way  from 
Pondicherry  to  Fort  St.  David,  the  two  settlements  being  less  than  twenty 
miles  asimder.  Among  those  who  thus  escaped  was  young  Robert  CUve,  then 
a  merchant's  clerk,  afterwards  a  conqueror  and  statesman. 

It  was  not  long  ere  some  troops  were  sent  out  by  Dupleix  (Dupleix  him- 
self was  no  warrior)  for  the  reduction  of  Fort  St.  David;  but  the  nawabof 

Arcot,  to  whom  the  cession  of  Madras  had  been  promised,  being  now  disap- 
pointed in  his  hopes  and  filled  with  resentment,  joined  his  forces  to  the  Eng- 

lish, and  the  invaders  were  repulsed  with  loss.  Not  discouraged,  Dupleix 
opened  a  new  negotiation  with  the  nawab,  who,  on  some  fresh  lures  held 
out  to  him,  consented  to  desert  the  English,  and  again  embrace  the  French 
interest.  Thus,  in  March,  1747,  Dupleix  could  under  better  auspices  resume 
his  expedition  against  Fort  St.  David,  and  his  soldiers  were  advancing,  as  they 
thought,  to  a  certain  conquest,  when  a  number  of  ships  were  descried  in  the 
offing  as  about  to  anchor  in  the  roads.  These  were  no  sooner  recognised  as 
English  than  the  French  relinquished  their  design,  and  hastened  back  to 
Pondicherry. 

The  English  fleet,  thus  opportime  in  its  appearance,  was  commanded  by 
Admiral  Griffin,  who  had  been  sent  from  England  with  two  men-of-war  to 
strengthen  the  Bengal  squadron.  In  the  next  ensuing  months  further  rein- 

forcements, both  naval  and  military,  were  brought  at  different  times  by 
Admiral  Boscawen  and  Major  Lawrence ;  the  former  taking  the  chief  command 
at  sea,  and  the  second  on  shore.  So  large  was  this  accession  of  force  as  to 
turn  at  once,  and  heavily,  the  scale  against  the  French.  It  became  possible 
nay,  even,  as  it  seemed,  not  difficult,  to  retaliate  the  loss  of  Madras  by  the 
capture  of  Pondicherry.  With  this  view  the  English  took  the  field  in  August, 
1748,  having  in  readiness  two  thousand  seven  himdred  European  troops,  one 
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thousand  sailors  who  had  been  taught  the  manual  exercise  during  the  voyage, 
and  two  thousand  sepoys  in  the  service  of  the  company. 

At  the  news  of  this  armament,  the  greatest  perhaps  from  modem  Europe 
■which  India  had  yet  seen,  the  nawab  of  Arcot  hastened  to  change  sides  once 
more,  and  declare  himself  an  English  ally;  he  even  promised  the  succour  of 
two  thousand  horse,  but  only  sent  three  hundred.  Dupleix,  on  his  part, 
could  mUster  eighteen  hundred  Europeans  and  three  thousand  sepoys,  but 
his  dispositions  were  by  far  the  more  skilful  and  able.  He  knew  how  to 
inspire  his  men  with  nulitary  ardour,  while  the  English  were  dispirited  by 
the  want  of  practice  in  their  commanders,  wasted  by  sickness,  and  harassed  by 
rains  which  had  begun  three  weeks  before  the  usual  season.  At  length  they 
found  it  necessary  to  raise  the  siege,  after  thirty-one  days  of  open  trenches, 
and  the  loss  of  one  thousand  men.  The  French  governor,  in  his  usual  boastful 
strain,  imfliediately  proclaimed  his  triumph  by  letters  to  all  the  chief  subah- 
dars  of  tndia,  and  even  to  the  great  Mughal. 

Such  was  the  state  of  affairs  in  India  when  the  tidings  came  that  a  peace 
liad  been  signed  at  Aix-la-Chapelle  [Aachen],  and  that  a  restitution  of  conquests 
had  been  stipulated.  It  became  necesssary  for  Dupleix  to  yield  Madras  to 
the  English,  which  he  did  with  extreme  reluctance  and  after  long  delay.  On 
this  occasion  of  recovering  Madras,  the  English  also  took  possession  of  St, 
Thom4,  which  the  natives  had  conquered  from  the  Portuguese. 

The  rival  settlements  of  Pondicherry  and  Madras,  though  now  debarred 
from  any  further  direct  hostility,  were  not  long  in  assailing  each  other  indi- 

rectly, as  auxiliaries  in  the  contests  of  the  native  princes.  A  new  scene  was 
rapidly  opening  to  the  ambition  of  Dupleix.  The  nizam,  or  viceroy  of  the 
Deccan  under  the  Mughal,  had  lately  died,  and  been  succeeded  by  his  son, 
Nasir  Jang,  but  one  of  his  grandsons,  Muzaffar  Jang,  had  claimed  the 
vacant  throne.  At  the  same  time  in  the  dependent  province  of  the  Camatic, 
■Chanda  Sahib,  son-in-law  of  a  former  nawab,  appeared  as  a  competitor  to 
the  reigning  prince,  Anwaru-din. 

Dupleix  eagerly  seized  the  opportunity  to  enhance  his  own  importance, 
by  establishing  through  his  aid  a  viceroy  of  the  Deccan  and  a  nawab  of  the 
Camatic.  He  promised  his  support  to  the  two  pretenders,  who  had  com- 

bined their  interests  and  their  armies,  and  who  were  now  reinforced  with  two 
thousand  sepoys  and  several  hundred  Europeans.  Nor  did  they  want  skilful 
officers  from  Pondicherry;  one,  above  all,  the  marquis  de  Bussy,  showed  him- 

self no  less  able  in  the  field  than  Dupleix  was  in  coimcil.  In  August,  1749, 
a  battle  'ensued  beneath  the  fort  of  Ambur,  when  the  discipline  of  the  French 
auxiliaries  turned  the  tide  of  victoiy,  and  when  the  veteran  and  subtle  nawab, 
Anwaru-din,  was  slain.  His  capital,  Arcot,  and  the  greater  part  of  his 
dominions  fell  into  the  hands  of  the  conquerors. 

His  son,  Muhammed  Ah,  with  the  wreck  of  his  army,  fled  to  Trichinopoli, 
and  endeavoured  to  maintain  himself,  assuming  the  title  of  nawab  of  Arcot,  and 
acknowledged  as  such  by  the  English;  but  their  zeal  m  his  behalf  was  faint 
and  languid,  and,  moreover,  they  were  at  this  juncture  entangled  with  some 
insignificant  operations  in  Tanjore.  Dupleix,  on  the  contrary,  was  all  activity 
and  ardour.  Even  on  learning  that  his  confederate,  Muzaffar  Jang,  had 
suffered  a  reverse  of  fortime  and  was  a  prisoner  in  the  camp  of  Nasir  Jang 
he  did  not  slacken  either  in  warfare  or  negotiation.  When,  at  length,  in 
December,  1750,  the  army  which  he  had  set  in  motion  came  m  sight  of  Nasir 
Jang's,  the  Indian  prince  viewed  its  scanty  numbers  with  scorn.  But  a  con- 

spiracy had  been  formed  by  the  French  among  his  own  followers;  one  of  them 
aimed  a  carabine  as  Nasir  Jang  rode  up  on  his  elephant,  and  the  Indian 
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prince  fell  dead  on  the  plain.  His  head  was  then  severed  from  his  body,  and 
carried  on  a  pole  before  the  tent  of  Muzaffar  Jang,  who,  freed  from  his  fetters, 
was  by  the  whole  imited  army  hailed  as  the  nizam. 

The  exultation  of  Dupleix  knew  no  bounds.  On  the  spot  where  Nasir 
Jang  had  fallen  he  began  to  build  a  town  with  the  pompous  title  of  Dupleix 
Fathabad  —  the  City  of  the  Victory  of  Dupleix  —  and  in  the  midst  of  that 
town  he  laid  the  foundation  of  a  stately  pillar,  whose  four  sides  were  to  bear 
inscriptions  proclaiming  in  four  different  languages  the  triumph  of  his  arms. 
With  the  same  vainglorious  spirit  he  resolved  to  celebrate,  at  the  seat  of 
his  own  government,  the  installation  of  the  new  nizam.  On  the  day  of  that 
ceremony  he  might  have  passed  for  an  Asiatic  potentate  as  he  entered  the 
town  in  the  same  palanquin  with  his  ally,  and  in  the  garb  of  a  Mohammedan 
amir,  with  which  the  prince  himself  had  clothed  him.  He  accepted,  or 
assumed,  the  government,  under  the  Mughal,  of  all  the  country  along  the 
eastern  coast  between  the  river  Kistna  and  Cape  Comorin;  a  country  little 
less  in  extent  than  France  itself. 

No  petition  was  granted  by  the  nizam  imless  signed  by  the  hand  of  Dupleix; 
no  money  was  henceforth  to  be  current  in  the  Camatic  except  from  the  mint 

of  Pondicherry.  "  Send  me  reinforcements,"  wrote  Bussy  to  his  chief,  "  and 
in  one  year  more  the  emperor  shall  tremble  at  the  name  of  Dupleix!"  But 
the  French  governor  soon  discovered  that  his  own  vanity  had  been  a  fatal 
bar  in  the  way  of  his  ambition.  His  rivals  at  Fort  St.  George  and  Fort  St. 
David  took  an  alarm  at  his  lofty  titles  which  they  might  not  have  felt  so  soon 
as  his  extended  power. 

It  appeared  on  this  occasion,  to  the  heads  of  the  English  factory,  that, 
although  the  contest  for  the  Deccan  had  been  decided  by  the  fall  of  Nasir 
Jang,  they  might  still  advantageously  take  part  in  the  contest  for  the  Car- 
natic.  Accordingly  they  sent  several  hundred  men  under  Captain  Gingens 
to  reinforce  their  confederate,  Muhanmied  Ali;  but  these  troops  were  put  to 
flight  at  Volkondah,  and  compelled  to  take  shelter  with  Muhammed  Ali  in 
his  last  stronghold  of  Trichinopoli.  There  he  was  soon  besieged  and  closely 
pressed  by  the  army  of  Chanda  Sahib,  and  the  auxiliaries  of  Dupleix.  If  the 
place  should  faU  it  was  clear  that  the  French  would  gain  the  mastery  over 
all  the  provinces  adjoining  Fort  St.  George  and  Fort  St.  David,  and  would 
at  the  first  opportunity  renew  their  attack  upon  those  settlements.  On  the 
other  hand,  the  English  were  at  this  time  ill  prepared  for  any  further  active 
hostilities;  their  only  officer  of  experience,  Major  Lawrence,  had  gone  home, 
and  the  garrisons  remaining  for  their  own  defence  were  extremely  small. 
There  seemed  almost  equal  danger  in  remaining  passive  or  in  boldly  advanc- 

ing. These  doubts  were  solved,  these  perils  overcome,  by  the  energy  of  one 
man  —  Robert  Clive. 

THE    EISE    OF    ROBERT    CLIVE 

The  father  of  Clive  was  a  gentleman  of  old  family  but  small  estate,  residing 
near  Market  Drayton  in  Shropshire.  There  Robert,  his  eldest  son,  was  bom 
in  1725.  B^om  early  childhood  the  boy  showed  a  most  daring  and  turbulent 
spirit.  At  various  schools  to  which  he  was  sent  he  appears  to  have  been  idle 
and  iotractable.  Even  in  after  life  he  was  never  remarkable  for  scholarship; 
and  his  friendly  biographer,  Malcolm,«  admits  that  wide  as  was  his  influence 
over  the  native  tribes  of  India,  he  was  little,  if  at  all,  acquainted  with 
their  languages.  His  father  was  soon  offended  at  his  waywardness  and 
neglect  of  his  studies,  and  instead  of  a  profession  at  home,  obtained  for  him 

H.  W.— TOL.  XXIX.  B 
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ia  writership  in  the  East  India  Company's  service,  and  in  the  presidency  of 
Madras. 

There  is  no  doubt  that  the  climate  at  Madras  was  unfavourable  to  his 
health,  and  his  duty  at  the  desk  ill-suited  to  his  temper.  But  worse  than  all 
other  discomfort  was  his  own  constitutional  and  morbid  melancholy  —  a 
melancholy  which  may  yet  be  traced  in  the  expression  of  his  portraits,  and 
which,  afterwards  heightened  as  it  were  by  bodily  disease  and  mental  irritation, 
closed  the  career  of  this  great  chief  by  the  act  of  his  own  hand  before  he  had 
attained  the  age  of  fifty  years.  As  a  writer  at  Madras  he  twice  one  day 
snapped  a  pistol  at  his  own  head.  Finding  it  miss  fire,  he  calmly  waited  until 
his  room  was  entered  by  an  acquaintance,  whom  he  requested  to  fire  the  pistol 
out  of  the  window.  The  gentleman  did  so,  and  the  pistol  went  off.  At  this 
proof  that  it  had  been  rightly  loaded  Clive  sprang  up  with  the  exclamation, 
"Surely  then  I  am  reserved  for  something!"   and  relinquished  his  design. 

We  have  already  found  occasion  to  relate  how  Clive  was  led  a  prisoner  from. 
Fort  St.  George  to  Pondicherry,  and  how  he  effected  his  escape  from  Pondi- 
cherry  to  Fort  St.  David. 

From  this  time  forward,  however,  the  undaunted  spirit  of  Clive  found  a 
nobler  scope  against  the  public  enemy.  During  the  petty  hostilities  which 
ensued  —  when  the  merchants'  clerks  were  almost  compelled  in  self-defence 
to  turn  soldiers  —  the  name  of  Ensign  or  Lieutenant  Clive  is  often,  and  always 
honourably,  mentioned,  and  during  the  intervals  of  these  hostilities  he  returned 
to  his  ledgers  and  accounts;  but  on  the  emergency  produced  by  the  successes 
of  Dupleix,  the  siege  of  Trichinopoli,  and  the  departure  of  Major  Lawrence,  he 

accepted  a  captain's  commission,  and  bade  adieu  to  trade.  With  no  military 
education,  with  so  little  military  experience,  this  young  man  of  twenty-five 
shone  forth  not  only,  as  might  have  been  foreseen,  a  most  courageous,  but  a 
most  skilful  and  accomplished  commander. 

At  this  crisis  he  discerned  that  although  it  was  not  possible  to  afford  relief 
to  Trichinopoli  a  diversion  might  still  be  effected  by  a  well-timed  surprise  of 
Arcot,  thus  compelling  Chanda  Sahib  to  send  a  large  detachment  from  his 
army.  The  heads  of  the  presidency  on  whoni  he  strenuously  urged  his  views 
not  only  approved  the  design,  but  accepted  the  offer  of  his  own  services  for 
its  execution.  Accordingly,  in  August,  1751,  Captain  Clive  marched  from 
Madras  at  the  head  of  only  three  hundred  sepoys  and  two  hundred  Europeans. 
Scanty  as  seems  this  force,  it  could  only  be  formed  by  reducing  the  garrison 
at  Fort  St.  David  to  one  himdred  and  the  garrison  of  Madras  to  fifty  men; 
and  of  the  eight  officers  imder  Clive,  six  had  never  before  been  in  action,  and 

four  were  merchants'  clerks  who,  incited  by  his  example,  took  up  the  sword 
to  follow  him.  A  few  days'  march  brought  the  little  band  within  ten  miles 
of  Arcot,  and  within  sight  of  the  outposts  of  the  garrison.  There  a  violent 
storm  of  thimder,  lightning,  and  rain  arose,  through  which,  however,  Clive 
undauntedly  pushed  forward.  Slight  as  seems  this  incident  it  became 
attended  with  important  results,  for  the  garrison,  apprised  by  their  out- 

posts of  the  behaviour  of  the  English,  were  seized  with  a  superstitious  panic, 
as  though  their  opponents  were  in  league  with  the  heavens,  and  they  fled 
precipitately  not  only  from  the  city  but  from  the  citadel.  Thus  Clive,  with- 

out having  struck  a  blow,  marched  through  the  streets  amidst  a  concourse  of 
a  hundred  thousand  spectators,  and  took  quiet  possession  of  the  citadel  or 
fort.  In  that  stronghold  the  Arcot  merchants  had,  for  security,  deposited 
effects  to  the  value  of  50,000Z.,  which  Clive  punctually  restored  to  the  owners; 
and  this  politic  act  of  honesty  conciliated  many  of  the  principal  inhabitants  to 
the  English  interest. 
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Clive,  learning  that  the  fugitive  garrison  had  been  reinforced  and  had  taken 
post  in  the  neighbourhood,  made  several  sallies  against  them;  in  the  last  he 
surprised  them  at  night,  and  scattered  or  put  them  to  the  sword.  But  his 
princijjal  business  was  to  prepare  against  the  siege  which  he  expected,  by 
collecting  provisions  and  strengthenmg  the  works  of  the  fort.  As  he  had 
foretold,  his  appearance  at  Arcot  effected  a  diversion  at  Trichinopoli.  Chanda 
Sahib  unmediately  detached  four  thousand  men  from  his  army,  who  were 
joined  by  two  thousand  natives  from  Vellore,  by  one  hundred  and  fifty  Euro- 

peans from  Pondicherry,  and  by  the  remains  of  the  fugitive  garrison.  Alto- 
gether, the  force  thus  directed  against  Arcot  exceeded  ten  thousand  men,  and 

was  conamanded  by  Raja  Sahib,  a  son  of  Chanda  Sahib. 
The  fort  in  which  the  English  were  now  besieged  was,  notwithstanding 

some  hasty  repairs,  in  great  measure  ruinous;  with  the  parapet  low  and 

slightly  built,  with  several  of  the  towers  decayed,  with  the  ditch- in  some  parts 
fordable,  in  others  dry,  and  in  some  choked  up  with  fallen  rubbish.  But 
Clive  undaimtedly  maintained,  day  after  day,  such  feeble  bulwarks  against 
such  overwhelming  nvimbers.  Nor  did  he  neglect,  amidst  other  more  sub- 

stantial means  of  defence,  to  play  upon  the  fears  and  fancies  of  his  super- 
stitious enemy. 

After  several  weeks'  siege,  however,  the  besiegers,  scanty  and  ill-served 
as  was  their  artillery,  had  succeeded  in  making  more  than  one  practicable 
breach  in  the  walls.  Some  succour  to  the  garrison  was  attempted  from 
Madras,  but  in  vain.  Another  resource,  however,  remained  to  Clive.  He 

found  means  to  despatch  a  messenger  through  the  enemy's  lines  to  Murari 
Rao,  a  Mahratta  chieftain,  who  had  received  a  subsidy  to  assist  Muhammed 
Ali,  and  who  lay  encamped  with  six  thousand  men  on  the  hills  of  Mysore.  He 
sent  down  a  detachment  of  his  troops  from  the  hills. 

Raja  Sahib,  when  he  learned  that  the  Mahrattas  were  approaching,  per- 
ceived that  he  had  no  time  to  lose.  He  sent  a  flag  of  truce  to  the  garrison 

promising  a  large  sum  of  money  if  Clive  would  surrender,  and  denouncing 
instant  death  if  Clive  awaited  a  storm;  but  he  found  his  offers  and  his  threats 
received  with  equal  disdain.  Exasperated  at  the  scornful  answer,  he  made 
every  preparation  for  a  desperate  attack  on  the  morrow.  It  was  the  14th  of 
November,  the  fiftieth  day  of  the  siege,  and  the  anniversary  of  the  festival 
in  commemoration  of  that  martyr  of  early  Islam,  Hosein,  when,  according  to 
the  creed  of  the  Mohammedans  of  India  any  one  who  falls  in  battle  against 
unbelievers  is  wafted  at  once  into  the  highest  region  of  paradise.  But  every 
assault  was  repulsed  with  heavy  loss.  In  the  first  part  of  the  night  their  fire 
was  renewed,  but  at  two  in  the  morning  it  ceased,  and  at  the  return  of  daylight 
it  appeared  that  they  had  raised  the  siege,  and  were  already  out  of  sight, 
leaving  four  hundred  men  dead  upon  the  ground,  with  all  their  ammunition 
and  artillery. 

Elated  at  this  result  of  his  exertions,  Clive  was  not  slow  in  sallying  forth 
and  combining  his  little  garrison  with  the  detachment  from  Murari  Rao,  and 
with  some  remforcements  from  Europe  which  had  lately  landed  at  Madras. 
Thus  strengthened,  he  sought  out  Raja  Sahib,  and  gave  him  battle  near  the 
town  of  Ami.  On  this  occasion  he  beheld  for  the  first  time  in  action  — 
happily  for  him,  ranged  on  his  own  side  —  the  activity  and  bravery  of  the 
Mahrattas.  On  the  other  hand,  Raja  Sahib,  though  the  greater  part  of  his 
own  troops  were  dispersed,  had  been  reinforced  from  Pondicherry  with  three 
hundred  Europeans  and  nearly  three  thousand  sepoys.  The  issue  of  the 

battle,  however,  was  a  complete  victory  for  Clive,  the  enemy's  military  chest, 
containing  a  hundred  thousand  rupees,  fell  into  the  hands  of  his  Mahrattas; 
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and  not  less  than  six  hundred  of.  the  French  sepoys,  dispirited  by  their  failure 
came  over  with  their  arms  and  consented  to  serve  in  the  English  ranks. 

Clive  next  proceeded  against  the  great  pagoda  or  Hindu  temple  of  Con- 
jeveram,  into  which  the  French  had  thrown  a  garrison,  and,  entering  the 

place,  after  three  days'  cannonade,  found  the  French  garrison  escaped  by  night 
and  the  English  officers  unhurt. 

Notwithstanding  these  events,  Raja  Sahib  was  not  disheartened.  In 
January,  1752,  finding  that  Clive  had  marched  to  Fort  St.  David,  he  suddenly 
collected  a  body  of  his  own  troops  and  of  his  French  auxiliaries  and  pushed 
forwards  to  Madras.    Clive  was  recalled  in  haste  from  the  south,  and  again 

encountered  Raja  Sahib  with  complete  success. 
From  the  scene  of  action  he  marched  back  in  tri- 

umph to  Fort  St.  David,  passing  on  his  way  near 
the  newly  raised  City  of  the  Victory  of  Dupleix, 
and  the  foundation  of  the  pompous  pillar.  Clive 
directed  that  these  monuments  of  premature  exul- 

tation should  be  rased  to  the  ground. 

At  Trichinopoli  the  effect  of  Clive's  earliest  suc- cesses had  been  to  turn  the  siege  into  a  languid 
blockade.  At  this  period,  however.  Major  Lawrence 
returned  from  Europe. 

The  expedition  to  Trichinopoli,  led  by  Lawrence 
and  Clive,  was  crowned  with  triumphant  success. 
In  the  result  the  French  besiegers  of  Muhammed 
Ali  were  themselves  besieged  in  the  island  of  Sriran- 
gam  in'  the  river  Kaveri,  and  were  compelled  to  lay down  their  arms.  Chanda  Sahib  himself  surren- 

dered to  a  native  chief  named  Manakji,  who  took 
an  oath  for  his  safety  on  his  own  sabre  and  poniard 
—  the  most  sacred  of  all  oaths  to  an  Indian 
soldier  —  but  who,  nevertheless,  shortly  afterwards 

put  his  prisoner  to  death.* 

THE   LAST   DAYS   OF   DUPLEIX 

It  might  have  been  expected  that  such  suc- 
cesses —  and  above  all  the  murder  of  one  of  the 

competitors  —  would  finally  decide  the  conquest  for 
the  government  of  the  Camatic.  But  immediately  after  his  victory  Muham- 

med Ali  had  become  involved  in  dissensions  with  his  allies,  the  Mahrattas  and 
Mysoreans,  to  whom  he  had  promised,  without  ever  really  intending,  the 
cession  of  Trichinopoli.  These  bickerings  gave  fresh  life  and  spirit  to  Dupleix. 
Although  he  found  his  recent  policy  disapproved  by  his  employers  in  Europe, 
although  he  received  from  them  only  reproofs  instead  of  supplies,  although 
the  recruits  sent  out  to  him  were  according  to  his  own  description,  no  other 

than  "boys,  shoe-blacks,  and  robbers,"  he  yet  clung  to  his  own  schemes  with 
unconquerable  perseverance.  He  laboured  to  train  and  discipline  his  recruits; 
and,  in  the  want  of  other  funds,  he  advanced  for  the  public  service  not  less 
than  140,000Z.  of  his  own  money.  Dupleix  now  resumed  hostilities  —  again 
attempted  Arcot,  and  again  besieged  Trichinopoli.  Notwithstanding  all  his 
exertions,  the  warfare  proved  weak  and  languid,  and  was  far  from  enabling 
the  French  to  recover  their  lost  groimd. 

[>  Colonel  Mallesontr  is  of  opinion  that  Major  Lawrence  connived  at  tliis  act,] 

An  Image  or  Buddha 
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Clive  had  for  some  time  continued  to  distinguish  himself  in  the  desultory 
operations  which  followed  the  surrender  of  Srirangam.  He  had  reduced  in 
succession  the  two  important  forts  of  Kovlaon  and  Chingleput.  But  his 
health  was  beginning  to  fail  beneath  the  burning  sun  of  India;  his  return  to 
England  had  become  essential  to  his  recovery,  and  he  embarked  at  Madras 
early  in  the  year  1753,  immediately  after  his  marriage  to  Miss  Margaret 
Maskelyne.  He  found  himself  received  at  home  with  well-earned  approba- 

tion and  rewards.  The  court  of  directors  at  one  of  their  public  dinners 
drank  the  health  of  the  young  captain  by  the  name  of  "General  Cllve," 
and,  not  satisfied  with  this  convivial  compliment,  voted  him  the  gift  of  a 
sword  set  with  diamonds. 

Far  different  were  the  feelings  which  the  directors  of  the  French  East  India 
Company  entertained  towards  Dupleix.  They  looked  with  slight  interest 
on  the  struggles  for  the  Camatic,  and  thought  the  failure  of  their  dividends 
an  unanswerable  argument  against  the  policy  of  their  governor.  A  negotia- 

tion for  the  adjustment  of  all  differences  was  carried  on  for  some  time  in  Lon- 
don between  them  and  their  English  rivals.  At  length  they  determined  to 

send  over  M.  Godeheu  as  their  commissioner  to  India,  with  full  powers  to 
conclude  a  peace  and  to  supersede  Dupleix.  Godeheu  landed  at  Pondicheny 
in  August,  1754,  and  hastened  to  sign  with  the  chiefs  of  the  English  presidency 
a  provisional  treaty,  to  be  confirmed  or  annulled  in  Europe,  according  to 
which  the  French  party  yielded  nearly  all  the  points  at  issue  and  virtually 
acknowledged  Muhammed  Ali  as  nawab  of  the  Carnatic. 

Dupleix,  who  looked  on  this  pacification  with  unavailing  grief  and  anger, 
had  even  before  its  final  conclusion  embarked  for  France.  There  he  found 
neither  reward  for  the  services  he  had  rendered  nor  even  repayment  for  the 
sums  he  had  advanced.  Where  was  now  that  proud  and  wily  satrap  so  lately 
bedecked  with  pompous  titles  and  glittering  with  the  gold  of  Trichinopoli  or 
the  diamonds  of  Golconda?  Had  any  curious  travellers  at  the  time  sought  an 
answer  to  that  question  they  might  have  found  the  fallen  statesman  reduced, 
as  is  told  us  by  himself,  to  the  most  deplorable  indigence  —  compiling  in  some 
garret  another  fruitless  memorial,  or  waiting  for  many  a  weary  hour  in  some 

under-secretary's  antechamber.  For  several  years  he  pursued  most  imavail- 
ingly  his  claims  and  his  complaints,  until  in  1763  he  expired,  sick  at  heart  and 
broken  in  fortimes,  like  his  rival  and  his  victim.  La  Bourdonnais.^ 

COLONEL    MALLESON'S    ESTIMATE    OF    DUPLEIX 

"It  Is  impossible  to  deny  to  Dupleix  the  possession  of  some  of  the  greatest 
qualities  with  which  man  has  ever  been  endowed.  He  was  a  great  adminis- 

trator, a  diplomatist  of  the  highest  order,  a  splendid  organiser,  a  man  who 
possessed  supremely  the  power  of  influencing  others.  He  had  an  intellect 
quick  and  subtle,  yet  large  and  capable  of  grasping;  an  energy  that  nothing 
could  abate;  a  persistence,  a  determination,  that  were  proof  against  every 
shock  of  fortune.  He  possessed  a  noble,  generous,  and  sympathising  nature; 
he  was  utterly  mcapable  of  envy  or  jealousy;  and  was  endowed  besides  with 
that  equanimity  of  temper  that  enabled  him  to  bear  the  greatest  reverses,  the 
most  cruel  injustice  towards  himself,  with  resignation  and  composure.  He 
was  not  indeed  a  general.  He  did  not  possess  a  taste  for  leading  armies  into 
the  field.  Yet  he  showed  on  many  occasions  —  notably  on  the  occasion  of  the 
siege  of  Pondicherry  by  Boscawen  —  that  he  could  not  only  stand  fire,  but 
coSd  defeat  by  his  unassisted  and  natural  skill  all  the  efforts  of  the  enemy. "» 
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olive's  BETUBN  as  governor  (1756  A.D.) 

_  Within  two  years  the  health  of  Clive  grew  strong  in  his  native  air,  and  his 
spirit  began  to  pine  for  active  service.  On  the  other  hand,  experience  of  his 

merits,  and  apprehension  of  a  war  with  France,  rendered  both  the  king's 
ministers  and  the  East  India  Company  eager  to  employ  him.  From  the  former 
he  received  the  rank  of  lieutenant  colonel  in  the  army,  from  the  latter  the  office 
of  governor  of  Fort  St.  David.  Landing  at  Bombay  with  some  troops  in 
November,  1755,  he  found  there  Admiral  Watson  and  a  British  squadron. 

"There  was  little  at  that  time  on  the  coast  of  Coromandel  to  demand  the  exer- 
tions of  these  two  commanders,  and  they  thought  the  opportunity  tempting 

to  reduce  in  conjunction  a  formidable  nest  of  pirates,  about  two  degrees  south 
of  Bombay.  Their  spoils,  valued  at  £120,000,  were  shared  as  prize-money 
between  the  naval  and  military  captors. 

Having  performed  this  service  in  February,  1756,  Clive  pursued  his  voyage 
to  Fort  St.  David,  and  took  the  charge  of  his  government  on  the  20th  of  June 
—  the  very  day  when  the  nawab  of  Bengal  was  storming  Fort  William.  In 
fact  a  crisis  had  now  occurred  on  the  shores  of  the  Hooghly,  threatening  the 
utmost  danger,  and  calling  for  the  utmost  exertion. 

ftiRAJ-UD-DAULA 

The  viceroys  of  Bengal,  like  the  viceroys  of  the  Deccan,  retained  only  a 
nominal  dependence  on  the  Mughal  Empire.  From  their  capital,  Murshidabad 

'(Moorshedabad)  —  "a  city,"  says  Clive,  "as  extensive,  populous,  and  rich  as 
the  city  of  London"  —  they  sent  forth  absolute  and  imcontroUed  decrees 
over  the  wide  provinces  of  Bengal,  Orissa,  and  Behar,  Ul-disguised  by  the 
mockery  of  homage  to  that  empty  phantom  "the  Kings  of  Kings"  at  Delhi. 
'  The  old  nawab,  Ali  Vardi  Khan,  had  died  in  April,  1756,  and  been  succeeded  by 
his  grandson,  Siraj-ud-Daula  (Surajah  Dowlah),  a  youth  only  nineteen  years 
of  age.  Siraj-ud-Daula  combined  in  no  small  degree  a  ferocious  temper  with 
a  feeble  understanding.  The  torture  of  birds  and  beasts  had  been  the  pastime 
of  his  childhood,  and  the  sufferings  of  his  fellow-creatures  became  the  sport  of 
his  riper  years.  His  favourite  companions  were  buffoons  and  flatterers,  with 
whom  he  indidged  in  every  kind  of  debauchery,  amongst  others,  the  immod- 

erate use  of  ardent  spirits.  Towards  the  Europeans,  and  the  English  especially, 
lie  looked  with  ignorant  aversion,  and  still  more  ignorant  contempt.  He  was 
'often  heard  to  say  that  he  did  not  believe  there  were  ten  thousand  men  in  all . 
Europe. 

Differences  were  not  slow  to  arise  between  such  a  prince  as  Siraj-ud-Daula 
and  his  neighbours,  the  British  in  Bengal.  He  seized  the  British  factory  at 
Kasimbazar,  the  port  of  Murshidabad  upon  the  river,  and  he  retained  the 
chiefs  of  that  settlement  as  his  prisoners.  Siraj-ud-Daula  had  heard  much 
of  the  wealth  at  Calcutta;  that  wealth  he  was  determined  to  secure;  and 
he  soon  appeared  before  the  gates  at  the  head  of  a  numerous  army. 

THE  BLACK  HOLE  OF  CALCUTTA  (1756  A.D.) 

The  defences  of  Calcutta,  notwithstanding  the  wrath  which  they  had 
stirred  in  the  nawab,  were  at  this  time  slight  and  inconsiderable.  For  a  garri- 

son there  were  less  than  two  hundred  Europeans,  and  scarcely  more  than  one 
thousand  natives,  hastily  trained  as  militia,  and  armed  with  matchlocks. 

No  example  of  spirit  was  set  them  by  their  chiefs.  On  the  contrary,  the  gov- 
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emor,  Mr.  Drake,  and  the  commanding  officer,  Captain  Minchin,  being  struck 
with  a  disgraceful  panic,  embarked  in  a  boat  and  escaped  down  the  Hooghly. 

Under  these  circumstances  a  civilian,  Mr.  Holwell,  though  not  the  senior 
servant  of  the  company,  was  by  the  general  voice  called  to  the  direction  of 

affairs.  At  this  time  the  nawab's  artillery  was  already  thundering  at  the 
walls,  yet  under  every  disadvantage  Mr.  Holwell  protracted  for  two  days 
longer  the  defence  of  the  fort.  When  at  length,  on  the  evening  of  the  20th 
of  June,  all  resistance  had  ceased,  the  nawab  seated  himself  in  3ie  great  hall 
of  the  factory,  and  received  the  congratulations  of  his  corn-tiers  on  his  prowess. 
Soon  after  he  sent  for  Mr.  Holwell,  to  whom  he  expressed  much  resentment 
at  the  presumption  of  the  English  in  daring  to  defend  their  fort,  and  much 
dissatisfaction  at  his  having  found  so  small  a  siun  —  only  50,000  rupees  —  in 
their  treasury.  On  the  whole,  however,  he  seemed  more  gracious  than  his 

character  gave  reason  to  expect,  and  he  promised,  "  on  the  word  of  a  soldier," 
as  he  said,  that  the  lives  of  his  prisoners  should  be  spared. 

Thus  dismissed  by  the  t3Tant,  and  led  back  to  the  other  captives,  Mr.  Hol- 
well cheered  them  with  the  promise  of  their  safety.  We  are  told  how,  relieved 

from  their  terrors  and  imconscious  of  their  doom,  they  laughed  and  jested 
amongst  themselves.  But  their  joy  and  their  jesting  were  of  short  duration. 
They  had  been  left  at  the  disposal  of  the  officers  of  the  guard,  who  determined 
to  secure  them  for  the  night  in  the  common  dungeon  of  the  fort  —  a  dungeon 
known  to  the  English  by  the  name  of  the  Black  Hole  —  its  size  only  eighteen 
feet  by  fourteen;  its  airholes  only  two  small  wiadows,  and  these  overhung  by 
a  low  veranda.  Into  this  cell  —  hitherto  designed  and  employed  for  the  con- 

finement of  some  half  dozen  malefactors  at  a  time  —  it  was  now  resolved  to 
thrust  a  hundred  and  forty-five  European  men  and  one  Englishwoman,  some 
of  them  suffering  from  recent  wounds,  and  this  in  the  night  of  the  Indian  sum- 

mer-solstice, when  the  fiercest  heat  was  raging!  Into  this  cell  accordingly 
the  unhappy  prisoners,  in  spite  of  their  expostulations,  were  driven  at  the 
point  of  the  sabre,  the  last,  from  the  throng  and  narrow  space,  being  pressed 
in  with  considerable  difficidty,  and  the  doors  being  then  by  main  force  closed 
and  locked  behind  them.* 

Nothing  in  history  or  fiction  [says  Macaulay],  not  even  the  story  which 
Ugolino  told  in  the  sea  of  everlasting  ice,  after  he  had  wiped  his  bloody  lips 
on  the  scalp  of  his  murderer,  approaches  the  horrors  which  were  recounted  by 
the  few  survivors  of  that  night.  They  cried  for  mercy.  They  strove  to  burst 
the  door.  Holwell,  who  even  in  that  extremity  retained  some  presence  of 
mind,  offered  large  bribes  to  the  gaolers.  But  the  answer  was  that  nothing 
could  be  done  without  the  nawab's  orders,  that  the  nawab  was  asleep,  and  that 
lie  would  be  angry  if  anybody  woke  him. 

Then  the  prisoners  went  mad  with  despair.  They  trampled  each  other 
■down;  fought  for  the  places  at  the  mndows;  fought  for  the  pittance  of  water 
■with  which  the  cruel  mercy  of  the  murderers  mocked  their  agonies;  raved, 
prayed,  blasphemed;  implored  the  guards  to  fire  among  them.  The  gaolers 
in  the  meantime  held  lights  to  the  bars,  and  shouted  with  laughter  at  the 
frantic  struggles  of  their  victims.  At  length  the  tumult  died  away  ia  low 
:gaspings  ana  moanings.  The  day  broke.  The  nawab  had  slept  off  his 
debauch,  and  permitted  the  door  to  be  opened.  But  it  was  some  time  before 
the  soldiers  could  make  a  lane  for  the  survivors  by  piling  up  on  each  side  the 
heaps  of  corpses  on  which  the  bimiing  climate  hiad  already  begun  to  do  its 
loathsome  work. 

When  at  length  a  passage  was  made,  twenty-three  ghastly  figures,  such  as 
their  own  mothers  would  not  have  known,  staggered  one  by  one  out  of  the 
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chamel-house.    A  pit  was  instantly  dug.    The  dead  bodies,  a  hundred  and 
twenty-three  in  nvunber,  were  flung  into  it  promiscuously  and  covered  up. 

But  these  things  which  after  the  lapse  of  years  cannot  be  told  or  read  with- 
out horror,  awakened  neither  remorse  nor  pity  in  the  bosom  of  the  savage 

nawab.  He  inflicted  no  punishment  on  the  murderers.  He  showed  no  tender- 
ness to  the  survivors.  Some  of  them,  indeed,  from  whom  nothing  was  to  be 

gainedj  were  suffered  to  depart;  but  those  from  whom  it  was  thought  that  any 
thing  could  be  extorted  were  treated  with  execrable  cruelty.  Holwell,  unable 
to  walk,  was  carried  before  the  tyrant,  who  reproached  him,  threatened  him^, 
and  sent  him  up  the  country  in  irons,  together  with  some  other  gentlemen  who 
were  suspected  of  knowing  more  than  they  chose  to  tell  about  the  treasures  of 
the  company.  These  persons,  still  bowed  down  by  the  sufferings  of  that  great 
agony,  were  lodged  in  miserable  sheds,  and  fed  only  with  grain  and  water, 
tUI  at  length  the  intercessions  of  the  female  relations  of  the  nawab  procured 
their  release.  One  Englishwoman  had  survived  that  night.  She  was  placed 
in  the  harem  of  the  prince  at  Murshidabad.* 

ENGLISH  ALLIANCE  WITH  THE  NAWAB 

At  Calcutta  meanwhile  Siraj-ud-Daula  was  lending  a  ready  ear  to  the 
praises  of  his  courtiers,  who  assured  him  that  his  reduction  of  the  British 
settlement  was  the  most  heroic  and  glorious  achievement  performed  in  India 
since  the  days  of  Timur.  In  memory  of  the  Divine  blessing  (for  so  he  deemed 
it)  he  ordered  that  on  his  arms  Calcutta  should  thenceforward  bear  the  name 

of  Alinagar  —  "  the  Port  of  God."  Another  edict  declared  that  no  English- 
man should  ever  again  presimae  to  set  foot  within  the  territory.  Then,  leaving 

a  garrison  of  three  thousand  men  in  Calcutta,  and  levying  large  sums,  by  way 
of  contribution,  from  the  Dutch  at  Chinsura  and  the  French  at  Chandarnagar, 
Siraj-ud-Daula  returned  in  triumph  to  his  capital. 

It  was  not  till  the  16th  of  August  that  tidings  of  the  events  of  Calcutta 
reached  Madras.  Measures  were  then  in  progress  for  sending  a  detachment 
into  the  Deccan  to  counteract  the  influence  of  Bussy.  But  all  other  consid- 

erations were  overborne  by  the  cry  for  vengeance  against  Siraj-ud-Daula,  and 
the  necessity  of  an  expedition  to  Bengal.  It  happened  fortunately  that 
Admiral  Watson  and  his  squadron  had  returned  from  the  western  coast  and 
were  now  at  anchor  in  the  roads.  It  happened  also,  from  the  projected  march 
to  the  Deccan,  that  the  land-forces  were  at  this  period  combined,  and  ready 
for  action.  The  presidency  summoned  Clive  from  Fort  St.  David,  and 
appointed  him  chief  of  the  intended  expedition. 

THE   BRITISH   IN  INDIA 

On  the  whole  the  force  entrusted  to  Clive  amounted  to  nine  hvmdred 
Europeans,  and  fifteen  hundred  sepoys.  The  powers  granted  him  were  to  be 
in  all  military  matters  independent  of  the  members  of  the  council  of  Calcutta; 
but  his  instructions  were  positive  and  peremptory,  to  return  at  all  events  and 
imder  any  circumstances  by  the  month  of  April  next,  about  which  time  a 
French  expedition  was  expected  on  the  coast  of  Coromandel. 

Tte  armament  of  Clive  and  Watson  having  been  delayed  two  months  by 
quarrels  at  Madras,  and  two  more  by  contrary  winds  at  sea,  did  not  enter  the 
Hooghly  until  the  middle  of  December,  and  then  they  pushed  forward  against 
Calcutta.  The  scanty  garrison  left  by  Siraj-ud-Daula  ventured  to  sally  forth, 
but  was  easily  routed  with  the  loss  of  one  hundred  and  fifty  men.    Calcutta, 
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after  one  or  two  random  discharges  from  the  wall,  was  quietly  abandoned  to 
the  English,  who  thus  on  the  2nd  of  January,  1757,  again  became  masters  of 
the  place.  Nay,  more,  after  this  first  success,  Clive  and  Watson  advanced 
against  the  town  of  Hooghly,  which  they  stormed  and  sacked  with  little  loss. 
This  was  the  first  opportunity  of  distinction  to  Captain  Coote,  afterwards  Sir 
Eyro. 

At  these  tidings,  Siraj-ud-Daula,  much  irritated,  but  also  in  some  degree 
alarmed,  marched  back  from  Murshidabad  at  the  head  of  forty  thousand  men. 
By  this  time  intelligence  had  reached  India  of  the  declaration  of  war  between 
France  and  England,  and  the  nawab  proposed  to  the  French  at  Chandamagar 
that  they  should  join  him  with  their  whole  force,  amounting  to  several  hundred 
Europeans.  But  the  memory  of  their  reverses  on  the  coast  of  Coromandel 
was  still  present  in  their  minds,  and  they  not  only  rejected  the  nawab's  over- 

ture, but  made  an  overture  of  their  own  to  the  English  for  a  treaty  of  neutrahty. 
As,  however,  the  French  at  Chandamagar  did  not,  like  the  English  at  Calcutta, 
form  a  separate  presidency,  but  were  dependent  on  the  government  of  Pondi- 
cherry,  they  had  not  in  truth  the  powers  to  conclude  the  treaty  they  pro- 

posed, and  for  this  and  other  reasons  it  was  finally  rejected  by  the  British 
chiefs. 

During  this  time  Siraj-ud-Daula  had  advanced  close  upon  Fort  William,  at 
the  head  of  his  large  but  ill-disciplined  and  irregular  army.  Clive,  considering 
the  disparity  of  numbers,  resolved  to  surprise  the  enemy  in  a  night  attack. 
The  loss  of  the  English  in  the  action  which  ensued  was  no  less  than  one  hundred 
sepoys  and  one  himdred  and  twenty  Europeans  —  a  great  proportion  of  their 
little  army. 

Yet  if  the  object  of  Clive  had  been  mainly  to  show  the  superiority  of  the 
Europeans  in  warfare,  and  to  strike  terror  into  the  mind  of  the  nawab,  that 
object  was  fully  attained.  Siraj-ud-Daula  passed  from  an  ignorant  contempt 
of  the  English  to  a  kind  of  timid  awe.  He  agreed  to  grant  them  the  confir- 

mation of  their  previous  privileges  —  the  right  to  fortify  Calcutta  in  any 
manner  they  pleased  —  the  exemption  of  all  merchandise  under  their  passes 
from  fees  and  tolls  —  and  the  restoration  of  or  compensation  for  all  such  of 
their  plundered  effects  as  had  been  carried  to  the  nawab's  account. 

Three  days  after  a  peace  had  been  signed  on  these  conditions  the  new-born 
friendship  of  the  nawab  for  the  English,  joined  to  some  fear  of  a  northward 
invasion  from  the  Afghans,  led  him  so  far  as  to  propose  another  article  for  an 
intimate  alliance,  offensive  and  defensive.  It  seemed  ignominious,  and  a 
stain  on  the  honour  of  England,  to  conclude  such  a  treaty,  or  indeed  any 
treaty,  with  the  author  of  the  atrocities  of  the  Black  Hole,  while  those  atroci- 

ties remained  without  the  slightest  satisfaction,  requital,  or  apology.  But, 
as  Clive  had  previously  complained,  the  gentlemen  at  Calcutta  were  then 

callous  to  every  feeling  but  that  of  their  own  losses.  "Believe  me,"  saya 
Clive  [in  a  letter  to  the  governor  of  Madras],  "they  are  bad  subjects,  and rotten  at  heart.  The  riches  of  Peru  and  Mexico  should  not  induce  me  to  live 

among  them."  Nevertheless  it  must  be  observed  that  whatever  may  have 
been  Clive's  feelings  on  this  occasion  he  showed  himself  to  the  full  as  eagei 
and  forward  as  any  of  the  merchants  in  pressing  the  conclusion  of  the  treaty 
of  alliance.  Among  the  chiefs  none  but  Admiral  Watson  opposed  it,  and  it 
was  signed  and  ratified  on  the  12th  of  February,  the  same  day  that  it  was 
offered. 

This  new  and  strange  alliance  seemed  to  the  English  at  Calcutta  to  afford 
them  a  most  favourable  opportunity  for  assailing  their  rivals  at  Chandamagar. 
Clive  wrote  to  the  nawab  applying  for  permission,  and  received  an  evasive 
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answer,  which  he  thought  fit  to  construe  as  assent.  Operations  were  immedi- 
ately commenced;  Clive  directing  them  by  land,  and  Watson  by  water.  The 

IVench  made  a  gallant  resistance,  but  were  soon  overpowered  and  compelled 
to  surrender  the  settlement,  on  which  occasion  above  four  hundred  European 
soldiers  became  prisoners  of  war. 

The  nawab,  who  by  this  time  had  gone  back  to  his  capital,  was  most  highly 
exasperated  on  learning  of  the  attack  upon  Chandarnagar,  which  he  had  never 
really  intended  to  allow.  It  produced  another  complete  revolution  in  his 
sentiments.  His  former  hatred  against  the  English  returned,  but  not  his 
former  contempt.  On  the  contrary,  he  now  felt  the  necessity  of  strengthening 
himself  by  foreign  alliances  against  them,  and  with  that  view  he  entered  into 
correspondence  with  Bussy  in  the  Deccan.  His  letters  pressed  that  officer 

to  march  to  his  assistance  against  the  Englishman,  Sabut  Jung,  "  The  daring 
in  war"  —  a  well-earned  title,  by  which  Clive  is  to  this  day  known  among  the 
natives  of  India.  Copies  of  these  letters  fell  into  the  hands  of  the  English,  and 
left  them  no  doubt  as  to  the  hostile  designs  of  the  nawab. 

olive's  duplicity  towards  omichund 

With  this  conviction  strongly  rooted  in  his  mind,  and  the  danger  to  Bengal 
full  before  his  eyes,  the  bold  spirit  of  Clive  determined  to  set  aside  of  his  own 
authority  the  instructions  commanding  his  immediate  return  to  Madras.  He 
entered  eagerly  into  the  conspiracy  forming  at  Murshidabad  to  depose  Siraj- 
ud-Daula,  and  to  place  on  the  throne  the  general  of  the  forces,  Mir  Jafar.  It 
may  readily  be  supposed  that  in  these  negotiations  Mir  Jafar  was  liberal,  nay 
lavish,  in  his  promises  of  compensation  to  the  company,  and  rewards  to  their 
soldiers.  Still  more  essential  was  the  engagement  into  which  he  entered,  that 
on  the  approach  of  an  English  force,  he  would  join  their  standard  with  a  large 
body  of  his  troops. 

In  these  negotiations  between  the  native  conspirators  and  the  English 
chiefs,  the  principal  agent  next  to  Mr.  Watts  was  a  wealthy  Hindu  merchant 
of  the  name  of  Omichund.  A  long  previous  residence  at  Calcutta  had  made 
him  well  acquainted  with  English  forms  and  manners,  while  it  had  lost  him 
none  of  the  craft  and  subtlety  that  seemed  ahnost  the  birthright  of  a  Bengal. 
As  the  time  for  action  drew  near,  he  began  to  feel  —  not  scruples  at  the  treach- 

ery —  not  even  the  apprehensions  as  to  the  success  —  but  doubts  whether  his 
own  interests  had  been  sufficiently  secured.  He  went  to  Mr.  Watts  and 
threatened  to  disclose  the  whole  conspiracy  to  Siraj-ud-Daula  unless  it  were 
stipulated  that  he  should  receive  thirty  lacs  of  rupees,  or  300,000Z.,  as  a  reward 
for  his  services  —  which  stipulation  he  insisted  on  seeing  added  as  an  article 
in  the  treaty  pending  between  Mir  Jafar  and  the  English.  Mr.  Watts,  in  great 
alarm  for  his  own  life,  soothed  Omichund  with  general  assurances,  while  he 
referred  the  question  as  speedily  as  possible  to  the  members  of  the  select  com- 

mittee at  Calcutta. 
Tlie  conmiittee  were  equally  unwilling  to  grant  and  afraid  to  refuse  the 

exorbitant  claim  of  Omichund.  But  an  expedient  was  suggested  by  Clive. 
Two  treaties  were  drawn  up;  the  one  on  white  paper  intended  to  be  real  and 
valid  and  containing  no  reference  to  Omichund,  the  other  on  red  paper  with  a 
stipulation  in  his  favour,  but  designed  as  fictitious  and  merely  with  the  object 
to  deceive  him.  The  members  of  the  committee,  like  Clive,  put  their  names 
without  hesitation  to  both  treaties;  but  Admiral  Watson,  with  higher  spirit, 
would  only  sign  the  real  one.    It  was  foreseen  that  the  omission  of  such  a 
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name  would  rouse  the  suspicion  of  Omichund,  and  in  this  emergency  Clive 
directed  another  person  to  counterfeit  the  admiral's  signature. 

For  his  share  in  these  transactions  Clive  was  many  years  afterwards  taunted 
to  his  face  in  the  house  of  commons.  Unable  to  deny  he  endeavoured  to 

defend  his  conduct.  "  It  was,"  he  said,  "  a  matter  of  true  policy  and  of  justice 
to  deceive  so  great  a  villain  as  Omichund."  The  villainy  of  Omichund,  how- 

ever, appears  mainly  this  —  that  for  the  treachery  which  the  English  encour- 
aged and  abetted  he  claimed  a  larger  reward  than  the  English  were  willing  to 

pay.  But  even  admitting  to  the  fullest  extent  the  guilt  of  the  Hindu  intriguer, 
this  does  not  suffice  to  vindicate  the  British  chief;  this  does  not  prove  that  it 
was  justifiable,  as  he  alleges,  to  deceive  the  deceiver,  and  to  foil  an  Asiatic  by 
his  own  Asiatic  arts.  Such  expedients  as  fictitious  treaties  and  counterfeited 
signatures  are  not  to  be  cleared  by  any  refinements  of  ingenuity,  or  any  con- 

siderations of  state  advantage,  and  they  must  forever  remain  a  blot  on  the 
brilliant  laurels  of  Clive. 

Omichund  having  thus  been  successfully  imposed  upon,  and  the  conspiracy 
being  now  sufficiently  matured,  Mr.  Watts  made  his  escape  from  Murshidabad, 
and  Clive  set  his  army  in  motion  from  Calcutta.  He  had  under  his  command 
three  thousand  men,  all  excellent  troops,  and  one  third  Europeans. 

Siraj-ud-Daula  proceeded  to  assemble  near  the  village  of  Plassey  his  whole 
force  amounting  to  fifteen  thousand  cavalry,  and  thirty-five  thousand  foot. 
Nor  was  it  merely  in  numbers  of  men  that  he  surpassed  the  English;  while 
Clive  brought  only  eight  field  pieces  and  two  howitzers,  Siraj-ud-Daula  had 
above  forty  pieces  of  cannon  of  the  largest  size,  each  drawn  by  forty  or  fifty 
yoke  of  white  oxen,  and  each  with  an  elephant  behind,  trained  to  assist  in 

pushing  it  over  difficult  groimd.  Forty  Frenchmen  in  the  nawab's  pay  directed 
some  smaller  guns.  The  greater  part  of  the  foot  were  armed  with  matchlocks, 
the  rest  with  various  weapons  —  pikes,  swords,  arrows,  and  even  rockets. 

The  nawab,  distrustful  of  Mir  Jafar,  had  before  he  left  the  capital  exacted 
from  him  an  oath  of  fidelity  upon  the  Koran.  Either  a  respect  for  this  oath, 
or,  what  is  far  more  probable,  a  doubt  as  to  the  issue  of  the  war,  seemed  to 
weigh  with  Mir  Jafar;  he  did  not  perform  his  engagement  to  the  English,  of 
joining  them  with  his  division  at  the  appointed  place  of  meeting,  but  kept 
aloof,  sending  them  only  evasive  answers  or  general  assurances.  The  troops 

were  led  across  the  river;  and  at  one  o'clock  in  the  morning  of  the  memorable 
23rd  of  June,  1757,  they  reached  the  mango-grove  of  Plassey.  The  mingling 
sounds  of  drums,  clarions,  and  cymbals  convinced  them  that  they  were  now 

within  a  mile  of  the  nawab's  camp.  For  the  remainder  of  that  night  Clive 
took  up  his  quarters  in  a  small  hunting-house  belonging  to  the  nawab,  but 
could  not  sleep;  while  his  soldiers,  less  concerned  than  their  general,  stretched 
themselves  to  rest  beneath  the  adjoining  trees. 

BATTLE   OF   PLASSEY   (1757   A.D.) 

At  sunrise  Clive  ascended  the  roof  of  the  hunting-house,  and  surveyed  with 
a  steadfast  eye  the  rich  array  and  the  spreading  numbers  of  his  enemy.  He 
saw  them  advance  from  several  sides,  as  if  to  enclose  him,  but  they  halted  at 
some  distance.i> 

The  battle  commenced  with  a  cannonade  in  which  the  artillery  of  the  nawab 
did  scarcely  any  execution,  while  the  few  field-pieces  of  the  English  produced 

great  effect.  Several  of  the  most  distinguished  officers  in  Siraj-ud-Daula's service  fell.  Disorder  began  to  spread  through  his  ranks.  His  own  terror 
increased  every  moment.    One  of  the  conspirators  urged  on  him  the  expedi- 
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ency  of  retreating.  The  insidious  advice,  agreeing  as  it  did  with  what  his 
own  terrors  suggested,  was  readily  received.  He  ordered  his  army  to  fall 
back,  and  this  order  decided  his  fate.  Clive  snatched  the  moment,  and 
ordered  his  troops  to  advance.  The  confused  and  dispirited  multitude  gave 
way  before  the  onset  of  disciplined  valour.  No  mob  attacked  by  regular 
soldiers  was  ever  more  completely  routed.  The  little  band  of  Frenchmen, 
who  alone  ventured  to  confront  the  English,  were  swept  down  the  stream 
of  fugitives.  In  an  hour  the  forces  of  Siraj-ud-Daula  were  dispersed,  never  to 
reassemble.  Only  five  himdred  of  the  vanquished  were  slain.  But  their 
camp,  their  guns,  their  baggage,  innumerable  waggons,  innumerable  cattle, 
remained  in  the  power  of  the  conquerors.  With  the  loss  of  twenty-two 
soldiers  killed  and  fifty  wounded,  Clive  had  scattered  an  army  of  near  sixty 
thousand  men,  and  subdued  an  empire  larger  and  more  populous  than  Great 
Britain.^ 

Of  this  battle  it  may  be  said  that  it  was  gained  against  a  disparity  of  force 
nearly  such  as  the  Spaniards  encoimtered  in  Mexico  and  Peru.  But  there 
is  a  difference  highly  honourable  to  the  English.  The  natives  of  Mexico  and 
Peru  were  wholly  ignorant  of  gunpowder,  and  viewed  the  Spaniards  with 
their  fire-arms  as  demi-gods,  wielding  the  lightning  and  thunder  of  the 
heavens.  The  natives  of  India,  on  the  contrary,  were  well  acquainted  with 
the  natives  of  Eiu-ope;  they  looked  on  them  with  no  superstitious  awe;  and 
however  imskilful  in  the  use  of  artillery,  they  were  at  least  not  surprised  at 
its  effects.  From  the  day  of  Plassey  dates  the  British  supremacy  above  them. 
From  that  day  they  began  to  feel  that  none  of  the  things  on  which  they  had 
heretofore  relied  —  not  their  tenfold  or  twentj^old  nmnbers  —  their  blaze  of 
rockets  —  the  long  array  of  their  elephants  —  the  massy  weight  of  their  ord- 

nance —  their  subterfuges  and  their  wiles  —  would  enable  them  to  stand 
firm  against  the  energy  and  discipline  of  the  island-strangers.  They  began 
to  feel  that  even  their  own  strength  would  become  an  instnmient  to  their 
subjugation;  that  even  their  own  countrymen,  when,  under  the  name  of 
sepoys,  trained  in  European  discipline,  and  animated  by  European  spirit,  had 
been  at  Plassey,  and  would  be  again,  the  mainstay  and  right  arm  of  the 
British  power. 

On  the  morning  after  the  battle  Mir  Jafar  appeared  at  the  English  camp, 
far  from  confident  of  a  good  reception  since  his  recent  conduct.  Ashe  alighted 
from  his  elephant  the  guard  drew  out,  and  rested  their  arms  to  do  him  honour; 
but  Mir  Jafar,  not  knowing  the  drift  of  this  compliment,  started  back  in  great 
alarm.  Clive,  however,  speedily  came  forward,  embraced  his  trembling  friend, 
and  hailed  him  nawab  of  Bengal,  Orissa,  and  Behar.  It  was  agreed  between 
them  that  Mir  Jafar  should  immediately  push  forward  with  his  division  to 
Murshidabad,  and  that  Clive  and  his  English  should  follow  more  at  leisure. 
But  they  neither  expected  nor  found  the  slightest  further  resistance. 

Even  before  the  day  of  Plassey  was  decided  Siraj-ud-Daula  had  mounted 
a  camel,  and  ignominiously  fled  from  the  field.  He  was  seized  and  brought 
back  in  chains  to  the  palace  of  Murshidabad  —  to  the  very  presence  chamber, 
once  his  own,  now  that  of  Mir  Jafar.  The  fallen  prince,  still  more  abject 
in  spirit  than  in  fortunes,  flung  himself  down  before  his  triumphant  subject, 
and  with  an  agony  of  tears  implored  his  life.  It  is  said  that  Mir  Jafar  was 
touched  with  some  compassion,  and  merely  directed  that  his  prisoner  should 
be  led  away;  but  his  son  Meeran,  a  youth  no  less  ferocious  and  cruel  than 
Siraj-ud-Daula  himself,  gave  the  guards  orders  that  he  should  be  despatched 
in  his  cell.  Barely  sufficient  respite  was  granted  him,  ax,  his  own  urgent 
entreaty,  to  make  his  ablutions  and  to  say  his  prayers.    Next  morning  the 
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mangled  remains  were  exposed  to  the  city  on  an  elephant,  and  then  carried 
to  the  tomb  of  Ali  Vardi,  while  Mir  Jafar  excused  himself  to  the  English  for 
the  deed  of  blood  committed  without  their  knowledge  and  consent. 

The  installation  of  Mir  Jafar,  as  nawab  of  Bengal,  was  performed  with 
great  solemnity.  Clive  himself  led  his  friend  to  the  masnad,  or  seat  of  honour, 
and,  according  to  the  Indian  custom,  presented  him  with  a  plate  full  of  gold 
rupees;  he  then,  through  an  interpreter,  addressed  the  native  chiefs,  exhort- 

ing them  to  be  joyful  that  fortune  had  given  them  so  good  a  prince.  Nor 
did  the  new  nawab  fail  to  bestow  on  his  allies  marks  as  splendid  and  more 
substantial  of  his  favour.  It  was  agreed,  according  to  the  previous  stipu- 

lation, that  the  English  should  have  the  entire  property  of  the  land  within  the 
Mahratta  ditch,  and  for  six  hundred  yards  beyond  it,  and  also  the  zammdari, 
or  feudal  tenure  on  payment  of  rent,  of  aU  the  coimtry  between  Calcutta  and 
the  sea. 

The  money  granted  them  in  compensation  for  their  losses,  and  in  donatives 
to  the  fleet,  the  army,  and  the  committee,  amounted  to  no  less  than  2,750,000^., 
although,  as  the  wealth  of  Siraj-ud-Daula  proved  far  less  than  was  expected, 
it  was  not  found  possible  to  pay  the  whole  of  this  sum  at  once.  Clive  accepted 
for  his  own  share  a  gift  of  above  200,000Z.  When,  some  years  afterward, 
before  a  conmiittee  of  the  house  of  commons,  he  was  accused  for  taking  so 
much,  he  defended  himself  by  saying  that  he  might,  if  he  had  pleased,  have 
taken  much  more.  "When  I  recollect,"  he  said,  "entering  the  nawab's 
treasury  at  Murshidabad,  with  heaps  of  gold  and  silver  to  the  right  and  left, 
and  these  crowned  with  jewels" — here  he  added  an  oath,  and  violently  struck 
his  hand  to  his  head  —  "  at  this  moment  do  I  stand  astonished  at  my  own 
moderation!" 

A  painful  ofBce  remained — to  tell  Omichund  that  notwithstanding  the 
promise  in  his  favour,  he  should  have  no  share  in  all  this  wealth.  As  inter- 

preter and  spokesman  for  that  purpose  the  British  chief  employed  Mr.  Scrafton, 
a  civil  servant  of  the  company.  A  meeting  having  been  held  at  the  house 
of  one  of  the  principal  bankers  of  Murshidabad,  Clive,  at  its  conclusion,  said 

to  Mr.  Scrafton:  "It  is  now  time  to  undeceive  Omichund."  Mr.  Scrafton, 
as  if  ashamed  of  the  task,  performed  it  in  the  fewest  and  shortest  words. 

"Omichund,  the  red  paper  is  a  trick;  you  are  to  have  nothing."  At  this 
announcement  the  imhappy  dupe  staggered  back  as  from  a  blow;  he  fainted 
away,  and  was  borne  by  an  attendant  to  his  house,  where,  on  recovering  from 
his  swoon,  he  remained  for  many  hours  sUent  and  abstracted,  and  then  began 
to  show  s3Tnptoms  of  imbecility.  Some  days  afterwards  he  visited  CHve, 
who  received  him  kindly,  advised  him,  for  change  of  scene,  to  undertake  a 
pilgrimage  to  some  one  of  the  Indian  shrines,  and  was  willing,  on  his  retirni, 
to  employ  him  again  in  public  business.  But  the  intellect  of  Omichund  had 
been  wholly  unhinged,  and  he  expired  not  many  months  from  this  period 
in  a  state  of  second  childhood. 

CLIVE   RETURNS  AGAIN  TO  ENGLAND   (1760  A.D.) 

The  return  of  Clive  to  Calcutta  was  attended  with  general  rejoicing  and 
applause,  and  from  this  time  forward,  duruig  several  years,  he  was,  in  truth, 
master  of  Bengal.  The  East  India  directors  had,  indeed,  formed  a  most 
unwise  scheme  for  conducting  the  government  of  Calcutta,  by  a  system  of 
rotation,  but  at  the  news  of  the  victory  of  Plassey  they  gladly  conferred  the 
office  of  governor  on  Clive.  As  a  statesman  he  displayed  scarcely  less  ability 
than  as  a  soldier.    It  was  his  energy  as  both  which  upheld  the  feeble  character 
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and  the  tottering  throne  of  Mir  Jafar.  Thus,  when,  in  1759,  Shah  Alam, 
the  eldest  son  of  the  emperor  of  Delhi,  succeeded  in  collecting  a  large  army 

of  adventurers,'  and  marched  down  upon  Behar,  the  terrified  nawab  was 
eager  to  purchase  peace  by  the  cession  of  a  province  or  the  payment  of  a 
tribute. 

Far  different  were  the  views  of  the  British  chief.  With  a  little  army, 
comprising  less  than  five  hundred  Europeans,  he  imdaimtedly  marched  to 
the  aid  of  his  ally;  and  such  were  now  the  terrors  of  his  name  that  at  his 
approach  the  mighty  host  of  Shah  Alam  melted  away;  the  siege  of  Patna  was 
raised,  and  the  war  ended  without  a  blow.  In  gratitude  for  this  great  service 
Mir  Jafar  bestowed  upon  Clive  a  splendid  jagir,  or  domain,  producing,  accord- 

ing to  CUve's  own  computation,  an  income  of  27,000^.  a  year. 
At  nearly  the  same  period  Clive  was  directing  from  afar  hostilities  in  the 

districts  known  in  the  Camatic  by  the  name  of  the  Northern  Circars,  a  tract 
of  coast  extending  from  the  mouth  of  the  Kistna  to  the  pagoda  of  Juggernaut. 
These  districts  had  been  invaded  by  Bussy  from  the  Deccan,  and  on  his  depar- 

ture a  French  force,  commanded  by  the  marquis  de  Conflans,  had  been  left 
for  their  defence.  On  the  other  hand,  Clive  sent  thither  a  large  detachment, 
under  Colonel  Forde,  an  officer  trained  imder  his  own  eye.  The  result  was 
complete  success;  the  French  were  worsted  in  a  pitched  engagement,  and 
the  English  reduced  Masulipatam  against  a  garrison  superior  in  numbers  to 
themselves. 

Towards  the  close  of  the  same  year,  1759,  the  English  in  Bengal  were 
threatened  with  danger,  equally  great  and  unforeseen,  from  the  Dutch  in 
Java.  Although  peace  prevailed  between  the  two  nations  the  Dutch  could 
not  view  without  jealousy  the  success  and  renown  of  their  commercial  rivals; 
they  entered  into  secret  negotiations  with  Mir  Jafar,  who,  with  the  usual 
ficldeness  of  Asiatics,  had  become  desirous  of  deserting  the  English  alliance; 
and  they  sent  into  the  Hooghly  an  armament  of  seven  large  ships  and  fourteen 
himdred  soldiers.  If  Clive  sidfered  the  Dutch  ships  to  pass  up  the  river  and 

the  Dutch  troops  to  join  the  nawab's,  the  English  might  be  overpowered 
and  driven  from  Bengal.  If  he  attempted  to  stop  them,  there  was  the  risk  of 
kindling  a  war  between  the  two  nations,  or  on  the  other  hand,  of  being  dis- 

avowed by  the  authorities  in  England,  and  consigned  to  disgrace  and  ruin. 
Nor  were  other  personal  motives  wanting  to  dissuade  Clive  from  action.  At 
this  very  period  he  had  entrusted  a  large  share  of  his  fortune  to  the  Dutch 
East  India  Company,  for  speedy  remittance  to  Europe. 

Nevertheless  in  this  emergency  Clive  showed  himself,  as  ever,  firm,  reso- 
lute, unwavering.  He  was  informed  that  the  Dutch  had  landed  their  troops 

and  committed  various  acts  of  violence,  and  a  letter  was  addressed  to  him  by 
Colonel  Forde,  stating,  that  if  he  had  an  order  of  council  he  could  now  attack 
the  invaders  with  a  fair  prospect  of  destrojdng  them.  Clive  was  playing  at 
cards  in  the  evening  when  he  received  this  letter,  and  without  leaving  the 

table  he  wrote  an  answer  in  pencil:  "Dear  Forde,  fight  them  immediately. 
I  will  send  you  the  order  of  council  to-morrow."  Accordingly  the  Dutch 
were  attacked  both  by  land  and  water,  and  notwithstanding  their  superiority 
of  force  in  both,  they  were  defeated.  Of  their  seven  ships  every  one  fell 
into  the  hands  of  the  English. 

Only  a  few  weeks  after  these  events,  in  February  1760,  Clive,  who  was 
suffering  from  ill-health,  embarked  for  England.  "  With  him  it  appeared  " 
(to  use  the  strong  language  of  a  contemporary),"  that  the  soul  was  departing 
from  the  body  of  the  government  of  Bengal."  At  home  he  was  rewarded 
with  an  Irish  peerage,  as  Lord  Clive,  baron  of  Plassey,  and  speedily  obtained 
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a  seat  in  the  English  house  of  commons.  During  his  second  residence  in- 
India,  a  period  of  less  than  five  years,  he  had  acquired  a  fortune  amounting 
at  the  very  lowest  computation  to  40,000/.  a  year.  Several  of  the  transactions 
in  which  he  had  engaged  for  the  public  advantage  or  his  own  seem  repugnant 
to  justice  and  good  faith. 

Those  who  explore  his  character  with  minute  attention  may  moreover 
detect,  not  merely  some  great  faults,  but  some  httle  foibles.  Thus,  although 
he  was  plain  and  free  from  all  ostentation  in  the  field,  he  might  be  thought  in 
society  fonder  of  fine  clothes  than  becomes  a  hero.  But  with  every  draw- 

back or  deduction  which  can  fairly  be  made  from  his  character,  there  will 
still  remain  very  much  to  call  forth  praise  and  inspire  admiration.  He  was 

indeed,  as  Chatham  once  called  him,  "a  heaven-born  general,"  who,  with  no 
military  training,  had  shown  consummate  military  genius.  With  nearly  as 
little  study  of  politics  he  displayed  nearly  as  great  abilities  for  government. 
Energy  —  which,  perhaps,  of  all  human  qualities  is  the  one  most  conducive 
to  success  —  energy  and  fearlessness  were  peculiarly  his  own.  Whatever 
gratitude  Spain  owes  to  her  Cortes,  or  Portugal  to  her  Albuquerque,  this  — 
and  in  its  results  more  than  this  —  is  due  from  England  to  Clive. 

THE  ARRIVAL  OF  COUNT  LALLY  (1758  A.D.)  ;    FRENCH  SUCCESSES 

The  Carnatic  had  meanwhile  been  the  scene  of  important  transactions. 
The  declaration  of  war  between  France  and  England  found  the  chiefs  both  at 
Pondicherry  and  Madras  ill-prepared  for  any  expedition  of  importance,  and 
engaging  in  none  but  desultory  and  feeble  hostilities.  The  English  set  fire  to 
Wandewash;  the  French,  in  retaliation,  to  ConjeVeram.  The  latter,  under 
Auteuil,  besieged  Trichinopoli;  the  former,  under  Captain  Calliaud,  relieved 
the  place.  But  the  attention  of  both  parties  was  intently  fixed  on  a  great 
armament  which  France  had  announced  the  intention  of  despatching  to  the 
Indian  seas;  comprising  nearly  twelve  hundred  regular  troops,  and  com- 

manded by  Lieutenant-General  Count  de  Lally.  This  officer  had  sprung  from 
an  Irish  family  which  had  followed  James  II  into  exile ;  his  true  name  being 
Lally  of  TuUy-dale,  since  Gallicised  to  ToUendal.  A  soldier  from  his  earliest 
years,  he  had  highly  distinguished  himself  both  at  Dettingen  and  Fontenoy; 
in  December  1745  he  had  warmly  pressed  the  expedition  against  England 
from  Dunkirk,  and  had  been  appointed  one  of  its  chiefs.  Brave,  active,  and 
zealous,  he  was  well  qualified  for  military  service;  but  a  hasty  temper  and  a 
caustic  wit  too  frequently  offended  his  inferiors,  and  marred  his  exertions. 

The  armament  of  Lally  was  delayed  by  various  causes,  both  in  its  departure 
and  on  its  voyage,  and  it  was  not  till  near  the  close  of  April,  1758,  that  it  cast 
anchor  before  Pondicherry.  Almost  immediately  on  its  arrival  the  French 

squadron,  which  was  commanded  by  the  count  d'Ach6,  was  engaged  by  the 
British,  but  the  battle  proved  indecisive.  In  August  another  naval  engage- 

ment, equally  indecisive,  ensued.  The  count  d'Ache,  satisfied  with  this  result, 
and  with  having  landed  the  troops,  then  sailed  back  to  the  Mauritius. 

Lally,  who  had  brought  out  a  commission  as  governor-general  of  the  French 
in  India,  displayed  from  the  first  hour  of  his  landing  the  impetuosity  of  his 
temper.  His  instructions  prescribed  the  siege  of  Fort  St.  David,  and  he  sent 
forth  a  body  of  troops  for  that  object  on  the  very  same  night  that  he  arrived. 
The  troops  hurriedly  despatched,  without  provisions  or  guides,  arrived  before 
Fort  St.  David  waj^orn  and  hungry,  and  ill-disposed  for  action.  In  a  few 
days,  however,  they  were  quickened  by  large  reinforcements  and  by  the 
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presence  of  Lally.  The  works  of  the  siege  were  now  vigorously  pushed  for- 
ward; a  part  in  them  all  being  urged  by  compulsion  on  the  reluctant  and 

scrupulous  natives. 
"In  India,"  says  Orme,/  "even  the  lower  castes  have  their  distinction, 

insomuch  that  the  coolie,  who  carries  a  burden  on  his  head,  will  not  carry  it  on 
his  shoulder.  Distinctions  likewise  prevail  amongst  the  soldiery,  for  the  man 
who  rides  will  not  cut  the  grass  that  is  to  feed  his  horse;  nor  at  this  time  would 

the  sepoy  dig  the  trench  which  was  to  protect  him  from  a  cannon-ball."  Such 
prejudices  were  now  derided  and  set  at  nought  by  Lally.  Thus  he  carried  his 
inmiediate  object,  but  thus  also  he  forfeited  forever  all  claim  to  the  attach- 

ment and  regard  of  the  native  population.  According  to  Mill,c  "  the  conster- nation created  by  such  an  act  was  greater  than  if  he  had  set  fire  to  the  town, 

and  butchered  every  man  whom  it  contained." 
At  this  juncture  Fort  St.  David  was  the  strongest  that  the  East  India 

Company  possessed,  and  it  held  a  sufficient  garrison;  but  the  commanding 
officer  was  far  from  able,  and  part  of  the  men  are  represented  as  drunken  and 
disorderly.  So  early  as  the  2nd  of  June  terms  of  surrender,  by  no  means 
honourable  to  themselves,  were  proposed  by  the  besieged,  and  on  the  evening 
of  the  same  day  were  accepted  by  the  besiegers.  Lally,  in  pursuance  of  the 
instructions  which  he  had  brought  from  France,  immediately  rased  the  forti- 

fications to  the  ground,  nor  have  they  ever  been  rebuilt.  Thus  the  name  of 
Fort  St.  David  —  up  to  that  time  so  conspicuous  in  the  annals  of  the  com- 

pany —  henceforth  no  longer  appears. 
Elated  with  this  conquest,  Lally  pursued  his  warfare;  he  failed  in  an 

expedition  against  Tanjore,  but  succeeded  in  an  expedition  against  Arcot. 
His  aspiring  views  extended  to  the  siege  of  Madras,  and  to  the  extinction  of 
the  British  name  in  the  Carnatic.  For  this  great  object  he  mustered  every 
man  at  his  disposal,  even  recalling  Bussy  from  the  Deccan,  which  had  so  long 

been  the  scene  of  that  officer's  active  and  able  exertions.  His  want  of  money 
was  no  small  obstacle  in  the  way  of  his  designs;  to  supply  it  he  again  offended 
the  natives  by  plundering  a  pagoda  of  its  wealth;  and  in  a  more  praiseworthy 
spirit  subscribed  largely  from  his  own  private  funds,  exhorting  his  subordi- 

nates to  follow  his  example.  But  he  had  already  made  nearly  all  of  them  his 
personal  enemies  by  his  haughty  reproaches  and  his  bitter  jests.  Tiius,  for 
example,  when  he  found  his  council  less  alert  than  they  might  have  been  in 
providing  the  beasts  of  burden  he  required,  he  exclaimed  that  he  could  not 
do  better  than  harness  to  his  waggons  the  members  of  council  themselves! 
All  his  letters  at  this  period  were  filled  with  invectives  of  no  common 
asperity. 

In  December,  1758,  Lally  appeared  before  Madras,  at  the  head  of  twenty- 
seven  hundred  European  and  four  thousand  native  troops.  The  English  had 
already,  in  expectation  of  a  siege,  called  in  nearly  all  their  garrisons  and  out- 

posts, and  could  muster  within  their  walls  four  thousand  soldiers,  of  whom 
1,800  were  of  European  race.  The  French  had  no  difficulty  in  making  them- 

selves masters  of  the  Black  Town;  but  this,  from  the  large  stores  of  arrack 
it  contained,  proved  rather  an  obstacle  to  their  further  progress,  as  augmenting 
the  insubordination  of  the  men.  On  the  other  hand,  the  English  steadily 
continued  the  defence  of  Fort  St.  George.  When,  after  nearly  two  months' 
investment,  a  breach  had  been  effected  by  Lally's  batteries,  his  principal 
officers  declared  that  it  was  not  accessible,  adding  their  opinion  that  a  pro- 

longation of  the  siege  would  be  merely  a  wanton  waste  of  human  lives.  The 
sepoys  had  deserted  in  great  numbers,  and  some  of  the  Europeans  threatened 
to  follow  theix  example. 
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ENGLISH  NAVAL  SUCCESSES 

On  the  16th  of  February  1759,  Admiral  Pocock  and  his  squadron,  which 
had  sailed  to  Bombay  several  months  before,  returned  with  some  fresh  troops 
on  board.  The  French,  apprehensive  of  a  combined  attack  upon  them,  com- 

menced that  very  night  their  march  to  Arcot,  leaving  behind  their  sick  and 
wounded,  fifty-two  pieces  of  artillery,  and  a  hundred  and  fifty  barrels  of 
gunpowder. 

After  this  great  reverse  to  the  French  arms,  and  the  return  of  their  chief 
to  Pondicherry,  hostilities  languished  for  some  time  between  the  rival  nations. 
But  in  the  autumn  there  ensued  another  naval  engagement,  from  another 

voyage  of  D'Ach^  to  this  coast.  On  the  2nd  of  September  his  squadron  was 
encountered  by  Pocock's;  the  English  having  nine  ships  of  the  line  and  the 
French  eleven,  with  a  great  superiority  both  in  guns  and  men.  The  result, 
however,  as  on  the  two  last  occasions,  was  by  no  means  decisive;  the  loss  of 
men  was  nearly  equal  on  both  sides,  and  the  English  suffered  the  most  damage 

in  their  ships.  D'Ach^  immediately  proceeded  to  disembark  a  few  men  and  a 
little  money  at  Pondicherry,  and  then,  notwithstanding  the  vehement  remon- 

strances of  the  governor  and  council,  returned  with  his  squadron  to  the  islands. 
At  nearly  the  same  period  the  English  at  Madras  were  cheered  with  the 

tidings  that  Eyre  Coote  had  been  promoted  in  England  to  the  rank  of  lieu- 

tenant-colonel, and  was  coming  over  at  the  head  of  the  king's  84th  regiment 
and  other  reinforcements.  Major  Brereton,  who  meanwhile  commanded  in 
the  field,  appears  to  have  been  desirous  of  distinguishing  himself  before  the 
arrival  of  his  chief.  Thus  he  attempted  to  reduce  the  fort  of  Wandewash  by 
three  divisions  in  a  night-attack,  but  signally  failed,  with  the  loss  of  two  hun- 

dred men.  So  indignant  was  Brereton  himself  at  his  repulse  that,  on  seeing 
the  crowd  of  English  fugitives,  he  drew  his  sword  and  ran  the  first  man  he  met 

through  the  body!  Orme/  adds:  "Unfortunately  the  man  was  one  of  the 
bravest  in  the  army,  so  that  this  example  carried  little  influence." 

Colonel  Eyre  Coote,  with  the  last  division  of  his  force,  landed  at  Madras  on 
the  27th  of  October,  1759.  Born  in  1726,  Coote  was  now  in  the  prime  of  life, 
with  none  of  those  infirmities  of  body  or  mind  which  clouded  over  his  later 
years,  and  obscured  the  lustre  of  his  fame.  One  of  his  earliest  measures  on 
reaching  the  Carnatic  was  to  retrieve  the  recent  check  to  the  British  arms,  by 
a  more  regular  and  skilful  attack  on  Wandewash.  In  this  enterprise  Major 
Brereton  did  good  service  at  the  head  of  a  division,  and  the  fort  was  carried 
with  little  loss  on  the  last  day  of  November. 

At  this  news  Lally  took  the  field.  His  dissensions  with  the  civil  service 
still  continued,  and  his  want  of  money  to  pay  the  troops  had  already  produced 
more  than  one  mutiny  among  them.  He  had,  however,  obtained  as  auxiliaries 
a  body  of  Mahrattas,  and  he  had  under  his  command  the  sagacious  and  experi- 

enced Bussy,  but,  unhappily  for  himself,  was  jealous  of  his  influence  and  dis- 
trustful of  his  counsels.  Bussy  strongly  urged  the  imprudence  of  attempting 

to  recover  Wandewash,  in  the  face  of  the  English  army.  Lally,  however, 
thought  the  honour  of  his  arms  at  stake,  and  persevered  in  the  design. 

At  nearly  the  commencement  of  the  battle,  January  22nd,  1760,  the  French 
horse,  led  on  by  Lally  in  person,  was  thrown  into  disorder  by  two  English 
pieces  of  artillery,  and  was  driven  back  to  the  encampment.  Lally  hastened 
to  put  himself  at  the  head  of  the  foot  soldiers,  and  cheered  them  on  to  the 
charge.  The  battle  now  became  general,  and  fiercely  contested  among  the 

Europeans,  but  ere  long  began  to  declare  in  favour  of  Coote  —  a  result 
hastened  by  the  accidental  explosion  of  3  tumbril  in  the  French  ranks. 

H.  W.  —  VOL.  XXTT.  F 
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Bussy,  attempting  to  rally  the  fugitives,  and  fighting  with  undaunted 
spirit  at  the  head  of  a  handful  of  men  that  still  adhered  to  him,  was  surrounded 
and  made  prisoner  sword  in  hand.  The  day  was  now  decided.  The  French, 
notwithstanding  the  efforts  of  Lally,  gave  way  in  all  directions  from  the  field. 
In  the  battle  or  pursuit  their  loss  was  estimated  at  nearly  six  hundred  men; 
the  English  had  one  hundred  and  ninety  killed  and  wounded.  It  deserves 
notice  that  the  brunt  of  the  conflict  had  fallen  entirely  on  the  Europeans  of 
both  armies,  the  native  troops  taking  no  part  in  it  since  the  first  cannonade. 

The  joy  this  day  at  Madras,  says  a  contemporary,  could  only  be  compared 
to  that  at  Calcutta  on  the  news  of  Plassey.  In  truth,  as  the  one  victory  gained 
Bengal  for  the  British,  so  did  the  other  the  Carnatic.  It  is  remarkable,  how- 

ever, in  all  these  operations  by  or  against  Lally,  how  little  weight  the  native 
powers  threw  into  either  scale.  Arcot,  Trincomalee,  Devicota,  Cuddalore,  and 

several  other  places  fell  successively  into  Coote's  hands. 

END   OF  THE   FRENCH   POWER  IN   INDIA 

The  net  was  now  closing  round  Pondicherry  itself.  Through  the  boundary 
hedge  of  thorns  and  prickly  plants,  which,  as  in  many  other  Indian  towns, 
encompassed  its  outer  defences,  the  inhabitants  could  discern  the  hostile  army 

encamped,  and  ready  for  the  siege.  The  departure  of  D'Ach6's  squadron  had 
left  the  English  imdisputed  masters  of  the  sea,  and  scarce  any  further  sup- 

plies, either  by  land  or  water,  could  reach  the  beleaguered  city.  The  French 
valour,  the  rainy  season,  and  a  most  violent  storm  in  the  roads,  interposed, 
however,  considerable  obstacles  in  the  way  of  Coote.  Nor  was  discord,  which 
raged  so  fiercely  within  the  walls  of  Pondicherry,  altogether  absent  from  the 
English  camp.  In  consequence  of  orders  from  home,  given  in  ignorance  of 
the  late  events,  a  dispute  as  to  the  chief  command  arose  between  Colonel 
Coote  and  Colonel  Monson.  At  one  period  Coote  had  already  relinquished 
his  post,  and  was  preparing  to  embark  for  Bengal;  but  Monson  receiving  a 
severe  wound,  and  becoming  for  a  time  disabled,  the  leadership  happily 
reverted  to  the  victor  of  Wandewash. 

In  the  night  between  the  8th  and  9th  of  December  four  English  batteries 
opened  against  the  walls  of  Pondicherry.  The  besieged  were  firm  and  reso- 

lute in  their  defence,  fighting  every  foot  of  ground,  and  making  more  than  one 
successful  sally.  Before  the  midcfle  of  January,  there  only  remained  sufficient 
provisions  for  two  days.  In  this  extremity  Lally  and  his  council  sent  deputies 
to  capitulate,  and  failing  to  obtain  more  favourable  terms,  were  compelled  to 
surrender  at  discretion.  Accordingly,  on  the  16th  of  January,  1761,  the  Eng- 

lish marched  into  the  place.  Great  civilities  passed  between  the  chiefs; 

Coote  dining  that  day  at  Lally's  table;  but  Lally  and  his  French,  still  amount- 
ing to  above  two  thousand,  remained  prisoners  of  war.  "All,"  says  Orme,/ 

"wore  the  face  of  famine,  fatigue,  or  disease." 
Almost  immediately  after  the  surrender  a  dispute  arose  among  the  victors 

for  the  possession  of  the  place.  Coote  and  his  officers  claimed  it  for  the  king; 
Pigot  and  the  other  civilians  from  Madras  claimed  it  for  the  company.  The 
quarrel  grew  high,  imtil  at  length  Pigot  declared,  that  unless  his  pretensions 
were  admitted  he  should  refuse  to  supply  fimds  for  the  subsistence  of  the 
troops.  This  threat  barred  all  further  argument.  In  return  for  the  destruc- 

tion of  Fort  St.  David,  and  in  pursuance  of  orders  from  home,  Pigot  took 
measures  for  rasing  to  the  ground  the  fortifications  of  Pondicherry,  nay,  even 
all  the  buildings  that  stood  within  them. 

Thus  ended  the  French  power  in  India.    For  although  Pondicherry  was 
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restored  to  them  by  the  peace  of  1763,  and  although  the  stipulation  in  that 
peace  against  their  raising  fortresses  or  maintaining  troops  applies  only  to 
Bengal,  yet  even  in  the  Carnatic  they  could  never  again  attain  their  former 
influence  nor  recover  their  lost  ground;  and  the  extinction  of  their  East  India 
Company  speedily  ensued. 

THE   FATE   OP  LALLY 

This  result,  however  mortifying  to  French  ambition,  has  been  acknowl- 
edged by  French  writers  as  a  just  retribution  on  that  company,  and  on  the 

government  of  Louis  XV,  for  their  cruel  oppression  of  almost  every  great 
commander  who  had  served  them  faithfully  in  India.  The  closing  scenes  of 
La  Bourdonnais  and  of  Dupleix  have  been  already  described;  there  remains 
to  ten  the  still  more  tragic  fate  of  Lally.  On  arriving  a  prisoner  in  England 
and  hearing  of  the  charges  brought  against  him  in  France,  he  wrote  to  Pitt, 
soliciting  that  he  might  return  on  his  parole,  and  confront  his  accusers,  and 
with  this  request  the  British  minister  complied.  But  no  sooner  was  Lally 
at  Paris  than  he  was  thrown  into  the  BastiUe,  where  he  remained  fifteen  months 
without  even  a  preliminary  examination.  When  at  length  his  trial  did  come 
on  before  the  parliament  of  Paris,  it  was  pressed  with  the  utmost  acrimony, 
both  by  the  crown  and  East  India  Company;  and  a  legal  quibble  on  the  term 

"  high  treason  "  enabled  his  judges  to  sentence  him  to  death.  When  informed 
of  their  decision,  "Is  this,"  he  passionately  cried,  "the  reward  of  forty-five 
years'  service!"  and  snatching  up  a  compass  with  which  he  had  been  drawing 
maps  during  his  imprisonment,  he  struck  it  at  his  breast.  His  hand,  however, 
was  held  back  by  some  person  near  him;  and  that  same  afternoon,  the  9tli 
of  May,  1766,  he  was  dragged  along  to  public  execution  in  a  dimg-cart,  with  a 
gag  between  his  lips,  and  beheaded  on  the  Place  de  Gr^ve.  Such  was  the  end 
of  a  veteran,  who  had  fought  and  bled  for  his  adopted  country,  seldom,  indeed, 
with  prudence  and  discretion,  but  always  with  courage  and  honour. 

ENGLISH   CONFLICTS   WITH   THE   NATIVES 

By  the  downfall  of  the  Portuguese,  the  Dutch,  and,  above  all,  the  French 
power  in  India,  a  wide  and  still-extending  scope  was  left  to  that  of  England. 
The  best  chance  of  supremacy  to  the  native  states  had  lain  in  resisting  Euro- 

peans by  Europeans  —  in  setting  the  skill  and  energy  of  one  northern  race 
against  another.  Single-handed  they  fell  one  by  one  —  some  dropping  from 
their  own  rotteimess,  like  fruit  from,  a  tree,  others  resisting  fiercely,  but  with- 

out avail. 
The  British  had  struck  down  their  European  rivals  at  Pondicherry,  at 

Chandamagar,  and  at  Chinsura.  They  had  shot  high  above  their  titular 
liege-lords  in  the  Deccan  and  Bengal.  Of  Bengal,  indeed,  they  were  in  truth 
the  masters,  since  Mir  Jafar,  as  their  tool  and  instrument,  sat  enthroned  on  the 
masnad  of  that  province.  On  the  other  hand  they  had  no  longer  a  chief  of 
genius  and  of  energy  to  guide  them.  The  principal  authority  since  the 
departure  of  Clive  had  devolved  on  Henry  Vansittart,  a  man  of  good  inten- 

tions, but  of  moderate  capacity.  Thus  the  discipline  of  the  victors  was 
relaxed  by  their  own  successes.  Thus  their  rapine  ceased  to  be  checked  by  a 
strong  hand.  Almost  every  Enghshman  in  Bengal  began  to  look  upon  speedy 
enrichment  as  his  right,  and  upon  the  subservient  natives  as  hia  prey. 

Nor  was  it  long  ere  a  growing  difference  sprung  up  between  them  and 
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their  new  nawab.  So  early  as  the  autumn  of  1760,  Mir  Jafar  was  found  to 
engage  in  cabals  against  the  company.  He  was  surotinded  in  his  palace  at 
the  dead  of  night,  compelled  to  resign  the  government,  and  then,  at  his  own 
request,  permitted  to  retire  to  Fort  William,  under  the  protection  of  the 
British  flag;  while  his  son-in-law,  Mir  Kasim,  was  in  his  stead  proclaimed 
the  viceroy  of  Bengal. 

According  to  a  compact  made  beforehand  with  the  English,  Mir  Kasim 
forthwith  yielded  to  them,  as  the  price  of  their  assistance,  both  an  amount 
of  treasure  and  an  increase  of  territory.  But  his  temper,  which  was  bold  and 
active,  and  by  no  means  scrupulous,  chafed  at  these  sacrifices.  Still  less  could 
he  brook  the  oft-repeated  acts  of  insolence  and  rapine  of  the  gomastahs  —  the 
native  factors  or  agents  in  the  British  pay.  Ere  long,  therefore,  he  took  some 
measures  to  shake  off  his  subjection.  He  removed  his  court  from  Murshidabad 
to  Monghyr,  two  hundred  miles  further  from  Calcutta.  He  increased  and 
disciplined  his  troops.  He  imprisoned  or  disgraced  every  man  of  note  in  his 
dominions  who  had  ever  shown  attachment  to  the  English.  He  began  to 
enforce  against  the  private  traders  the  revenue  laws,  from  which  they  claimed 
exemption. 

Angry  disputes  arose  above  all  with  the  niunerous  English  factory  at 
Patna.  Vansittart  repaired  to  Monghyr  in  the  hope  to  avert  hostilities.  He 
concluded  a  treaty,  agreeing  that  his  countrymen  should  pay  the  inland  duties 
to  the  amount  of  9  per  cent. ;  and  not  refusing  on  that  occasion  a  present  to 
himself  of  seven  lacs  of  rupees  from  Mir  Kasim.  But  the  council  of  Calcutta 
voted  the  terms  dishonourable.  As  a  last  effort  to  avert  hostilities,  another 
deputation  was  sent  from  Calcutta  to  Monghyr.  At  its  head  was  Amyatt, 
one  of  the  principal  members  of  the  council.  Not  only,  however,  did  these 
gentlemen  wholly  fail  in  their  mission,  but  while  passing  the  city  of  Murshida- 

bad on  their  way  back,  they  were  inhumanly  murdered  by  a  body  of  Kasim's 
own  troops.  After  such  an  outrage,  peace  was  no  longer  possible.  Thus, 
in  the  summer  of  1763,  war  again  commenced,  the  council  of  Calcutta  resolv- 

ing to  depose  Mir  Kasim,  and  proclaiming  the  restoration  of  Mir  Jafar. 

MASSACRE   OP  PATNA 

The  British  forces  that  took  the  field  in  this  campaign  amounted  at  first 
to  scarcely  more  than  six  hundred  Europeans,  and  twelve  hundred  sepoj^. 
With  these,  however,  their  commander.  Major  Adams,  obtained  rapid  and 
great  successes.  He  drove  the  enemy  from  their  strongholds,  entered  Murshi- 

dabad, gained  a  battle  on  the  plains  of  Geriah,  and,  after  a  nine  days'  siege, 
reduced  Monghyr.  Nothing  was  left  to  Mir  Kasim  but  Patna,  and  even 
Patna  he  perceived  that  he  should  not  be  able  to  maintain.  Accordingly, 
he  prepared  for  flight  to  the  dominions  of  his  powerful  neighbour,  Sujah-ud- 
Daula,  the  nawab  of  Oudh. 

But  first  he  wreaked  his  vengeance  on  the  English  by  an  act  of  savage 
barbarity,  second  in  its  horrors  only  to  those  of  the  Black  Hole.  His  prisoners 
of  the  factory  at  Patna  exceeded  one  hundred  and  fifty  persons.  They  were 
comprised  of  many  peaceful  traders  and  one  infant.  All  these  the  tyrant 
indiscriminately  doomed  to  death  —  the  massacre  of  Patna,  as  it  has  ever 
since  been  termed.  For  his  purpose  Mir  Kasim  found  a  congenial  instrument 
in  one  Sombre,  otherwise  Sumroo,  a  Frenchman  by  birth,  and  a  deserter  from 
the  European  service.  This  wretch  gave  his  victims  a  significant  though 
trivial  token  of  their  coming  doom  by  sending,  in  the  first  place,  to  seize  and 
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carry  off  all  their  knives  and  forks,  which  might  have  been  weapons  in  their hands. 

Next  day,  the  5th  of  October,  in  the  evenmg,  was  the  time  of  slaughter. 
Then  the  prison-house  was  surrounded  by  Sumroo  and  his  band.  Then  the 
butchery  of  the  prisoners  was  begun.  It  is  said  that  they  made  all  the  resist- 

ance in  their  power,  by  throwing  bottles  and  stones  at  their  murderers.  But 
of  course,  in  vain.  Some  were  cut  to  pieces  with  sabres,  others  shot  down 
with  musketry,  and  then  barbarously  mutilated.  In  both  cases,  the  mangled 
limbs  were  flung  into  two  wells,  which  were  afterwards  filled  up  with  stones. 
Of  the  whole  number  of  intended  victims,  only  one  was  spared;  a  surgeon 
known  to  the  nawab,  and  William  Fullarton  by  name. 

The  reduction  of  Patna  by  the  English,  which  speedily  followed  the  atro- 
cious act  within  its  walls,  completed  their  conquest  of  Bengal.  Under  their 

auspices,  Mir  Jafar  was  once  more  proclaimed  as  nawab  throughout  the 

Hali.  of  Public  Audience,  Delhi 

province.  But,  meanwhile,  the  thrusting  forth  of  Mir  Kasim  —  the  dispos- 
session by  an  European  force  of  one  of  the  native  princes  —  seemed  to  the 

latter  an  act  far  more  atrocious  than  the  massacre  of  Patna.  It  gained  favour 
for  the  exile  at  the  court  of  Oudh,  and  the  court  of  Oudh  was  then  among  the 
most  powerful  in  India.  Sujah-ud-Daula,  besides  the  resources  of  his  own 
vast  province,  could  wield  at  his  pleasure  the  authority,  slender  though  it 
might  be,  that  yet  adhered  to  the  imperial  name.  The  titular  emperor  of 
Delhi,  Shah  Alam,  had  taken  refuge  with  him,  and  had  named  him  his  vizir. 
Shah  Alam,  in  real  truth,  was  an  exile  and  a  wanderer,  his  very  capital,  Delhi, 
being  held  against  him  by  Mahratta  invaders,  and  half  laid  in  ruins  by  their 
fury;  but  amidst  every  privation,  in  the  eyes  of  the  people  he  was  still  the 
great  Mughal. 

BATTLE  OF  BAXAR  (1764  A.D.) 

Thus  combining,  the  three  princes  advanced  at  the  head  of  an  army  well 
provided  with  artillery,  and  which  numbered  fifty  thousand  men.  On  the 
other  side,  the  English  with  their  utmost  exertions  could  bring  into  the  field 
no  more  than  eight  thousand  sepoys  and  twelve  hundred  Europeans.  Their 
commander,  Major  Adams,  having  died,  his  place  was  filled  by  Major,  after- 
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wards  Sir  Hector,  Munro.  But  such  in  their  ranks  was  the  stcte  of  insubordi- 
nation, nay,  even  mutiny,  that  the  new  chief  found  it  necessary  to  make  a 

most  severe  example  of  the  ringleaders.  He  began  by  directing  four-and- 
twenty  native  soldiers  to  be  blown  from  the  mouth  of  cannon.  On  this  occa- 

sion, a  touching  incident  occurred.  When  the  orders  were  first  given  to  tie,' 
four  of  these  men  to  the  guns  from  which  they  were  to  be  blown,  four  others 
of  the  soldiers  stepped  forward  and  demanded  the  priority  of  suffering  as  a 
right,  they  said,  which  belonged  to  men  who  had  always  been  first  in  the  post 
of  danger;  and  the  claim  thus  preferred  was  allowed. 

A  captain  Williams  who  was  an  eye-witness  of  the  scene  observes,  as 
quoted  by  Malcolm: «  "I  belonged  on  this  occasion  to  a  detachment  of 
marines.  They  were  hardened  fellows,  and  some  of  them  had  been  of  the 
execution  party  that  shot  Admiral  Byng;  yet  they  could  not  refrain  from 

tears  at  the  fate  and  conduct  of  these  gallant  grenadier  sepoys." 
Having  thus  in  some  measure,  as  he  hoped,  awed  the  disaffected,  Munro 

led  his  troops  to  Baxar,  a  position  above  Patna,  more  than  one  hundred 
miles  higher  up  the  Ganges.  There,  in  October,  1764,  he  was  attacked  by 
the  army  of  Oudh.  The  battle  was  fierce,  but  ended  in  a  brilliant  victory 
to  the  English;  the  enemy  leaving  one  hundred  and  thirty  pieces  of  cannon 
and  four  thousand  dead  upon  the  field. 

On  the  day  after  the  battle,  Shah  Alam,  having  with  some  followers  made 
his  escape  from  the  army  of  his  own  vizir,  drew  near  to  the  English  camp. 
So  long  as  he  had  been  dependent  on  the  darbar  of  Oudh,  the  English  had 
shown  little  willingness  to  acknowledge  his  authority,  but  no  sooner  did  he 
join  their  ranks  and  appear  a  ready  instrument  in  their  hands,  than  he  became 
to  them  at  once  the  rightful  sovereign  of  Hindustan.  They  concluded  a 
treaty  with  him,  he  undertaking  to  yield  them  certain  districts,  and  they  to 
put  him  in  possession  of  Allahabad  and  the  other  states  of  the  nawab  of  Oudh. 

The  battle  of  Baxar,  though  so  great  a  victory,  did  not  decide  the  war. 
Major  Munro  failed  in  two  attempts  to  storm  the  hill-fort  of  Chunar  on  the 
Ganges  —  a  fort  in  which  all  the  treasures  of  Kasim  were  thought  to  be  con- 

tained; and  Sujah-ud-Daula  obtained  the  aid  of  Holkar,  a  powerful  Mahratta 
chief.  Nevertheless  he  sent  to  sue  for  peace.  But  Munro  refused  all  terms 
iinless  both  Kasim  and  Sumroo  were  first  given  up  to  punishment. 

Sujah-ud-Daula  refused  to  surrender  the  two  exiles,  but  proposed  an  expe- 
dient altogether  worthy  of  an  Asiatic  prince,  that  he  would  give  secret  orders 

for  the  assassination  of  Sumroo,  in  the  presence  of  any  person  whom  the 
English  general  might  send  to  witness  the  deed.  That  expedient  being  of 
course  rejected,  the  war  was  resumed.  A  new  tide  of  successes  poured  in 
upon  the  English.  Early  in  1765  they  reduced  the  fortress  of  Chunar,  scat- 

tered far  and  wide  the  force  of  the  enemy,  and  entered  in  triumph  the  great 
city  of  Allahabad. 

Through  all  these  last  years  of  strife  it  is  gratifying  to  observe  not  merely 
the  valour  but  also  the  mercy  and  forbearance  of  the  English,  owned,  at  least 
in  private,  by  their  enemies.  The  skill  of  Oriental  scholars  has  laid  open  to 
us  the  records  of  a  Mussulman  historian,  Gholam  Hossein,*  of  that  period  — 
the  eye-witness,  in  some  part,  of  the  scenes  which  he  describes:  "It  must  be 
acknowledged,"  says  he,  "to  the  honour  of  those  strangers,  that  as  their  con- 

duct in  war  and  in  battle  is  worthy  of  admiration,  so,  on  the  other  hand, 
nothing  is  more  modest  and  more  becoming  than  their  behavioiu-  to  an  enemy. 
Whether  in  the  heat  of  action,  or  in  the  pride  of  success  and  victory,  these 
people  seem  to  act  entirely  according  to  the  rules  observed  by  our  ancient  chiefs 

and  heroes."    But  at  the  same  time,  and,  no  doubt,  with  equal  truth,  this 
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historian  cannot  forbear  lamenting  the  grievous  suffering  and  misrule  endured 

by  the  helpless  Bengals  after  the  departure  of  Lord  Clive.  "Oh  God!" 
thus  in  another  passage  citing  the  Koran,  he  concludes :  "Oh  God!  come  to 
the  assistance  of  thy  afflicted  servants,  and  deliver  them  from  the  oppressions 

they  bear!" 
DISCORDS  AND   INTRIGUES   IN   ENGLAND 

Meanwhile  the  transactions  in  India  which  followed  the  departure  of  Clive 
had  produced  no  slight  amount  of  discord  and  cabals  in  England.  These  were 
heightened  by  the  want  of  any  strong  and  well-framed  authority  in  either 
country  for  Eastern  affairs.  In  India,  whether  at  Calcutta,  at  Madras,  or  at 
Bombay,  the  governor  was  entitled  to  no  more  than  one  voice  in  the  council, 
with  the  advantage,  should  the  numbers  be  found  equal,  of  a  second,  or  the 
casting  vote.  Moreover,  the  three  presidencies  being  as  yet  upon  an  equal 
footing  and  with  no  central  seat  of  power,  were  constant  rivals,  each  envious 

of  the  other's  successes,  each  believing  that  undue  favour  was  accorded  to 
the  rest.  In  England,  the  whole  body  of  twenty-four  directors  was  renewed 
by  annual  election.  On  such  occasions,  and  indeed  on  many  others,  the 
India  House  became  the  scene  of  the  most  violent  debates,  and  the  keenest 
party  struggles.  There  were  parties  formed  on  every  sub-division  of  selfish 
interests;  the  party  of  Bombay,  the  party  of  Madras,  the  party  of  Bengal, 
the  party  of  Sulivan,  the  party  of  Lord  Clive.  Greater  than  all  these,  perhaps, 
in  poiat  of  numbers,  was  the  party  anxious  only  for  the  high  rate  and  the 
punctual  payment  of  their  dividends.  Nor  were  these  cabals  altogether 
unconnected  with  the  greater  parties  in  the  state.  Sulivan,  the  paramoimt 
director  until  the  appearance  of  Clive,  was  supported  by  Lord  Bute.  Clive 
at  that  time  was  a  follower  of  Pitt.  Thus  no  one  incentive  to  violence  and 
rancour  was  wanting  from  these  contests  at  the  India  House. 

At  that  time  every  share  of  5001.  cohferred  a  vote,  and  the  manufactory 
of  fictitious  votes  was  carried  on  to  a  gigantic  scale.  Clive,  according  to  his 
own  accovmt,  spent  in  this  manner  no  less  a  sum  than  100,000Z.  It  was  not 
imtil  1765  that  this  evil  practice  was  arrested  by  an  act  of  parliament,  which 
required  that  each  proprietor,  before  he  voted,  should  take  an  oath  that  the 
stock  entered  in  his  name  was  really  and  in  truth  his  own,  and  had  been  so 
for  the  last  twelve  months. 

Sulivan  looked  mainly  to  commerce,  and  Clive  mainly  to  empire.  At  last, 
an  open  breach  ensued  between  them.  In  1763  Clive  made  a  desperately 

fought  attempt  to  oust  Sulivan,  and  Sulivan's  friends,  from  the  direction. 
He  failed;  and  the  new  directors  revenged  themselves  by  confiscating,  con- 

trary to  law,  the  jagir  ar  domain  which  had  been  bestowed  upon  him  by 
Mir  Jafar.  It  became  necessary  for  Clive  to  seek  relief  by  a  bill  in  the  court 
of  Chancery. 

Such  was  the  petty  warfare  raging  at  the  India  House,  when  ship  after 
ship  from  Bengal  brought  news  of  the  growing  disorganisation  of  the  British 
power,  of  misrule  and  plunder  by  its  servants,  of  renewed  hostilities  with  the 
native  princes.  It  began  to  be  felt  on  all  sides  that  the  crisis  called  for  Clive 
—  that  he  alone  could  order  the  confusion  and  allay  the  storm.  So  strong 
was  this  feeling  in  his  favour  as  to  carry  everything  before  it.  At  a  meeting 
of  the  proprietors,  held  early  in  the  spring  of  1764,  they  proposed  to  the 
directors  the  immediate  restitution  of  the  disputed  jagir,  and  the  appointment 
of  Lord  Clive  as  both  governor  and  commander-in-chief  of  Bengal. 

The  directors  found  themselves,  though  most  unwillingly,  compelled  to 
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appoint  Lord  Clive  to  both  the  offices  desired.  It  was  now  within  a  month  of 
the  annual  elections.  Not  only  the  chairman,  but  also  the  deputy-chairman, 
was  chosen  from  among  Olive's  friends.  The  new  board  of  directors,  more- 

over, conferred  upon  him  extraordinary  powers.  Aided  by  a  committee  of 
persons  of  his  own  naming,  he  was  made,  unlike  the  other  governors,  inde- 

pendent of  his  council.  Clive  embarked  with  the  full  purpose  to  use  his 
powers  most  firmly  —  to  curb  and  to  crush  at  once  the  abuses  which  prevailed. 

CLIVE  S   LAST  ADMINISTRATION 

In  May,  1765,  after  a  long  protracted  passage,  Clive  landed  at  Calcutta. 
There  he  found  another,  a  recent  and  glaring  instance  of  the  abuses  which  he 
came  to  quell.  Mir  Jafar  had  lately  died,  and  a  question  had  arisen  respect- 

ing his  inheritance.  One  party  at  his  court  declared  for  his  base-bom  son, 
and  another  for  his  legitimate  but  infant  grandson.  Both  parties  appealed 
to  the  coimcil  at  Calcutta,  but  the  council  viewed  it  only  as  a  matter  of  bar- 

gain and  sale.  They  foimd  it  easier  to  make  terms  with  the  illegitimate  pre- 
tender. He  was  proclaimed  nawab  of  the  province,  while  they  received  from 

him,  and  divided  among  themselves,  the  sum  of  140,000^.  Such  a  course  was 
directly  in  the  teeth  of  recent  orders  from  home,  binding  the  servants  of  the 
company  for  the  future  to  accept  no  presents  from  the  native  princes. 

No  time  was  lost  by  Lord  Clive  in  assembling  the  council,  showing  them 
the  full  powers  of  his  committee,  and  announcing  his  peremptory  will.  To 
Sujah-ud-Daula,  who  continued  to  bear  the  rank  and  title  of  vizir,  he  gave 
back  the  greater  part  of  Oudh.  He  reserved  only  two  districts  of  Korah  and 
Allahabad  as  an  imperial  domain  for  Shah  Alam,  to  whom  it  was  also  agreed 
that  the  company  should  make  from  their  revenues  an  annual  payment  of 
twenty-six  lacs  of  rupees.  On  the  other  hand,  he  obtained  from  the  fallen 
emperor  a  deed,  conferring  on  the  English  company  the  sole  right  of  adminis- 

tration throughout  the  provinces  of  Bengal,  Orissa,  and  Behar.  In  this 
transaction,  as  in  almost  every  other  in  India  during  the  same  period,  it  is 
striking  how  wide  was  the  interval  between  nominal  authority  and  effective 
power.  Here  we  find  the  heir  of  Aurangzeb  treated  with  as  though  still 
supreme,  as  though  able  at  his  pleasure  to  bestow  upon  the  Europeans,  or 
to  withhold  from  them,  the  exercise  of  sovereignty  in  three  great  provinces. 
Yet  at  this  very  time,  so  low  had  his  fortimes  faUen,  as  to  leave  him  destitute 
of  even  the  common  trappings  or  appurtenances  of  high  state.  During  the 
solemn  ceremony  of  the  investiture,  it  was  an  English  dining-table,  covered 
over,  that  formed  the  imperial  throne!  Such  was  the  prince,  of  whom  the 
English  in  India  continued  to  call  themselves  the  vassals,  whose  coin  they 
struck  at  their  mint,  whose  titles  they  bore  upon  their  public  seal. 

In  this  transaction  there  was  no  objection  raised  by  the  yoimg  nawab. 
With  him,  as  with  most  Asiatic  despots,  the  contingent  future  was  but  an 
empty  name;  and  his  desire  to  obtain  a  fixed  and  regular  income,  no  longer 
to  be  embezzled  or  diverted  by  his  ministers,  overbalanced  every  other  con- 

sideration in  his  feeble  mind.  As  Lord  Clive  writes  to  Mr.  Verelst:  "He 
received  the  proposal  of  having  a  sum  of  money  for  himself  and  his  household 
at  his  will  with  infinite  pleasure,  and  the  only  reflection  he  made  upon  leaving 

me  was :  '  Thank  God!    I  shall  now  have  as  many  dancing  girls  as  I  please!' " 
Clive  now  exacted  from  the  civil  servants  of  the  company  a  written 

covenant,  pledging  them  to  accept  no  future  presents  from  the  native  princes. 
Many  murmured,  some  resigned,  but  no  one  dared  to  disobey.    Another 
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measure  which  Clive  considered  most  essential,  and  found  most  difficult,  but 
which  he  succeeded  in  enforcing,  was  to  debar  the  men  in  high  places  from 
private  trade,  granting  them,  as  some  compensation,  a  share  in  the  salt  mon- 

opoly. With  respect  to  the  military  officers,  Clive  announced  his  intention 
to  deprive  them  of  the  large  dole  or  additional  allowance,  which,  under  the 
name  of  double  batta,  had  been  granted  them  by  Mir  Jafar  after  the  battle  of 
Plassey,  but  which,  as  Clive  had  always  explained  to  them,  could  not,  in  all 
probability,  be  continued  by  the  company.  In  fact,  the  court  of  directors 
had  issued  the  most  positive  orders  that  the  double  batta  should  be  discon- 
tinued. 

In  abolishing  their  double  batta  Clive  had  to  encounter  not  remonstrances 
merely,  nor  dissatisfaction,  but  even  mutiny.  Nearly  two  hundred  officers, 
combining  together,  bound  themselves  by  an  oath  of  secrecy,  and  undertook 
to  fling  up  their  commissions  on  one  and  the  same  day.  Thus,  whUe  indulgent 
to  the  younger  and  less  experienced  officers,  and  willing  to  receive  their  tokens 
of  contrition,  he  ordered  the  ringleaders  into  arrest,  and  sent  them  down  the 
Ganges  for  trial  at  Calcutta.  He  did  not  shrink  even  from  the  bold  measure 
of  cashiering  his  second  in  command. 

By  such  firmness  was  averted  the  shame  of  a  successful  mutiny  —  a  shame 
which,  in  Clive's  own  strong  language,  all  the  waters  of  the  Ganges  could 
never  wash  away. 

AU  this  time  the  conduct  of  Clive  was  giving  a  lofty  example  of  disregard 
to  lucre.  He  did  not  spare  his  own  personal  resources,  and  was  able  some 
years  afterwards  to  boast  in  the  house  of  commons  that  this,  his  second  Indian 
command,  had  left  him  poorer  than  it  found  him.  His  enemies  might  indeed 
observe  that  the  virtue  of  disinterestedness  is  not  so  hard  to  practise  when  a 
fortune  of  forty  thousand  pounds  a  year  has  been  already  gained.  Yet  the 
fact  remains  that  when  presents  from  one  of  the  native  princes  laid  the  -founda- 

tions of  his  wealth  the  practice  of  receiving  them  was  both  usual  and  allowed, 
and  that  when  it  ceased  to  be  at  least  the  latter  he  stood  firm  against  all  temp- 

tation. In  vain  did  the  rajah  of  Benares  press  upon  him  two  diamonds  of 
large  size.  In  vain  did  the  nawab  vizir  produce  a  rich  casket  of  jewels  and 
offer  a  large  sum  of  money.  "  Lord  Clive,"  thus  wrote  from  India  an  officer 
by  no  means  his  friend,  "  might  then  have  added  at  least  half  a  million  to  his 
fortune;  and  we  may  further  note  that  the  receipt  of  such  gifts  might  have 
probably  remained  a  secret  since  even  their  refusal  was  not  known  until  after 

his  decease." 
On  the  whole  it  may  be  said  that  his  second  command  was  not  less  impor- 

ant  for  reform  than  his  first  had  been  for  conquest.  By  this  the  foundations 
at  least  of  good  goverimient  were  securely  laid.  And  the  results  might  have 
been  far  greater  still  could  Clive  have  remained  longer  at  his  post.  But  the 
burning  climate,  combined  with  ceaseless  anxiety  and  toil,  had  grievously 
impaired  his  health.  In  December,  1766,  we  find  him  during  several  weeks 
disabled  from  all  writing,  and  at  the  close  of  the  ensuing  monlh  he  found  it 
necessary  to  embark  for  England.  He  left  the  government  to  a  nian  of  no 
more  than  average  ability  —  Verelst;  yet  under  him  there  still  continued  the 
impulse  given  by  a  stronger  hand. 

THE   SUCCESSES   OF  HYDER  ALI 

At  this  period  the  main  point  of  interest  changes  from  the  presidency  of 

Bengal  to  the  presidency  of  Madras.  There  the  English  were  becoming  in- 
volved in  another  war.    There  they  had  now,  for  the  first  time,  to  encounter 
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the  most  skilful  and  daring  of  all  the  enemies  against  whom  they  ever  fought 
in  India  —  Hyder  Ali.  He  was  of  humble  origin,  the  grandchild  of  a  wander- 

ing fakir  or  Mohammedan  monk.  Most  versatile  in  his  talents,  Hyder  was  no 
less  adventurous  in  his  career;  by  turns  a  private  man  devoted  to  sports  of  the 
chase,  a  captain  of  freebooters,  a  partisan  chief,  a  rebel  against  the  rajah  of 
Mysore,  and  commander-in-chief  of  the  Mysorean  army.  Of  this  last  position 
he  availed  himself  to  dethrone  and  supplant  his  master.  Indeed,  during  his 
whole  course,  we  seldom  find  him  either  restrained  by  scruples  or  boimd  by 
promises. 

One  single  instance  of  the  kind  will  suffice  to  paint  his  character.  A  Brah- 
man, Khonde  Row  by  name,  at  one  time  his  close  confederate,  but  afterwards 

his  enemy,  having  taken 
the  field  against  him,  was 
reduced  to  the  point  of 
surrender.  The  rajah  and 
the  ladies  of  the  palace 
sent  a  joint  message  to 
Hyder,  pleading  for  their 
friend  the  Brahman,  and 
inquiring  what  terms  he 

might  expect.  "I  will 
not  only  spare  his  life," 
said  Hyder,  "but  I  will 
cherish  him  like  a  parro- 
quet."  Nevertheless,  no sooner  was  the  Brahman 
in  his  hands  than  he  was 
treated  with  the  utmost 
rigour,  and  imprisoned  for 
the  remainder  of  his  life 
in  an  iron  cage.  When 
Hyder  was  thereupon 
gently  reminded  of  his 
promise,  he  answered, 

that  he  had  literally  kept  his  word,  referring  in  proof  to  the  cage  in  which 
the  captive  was  confined,  and  to  the  rice  and  milk  allotted  for  his  daily  food! 

Pursuing  his  ambitious  schemes,  Hyder  Ali  became  not  merely  the  suc- 
cessor of  the  rajah,  but  the  founder  of  the  kingdom  of  Mysore.  From  his 

palace  at  Seringapatam,  as  from  a  centre,  a  new  energy  was  infused  through 
the  whole  of  southern  India.  By  various  wars  and  by  the  dispossession  of 
several  smaller  princes,  he  extended  his  frontiers  to  the  northward,  nearly  to 
the  river  Kistna.  His  posts  on  the  coast  of  Malabar,  Mangalore  especially, 
gave  him  the  means  of  founding  a  marine;  and  he  applied  himself  with  assidu- 

ous skill  to  train  and  discipline  his  troops  according  to  the  European  models. 
The  English  at  Madras  were  roused  by  his  ambition,  without  as  yet  fully 
appreciating  his  genius.  We  find  them  at  the  beginning  of  1767  engaged, 
with  little  care  or  forethought,  in  a  confederacy  against  him  with  the  nizam 
and  the  Mahrattas. 

Formidable  as  that  confederacy  might  seem,  it  was  speedily  dissipated  by 
the  arts  of  Hyder.  At  the  very  outset,  a  well-timed  subsidy  bought  off  the 
Mahrattas.  The  nizam  showed  no  better  faith;  he  was  only  more  tardy  in 
his  treason.  He  took  the  field  in  concert  with  a  body  of  English  commanded 
by  Colonel  Joseph  Smith,  but  soon  began  to  show  symptoms  of  defection,  and 

State  Elephant  at  Benares 
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at  last  drew  off  his  troops  to  join  the  army  of  Hyder.  A  battle  ensued  near 
TVincomalee,  in  September,  1767.  Colonel  Smith  had  under  him  no  more 
than  fifteen  hundred  Europeans  and  nine  thousand  sepoys;  while  the  forces 
combined  on  the  other  side  were  estimated,  probably  with  much  exaggeration, 
at  seventy  thousand  men.  Nevertheless,  victory,  as  usual,  declared  for  the 
English  cause. 

On  the  other  hand,  the  troops  of  Hyder  Ali,  both  then  and  afterwards,  dis- 
played not  merely  the  effects  of  a  braver  chief  and  of  a  better  discipline,  but 

also  the  energies  of  a  robuster  race.  The  people  within  the  Ghats  or  hill- 
passes  of  southern  India,  though  far  below  the  mountain  races  of  Afghanistan, 
are  yet  far  superior  to  the  Hindus  of  the  plains.  In  these,  the  deUcacy  of  limbs 
and  the  softness  of  muscles  must  be  reckoned  among  the  foremost  causes  of 
their  failure  on  a  battle-field.  In  these,  the  utter  want  of  strength  in  their 
bodily  organisation  is  only,  on  home  occasions  and  for  some  purposes,  redeemed 
by  its  suppleness.  It  has  been  computed  that  two  English  sawyers  can  per- 

form in  one  day  the  work  of  thirty-two  Indians.  Yet,  as  the  same  authority 
assures  us,  see  the  same  men  as  tumblers,  and  there  are  none  so  extraordinary 
in  the  world.  Or  employ  them  as  messengers,  and  they  will  go  fifty  miles  a 
day  for  twenty  or  thirty  days  without  intermission. 

The  victory  at  Trincomalee  produced  as  its  speedy  consequence  a  treaty  of 
peace  with  the  nizam.  Hyder  was  left  alone;  but  even  thus  proved  fully  a 
match  for  the  English  both  of  Madras  and  of  Bombay.  The  latter  had  fitted 
out  a  naval  armament  which,  in  the  course  of  the  winter,  reduced  his  sea- 

port of  Mangalore  and  destroyed  his  rising  fleet.  Against  these  new  enemies 
Hyder,  like  some  wild  beast  at  bay,  made  a  sudden  bound.  Leaving  to  the 
eastward  a  force  sufficient  to  employ  and  delude  Colonel  Joseph  Smith,  he 
silently  descended  the  western  Ghats,  and  in  May,  1768,  at  the  very  time  when 
least  expected,  appeared  before  the  gates  of  Mangalore.  The  English  garrison, 
taken  by  surprise,  hastily  re-embarked  in  boats,  relinquishing  all  their  artillery 
and  stores,  and  leaving  also  more  than  two  hundred  sick  and  wounded  to  the 
mercy  of  their  crafty  foe. 

Returning  to  the  eastward,  Hyder  Ali  continued  to  wage  the  war  against 
Colonel  Smith;  inferior  on  any  field  of  battle,  but  prevailing  in  wiles  and 
stratagems,  in  early  intelligence,  and  in  rapid  marches,  he  could  not  be  pre- 

vented from  laying  waste  the  southern  plains  of  the  Carnatic,  as  the  territory 
of  one  of  the  staunchest  allies  of  England,  Muhammed  Ali,  the  nawab  of  Arcot. 

At  length,  in  the  spring  of  1769,  Hyder  Ali  became  desirous  of  peace,  and 
resolved  to  extort  it  on  favourable  terms.  First,  by  a  dexterous  feint  he  drew 
off  the  British  forces  a  hundred  and  forty  miles  to  the  southward  of  Madras. 
Then  suddenly,  at  the  head  of  five  thousand  horsemen,  Hyder  himself  appeared 
at  St.  Thomas'  Mount,  within  ten  miles  of  that  city.  The  terrified  members 
of  the  council  were  little  inclined  to  dispute  whatever  might  be  asked  by  an 
enemy  so  near  at  hand.  Happily  his  terms  were  not  high.  A  treaty  was 
signed,  providing  that  a  mutual  restoration  of  conquests  should  take  place, 
and  that  the  contracting  parties  should  agree  to  assist  each  other  in  aU  defens- 

ive wars. 
In  the  career  of  Hyder  Ali,  this  was  by  no  means  the  first,  nor  yet  the  last 

occasion,  on  which  he  showed  himself  sincerely  desirous  of  alliance  with  the 
English.  He  did  not  conceal  the  fact  that  in  order  to  maintain  his  power  and 
secure  himself  he  must  lean  either  on  them  or  on  the  Mahrattas.  He  would 

have  preferred  the  first;  it  was  the  vacillation  and  weakness  of  the  council  at 
Madras  that  drove  him  to  the  latter.  Finding  his  overtures  of  friendship 

slighted  he  took  his  part,  as  always,  decidedly  and  boldly.    He  became,  even 



76  THE   HISTOEY   OP   BEITISH   INDIA 
[1769  A.D.] 

in  the  midst  of  peace,  a  known  and  ardent  enemy  of  the  English  race  and 
name;  ever  watchful  for  any  opening  to  assail  them;  ever  ready  to  league 
himself  against  them  with  the  Mahratta  chiefs  at  Poona,  or  the  French  gov- 

ernors at  Pondicherry. 
It  was  no  common  enemy  whom  the  Madras  traders  thus  neglected  or 

defied.  The  vigorous  administration  of  Hyder  at  his  court  of  Seringapatam, 
has  been  closely  viewed  and  well  described  by  more  than  one  European  in  his 
service.  Like  the  other  Indian  princes,  he  was  addicted  to  licentious  pleasure. 
Unlike  them,  he  was  never  enslaved  by  it.  Many  of  his  leisure  hours  were 
passed  in  the  company  of  dancing  girls.  To  intoxication  likewise  he  was  often 
prone;  and  one  instance  is  recorded  how  in  that  state  he  was  seen  by  his  whole 
court  to  seize  and  most  severely  cane  his  grown-up  son,  Tipu.  It  may  be 
added  that  on  common  occasions  his  toilet  took  up  a  considerable  portion  of 
his  time.  But  no  sooner  did  any  peril  threaten  or  any  object  of  ambition  rise 
in  view  than  all  such  habits  of  indulgence  were  promptly  cast  aside,  and  Hyder 
passed  whole  days  and  nights  untired  in  his  council-chambers,  or  on  horse- 

back with  his  cavalry.  At  all  times  he  was  most  easy  of  access;  freely  receiv- 
ing all  those  who  desired  to  see  him,  except  only  the  fakirs;  a  significant  token 

of  the  degree  of  esteem  in  which  he  held  his  grandfather's  profession.  From 
all  others  he  quickly  drew  whatever  information  he  desired;  and  in  dealing 
with  them  manifested  the  keenest  insight  of  their  various  characters.  So  far 
had  his  education  been  neglected  that  he  could  neither  read  nor  write.  He 
made  no  later  attempt  at  scholarship,  but  relied  upon  the  powers  of  a  most 
retentive  memory,  and  upon  a  shrewdness  hard  to  be  deceived.  He  might  be 

careless  of  his  people's  welfare  for  their  sake,  but  he  anxiously  sought  it  for  his 
own;  he  knew  that  to  make  them  prosperous  would,  beyond  all  other  causes, 
make  him  powerful;  and  thus  through  the  wide  extent  of  the  kingdom  that 
he  founded,  he  never  failed  to  guard  them  from  all  vague  depredation  or 
inferior  tyranny. 

By  such  means  did  he  who  had  first  set  forth  as  a  freebooter,  with  one  or 
two  score  of  followers,  leave  behind  him  at  his  peaceful  end  a  well-appointed 
army  of  a  hundred  thousand  soldiers,  and  a  treasm-e  of  three  million  sterling. 
Yet,  prosperous  as  he  seemed,  Hyder  was  not  happy.  It  is  recorded  of  one 
of  his  attendants,  that  after  watching  for  some  time  his  short  and  uneasy 
slumbers  he  ventured  at  his  waking  to  inquire  of  his  dreams.  "  Believe  me, 
my  friend,"  said  Hyder,  "my  dominion,  envied  though  it  may  be,  is  in  truth 
far  less  desirable  than  the  state  of  the  yogis  (the  religious  mendicants) ;  awake, 
they  see  no  conspirators;  asleep,  they  dream  of  no  assassins!" 

EVIL  DAYS   FOR  THE   EAST  INDIA   COMPANY 

In  this  war  with  Hyder,  the  English  had  lost  no  great  amount  of  reputa- 
tion, and  of  territory  they  had  lost  none  at  all.  But  as  regards  their  wealth 

and  their  resources,  they  had  suffered  severely.  Supplies,  both  of  men  and 
of  money  had  been  required  from  Bengal  to  assist  the  government  at  Madras; 
and  both  had  been  freely  given.  In  consequence  of  such  a  drain,  there  could 
not  be  made  the  usual  investments  in  goods,  nor  yet  the  usual  remittances 
to  England.  Thus  at  the  very  time  when  the  proprietors  of  the  East  India 
Company  had  begun  to  wish  each  other  joy  on  the  great  reforms  effected  by 
Lord  Clive,  and  looked  forward  to  a  further  increase  of  their  half-yearly  divi- 

dend, they  were  told  to  prepare  for  its  reduction.  A  panic  ensued.  Within  a 
few  days,  in  the  spring  of  1769,  India  stock  fell  more  than  sixty  per  cent. 

At  that  period,  indeed,  as  for  some  years  before  it,  nothing  could  be  more 
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unsteady  than  the  wishes,  or  more  precarious  than  the  prospects,  of  the  great 
company.  Party  spirit  continued  to  rage  at  their  elections;  the  contests 
between  the  followers  of  Sulivan  and  the  followers  of  Clive  being  renewed 
every  year  with  varying  success.  Each  party,  when  defeated,  heaped  the 
grossest  imputations  on  the  other,  as  on  the  lowest  and  basest  of  mankind; 
and  in  that  respect  the  public  were  inclined  to  give  an  equal  belief  to  both. 
In  such  a  state  of  things  the  very  existence  of  the  company  seemed  to  hang 
upon  the  breath  of  any  great  man  in  parliament. 

When,  in  July,  1766,  Pitt  became  prime  minister,  with  the  title  of  Chatham, 
he  entered  office  with  the  fixed  determination  to  transfer  the  government  of 

Great  Britain's  eastern  empire  in  the  hands  of  the  central  authorities;  but  his 
purpose  was  baffled,  not  through  any  efforts  of  the  East  India  Company,  but 
through  his  own  mysterious  illness;  and  the  men  succeeding  him  in  power, 
though  unable  to  pursue  his  policy,  were  reduced  merely  to  stave  off  the  main 
question  or  to  patch  up  temporary  terms.  But  they,  for  their  own  part,  were 
well  satisfied,  since  the  company  undertook,  meanwhile,  to  pay  to  the  revenue 
400,000Z.  each  year.  As  a  further  concession,  arising  from  the  financial 
embarrassments  of  1769,  it  was  agreed  by  the  directors  that  commissioners 
of  inquiry,  under  the  name  of  supervisors,  should  be  sent  to  India  with  full 
powers  over  the  other  servants  of  the  company.  Three  gentlemen  of  old 
standing  and  long  service  —  Vansittart,  Scrafton,  and  Colonel  Forde  —  were 
selected  for  this  important  trust.  Accordingly  they  embarked  on  their  mis- 

sion towards  the  close  of  the  same  year.  But  after  leaving  the  Cape  of  Good 
Hope  the  ship  in  which  they  sailed,  the  Aurora  frigate,  was  never  heard  of 
again:  it  is  supposed  to  have  foundered  at  sea. 

THE   GREAT  FAMINE   OF   1770 

It  is  not  improbable  that  this  system  of  makeshifts  might  have  still  con- 
tinued, and  the  necessity  of  any  more  decisive  measures  been  longer  post- 

poned. But  in  the  ensuing  year,  1770,  a  new  and  more  grievous  calamity 
overspread  Bengal.  The  usual  rains  having  failed,  there  was  no  water  in  the 
tanks,  and  the  rivers  shrank  into  shaUows.  The  rice-fields  continued  parched 
and  dry,  and  could  not  yield  their  expected  produce,  while  the  conflagration 
of  several  large  granaries  completed  the  work  of  misery.  A  terrible  famine 
ensued;  a  famine  such  as  Eiu-ope,  during  the  last  few  ages,  has  never  known 
even  in  its  rudest  districts,  or  behind  beleaguered  walls.  Throughout  the 
wide  valley  of  the  Ganges,  the  country  places  were  deserted,  and  the  cities, 
where  alone  there  might  be  hope  of  food,  became  thronged  with  starving 
multitudes,  from  whom  piteous  cries  were  heard. 

The  conmion  misery  united,  for  the  first  and  only  time,  the  men  of  the 
most  opposite  castes  —  from  the  Brahman  of  lofty  lineage  down  to  the 
humblest  of  the  Niaidees.  Even  the  zenana  now  gave  forth  its  guarded 
inmates,  who  no  longer  veiled  with  jealous  care,  but  prostrate  and  wailing 

on  the  ground,  implored  from  the  passers-by,  if  not  for  themselves,  at  least 
for  their  little  children,  a  handful  —  only  a  handful  —  of  rice.  Thousands 
and  tens  of  thousands  of  human  beings  died  daily  in  the  streets,  where  the 
vultures  swooped  down  and  the  dogs  and  jackals  flocked  in  quest  of  their 
ghastly  prey. 

In  Calcutta  alone  there  were  daily  employed  one  hundred  men,  on  the 

company's  account,  to  pile  the  dead  bodies  upon  sledges  and  cars,  and  throw 
them  into  the  Ganges.  The  broad  river  was  itself  so  far  tainted  that  its  fish 
ceased  to  be  wholesome  food.    Hogs,  ducks  and  geese,  which  had  likewise 
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taken  part  in  devouring  the  carcases,  could  no  longer  themselves  be  safely 
eaten;  and  thus,  as  the  famine  grew  greater,  the  means  of  subsistence,  even 
to  the  Em-opeans,  grew  less.  It  was  computed,  not  in  any  rhetorical  flight, 
not  amidst  the  horror  of  the  sufferings  described,  but  in  a  grave  despatch 
written  two  years  afterwards,  though  even  then  perhaps  with  some  exaggera- 

tion, that  through  Bengal  this  dreadful  famine  had  destroyed  in  many  places 
one-half,  and,  on  the  whole,  above  one-third,  of  the  inhabitants. 

These  evil  tidings  from  India  did  not  come  alone.  Conjoined  with  them 
were  rumours  and  charges  that  the  distress  had  been  greatly  aggravated  by 
the  conduct  of  the  company's  servants;  that  at  the  very  outset  of  the  famine 
they  had  engrossed  all  the  rice  of  the  country,  and  that  afterwards  they  slowly 
doled  it  out  at  tenfold  the  price  they  had  paid.  If  in  truth  there  were  any 
such  cases,  there  can  have  been  but  few.  They  were  in  direct  contravention 
of  the  directors'  orders,  and  of  Lord  Olive's  rules. 

Such  charges,  however,  could  not  fail  to  make  some  impression  on  both  the 
ministry  and  parliament  of  England.  Even  allowing  them  to  be  unfounded, 
there  was  yet  an  ample  growth  of  abuses,  rank  and  stubborn,  to  hew  down  in 
the  company's  affairs.  It  was  felt  on  all  sides  that  there  was  more  need  than 
ever  of  investigation  —  more  need  and  now  more  leisure  also.  The  govern- 

ment of  Lord  North  had  by  this  time  attained  some  degree  of  stability,  and 
the  nation  some  degree  of  repose. 

PABLIAMENT  INVESTIGATES   THE   COMPANY;    THE   KEGULATING  ACT  (1772  A.D.) 

Accordingly,  in  April,  1772,  and  on  the  motion  of  General  Burgojme,  there 
was  appointed,  by  means  of  ballot,  a  committee  of  inquiry,  bearing  the  title 
of  "select,"  though  consisting  of  no  less  than  thirty-one  members.  Within 
six  weeks  that  committee  prepared  and  presented  two  reports;  but  the 
approaching  close  of  the  session  precluded  any  further  step  at  that  time. 

In  the  spring  of  1773  Lord  North  proposed  and  carried  through  against  all 
gainsayers  his  own  measure  of  reform.  This,  after  it  had  passed,  was  com- 

monly called  the  Regulating  Act.  In  the  first  place,  he  granted  to  the  com- 
pany a  loan  of  1,500,000Z.  for  four  years,  and  relieved  them  from  the  annual 

payment  to  the  state  of  400,OOOL  On  the  other  hand,  the  company  was 
restrained  from  making  any  greater  dividend  than  6  per  cent,  until  the  loan 
should  be  repaid,  or  any  greater  dividend  than  8  per  cent,  until  the  public 
should  have  some  participation  in  the  profits.  It  was  then  enacted,  that 
instead  of  annual  elections  of  the  whole  mmaber  of  directors  at  the  India 
House,  six  should  go  out  of  office  each  year,  and  none  keep  their  seats  longer 
than  four  years.  At  the  same  time,  the  qualification  for  a  vote  in  each  pro- 

prietor was  raised  from  500Z.  to  lOOOZ.,  with  more  votes  in  proportion,  up  to 
four,  to  each  proprietor  of  a  larger  sum. 

In  India,  the  act  provided  that  the  mayor's  court  of  Calcutta  should  be 
restricted  in  its  jurisdiction  to  petty  cases  of  trade,  and  that  in  its  place 
should  be  constituted  a  supreme  court,  to  consist  of  a  chief  justice,  and  three 
puisne  judges,  appointed  by  the  crown.  The  governor  of  Bengal  was  hence- 

forth to  have  authority  over  the  other  presidencies,  as  governor-general  of 
India,  but  was  himself  to  be  controlled  by  his  councU.  In  that  council,  as 
previously,  he  was  entitled  only  to  a  single  or,  in  case  of  equality,  a  casting 
vote,  It  was  proposed  that  these  nominations  should  be  made  by  parlia- 

ment, and  continue  for  five  years;  after  which  they  should  revert  to  the 
directors,  but  subject  to  the  approbation  of  the  crown.    In  the  progress 
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therefore  of  the  bill  through  the  conimons,  the  members  of  the  new  council 
were  expressly  named,  so  as  to  become  a  part  of  the  enactment. 

Warren  Hastings,  who  a  year  before  had  assumed  the  administration  of 
Bengal,  was  appointed  the  first  governor-general.  Another  of  the  new  coun- 

cil, Richard  Barwell,  was  already  at  his  post;  the  new  members  to  be  sent 
from  England  were  General  Clavering,  the  Hon.  Colonel  Monson,  and  Philip 
Francis. 

Another  clause  of  Lord  North's  bill  remitted  the  drawback  on  the  East 
India  Company's  teas  —  a  step  little  regarded  at  its  outset,  but  momentous 
in  its  consequences.  The  directors  at  the  time  were  but  little  gratified  with 
this  boon  or  any  other  when  compared  with  the  curtailment  of  their  previous 
powers.  They  declared  in  a  petition  to  the  house  that  they  would  rather 
forego  the  loan  which  they  had  solicited  than  endure  the  conditions  which 
the  minister  imposed.  But  their  late  misgovemment  had  been  such  as  to 
render,  in  parliament  at  least,  their  adherents  few  and  their  lamentations 
disregarded!^. 

CENSURE  AND   SUICIDE   OF   CLIVE 

In  the  course  of  these  proceedings,  both  before  the  committees  and  within 
the  house,  many  a  shaft  was  let  fly  at  Lord  Clive.  Besides  the  public  wrongs 
of  which  he  stood  accused  there  was  also,  it  may  be  feared,  a  feeling  of  personal 
envy  at  work  against  him.  His  vast  wealth  became  a  more  striking  mark  for 
calumny  when  contrasted  with  the  financial  embarrassments  of  the  directors 
in  whose  service  he  had  gained  it.  And  his  profusion,  as  ever  happens, 
offended  far  more  persons  than  it  pleased. 

Under  such  circimistances  the  select  committee,  over  which  Burgoyne  pre- 
sided, made  Clive  their  more  especial  object  of  attack.  They  drew  forth  into 

the  light  of  day  several  transactions  certainly  not  well  formed  to  bear  it,  as 

the  forgery  of  Admiral  Watson's  signature,  and  the  fraud  practised  on  Omi- chund.  But  at  the  same  time  they  could  not  shut  out  the  lustre  of  the  great 
deeds  he  had  performed.  Clive  himself  was  unsparingly  questioned,  and 

treated  with  slight  regard.  As  he  complains  in  one  of  his  speeches:  "I,  their 
humble  servant,  the  baron  of  Plassey,  have  been  examined  by  the  Select 
Committee  more  like  a  sheep-stealer  than  a  member  of  this  house!"  And  he 
adds  with  perfect  truth:  "I  am  sure,  Sir,  if  I  had  any  sore  places  about  me 
they 'would  have  been  found:  they  have  probed  me  to  the  bottom;  no  lenient plasters  have  been  applied  to  heal;  no.  Sir,  they  were  all  of  the  blister  kind, 
prepared  with  Spanish  flies,  and  other  provocatives!" 

On  this  and  some  other  occasions  Clive  spoke  in  his  own  defence  in  a  frank 
and  fearless  spirit  with  great  energy  of  language,  and  it  would  seem  with  great 
effect  upon  the  house.  It  was  in  May,  1773,  that  the  charges  against  him,  till 
then  vague  and  undefined,  were  brought  forward  as  a  vote  of  censure  by  Bur- 

goyne. In  the  result,  the  first  resolutions  of  Burgoyne,  alleging  certain 
matters  of  fact  that  could  scarcely  be  denied,  were  carried.  But  the  next, 
which  charged  Lord  Clive  by  name  with  having  abused  his  powers,  and  set  an 
evil  example  to  the  servants  of  the  public,  did  not  pass.  At  length,  as  the 
dawn  was  slowly  breaking  on  the  last  of  these  long  and  stormy,  and  in  many 
parts  confused,  debates,  the  house  agreed  almost  unanimously  to  some  words 
which  Wedderburn  moved:  "That  Robert  Lord  Clive  did  at  the  same  time 

render  great  and  meritorious  services  to  his  country." 
Such  a  vote  might  perhaps  be  deemed  almost  a  verdict  of  acquittal.  Cer- 

tainly, at  least,  it  showed  a  wise  reluctance  to  condemn.    It  closed  the  whole 
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case,  and  Clive  had  no  further  parliamentary  attack  to  fear.  But  the  previous 
taunts  and  injuries  appear  to  have  sunk  deep  into  his  haughty  mind.  Nor 
was  a  life  of  ease,  however  splendid,  congenial  to  his  active  temper.  In  his 
sumptuous  halls  of  Claremont,  or  beneath  the  stately  cedars  of  his  park,  he 
was  far  less  really  happy  than  amidst  his  former  toils  and  cares,  on  the  tented 
plains  of  the  Carnatic  or  in  the  council-chambers  of  Bengal.  Moreover, 
through  the  climate  of  the  tropics,  his  health  was  most  grievously  impaired. 
He  had  to  undergo  sharp  and  oft-recurring  spasms  of  pain,  for  which  opium 
only  could  afford  him  its  treacherous  and  transitory  aid.  At  length,  on 
November  22nd,  1774,  at  his  house  in  Berkeley  Square,  this  great  man,  for 
such  he  surely  was,  fell  by  his  own  hand.  He  was  not  yet  fifty  years  of  age; 
and  the  contest  in  North  America  was  just  then  beginning  to  hold  forth  to  him 
a  new  career  of  active  exertion  —  a  new  chaplet  of  honourable  fame. 

To  the  last,  however,  he  appears  to  have  retained  his  serene  demeanour, 
and  the  stern  dominion  of  his  will.  It  so  chanced,  that  a  young  lady,  an 
attached  friend  of  his  family,  was  then  upon  a  visit  at  his  house  in  Berkeley 
Square,  and  sat,  writing  a  letter,  in  one  of  its  apartments.  Seeing  Lord  Clive 
walk  through,  she  called  to  him  to  come  and  mend  her  pen.  Lord  Clive 
obeyed  her  simimons,  and^  taking  out  his  penknife  fulfilled  her  request;  after 
which,  passing  on  to  another  chamber,  he  turned  the  same  knife  against 
himself.* 

LORD  MACAULAY'S   ESTIMATE   OF   CLIVE 

In  the  awful  close  of  so  much  prosperity  and  glory  the  vulgar  saw  only  a 
confirmation  of  all  their  prejudices;  and  some  men  of  real  piety  and  genius 
so  far  forgot  the  maxims  both  of  religion  and  of  philosophy  as  confidently  to 
ascribe  the  mournful  event  to  the  just  vengeance  of  God,  and  to  the  horrors 
of  an  evil  conscience.  It  is  with  very  different  feelings  that  we  contemplate 
the  spectacle  of  a  great  mind  ruined  by  the  weariness  of  satiety,  by  the  pangs 
of  wounded  honour,  by  fatal  diseases,  and  more  fatal  remedies. 

Clive  committed  great  faults;  but  his  faults,  when  weighed  against  his 
merits,  and  viewed  in  connection  with  his  temptations,  do  not  appear  to  us  to 
deprive  him  of  his  right  to  an  honourable  place  in  the  estimation  of  posterity. 
From  his  first  visit  to  India  dates  the  renown  of  the  English  arms  in  the  east, 
TiU  he  appeared  his  countrymen  were  despised  as  mere  pedlars,  while  the 
French  were  revered  as  a  people  formed  for  victory  and  command.  His 
courage  and  capacity  dissolved  the  charm.  With  the  defence  of  Arcot  com- 

mences the  long  series  of  oriental  triumphs  which  closes  with  the  fall  of 
Ghazni.  Nor  must  we  forget  that  he  was  only  twenty-five  years  old  when 
he  proved  himself  ripe  for  military  command.  This  is  a  rare  if  not  a  singular 
distinction. 

From  Clive's  second  visit  to  India  dates  the  political  ascendancy  of  the 
English  in  that  country.  His  dexterity  and  resolution  realised,  in  the  course 
of  a  few  months,  more  than  all  the  gorgeous  visions  which  had  floated  before 
the  imagination  of  Dupleix.  Such  an  extent  of  cultivated  territory,  such  an 
amount  of  revenue,  such  a  multitude  of  subjects,  was  never  added  to  the 
dominion  of  Rome  by  the  most  successful  proconsul.  Nor  were  such  wealthy 
spoils  ever  borne  under  arches  of  triumph,  down  the  Sacred  Way,  and  through 
the  crowded  Forum,  to  the  threshold  of  Tarpeian  Jove.  The  fame  of  those 
who  subdued  Antiochus  and  Tigranes  grows  dim  when  compared  with  the 
splendour  of  the  exploits  which  the  young  English  adventurer  achieved  at 
the  head  of  an  army  not  equal  in  numbers  to  one-half  of  a  Roman  legion. 
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From  Olive's  third  visit  to  India  dates  the  purity  of  the  administration  of 
our  eastern  empire.  When  he  landed  in  Calcutta  in  1765,  Bengal  was  regarded 
as  a  place  to  which  Englishmen  were  sent  only  to  get  rich,  by  any  means,  in 
the  shortest  possible  time.  He  first  made  daimtless  and  unsparing  war  on 
that  gigantic  system  of  oppression,  extortion,  and  corruption.  In  that  war 
he  manfully  put  to  hazard  his  ease,  his  fame,  and  his  splendid  fortune.  The 
same  sense  of  justice  which  forbids  us  to  conceal  or  extenuate  the  faults  of  his 
earlier  days  compels  us  to  admit  that  those  faults  were  nobly  repaired.  If  the 
reproach  of  the  company  and  of  its  servants  has  been  taken  away;  if  in  India 
the  yoke  of  foreign  masters,  elsewhere  the  heaviest  of  all  yokes,  has  been  foimd 
lighter  than  that  of  any  native  dynasty;  if  to  that  gang  of  public  robbers,  which 
formerly  spread  terror  through  the  whole  plain  of  Bengal  has  succeeded  a  body 
of  functionaries  not  more  highly  distinguished  by  ability  and  diligence  than 
by  integrity,  disinterestedness,  and  public  spirit;  if  w^  have  seen  such  men  as 
Munro,  Elphinstone,  and  Metcalfe,  after  leading  victorious  armies,  after 
making  and  deposing  kings,  return,  proud  of  their  honourable  poverty,  from  a 
land  which  once  held  out  to  every  greedy  factor  the  hope  of  boundless  wealth, 
the  praise  is  in  no  small  measure  due  to  Clive.  His  name  stands  high  on  the 
roll  of  conquerors.  But  it  is  found  in  a  better  list,  in  the  list  of  those  who 
have  done  and  suffered  much  for  the  happiness  of  mankind.  To  the  warrior, 
history  will  assign  a  place  in  the  same  rank  with  LucuUus  and  Trajan.  Nor 
will  she  deny  to  the  reformer  a  share  of  that  veneration  with  which  France 
cherisiies  the  memory  of  Turgot,  and  with  which  the  latest  generations  of 
Hindus  will  contemplate  the  statue  of  Lord  William  Bentinck.^ 

B.  w.— VOL.  xxiii  a 



CHAPTER   III 

WARREN  HASTINGS,  CORNWALLIS,  AND  THE  WELLESLEYS 

[1772-1806  A.D.] 

Warren  Hastings,  the  first  governor-general  of  India,  was  born  in  1732. 
He  was  sprung  from  a  branch,  or  rather,  as  they  alleged,  the  main  stem,  of 
the  great  old  house  of  Hastings,  from  which  in  another  line  the  earls  of  Hun- 

tingdon descend.  But  at  the  time  of  Warren's  birth  his  branch  was  fast 
decaying;  and  Daylesford,  its  ancient  seat  in  Worcestershire,  was  already 
sold.  It  was  only  through  the  kindness  of  a  kinsman  that  he  obtained  his 
education  at  Westminster  school;  and  when  that  relative  died,  he  was  shipped 
off  at  seventeen  as  a  writer  to  Bengal.  He  was  noticed  by  Lord  Clive  as  a 

man  of  promise.  Under  Mr.  Vansittart*  he  had  much  more  opportunity  to 
shine.  Thus,  through  the  various  gradations  of  the  civil  service  at  that  time, 
he  sped  with  credit  and  success.  Having  married,  but  become  a  widower,  he 
returned  to  England  in  1765.  But  four  years  afterwards  he  was  again  sent 

forth  as  second  in'  the  council  of  Madras;  and  early  in  1772  he  proceeded  to a  far  higher,  and,  as  it  proved,  more  lasting  post,  as  first  in  the  council  of 
Bengal. 

Spare  in  form  and  shrunk  in  features,  with  a  mild  voice  and  with  gentle 
manners,  Warren  Hastings  might  seem  to  a  casual  observer  as  wanting  in 
manly  firmness.  It  is  remarkable  that,  on  his  appointment  as  governor  of 
Bengal,  Lord  Clive  deemed  it  right  to  warn  him  against  this,  as  he  imagined, 
the  weak  point  of  his  character.    Never  was  an  error  more  complete. 

It  may  be  said  of  Hastings,  that  tenacity  of  purpose  was  not  merely  the 
principal  feature  of  his  character,  but  the  key  and  mainspring  of  the  rest. 
It  made  him,  on  the  one  hand,  consistent  and  courageous.  On  the  other 
hand,  it  gave  him  a  certain  hardness  and  insensibility  of  heart;  it  made  him, 

['  The  period  of  Vansittart's  government  has  been  truly  described  as  the  most  revolting 
page  in  our  Indian  history.''] 
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on  several  great  occasions  in  his  long  career,  callous  to  the  sufferings  which 
his  policy  inflicted,  and  careless  of  the  means  by  which  his  policy  might  be 
Eursued.  He  was  firm,  it  may  be  added,  in  all  his  friendships  and  attachments, 
ut  few  men  have  ever  been  more  rancorous  and  unforgiving. 

It  was  one  among  the  merits  of  Hastings,  that  he  had  made  himself  thor- 
oughly acquainted,  not  only  with  the  literature,  but  also  with  the  temper 

and  feelings  of  the  nations  which  he  came  to  rule.  Their  languages  he  spoke 
with  ease  and  fluency;  their  prejudices,  whether  of  religion  or  of  race,  he 
was  ever,  unless  impelled  by 
some  state  necessity,  studi- 

ous not  to  wound.  By  such 
means  he  was  at  all  times, 
whether  in  his  triumphs  or 
in  his  hours  of  danger  and 
distress,  a  favourite  with  the 
native  tribes  of  Hindustan 
—  a  favourite,  moreover,  at 
a  period  when  in  most  cases 
they  had  little  or  no  sympa- 

thy for  the  island-strangers. 
When  in  the  year  1772 

Hastings  first  assumed  the 
administration  of  Bengal,  he 
found  the  whole  country 
weighed  down  by  the  effects 
of  the  recent  famine  and  de- 

population. The  greatest 
praise  perhaps  of  his  able 
rule  is  the  simple  fact  that 
scarce  any  trace  of  these  ef- 

fects appears  in  the  succeed- 
ing years.  He  enforced  a 

new  system  in  the  land  rev- 
enue founded  on  leases  for 

five  years;  a  system  indeed 
far  from  faultless,  yet  the 
best,  probably,  which  at  that 
period  could  be  framed. 
Under  that  system  nearly 
the  same  amount  of  income  was  collected  from  the  far  diminished  numbers 
with  less,  it  would  seem,  of  pressure  than  before.  For  the  acctmiulating 
debt  and  financial  embarrassment  of  the  company  more  than  the  common 
resources  seemed  to  be  required.  These  Hastings  strove  hard  to  supply,  not 
always,  as  will  presently  be  shown,  by  the  most  creditable  means.  At  the 
same  time,  to  the  great  and  manifest  advantage  of  the  natives,  he  put  an 
end  to  the  oppressive  tax  or  duty  levied  upon  marriages.  As  one  of  the 
results  of  his  system  of  revenue-collection,  he  established,  with  signal  good 
effect,  district  courts  for  the  administration  of  justice,  and  district  oflicers 
to  maintain  the  public  peace.  Within  a  few  months  the  provinces  were  in  a 
great  measure  cleared  of  the  dacoits  or  gangs  of  thieves,  and  other  prowling 
marauders.  These  and  such  like  measures  of  reform,  or  of  public  policy, 
were  carried  through  by  Hastings  amidst  numerous  objections  in  his  council 
and  incessant  calls  upon  his  time. 

Warebn  Hastings 

(1733-1818) 
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Among  the  earliest  acts  of  Hastings  in  Bengal  was  one  for  which,  right 
or  wrong,  he  was  in  no  degree  responsible.  It  arose  from  the  peremptory 
and  positive  commands  of  the  directors  at  home  to  arrest  and  try  Muhammed 
Reza  Khan,  who  had  now  for  seven  years  held  his  great  office  at  Murshidabad, 
as  naib  diwan,  or  chief  minister  of  the  finances.  The  reports  against  him  of 
embezzlement  and  fraud  in  his  high  functions  appear  to  have  arisen  mainly 
through  the  intrigues  of  Nandkumar  or  Nuncomar  his  disappointed  rival. 
Muhammed  Reza  Khan  was  seized  in  his  bed  at  midnight  by  a  battalion  of 
sepoys.  The  same  measure  was  extended  to  his  confederate,  Shitab  Roy, 
at  that  time  governor  of  Behar;  a  chief  who,  in  the  recent  wars,  had  fought 
with  signal  bravery  upon  the  English  side. 

The  two  prisoners  were  carried  to  Calcutta,  where  after  many  months 
of  postponement  and  delay  they  were  brought  to  trial  before  a  conmiittee 
over  which  Hastings  himself  presided.  Nandkumar,  with  a  vengeful  rancour, 
such  as  no  time  could  soften,  no  calamities  subdue,  appeared  as  the  accuser 
of  his  ancient  rival.  But  no  guilt  could  be  proved  to  call  for  any  further 
punishment,  nor  even  to  justify  the  harshness  already  shown.  Both  pris- 

oners, therefore,  were  acquitted  and  set  free;  Shitab  Roy,  moreover,  being 
sent  back  to  hold  office  in  Behar,  clothed  in  a  robe  of  state  and  mounted  on 
a  richly  caparisoned  elephant,  as  marks  of  honour  and  respect. 

Nandkumar  throve  as  little  in  his  hopes  of  ambition  as  in  his  projects  of 
revenge.  Hastings  had  meanwhile  been  effecting  a  complete  change  in  the 
former  system.  It  was  not  merely  that  he  arrested  the  minister;  he  abol- 

ished the  office.  He  put  an  end  to  the  scheme  of  double  government  at 
Murshidabad  and  at  Calcutta,  transferring  to  the  latter  city  and  to  the  ser- 

vants of  the  company  the  entire  machinery  of  state  affairs.  An  empty 
pageant  only  was  left  at  the  former  capital,  still  decked  with  the  name  and 
honours  of  nawab.  That  nawab,  the  heir  of  Mir  Jafar,  was  now  an  infant. 
On  that  plea,  Hastings  took  occasion  to  reduce  the  yearly  allowance  granted 
by  the  company  from  320,000Z.  to  half  that  sum.  To  alleviate  in  some 
degree  the  disappointment  that  was  gnawing  at  the  heart  of  Nandkumar, 

his  son  Rajah  Goordas  was  appointed  treasurer  of  the  young  prince's  house- 
hold. The  guardianship  of  the  young  prince  himself  was  bestowed,  not  on 

his  own  mother,  but  on  another  lady  of  his  father's  harem — the  Munny 
Begum,  by  title  and  name. 

External  affairs  also  claimed  the  early  care  of  Hastings.  Shah  Alam  the 
emperor,  in  name  at  least,  of  Hindustan,  had  more  than  once  endeavoured, 
but  in  vain,  to  prevail  upon  the  English  to  assist  him  in  expelling  the  Mah- 
rattas.  Finding  that  alone  he  could  not  attack  these  invaders  of  his  patri- 

mony with  the  smallest  prospect  of  success,  he  took  the  opposite  part,  and 
threw  himself  into  their  arms.  He  was  received  at  first  with  every  token, 
of  respect  and  homage,  and  led  back  in  triumph  to  his  ancestral  seat 
of  Delhi.  Soon,  however,  a  quarrel  ensued  between  them,  when  he  found 
himself  no  more  than  a  prisoner  and  a  puppet  in  the  hands  of  his  new  allies. 
They  compelled  him  to  sign  an  edict,  transferring  to  them  the  districts  of 
AllaJiabad  and  Korah,  which  had  been  bestowed  upon  him  by  Lord  Clive. 
But  here  Hastings  interposed.  He  determined  not  merely  on  resuming  the 
districts  of  Allabahad  and  Korah,  but  on  discontinuing  all  further  yearly 
payments  to  Shah  Alam.  Breach  of  faith  on  this  account  became,  at  a  later 
period,  one  of  the  charges  brought  against  him. 

The  districts  of  Korah  and  Allahabad  were  promptly  occupied  by  English 
troops.  But  it  was  computed  that  the  expenses  of  maintaining  them  at  so 
great  a  distance  would  exceed  the  utmost  revenue  they  could  bring.    It  was 
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therefore  the  wish  of  Hastings  to  yield  them  for  a  stipulated  sum  to  the  adja- 
cent state  of  Oudh.  He  repaired  to  the  city  of  Benares  to  confer  in  person 

with  the  nawab  vizir.  There,  in  September  1773,  a  treaty  was  agreed  upon 
between  them;  the  nawab  vizir  undertaking  to  pay  for  the  two  districts  the 
sum  of  fifty  lacs  of  rupees. 

ENGLISH  TROOPS    LENT  FOR  THE   DESTRUCTION   OF  THE   ROHILLAS 

But  —  alas  for  the  fair  fame  not  only  of  Hastings,  but  of  England!  — 
another  and  a  weightier  question  was  then  decided  at  Benares.  The  Rohillas, 
a  tribe  of  Afghan  blood,  had  earlier  in  that  century,  and  as  allies  of  the 
Mughal,  descended  into  the  plains  of  Hindustan.  They  had  obtained  for 
their  reward  that  fertile  country  which  lies  between  the  Ganges  and  the 
mountains  on  the  western  boundary  of  Oudh.  That  country  bore  from  them 
the  name  of  Rohilkhand.  It  had  been  earned  by  their  services,  and  it  was 
flourishing  under  their  dominion.  Of  late  there  had  sprung  up  a  difference 
between  them  and  their  neighbours  of  Oudh,  with  respect  to  some  pecuniary 
stipulations  which  the  Rohillas  contracted  and  were  backward  to  discharge. 
On  that  ground,  Sujah-ud-Daula  had  a  plea  for  war  against  them. 

He  applied  to  the  English  governor  for  the  aid  of  English  bayonets;  and 
this  request  came  before  Hastings  at  a  time  when  the  Bengal  treasury  was 
weighed  down  with  heavy  debts,  and  when  nevertheless  the  letters  from  the 
court  of  directors  were  calling  on  him  in  the  most  earnest  terms  for  large 
remittances.  The  Indian  prince  wanted  soldiers,  and  the  English  chief 
wanted  money,  and  on  this  foundation  was  the  bargain  struck  between  them. 
In  April,  1774,  an  English  brigade  under  Colonel  Champion  invaded  the 
Rohilla  districts;  and  in  a  hard-fought  battle  gained  a  decisive  victory  over 
the  Rohilla  troops.  Exactly  half  a  century  afterwards  an  English  bishop, 
on  his  first  visitation  progress,  found  the  whole  scene  still  fresh  in  the 
traditions  of  the  country. 

Throughout  this  conflict,  nothing  could  be  more  dastardly  than  the 
demeanour  of  the  troops  of  Oudh.  They  had  slunk  to  the  rear  of  the  armies; 
they  had  kept  aloof  from  the  fight;  and  it  was  only  after  the  battle  was 
decided  that  they  came  forward  to  plunder  the  camp  and  despoil  the  dead 
and  dying.  Many  an  indignant  murmur  was  heard  from  the  British  ranks: 
"  We  have  the  honour  of  the  day,  and  these  banditti  are  to  have  the  profit!  " 
Nor  was  this  all.  The  vizir  and  his  soldiery  next  applied  themselves  to  wreak 
their  fury  on  the  vanquished,  and  to  lay  waste  with  sword  and  fire  the  rich 
plains  of  Rohilkhand.  No  terms  whatever  had  been  made  by  Hastings  for 
the  more  humane  and  merciful  conduct  of  the  war;  and  Colonel  Champion, 
in  his  private  letters  to  the  governor,  might  well  avow  his  fear  that,  although 
his  countrymen  stood  free  from  all  participation  in  these  cruel  deeds,  the 
mere  fact  of  their  having  been  silent  spectators  of  them  would  tend,  in  the 
minds  of  the  whole  Indian  people,  to  the  dishonour  of  the  English  name. 

The  case  of  Hastings  as  to  the  Rohillas — a  case  at  the  best  a  bad  one  — 
was  farther  injured  by  the  indiscretion  of  his  friends.  Some  of  them  after- 

wards pleaded  for  him  in  the  house  of  commons,  that  the  Rohillas  were  not 
among  the  native  possessors  of  the  soil  in  India,  but  only  an  invading  tribe 
of  foreign  lineage  and  of  recent  conquest.  With  just  indignation,  Mr.  Wil- 
berforce  exclaimed,  "  Why,  what  are  we  but  the  Rohillas  of  Bengal  ?  "  But 
Hastings  himself  took  better  ground.  Besides  the  pecuniary  advantages,  on 

which  no  question  could  exist,  he  had  political  arguments  to  urge  in  vindica- 
tion of  his  treaty.    It  was  of  paramount  importance  to  the  British  to  form 
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a  close  alliance  with  Oudh;  and,  on  forming  an  alliance  with  that  state,  they 
had  a  full  right  to  espouse  its  quarrels.  But  Lord  North,  the  prime  minister 

at  the  time  of  the  transaction,  said  in  the  house  of  commons  —  "as  soon  as 
I  was  apprised  of  the  facts  of  the  Rohilla  war,  I  thought  the  conduct  of  Mr. 
Hastings  highly  censurable;  and  I  sent  to  the  court  of  directors,  urging  them 
to  combine  with  me  for  his  recall. 

HASTINGS  UNDER  CHARGES  J   NANDKUMAK  PUT  OUT  OF  THE  WAY 

It  was  at  the  close  of  the  Rohilla  war,  in  October,  1774,  that  there 
anchored  in  the  Ganges  the  ship  which  brought  from  Engand  the  expected 
members  of  the  council  and  the  judges  of  the  supreme  court.  Of  the  three 
new  councillors,  Francis  was  by  far  the  youngest;  but  his  more  shining  and 

ardent  spirit  gave  him  a  great  ascendancy  over  Clavering's  and  Monson's. 
He  came  —  there  is  little  risk  in  affirming  —  determined  to  find  fault;  ready, 
whatever  might  befall,  to  cavil  and  oppose. 

Of  the  five  who  met  in  council,  the  old  servants  of  the  company,  Hastings 
and  Harwell,  stood  together;  on  the  other  side  were  arrayed,  as  though  in 
military  order,  the  general,  the  colonel,  and  the  late  war-office  clerk.  Thus 
they  formed  a  majority  upon  every  question  that  arose;  thus,  from  the  very 
first  they  wrested  the  whole  power  of  the  government  and  all  substantial 
patronage  from  the  hands  of  Hastings.  They  ordered  the  English  brigade  to 
march  back  from  Rohilkhand,  whatever  might  be  then  the  condition  of  that 
province.  They  recalled,  with  every  token  of  disgrace,  Mr.  Middleton,  the 
confidential  friend  of  Hastings,  and  by  him  appointed  the  resident  in  Oudh. 

They  insisted  that  even  the  most  private  of  Mr.  Middleton's  letters  should  be laid  before  them. 
Confident  in  their  absolute  majority  the  three  new  councillors  pursued 

their  course  of  rashness,  or,  as  Hastings  terms  it,  frenzy.  On  the  decease  of 
Sujah-ud-DauIa,  and  the  succession  of  his  son,  Asa-ud-Daula,  as  nawab  vizir 
they  passed  a  preposterous  vote  that  the  treaties  which  had  been  signed  with 
the  former  should  be  considered  as  personal  and  as  having  ended  with  his 
life.  They  unsettled  for  a  time  the  whole  administration,  both  financial  and 
judicial,  of  Bengal.  Still  more  mischievous  was  their  meddling  in  the  case 
of  Bombay,  then  first  under  the  recent  act  reduced  to  a  subordinate  presi- 

dency. They  rebuked  its  council,  and  they  reversed  its  policy;  and,  in  utter 
ignorance  of  its  affairs,  took  new  measures  for  entangling  it  in  the  differences 
of  the  several  Mahratta  chiefs.  Meanwhile  their  power  seemed  so  unques- 

tionable, and  their  hostility  to  Hastings  so  clear,  that  many  of  his  personal 
enemies  began  to  brood  over  projects  of  revenge  as  certain  of  attainment. 
Two  Englishmen  of  the  name  of  Fowke  came  forward  to  charge  him  with 
corruption.  The  rani,  or  princess,  of  Bardwan,  with  her  adopted  son,  sent 
in  a  similar  complaint.  But  foremost  of  all  in  rancour  as  in  rank  was  Nand- 
kumar.  He  put  into  the  hands  of  Francis  a  paper  containing  several  heavy 
accusations  against  Hastings;  above  all,  that  he  had  taken  a  bribe  for  dis- 

missing without  punishment  Muhammed  Reza  Khan;  and  this  paper  was 
produced  by  Francis  at  the  council-board. 

Long  and  fierce  were  the  discussions  that  ensued.  The  governor-general 
did  not  shrink  from  the  investigation  of  his  conduct,  but  he  insisted,  and 
surely  with  perfect  right,  that  the  members  of  the  council  should  form  them- 

selves into  a  committee  for  that  purpose,  and  after  receiving  whatever  evi- 
dence they  pleased,  transmit  it  for  adjudication  either  to  the  supreme  court 

of  justice  at  Calcutta,  or  to  the  directors  at  home.    On  the  other  hand  the 
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majority  maintained,  that  even  while  sitting  as  a  council  they  might  proceed 
to  the  trial  of  their  chief.  The  governor-general  rose,  declared  the  meeting 
dissolved,  and  left  the  room  with  Harwell  in  his  train.  The  remaining  mem- 

bers voted  that  the  meeting  was  not  dissolved,  named  Clavering  as  chairman, 
and  called  in  Nandkumar. 

In  this  state  of  the  transactions,  Hastings  thought  himself  entitled  to 
allege  that  Nandkumar,  Mr.  Fowke,  and  some  others  were  guilty  of  a  con- 

spiracy against  him.  On  this  ground  he  began  legal  proceedings  against 
them  in  the  supreme  court.  The  judges  after  a  long  examination  of  the 
case  directed  Nandkumar  and  Fowke  to  give  bail,  and  bound  over  the  gov- 

ernor-general to  prosecute  them. 
Of  a  sudden,  however,  and  only  a  few  weeks  afterwards,  a  more  serious 

blow  was  aimed  at  Nandkumar  by  another  hand.  He  was  arrested  at  the 
3uit  of  a  native  merchant  named  Mohun  Persaud,  and,  like  any  other  man 
accused  of  felony,  was  thrown  into  the  common  gaol.  The  charge  against 
him  was  that  he  had  forged  a  bond  five  years  before.  On  that  charge,  the 
supreme  court  not  then  existing,  he  had  been  brought  to  trial  before  the 

mayor's  court  of  Calcutta,  but  was  released  through  the  authority  which  at 
that  time  Hastings  exerted  in  his  favour.  The  suit  had,  therefore,  been 
suspended,  but  not  concluded.  It  was  now  revived  before  a  higher  and  more 
independent  tribunal,  estabhshed  expressly  with  a  view  to  such  cases;  and 
it  was  revived  at  the  very  earliest  lawful  time  after  the  necessary  documents 
had  been  transferred  to  the  new  court.  So  opportune  was  this  prosecution 
for  the  interests  of  the  governor-general,  and  so  suspicious  the  coincidence 
of  time,  that  Hastings  has  ever  since  been  suspected  and  arraigned  as  the 
real  mover  in  the  business.'  Yet,  besides  the  presumption  on  his  side  to  be 
drawn  from  the  regular  conduct  of  the  suit,  there  is  surely  some  weight  in  a 
fact  which  many  writers  have  passed  over  —  that  in  the  proceedings  before 
the  supreme  court,  Hastings  solemnly  deposed,  upon  his  oath,  that  he  had 
never  directly  or  indirectly  countenanced  or  forwarded  the  prosecution  for 
forgery  against  Nandkumar. 

The  new  members  of  the  council  showed  the  utmost  resentment  at  the 
prosecution,  but  found  themselves  wholly  powerless  to  stem  it.  Their  fierce 
representations  to  the  judges  proved  in  vain.  They  could  only  send  com- 

plimentary messages  to  Nandkumar  in  his  prison,  and  grant  additional  favoura 
to  his  son.  The  trial  came  on,  in  due  time,  before  a  jury  composed  of  Eng- 

lishmen, when  the  charge  of  forgery  was  established  to  their  entire  satisfac- 
tion, and  a  verdict  of  guilty  was  returned.  One  of  the  judges.  Sir  Robert 

Chambers,  the  friend  of  Dr.  Johnson,  had  proposed  to  try  the  prisoner  on 
an  earlier  and  a  milder  statute,  inflicting  no  capital  penalty;  but  Chambers 
is  stated  to  have  been  convinced  by,  and  most  certainly  acquiesced  in,  the 
arguments  against  it.  The  sentence  of  death  on  Nandkumar  was  pronounced 
by  Sir  Elijah  Impey  as  the  chief,  and  apparently  with  the  full  concurrence 
of  his  colleagues.  On  the  5th  of  August,  1775,  the  rajah  Nandkumar,  at 
that  time  seventy  years  of  age  and  the  head  of  the  Brahmans  of  Bengal,  was 
led  forth  to  the  gallows,  and  hanged;  while  Clavering  and  his  two  friends, 
with  impotent  rage,  shut  themselves  up  within  their  houses,  and  while  an 
immense  concourse  of  Hindus  looked  on  in  wonder  and  affright. 

For  his  share  in  these  proceedings  the  chief  justice  has  been  arraigned 
even  more  severely  than  the  governor-general.  It  was  Hastings  —  thus  cries 
Burke  in  his  ardent  and  sometimes  overflowing  zeal  —  it  was  Hastings  who 

['  That  Hastings  set  this  prosecution  in  motion,  no  reasonable  person  can  doubt ;  and  it  is 
equally  clear  that  Chief  Justice  Impey  is  free  from  all  personal  blarae, — J,  S.  Cotton.''] 
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murdered  Nandkumar  by  the  hand  of  Sir  Elijah  Impey!  The  personal 
friendship  which  had  subsisted  between  them  since  their  schoolboy  days 
was  urged  as  strong  presumption  of  a  guilty  compact.  For  this  argument, 
as  levelled  at  one  of  the  judges,  it  became  convenient  to  overlook  entirely 
the  existence  of  the  other  three.  Thus  Impey,  who  had  but  acted  jointly, 
was  arraigned  alone.  At  length  the  surmises  and  suspicions  against  him 
assumed  a  more  definite  form.  At  the  close  of  1787  a  member  of  the  house 
of  commons,  Sir  Gilbert  Elliot,  moved  for  his  impeachment  mainly  on  this 
ground.  Then  Sir  Elijah  was  permitted  to  appear  at  the  bar,  and  to  speak 
in  his  own  defence.  He  showed,  to  the  perfect  satisfaction  of  by  far  the 
greater  part  of  those  who  heard  him,  that  his  behaviour  through  the  trial 
had  been  wholly  free  from  blame. 

The  execution  of  Nandkumar,  although  it  may  not  have  been  connected 
with  any  step  of  Hastings,  was  certainly  auspicious  to  his  interests.  The 
Hindus  could  make  no  nice  distinctions,  such  as  the  case  required,  between 
political  and  judicial  authority.  They  looked  only  to  the  one  broad  fact 
that  one  of  their  chief  men  had  stood  forth  to  accuse  the  governor-general, 
and  that  within  a  few  weeks  of  his  accusation  that  chief  man  had  died  upon 
the  gallows.  From  that  moment  all  the  other  natives  shrank  from  any  further 
charges  against  Hastings.  From  that  moment,  in  their  eyes,  he  recovered 
a  large  portion  of  his  power.  But  it  should  be  added,  in  justice  to  his 
memory,  that  throughout  his  long  administration  he  attracted,  in  a  high 
degree,  their  love  as  well  as  fear.  The  Enghsh  in  India  also  were  nearly  all 
upon  his  side.  Hastings,  they  saw,  was  familiar  with  their  wants  and  wishes, 
and  profoundly  versed  in  their  affairs.  On  the  other  hand  they  had  slight 
confidence  in  either  Clavering  or  Monson;  and  they  had  quickly  taken  fire 
against  the  war-office  clerk  [Francis],  who,  in  all  respects,  ignorant  of  India, 
was  yet  seeking  to  impose  upon  it,  with  peremptory  violence,  every  crotchet 
of  his  brain.  He  had  not  been  many  weeks  at  Calcutta  ere  he  obtained  the 

common  surname  of  "  King  Francis,"  or  "  Francis  the  First." 
The  news  of  the  divisions  in  the  council  at  Calcutta  appears  to  have 

greatly  perplexed  the  directors  at  home.  For  some  time  they  endeavoured, 
but  with  little  good  effect,  to  hold  a  middle  course.  Lord  North  him- 

self, however,  was  deeply  impressed  with  the  iniquity  of  the  Rohilla  war. 
He  regretted,  that  under  the  Regulating  Act  there  was  no  power  during 
the  first  five  years  to  recall  the  governor-general  without  an  address  to  that 
effect  from  the  company  to  the  crown.  At  a  meeting  of  the  court  of  pro- 

prietors the  motion  for  Hastings'  recall  was  negatived  by  a  majority  of 
upwards  of  one  hundred. 

But  the  vague  threats  wrought  too  far  upon  Hastings'  agent  in  London, 
Colonel  Maclean.  He  believed  his  patron  in  risk  of  a  parliamentary  dis- 

missal, or  perhaps,  a  parliamentary  censure.  He  had  in  his  possession  a 
private  letter,  written  by  Hastings  a  year  and  a  half  before,  in  which  Hast- 

ings announced  his  resolution  of  resigning  if  he  should  not  find  his  measures 
supported  and  approved.  In  another  letter,  two  months  afterwards,  Hast- 

ings had  most  clearly  revoked  that  resolution.  Nevertheless,  Colonel  Maclean 
in  October,  1776,  thought  himself  sufficiently  empowered  to  tender  to  the 
court  of  directors  the  resignation  of  the  governor-general.  The  directors, 
eager  to  be  relieved  from  their  embarrassment,  made  Uttle  difficulty.  They 
accepted  the  resignation,  and,  with  the  connivance  of  the  crown,  named  one 
of  their  own  body,  Mr.  Edward  Wheler,  to  the  vacant  place  in  the  council  of 
Bengal. 

But  meanwhile  the  state  of  that  council  had  wholly  changed.    In  Sep- 
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tember,  1776,  Colonel  Monson  had  died.  By  his  decease,  and  by  the  means 
of  his  own  casting  vote,  the  full  powers  of  government  fell  back  into  the 
hands  of  the  governor-general.  With  his  usual  fixedness  of  purpose  he  now 
resumed  his  former  policy  and  reappointed  his  old  friends.  At  the  same  time 
his  mind  was  brooding  over  a  vast  scheme  for  the  complete  ascendancy  in 
India  of  the  English  name  —  a  system  of  subsidiary  alliance  with  native 
princes,  and,  above  all,  with  the  nawab  of  Oudh  and  the  nizam  —  a  system 
which  it  was  left  to  his  successors  to  unfold  and  to  pursue. 

Such  were  the  schemes  that  Hastings  was  maturing,  when,  in  June,  1777, 
a  packet-ship  from  England  anchored  in  the  Hooghly,  and  all  Calcutta  was 
startled  with  the  news  that  the  governor-general  had  resigned;  that  his 
resignation  was  accepted;  and  that  the  government  was  transferred  to 
other  hands.  No  man  was  more  astonished  at  these  tidings  than  the  gov- 

ernor-general himself.  He  declared  that  Colonel  Maclean  had  far,  very  far, 
exceeded  his  instructions.  But  he  afterwards  said,  that  nevertheless  he  should 
have  felt  himself  bound  by  the  acts  of  his  agent,  had  not  General  Clavering 
attempted  to  seize  the  government  by  force. 

Clavering  sent  his  Persian  interpreter  to  Hastings  with  a  letter,  requiring 
him  to  deliver  the  keys  of  the  fort  and  treasury.  Meanwhile,  in  another 
chamber,  Hastings  took  the  chair  with  Barwell  by  his  side,  and  declared 
himself  determmed  to  maintain  his  just  authority  until  further  orders  should 
arrive.  Seeing  this,  the  opposite  party  agreed,  though  unwillingly,  to  his 
proposal  —  that  they  should  ask,  and  should  abide  by,  the  opinion  of  the 
judges  of  the  supreme  court.  This  was  no  season  for  delay;  the  case  being 
thus  referred  to  the  judges,  they  met  the  same  evening,  and  continued  all 
night  in  anxious  deliberation.  At  four  the  next  morning  Sir  Elijah  reported 
their  unanimous  judgment,  that  tho  resignation  of  Hastings  was  invalid,  and 
the  assumption  of  power  by  Clavering  illegal.  Thus  was  the  governor- 
general  enabled  to  maintain  his  ground.  On  this  occasion  he  justly  felt 
that  his  all  had  been  at  stake. 

But  Hastings  was  not  content  with  his  success  on  this  occasion.  He 
endeavoured  to  pursue  it  with  a  degree  of  violence  and  indiscretion  scarcely 
less  than  his  rival  had  displayed.  He  prevailed  on  Barwell  to  concur  in  a  reso- 

lution that  General  Clavering,  by  attempting  to  usurp  the  functions  of  gov- 
ernor-general, had  surrendered  and  resigned  both  his  place  in  council  and  his 

office  as  commander-in-chief  of  the  Indian  forces.  Against  this  flagrant  abuse 
of  victory  Clavering  and  Francis  remonstrated  in  vain.  Now,  in  their  turn,  they 
appealed  to  the  judges  of  the  supreme  court.  Sir  Elijah  Impey,  in  the  name 
of  his  brethren,  pronounced  it  as  their  unanimous  decision,  that  the  council 
had  no  legal  power  to  remove  one  of  its  members  or  declare  his  seat  vacant. 

In  this  struggle  the  temper  of  Clavering  —  a  frank,  plain  soldier — had 
been  grievously  chafed.  Only  a  few  weeks  afterwards,  in  August,  1777,  he 
sickened  and  died.  It  is  said  that  the  last  appearance  in  public  of  the  dying 

man  was,  after  much  solicitation,  as  a  guest  at  his  rival's  wedding-feast. 
Not  many  days  before  General  Clavering  expired,  Warren  Hastings  married 
Marian  Imhoff,  ex-wife  of  a  German  by  birth,  a  baron  by  title,  a  miniature 
painter  by  profession. 

In  the  council-chamber  of  Bengal  the  decease  of  General  Clavering  was 
nearly  balanced  by  the  arrival  of  Mr.  Wheler.  The  new  member  took  part, 
in  most  cases,  against  the  governor-general  with  Francis.  But,  besides  that 
he  showed  himself  a  far  less  acrimonious  opponent ;  the  power  of  the  casting- 
vote  still  left  on  every  question  the  practical  ascendancy  in  the  hands  of 
Hastings. 
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LORD  PIGOT  AT  MADRAS 

From  the  supreme  government  of  India  let  us  pass  to  the  subordinate- 
council  of  Madras.  There,  though  on  a  smaller  scale,  dissension  had  grown 
to  a  still  more  formidable  height.  Some  years  since  a  war  had  been  waged 
against  the  petty  kingdom  of  Tanjore.  The  rajah,  one  of  the  Mahratta 
princes,  had  been  taken  prisoner  and  deposed.  The  territory  had  been  seized 
and  transferred  to  the  nawab  of  Arcot.  At  home  the  directors,  after  no 
small  amount  of  wavering,  had  disapproved  these  measures.  They  despatched 
peremptory  orders  to  restore,  without  loss  of  time,  the  rajah  to  his  throne. 
Moreover,  they  sent  out  to  the  chief  place  at  Madras  a  personal  friend  of 
the  rajah,  the  former  governor  Pigot,  who  had  recently  been  raised  to  an 
Irish  peerage.  Thus  from  the  first  moment  of  his  landing  again  on  Indian 
ground,  Lord  Pigot  found  himself  in  direct  opposition  to  the  leading  members 
of  his  council.  He  did,  however,  proceed  to  Tanjore  and  reinstate  the  rajah. 
But  on  his  return  he  saw  a  formidable  combination  leagued  against  him;  at 
its  head  Muhammed  Ali,  the  nawab  of  Arcot. 

Muhammed  Ali,  the  old  ally  of  the  English,  and  maintained  in  his  domin- 
ion by  their  means,  was  ever  intriguing  and  caballing  with  several  of  the  com- 

pany's servants.  They  would  supply  him  with  money  at  any  sudden  call, 
and  well  knew  how  to  make  such  loans  most  highly  advantageous  to  them- 

selves. Foremost  among  these  usurers  stood  Mr.  Paul  Benfield,  a  man  to 

whom  Burke's  eloquence  has  given  immortal  fame  —  if  fame  indeed  it  should 
be  called!  For,  as  the  misdeeds  of  Verres  will  live  forever  in  the  glowing 
denunciations  of  Cicero,  so  has  the  genius  of  Burke  poured  its  imperishable 
lustre  over  the  whole  tortuous  track  of  the  Madras  money-lenders,  and  res- 

cued from  oblivion  the  "  Debts  of  the  nawab  of  Arcot." 
Paul  Benfield  was  of  humble  birth  and  of  no  patrimony.  He  had  filled 

a  small  place  in  the  company's  service  at  a  salary  of  a  few  hundred  pounds  a 
year,  and  was  chiefly  conspicuous  for  keeping  the  finest  carriages  and  horses 
at  Madras.  His  ostentatious  habits  of  expense  did  not  seem  consistent  with 
any  large  accumulation  of  wealth.  To  the  public  surprise  he  now  brought 
forward  a  claim  on  the  nawab,  for  money  lent  to  the  amount  of  162,000Z. 
besides  another  claim  on  individuals  in  Tanjore  to  the  amount  of  72,000Z. 
For  the  whole  of  this  enormous  sum  he  held  assignments  on  the  revenues  and 
standing  crops  in  Tanjore;  and  he  pleaded  that  his  interest  ought  not  to  be 
affected  by  the  reinstatement  of  the  rajah.  The  nawab,  when  consulted 
on  the  matter,  at  once  admitted  and  confirmed  the  claim.  In  this  case  Lord 
Pigot  might  well  suspect  collusion.  He  might  also  reasonably  question  the 
right  of  the  nawab  to  make  any  such  assignments  in  Tanjore.  The  majority 
of  his  council,  hov/ever,  were  inclined  to  favour  these  demands,  and  there 
ensued  a  long  train  of  angry  altercations.  At  length  the  issue  was  taken  on 
a  side-point  of  small  importance  —  the  desire  of  Lord  Pigot  to  appoint  Mr. 
Russel,  one  of  his  own  friends,  as  resident  at  Tanjore. 

Finding  himself  out-voted,  Lord  Pigot  first  set  the  dangerous  example  — 
so  soon  to  recoil  upon  himself  —  of  overstepping  the  bounds  of  law.  He 
assumed  that  the  governor  was  an  integral  part  of  the  council;  that  he  was 
not  bound  by  the  majority  against  him,  and  might  refuse  to  carry  out  any 
decision  in  which  he  had  not  concurred.  The  opposite  doctrine  was  main- 

tained, no  less  vehemently,  by  the  other  members.  Upon  this  an  arbitrary 
order  from  Lord  Pigot  declared  them  suspended  from  their  functions;  and 
they,  in  return,  concerted  measures  for  his  arrest.  The  commander  of  the 
forces,  Sir  Robert  Fletcher  (the  same  who,  in  Bengal,  had  been  cashiered), 
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was  at  that  time  ill;  but  the  second  in  command,  Colonel  Stuart,  was  upon 
their  side.  On  the  24th  of  August,  1776,  the  colonel  passed  the  greater  part 
of  the  day  in  company  or  in  business  with  Lord  Pigot;  he  both  breakfasted 
and  dined  with  him  as  his  familiar  friend,  and  was  driving  in  the  carriage 

with  him  when,  according  to  the  colonel's  previous  orders,  the  carriage  was 
surrounded  and  stopped  by  troops.  His  lordship  was  then  informed  that 
he  was  their  prisoner.  As  such  he  was  forthwith  conveyed  to  St.  Thomas' 
Mount.  There  he  was  left  in  an  officer's  house,  with  a  battalion  of  artillery 
to  guard  him,  while  all  the  powers  of  government  were  assumed  and  admin- 

istered by  his  opponents  in  the  council. 
In  the  courts  of  directors  and  proprietors  there  appeared  upon  this  sub- 

ject the  usual  fluctuation.  There  was,  however,  a  better  reason  for  it,  in  a 
case  where  beyond  all  doubt  neither  party  had  been  free  from  blame.  At 
length  it  was  agreed  that  the  members  of  the  council  who  had  concurred  in 
this  arrest  should  be  recalled;  and  on  their  return  they  became  liable,  under 
resolutions  of  the  house  of  commons,  to  a  trial  and  a  fine.  At  the  same  time 

a  commission  was  prepared  under  the  company's  seal,  by  which  Lord  Pigot 
was  restored  to  his  office;  but  he  was  directed  within  one  week  to  give  up 
the  government  to  his  successor,  and  embark  for  England.  By  these  means 
it  was  intended  to  avoid  a  triumph,  or  the  appearance  of  a  triumph,  to  either 
side.  But  long  before  these  orders  could  be  received  in  India,  Lord  Pigot 
was  beyond  the  reach  of  any  human  sentence.  After  eight  months  of  con- 

finement he  died  at  St.  Thomas'  Mount. 
Early  in  1778  the  government  of  Madras  was  assumed  by  Sir  Thomas 

Rumbold.  He  might  avoid  dissensions  with  his  council,  but  on  other  grounds 
he  incurred,  and  not  unjustly,  the  censure  of  the  court  of  directors.  In  less 
than  three  years  we  find  him  utterly  dismissed  from  their  service. 

WAR  WITH  THE   MAHRATTAS   (1778-79  A.D.) 

For  some  years  the  progress  of  England's  eastern  empire  had  not  been 
assailed,  or  even  threatened,  by  any  European  enemy.  The  scene  is  now 
about  to  change.  That  war  which,  commencing  in  North  America,  troubled 
not  England  only  but  also  France  and  Spain,  cast  its  baleful  shadows  to  the 
Mexican  seas  on  the  one  side,  and  to  the  shores  of  Coromandel  on  the  other. 
Then  it  was  that  the  experience,  the  energy,  the  high  statesmanship  of  Hast- 

ings were  signally  displayed.  Then  it  was,  that  the  value  of  his  services  was 
felt  even  by  his  adversaries  in  Downing  Street  or  Leadenhall.  Thus,  when 
the  period  of  five  years  fixed  by  the  Regulating  Act  had  expired,  the  governor- 
general  was  quietly  and  without  a  struggle  re-appointed. 

At  the  beginning  of  1778  the  tidings  were  already  rife  among  the  native 
races,  that  yenghi  dunia,  or  New  World,  as  they  called  America,  had  broken 
loose  from  the  country  of  the  Company  Sahib.  Already  might  they  hear 
the  rising  sounds  of  exultation  from  the  rival  settlements  of  Chandarnagar 
and  Pondicherry.  But  the  first  sign  or  symptom  that  reached  Hastings  of 
French  cabals  in  India  came  from  the  Mahratta  states.  These  had  grown 
to  greatness  in  the  decline  of  the  Mughal  Empire  and  risen  on  its  ruins,  but 
had  since  been  weakened  by  dissensions  of  their  own.  Among  themselves, 
as  in  the  venerable  monarchy  from  the  ruins  of  which  they  had  sprung,  there 
was  a  wide  line  between  the  real  and  the  rightful  exercise  of  power. 

The  lineal  heir  of  Sivaji,  the  true  sovereign  in  name,  had  become  a  mere 
state-prisoner  in  the  palace  of  Sattara.  The  actual  authority  was  vested  in 
a  great  magistrate,  or  chief  of  the  council,  who  was  called  the  peshwa,  and 
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who  held  court  with  regal  state  at  Poona.  Through  a  strange  anomaly 
that  ministerial  office  descended  by  hereditary  right,  and  sometimes  there- 

fore devolved  upon  a  minor.  The  peshwa,  besides  his  own  or  the  rajah  of 

Satara's  dominions,  always  claimed,  and  occasionally  exercised  a  kind  of 
feudal  supremacy  over  the  other  Mahratta  principalities  that  lay  scattered  in 
the  wide  expanse  between  the  hill  forts  of  Mysore  and  the  waters  of  the 
Ganges.  First  among  them  were  the  houses  of  Sindhia  and  of  Holkar;  the 
Gaikwar,  who  ruled  in  Guzerat;  and  the  Bhonsla,  or  rajah  of  Berar,  a  scion 
of  the  line  of  Sivaji.  All  these  Mahratta  chiefs,  in  common  with  their  sub- 

jects, held  the  Brahman  faith;  in  that  respect,  as  in  some  others,  forming  a 
remarkable  contrast  to  the  race  of  the  Mohammedan  conquerors  beside  them, 
as  the  nizam  and  the  vizir. 

The  mean  origin  of  the  first  Mahratta  freebooters  is  denoted  even  in  the 
hereditary  titles  of  their  princes;  the  Gaikwar,  for  example,  signifies  only 
the  cow-herd.  It  is  denoted  also  by  the  simple  and  abstemious  habits  which 
they  long  preserved.  A  Mussulman  historian,  Gholam  Hossein,*^  the  con- 

temporary of  Warren  Hastings,  describes  the  most  powerful  Mahratta  ruler 
of  his  time,  as  living  only  on  food  of  the  poorest  peasant — on  black  bread 
made  of  badjrah,  unripe  mangoes,  and  raw  red  pepper.  "Let  the  reader," 
says  the  more  refined  Mohammedan,  "  guess  the  taste  of  the  whole  nation  by 
this  sample  of  its  chiefs.  And  although,"  he  adds,  "  they  have  come  to  com- 

mand kingdoms  and  to  rule  over  empires,  they  are  still  the  beggars  they  have 
been.  Go  to  any  of  them,  from  the  lowest  clerk  to  the  minister  of  state,  and 

the  first  words  which  you  shall  hear  from  them  are  always  these — 'What 
have  you  brought  for  me  ?  —  Have  you  brought  anything  for  me  ? '  and  should 
any  man  go  empty-handed  to  them,  they  would  strip  him  of  his  turban  and 
coat,  and  then  recommend  him  devoutly  to  Almighty  God!" 

Between  the  chiefs  at  Poona  and  the  presidency  of  Bombay  there  had 
been  in  former  years  some  intricate  negotiations  and  some  desultory  wars. 
The  English  had  obtained  possession  of  the  island  of  Salsette,  which,  so  lately 
as  1750,  the  Mahrattas  had  wrested  from  the  Portuguese.  They  had  also 
given  shelter  to  a  deposed  and  exiled  peshwa  named  Ragoba  or  Raghunath 
Rao,  (vho  still  carried  on  a  cabal  and  kept  up  a  party  at  home.  Such  was  the 
posture  of  affairs  when  the  governor-general  was  startled  by  the  tidings  that  a 
French  ship  had  anchored  in  one  of  the  Mahratta  ports,  and  that  a  French 
agent  had  set  out  for  Poona.  This  Frenchman  proved  to  be  the  chevalier  de 
St.  Lubin,  an  adventurer  who  had  formerly  taken  some  part  in  the  intrigues 
of  the  presidency  of  Madras,  and  who  had  now  obtained  from  his  own  gov- 

ernment a  clandestine  commission  to  treat  with  the  Mahrattas. 
It  was  reported  to  Hastings,  that  already  they  had  agreed  to  his  terms, 

and  consented  to  yield  to  the  French  the  port  of  Choul,  on  the  coast  of  Mala- 
bar. "War  is  now  inevitable,"  said  Hastings  to  his  council;  "let  us  then 

be  the  first  to  strike  a  blow ! "  It  was  resolved,  that  a  division  of  the  Bengal 
army  should  be  sent  across  the  Jumna,  and  march  through  Bundelkhand 

upon  the  peshwa's  country.  Orders  were  sent  to  the  council  of  Bombay  to 
enter  into  a  concert  of  measures  with  Raghunath  Rao,  and  strive  by  all  means 
to  forward  his  pretensions.  At  the  same  time  the  governor-general  com- 

menced an  active  negotiation,  and  sought  to  form  a  close  alliance  with 
another  claimant  to  a  principal  place  among  the  Mahratta  chiefs — with 
Bhonsla,  the  ruler  of  Berar. 

It  has  been  questioned,  how  far,  in  these  dealings  with  the  Mahrattas, 
Hastings  acted  strictly  in  good  faith.  Certainly,  at  least,  he  is  entitled  to 
the  praise,  at  a  most  difficult  crisis,  of  energy  and  skill.    The  news  of  the 
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disaster  at  Saratoga,  far  from  dampening  his  spirit,  only  animated  his  endea- 
vours. "If  it  be  really  true"  —  thus  he  spoke  to  his  council  —  "that  the British  arms  and  influence  have  suffered  so  severe  a  check  in  the  western 

world,  it  is  the  more  incumbent  on  those  who  are  charged  with  the  interests 
of  Great  Britain  in  the  east  to  exert  themselves  for  the  retrieval  of  the  national 

loss."  On  the  7th  of  July  a  letter  from  Mr.  Baldwin,  the  consul  of  England 
at  Cairo,  brought  the  news  to  Calcutta  that  in  the  month  of  March  preceding 
war  had  been  proclaimed  both  in  London  and  in  Paris.  Not  an  hour  did 

Hastings  lose.  "  On  the  same  day,"  he  says,  "  we  wrote  to  the  governor  of 
Fort  St.  George,  to  prepare  for  the  immediate  attack  of  Pondicherry;  and  we 
set  them  an  example  on  the  10th,  by  the  capture  of  Chandarnagar." 

Pondicherry  was  invested  by  Sir  Hector  Munro,  at  the  head  of  the  Madras 
army.  It  yielded,  after  a  brave  resistance  and  an  engagement  off  the  coast, 
between  the  French  and  English  squadrons.  Then  the  French  retained  noth- 

ing in  India  but  Mahe,  a  small  fort  and  settlement  on  the  coast  of  Malabar; 
and  this  also  was  reduced  by  the  English  from  Madras,  in  the  course  of  the 
ensuing  spring.  Meanwhile,  in  Bengal,  the  zeal  of  Hastings  had  directed 
the  most  active  measures  of  defence.  The  governor-general  thus  wrote  to  a 
private  friend  —  "  The  French,  if  they  ever  attempt  the  invasion  of  Bengal, 
must  make  their  way  to  it  by  an  alliance  with  one  of  the  powers  of  the  coun- 

try; and  the  only  power  with  which  that  can  be  at  present  effected  is  the 

Mahratta."  To  this  Mahratta  expedition,  therefore,  the  eyes  of  Hastings 
were  anxiously  turned.    At  first  it  was  far  from  prospering. 

On  climbing  the  Ghats  or  passes  and  entering  the  Mahrattas'  territory. 
Colonel  Egerton  was  not  joined,  as  Raghunath  Rao  had  encouraged  him  to 
hope,  by  any  chief  of  importance,  nor  by  any  considerable  number  of  adherents. 
On  the  contrary,  he  saw  around  him  irregular  troops  of  hostile  cavalry,  retir- 

ing as  he  advanced,  but  active  and  successful  in  cutting  off  his  supplies.  His 
own  movements  at  this  juncture  were  sufficiently  deliberate;  only  eight  miles 
in  eleven  days.  In  January,  1779,  he  had  reached  a  point  within  sixteen  miles 
of  Poona.  There  he  found  an  army  assembled  to  oppose  him,  and  the  com- 

mittee-men, losing  courage,  made  up  their  minds  to  a  retreat.  A  retreat  was 
begun  accordingly  that  night,  and  continued  until  the  next  afternoon,  when, 
at  a  place  called  Wargaum,  the  English  found  themselves  surrounded  and 
hemmed  in.  One  brave  subaltern.  Captain  Hartley,  offered  to  cut  his  way 
through,  and  to  carry  back  the  little  army  to  Bombay,  declaring  that  he  could 
rely  upon  his  men.  His  superior  officers,  on  the  other  hand,  deemed  any 
such  attempt  chimerical,  and  determined  to  seek  their  safety  in  negotiation. 
The  terms  required  for  their  unmolested  passage  were  hard  indeed,  yet  hard 
though  they  were,  could  not  be  disputed  unless  by  arms.  It  was  agreed  that 
all  the  acquisitions  gained  by  the  English  from  the  Mahrattas,  since  the  peace 
of  1756,  should  be  restored.  It  was  further  agreed,  that  the  person  of  Rag- 

hunath Rao  should  be  given  up,  not  indeed  to  the  Poona  chiefs,  but  to 
Sindhia. 

In  mitigation  of  this  last  ignominious  clause  we  may  observe  that,  even  pre- 
viously, Raghunath  Rao,  seeing  the  ill-plight  of  the  English  army,  and  despair- 

ing of  its  safe  return  by  force  of  arms,  had  declared  his  own  intention  of  sur- 
rendering himself  to  Sindhia,  as  to  a  mediator  and  umpire  rather  than  an 

3nemy.  Already  for  some  days  had  he  been  in  correspondence  with  that 
chief.  The  committee  felt,  therefore,  the  less  scruple  in  consenting  to  his 
surrender  when  required  as  a  stipulation  of  their  treaty. 

Yet,  in  spite  of  some  such  extenuating  circumstances,  the  convention  of 
Wargaum  may  justly  be  regarded  as  the  most  discreditable  to  the  arms  of 
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England  ever  framed  since  they  had  first  appeared  on  Indian  soil.  To  the 
English,  in  all  three  presidencies,  it  seemed  like  a  Saratoga  in  miniature.  To 
the  French  partisans  throughout  India  it  gave  a  bolder  spirit  and  a  louder 
tone.  It  combined,  if  not  the  whole  Mahratta  empire,  yet  several  more  of 
the  Mahratta  chiefs  against  the  English.  It  revived  the  hopes,  and  disclosed 
the  animosity,  both  of  the  nizam  and  Hyder  Ali;  but  on  the  mind  of  the 
governor-general  it  had  no  effect.  He  refused  to  alter  his  plans :  he  refused 
to  recall  his  troops.  On  the  contrary,  he  at  once  directed  Goddard  to 
advance. 

General  Goddard  (for  to  that  higher  rank  was  he  speedily  promoted) 
justified  the  confidence  of  Hastings  by  his  energy  and  skill.  In  his  cam- 

paign of  that  year  and  of  the  following,  he,  in  great  measure,  retrieved  and 
worthily  maintained  the  honour  of  the  British  arms.  At  one  time  we  see 
him  reduce  by  storm  the  fort  of  Ahmadabad;  at  another  time,  by  a  siege, 
the  city  of  Bassein.  On  another  occasion  he  appears  gaining  a  victory  over 
the  entire  force,  forty  thousand  strong,  of  Sindhia  and  Holkar  combined. 
Meanwhile  Raghunath  Rao  had  found  early  means  to  escape  from  the  hands 
of  Sindhia,  and  took  shelter  in  Surat.  Thus  the  advantages  to  the  Mahrattas 
from  the  day  of  Wargaum  proved  fleeting  and  short-lived. 

In  a  hilly  district  lying  to  the  south  of  Agra,  and  bearing,  at  that  time,  the 
name  of  Gohud,  Hastings  waged  war  upon  a  smaller  scale.  With  the  Hindu 
prince,  or  rana,'  of  that  district  he  had  concluded  an  alliance.  The  rana 
being,  in  consequence,  attacked  by  the  Mahrattas,  applied  to  his  confederates 
in  Bengal;  and  a  small  body  of  troops,  under  Captain  Popham,  was  sent  to 
his  support.  Not  merely  did  Captain  Popham,  with  little  assistance  from 
the  rana,  clear  Gohud  from  its  invaders,  but  he  carried  the  war  into  some 
of  the  Mahratta  country;  he  besieged  and  reduced  the  city  of  Lahar;  and 
gained  renown  throughout  the  east  when  he  took,  by  escalade,  a  rock-fortress 
which  was  deemed  impregnable  —  the  "castled  crag"  of  GwaUor. 

In  these  and  his  other  military  measures  Hastings  was  not  left  to  rely 
upon  his  own  unassisted  judgment.  Sir  Eyre  Coote,  invested  with  a  two- 

fold rank  as  commander  of  the  forces  and  as  member  of  the  council,  arrived 
at  Calcutta  in  March,  1779.  He  had  no  disposition  to  ally  himself  with 
Francis,  or  intrigue  against  Hastings;  yet  he  gave  nearly  as  much  trouble 
to  the  latter  as  ever  had  Francis  himself.  The  lapse  of  almost  twenty  years 
since  his  last  successes  had  not  been  without  effect,  either  on  his  body  or  his 
mind.  He  had  become  less  active  in  his  movements,  and  more  fretful  in 
his  temper.  A  love  of  gain  had  grown  up  side  by  side  with  his  love  of  glory; 
and  strongly  impressed  with  his  own  great  merits,  he  was  ever  prone  to  deem 
himself  slighted  or  neglected.  It  required  constant  care  in  Hastings  to  avoid 
or  to  explain  away  any  causes  of  offence  between  them. 

HASTINGS   FIGHTS   A  DUEL  WITH  FRANCIS   (1780    A.D.) 

Early  in  the  year  1780  an  engagement  was  concluded,  according  to  which 
Francis  proposed  to  desist  from  systematic  opposition,  and  to  acquiesce  in 
all  the  measures  for  the  prosecution  of  the  Mahratta  war,  while  Hastings 
undertook  to  appoint  Mr.  Fowke,  and  some  other  adherents  of  Francis,  to 
certain  lucrative  posts.  On  the  faith  of  this  agreement,  and  with  the  full 
consent  of  Hastings,  Barwell  embarked  for  Europe.  But  only  a  few  weeks 
afterwards  the  old  dissension  at  the  council-boar{l  burst  forth  anew.  The 
immediate  cause  was  the  expedition  in  Gohud.  Hastings  alleged  that  this 
was  only  a  branch  of  his  Mahratta  war;  Francis,  on  the  contrary,  maintained 
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that  this  was  a  separate  object,  to  which  he  was  not  pledged,  and  which  he 
might  freely  oppose.  The  governor-general,  on  this  occasion,  lost  or  laid 
aside  his  customary  calmness,  and  in  reply  to  a  minute  of  his  rival,  placed 
on  record,  in  council,  the  following  words:  "  I  do  not  trust  to  Mr.  Francis' 
promises  of  candour,  convinced  that  he  is  incapable  of  it.  I  judge  of  his 
public  conduct  by  his  private,  which  I  have  found  to  be  void  of  truth  and 

honour."  When  the  council  broke  up,'  Francis  drew  the  governor-general into  another  chamber,  and  read  to  him  a  challenge;  it  was  accepted  by  Hast- 
ings, and  they  met  on  the  day  but  one  after — on  the  morning  of  the  17th  of 

August. 
Hastings  and  Francis  fired  at  nearly  the  same  instant;  Hastings  was 

unharmed,  but  Francis  was  shot  through  the  side.  He  was  conveyed  to  an 
adjacent  house,  where  the  surgeons  found  that  although  his  wound  was 
severe  his  life  was  not  in  danger.  He  recovered,  but  early  in  the  next 
December  gave  up  his  oflBce  and  returned  to  England.  In  taking  that  step, 
Francis  did  no  more  than  fulfil  an  intention  which,  finding  his  influence 
wholly  declined,  he  had  formed  even  in  the  preceding  year. 

HASTINGS  AT  ODDS  WITH  THE  SUPREME  COURT 

Dissension  with  Francis,  however  fierce,  was  no  novelty  to  Hastings. 
But  during  the  same  period  he  had  to  wage  a  painful  warfare  with  a  former 
friend  —  Sir  Elijah  Impey.  In  the  Regulating  Act  of  1773  the  limits  between 
the  judicial  and  political  powers  which  it  instituted  had  not  been  duly  defined. 
Thus  it  happened,  that  on  several  points  in  practice  the  supreme  court  came 
to  clash  with  the  supreme  council. 

In  the  beginning  of  1780  a  suit  had  been  brought  against  a  wealthy  land- 
holder, the  rajah  of  Cossijurah,  by  Cossinaut  Baboo  his  agent  at  Calcutta, 

when  the  judge  issued  a  writ  to  sequester  his  lands  and  goods.  For  this 
object  an  armed  band,  consisting  of  sixty  men  and  commanded  by  a  sergeant 
of  the  court,  was  despatched  to  Cossijurah.  The  rajah  had  already  fled  from 
his  house.  Nevertheless  it  was  forcibly  entered  by  the  gang  of  bailiffs;  nor 

did  they  even  shrink  from  breaking  open  the  zenana,  or  the  women's  cham- 
bers, ever  held  sacred  in  the  East  amidst  the  worst  barbarities  of  war.  The 

servants  of  the  rajah  stood  at  the  threshold  ready  to  resist,  so  far  as  they 
could  resist,  what  they  deemed  the  dishonour  of  their  master,  but  some  of 
them  were  wounded  and  the  rest  beaten  back  and  overborne. 

When  these  tidings  reached  Calcutta  the  governor-general,  supported  on 
this  one  occasion  by  his  council's  unanimous  assent,  took,  as  was  his  duty, effectual  measures  of  redress.  A  circular  was  issued  to  the  landholders  of 

Bengal  explaining  that,  unless  in  certain  specified  cases,  they  owed  no  obedi- 
ence to  the  mandates  of  the  supreme  court.  Upon  this,  all  patience  and  all 

prudence  departed  from  Sir  Elijah  Impey  and  his  brother  judges.  Even 
the  most  violent  steps  did  not  seem  to  them  too  strong.    They  cast  into 

Erison  Mr.  North  Naylor,  the  company's  attorney,  merely  because  as  he  was 
ound  to  do,  he  had  obeyed  the  orders  of  the  council.  They  caused  a  sum- 

mons to  be  served  on  each  member  of  the  council  requiring  him  to  appear 
at  their  bar,  and  to  answer  for  his  public  acts.  Hastings  and  the  other  mem- 

bers refused  to  obey  the  call.  The  judges  pronounced  the  refusal  to  be  a 

clear  contempt  of  his  majesty's  law  and  of  his  courts."  It  is  difficult  to  say 
to  what  extremities — scarcely  short  of  civil  war  —  this  collision  might  have 
grown,  had  not  Cossinaut,  no  doubt  on  some  secret  inducements  held  out  to 
him  by  the  governor-general,  suddenly  dropped  his  actions  at  law;  thus 
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depriving  the  judges  of  all  present  materials  upon  which  their  wrath  could 
build. 

The  immediate  case  might  thus  be  dealt  with,  but  a  more  permanent 

remedy  -was  needed.  With  this  view,  the  fertile  brain  of  Hastings  devised 
another  scheme.  Under  the  act  of  1773  there  were  certain  judicial  powers 
which  belonged  to  the  supreme  council  as  a  tribunal  of  appeal  from  some  of 
the  provincial  courts,  but  which  the  supreme  council  had  neither  sufficient 
time,  nor  yet  sufficient  knowledge,  to  exert.  Hastings  proposed  that  these 
powers  should  be  henceforth  vested  in  a  judge  appointed  by  the  governor  and 
council,  and  removable  at  their  pleasure,  and  that  this  newly  appointed  judge 
should  be  no  other  than  the  chief  justice  of  the  supreme  court.  Such  was 
the  scheme  which,  in  September,  1780,  Hastings  laid  before  his  colleagues  in 
the  government,  and  which,  in  spite  of  strenuous  opposition  from  Francis 
and  from  Wheler,  was  carried  through.  To  Francis,  who  ahnost  immediately 
afterwards  returned  to  England,  there  only  remained  the  spiteful  satisfaction 
of  spreading  far  and  wide  among  his  friends  and  the  public  at  home  the 
charge  that  the  chief  justice  had  been  bribed  from  a  course  of  opposition  by 
a  new  salary  of  8,000Z.  a  year. 

It  is  true  that  the  council  did  determine  that  a  salary  —  not,  as  was  said, 
of  eight  thousand,  but  of  five  thousand  pounds  a  year  —  should  be  attached 
to  the  new  office.  Sir  Elijah  stated,  however,  that  he  should  refuse  to  accept 
any  part  of  this  money  until  the  opinion  of  the  lord  chancellor  had  been  asked 
and  obtained  from  England.  There  are  still  extant  the  regular  vouchers  of 

the  sums  paid  to  the  chief  justice  in  pursuance  of  the  council's  order,  and 
paid  back  by  him  to  the  company's  account.  And  in  point  of  fact,  neither 
then  nor  at  any  time  afterwards  was  a  single  rupee  of  this  new  salary  received 
for  his  own  use  by  Sir  Elijah  Impey. 

THE  OUTBREAK  OF  HYDEE  ALI   (1780  A.D.) 

The  Mahratta  campaign,  and  the  altercations  with  Francis  and  with 
Impey,  however  burthensome  to  Hastings,  were  not  at  this  time  his  only 
nor  yet  his  greatest  care.  Another  and  more  pressing  danger  rose  in  view. 
Hyder  Ali,  the  mighty  sovereign  of  Mysore,  had  observed  with  much  dis- 

pleasure, the  British  expedition  to  Mahe.  He  saw  that  the  English  were 
now  entangled  in  a  difficult  war  with  the  Mahrattas,  and  that  a  French 
armament  was  soon  expected  on  the  coast  of  Coromandel.  He  drew  together 
an  army  which  amounted,  or  at  least  which  popular  terror  magnified,  to 
ninety  thousand  men.  These  forces  were  not  wholly  wanting  in  European 
discipline;  they  had  been  trained,  in  part,  by  good  officers  from  France,  and 
they  drew  into_  the  field,  with  competent  artillerymen,  one  hundred  pieces  of 
artillery. 

The  government  of  Madras  was,  almost  to  the  last,  unconscious  of  its 
danger.  The  English  chiefs  were  nearly  taken  by  surprise,  when,  in  the  height 
of  summer,  the  horsemen  of  Mysore,  the  vanguard  of  Hyder's  army,  came 
dashing  down  the  passes  that  lead  from  their  wild  hills.  This  was  the  invasion 
which  some  years  afterwards  was  described  with  so  much  glowing  eloquence 

by  Burke  in  his  speech  on  the  nawab  of  Arcot's  debts,  February  28th,  1783. 
This  was  the  "  black  cloud  that  hung  for  awhile  on  the  declivities  of  the  moun- 

tains." This  was  the  "  menacing  meteor  which  blackened  all  the  horizon 
untiHt  suddenly  burst  and  poured  down  the  whole  of  its  contents  upon  the 

plains  of  the  Carnatic." 
At  the  approach  of  Hyder's  army,  the  frontier  posts,  held  by  sepoys,  sur- 
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rendered  with  but  slight  resistance;  and  his  onward  progress  was  marked  by 
fire  and  the  sword.  From  the  summit  of  St.  Thomas'  Mount  the  people  of 
Madras  could  see,  on  the  horizon,  columns  of  dark  smoke  ascend  from  the 
burning  villages.  In  the  field  there  were  already  some  not  wholly  inconsid- 

erable forces.  Sir  Hector  Munro  had  above  five  thousand  men,  and  Colonel 
Baillie  above  three. 

Had  Baillie  and  Munro  at  once  combined  their  forces,  as  they  might  and 
should,  it  seems  probable,  from  the  much  larger  number  of  Europeans  in 
their  ranks,  that  they  might  have  stood  firm  against  all  the  armies  of  Mysore. 
But  their  torpor,  or  perhaps  their  jealousy,  delayed  them,  and  thus  enabled 
Hyder  to  assail  them  singly,  while  yet  only  a  few  miles  asunder.  On  the  10th 
of  September  the  troops  of  Baillie  were  overwhelmed  and  cut  to  pieces.  A 
similar  fate  might  have  befallen  Munro  had  he  not  saved  himself  by  a  pre- 

cipitate retreat  towards  Mount  St.  Thomas,  first  casting  his  artillery  into  the 
tanks,  and  relinquishing  his  baggage  and  stores.  Thus  only  the  walled  towns 

remained  to  the  English :  all  the  open  country  was,  or  would  be,  Hyder's. 

THE   ACTIVITY   OF   HASTINGS;   THE   VICTORIES   OF   EYRE   COOTE 

A  swift-sailing  ship,  despatched  for  the  express  purpose,  brought  these 
ill-tidings  to  Calcutta  on  the  23rd  of  the  same  month.  On  no  occasion,  either 
before  or  since,  were  the  genius,  the  energy,  the  master-spirit  of  Hastings  more 
signally  displayed.  In  a  single  day  he  framed  a  new  system  of  policy, 
renouncing  his  late  favourite  schemes,  and  contemplating  only  the  altered 

state  of  public  affairs.  In  his  own  words  —  "All  my  hopes  of  aggrandising 
the  British  name  and  enlarging  the  interests  of  the  company,  gave  instant 
place  to  the  more  urgent  call  to  support  the  existence  of  both  in  the  Carnatic; 
nor  did  I  hesitate  a  moment  to  abandon  my  own  views  for  such  an  object. 
The  Mahratta  war  has  been,  and  is  yet,  called  mine.  Gods  knows  why.  I 
was  forced  into  it.  It  began  with  the  acts  of  others  unknown  to  me.  I  never 
professed  any  other  design  but  to  support  the  presidency  of  Bombay,  if  it 
had  succeeded  in  the  plans  which  it  had  formed,  or  to  protect  and  save  them 
if  they  failed.  Perhaps  the  war  with  Hyder  may  be,  in  like  manner,  called 

my  war. " 
On  the  25th  of  September  the  council  met.  The  governor-general  pro- 

posed that  a  treaty  not  merely  of  peace  but  of  aUiance  should  be  tendered 
to  the  Mahrattas,  yielding  the  main  points  at  issue  in  the  war;  that  every 
soldier  available  in  Bengal  should  at  once  be  shipped  off  to  Madras;  that 
fifteen  lacs  of  rupees  should  without  delay  be  despatched  to  the  same  quarter; 
that  Sir  Eyre  Coote,  as  alone  sufficient,  should  be  requested  to  assume  the 
chief  command  against  Mysore;  and  that  the  powers  allowed  to  the  supreme 
presidency  by  the  act  of  1773  should  be  strained  to  the  utmost,  by  superseding 
Mr.  Whitehill,  the  new  and  incapable  governor  of  Fort  St.  George. 

Hyder  Ali,  since  his  great  successes  over  Baillie  and  Munro,  had  reduced 
the  fort  of  Arcot,  and  was  besieging  Wandewash  and  Vellore.  But  the 
arrival  of  the  new  commander  and  of  the  reinforcements  from  Bengal  struck 
his  mind  with  awe.  He  raised  the  siege  of  both  places  when,  in  January,  1781, 
he  saw  Coote  take  the  field,  though  still  with  most  scanty  forces  and  inade- 

quate supplies.  Sir  Eyre,  apprehensive  of  a  rising  among  the  French  so  lately 
subdued,  next  marched  south  and  encamped  on  the  Red  Hills  of  Pondicherry. 
Later  in  the  season  he  advanced  to  Porto  Novo,  a  haven  some  forty  nailes 
further  to  the  southward.  There,  on  the  1st  of  July,  he  succeeded  in  bring- 

ing Hyder  to  a  battle.    He  had  only  between  eight  and  nine  thousand  men 
B.  v.  — yoL.  XZII.  H 
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opposed  to  the  myriads  of  Mysore.  Yet  such  was  the  ascendancy  of  European 

valour  and  European  skill,  that  after  six  hours  of  conflict  Hyder's  forces  fled 
in  utter  disarray,  leaving  on  the  field  several  thousand  dead  and  wounded, 
while  upon  the  side  of  the  English  the  loss  scarcely  exceeded  four  hundred 
men. 

The  victory  at  Porto  Novo  was  not  left  unimproved  by  Coote.  He  turned, 
and  with  good  effect,  towards  Wandewash,  which  was  again  besieged. 
"  Wandewash  is  safe"  —  thus  he  wrote  to  the  government  of  Madras  — "it 
being  the  third  time  in  my  life  I  have  had  the  honour  to  relieve  it." 
Hyder  then  fell  back  to  what  he  deemed  a  lucky  spot,  as  it  certainly  was  a 
strong  position;  the  very  ground  on  which,  in  the  preceding  year,  he  had 
defeated  Baillie.  There,  on  the  27th  of  August,  he  engaged  in  another 
battle  with  Sir  Eyre. 

In  this  action,  to  which  a  neighbouring  village  gave  its  name  of  Pollilore, 
the  ground  was  so  unfavourable  to  the  EngUsh,  that  Sir  Hector  Munro,  who 
commanded  the  first  line,  could  not  forbear  a  remonstrance  to  his  chief. 

"  You  talk  to  me,  sir,  when  you  should  be  doing  your  duty! "  — such  was  the 
stern  reply;  a  reply  which,  rankling  in  the  mind  of  Munro,  caused  him  to 
retire  from  active  service  to  Madras,  and  from  thence  next  year  to  England. 
The  results  of  Pollilore  were  far  less  decisive,  and  purchased  by  much  heavier 
sacrifice  than  those  of  Porto  Novo;  yet  still,  at  the  close,  the  flight  of  Hyder 
from  his  chosen  ground  left  to  Coote,  undoubtedly,  both  the  honour  and  the 
advantage  of  the  day.  The  open  country  was  recovered;  and  the  Camatic 
was  saved. 

From  Calcutta  the  governor-general  had  lost  no  time  in  commencing  a 
negotiation  for  peace  with  the  Mahrattas.  But  this  was  long  protracted  by 
the  number  of  their  chiefs,  and  the  intricacy  of  the  relations  between  them; 
and  it  was  not  till  the  spring  of  1782  that  the  treaties  were  finally  concluded 
at  Salbye.  Meanwhile,  the  entire  strain  of  the  war,  both  with  Poona  and 
Mysore,  fell  upon  the  presidency  of  Bengal,  from  which,  nevertheless,  large 
remittances  were  still  expected  by  the  directors  and  proprietors  at  home. 
Under  these  pressing  circumstances,  Hastings  was  compeDed  to  seek  new 
sources  of  supply." 

HASTINGS'   EXACTIONS  IN   BENARES   AND   OUDH 

A  considerable  economy  was  effected  by  a  reform  in  the  establishment  for 
collecting  the  land  tax.  The  government  monopolies  of  opium  and  salt  were 
then  for  the  first  time  placed  upon  a  remunerative  basis.  But  these  reforms 
were  of  necessity  slow  in  their  beneficial  operation.  The  pressing  demands 
of  the  military  chest  had  to  be  satisfied  by  loans,  and  in  at  least  one  case  from 
the  private  purse  of  the  governor-general.  Ready  cash  could  alone  fill  up  the 
void;  and  it  was  to  the  hordes  of  native  princes  that  Hastings'  fertile  mind 
at  once  turned.  Cheyte  Sing,  r&,jah  of  Benares,  the  greatest  of  the  vassal 
chiefs  who  had  grown  rich  under  the  protection  of  the  British  rule,  lay  under 
the  suspicion  of  disloyalty.  The  wazir  of  Oudh  had  fallen  into  arrears  in  the 

payment  due  for  the  maintenance  of  the  company's  garrison  posted  in  his 
dominions,  and  his  administration  was  in  great  disorder.  In  his  case  the 
ancestoral  hordes  were  under  the  control  of  his  mother,  the  begum  of  Oudh, 
into  whose  hands  they  had  been  allowed  to  pass  at  the  time  when  Hastings 
was  powerless  in  council. 

Hastings  resolved  to  make  a  progress  up  country  in  order  to  arrange  the 
affairs  of  both  provinces,  and  bring  back  all  the  treasure  that  could  be  squeezed 
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out  of  its  holders  by  his  personal  intervention.  When  he  reached  Benares 
and  presented  his  demands,  the  rajah  rose  in  insurrection,  and  the  governor- 
general  barely  escaped  with  his  life/  But  the  faithful  Popham  rapidly  rallied 
a  force  for  his  defence.  The  native  soldiery  were  defeated  again  and  again; 
Cheyte  Sing  took  to  flight,  and  an  augmented  permanent  tribute  was  imposed 
upon  his  successor.^ The  Oudh  business 
was  managed  with 
less  risk.  Thewazir 

consented  to  every- 
thing demanded  of 

him? 
The  city  and 

palace  of  Faizabad, 
in  which  the  two 
princesses  dwelt, 
were  surrounded 
and  reduced  by  a 
body  of  British 
troops.  Still,  how- 

ever, the  begums 
would  not  part 
with  any  portion 
of  their  hidden 
treasure.  The  dif- 

ficulty was  how  to 
discover  or  lay 
hands  upon  it 
without  profaning, 
as  the  races  of  the 
East  conceive,  the 
sacred  bounds  of 
the  zenana.  It  was 
resolved  to  arrest  and  confine  two  aged  eunuchs,  the  heads  of  the  household, 
and  the  principal  ministers  of  the  princesses.  These  men  were  cast  into  prison, 
and  loaded  with  irons;  and  on  finding  them  obdurate,  an  order  was  issued  in 
January,  1782,  that  until  they  yielded  they  should  be  debarred  from  aU  food. 
This  order,  to  the  shame  and  opprobrium  not  only  of  himself  and  his  employer, 
but  even  of  the  English  name  in  India,  bore  the  signature  of  Nathaniel  Mid- dleton. 

['  He  set  forth  from  the  city  by  night,  yet  not  unobserved,  the  rabble  hooting  him  as  he 
rode  along,  with  a  jingling  rhyme  not  yet  forgotten  in  Benares: 

"  Hat'  hee  pur  howdah,  ghore  pur  jeen, 
Juldee  bah'r  jata  Sahib  Warren  Husteen  1  "■ 

"Horse,  elephant,  howdah,  set  off  at  full  speed, 

Ride  away  my  Lord  Warren  Hastings  ! " 

"  It  is  a  nursery  rhyme  which  is  often  sung  to  children  (at  Benares),"  says  Bishop  Heher.*] 

r»  Pitt,  during  the  trial  of  Hastings  in  1786,  said  that  Hastings  had  a  right  to  impose  a  fine 
on  Cheyte  Sing.  "But,  in  fining  the  rajah  £500,000,  for  a  mere  delay  to  pay  £50,000,  which 
£50,000  he  had  actually  paid,  Mr.  Hastings  proceeded  in  an  arbitrary,  tyrannical  manner,  and 

was  not  guided  by  any  principle  of  reason  and  justice.  The  punishment  was  utterly  dispro- 

portionate,  and  shamefully  exorbitant."! 

Buddhist  Tope  in  Benares 
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To  the  pangs  of  hunger  the  aged  ministers  gave  way,  and  within  two  days 
agreed  to  disburse  the  sum  which  was  then  required.  But  that  sum  was  only 
a  part  of  the  whole  demand.  To  extort  the  rest  other  most  rigorous  measures 
were  employed.  The  two  prisoners  were  removed  from  Faizabad  to  Lucknow. 
The  weight  of  their  irons  was  increased;  torture  was  threatened,  and  perhaps 
inflicted;  certain  it  is,  at  least,  that  every  facility  was  granted  by  the  British 
assistant  resident  to  the  officers  of  the  vizir,  who  were  sent  for  that  purpose  to 
the  prison-house.  Meanwhile  at  Faizabad  the  palace-gates  of  the  princesses 
continued  to  be  strictly  guarded.  Food  was  allowed  to  enter,  but  not  always 
in  sufficient  quantities  for  the  number  of  the  inmates,  so  that  the  begums 

might  be  wrought  upon  by  the  distress  of  their  attendants.  "  The  melancholy 
cries  of  famine,"  says  a  British  officer  upon  the  spot,  "  are  more  easily  imagined 
than  described."  Thus,  through  the  greater  part  of  1782,  severity  followed 
severity,  and  sum  was  exacted  after  sum.  The  ministers  were  not  set  free, 
nor  the  princesses  relieved  from  duresse  until  after  there  had  been  obtained 
from  them  treasure  exceeding  in  amount  one  million  sterling.  Notwithstand- 

ing all  their  pleas  of  poverty  —  pleas  perfectly  justifiable  in  the  face  of  such 
oppression  —  there  was  still  remaining  in  their  hands  property  to  the  value 
of  at  least  one  million  more. 

Certainly,  in  one  respect  at  least,  Hastings  may  deserve  to  be  far  distin- 
guished above  the  long  line  of  robbers  —  magistrates  of  story  —  from  Verres 

the  praetor  down  to  Monaien  Rapinat.  He  plundered  for  the  benefit  of  the 
state,  and  not  his  own.  His  main  thought  was  that  he  had  a  great  empire  to 
save  —  and  he  did  save  it.  Yet  with  all  due  appreciation  of  his  object,  and 
with  all  due  allowance  for  his  difficulties,  his  conduct  to  the  princesses  of 
Oudh  appears  incapable  of  any  valid  vindication,  and  alike  repugnant  to  the 
principles  of  justice  and  humanity."  Hastings  appears  to  have  been  not 
altogether  satisfied  with  the  incidents  of  this  expedition,  and  to  have  antici- 

pated the  censure  which  it  received  in  England.  As  a  measure  of  precaution 
he  procured  documentary  evidence  of  the  rebellious  intentions  of  the  rajah  and 
the  begums  to  the  validity  of  which  Impey  obligingly  lent  his  extra-judicial sanction. 

The  remainder  of  Hastings'  term  in  office  in  India  was  passed  in  compara- 
tive tranquillity,  both  from  internal  opposition  and  foreign  war.  The  centre 

of  interest  now  shifts  to  the  India  House  and  to  the  British  parliament.  The 
long  struggle  between  the  company  and  the  ministers  of  the  crown  for  the 
supreme  control  of  Indian  affairs  and  the  attendant  patronage  had  reached 

its  climax.  The  decisive  success  of  Hastings'  administration  alone  postponed 
the  inevitable  solution.  His  original  term  of  five  years  would  have  expired 
in  1778;  but  it  was  annually  prolonged  by  special  act  of  parliament  until  his 
voluntary  resignation.  Though  Hastings  was  thus  irremovable,  his  policy 
did  not  escape  censure.  Ministers  were  naturally  anxious  to  obtain  the  rever- 

sion to  his  vacant  post,  and  Indian  affairs  formed  at  this  time  the  hinge  on 
which  party  politics  turned  On  one  occasion  Dundas  carried  a  motion  in 
the  house  of  commons  censuring  Hastings,  and  demanding  his  recall.  The 
directors  of  the  company  were  disposed  to  act  upon  this  resolution;  but  in 
the  court  of  proprietors,  with  whom  the  decision  ultimately  lay,  Hastings 
always  possessed  a  sufficient  majority.^ 

WAR  WITH  THE   DUTCH  AND   FRENCH   (1781-1783  A.D.) 

Thus  was  Hastings  upheld  at  his  post;  thus  might  his  energies  still  main- 
tain the  varying  fortunes  of  the  war  in  the  Carnatic.    To  that  war  he  con- 
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tinued  to  apply  most  strenuously  all  the  men  and  all  the  money  he  could 
raise.  His  public-spirited  endeavours  were  well  seconded  by  those  of  the 
new  governor  of  Fort  St.  George,  Lord  Macartney,  who  had  gained  some  repu- 

tation by  negotiating  a  treaty  of  commerce  with  Russia,  and  who  mainly  on 
that  ground  had  been  appointed  to  Madras.  Lord  Macartney  brought  out 
from  England  the  news  of  the  declaration  of  war  against  the  Dutch;  and  it 
became  one  of  his  first  objects  to  reduce  the  settlements  which  they  possessed 
on  the  coasts  of  Coromandel  and  Ceylon.  He  was  successful  with  regard  to 
the  Dutch  factories  at  Sadras  and  Pulicat.  Next  he  fitted  out  a  more  con- 

siderable expedition  against  the  more  important  settlement  of  Negapatam. 
In  November,  1781,  Negapatam  was  accordingly  besieged  and  taken, 

several  thousand  Dutch  troops,  after  a  resolute  resistance,  being  made  pris- 
oners on  this  occasion.  Inspirited  by  that  exploit,  a  body  of  five  hundred 

men  was  put  on  board  the  fleet,  and  sent  to  the  attack  of  Fort  Ostenburg  and 
Trincomalee,  in  the  island  of  Ceylon.  This  service,  also,  was  no  less  suc- 

cessfully performed,  but  was  much  more  than  counterbalanced  by  the  disaster 
which,  in  February,  1782,  befell  another  British  detachment  in  the  district  of 
Tanjore.  There  Colonel  Braithwaite,  at  the  head  of  one  hundred  Europeans 
and  eighteen  hundred  sepoys,  found  himself  surrounded  and  surprised  by  an 

army  of  Mysore,  under  Hyder's  son  Tipu  and  M.  Lally.  He  and  his  men 
fought  most  bravely,  but  at  last  were  overpowered  by  superior  numbers;  and 
all  either  cut  to  pieces  or  taken  captive  and  consigned  to  the  dimgeons  of 
Seringapatam. 

In  the  same  month  of  February,  1782,  the  armament  from  France,  so  long 
expected,  appeared  off  the  coast  of  Coromandel.  Its  command  had  devolved 
on  Sidfren,  one  of  the  best  seamen  whom  his  country  can  boast.  Already, 
on  his  outward  voyage,  he  had  fought  a  pitched  battle  with  an  English  squad- 

ron at  Porto  Praya,  in  one  of  the  Cape  Verd  islands.  By  his  prompt 
arrival  at  the  Cape  of  Good  Hope,  he  had  secured  that  colony  against  the 
same  squadron  for  his  new  allies  the  Dutch.  In  India  it  was  one  of  his  first 
cares  to  land  at  Porto  Novo  two  thousand  French  soldiers  whom  he  had  on 
board,  to  form,  with  their  countrymen  already  serving,  an  auxiliary  force 
to  the  armies  of  Mysore.  These  troops  being  joined  by  Tipu,  flushed  as  he 
was  then  with  his  triumph  over  Colonel  Braithwaite,  they  proceeded  in  con- 

junction to  invest  Cuddalore,  a  seaport  town  between  Porto  Novo  and  Pon- 
dicherry.  Having  to  encounter  only  a  feeble  garrison  of  four  hundred  men, 
they  easily  prevailed  in  their  attack;  and  Cuddalore,  thus  wrested  from 
the  English,  became  of  great  importance  to  the  French,  both  as  a  place  of 
arms  and  as  a  harbour,  during  the  whole  remainder  of  the  war. 

It  so  chanced  that  at  the  very  time  when  the  armament  from  France 
appeared  in  the  Indian  seas,  the  British  fleet  in  that  quarter  was  seasonably 
reinforced  by  several  new  ships  from  England.  De  Suffren  and  Sir  Edward 
Hughes,  the  two  admirals  here  opposed  to  each  other,  were  antagonists  well 
matched  both  for  skill  and  intrepidity.  In  the  period  between  February, 
1782,  and  June,  1783,  no  less  than  five  pitched  battles  were  fought  between 
them.  In  these  their  force  was  very  nearly  equal,  with  only  a  slight  superi- 

ority on  most  occasions  on  the  side  of  the  French.  But  in  none  of  these  was 
any  decisive  advantage  gained  by  either  party.  No  ship  of  war  was  captured ; 

no  overwhehning  loss  of  men  was  achieved;  and,  in  txu-ning  to  the  best  account 
the  results  of  every  action,  Suffren  showed  a  far  superior  skill,  especially  m 
retaking  Trincomalee  and  relieving  Cuddalore. 

The  arrival  of  the  French  auxiliaries  to  the  forces  of  Mysore  was,  in  a  great 

measure,  counterbalanced  by  the  peace  which  at  this  time  Hastings  con- 
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eluded  with  the  Mahratta  estates.  Thus,  the  English  could  continue  to  wage, 
on  no  unequal  terms,  the  war  in  the  Carnatic  until,  in  December,  1782,  it 
received  a  new  turn  from  the  illness  and  death  of  Hyder  Ali.  This  event  was 
concealed  as  long  as  possible,  to  afford  time  fqr  Tipu,  who  was  then  upon  the 
coast  of  Malabar,  to  return  and  claim  in  person  the  allegiance  of  the  people 
and  the  troops.  But  when  the  intelligence  did  at  last  reach  Calcutta,  it  fired 
anew  the  energies  of  Sir  Eyre  Coote.  Weak  health  had  compelled  the  failing 
veteran,  after  one  more  battle  with  Hyder  at  Arnee,  to  withdraw  from  the 
field  in  the  Carnatic,  and  sail  back  to  his  council-chambers  of  Bengal.  Now, 
however,  he  felt,  or  he  fancied,  his  strength  in  some  degree  restored;  and  he 
was  eager  to  measure  swords  against  the  new  sultan.  For  this  purpose  he 
embarked  in  an  armed  vessel  which  carried  out  supplies  of  money  to  Madras. 
This,  towards  the  close  of  its  voyage,  was  chased  for  two  days  and  two  nights 

by  some  French  ships  of  the  line.  During  all  this  time  the  general's  anxiety kept  him  constantly  on  deck.  The  excessive  heat  by  day,  the  unwholesome 
dews  at  night,  wrought  sad  havoc  on  his  already  wasted  frame;  and  thus, 
although  the  ship  escaped  from  its  pursuers,  Sir  Eyre  Cc  ̂ te  expired  in  April, 
1783,  only  two  days  after  he  had  landed  at  Madras. 

Tipu  during  this  time  had  returned  to  the  coast  of  Malabar.  There  he 
had  to  wage  war  against  General  Mathews  and  a  body  of  troops  from  Bombay 
set  free  by  the  peace  with  the  Mahrattas.  The  English  general  at  first  had 
great  successes,  reducing  both  Bednur  and  Mangalore.  But  the  appearance 
of  the  sultan  at  the  head  of  fifty  thousand  men  changed  the  scene.  Mathews 
was  besieged  in  Bednur  and  taken  prisoner  with  all  his  Europeans.  Being 
accused,  though  unjustly,  of  a  breach  of  faith,  he  was  put  in  irons,  and  sent 
in  the  strictest  duresse  with  many  of  his  comrades  to  Seringapatam,  there 
to  perish  in  the  dungeons  of  the  tyrant. 

At  Madras  the  command  of  the  forces,  in  the  absence  of  Sir  Eyre,  had 
devolved,  though  far  less  adequately,  on  General  Stuart.  That  officer,  in 
the  spring  of  1783,  commenced  operations  against  the  French  in  Cuddalore, 
who  had  lately  received  from  Europe  some  considerable  reinforcements  under 
De  Bussy.  The  lines  in  front  of  the  town,  which  Bussy  had  well  fortified, 
were  assailed  by  Stuart  with  more  of  intrepidity  than  skill.  The  fleets  on 
both  sides  hastened  to  the  scene  of  action;  but  suddenly  at  the  close  of  June 
the  tidings  came  that  the  preliminaries  of  peace  between  France  and  England 
had  been  signed  at  Versailles.  By  that  compact,  Pondicherry  and  the  other 
settlements  of  France  in  India,  as  they  stood  before  the  war,  were  to  be 
restored.  The  French  took  possession  accordingly,  but,  on  the  other  hand, 
they  recalled  their  detachment  serving  under  Tipu  in  Malabar,  and  prepared 
to  sail  back  with  their  armament  to  France. 

Tipu  then  remained  alone.  He  had  set  his  heart  on  adding  lustre  to  his 
arms  by  reducing  in  person  the  stronghold  of  Mangalore,  but,  having  achieved 
that  object  in  the  autumn  of  1783,  he  was  no  longer  disinclined  to  treat 
with  the  English  upon  the  footing  of  a  mutual  restitution  of  all  conquests  made 
since  the  commencement  of  the  war.  Thus  was  peace  restored  through  all 
the  wide  extent  of  India,  and  thus  did  the  administration  of  Hastings,  which 
endured  until  the  spring  of  1785,  close,  after  all  its  storms,  with  scarce  a  cloud 
upon  its  sky.c 

THE  IMPEACHMENT  OF  WARREN  HASTINGS 

Francis  had  returned  to  Europe,  with  the  wound  inflicted  by  Hastings' 
pistol  fresh  on  his  body,  and  with  the  bitterest  feelings  of  animosity  rankling 
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in  his  heart.  He  had  made  the  acquaintance  of  Burke  before  he  went  to  the 
east;  he  corresponded  with  him  during  his  residence  at  Calcutta;  and  on 

his  return  he  had  full  possession  of  his  ear,  and  filled  Burke's  generous  and 
excitable  mind  with  false  and  horrible  tales  against  Hastings,  and  against  all 
who  had  supported  that  governor-general  in  his  struggle  with  Francis,  Claver- 
ing,  and  Monson.  From  the  moment  of  Francis'  arrival  in  England,  by  means 
of  pamphlets,  books  of  travels,  harangues  at  public  meetings,  private  dis- 

cussions, and  parliamentary  orations,  a  merciless  war  was  commenced  against 
the  great  man  who  was  saving,  and  who  in  the  end  did  both  save  and  enlarge 
the  Indian  Empire  of  Great  Britain.  It  was  soon  resolved  to  impeach  Hastings 
for  the  means  he  had  employed  to  effect  the  great  object. 

Hastings,  however,  was  not  recalled;  he  resigned.  The  last  two  years  of 
his  administration  in  India  formed  by  far  the  happiest  period  of  his  pubUc 
life.  The  peace  with  France,  which  paralyzed  the  most  powerful  of  the  native 
princes,  enabled  him  to  get  the  whole  country  into  a  state  of  tranquillity 
and  prosperity  which  had  not  been  known  for  many  ages.  It  also  enabled 
him  to  extend  the  British  influence  in  several  new  directions,  and  to  confirm 
it  in  others.  Having  completed  his  preparations,  he  embarked  on  the  8th 
of  February,  1785,  attended  by  demonstrations  that  certainly  did  not  mark 
him  out  as  a  tyrant  and  a  monster.  As  soon  as  it  was  pubhcly  known  that 
he  was  really  about  to  quit  the  government,  which  he  had  held  for  thirteen 
years,  numerous  addresses  were  got  up  and  presented  by  all  classes;  by 
military  officers,  by  the  civil  servants  of  the  company,  by  factors  and  traders, 
by  natives  as  well  as  Europeans. 

He  was  most  favourably  received  at  court;  but  his  enemies  did  not  leave 
him  long  tranquil.  Francis  had  obtained  a  seat  in  parliament,  ranging  him- 

self on  the  side  of  the  most  active  and  the  most  eloquent  opposition  party 
that  the  country  had  yet  seen,  and  through  Francis  and  his  too  credulous 
ally,  Burke,  the  prosecution  of  Hastings  was  made  a  party  question.  It  took 
some  time  and  trouble  to  convert  Charles  Fox,  but  at  last  that  statesman 
entered  into  the  crusade  against  the  governor-general  with  his  constitutional 
heat  and  impetuosity.  Sheridan,  Sir  Gilbert  Elliot,  Sir  John  Anstruther, 
Mr.  Windham,  Mr.,  afterwards  Earl  Grey,  and  all  the  great  whig  orators  either 
preceded  or  followed  Fox;  and  for  many  years  their  efforts  were  united  to 
effect  the  ruin  and  disgrace  of  Warren  Hastings,  who  was  no  orator,  who  had 
no  seat  in  parhament,  and  who  had  to  contend  with  nearly  every  possible 
disadvantage.  The  mere  outlines  of  the  proceedings  would  fill  a  volume  — 
they  lasted  altogether  more  than  ten  years;  and  without  details  still  more 
voluminous,  an  adequate  notion  could  not  be  conveyed  of  this  unprecedented 
persecution.  We  can  here  do  no  more  than  describe  the  scene  and  give  the 
results. 

On  the  4th  of  April,  Burke  charged  Warren  Hastings,  Esquire,  late  gov- 
ernor-general of  Bengal,  etc.,  with  sundry  high  crimes  and  misdemeanours, 

and  delivered  at  the  table  nine  of  his  articles  of  charge.  In  the  course  of 
the  following  week  he  presented  twelve  more  articles;  and  on  the  6th  of 

May  another  charge,  being  the  twenty-second,  was  added  to  the  long  and 
bewildering  list.  But  the  several  accusations  were  finally  confined  to  four 

heads:  The  oppression  and  final  expulsion  of  the  rajah  of  Benares;  the  mal- 
treatment and  robbery  of  the  begums  of  the  house  of  Oudh;  and  the  charges 

of  receiving  presents  and  conniving  at  unfair  contracts  and  extravagant 
expenditure.  The  sessions  of  1786-1787  having  been  consumed  in  preliminary 
proceedings,  the  house  of  lords  assembled  in  Westminster  Hall,  February 
13th,  1788,  to  try  the  impeachment.  9 
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MACATJLAy'S  PICTUEE  of  the  TRUIi 

There  have  been  spectacles  more  dazzling  to  the  eye,  more  gorgeous  with 
jewellery  and  cloth  of  gold,  more  attractive  to  grown-up  children,  than  that 
which  was  then  exhibited  at  Westminster;  but,  perhaps,  there  never  was  a 
spectacle  so  well  calculated  to  strike  a  highly  cultivated,  a  reflecting,  an 
imaginative  mind.  All  the  various  kinds  of  interest  which  belong  to  the 
near  and  to  the  distant,  to  the  present  and  to  the  past,  were  collected  pn  one 
spot  and  in  one  hour.  All  the  talents  and  all  the  accomplishments  which  are 
developed  by  liberty  and  civilisation  were  now  displayed,  with  every  advan- 

tage that  could  be  derived  both  from  co-operation  and  from  contrast.  Every 
step  in  the  proceedings  carried  the  mind  either  backward,  through  many 
troubled  centuries,  to  the  days  when  the  foundations  of  the  British  constitu- 

tion were  laid;  or  far  away,  over  boundless  seas  and  deserts,  to  dusky  nations 
living  under  strange  stars,  worshipping  strange  gods,  and  writing  strange 
characters  from  right  to  left.  The  high  court  of  parliament  was  to  sit,  accord- 

ing to  forms  handed  down  from  the  days  of  the  Plantagenets,  on  an  English- 
man accused  of  exercising  tyranny  over  the  lord  of  the  holy  city  of  Benares, 

and  over  the  ladies  of  the  princely  house  of  Oudh. 
The  place  was  worthy  of  such  a  trial.  It  was  the  great  hall  of  William 

Rufus,  the  hall  which  had  resounded  with  acclamations  at  the  inauguration 
of  thirty  kings,  the  hall  which  had  witnessed  the  just  sentence  of  Bacon  and 
the  just  absolution  of  Somers,  the  hall  where  the  eloquence  of  Strafford  had 
for  a  moment  awed  and  melted  a  victorious  party  inflamed  with  just  resent- 

ment, the  hall  where  Charles  had  confronted  the  high  court  of  justice  with  the 
placid  courage  which  has  half  redeemed  his  fame.  Neither  military  nor  civil 
pomp  was  wanting.  The  avenues  were  lined  with  grenadiers.  The  streets 
were  kept  clear  by  cavalry.  The  peers,  robed  in  gold  and  ermine,  were 
marshalled  by  the  heralds  under  garter  king-at-arms.  The  judges  in  their 
vestments  of  state  attended  to  give  advice  on  points  of  law.  Near  a  himdred 
and  seventy  lords,  three-fourths  of  the  upper  house  as  the  upper  house  then 
was,  walked  in  solemn  order  from  their  usual  place  of  assembling  to  the 
tribunal.  The  junior  baron  present  led  the  way,  George  Eliott,  Lord  Heath- 
field,  recently  ennobled  for  his  memorable  defence  of  Gibraltar  against  the 
fleets  and  armies  of  France  and  Spain.  The  long  procession  was  closed  by 
the  duke  of  Norfolk,  earl  marshal  of  the  realm,  by  the  great  dignitaries,  and 
by  the  brothers  and  sons  of  the  king.  Last  of  all  came  the  prince  of  Wales, 
conspicuous  by  his  fine  person  and  noble  bearing. 

The  grey  old  walls  were  hung  with  scarlet.  The  long  galleries  were 
crowded  by  an  audience  such  as  has  rarely  excited  the  fears  or  the  emulation 
of  an  orator.  There  were  gathered  together,  from  all  parts  of  a  great,  free, 
enlightened,  and  prosperous  empire,  grace  and  female  loveliness,  wit  and 
learning,  the  representatives  of  every  science  and  of  every  art.  There  were 
seated  roimd  the  queen  the  fair-haired  young  daughters  of  the  house  of  Bruns- 

wick. There  the  ambassadors  of  great  kings  and  commonwealths  gazed  with 
admiration  on  a  spectacle  which  no  other  country  in  the  world  could  present. 
There  Siddons,  in  the  prime  of  her  majestic  beauty,  looked  with  emotion  on  a 
scene  surpassing  all  the  imitations  of  the  stage.  There  the  historian  of  the 
Roman  empire  thought  of  the  days  when  Cicero  pleaded  the  cause  of  Sicily 
against  Verres,  and  when,  before  a  senate  which  still  retained  some  show  of  free- 

dom, Tacitus  thundered  against  the  oppressor  of  Africa.  There  were  seen,  side 
by  side,  the  greatest  painter  and  the  greatest  scholar  of  the  age.  The  spectacle 
bad  allured  Reynolclg  from  tha,t  easel  which  has  preserved  tp  us  the  thoughtful 
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foreheads  of  so  many  -writers  and  statesmen,  and  the  sweet  smiles  of  so  many 
noble  matrons.  It  had  induced  Parr  to  suspend  his  labours  in  that  dark  and 
profound  mine  from  which  he  liad  extracted  a  vast  treasure  of  erudition,  a 
treasure  too  often  buried  in  the  earth,  too  often  paraded  with  injudicious  and 
inelegant  ostentation,  but  still  precious,  massive,  and  splendid.  There 
appeared  the  voluptuous  charms  of  her  to  whom  the  heir  of  the  throne  had  in 
secret  plighted  his  faith.  There  too  was  she,  the  beautiful  mother  of  a  beau- 

tiful race,  the  Saint  Cecilia,  whose  delicate  features,  lighted  up  by  love  and 
music,  art  has  rescued  from  the  common  decay.  There  were  the  members 
of  that  brilliant  society  which  quoted,  criticised,  and  exchanged  repartees, 
under  the  rich  peacock  hangings  of  Mrs.  Montague.  And  there  the  ladies 
whose  lips,  more  persuasive  than  those  of  Fox  himself,  had  carried  the  West- 

minster election  against  palace  and  treasury,  shone  roimd  Georgiana,  Duchess 
of  Devonshire. 

The  sergeants  made  proclamation.  Hastings  advanced  to  the  bar,  and 
bent  his  knee.  The  culprit  was  indeed  not  unworthy  of  that  great  presence. 
He  had  ruled  an  extensive  and  populous  country;  had  made  laws  and  treat- 

ies, had  sent  forth  armies,  had  set  up  and  pulled  down  princes.  And  in  his 
high  place  he  had  so  borne  himself,  that  all  had  feared  him,  that  most  had 
loved  him,  and  that  hatred  itself  could  deny  him  no  title  to  glory,  except 
virtue.  He  looked  like  a  great  man,  and  not  like  a  bad  man.  A  person  small 
and  emaciated,  yet  deriving  dignity  from  a  carriage  which,  while  it  indicated 
deference  to  the  court,  indicated  also  habitual  self-possession  and  self-respect; 
a  high  and  intellectual  forehead;  a  brow  pensive,  but  not  gloomy;  a  mouth 
of  inflexible  decision;  a  face  pale  and  worn,  but  serene,  on  which  was  written, 
as  legibly  as  under  the  picture  in  the  council-chamber  at  Calcutta,  Mens  cequa 
in  arduis;  such  was  the  aspect  with  which  the  great  proconsul  presented  him- 

self to  his  judges. 
But  neither  the  culprit  nor  his  advocates  attracted  so  much  notice  as  the 

accusers.  In  the  midst  of  the  blaze  of  red  drapery,  a  space  had  been  fitted  up 
with  green  benches  and  tables  for  the  commons.  The  managers,  with  Burke 
at  their  head,  appeared  in  full  dress.  The  collectors  of  gossip  did  not  fail  to 
remark  that  even  Fox,  generally  so  regardless  of  his  appearance,  had  paid  to 
the  illustrious  tribunal  the  compliment  of  wearing  a  bag  and  sword.  Pitt  had 
refused  to  be  one  of  the  conductors  of  the  impeachment;  and  his  commanding, 
copious,  and  sonorous  eloquence  was  wanting  to  that  great  muster  of  various 
talents.  Age  and  blindness  had  unfitted  Lord  North  for  the  duties  of  a  public 
prosecutor;  and  his  friends  were  left  without  the  help  of  his  excellent  sense, 
his  tact,  and  his  urbanity.  But,  in  spite  of  the  absence  of  these  two  distin- 

guished members  of  the  lower. house,  the  box  in  which  the  managers  stood 
contained  an  array  of  speakers  such  as  perhaps  had  not  appeared  together 
since  the  great  age  of  Athenian  eloquence.  There  were  Fox  and  Sheridan, 
the  English  Demosthenes  and  the  English  Hyperides.  There  was  Burke, 
ignorant,  indeed,  or  negligent  of  the  art  of  adapting  his  reasonings  and  his 
style  to  the  capacity  and  taste  of  his  hearers,  but  in  amplitude  of  compre- 

hension and  richness  of  imagination  superior  to  every  orator,  ancient  or 
modern.  There,  with  eyes  reverentially  fixed  on  Burke,  appeared  the  finest 
gentleman  of  the  age,  his  form  developed  by  every  manly  exercise,  his  face 

beaming  with  intelligence  and  spirit,  the  ingenious,  the  chivalrous,  the  high- souled  Windham. 
On  the  third  day  Burke  rose;  four  sittings  were  occupied  by  his  opening 

speech,  which  was  intended  to  be  a  general  introduction  to  all  the  chaises. 
With  an  exuberance  of  thought  and  a  splendour  of  diction  which  more  than 
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satisfied  the  highly  raised  expectation  of  the  audience,  he  described  the  char- 
acter and  institutions  of  the  natives  of  India,  recounted  the  circumstances  in 

which  the  Asiatic  empire  of  Britain  had  originated,  and  set  forth  the  constitu- 
tion of  the  company  and  of  the  English  presidencies.  Having  thus  attempted 

to  conmumicate  to  his  hearers  an  idea  of  eastern  society,  as  vivid  as  that 
which  existed  in  his  own  mind,  he  proceeded  to  arraign  the  administration  of 
Hastings  as  systematically  conducted  in  defiance  of  morality  and  public  law. 
The  energy  and  pathos  of  the  great  orator  extorted  expressions  of  unwonted 
admiration  from  the  stem  and  hostile  chancellor,  and,  for  a  moment,  seemed 
to  pierce  even  the  resolute  heart  of  the  defendant.  The  ladies  in  the  galleries, 
unaccustomed  to  such  displays  of  eloquence,  excited  by  the  solemnity  of  the 
occasion,  and  perhaps  not  unwilling  to  display  their  taste  and  sensibility, 
were  in  a  state  of  uncontrollable  emotion.  Handkerchiefs  were  pulled  out; 
smelling  bottles  were  handed  round;  hysterical  sobs  and  screams  were  heard: 
and  Mrs.  Sheridan  was  carried  out  in  a  fit.  At  length  the  orator  concluded. 
Raising  his  voice  till  the  old  arches  of  Irish  oak  resounded: 

"Therefore,"  said  he,  "hath  it  with  all  confidence  been  ordered,  by  the 
commons  of  Great  Britain,  that  I  impeach  Warren  Hastings  of  high  crimes  and 
misdemeanours.  I  impeach  him  in  the  name  of  the  commons'  house  of  parlia- 

ment, whose  trust  he  has  betrayed.  I  impeach  him  in  the  name  of  the  Eng- 
lish nation,  whose  ancient  honour  he  has  sullied.  I  impeach  him  in  the  name 

of  the  people  of  India,  whose  rights  he  has  trodden  tmder  foot,  and  whose 
country  he  has  turned  into  a  desert.  Lastly,  in  the  name  of  human  nature 
itself,  in  the  name  of  both  sexes,  in  the  name  of  every  age,  in  the  name  of  every 

rank,  I  impeach  the  common  enemy  and  oppressor  of  all!" 
When  the  deep  murmur  of  various  emotions  had  subsided,  Mr.  Fox  rose  to 

address  the  lords  respecting  the  course  of  proceeding  to  be  followed.  The 
wish  of  the  accusers  was  that  the  court  would  bring  to  a  close  the  investigation 
of  the  first  charge  before  the  second  was  opened.  The  wish  of  Hastings  and 
of  his  counsel  was  that  the  managers  should  open  all  the  charges,  and  produce 
all  the  evidence  for  the  prosecution,  before  the  defence  began.  The  lords 
retired  to  their  own  house  to  consider  the  question.  The  chancellor  took 
the  side  of  Hastings.  Lord  Loughborough,  who  was  now  in  opposition,  sup- 

ported the  demand  of  the  managers.  The  division  showed  which  way  the 
inclination  of  the  tribunal  leaned.  A  majority  of  near  three  to  one  decided  in 
favour  of  the  course  for  which  Hastings  contended. 

When  the  court  sat  again,  Mr.  Fox,  assisted  by  Mr.  Grey,  opened  the  charge 
respecting  Cheyte  Sing,  and  several  days  were  spent  in  reading  papers  and 
hearing  witnesses.  The  next  article  was  that  relating  to  the  princesses  of 
Oudh.  The  conduct  of  this  part  of  the  case  was  entrusted  to  Sheridan.  The 
ctu-iosity  of  the  public  to  hear  him  was  unbounded.  His  sparkling  and  highly 
finished  declamation  lasted  two  days;  but  the  hall  was  crowded  to  sufPocation 
during  the  whole  time.  It  was  said  that  fifty  guineas  had  been  paid  for  a 
single  ticket.  Sheridan  when  he  concluded  contrived,  with  a  knowledge  of 
stage  effect  which  his  father  might  have  envied,  to  sink  back,  as  if  exhausted, 
into  the  arms  of  Burke,  who  hugged  him  with  the  energy  of  generous  admira- 
tion. 

June  was  now  far  advanced.  The  session  could  not  last  much  longer; 
and  the  progress  which  had  been  made  in  the  impeachment  was  not  very 
satisfactory.  There  were  twenty  charges.  On  two  only  of  these  had  even 
the  case  for  the  prosecution  been  heard;  and  it  was  now  a  year  since  Hastings 
had  been  admitted  to  bail. 

The  interest  taken  by  the  public  in  the  trial  was  great  when  the  court 
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began  to  sit,  and  rose  to  the  height  when  Sheridan  spoke  on  the  charge  relating 
to  the  begums:  From  that  time  the  excitement  went  down  fast.  The 
spectacle  had  lost  the  attraction  of  novelty.  The  great  displays  of  rhetoric 
were  over.  What  was  behind  was  not  of  a  nature  to  entice  men  of  letters  from 
their  books  in  the  morning,  or  to  tempt  ladies  who  had  left  the  masquerade 
at  two  to  be  out  of  bed  before  eight.  There  remained  examinations  and 
cross-examinations.  There  remained  statements  of  accounts.  There  re- 

mained the  reading  of  papers,  filled  with  words  unintelligible  to  English  ears, 
with  lacs  and  crores,  zemindars  and  aumils,  sunnvds  and  penoannahs,  jaghires 
and  nuzzurs.  There  remained  bickerings,  not  always  carried  on  with  the 
best  taste  or  with  the  best  temper,  between  the  managers  of  the  impeach- 

ment and  the  counsel  for  the  defence,  particularly  between  Mr.  Burke  and 
Mr.  Law.  There  remained  the  endless  marches  and  countermarches  of  the 
peers  between  their  house  and  the  hall;  for  as  often  as  a  point  of  law  was  to 
be  discussed,  their  lordships  retired  to  discuss  it  apart;  and  the  consequence 
was,  as  a  peer  wittily  said,  that  the  judges  walked  and  the  trial  stood  still.' 

THE   FINAL  ACQUITJTAL   OF  HASTINGS    (1795   A.D.) 

The  sessions  of  1788,  1789,  and  1790  were  consumed  in  going  through  the 
case  for  the  prosecution.  In  1791  the  commons  expressed  their  willingness 
to  abandon  some  part  of  the  charges,  with  the  view  of  bringing  this  extra- 

ordinary trial  sooner  to  an  end;  and  on  the  2nd  of  June,  the  seventy-third 
day,  Mr.  Hastings  began  his  defence.  This  was  protracted  xmtil  April  17th, 
1795,  on  which  (the  one  hundred  and  forty-eighth)  day  he  was  acquitted  by  a 
large  majority  on  every  separate  article  charged  against  him. 

The  opposition  party,  who  at  that  time  almost  monopolised  the  public 
press,  had  deeply  blackened  the  character  of  the  benefactor  of  his  country 
and  the  people  of  India;  yet  public  opinion  changed  greatly  during  the  long 
trial,  and  Hastings  came  to  be  regarded  as  an  oppressed,  instead  of  an 
offending  man.  The  malice  of  Francis  was  so  far  defeated;  but  the  law 
charges  of  the  defence  had  exhausted  the  fortune  of  the  late  governor-general; 
and  but  for  an  annuity  of  £4,000,  and  a  loan  of  ready  money  granted  to  him  by 
the  East  India  Company,  in  1796,  the  illustrious  and  (in  private  life)  amiable 
Hastings  might  have  been  left  to  end  his  days  in  a  prison  or  a  poorhouse. 

Strenuous  efforts  had  also  been  made  by  the  parliamentary  opposition  to 
couple  Sir  Elijah  Impey,  the  first  chief-justice  of  Bengal,  with  the  first  gov- 

ernor-general. Prompted  by  Francis,  and  acting  in  concert  with  Burke,  Fox, 
and  the  rest  of  the  opposition  leaders,  Sir  Gilbert  Elliot,  on  the  12th  of  Decem- 

ber, 1787,  denounced  Sir  Elijah,  in  the  house  of  commons,  as  the  single  sole 
murderer  of  Nandkumar,  and  moved  his  impeachment  upon  that  and  upon 
five  other  charges.  But  on  the  9th  of  May,  Sir  Elijah  was  acquitted  of  the 
Nandktimar  charge  by  a  parliament  majority,  and  this  put  an  end  to  all 
proceedings  against  him.? 

Macaulay's  Estimate  of  Hastings 

As  Hastings  himseK  said,  the  arraignment  had  taken  place  before  one 
generation,  and  the  judgment  was  pronotmced  by  another.  Of  about  one 
hundred  and  sixty  nobles  who  walked  in  the  procession  on  the  first  day,  sixty 
had  been  laid  in  their  family  vaults.  Still  more  affecting  must  have  been 

the  sight  of  the  managers'  box.    It  had  been  scattered  by  calamities  more 
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bitter  than  the  bitterness  of  death.  The  great  chiefs  were  still  living.  But 
their  friendship  was  at  an  end. 

Hastings  was  a  ruined  man.  The  legal  expenses  of  his  defence  had  been 

enormous.  The  expenses  which  did  not  appear  in  his  attorney's  bill  were 
perhaps  larger  still.  Great  sums  had  been  paid  to  Major  Scott.  Great  sums 
had  been  laid  out  in  bribing  newspapers,  rewarding  pamphleteers,  and  circu- 

lating tracts.  Burke,  so  early  as  1790,  declared  in  the  house  of  commons  that 
twenty  thousand  poimds  had  been  employed  in  corrupting  the  press.  It  is 
certain  that  no  controversial  weapon,  from  the  gravest  reasoning  to  the  coarsest 
ribaldry,  was  left  unemployed.  Logan  defended  the  accused  governor  with 
great  ability  in  prose.  For  the  lovers  of  verse  the  speeches  of  the  managers 

were  burlesqued  in  Simpkin's  letters.  It  is,  we  are  afraid,  indisputable  that 
Hastings  stooped  so  low  as  to  court  the  aid  of  that  malignant  and  filthy  baboon 
John  Williams,  who  caUed  himself  Anthony  Pasquin.  It  was  necessary  to 
subsidise  such  allies  largely.  The  private  hoards  of  Mrs.  Hastings  had  dis- 

appeared. It  is  said  that  the  banker  to  whom  they  had  been  entrusted  had 
failed.  Still  if  Hastings  had  practised  strict  economy,  he  would  after  all  his 
losses  have  had  a  moderate  competence;  but  in  the  management  of  his  private 
affairs  he  was  imprudent.  The  dearest  wish  of  his  heart  had  always  been  to 
regain  Daylesford.  At  length,  in  the  very  year  in  which  his  trial  commenced, 
the  wish  was  accomplished;  and  the  domain,  alienated  more  than  seventy 
years  before,  returned  to  the  descendants  of  its  old  lords.  But  the  manor 
house  was  a  ruin;  and  the  grounds  round  it  had  during  many  years  been  utterly 
neglected.  Hastings  proceeded  to  build,  to  plant,  to  form  a  sheet  of  water, 
to  excavate  a  grotto;  and,  before  he  was  dismissed  from  the  bar  of  the  house 
of  lords,  he  had  expended  more  than  forty  thousand  pounds  in  adorning  his  seat. 

On  a  general  review  of  the  long  administration  of  Hastings,  it  is  impossible 
to  deny  that,  against  the  great  crimes  by  which  it  is  blemished,  we  have  to  set 
off  great  public  services.  England  had  passed  through  a  perilous  crisis. 
Nevertheless,  in  every  part  of  the  world,  except  one,  she  had  been  a  loser. 
Not  only  had  she  been  compelled  to  acknowledge  the  independence  of  thirteen 
colonies  peopled  by  her  children,  and  to  conciliate  the  Irish  by  giving  up  the 
right  of  legislating  for  them;  but,  in  the  Mediterranean,  in  the  Gulf  of  Mexico, 
on  the  coast  of  Africa,  on  the  continent  of  America,  she  had  been  compelled  to 
cede  the  fruits  of  her  victories  in  former  wars.  Spain  regained  Minorca  and 
Florida;  France  regained  Senegal,  Goree,  and  several  West  Indian  islands. 
The  only  quarter  of  the  world  in  which  Britain  had  lost  nothing  was  the 
quarter  in  which  her  interests  had  been  committed  to  the  care  of  Hastings. 
In  spite  of  the  utmost  exertions  both  of  European  and  Asiatic  enemies,  the 
power  of  our  country  in  the  East  had  been  greatly  augmented.  Benares  was 
subjected;  the  nawab  vizir  reduced  to  vassalage.  That  our  influence  had 
been  thus  extended,  nay,  that  Fort  William  and  Fort  St.  George  had  not  been 
occupied  by  hostile  armies,  was  owing,  if  we  may  trust  the  general  voice  of  the 
English  in  India,  to  the  skill  and  resolution  of  Hastings. 

His  internal  administration,  with  all  its  blemishes,  gives  him  a  title  to  be 
considered  aa  one  of  the  most  remarkable  men  in  our  history.  He  dissolved 
the  double  government.  He.  transferred  the  direction  of  affairs  to  English 
hands.  Out  of  a  frightful  anarchy,  he  educed  at  least  a  rude  and  imperfect 
order.  The  whole  organisation  by  which  justice  was  dispensed,  revenue  col- 

lected, peace  maintained  throughout  a  territory  not  inferior  in  population  to 
the  dominions  of  Louis  XVI  or  of  the  emperor  Joseph,  was  formed  and  super- 

intended by  him.  He  boasted  that  every  public  office,  which  existed  when  he 
left  Bengal,  without  exception,  was  his  creation.' 
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Sir  A.  Lyall  on  Warren  Hastings 

Hastings  carried  the  government  of  India  safely  through  one  of  the  sharp- 
est crises  in  our  national  history,  when  our  transmarine  possessions  were  in 

great  peril  all  over  the  world,  because  all  the  naval  powers  of  Europe  were 
banded  against  us.  In  America,  the  insurgents  after  an  arduous  struggle 
tore  down  the  British  flag;  in  India  the  end  of  a  long  and  exhausting  contest 
found  our  flag  not  only  flying  but  still  more  firmly  planted  than  ever;  nor 
had  either  the  vindictive  hostility  of  Mysore,  or  the  indefatigable  activity 
of  the  Mahrattas,  succeeded  in  wresting  an  acre  of  British  territory  from  the 
grasp  of  Warren  Hastings.* 

PITT  REFORMS  THE   ADMINISTRATION    (1784   A.D.) 

When  Mr.  Fox  succeeded  to  the  head  of  affairs  in  1783,  all  parties  were 
already  prepared  for  a  great  and  important  change  in  the  government  of 

Great  Britain's  eastern  empire.  But  the  scheme  of  that  able  and  ambitious 
statesman  far  outstripped  either  the  reason  or  necessity  of  the  case.  He 
proposed  —  in  his  famous  India  Bill,  which  convulsed  the  nation  from  end  to 
end,  and  in  its  ultimate  results  occasioned  the  downfall  of  his  administration 

—  to  vest  the  exclusive  right  of  governing  India  in  seven  directors,  "  to  be 
named  in  the  act,"  that  is,  appointed  by  the  legislature  under  the  direction 
of  the  ministry  for  the  time.  The  vacancies  in  these  commissioners  were  to 
be  filled  up  by  the  house  of  commons  under  the  same  direction.  But  this 
important  iimovation  was  defeated,  after  it  had  passed  the  lower  house,  by  a 
small  majority  of  nineteen  in  the  house  of  peers,  and  this  defeat  was  immedi- 

ately followed  by  the  dismissal  of  Mr.  Fox  and  his  whole  administration. 

Although,  however,  Mr.  Fox's  India  Bill  was  rejected,  yet  the  numerous 
abuses  of  Great  Britain's  Indian  dominions,  as  well  as  the  imminent  hazard 
which  they  had  run  during  the  war  with  Hyder  Ali,  from  the  want  of  a  firmly 
constituted  central  government,  were  too  fresh  in  the  public  recollection  to 
permit  the  existing  state  of  matters  to  continue.  Mr.  Pitt,  accordingly,  was 
no  sooner  installed  in  power,  than  be  brought  forward  an  India  Bill  of  his 
own,  which,  it  was  hoped,  would  prove  exempt  from  the  objections  to  which 
its  predecessor  had  been  liable,  and,  at  the  same  time,  remedy  the  serious  evils 
to  which  the  administration  of  affairs  in  India  had  hitherto  been  exposed. 
This  bill  passed  both  houses  (1784)  and  formed  the  basis  of  the  system  under 
which,  with  some  subsequent  but  inconsiderable  amendments,  the  affairs  of 
India  were  for  many  years  administered.  By  it  the  court  of  directors  ap- 

pointed by  the  East  India  Company  remained  as  before,  and  to  them  the 
general  administration  of  Indian  affairs  was  stiU  entrusted. 

The  great  change  introduced  was  the  institution  of  the  Board  of  Control, 
a  body  composed  of  six  members  of  the  privy  council,  chosen  by  the  king  — 
the  chancellor  of  the  exchequer  and  one  of  the  secretaries  of  state  being  two  — 
in  whom  the  power  of  directing  and  controlling  the  proceedings  of  the  Indian 
Empire  was  vested.  T^e  duties  of  this  board  were  very  loosely  defined,  and 
were  all  ultimately  centred  in  the  president,  an  officer  who  became  a  fourth 
secretary  of  state  for  the  Indian  Empire.  They  were  described  as  being 
"from  time  to  time  to  check,  superintend,  and  control  all  acts,  operations, 
and  concerns  which  in  anywise  relate  to  the  civil  or  military  government  or 

revenues  of  the  territories  and  possessions  of  the  East  India  Company." 
These  powers  were  ample  enough;  but  in  practice  they  led  to  little  more  than 
a  control  of  the  company  in  the  more  important  political  or  military  concerns 
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of  the  East,  leaving  the  directors  in  possession  of  the  practical  direction  of 
affairs  in  ordinary  cases.  All  vacancies  in  official  situations,  with  the  excep- 

tion of  the  offices  of  governor-general  of  India,  governors  of  Madras  and  Bom- 
bay, and  conunanders-in-chief,  which  were  to  be  filled  up  by  the  British  gov- 

ernment, were  left  at  the  disposal  of  the  East  India  directors.  A  most  import- 
ant provision  was  made  in  the  institution  of  a  secret  conamittee,  who  were  to 

send  to  India  in  duplicate  such  despatches  as  they  might  receive  from  the  board 
of  control,  and  in  the  establishment  of  the  supreme  government  of  Calcutta, 
with  a  controlling  power  over  the  other  presidencies  —  a  change  which  at 
once  introduced  unity  of  action  into  all  parts  of  the  peninsula. 

It  cannot  be  affirmed  that  this  anomalous  constitution  will  stand  the  test 
of  theoretical  examination,  or  is  confirmed  by  history  as  regards  other  states. 
Still  less  could  it  be  presumed  that  a  distribution  of  supreme  power  between 
a  governor-general  and  two  subordinate  governors  in  the  East,  and  a  board  of 
control  and  body  of  directors  in  the  British  Islands,  gave  any  fair  prospect 
either  of  unity  of  purpose  or  efficiency  of  action.  Nevertheless,  if  experience, 
the  great  test  of  truth,  be  consulted,  and  the  splendid  progress  of  the  Indian 
Empire  of  Great  Britain  since  it  was  directed  in  this  manner  be  alone  consid- 

ered, there  is  reason  to  hold  this  system  of  government  one  of  the  most  perfect 
that  ever  was  devised  by  human  wisdom  for  the  advancement  and  confirmar 
tion  of  political  greatness.  The  secret  of  this  apparent  anomaly  is  to  be  found 
in  the  fact,  that  this  division  of  power  existed  in  theory  only;  that  from  the 
great  distance  of  India  from  the  home  government,  and  the  pressing  interests 
which  so  frequently  called  for  immediate  decision,  the  supreme  direction  of 
affairs  practically  came  to  be  vested  in  the  governors-general;  and  that  in 
them  were  found  a  succession  of  great  men,  second  to  none  who  ever  appeared 
in  the  world  for  vigour  and  capacity,  and  who  vindicated  the  truth  of  the  say- 

ing of  Sallust,  that  it  is  in  the  strenuous  virtue  of  a  few  that  the  real  cause  of 
national  greatness  is  in  general  to  be  found. 

It  soon  appeared  how  much  the  vigoiu*  and  efficiency  of  the  Indian  admin- 
istration had  been  increased  by  the  important  changes  made  in  its  central 

government.  By  Mr.  Pitt's  India  Bill,  all  ideas  of  foreign  conquest  in  the 
East  had  been  studiously  repressed  —  it  having  been  declared,  that  "  to  pursue 
schemes  of  conquest  or  extension  of  dominion  in  India  are  measures  repug- 

nant to  the  wish,  the  honour,  and  the  policy  of  the  nation."  But  this  decla- 
ration, in  appearance  so  just  and  practicable,  was  widely  at  variance  with  the 

conduct  which  extraneous  events  shortly  after  forced  upon  the  British  gov- 
ernment. 

LORD   COENWALLIS  AS  GOVERNOR-GENERAL;    THd  WAR  WITH  TIPU 
(1786-1792  A.D.) 

In  order,  however,  to  carry  into  execution  the  pacific  views  of  ministers  at 
home,  a  nobleman  of  high  rank  and  character,  Lord  Cornwallis,  was  sent  out 
by  Mr.  Pitt,  who  united  in  his  person  the  two  offices  of  governor-general  and 
commander-in-chief,  so  as  to  give  the  greatest  possible  unity  to  the  action  of 
government  [1786].  No  sooner,  however,  had  he  arrived  there,  than  he  dis- 

covered that  Tipu  was  intriguing  with  the  other  native  powers  for  the  sub- 
version of  Great  Britain's  Indian  dominion;  and,  as  a  rupturo  with  France 

was  apprehended  at  that  juncture,  four  strong  regiments  were  despatched  to 
India.  As  the  company  complained  of  the  expense  which  this  additional  force 
entailed  upon  their  finances,  a  bill  was  brought  into  parliament  by  Mr.  Pitt, 

which  fixed  the  number  of  king's  troops  who  might  be  ordered  to  India  by 
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the  board  of  control,  at  the  expense  of  the  company,  at  eight  thousand, 
besides  twelve  thousand  European  forces  in  the  company's  service. 

The  wisdom  of  this  great  addition  to  the  native  European  force  in  India, 
as  well  as  the  increased  vigour  and  efficiency  of  the  supreme  government, 
speedily  appeared  in  the  next  war  that  broke  out.  Tipu,  whose  hostility  to 
the  English  was  well  known  to  be  inveterate,  and  who  had  long  been  watched 
with  jealous  eyes  by  the  Madras  presidency,  at  length  [1789]  commenced  an 
attack  upon  the  rajah  of  Travancore  —  a  prince  in  alliance  with  the  British, 
and  actually  supported  by  a  subsidiary  force  of  their  troops.  At  first,  from 
the  total  want  of  preparation  which  had  arisen  from  the  pacific  policy  so 
strongly  inculcated  upon  the  Indian  authorities  by  the  government  at  home, 
he  obtained  very  great  success,  and  totally  subdued  the  chief  against  whom 
he  had  commenced  hostilities. 

Perceiving  that  the  British  character  was  now  at  stake  in  the  peninsula, 
and  being  well  aware  that  a  power  founded  on  opinion  must  instantly  sink 
into  insignificance,  if  the  idea  gets  abroad  that  its  allies  may  be  insulted  with 
impunity,  Lord  Cornwallis  immediately  took  the  most  energetic  measures  to 
re-assert  the  honour  of  the  British  name.  Fifteen  thousand  men  were  col- 

lected in  the  Carnatic  under  General  Meadows,  while  eight  thousand  more 
were  to  ascend  the  Ghats  from  the  side  of  Bombay,  under  General  Aber- 
cromby.  Treaties  of  alliance  were  at  the  same  time  entered  into  with  the 
peshwa  and  the  nizam,  and  hostilities  commenced,  which  were  at  first  attended 
with  checkered  success  —  General  Meadows  having  taken  Karur  and  other 
towns,  and  Tipu  having  surprised  Colonel  Floyd,  and  burst  into  the  Carnatic, 
where  he  committed  the  most  dreadful  ravages. 

THE   CAMPAIGN   OF  SERINGAPATAM   (1791-1792  A.D.) 

The  energies  of  government,  however,  were  now  thoroughly  aroused.  In 
December,  1791,  Lord  Cornwallis  embarked  in  person  for  Madras:  the  Bengal 
sepoys  were  with  extreme  difficulty  reconciled  to  a  sea  voyage;  and  great 
reinforcements,  with  the  commander-in-chief,  were  safely  landed  in  the 
southern  presidency.  It  was  resolved  to  commence  operations  with  the  siege 
of  Bangalore,  one  of  the  strongest  fortresses  in  Mysore,  and  commanding  the 

most  eligible  pass  from  the  coast  to  the  centre  of  Tipu's  dominions.  In  the 
end  of  January  the  grand  army '  moved  forward;  the  important  pass  of  Coorg 
leading  up  the  Ghats,  was  occupied  within  a  month  after;  Bangalore  was 
invested  in  the  beginning  of  March  and  carried  by  assault  on  the  21st  of  that 
month. 

Encouraged  by  this  great  success,  Lord  Cornwallis  pushed  on  direct  to 
Seringapatam,  although  the  advanced  period  of  the  season,  and  scanty  sup- 

plies of  the  army,  rendered  it  a  service  of  considerable  peril,  which  was  in- 
creased rather  than  diminished  by  the  junction,  shortly  after,  of  ten  thousand 

of  the  nizam's  horse,  who,  without  rendering  any  service  to  the  army,  con- 
sumed every  particle  of  grass  and  forage  within  its  reach. 

Still  the  English  general  continued  to  press  forward,  and  at  length  reached 
the  fortified  position  of  the  enemy,  on  strong  ground,  about  six  miles  in  front 
of  Seringapatam.  An  attack  was  immediately  resolved  on;  but  Tipu,  who 
conducted  his  defence  with  great  skill,  did  not  await  the  formidable  onset  of 
the  assaulting  colunms,  and  after  infficting  a  severe  loss  on  the  assailants  by 
the  fire  of  his  artUlery,  withdrew  all  his  forces  within  the  works  of  the  fortress. 

[•  Lord  Cornwallis  led  the  British  army  in  person  with  a  pomp  and  lavishness  of  supplies 
that  recalled  the  campaigns  of  Aurangzeb. — Hitittkb.^] 
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The  English  were  now  within  sight  of  the  capital  of  Mysore,  and  decisive  suc- 
cess seemed  almost  within  their  reach.  They  were  in  no  condition,  however, 

to  undertake  the  siege.  Orders  were  therefore  given  to  retreat,  and  the  army 
retired  with  heavy  hearts  and  considerable  loss  of  stores  and  men.  But  the 
opportune  arrival  of  the  advanced  guard  of  the  Mahratta  contingent,  on  the 
second  day  of  the  march,  which  at  first  caused  great  alarm,  suspended  the 
retrograde  movement,  and  the  army  encamped  for  the  rainy  season  in  the 
neighbourhood  of  Seringapatam.'' 

The  next  move  to  Seringapatam  was  effectual.  Reinforcements  had  been 
sent  out  from  England;  and  during  the  autumn  all  the  lines  of  commimication 
for  another  march  upon  the  capital  of  Tipu  had  been  opened.  Some  of  the 
strong  hill  forts  had  been  stormed  and  taken  by  the  troops  under  General 
Meadows.  On  the  25th  of  January,  1792,  Cornwallis,  with  twenty-two  thou- 

sand men,  had  imited  his  force  to  the  troops  of  the  nizam  and  the  Mahrattas, 
and  commenced  his  march.  On  the  5th  of  February  he  encamped  about  six 
miles  northward  of  Seringapatam.  The  Mysorean  army  was  encamped  under 
its  walls.  It  amoimted  to  five  thousand  horse  and  forty  thousand  foot.  The 
city  was  defended  by  three  strong  lines  of  works  and  redoubts,  in  which  three 
hundred  pieces  of  artillery  were  planted.  Cornwallis  reconnoitred  these  linea 
on  the  morning  of  the  6th,  and  determined  to  storm  them  that  night,  with  his 
own  army,  without  commimicating  his  plan  to  his  allies. 

At  eight  o'clock  the  British  moved  in  three  columns  to  the  attack,  one 
column  being  led  by  Cornwallis  himself.  The  moon  was  shining  brilliantly; 
but  the  sun  of  the  next  day  was  declining  before  the  firing  ceased,  and  the 
whole  line  of  forts  to  the  north  of  the  Kaveri  were  in  possession  of  the  British 
forces.  Tipu  retired  within  the  walls  of  his  capital.  Preparations  for  the 
siege  went  vigorously  on;  but  negotiations  for  peace  were  at  the  same  time 
proceeding.  The  British  commander,  assured  of  his  triumph,  demanded  that 
Tipu  should  cede  the  half  of  his  dominions;  should  pay  a  sara.  amounting  to 
£3,000,000;  should  release  all  his  prisoners;  and  should  deliver  his  two  sons 
as  hostages.  The  sultan  assembled  his  officers  in  the  great  mosque,  and 
adjured  them,  by  the  sacred  contents  of  the  Koran,  to  tell  him  whether  he 
should  accept  these  hard  terms.  They  all  held  that  no  reliance  could  be 
placed  upon  the  troops,  and  that  submission  was  inevitable. 

On  the  23rd  of  February  the  preliminaries  of  peace  were  signed;  and  on 
the  25th  the  two  sons  of  Tipu  were  surrendered  to  Lord  Cornwallis.  The 
definitive  treaty  of  peace  was  signed  on  the  19th  of  March.  The  ceded  terri- 

tories were  divided  in  equal  portions  between  the  company,  the  nizam,  and 
the  Mahrattas.  On  the  4th  of  May  Cornwallis  wrote  to  his  brother,  "  Our 
peace  will  no  doubt  be  very  popular  in  England.  No  termination  of  the  war 
could  have  been  attended  with  more  solid  advantages  to  our  interest;  and 
the  deference  which  was  paid  to  us  on  the  occasion,  both  by  friends  and 
enemies,  has  placed  the  British  name  and  consequence  in  a  light  never  before 
known  in  India." 

The  subjection  of  Tipu  was  most  opportune.  In  all  probability  Corn- 
wallis, who  was  blamed  by  some  for  not  insisting  upon  harder  terms,  antici- 

pated the  probability  that  the  French  Revolution  would  involve  England  in 
war,  and  therefore  he  made  peace  whilst  it  was  in  his  power.  When  the  war 
broke  out  he  hurried  to  Madras.  But  his  presence  was  unnecessary.  Pondi- 
cherry  had  already  been  taken  by  Sir  John  Braithwaite;  and  the  French  had 
no  longer  a  footing  in  India.  The  agents  of  the  republic  were  nevertheless 
active,  but  they  were  imable,  for  several  years,  to  move  "Citizen  Tipu" 
into  a  course  of  open  hostility.* 
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THE   PERMANENT   SETTLEMENT   (1793   A.D.) 

If  the  foundations  of  the  system  of  civil  administration  were  laid  by 
Hastings,  the  superstructm-e  was  erected  by  Cornwallis.  It  was  he  who  first 
entrusted  criminal  jurisdiction  to  Europeans,  and  established  the  Nizamat 
Sadr  Adalat,  or  supreme  court  of  criminal  judicature,  at  Calcutta,and  it  was 
he  who  separated  the  functions  of  collector  and  judge.  The  system  thus 
organised  in  Bengal  was  afterwards  transferred  to  Madras  and  Bombay,  when 
those  presidencies  also  acquired  territorial  sovereignty. 

But  the  achievement  most  familiarly  associated  with  the  name  of  Corn- 
wallis is  the  permanent  settlement  of  the 

land  revenue  of  Bengal.  Up  to  his  time 
the  revenue  had  been  collected  pretty 
much  according  to  the  old  Mughal  sys- 

tem. Zamindars,  or  government  farm- 
ers, whose  office  always  tended  to  become 

hereditary,  were  recognised  as  having  a 
right  of  some  sort  to  collect  the  revenue 
from  the  actual  cultivators.  But  no  prin- 

ciple of  assessment  existed,  and  the 
amount  actually  realised  varied  greatly 
from  year  to  year.  Hastings  had  the 
reputation  of  bearing  hard  upon  the 
zamindars,  and  was  absorbed  in  other 
critical  affairs  of  state  or  of  war.  On  the 
whole  he  seems  to  have  looked  to  ex- 

perience, as  acquired  from  a  succession 
of  quinquennial  settlements,  to  furnish 
the  standard  rate  to  the  future. 

Francis,  on  the  other  hand,  Hast- 
ings' great  rival,  deserves  the  credit  of 

being  among  the  first  to  advocate  a 
limitation  of  the  state  demand  in  per- 

petuity. The  same  view  recommended 
itself  to  the  authorities  at  home,  partly 
because  it  would  place  their  finances 
on  a  more  stable  basis,  partly  because 
it  seemed  to  identify  the  zamindar  with 
the  more  familiar  landlord.  Accord- 

ingly, Cornwallis  took  out  with  him  in  1787  instructions  to  introduce  a  per- 
manent settlement.  The  process  of  assessment  began  in  1789  and  termi- 

nated in  1791.  No  attempt  was  made  to  measure  the  fields  or  calculate  the 
out-turn  as  had  been  done  by  Akbar,  and  is  now  done  when  occasion  requires 
in  the  British  provinces;  but  the  amount  payable  was  fixed  by  reference  to 
what  has  been  paid  in  the  past.  At  first  the  settlement  was  called  decennial, 
but  in  1793  it  was  declared  permanent  forever.  The  total  assessment 
amounted  to  sikka  Rs.  2,68,00,989,  or  about  2f  millions  sterling.  Though 
Lord  Cornwallis  carried  the  scheme  into  execution,  aU  praise  or  blame,  so  far 
as  details  are  concerned,  must  belong  to  Sir  John  Shore,  afterwards  Lord 
Teignmouth,  whose  knowledge  of  the  country  was  unsurpassed  by  that  of 
any  civilian  of  his  time.  Shore  would  have  proceeded  more  cautiously  than 

Cornwallis'  preconceived  idea  of  a  proprietary  body  and  the  court  of  directors' 
haste  after  fixity  permitted.? 

H.  T(r . —  VOL.  XXII.  1 

Tipu  Sahib 

(1749-1799) 
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Sir  John  Shore,  afterwards  Lord  Teignmouth,  succeeded  Earl  Cornwallis 
in  the  government  of  India.  During  his  administration,  1793-1796,  the  two 
sons  of  Tipu,  who  had  been  taken  as  hostages  for  the  due  performance  of  their 

father's  engagements,  were  given  up,  however  doubtful  might  have  been  the 
continued  amity  of  the  sultan.  In  1798  Lord  Teignmouth  was  succeeded  by 
Lord  Mornington,  afterwards  created  Marquis  Wellesley.  At  the  head  of 
the  Indian  government  was  now  a  man  of  splendid  abilities,  and  of  vigour 
of  character  well  fitted  for  action  in  any  great  crisis.  He  had  a  sound  adviser, 
not  only  in  military  affairs,  but  in  political,  in  his  younger  brother,  Arthur 
Wellesley,  then  in  his  thirtieth  year,  who  held  the  rank  of  colonel.  From 
his  arrival  in  India  as  the  colonel  of  an  infantry  regiment  in  1797,  to  his 
acceptance  of  a  responsible  command  in  1799,  we  may  trace  the  same  quaUties 
which,  more  than  any  other  man,  fitted  him  for  an  encounter  with  the  genius 
of  Bonaparte. 

Arthur  Wellesley's  regiment,  the  33rd,  formed  part  of  an  army  assembled 
at  Vellore,  in  November,  1798,  imder  the  command  of  General  Harris.  Lord 
Mornington  had  endeavoured,  without  effect,  to  detach  Tipu  from  the  dan- 

gerous influence  of  the  agents  of  the  French  government.  The  language  of 
the  governor-general  was  conciliatory,  but  it  was  firm.  His  proposal  to 
negotiate  was  met  by  evasions.  Tipu  continued  to  rely  upon  the  assistance 
of  the  French.  He  rejected  every  pacific  overture.  General  Harris  accord- 

ingly entered  the  Mysore  territory  on  the  5th  of  March,  1799.  The  ally  of 
the  English,  the  nizam  of  the  Deccan,  sent  a  large  contingent  to  join  the 
army;  and  this  force,  to  which  the  33rd  regiment  was  attached,  was  placed 
under  the  command  of  Colonel  Wellesley. 

The  novelty,  no  less  than  the  magnitude,  of  these  operations,  appears  to 
have  impressed  the  young  commander  of  the  nizam's  army  with  a  feeling  of 
wonder  which  inexperience  is  not  ashamed  to  display.  The  British  grand 

army  and  the  nizam's  army  marched  in  two  columns  parallel  to  each  other. 
"The  march  of  these  two  armies,"  says  Wellesley?  in  his  despatches,  "was 
almost  in  the  form  of  a  square  or  oblong,  of  which  the  front  and  rear  were 
formed  of  cavalry,  and  about  two  or  three  miles  in  extent;  the  right  and  left 
(owing  to  the  immense  space  taken  up  in  the  coliunn  by  field-pieces,  drawn 
by  bullocks),  about  six  or  seven  miles.  In  this  square  went  everything 
belonging  to  the  army.  You  will  have  some  idea  of  what  there  was  in  that 
space  when  I  state  to  you  the  number  of  bullocks  that  I  know  were  in  the 

public  service."  These  he  computes  at  sixty  thousand.  The  nizam's  army 
had  twenty-five  thousand  bullocks  loaded  with  grain;  besides  elephants, 
camels,  bullocks,  carts,  belonging  to  individuals,  beyond  all  calculation.  "  You 
may  have  some  idea  of  the  thing  when  I  tell  you  that,  when  all  were  together, 
there  was  a  multitude  in  motion  which  covered  eighteen  square  miles."  The 
Bombay  army  joined  these  two  moving  multitudes;  and  after  several  en- 
coimters  with  the  forces  of  Tipu,  the  united  armies  had  taken  up  a  position 
before  Seringapatam. 

CAFTUKE   OF  SERINGAPATAM  AND   DEATH  OF  TIPU   (1799  A.D.) 

A  series  of  successful  attacks  upon  the  enemy's  posts  enabled  the  breach- 
ing batteries  to  be  erected  at  a  short  distance  from  the  walls;  and  the  breach 

was  sufficiently  complete  for  the  city  to  be  stormed  on  the  4th  of  May.»  Early 
on  the  morning  of  the  4th,  the  troops  destined  for  the  assault  were  placed 
in  the  trenches;  and  the  hoiu-  of  one  o'clock  in  the  afternoon  was  chosen 
for  the  attack,  when  the  sultry  heat  usually  disposed  the  Asiatics  to  repose. 
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Two  thousand  five  hundred  Europeans  and  two  thousand  natives  formed 

the  storming  party  imder  the  command  of  General  Baird.  "Either,"  said 
he  to  Colonel  Agnew,  "we  succeed  to-morrow,  or  you  never  see  me  more." 
The  assailants  had  a  fearful  prospect  before  them,  for  two-and-twenty  thou- 

sand veteran  troops  composed  the  garrison,  and  the  bastions,  of  uncommon 
strength,  were  armed  with  two  hundred  and  forty  pieces  of  cannon. 

But  before  the  British  reached  the  breach,  the  enemy  were  at  their  post, 
and  equally  resolute  with  the  assailants.  When  Tipu  saw  the  British  cross 

the  Kaveri,  he  said,  without  changing  colour,  to  those  around  him,  "  We  have 
arrived  at  the  last  stage:  what  is  your  determination?"  "To  die  along  with 
you,"  was  the  unanimous  reply.  AH  was  ready  for  the  defence,  every  battery was  manned,  and  from  every  bastion  and  gun  which  bore  on  the  assailants 
a  close  and  deadly  fire  was  directed,  which  speedily  thinned  their  ranks.  On, 
however,  the  British  rushed,  followed  by  their  brave  allies,  through  the  deadly 
storm.  In  five  minutes  the  river  was  crossed,  in  five  more  the  breach  was 
mounted;  a  sally  on  the  flank  of  the  assaulting  column  by  a  chosen  body  of 

Tipu's  guards  was  repulsed;  and  as  Baird  was  leading  his  men  up  the  entangled 
steep,  a  loud  shout  and  the  waving  of  the  British  colours  on  its  summit 
announced  that  the  fortress  was  won,  and  that  the  capital  of  Mysore  had  fallen. 

But  here  an  unexpected  obstacle  intervened  —  the  summit  of  the  breach 
was  separated  from  the  interior  of  the  works  by  a  wide  ditch,  filled  with  water, 
and  at  first  no  means  of  crossing  it  appeared.  At  length,  however,  Baird 
discovered  some  planks  which  had  been  used  by  the  workmen  in  getting  over 
it  to  repair  the  rampart,  and,  himself  leading  the  way,  this  formidable  obstacle 
was  surmounted.  Straightway  dividing  his  men  into  two  colimms,  under 
colonels  Sherbrooke  and  Dunlop,  this  heroic  leader  soon  swept  the  ramparts 
both  to  the  right  and  left.  The  brave  Asiatics  were  by  degrees  forced  back  — 
Tipu  being  the  last  man  who  quitted  the  traverses,  though  not  without  des- 

perate resistance,  to  the  mosque,  where  a  dreadful  slaughter  took  place. 
Tlie  remains  of  the  garrison  were  there  crowded  together  in  a  very  narrow 

space,  having  been  driven  from  the  ramparts  by  Sherbrooke's  and  Dunlop's 
columns,  and  jammed  together  in  the  neighbourhood  of  the  mosque,  where 
they  long  maintained  their  ground  under  a  dreadful  cross-fire  of  musketry, 
till  almost  the  whole  had  fallen.  The  remnant  at  length  surrendered,  with 

two  of  Tipu's  sons,  when  the  firing  had  ceased  at  other  points. 
The  sultan  himself,  who  had  endeavoured  to  escape  at  one  of  the  gates 

of  the  town  which  was  assaidted  by  the  sepoys,  was  some  time  afterwards 
found  dead  under  a  heap  of  several  hundred  slain,  composed  m  part  of  the 
principal  officers  of  his  palace,  who  had  been  driven  into  the  confined  space 
round  the  mosque.  He  was  shot  by  a  private  soldier  when  stretched  on  his 
palanquin,  after  having  been  wounded  and  having  had  his  horse  killed  under 
him;  while  Baird,  who  for  three  years  had  been  detained  a  captive  in  chains 
in  his  dungeons,  had  the  triumph  of  taking  vengeance  for  his  wrongs,  by 
generously  protecting  and  soothing  the  fears  of  the  youthful  sons  of  his 
redoubted  antagonist. 

Tipu  covdd  never  be  brought  to  believe  that  the  English  would  venture  to 
storm  Seringapatam,  and  he  looked  forward  with  confidence  to  the  setting 
in  of  the  heavy  rains,  which  were  soon  approaching,  to  compel  them  to  raise 

the  siege.  He  was  brave,  liberal,  and  popular  during  his  father's  life;  but 
his  reign,  after  he  himself  ascended  the  throne,  was  felt  as  tjTannical  and 

oppressive  by  his  subjects.  This,  however,  as  is  often  the  case  in  the  East, 

they  ascribed^ rather  to  the  cupidity  of  his  ministers  than  to  his  own  disposition. The  Brahmans  had  predicted  that  the  4th  of  May  would  prove  an  inauspicious 



lie  THE   HISTORY   OF  BRITISH   INDIA 
[1W9A.D.] 

day  to  him;  he  made  them  large  presents  on  that  very  morning,  and  asked 
them  for  their  prayers. 

He  was  sitting  at  dinner  under  a  covered  shed  to  avoid  the  rays  of  the  sun 
when  the  alarm  was  given  that  the  British  were  moving;  he  instantly  washed 
his  hands,  called  for  his  arms,  and  mounting  his  horse  rode  towards  the 
breach,  which  he  reached  as  they  were  crossing  the  Kaveri.  On  the  way  he 

received  intelligence  that  Syed  Goffer,  his  best  officer,  was  killed.  "Syed 
Goffer  was  never  afraid  of  death,"  he  exclaimed;  "let  Muhammed  Kasim 
take  charge  of  his  division;"  while  he  himself  calmly  continued  to  advance 
towards  the  tumult,  and  was  actively  engaged  sustaining  the  rearguard,  as  it 
retired  from  the  breach. 

His  corpse  was  found  under  a  mountain  of  slain,  stripped  of  all  its  orna- 
ments and  part  of  its  clothing,  but  with  the  trusty  amulet  which  he  always 

wore  still  bound  round  his  right  arm.  He  had  received  three  wounds  in  the 
body,  and  one  in  the  temple;  but  the  coimtenance  was  not  distorted,  the 
eyes  were  open,  and  the  expression  was  that  of  stem  composure.  The  body 
was  still  warm;  and  for  a  minute  Colonel  Wellesley,  who  was  present,  thought 
he  was  still  alive:  but  the  pulse  which  had  so  long  throbbed  for  the  inde- 

pendence of  India  had  ceased  to  beat. 
The  storming  of  Seringapatam  was  one  of  the  greatest  blows  ever  struck 

by  any  nation,  and  demonstrated  at  once  of  what  vast  efforts  the  British 
Empire  was  capable,  when  directed  by  capacity  and  led  by  resolution.  The 
immediate  fruits  of  victory  were  immense.  A  formidable  fortress,  the  centre 

of  Tipu's  power,  garrisoned  by  twenty-two  thousand  regular  troops,  with  all 
his  treasures  and  military  resources,  had  fallen;  the  whole  arsenal  and  found- 
eries  of  the  kingdom  of  Mysore  were  taken,  and  the  artillery  they  contained 
amounted  to  the  enormous  number  of  four  himdred  and  fifty-one  brass,  and 
four  hundred  and  seventy-one  iron  guns,  besides  two  hundred  and  eighty- 
seven  mounted  on  the  works.  Above  five  hundred  and  twenty  thousand 
pounds  of  powder,  and  four  hundred  and  twenty-foiu"  thousand  round-shot, 
also  fell  into  the  hands  of  the  victors.  The  military  resources,  on  the  whole, 
resembled  rather  those  of  an  old-established  European  monarchy,  than  of  an 
Indian  potentate  recently  elevated  to  greatness.  But  these  trophies,  great  as 
they  were,  constituted  the  least  considerable  fruits  of  this  memorable  con- 

quest :  its  moral  consequences  were  far  more  lasting  and  important. 
In  one  day  a  race  of  usurpers  had  been  extinguished,  and  a  powerful 

empire  overthrown;  a  rival  to  the  British  power  struck  down,  and  a  tyrant 
of  the  native  princes  slain;  a  military  monarchy  subverted,  and  a  stroke 
paralysing  all  India  delivered.  The  loss  in  the  assault  was  very  trifling, 
amounting  only  to  three  hundred  and  eighty-seven  killed  and  wounded, 
though  fourteen  hundred  had  fallen  since  the  commencement  of  the  siege. 
But  the  portion  in  which  it  was  divided  indicated  upon  whom  the  weight  of 
the  contest  had  fallen,  and  how  superior  in  the  deadly  breach  European  energy 
was  to  Asiatic  valour;  for  of  that  number  three  hundred  and  forty  were 
British,  and  only  forty-seven  native  soldiers.  Colonel  Wellesley  was  not 
engaged  in  the  storm;  but  he  commanded  the  reserve,  which  did  not  require 
to  be  called  into  action,  and  merely  viewed  with  impatient  regret  the  heart- 
stirring  scene.  He  was  next  day,  however,  named  Governor  of  the  town  by 
General  Harris,  which  appointment  was  not  disturbed  by  Lord  Wellesley, 
and  constitutes  one  of  the  few  blots  on  the  otherwise  unexceptionable 
administration  of  that  eminent  man.  Lord  Wellesley  was  fully  aware  of 
the  signal  conduct  and  valour  displayed  by  Baird  in  the  siege  and  storm 
of  Seringapatam;  but  he  selected  his  brother  in  preference  to  him  for  the 
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command  of  that  important  fortress,  from  his  knowledge  of  the  rare  combina- 
tion of  civil  and  military  qualities  which  he  possessed.  Had  the  appointment 

not  been  made  by  General  Harris,  he  declared  he  would  have  made  it 
himself.  History,  indeed,  apart  from  biographical  discussion,  has  little  cause 
to  lament  an  appointment  which  early  called  into  active  service  the  great 
civil  as  well  as  military  qualities  of  the  duke  of  Wellington,  which  were 
immediately  exerted  with  such  vigour  and  effect  in  arresting  the  plunder  and 
disorders  consequent  on  the  storm,  that  in  a  few  days  the  shops  were  all 
reopened,  and  the  bazars  were  as  crowded  as  they  had  been  during  the  most 
flourishing  days  of  the  Mysore  dynasty.  But  individual  injustice  is  not  to 
be  always  excused  by  the  merits  of  the  preferred  fimctionary;  and,  unques- 

tionably, the  hero  of  Seringapatam,  the  gallant  officer  who  led  the  assault, 
was  entitled  to  a  very  different  fate  from  that  of  being  superseded  in  the  com- 

mand almost  before  the  sweat  was  wiped  from  the  brow  which  he  had  adorned 

with  the  laurels  of  victory.''  Colonel  Wellesley's  letter  to  the  governor- 
general  is  very  characteristic.  "It  was  impossible  to  expect  that,  after  the 
labour  which  the  troops  had  imdergone  in  working  up  to  this  place,  and  the 

various  successes  they  had  had  in  six  different  affairs  with  Tipu's  troops,  in all  of  which  they  had  come  to  the  bayonet  with  them,  they  should  not  have 
looked  to  the  plunder  of  this  place.  Nothing  therefore  can  have  exceeded 
what  was  done  on  the  night  of  the  4th.  I  came  in  to  take  the  command  on 
the  morning  of  the  5th;  and,  by  the  greatest  exertion,  by  hanging,  flogging, 
etc.,  etc.,  in  the  course  of  that  day,  I  restored  order  among  the  troops,  and 

I  hope  I  have  gained  the  confidence  of  the  people." 

THE   SUBSIDIARY  SYSTEM 

After  the  fall  of  Tipu,  and  the  partition  of  the  Mysore  territory  in  1799, 
Lord  Wellesley  steadil^  pursued  the  policy  which  is  distinguished  as  the  sub- 

sidiary system.  Its  principle  was  to  form  treaties  with  native  rulers;  in  com- 
pliance with  which,  a  military  force,  under  British  command,  was  to  be  main- 

tained at  the  expense  of  the  native  prince;  and  the  control  of  state  affairs 
was  to  be  vested  in  the  British  resident,  with  the  exception  of  all  that  related 
to  the  domestic  arrangements  of  the  sovereign,  who  preserved  the  regal  pomp 
without  the  regal  power.  The  subsidiary  system  was  warmly  opposed  in  the 
British  parliament,  as  unjust  and  tyrannical.  Its  defence  is  succinctly  stated 
by  Lord  Brougham,*!  who  was  a  constant  enemy  of  all  injustice  and  tyranny : 
"We  had  been  compelled  to  interfere  in  their  affairs,  and  to  regulate  the  suc- 

cession to  their  thrones,  upon  each  successive  discovery  of  designs  hostile  to  us, 
nay,  threatening  our  very  existence,  the  subversion  of  all  the  fabric  of  useful  and 
humane  and  enlightened  poHty  which  we  had  erected  on  the  ruins  of  their 
own  barbarous  system,  and  particularly  the  restriction  of  the  cruel  despotism 
under  which  the  native  millions  had  formerly  groaned. "  In  1800,  a  subsidiary 
treaty  was  formed  with  the  nizam,  who  ceded  all  his  Mysorean  territories 
in  exchange  for  aid  and  protection.  In  1801  the  nephew  of  the  deceased 
nawab  of  Arcot  was  raised  to  the  nominal  throne,  renouncing  in  favor  of  the 
British  all  the  powers  of  government.  The  subahdar  of  Oudh,  and  the 
peshwa,  came  also  under  subordination  to  the  British  authority. 

MAHRATTA  WAR   OF   1803 

After  the  rupture  of  the  Peace  of  Amiens,  a  new  danger  had  arisen,  in  a 
confederacy  of  Mahratta  chiefs,  assisted  by  French  arms  and  French  influence. 
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The  war  of  England  against  Napoleon  was  in  effect  to  be  carried  on  in  a  war 
with  the  Mahrattas.  In  the  districts  watered  by  the  Godavari  and  the  Puma 
were  the  qualities  of  a  great  captain  to  be  displayed,  which,  a  few  years  later, 
were  to  drive  the  legions  of  Napoleon  from  the  Tagus  to  the  Garonne. 

At  the  beginning  of  the  century,  the  great  Mahratta  chief  Holkar  was  at 
war  with  the  equally  valorous  chief  Sindhia.  Holkar,  to  strengthen  his  own 
power  and  destroy  an  ally  of  his  rival,  attacked  the  peshwa,  who  fled  from 
Poona  after  a  signal  defeat.  It  was  then  that  he  called  the  British  to  his 
aid,  with  whom  he  concluded  the  Treaty  of  Bassein,  on  the  last  day  of  Decem- 

ber, 1802.  General  Wellesley  marched  six  hundred  miles,  from  Seringapatam 
to  Poona,  in  the  worst  season  of  the  year;  drove  out  the  Mahrattas;  and  rein- 

stated the  peshwa  in  his  capital.  Holkar  now  turned  to  his  old  rival  Sindhia, 
to  coalesce  with  him  against  the  peshwa,  the  nizam,  and  the  British. 

Directing  the  military  operations  of  Sindhia  was  a  clever  Frenchman,  M. 
Perron,  who  had  under  him  a  large  army  of  infantry  disciplined  in  the  Euro- 

pean manner,  many  thousand  cavalry,  and  a  well  appointed  train  of  artillery, 
Bhonsla,  the  rajah  of  Berar  (or  rajah  of  Nagpur),  joined  the  alliance  of  Sindhia 
and  Holkar.  The  fifth  Mahratta  chieftain  was  the  Gaikwar,  and  his  territory 
was  Guzerat,  where  Sindhia  had  some  possessions  and  great  power  and  influ- 

ence. The  Gaikwar  took  no  part  in  the  approaching  contest.  For  some  time 
after  the  peshwa  had_  been  restored,  negotiations  were  going  on  between  the 
British  government  and  Sindhia  and  the  rajah  of  Berar.  They  professed 
friendship,  but  it  soon  became  clear  that  they  were  confederates  with  Holkar, 
and  were  depending  for  assistance  upon  Perron.  The  nizam  was  known  to 
be  dying;  and  it  was  one  of  the  objects  of  these  chieftains  to  arrange  the  suc- 

cession so  as  to  aggrandise  their  own  power. 
It  was  thus  necessary  to  make  war  upon  this  confederacy,  which  threatened 

the  security  of  the  British  dominion  in  India  as  much,  if  not  more,  than  the 
hostility  of  Tipu.  There  was  the  same  danger,  as  in  his  case,  of  an  alliance 
with  France  on  the  part  of  the  Mahrattas.  Pondicherry  had  been  given  up 
to  France  by  the  Treaty  of  Amiens.  Whefi  the  Mahratta  war  broke  out,  the 
rupture  of  that  treaty  was  not  known.  The  vicinity  of  Pondicherry  to  the 
Mahratta  country  required  the  greatest  vigilance.  Whilst  negotiations  with 
the  Mahratta  chiefs  were  still  in  progress,  the  news  came  of  the  renewal  of 
the  war.  A  French  force  attempted  to  land  at  Pondicherry,  and  were  made 
prisoners.  Providing  against  hostilities  upon  a  great  scale,  the  governor- 
general  decided  upon  the  plan  of  a  campaign,  in  which  the  rare  faculty  of 
organising  the  co-operating  movements  of  troops  acting  upon  different  points 
ensured  the  same  success  as  had  attended  the  campaigns  of  Napoleon.  One 
element  of  success  was  the  unshackled  power  of  an  able  commander  in  the 
Deccan,  the  most  important  portion  of  the  field  of  war. 

On  the  _26th  of  June  Arthur  Wellesley  was  appointed  to  the  command  of 
all  the  British  and_  allied  troops  in  the  territories  of  the  peshwa  and  the  nizam, 
and  to  the  direction  of  the  political  affairs  of  this  district,  which  was  sur- 

rounded by  the  dominions  of  the  confederate  chiefs.  In  Hindustan  the  same 
complete  authority  was  given  to  General  Lake.  General  Wellesley  was  at 
Poona  with  seventeen  thousand  men,  when  the  negotiation  with  Sindhia  was 
at  an  end.  General  Lake  was  upon  the  Jumna,  watching  the  movements  of 
Perron,  who  was  in  a  part  of  the  Doab  which  had  been  bestowed  upon  him 
by  Sindhia.  In  Guzerat,  Colonel  Murray  commanded  the  Bombay  army, 
a  force  of  seven  thousand  men,  and  he  was  afterwards  reinforced  by  Colonel 
Woodington.  In  the  province  of  Cuttack,  Colonel  Harcourt  was  at  the  head 
of  the  Madras  army,  a  small  body  of  troops,  who  were  able  to  render  eflScient 



WAKRBN  HASTINGS,   OORNWALLIS,   THE  WELLESLEYS     119 
I  A.D.] 

service.  All  these  armies,  not  great  in  numerical  amount,  but  most  formid- 
able in  their  discipline,  were  all  in  motion,  at  one  and  the  same  time,  to  close 

round  the  enemy  from  the  south  and  the  north,  from  the  east  and  the  west; 

"  from  the  sea,  the  mountains,  and  the  forests,  over  the  salt  plains  of  Cuttack, 
and  the  high  plains  of  the  Deccan,  and  through  the  passes  of  the  Ghats,  and 
over  the  rivers  of  Hindustan,  and  out  of  the  rank  swamps  of  the  basin  of  the 
Ganges."  (Martineau.O 

It  was  the  3rd  of  August  when  the  British  resident  quitted  Sindhia's 
camp.  His  departure  was  the  signal  for  immediate  hostilities.  On  the  6th 
of  August  General  Wellesley  wrote  a  letter  to  Sindhia,  characterised  by  his 

usual  decisive  language:  "I  offered  you  peace  on  terms  of  equality,  and  hon- 
ourable to  all  parties;  you  have  chosen  war,  and  are  responsible  for  all  conse- 

quences." On  the  12th  of  August,  he  had  advanced  through  roads  rendered 
almost  impassable  by  violent  rains,  and  had  taken  the  strong  fort  of  Ahmed- 
nagar.  General  Lake  was  equally  prompt  in  his  movements.  The  French 
force  under  Perron  fled  before  him,  retreating  from  Coel,  which  Lake  then 
occupied. 

Perron,  in  a  few  days,  put  himself  under  British  protection,  and  was 
received  with  kindness.  He  complained  of  the  treachery  of  his  officers,  and 
is  supposed  not  to  have  been  insensible  to  the  attractions  of  drafts  upon  the 
treasury  of  Calcutta.  On  the  4th  of  September,  the  strong  fortress  of  Aligarh 
was  taken  by  a  storming  party  of  the  army  of  Lake.  The  Bombay  and  the 
Madras  armies  were  equally  successful  in  their  advances.  On  the  6th  of 
August,  General  Wellesley  had  sent  orders  to  the  officer  in  command  of  the 
Bombay  army  to  attack  Broach.  In  a  little  more  than  three  weeks  Broach 
had  surrendered.  On  the  12th  of  September,  Lake  obtained  a  great  victory 
over  the  troops  of  Sindhia,  and  over  the  French  army  which  Perron  had 
formed.  They  were  commanded  by  another  Frenchman,  Bourquien.  On 
the  following  day  the  British  were  in  possession  of  Delhi.  Lake  restored  the 
Mughal  emperor,  Shah  Alam,  who  had  been  deposed,  and  thus  propitiated 
the  Mohammedan  population  of  Hindustan. 

The  triumphant  career  of  Lake  was  followed  up  in  the  battles  of  Muttra 
and  Agra,  and  was  completed  in  the  great  victory  of  Laswari  on  the  1st  of 
November.  He  was  worthy  of  all  honour.  .  The  thanks  of  parliament  and  a 
peerage  were  never  more  properly  bestowed  than  upon  the  senior  general  in 
this  astonishing  campaign. 

Colonel  Stevenson  was  to  the  east  of  General  Wellesley,  after  the  capture 
of  Ahmednagar.  It  was  necessary  to  effect  a  junction  of  their  two  armies. 

Wellesley  directed  Stevenson  to  take  a  bold  course :  "  Move  forward  yourself 
with  the  company's  cavalry,  and  all  the  nizam's,  and  a  battalion,  and  dash 
at  the  first  party  that  comes  into  your  neighbourhood.  A  long  defensive  war 

will  ruin  us.  By  any  other  plan  we  shall  lose  our  supplies."  On  the  21st  of 
August  Wellesley's  cavalry  was  passing  the  wide  Godavari.  They  passed  in 
wicKer  boats  covered  with  bullock  skins.  During  a  month,  Wellesley  and 

Stevenson  were  pursuing  Sindhia's  forces,  united  with  those  of  the  rajah  of 
Berar,  each  of  the  British  commanders  never  allowing  the  enemy  to  rest,  and 
marching  always  with  the  rapidity  which  could  alone  keep  pace  with  the 
Mahratta  cavalry.  On  the  21st  of  September  Wellesley  and  Stevenson  were 
a  little  to  the  east  of  Aurangabad.  They  were  sufficiently  near  to  each  other 
to  concert  a  plan  of  joint  operations  against  the  Mahratta  armies,  which  had 
been  reinforced  with  sixteen  battalions  of  infantry,  commanded  by  French 
officers,  and  with  a  train  of  artillery.  This  formidable  force  was  concen- 

trated on  the  banks  of  the  Kaitna. 
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BATTLE  OF  ASSAYE   (1803  A.D.) 

On  the  22nd  of  September  the  division  under  Wellesley,  and  the  division 
under  Stevenson,  marched  with  the  intention  to  attack  the  enemy.  There 
was  a  range  of  hills  between  the  British  and  the  Mahrattas.  One  division 
marched  by  the  eastern  road  round  the  hills ;  the  other  by  the  western  road. 
They  encamped  that  night  at  the  two  extremities  of  the  range  of  hills.  On 
the  morning  of  the  23rd,  General  Wellesley  received  information  that  Sindhia 
and  Bhonsla  had  moved  off  with  their  cavalry,  but  that  their  infantry  were 
still  in  camp,  and  were  about  to  follow  the  cavalry.  Their  camp  might  be 
seen  from  a  rising  ground.  "It  was  obvious  that  the  attack  was  no  longer  to 
be  delayed,"  writes  Wellesley.  It  was  no  longer  to  be  delayed,  although Colonel  Stevenson  had  not  arrived  with  his  detachment.  He  was  misled  by 

his  guides.  In  his  latter  years,  the  duke  of  Wellington }  related  to  "  an  early 
and  intimate  friend"  how  he  formed  his  plan. 

"  I  was  indebted  for  my  success  at  Assaye  to  a  very  ordinary  exercise  of 
common  sense.  The  Mahratta  chiefs,  whom  I  was  marching  to  overtake,  had 
made  a  hasty  retreat  with  their  infantry  and  guns,  and  had  got  round  behind 
a  river  on  my  right,  leaving  me  exposed  to  an  overwhelming  force  of  native 
cavalry.  To  get  rid  of  these  gentlemen,  and  to  get  at  the  others,  I  had  no 
chance  but  getting  over  the  river  also.  I  found  a  passage,  crossed  my  army 

over,  had  no  more  to  fear  from  the  enemy's  cloud  of  cavalry,  and  my  force, 
small  as  it  was,  was  just  enough  to  fill  the  space  between  that  river  and 
another  stream  that  fell  into  it  therabouts,  and  on  which  Assaye  stood,  so 
that  both  my  flanks  were  secure.  And  there  I  fought  and  won  the  battle  — 
the  bloodiest  for  the  number  that  I  ever  saw;  and  this  was  all  from  the  com- 

mon sense  of  guessing  that  men  did  not  build  villages  on  opposite  sides  of  a 
stream  without  some  means  of  communication  between  them." 

The  battle  of  Assaye  might  well  be  called  "the  bloodiest  for  its  number" 
that  the  hero  of  so  many  battles  had  ever  seen.  Well  might  it  be  so,  when 

the  Mahrattas'  force  was  at  least  seven  times  as  numerous  as  the  British  army. 
It  was  one  o'clock  when  the  enemy's  camp  was  in  view^  extending  from  five 
to  seven  miles.  "  We  began  to  advance,"  writes  the  brigade-major,  "  a  little 
after  three,  and  the  action  was  not  entirely  over  till  six  o'clock."  The  74th 
and  78th  regiments,  and  four  battalions  of  sepoys,  moved  forward  to  the 
attack:  the  piquets  led;  and  the  cavalry  brought  up  the  rear  to  protect  the 

infantry  from  the  enemy's  horse.  We  quote  the  spirited  narrative  of  an  eye- 
witness. Lieutenant  (not  Sir)  Colin  Campbell: 

"  The  line  was  ordered  to  advance.  The  piquets  at  this  period  had  nearly 
lost  a  third  of  their  number,  and  most  of  their  gun-bullocks  were  kUled.  The 
line  moved  rapidly  and  took  possession  of  the  first  line  of  guns,  where  many 
of  the  enemy  were  killed.  They  then  moved  on  in  equally  good  order  and 
resolution  to  the  second  line  of  guns,  from  which  they  very  soon  drove  the 
enemy;  but  many  of  the  artillery,  who  pretended  to  be  dead  when  we  passed 
on  to  the  second  line  of  guns,  turned  the  guns  we  had  taken  upon  us,  which 
obliged  us  to  return  and  again  to  drive  them  from  them. 

At  this  period  the  cannonade  was  truly  tremendous.  A  milk-hedge  in 
their  front,  which  they  had  to  pass  to  come  at  the  enemy's  guns,  threw  them 
into  a  little  confusion;  but  they  still  pushed  forward,  and  had  taken  possession 
of  many  of  their  guns,  when  the  second  line,  which  opened  on  them,  obliged 

them  to  retire  from  what  they  had  so  dearly  purchased.  "The  numbers  of  the 
74th  regiment  remaining  at  this  period  were  small;  on  their  returning,  some 

of  the  enemy's  cavalry  came  forward  and  cut  up  many  of  the  woimded  officers 



WAEEEN   HASTINGS,   COENWALLIS,   THE   WELLBSLEYS      121 
[1804-1805  A.D.] 

and  men.  It  was  at  this  critical  moment  that  the  19th  charged,  and  saved 
the  remains  of  the  74th  regiment.  General  Wellesley  at  the  same  time  threw 
the  78th  regiment  forward  on  their  right,  to  move  down  on  the  enemy,  who 
still  kept  their  position  at  Assaye.  This  movement,  and  the  charge  of  the 
19th  light  dragoons,  made  the  enemy  retire  from  all  their  guns  precipitately 
and  they  fled  across  the  nullah  to  our  right  at  the  village  of  Assaye,  where 
numbers  of  them  were  cut  up  by  the  cavalry.  The  general  was  in  the  thick 
of  the  action  the  whole  time,  and  had  a  horse  killed  under  him.  No  man 
could  have  shown  a  better  example  to  the  troops  than  he  did.  I  never  saw  a 
man  so  cool  and  collected  as  he  was  the  whole  time,  though  I  can  assure  you, 
till  our  troops  got  orders  to  advance,  the  fate  of  the  day  seemed  doubtful;  and 
if  the  numerous  cavalry  of  the  enemy  had  done  their  duty,  I  hardly  think  it 
possible  that  we  could  have  succeeded.  From  the  European  officers  who  have 
since  surrendered,  it  appears  they  had  about  twelve  thousand  infantry,  and 
their  cavalry  is  supposed  to  have  been  at  least  twenty  thousand,  though  many 
make  it  more.  We  have  now  in  our  possession  one  hundred  and  two  guns, 
and  all  their  tumbrils." 

In  the  middle  of  October  Colonel  Stevenson  obtained  possession  of  the 
strong  fortresses  of  Asseerghur  and  Burhanpur.  General  WeUesley  had 
followed  the  Mahratta  army  in  their  various  movements,  their  stratagems  never 
defeating  his  vigilance.  Sindhia  at  last  desired  a  truce.  This  was  granted. 
But  it  was  soon  discovered  that  his  cavalry  were  serving  in  the  army  of  the 
rajah  of  Berar,  and  that  the  truce  was  altogether  delusive.  On  the  29th  of 
November,  General  Wellesley  obtained  a  victory  over  the  imited  armies  of 
Sindhia  and  Bhonsla.  The  Mahrattas  retired  in  disorder,  leaving  their  can- 

non, and  pursued  by  moonlight  by  the  British,  the  Mughal,  and  the  Mysore 
cavalry.  This  wonderful  campaign,  of  little  more  than  four  months,  was 
finished  by  the  successful  termination  of  the  siege  of  Gawilgarh  (December 
15th). 

The  Mahratta  war  with  Sindhia  and  Bhonsla  was  at  an  end.  The  rajah  of 
Berar,  who  had  sued  for  a  peace,  signed  a  treaty  on  the  17th.  He  ceded  Cut- 
tack,  which  was  annexed  to  the  British  dominions,  and  he  agreed  to  admit  no 
Europeans  but  the  British  within  his  territories.  Sindhia  also  was  completely 
humbled.  A  treaty  with  him  was  signed  on  the  30th  of  December,  he  agree- 

ing to  give  up  Broach,  Ahmednagar,  and  his  forts  in  the  Doab;  and  to  exclude 
all  Europeans  except  the  British.  He  was  to  receive  the  protection  which 
was  extended  under  the  subsidiary  system  to  other  dependent  states. 

But  there  was  another  great  Mahratta  chieftain  yet  unsubdued.  His 
intriguing  spirit  was  exercised  in  urging  the  other  chiefs  to  break  the  treaties 
which  they  had  entered  into.  The  governor-general  tried  to  convert  this 
enemy  into  a  friend  by  negotiation.  Holkar  openly  defied  him;  he  would 
come  with  his  army,  and  sweep  and  destroy  like  the  waves  of  the  sea.  In 
April,  1804,  war  was  declared  against  Holkar.  The  war  went  on  through  1804 
and  1805.  Marquis  Wellesley  had  resigned  the  government  of  India  at  the 
end  of  July;  and  Marquis  Comwallis  had  succeeded  him,  before  Holkar  was 

subdued.  Cornwallis  died  on  the  5th  of  October,  and  Sir  George  Barlow- 
assumed  the  government.  On  the  24th  of  December  a  treaty  was  signed  with 
Holkar;  and  he  also  agreed  to  exclude  from  his  territories  all  Europeans 
except  the  British. 

FAMINE    IN   INDIA 

Sir  Arthur  Wellesley  (he  had  received  the  order  of  the  Bath  for  his  great 
services)  returned  to  England  in  1805.    During  his  voyage  home  he  employed 
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his  active  mind  in  writing  an  interesting  paper  on  the  subject  of  Dearth  in 
India.  There  had  been  a  famine  in  the  Deccan  in  1803  and  1804,  which  he 
had  witnessed.  The  dearth,  and  its  fatal  effects,  were  to  be  attributed  princi- 

pally to  the  dry  season  of  1803.  He  describes  the  physical  geography  of  the 
peninsula;  the  peculiar  cultivation  of  wet  lands  or  of  dry;  the  dependence  of 
the  rice-produce  of  the  wet  lands  upon  the  fall  of  the  rain,  assisted  by  the 
artificial  canals,  tanks,  and  wells,  many  of  which  were  ancient  works;  and 
the  entire  dependence  of  the  dry  lands,  where  what  are  called  dry  grains  are 
cultivated,  upon  the  critical  arrival  and  the  quantity  of  the  periodical  rains. 
The  portions  of  the  Indian  Empire  to  which  Sir  A.  Wellesley  directed  his  atten- 

tion were  far  less  extensive  than  at  present. 
Since  1804  there  have  been  many  famines.  Awful  as  the  distress  has  been, 

it  is  satisfactory  to  know  that  the  question  which  Sir  A.  Wellesley  asked,  "  in 
what  manner  the  deficiency  produced  by  the  seasons  in  any  particular  part 

could  be  remedied  by  the  government  in  that  part,"  has  been  to  some  extent 
answered,  by  the  construction  of  great  canals  for  irrigation.  The  eastern  and 
the  western  Junrna  canals,  and  the  Ganges  canal,  are  the  grandest  of  these 

works,  and  are  capable  of  irrigating  several  millions  of  acres.  '^ In  recent  years  the  extension  of  railways  and  the  improvement  of  internal 
communication  whereby  particular  districts  suffering  from  famine  can  be 
supplied  from  more  fortunate  ones  have  been  the  means  employed  for  coping 
with  this  scourge  and  an  annual  charge  has  been  made  on  the  revenue  for  funds 
to  be  used  in  time  of  dearth.  Nevertheless  the  twentieth  century  opened 
amidst  widespread  suffering  from  this  cause  which  was  most  marked  in  the 
native  states.  It  is  said  however  that  the  deaths  of  grown  persons  were  not 

numerous  and  when  they  did  occiu:  were  attributable  to  the  people's  own 
apathy.  On  the  other  hand  above  five  million  persons  were  at  one  time  in 
receipt  of  relief. « 

After  his  return  from  India,  the  marquis  Wellesley  had  to  endure  the  bitter 
mortification  of  finding  that  his  great  public  services  had  rendered  him  a 
mark  for  the  attacks  of  James  Paull,  who,  having  failed  in  India  of  advance- 

ment at  his  hands,  returned  to  England  and  became  a  member  of  parliament. 
It  is  unnecessary  for  us  to  follow  the  parliamentary  discussions  on  this  subject. 
The  accusations  were,  in  a  great  degree,  the  result  of  private  malice  and  party 
rancour;  and,  like  all  such  abuses  of  the  privileges  pf  representative  govern- 

ment, their  interest  very  quickly  passed  away. 

MUTINY  AT  VELLORE    (1806  A.D.) 

In  the  affairs  of  India,  an  event  of  far  more  lasting  importance  than  the 
assaults  upon  the  marquis  Wellesley  took  place  on  the  10th  of  July,  1806. 

At  two  o'clock  in  the  morning  of  that  day,  the  European  barracks  at  Vellore, 
in  which  were  four  companies  of  the  69th  regiment,  were  surrounded  by  two 
battalions  of  sepoys  in  the  service  of  the  East  India  Company.  Through 
every  door  and  window  these  mutineers  poured  in  a  destructive  fire  upon  the 
sleeping  soldiers.  The  sentinels  were  killed;  the  sick  in  the  hospital  were 

massacred;  the  officers'  houses  were  ransacked,  and  they,  with  their  wives  and 
children,  were  put  to  death.  Colonel  Fancourt,  the  commander  of  the  69th 
fell  in  the  attempt  to  save  his  men. 

There  was  a  terrible  retribution  the  next  day.  The  19th  regiment  of  dra- 
goons arrived;  took  the  fort  of  Vellore  from  the  insurgents;  six  hundred  of 

the  sepoys  were  cut  down;  and  two  hundred  were  dragged  out  of  their  hiding 
places  and  shot.    The  sons  of  Tipu  Sahib,  who  were  residing  at  Vellore,  were 
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suspected  of  being  concerned  in  this  mutiny.  But  there  were  demonstrations 
of  a  spirit  of  disaffection  amongst  the  native  troops  in  other  places.  Some 
extremely  foolish  regulations  had  been  attempted  by  the  miUtary  authorities 
at  Madras  with  respect  to  the  dress  of  the  sepoys.  It  was  wished  to  transform 
the  turban  into  something  like  a  helmet.  An  opinion  had  been  spread  that 
it  was  the  desire  of  the  British  government  to  convert  the  native  troops  to 
Christianity  by  forcible  means.  This  notion  was  disavowed  in  a  subsequent 
proclamation  of  the  government  at  Madras.  But  at  that  time  the  zeal  of 
some  persons  for  the  conversion  of  the  Hindu  population  was  far  from  dis- 

creet; and  in  England  there  was  no  hesitation  in  declaring,  that  "the  restless 
spirit  of  fanaticism  has  insinuated  itself  into  our  Indian  councils;"  and  that 
unless  checked  in  time,  it  will  lead  to  the  subversion  of  our  Indian  Empire,  and 
the  massacre  of  our  countrymen  dispersed  over  that  distant  land."  * 



CHAPTER  IV 

CONQUESTS  AND   REFORMS   FROM    1807  TO    1835   A.D. 

LORD   MINTO   AND  THE   MUTINY  OF   BRITISH  OFFICERS    (1807-1813  A.D.) 

At  the  beginning  of  1807  India  was  at  peace.  On  the  death  of  the  mar- 
quis Comwallis,  the  powers  of  the  governor-general  were  temporarily  exer- 
cised by  Sir  George  Barlow,  who  was  subsequently  entrusted  with  the  full 

authority  of  his  post  by  the  court  of  directors.  The  Grenville  administration 
had  just  come  into  office,  and  they  wished  to  bestow  the  appointment  upon 
one  of  their  own  supporters,  and  especially  upon  some  nobleman.  The  debates 
in  parliament  on  this  subject  were  continued,  and  violent.  The  conflict  was 
finally  settled  by  the  appointment  of  Lord  Minto.  The  tranquillity  of  his  gov- 

ernment was  after  a  while  seriously  disturbed  by  an  outbreak  against  the 
power  of  the  company  at  Travancore.  There  was  war  against  the  rajah  of 
this  state,  which  originated  in  a  dispute  between  his  diwan  or  chief  minister, 
and  the  British  resident.  His  troops  were  beaten  in  the  field  during  1808, 
and  the  lines  of  Travancore  being  stormed  at  the  beginning  of  1809,  and  other 
forts  captured,  relations  of  amity  between  the  company  and  the  rajah  were 
restored. 

A  more  serious  danger  arose  out  of  a  circumstance  which  appears  now 
amongst  the  almost  incredible  things  of  the  past.  The  officers  of  the  Madras 
army,  who  had  long  been  stirred  up  to  discontent,  had  mutinied,  and  Lord 
Minto,  in  August,  1809,  sailed  for  Madras  to  quell  this  extraordinary  insub- 

ordination of  British  officers.  There  were  various  and  contradictory  regula- 
tions existing  in  the  several  presidencies.  There  were  inequalities  in  the  rate 

of  allowances.  At  Madras,  what  the  council  termed  "a  very  dangerous  spirit 
of  cabal"  had  been  pointed  out  as  early  as  March,  1807,  by  the  council  to  the 
court  of  directors.  There  was  there  an  officer  high  in  command,  Lieutenant- 
Colonel  St.  Leger,  who  was  described  in  the  despatch  of  the  council  as  "the 
champion  of  the  rights  of  the  company's  army."  Colonel  St.  Leger,  as  well 
as  other  officers,  was  suspended  by  an  order  of  the  1st  of  May,  and  then  open 
mutiny  burst  out  at  Hyderabad,  Masulipatam,  Seringapatam,  and  other 
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places.  On  one  occasion  only  was  blood  shed  in  this  extraordinary  revolt. 
Many  of  these  officers  were  very  young  men,  who  were  incited  to  acts  of 
insubordination  by  the  example  of  their  seniors.  Brave  as  were  the  British 
officers  in  the  field,  their  exclusiveness  and  assumption  of  superiority  were 
offensive  to  civilians  and  dangerous  in  their  intercourse  with  the  natives. 
These  misguided  men  gradually  returned  to  habits  of  obedience.  In  Septem- 

ber Lord  Minto  published  an  amnesty,  with  the  exception  of  eighteen  officers, 
nearly  all  of  whom  chose  to  resign  rather  than  to  abide  the  judgment  of  a  court- 
martial.  It  now  became  the  wish  of  all  to  obliterate  the  painful  remembrance 

of* the  past.  During  this  alarming  period,  in  which  the  mutiny  of  the  officers 
might  have  led  to  the  entire  disorganisation  of  the  sepoy  army,  the  king's 
troops  manifested  the  most  entire  obedience  to  the  orders  of  the  governor- 
general. 

During  the  administration  of  Lord  Minto  a  number  of  successful  opera- 
tions were  imdertaken  in  the  Eastern  Archipelago,  which,  jn  1810,  gave  the 

British  possession  of  Amboyna  and  the  Banda  Isles,  of  the  lie  de  la  Efeunion, 
and  of  the  Mauritius.  The  most  important  of  these  conquests  was  the  rich 
island  of  Java,  which,  after  a  severe  battle  with  the  Dutch  troops  near  the 
capital,  capitulated  in  1810.  Sir  Stamford  Raffles,  who  was  appointed  lieu- 

tenant-governor of  Java,  described  it  as  "  the  other  India."  It  passed  out  of 
British  hands  at  the  peace  —  a  circumstance  attributed  by  many  to  the  com- 

plete ignorance  of  the  British  government  of  the  great  value  of  this  possession. 
The  policy  of  the  court  of  directors  was  to  maintain  peace  as  long  as  possible 
upon  the  continent  of  India,  and  thus  the  depredations  of  the  Pindharis  and 
the  Nepalese  were  not  met  by  the  governor-general  with  any  vigorous  meas- 

ures of  repression.  He  demanded  redress  of  the  rajah  of  Nepal  for  the  out- 
rages of  his  people,  but  he  did  not  make  any  more  effectual  demonstration  to 

compel  a  less  injurious  conduct.  His  diplomacy  had  for  its  main  object  to 
prevent  the  establishment  of  the  French  in  the  peninsula.  He  concluded 
treaties  with  the  amirs  of  Sind,  and  with  the  king  of  Kabul,  of  which  the 
terms  of  friendship  were,  that  they  should  restrain  the  French  from  settling 
in  their  territories.  With  Persia,  where  France  was  endeavouring  to  establish 
her.  influence,  a  treaty  was  concluded,  binding  the  sovereign  to  resist  the 
passage  of  any  European  force  through  his  country  towards  India. 

The  usual  term  of  a  governor-general's  residence  being  completed,  Lord Minto  resigned  in  1813,  and  returned  to  England.  He  came  at  a  time  when 
a  material  alteration  in  the  position  of  the  East  India  Company  was  at  hand. 
By  the  Statute  of  Queen  Anne,  and  by  successive  acts  of  parliament,  the 
company  had  the  exclusive  privilege,  as  regarded  English  subjects,  of  trading 
to  all  places  east  of  the  Cape  of  Good  Hope,  as  far  as  the  Straits  of  Magellan. 
In  March,  1813,  the  house  of  commons  resolved  itself  into  a  committee  to 
consider  the  affairs  of  the  East  India  Company.  The  government  proposed 
that  the  charter  of  the  company  should  be  renewed  for  twenty  years,  during 
which  term  they  should  retain  the  exclusive  trade  to  China,  but  that  the  trade 
to  India  should  be  thrown  open  on  certain  conditions.  The  government  also 
proposed  to  appoint  a  bishop  for  India,  and  three  archdeacons.  The  com- 

mittee examined  various  witnesses.  The  first  witness  was  Warren  Hastings, 
then  eighty  years  of  age.  He  expressed  his  decided  opinion  that  the  settle- 

ment of  Europeans  would  be  fraught  with  danger  to  the  peace  of  the  country 
and  the  security  of  the  company,  and  that  the  trade  between  India  and  Eng- 

land, as  then  regulated,  was  far  more  beneficial  than  if  perfectly  free.  On  the 
subject  of  the  propagation  of  Christianity  in  India,  and  the  proposed  Episcopal 
establishment,  his  evidence  is  described  as  having  evinced  "a  most  phUo- 
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Sophie  indifference."  The  debates  in  both  houses  on  the  resolutions  occupied 
four  months  of  the  session.  A  bill  was  finally  passed  by  which  the  trade  to 
India  was  thrown  open  as  proposed,  the  territorial  and  commercial  branches 

of  the  company's  affairs  were  separated,  and  the  king  was  empowered  to  create 
a  bishop  of  India,  and  three  archdeacons,  to  be  paid  by  the  company. 

THE   GURKHA  WAR;    THE   DESTRUCTION   OF  THE   PINDHARIS    (1814-1818  A.D.) 

Lord  Minto  was  succeeded  as  governor-general  by  the  earl  of  Moira, 
afterwards  marquis  of  Hastings,  who  took  possession  of  the  government  on 
the  4th  of  October,  1813.  During  1814  and  1815  there  was  war  between  the 
British  and  the  Nepalese.  This  is  sometimes  called  the  Gurkha  War  [the 
Gurkhas  being  the  race  which  conquered  Nepal  in  the  middle  of  the  eighteenth 
century].  The  Gurkhas  at  the  period  of  the  government  of  the  marquis  of 
Ha,stings  were  subjecting  all  the  smaller  states  to  their  dominion,  and  were 
able  to  maintain  an  army  of  twelve  thousand  disciplined  men,  who  were 
clothed  and  accoutred  like  the  British  sepoys.  As  they  advanced  towards  the 
British  possessions  on  the  northern  frontier,  they  manifested  a  desire  to  try 

their  strength  against  the  company's  troops,  and  exhibited  their  ill  will  in 
1814  by  attacking  two  police  stations  in  the  districts  of  Gorakhpur  and 

Saran,  and  by  massacring  all  the  troops  in  the  garrisons  there.  "The  firat 
operations  of  the  British  troops  were  unsuccessful;  but  in  1815  Sir  David 
Ochterlony  was  enabled  to  dislodge  the  Gurkhas  from  their  hill-forts,  and  to 
compel  their  commander.  Amir  Singh,  to  capitulate.  A  treaty  of  peace  was 
concluded  at  the  end  of  1815,  but  its  ratification  by  the  rajah  being  withheld, 
a  large  British  army  advanced  to  Khatmandu,  the  present  capital  of  Nepal. 
The  treaty  was  ratified  and  the  war  concluded  at  the  beginning  of  1816. 
Some  portions  of  territory  were  ceded  to  the  company;  but  for  the  most  part 
the  chiefs  who  had  been  expelled  by  the  conquering  Gurkhas  were  restored 
to  their  ancient  possessions. 

The  province  of  Malwa  was  the  chief  seat  of  a  body  of  freebooters,  the 
Pindharis,  who  carried  on  a  war  of  devastation  with  peaceful  neighbours,  and 
were  more  formidable  from  their  want  of  that  political  organisation  which 
constitutes  a  state.  They  lived  in  separate  societies  of  one  or  two  hundred, 
governed  each  by  its  chief,  but  they  were  always  ready  to  combine  under  one 
supreme  chief  for  the  purposes  of  their  marauding  expeditions.  In  1814  fifteen 
thousand  horsemen  were  assembled  on  the  north  bank  of  the  Nerbudda,  under 
a  leader  named  Chitu.  In  October,  1815,  they  seized  the  opportunity  of 
the  British  troops  being  engaged  in  the  Nepalese  War  to  cross  the  Nerbudda, 

and  having  plundered  and  devastated  a  territory  of  Great  Britain's  ally,  the 
nizam  of  the  Deccan,  recrossed  the  Nerbudda  to  prepare  for  another  raid  with 
a  greater  force.  Between  the  5th  of  February  and  the  17th  of  May,  1816,  they 
had  again  collected  an  immense  booty,  with  which  they  retired,  not  only 
having  devastated  the  lands  of  the  allies  of  Britain,  but  within  the  com- 

pany's frontiers  having  plundered  more  than  three  hundred  villages  and  put  to death  or  tortured  more  than  four  thousand  individuals.  These  fierce  and  suc- 
cessful attacks  of  the  Pindharis  were  not  solely  mstigated  by  their  own  desire  for 

the  rich  booty  of  peaceful  provinces.  They  would  scarcely  have  ventured  to  defy 
the  British  power  had  they  not  been  secretly  supported  by  a  cdMederacy  of 
Mahratta  potentates.  The  governor-general  had  obtained  certain  informa- 

tion that  the  peshwa,  the  rajah  of  Nagpur,  Sindhia,  Holkar  the  younger,  and 
Amir  Khan,  were  preparing  in  concert  with  the  Pindharis  to  invade  the  com- 
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pany's  territories  whilst  the  British  troops  were  engaged  in  the  Nepalese  War. 
The  governor-general,  at  the  conclusion  of  the  peace  with  Nepal,  applied  to 
the  authorities  at  home  for  permission  to  carry  on  the  war  with  the  Pindharis 
upon  a  great  scale.  Till  this  permission  should  arrive  he  had  only  to  keep 
the  Bengal  army  in  advanced  cantonments.  When  his  warrant  for  extended 
operations  did  arrive,  the  marquis  of  Hastings  was  ready  with  an  army  in 
each  of  the  three  presidencies  to  take  the  field  against  the  Pindharis,  and 
against  all  their  open  or  secret  supporters.  The  immensity  of  his  preparations 
was  determined  by  the  importance  of  his  designs.  The  issue  of  the  war  was 
another  most  decided  advance  in  the  assertion  of  Great  Britain's  supremacy, 
which  manifestly  tended  to  "the  absolute  conquest  of  the  peninsula." 

At  the  end  of  September,  1817,  orders  were  issued  for  a  simultaneous  move- 
ment of  the  army  of  Bengal  imder  the  command  of  the  governor-general,  of 

the  army  of  the  Deccan  imder  the  command  of  Sir  Thomas  Hislop,  and  of 
various  corps  from  different  stations,  each  marching  to  points  from  which  the 
Pindharis  could  be  surrounded,  and  at  the  same  time  their  Mahratta  and 
other  supporters  prevented  from  uniting  their  forces.  It  is  not  within  our 
limits  to  attempt  any  detail  of  this  very  complicated  warfare.  The  war  with 
the  Pindharis  was  terminated  in  the  spring  of  1818,  with  the  entire  destruction 
or  dispersion  of  these  terrible  marauders.  The  best  historian  of  the  events  is 
Sir  John  Malcolm,  c  who  was  himself  one  of  the  most  active  and  sagacious  of 
the  British  commanders.  Their  complete  extinction  has  been  graphically 
described  by  him:  "  Within  five  years  after  their  name  had  spread  terror  and 
dismay  over  all  India,  there  remained  not  a  spot  that  a  Pindhari  coiild  call  his 
home.  They  had  been  hunted  like  wild  beasts,  numbers  had  been  killed,  all 
ruined,  those  who  espoused  their  cause  had  fallen.  Early  in  the  contest  they 
were  shunned  like  a  contagion;  the  timid  villagers  whom  they  had  so  recently 
oppressed  were  among  the  foremost  to  attack  them." 

On  the  5th  of  November,  the  governor-general  had  extorted  by  the  presence 
of  his  powerful  army  a  treaty  with  Sindhia,  in  which  that  Mahratta  chief 
engaged  to  aid  in  the  destruction  of  the  Pindharis.  That  army,  which  was 
encamped  on  low  ground,  on  the  banks  of  a  tributary  of  the  Jumna,  was  at 
this  moment  attacked  by  an  enemy  far  more  dangerous  than  any  which  it 
would  be  likely  to  encounter  in  the  field.^ 

THE    ARMY  DECIMATED    BY  CHOLERA  (l817  A.D.) 

The  malady  known  by  the  name  of  spasmodic  cholera  —  evacuations  of 
acrid  biliary  matter,  accompanied  by  spasmodic  contractions  of  the  abdominal 
muscles,  and  a  prostration  of  strength,  terminating  frequently  in  the  total  ex- 

haustion of  the  vital  functions  —  had  been  known  in  India  from  the  remotest 
periods,  and  had,  at  times,  committed  fearful  ravages.  Its  effects,  however, 
were  in  general  restricted  to  particular  seasons  and  localities  and  were  not  so 
extensively  diffused  as  to  attract  notice  or  excite  alarm.  In  the  middle  of 
1817,  however,  the  disease  assumed  a  new  form,  and  became  a  widely  spread 
and  fatal  epidemic.  It  made  its  first  appearance  in  the  eastern  districts  of 
Bengal,  in  May  and  June  of  that  year,  and  after  extending  itself  gradually  along 
the  north  bank  of  the  Ganges,  tlu-ough  Tirhut  to  Ghazipur,  it  crossed  the  river, 
and  passing  through  Rewah,  fell  with  peculiar  virulence  upon  the  centre 
division  of  the  grand  army,  in  the  first  week  of  November. 

Although  the  casualties  were  most  numerous  amongst  the  followers  of  the 
camp  and  the  native  soldiery,  the  ravages  of  the  disease  were  not  confined  to 
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the  natives,  but  extended  to  Europeans  of  every  rank.*  The  appalling  features 
of  the  malady  were  the  suddenness  of  its  accession  and  the  rapidity  with  which 
death  ensued.  No  one  felt  himself  safe  for  an  hour,  and  yet,  as  there  was  no 
appearance  of  infection,  the  officers  generally  were  aptive  in  assisting  the 
medical  establishment  in  administering  medicines  and  relief  to  the  sick.  The 
mortality  became  so  great  that  han^  were  insufficient  to  carry  away  the 
bodies,  and  they  were  tossed  into  the  neighbouring  ravines,  or  hastily  com- 

mitted to  a  superficial  grave  on  the  spots  where  the  sick  had  expired.  The 
survivors  then  took  alarm  and  deserted  the  encampment  in  crowds:  many 
bore  with  them  the  seeds  of  the  malady,  and  the  fields  and  roads  for  many 
miles  round  were  strewn  with  the  dead.  Death  and  desertion  were  rapidly 

depopulating  the  camp,  when,  after  a  few  days  of  unavailing  struggle  against 
the  epidemic,  it  was  determined  to  try  the  effects  of  a  change  of  situation. 
The  army  accordingly  retrograded  in  a  south-easterly  direction,  and  after 
several  intermediate  halts,  crossed  the  Betwa,  and  encamping  upon  its  lofty 

and  dry  banks  at  Erich,  was  relieved  from  the  pestilence.    The  disease  dis- 

FOBT  AT  AOBA 

appeared.  During  the  week  of  its  greatest  malignity  it  was  ascertained  that 
seven  hundred  and  sixty-four  fighting  men  and  eight  thousand  followers 

perished.* 
Sindhia  had  seized  the  opportunity,  not  to  render  aid  against  the  Pind- 

haris  but  to  invite  them  to  come  into  his  territory.  The  cholera  passed  away, 
and  the  governor-general  hurried  back  to  his  former  position  to  cut  off  the 
possible  junction  between  the  marauding  bands  and  Sindhia's  troops.  In 
the  remaining  months  of  1817  and  the  beginning  of  1818  the  Mahratta  con- 

federacy was  utterly  broken  up  by  the  successes  of  the  British.  The  rajah  of 
Nagpur,  after  a  battle  of  eighteen  hours,  was  defeated,  and  his  town  of  Nagpur 
taken  on  the  26th  of  November.  Holkar  was  beaten  on  the  21st  of  December 
at  the  battle  of  Mehidpur,  and  peace  was  concluded  with  him  on  the  6th  of 
January.  The  peshwa  of  the  Mahrattas  surrendered  to  the  English  in  the 
following  June,  agreeing  to  abdicate  his  throne,  and  become  a  pensioner  of 
the  East  India  Company  .* 

'  Five  officers  and  143  men  of  the  European  force  died  in  November — official  return.  Ac- 
cording to  Surgeon  Corbyn  '^  who  was  serving  with  the  centre  division,  and  whose  pUn  of 

treatment  was  circulated  to  the  army  by  the  marquis  of  Hastings,  his  lordship  was  himself  appre- 
hensive of  dying  of  the  disease,  and  had  given  secret  instructions  to  be  buried  in  his  tent,  that 

his  death  might  not  add  to  the  discouragement  of  the  troops,  or  tempt  the  enemy  to  attack  the 
division  in  its  crippled  state. 
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TRANSACTIONS   IN   CEYLON 

The  island  of  Ceylon,  first  colonised  by  the  Portuguese,  and  subsequently 
by  the  Dutch,  was  finally  taken  from  the  latter,  as  identified  with  the  republic 
of  France,  in  1796,  by  an  expedition  fitted  out  from  Madras,  and  was  for  a 
short  interval  subject  to  the  government  of  Fort  St.  George.  In  1798  it  was 
annexed  to  the  colonial  dominions  of  the  British  Crown,  and  the  honourable 
Frederick  North  was  nominated  governor  on  the  part  of  Great  Britain.  The 
settlements  which  were  thus  transferred  extended  along  the  sea-coast,  forming 
a  narrow  belt  round  the  centre  of  the  island,  where  native  princes  continued 
to  rule  over  the  remnants  of  an  ancient  kingdom,  whose  origin  was  traceable, 
through  credible  records,  for  above  two  thousand  years.  Deprived  of  a  val- 

uable portion  of  their  ancestral  domains  by  races  which  they  despised  as  bar- 
barians while  they  hated  them  as  conquerors,  the  kings  of  Kandy  had  been 

almost  always  at  variance  with  their  European  neighbours,  and  had  been 
principally  protected  against  their  military  superiority  by  the  deadly  atmos- 

phere of  the  forests  which  interposed  an  impenetrable  rampart  between  the 
interior  of  the  island  and  the  coast.  The  last  but  one  of  these  princes  co- 

operated with  the  English  in  their  attack  upon  the  maritime  provinces  held 
by  the  Dutch,  in  expectation  of  advantages  which  were  never  realised.  He 
<lied  shortly  after  the  establishment  of  the  British  power.  Leaving  no  children 
lie  was  succeeded  in  1800  by  the  son  of  a  sister  of  one  of  his  queens,  who  was 
elected  to  the  throne  by  the  head  minister,  or  adigar,  with  the  acquiescence 
of  the  other  chief  officers  of  the  state,  the  priests  of  Buddha,  and  the  people. 

Shortly  after  the  accession  of  the  new  sovereign  in  the  beginning  of  1800, 
the  governor  of  Ceylon  deputed  the  commanding  officer  of  the  troops  on  the 
island.  General  Macdowall,  on  an  embassy  to  the  court  of  Kandy.  Advantage 
was  to  be  taken  of  the  intrigues  which  agitated  the  Kandian  court.  The 
minister  who  had  raised  the  sovereign  to  his  present  rank,  is  said  thus  early 
to  have  plotted  his  deposal,  and  the  usurpation  of  his  crown.  For  the  accom- 

plishment of  his  treacherous  designs,  he  sought  the  assistance  of  the  British 
government,  and  although  his  overtures  were  at  first  rejected,  he  was  admitted 

to  a  conference  with  the  governor's  secretary,  and  the  mission  to  Kandy  was 
the  result.  The  plot  was  frustrated  by  the  timidity  and  suspicion  apparently 
of  both  the  minister  and  the  king.  General  Macdowall  proceeded  to  Kandy, 
but  he  returned  to  Colombo  without  having  made  any  progress  in  the  purposes 
of  his  mission,  secret  or  avowed.  On  the  contrary,  the  proceedings  of  the 
British  government  seem  to  have  excited  the  suspicion  and  Ul  will  of  both 
the  king  and  the  adigar,  and  to  have  united  them  against  a  common  enemy; 
while  an  excuse  for  an  appeal  to  arms  seems  to  have  been  solicitously  sought 
for  by  the  British.  At  length  some  Sinhalese  traders  from  the  British  terri- 

tories, having  been  despoiled  of  a  parcel  of  betel  nuts,  which  they  had  pur- 
chased, complained  to  the  governor.  Their  case  was  advocated  by  him  with 

the  king;  its  truth  was  admitted,  and  redress  was  promised  but  never  granted. 
Mr.  North  determined  to  make  war  upon  the  king,  imless  he  subscribed  to  a 
treaty  promising  compensation  for  the  expenses  of  military  equipments,  and 
the  plunder  of  the  betel  nuts;  to  permit  the  formation  of  a  military  road  from 
Colombo  to  Trincomalee,  and  suffer  cinnamon  peelers  and  wood  cutters  to 
follow  their  calling  in  the  Kandian  districts.  It  was  intimated  at  the  same 
time,  that  the  aggressions  which  had  been  perpetrated,  had  left  the  governor 
at  perfect  liberty  to  recognise  and  support  the  claims  which  any  other  prince 
of  the  family  of  the  Sun  might  form  to  the  diadem  worn  by  his  Kandian 
majesty.    The  intimation  was  not  likely  to  conciliate  his  accession  to  a 

H.  W.  —  VOL.  XXII.  K 
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friendly  convention,  and  was  replied  to  by  predatory  incursions  into  the 
British  frontier,  and  the  plunder  and  murder  of  its  subjects.  To  repress  and 
avenge  these  injuries,  a  force  under  General  MacdowaU  was  despatched  from 
Colombo,  and  another  under  Colonel  Barbut  from  Trincomalee.  The  two 
divisions  encountering  no  serious  opposition  on  their  march,  met  on  the 
Mahaveli-gangaj  three  miles  from  Kandy,  and  on  the  21st  of  February,  1803, 
entered  the  capital.  The  town,  which  was  completely  deserted,  had  been  set 
on  fire  by  the  inhabitants,  but  the  flames  were  speedily  extinguished,  and 
Kandy  was  in  the  occupation  of  the  British. 

THE  BRITISH  TAKE  KANDY  AND  ARE  MASSACRED   (1803  A.D.) 

As  the  reigning  monarch  had  been  so  little  sensible  of  the  benefits  to  be 
derived  from  the  British  alliance,  a  more  tractable  sovereign  was  brought  for- 

ward in  the  person  of  Mutu-sami,  a  brother  of  the  late  queen,  and  a  competitor 
for  the  throne,  who  had  been  obliged  to  seek  refuge  in  the  colony.  A  treaty 
was  concluded  with  him,  by  which  he  ceded  certain  districts  and  immunities, 
and  in  requital  was  acknowledged  as  monarch  of  Kandy,  and  promised,  as 
long  as  he  might  require  it,  the  aid  of  an  auxiliary  force.  Mutu-sami  was 
conducted  to  the  capital,  where  he  arrived  on  the  4th  of  March.  _  He  brought 
no  accession  of  strength,  as  the  people  were  either  afraid  or  disinclined  to 
support  his  cause;  and  hence  perhaps  its  sudden  abandonment  by  the  gov- 

ernor, who  presently  afterwards  engaged  to  invest  the  adigar  with  regal 
authority,  on  condition  of  his  delivering  up  his  master,  assigning  a  pension  to 
Mutu-sami,  and  making  the  same  cessions  which  that  tinfortunate  prince  had 
consented  to  grant. 

After  a  short  stay  at  Kandy,  during  which  several  skirmishes  took  place 
with  the  Sinhalese,  invariably  to  their  disadvantage,  but  without  any  decisive 
results,  the  prevalence  of  jungle-fever,  generated  by  the  pestilential  vapours 
of  the  surrounding  forests,  to  which  many  of  the  men  and  officers  fell  victims, 
compelled  the  retirement  of  the  greater  part  of  the  survivors;  and,  finaUy, 
the  protection  of  Kandy,  and  of  Mutu-sami,  was  consigned  to  Major  Davie, 
with  a  body  of  five  hundred  Malays  and  two  hundred  Europeans  of  the  19th 
regiment  —  the  latter  almost  incapacitated  for  duty  by  sickness,  and  the 
former  speedily  thinned  by  frequent  desertions.  In  this  state,  they  were 
attacked  on  the  24th  of  June  by  the  Sinhalese  in  immense  numbers,  headed 
by  the  king  and  the  adigar,  and  encouraged  by  their  knowledge  of  the  enfeebled 
state  of  the  garrison:  a  severe  conflict  ensued,  which  lasted  for  seven  hours, 
when  Major  Davie  was  under  the  necessity  of  proposing  a  suspension  of 
hostilities.  The  proposal  was  acceded  to,  and  a  capitulation  agreed  upon,  by 
which  the  garrison,  accompanied  by  Mutu-sami,  were  to  be  permitted  to  retire 
with  their  arms,  on  giving  up  Kandy  and  all  military  stores.  It  was  promised 
that  the  sick,  who  were  incapable  of  being  removed,  should  be  taken  care  of 
xmtil  they  could  be  sent  to  a  British  settlement.  Upon  these  stipulations 
Major  Davie  evacuated  Kandy,  and  marched  to  the  banks  of  the  Mahaveli- 
ganga,  which,  being  swollen  by  the  rains,  was  no  longer  fordable:  no  boats 
were  at  hand,  and  the  enemy  showed  himself  in  force  in  different  quarters.  On 
the  following  day,  a  mission  came  from  the  king,  demanding  that  Mutu-sami 
should  be  given  up,  when  boats  would  be  furnished  to  the  English.  After 
some  hesitation,  the  demand  was  complied  with.  The  unhappy  prince,  with 
several  of  his  kinsmen,  was  immediately  put  to  death. 

That  this  abandonment,  and  the  disgrace  which  it  entailed  upon  the 
British  faith,  might  have  been  avoided  by  a  greater  display  of  resolution  than 
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was  exhibited,  is  not  impossible;  but  a  determination  to  preserve  the  prince 
at  all  hazards,  even  if  it  had  been  entertained  by  the  officers,  was  little  likely 
to  have  been  acquiesced  in  by  the  men,  consisting  almost  wholly  of  Malays, 
who  saw  in  his  surrender  their  only  hope  of  safety.  The  hope  was  fallacious, 
as  might  have  been  expected  from  the  treachery  of  the  enemy.  The  king 
commanded  the  destruction  of  the  whole  party.  The  adigar  is  said  to  have 
manifested  some  reluctance  to  violate  the  capitulation;  but  at  last  consented 

to  become  the  instrument  of  his  master's  revenge. 
He  prevailed  upon  Major  Davie  and  his  officers  to  accompany  him  out  of 

sight  of  the  men,  who  were  then  told  that  their  officers  had  crossed  the  river, 
and  that,  upon  laying  down  their  arms,  they  would  be  also  ferried  across  to 
join  them.  Conducted  in  small  parties  to  the  edge  of  the  river,  at  a  spot 
where  they  could  not  be  seen  by  their  comrades,  they  were  successively 
stabbed,  or  butchered  in  various  ways,  and  their  bodies  were  thrown  into  a 
contiguous  hollow.  At  the  same  time  the  whole  of  the  sick,  a  hundred  and 
fifty,  of  whom  a  hundred  and  thirty-two  were  British  soldiers,  were  bar- 

barously put  to  death,  the  dead  and  the  dying  having  been  thrown  promis- 
cuously into  a  pit  prepared  for  the  purpose.  Most  of  the  officers  were  also 

murdered,  or  died  shortly  afterwards.  Major  Davie  survived  till  about  1810, 
when  he  died  at  Kandy,  latterly  unmolested  and  almost  unnoticed. 

CRUELTY  OF  THE  KING  OF  KANDY 

The  recovery  of  his  capital  and  the  destruction  of  the  garrison,  inspired 
the  Kandian  monarch  with  the  ambition  of  expelling  the  Europeans  from 
the  island;  and  during  the  remainder  of  1803  and  the  ensuing  year,  repeated 
efforts  were  made  to  penetrate  into  the  colony.  Their  attempts  were,  how- 

ever, repulsed.  Reinforcements  were  sent  to  the  island,  and  the  British 
became  strong  enough  to  retaliate.  In  1805,  the  first  adigar  acquired 
additional  authority  by  the  indisposition  of  the  king;  and  a  cessation  of  hos- 

tilities ensued,  which  was  continued  by  mutual  acquiescence,  without  any 
express  armistice,  for  several  years. 

Whatever  may  have  been  the  designs  of  the  adigar,  Pilame  Talawe,  ia, 
.  his  negotiations  with  the  English,  he  remained  apparently  faithful  to  hisi 

sovereign,  until  the  king's  tyranny  and  cruelty  taught  him  fears  for  his  own. 
life.  He  then  engaged  in  open  rebeUion  —  was  unsuccessful  —  was  taken  and 
beheaded.  He  was  succeeded  in  his  office  by  Ahailapalla,  who  in  his  turn 
incurred  and  resented  the  suspicion  and  tyranny  of  the  king.  He  instigated 
a  rebellion  in  the  district  of  Jaffragam,  over  which  he  presided :  but  his  adher- 

ents fell  from  him  upon  the  approach  of  a  rival  adigar  with  the  royal  forces,, 
and  he  was  obliged  to  fly.  He  found  refuge  in  Colombo:  but  many  of  his; 

followers  were  taken  and  impaled.  The  king's  savage  cruelty  now  surpassed 
all  that  can  be  imagined  of  barbarian  inhumanity.  Among  a  number  of  per- 

sons who  were  seized  and  put  to  death  with  various  aggravations  of  suffering, 

the  family  of  the  fugitive  minister,  which  had  remained  in  the  tyrant's  grasp» were  sentenced  to  execution;  the  children,  one  of  them  an  infant  at  the  breast^ 
were  beheaded,  the  heads  were  cast  into  a  rice  mortar,  and  the  mother  was 
commanded  to  pound  them  with  the  pestle,  under  the  threat  of  being  dis- 

gracefully tortured  if  she  hesitated  to  obey.  To  avoid  the  disgrace,  the: 

wretched  mother  did  lift  up  the  pestle,  and  let  it  faU  upon  her  children's 
heads.  Her  own  death  was  an  act  of  mercy.  She,  her  sister-in-law,  and  some- 
other  females  were  immediately  afterwards  drowned.  These  atrocities  struck 
even  the  Kandians  with  horror;  and  for  two  days  the  whole  city  was  filled 
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with  mourning  and  lamentation,  and  observed  a  period  of  public  fasting  and 

humiliation.  The  king's  ferocity  was  insatiable :  executions  were  incessant, 
no  persons  were  secure,  and  even  the  chief  priest  of  Buddha,  a  man  of  great 

learning  and  benevolence,  fell  a  victim  to  the  tyrant's  thirst  for  blood.  A 
general  sentiment  of  fear  and  detestation  pervaded  both  chiefs  and  people, 
and  the  whole  country  was  ripe  for  revolt. 

THE   FINAL   CONQUEST   OF   CEYLON 

The  urgent  representations  of  Ahailapalla,  and  a  knowledge  of  the  state 
of  pubHc  feeling  in  the  Kandian  provinces,  induced  the  governor.  Sir  Robert 
Brownrigg,  to  prepare  for  a  war  which  was  certain  to  occur  in  consequence 
of  the  disorders  on  the  frontier  and  the  insane  fury  of  the  king.  Occasion 
soon  arose :  some  merchants,  subjects  of  the  British  government,  trading  to 
Kandy,  were  seized  by  the  king's  orders  as  spies,  and  so  cruelly  mutilated  that 
most  of  them  died;  and  about  the  same  time  a  party  of  Kandians  ravaged 
the  villages  on  the  British  boundary.  The  governor  immediately  declared 
war  against  the  king,  and  sent  a  body  of  troops  into  his  countiy.  They  were 
joined  by  the  principal  chiefs  and  the  people,  and  advanced  without  meeting 
an  enemy,  to  the  capital.  They  arrived  there  on  the  14th  of  February.  On 
the  18th,  the  king,  who  had  attempted  to  fly,  was  taken  and  brought  in  by 

a  party  of  Ahailapalla's  followers.  On  the  2nd  of  March  he  was  formally 
deposed,  and  the  allegiance  of  the  Kandians  was  transferred  to  the  British 
crown.  Vikrama  Raja  Singha  was  sent  a  captive  to  Vellore,  where  he  died 
in  January,  1832. 

The  change  of  authority,  and  the  substitution  of  a  new  and  foreign 
dominion  for  that  of  the  ancient  native  rulers,  however  acceptable  imder  the 
influence  of  popular  terror  and  disgust,  began  to  lose  their  recommendations 
as  soon  as  apprehension  was  allayed,  and  the  chiefs  and  people  were  able  calmly 
to  consider  the  character  of  the  revolution  to  which  they  had  contributed. 
The  chiefs  found  that  their  power  was  diminished  and  their  dignity  impaired; 
the  priests  felt  indignant  at  the  want  of  reverence  shown  to  them  and  to  their 
religion;  and  the  people,  sympathising  with  both,  had  also  grievances  of  their 
own  to  complain  of,  in  the  contempt  displayed  for  their  customs  and  insti- 

tutions, and  the  disregard  manifested  for  their  prejudices  and  feelings  by 
the  English  functionaries  and  their  subordinates.  A  general  rebellion  was  the 
consequence. « 

In  1817  it  broke  out  in  the  eastern  provinces,  and  was  with  difficulty  sup- 
pressed after  a  costly  and  sanguinary  warfare  of  two  years'  duration.  [Ceylon 

in  1843  and  1848  was  again  the  scene  of  insurrections,  but  these  were  unim- 
portant and  were  quelled  without  difficulty.  Otherwise  complete  tran- 

quilHty  has  prevailed  in  the  island  since  the  establishment  of  the  British 
iiile.] 

THE   ACCESSION  OF   SINGAPORE  AND  MALACCA   (1824  A.D.);  THE  CONQUEST  OF 

BURMA   (1824r-1826  A.D.) 

At  Singapore,  in  1819,  Sir  Thomas  Raffles  established  a  factory  on  the 
south  shore  of  the  island,  and  in  1824,  a  cession  in  full  sovereignty  of  this  and 
the  neighbouring  islands  was  obtained  by  purchase  from  a  person  who  claimed 
to  be  king  of  Johore,  and  was  afterwards  raised  to  that  throne.  Malacca  was 
ceded  to  the  British  in  1824  by  treaty  with  the  government  of  the  Netherlands. 

Had  Mr.  Canning  become  governor-general  of  India  when  his  appointment 
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as  successor  of  the  marquis  of  Hastings  was  resolved  upon,  it  may  be  doubted 
whether  he  could  have  carried  through  the  policy  which,  as  president  of  the 
board  of  control,  he  avowed  in  parliament  in  1819,  upon  the  vote  of  thanks 
to  the  marquis  of  Hastings  and  the  army  in  India:  "Anxious  as  I  am  for 
the  prosperity  and  grandeur  of  our  Indian  Empire,  I  confess  I  look  at  its 
indefinite  extension  with  awe.  I  earnestly  wish  that  it  may  be  possible  for  us 
to  remain  stationary  where  we  are ;  and  th^t  what  still  exists  of  substantive 
and  independent  power  in  India  may  stand  untouched  and  unimpaired.  But 
this  consummation,  however  much  it  may  be  desired,  depends  not  on  ourselves 
alone.  Aggression  must  be  repelled,  and  perfidy  must  be  visited  with  its  just 
reward.  And  while  I  join  with  the  thinking  part  of  the  country  in  depre- 

cating advance,  who  shall  say  that  there  is  safety  for  such  a  power  as  ours 

in  retrogradation?"  Of  the  prudence  and  wisdom  of  the  theory  of  pohcy  thus 
set  forth,  the  nation  at  large,  the  East  India  Company,  the  great  Indian  admin- 

istrators, never  appeared  to  entertain  the  slightest  doubt.  But,  practically, 
it  was  invariably  found  that  without  advance  there  would  be  retrogradation. 
It  was  in  vain  that  those  who  led  the  British  armies  in  India  must  have  felt 

what  Mr.  Canning  expressed  —  with  how  much  jealousy  the  house  and  the 
country  are  in  the  habit  of  appreciating  the  triumphs  of  British  arms  in  India; 
how  British  military  operations,  however  successful,  have  always  been  con- 

sidered as  questionable  in  point  of  justice.  Lord  Amherst,  who  in  March,  1823, 
embarked  for  India  as  governor-general,  had  to  pass  through  this  almost 
inevitable  process  of  entering  upon  a  war  of  conquest  with  the  most  sincere 
desire  to  remain  at  peace.  Within  six  or  seven  months  after  his  arrival  in 
India  he  had  to  write  to  a  friend  at  home :  "  I  have  to  tell  you  that  I  most 
unexpectedly  find  myself  engaged  in  v/ar  with  the  king  of  Ava."  This  was 
the  war  with  the  Burman  Empire,  which  involved  the  British  in  hostilities 
from  March,  1824,  to  February,  1826.  Before  the  middle  of  the  eighteenth  cen- 

tury the  name  of  Burman  signified  a  great  warlike  race  that  had  founded 
various  kingdoms,  amongst  which  were  Siam,  Pegu,  Ava,  and  Arakan.  The 
kingdoms  of  Ava  and  Pegu  were  in  a  continued  state  of  warfare,  in  which 
the  Peguans  were  ultimately  victorious.  Ava  had  been  conquered  by  them, 
when,  in  1753,  a  man  of  humble  origin  but  of  great  ability,  who  has  been  called 

"the  Napoleon  of  the  Hindu-Chinese  peninsula,"  raised  a  small  force,  which, 
constantly  increasing,  expelled  the  conquerors  and  placed  Alompra  on  the 
Burman  throne.  It  has  been  remarked  as  equally  curious  and  instructive, 
that "  the  last  restoration  of  the  Burman  Empire,  and  the  foundation  of  ours  in 
India,  were  exactly  contemporaneous.  Clive  and  Alompra  made  their  con- 

quests at  the  same  moment."  For  nearly  seventy  years  the  British  from  the 
Ganges,  and  the  Burmese  from  the  Irawadi,  pushed  their  conquests,  whether 
by  arms  or  negotiation,  till  they  met.  Their  inevitable  rivalry  soon  led  to 
hostilities.  The  Burmese  had  gradually  subjugated  the  independent  states 
which  formerly  existed  between  their  frontiers  and  those  of  the  company. 
Lord  Amherst,  in  the  letter  we  have  already  quoted,  describes  how  they 
seized  an  island  on  which  the  British  had  established  a  small  military  post, 
and  when  the  governor-general  mildly  complained  to  the  king  of  Ava  of  this 
outrage,  attributing  it  to  the  mistake  of  the  local  authorities,  a  force  came 
down  from  Ava,  "threatening  to  invade  our  territory  from  one  end  of  the 
frontier  to  the  other,  and  to  reannex  the  province  of  Bengal  to  the  dominions 

of  its  rightful  owner,  the  lord  of  the  White  Elephant." 
At  the  beginning  of  April  the  Bengal  army  embarked  for  Rangoon,  the 

chief  seaport  of  the  Burman  dominions,  situated  at  the  embouchure  of  the 

Irawadi  —  according  to  Lord  Amherst,  "the  Liverpool  and  Portsmouth  of 
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Ava."  This  important  place  was  taken  possession  of  almost  without  striking 
a  blow;  but  the  hope  of  the  governor-general  that  from  thence  he  should 
be  able  to  dictate  the  terms  of  a  moderate  and  therefore  lasting  peace,  was 
not  very  quickly  realised.  The  British  had  to  deal  with  the  most  warlike  of 
their  neighbours.  The  king  of  Ava  called  his  people  to  arms.  During  the 
rainy  season  they  had  abundant  time  for  preparation;  and  Sir  Archibald 
Campbell,  who  occupied  Rangoon,  felt  the  immediate  necessity  of  fortifying  it 
against  the  probable  attack  of  a  bold  and  persevering  enemy.  An  enormous 
pagoda,  more  than  three  hundred  feet  high,  became  a  citadel,  garrisoned  by  a 
battalion  of  European  troops,  and  the  smaller  Buddhist  temples  assumed  the 
character  of  fortresses.  During  June  and  July  the  Burmese  made  repeated 
attacks  upon  the  British  positions,  but  were  as  constantly  repelled.  On  the 
night  of  the  30th  of  August,  when  the  astrologers  had  decided  that  an  attack 
upon  this  sacred  place  would  free  the  country  from  the  impious  strangers,  a 
body  of  troops  called  Invulnerables  advanced  to  the  northern  gateway.  A 
terrible  cannonade  was  opened  upon  these  dense  masses,  and  they  fled  at  once 
to  the  neighbouring  jungle. 

The  Burmese  were  more  successful  in  their  offensive  operations  in  Bengal. 
Under  the  command  of  an  officer  called  Maha  Bandoola,  the  Arakan  army 
advanced  to  Ramoo,  and  completely  routed  a  detachment  of  native  infantry. 
The  alarm  was  so  great  in  Calcutta  that  the  native  merchants  were  with  diffi- 

culty persuaded  to  remain  with  their  families,  and  the  peasants  almost  uni- 
versally fled  from  their  villages.  The  Burmese,  however,  did  not  advance. 

The  British  had  taken  some  important  places  of  the  Burman  territory,  and 
Maha  Bandoola  was  recalled  by  the  lord  of  the  White  Elephant  for  the  defence 
of  his  Golden  Empire.  In  December  Maha  Bandoola  brought  sixty  thousand 
fighting  men  to  make  one  overwhelming  attack  upon  Rangoon.  For  seven 
days  there  was  severe  fighting.  The  Burmese  troops  were  repeatedly  driven 
from  their  stockades,  and  at  last,  when  they  advanced  on  the  7th  of  December 
for  a  grand  attack  on  the  great  pagoda,  they  were  driven  back  into  their 
intrenchments,  and  after  severe  fighting  were  chased  into  the  jungle. 

In  February,  1825,  Sir  Archibald  Campbell  began  to  move  up  the  Irawadi 
into  the  interior  of  the  Burman  Empire.  As  part  of  his  force  advanced  to 
attack  the  formidable  works  of  Donabew,  they  Were  repulsed,  and  the  retreat 
was  so  precipitate  that  the  wounded  men  were  not  carried  off.  The  barbarity 
in  warfare  of  the  Burmese  was  notorious.  These  unfortunate  men  were  all 
crucified,  and  their  bodies  sent  floating  down  the  river  upon  rafts.  On  the 
25th  of  March  Sir  Archibald  Campbell  undertook  the  siege  of  Donabew. 
For  a  week  there  had  been  an  incessant  fire  from  the  British  mortars  and 
rockets,  and  the  breaching  batteries  were  about  to  be  opened,  when  two 
Lascars,  who  had  been  taken  prisoners,  came  to  the  camp,  and  said  that  the 
chiefs  and  all  the  Burmese  army  had  fled,  since  Maha  Bandoola  had  been 
killed  the  day  before  by  one  of  the  British  shells.  By  the  possession  of 
Donabew  the  navigation  of  the  Irawadi  became  wholly  under  British  command. 

The  army  continued  to  advance,  and  Prome  was  occupied  at  the  end  of 
April.  The  rainy  monsoon  now  set  in,  and  there  was  a  suspension  of  opera- 

tions. In  the  middle  of  November  and  beginning  of  December  there  were  two 
great  battles,  in  the  latter  of  which  the  Burmese  were  thoroughly  discomfited. 
Overtures  of  i)eace  were  now  made,  but  their  object  was  only  to  gain  time. 
At  the  beginning  of  1826  there  was  severe  fighting  as  the  British  advanced 
towards  Ava.  Repeated  defeats  and  the  approach  of  a  conquering  army  com- 

pelled the  king  really  to  sue  for  peace  when  the  British  had  reached  Yandabu, 
only  forty-five  miles  from  the  capital.    The  vigorous  operations  of  Sir  Archi- 
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bald  Campbell,  who  had  defeated  a  large  army  styled  "the  retrievers  of  the 
king's  glory,"  had  finally  compelled  the  Treaty  of  Yandabu,  which  was  signed 
on  the  24th  of  February.  By  this  treaty  the  king  of  Ava  agreed  to  renounce 
all  claims  upon  the  principality  of  Assam  and  its  dependencies;  to  cede  in 
perpetuity  the  conquered  provinces  of  Arakan,  of  Yea,  of  Tavoy,  of  Mergui, 
and  of  Tenasserim;  and  to  pay  the  sum  of  one  crore  of  rupees  towards  the 
expenses  of  the  war.  He  further  agreed  that  accredited  British  ministers 
should  be  allowed  to  reside  at  Ava;  that  an  accredited  Burmese  minister 
should  reside  at  Calcutta;  and  that  free  trade  to  British  subjects  should  be 
allowed  in  the  Burmese  dominions. 

The  fierce  conflict  of  two  years  on  the  banks  of  the  Irawadi  presented  a 
memorable  example  of  that  courage  and  endurance  which  eventually  over- 

comes dangers  and  difficulties  apparently  insuperable.  It  has  been  truly  said 
by  Lieutenant-Colonel  Tulloch,/  an  officer  engaged  in  this  war,  "  Perhaps  there 
are  few  instances  on  record  in  the  history  of  any  nation  of  a  mere  handful  of 
men,  with  constitutions  broken  down  by  many  months  of  previous  disease  and 
privation,  forcing  their  way  in  the  face  of  such  difficulties,  and  through  a 
wilderness  hitherto  untrodden  by  Europeans,  to  the  distance  of  five  hundred 
miles  from  the  spot  where  they  originally  disembarked,  and  ultimately 

dictating  a  peace  within  three  days'  march  of  the  enemy's  capital."  During 
these  land  operations,  with  all  this  bravery  and  fortitude  of  the  little  army, 
it  would  have  been  impossible  to  succeed  without  the  active  co-operation  of 
a  flotilla  on  the  rivers.  The  naval  assistance  thus  rendered  is  memorable  for 

"  the  emplojmient  of  a  power  then  for  the  first  time  introduced  into  war  — 
steam.  The  steam-vessel  had  been  very  useful,  not  merely  in  carrying  on 
communications  with  despatch  but  in  overcoming  formidable  resistance." 

During  the  last  year  of  the  Burmese  War  the  East  India  Company  became 
engaged  in  a  new  conflict,  for  the  purpose  of  protecting  a  native  prince,  with 
whom  it  was  in  alliance,  against  an  usurper.  The  rajah  of  Bhartpur  (Bhurt- 
pore),  before  his  death  at  the  beginning  of  1825,  had  declared  his  son  to  be  his 
successor,  and  had  included  him  in  the  treaty  of  alliance  with  the  company. 
The  nephew  of  the  deceased  prince  raised  a  revolt  against  this  succession. 
Many  of  the  native  princes  looked  on  anxiously  to  see  if  the  British,  with  the 
Burmese  War  on  their  hands  would  put  forth  any  strength  to  maintain  one  of 
their  devoted  adherents.  In  the  streets  of  Delhi  the  populace  had  shouted, 

"The  rule  of  the  company  is  at  an  end."  The  prince  who  had  been  expelled 
had  been  assured  by  Sir  David  Ochterlony  that  he  should  be  supported.  Lord 
Amherst  was  at  first  for  non-interference.  He  knew  that  Bhartpur  had  been 
deemed  impregnable;  and  he  might  fear  that,  now  occupied  with  an  enormous 
force  by  the  usurping  rajah,  the  same  ill  fortune  might  befall  an  attack  upon 
the  place  as  had  befallen  Lord  Lake  in  1805,  when  he  was  beaten  from  the 
city  by  the  Jats,  who  had  ever  since  regarded  themselves  as  invincible.  The 
commander-in-chief  in  India,  Lord  Combermere,  in  his  Peninsular  experience 
as  Sir  Stapleton  Cotton,  had  seen  what  war  was  in  its  most  difficult  operations, 
and  he  could  not  despair  of  taking  an  Indian  fortress  when  he  recollected  the 
terrible  sieges  of  Ciudad  Rodrigo  and  Badajoz.  He  had  just  come  to  India 
to  succeed  Sir  Edward  Paget  in  the  chief  command.  Lord  Combermere, 
upon  his  arrival  before  Bhartpur,  addressed  a  letter  to  the  usurper,  requesting 
him  to  send  out  the  women  and  children,  who  should  have  safe-conduct. 
This  humane  request  was  not  acceded  to.  On  the  23rd  of  November  the 
bombardment  commenced.  On  the  morning  of  the  18th  of  January  the 

assault  began  at  the  signal  given  by  the  explosion  of  a  mine,  which  utterly 
destroyed  the  whole  of  the  salient  angle  of  the  fortress.    The  British  troops 
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rushed  in  at  the  breaches.  In  two  hours  the  whole  rampart,  though  obstin- 
ately defended,  was  in  their  possession,  and  early  in  the  afternoon  the  citadel 

surrendered.  The  formidable  works  of  Bhartpur  were  destroyed;  the  rightful 
prince  was  reinstated;  and  the  people  returned  to  their  allegiance.  ̂  

REFORMS   OF  LORD   WILLIAM   BENTINCK 

The  next  governor-general  was  Lord  William  Bentinck,  who  hp;d  been 
governor  of  Madras  twenty  years  earlier  at  the  time  of  the  mutiny  of  Vellore. 

His  seven  years'  rule  (from  1828  to  1835)  is  not  signalised  by  any  of  those 
victories  or  extensions  of  territory  by  which  chroniclers  delight  to  measure 
the  growth  of  empire.  But  it  forms  an  epoch  in  administrative  reform,  and 
in  the  slow  process  by  which  the  hearts  of  a  subject  population  are  won  over 
to  venerate  as  well  as  dread  their  alien  rulers.  The  modem  history  of  the 
British  in  India,  as  benevolent  administrators  ruling  the  country  with  a  single 
eye  to  the  good  of  the  natives,  may  be  said  to  begin  with  Lord  William  Ben- 

tinck. According  to  the  inscription  upon  his  statue  at  Calcutta,  from  the 

pen  of  Macaulay,  "He  abolished  cruel  rites;  he  effaced  humiliating  distinc- 
tions; he  gave  liberty  to  the  expression  of  public  opinion;  his  constant  study 

it  was  to  elevate  the  intellectual  and  moral  character  of  the  nations  committea 

to  his  charge."  His  first  care  on  arrival  in  India  was  to  restore  equilibrium 
to  the  finances,  which  were  tottering  under  the  burden  imposed  upon  them  by 
the  Burmese  War.  This  he  effected  by  reductions  in  permanent  expenditure, 
amounting  in  the  aggregate  to  one  and  a  half  millions  sterling,  as  well  as  by 
augmenting  the  revenue  from  land  and  from  the  opium  of  Malwa. 

His  two  most  memorable  acts  are  the  abolition  of  sati  (suttee)  and  the 
suppression  of  the  tkags  (thugs).  At  this  distance  of  time  it  is  difficult  to 
realise  the  degree  to  which  these  two  barbarous  practices  had  corrupted  the 
social  system  of  the  Hindus.  European  research  has  clearly  proved  that  the 
text  in  the  Vedas  adduced  to  authorise  the  immolation  of  widows  was  a  wilful 
mistranslation.  But  the  practice  had  been  ingrained  in  Hindu  opinion  by 
the  authority  of  centuries,  and  had  acquired  the  sanctity  of  a  religious  rite. 
The  emperor  Akbar  is  said  to  have  prohibited  it  by  law,  but  the  early  English 
rulers  did  not  dare  so  far  to  violate  the  traditions  of  religious  toleration.  In 
the  year  1817  no  less  than  seven  hundred  widows  are  said  to  have  been  burned 
alive  in  the  Bengal  presidency  alone.  To  this  day  the  most  holy  spots  of 
Hindu  pilgrimage  are  thickly  dotted  with  little  white  pillars,  each  commem- 

orating a  sati.  In  the  teeth  of  strenuous  opposition,  both  from  Europeans 
and  natives.  Lord  William  carried  the  regulation  in  council  on  December  4th, 

1829,  by  which  all  who  abetted  sail  were  declared  guilty  of  "  culpable  homi- 
cide." The  honour  of  suppressing  thagi  must  be  shared  between  Lord  Wil- 

liam and  Captain  Sleeman.  Thagi  was  an  abnormal  excrescence  upon  Hin- 
duism, in  so  far  as  the  bands  of  secret  assassins  were  sworn  together  by  an  oath 

based  on  the  rites  of  the  bloody  goddess  Kali.  Between  1826  and  1835  as 
many  as  1562  thags  were  apprehended  in  different  parts  of  British  India,  and 
by  the  evidence  of  approvers  the  moral  plague  spot  was  gradually  stamped  out. 

Two  other  historical  events  are  connected  with  the  administration  of  Lord 
William  Bentinck.  In  1833  the  charter  of  the  East  India  Company  was 
renewed  for  twenty  years,  but  only  upon  the  terms  that  it  should  abandon  its 
trade  and  permit  Europeans  to  settle  freely  in  the  country.  At  the  same 

time  a  legal  or  fourth  member  was  added  to  the  governor-general's  council, 
who  might  not  be  a  servant  of  the  company,  and  a  commission  was  appointed 
to  revise  and  codify  the  law.    Macaulay  was  the  first  legal  member  of  the 
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council,  and  the  first  president  of  the  law  commission.  In  1830  it  was  found 
necessary  to  take  the  state  of  Mysore  vmder  British  administration,  where  it 
has  continued  up  to  the  present  time,  and  in  1834  the  frantic  misrule  of 
the  rajah  of  Coorg  brought  on  a  short  and  sharp  war.  The  rajah  was  per- 

mitted to  retire  to  Benares,  and  the  brave  and  proud  inhabitants  of  that 
mountainous  little  territory  decided  to  place  themselves  under  the  rule  of  the 
company;  so  that  the  only  annexation  efTeeted  by  Lord  William  Bentinck 
was  "m  consideration  of  the  unanimous  wish  of  the  people." 

Sir  Charles  (afterwards  Lord)  Metcalfe  succeeded  Lord  William  as  senior 
member  of  council.  His  short  term  of  office  is  memorable  for  the  measure 
which  his  predecessor  had  initiated,  but  which  he  willingly  carried  into  execu- 

tion, for  giving  entire  liberty  to  the  press.  Public  opinion  in  India,  as  well  as 
the  express  wish  of  the  court  of  directors  at  home,  pointed  to  Metcalfe  as  the 
most  fit  person  to  carry  out  the  policy  of  Bentinck,  not  provisionally,  but  as 
governor-general  for  a  full  term.  Party  exigencies,  however,  led  to  the 
appointment  of  Lord  Auckland.  From  that  date  commences  a  new  era  of 
war  and  conquest,  which  may  be  said  to  have  lasted  for  twenty  years.  All 
looked  peaceful  until  Lord  Auckland,  prompted  by  his  evil  genius,  attempted 
to  place  Shah  Shuja  upon  the  throne  of  Cabul,  an  attempt  which  ended  in  the 
gross  mismanagement  and  annihilation  of  the  garrison  placed  in  that  city. 
The  disaster  in  Afghanistan  was  quickly  followed  by  the  conquest  of  Sind, 
the  two  wars  in  the  Punjab,  the  second  Burmese  War,  and  last  of  all  the 
Mutiny.  Names  like  Gough  and  Napier  and  Colin  Campbell  take  the  places 
of  Malcolm  and  Metcalfe  and^Elpianstone.* 

DETAiii  OF  Temple,  Madura 



CHAPTER  V 

FROM  THE  FIRST  AFGHAN  WAR  TO  THE  MUTINY 

[1835-1857  A.D.] 

In  1835,  Lord  William  Bentinck  resigned  the  government  of  India,  and 
Lord  Auckland  was  appointed  to  succeed  him,  but  did  not  arrive  at  Calcutta 
until  the  following  year.  In  the  meantime,  the  administration  was  conducted 
by  Sir  Charles  Metcalfe,  who  distinguished  himself  by  abolishing  the  strict 
censorship  to  which  the  press  had  till  then  been  subjected. 

Hindustan  had  never  been  in  a  more  tranquil  state  than  at  the  time  when 
Lord  Auckland  arrived  at  Calcutta,  in  1836,  invested  with  the  high  functions 
of  governor-general  of  the  British  eastern  empire.  All  then  appeared  to  pro- 

mise a  continuance  of  peace,  and  the  uninterrupted  progress  of  those  improve- 
ments so  steadily  and  effectually  pursued  by  his  predecessor;  but  the  calm 

was  not  of  long  duration,  and  the  attention  of  the  government  was  soon 
engrossed  by  the  affairs  of  Kabul,  which  led  the  British  armies  for  the  first 
time  across  the  Indus.* 

THE  AFGHAN  WAR  OF  1838-1842 

On  the  10th  of  September,  1838,  Lord  Auckland  proclaimed  in  general 
orders  his  intention  to  employ  a  force  beyond  the  northwest  frontier.  On 
the  1st  of  October  he  published  a  declaration  of  the  causes  and  objects  of  the 
war.  The  ostensible  object  was  to  replace  Shah  Shuja  on  the  throne  of  Kabul, 
the  troubles  and  revolutions  of  Afghanistan  having  placed  the  capital  and  a 
large  part  of  the  country  under  the  sway  of  Dost  Muhammed  Khan.  Shah 
Shuja,  driven  from  his  dominions,  had  become  a  pensioner  of  the  East  India 
Company,  and  resided  in  the  British  cantonment  of  Ludhiana.  Dost  Muham- 

med had  in  May,  1836,  addressed  a  letter  to  Lord  Auckland,  which  conveyed 
his  desire  to  secure  the  friendship  of  the  British  government.    He  was  desirous 
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of  obtaining  the  aid  of  the  British  against  Persia,  whose  troops  were  besieg- 
ing Herat,  and  to  recover  Peshawar  from  Ranjit  (Runjeet)  Singh,  the  ruler 

of  Punjab.  The  governor-general  in  1837  despatched  Captain  Alexander 
Burnes  as  an  envoy  to  Kabul.  Soon  after  the  arrival  of  Burnes  a  Russian 
envoy  arrived  at  Kabul,  who  was  liberal  in  his  promises,  but  whose  authority 
was  afterwards  disavowed  by  his  government.  Captain  Burnes  carried  back 
with  him  a  belief  that  Russia  was  meditating  an  attack  upon  British  India, 
having  established  her  influence  in  Persia;  that  Dost  Muhammed  was  treacher- 

ous; and  that  the  true  way  to  raise  a  barrier  against  the  amibition  of  Russia 
was  to  place  the  dethroned  Shah  Shuja  upon  the  throne  of  Kabul,  as  he  had 
numerous  friends  in  the  country. 

The  alarm  of  the  possible  danger  of  a  Russian  invasion  through  Persia  and 
Afghanistan  led  to  the  declaration  of  war  against  Dost  Muhammed  in  the 
autumn  of  1838,  and  to  the  preparation  for  hostilities  under  a  governor-general 
whose  declared  policy,  at  the  commencement  of  his  rule,  was  to  maintain  the 
peace  which  had  been  scarcely  interrupted  since  the  conclusion  of  the  Burmese 
War.  Unquestionably  there  was  a  panic,  and  under  such  circumstances  the 
heaviest  cTiarge  against  Lord  Auckland  would  have  been  that  he  remained  in 
supine  indifference. 

On  the  14th  of  February  the  Bengal  division  of  the  army  under  Sir  Will- 
oughby  Cotton  crossed  the  Indus  at  Bukkur.  The  Indus  is  here  divided  into 
two  channels,  one  of  which  is  nearly  five  hundred  yards  in  breadth.  The 
passage  of  eight  thousand  men  with  a  vast  camp-train  and  sixteen  thousand 
camels  was  effected  without  a  single  casualty.  Sir  John  Cam  Hobhouse,  in 
moving  the  thanks  of  the  house  of  commons  to  the  Indian  army,  in  February, 

1840,  read  a  glowing  description  of  this  passage.  "  It  was  a  gallant  sight  to 
see  brigade  after  brigade,  with  its  martial  music  and  its  glittering  arms,  march- 

ing over  file  by  file,  horse,  foot,  and  artillery,  into  a  region  as  yet  untrodden  by 
British  soldiers."  He  quoted  also  from  a  periodical  publication  an  eloquent 
allusion  to  the  grand  historical  contrasts  of  this  expedition.  "  For  the  first 
time  since  the  days  of  Alexander  the  Great,  a  civilised  army  had  penetrated 
the  mighty  barrier  of  deserts  and  mountains  which  separates  Persia  from 
Hindustan;  and  the  prodigy  has  been  exhibited  to  an  astonished  world  of  a 
remote  island  in  the  European  seas  pushing  forward  its  mighty  arms  into 
the  heart  of  Asia,  and  carrying  its  victorious  standards  into  the  strongholds 

of  Mohammedan  faith  and  the  cradle  of  the  Mughal  Empire."  The  Bengal 
army  was  preceded  by  a  small  body  of  troops  under  the  orders  of  Shah 
Shuja,  and  it  was  followed  by  the  Bombay  division  under  the  command  of 
Sir  John  Keane. 

Into  an  almost  unknown  and  untrodden  country  twenty-one  thousand 
troops  had  entered  through  the  Bolan  pass.  Sir  Willoughby  Cotton,  with 
the  Bengal  column,  entered  this  pass  in  the  beginning  of  April.  The  passage 
of  this  formidable  pass,  nearly  sixty  miles  in  length,  was  accomphshed  in  six 
days.  For  the  first  eleven  and  a  half  miles  into  the  pass  the  only  road  is  the 
bed  of  the  Bolan  river.  The  mountains  on  every  side  are  precipitous  and 
sterile;  not  a  blade  of  vegetation  of  any  kind  being  found,  save  in  the  bed 
of  the  stream.  There  was  no  sustenance  for  the  camels,  unless  it  were  car- 

ried for  their  support  during  six  days,  and  thus  along  the  whole  route  their 
putrefying  carcases  added  to  the  obstacles  to  the  advance  of  the  army. 

The  Bombay  army  sustained  considerable  loss  from  Baluchi  freebooters 
in  their  passage  through  the  Bolan  pass,  but  the  two  columns  were  enabled 
to  unite  at  Kandahar,  and  to  proceed  to  the  siege  of  Ghazni,  under  the  com- 

mand of  Sir  John  Keane.    On  the  22nd  of  July  the  British  forces  were  in 
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camp  before  this  famous  city,  built  upon  a  rock,  towering  proudly  over  the 
adjacent  plain.  The  intelligent  officers  of  the  army  could  not  have  viewed 
without  deep  interest  this  stronghold  of  Mohammedanism,  where  the  tomb 
of  Sultan  Mahmud,  the  conqueror  of  Hindustan,  was  still  preserved,  and 
where  Mohammedan  priests  still  read  the  Koran  over  his  grave.  The  sandal- 

wood gates  of  this  tomb,  which  in  1025  had  been  carried  off  from  the  Hindu 
temple  of  Somnath  in  Guzerat,  we^e  to  acquire  a  new  celebrity  at  the  close 
of  this  Afghan  War  by  an  ostentatious  triumph,  not  quite  so  politic  as  that  of 
the  Sultan  Mahmud.  At  Ghazni,  Mohammedanism  maintained  its  most  fana- 

tical aspect.  On  the  day  before  the  final  attack.  Major  Outram  attempted 

with  part  of  the  shah's  contingent  to  force  the  enemy  from  the  heights  beyond 
the  walls.  He  describes  that  over  the  crest  of  the  loftiest  peak  floated  the 
holy  banner  of  green  and  white,  surrounded  by  a  multitude  of  fanatics,  who 
believed  they  were  safe  under  the  sacred  influence  of  the  Moslem  ensign.  A 
shot  having  brought  down  the  standard-bearer,  and  the  banner  being  seized, 
the  multitude  fled  panic-stricken  at  the  proof  of  the  fallacy  of  their  belief. 
On  the  morning  of  the  23rd  the  fortress  and  citadel  were  stormed.  There 
were  great  doubts,  almost  universal  doubts,  at  home  as  to  the  policy  of  this 
Afghan  War.  There  could  be  no  doubt  as  to  the  brilliancy  of  this  exploit. 

On  the  29th  of  July  the  British  army  quitted  Ghazni.  It  entered  Kabul 
in  triumph  on  the  7th  of  August.  Shah  Shuja,  restored  to  his  sovereignty, 
was  once  more  seated  in  the  Bala  Hissar,  the  ancient  palace  of  his  race.  Dost 
Muhammed  had  fled  beyond  the  Indian  Caucasus.  The  country  appeared 
not  only  subjected  to  the  new  government,  but  trlanquil  and  satisfied.  As 
the  spring  and  summer  advanced  insurrections  bega.n  to  break  out  in  the 
surrounding  country.  Dost  Muhammed  had  again  made  his  appearance,  and 
had  fought  a  gallant  battle  with  the  British  cavalry,  in  which  he  obtained  a 
partial  victory.  Despairing,  however,  of  his  power  effectually  to  resist  the 
British  arms,  he  wrote  to  Kabul,  and  delivered  himself  up  to  the  envoy,  Sir 
William  Macnaghten,  claiming  the  protection  of  his  government.  He  was 
sent  to  India,  where  a  place  of  residence  was  assigned  to  him  on  the  north- 

west frontier,  with  three  lacs  of  rupees  (about  £30,000)  as  a  revenue.  But 
the  danger  of  the  occupation  of  Afghanistan  was  not  yet  overpast.  The 
events  of  November  and  December,  1841,  and  of  January,  1842,  were  of  so 
fearful  a  nature  as  scarcely  to  be  paralleled  in  some  of  their  incidents  by  the 
disasters  of  the  mutiny  of  1857. 

THE  MASSACRE  OF  KABUL;  THE  DESTRUCTION  OP  THE  BRITISH  ARMY  (1841  A.D.) 

The  British  at  Kabul  were  in  a  condition  of  false  security.  The  army 
was  in  cantonments,  extensive,  ill-defended,  overawed  on  every  side.  Within 
these  indefensible  cantonments  English  ladies,  amongst  whom  were  Lady 
Macnaghten  and  Lady  Sale,  were  domesticated  in  comfortable  houses.  Sir 
Robert  Sale  had  left  Kabul  in  October,  expecting  his  wife  to  follow  him  in 
a  few  days.  The  climate  was  suited  to  the  English;  the  officers,  true  to  their 
national  character,  had  been  playing  cricket,  riding  races,  fishing,  shooting, 
and,  when  winter  came,  astonishing  the  Afghans  with  skating  on  the  lakes. 

On  the  night  of  the  1st  of  November,  there  was  a  meeting  of  Afghan 
chiefs,  who  were  banded  together,  however  conflicting  might  be  their  inter- 

ests, to  make  common  cause  against  the  feringhees  (foreigners).  One  of 
these,  Abdullah  Khan,  who  had  been  active  in  his  intrigues  to  stir  up  dis- 

affection, had  an  especial  quarrel  with  Burnes,  who  had  called  him  a  dog, 
and  had  said  that  he  would  recommend  Shah  Shuja  to  deprive  the  rebel  of 
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his  ears.  He  proposed  that  at  the  contemplated  rising  on  the  2nd  of  Novem- 
ber the  first  overt  act  should  be  an  attack  on  the  house  of  Burnes.  Lady 

Sale  rf  in  her  journal  of  that  day,  says,  "  This  morning  early  all  was  in  com- 
motion in  Kabul;  the  shops  were  plundered,  and  the  people  were  all  fighting." 

Before  daylight  an  Afghan  who  was  friendly  to  Burnes  came  to  report  to 
him  that  a  plot  had  been  hatched  during  the  night  which  had  for  its  chief 
object  his  murder.  The  vizir  arrived  with  the  same  warning.  Burnes  was 
incredulous,  and  refused  to  seek  safety  either  in  the  king's  fortress-palace, 
the  Bala  Hissar,  or  in  the  British  cantonments.  A  mob  was  before  his  house. 
Perfect  master  of  the  language  of  the  people,  he  harangued  them  from  a 
gallery.  At  his  side  stood  his  brother  Charles,  and  Lieutenant  Broadfoot, 
who  had  arrived  to  perform  the  office  of  military  secretary  to  Burnes  when 
he  should  be  the  highest  in  place  and  power.  The  mob  clamoured  for  the 
lives  of  the  British  officers,  and  Broadfoot  was  the  first  to  fall  by  a  shot  from 
the  infuriated  multitude.  A  Mussulman  from  Kashmir,  who  had  entered 
the  house,  swore  by  the  Koran  that  if  they  would  cease  firing  he  would  con- 

vey the  brothers  in  safety  to  the  Kuzzilbash  (Persian)  fort.  The  three 
entered  the  garden,  when  the  betrayer  proclaimed  to  the  insurgents,  "  This 
is  Secunder  Burnes."  The  brothers  were  instantly  struck  down,  and  were 
cut  to  pieces  by  the  Afghan  knives.  Sir  Alexander  Burnes,  who  thus  perished 
in  the  thirty-sixth  year  of  his  age,  was  of  the  same  family  as  the  great  Scottish 
poet,  his  grandfather  being  the  brother  of  the  father  of  Robert  Burns. 

From  the  2nd  of  November  to  the  23rd  of  December,  the  position  of  the 
British  at  Kabul  became  more  and  more  perilous.  At  the  beginning  of 
the  insurrection  some  vigorous  resolve,  some  demonstration  of  the  power 
of  the  British  arms,  might  have  ensured  safety,  if  not  ultimate  triumph. 
There  were  four  thousand  five  hundred  good  troops  in  the  cantonments,  but 
there  was  no  one  effectually  to  lead  them  against  the  rebels  in  the  city.  There 
were  about  six  hundred  British  troops  in  the  Bala  Hissar.  General  Sale 
and  General  Nott  were  expected  with  reinforcements,  but  they  were  them- 

selves hemmed  in  by  enemies.  The  alternations  of  hope  and  fear  amongst 
the  unhappy  residents,  especially  the  women,  are  recorded  in  the  journal  of 
Lady  Sale.<^  In  the  first  week  of  December  the  troops  in  cantonments  were 
threatened  by  the  near  approach  of  starvation.  The  camp  followers  were 
living  upon  the  carcases  of  dead  camels.  Negotiations  were  going  on  with 
the  Afghan  chiefs  for  the  safe  retreat  of  the  army,  and  for  a  supply  of  pro- 

visions. They  were  protracted  from  day  to  day,  the  Afghans  requiring  as  a 
first  condition  that  the  forts  in  the  neighbourhood  of  the  cantonments  should 
be  given  up.  They  were  evacuated;  and  then  the  enemy  looked  down  with 
triumphant  derision  upon  those  who,  within  their  defenceless  walls,  were  per- 

ishing, whilst  the  supplies  which  had  been  promised  them  were  intercepted 
by  a  rabble  from  the  city.  Every  day  added  to  the  expected  difliculties  of 
the  retreat.  The  winter  was  setting  in.  On  the  18th  of  December  snow 
began  to  fall.  Macnaghten,  wearied  and  almost  desperate  amidst  the  bad 
faith  and  insulting  demands  of  the  chiefs,  received  on  the  evening  of  the  22nd 
a  proposal  from  Akbar  Khan,  the  son  of  Dost  Muhammed,  which  even  Elphin- 
stone,  enfeebled  as  he  was  by  illness  and  generally  inapt  to  offer  a  decided 
opinion,  regarded  as  treacherous.  On  the  morning  of  the  23rd,  according  to 
the  proposal  that  had  been  made  to  him,  Macnaghten,  with  three  friends, 
Lawrence,  Trevor,  and  Mackenzie,  went  out  about  six  hundred  yards  from 
the  cantonment  for  a  conference  with  Akbar  Khan,  the  sirdar  (the  title  which 
the  chief  assumed).  In  an  instant  they  were  seized  from  behind.  Lawrence 
and  Mackenzie  contrived  to  escape.    Trevor  was  murdered;  Akbar  Khan 
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rushed  upon  Macnaghten  in  the  endeavour  to  seize  and  detain  him.  "  The 
look  of  wondering  horror  that  sat  upon  his  upturned  face  will  not  be  for- 

gotten by  those  who  saw  it  to  their  dying  days,"  says  Kaye.c  "  The  only 
words  he  was  heard  to  utter  were,  Az  barae  Khoda  ('for  God's  sake!')-" 
Akbar  Khan  drew  a  pistol  from  his  girdle  —  it  was  one  of  a  pair  which  Mac- 

naghten had  presented  to  him  the  previous  day  —  and  he  shot  the  unarmed 
envoy  through  the  body.  Wonderful  to  relate,  not  a  gun  was  fired  from 
the  British  cantonments,  not  a  soldier  went  forth  to  avenge  the  murder  of 
the  British  minister. 

Major  Pottinger,  who  now  took  the  place  of  the  unfortunate  Macnaghten 
as  political  agent,  exhorted  the  military  chiefs  either  to  fight  their  way  to 
Jalalabad  or  forcibly  to  occupy  the  Bala  Hissar.  They  i)ref erred  to  capitulate. 
At  a  council  of  war  on  December  26th  a  treaty  was  ratified,  which  contained 
the  humiliating  conditions  that  all  the  guns  should  be  left  behind  except  six; 
that  all  the  treasure  should  be  given  up,  and  40,000  rupees  paid  in  bills,  to 
be  negotiated  upon  the  spot;  and  that  four  officers  as  hostages  should  be 
detained  to  ensure  the  evacuation  of  Jalalabad  by  General  Sale.  _  On  the  6th 
of  January,  1842,  on  a  morning  of  intense  cold,  the  army,  consisting  of  four 
thousand  five  hundred  fighting  men  and  twelve  thousand  followers,  began 
to  move  out  of  the  cantonments.  The  order  and  discipline  which  could  alone 
save  an  army  retreating  in  the  midst  of  a  hostile  population  had  no  place  in 
that  confused  mass,  who  were  without  food  or  fuel  or  shelter.  Akbar  IQian 
came  up  with  a  body  of  six  hundred  horsemen  to  demand  other  hostages  as 
security  for  the  evacuation  of  Jalalabad.  On  the  8th,  Pottinger,  Lawrence,  and 
Mackenzie  were  placed  in  his  hands.  Akbar  Khan  declared  that  he  also  came 
to  protect  the  British  and  Hindus  from  the  attacks  of  the  Ghilzais,  one  of 
the  most  fanatic  of  the  Mussulman  tribes  of  Afghanistan.  His  authority 
appears  to  have  been  exerted  with  all  sincerity  to  interfere  between  these 
cruel  assailants  and  their  victims;  but  it  was  manifested  in  vain.  The  dis- 

organised force  entered  the  pass  of  Khurd-Kabul,  which  for  five  miles  is  shut 
in  by  precipitous  mountains,  with  a  torrent  rushing  down  the  centre.  On 
the  hill-sides  were  the  unrelenting  Ghilzais,  who  shot  down  the  fugitives 
without  a  chance  of  their  being  resisted  or  restrained.  In  this  pass  three 

thousand  men  are  stated  to  have  fallen.  "  The  ladies,"  says  Lady  Sale,**  "  were 
mostly  travelling  in  kujavas  (camel-panniers),  and  were  mixed  up  with  the 
baggage  and  column  in  the  pass.  Here  they  were  heavily  fired  on."  Lady 
Sale,  who  rode  on  horseback,  was  shot  in  the  arm.  Her  son-in-law  was  here 
mortally  wounded.  On  the  9th,  Akbar  Khan,  who  had  arrived  with  his  three 

hostages,  says  Lady  Sale,<i  "  turned  to  Lawrence  and  said  that  he  had  a. 
proposal  to  make,  but  that  he  did  not  like  to  do  so  lest  his  motives  might  be 
misconstrued;  but  that,  as  it  concerned  us  more  than  himself,  he  would 
mention  it;  and  that  it  was  that  all  the  married  men,  with  their  families, 
should  come  over  and  put  themselves  under  his  protection,  he  guaranteeing 
them  honourable  treatment,  and  safe  escort  to  Peshawar."  Lawrence  and 
Pottinger  urged  the  acceptance  of  this  proposal  upon  General  Elphinstone. 
There  were  ten  women  and  thirteen  or  more  children;  six  married  men  went 
with  them,  with  two  wounded  officers.  It  was  better  to  trust  to  Akbar  Khan 
for  the  protection  of  these  helpless  women  and  children  than  to  continue 
their  exposure  to  the  attacks  of  the  cruel  tribes  whom  the  sirdar  could  not 
restrain,  and  to  the  horrors  of  a  continued  march  in  a  most  inclement  season. 

On  the  10th  of  January  the  small  remnant  of  the  force  that  had  left  Kabul 
on  the  6th  continued  its  march  towards  Jalalabad.  The  native  regiments 
were  nearly  annihilated  by  cold  and  hunger  and  the  Afghan  knife.    The  frost- 
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bitten  Asiatics,  who  still  crawled  to  a  narrow  defile,  were  unable  to  make 
any  resistance.  The  dying  and  the  dead  soon  choked  up  the  narrow  gorge 
between  the  precipitous  spurs  of  two  hills.  There  was  now  not  a  single 
sepoy  left.  Not  more  than  a  quarter  of  the  men  who  had  left  Kabul  now 
survived.  The  European  officers  and  soldiers  scarcely  numbered  five  hun- 

dred. They  would  have  fought  with  the  energy  of  desperation,  but  they 
were  hemmed  in  by  the  crowd  of  camp-followers,  who  from  the  first  had 
rendered  their  march  as  dangerous  as  the  assaults  of  their  enemies.  The 
next  day  Akbar  Khan  invited  General  Elphinstone  and  two  English  officers. 
Brigadier  Shelton  and  Captain  Johnson,  to  a  conference.  The  sirdar  required 
that  the  three  should  remain  as  hostages  for  the  evacuation  of  Jalalabad. 
Elphinstone  implored  the  Afghan  to  permit  him  to  return  and  share  the  for- 

tune of  his  troops.  The  two  officers  were  equally  unwilling  to  leave  their 
doomed  comrades. 

But  resistance  was  in  vain.  On  the  evening  of  the  12th  the  march  was 
resumed.  They  had  to  struggle  with  the  dangers  of  the  Jagdalak  pass,  in 
which  the  steep  road  ascends  through  a  dark  defile.  As  they  approached 
the  summit  they  found  a  barricade  of  bushes  and  branches  of  trees.  Here 
the  relentless  enemy  was  in  waiting.  A  general  massacre  ensued,  in  which 
many  of  the  remaining  officers  perished.  Twenty  officers  and  forty-five 
European  soldiers  were  able  to  clear  the  barricade.  The  next  morning  they 
were  surrounded  by  an  infuriated  multitude.  They  were  as  one  to  a  hun- 

dred; most  of  them  were  wounded;  but  they  were  resolute  not  to  lay  down 
their  arms. 

They  all  perished  except  one  captain  and  a  few  privates,  who  were  taken 
prisoners.  Out  of  those  who  had  been  in  advance  of  the  column  in  the  pass, 
six  reached  Futtehabad,  within  sixteen  miles  of  Jalalabad.  These  last  com- 

panions in  misery  were  three  captains,  one  lieutenant,  and  two  regimental 
surgeons.  Five  were  slain  before  the  sixteen  miles  were  traversed.  General 

Sale's  brigade  had  held  possession  of  Jalalabad  from  the  morning  of  the  13th 
of  November,  when  they  took  the  place  from  the  Afghans  by  surprise. 
From  time  to  time  they  heard  rumours  of  the  perilous  position  of  the  British 
force  in  Kabul.  At  last  a  letter,  addressed  to  Captain  MacGregor,  the  poli- 

tical agent,  arrived  from  Elphinstone  and  Pottinger,  stating  that  an  agree- 
ment having  taken  place  for  the  evacuation  of  Kabul,  they  should  immedi- 
ately commence  their  march  to  India.  In  the  absence  of  any  security  for 

the  safe  conduct  of  the  troops  to  Peshawar,  they  resolved  to  disobey  these 
instructions,  and  not  to  surrender  the  fort,  whose  defences  they  had  been 
assiduously  labouring  to  improve.  On  the  13th  of  January  a  sentry  on  the 
ramparts  saw  a  solitary  horseman  struggling  on  towards  the  fort.  He  was 
brought  in,  wounded  and  exhausted.  The  one  man  who  was  left  to  tell  the 
frightful  tale  of  the  retreat  from  Kabul  was  Doctor  Brydon. 

THE    RECONQUEST    OF    JALALABAD    AND   KABUL   (l842   A.D.) 

The  refusal  of  Sale  and  MacGregor  to  surrender  Jalalabad  was  that  heroic 
determination  to  face  the  danger  which  in  almost  every  case  makes  the 
danger  less.  Akbar  Khan  lost  no  time  in  besieging  Jalalabad.  Sale  had  well 
employed  his  enforced  leisure  in  repairing  the  ruinous  ramparts  and  clearing 
out  the  ditch.  He  had  made  the  place  secure  against  the  attack  of  an  army 
without  cannon.  But  the  garrison  was  not  secure  against  the  approach  of 

famine.  Akbar  Khan  with  a  large  body  of  horse  was  hovering  around  to  pre- 
vent the  admission  of  supplies.    On  the  19th  of  February  a  serious  misfor- 
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tune  called  forth  new  energies  in  these  resolute  men.  An  earthquake  to  a 
great  extent  rendered  the  labour  vain  which  had  been  so  long  employed  in 
the  repairs  of  the  works.  By  the  end  of  the  month  the  parapets  were  restored, 
the  breaches  built  up,  and  every  battery  re-established.  At  the  close  of 
March,  being  at  the  last  extremity  for  provisions,  the  garrison  made  a  sortie, 
and  carried  off  five  hundred  sheep  and  goats.  It  was  known  to  Sir  Robert 
Sale  that  General  Pollock  was  advancing  to  his  relief.  The  time  was  come 
when  a  vigorous  attack  on  the  enemy  without  might  have  better  results  than 
a  protracted  defence.  On  the  morning  of  the  7th  of  April  three  columns  of 
infantry,  with  some  field  artillery  and  a  small  cavalry  force,  issued  from  the 
walls  of  Jalalabad  to  attack  Akbar  Khan,  who  with  six  thousand  men  was 
strongly  posted  in  the  adjacent  plain. 

Every  point  attacked  by  the  three  columns  was  carried,  and  the  victory 
was  completed  by  a  general  assault  upon  the  Afghan  camp.  In  a  few  hours 
the  battle  was  over.  Two  days  before  this  victory  General  Pollock  had 

forced  the  Khyber  pass.  On  the  16th  of  April  Pollock's  advanced  guard  was 
in  sight  of  Jalalabad;  and  the  two  little  armies  were  united  in  the  exulting 
hope  that  it  would  be  for  them  to  retrieve  the  disasters  which  had  befallen 
the  British  arms.  Lord  Ellenborough  had  arrived  at  Calcutta  as  governor- 
general  on  the  25th  of  February.  The  close  of  Lord  Auckland's  rule  in  India 
was  clouded  with  misfortunes  which  fell  heavily  upon  a  proud  and  sensitive 
man.  His  policy  was  proved  to  be  a  mistake.  Nothing  in  the  annals  of 
Great  Britain  had  ever  exhibited  so  disastrous  an  issue  to  a  war  undertaken 
in  the  confidence  that  it  would  avert  the  possibility  of  an  impending  danger. 
When,  on  the  30th  of  January,  the  utter  destruction  of  the  army  of  Kabul 
was  known  at  Calcutta,  the  governor-general  published  a  proclamation  con- 

taining brave  words.  A  new  governor-general  had  arrived,  who,  appointed 
by  a  new  administration,  had  been  amongst  the  most  vehement  denouncers  of 
the  Afghan  War. 

The  successes  of  Sale  and  Pollock  had  renewed  the  confidence  of  the 

British  in  India  that  the  storm  would  soon  be  overpast.  They  had  inter- 
rupted the  hopes  of  those  native  powers  who  believed  that  the  rule  of  the 

"  Feringhees  "  was  coming  to  an  end.  Shah  Shuja  had  been  for  some  time able  to  maintain  himself  in  the  citadel  of  Kabul  after  he  had  been  left  to  his 
own  resources.    He  finally  perished  by  assassination. 

The  English  ladies,  children,  and  ofEcers^  who  were  treated  as  prisoners 
rather  than  as  hostages,  were  carried  from  fort  to  fort.  General  Elphinstone 
died  at  Tezoon  on  the  23rd  of  April.  At  the  end  of  April,  General  England 
had  forced  the  principal  pass  between  Juettah  and  Kandahar;  and  early  in 
May  had  joined  his  forces  to  those  of  General  Nott  at  Kandahar.  Ghazni, 
which  was  in  the  possession  of  the  Afghans,  was  recaptured  by  him  on  the 
6th  of  September.  General  Pollock  had  been  detained  by  sickness  and  other 
impediments  at  Jalalabad  to  the  end  of  August.  He  then  fought  his  way 
through  the  passes,  and  was  joined  by  General  Nott. 

On  the  15th  of  September  the  British  standard  was  flying  on  the  Bala 
Hissar  of  Kabul.  The  prisoners  of  Akbar  Khan  had  been  hurried  towards 
Turkestan.  The  khan  who  had  charge  of  them  agreed  with  the  English  officers, 
for  the  future  payment  of  a  sum  of  rupees  and  an  annuity,  that  he  would 
assist  them  to  regain  their  freedom.  The  advance  of  the  army  upon  Kabul 
secured  the  aid  of  other  chieftains.  On  the  15th  of  September,  the  hostages, 
the  ladies,  and  the  children  had  quitted  the  forts  of  the  friendly  khan,  and 
were  proceeding  toward  Kabul,  when,  on  the  17th,  they  were  met  by  a  party 
of  six  hundred  mounted  Kuzzilbashes,  under  the  command  of  Sir  Richmond 
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Shakespear,  who  had  been  sent  by  General  Pollock  to  rescue  them  from  their 
perils.  On  the  19th  a  horseman  met  the  party  alternating  between  hope  and 
fear,  to  say  that  General  Sale  was  close  at  hand  with  a  brigade.  The  hus- 

band and  the  father  met  his  wife  and  widowed  daughter.  Their  happiness  pro- 
duced "  a  choking  sensation,  which  could  not  obtain  the  rehef  of  tears."  The soldiers  cheered;  a  royal  salute  from  mountain-train  guns  welcomed  them  to 

the  camp;  the  joy  was  proportioned  to  the  terrible  dangers  that  were  over- 
past. On  the  1st  of  October  a  proclamation  was  issued  from  Simla  by  Lord 

Ellenborough,  which  stated  that  the  disasters  in  Afghanistan  having  been 
avenged  upon  every  scene  of  past  misfortune,  the  British  army  would  be 
withdrawn  across  the  Sutlej.  On  the  12th  of  October  the  army  began  its 
march  back  to  India.  Dost  Muhammed  was  released,  and  returned  to  his 
sovereignty  at  Kabul. 

Of  the  proclamation  dated  from  Simla  on  the  1st  of  October  there  was 
much  adverse  notice  in  parliament.  Mr.  Macaulay  maintained  that  it  was 
antedated;  for  that  on  the  1st  of  October  the  release  of  the  captives  on  the 
19th  of  September  could  not  have  been  known  to  the  governor-general;  and 
that  knowing  of  this  joyful  event  on  the  12th  he  omitted  all  mention  of  it, 
that  he  might  have  the  childish  gratification  of  insulting  his  predecessor  in 
the  vice-royalty,  by  dating  on  the  same  day  on  which,  in  1838,  Lord  Auck- 

land had  published  his  unfortunate  declaration  of  the  causes  and  objects  of 
the  war.  But  there  was  another  proclamation  by  Lord  Ellenborough  which 
his  ministerial  friends  could  scarcely  vindicate,  and  which  brought  down  upon 
him  the  bitterest  denunciations  of  his  political  enemies.    It  was  as  follows: 

FROM    THE    GOVERNOR-GENERAL   TO    ALL    THE    PRINCES,  AND  CHIEFS,  AND 
PEOPLE  OF  INDIA 

My  Brothers  and  Mt  Friends: 

Our  victorious  army  bears  the  gates  of  the  temple  of  Somnauth  in  triumph  from  Afghan- 
istan, and  the  despoiled  tomb  of  Sultan  Muhammed  [Mahmud]  looks  upon  the  ruins  of 

Ghazni.  The  insult  of  eight  hundred  years  is  at  last  avenged.  The  gates  of  the  temple  of 
Somnath,  so  long  the  memorial  of  your  humiliation,  are  become  the  proudest  record  of  your 
national  glory;  the  proof  of  your  superiority  in  arms. over  the  nations  beyond  the  Indus.  To 
you,  princes  and  chiefs  of  Sirhind,  of  Rajwarra,  of  Malwa,  and  of  Quzefat,  I  shall  commit  this 
glorious  trophy  of  successful  war.  You  will  yourselves,  with  all  honour,  transmit  the  gates  of 
sandal- wood  through  your  respective  territories  to  the  restored  temple  of  Somnath.  The  chiefs 
of  Sirhind  shall  be  informed  at  what  time  our  victorious  army  will  first  deliver  the  gates  of  the 
temple  into  their  guardianship,  at  the  foot  of  the  bridge  of  the  Sutlej. 

The  Hindu  temple  of  Somnath  was  in  ruins,  and  it  was  maintained  by 
those  to  whom  the  pompous  words  of  the  proclamation  were  distasteful,  that 
the  governor-general  meant  to  restore  it,  and  thus  to  manifest  a  preference 
for  one  of  the  great  rival  creeds  of  India — a  preference  which  the  policy  of 
England  expressly  forbade.  This  might  be  a  wrong  inference  from  the  words 
of  the  proclamation.  But  to  despoil  the  tomb  of  a  worshipper  of  Mohammed, 
that  honour  might  be  done  the  worshippers  of  Vishnu,  was  to  offer  an  out- 

rage to  those  sensibilities  which  more  than  any  other  cause  made  and  still 
make  the  British  rule  in  India  so  like  treading  on  beds  of  lava. 

THE   CONQUEST  OF  SIND 

In  Trafalgar  Square,  under  the  shadow  of  the  Nelson  Column,  is  a  statue 

of  "Charles  James  Napier,  General."  The  inscription  bears  that  it  was 
"erected  by  Public  Subscription,  the  most  numerous  Contributors  being 
Private  Soldiers."    This  renowned  warrior  is  ordinarily  termed  Conqueror  of 

H.  W. — vol,.  XXII.  L, 
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Sind.  He  had  also  a  claim  to  be  recorded  as  a  benefactor  of  mankind  in  his 
successful  endeavour  to  make  his  conquest  a  source  of  good  to  the  conquered 
people.    He  was  the  just  and  beneficent  administrator  of  Sind.e 

The  country  of  Sind  constitutes  the  most  western  limit  of  India  along 
the  southern  course  of  the  Indus.  It  was  conquered  by  the  Mohammedans 
in  the  commencement  of  the  eighth  century,  and  was  retained  as  a  depend- 

ency of  Persia  until  its  subjugation  by  Mahmud  Ghazni.  Upon  the  downfall 
of  his  dynasty,  the  Sumras,  a  race  of  chiefs  of  Arab  extraction,  established 
themselves  as  independent  rulers  of  the  country,  until  they  were  dispossessed 
by  the  Sumas,  who  were  Hindus,  and  who  professed  a  nominal  fealty  to  the 
Pathan  sovereigns  of  Delhi.  In  the  reign  of  Akbar,  Sind  became  more  inti- 

mately attached  to  the  Mughal  Empire;  but  the  government  of  the  pro- 
vince was  usually  entrusted  to  native  chiefs,  whose  degree  of  subordination 

was  regulated  by  the  ability  of  the  court  of  Delhi  to  compel  obedience. 
Towards  the  close  of  the  seventeenth  century,  the  Kalhoras,  a  race  of 

religious  teachers  who  pretended  to  derive  their  origin  from  the  Abassid  Caliphs, 
and  who  converted  their  reputation  for  sanctity  into  an  engine  of  worldly 
aggrandisement,  had  become  possessed  of  extensive  territory  in  Sind,  and 
usurped  an  ascendancy  in  its  government,  which  was  legalised  in  the  reign 
of  Muhammed  Shah  of  Delhi  by  the  appointment  of  Nur  Muhammed  Kalhora 
as  subahdar  of  Tatta.  The  vicegerent  of  Sind  was  speedily  relieved  from  his 
dependance  upon  Delhi,  but  was  compelled  to  pay  tribute  to  the  conqueror. 
Nadir  Shah.  The  death  of  that  prince  dissolved  the  connection  with  Persia; 
but  the  new  sovereign  of  Afghanistan  claimed  the  like  supremacy  over  the 
country,  and  Sind  became,  nominally  at  least,  subject  to  Kabul.  The  Baluchi 
tribes  acquired  a  leading  influence  in  the  affairs  of  Sind.  The  Talpur  chief 
Fath  Ali  finally  established  the  authority  of  his  family  in  Sind.  This  power 
he  shared  with  his  three  brothers,  Ghulam  Ali,  Karm  Ali,  and  Murad  Ali.? 

On  the  death  of  Fath  Ali  in  1801  the  three  continued  to  rule  together; 
and  when  Ghulam  Ali  was  killed  in  1811  the  duumvirate  remained  supreme; 
but  on  the  death  of  Karm  Ali  in  1828  and  Murad  Ali  a  few  years  later,  the  old 
system  was  revived,  and  a  government  of  four  again  instituted.  Such  was 
the  state  of  things  when  British  relations  with  the  province  [and  with  these 
mirs  or  amirs  of  Bind]  had  become  necessarily  an  urgent  consideration,  owing 
to  the  Afghan  expedition  of  1838.  During  this  crisis  of  Anglo-Indian  history, 
the  political  officers  in  Sind  and  Baluchistan  had  a  difficult  task  to  perform, 
and  it  is  infinitely  to  their  credit  that  more  mischief  did  not  ensue  in  these 
countries  from  the  many  and  heavy  British  disasters  in  the  north.'' 

Whatever  were  the  relations  of  these  rulers  to  the  people  whom  they  mis- 
governed, the.British  authorities  in  India  had  repeatedly  entered  into  treaties 

with  them,  and  in  the  treaty  of  1820  these  words  were  used:  "The  two  con- 
tracting parties  mutually  bind  themselves  from  generation  to  generation  never 

to  look  with  the  eye  of  covetousness  on  the  possessions  of  each  other."  But 
the  passage  of  troops  through  Sind  was  necessary  for  carrying  on  the  war 
with  Afghanistan.  The  amirs  remonstrated,  but  were  compelled  to  yield. 
Something  more  was  required  by  a  subsequent  treaty.  Karachi  and  Tatta 
were  ceded  to  the  British,  with  power  to  station  troops  there;  and  the  free 
navigation  of  the  Indus  was  stipulated  as  another  condition  of  Great  Britain's 
friendship.  At  an  earlier  period  some  of  the  amirs  had  expressed  their  fears 
that  Sind  was  gone  —  the  English  have  seen  the  river."  After  the  British 
had  withdrawn  from  Ghuznee,  and  when  the  terror  of  their  name  was  no 
longer  suflacient  to  command  a  compliance  with  enforced  engagements,  the 
amirs  began  to  manifest  hostile  designs.    Sir  Charles  Napier,  having  learned 
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that  they  had  assembled  an  army  of  twenty-five  thousand  men,  resolved 
upon  a  direct  and  immediate  act  of  hostility,  instead  of  allowing  them  to 
gain  time  by  delays  and  negotiations.  Boldness  and  promptitude  in  this 
short  war  effected  more  than  unlimited  reinforcements.  Emaun-Ghur,  in 
the  desert  of  Baluchistan,  was  a  stronghold  where  the  mercenaries  of  the 
amirs  could  gather  together,  safe  from  pursuit.  Napier  resolved  to  attack 
this  fortress,  whither  upon  his  approach  a  large  body  of  troops  were  march- 
ing. 

On  the  night  of  the  5th  of  January,  1843,  he  commenced  a  perilous  adven- 
ture.    With  three  hundred  and  sixty  of  the  22nd  Queen's  regiment  on  camels, with  two  hundred  of  the  ir- 

regular   cavalry,    with    ten 
camels  laden  with  provisions 
and    with    eighty    carrying 
water,  he  set  forth  to  tra- 

verse the  arid  waste,  defy- 
ing the  armed  bands  on  every 

side.    After  a  few  days  the 
camels  which  drew  the  how- 

itzers were  unable  to  drag 
them  over  the  sand-hills,  and 
the  unshrinking  Irish  soldiers 
took  their  place.    When  the 
fortress,  which  no  European 
eye  had   before   seen,    was 
reached,  it  was   found  de- 

serted.    The  governor  had 
fled  with  his  treasure,  but  he 
had .  left  immense  stores  of 
ammunition  behind.    Napier 
resolved  to  destroy  Emaun- 
Ghur;  and  having 
mined  it  in  twenty- 
four  places,  by  a 
simultaneous     ex- 

plosion all  the 
mighty  walls  of  the 
square  tower,  which  stood  as  it  were  the  monarch  of  the  vast  solitude, 
crumbled  into  atoms,  and  the  wild  bands  who  went  forth  to  plunder  and 
harass  the  populous  Sind,  had  to  retire  still  further  into  the  desert.  Napier 
and  his  hardy  companions,  after  undergoing  great  privations  on  their  march 
back  by  a  different  route,  rejoined  the  main  army  on  the  23rd  near  Hyder- 
abad. 

Ai-AROD-DEEN  Gateway,  Delhi 

Batth  of  Miani  (ISP  A.D.) 

The  British  resident  at  Hyderabad  was  Major  Outram.  On  the  12th  of 
February,  the  amirs  with  one  exception,  the  amir  of  Khairpur,  signed  the 
treaty  which  in  the  previous  December  had  been  tendered  to  them,  and 
which,  as  was  to  have  been  expected  from  its  hard  conditions,  they  had  evaded 

signing.  This  was  Lord  Ellenborough's  "final  treaty,"  which  Napier  was 
to  have  imposed  upon  them  by  an  immense  force.  The  day  after  the  signa- 

ture Major  Outram  was  attacked  in  the  residency  by  eight  thousand  Baluchis. 
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He  had  only  a  hundred  foot-soldiers  with  him.  In  the  river,  however,  there 
were  two  war  steamers.  To  these  he  effected  his  retreat,  by  presenting  a 
bold  front  to  his  assailants,  whilst  the  guns  of  the  steamers  swept  the  flanks 
of  the  pursuers.  With  the  loss  only  of  three  men  killed  and  two  wounded  the 
gallant  ofRcer  joined  the  main  army  under  Napier,  which  consisted  of  four 
hundred  British  of  the  22nd,  and  two  thousand  two  hundred  sepoys  and 
other  native  troops.  The  22nd  were  under  the  command  of  Colonel  Penne- 
father,  a  name  of  renown  in  the  Crimean  War.  The  artillery  consisted  of 
twelve  guns.  With  this  force  the  battle  of  Miani  was  fought  on  the  17th  of 

February.  On  this  day  Napier  wrote  in  his  journal,  "It  is  my  first  battle 
as  a  commander :  it  may  be  my  last.  At  sixty,  that  makes  little  difference;  but 
my  feelings  are,  it  shall  be  do  or  die."  Whatever  deeds  have  been  done  by 
heroic  Englishmen  under  the  inspiration  of  duty,  never  was  there  a  greater 
deed  of  warfare  than  the  victory  of  Miani,  which  was  won  by  two  thousand 
six  hundred  men  against  twenty-two  thousand. 

The  Baluchis  were  posted  on  a  slope  behind  the  bed  of  the  river  Fulailee, 
which  was  for  the  most  part  dry.  The  half-mile  between  the  two  armies  was 
rapidly  passed;  the  bed  of  the  river  was  crossed;  up  the  slope  ran  the 

intrepid  22nd,  and  from  the  ridge  looked  down  upon  the  Baluchis  "  thick  as 
standing  corn."  The  Baluchis  covering  their  heads  with  their  large  dark 
shields,  and  waving  their  bright  swords  in  the  sun,  rushed  with  frantic  ges- 

tures upon  the  front  of  the  22nd.  The  Irish  soldiers,  with  shouts  as  loud 
and  shrieks  as  wild  and  fierce  as  theirs,  met  them  with  the  bayonet,  and  says 

Sir  William  Napier,/ "  sent  their  foremost  masses  rolling  back  in  blood."  The 
native  infantry  came  up;  the  artillery  took  a  commanding  position,  and 
mowed  down  the  Baluchis  with  round-shot  and  canister.  Upon  the  slope 
went  on  the  deadly  conflict  for  three  hours,  the  assailants  rushing  upwards 
against  an  enemy  who  resolutely  held  his  ground,  the  gaps  in  his  ranks  being 
closed  up  as  fast  as  they  were  made.  The  result  was  at  one  time  uncertain. 
The  greater  number  of  the  European  oflScers  were  killed  or  wounded.  Napier 
was  in  the  thick  of  the  fight,  and  though  surrounded  by  enemies  was  unharmed. 
Like  Nelson,  his  daring  was  his  safety;  but  then  it  was  under  the  direction  of 
his  genius.  He  saw,  what  the  eye  only  of  a  great  commander  can  see,  the 
opportunity  for  closing  a  doubtful  struggle  by  one  decisive  blow.  He 
ordered  a  charge  of  cavalry.  Defying  the  guns  on  the  top  of  the  ridge,  the 

chosen  band  of  horsemen  charged  right  into  the  enemy's  camp.  Those  who had  so  long  stood  firm  on  the  hill  fell  into  confusion.  The  22nd  and  the 
sepoys  gained  the  ridge,  and  drove  the  Baluchis  over.  The  mighty  host  of 
the  amirs  was  thus  beaten  by  a  handful  of  troops  led  on  to  victory  by  one 
who  had  gained  his  experience  in  the  great  battles  of  the  peninsula;  by  one 
who  knew  that  large  masses  of  men,  however  brave  and  strong,  are  com- 
Earatively  weak  unless  their  movements  are  directed  by  some  master-mind, 
old  in  the  conception  of  his  plans,  cool  in  their  execution,  and  having  all  the 

resources  of  strategy  at  his  conmiand  at  the  instant  when  all  would  be  lost 
by  ignorance  or  incertitude. 

Sir  Charles  Napier  followed  up  his  victory  the  next  day  by  a  message 
sent  into  Hyderabad  that  he  would  storm  the  city  unless  it  surrendered. 
Six  of  the  amirs  came  out,  and  laid  their  swords  at  his  feet.  There  was  another 
enemy  yet  unsubdued  —  Shere  Muhammed  of  Mirpur.  On  the  24th  of  March 
Napier,  who  had  been  reinforced  and  had  now  five  thousand  troops,  attacked 
this  chief  who  had  come  with  twenty  thousand  Baluchis  before  the  walls 
of  Hyderabad  to  recover  the  city.  It  was  a  hard  earned  victory,  which  was 
followed  up  by  the  British  occupation  of  Mirpur.     The  spirit  of  the  Baluchis 
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was  SO  broken  that  after  two  slight  actions  in  June,  when  Shere  Muhammed 
was  routed  and  fled  into  the  desert,  the  war  was  at  an  end. 

Sind  was  annexed  to  the  British  possessions,  and  Sir  Charles  Napier  was 
appointed  its  governor.  He  ruled  the  country  for  four  years.  He  saw  the 
great  natural  resources  of  Sind,  and  he  led  the  way  in  rendering  them  avail- 

able for  commercial  purposes  by  costly  public  works.  The  great  branch  of 
the  Indus  was  opened  to  restore  the  fertility  of  Cutch.  A  gigantic  pier  was 
constructed  at  Karachi,  by  which  a  secure  harbour  was  formed;  and  now  the 
port  is  connected  with  the  Indus  by  a  railway.  He  made  the  revenue  of  the 
province  sufficient  to  support  the  expenditure  for  its  civil  and  political  admin- 

istration. But  above  all,  he  made  the  native  population  prosperous  and  con- 
tented under  the  British  rule. 

The  state  of  the  people  under  his  wise  government  is  thus  described  by  Sir 
William  Napier,/  the  historian  of  the  Sind  War:  "The  labourer  cultivates  in 
security  his  land;  the  handicraftsman,  no  longer  dreadmg  mutilation  of  his 
nose  or  ears  for  demanding  remuneration  for  his  work,  is  returning  from  the 
countries  to  which  he  had  fled,  allured  back  by  good  wages  and  employment. 
Young  girls  are  no  longer  torn  from  their  families  to  fill  the  zenanas  of  the 
great,  or  sold  into  distant  slavery.  The  Hindu  merchant  and  Parsee  trafficker 
pursue  their  vocation  with  safety  and  confidence;  and  even  the  proud 
Baluchi  warrior,  not  incapable  of  noble  sentiments,  though  harsh  and  savage, 
remains  content  with  a  government  which  has  not  meddled  with  his  right  of 
subsistence,  but  only  changed  his  feudal  ties  into  a  peaceful  and  warlike 
dependence.  He  has,  moreover,  become  personally  attached  to  a  conqueror 
whose  prowess  he  has  felt  in  battle,  and  whose  justice  and  generosity  he  has 

experienced  in  peace." The  close  of  the  year  1843  was  marked  by  another  great  military  success 
in  India.  The  state  of  Gwalior  was  in  1804  placed  under  the  protection  of 
the  British  government.  The  successor  of  the  rajah  who  died  in  1843  was  a 
minor,  and  a  regent  was  appointed,  with  the  approbation  of  the  governor- 
general.  The  regent  was  expelled  by  the  Mahrattas,  and  the  British  resident 
was  insulted.  Lord  Ellenborough,  to  whom  war  appeared  a  noble  pastime 
in  which  an  amateur  might  laudably  indulge,  immediately  sent  Sir  Hugh  Gough 
from  Agra  with  fourteen  thousand  troops;  and  on  the  29th  of  December  he 
fought  the  battle  of  Maharajpur,  when  the  Mahrattas  were  defeated  with 
great  loss.  On  the  same  day,  Major-General  Grey  also  defeated  the  Mahrattas 
at  Punniar.  The  usurping  government  immediately  submitted,  and  the  strong 
fortress  of  Gwalior  was  occupied  by  a  British  governor.  These  warlike  pro- 

ceedings, however  brilliant  and  successful,  were  not  acceptable  to  the  majority 
in  the  direction  of  the  East  India  Company.«  [In  the  next  year  they  recalled 
Lord  Ellenborough.] 

SIR  HENRY  HARDINGE  AND  THE  WAR  WITH  THE  SIKHS 

Sir  Henry  Hardinge,  who  had  served  with  great  distinction  in  the  Penin- 
sular War,  and  at  the  famous  battle  of  Waterloo,  where  he  had  the  misfortune 

to  lose  his  left  arm,  arrived  at  Calcutta  in  July,  1844,  and  began  his  govern- 
ment by  such  measures  as  were  most  likely  to  maintain  peace,  and  advance 

the  civilisation  of  the  country. 
Soon  after  his  arrival  he  published  a  document  stating  that,  in  all  appoint- 

ments to  public  offices  throughout  Bengal,  preference  would  be  given  to 
those  among  the  candidates  who  had  been  educated  in  the  government  schools, 
especially  to  such  as  had  distinguished  themselves  by  their  attainments;  and 
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this  regulation  was  to  apply  to  the  subordinate  as  well  as  to  the  higher  situ- 
ations; so  that  in  appointing  a  public  officer,  even  of  the  lowest  grade,  a 

man  who  can  read  and  write  is  preferred  to  one  who  cannot.  But  Sir  Henry's 
pacific  intentions  were  speedily  frustrated,  and  he  was  compelled  by  circum- 

stances to  engage  in  a  war,  the  final  result  of  which  not  only  extended  the 
JBritish  dominion  in  India,  but  was  probably  also  the  means  of  preserving  itfi 

Although  seceders  in  some  respects  from  the  orthodox  religion  of  the 
Hindus,  the  Sikhs  retain  so  many  essential  articles  of  the  Brahmanical  faith, 
that  they  may  be  justly  classed  among  the  Hindu  races.  In  the  original 
institution,  the  Sikhs  were  a  religious  community,  who,  in  consonance  with 
the  benevolent  objects  of  their  founder,  Nanak  Shah,  a  native  of  the  Punjab, 
proposed  to  abolish  the  distinctions  of  caste,  and  to  combine  Hindus  and 

Interior  of  the  Celebrated  Temple  at  Bameswaram 

Mohammedans  in  a  form  of  theistical  devotion,  derived  from  the  blended 
abstractions  of  Sufiism  and  the  Vedanta,  and  adapted  to  popular  currency 
iby  the  dissemination  of  the  tenets  which  it  inculcated,  in  hynms  and  songs 
-composed  in  the  vernacular  dialects.  These  still  constitute  the  scriptural 
authority,  the  Adi  Granth,  "  the  book  "  of  the  Sikhs.  The  doctrines  and  the 
influence  of  the  teachers  gave  a  common  faith  to  the  hardy  and  intrepid 
population  of  the  upper  part  of  the  Punjab,  and  merged  whatever  distinctive 
appellations  they  previously  possessed  in  the  new  general  designation  of 
*' Sikhs,"  or  "disciples,"  which  thenceforth  became  their  national  denomi- aiation. 

As  their  numbers  increased,  they  attracted  the  notice  of  the  Moham- 
anedan  rulers,  and  were  subjected  to  the  ordeal  of  persecution.  They  had 
xecourse  to  arms:  under  a  succession  of  military  leaders,  the  sword  became 
inseparably  associated  in  their  creed  with  the  book;  and  their  ranks  were 
recruited  by  fugitives  from  political   disorder  and  fiscal  oppression,  who 
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readily  adopted  a  faith  which  made  but  trifling  demands  upon  their  belief, 
and  differed  in  few  material  points  from  that  which  they  professed.  Com- 

munity of  danger  became  the  bond  of  both  a  religious  and  a  social  organi- 
sation, and  a  nation  grew  out  of  a  sect.  As  the  birth-place  of  their  founder 

Nanak,  and  of  the  teacher  who  in  a  still  greater  degree  gave  to  the  Sikhs  their 
characteristic  peculiarities,  Guru  Govind  Singh  was  the  Punjab,  it  was  there 
that  they  congregated  and  became  organised,  in  spite  of  the  efforts  of  the 
viceroys  of  Lahore  for  their  suppression,  until  they  had  become  masters  of 
the  whole  of  the  country  from  the  Sutlej  to  the  Indus.Sf 

Sir  A.  Lyall  *  calls  attention  to  the  fact  that  "  an  insurrectionary  move- 
ment is  always  particularly  dangerous  if  it  takes  a  religious  complexion." 

The  Sikhs  regarded  their  first  prophet  as  having  suffered  martyrdom,  and 
there  had  been  engendered  in  tneir  minds  an  abiding  hatred  of  Islam 
because  of  the  persecution  to  which  they  had  been  subjected  by  the  later 
Mughal  emperors.  Although  they  were  repeatedly  and  severely  punished, 
they  as  often  rose  up  again  against  their  oppressors.  Ahmed  Shah  over- 

threw them  with  great  slaughter  in  1761 ;  yet  a  year  later  they  retaliated  by 
killing  his  governor  at  Sirhind;  and  in  1764  they  revolted  at  Kandahar. 
Ahmed  Shah,  however,  managed  to  retain  a  fairly  firm  control  over  the 
Punjab  to  the  time  of  his  death  in  1773 ;  but  his  successors  were  less  power- 

ful, and  the  Sikh  confederation  became  stronger  and  stronger." 

RANJIT   SINGH  OF  LAHORE 

Ranjit  Singh  was  about  twelve  years  old  when  the  death  of  his  father,  in 
1792,  left  him  in  possession  of  a  large  territory,  of  which  his  mother  assumed 
the  government  during  his  minority;  and  being  an  ambitious,  unprincipled 
woman,  she  entirely  neglected  the  education  of  her  son,  as  a  means  of  retain- 

ing her  own  power;  so  that  the  boy  was  not  even  taught  to  read  or  write. 
She  became,  at  length,  so  unpopular  that  she  was  assassinated  —  some  say 
with  the  connivance  of  her  son,  who  assumed  the  government  at  the  age  of 
seventeen,  a  short  time  before  the  fall  of  Tipu  Sahib. 

It  happened  that  young  Ranjit  had  improved  the  opportunity  to  per- 
form some  service  for  Shah  Zaman,  king  of  the  Afghans,  who  in  return 

invested  him  with  the  government  of  Lahore  [1798];  and  after  the  dethrone- 
ment of  that  monarch,  Ranjit  asserted  his  independence,  and  with  the  gen- 

eral consent  of  the  ̂ ikhs  took  the  title  King  of  Lahore,  and  soon  established 

his  authority  over  the  whole  of  the  Punjab.  ' 
Ranjit  Singh,  being  anxious  to  keep  on  friendly  terms  with  the  British 

government,  concluded  a  treaty  with  an  envoy  sent  to  his  court  for  that  pur- 
pose, by  which  he  agreed  not  to  attempt  to  extend  his  territories  to  the  east, 

beyond  the  boundary  of  the  Sutlej  river;  but  this  treaty  did  not  limit  his 
ambition  in  other  directions;  and  during  the  civil  wars  of  the  Afghans  that 
followed  the  dethronement  of  Shah  Shuja,  he  made  great  additions  to  his 
iingdom,  both  on  the  south  and  the  west.  The  unfortunate  Shuja,  when  he 
fled  from  Kabul,  had  at  first  sought  shelter  at  Lahore,  where  he  was  detained 
ior  some  time  as  a  prisoner,  and  compelled  to  give  up  all  the  jewels;  so  that 
Ranjit  Singh  became,  in  1813,  the  possessor  of  the  famous  diamond  Koh-i-nur, 
which  signifies  "  the  mountain  of  light."  The  murder  of  Fatteh  Khan,  and 
the  consequent  breaking  up  of  the  Afghan  monarchy,  opened  the  way  for  the 
further  aggrandisement  of  the  king  of  Lahore,  who  crossed  the  Indus,  and 
thus  possessed  himself  of  Peshawar;  about  the  same  time  he  became  master 
of  the  beautiful  valley  of  Kashmir  [1819]. 
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THE   SUCCESSORS   OP   RANJIT  SINGH 

The  death  of  Ranjit  Singh,  in  June,  1839,  deprived  the  English  of  a  pow- 
erful ally,  and  the  eastern  nations  of  one  of  their  greatest  rulers.  This  illus- 

trious prince,  the  founder  of  a  vast  empire,  which  was  destined  to  fall  with 
him  to  whom  it  owed  its  rise,  was  succeeded  by  his  son,  Kharrak  Singh,  who 
survived  him  but  a  few  months.  The  funeral  obsequies  of  the  latter  were 
celebrated  with  the  sacrifice  of  one  of  his  wives,  and  on  the  same  day  his 
son  and  successor,  Nihal,  was  accidentally  killed  by  the  falling  of  a  beam,  as 
he  was  passing  under  a  gateway  on  his  elephant.  This  event  gave  rise  to 
much  confusion  in  the  state,  as  there  was  no  direct  heir  to  the  crown;  and 

one  party  supported  Dhian  Singh,  who  had  been  Ranjit's  chief  minister; 
while  the  opposite  faction  proclaimed  Shir  Singh,  another  prince  of  the 
family.  Such  was  the  state  of  affairs  in  the  Punjab  during  the  early  part  of 
the  Afghan  War,  and  consequently  the  Sikhs  were  too  much  occupied  with 
their  own  troubles  to  afford  that  efficient  aid  which  had  been  expected  from 
the  friendly  alliance  that  had  subsisted  between  the  British  government  and 
the  late  monarch,  Ranjit  Singh. 

The  British  government  took  no  part  in  the  dissensions  that  followed  the 
death  of  Kharrak  Singh,  but  maintained  a  friendly  intercourse  with  Shir  Singh 
in  order  to  secure  for  the  troops  in  Afghanistan  a  free  passage  through  the 
Punjab,  from  Kabul  to  British  India.  The  condition  of  the  country  was  at 
this  time  extremely  wretched.  The  great  Sikh  army — which  had  been  organ- 

ised by  Ranjit  Singh  on  the  European  system,  and  which  in  his  time  had  been 
a  powerful  force,  commanded  by  European  officers — was  now  disbanded; 
the  roads  were  infested  with  banditti,  who  plundered  the  villages  with 
impunity,  and  in  many  instances  set  them  on  fire;  so  that  the  miserable 
peasants  were  wandering  about  everywhere,  without  the  means  of  procuring 
food  or  shelter,  while  the  government  was  too  weak  to  afford  them  protection, 
and  the  king  was  regarded  in  the  light  of  a  usurper  by  many  of  the  greatest 
nobles  of  the  kingdom. 

Shir  Singh,  however,  maintained  his  seat  on  the  throne  until  the  month 
of  September,  1843,  when  he  was  assassinated  by  some  of  the  chiefs  in  his 
gardens,  during  the  celebration  of  a  public  festival;  his  son  shared  the  same 
fate.  The  citadel  of  Lahore  was  then  seized  by  the  conspirators;  Dhian 
Singh,  the  minister,  was  shot,  and  the  wives  and  children  of  the  murdered 
princes  were  barbarously  massacred.  But  the  success  of  the  insurgents  was 
of  short  duration,  for  they  were  defeated  before  the  close  of  the  same  day  by 
the  opposite  faction,  who  captured  their  leader,  and  placed  on  the  throne 
Dhuleep  (Dhalip)  Singh,  a  boy  only  seven  years  of  age,  said  to  be  a  son  of 
the  great  Ranjit.  The  government  was  conducted  by  the  minister  Heera 
Singh,  but  the  country  remained  in  a  very  unsettled  and  miserable  condition. 

The  rani,  or  queen-mother,  who  acted  as  regent  for  her  son,  disliked  the 
minister,  Heera  Singh.  He  was  murdered  in  a  rebellion  of  the  soldiers,  of 
which  she  was  believed  to  be  the  instigator,  in  the  beginning  of  1845;  after 
which  her  own  brother  Jewahir,  who  had  headed  the  insurrection,  was  made 
prime  minister,  and  remained  in  power  till  the  end  of  the  year,  when  another 
revolution  took  place,  and  he  met  with  a  fate  similar  to  that  of  his  prede- 

cessor. The  confusion  and  misrule  that  prevailed  at  Lahore,  and  certain 
indications  of  a  hostile  disposition  towards  the  British  government,  induced 
the  governor-general  to  send  several  regiments  to  the  frontiers,  to  protect 
the  British  possessions  in  case  of  invasion,  but  with  a  full  determination  not 
to  go  to  war  unless  the  safety  of  the  empire  was  endangered.    The  troops 
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were  stationed  on  the  banks  of  the  Sutlej,  which  is  the  largest  of  the  streams 
that  flow  into  the  Indus,  and  forms  the  eastern  boundary  of  the  Punjab, 
separating  that  country  from  the  British  territories. 

While  the  governor-general  was  thus  preparing  for  a  war  in  the  north  of 
India,  Sir  Charles  Napier  was  earning  fresh  laurels  in  Sind,  where  the  British 
authority  was  still  resisted  by  some  of  the  mountain  tribes,  whose  depreda- 

tions in  the  districts  around  the  locality  prevented  the  establishment  of  good 
order,  and  acted  as  a  check  upon  the  industry  of  the  peaceful  inhabitants. 
[In  January,  1845,  Sir  Charles  succeeded  in  reducing  them  to  submission.] 

FIRST  SIKH  WAR   (1845-1846  A.D.) 

In  the  mean  time,  the  signs  of  a  war  with  the  Sikhs  were  growing  more 
manifest,  till  at  length  little  doubt  could  be  entertained  that  they  were  con- 

templating an  attack 
on  the  British  terri- 

tories. Although  the 
rani  and  her  ministers 

pretended  to  the  Brit- 
ish authorities  that  the 

hostile  movements  of 
the  troops  were  not 
sanctioned  by  them,  it 
is  well  known  they  en- 

couraged the  invasion 
as  a  means  of  ridding 
themselves  of  a  turbu- 

lent soldiery,  of  whom 
they  were  in  perpetual 
fear.  In  short,  the  war 
was  determined  upon 
at  Lahore,  and  the 
Sikh  army,  consisting 
of  not  less  than  fifty 
thousand  warlike  men 
furnished  with  one 
hundred  and  eight 
pieces  of  artillery,  and 
well  trained  in  the 
European  system  of 
warfare,  advanced 
toward  the  Sutlej,  in 
hostile  array.  It  ap- 

pears to  have  been  an 
unprovoked  aggression 
on  the  part  of  the  Sikhs;  and  as  they  sought  the  war  without  a  reasonable 
pretext  of  quarrel  or  complaint,  they  are  not  entitled  to  that  degree  of  com- 

passion which  the  result  would  otherwise  have  called  forth.  The  greatest 
cause  of  regret  is  that  many  valuable  lives  were  sacrificed  in  the  contest. 

The  Sikhs  began  to  cross  the  river  on  the  11th  of  December,  and  took  up 
a  position  at  Ferozshaw,  a  village  about  ten  miles  from  the  populous  town 
of  Firozpur,  and  an  equal  distance  from  the  village  of  Mudki,  the  British 
headquarters.    Orders  had  been  sent  to  the  troops  at  Ambala  to  join  the 

m- 

Temple  and  Rotai.  Sepuixhre  at  Madura 
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army  without  delay;  and  by  forced  marches,  they  performed  the  journey 
(one  hundred  and  fifty  miles),  along  heavy  roads  of  sand,  in  six  days,  suf- 

fering greatly  from  fatigue  and  thirst,  as  no  water  was  to  be  procured  on 
the  way. 

On  their  arrival  at  Mudki,  on  the  18th  of  December,  they  found  the  enemy 
was  then  advancing  in  order  of  battle,  and  though  nearly  worn  out  with  toil 
they  had  scarcely  one  hour  to  rest  and  refresh  themselves,  before  the  action 
commenced.  It  lasted  from  three  o'clock  in  the  morning  till  some  time  after 
nightfall,  for  the  Sikhs  fought  with  the  utmost  bravery,  and  it  was  not  with- 

out considerable  loss  on  the  part  of  the  British  that  they  were  at  length 
driven  from  the  field,  leaving  behind  them  seventeen  of  their  guns,  which 
had  been  captured  during  the  engagement,  and  some  thousands  of  their 
fallen  comrades.  Among  the  distinguished  officers  who  fell  at  the  battle  of 
Mudki,  was  Sir  Robert  Sale,  who  with  his  wife  had  lately  returned  to  India, 
having  been  in  England  since  his  memorable  campaign  in  Afghanistan. 

After  this  defeat  the  Sikhs  returned  to  Ferozshaw  where,  for  three  days, 
they  occupied  themselves  in  raising  strong  intrenchments  around  their  camp, 
which,  on  the  21st  of  December,  was  attacked  by  Sir  Hugh  Gough,  who  had 
been  reinforced  by  a  detachment  of  troops  from  Firozpur.  This  was  a  more 
severe  conflict  than  that  at  Mudki,  for  the  Sikhs  had  the  advantage  of  firing 
from  behind  their  batteries,  which  could  not  be  destroyed  without  a  fright- 

ful sacrifice  of  fife.  Ere  the  close  of  day,  however,  this  was  partially  effected; 
but  the  issue  of  the  battle  was  still  uncertain,  for  while  it  was  yet  raging, 
the  night  set  in,  and  obliged  the  combatants  to  cease  for  awhile  their  deadly 
strife.  It  was  very  cold  and  dark.  The  weary  soldiers,  without  food  or 
extra  covering,  lay  down  among  their  dead  and  dying  companions,  exposed 
to  the  cannonading  of  the  enemy,  which  was  kept  up  during  the  whole  night; 
when  daylight  appeared,  the  attack  was  renewed,  the  enemy  put  to  flight, 
and  the  camp  taken. 

Seventy-three  pieces  of  cannon  were  captured  in  this  engagement.  But 
the  victors  had  scarcely  congratulated  each  other  on  their  success,  when  a 
fresh  army  was  seen  advancing,  led  by  one  of  the  chiefs  who  had  just  fled; 
and  the  British  troops  had  to  begin  a  fresh  battle  under  all  the  disadvantages 
of  exhausted  strength  and  spirits.  By  exertions  almost  superhuman,  this 
second  army  was  put  to  flight,  some  of  the  chiefs  killed,  and  the  British 
remained  masters  of  the  camp,  in  which  were  found  stores  of  grain  and  ammu- 

nition, both  of  which  were  greatly  needed.  The  whole  force  of  the  Sikhs 
who  had  taken  the  field  is  estimated  at  about  sixty  thousand;  while  that  of 
the  British  did  not  amount  to  more  than  twenty  thousand,  or  one-third  the 
number  of  their  opponents. 

The  Sikhs  had  retired  to  the  other  side  of  the  Sutlej,  and  were  assembling 
again  in  great  force;  so  that  it  was  evident  that  another  battle  would  soon 
take  place.  They  formed  a  solid  bridge  of  boats  across  the  river,  over  which 
they  came  in  parties,  on  plundering  expeditions;  and  about  the  middle  of 
January,  1846,  established  a  camp  within  the  bounds  of  the  British  terri- 

tory, where  they  soon  mustered  to  the  amount  of  about  twenty  thousand. 
The  position  they  occupied  was  opposite  the  wealthy  and  populous  city  of 
Ludhiana,  and  Major-General  Sir  Harry  Smith  was  despatched  from  the  main 
army  with  a  body  of  troops  to  unite  with  those  remaining  there  for  the  pur- 

pose of  repelling  any  attacks  in  that  quarter.  The  enemy  was  posted  so  as 
to  intercept  his  march,  and  the  two  armies  met  at  the  village  of  Aliwal,  which 
has  given  its  name  to  one  of  the  most  memorable  battles  recorded  in  the  his- 

tory of  British  India. 
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The  battle  of  Alrwal  was  fought  on  the  28th  of  January,  1846,  and  ended 
in  a  complete  victory  over  the  enemy,  whose  loss  was  terrific;  for,  in  addition 
to  the  many  hundred  slain  in  the  combat,  great  numbers  perished  in  their 
despairing  efforts  to  make  their  way  across  the  river.  Rich  shawls  and  gold 
bracelets  in  abundance  fell  into  the  hands  of  the  victors.  The  immediate  con- 

sequence of  this  engagement  was  that  the  whole  of  the  territory  on  the  left 
bank  of  the  Sutlej  submitted  to  the  British  government,  and  the  Lahore 
troops  evacuated  every  fort  that  they  had  held  on  that  side  of  the  river. 

But  the  main  body  of  the  Sikh  army  was  still  encamped  on  the  opposite 
side  of  their  fortified  bridge  at  the  village  of  Sobraon,  and  yet  numbered 
about  thirty  thousand  men,  while  it  had  seventy  pieces  of  cannon  remaining; 
added  to  which,  they  occupied  a  fort  that  was  very  strongly  fortified;  so 
that  the  British  troops  had  before  them  the  prospect  of  another  sanguinary 
engagement. 

Sir  Harry  Smith,  with  his  forces,  rejoined  the  commander-in-chief,  and 
on  the  10th  of  February  the  battle  of  Sobraon  terminated  this  eventful  cam- 

paign. The  intrenched  camp  was  attacked  and  taken  by  storm,  after  a 
most  desperate  struggle,  in  which  thirteen  British  officers  were  killed,  and 
about  one  hundred  wounded,  the  losses  in  the  ranks  being  great  in  propor- 

tion. The  victory,  however,  although  so  dearly  purchased,  was  a  decisive 
one.  The  Sikh  army  was  almost  totally  destroyed,  every  gun  captured,  and 
it  seemed  as  if  scarcely  a  vestige  was  left  of  that  formidable  power  which  had 
so  seriously  threatened  the  perpetuation  of  the  British  dominion  in  India. 
Immediately  after  the  battle  of  Sobraon,  the  victorious  generals  encamped 
in  the  Punjab,  at  Kussoor,  about  sixteen  miles  from  the  bank  of  the  river 
and  thirty-two  from  the  capital. 

In  the  mean  time  the  utmost  confusion  prevailed  at  the  court  of  Lahore, 
where  a  very  remarkable  person  was  acting  in  the  capacity  of  prime  minister. 
This  was  the  rajah  Gulab  Singh,  the  uncle  of  Heera,  and  brother  of  Dhian 
Singh.  He  was  a  powerful  chief,  with  plenty  of  men  and  money  at  his  com- 

mand; but  since  the  death  of  his  brother,  Dhian,  he  had  resided  at  his  for- 
tress of  Jamu,  among  the  mountains,  watching  the  course  of  public  events. 

On  the  breaking  out  of  the  war,  he  brought  his  army,  with  abundance  of 
stores  and  money,  to  the  capital,  but  avoided  taking  any  decided  part  in  the 
contest. 

After  the  battle  of  Aliwal,  the  rani,  though  his  personal  enemy,  was  in- 
duced to  appoint  him  prime  minister,  in  the  hope  of  obtaining  his  assistance, 

which  he  did  not  refuse,  but  still  delayed  his  departure  for  the  camp,  under 
various  pretences,  and  was  yet  at  Lahore  when  the  news  of  the  total  defeat  of 
the  army  at  Sobraon  changed  the  whole  face  of  affairs.  The  rani  and  her 
party  were  now  anxious  to  make  peace  on  the  best  terms  they  could,  and 
Gulab  Singh  was  commissioned  to  proceed  at  once  to  the  British  camp  for 
that  purpose.  The  rajah  wisely  insisted  that  they  should  first  sign  an  agree- 

ment to  abide  by  such  terms  as  he  should  make;  and  thus  invested  with  full 
power  to  negotiate,  he  arrived  at  Kussoor  on  the  15th  of  February,  accom- 

panied by  several  of  the  most  influential  of  the  sirdars. 
The  governor-general  received  him  without  the  usual  ceremonies;  and 

after  alluding  to  the  unjustifiable  conduct  of  the  Sikh  government  in  begin- 
ning a  war  without  the  slightest  pretext,  he  referred  the  minister  to  his 

agent  and  secretary,  who  were  in  possession  of  the  terms  on  which  he  would 
pardon  the  late  aggression,  and  renew  the  friendly  alliance  between  the  Sikh 
and  British  governments.  These  conditions  were  the  cession  of  the  whole 
territory  between  the  Sutlej  and  Beas  rivers;  the  payment  of  a  million  and 
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a  half  eterling,  as  an  indemnity  for  the  expenses  of  the  war;  the  surrender 
of  all  the  rest  of  the  cannon  that  had  been  pointed  against  the  British;  and 
the  total  disbanding  of  the  army,  to  be  newly  constituted  upon  principles 
approved  by  the  British  government. 

The  rajah  signed  the  treaty,  and  the  governor-general  issued  a  proclama- 
tion to  the  effect  that,  as  he  had  been  forced  into  this  war  by  an  unprovoked 

attack  on  the  part  of  the  Sikhs,  he  felt  it  necessary  to  adopt  such  measures 
as  would  secure  the  British  dominions  from  such  aggressions  in  future;  and 
that,  as  it  was  not  the  wish  of  the  British  government  to  take  advantage  of 
the  success  of  its  arms  to  enlarge  its  territories,  he  should  endeavour  to  re- 

establish the  Sikh  government  in  the  Punjab,  on  such  a  footing  as  should 

enable  it  to  exercise  authority  over  its  soldiers  and  protect  its  subjects."  It 
was  then  stipulated  that  the  maharajah  and  principal  chiefs  should  repair  to 
the  British  camp  to  tender  their  submission.  The  summons  was  promptly 
obeyed,  and  the  young  prince,  mounted  on  an  elephant,  and  attended  by 
Gulab  Singh  and  about  twelve  of  the  sirdars,  had  an  interview  with  the 
governor-general,  when  his  submission  was  tendered  by  the  minister,  and 
it  was  then  declared  that  he  would  in  future  be  treated  as  a  friend  and  ally. 

These  arrangements  being  all  completed,  Dhuleep  Singh,  who  was  only 
ten  years  of  age,  was  conducted  back  in  state  to  his  palace  in  the  citadel  of 
Lahore  by  a  large  escort  of  European  and  native  troops,  who  formed  alto- 

gether a  grand  and  imposing  spectacle;  the  youthful  sovereign,  surrounded 
by  his  chiefs,  in  all  the  pomp  of  barbaric  splendour,  riding  amid  the  victori- 

ous troops,  who  might  be  regarded  as  both  his  conquerors  and  protectors. 
The  treaty  of  peace  had,  however,  still  to  be  ratified,  and  as  the  Lahore 

government  was  not  able  to  pay  the  sum  that  had  been  stated,  it  became 
necessary  to  alter  the  conditions.  It  was  therefore  settled  that  half  a  mil- 

lion in  money  should  be  paid,  instead  of  one  million  and  a  half;  and  that  as 
an  equivalent  f9r  the  deficient  million,  all  the  country  should  be  ceded  that 
lies  between  the  Beas  and  the  Indus,  including  the  beautiful  vale  of  Kashmir. 
The  greater  part  of  this  territory  was  bestowed  in  full  sovereignty  on  Gulab 
Singh,  in  consideration  of  the  neutrality  he  preserved  during  the  war;  and 
he,  in  return  for  so  valuable  an  acquisition  of  territory,  was  to  pay  seventy- 
five  lacs  of  rupees,  equal  to  £800,000. 

A  treaty  containing  sixteen  articles  was  drawn  up  and  signed  at  Lahore, 
on  the  10th  of  March,  1846,  by  the  representatives  of  the  late  contending 
powers,  and  was  afterwards  confirmed  by  the  seals  of  the  governor-general 
and  the  maharajah.  A  separate  treaty  was  then  concluded  with  Gulab 
Singh,  who  thus  became  a  sovereign  prince  under  the  supremacy  of  the 
British  government,  which  he  was  to  acknowledge  by  an  annual  present,  or 
tribute,  of  a  horse,  twelve  shawl-goats,  and  three  pairs  of  Kashmir  shawls; 
besides  which,  like  the  crown  vassals  of  feudal  times,  he  was  bound  to  assist 
the  superior  power,  with  all  his  military  force,  in  any  wars  in  the  states 
adjoining  his  territories. 

The  queen-mother  remained  at  the  head  of  the  government,  and  a  body 
of  British  troops  was  stationed  at  Lahore  for  the  protection  of  the  maharajah, 
who,  when  these  arrangements  were  completed,  received  a  visit  of  congratu- 

lation from  the  governor-general,  accompanied  by  the  conunander-in-chief 
and  other  distinguished  British  officers.  The  dissolute  rani,  mother  of  the 
young  maharajah,  was  not,  however,  long  in  the  responsible  position  in  which 
she  had  been  permitted  to  remain;  for,  being  detected  in  a  conspiracy  against 
the  peace  of  the  country,  the  British  government  determined  to  check  it  in 
the  bud.    She  was,  therefore,  seized  and  conveyed  to  a  fortress  about  twenty 
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miles  from  Lahore,  and  there  placed  in  close  confinement.  The  earl  of  Dal- 
housie  was  appointed  in  November,  1847,  to  succeed  Sir  Henry  Hardinge  as 
governor-general.  He  arrived  in  India  and  assumed  the  reins  of  government 
early  in  the  following  year .6 

DALHOUSIE's  governorship  and  the  second  SIKH  WAR   (1848-1849  A.D.) 

Peace  was  not  long  preserved.  The  governor  of  Multan,  Diwan  Mulraj, 
desired  to  resign.  Two  English  officers  sent  by  the  resident  to  take  over 
charge  of  the  fort  were  murdered,  the  19th  of  April,  1848,  and  their  escort 
went  over  to  the  diwan.  Another  of  the  assistants  to  the  resident.  Lieutenant 
Herbert  Edwardes,  then  in  the  Derajat,  west  of  the  Indus,  hearing  of  the 
attack  on  the  two  officers,  hastened  to  their  assistance.  On  hearing  of  their 
fate  he  collected  a  force  with  which  to  attack  the  Multan  army  while  the 
insurrection  was  yet  local.  This  he  did  with  signal  success.  But  Multan 
could  not  fall  before  such  means  as  he  possessed.  The  movement  spread,  the 
operations  widened,  and  the  Sikh  and  English  forces  were  in  the  field  againJ 

The  Battles  of  Chilianwala,  Multan,  and  Gujrat  (ISlfi  A.D.) 

On  the  13th  of  January,  1849,  the  British  forces  under  Lord  Gough  came 
in  sight  of  the  encampment  of  the  enemy  at  Chilianwala.  It  was  Lord 

Gough's  intention  not  to  attack  the  enemy  so  late  in  the  day,  but  Shir  Singh, 
the  commander  of  the  Sikh  troops,  knew  the  ground;  he  had  possession  of  the 
jungle,  and  he  knew,  also,  the  reckless  bravery  of  his  antagonist.  It  suited 
his  purpose  that  the  conflict  should  be  immediate.  He  allowed  a  few  of  his 
advanced  posts  to  be  overpowered,  that  the  enemy  might  be  enticed  on;  and 
when  Lord  Gough  was  close  enough,  the  Sikh  batteries  opened  upon  him. 
The  Sikh  artillery,  well  placed  and  well  plied,  made  fearful  havoc.  The 
British  guns,  pointed  against  the  jungle,  could  do  no  such  damage  as  the 
artillery  of  the  enemy.  A  loss  of  about  one  himdred  officers  and  two  thousand 

five  hundred  men,  on  the  part  of  the  British,  was  the  result.  "Although," 
says  Lord  Gough,  in  his  despatches,  "  the  enemy,  who  defended  not  only  his 
guns  but  his  position  with  desperation,  was  driven,  in  much  confusion  and 
with  heavy  loss,  from  every  part  of  it,  and  the  greater  part  of  his  field  artillery 
was  actually  captured,  the  march  of  brigades  to  their  flanks  to  repel  parties 
that  had  rallied,  and  the  want  of  numbers  and  consequent  support  to  our 
right  flank,  aided  by  the  cover  of  the  jungle  and  the  close  of  the  day,  enabled 
him,  upon  our  further  advance  in  pursuit,  to  return  and  carry  off,  unobserved, 
the  greater  portion  of  the  guns  we  had  thus  gallantly  carried  at  the  point  of 

the  bayonet." Such  was  the  battle  of  Chilianwala:  the  bravery  of  the  British  troops 
and  their  commander  achieved  a  barren  victory  over  a  formidable  enemy, 
who  had  all  the  advantages  of  position  in  his  favor.  After  a  battle  so  disas- 

trous on  both  sides,  the  two  armies  encamped  within  four  miles  of  each  other 
to  recruit  their  exhausted  energies  and  to  prepare,  on  the  arrival  of  reinforce- 

ments, for  another  encounter  which  might  prove  more  decisive,  if  not  less 
bloody,  than  that  of  Chilianwala.  There  we  will  for  the  present  leave  them, 
and  return  to  Multan,  and  give  in  brief  the  details  of  an  attack,  which  resulted 
in  the  capture  of  this  almost  impregnable  fortress  and  city. 

Mulraj  had  about  nine  thousand  men,  and  the  besieging  army  under 
General  Whish  amounted  to  about  twenty-eight  thousand,  well  provided. 
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The  operations  began  on  the  27th  of  December,  by  an  attack  upon  two  several 

points  of  the  suburbs,  which  were  carried  at  the  bayonet's  point;  and  after 
bombardment,  breach,  and  storm,  lasting,  with  but  slight  intervals  of  repose, 
for  six  days,  the  British  flag  was  planted  upon  the  walls  of  Multan  by  a  ser- 

geant-major of  the  company's  fusiliers.  A  perfect  storm  of  bullets  for  a  time 
flew  around  him;  the  colour  was  torn  in  tatters,  and  the  staff  broken.  For  an 
instant  no  one  could  reach  hitn;  but  there  he  stood  cheering  his  comrades  to 
come  on.  There  was  no  need  of  exhortation  —  onward  they  pressed,  the 
enemy  doggedly  retiring  before  them,  and  fighting  as  they  withdrew.  The 
walls  were  scaled  about  three  o'clock  on  the  2nd  of  January;  by  sunset  the 
city  was  fully  in  possession  of  the  besieging  forces.  Mulraj  took  refuge  in  the 
citadel.  But  on  the  22nd  of  January  —  when  it  had  become  evident  that  he 
could  not  hold  his  position  for  twenty-four  hours  longer  —  Mulraj  surrendered 
himself,  his  forces,  and  the  citadel,  unconditionally  into  the  hands  of  the  British. 

For  four  weeks  after  the  battle  of  Chilianwala,  the  British  and  Sikh 
armies  remained  inactive,  with  a  slight  change  of  position.  Chuttur  Singh, 
father  of  Shir  Singh,  had  effected  a  junction  with  his  son  but  did  not  bring  so 
numerous  and  well-appointed  a  reinforcement  as  was  expected.  The  army 
of  Lord  Gough,  on  the  contrary,  had  been  considerably  increased.  After  the 
capture  of  Multan,  General  Whish,  by  a  series  of  rapid  marches,  arrived  with 
his  victorious  detachment  at  the  Chenab,  and  effected  a  junction  with  Lord 
Gough,  when  battle  was  given  to  Shir  Singh  without  further  delay.  It  was 
an  open-field  fight  by  daylight,  the  Sikhs  not  having,  as  at  Chilianwala,  the 
advantage  of  darkness  and  a  thick  jungle  to  protect  them  from  the  fatal  aim 

of  their  enemy's  guns.  ' 
The  British  army  was  about  twenty-five  thousand  men,  with  one  hundred 

cannon;  that  of  the  Sikhs  was  about  forty  thousand.  Their  artilleiy,  how- 
ever, was  comparatively  deficient,  amounting  to  but  sixty  guns.  Shir  Singh 

chose  his  own  position  around  the  village  of  Gujrat,  and  the  British  army 
moved  to  attack  him  early  in  the  morning  of  the  21st.  The  British  line 
extended  nearly  three  miles  right  and  left.  The  Sikhs  gave  way  on  all  points, 
and  fled  in  the  utmost  confusion.  The  victory  was  obtained  at  a  loss  of  life 
comparatively  small  on  the  part  of  the  British  —  namely,  of  five  officers  and 
ninety-two  men.    The  loss  on  the  part  of  the  Sikhs  was  enormous. 

On  the  day  after  this  decisive  battle.  General  Gilbert,  with  a  force  of  fif- 
teen thousand  men,  was  despatched  in  pursuit.  On  the  14th  of  March,  Shir 

Singh  and  his  father,  Chuttur  Singh,  with  eleven  others  of  the  principal 
sirdars,  arrived  in  the  British  camp  at  Rawal  Pindi,  and  delivered  up  their 
swords.  Forty-one  pieces  of  artillery  and  sixteen  thousand  stand  of  arms 
were  at  the  same  time  surrendered. 

Lord  Dalhousie  issued  a  proclamation  declaring  the  Sikh  dj^nasty  at  an 
end,  and  the  Punjab  annexed  to  the  British  dominions.  The  maharajah,  no 
longer  sovereign,  was  to  receive  an  allowance  of  forty  thousand  pounds,  and  to 
reside  within  the  British  dominions.  The  few  chiefs  not  convicted  of  treason 
were  allowed  to  retain  their  estates. 

The  territory  thus  annexed  to  the  British  possessions  in  India  amounted 
to  one  himdred  thousand  square  miles.  It  had  a  population  of  three  and  a 
half  millions,  and  a  revenue  equal  to  one  million  pounds. 

THE  KOH-I-NUR 

Among  the  trophies  which  fell  into  the  hands  of  the  English  during  the 
Sikh  War  was  the  celebrated  gem,  the  Koh-i-nur  diamond.    The  gem  passed 
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from  Golconda  to  Delhi,  where,  in  the  year  1665,  it  was  seen  by  the  French 
traveller  Tavernier,  in  the  possession  of  Aurangzeb.  Sometimes  worn  on 
the  person  of  the  Mughal  emperors,  sometimes  adorning  the  famous  peacock throne,  this  inestimable  gem  was  safely  preserved  at  Delhi  until  the  invasion 
of  Nadir  Shah.  Among  the  spoils  of  conquest  which  the  Persian  warrior 
carried  back  with  him,  in  triumph,  to  Khorassan,  and  which  have  been  variT 
ously  estimated  at  from  twenty  to  one  hundred  million  pounds  sterling,  the 
Koh-i-nur  was^  the  most  precious  trophy.  But  it  was  destined  to  pass  from Persia  as  quickly  as  that  ephemeral  supremacy  in  virtue  of  which  it  had  been 
acquired.  When  the  Persian  conqueror  was  assassinated,  in  1747,  the  Afghan 
chief,  Ahmed  Abdullah  Shah,  who  had  served  under  him  as  treasurer,  on  his 
return  to  Herat  carried  with  him  the  treasure  in  his  possession,  including  this 
diamond.  It  seemed  as  if  the  Koh-i-nur  carried  with  it  the  sovereignty  of 
Hindustan;  for  the  conquests  of  Ahmed  were  as  decisive  as  those  of  Nadir, 
and  it  was  by  his  influence  and  assistance  that  the  last  emperor  ascended  the 
throne  of  the  Mughals. 

With  the  overthrow  of  the  Durani  monarchy  by  the  consolidated  power  of 
the  Sikhs,  under  Ranjit  Singh,  the  jewel  passed  to  a  new  master.  Shah 
Shuja,  of  Kabul,  was  the  last  chief  of  the  Abdullah  dynasty  who  possessed  it. 
When  Shah  Shuja  was  a  fugitive  from  Kabul,  under  the  equivocal  protection 
of  the  Sikh  chief,  Ranjit  Singh  put  the  shah  under  strict  surveillance,  and 
made  a  formal  demand  for  the  jewel.  The  Durani  prince  hesitated,  prevari- 

cated, temporised,  and  employed  all  the  artifices  of  oriental  diplomacy,  but  in vain. 

When  first  given  to  Shah  Jahan,  the  Koh-i-nur  was  still  uncut,  weighing, 
it  is  said,  in  that  rough  state,  nearly  eight  hundred  carats,  which  were  reduced 
by  the  unskilfulness  of  the  artist  to  two  hundred  and  spventy-nine,  its  present 
weight.  It  was  cut  by  Hortensio  Borgis,  a  Venetian,  who,  mstead  of  receiving 
a  compensation  for  his  service,  was  fined  ten  thousand  rupees  for  his  wasteful- 

ness, by  the  enraged  Mughal.  In  form  it  is  "  rose-cut,"  that  is  to  say,  it  is  cut 
to  a  point  in  a  series  of  small  faces,  or  "facets,"  without  any  tabular  surface. 
The  Koh-i-nur  was  seized  by  the  British  resident  at  Lahore,  when  first  apprised of  the  outbreak  at  Multan.  At  the  conclusion  of  the  war  it  was  taken  to 
England,  presented  to  the  queen,  and  placed  among  the  jewels  of  the  crown.* 

INTERNAL  IMPROVEMENTS:  THE  SECOND  BURMESE  WAR   (-1849-1852  A.D.) 

After  these  bloody  wars,  the  British  Empire  in  the  East  enjoyed  several 
years  of  undisturbed  repose.  All  the  outbreaks  which  had  occurred  subse- 

quent to  the  Afghanistan  disaster,  every  effort  at  independence  which  had 
been  made,  had  led  to  overthrow  and  subjugation.  The  Sind  amirs  had  tried 
it,  and  failed;  the  Gwalior  people  had  tried  it,  and  failed.  Even  the  great 
and  colossal  power  of  the  Sikhs  had  been  overthrown;  and  after  two  desperate 
and  bloody  campaigns,  their  capital  had  been  taken,  their  army  disbanded, 
their  kingdom  incorporated  with  the  all-conquering  state.  Struck  with  this 
astonishing  series  of  victories  immediately  succeeding  so  dire  a  calamity,  the 
inhabitants  of  the  vast  peninsula  of  Hindustan,  for  the  time  at  least,  aban- 

doned the  contest;  and,  submitting  to  the  dominion  of  the  British  as  the 
decree  of  providence,  sought  only  to  improve  the  advantages  which  the  general 
establishment  of  internal  peace  afforded,  and  to  improve  the  means  of  industry 
which  its  vast  extent  and  powerful  protection  seemed  to  promise. 

The  East  India  Company  took  advantage  of  this  precious  breathing-time 
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from  external  war  to  afford  every  facility  in  their  power  to  the  development 
of  the  internal  resources  of  their  vast  territories.  Canals  were  dug  or  restored, 
roads  made,  railroads  surveyed,  and  in  part  at  least  executed.  The  mind  of 
Lord  Dalhousie,  essentially  administrative,  was  ardently  and  successfully 
directed  to  these  great  objects.  Then  were  projected,  and  in  great  part  exe- 

cuted, those  magnificent  public  works  which  have  so  completely  effaced  the 
well-known  reproach  cast  by  Mr.  Burke  upon  the  British  administration  in 
India,  and  which  will  bear  a  comparison  with  any  in  the  world  for  greatness  of 
conception  and  perfection  of  execution. 

The  Taking  of  Fort  Martc^an 

This  happy  state  of  tranquillity  was  first  broken  in  upon,  in  1852,  by  a 
second  rupture  with  the  Burmese  government,  which  arose  from  the  pride  and 

arrogance  of  a  barbaric 
court,  and  their  incon- 

ceivable ignorance  of 
the  strength  of  the 
power  with  which  they 
were  in  close  contact. 

So  many  cases  of  in- 
jury occurred  in  the 

course  of  the  years 
1851  and  1852,  that 

the  governor-general came  to  the  conclusion 
that  the  law  of  nations 

had  been  violated,  es- 
pecially by  the  gov- 

ernor of  Rangoon  in 
his  cruel  and  oppres- 

sive conduct  to  British 
subjects.  The  period 
allowed  for  accommo- 

dation having  elapsed, 

an  expedition  was  de- 
spatched under  the 

command  of  General 

Godwin,  an  experi- 
enced officer,  who  had 

been  engaged  in  the 
former  war,  to  enforce  redress.  The  expedition  sailed  for  the  mouth  of  the 
Irawadi  on  the  28th  of  March,  the  naval  force  being  under  the  orders  of  Rear- 
Admiral  Austen.  On  the  5th  of  April  the  fort  of  Martaban,  commanding  one 
of  the  entrances  of  the  river,  was  attacked,  and  the  place  carried,  though  gar- 

risoned by  five  thousand  of  the  best  soldiers  in  the  Burmese  Empire. 
After  this  success  the  expedition  proceeded  up  the  Irawadi  to  Rangoon, 

which  stands  on  the  left  bank  of  the  principal  branch  of  the  river,  about 
twenty  miles  from  the  sea.  Hostilities  were  commenced  by  a  general  attack 
by  the  war-steamers  on  the  enemy's  flotilla  and  river  defences;  and  in  a  few 
hours  the  former  were  aU  burned,  and  the  latter  levelled  with  the  ground. 
The  troops  were  then  landed  without  further  resistance,  and  advanced  against 
the  town.    The  garrison  fled  in  confusion  through  the  southern  and  western 

Carved  Paqoda  at  Rangoon,  BnBMA 
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gates,  where  they  were  met  by  the  fire  of  the  steamers,  and  obliged  to  seek 
safety  by  dispersing  in  the  jungle. 

The  immediate  surrender  of  Rangoon  was  the  result  of  this  victory,  which 
was  soon  followed  by  the  submission  of  all  the  adjacent  country.  The  stores, 
ammimition,  and  heavy  guns  were  then  landed,  and  placed  in  Rangoon,  which 
was  strengthened  and  garrisoned  by  a  strong  body  of  troops,  it  being  the  design 
of  government  to  make  it  not  only  the  base  of  present  operations,  but  a  per- 

manent acquisition  to  the  British  Empire  in  the  East.  These  precautions 
having  been  taken,  the  troops  were  again  moved  forward  up  the  Irawadi, 
On  the  19th  they  were  before  Bassein,  where  a  strong  mud-fort  was  stormed, 
after  a  desperate  resistance.  Martaban,  the  first  conquest  of  the  British, 
which  was  garrisoned  only  by  a  small  native  force,  was  soon  after  attacked 
by  a  large  body  of  Burmese,  but  the  assailants  were  repulsed  with  great 
slaughter.  Encouraged  by  these  successes,  an  expedition  was  fitted  out  early 
in  July,  imder  Captain  Tarleton,  to  reconnoitre  the  river  as  far  as  Prome, 
which  was  taken. 

Offensive  operations  were  resinned  as  soon  as  the  return  of  the  cool  season 
rendered  them  practicable.  On  the  25th  of  September  the  troops  were  em- 

barked at  Rangoon,  and  they  came  in  sight  of  Prome  on  the  9th  of  October, 
"where  they  were  shortly  after  landed.  They  immediately  advanced,  and 
made  themselves  masters  of  a  fortified  pagoda  situated  on  an  eminence  which 

commanded  the  enemy's  position.  Upon  this  the  Burmese  evacuated  the 
town  in  the  night.  This  success  was  followed  by  the  capture  of  Pegu,  a  lar^e 
town  about  sixty  miles  ffom  Rangoon  (November  20th).  This  was  followed 

by  a  proclamation  from  the  governor-general,  which,  "in  compensation  for 
the  past,  and  for  better  security  for  the  future,  proclaimed  that  the  province 
of  Pegu  is  now,  and  shall  henceforth  be,  a  portion  of  the  British  territories  in 

the  East." No  further  attempt  was  now  made  to  disquiet  the  British  in  their  newly 
acquired  conquest,  and  unbroken  peace  reigned  through  their  vast  dominions 
from  the  mouths  of  the  Indus  to  those  of  the  Irawadi,  and  from  Cape  Comorm 
to  the  Himalaya  snows. 

ANNEXATION  OF  OUDH    (1856  A.D.) 

This  period  of  tranquillity,  during  which  Lord  Dalhousie  was  incessantly 
occupied  with  his  great  projects  of  domestic  improvement  and  social  ameliora- 

tion, was  not  even  interrupted  by  an  important  event  in  the  east  of  India. 
This  was  the  annexation  of  Oudh,  which,  without  any  hostilities,  was  carried 
into  effect  by  a  simple  resolution  of  the  governor-general  in  council  on  March 
17th,  1856.  This  powerful  state,  whose  inhabitants  were  a  nation  of  warriors, 
lies  on  the  eastern  bank  of  the  Ganges,  between  Cawnpore  and  Nepal, 
embraces  twenty-five  thousand  square  miles  of  territory,  and  contained  at 
the  period  of  annexation  five  million  inhabitants. 

It  was,  however,  notorious  that,  though  the  kings  of  Oudh  since  that  time 
had  never  failed  in  their  duty  to  the  British  government,  but,  on  the  con- 

trary, essentially  served  it  on  many  occasions,  yet  they  had  scandalously 
violated  the  rights  of  their  own  subjects.  The  government  of  Lucknow,  the 
capital,  was  perhaps  the  most  corrupt  and  oppressive  in  the  world,  so  far  as 
its  own  people  were  concerned.  Moved  by  the  petitions  of  the  unhappy 
sufferers  imder  these  exactions,  and  by  the  obvious  discredit  which  they 
brought  on  the  British  government  and  connection,  the  governor-general  in 
1856  proposed  a  treaty  to  the  king  of  Oudh,  by  which  the  sole  and  exclusive 

H.  W.  —  vol,.  IXII.  M 
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administration  of  the  country  was  to  be  transferred  to  the  East  India  Com- 
pany, with  the  right  to  the  whole  state  revenue,  burdened  with  a  due  provision 

to  the  reigning  family,  who  were  to  be  allowed  to  retain  their  royal  titles,  and 
enjoy  their  palaces  and  parks  at  Lucknow.  These  terms,  as  might  have  been 
expected,  having  been  rejected  by  the  king,  a  proclamation  was  forthwith 
issued,  declaring  the  kingdom  incorporated  with  the  dominions  of  the  East 
India  Company,  and  requiring  all  the  inhabitants  to  yield  obedience  to  their 
authority.  The  British  forces  immediately  entered  the  country  from  Agra 
and  Cawnpore,  and  took  possession  of  the  capital  and  whole  territories  with- 

out resistance.  About  the  same  time  the  territories  of  the  rajah  of  Satara 
were  incorporated  with  the  British  dominions;  those  of  the  rajah  of  Berar 
had  already  been  absorbed  in  1853;  but  these  encroachrnents,  being  on  incon- 

siderable native  potentates,  were  made  without  opposition,  and  excited  very 
little  attention. 

Unhappily  the  ease  with  which  this  annexation  was  accomplished  at  the 
time  misled  the  government  as  to  the  precautions  necessary  to  secure  this 
acquisition,  and  the  representations  of  Lord  Dalhousie  on  that  subject  re- 

mained without  effect.  Not  a  man  of  European  race  was  added  to  the  force 
in  the  country;  Delhi,  the  great  arsenal  of  northern  India,  was  left  exclusively 
in  the  hands  of  the  native  troops;  and  a  few  hundred  British,  and  a  few 
battalions  of  sepoys,  formed  the  sole  garrison  of  the  most  warlike  and  formid- 

able people  of  eastern  India. 

ALISON  ON  THE  RULE   OF  THE   EAST  INDIA  COMPANY 

The  war  in  the  Punjab  throws  a  bright  light  on  those  which  preceded  it  in 

Gwalior  and  Sind,  and  vindicates  Lord  EUenborough's  administrations  from 
the  aspersions  thrown  upon  it  for  the  commencement  of  hostilities  against 
these  powers.  Judging  by  the  European  standard,  there  can  be  no  doubt 
that  he  was  the  aggressor  on  both  those  occasions;  because,  although  the  native 
powers  were  the  first  to  engage  in  hostile  acts,  this  had  been  rendered  neces- 

sary by  a  course  of  encroachments  on  the  part  of  the  British.  But  it  is  now 
apparent  that  this  was  unavoidable.  The  opposite  system  was  followed  by 
the  East  India  directors  and  Lord  Hardinge,  who  forswore  aM  hostUe  prepara- 

tions against  the  Sikhs,  and  brought  the  Indian  Empire  to  the  brink  of  ruin, 
in  order  to  avoid  giving  a  pretext  even  for  hostilities;  and  what  was  the  con- 
Sequence?  Two  terrible  wars,  in  which  the  utmost  hazard  was  incurred,  and 
in  which  salvation  was  earned  only  by  heroic  efforts,  and  the  shedding  of 
torrents  of  blood.  What  would  have  been  the  fate  of  these  wars  if  they  had 
occurred  when  the  British  flank  was  threatened  by  the  insurrection  in  Sind, 
and  their  communications  cut  off  by  the  forces  of  Gwalior?  In  all  probability 
India  would  have  been  lost.  It  was  by  anticipating  the  danger,  and  com- 

bating the  hostile  powers  in  succession,  that  the  danger  was  averted  and 
India  saved.  For  this  immense  service  the  country  was  indebted  to  Loi-d 
Ellenborough;  and,  according  to  the  usual  course  of  human  events,  it  is  not 
the  least  conclusive  proof  of  the  reality  of  the  obligation  that  the  East  India 
Company  requited  it  by  his  recall.  So  strong  is  the  desire  for  economy  of 
their  own  money,  however  anxious  to  get  that  of  others,  and  so  invincible  the 
repugnance  to  make  costly  preparations  against  future  danger,  in  the  great 
majority  of  men,  that  whoever  attempts  or  recommends  it  is  certain  to  incur 
present  obloquy,  and,  if  his  opponents  have  the  power  to  effect  it,  political 
downfall. 

But  the  same  form  of  justification  can  scarcely  be  applied  to  the  incorpora- 
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tion  of  Oudh.  Unlike  the  warlike  powers  in  the  northwest  of  India,  the  gov- 
ernment of  Oudh  had  engaged  in  no  hostile  designs  or  preparations  against 

that  of  Great  Britain.  Through  all  the  changes  of  fortune  for  a  half  century, 
it  had  stood  faithful  by  the  British.  Whatever  faults  it  had  committed,  and 
they  were  many,  had  been  directed  against  its  own  subjects,  and  related  to 
matters  of  internal  administration.  Other  grounds  of  justification  in  the  case 
of  Oudh  must  therefore  be  sought  than  that  of  hostility  to  Great  Britain; 
and  these  are  found  by  the  defenders  of  the  annexation  in  the  fact  that,  by 
the  treaty  of  1801,  there  was  expressly  stipulated  to  the  British  government  a 
right  of  interference,  in  the  event  of  such  internal  mal-administration  as  was 
charged  against  the  native  authorities. 

As  this  encroachment  was  instrumental  in  bringing  about  the  rebellion  of 
1857,  and  the  terrible  war  which  ended  in  the  termination  of  the  East  India 

Company's  rule  in  India,  in  conformity  with  the  old  Hindu  prophecy,  in  the 
hundredth  year  after  its  foundation  by  the  battle  of  Plassey,  it  is  a  fitting 
opportunity  to  consider  what  was  the  extent  and  magnitude  of  the  empire 
which  in  that  period  —  short  in  the  lifetime  of  a  nation  —  had  been  formed 
by  the  energy  and  perseverance  of  the  company,  and  the  courage  of  the  nation 
which  aided  them  by  its  resources. 

India,  then,  contained,  in  1858,  when  the  direct  rule  of  the  East  India 
Company  was  merged  in  that  of  the  home  government,  180,367,148  inhabi- 

tants, extending  over  1,465,322  square  miles.  Of  these,  131,990,881  were 
imder  the  direct  dominion  of  the  East  India  Company,  and  48,376,247  the 
inhabitants  of  the  protected  states.  The  revenue  (gross)  of  this  immense 
territory  was  £30,817,000,  of  which  £17,109,000  was  the  land-tax,  £5,195,000 
drawn  from  the  monopoly  of  opium,  £2,631,000  from  that  of  salt,  and 
£2,106,000  from  customs.  The  cost  of  collection  was  about  £6,000,000;  the 
charge  of  the  army  was  £11,000,000  annually;  the  interest  of  debt  in  India 
£2,000,000;  and  £3,500,000  were  remitted  to  Great  Britain  for  charges  pay- 

able at  home,  or  interest  on  the  debt  due  there.  The  annual  deficit  was  on 
an  average  of  the  four  years  between  1854  and  1858,  £1,500,000  annually; 
in  the  year  ending  April  30th,  1857,  it  was  £1,981,062, 

The  army  amounted  in  the  same  month  to  231,276  native  troops,  of  whom 
26,129  were  cavalry,  regular  and  irregular;  22,047  Europeans  in  the  employ- 

ment of  the  East  India  Company,  of  whom  6,585  were  artillery;  and  the 

queen's  troops  in  India  before  the  revolt  broke  out  were  31,800,  all  paid  by 
the  East  India  Company.  The  auxiliary  troops,  which  the  protected  states 
were  bound  to  furnish,  were  32,211  more;  in  all,  nearly  320,000  men. 

The  public  debt  of  India  was  £68,000,000,  being  somewhat  more  than 
twice  its  income.  Nor  had  this  empire  been  acquired  by  conquest  over 
imwarlike  or  barbarous  nations:  for  if  the  inhabitants  of  Bengal  were  a  timid 
race,  the  Gurkhas,  the  Sikhs,  the  Afghans,  the  Mahrattas,  and  the  inhabitants 
of  Sind,  rivalled  the  ancient  Germans  or  Parthians  in  hardihood  and  valour; 
and  in  the  great  revolt  of  1857  the  East  India  Company  encountered  120,000 
soldiers,  armed,  instructed,  and  disciplined  by  themselves,  and  inferior  to  none 
in  the  contempt  of  death  when  animated  by  religious  zeal. 

This  empire  embraced  a  greater  number  of  inhabitants  than  that  con- 
quered in  five  centuries  by  the  Roman  legions;  double  the  number  subjugated 

by  the  Russian  arms  in  two  centuries;  and  more  than  triple  those  won  for 
France  by  the  energy  of  the  Revolution  and  the  victories  of  Napoleon!  And 
this  mighty  empire,  transcending  any  which  has  existed  since  the  world  began, 
had  been  acquired  in  one  century  by  a  pacific  company,  having  its  chief  place 
of  business  fourteen  thousand  mUes  distant  from  the  theatre  of  its  conquests  — 
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which  has  abnost  always  been  guided  by  pacific  interests,  and  rarely  engaged 
in  wars,  except  from  necessity  and  in  self-defence  —  which  began  its  career 
with  five  hundred  European  soldiers,  and  seldom  had  so  many  as  fifty  thousand 
collected  around  its  standards!  The  history  of  the  world  may  be  sought  in 
vain  for  a  parallel  to  such  a  prodigy. 

The  chief  cause  of  this  extraordinary  and  unparalleled  phenomenon  is  to 
be  found  in  the  presence  of  constitutional  energy  in  Great  Britain  during  the 
period  when  the  empire  in  the  East  was  forming,  and  the  absence  of  parlia- 

mentary control  in  its  direction.  The  mother  country  furnished  an  inex- 
haustible supply  of  young  men,  drawn  chiefly  from  the  landed  gentry  of  the 

middle  class,  to  fill  every  department  both  in  the  civil  and  military  service  in 
the  East,  while  the  selection  of  candidates  was  exempt  from  the  debasmg 
effects  of  court  favour  or  parliamentary  influence.  The  command  of  this 
extraordinary  aggregate  of  military  and  civil  ability  was  practically  vested 
in  the  governor-general  at  Calcutta,  distance  and  the  necessity  of  self-direction 
on  the  spot  having  rendered  nearly  impotent  for  evil  the  division  of  power 
between  the  East  India  Company  and  the  board  of  control,  which  the  strange 
and  anomalous  constitution  of  1784  theoretically  established. 

It  is  to  the  extraordinary  combination  of  circumstances  which  gave  British 
India  the  imited  advantages  of  democratic  vigour  in  the  classes  from  which  its 
defenders  were  taken,  with  aristocratic  perseverance  in  the  senate  by  which  its 
government  was  directed,  and  the  imity  of  despotism  in  the  dictator  to  whom 
the  immediate  execution  of  the  mandates  of  that  senate  was  entrusted,  that 
the  extraordinary  growth  of  the  British  Empu-e  in  India  during  the  century 
between  Plassey  and  the  Mutiny  is  beyond  all  question  to  be  ascribed.  Dur- 

ing that  period  Great  Britain  had  often  at  home  sustained  serious  reverses, 
from  the  ignorance  and  incapacity  of  those  whom  parliamentary  influence  or 
court  favour  had  brought  to  the  head  of  affairs,  or  the  parsimony  with  which 
democratic  economy  had  starved  down  the  national  establishment,  during 
peace,  to  a  degree  which  rendered  serious  reverses  inevitable  on  the  firet  break- 

ing out  of  hostilities;  but  in  India,  though  the  usual  intermixture  of  good  and 
evil  fortune  in  human  affairs  was  experienced,  there  were  never  awanting, 
after  a  short  period,  troops  requisite  to  repair  reverses,  and  generals  capable 
of  leading  them  to  victory.* 
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LORD  DALHOUSIE  AND  THE  DOCTRINE  OF  LAPSE 

Lord  Dalhousie's  dealings  with  the  feudatory  states  of  India  can  only  be 
rightly  appreciated  as  part  of  his  general  policy.  That  rulers  only  exist  for 
the  good  of  the  ruled  was  his  supreme  axiom  of  government,  of  which  he  gave 
the  most  conspicuous  example  by  the  practice  of  his  own  daily  life.  That 
British  administration  was  better  for  the  people  than  native  rule  followed 
from  this  axiom  as  a  necessary  corollary.  He  was  thus  led  to  regard  native 
chiefs  from  somewhat  the  same  point  of  view  as  the  Scotch  regarded  the 
hereditary  jurisdictions  after  1745  —  as  mischievous  anomalies,  to  be  abol- 

ished by  every  means  practicable.  Good  faith  must  be  kept  with  rulers  on 
the  throne  and  with  their  legitimate  heirs,  but  no  false  sentiment  should 
preserve  dynasties  that  had  forfeited  all  consideration  by  years  of  accumu- 

lated misrule,  or  prolong  those  that  had  no  natural  successor. 

The  "doctrine  of  lapse"  was  merely  a  special  application  of  these  princi- 
ples, though  complicated  by  the  theory  of  adoption.  It  has  never  been 

doubted  that,  according  to  Hindu  private  law,  an  adopted  son  entirely  fills 
the  place  of  a  natural  son,  whether  to  perform  the  religious  obsequies  of  his 
father  or  to  inherit  his  property.  In  all  respects  he  continues  the  persona  of 
the  deceased.  But  it  was  argued  that  the  succession  to  a  throne  stood  upon 
a  different  footing.  The  paramount  power  could  not  recognise  such  a  right 
which  might  be  used  as  a  fraud  to  hand  over  the  happiness  of  millions  to  a 
base-born  impostor.  Here  came  in  the  maxim  of  "  the  good  of  the  governed." 
The  material  benefits  to  be  conferred  through  British  administration  surely 
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weighed  heavier  in  the  scale  than  a  superstitious  and  frequently  fraudulent 
fiction  of  inheritance. 

The  first  state  to  escheat  to  the  British  government  in  accordance  with 
these  principles  was  Satara,  which  had  been  reconstituted  by  Lord  Hastings 
on  the  downfall  of  the  peshwa  in  1818.  The  last  direct  representative  of 
Sivaji  died  without  a  male  heir  in  1848,  and  his  deathbed  adoption  was  set 
aside.  In  the  same  year  the  Rajput  state  of  Karauli  was  saved  by  the  inter- 

position of  the  court  of  directors,  who  drew  a  fine  distinction  between  a 
dependent  principality  and  a  protected  ally.  In  1833  Jhansi  suffered  the 
same  fate  as  Satara.  But  the  most  conspicuous  application  of  the  doctrine 
of  lapse  was  the  case  of  Nagpur.  The  last  of  the  Bhonslas,  a  dynasty  older 
than  the  British  government  itself,  died  without  a  son,  natural  or  adopted,  in 
1853.  That  year  also  saw  British  administration  extended  to  the  Berars, 
or  the  assigned  districts  which  the  nizam  of  Hyderabad  was  induced  to  cede 
as  a  territorial  guarantee  for  the  subsidies  which  he  perpetually  kept  in  arrear. 
Three  more  distinguished  names  likewise  passed  away  in  1853,  though  without 
any  attendant  accretion  to  British  territory.  In  the  extreme  south  the  titular 
nawab  of  the  Carnatic  and  the  titular  rajah  of  Tanjore  both  died  without 
heirs.  Their  rank  and  their  pensions  died  with  them,  though  compassionate 
allowances  were  continued  to  their  families.  In  the  north  of  India,  Baji  Rao, 
the  ex-peshwa,  who  had  been  dethroned  in  1818,  lived  on  till  1853  in  the 
enjoyment  of  his  annual  pension  of  £80,000.  His  adopted  son,  Nana  Sahib, 
inherited  his  accumulated  savings,  but  could  obtain  no  further  recognition. 

The  marquis  of  Dalhousie  resigned  office  in  March,  1856,  being  then  only 
forty-four  years  of  age;  but  he  carried  home  with  him  the  seeds  of  a  lingering 
illness  which  resulted  in  his  death  in  1860.  Excepting  Cornwallis,  he  was  the 
first,  though  by  no  means  the  last,  of  English  statesmen  who  have  fallen 

victims  to  their  devotion  to  India's  needs.  He  was  succeeded  by  his  friend, 
Lord  Canning,  who,  at  the  farewell  banquet  in  England  given  to  him  by  the 
court  of  directors,  uttered  these  prophetic  words :  "  I  wish  for  a  peaceful  term 
of  office.  But  I  cannot  forget  that  in  the  sky  of  India,  serene  as  it  is,  a  small 

cloud  may  arise,  no  larger  than  a  man's  hand,  but  which,  growing  larger  and 
larger,  may  at  last  threaten  to  burst  and  overwhelm  us  with  ruin."  In  the 
following  year  the  sepoys  of  the  Bengal  army  mutinied,  and  all  the  valley  of 
the  Ganges  from  Patna  to  Delhi  rose  in  open  rebellion. 

MOTIVES   FOR  THE   MUTINY 

The  various  motives  assigned  for  the  Mutiny  appear  inadequate  to  the 
European  mind.  The  truth  seems  to  be  that  native  opinion  throughout  India 
was  in  a  ferment,  predisposing  men  to  believe  the  wildest  stories,  and  to  act 
precipitately  upon  their  fears.  The  influence  of  panic  in  an  Oriental  popula- 

tion is  greater  than  might  be  readily  believed.  In  the  first  place,  the  policy  of 
Lord  Dalhousie,  exactly  in  proportion  as  it  had  been  dictated  by  the  most 
honourable  considerations,  was  utterly  distasteful  to  the  native  mind. 
Repeated  annexations,  the  spread  of  education,  the  appearance  of  the  steam 
engine  and  the  telegraph  wire,  all  alike  revealed  a  consistent  determination  to 
substitute  an  English  for  an  Indian  civilisation. 

The  Bengal  sepoys,  especially,  thought  that  they  could  see  into  the  future 
farther  than  the  rest  of  their  countr5TTien.  Nearly  all  men  of  high  caste,  and 
many  of  them  recruited  from  Oudh,  they  dreaded  tendencies  which  they 
deemed  to  be  denationalising,  and  they  knew  at  first  hand  what  annexation 
meant.    They  believed  that  it  was  by  their  prowess  that  the  Punjab  had 
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been  conquered,  and  all  India  was  held  quiet.  The  numerous  dethroned 
princes,  their  heirs  and  their  widows,  were  the  first  to  learn  and  take  advantage 
of  the  spirit  of  disaffection  that  was  abroad.  They  had  heard  of  the  Crimean 
War,  and  were  told  that  Russia  was  the  perpetual  enemy  of  England.  They 
had  money  in  abundance  with  which  they  could  buy  the  assistance  of  skilful 
intriguers.    They  had  everything  to  gain,  and  nothing  to  lose,  by  a  revolution.6 

Writing  on  the  subject  of  the  causes  of  the  Indian  Mutiny,  Lord  Roberts* 
declares  that  the  "  discontent  and  dissatisfaction  were  produced  by  a  policy which,  in  many  instances,  the  rulers  of  India  were  powerless  to  avoid  or 
postpone,  forced  upon  them  as  it  was  by  the  demands  of  civilisation  and  the 
necessity  for  a  more  enlightened  legislation."  He  states  that  intriguers took  advantage  of  this  state  of  affairs  to  further  their  own  ends ;  that  it  was 
their  policy  to  alienate  the  native  army,  engendering  feelings  of  uneasiness 
and  suspicion  by  calumniating  the  authorities,  whose  measures  really  were 
intended  to  promote  the  welfare  of  the  masses.  He  vigorously  sustains  the 
authorities  as  to  the  integrity  of  their  motives,  but  he  admits  that  their 
measures  were  of  necessitjr  obnoxious  to  the  Brahman  priesthood  as  well  as 
distasteful  to  the  natives  m  general.  He  admits  that,  in  some  instances  at 
least,  the  measures  adopted  were  premature,  and  that  even  so  they  were  not 
always  carried  out  as  judiciously  as  they  might  have  been,  or  with  sufiBcient 
regard  to  native  prejudices.* 

Sir  A.  Lyall,*  writing  with  full  knowledge  of  the  psychology  of  the  peoples 
involved,  declares  that  "  in  Asia  a  triumpnant  army  like  the  Janisaries  of 
the  Mamelukes  almost  always  becomes  imgovernable  so  soon  as  it  becomes 

stationary."  He  says  that  the  sepoys  of  the  Bengal  army  had  an  exaggerated idea  of  their  own  importance ;  and  that  the  annexation  of  Oudh  in  1856 
touched  their  pride  and  affected  their  interests.  It  was  this  province  from 
which  the  army  secured  most  of  its  high-caste  recruits.  Men  in  this  excit- 

able condition  required  only  some  slight  stimulus  to  bring  them  into  open 
revolt.  This  stimulus  being  found  in  the  use  of  greased  cartridges  which 
roused  their  caste  prejudices,  they  mutinied." 

The  nature  of  Great  Britain's  hold  upon  India  was  so  anomalous  that  the 
reflective  had  constantly  doubted  of  its  permanence.  Her  conquests  had 
been  chiefly  effected  by  native  armies,  and  continued  to  be  ruled  by  their 
instrumentality;  but  it  was  unreasonable  to  think  that  the  mere  military 
allegiance  of  the  sepoy  would  be  always  superior  to  those  ties  of  nationality 
which  connected  him  with  the  vanquished. 

As  if  also  to  teach  these  men  their  own  strength  and  resources,  the  native 
armies  in  the  British  service  had  now  increased  to  an  alarming  amoimt  as 
compared  with  the  European  soldiers.  Each  of  the  three  presidencies,  Ben- 

gal, Madras,  and  Bombay,  had  its  own  army;  but  while  they  mustered  in  all 
300,000  men,  of  these  there  were  only  about  43,000  who  were  British.  Of 
all  these  armies,  the  most  efficient  for  useful  service,  as  well  as  the  most  prompt 
for  revolt,  and  the  most  to  be  feared  in  such  an  event,  was  the  army  of  Ben- 

gal, consisting  of  118,600  native,  and  only  22,600  European  soldiers.  It  was 
from  this  army  accordingly  that  most  danger  had  for  some  time  been  appre- 

hended. A  single  random  spark  would  be  enough  to  set  its  whole  religious 
bigotry  in  a  blaze.  And  even  already  a  deep  cause  of  offence  existed  in  the 
Bengal  army,  on  accoimt  of  the  annexation  of  the  kingdom  of  Oudh. 

These  and  other  such  causes,  which  had  been  gathering  and  growing  for 
years,  had  already  matured  into  a  deep  and  widely-extended  conspiracy  for 
the  overthrow  of  the  British  dominion  in  India;  but  the  particulars  of  the 
plan  and  the  persons  who  devised  it  are  still  involved  in  obscurity.    It  is 
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supposed,  however,  that  the  court  of  Persia  was  the  principal  focus  of  the 
conspiracy,  and  that  the  Mohammedans  of  the  north  of  India  were  its  chief 
agents  and  disseminators.  Those  men,  who  might  be  termed  the  Norman 
aristocracy  of  Hindustan,  owed  an  especial  grudge  to  the  British  by  whom  they 
had  been  supplanted;  and  they  endeavoured  to  work  upon  the  credulity  of 
the  Hindu  soldiery,  by  assuring  them  that  the  British  intended  to  overthrow 
their  creed  and  compel  them  to  become  Christians.  This  was  enough  to 
remind  them  of  the  conversions  of  Tipu  Sahib,  who  propagated  Islam  by  fire 
and  sword. 

It  is  supposed  that  these  Mohammedan  intriguers  intended  to  replace  the 
old  king  of  Delhi  upon  the  throne  of  his  ancestors,  and  to  rule  under  his  name; 
and  it  is  known  that  they  were  endeavouring  to  incite  Dost  Muhammed,  the 
king  of  Kabul,  to  prepare  for  the  invasion  of  the  Punjab,  as  soon  as  the  revolt 
of  the  Bengal  army,  upon  which  they  had  calculated,  should  leave  that  terri- 

tory defenceless.  Even  these  representations  might  have  been  ineffectual 
with  the  Hindu  soldiers,  had  they  not  been  apparently  confirmed  by  an  act 
of  the  British  government  itself. 

THE  GREASED  CAETHIDGES  AND  THE  UNLEAVENED  CHUPATTIES 

This  was  the  affair  of  greased  cartridges,  that  served  originally  as  a  pretext 
for  the  outbreak.  The  Enfield  rifle,  an  improvement  upon  the  Meni6,  here- 

tofore in  use  among  the  troops,  had  been  introduced  at  the  commencement 
of  1857  into  the  Bengal  army;  and  as  greased  cartridges  were  necessary  for 
its  effective  use,  these  were  issued  to  the  troops  along  with  the  weapon.  A 
report  was  immediately  circulated  that  the  grease  used  in  the  preparation 
of  these  cartridges  was  a  mixture  of  the  fat  of  cows  and  pigs — the  first  of 
these  animals  being  the  objects  of  Hindu  adoration,  and  the  last  of  Moham- medan abhorrence. 

The  first  occasion  on  which  the  rumour  was  heard  was  the  following:  at 
Dumdum,  where  there  was  a  school  of  practice  for  the  new  Enfield  rifle,  a 
sepoy  soldier,  a  Brahman,  was  asked  by  a  man  of  low  caste  to  be  permitted 
to  drink  out  of  his  lotah,  or  vessel  of  water,  to  whom  he  replied,  "I  have 
scoured  my  lotah,  and  you  will  pollute  it  by  your  touch."  "You  think  much 
of  your  caste,"  said  the  other  angrily,  "but  wait  a  little,  and  the  European 
will  make  you  bite  cartridges  soaked  in  cow  and  pork  fat,  and  then  where  will 

your  caste  be?" The  sepoy  reported  these  words  to  his  comrades,  and  they  quickly  reached 
Barrackpur,  at  which  several  native  regiments  were  stationed.  It  was  in  vain 
they  were  assured  by  the  government  that  no  such  grease  had  been  used  in 
the  preparation  of  the  paper  in  question,  and  that  if  they  had  scruples  in  the 
matter,  they  were  at  liberty  to  procure  their  own  ingredients  at  the  bazaar. 
The  report  still  continued  to  strengthen  at  Barrackpur  among  the  four  native 
regiments  stationed  there;  and  on  the  6th  of  February  a  sepoy  revealed  to  an 
officer  the  plot  of  his  companions,  who  were  alarmed  with  the  fear  of  being 
compelled  to  abandon  their  caste  and  become  Christians.  From  his  revelation 
it  appeared  that  these  regiments  intended  to  rise  against  their  officers,  and 
after  plundering  or  burning  down  their  bungalows,  to  march  to  Calcutta, 
and  there  attempt  to  seize  Fort  William,  or  failing  in  this,  to  take  possession 
of  the  treasury. 

This  state  of  things  was  too  alarming  to  be  neglected,  and  measures  were 
taken  by  the  British  commanders  and  their  officers  to  still  the  apprehensions 
of  the  native  soldiery.    They  were  publicly  addressed  on  parade  with  the 
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assurance  that  there  was  no  design  to  make  them  Christians;  that  they  could 
not  become  such  without  being  able  to  read,  and  to  understand  the  rules  that 

were  written  in  the  Christian's  book;  and  that  nothing  but  their  own  free 
choice  and  request  after  they  had  so  learned,  could  admit  them  to  the  privilege 
of  baptism.  The  issue  of  the  obnoxious  ammunition  was  stopped,  and  plans 
were  suggested  by  which  the  cartridge  might  be  used  by  tearing  off  the  end, 
instead  of  putting  it  to  the  mouth  and  biting  it.  Native  officers  were  also 
appointed  to  learn  the  process  of  cartridge-making  in  which  the  forbidden 
articles  were  to  be  excluded. 

But  the  alarm  had  grown  too  strong  to  be  put  down  by  such  assurances 
or  concessions:  a  rebelfion  was  inevitable  even  where  the  original  cause  had 
dwindled  into  a  mere  pretext  or  watchword.  The  first  open  manifestation 
was  at  Berhampur,  on  the  morning  of  the  26th  of  February,  1857,  when  the 
19th  regiment  of  native  infantry  were  ordered  out  on  parade.  Percussion 
caps  were  about  to  be  issued  to  them,  but  these  the  soldiers  refused  to  receive, 
declaring  that  it  was  still  doubtful  how  the  cartridges  were  made;  and  on 
the  evening  of  the  same  day  they  assembled  on  parade  by  their  own  authority, 
broke  ojjen  the  bells  (small  oval  buildings)  in  which  their  arms  were  piled, 
and  having  taken  possession  of  the  weapons  and  ammunition,  carried  them 
off  to  their  lines.  Their  commander.  Colonel  Mitchell,  ordered  them  to  pile 
arms  and  disperse,  and  on  their  refusal  called  up  the  cavalry  and  artillery; 
but  they  still  refused  to  obey  until  these  troops  were  withdrawn,  which  was 
done  accordingly.  For  this  concession,  the  colonel  was  tried  by  a  court  of 
inquiry,  and  censured.  It  was  resolved  also  to  disband  this  dangerous  regi- 

ment, and  accordingly  it  was  marched  off  to  Barrackpur,  where  the  52nd  and 

84th  Queen's  regiments  were  stationed  to  disarm  them. 
But  on  the  29th  of  March,  two  days  previous  to  the  disbanding,  while  the 

19th  was  at  Barrackpur,  the  rebellion  commenced  in  bloodshed.  A  sepoy  of 
the  34th  regiment  of  native  infantry,  having  intoxicated  himself  with  bang, 

discharged  his  musket  at  Lieutenant  Baugh,  and  shot  that  officer's  horse;  the 
lieutenant  fired  a  pistol  at  his  assailant,  but  missed  him,  and  was  woimded 
in  return  by  the  madman,  as  was  also  the  sergeant-major  of  the  corps,  who 
went  to  the  lieutenant's  assistance.  The  mutineer,  whose  name  was  Mungal 
Pandy,'  was  seized,  tried,  and  sentenced  to  be  hanged;  and  on  the  scaffold 
he  expressed  his  regret  for  the  crime,  and  tried,  but  in  vain,  to  persuade  his 
fellow  soldiers  to  retxim  to  their  duty.  As  for  the  19th  regiment,  it  was 
drawn  up  on  parade  in  the  square  of  Barrackpur,  surrounded  by  the  two 
British  and  several  native  regiments  —  and  for  a  moment  it  was  doubted 
whether  the  latter  might  not  side  with  the  19th,  and  offer  battle  to  the  52nd 
and  84th.  But  no  such  outbreak  occurred:  the  rebels  surrendered  their  arms, 
and  were  marched  off  xmder  an  escort,  of  cavalry  to  Chinsurah,  bewailing  their 
infatuation,  and  petitioning  when  too  late  to  be  readmitted  to  the  service. 

It  was  not,  however,  by  such  checks  that  the  spirit  of  revolt  was  to  be 
suppressed,  or  even  retarded;  it  was  diffused  like  a  pestilence  far  and  near 
by  mysterious  agencies  which  the  authorities  could  neither  detect  nor  surmise. 
One  of  these  was  the  transmission  of  a  kind  of  little  unleavened  cakes,  called 

chupatties,  a  symbol  which  the  Europeans  did  not  understand,  but  which 

seems  to  nave  "been  as  significant  to  the  natives  as  the  fiery  cross  was  to  the 
Highlanders  of  Scotland,  and  used  for  a  similar  purpose.  A  chowkodar,  or 

village  policeman  of  Cawnpore,  gave  two  of  these  cakes,  the  common  food 

of  the  poor,  to  another  chowkodar  in  Fathigarh  (Futtehghur),  telling  him  to 
•Hence  the  name  of  Pandits,  which  was  afterwards  given  to  the  rebel  sepoys  by  the 

British  soldiers  in  India. 
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make  ten  more,  and  give  them  to  five  of  his  brethren  of  the  nearest  station,  with 
a  similar  charge  to  each;  and  thus  at  every  hour  these  runners  were  multi- 

plying among  a  class  of  men  who  were  spread  over  India,  and  whose  mis- 
chievous errand  was  least  liable  to  be  suspected. 

The  circulation  of  chupatties  commenced  in  Oudh  and  elsewhere  in  the 
beginning  of  1857,  and  European  conjecture  was  utterly  at  a  loss  to  penetrate 
this  Indian  mystery,  which  subsequent  events  made  only  too  intelligible. 
Reports  also  were  industriously  spread  in  the  bazaars  that  the  missionaries 
had  petitioned  the  queen  of  Great  Britain  to  enforce  the  use  of  the  greased 
cartridges,  in  order  to  compel  the  Hindus  to  become  Christians.  They  even 
pretended  to  give  the  very  words  of  this  petition,  which,  they  alleged,  were  the 
following :  "  Tipu  made  thousands  of  Hindus  become  of  his  religion,  while  your 
majesty  has  not  made  one  Christian.  Under  your  orders  are  sepoys  of  all 
castes.  We  therefore  pray  you  to  adopt  this  plan  —  namely,  to  cause  to 
be  mixed  up  together  bullocks'  fat  and  pigs'  fat,  and  to  have  it  put  upon  the 
cartridges  which  your  sepoys  put  into  their  mouths,  and  after  six  months 
to  have  it  made  kiiown  to  the  sepoys  how  they  have  thereby  lost  their  caste, 

and  by  this  means  a  certain  road  will  be  opened  for  making  many  Christians." They  added  that  the  queen  was  highly  satisfied  with  this  petition,  and  had 
given  her  assent  to  it. 

Notwithstanding  the  absurdity  of  this  report,  it  was  so  well  suited  to  the 
credulity  and  ignorance  of  the  people,  and  gained  such  belief,  that  the  gov- 

ernor-general. Lord  Canning,  in  council,  was  obliged  on  the  16th  of  May  to 
issue  a  proclamation  on  the  subject,  disclaiming  any  attempt  to  interfere 
with  the  castes  or  religion  of  the  people,  and  warning  them  against  the  arts 
of  those  who  attempted  to  withdraw  them  from  their  allegiance. 

THE   OUTBREAK  AT  MEERUT 

But  this  proclamation  was  too  late,  and  even  had  it  been  earlier  it  would 
have  been  equally  useless.  The  rebellion  had  already  broken  out  in  full  vio- 

lence, and  in  those  districts  where  it  could  be  least  resisted.  Of  the  European 
regiments  in  the  presidency  of  Bengal,  the  greater  part  were  dispersed  over 
the  whole  extent  of  Great  Britain's  Indian  Empire,  and  isolated  among  a 
hostile  people.  One  important  military  station  was  Meerut  (Mirath),  thirty- 
five  miles  to  the  northeast  of  the  city  of  Delhi,  between  the  Ganges  and  the 
Junma.  At  this  place  were  two  regiments  of  native  infantry  and  one  of  light 
cavalry,  comprising  in  all  2,700  men,  and  a  European  force  numbering  1,717 
men,  the  whole  being  under  the  command  of  Major-General  Hewitt.  On  the 
6th  of  May,  when  cartridges,  which,  to  avoid  offence,  had  been  made  for  the 
purpose,  were  offered  to  the  native  cayalry,  eighty-five  troopers  refused  to 
receive  them.  They  were  tried  by  court-martial  for  their  disobedience; 
eighty  were  sentenced  to  imprisonment  with  hard  labour  for  ten  years,  and 
five  for  six  years;  and  on  the  9th,  after  their  sentences  were  read  to  them  on 
parade,  they  were  put  in  irons  and  conducted  to  jail. 

But  their  companions  sjonpathised  in  their  rebellion.  On  the  following 
morning,  which  was  Sunday,  the  native  regiments  rose  in  mutiny,  fired  upon 
their  officers,  and  after  making  a  rush  upon  the  prison,  from  which  they 
rescued  not  only  their  fellows  but  upwards  of  one  thousand  convicts  who 
were  confined  there,  they  set  the  building  on  fire.  The  wildest  license  now 
prevailed  in  Meerut.  Several  British  officers  with  their  wives  and  children, 
were  massacred  with  circumstances  of  aggravated  atrocity.  While  bunga- 

lows were  blazing  in  every  direction,  and  the  streets  filled  with  the  hurrying 
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rush  of  the  murderers,  and  shrieks  of  the  dymg,  the  two  British  regiments 
marched  against  the  native  lines,  assailed  them  with  volleys  of  grape  and 
musketry,  drove  the  mutineers  from  the  encampment,  and  pursued  them 
in  their  retreat,  cutting  down  a  considerable  number  on  the  way.  But  as  the 
chase  was  conducted  by  only  a  party  of  carabineers  and  riflemen,  and  as  the 
night  was  very  dark,  the  main  body  of  the  mutineers,  consisting  of  the  3rd 
light  cavalry  and  20th  infantry,  were  enabled  to  make  good  their  retreat  to 
Delhi. 

SCENES  IN   DELHI 

Such  was  the  day  of  horror  which  prevailed  over  Meerut  and  its  neighbour- 
hood on  this  memorable  10th  of  May;  the  scene  was  now  to  be  shifted  to 

Delhi,  where  three  regiments  of  native  infantry  and  a  battery  of  native 
artillery  were  stationed,  but  not  a  single  company  of  British  soldiers.  At  an 
early  hour  on  the  morning  of  the  11th  a  handful  of  horsemen,  not  above 
thirty  or  forty  in  nmnber,  came  galloping  in  headlong  speed  to  the  city, 
though  their  approach  excited  no  alarm.  But  they  were  an  advanced  party 
of  the  light  cavalry,  who  had  fled  from  Meerut;  and  they  were  the  harbingers 
of  the  atrocities  that  were  to  follow,  and  the  chief  actors  in  their  commission. 
They  rushed  in  at  the  Calcutta  gate  unchallenged,  and  had  no  sooner  entered 

the  city  than,  raising  the  cry  of  "Deen,  deen,"  their  shout  equally  for  a  battle- 
charge  or  a  massacre,  they  attacked  and  cut  down  every  European  they  met 
in  their  way. 

The  54th  native  regiment  with  two  guns  were  sent  to  quell  the  mutiny. 
They  steadily  marched  to  the  city  and  promptly  entered  by  the  Kashmir  gate; 
but  here  the  mask  was  dropped;  for  no  sooner  did  the  insurgent  body  of  light 
cavalry  approach  than  the  sepoys  withdrew  from  their  officers,  leaving  the 
latter  exposed  to  the  fierce  horsemen,  who  came  upon  them  at  full  gallop, 
and  shot  them  down  with  their  pistols. 

Delhi  was  now  in  possession  of  the  rebels  —  nothing  remained  to  the 
British  but  the  powder  magazine,  with  two  officers  and  three  or  four  sub- 

alterns in  charge  of  it.  But,  such  as  it  was,  it  was  the  only  refuge  left  to 
the  British  dominion  in  Delhi;  and  while  the  work  of  murder  was  going  on 
within  the  city,  where  the  shameful  atrocities  of  Meerut  were  exceeded,  not 
only  upop  strong  men,  but  helpless  women  and  imoffending  children,  the 
rebels  assailed  the  magazine  with  their  whole  luiited  force.  The  place  was 
gallantly  held  by  the  handful  within,  and  the  first  attacks  repelled  by  volleys 
of  grape;  but  thousands  still  pressed  forward,  and  scaling  ladders  were  applied, 
so  that  the  walls  were  on  the  point  of  being  won.  But,  calculating  upon  this 
chance.  Lieutenant  WiUoughby,  who  was  in  charge  of  the  magazine,  had  laid 
a  train  to  that  department  which  contained  the  gimpowder;  it  was  fired  at 
his  signal,  and  instantly  the  building,  with  hundreds  of  sepoys,  was  sent 
flying  into  the  air. 

During  the  smoke  and  confusion  the  few  defenders  managed  to  escape, 
with  the  exception  of  the  gallant  Willoughby,  who,  scorched,  blackened,  and  all 
but  killed  by  the  explosion,  succeeded  in  reaching  Meerut,  but  only  to  die 
soon  after.  While  this  hasty  siege  had  been  going  on,  such  of  the  British 

residents,  both  gentlemen  and  ladies,  as  had  escaped  the  first  onset  of  the  mur- 
derers, endeavoured  to  find  a  rallying  point,  for  either  shelter  or  an  honourable 

death,  and  the  greater  part  repaired  to  the  Flagstaff  Tower,  in  front  of  the 
cantonments,  where  a  company  of  the  38th  native  infantry  and  two  guns 
were  stationed.    But  it  had  to  be  abandoned  by  its  inmates,  who  retreated, 
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some  to  Kemoul,  and  others  to  Meerut.  Another  attempt  was  made  to 
hold  a  small  fortified  bastion  called  the  Mainguard,  within  the  Kashmir  gate, 
that  was  soon  filled  not  only  with  men,  but  with  women  and  children,  and 
reinforcements  were  sent  for  from  the  cantonments;  but  at  five  o'clock  the 
treacherous  guards,  on  whom  they  had  depended,  suddenly  opened  fire  upon 
them,  and  commenced  a  massacre  from  which  only  a  few  escaped.  Even  the 
palace,  to  which  many  of  the  Europeans  fled,  was  no  protection.  There  sat 
the  old  titular  sovereign,  weighed  down  but  not  softened  by  the  load  of  moie 

Great  Arch  and  Iron  Column,  Old  Delhi 

than  fourscore  years;  there,  too,  were  his  sons,  to  give  active  spirit  to  his 
relentless  apathy,  and  encourage  the  miu-ders  that  were  perpetrated  in  his 
name;  and  all  who  fled  to  its  courts  in  the  vain  hope  of  safety,  or  were  allured 
thither  by  promises  of  protection,  were  there  murdered,  not  only,  as  was 
alleged,  by  the  express  commands  of  the  princes,  but  even  in  their  very  pres- 

ence.   Within  a  day  or  two  not  a  British  resident  was  left  alive  in.  Delhi. 

MUTINY  FORESTALLED  IN  THE  PUNJAB 

While  the  conflagration  was  thus  kindled  in  which  the  whole  Indian 
Empire  was  so  soon  to  be  enveloped,  the  electric  wires  which  extended  across 
Hindustan  from  Calcutta  to  Lahore,  with  branch  lines  to  the  principal  mili- 

tary and  civil  stations,  were  in  active  operation.  When  the  tidings  arrived 
at  Lahore,  Sir  John  Lawrence,  the  chief  commissioner  of  the  Pimjab,  was 
absent;  but  the  judicial  commissioner,  Mr.  Montgomery,  at  this  crisis  fortu- 

nately assumed  the  direction  of  affairs,  and  promptly  repaired  to  Mian  Mir, 
the  military  cantonment  of  which  was  six  miles  distant.  It  was  well  that 
he  did  so,  for  at  this  station,  where  there  were  three  native  regiments  of 
infantry,  and  one  of  cavalry,  with  the  81st  British  regiment  and  some  artillery, 
the  sepoys  had  matured  a  plot  to  seize  the  fort  at  Lahore,  break  open  the 
jail,  and  massacre  all  the  Europeans.  Their  design  was  discovered,  and 
measures  were  concerted  between  Mr.  Montgomery  and  Brigadier  Corbett, 
the  commaiider  at  Mian  Mir.  to  defeat  it. 
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On  that  evening  a  ball  was  to  be  given  by  the  residents  to  the  officers 
of  the  81st,  and  to  lull  suspicion  the  ball  was  allowed  to  go  on.  But  on  the 
next  morning  the  troops  were  drawn  up  on  parade,  ostensibly  to  hear  a 
general  order  read;  the  five  companies  of  the  81st,  with  their  artillery,  were 
stationed  in  the  rear  of  the  native  regiments;  and  the  latter,  after  a  few 
sentences  addressed  to  them,  were  commanded  to  pile  arms.  The  sepoys  for 
a  moment  hesitated:  but  they  found  that  twelve  guns  were  pointed  at  them 
loaded  to  the  muzzle  with  grape-shot;  that  at  a  single  word  of  command, 
the  lighted  matches  would  be  applied;  and  slowly  and  moodily  they  yielded 
to  the  necessity,  and  piled  their  arms,  which  were  instantly  removed  in  carts 
by  the  European  soldiers. 

The  rapid  action  of  the  telegraphic  wires  was  equally  effectual  in  other 
quarters,  notably  at  Firozpur,  south  of  the  Sutlej.  At  Peshawar,  the  prm- 
cipal  officers  of  that  quarter  decided  upon  the  formation  of  a  moveable  column, 
whose  headquarters  were  to  be  at  Jhelum,  and  which  was  to  "  move  on  every 
point  of  the  Punjab  where  open  mutiny  required  to  be  put  down  by  force." 
By  these  decisive  proceedings  the  most  important  limb  of  the  conspiracy  was 
lopped  off,  and  the  best  of  its  strength  paralysed.  It  was  from  the  Punjab 
that  the  greatest  danger  was  apprehended,  both  from  the  military  spirit  of 
the  Sikhs  and  the  recency  of  their  subjugation,  which  still  rankled  in  their 
memories.  Other  less  important  attempts  at  mutiny,  which  were  on  the  eve 
of  breaking  out  in  other  parts  of  the  country,  were  either  suppressed  or 
abandoned.  The  next  movement  on  the  part  of  the  British  government  was 
to  be  the  recovery  of  Delhi,  for  which  the  securing  of  the  Punjab  was  a  neces- 

sary step;  and,  accordingly.  Sir  John  Lawrence,  Mr.  Montgomery,  and  the 
other  officers  in  that  quarter  bestirred  themselves  in  raising  fresh  troops, 
Multanese,  Sikhs,  and  men  of  the  hill  tribes,  who  had  not  been  infected  by 
the  mutiny,  and  were  ready  to  serve  against  any  power  on  the  Inducement  of 
good  pay  and  plunder.  At  the  same  time  Lord  Canning,  the  governor- 
general  of  India  [who  had  been  but  a  short  time  in  the  country],  recalled  the 
troops  stationed  in  Persia,  and  sent  for  reinforcements  from  Bombay  and 
Madras,  from  Biuina  and  Ceylon,  from  the  Eastern  Settlements  and  the 
Mauritius,  and  above  all  from  England,  to  put  down  a  rebellion  in  which  so 
many  kingdoms  were  united,  and  to  maintam  which  so  many  armies  were  in 
the  field.c 

Of  the  governor-general.  Lord  Roberte  says:  "There  are  few  men  whose 
conduct  of  affairs  has  been  so  severely  criticised  as  Lord  Canning's,  but  there 
are  still  fewer  who,  as  governors  or  viceroys,  have  had  to  deal  with  such  an 
overwhelming  crisis  as  the  Mutiny.  While  the  want  of  appreciation  Lord 
Canning  at  m-st  displayed  of  the  magnitude  of  that  crisis  may,  with  perfect 
justice,  be  attributed  to  the  fact  that  most  of  his  advisers  had  gained  their 
experience  only  in  Lower  Bengal,  and  had  therefore  a  very  imperfect  knowl- 

edge of  popular  feeling  throughout  India,  the  very  large  measure  of  success 
which  attended  his  subsequent  action  was  due  undoubtedly  to  his  own  ability 

and  sound  judgment."  « 
On  the  15th  and  16th  of  May,  particulars  reached  Lord  Canning  of  the 

massacre  of  the  Europeans,  of  the  flight  of  the  officers,  of  the  ralljing  round 
the  resuscitated  flag  of  the  Mughal.  Then  he  stood  forward  as  the  bold, 
resolute,  strong  Englishman  he  really  was.  He  telegraphed  to  the  governor 
of  Bombay,  Lord  Elphinstone,  to  hasten  as  far  as  he  could  the  return  of  the 
troops  due  in  Bombay  from  the  completed  campaign  against  Persia.  He 

telegraphed  to  the  commander-in-chief  "  to  make  short  work  of  Delhi."  He transmitted  to  the  chief  commissioner  of  the  Pxmjab,  Sir  John  Lawrence,  full 



174  THE   HISTOEY   OF   BEITISH   INDIA 
[1857-1858  A.D.] 

powers  to  act  according  to  the  best  of  his  judgment.  Not  only  did  he  covinter- 
mand  the  return  of  the  84th  to  Rangoon,  but  he  sent  for  a  second  regiment 
from  that  place  and  from  Moulmein.  He  wrote  to  the  governor  of  Madras, 
Lord  Harris,  to  send  him  two  regiments.  More  than  that,  recollecting  that  a 
combined  military  and  naval  expedition  was  on  its  way  from  England  to 

China,  to  support  there,  by  force  of  arms,  the  pretensions  of  the  British,  he 
took  upon  himself  the  responsibility  of  despatching  a  message  to  Lord  Elgin 
and  General  Ashburnham  to  intercept  that  expedition  and  beg  them  to 

despatch  the  troops  under  their  orders  with  all  possible  speed  to  India./ 

BRITISH  ADVANCE   ON   DELHI 

The  commander-in-chief  in  India  during  these  proceedings  of  the  terrible 
outburst  was  General  the  Honourable  George  Anson.  But  he  died  at  Karmal, 
from  an  attack  of  cholera,  on  the  27th  of  May.  He  was  succeeded  in  the 
command  by  Major-General  Reed,  who  was  worn  out  with  age  and  sickness, 
so  that  this  new  commander-in-chief  was  obliged  to  devolve  his  charge  upon 
Major-General  Sir  Henry  Barnard,  on  the  8th  of  June,  when  he  was  within  a 
single  march  of  Delhi.  Such  were  the  effects  of  succession  by  the  rule  of 
seniority  at  a  season  when  the  prime  of  strength,  activity,  and  promptitude 
was  loudly  and  suddenly  called  for.  Having  cleared  the  way  [by  varioiis 
skirmishes]  the  British  army  advanced  to  the  attack  upon  Delhi;  and  for  this 
purpose  General  Barnard  divided  his  force  into  two  coliumns,  one  of  which, 
under  the  command  of  General  Wilson,  advanced  upon  the  city  along  the 
main  trunk  road,  while  the  other,  headed  by  himself,  proceeded  through  the 
cantonments  which  the  rebels  had  burned  and  destroyed,  and  upon  a  ridge 
beyond  which  he  found  them  posted  in  a  strong  position,  well  defended  with 
artillery.  In  this,  as  on  other  occasions  throughout  the  war,  the  rebels  were 
turning  the  lessons  they  had  learned  against  theu-  instructors;  but  it  was 
merely  as  hiimble  imitators,  and  as  schoolboys  in  rebellion  against  their 
teachers;  the  genius  of  the  master-spirit  to  strike  out  new  paths,  or  even  to 
follow  up  the  old  to  their  highest  result,  was  equally  wanting  among  them 
and  hence  the  disadvantage  under  which  they  constantly  laboured,  notwith- 

standing their  overwhehning  numbers  and  vast  resources.  Their  position 
was  taken  in  flank  and  rear,  and  carried  by  a  rapid  flank  movement  to  the 
left  on  the  part  of  General  Barnard,  and  the  rebels,  abandoning  their  guns, 

were  fain  to  take  to  flight,  while  General  Wilson's  column,  pressing  forward 
over  high  walls  and  through  gardens,  drove  the  fugitives  back  into  the  city. 
The  British  troops,  having  then  re-united,  established  themselves  before  Delhi 
in  a  camp  about  two  miles  to  the  north  of  the  city.  Here  upon  ground  high 
and  rocky,  and  admirably  suited  for  the  siege,  they  were  obliged  to  stand  on 
the  defensive  for  months,  owing  to  the  smallness  of  their  numbers  and  the 
immense  force  of  the  rebel  sepoys  within  the  city.  The  entire  amount  of  the 
European  army  who  thus  established  themselves  upon  blockade  before  Delhi 
did  not  exceed  three  thousand  bayonets,  with  a  detachment  of  Gorkhas,  who 
during  these  encounters  aided  the  British  and  served  them  with  admirable 
courage  and  fidelity. 

THE   REVOLT  IN   OTHER   PLACES 

During  the  course  of  these  events  that  led  to  the  siege  of  Delhi,  the  instances 
of  revolt  in  the  several  portions  of  the  Indian  Empire  continued  to  multiply 
in  still  closer  succession;  but  to  these,  important  though  they  were,  we  can 
only  devote  a  brief  notice.    At  Fathigarh  it  was  thought  advisable,  when  the 
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rebellion  had  approached  the  neighbourhood,  to  send  off  the  ladies  and  the 
children  for  safety  to  Cawnpore;  and  they  were  embarked  in  boats  upon  the 
Ganges,  when,  on  hearing  false  reports  of  the  safety  that  was  still  to  be  enjoyed 
at  Fathigarh,  a  considerable  part  of  them  were  tempted  to  return.  Here, 
however,  the  mutiny  broke  out  on  the  18th  of  June;  and  the  fort  in  which 
the  Europeans  had  taken  refuge  was  attacked,  and  after  a  desperate  but  fruit- 

less resistance  its  inmates,  to  the  number  of  one  hundred,  including  women 
and  children,  embarked  on  the  Ganges  on  the  4th  of  July,  soon  after  midnight, 
but  were  fired  upon  from  the  banks  by  the  sepoys;  and  in  consequence  of  the 
stranding  of  one  of  the  two  boats,  nearly  all  on  board  were  killed  or  drowned, 
while  those  who  escaped  landed  at  Bithur,  only  to  be  mmrdered  by  Nana 
Sahib,  who  had  his  residence  there. 

At  Allahabad,  where  the  mutiny  broke  out  in  the  beginning  of  June,  the 
Exu-opean  officers,  to  the  number  of  fom-teen,  were  butchered  on  the  parade 
ground  by  their  own  sepoy  soldiers,  the  military  station  was  destroyed  by 
fire,  and  for  several  days  the  city  was  wholly  given  up  to  plunder  and  havoc, 
in  which  one  hundred  Europeans  were  killed.  This  state  of  outrage  continued 
until  troops  were  sent  up  from  Benares,  by  whom  the  place  was  recovered,  and 
a  severe  chastisement  inflicted  on  the  rebels. 

A  similar  outbreak  took  place  at  Jhansi  in  Bimdelkhand  on  the  4th  of 
June,  where  such  of  the  British  residents  as  could  not  make  their  escape  from 
the  town  retired  into  the  fort,  determined  to  sell  their  lives  as  dear  as  possible. 
Although  they  were  only  fifty-five,  including  women  and  children,  they  main- 

tained the  defence  four  days  imder  an  incessant  fire  of  camion  and  musketry, 
and  only  surrendered  on  the  promise  that  all  their  lives  should  be  spared. 
But  no  sooner  had  the  rebels  got  possession  of  the  fort  than  they  violated  their 
promises,  and  put  all  their  prisoners  to  the  sword.  On  the  3rd  of  June  the 
revolt  broke  out  at  Azimgarh,  nearly  opposite  to  Benares,  but  accompanied 
with  such  circumstances  of  forbearance  as  to  make  this  act,  as  compared  with 
the  other  outbreaks,  almost  seem  a  virtue;  for  although  the  mutineers  plun- 

dered an  escort  conveying  treasure  to  Benares,  they  formed  a  square  with  the 
officers  within  to  protect  their  lives,  and  brought  carriages  for  the  safe  con- 

veyance of  the  women  and  children,  whom  they  actually  escorted  ten  miles  on 
the  road  to  Ghazipur!  At  Benares,  a  small  company  of  two  hundred  British 
soldiers  maintained  themselves  against  nearly  eight  times  that  nimiber  of 
Sikhs  and  sepoys  who  suddenly  rose  upon  them,  and  held  their  position  in  the 
mint  until  British  reinforcements  were  sent  to  their  aid,  and  Benares,  the 
Athens  of  Brahmanical  learning,  recovered  from  the  revolters.  It  is  gratifying 
to  add  that  while  this  conflict  at  Benares  was  at  the  hottest,  seventy  Sikh 
soldiers  who  had  been  placed  on  guard  of  the  government  treasiuy,  amounting 
to  six  lacs  of  rupees,  defended  their  trust  to  the  last,  and  restored  it  entire  to 
the  British  troops  when  the  insiurection  was  quelled. 

This  rebellion,  which  had  nerved  the  most  timid  to  deeds  of  daring  and 
endurance,  had  also  its  natural  effect  in  hardening  the  feelings  to  the  stem 
modes  of  suppression  and  retribution  which  had  to  be  adopted,  and  caused 
deeds  to  be  regarded  with  toleration  which,  at  other  seasons,  could  not  even 
have  been  heard  of  without  a  shudder.  Writing  on  the  29th  of  Jime,  a  British 
resident  mentions  the  permanent  establishment  of  the  gibbet  at  Benares,  and 
adds  :  "Scarcely  a  day  passes  without  some  poor  wretches  being  hurled  into 

eternity.  It  is  horrible,  very  horrible !  To  think  of  it  is  enough  to  make  one's 
blood  run  cold;  but  such  is  the  state  of  things  here  that  even  fine  delicate 

ladies  may  be  heard  expressing  their  joy  at  the  rigour  with  which  the  miscre- 
ants are  dealt  with." 
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THE  DEFENCE  OF  LTJCKNOW 

When  the  rebellion  commenced  it  was  of  the  utmost  importance  to  ensure 
the  safety  of  Lucknow,  the  capital  of  Oudh,  containing  about  700,000  inhab- 

itants. Accordingly,  after  the  3rd  of  May,  Sir  Henry  Lawrence,  who  was 
acting  as  chief  commissioner  there  in  the  absence  of  Sir  James  Outram,  made 
active  preparations  for  the  defence  of  the  residency .c 

Of  the  acting  chief  commissioner  Lord  Roberts  says:  "Henry  Lawrence 
was  apparently  the  only  European  in  India  who,  from  the  very  first,  formed 
an  accurate  estimate  of  the  extent  of  the  danger  which  threatened  our  rule 
in  the  early  part  of  1857,  and  who,  notwithstanding  his  thorough  appreciation 
of  the  many  good  quahties  of  the  native  soldiers,  was  not  led  into  a  mistaken 
belief  in  the  absolute  loyalty  of  the  native  army.  Fourteen  years  before, 
Lawrence  had  predicted  the  Mutiny  and  the  course  it  would  take,  and  when 
events  shaped  themselves  as  he  had  foreseen,  he  gave  it  as  his  opinion  that 
the  defection  would  be  general  and  widespread.  But  while  his  intimate 
knowledge  of  native  character  led  him  to  this  conviction,  so  great  was  his 
influence  with  the  natives — perhaps  by  reason  of  that  knowledge  —  that  he 
was  able  to  delay  the  actual  outbreak  at  Lucknow  until  his  measures  for 
the  defence  of  the  residency  were  completed;  and  he  persuaded  a  consider- 

able number  of  sepoys  not  only  to  continue  in  their  allegiance  but  to  share 
with  their  European  comrades  the  dangers  and  privations  of  the  siege  —  a 
priceless  service,  for  without  their  aid  the  defence  could  not  have  been  made.« 

The  native  force  at  Lucknow  consisted  of  more  than  four  thousand  men, 
having  about  sixty  European  officers:  the  British  troops  did  not  number  in  all 
one  thousand.  Here  the  mutiny,  after  seven  or  eight  weeks  of  indignant 
threats  and  murmurings,  broke  out  on  the  evening  9f  the  30th  of  May,  and 
the  commencement  was  with  the  usual  deeds  of  violence;  but  when  part 
of  the  32nd  regiment  and  the  artillery  were  brought  up,  the  rebels,  after  some 
loss,  forsook  the  cantonments,  and  retreated  towards  Delhi.  It  was  merely 
the  first  murmur  of  the  storm  that  was  to  gather  round  Lucknow;  and,  aware 
of  this.  Sir  Henry  Lawrence  redoubled  his  preparations  for  the  strengthening 
of  the  defences,  and  multiplying  the  means  of  resistance.  The  most  active  of 
the  rebellious  emissaries  were  hanged;  two  members  of  the  royal  family  of 
Delhi  and  a  brother  of  the  ex-king  of  Oudh  were  secured  and  imprisoned  in 
that  fortress;  and  thousands  of  coolies  were  employed  with  spade  and  pickaxe 
in  repairing  batteries,  stockades,  and  trenches. 

Everything  available  for  war  was  brought  within  the  residency,  and 
among  these  were  two  himdred  guns  without  carriages,  which  were  discovered 
in  a  garden,  and  which  now  bristled  upon  the  walls  and  ramparts  of  the 
British  defences.  WhUe  thus  employed,  it  was  learned  that  a  body  of  the 
rebels  were  advancing,  and  Sir  Henry  Lawrence,  with  three  hundred  troops 
and  a  few  guns,  marched  out  on  the  30th  of  June  to  oppose  them,  at  the  village 
of  Chinhat,  about  eight  miles  from  Lucknow.  But  the  mutineers  were  so 
numerous  that  Sir  Henry  was  defeated  with  serious  loss,  and  in  consequence 
of  this  disaster  it  was  found  necessary  to  withdraw  the  British  troops  from 
the  imlitary  cantonments  to  the  residency.  On  the  1st  of  July  orders  were 
given  to  evacuate  the  place.  This  was  done  accordingly,  and  240  barrels  of 
gunpowder  and  six  million  rounds  of  cartridges  were  lost,  whether  for  attack 
or  defence.  The  siege  of  the  residency  now  commenced  in  earnest,  and  the 
defence  made  by  the  British  is  one  of  the  most  heroic  episodes  in  the  history 
of  this  disastrous  rebellion.    Hemmed  in  and  all  but  overpowered,  they  con- 
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tinued  their  resistance  with  unabated  constancy,  notwithstanding  their  hope- 
less condition,  and  the  disasters  that  multipUed  upon  them  from  day  to  day. 

On  the  2nd  of  July  their  brave  commander,  Sir  Henry  Lawrence,  was  mortally 
wounded  by  the  explosion  of  a  shell  that  alighted  in  the  chamber  where  he 
was  reclining  on  his  bed,  worn  out  with  anxiety  and  sickness.  He  died  on  the 
4th,  after  appointing  Major  Banks  his  successor,  and  Banks  was  killed  by  a 
musket-shot  on  the  21st.  In  this  critical  situation  the  siege  of  Lucknow  was 
continued,  while  the  heroic  defenders  procrastinated  their  resistance  in  the 
hope  of  relief. 

NANA  SAHIB'  AND   THE   MASSACRE   OF   CAWNPORE 

In  so  complex  an  event  as  the  Indian  rebellion,  it  is  difficult,  especially 
within  a  narrow  compass,  to  follow  out  the  details  of  the  different  outbreaks, 
or  even  to  comprise  their  names;  and  hitherto  we  have  been  obliged  to  present 
only  the  chief  of  them,  as  specimens  of  the  whole.  By  the  end  of  June  the 
native  troops  had  mutinied  at  twenty-two  stations.  Of  these  stations,  one 
of  the  most  important  in  the  history  of  this  rebellion  was  Cawnpore.  About 
ten  miles  higher  up  the  river  is  Bithur,  the  residence  of  Nana  Sahib,  a  mis- 

creant whose  name  has  constituted  the  foulest  blot  of  this  rebellion.  This 
man,  a  compound  of  cruelty,  craft,  and  cowardice,  was  originally  named 
Dandhu  Panth,  and  was  the  son  of  a  Brahman  from  the  Deccan;  but  having 
been  adopted  in  the  eastern  fashion  as  a  son  by  Baji  Rao,  the  displaced  peshwa 
of  Poona,  Nana  Sahib,  on  the  death  of  the  latter  in  1852,  claimed  as  his  lawful 
inheritance  the  continuation  of  the  pension  of  eight  lacs  of  rupees  which  had 
been  allowed  by  the  British  government  to  the  peshwa  in  consequence  of  his 
surrender.  But  this  Hindu  form  of  succession,  by  which  childless  princes 
could  have  continued  successors  to  their  rights  at  pleasure,  had  been  [as  we 
have  seen]  repudiated  by  the  company,  and  the  native  claims  upon  it,  which 
had  died  out  with  the  extinction  of  these  sovereign  pensionaries  who  had  no 
son  of  their  own  blood,  were  disallowed.  Thus  Nana  Sahib,  although  aheady 
possessed  of  more  than  £4,000,000  by  the  death  of  Baji  Rao,  was  disappointed 
in  his  avaricious  hopes,  and  he  nursed  the  spirit  of  revenge  in  his  fortified 
palace  at  Bithur,  where  he  was  allowed  to  retain  a  bodyguard  of  two  hundred 
soldiers.  These  circumstances,  with  his  advantages  of  an  English  education, 
may  account  for  the  readiness  with  which  he  threw  himself  into  the  rebellion, 
the  importance  which  he  acquired  in  it  as  a  leader,  and  the  fiendish  malignity 
with  which  he  pursued  it  to  the  close. 

The  condition  of  Cawnpore  at  the  commencement  of  the  general  outbreak 
was  such  as  to  cause  serious  alarm.  The  native  troops  in  the  cantonments 
consisted  of  three  regiments  of  infantry  and  one  of  cavalry,  mustermg  in  all 
3,860  men,  having  115  European  oSicers,  while  the  other  British  troops 
scarcely  exceeded  170.  Sir  Hugh  Massey  Wheeler  was  in  command  of  the 
station;  and  as  the  cantonments  were  on  a  plain,  and  without  any  defences, 
he  proceeded  to  throw  up  a  breastwork  of  earth  roimd  the  hospital  and  several 
smaller  buildings,  which  served  as  a  shelter  for  the  Europeans  when  the  storm 
arrived.  And  its  coming  was  not  long  delayed.  The  native  regiments  rebelled, 
and  went  off  in  a  body  to  Nana  Sahib,  who  now  foimd  himself  in  a  condition 
to  take  the  field.  He  therefore  immediately  marched  upon  Cawnpore,  plun- 

dered the  treasury,  and  took  possession  of  the  magazine,  that  unfortunately 

had  not  been  destroyed;  and  thus  furnished  with  the  sinews  of  war,  he  com- 
menced on  the  7th  of  June  the  siege  of  the  slight  earthem  fortress  that  had 

been  hastily  thrown  up.    It  was  a  defence  better  suited  to  resist  a  temporary 
H.  w.  —  VOL.  autii.  N 
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riot  than  to  withstand  an  army  or  hold  out  against  a  siege,  and  the  astonish- 
ment was  that  it  could  have  resisted  for  a  single  day,  more  especially  when  of 

the  nine  hundred  persons  contained  within  it  590  were  women,  children, 
and  non-combatants.  But  this  brave  garrison  continued  their  resistance  till 
the  24th,  although  the  cannonade  of  the  besiegers  was  heavy  and  their  attacks 
frequent,  and  although  the  heat,  fatigue,  and  privations  endured  in  the  de- 

fence were  such  as  might  have  quelled  the  bravest." 
A  vivid  account  of  the  suffering  of  the  besieged  was  afterwards  written  by 

Captain  Mowbray  Thomson,  one  of  the  two  survivors  of  that  garrison.* 

AN  eye-witness'  ACCOUNT  OF  THE  CAWNPORE  SIEGE 

While  in  happy  England  the  Sabbath  bells  were  ringing,  in  the  day  of  peace 
and  rest,  we  were  in  suspense  peering  over  oiu"  mud-wall  at  the  destructive 
flames  that  were  consuming  all  our  possessions,  and  expecting  a  more  dreaded 
fire  that  was  to  be  aimed  at  the  persons  of  hundreds  of  women  and  children 
about  us.  Very  few  of  our  number  had  secured  a  single  change  of  raiment; 
some,  like  myself,  were  only  partially  dressed,  and  even  in  the  beginning  of 
our  defence  we  were  like  a  band  of  seafarers  who  had  taken  to  a  raft  to  escape 
their  burning  shi}}. 

All  through  this  first  weary  day  the  shrieks  of  the  women  and  children 
were  terrific;  and  often  as  the  balls  struck  the  walls  of  the  barracks  their 
wailings  were  heart-rendering;  but  after  the  initiation  of  that  first  day  they 
had  learned  silence,  and  never  uttered  a  sound,  except  when  groaning  from 
the  horrible  mutiliations  they  had  endured.  When  night  sheltered  them, 
our  cowardly  assailants  closed  in  upon  the  intrenchments,  and  harassed  us 
with  incessant  volleys  of  musketry.  Waiting  the  assault  that  was  supposed 
to  be  impending,  not  a  man  closed  his  eyes  in  sleep,  and  throughout  the 
whole  siege  snatches  of  troubled  slumber,  under  the  cover  of  the  wall,  were 
all  the  relief  the  combatants  could  obtain.  The  ping-ping  of  the  rifle  bullets 
would  break  short  dreams  of  home  or  approaching  relief,  pleasant  visions 
made  horrible  by  waking  to  the  state  of  things  around;  and  if  it  were  so  with 
men  of  mature  years,  sustained  by  the  fulness  of  physical  strength,  how  much 
more  terrific  were  the  nights  passed  within  those  barracks  by  our  women  and 
children! 

As  often  as  the  shout  of  oiu-  sentinels  was  heard,  each  half-hour  sounding 
the  "AU's  well,"  the  spot  from  which  the  voice  proceeded  became  the  centre 
for  hundreds  of  buUets.  At  different  degrees  of  distance,  from  fifty  to  four 
himdred  yards  and  more,  they  hovered  about  during  the  hours  of  darkness, 
always  measm-ing  the  range  by  day  light,  and  then  poiu-ing  in  from  under  the 
cover  of  adjacent  buildings,  or  ruins  of  buildings,  the  fire  of  their  artillery,  or 
rather  of  otu-  artillery  turned  against  us.  The  execution  conunitted  by  the 
twenty-four-pounders  they  had  was  terrific,  though  they  were  not  always  a 
match  for  the  devices  we  adopted  to  divert  their  ahn.  When  we  wanted  to 
create  a  diversion,  we  used  to  pile  up  some  of  the  muskets  behind  the  mud- 
wall,  and  mount  them  with  hats  and  shakos,  and  then  allow  the  sepoys  to 
expend  their  powder  on  these  dummies,  while  we  went  elsewhere. 

The  sufferings  of  the  women  and  children  from  thirst  were  intense,  and 
the  men  could  scarcely  endure  the  cries  for  drink  which  were  almost  perpetual 
from  the  poor  little  babes;  terribly  unconscious  they  were,  most  of  them,  of 
the  great,  great  cost  at  which  only  it  could  be  procured.  I  have  seen  the 
children  of  my  brother  officers  sucking  the  pieces  of  old  waterbags,  putting 
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scraps  of  canvas  and  leather  strips  into  the  mouth  to  try  and  get  a  single 
drop  of  moisture  upon  their  parched  lips.  Not  even  a  pint  of  water  was  to  be 
had  for  washing  from  the  commencement  to  the  close  of  the  siege;  and  those 
only  who  have  lived  in  India  can  imagme  the  calamity  of  such  a  privation  to 
delicate  women  who  had  been  accustomed  to  the  most  frequent  and  copious 
ablutions  as  a  necessary  of  existence.  Had  the  relieving  force  which  we  all 
thought  to  have  been  on  its  way  from  Calcutta  ever  seen  our  beleaguered 
party,  strange  indeed  wotdd  the  appearance  presented  by  any  of  us  after  the 
first  week  or  ten  days  have  seemed  to  them.  Tattered  in  clothing,  begrimed 
with  dirt,  emaciated  in  countenance  were  all,  without  exception;  faces  that 
had  been  beautiful  were  now  chiselled  with  deep  fiuTows;  haggard  despair 
seated  itself  where  there  had  been  a  month  before  only  smiles.  Some  were 
sinking  into  the  settled  vacancy  of  look  which  marked  insanity  —  the  old, 
babbling  with  confirmed  imbecility,  and  the  yoimg  raving  in  not  a  few  cases 
with  wild  mania;  while  only  the  strongest  maintained  the  cahnness  demanded 
by  the  occasion.  Looking  back  upon  the  horrible  straits  to  which  the  women 
were  driven,  the  maintenance  of  modesty  and  dehcate  feeling  by  them  to  the 
last  is  one  of  the  greatest  marvels  of  the  heart-rending  memories  of  those 
twenty-one  days.* 

At  last,  when  courage  had  done  its  utmost  and  endurance  been  wasted 
out,  the  garrison  was  induced  to  surrender,  on  the  promise  that  they  should  be 
allowed  to  retire  in  safety  to  Allahabad.  They  were  escorted  by  the  rebels 
to  the  river  side,  but  there  the  greater  part  of  the  boats  prepared  ostensibly 
for  their  embarkation  were  drawn  up  too  high  in  the  mud  to  be  launched;  and 
during  the  delay  occasioned  by  this  obstacle  three  guns  were  fired  from  the 

Nana's  camp,  as  the  signal  for  the  massacre  to  begin.  Volleys  of  musketry 
were  immediately  opened  upon  the  boats  already  launched,  when  they  had 
reached  the  middle  of  the  river,  and  out  of  the  whole  flotilla  of  about  forty 
boats  which  were  embarked  on  the  27th  of  June,  only  one  escaped.^  This 
was  the  one  under  the  command  of  Major  Vibart.  Captain  Mowbray  Thom- 

son goes  on  to  describe  the  last  scene  witnessed  by  him  at  Cawnpore." 
As  soon  as  Major  Vibart  had  stepped  into  his  boat,  "Off"  was  the  word; 

but  at  a  signal  from  the  shore  the  native  boatmen,  who  numbered  eight  and  a 
coxswain  to  each  boat,  aU  jumped  over  and  waded  to  the  shore.  We  fired 
into  them  immediately,  but  the  majority  of  them  escaped.  Before  they 
quitted  us,  these  men  had  contrived  to  secrete  burning  charcoal  in  the  thatch 
of  most  of  the  boats.  Simultaneously  with  the  departure  of  the  boatmen, 
the  identical  troopers  who  had  escorted  Major  Vibart  to  the  ghaut  opened 
upon  us  with  their  carbines.  As  well  as  the  confusion  by  the  burning  of  the 
boats  would  allow,  we  returned  the  fire  of  these  horsemen,  who  were  about 
fifteen  or  sixteen  in  number,  but  they  retired  immediately  after  the  volley 
they  had  given  us. 

Those  of  us  who  were  not  disabled  by  wounds  now  jmnped  out  of  the 
boats  and  endeavoured  to  push  them  afloat,  but,  alas!  most  of  them  were 
utterly  immovable.  Now  from  their  ambush,  in  which  they  were  concealed 
all  along  the  banks,  it  seemed  that  thousands  of  men  fired  upon  us;  besides 
four  nine-pounders,  carefully  masked  and  pointed  to  the  boats,  every  bush 
was  filled  with  sepoys.  The  scene  which  followed  this  manifestation  of  the 
infernal  treachery  of  our  assassins  is  one  that  beggars  all  description.  Some 
of  the  boats  presented  a  broadside  to  the  guns,  others  were  raked  from  stem 
to  stem  by  the  shot.  Volimies  of  smoke  from  the  thatch  somewhat  veiled 
the  full  extent  of  the  horrors  of  that  morning.  All  who  could  move  were 
speedily  expelled  from  the  boats  by  the  heat.    Alas  I  the  woiinded  were  burned 
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to  death;  one  mitigation  only  there  was  to  their  horrible  fate  —  the  flames 
were  terrifically  fierce,  and  their  intense  sufferings  were  not  protracted.  Mul- 

titudes of  women  and  children  crouched  behind  the  boats,  or  waded  out  into 
deeper  water,  and  stood  up  to  their  chins  in  the  river  to  lessen  the  probability 

of  being  shot.  Meanwhile  Major  Vibart's  boat,  being  of  lighter  draught 
than  some,  had  got  off  and  was  drifting  down  the  stream,  her  thatched  roof 

unbumed.  I  threw  into  the  Ganges  my  father's  Ghuznee  medal,  and  my 
mother's  portrait,  all  the  property  I  had  left,  determined  that  they  should 
have  only  my  life  for  a  prey;  and  with  one  final  shudder  at  the  devilry 
enacting  upon  that  bank,  which  it  was  impossible  to  mitigate  by  remaining 
any  longer  in  its  reach,  I  struck  out,  swimming  for  the  retreating  boat.* 

Major  Vibart's  boat  contrived  to  get  only  ten  miles  down  the  river,  when 
it  was  overtaken,  and  all  within  it  were  killed  or  taken  prisoners  except  four 
men,  who  made  their  escape  by  swimming.  Of  those  who  survived  the  mas- 

sacre at  the  embarkation,  and  who  were  carried  back  to  Cawnpore,  the  men 
were  murdered,  while  the  women  and  children  were  reserved  for  a  more  linger- 

ing death.  All  this  was  accomplished  by  the  orders  and  imder  the  direction 
of  Nana  Sahib;  and  when  the  foul  work  was  accomplished,  he  issued  procla- 

mations in  which  he  gloried  in  the  deed,  and  justified  his  proceedings,  by  the 
charges  he  attempted  to  fasten  upon  the  British  government  and  its  func- 
tionaries." 

After  the  men  who  had  not  escaped  in  the  two  boats  had  all  been  shot  at 
the  ghaut,  the  women  and  children  were  dragged  out  of  the  water  into  the 
presence  of  the  Nana,  who  ordered  them  to  be  confined  in  one  of  the  buildings 
opposite  the  assembly  rooms;  the  Nana  himself  taking  up  his  residence  in  the 

hotel  which  was  close  at  hand.  When  Major  Vibart's  boat  was  brought  back 
from  Soorajpore,  that  party  also  was  taken  into  the  Nana's  presence,  and  he 
ordered  the  men  and  women  to  be  separated;  the  former  to  be  shot,  and  the 
remainder  to  join  the  captives  in  the  dwelling  or  dungeon  beside  the  hotel. 
Mrs.  Boyes,  the  wife  of  Doctor  Boyes,  of  the  2nd  cavalry,  refused  to  be  sepa- 

rated from  her  husband;  other  ladies  of  the  party  resisted,  but  were  forcibly 
torn  away,  a  work  of  not  much  difficulty  when  their  woimded,  famished  state 
is  considered.  All  efforts,  however,  of  the  sepoys  to  sever  Mrs.  Boyers  from 
her  husband  were  unavailing;  they  were  therefore  all  drawn  up  in  a  line 
before  the  assembly  rooms.  Captain  Seppings  asked  to  be  allowed  to  read 
prayers;  this  poor  indulgence  was  given,  then  they  shook  hands  with  one 
another,  and  the  sepoys  fired  upon  them.  Those  that  were  not  killed  with 
the  volley  they  despatched  with  their  tulwars.  The  spy  who  communicated 
these  facts  could  not  tell  what  became  of  the  corpses,  but  there  is  little  doubt 
they  were  thrown  in  the  river,  that  being  the  native  mode  of  disposing  of 
them. 

The  wretched  company  of  women  and  children  now  consisted  of  210,  viz. : 
163  survivors  from  the  Cawnpore  garrison,  and  47  refugees  from  Fathigarh. 
That  Bithur  butcher  had  murdered  all  the  males  except  three  officers,  whose 
lives  he  spared  for  some  purpose,  but  for  what  it  is  impossible  to  say.  The 
captives  were  fed  with  only  one  meal  a  day  of  dhal  and  chupatties,  and  these 
of  the  meanest  sort;  they  had  to  eat  out  of  earthen  pans,  and  the  food  was 
served  by  menials  of  the  lowest  caste  (mehter),  which  in  itself  was  the  greatest 
indignity  that  easterns  could  cast  upon  them.  They  had  no  furniture,  no 
beds,  not  even  straw  to  lie  down  upon,  but  only  coarse  bamboo  matting  of  the 
roughest  make.  The  house  in  which  they  were  incarcerated  had  formerly 
been  occupied  as  the  dwellmg  of  a  native  clerk;  it  comprised  two  principal 
rooms,  each  about  twenty  feet  long  aiid  ten  broad,  and  besides  there  was  a 
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number  of  dark  closets  rather  than  rooms,  which  had  been  originally  intended 
for  the  use  of  native  servants;  in  addition  to  these,  a  courtyard  about  fifteen 
yards  square  presented  the  only  accommodation  for  these  two  hundred  most 
wretched  victims  of  a  brutality,  in  comparison  with  which  hereafter  the  Black 
Hole  of  Calcutta  and  its  sharp  but  short  agonies  must  sink  into  insignificance. 

Closely  guarded  by  armed  sepoys,  many  of  them  suffering  from  wounds, 
all  of  them  emaciated  from  lack  of  food,  and  deprived  of  all  means  of  cleanli- 

ness, the  deep  dark  horrors  of  the  prisoners  in  that  dungeon  must  remain  to 
their  full  extent  unknown,  and  even  unimagined.  The  spies,  all  of  them, 
however,  persisted  in  the  statement  that  no  indignities  were  committed  upon 
their  virtue;  and  as  far  as  the  most  penetrating  investigation  into  their  most 
horrible  fate  has  proceeded,  there  is  reason  to  hope  that  one,  and  only  one 
exception,  to  the  bitterest  of  anguish  was  allotted  to  them  —  inamunity  from 
the  brutal  violence  of  their  captors'  worst  passions.  Fidelity  requires  that  I 
shovild  allege  what  appears  to  me  the  only  reason  of  their  being  thus  spared. 
When  the  siege  had  terminated,  such  was  the  loathsome  condition  into  which, 
from  long  destitution  and  exposure,  the  fairest  and  youngest  of  our  women 
had  sunk,  that  not  a  sepoy  would  have  polluted  himself  with  their  touch. 

The  advance  of  General  Havelock,  and  his  attempt  to  liberate  them, 
brought  the  crisis  of  their  fate.  The  Nana  was  persuaded  that  the  general 
was  marching  upon  Cawnpore  only  in  the  hope  of  rescuing  the  women  and 
children,  and  that  if  they  were  killed  the  British  forces  would  retire,  and 
leave  India.* 

JtrSTIN   MCCARTHY'S  ACCOUNT   OF  THE   CAWNPORE   MASSACRE 

It  was  intimated  to  the  prisoners  that  they  were  to  die.  Among  them 
were  three  or  four  men.  These  were  called  out  and  shot.  Then  some  sepoys 
were  sent  to  the  house  where  the  women  still  were,  and  ordered  to  fire  volleys 
through  the  windows.  This  they  did,  but  apparently  without  doing  much 
harm.  Some  persons  are  of  opinion,  from  such  evidence  as  can  be  got,  that 
the  men  purposely  fired  high  above  the  level  of  the  floor,  to  avoid  killing  any 
of  the  women  and  children.  In  the  evening  five  men,  two  Hindu  peasants, 
two  Mohammedan  butchers,  and  one  Mohammedan  wearing  the  red  uniform 

of  the  Nana's  bodyguard,  were  sent  up  to  the  house,  and  entered  it.  Incessant shrieks  were  heard  to  come  from  that  fearful  house.  The  Mohammedan 
soldier  came  out  to  the  door,  holding  in  his  hand  a  sword-hilt  from  which  the 
blade  had  been  broken  off,  and  he  exchanged  this  now  useless  instrument  for 
a  weapon  in  proper  condition.  Not  once  but  twice  this  performance  took 
place.  Evidently  the  task  imposed  on  these  men  was  hard  work  for  the 
sword  blades. 

After  a  while  the  five  men  came  out  of  the  now  quiet  house  and  locked  the 
doors  behind  them.  Diu-ing  that  time  they  had  killed  nearly  all  the  English 
women  and  children.  They  had  slaughtered  them  like  beasts  in  the  sham- 

bles. In  the  morning  it  appeared  indeed  that  the  work,  however  zealously 
undertaken,  had  not  been  quite  thorough.  The  strongest  arms  and  sharpest 
sabres  sometimes  fail  to  accomplish  a  long  piece  of  work  to  perfect  satisfaction. 
In  the  morning  it  would  seem  that  some  of  the  women,  and  certainly  some  of 
the  children,  were  still  alive;  that  is  to  say,  were  not  dead.  For  the  five  men 
came  then  with  several  attendants  to  clear  out  the  house  of  the  captives. 
Their  task  was  to  tumble  all  the  bodies  into  a  dry  well  beyond  some  trees  that 
grew  near.  A  large  crowd  of  idlers  assembled  to  watch  this  operation.  Then 
it  was  seen  by  some  of  the  spectators  that  certain  of  the  women  and  children 
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were  not  yet  quite  dead.  Of  the  children  some  were  alive,  and  even  tried  to 
get  away.    But  the  same  well  awaited  them  all. 

Some  witnesses  were  of  opinion  that  the  Nana's  officials  took  the  trouble 
to  kill  the  still  living  before  they  tossed  them  down  into  the  well;  others  do 
not  think  they  stopped  for  any  such  work  of  humanity,  but  flung  them  down 
just  as  they  came  to  hand,  the  quick  and  the  dead  together.  At  all  events, 
they  were  all  deposited  in  the  well.  Any  of  the  bodies  that  had  clothes  worth 
taking  were  carefully  stripped  before  being  consigned  to  this  open  grave. 

When  Cawnpore  was  afterwards  taken  by  the  English,  those  who  had  to 
look  down  into  that  well  saw  a  sight  the  like  of  which  no  man  in  modem  days 
had  ever  seen  elsewhere.  No  attempt  shall  be  made  to  describe  it  here. 
When  the  house  of  the  massacre  itself  was  entered,  its  floors  and  its  walls  told 
with  terrible  plainness  of  the  scene  they  had  witnessed.  The  plaster  of  the 
walls  was  scored  and  seamed  with  sword-slashes  low  down  and  in  the  comers, 
as  if  the  poor  women  had  crouched  down  in  their  mortal  fright  with  some  wild 
hope  of  escaping  the  blows.  The  floor  was  strewn  with  scraps  of  dresses, 

women's  faded,  ragged  finery,  frilling,  underclothing,  broken  combs,  shoes, 
and  tresses  of  hair.  There  was  some  small  and  neatly  severed  curls  of  hair, 
too,  which  had  fallen  on  the  ground,  but  evidently  had  never  been  cut  off  by 
the  rude  weapon  of  a  professional  butcner.  These  doubtless  were  keepsakes  that 
had  been  treasured  to  the  last,  parted  with  only  when  life  and  all  were  going. 

There  was  no  inscription  whatever  on  the  walls  when  the  house  was  first 
entered.  Afterwards  a  story  was  told  of  words  found  written  there  by  some 
Englishwomen  telling  of  hideous  wrong  done  to  them,  and  bequeathing  to 
their  countrymen  the  task  of  revenge.  This  story  created  a  terrible  sensation 
in  England,  as  was  but  natural,  and  aroused  a  fm-ious  thirst  for  vengeance. 
It  was  not  true.  Some  such  inscription  did  appear  on  the  walls  afterwards, 
but  it  is  painful  to  have  to  say  that  it  was  a  vulgar,  and  what  would  have  been 
called  in  later  times  a  "sensational"  forgery.  These  English  women  died 
without  leaving  behiad  them  any  record  of  a  desire  on  their  part  for  ven- 

geance. We  may  be  sure  they  had  other  thoughts  and  other  hopes  as  they 
died.  One  or  two  scraps  of  paper  were  found  which  recorded  deaths  and  such 
like  interruptions  of  the  monotony  of  imprisonment;  but  nothing  more.  The 
well  of  horrors  has  been  filled  up,  and  a  memorial  chapel  surrounded  by  a 
garden  built  upon  the  spot.  It  was  right  to  banish  aU  trace  of  that  hideous 
crime,  and  to  replace  the  house  and  the  well,  as  Mr.  Trevelyan  says,  by  "a 
fair  garden  and  a  graceful  shrine." 

Something,  however,  has  to  be  told  of  the  Nana  and  his  fortunes.  He 
made  one  last  stand  against  the  victorious  English  in  front  of  Cawnpore,  and 
was  completely  defeated.  He  galloped  into  the  city  on  a  bleeding  and  ex- 

hausted horse;  he  fled  thence  to  Bithur,  his  residence.  He  had  just  time  left, 
it  is  said,  to  order  the  murder  of  a  separate  captive,  a  woman  who  had  pre- 

viously been  overlooked  or  purposely  left  behind.  Then  he  took  flight  in  the 
direction  of  the  Nepalese  marches;  and  he  soon  disappears  from  history. 
Nothing  of  his  fate  was  ever  known.  Many  years  afterwards  England  and 
India  were  treated  to  a  momentary  sensation  by  a  story  of  the  capture  of  Nana 
Sahib.  But  the  man  who  was  arrested  proved  to  be  an  entirely  different  per- 

son; and  indeed  from  the  moment  of  his  arrest  few  believed  him  to  be  the  long- 
lost  murderer  of  the  English  women.  In  days  more  superstitious  than  our 
own,  popular  faith  would  have  found  an  easy  explanation  of  the  mystery 
which  surrounded  the  close  of  Nana  Sahib's  career.  He  had  done,  it  would 
have  been  said,  the  work  of  a  fiend;  and  he  had  disappeared  as  a  fiend  would 
do  when  his  task  was  accomplished.? 
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THE   BRITISH  REGAIN  CAWNPORB 

In  the  meantime  Allahabad,  situated  at  the  confluence  of  the  Ganges  and 
the  Jumna,  was  the  place  of  rendezvous  for  the  British  troops  that  could  be 
sent  from  Calcutta,  Benares,  and  other  quarters,  and  Colonel  Havelock,  who had  arrived  at  Calcutta  from  the  Persian  War,  was  raised  to  the  rank  of 
brigadier-general,  and  sent  to  the  recovery  of  Cawnpore  and  the  relief  of  the 
garrison  m  Lucknow.  This  gallant  veteran,  who  had  entered  the  army  in 
1815,  and  who,  notwithstanding  his  worth,  had  served  twenty-three  years 
before  he  attained  the  rank  of  cap- 

tain, was  now  to  exhibit,  in  one  short 
and  final  campaign,  such  talents  as 
might  have  won  and  which  now  helped 
to  recover  Great  Britain's  Indian  Em- 

pire to  its  former  rule.  He  arrived  at 
Allahabad  on  the  30th  of  June,  and 
set  out  from  this  place  by  a  forced 
march  under  a  burning  sun,  to  attack 
the  enemy.  He  was  joined  on  the  way 
by  a  body  of  troops  under  Major  Re- 
naud,  which  raised  his  force  to  four- 

teen hundred  British  and  nearly  six 
hundred  native  soldiers,  with  eight 
guns.  On  the  morning  of  the  11th  of 
July  he  foimd  the  rebels,  to  the  nmn- 
ber  of  three  thousand  five  hundred, 
strongly  intrenched  at  Fathipur,  hav- 

ing twelve  pieces  of  cannon,  with  which 
they  opened  fire  upon  the  British  as 
they  advanced.  But  their  ardour  was 
quickly  damjjed  by  discharge  of  Enfield 
rifles  which  killed  them  from  a  distance, 
and  with  a  certainty  on  which  they  had 
not  calculated;  they  were  speedily  put 
to  the  rout,  and  they  fled  back  to  Cawn- 

pore, leaving  behind  them  their  ammu- 
nition and  baggage  and  all  their  guns. 

This  victory  was  won  without  the  loss  of  a  single  European  killed,  but 
twelve  were  struck  down  during  the  fight  by  sunstroke,  for  they  had  made 
a  forced  march  of  nearly  twenty  miles  before  this  four  hours'  engagement 
commenced.  The  march  upon  Cawnpore  was  resumed,  but  on  the  15th  the 
victors  were  twice  encountered  by  the  rebels,  first  at  the  village  of  Aong, 
and  afterwards  at  the  bridge  over  the  Pandoonudee,  eight  miles  from  Cawn- 

pore. In  both  engagements  the  revolted  sepoys  were  completely  routed, 
and  Havelock  pressed  forward.  The  advance  of  General  Havelock  was 
retarded  by  a  rebel  army  of  five  thousand  men  posted  behind  some  villages 
in  front  of  Cawnpore;  but  by  a  few  skilful  manoeuvres,  and  the  gallant  daring 
of  the  78th  Highlanders,  the  enemy,  although  so  greatly  superior  in  numbers, 
and  notwithstanding  their  desperate  attempts  to  rally,  were  driven  at  every 
point  from  their  positions  and  guns,  and  sent  fleeing  in  wild  confusion. 

The  British  entered  Cawnpore  in  triumph,  but  they  found  nothing  but 
the  slaughter-house,  on  the  walls  of  which  the  blood  of  the  murdered  was  stUl 
-warm,  the  well  in  which  their  limbs  were  still  quivering  with  the  recent  death- 

SiB  Hbnbt  Havelock 

(1795-1857) 
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agony.  It  was  a  sight  over  which  the  bravo  conquerors  wept  like  women, 

until  their  tears  were  dried  up  by  the  burning  desire  of  vengeance.  "Wherever a  rebel  was  caught,  unless  he  could  prove  his  innocence  of  the  deed,  he  was 
instantly  hanged.  As  for  the  chief  rebels,  they  were  compelled,  previously, 
to  cleanse  a  certain  portion  of  the  pool  of  blood,  that  was  still  two  inches 
deep,  where  the  murders  had  taken  place  —  for  to  touch  blood  was,  with 
high-caste  natives,  to  incur  damnation,  however  plentifully  they  might  cause 
it  to  shed  —  and  when  they  shrank  back  in  abhorrence,  the  lash  of  the  provost- 
marshal  drove  them  forward  to  the  task.  "No  one,"  writes  Havelock  indig- 

nantly, "who  has  witnessed  the  scenes  of  murder,  mutilation,  and  massacre, 
can  ever  listen  to  the  word  'mercy'  as  applied  to  these  fiends.  The  well  of 
mutilated  bodies  —  alas!  containing  upwards  of  two  hundred  women  and 
children  —  I  have  had  decently  covered  in  and  built  up  as  one  large  grave."c 

BRITISH   RETRIBUTION 

Of  the  punishment  wreakedupon  the  sepoys,  Spencer  Walpole ^  has  written 
with  severity.  He  cites  the  act  of  one  deputy-commissioner  who  shot  without 
trial  237  sepoys  and  threw  their  bodies  into  a  well;  reporting  his  deed  with  the 

comment,  "  There  is  a  well  at  Cawnpore,  but  there  is  also  a  well  at  UjnaUa." 
John  Lawrence,  as  quoted  by  his  biographer,  referred  to  this  report  as  "  that 
nauseous  despatch."    Walpole  goes  on  to  say: 

"The  pillage  which  followed  the  fall  of  the  imperial  city  was  more  com- 
plete than  that  which  had  disgraced  its  capture  by  the  barbarian.  Nadir  Shah. 

Natives  were  brought  forward  in  batches  to  be  tried  by  a  military  commission, 
or  by  special  commissioners,  each  one  of  whom  had  been  invested  by  the 
supreme  government  with  full  power  of  life  and  death.  Almost  all  who  were 
tried  were  condemned,  and  almost  all  who  were  condemned  were  sentenced 
to  death.  A  four-square  gallows  was  erected  in  a  conspicuous  place  in  the 
city,  and  five  or  six  culprits  were  hanged  every  day.  English  officers  used  to 
sit  by,  puffing  at  their  cigars,  and  look  on  at  the  convulsive  struggles  of  these 
victims. '  More  than  three  thousand  men,  twenty-nine  of  whom  were  mem- 

bers of  the  royal  family,  were  thus  hanged.  In  the  Punjab,  excluding  those 
slain  in  arms,  2,384  sepoys  were  executed.  The  governor-general  declared 
that  the  proceedings  of  the  courts  were  "indiscriminate  judicial  murder." 
"  There  is,"  so  he  wrote  to  the  queen,  "  a  rabid  and  indiscriminate  vindictive- 
ness  abroad;  not  one  man  in  ten  seems  to  think  that  the  hanging  and  shooting 
of  forty  or  fifty  thousand  mutineers  can  be  otherwise  than  practicable  and 

right."  I Fearful  would  have  been  the  doom  of  the  chief  offender  if  he  had  but 
ventured  to  wait  the  arrival  of  the  British  at  Bithur.  But  Nana  Sahib,  the 
murderer  of  women  and  children,  had  performed  a  consistent  part  by  nmning 
away  from  his  strongly  fortified  palace,  and  in  company  with  his  numerous 
cut-throats,  although  they  mustered  five  thousand  men,  with  whom  he  might 
have  made  a  decisive  stand.  On  the  19th  Bithur  was  occupied  by  the  British; 
the  evacuated  fortress  was  destroyed,  and  thirteen  guns  found  in  it  were  carried 
away. 

THE  FAILURE  TO  REACH  LUCKNOW 

The  relief  of  Lucknow  was  the  next  task  to  be  attempted,  and  leaving 
General  Neill  in  command  at  Cawnpore,  Havelock  crossed  the  Ganges  into 

'  The  text  is  taken  word  for  word  from  Holmes.^ 
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Oudh,  and  resumed  an  exhausting  march  at  the  height  of  the  ramy  season, 
through  an  overflowed  country,  and  imder  the  heat  of  a  withering  sun.  On 
the  29th  of  July  he  was  confronted  by  a  rebel  army  near  the  town  of  Unao. 
Their  position  was  truly  formidable,  for  their  right  was  protected  by  a  swamp 
that  could  neither  be  forced  nor  turned,  their  advance  was  drawn  up  in  a 
garden  inclosure,  which  had  purposely  or  accidentally  assumed  the  form  of  a 
bastion,  while  the  rest  of  their  forces  were  posted  in  or  behind  a  village,  the 
houses  of  which  were  loop-holed.  The  flooded  state  of  the  country  on  the 
British  right  and  the  swamp  on  their  left  made  an  attack  upon  the  enemy's 
front  unavoidable.  It  was  gallantly  made,  although  at  every  disadvantage, 
and  with  complete  success :_  the  village  was  set  on  fire,  and  its  defenders  driven 
out;  and  by  a  series  of  skilful  movements  on  a  narrow  passage  between  the 
village  and  the  town  of  Unao,  the  enemy,  who  were  rallied,  and  drawn  up  in 
line  upon  the  plain,  were  driven  from  their  batteries,  deprived  of  their  guns, 
and  put  utterly  to  the  rout. 

After  a  brief  rest  of  only  three  hours,  that  was  more  than  needful  by  the 
fatigue  of  such  a  victory,  the  British  advanced  against  Buserut  Gimge,  a 
walled  town  on  the  road  to  Lucknow,  with  wet  ditches,  and  provided  with 
every  means  of  a  strong  resistance.  But  in  spite  of  these  obstacles,  and  a 
heavy  cannonade,  the  earthworks  were  scaled,  the  intrenchments  broken 
through,  and  the  town  captured. 

Here,  however.  General  Havelock  was  obliged  to  pause  in  his  hitherto 
victorious  progress,  for  he  was  encumbered  with  his  sick  and  wounded,  and 
cholera  had  broken  out  in  his  little  army.  He  therefore  fell  back  upon  Man- 
galwar,  about  six  miles  from  the  Ganges,  to  recruit  his  troops  and  wait  for 
reinforcements,  for  he  declared  that  to  advance  upon  Lucknow  in  their  pres- 

ent .condition  was  to  march  to  certain  destruction.  On  the  5th  of  August, 
hearing  that  the  enemy  had  again  rallied  at  Buserut  Gunge,  he  advanced 
against  them  and  was  again  victorious,  turning  them  both  in  front  and  flank, 
and  driving  them  off  the  field  with  great  slaughter.  He  then  made  prepara- 

tions to  return  to  Cawnpore  for  reinforcements,  and  had  already  sent  his 
baggage  across  the  Ganges,  when  he  heard  that  the  enemy  had  rallied  for 
a  third  time  at  Buserut  Gunge,  to  abide  yet  another  trial  upon  that  fated 
spot.  With  four  thousand  men  and  six  guns,  they  now  varied  their  mode 
of  defence,  but  in  vain;  for  Havelock,  by  a  correspondent  change  in  his 
attack,  foiled  all  their  arrangements,  captured  their  redoubts,  guns,  and 
batteries,  and  drove  them  before  him  into  a  retreat  that  was  soon  changed 
into  flight. 

Wearied  and  worn  out  with  so  many  successes,  as  well  as  woimds,  sickness, 
and  incessant  action  imder  a  burning  sun,  the  army  now  recrossed  the  river 
and  returned  to  Cawnpore,  but  not  to  rest,  for  they  were  almost  immediately 

dragged  again  into  the  field  by  a  strong  body  of  the  enemy  who  had'  mustered at  Bithur,  and  were  threatening  to  descend  upon  Cawnpore.  Having  united 
his  force  to  that  of  General  Neill,  Havelock,  on  the  16th  of  August,  advanced 

upon  the  rebels,  who  consisted  of  fom-  thousand  of  the  mutineers,  joined  with 
a  portion  of  Nana  Sahib's  own  troops,  and  who  occupied  a  position  which 
General  Havelock  described  as  one  of  the  strongest  he  had  ever  seen.  But 
after  an  hour  of  hard  fighting,  the  rebels  were  driven  from  their  almost 
impregnable  defences  with  heavy  loss,  and  compelled  to  retreat  to  Seorajpur, 
and  if  Havelock  had  possessed  a  few  cavalry,  not  one  of  the  enemy  would 
have  reached  that  place. 

Seldom,  if  ever,  had  so  small  an  army  made  such  marches,  and  ob  tamed 
so  many  victories  in  so  short  a  space  of  time.    Between  the  12th  of  July  and 
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the  17th  of  August  it  had  fought  nine  battles,  and  been  successful  in  them 
all.  Reduced  by  sickness  and  the  sword  to  seven  hundred  men,  they  now 
took  up  their  quarters  at  Cawnpore,  to  wait  the  arrival  of  reinforcements 
under  General  Sir  James  Outram,  without  which  it  was  impossible  for  them 
to  march  to  the  relief  of  Lucknow. 

SIEGE  AND   CAPTURE  OF  DELHI 

But  leaving  Lucknow  for  the  present,  we  must  now  turn  our  attention 
to  the  important  siege  of  Delhi,  before  which  the  small  force  under  General 
Barnard  had  established  itself  on  the  8th  of  June.  The  first  purpose  of  the 
besiegers  was  merely  to  maintain  their  ground  and  hold  the  rebels  of  the  city 
in  check,  imtil  the  arrival  of  reinforcements  should  enable  them  to  become 
the  assailants,  and  they  successfully  resisted  the  numerous  attacks  that  con- 

tinued to  be  made  upon  them  from  the  city.  Reinforcements,  indeed,  they 
continued  to  receive,  but  this  advantage  was  more  than  counterbalanced  by 
the  troops  of  rebels  that  poured  into  Delhi,  now  the  great  centre  and  strong- 

hold of  the  revolt.  On  the  5th  of  July  General  Barnard  died  of  cholera,  and 
was  succeeded  in  the  command  by  General  Reed,  who  on  the  16th  was  obliged 
from  ill  health  to  resign  office  to  Brigadier  Wilson.  By  the  middle  of  the 
month  the  besieging  army  had  been  raised  to  nine  thousand  men,  of  whom 
half  were  Europeans,  and  in  every  encoimter  they  succeeded  in  repelling  the 
«nemy  with  heavy  loss. 

The  arrival  of  fresh  reinforcements  of  native  soldiers,  and  a  siege  train 
from  Meerut,  on  the  4th  of  September,  encouraged  the  British  to  turn  the 
blockade  into  an  active  siege,  which  was  commenced  on  the  11th,  as  soon 
as  the  batteries  were  completed.  And  it  was  no  easy  imdertaking;  for  this 
ancient  city  of  the  Mughals  and  chief  capital  of  India  was  strong  in  its  forti- 

fications, that  extended  about  seven  miles  in  circumference,  and  included  an 
area  of  about  three  square  miles,  while  it  was  defended  by  a  numerous  army 
that  expected  little  mercy,  and  fought  with  the  courage  of  despair.  After  a 
heavy  bombardment  of  two  days  from  fifty-four  siege  guns,  by  which  some  of 
the  best  defences  of  Delhi  were  shattered  and  their  cannon  silenced,  the  assault 
was  ordered  on  the  morning  of  the  14th.  While  no  quarter  was  to  be  given 
to  the  mutineers,  no  harm  was  to  be  inflicted  upon  women  and  children,  and 
the  soldiers  were  warned  of  the  necessity  of  keeping  closely  together,  instead 
of  straggling  from  their  columns. 

In  the  advance  of  the  four  columns  of  attack  it  was  necessary  to  blow 
open  the  Kashmir  gate,  to  give  an  entrance  to  the  city;  and  this  hazardous 
deed  was  performed,  at  the  almost  certain  risk  of  death,  by  a  gallant  handful 
who  devoted  themselves  to  the  work.  Through  the  gap,  the  first,  second, 
and  third  columns  rushed  and  formed  within  the  ruined  gate,  but  as  yet  the 
outer  works  only  were  won;  a  fierce  resistance  was  maintained  from  the 
interior  defences  and  from  the  city,  which  retarded  the  advance  of  the  besieg- 

ers for  several  days,  and  it  was  not  till  the  20th  that  the  whole  external 
defences  of  Delhi  were  in  possession  of  the  British,  and  the  gate  of  the  strongly 
fortified  palace  blown  in. 

And  now  all  resistance  was  at  an  end.  The  old  king  fled  from  his  palace, 
the  inhabitants  from  the  city,  and  the  rebel  soldiers  from  their  bastions  and 
ramparts  —  all  that  could  escape  were  fleeing  in  confused  crowds,  some  across 
the  bridge  of  boats  into  the  Doab  country,  some  down  the  right  bank  of  the 
Jumna,  and  some  to  the  bottom  of  the  Ganges  and  the  Jumna,  in  their  blind 
hurry  to  escape  the  vengeance  of  the  conquerors.    Thus  Delhi  was  won,  but 
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not  without  a  loss  to  the  besiegers  of  1178  in  killed  and  wounded  on  the  first 
day  of  assault,  and  177  in  the  intervening  days  to  the  20th. 

THE  king's  sons  KILLED  BY  HODSON  OF  HODSON's  HORSE 

But  before  the  hopes  of  the  mutineers  could  be  effectually  crushed,  it  was 
necessary  to  obtain  possession  of  the  phantom  of  rebel  sovereignty,  the  king  of 
Delhi,  and  inflict  justice  upon  his  murderous  family;  and  attempts  were  next 
made  to  discover  the  hiding-places  in  which  they  lay  concealed.  Lieutenant 
Hodson  [known  to  fame  as  Hodson  of  Hodson's  Horse,  from  the  troops  which 
he  raised  and  commanded],  was  commissioned  for  the  purpose.  He  soon 
found  the  old  man,  who  could  not  flee  far,  and  brought  him  back  to  Delhi. 

Learning  that  three  of  the  king's  sons  had  concealed  themselves  in  the  tomb 
of  the  Mughal  sovereign  Humayun,  a  huge  pile  of  buildings  at  some  distance 
from  Delhi,  Lieutenant  Hodson  on  the  following  morning  repaired  to  the  place 
of  refuge,  with  a  company  of  one  hundred  soldiers.^  llie  incident  which 
followed  exposed  Hodson  to  severe  censure.  An  account  of  what  occurred 
written  by  Lieutenant  Macdowell,  who  on  this  occasion  shared  the  command 
of  the  British  force,  is  sufficiently  interesting  for  quotation:" 

"  In  Humayun's  tomb  were  the  princes  and  about  three  thousand  Mussul- 
man followers.  In  the  suburb  close  by  about  three  thousand  more,  all  armed, 

so  it  was  rather  a  ticklish  bit  of  work.  We  halted  half  a  mile  from  the  place, 
and  sent  in  to  say  the  princes  must  give  themselves  up  unconditionally  or  take 
the  consequences.  A  long  half  hour  elapsed,  when  a  messenger  came  out  to 
say  the  princes'  wished  to  know  if  their  lives  would  be  promised  them,  if 
they  came  out.  'Unconditional  surrender,'  was  the  answer.  Again  we 
waited.  It  was  a  most  anxioUs  time.  We  dared  not  take  them  by  force, 
or  all  would  have  been  lost,  and  we  doubted  their  coming.  We  heard  the 
shouts  of  the  fanatics  (as  we  found  out  afterwards)  begging  the  princes  to  lead 
them  on  against  us.  And  we  had  only  one  hundred  men,  and  were  six  miles 
from  Delhi.  At  length,  I  suppose,  imagining  that  sooner  or  later  they  must 
be  taken,  they  resolved  to  give  themselves  up  unconditionally,  fancying,  I 
suppose,  as  we  had  spared  the  king,  we  would  spare  them. 

"  Soon  they  appeared  in  a  small  ruth  or  Hindustani  cart  drawn  by  bullocks, 
five  troopers  on  each  side.  Behind  them  thronged  about  two  thousand  or 
three  thousand  (I  am  not  exaggerating)  Mussulmans.  Meanwhile  Hodson 
galloped  back,  and  told  the  sowars  (ten)  to  hurry  the  princes  on  along  the 
road,  while  we  showed  a  front  and  kept  back  the  mob.  They  retired  on 
Humajom's  tomb,  and  step  by  step  we  followed  them.  Inside  they  went  up 
the  steps,  and  formed  up  in  the  immense  garden  inside.  The  entrance  to  this 
■was  through  an  arch,  up  steps.  Leaving  the  men  outside,  Hodson  and  my- 

self, with  four  men  rode  up  the  steps  into  the  arch,  when  he  called  out  to  them 
to  lay  down  their  arms.  There  was  a  murmur.  He  reiterated  the  command, 
and  (God  knows  why,  I  never  can  understand  it)  they  commenced  doing  so. 

"Well,  there  we  stayed  for  two  hours,  collecting  their  arms,  and  I  assure 
you  I  thought  every  moment  they  would  rush  upon  us.  I  said  nothing,  but 
smoked  all  the  time,  to  show  I  was  imconcerned;  but  at  last,  when  it  was  all 
done,  and  all  the  arms  collected,  put  in  a  cart,  and  started,  Hodson  turned 
to  me  and  said,  'We'll  go,  now.'  Very  slowly  we  mounted,  formed  up  the 
troop,  and  cautiously  departed,  followed  by  the  crowd.  We  rode  along 
quietly.    You  will  say,  why  did  we  not  charge  them?    I  merely  say,  we  were 

>  Called  shahzadabs. 
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one  hundred  men,  and  they  were  fully  six  thousand.  I  am  not  exaggerating; 
the  official  reports  will  show  you  it  is  all  true.  As  we  got  about  a  mile  off, 

Hodson  turned  to  me  and  said,  'Well,  Mac,  we've  got  them  at  last';  and 
we  both  gave  a  sigh  of  relief.  Never  in  my  life,  imder  the  heaviest  fire,  have 
I  been  in  such  unminent  danger.  Everybody  says  it  is  the  most  dashing  and 
daring  thing  that  has  been  done  for  years  (not  on  my  part,  for  I  merely  obeyed 
orders,  but  on  Hodson's,  who  planned  and  carried  it  out).  Well,  I  must 
finish  my  story.  We  came  up  to  the  princes,  now  about  five  miles  from  where 
we  had  taken  them,  and  close  to  Delhi.  The  increasing  crowd  pressed  close 
on  the  horses  of  the  sowars,  and  assumed  every  moment  a  more  hostile  ap- 

pearance. 'What  shall  we  do  with  them?'  said  Hodson  to  me.  'I  think  we 
had  better  shoot  them  here;  we  shall  never  get  them  in.' 

"  We  had  identified  them  by  means  of  a  nephew  of  the  king's  whom  we  had 
with  us,  and  who  turned  king's  evidence.  Besides,  they  acknowledged 
themselves  to  be  the  men.  Their  names  were  Mirza  Mogul,  the  king's  nephew 
and  head  of  the  whole  business;  Mu-za  Kishere,  Sultamet,  who  was  also  one  of 
the  principal  rebels,  and  had  made  himself  notorious  by  murdering  women 
and  children;  and  Abu  Bukt,  the  commander-in-chief  nominally,  and  heir- 
apparent  to  the  throne.  This  was  the  young  fiend  who  had  stripped  our 
women  in  the  open  street,  and  cutting  off  little  children's  arms  and  legs, 
poured  the  blood  into  their  mothers'  mouths;  this  is  literally  the  case.  There 
was  no  time  to  be  lost;  we  halted  the  troop,  put  five  troopers  across  the  road 
behind  and  in  front.  Hodson  ordered  the  princes  to  strip  and  get  again  into 
the  cart;  he  then  shot  them  with  his  own  hand.  So  ended  the  career  of  the 
chiefs  of  the  revolt,  and  of  the  greatest  villains  that  ever  shamed  humanity. 

"  Before  they  were  shot,  Hodson  addressed  our  men,  explaining  who  they 
were,  and  why  they  were  to  suffer  death;  the  effect  was  marvellous,  the 
Mussulmans  seemed  struck  with  a  wholesome  idea  of  retribution,  and  the 
Sikhs  shouted  with  delight,  while  the  mass  moved  off  slowly  and  silently. 
One  of  the  sowars  pointed  out  to  me  a  man  running  rapidly  across  a  piece  of 
cultivated  ground,  with  arms  gleaming  in  the  sunlight.  I  and  the  sowar  rode 
after  him,  when  I  discovered  it  was  the  king's  favourite  eunuch,  of  whose 
atrocities  we  had  heard  so  much.  The  sowar  cut  him  down  instantly,  and 
we  returned,  well  satisfied  that  we  had  rid  the  world  of  such  a  monster.  It 
was  now  four  o'clock;  Hodson  rode  into  the  city  with  the  cart  containing  the 
bodies,  and  had  them  placed  in  the  most  pubhc  streets,  where  aU  might  see 
them.  Side  by  side  they  lay  where,  four  months  before,  on  the  same  spot, 

they  had  outraged  and  murdered  our  women."  <* 
Hodson's  plea  of  necessity  for  his  action  in  regard  to  the  princes  has  since 

been  refused  and  some  have  not  hesitated  to  characterise  the  shooting  of  the 

princes  as  an  inexcusable  murder.  Lord  Roberts,  however,  says:** "My  own 
feeling  on  the  subject  is  one  of  sorrow  that  such  a  brilliant  soldier  should  have 
laid  himself  open  to  so  much  criticism.  Moreover,  I  do  not  think  thatimder 
any  circumstances  he  should  have  done  the  deed  himself,  or  ordered  it  to  be 
done  in  that  siunmary  manner,  unless  there  had  been  evident  signs  of  an 
attempt  at  a  rescue.  But  it  should  be  understood  that  there  was  no  breach 

of  faith  on  Hodson's  part,  for  he  steadily  refused  to  give  any  promise  to  the 
princes  that  their  lives  should  be  spared:  he  did,  however,  undoubtedly  by 
this  act  give  colour  to  the  accusation  of  blood-thirstiness  which  his  detractors 
were  not  slow  to  make."« 

Justin  McCarthy  thus  sums  up  the  feeling  against  the  deed:  "If  in  cool 
blood  the  deed  could  now  be  defended,  it  might  be  necessary  to  point  out  that 
there  was  no  evidence  whatever  of  the  princes  having  taken  any  part  in  the 
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massacre  of  Europeans  in  Delhi;  that  even  if  evidence  to  that  effect  were 
forthcoming,  Hodson  did  not  wait  for  or  ask  for  it;  and  that  the  share  taken 
by  the  princes  in  an  effort  to  restore  the  dynasty  of  their  ancestor,  however  it 
might  have  justified  some  sternness  of  punishment  on  the  part  of  the  English 
government,  was  not  a  crime  of  that  order  which  is  held  in  civilised  warfare 
to  put  the  life  of  its  author  at  the  mercy  of  anyone  who  captures  him  when 
the  struggle  is  all  over,  and  the  reign  of  law  is  safe.  One  cannot  read  the 
history  of  this  India  Mutiny  without  coming  to  the  conclusion  that  in  the 
minds  of  many  Englishmen  a  temporary  prostration  of  the  moral  sense  took 
place,  imder  the  influence  of  which  they  came  to  regard  the  measure  of  the 
enemy's  guilt  as  the  standard  for  their  right  of  retaliation,  and  to  hold  that  if he  had  no  conscience  they  were  thereby  released  from  the  necessity  of  having 
any.  As  Mr.  Disraeli  put  it,  they  were  making  Nana  Sahib  the  model  for  the 
British  officer  to  imitate.  Hodson  was  killed  not  long  after;  we  might  well 
wish  to  be  free  to  allow  him  to  rest  without  censure  in  his  untimely  grave."  9 

Soon  afterwards  two  others  of  the  king's  sons,  who  had  been  equally 
guilty,  were  tried  before  a  military  commission,  condemned  to  death,  and 
executed.  By  these  terrible  acts  of  justice  all  hope  of  the  restoration  of  the 
Mughal  dynasty,  or  even  the  pretext  of  it,  which  the  mutmeers  had  held  out, 
was  utterly  destroyed.  The  last  act  of  the  recovery  of  Delhi  was  to  appoint  a 
flying  coliunn  for  the  pursuit  of  the  fugitives  on  the  right  bank  of  the  Jumna, 
and  into  the  Doab,  and  this  was  done  on  the  23rd  of  September,  the  regiments 
that  composed  this  force  being  known  during  the  rest  of  the  war  under  the 

name  of  Greathead's  column,  from  that  of  Colonel  Greathead,  its  commander. 
In  this  important  capture  of  Delhi,  it  is  worthy  of  note  that  the  deed  was 

achieved  before  a  single  soldier  of  the  many  thousands  from  Britain  sent  out 
for  the  recovery  of  India  had  landed  upon  its  shores.  What  might  not,  there- 

fore, be  anticipated  for  the  complete  re-establishment  of  the  British  dominion 
when  these  troops  had  arrived?  Another  gratifying  circumstance  was  the 
faithful  devoted  zeal  of  those  native  soldiers  who  remained  true  to  their 

colours  during  aU  the  weary  months  of  siege,  and  the  hearty  co-operation  of 
the  rajah  of  Patiala,  and  the  Jhind  rajah,  the  former  in  queUing  the  revolt  of 
Ambala,  and  the  latter  in  the  operations  of  the  siege.  Their  services,  as  well 
as  those  of  several  khans,  showed  that  aU  India  was  not  against  Britain  — 
that  there  were  many  who  could  rightly  appreciate  the  benefits  of  her  rule, 
and  maintain  it  in  the  field  even  against  their  own  countrymen.  They  were 
thanked  by  the  governor-general  in  council,  and  in  the  proclamation  delivered 
afterwards  it  was  stated,  "  These  true-hearted  chiefs,  faithful  to  their  engage- 

ments, have  shown  trust  in  the  power,  honour,  and  friendship  of  the  British 

government,  and  they  will  not  repent  it." 

SIEGE   AND  BELIEF   OF  LUCKNOW 

After  the  capture  of  Delhi,  the  great  object  of  interest  was  the  relief  of 
the  garrison  of  Lucknow,  whose  condition  was  every  day  becoming  more 
perilous.  Already  they  had  endured  a  long  and  harassing  siege,  in  which 
active  courage  and  patient  endurance  had  been  equally  tried  to  the  utmost; 
and  upon  any  day,  or  at  any  hour,  no  alternative  might  be  left  to  them  but 
surrender.  Deprived  successively  of  their  two  brave  leaders,  the  situation 
of  the  little  garrison  was  perilous  in  the  extreme.  The  neighbouring  mosques 
and  noblemen's  houses,  which  Sir  Henry  Lawrence,  from  a  regard  to  religious 
buildings  and  private  property,  had  spared,  although  he  was  urged  to  destroy 
them,  were  manned  by  the  enemy's  sharpshooters,  who  kept  up  an  incessant 
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fire;  and  as  they  were  within  pistol-shot  of  the  British  barricades,  every 
part  of  the  residency  was  exposed  to  the  muskets  of  about  eight  thousand 
men,  who  discharged  their  volleys  wherever  a  gap  was  found  or  a  living  object 
was  visible.  Thus  even  the  women  and  children  were  comparatively  under 
fire  in  the  recesses  of  the  innermost  apartments,  and  the  sick  in  the  hospitals 
were  exposed  to  the  same  mischievous  annoyance,  by  which  several  lives 
were  lost. 

Nothing  could  exceed  the  pertinacity  of  the  enemy,  who  surrounded  the 
British  post  with  batteries  mounting  from  twenty  to  twenty-five  guns,  which 
were  protected  by  barricades  that  defied  every  attetnpt  to  silence  them  by 
musketry,  and  who  constructed  mines  under  the  principal  defences  of  the 
residency,  by  which  its  defenders  were  constantly  m  danger  of  being  blown 
into  the  air.  Every  art  of  warfare  which  they  had  learned  in  the  British 
service  was  adopted  by  the  mutineers,  who  were  confident  in  the  thousands 
they  could  muster  for  the  attack,  and  in  the  miserably  limited  means  and 
numbers  of  those  who  resisted.  But  those  who  had  such  overwhelming  odds 
to  confront  were  true  to  the  long-established  reputation  of  their  coimtrymen; 
and  never  were  British  valour  and  British  indomitable  resolution  more  con- 

spicuous than  in  the  defence  which  this  small  party  maintained  against  such 
an  oceantide  of  opposition  at  Lucknow.  To  sleeplessness  was  added  the 
nightly  toil  of  moving  heavy  guns,  repairing  breaches,  and  other  fatigue- 
duties.  When  opportunity  offered,  they  even  assumed  the  aggressive,  and 

in  five  sorties  which  they  successively  made  they  spiked  two  of  the  enemy's 
heaviest  guns  and  blew  up  several  of  the  neighbouring  houses,  from  which 
the  fire  had  been  especially  dangerous.  But  wofully  were  their  numbers 
tiiinned,  not  only  by  the  casualties  of  such  a  defence,  but  by  scanty  and 
coarse  provisions,  which  added  small-pox  and  cholera  to  the  list  of  their 
other  calamities.  And  what  the  while  of  the  heroines  of  Lucknow?  They 
too  have  erected  for  themselves  an  imperishable  record,  and  strong  men 
became  stronger  at  the  spectacle  of  their  unfearing,  uncomplaining  endur- 

ance. Many  of  them  were  made  widows  in  the  siege;  and  at  the  bedsides 
of  the  sick  and  wounded,  where  every  one  was  a  Florence  Nightingale,  thej 
found  in  active  Christian  duty  the  best  sources  of  Christian  consolation  and 
hope. 

But  human  endurance,  which  in  this  instance  seemed  to  be  boundless, 
has  its  limits;  and  from  day  to  day  many  a  wistful  eye  had  looked  into  the 
far  distance  for  the  expected  relief,  only  to  be  disappointed,  while  the  mes- 

sengers whom  they  sent  out  for  tidings  never  returned.  At  length,  on  the 
twenty-sixth  day  of  the  siege,  the  garrison  was  cheered  by  a  letter  from  Have- 
lock's  camp,  informing  them  that  the  troops  were  on  their  march,  and  in  five 
or  six  days  would  probably  reach  them.  But  six  days  elapsed  and  no  aid 
arrived.  They  did  not  learn  until  thirty-five  long  days  had  passed  that  the 
relieving  force,  after  such  strenuous  efforts  and  signal  victories,  had  been 
obliged  to  fall  back  upon  Cawnpore.  But  their  relief  from  Cawnpore  was  to 
issue  at  last,  and  not  an  hour  later  than  the  march  could  be  commenced.  At 

that  city  Sir  James  Outram,  justly  called  by  Napier  the  "  Bayard  of  India," arrived  on  the  16th  of  September  with  the  reinforcements  for  which  Havelock 
had  been  so  anxiously  waiting. 

Although,  as  superior  officer  and  chief  commissioner  of  Oudh,  Sir  James 
himself  might  have  undertaken  the  relief  of  Lucknow,  he  chivalrously 
resigned  the  whole  glory  of  the  enterprise  to  General  Havelock,  who  had 
already  achieved  such  deeds  in  the  attempt,  offering  to  accompany  him  as 
volunteer.    Thus  invested  with  a  mission  on  which  his  generous  heart  was 
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SO  keenly  bent,  Havelock  crossed  the  Ganges  at  the  heard  of  twenty-five 
hundred  men,  among  which  were  the  gallant  78th  Highlanders,  to  whom  his 
previous  victories  were  chiefly  owing,  and  seventeen  guns.  The  enemy,  after 
retiring  at  his  approach,  attempted,  on  the  21st  (September),  to  make  a 
etand  at  Mangalwar,  but  after  a  four  hours'  fight  they  were  defeated;  and 
Havelock,  pressing  forward,  was  within  three  miles  of  the  residency  of  Luck- 
now,  when  on  the  23rd  he  found  the  enemy  advantageously  posted,  with 
their  left  resting  on  the  Alambagh,  an  isolated  buildmg  with  gardens  and 
enclosures,  and  their  centre  and  right  drawn  up  behind  a  chain  of  hillocks. 
But  the  strategetic  skill  and  rapid  movements  of  General  Havelock,  seconded 
as  they  were  by  the  gallantry  of  Sir  James  Outram,  were  again  successful;  the 
enemy  were  defeated  once  more;  and  after  halting  his  troops,  that  had 
marched  three  days  in  a  heavy  deluge  of  rain,  and  been  scantily  provisioned 
and  badly  lodged,  the  victorious  commander  effected  his  decisive  advance 
upon  the  residency. 

No  wonder  that  Havelock  himself  looked  back  upon  the  march  with 
astonishment,  accustomed 
as  he  was  to  dare  all  but 

impossibilities.  "  Our  ad- 
vance," he  writes,  "was 

through  streets  of  liat- 
roofed,  loop-holed  houses, 
from  which  a  perpetual 
fire  was  kept  up,  and  thus 
each  forming  a  separate 
fortress.  I  am  filled  with 
surprise  at  the  success  of 
the  operation,  which  de- 

manded the  efforts  of  ten 
thousand  good  troops. 
The  advantage  gained  has 
cost  us  dear.  The  killed, 
wounded,  and  missing,  the 
latter  being  woimded  sol- 

diers, who,  I  much  fear,  some  or  all  have  fallen  into  the  hands  of  a  merci- 

less foe,  amounted,  up  to  the  evening  of  the  26th,  to  535  officers  and  men." 
Among  those  who  thus  fell  was  the  brave  General  Neill,  a  name  distinguished 

in  this  unhappy  war,  who  was  killed  on  entering  the  gate  leading  to  the  Doo- 
lie square.c  Mr.  R.  Gubbins,  who  was  present  during  the  siege  of  Lucknow, 

wrote  the  following  account  of  the  relief.^ 

Residemct,  Lucknow 

An  Eye-witness'  Account  of  the  Relief  of  Lucknow 

On  the  night  of  the  22nd  [the  messenger  Ungud]  brought  a  letter  from 
General  Sir  James  Outram  which  announced  to  us  that  an  army  thoroughly 

appointed  had  crossed  the  Ganges  on  the  19th,  and  would,  D.-V.,  soon  relieve 
us.  Here  then,  at  last,  were  the  long-wished-for  and  expected  tidings  of 
relief!  Havelock  had  not  disappointed  us!  The  spirits  of  the  garrison, 

European  and  native,  were  greatly  raised  by  the  intelligence,  which  spread 
like  wildfire.  Nor  were  we  left  after  this  long  in  suspense.  During  the 

morning  of  the  23rd  of  September  the  weather  cleared,  and  the  sound  of 

artillery  in  the  direction  of  Cawnpore  was  distinctly  heard.    By  two  in  the 
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afternoon  the  reports  became  quite  loud  and  frequent.    AH  now  was  exulta- 
tion and  joy  in  the  garrison. 

The  guns  of  the  relieving  army  were  heard  again  the  next  day  and  early 
on  the  morning  of  the  25th,  and  became  louder  by  ten  o'clock.  About  half- 
past  eleven  the  firing  ceased;  but,  soon  after,  numbers  of  the  city  people  were 
observed  flying  over  the  bridges  across  the  river,  carrying  bundles  of  prop- 

erty on  their  heads.  An  hour  later  the  flight  became  more  general,  and  many 
sepoys,  matchlock  men,  and  irregular  cavalry  troopers  crossed  the  river  in  full 
flight,  many  by  the  bridge,  but  more  by  throwing  themselves  into  the  river 
and  swimming  across  it.  The  guns  of  our  redan  battery,  and  every  other  gun 
that  could  be  brought  to  bear  upon  the  flying  enemy,  as  well  as  our  mortars, 
opened  a  rapid  fire  upon  them,  which  was  maintained  for  upwards  of  an  hour. 
No  sooner  did  this  begin,  than  the  enemy  assailed  us  on  every  side  with  a 
perfect  hurricane  of  shot  and  shell  from  all  their  batteries.  Fragments  of 
shell  were  faUing  everywhere,  and  the  interior  of  the  residency  itself  was 
visited  by  round  shot  in  places  which  had  never  been  reached  before. 

About  two  o'clock  the  smoke  of  our  guns  was  seen  in  the  suburbs  of  the 
city,  and  presently  after  the  rattle  of  musketry  could  be  heard.  At  four 

o'clock  the  ofiicers  at  the  look-out  could  clearly  distinguish  European  troops 
and  ofiicers  in  movement.  About  five  o'clock  the  column  of  the  78th  High- 

landers and  Sikhs,  accompanied  by  several  mounted  officers,  was  seen  to  turn 
into  the  main  street  leading  to  the  residency,  up  which  they  charged  at  a 
rapid  pace,  loading,  shouting,  and  firing  as  they  passed  along.  I  will  here 
quote  the  eloquent  description  of  the  greeting  given  to  our  friends  from  the 
account  of  "a  staff  officer": 

"  Once  fairly  seen,  all  our  doubts  and  fears  regarding  them  were  ended; 
and  then  the  garrison's  long-pent-up  feelings  of  anxiety  and  suspense  burst 
forth  in  a  succession  of  deafening  cheers.  From  every  pit,  trench,  and  bat- 

tery— from  behind  the  sand-bags  piled  on  shattered  nouses — from  every 
post  still  held  by  a  few  gallant  spirits,  rose  cheer  on  cheer,  even  from  the 
hospital!  Many  of  the  wounded  crawled  forth  to  join  in  that  glad  shout  of 
welcome  to  those  who  had  so  bravely  come  to  our  assistance.  It  was  a 

moment  never  to  be  forgotten." 
The  Highlanders  stopped  everyone  they  met,  and  with  repeated  questions 

and  exclamations  of  "  Are  you  one  of  them  ?  "  —  "  God  bless  you! "  —  "  We 
thought  to  have  found  only  your  bones,"  bore  them  back  towards  Dr. 
Fayrer's  house,  into  which  the  general  had  entered.  Here  a  scene  of  thrill- 

ing interest  presented  itself.  The  ladies  of  that  garrison  with  their  children 
had  assembled  in  the  most  intense  anxiety  and  excitement  under  the  porch 
outside,  when  the  Highlanders  approached.  Rushing  forward,  the  rough 
and  bearded  warriors  shook  the  ladies  by  the  hand  midst  loud  and  repeated 
gratulations.  They  took  the  children  up  in  their  arms,  and  fondly  caressing 
them,  passed  them  from  one  to  another  to  be  caressed  in  turn,  and  then, 
when  the  first  burst  of  enthusiasm  and  excitement  was  over,  they  mournfully 
turned  to  speak  among  themselves  of  the  heavy  loss  they  had  suffered,  and 
to  inquire  the  names  of  the  numerous  comrades  who  had  fallen  on  the  way. 

It  is  quite  impossible  to  describe  the  scene  within  the  intrenchment  that 

'  evening.  We  had  received  no  post,  nor  any  but  the  smallest  scrap  of  news for  113  days  since  the  date  of  the  outbreak  at  Cawnpore.  All  had  relatives 
and  friends  to  inquire  after,  whose  fate  they  were  ignorant  of,  and  were 
eager  to  learn.  Many  had  brothers,  friends,  or  relatives  in  the  relieving 
force  whom  they  were  anxiously  seeking.  Everyone  wished  for  news  of  the 
outer  world,  of  Delhi,  Agra,  Calcutta,  and  of  England.    Everybody  was  on 
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foot.  All  the  thoroughfares  were  thronged,  and  new  faces  were  every 
moment  appearing  of  friends  whom  one  had  least  expected  to  see.  The 
happy  and  excited  moments  passed  quickly,  until  by  degrees  the  excitement moderated.  Gradually  quarters  were  found  for  the  officers  and  soldiers  who 
had  come  in.  Every  garrison  was  glad  to  welcome  in  the  new-comers,  who 
were  sufficiently  worn  and  exhausted  to  require  early  repose.? 

SIB  COLIN  CAMPBELL  SECURES  THE  EETREAT  FROM  LUCKNOW 

Though  much  had  been  done,  the  garrison  of  Lucknow  by  this  last  exploit 
had  been  reinforced  but  not  relieved.  A  sufficiency  of  troops  had  arrived  to lighten  the  labours  of  the 
overwearied  defenders  and 
insure  their  safety  for  the 
present,  but  not  to  withdraw 
them  from  the  place  around 
which  the  coil  of  siege,  after 
the  momentary  interruption, 
was  drawn  as  closely  and 
strongly  as  ever.  Finding  it 
impossible,  therefore,  to  ex- 

tricate the  women,  children, 
and  non-combatants.  General 
Havelock  and  his  compan- 
ions-in-arms  resolved  to  re- 

main with  them  and  abide 
the  brunt  of  conflict  until 
General  Sir  Colin  Campbell, 
the  newly  appointed  com- 

mander-in-chief, should  be 
able  effectually  to  relieve 
them.  This  distinguished 
hero  of  the  Crimean  War  had 
arrived  at  Calcutta  from 
England  on  the  14th  of  Au- 

gust; but,  as  he  was  obliged 
to  wait  the  coming  of  rein- 

forcements from  home,  it 
was  not  till  the  9th  of  November  that  he  was  able  to  set  out  from  Cawnpore 
for  the  effectual  relief  of  Lucknow. 

Even  then,  important  and  difficult  as  was  the  task,  his  force  amounted 
to  only  4,550  men  and  thirty-two  guns.  On  the  12th  he  arrived  at  the 
Alambagh,  and  there  his  difficulties  commenced,  as  the  residency  was  to  be 
reached  through  the  heart  of  the  city,  where  every  street,  house,  and  wall 
was  a  fortress,  a  march  along  which  would  have  been  enough  to  have  destroyed 
thrice  the  numbers  he  commanded.  But  he  had  been  previously  informed  of 
all  the  localities  of  the  city  and  suburbs,  and  the  positions  of  the  enemy,  and 
he  availed  himself  of  this  knowledge  by  making  a  detour  to  the  right  as  Have- 

lock had  done.  It  was  effected  with  equal  success,  although  against  obsta- 
cles equally  formidable;  and,  after  a  series  of  desperate  skirmishes,  he  reached 

the  residency  on  the  17th,  his  arrival  being  aided  on  the  part  of  Havelock 
and  the  garrison  by  a  sally,  in  which  the  enemy  was  routed  and  the  way 
cleared  for  his  entrance. 

B.  W.  —  vol..  XZII.  O 

COLIH  CAMPBEMj 

(1792-1863) 
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And  now  to  remove  the  women  and  children,  the  sick,  wounded,  and 
civilians,  for  he  saw  that  the  residency  must  be  abandoned!  This  was  a 
still  more  difficult  task  than  to  lead  armed  men  into  the  place.  But  this  also 
was  successfully  accomplished.  By  a  series  of  masterly  feints  Sir  Colin  dis- 

tracted the  attention  of  the  enemy;  and  while  he  kept  them  massed  together 
in  the  expectation  of  an  immediate  attack,  he  quietly  removed  the  helpless 
during  the  afternoon  and  night  of  the  19th,  along  a  line  of  posts  which  he 
formed  on  the  left  rear  of  his  position,  and  conveyed  them  in  safety  to  Dil- 
kusha,  a  palace  belonging  to  the  kings  of  Oudh,  after  which  the  troops  of  the 
garrison  followed  on  the  22nd,  and  all  reached  Dilkusha  in  safety,  without 
the  loss  of  a  man.  In  like  manner  the  whole  of  the  treasure  and  all  the 
European  guns  were  carried  off  in  safety.  So  completely  the  while  was  the 
enemy  deceived  that  their  fire  was  kept  up  on  the  old  British  positions  many 
hours  after  they  had  been  abandoned. 

Altogether  it  was  one  of  the  most  masterly  retreats  under  trying  disad- 
vantages which  the  history  of  modem  warfare  has  on  record.  Only  one 

event  occurred  to  mar  the  joy  of  the  rescued,  and  this  was  the  death  of  the 
brave  Havelock,  who  expired  at  Dilkusha  on  the  24th,  by  an  attack  of 
dysentery,  under  which  his  enfeebled  frame,  worn  out  with  such  excessive 
exertions,  rapidly  sunk.  Undistinguished  during  a  long  course  of  military 
service  since  1815,  except  among  his  friends,  who  knew  him  to  be  a  master  of 
strategy  in  all  its  branches,  he  had  no  sooner  attained  a  separate  command, 
and  found  his  right  sphere  of  action,  than  he  crowded  within  little  more  than 
two  short  months  such  a  series  of  victories  as  would  have  sufficed  for  a  life- 

time, and  made  any  commander  illustrious.  In  that  brief  period  he  combined 
the  rapidity  of  Napoleon  with  the  caution  and  foresight  of  Wellington,  and 
upon  his  own  limited  field  was  as  successful  as  either,  while  the  tidings  of  his 
victories,  which  reached  home  in  rapid  succession,  made  all  men  wonder  who 
this  new  hero  was,  and  why  he  had  been  neglected  so  long.  The  queen  created 
him  a  baronet,  but  it  was  three  days  after  he  had  expired  at  Dilkusha,  and 
thus  the  wreath  that  should  have  decked  his  brow  could  only  be  planted  on 
his  grave. 

Sir  Colin  Campbell  was  now  in  full  retreat  to  Cawnpore,  where  the  ladies, 
children,  and  civilians,  a  helpless  band  of  two  thousand  souls,  might  be  left 
in  safety  before  further  military  operations  could  be  undertaken;  and  he 
had  reached  Bunnee  on  the  evening  of  the  27th  of  November,  when  he  heard 
heavy  firing  in  the  direction  of  Cawnpore,  for  which  he  could  not  account,  as 
he  had  received  no  news  from  that  quarter  for  several  days.  But  there  a  des- 

perate battle  was  going  on,  and  the  British  arms  were  in  danger.  During 
the  absence  of  Sir  Colin,  General  Windham  occupied  the  miUtary  cantonmente 
which  lay  to  the  south  of  that  city;  but  on  learning  that  the  Gwalior  con- 

tingent of  rebels  were  advancing  to  attack  it  on  the  north,  he  marched  on  the 
26th  to  encounter  them  before  they  could  reach  Cawnpore,  and  found  them 
drawn  up  on  the  opposite  bank  of  the  Pandoonudee,  the  bed  of  which  river 
was  at  that  time  dry. 

The  disparity  between  the  two  armies  was  alarming,  for  while  General 

Windham's  force  consisted  of  only  twelve  hundred  infantry,  one  hundred 
cavalry,  and  eight  guns,  the  rebels  were  about  twenty-five  thousand  men, 
well  provided  with  artillery.  They  were  gallantly  charged,  and  their  advanced 
troops  were  driven  back;  but  on  their  main  body  coming  up,  General  Wind- 

ham retired  his  troops  to  the  canal.  On  the  following  day  the  rebels  com- 
menced the  attack  with  a  heavy  cannonade,  that  was  kept  up  for  five  hours, 

under  which  the  British  were  obliged  to  withdraw  to  their  intrenchmente 
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after  severe  loss,  while  their  tents  and  camp  stores,  which  they  were  com- 
pelled to  leave  behind  them,  were  burned  by  the  enemy.  It  was  this  firing 

that  arrested  the  attention  of  Sir  Colin  Campbell,  and  surmising  that  General 
Windham  was  attacked,  he  hurried  forward  to  the  rescue. 

On  reaching  the  scene  of  conflict  in  the  evening,  he  found  the  British  shut 
up  within  their  intrenchments,  and  the  rebels  in  possession  of  the  city.  It 
was  necessary  to  dislodge  them;  but  before  the  attempt  could  be  made,  the 
helpless  survivors  of  Lucknow  under  his  charge  had  to  be  conveyed  across 
the  Ganges  by  a  single  bridge  which  the  enemy  had  not  destroyed,  and  it 
was  not  until  the  30th  that  the  last  cart  had  crossed  the  bridge,  while  two 
or  three  days  more  were  spent  in  having  them  safely  forwarded  to  Allahabad. 
He  was  now  in  readiness  for  the  fight;  but  his  arrival  had  made  the  enemy 
cautious,  and  it  was  not  until  they  had  been  reinforced  by  the  rebels  of  Oudh 
and  the  followers  of  Nana  Sahib  that  they  ventured,  on  the  6th  of  Decem- 

ber, to  make  a  decisive  stand.  But  they  were  effectually  beaten,  with  the 
loss  of  all  their  guns  and  ammunition,  and  wherever  they  attempted  to  rally 
they  were  met  by  British  detachments,  and  so  thoroughly  routed  and  dis- 

persed that  this  Gwalior  contingent  as  an  army  could  no  longer  be  found. 
Nor  did  Nana  Sahib,  who  had  sent  reinforcements  to  the  rebels,  escape  a 
merited  chastisement;  for  troops  were  sent  to  Bithur  who  destroyed  all  his 
remaining  property,  discovered  and  seized  his  treasures  which  were  concealed 
in  the  wells,  and  soon  left  him  too  poor  to  continue  long  his  rebellion  with 
any  hope  of  success. 

While  one  jDowerf  ul  rebel  chief  was  thus  reduced  to  comparative  help- 
lessness, the  British  government  in  India  had  obtained  an  effective  ally  in 

Maharajah  Jung  Bahadur,  the  prime  minister  of  the  king  of  Nepal.  This 
prmce  having  offered  his  aid  to  the  governor-general,  which  was  gladly 
accepted,  crossed  the  frontier  with  ten  thousand  Gurkhas,  among  the  most 
warlike  of  the  population  of  India,  and  in  his  advance  he  twice  encountered 
and  defeated  a  rebel  army.  He  then,  at  the  close  of  the  year,  established 
himseK  at  Gorakhpur,  to  check  the  rebels  of  Lucknow  in  any  attempt  they 
might  Doake  in  an  easterly  direction  after  Sir  Colin  Campbell  should  have 
driven  them  from  the  city,  an  event  which  was  anticipated  as  likely  soon  to 
take  place. 

Indeed,  all  fear  and  foreboding  as  to  the  result  of  the  Indian  Mutiny  were 
now  at  an  end.  Reinforcements  had  been  sent  from  Britain  in  such  numbers 
that  no  native  army  could  confront  them  successfiiUy  in  the  field;  the  British 
soldiers  were  confident  in  the  valour  and  skill  of  their  well-tried  illustrious 
leader,  while  the  rebels  were  so  daunted  by  repeated  defeats  that  their  cour- 

age and  confidence  were  on  the  wane.  The  revolt  was  now  in  a  great  mea- 
sure confined  to  Rohilkhand,  to  the  territory  between  Agra  and  Allahabad, 

to  Bundelkhand,  and  to  Oudh,  while  the  great  metropolis  of  the  insurrection 
after  the  fall  of  Delhi  was  the  populous,  warlike,  and  strongly  fortified  city 
of  Lucknow.  To  strike  a  mortal  mow,  therefore,  at  the  head  of  the  evil,  by 
the  final  conquest  of  this  place,  was  the  aim  of  the  commander-in-chief  after 
he  had  effected  the  liberation  of  the  garrison. 

THE  RECAPTURE  OF  LUCKNOW 

All  being  in  readiness  for  this  important  enterprise.  Sir  Colin  Campbell 
commenced  operations  by  sending  forward  two  regiments  on  the  1st  of  Jan- 

uary, 1858,  to  prevent  the  rebels  from  destroying  an  iron  suspension-bridge 
across  the  river  Kalli-Nuddi.    He  then  commenced  his  own  march  two  days 
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after  to  Fathigarh,  where  he  remained  till  the  1st  of  February,  restoring  order 
in  the  disaffected  districts  of  the  Doab,  after  which  he  proceeded  to  Cawn- 
[)ore,  for  the  purpose  of  crossing  the  Ganges  at  that  place;  and  to  clear  his 
ine  of  march,  strong  detachments  were  sent  forward,  Iby  one  of  which,  com- 

manded by  General  Franks,  a  brilliant  victory  was  gained  over  an  army  of 
rebels  twenty-one  thousand  strong,  who  were  encountered  and  completely 
scattered  at  Badshahgunge,  about  two  miles  from  Sultanpur. 

On  the  5th  of  March  Sir  Colin  was  before  Lucknow  with  his  whole  force 
collected,  and  his  siege  train  brought  up,  the  right  of  his  line  resting  on 
Bibiapur  and  the  Gumtee  rivers,  and  his  left  stretching  towards  the  Alam- 
bagh.  With  such  a  force  as  was  now  arrayed  against  the  devoted  city,  the 
issue  could  not  long  be  doubtful.  On  the  9th  the  attack  commenced,  and 
by  the  21st  all  the  strong  defences  of  Lucknow  were  stormed  and  won,  and 
the  rebels  were  fleeing  in  every  direction.  It  was  now  the  hour  of  triumph 
for  the  Asiatic  allies  of  the  British,  and  they  did  not  neglect  the  opportunity. 

"Those  stately  buildings,"  says  an  eye-witness,  "which  had  never  before 
been  entered  by  European  foot,  except  by  a  commissioner  of  Oudh  on  a  state 
day,  were  now  open  to  the  common  soldier  and  to  the  poorest  camp  follower 
of  our  army.  How  their  splendour  vanished  like  snow  in  sunshine!  The 
destruction  around  one,  the  shouting,  the  smashing  noises,  the  yells  of  the 

Sikhs  and  natives  were  oppressive."  After  a  painful  description  of  the  spec- 
tacle, the  writer  adds,  "  It  was  late  in  the  evening  when  we  returned  to  camp, 

through  roads  thronged  with  at  least  twenty  thousand  camp  followers,  all 
staggering  under  loads  of  plunder — the  most  extraordinary  and  indescrib- 

able spectacle  I  ever  beheld — coolies,  syces,  kitmutgars,  dhooly-bearers,  Sikhs, 
grass-cutters,  a  flood  of  men  covered  with  clothing  not  their  own,  carrying 
on  heads  and  shoulders  looking-glasses,  mirrors,  pictures,  brass  pote,  swords, 
firelocks,  rich  shawls,  scarfs,  embroidered  dresses,  all  the  '  loot '  of  ransacked 
palaces.  The  noise,  the  dust,  the  shouting,  the  excitement  were  almost 
beyond  endurance.  Lucknow  was  borne  away  piecemeal  to  camp,  and  the 
wild  Gurkhas  and  Sikhs,  with  open  mouths  and  glaring  eyes,  burning  with 
haste  to  get  rich,  were  contending  fiercely  against  the  current,  as  they  sought 

to  get  to  the  sources  of  such  unexpected  wealth." 
On  the  whole,  it  seems  to  have  been  but  a  renewal  of  the  capture  and 

sacking  of  Jerusalem,  Babylon,  or  Nineveh,  as  they  were  exhibited  when 
war  was  comparatively  young,  and  the  passions  of  men  at  the  wildest.  How 
unfortunate  it  was  for  the  British  that  the  necessity  of  their  position  should 
have  united  them  with  such  allies,  and  made  them  in  some  measure  responsible 
for  their  deeds. 

SUCCESSES   OF  SIR  HUGH    ROSE    IN    CENTRAL    INDIA:     AGAINST    THE  RANI  OP 

JHANSI 

In  noticing  the  leading  events  of  this  war,  it  would  be  unpardonable  to 
omit  the  campaign  that  was  carrying  on  in  Central  India  by  Sir  Hugh  Rose, 
at  the  head  of  the  Malwa  or  Nerbudda  field  force  of  about  six  thousand  men,  of 
which  twenty-five  hundred  were  British.  At  the  end  of  January  Sir  Hugh 
captured  Rathgarh,  situated  on  a  pear-shaped  hill,  and  surrounded  with 
precipices,  except  at  the  narrowest  part,  by  which,  however,  the  access  was 
very  difficult.  Although  one  of  the  strongest  forts  in  Central  India,  its  diffi- 

culties were  surmounted  and  the  walls  stormed  in  three  days,  and  such  of 
the  rebels  as  escaped  were  obliged  to  use  ropes  to  aid  their  descent  down 
the  rocks.    He  then  advanced  to  the  relief  of  Sagar,  where  a  European 
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garrison  and  about  a  hundred  women  and  children  had  been  closely  besieged 
for  more  than  half  a  year;  and  on  his  arrival  the  enemy  were  glad  to  raise 
the  siege.  Soon  after  the  Garakhot  fort  yielded  almost  without  a  blow, 
although  it  was  so  strong  that  it  might  have  withstood  a  siege  for  months 
against  the  whole  assailing  force. 

Sir  Hugh  Rose,  having  thus  dislodged  the  rebels  from  their  most  avail- 
able defences,  commenced  at  the  end  of  February  his  march  upon  Jhansi,  on 

the  way  to  which  there  was  a  mountain-ridge  with  three  passes,  that  formed 
the  means  of  a  military  advance  upon  Jhansi.  The  forts  of  the  passes  were 
speedily  taken,  and  Sir  Hugh  Rose  was  master  of  the  whole  country  between 
Sagar  and  Jhansi,  to  the  east  of  the  Betwa  river. 

The  attack  of  Jhansi  itself  was  now  the  great  object  of  enterprise.  It  was 
the  richest  city  in  Central  India,  and  one  of  the  most  culpable  in  the  massacres 
and  plunders  of  the  rebellion,  so  that  there  was  scarcely  a  house  in  which 
there  was  not  some  booty  that  had  been  taken  from  the  English.  Its  for- 

tress also  was  strong,  not  only  by  its  natural  position  but  by  the  resources  of 
art;  and  its  walls,  which  were  built  of  granite,  from  sixteen  to  twenty  feet 
in  thickness,  were  well  embrasured  for  cannon  and  loop-holed  for  musketry, 
while  the  place  was  defended  by  a  garrison  of  twelve  thousand  men,  headed 
by  a  fearless  virago,  the  rani  of  Jhansi.  Altogether,  the  siege  was  one  of  the 
most  desperate  undertakings  of  the  war;  but  the  capture  of  fort  and  city 
was  certain  to  be  followed  by  the  downfall  of  the  rebellion  in  Central  India. 
Desperate  was  the  resistance  of  the  men  of  Jhansi,  who  were  conscious  of 
their  crimes,  and  apprehensive  of  a  just  retribution.  By  the  30th  of  March 
the  defences  both  of  city  and  fort  were  dismantled  by  the  British  artillery, 
but  as  the  ammunition  of  the  besiegers  was  running  short,  they  resolved  to 
attempt  Jhansi  by  escalade.  The  assault  was  made  on  the  2nd  of  April,  and 
the  city  was  successfully  entered  by  two  storming  columns,  who  fought  their 
way  through  every  obstacle  until  they  met  and  were  concentrated  in  the 
palace. 

"This  was  not  effected,"  says  Sir  Hugh  Rose  in  his  graphic  description  of 
the  siege,  "  without  bloody,  often  hand-to-hand  combats.  One  of  the  most 
remarkable  of  them  was  between  detachments  of  her  majesty's  85th  regi- 

ment and  3rd  Europeans,  and  thirty  or  forty  Velaitie  sowars,  the  bodyguard 
of  the  rani,  in  the  palace  stables  under  the  fire  of  the  fort.  The  sowars,  full 
of  opium,  defended  their  stables,  firing  with  matchlocks  and  pistols  from  the 
windows  and  loop-holes,  and  cutting  with  their  tulwars,  and  from  behind 
the  doors.  When  driven  in  they  retreated  behind  their  horses,  still  firing, 
or  fighting  with  their  swords  in  both  hands,  till  they  were  shot  or  bayoneted, 
struggling  even  when  dying  on  the  ground  to  strike  again.  A  party  of  them 
remained  in  a  room  off  the  stables,  which  were  on  fire,  till  they  were  half 
burned :  their  clothes  in  flames,  they  rushed  out,  hacking  at  their  assailants, 

and  guarding  their  heads  with  their  shields." 
Such  frantic  deeds  of  despairing  resistance,  of  which  the  foregoing  is  a 

specimen,  were  multiplied  over  the  streets  and  buildings  of  Jhansi  before  it 
was  taken;  and  it  was  well  that  there  was  nothing  less  than  the  utmost  of 
British  courage  and  firmness  to  confront  them.  When  all  was  hopeless  both 
for  city  and  fortress,  the  rani  gave  the  signal  for  flight,  by  mounting  a  gray 
horse  and  making  off  with  only  four  attendants,  with  a  body  of  British  cav- 

alry in  full  pursuit;  and  on  the  night  after  the  rebels  fled  from  the  fort,  leav- 
ing it  wholly  defenceless,  but  not  until  they  had  lost  five  thousand  nien  in 

the  siege  and  storm.  The  city  was  treated  with  more  humanity  than  it  had 
expected,  and  the  British  soldiers,  after  the  storm  had  ceased,  were  to  be  seen 
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everywhere  sharing  their  rations  of  food  with  the  wives  and  children  of  those 
who  had  been  the  murderers  of  their  countrymen. 

After  the  fall  of  Jhansi,  the  capture  of  Kalpi  was  the  next  enterprise  to  be 
attempted,  and  Sir  Hugh  Rose,  directing  his  march  in  this  direction,  encamped 
about  three  miles  from  Kalpi,  where  he  was  attacked  on  the  22nd  of  May  by 
the  rebels,  who  were  put  to  the  rout.  Besides  these  successes,  other  victories 
which  had  been  gained  by  Generals  Roberts  and  Whitlock  made  Sir  Hugh 
Rose  imagine  that  Central  India  was  now  completely  cleared  of  the  rebels, 
and  that  there  would  be  no  further  occasion  for  the  services  of  his  troops  in 
that  quarter.  But  his  hopes  were  premature,  for  the  war  was  not  yet  ended: 
the  leader  of  the  rebels  at  Kalpi,  whose  name  was  Tantia  Topee,  had  retreated 
before  the  fall  of  the  town,  and  in  him  the  British  found  the  ablest  and  most 
impracticable  of  all  the  chiefs  of  the  rebellion.  He  retired  to  Gwalior,  the 
capital  of  Sindhia,  whose  troops  he  persuaded  to  fraternise  with  the  rebels; 
and  when  the  fugitives  of  Kalpi  fled,  they  joined  these  new  allies,  and  drove 
Sindhia  from  his  capital  to  the  British  cantonments  at  Agra,  after  which  they 
placed  Rao  Sahib,  a  nephew  of  Nana  Sahib,  upon  the  throne  of  Gwalior. 

These  events  called  Sir  Hugh  Rose  again  into  the  field;  but  before  his 
arrival,  the  principal  rebels  and  Tantia  Topee  had  left  Gwalior,  taking  with 
them  all  the  treasure  they  could  find,  and  leaving  the  rani  of  Jhansi  to  abide 
the  encounter,  at  the  head  of  her  rebels  of  Kalpi  and  the  mutineers  of  the 
troops  of  Sindhia.  Sir  Hugh  found  them  occupying  a  cantonment  in  the 
neighbourhood  of  Gwalior,  dislodged  and  defeated,  them,  and  drove  them  in 
headlong  flight  into  the  capital.  On  the  19th  of  June,  the  rebels  rallied  upon 
a  range  of  heights  in  front  of  the  town,  being  headed  by  the  rani  of  Jhansi, 
who  was  dressed  in  male  attire,  and  fought  gallantly  like  a  common  soldier; 
but  they  were  defeated  with  the  loss  of  twenty-seven  guns,  and  also  of  their 
brave  Amazonian  leader.*  Sindhia  was  thus  restored  to  his  capital  and 
throne,  and  the  rebellion  in  Central  India  being  now  at  an  end,  the  troops 
of  Sir  Hugh  Rose  were  parted  into  garrisons  for  Jhansi,  GwaUor,  and  other 
parts  of  the  country. 

With  the  fall  of  Lucknow  its  capital,  the  kingdom  of  Oudh  might  be  con- 
sidered as  disarmed;  and  it  now  became  necessary  to  determine  the  line  of 

policy  that  was  to  be  followed  out  in  the  government  of  this  dangerous  and 
rebellious  province.  This  was  soon  announced  by  Lord  Canning,  the  gov- 

ernor-general, then  at  Allahabad,  in  a  proclamation  which  he  issued  on  the 
3rd  of  March.  His  first  object,  he  declared,  would  be  to  reward  those  who 
had  been  steadfast  in  their  allegiance,  and  who  had  aided  and  supported 
the  British  authority;  and,  after  this,  the  nature  of  the  reward  was  an- 

nounced, and  the  persons  who  were  to  enjoy  it.  Six  talukdars  (land- 
owners) of  Oudh,  including  two  rajahs,  were  named,  and  it  was  declared 

that  these  were  henceforward  to  be  the  sole  hereditary  proprietors  of 
the  lands  which  they  held  when  the  province  came  under  British  rule, 
with  such  additional  rewards  as  the  government  should  judge  fit  to  confer 
upon  them  — but  that  with  these  exceptions,  the  proprietary  right  in  the  soil 
of  the  province  was  confiscated  to  the  British  government,  to  be  disposed  of 
according  to  its  own  judgment.  To  those  talukdars,  chiefs,  and  landholders, 
with  their  followers,  who  should  make  submission  to  the  chief  comniissioner 
of  Oudh,  surrendering  their  arms  to  him  and  obeying  his  orders,  an  indemnity 
from  punishment  should  be  granted,  provided  that  their  hands  were  unstained 

['  Of  tLis  Joan  of  Arc  whom  Walpole'  calls  "the  heroine  of  the  Mutiny,"  Sir  Hugh 
Rose  exclaimed,  "the  best  Tnam  upon  the  side  of  the  enemy  was  the  woman  found  dead,  the 
rani  of  Jhansi."] 
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with  English  blood  murderously  shed;  but  for  any  further  indulgence  they 
must  throw  themselves  upon  the  justice  and  mercy  of  the  British  govern- 

ment. Those  among  them  who  should  promptly  come  forward  and  support 
the  chief  commissioner  in  the  restoration  of  peace  and  order  were  to  have 
their  claims  of  restitution  to  their  rights  Uberally  considered;  but  those  who 
had  participated  in  the  murder  of  Englishmen  and  Englishwomen  were  to  be 
excluded  from  all  mercy. 

Such  was  the  proclamation  sent  to  Sir  James  Outram,  the  chief  commis- 
sioner, who  neither  relished  its  terms  nor  the  ungracious  power  with  which  it 

invested  him,  and  he  lost  no  time  in  writing  from  his  camp  at  Chinhat  to  Lord 
Canning,  remonstratmg  upon  the  impolicy  of  the  measure.  There  were  not, 
he  declared,  a  dozen  chiefs  and  landholders  who  had  not  participated  in  the 
rebellion;  and  those  who  were  thus  to  be  summarily  dispossessed  would 
betake  themselves  to  their  domains  and  continue  their  resistance.  Hitherto, 
he  alleged,  they  had  been  most  unjustly  treated  under  British  settlement 
operations,  and  hence,  when  the  rebellion  was  at  its  height,  and  their  coun- 

try overrun  by  the  rebel  soldiery,  they  had  made  common  cause  with  the 
insurgents;  and  this  being  the  case,  they  ought  now  to  be  treated  rather 
as  honourable  enemies  than  as  rebels.  These,  and  other  such  considera- 

tions, were  urged  by  Sir  James  Outram,  but  with  little  effect,  for  although 
Lord  Canning  added  a  short  clause  more  definite  in  its  promises  of  resti- 

tution to  those  who  should  give  their  aid  in  the  establishment  of  peace  and 
order,  no  abatement  was  made  to  the  right  of  wholesale  confiscation,  and 
the  pimishment  of  general  dispossession. 

Had  these  rescJutions  been  adopted  at  an  earlier  period,  and  when  the 
progress  of  the  British  conquest  of  India  was  in  full  career,  they  might  have 
been  passed  without  question  and  acted  on  without  scruple.  But  now  the 
case  was  different.  The  British  had  almost  lost  their  hold  of  India,  and  this 
by  the  severity  of  their  rule,  originating  in  over-confidence  in  their  power. 
Such  was  the  general  feeUng  at  home  when  tidings  of  this  widely-spread  and 
all  but  universal  rebellion  in  her  eastern  empire  had  arrived  in  England;  and 
while  reports  followed  of  the  victories  which  British  arms  were  achieving  in 
the  East,  the  popular  triumph  was  accompanied  with  the  surmise  that  the 
rebellion  had  been  provoked,  and  that  justice  must  be  done  to  India.  This 
was  manifested  even  in  the  India  House,  when  the  original  draft  of  Lord 

Canning's  proclamation  had  arrived;  and  a  despatch,  in  the  form  of  a  letter 
from  the  secret  committee  of  the  court  of  directors  of  the  company,  was  sent 
to  his  lordship,  animadverting  upon  his  resolutions,  and  enjoining  their  miti- 

gation. Great  Britain  had  annexed  the  kingdom  of  Oudh  to  her  own  domin- 
ion without  just  cause,  and  notwithstanding  its  past  services  and  fidelity  to 

her  alliance;  ̂   she  had  deprived  it  of  its  king,  and  imposed  upon  it  her  own 
rule,  and  administered  its  revenues,  without  regard  to  those  whom  the  change 
had  reduced  from  wealth  and  distinction  to  utter  destitution.  Under  these 
circumstances  the  hostilities  carried  on  in  Oudh  had  rather  the  character 
of  a  legitimate  war  than  that  of  rebellion,  and  its  people  were  to  be  regarded 
rather  with  indulgent  consideration,  "  than  made  the  objects  of  a  penalty 
exceeding  in  extent  and  in  severity  almost  any  which  has  been  recorded  in 
history  as  inflicted  upon  a  subdued  nation."  And  in  conclusion  they  added, 
"  We  desire  that  you  will  mitigate  in  practice  the  stringent  severity  of  the 
decree  of  confiscation  you  have  issued  against  the  landholders  of  Oudh.    We 

[•  The  reader  will  recollect  that  the  reason  for  the  annexation  of  Oudh  was  the  misgovem- 
ment  of  its  rulers  who,  though  friendly  to  the  British,  acted  very  oppressively  towards  their 
own  subjects.] 
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desire  to  see  British  authority  in  India  rest  upon  the  willing  obedience  of  a 
contented  people:  there  cannot  be  contentment  where  there  is  general  con- 

fiscation." 

TRANSFER  OF  THE  COMPANY'S  P0WER8  TO  THE  CROWN 

But  the  days  of  the  company  itself  were  already  numbered,  and  this 
humane  appeal  was  a  graceful  close  to  its  existence.  The  great  subject  of 
importance  in  parliament  during  the  session  of  1858  was  the  suppression 
of  the  rebellion  in  India,  and  the  means  of  retaining  the  country  under  British 
rule,  and  for  this  even  the  important  question  of  parliamentary  reform  was 
postponed. 

As  it  was  now  certain  that  measures  were  about  to  be  introduced  by 
ministers  for  altering  the  form  of  government  in  India,  the  company  drew 
up  a  long,  elaborate,  and  able  petition  to  parliament,  setting  forth  its  past 
services  and  exertions  for  the  benefit  of  India '  and  the  empire  at  large,  and 
deprecating  the  withdrawal  of  their  powers,  and  the  transference  of  their 
rule  into  other  hands.  [But  before  the  discussions  on  the  subject  had  ter- 

minated, the  Palmerston  ministry  fell  and  a  new  scheme  introduced  by  Dis- 
raeli met  with  general  disapproval.] 

We  cannot  advert  to  the  discussions  that  followed,  in  which  every  step 
was  followed  by  a  pause  or  a  conflict:  all  this  was  only  commensurate  with 
the  importance  of  the  great  question  of  the  future  government  of  the  Indian 
Empire,  in  which  so  many  mistakes  were  to  be  amended  and  so  many  evils 
redressed.  The  India  Bill  finally  passed  the  house  of  commons  on  the  8th 
of  July,  and  that  of  the  lords  on  the  23rd,  and  received  the  assent  of  the 
crown  on  August  2nd,  the  last  day  of  the  session.  There  is  a  solemnity  and 
vastness  of  meaning  in  the  simple  words  by  which  the  transfer  is  announced 
in  the  first  clause  of  the  bill,  to  which  the  grandeur  of  the  decrees  of  the 
Roman  senate  can  present  no  parallel: 

"  The  government  of  the  territories  now  in  the  possession  or  under  the 
government  of  the  East  India  Company,  and  all  the  powers  in  relation  to 
government  vested  in  or  exercised  by  the  said  company,  in  trust  for  her 
majesty,  shall  cease  to  be  vested  in  or  exercised  by  the  said  company,  and 
all  territories  in  the  possession  or  under  the  government  of  the  said  company, 
and  all  rights  vested,  or  which,  if  this  act  had  not  been  passed,  might  have 
been  exercised  by  the  said  company  in  relation  to  any  territories,  shall  become 
vested  in  her  majesty,  and  be  exercised  in  her  name;  and  for  the  purposes 
of  this  act,  India  shall  mean  the  territories  vested  in  her  majesty  as  afore- 

said, and  all  territories  which  may  become  vested  in  her  majesty  by  virtue 
of  any  such  rights  as  aforesaid." 

While  these  discussions  were  going  on  in  the  British  parliament,  the  pro- 
gress of  the  war  in  India  was  such  as  promised  both  a  speedy  and  successful 

termination.  A  strong  garrison  was  left  in  Lucknow  to  control  the  city  and 
its  neighbourhood,  while  a  campaign  was  opened  against  the  district  of  Rohil- 
khand,  to  which  the  Lucknow  rebels  had  retired.  Every  fort  that  was 
assailed  by  the  British  was  taken,  and  every  enemy  in  the  field  put  to. the  rout 
— and  hence  the  Uttle  interest  that  belongs  to  the  narrative  of  this  closing 

['  Of  the  services  of  the  company,  Spencer  Walpole  writes  :  "  In  a  single  century  it  had 
amassed  an  empire,  and  had  hrought  one  person  in  every  six  in  the  world  into  subjection.  Where 
else  in  the  world's  history  canhe  found  a  dependency  which  in  the  course  of  three  generations  pro- 

duced men  of  "the  capacity  of  Warren  Hastings,  of  Wellesley,  and  of  DaJhousie  ?  And  which  has produced  in  the  same  period  among  its  subordinate  officials  such  men  as  the  two  Lawrences,  as 
Havelock  and  Outram,  as  Mountstuart  Elphinstone  and  Malcolm,  as  Metcalfe  and  Munro  ?  " '] 
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portion  of  the  war.  In  all  these  proceedings,  also,  were  to  be  recognised  the 
masterly  intellect  and  military  skill  of  Sir  Colin  Campbell,  who  directed  each 
movement,  and  who,  for  his  able  services,  was  raised  to  the  peerage  with  the 
title  of  Lord  Clyde.  The  progress  towards  a  general  pacification  was  likewise 
promoted  by  the  transference  of  the  government  of  India  to  the  British 
crown,  and  the  natives  were  induced  to  reverence  a  sovereign  power,  more 
especially  when  aggrandised  by  remoteness  and  invisibiUty,  in  preference  to 
the  authority  of  men  who  were  present,  and  known  to  be  subjects  like  them- 

selves. Accordingly,  when  a  royal  proclamation,  which  was  transmitted  to 
India,  was  published  by  the  governor-general  on  the  1st  of  November,  it 
called  forth  several  addresses  to  the  queen,  expressive  of  their  loyalty  and attachment. 

In  this  proclamation  it  was  announced  to  the  native  princes  of  India  that 
all  engagements  which  had 
been  made  with  them  by 
the  company  would  be 

scrupulously  "maintained 
and  fulfilled;  that  no  ex- 

tension of  territorial  posses- 
sion was  sought;  and  that 

no  aggression  upon  it 
should  be  tolerated,  or  en- 

croachment upon  that  of 
others  sanctioned.  The 
British  government  held 
itself  bound  to  the  natives 
of  its  Indian  territories  by 
the  same  obligations  of 
duty  which  bound  it  to  all 
the  other  subjects  of  the 
British  Empire.  Upon  the 
important  subject  of  reli- 

gion, in  which  the  rebel- 
lion   had   originated,    the 

declaration  wa. •  explicit:  "Firmly  relying  ourselves  on  the  truth  of  Chris- 
tianity, and  acknowledging  with  gratitude  the  solace  of  religion,  we  disclaim 

alike  the  right  and  the  desire  to  impose  our  convictions  on  any  of  our  sub- 
jects. We  declare  it  to  be  our  royal  will  and  pleasure  that  none  be  in  any 

wise  favoured,  none  molested  or  disquieted  by  reason  of  their  religious  faith 
or  observances,  but  that  all  shall  alike  enjoy  the  equal  and  impartial  protec- 

tion of  the  law;  and  we  do  strictly  charge  and  enjoin  all  those  who  may  be 
in  authority  under  us,  that  they  abstain  from  all  interference  with  the 
religious  belief  or  worship  of  any  of  our  subjects,  on  pain  of  our  highest  dis- 

pleasure." It  was  added  that  all  of  whatever  race  or  creed  were  to  be  freely 
and  impartially  admitted  to  such  offices  in  her  majesty's  service  as  they  were 
qualified  to  hold.  Those  who  inherited  lands  were  to  be  protected  in  all 
rights  connected  therewith,  subject  to  the  equitable  demands  of  the  state; 
and  in  framing  and  administering  the-  law,  due  regard  was  to  be  paid  to  the 
ancient  rights,  usages,  and  customs  of  India. 

With  regard  to  the  late  rebellion,  a  general  pardon  was  granted  for  past 
oflFences,  except  to  those  who  had  taken  part  in  the  murder  of  British  sub- 

jects, or  who  nad  given  asylum  to  murderers,  knowing  them  to  be  such,  or 
who  may  have  acted  as  leaders  or  instigators  in  revolt;  but  in  apportioning 

LucKNOw  Entrance  Gate,  Sikandba  Baoh 

(Where  two  thoueand  mutineere  were  killed  in  1857) 



fO«  THE  HISTORY  OF  BRITISH  INDIA 
[1857-1858  A.DO 

the  penalty  due  to  such  persons,  full  consideration  should  be  given  to  the 
circumstances  under  which  they  had  been  tempted  from  their  allegiance.  To 
all  others  still  in  arms  against  the  government,  an  unconditional  pardon, 
amnesty,  and  oblivion  was  promised,  on  their  return  to  their  homes  and 
peaceful  pursuits,  and  compliance  with  these  conditions  before  the  1st  day 
of  Januaiy  next. 

END  OF  THE  MXJTINT 

The  chief  difficulty  that  still  remained  was  the  pacification  of  Oudh,  with- 
out which  the  government  of  India  could  not  be  fully  re-established;  and 

to  effect  this,  such  decisive  measures  were  adopted,  as  could  only  be  justified 
by  the  necessity  of  the  case,  and  the  warlike,  dangerous  spirit  of  the  people. 
A  proclamation  was  issued  by  Mr.  Montgomery,  who  had  been  appointed 
chief  commissioner  of  Oudh,  ordering  that  all  talukdars,  zamindars,  and 
native  inhabitants  of  the  province  should  deliver  up  to  the  servants  of  gov- 

ernment at  the  nearest  police  station,  within  one  month  from  that  date,  all 
their  cannon,  firearms,  weapons,  and  ammunition,  under  pain  of  fine  and 
imprisonment  for  one  year,  with  flogging;  and  if  a  landholder,  of  the  con- 

fiscation of  his  lands.  The  next  step  was  to  suppress  the  rebels  who  were 
still  in  the  field,  which  was  no  such  easy  achievement,  for  they  had  made 
Oudh  their  place  of  shelter  and  rallying  point  for  their  final  stand,  and  were 
likely  to  defend  it  with  the  fierceness  of  despair.  They  had  also  for  one  of 
their  chief  leaders  the  ex-queen  of  Oudh,  a  woman  of  fearless  courage  and 
unyielding  spirit,  who  issued  a  counter-proclamation  to  the  people,  warning 
them  not  to  trust  the  promises  of  the  British  government,  and  analysing  the 
proclamation  of  the  British  sovereign,  paragraph  by  paragraph,  with  all 
the  shrewdness  and  caustic  severity  of  a  well-practisea  literary  reviewer. 
The  winter  campaign  was  opened  in  November,  and  the  Oudh  chieftains  sur- 

rendered their  hill-forts,  or  were  driven  from  them  after  a  short  and  useless 
resistance. 

With  the  close  of  the  year,  the  rebellion  in  Oudh,  its  last  stronghold,  had 
terminated,  and  an  army,  originally  numbering  one  hundred  and  fifty  thou- 

sand, been  routed  and  dispersed  with  comparatively  little  loss  to  the  victors. 
Resistance  indeed  continued  to  be  made,  but  it  was  the  hopeless  resistance 
of  broken  bands  and  fugitive  chiefs,  lurking  among  the  fastnesses  of  Nepal, 
beyond  the  British  dominions,  and  urged  by  hunger  or  revenge;  and  with 
every  attempt  their  numbers  were  diminished  and  their  range  circumscribed, 
so  that  what  had  lately  been  armies,  were  little  more  than  troops  of  brigands, 
whose  outrages  the  nearest  miUtary  station  was  strong  enough  to  suppress. 
The  British  Empire  was  re-established  in  India  upon  a  basis  more  august  and 
imposing  than  before.^ 

The  act  for  the  better  government  of  India  (1858),  which  finally  trans- 
ferred the  entire  administration  from  the  company  to  the  crown,  enacts  that 

India  shall  be  governed  by  and  in  the  name  of  the  sovereign  of  England 
through  one  of  the  principal  secretaries  of  state,  assisted  by  a  council  of 
fifteen  members.  The  governor-general  received  th©  new  title  of  viceroy. 
The  European  troops  of  the  company,  numbering  about  twenty-four  thou- 

sand officers  and  men,  were  amalgamated  with  the  royal  service,  and  the 
Indian  navy  was  abolished.  By  the  Indian  Councils  Act  (1861)  the  gov- 

ernor-general's council,  and  also  the  councils  at  Madras  and  Bombay,  were 
augmented  by  the  addition  of  non-official  members,  either  natives  or  Euro- 

peans, for  legislative  purposes  only;  and  by  another  act  passed  in  the  same 
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year  high  courts  of  judicature  were  constituted  out  of  the  existing  supreme 
courts  at  the  presidency  towns. 

It  fell  to  the  lot  of  Lord  Canning  both  to  suppress  the  Mutiny  and  to 
introduce  the  peaceful  revolution  that  followed.  As  regards  his  execution 
of  the  former  part  of  his  duties,  it  is  sufficient  to  say  that  he  preserved  his 
equanimity  undisturbed  in  the  darkest  hours  of  peril,  and  that  the  strict 
impartiality  of  his  conduct  incurred  alternate  praise  and  blame  from  the 
fanatics  on  either  side.  The  epithet  then  scornfully  applied  to  him  of 
"  Clemency  "  Canning  is  now  remembered  only  to  his  honour. 

Peace  was  proclaimed  throughout  India  on  July  8th,  1859;  and  in  the 
following  cold  weather  Lord  Canning  made  a  viceregal  progress  through  the 
upper  provinces,  to  receive  the  homage  of  loyal  princes  and  chiefs,  and  to 
guarantee  to  them  the  right  of  adoption.  The  suppression  of  the  Mutiny 
increased  the  debt  of  India  by  about  forty  milUons  sterling,  and  the  military 
changes  that  ensued  augmented  the  annual  expenditure  by  about  ten  millions. 
To  grapple  with  this  deficit,  Mr.  James  Wilson  was  sent  out  from  the  treas- 

ury as  financial  member  of  council.  He  reorganised  the  customs  system, 
imposed  an  income-tax  and  licence  duty,  and  created  a  state  paper  cur- 

rency. The  penal  code,  originally  drawn  up  by  Macaulay  in  1837,  passed 
into  law  in  1860,  together  with  a  code  of  civil  and  criminal  procedure.^ 

To  Canning's  services  as  governor,  Spencer  Walpole  pays  this  tribute:  "  If 
Dalhousie  was  the  last,  and  in  some  respects  the  greatest  of  the  old  type  of 
governors.  Canning  was  the  first  and  one  of  the  greatest  of  the  new  class 
of  rulers.  That  he  had  defects  in  his  character,  and  that  his  defects  were 
attended  with  serious  consequences,  it  would  be  absurd  to  deny.  A  Clive  or 
a  Wellesley,  or  even  a  Hastings  or  a  Hardinge,  would  possibly  have  stamped 
out  rebellion  more  rapidly,  or  confined  a  revolt  within  narrower  limits.  But 
neither  Clive  nor  Wellesley,  neither  Hastings  nor  Hardinge,  would  have  fur- 

nished subject  India  with  so  grand  an  example  of  the  nobler  features  of  the 
British  character.  The  man  who  maintained  his  equanimity  amidst  panic, 
whose  courage  never  quailed  amidst  disaster,  who,  conscious  of  his  own  vir- 

tue, moved  calm  amidst  obloquy;  who,  amidst  rage  and  tumult,  in  the  hour 
of  severity  never  forgot  to  be  just,  was  a  ruler  worthy  of  the  great  country 

whose  honour,  in  the  hour  of  her  supreme  peril,  was  entrusted  to  his  keeping."' 

Indian  Jab.    India  Museum. 
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Lord  Canning  left  India  in  March,  1862,  and  died  before  he  had  been  a 
month  in  England,  His  successor.  Lord  Elgin,  lived  only  till  November, 
1863,  when  he  too  fell  a  victim  to  the  excessive  work  of  the  governor-general- 

ship, dyiQg  at  the  Hunalayan  station  of  Dharmsala,  where  he  lies  buried. 
He  was  succeeded  by  Sir  John  Lawrence  [afterwards  Lord  Lawrence],  the 
saviour  of  the  Punjab.  The  chief  incidents  of  his  administration  were  the 
Bhutan  War  and  the  terrible  Orissa  famine.^ 

The  drought  of  1865  had  caused  a  dearth  in  1866.  Unforeseen  by  the 
lieutenant-governor  of  Bengal,  it  could  not  be  met  with  imported  supplies, 
and  before  the  following  rainy  season  brought  relief  a  million  souls  had  died 
of  hunger  or  consequent  disease,  out  of  a  province  containing  a  population  of 
only  four  millions.  Lord  Napier  saved  Madras  from  a  similar  calamity  by  his 
foresight,  and  a  year  later  the  sufferings  from  a  drought  in  Mysore  were  con- 

siderably mitigated  by  the  British  rulers." 

LORD  Lawrence's  vice-royalty  (1863-1869  a.d.) 

Bhutan  is  a  little  Himalayan  state  to  the  north  of  Assam.  For  some  years 
past  the  Bhutia  highlanders  had  made  frequent  inroads  in  British  ground 
lying  at  the  foot  of  their  hills,  and  claimed  by  their  chiefs  as  part  of  Bhutan. 
Li  1863  the  Honourable  Mr.  Ashley  Eden  had  been  sent  to  treat  with  the 
Bhutan  government  on  behalf  of  the  British  subjects  who  had  been  kidnapped 
in  these  raids.  The  utter  failure  of  the  mission  was  crowned  by  the  insults 
heaped  upon  the  envoy  himself.  In  fear  of  his  life  he  had  to  sign  a  treaty 
surrendering  the  very  lands  In  dispute.  After  some  vain  attempts  to  patch 
up  the  quarrel  and  gain  redress  for  the  outrage,  Sir  John  Lawrence,  in  Nov- 

ember, 1864,  declared  war  against  Bhutan.    A  small  force  entered  the  hiiis; 
204 
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but  mismanagement  and  a  sickly  season  delayed  its  progress;  some  of  the 
British  troops  on  one  occasion  were  disgracefully  defeated,  and  not  till  some 
months  later  was  the  enemy  driven  to  sue  for  peace  and  give  some  pledges 
for  its  maintenance.*' 

Great  importance  also  attaches  to  Lawrence's  Afghan  policy,  the  interest 
of  the  British  power  in  Afghan  affairs  having  become  closer  as  her  frontiers 
advanced  towards  Afghanistan  in  consequence  of  the  annexations  following 
on  the  Sind  and  Sikh  wars."  Of  Lawrence's  attitude,  Bright "  has  said  that 
his  "consistent  policy,  sometimes  siigntingly  spoken  of  as  masterly  inactivity, 
consisted  in  holding  entirely  aloof  from  the  dynastic  quarrels  of  the  Afghans, 
in  the  recognition  of  any  prince  who  either  by  force  or  by  popular  favour 
succeeded  in  establishing  himself  on  the  throne,  and  in  attempting  to  cultivate 
the  friendship  of  the  amir  by  gifts  of  money  and  arms,  while  carefully  avoiding 

topics  of  offence." 

THE  GOVERNORSHIPS  OP  LORDS  MAYO  AND  NORTHBROOK  (1869-1876  A.D.) 

Lord  Mayo,  who  succeeded  Lawrence  in  1869,  carried  on  the  permanent 
British  policy  of  moral  and  material  progress  with  a  special  degree  of  per- 

sonal energy.  The  Ambala  (Umballa)  darbar,  at  which  Sher  Ali  was  recog- 
nised as  amir  of  Afghanistan,  though  in  one  sense  merely  the  completion  of 

what  Lord  Lawrence  had  begun,  owed  much  of  its  success  to  the  personal 
influence  of  Lord  Mayo  himself.  The  same  quality,  combined  with  sympathy 
and  firmness,  stood  him  in  good  stead  in  all  his  dealings  both  with  native  chiefs 
and  European  ofiicials.  His  example  of  hard  work  stimulated  all  to  their 
best.  WhUe  engaged  in  exploring  with  his  own  eyes  the  farthest  comers  of 
the  empire,  he  fell  by  the  hand  of  an  assassin  in  the  convict  settlement  of  the 
Andaman  Islands  in  1872. 

His  successor  was  Lord  Northbrook,  whose  ability  showed  itself  chiefly  in 
the  department  of  finance.  During  the  time  of  his  administration  a  famine 
in  Lower  Bengal  in  1874  was  successfully  obviated  by  government  relief  and 
public  works,  though  at  an  enormous  cost;  the  gaekwar  of  Baroda  was 
dethroned  in  1875  for  misgovemment  and  disloyalty,  while  his  dominions 
were  continued  to  a  nominated  child  of  the  family;  Lord  Lytton  followed 
Northbrook  in  1876. 

QUEEN  VICTORIA  BECOMES   EMPRESS   OF  INDIA   (1877  A.D.) 

On  January  1st,  1877,  Queen  Victoria  was  proclaimed  empress  of  India  at 

a  darbar  of  unequalled  magnificence,  held  on  the  historic  "ridge"  overlooking 
the  Mughal  capital  of  Delhi.  But,  while  the  princes  and  high  officials  of  the 
country  were  flocking  to  this  gorgeous  scene,  the  shadow  of  famine  was 
already  darkening  over  the  south  of  India.  Both  the  monsoons  of  1876  had 
failed  to  bring  their  due  supply  of  rain,  and  the  season  of  1877  was  little  better. 
The  consequences  of  this  prolonged  drought,  which  extended  from  the  Deccan 
to  Cape  Comorin,  and  subsequently  invaded  northern  India,  were  more  dis- 

astrous than  any  similar  calamity  since  the  introduction  of  British  rule. 
Despite  unparalleled  importations  of  graia  by  sea  and  rail,  despite  the  most 
strenuous  exertions  of  the  government,  which  incurred  a  total  expenditure 
on  this  account  of  eleven  millions  sterling,  the  loss  of  life  from  actual  starva- 

tion and  its  attendant  train  of  diseases  was  lamentable.  The  total  number 
of  deaths  from  disease  and  want  in  the  distressed  tracts  in  excess  of  the 

normal  mortality  for  the  two  years  1876-1878  is  estimated  to  have  raised  the 
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death-rate  forty  per  cent.,  or  five  millions.    In  the  aittumn  of  1878  the  affaira 
of  Afghanistan  again  forced  themselves  into  notice.^ 

RELATIONS  "WITH  THE  AFGHANS 

In  following  the  history  of  the  course  of  affairs  in  Afghanistan  during  the 
nineteenth  century,  it  should  be  remembered  that  the  Saddozais  and  Barak- 
zais  are  two  branches  of  the  Durani  tribe,  which  was  raised  to  dominant  power 
by  its  chief,  Ahmed  Khan,  the  foimder  of  an  Afghan  kingdom  under  the 
Saddozai  d^asty  towards  the  end  of  the  eighteenth  century.  His  descend- 

ants had  ruled,  amid  many  vicissitudes,  at  Kabul,  until  in  1818  the  assassin- 
ation by  the  reigning  amir  of  his  powerful  minister,  Fatteh  Khan  Barakzal, 

led  to  a  revolt  headed  by  the  Barakzai  family,  which  ended  in  the  expulsion 
of  the  Saddozai  Shah  Shuja,  and  the  establishment  at  Kabul  of  Dost  Muham- 
med,  Fatteh  Khan's  son;  while  Shah  Shuja  took  refuge  in  the  Punjab.  By 
this  time  the  political  situation  of  Afghanistan  had  become  materially  affected 
by  the  consolidation  of  the  formidable  military  dominion  on  its  eastern 
frontier  in  the  Punjab,  under  Ranjit  Singh  and  his  Sikh  army.  Ranjit  Singh 
took  advantage  of  the  distracted  condition  of  Afghanistan  to  seize  Kashmir, 
and  in  1823  he  defeated  the  Afghans  in  a  battle  which  gave  him  the  suzerainty 
of  the  Peshawar  province  on  the  right  bank  of  the  Indus,  though  an  Afghan 
chief  was  left  to  administer  it.  Ten  years  later  Shah  Shuja,  the  exiled 
Saddozai  amir,  made  a  futile  attempt  to  recover  his  kingdom.  He  was 
defeated  by  Dost  Muhammed,  when  Ranjit  Singh  turned  the  confusion  to  his 
own  account  by  seizing  Peshawar  and  driving  the  Afghans  back  into  their 
mountains. 

At  this  point  begins  the  continual  interference  of  England  and  Russia  in 
the  affairs  of  Afghanistan,  which  has  ever  since  exercised  a  dominant  influ- 

ence upon  aU  subsequent  events  and  transactions.  It  has  not  only  trans- 
formed the  situation  of  the  ruling  amirs,  but  has  also  profoundly  affected  the 

Asiatic  policy  of  the  two  European  governments.  Shah  Shuja's  enterprise 
in  1833  had  been  supported  by  the  co-operation  of  Ranjit  Singh,  and  encour- 

aged by  the  British  viceroy.  Lord  "W.  Beutinck.  Although  the  expedition failed,  the  result  was  to  excite  jealousy  of  the  British  designs;  and  the  Russian 
envoy  at  Tehran  instigated  the  Shah  of  Persia  to  attack  Herat,  the  important 
frontier  fortress  of  northwestern  Afghanistan,  which  was  then  in  the  possession 
of  an  independent  chief.  In  1837,  in  spite  of  remonstrances  from  the  British 
representative  at  Tehran,  a  Persian  army  besieged  the  city,  but  the  appearance 
of  British  troops  on  the  southern  coast  of  Persia  compelled  the  Persians  to 
withdraw  from  Herat  in  1838. 

The  rivalry  between  England  and  Russia  was  now  openly  declared,  so  that 
each  movement  from  one  side  was  followed  by  a  counter  move  on  the  Afghan 
chess-board  from  the  other  side.  The  British  ministry  had  been  seriously 
alarmed  at  the  machinations  of  Russia  and  the  attitude  of  Dost  Muhammed 
at  Kabul;  and  it  was  determined  that  the  most  effective  means  of  securing 
their  own  interests  within  the  country  would  be  by  assisting  Shah  Shuja  to 
recover  his  sovereignty.  A  tripartite  treaty  was  made  between  Ranjit  Singh, 
the  British  governor-general  of  India,  and  Shah  Shuja;  and  a  British  army 
marched  up  the  Bolan  pass  to  Kandahar,  occupied  that  city,  pushed  on  north- 

ward: to  Ghazni,  which  was  taken  by  assault,  and  entered  Kabul  in  1839.  As 
Dost  Muhammed  had  fled  across  the  northern  mountains,  Shah  Shuja  was 
proclaimed  king  in  his  stead. 

But  this  ill-banned  and  hazardous  enterprise  was  fraught  with  the  elements 







INDIA   SINCE   THE   MUTINY  207 
[1878A.D.J 

of  inevitable  failure.  A  ruler  imposed  upon  a  free  people  by  lordgn  arms  is 
always  unpopular'  h6  is  unable  to  stand  alone;  and  his  foreign  auxiuaries  soon 
find  themselves  obliged  to  choose  between  remaining  to  uphold  his  power,  or 
retiring  with  the  probability  that  it  will  faU  after  their  departure.  The  leading 
chiefs  of  Afghanistan  perceived  that  the  maintenance  of  Shah  Shuja's  rule 
by  British  troops  would  soon  be  fatal  to  their  own  power  and  position  in  the 
country,  and  probably  to  their  national  independence.  The  attempt  to  raise 
taxes  showed  that  it  might  raise  the  people;  so  that  for  both  men  and  money 

the  shah's  government  was  stiU  obliged  to  rely  principally  upon  British  aid. 
The  result  was  that  after  two  years'  occupation  of  the  coimtiy,  in  the  vain hope  of  establishing  a  national  government  under  Shah  Shuja,  the  British 
found  their  own  situation  untenable^  for  the  fierce  and  warlike  tribes  broke 
out  into  incessant  revolt,  imtil  a  senous  insurrection  at  Kabul  in  the  winter 
of  1841-42  compelled  the  British  army  to  make  an  ignominious  and  disastrous 
retreat.  The  whole  force  was  lost  on  the  road  between  Kabul  and  Jalalabad* 
but  Jalalabad  was  successfully  defended  by  its  British  garrison,  and  General 
Nott  held  out  at  Kandahar  until  Generel  Pollock's  temporary  reoccupation 
of  Kabul  in  1842  restored  in  some  degree  the  military  reputation  of  Great 
Britain.  The  British  troops  then  completely  evacuated  the  country.  Dost 
Muhammed,  who  had  been  a  state  prisoner  in  India,  was  replaced  on  the  Kabul 
throne;  and  the  policy  of  intervention  in  Afghan  affairs  was  suspended  for 
nearly  forty  years. 

It  has  been  said  that  the  declared  object  of  this  policy  had  been  to  main- 
tain the  independence  and  integrity  of  Afghanistan,  to  secure  the  friendly 

alliance  of  its  ruler,  and  thus  to  interpose  a  great  barrier  of  moimtainous 
country  between  the  expanding  power  of  Russia  in  Central  Asia  and  the 
British  dominion  in  India.  After  1849,  when  the  annexation  of  the  Punjab 
had  carried  the  Indian  northwestern  frontier  up  to  the  skirts  of  the  Afghan 
highlands,  the  corresponding  advance  of  the  Riissians  southeastward  along 
the  Oxus  river  became  of  closer  interest  to  the  British,  particularly  when,  in 
1856,  the  Persians  again  attempted  to  take  possession  of  Herat.  Dost 
Muhammed  now  became  the  British  ally,  but  on  his  death  in  1863  the  king- 

dom fell  back  into  civil  war,  until  his  son  Sher  Ali  had  won  his  way  to  undis- 
puted rulership  in  1868.  In  the  same  year  Bokhara  became  a  dependency  of 

Russia.  To  the  British  government  an  attitude  of  non-intervention  in 
Afghan  affairs  appeared  in  this  situation  to  be  no  longer  possible.  The  meet- 

ing between  the  amir  Sher  Ali  and  the  viceroy  of  iSdia  at  Ambala  in  1869 
had  drawn  nearer  the  relations  between  the  two  governments;  the  amir  con- 

solidated and  began  to  centralize  his  power;  and  the  establishment  of  a  strong, 
friendly,  and  imited  Afghanistan  became  again  t!ie  Leynote  of  British  policy 
beyond  the  northwestern  frontier  of  India. 
•  When,  therefore,  the  conquest  of  Khiva  in  1873  by  the  Russians,  and 

their  gradual  approach  towards  the  amir's  northern  border,  had  seriously 
alarmed  Sher  Ali,  he  applied  for  support  to  the  British;  and  his  disappoint- 

ment at  his  failure  so  far  estranged  him  from  the  British  connection  that  he 
began  to  entertain  amicable  overtures  from  the  Russian  authorities  at  Tash- 
kend.  In  1869  the  Russian  government  had  assured  Lord  Clarendon  that 
they  regarded  Afghanistan  as  completely  outside  the  sphere  of  their  influence; 
and  in  1872  the  boundary  line  of  Afghanistan  on  the  northwest  had  been 
settled  between  England  and  Russia  so  far  eastward  as  Lake  Victoria.  Never- 

theless the  correspondence  between  Kabul  and  Tashkend  continued,  and  as 
the  Russians  were  now  extending  their  dominion  over  all  the  region  beyond 
Afghanistan  on  the  northwest,  the  British  government  determined,  in  1876, 
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once  more  to  undertake  active  measures  for  securing  their  political  ascendancy 
in  that  country.  But  the  amir,  whose  feelings  of  resentment  had  by  no  means 
abated,  was  now  leaning  toward  Russia;  and  upon  his  refusal  to  admit  a 
British  agent  into  Afghanistan  the  negotiations  finally  broke  down. 

THE  AFGHAN  WAE  OF  1878-1880 

In  the  course  of  the  followmg  year  (1878)  the  Russian  government,  to 
counteract  the  interference  of  England  with  their  advance  upon  Constanti- 

nople, sent  an  envoy  to  Kabul  empowered  to  make  a  treaty  with  the  amir. 
It  was  immediately  notified  to  him  from  India  that  a  British  mission  would  be 
deputed  to  his  capital,  but  he  demurred  to  receiving  it;  and  when  the  British 
envoy  was  turned  back  on  the  Afghan  frontier  hostilities  were  proclaimed  by 
the  viceroy  in  November,  1878,  and  the  second  Afghan  War  began.  Sir 

Donald  Stewart's  force,  marching  up  through  Baluchistan  by  the  Bolan  pass, 
entered  Kandahar  with  little  or  no  resistance;  while  another  army  passed 
through  the  Khyber  pass,  and  took  up  positions  at  Jalalabad  and  other  places 
on  the  direct  road  to  Kabul.  Another  force  under  Sir  Frederick  Roberta 
marched  up  to  the  high  passes  leading  out  of  Kuram  into  the  interior  of 

Afghanistan,  defeated  the  amir's  troops  at  the  Paiwar  Kotal,  and  seized  the 
Shutargardan  pass  which  commands  a  direct  route  to  Kabul  through  the 
Logar  valley.  The  amir  Sher  Ali  fled  from  his  capital  into  the  northern  pro- 

vince, where  he  died  at  Mazar-i-Sherif  in  February,  1879.  In  the  course  of 
the  next  six  months  there  was  much  desultory  skirmishing  between  the  tribes 
and  the  British  troops,  who  defeated  various  attempts  to  dislodge  them  from 
the  positions  that  had  been  taken  up;  but  the  sphere  of  British  military  opera- 

tions was  not  materially  extended.  It  was  seen  that  the  farther  they  ad- 
vanced the  more  difficidt  would  become  their  eventual  retirement;  and  the 

problem  was  to  find  a  successor  to  Sher  Ali  who  could  and  would  make  terms 
with  the  British  government. 

In  the  meantime  Yakub  Khan,  one  of  Sher  All's  sons,  had  annoimced  to 
Major  Cavagnari,  the  political  agent  at  the  headquarters  of  the  British  army, 
that  he  had  succeeded  his  father  at  Kabul.  The, negotiations  that  followed 
ended  in  the  conclusion  of  a  treaty  in  May,  1879,  by  which  Yakub  Khan  was 
recognized  as  amir;  certain  outlying  tracts  of  Afghanistan  were  transferred 
to  the  British  government;  the  amir  placed  in  their  hands  the  entire  control 
of  his  foreign  relations,  receiving  La  return  a  guarantee  against  foreign  aggress- 

ion; and  the  establishment  of  a  British  envoy  at  Kabul  was  at  last  conceded. 
By  this  convention  the  complete  success  of  the  British  political  and  military 
operations  seemed  to  have  been  attained;  for  whereas  Sher  Ali  had  made  a 
treaty  of  alliance  with,  and  had  received  an  embassy  from  Russia,  his  son  had 
now  made  an  exclusive  treaty  with  the  British  government,  and  had  agreed 
that  a  British  envoy  should  reside  permanently  at  his  court. 

Yet  it  was  just  this  final  concession,  the  chief  and  original  object  of  British 
policy,  that  proved  speedily  fatal  to  the  whole  settlement.  For  in  September 
the  envoy,  Sir  Louis  Cavagnari,  with  his  staff  and  escort,  was  massacred  at 
Kabul,  and  the  entire  fabric  of  a  friendly  alliance  went  to  pieces.  A  fresh 
expedition  was  instantly  despatched  across  the  Shutargardan  pass  under  Sir 
Frederick  Roberts,  who  defeated  the  Afghans  at  Charasia  near  Kabul,  and 
entered  the  city  in  October.  Yakub  Khan,  who  had  surrendered,  was  sent 
to  India;  and  the  British  army  remained  in  military  occupation  of  the  district 
round  Kabul  until  in  December  (1879)  its  communications  with  India  were 
interrupted,  and  its  position  at  ths  capital  placed  in  serious  jeopardy,  by  a 



INDIA   SINCE   THE   MUTINY  209 
[1878-1880  A.D.] 

general  rising  of  the  tribes.  After  they  had  been  repulsed  and  put  down,  not 
without  some  hard  fighting,  Su-  Donald  Stewart,  who  had  not  quitted  Kandar 
har,  brought  a  force  up  by  Ghazni  to  Kabul,  overcoming  some  resistance  on 
his  way,  and  assumed  the  supreme  command.  Nevertheless  the  political 
situation  was  still  embarrassing. 

Abdurrahman,  the  son  of  the  late  amir  Sher  Ali's  elder  brother,  had  fought 
against  Sher  Ali  in  the  war  for  succession  to  Dost  Muhammed,  had  been 
driven  beyond  the  Oxus,  and  had 
lived  for  ten  years  in  exile  with 
the  Russians.  In  March,  1880, 
he  came  back  across  the  river, 
and  began  to  establish  himself  in 
the  northern  province  of  Afghan- 

istan. The  viceroy  of  India, 
Lord  Lytton,  on  hearing  of  his 
reappearance,  mstructed  the  po- 

litical authorities  at  Kabul  to 
communicate  with  him.  After 
pressing  in  vain  for  a  treaty  he 
was  induced  to  assimie  charge  of 
the  country  upon  his  recognition 
by  the  British  as  amir,  with  the 
imderstanding  that  he  should 
have  no  relations  with  other  for- 

eign powers,  and  with  a  formal 
assurance  from  the  viceroy  of 
protection  from  foreign  aggres- 

sion, so  long  as  he  should  unre- 
servedly follow  the  advice  of  the 

British  government  in  regard  to 
his  external  affairs.  The  prov- 

ince of  Kandahar  was  severed 
from  the  Kabul  dominion;  and 
the  sirdar  Sher  Ali  Khan,  a  mem- 

ber of  the  Barakzai  family,  was 
installed  by  the  British  represen- 

tative as  its  independent  ruler. 
For  the  second  time  in  the  course  of  this  war  a  conclusive  settlement  of 

Afghan  affairs  seemed  now  to  have  been  attained;  and  again,  as  in  1879,  it 
was  immediately  dissolved.  In  July,  1880,  a  few  days  after  the  proclamation 

of  Abdurrahman  as  amir  at  Kabul,  came  news  that  Ayiib  Khan,  Sher  Ali's 
younger  son,  who  had  been  holding  Herat  since  his  father's  death,  had  marched 
upon  Kandahar,  had  utterly  defeated  at  Maiwand  a  British  force  that  went 
out  from  Kandahar  to  oppose  him,  and  was  besieging  that  city.  Sir  Frederick 
Roberts  at  once  set  out  from  Kabul  with  ten  thousand  men  to  its  relief, 
reached  Kandahar  after  a  rapid  march  of  313  miles,  attacked  and  routed 

Ajnib  Khan's  army  on  September  1st,  and  restored  British  authority  in 
southern  Afghanistan.  As  the  British  ministry  had  resolved  to  evacuate 
Kandahar,  Sher  Ali  Khan,  who  saw  that  he  coidd  not  stand  alone,  resigned 
and  withdrew  to  India,  and  the  amir  Abdurrahman  was  invited  to  take  pos- 

session of  the  province.  But  when  Ajoib  Khan,  who  had  meanwhile  retreated 
to  Herat,  heard  that  the  British  forces  had  retired,  early  in  1881,  to  India,  he 
mustered  a  fresh  army  and  again  approached  Kandahar.    In  Jime  the  fort  of 
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Girisk,  on  the  Helmund,  was  seized  by  his  adherents;  the  amir's  troops  were 
defeated  some  days  later  in  an  engagement,  and  Ayub  Khan  took  possession 
of  Kandahar  at  the  end  of  July.  The  amir  Abdurrahman,  whose  movements 
had  hitherto  been  slow  and  uncertain,  now  acted  with  vigour  and  decision. 
He  marched  rapidly  from  Kabul  at  the  head  of  a  force,  with  which  he  en- 

countered Ayub  Khan  under  the  walls  of  Kandahar,  and  routed  his  army  on 
September  22nd,  taking  all  his  guns  and  equipage.  Ayub  Khan  fled  toward 
Herat,  but  as  the  place  had  meanwhile  been  occupied  by  one  of  the  amir's 
generals  he  took  refuge  in  Persia.  By  this  victory  Abdurrahman's  rulership was  established.** 

Roughly  speaking,  of  the  years  from  the  close  of  1858,  when  the  govern- 
ment of  British  India  was  transferred  from  the  East  India  Company  to  the 

crown,  to  the  commencement  of  1900,  half  were  occupied  in  prejjaring,  in 
plotting  out,  and  in  making  a  vigorous  commencement  in  the  execution  of  the 
great  projects  for  the  moral  and  material  development  of  India,  of  which  the 
latter  half  saw  the  application  and  extension.  The  schemes  which  were  then 
put  into  force,  more  particularly  for  the  material  development  of  India,  for 
increasing  the  sytem  of  railway  communications,  for  fiscal  reform,  or  for  the 
prosecution  of  irrigation  works,  had  their  inception  in  the  preceding  period, 
and  more  particularly  in  its  second  decade.  The  work  of  reorganisation,  of 
progress,  and  of  financial  reform,  which  was  conamenced  in  1859  by  Lord 
Canning,  though  from  time  to  tune  hindered  under  his  successors  by  war, 
was  on  the  whole  continuously  carried  on.  In  spite  of  discouragement  from 
famines  and  plague,  from  a  succession  of  wars  on  the  northwestern  and  eastern 
frontiers,  and  from  the  ruinous  effect  on  Indian  finance  of  the  continuous  fall 
in  the  value  of  silver  relatively  to  gold,  the  work  begun  in  the  first  half  of  the 
forty-one  years  imder  review,  and  vigorously  resumed  after  1880,  was  more  or 
less  consistently  carried  on  up  to  1900.  Thus  the  whole  period  forms,  as  it 
were,  one  growth.  The  first  half  is  inextricably  bound  up  with  the  second; 
and  while  much  of  the  progress  of  the  last  twenty  years  has  been  in  directions 
previously  but  little  pursued,  more  has  been  but  the  sequence  and  necessary 
outcome  of  the  foregoing  period. 

SOCIAL  AND  INDTTSTRIAL  PROGRESS 

The  finances  of  the  covmtry,  which,  during  the  years  immediately  preceding 
1876  and  1877,  had  been  very  carefully  husbanded  by  the  Indian  government, 
were  in  those  two  years  made  the  subject  of  a  fresh  and  exhaustive  study. 
Sir  John  Strachey  took  charge  of  the  finances  in  1876,  and  his  administration 
marks  a  new  era  in  Indian  fmance.  He  was  not  destined  to  reap  the  fruit  of 
all  his  labours;  but  great  changes  had  already  been  effected  by  him,  and  more 
were  in  contemplation,  when  the  stress  and  strain  of  the  Afghan  War  deferred 
their  execution.  The  obstructive  old  internal  salt  customs  frontier  line, 
stretching  at  .one  time  from  the  Indus  to  the  Mahanadi  in  Madras,  a  distance 
of  2,300  miles,  and  yarded  by  nearly  2,000  men,  had  been  finally  abolished. 
The  inland  salt  duties  throughout  India  were  at  the  same  time  in  great 
measure  equalised.  Arrangements  had  been  concluded  with  certain  native 
states  by  which,  subject  to  compensation  allotted  to  them,  the  great  Indian 
sources  of  salt  supply,  which  lie  for  the  most  part  within  their  territories,  were 
made  over  to  the  control  of  the  government  of  India.  The  consumption  of 
salt  at  once  considerably  increased  as  a  consequence  of  this  measure,  and  the 
revenue  corresponded.    Similar  reforms  had  been  contemplated,  and  iu  a 
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small  measure  had  been  commenced,  with  regard  to  the  customs  revenue  from 
import  duties  levied  in  India  on  cotton  goods. 

Durmg  Lord  Mayo's  rule  administrative  measiu-es  had  been  initiated,  hav- 
ing for  their  object  the  decentralization  of  the  finances;  the  transfer,  that  is  to 

say,  to  the  several  provincial  governments  of  the  direct  control  of  a  portion  of 
the  public  receipts  and  expenditure  within  their  limits,  with  corresponding 
relief  and  advantage  to  the  central  administration.  In  1877-1879  these 
measures  were  further  developed.  Certain  important  local  sources  of  revenue 
were  definitely  placed  in  the  hands  of  the  provincial  governments,  which  were 
left  to  cultivate  and  improve  them,  to  augment  their  produce,  and  to  spend 
all  or  a  definite  part  of  them,  at  their  discretion.  On  the  other  hand,  the 
expenditure  in  certain  branches  of  administration  was  transferred  to  provin- 

cial governments,  of  which  the  cost  would  be  defrayed  from  the  fimds  assigned 
them.  Economy  and  good  administration  resulted,  so  far  as  the  finances  and 
the  provincial  governments  were  concerned,  while  the  central  government 
was  relieved  from  provincial  importunities,  of  which  it  could  not  always 
measure  the  relative  importance,  and  from  the  control  of  details  of  provincial 
administration  of  which,  in  truth,  it  was  not  a  competent  judge. 

Education  had  advanced  during  the  twenty  years  under  review,  though 
relatively  to  area  and  population  it  was  still  in  an  extremely  backward  state. 
A  despatch  from  England  in  1854  had  laid  down  with  fulness  and  precision 
the  principles  which  were  to  guide  the  government  in  state  education,  and  its 
provisions  were  continued  and  enlarged  by  a  subsequent  despatch  of  1859. 
TTiese  two  despatches  still  form  the  charter  of  education  in  Incha.  The  three 
universities  of  Calcutta,  Madras,  and  Bombay  had  been  incorporated  in  1857 
by  acts  of  the  Indian  legislature.  Among  the  several  presidencies  and  prov- 

inces Bengal  and  Madras  had  on  the  whole  shown  the  greatest  advance;  but 
Bombay,  with  its  large  and  highly  intelligent  Parsee  population,  has  always 
been  prominent  in  respect  of  education. 

The  three  great  codes  which  pre-eminently  do  honoiu-  to  the  Indian  legis- 
lature —  the  Penal  Code,  the  Code  of  Criminal  Procedure,  and  the  CivU  Pro- 
cedure Code  —  were  passed  during  the  earlier  part  of  the  sixth  decade  of  the 

nineteenth  century.  The  labours  of  Sir  Henry  Sumner  Maine  and  Sir  Fitz- 
James  Stephen  had  enriched  the  Indian  statute  book  with  other  important 
acts,  such  as  the  Evidence  Act,  various  forest  laws,  the  Criminal  Tribes  Act, 
the  Christian  Marriage  Act,  the  Mohammedan  and  Parsee  Marriage  Act,  and 
an  Act  for  the  Prevention  of  the  Murder  of  Female  Infants.  The  relations 

of  landlord  and  tenant  in  upper  India  and  in  Oudh  had  occupied  the  atten- 
tion of  the  legislating.  A  high  court  of  judicature,  similar  to  those  already 

existing  in  Calcutta,  Bombay,  and  Madras,  had  been  established  for  the 
north-west  provinces.  The  poHce  system  throughout  India  had  been  reor- 

ganised; sanitation  had  been  especially  recognised  as  claiming  attention;  the 
trade  of  India  had  developed  from  a  total  in  round  figures  of  forty-one  millions 
of  imports  and  forty-three  millions  of  exports  in  1859-64  to  a  total  of  sixty-two 
millions  of  imports  and  seventy-six  millions  of  exports  in  1880-81.  Notably 
the  great  tea  industry  had  taken  firm  root,  and  was  assuming  ever-increasing 
proportions.  There  existed  at  that  date  twenty-one  jute  mills,  mostly  in 
Bengal.  Brewing  had  been  introduced,  and  was  becoming  more  and  more 
extended.    Steam  paper  mills  and  some  minor  industries  had  also  taken  root. 

Tlie  administrative  note,  therefore,  of  the  seventeen  years  from  1859,  after 
the  close  of  the  Mutiny,  to  1876  was  one  of  moderation  and  cautious  advance. 

They  were  years  but  little  removed  from  the  rule  of  the  late  East  India  Com- 
pany and  the  great  catastrophe  of  1857.    The  whole  machinery  of  govern- 
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ment,  more  especially  during  the  earlier  part  of  that  period,  was  successively 
brought  under  review,  and  in  almost  every  department  reorganisation  more 

or  less  complete  was  projected.  It  was  a  time  "mainly  of  study  and  deliber- ation, preliminary  to  action;  of  prudent  but  thorough  overhauling  of  the 
administration  which  had  been  but  recently  handed  over  to  the  crown. 

With  the  advent  in  1880  of  Lord  Ripon  as  viceroy  the  portals  of  war  were 
closed,  and  India  entered  once  more  upon  the  pleasant  paths  of  peace.  Remis- 

sion of  taxation,  encouragement  of  primary  and  secondary  education,  the  pro- 
motion of  local  self-government,  the  amelioration  of  the  status  of  the  agri- 
cultural tenant,  the  recognition  and  promotion  of  native  claims  to  a  share  in 

directing  the  internal  affairs  of  India  —  these  were  the  cardinal  points  of  the 
policy  of  1880  and  the  years  immediately  ensuing.  During  the  preceding 
period  the  attention  of  the  central  government,  and  the  genius  of  those  who 
inspired  it,  had  been  more  immediately  devoted  to  the  material  progress  of 
India.  Of  that  sympathetic  and  indulgent  handling  of  the  native  population 
which  characterised  the  East  India  Company,  the  traces  become  less  and  less 
apparent  as  we  pass  from  the  sixth  towards  the  close  of  the  seventh  decade. 
The  greatest  benefits  had  been  conferred  on  the  people  by  the  fiscal  and 
public  works  measures  introduced  during  those  years.  But  of  any  seekiag  or 
strengthening  of  personal  touch  with  them  on  the  part  of  the  administration 
there  is  comparatively  little  trace.  Much  was  done  for  the  people,  but  in 
concert  with  them  little  was  attempted.  The  steps  taken  in  this  direction 
during  the  eighth  decade  mark  a  return  to  the  more  personal  and  human 
aspects  of  acinainistration  which  before  1857  had  been  perhaps  exclusively 
prominent,  but  which  of  later  years  might  be  judged  to  have  fallen  too  greatly 
into  abeyance.  In  short,  after  1880,  and  for  a  brief  term  of  subsequent 
years,  the  moral  development  of  India  again  took  an  equal  place  in  the  fore- 
groimd,  and  the  characteristic  note  of  the  decade  which  succeeded  1880  is  to 
be  found  in  the  greater  effort  made  during  that  period  to  combine  moral  with 
material  progress. 

In  1882  India  was  freed  from  taxation  on  her  imports,  strong  liquors  and 
salt  excepted.  The  customs  duty  thenceforth,  and  till  further  changes,  was 
derived  entirely  from  the  produce  of  an  export  duty  on  rice,  and  from  import 
duties  on  salt  and  alcohol.  At  the  same  time  the  salt  duty  was  reduced.  The 
estimated  loss  of  revenue  consequent  on  this  reduction  was  £1,400,000.  A 
total  of  two  and  one-half  millions  in  taxation  was  thus  remitted  to  the  country. 
In  their  Finances  and  Public  Works  of  India  f>  the  two  Stracheys,  writing  in 
1881,  had  expressed  themselves  on  the  subject  m  strong  terms:  "The  policy 
followed  by  the  government  of  India  during  the  viceroyalty  of  Lord  Lytton 
was  one  of  absolute  free  trade,  without  reserve  or  qualification,  and  financial 
necessities  alone  prevented  that  policy  from  being  carried  out  to  the  fullest 
extent.  The  proceedings  of  the  last  three  of  four  years  have,  however,  suc- 

ceeded in  rendering  inevitable  the  almost  total  abolition  of  the  customs  duties, 

which  of  all  Indian  taxes  are  probably  the  worst." 
It  is,  however,  necessary  to  add  that  the  abolition  of  the  import  duties  on 

cotton  goods  was  carried  out  against  the  very  general  feeling  whether  of 
Europeans  or  of  the  educated  natives  of  India. 

EMPLOYMENT  OF  NATIVES  IN  PUBLIC  SERVICE 

The  salaries  of  the  upper  grades  of  the  native  subordinate  executive  ser- 
vices were  improved  in  1882,  at  an  estimated  increase  of  about  £50,000  a  year. 

It  was  declared  to  be  the  intention  of  the  British  government  and  of  the  gov- 
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eminent  of  India  that  a  constantly  increasing  share  of  the  work  of  the  country 
should  be  performed  by  natives  of  India.  Few  aspects  of  Indian  administra- 

tion are  more  disagreeable  at  first  sight  than  this,  that  with  few  exceptions  all 
the  higher  posts,  which  carry  with  them  the  larger  salaries,  are  confined  to 
Europeans.  Given  the  conditions  and  requirements  of  the  administration 
this  is  at  present  inevitable.  But  it  necessarily  bears  on  the  face  of  it  that 
appearance  of  a  monopoly  by  a  foreign  caste  of  the  higher  grades  of  employ- 

ment, which  cannot  fail  to  attract  hostile  criticism.  It  may  confidently  be 
asserted  on  behalf  of  the  Indian  government,  that  it  is  ever  on  the  watch  to 
modify  the  existing  state  of  matters,  and  is  more  than  desirous  of  finding 
occasion  for  the  advancement  of  natives  to  the  higher  ranks  of  civil  employ. 
Its  efforts  in  this  direction  have  not  been  rewarded,  so  far,  with  any  corre- 

sponding success.  But  any  native  now  who,  by  education,  force  of  character, 
probity,  or  good  service,  can  prove  his  fitness  for  advancement  to  the  higher 
grades  of  employment  is  no  longer  debarred  from  arriving  at  them. 

LOCAL   GOVERNMENT 

The  system  of  decentralisation,  and  of  assigning  to  provincial  governments 
the  financial  profit  and  loss  on  certain  branches  of  administration,  was  largely 
extended  in  1882.  Practically,  excepting  the  departments  of  army,  marine, 
post  oflFice,  telegraphs,  opium,  salt,  customs,  and  for  the  most  part  the  rail- 

ways, all  branches  of  the  public  service,  with  their  receipts  and  expenditure, 
may  be  said  to  have  been  then  made  over  to  provincial  hands.  The  result  has 
been  productive  of  economy  and  of  good  government;  but  on  the  other  hand 
the  measure  has  erected  something  of  a  barrier  between  the  central  govern- 

ment and  the  internal  conduct  of  affairs.  To  borrow  a  term  from  telegraphy, 
there  is  a  fault  in  communication. 

In  connection  with  the  extension  of  provincial  finance,  greater  latitude  of 
self-administration  was  at  the  same  time  accorded  to  municipalities  and  local 
bodies  throughout  India.  Few  measures  that  have  been  greeted  on  their 
introduction  with  comparative  indifference  are  likely,  with  lapse  of  time,  to 
take  deeper  root  in  the  country  than  the  scheme  of  conferring  self-government 
on  municipalities.  The  aim  and  ideal  of  the  energetic  and  highly-trained 
officers  to  whom  is  entrusted  the  administration  of  the  various  districts  into 
which  India  for  executive  purposes  is  divided,  has  been  hitherto  government 
of  and  for  the  people,  rather  than  government  by  or  with  the  people.  The 
prestige  of  the  powerful  Indian  civil  service  is  based  on  successes  achieved  in 
past  years,  when  the  authority  of  its  officers  was  the  only  authority,  and  when, 
by  the  energetic  and  enlightened  exercise  thereof,  great  results  had  been  every- 

where obtained.  Intimate  knowledge  of  native  character,  and  daily  expe- 
rience of  the  weakness,  the  jealousies,  the  animosities,  and  the  trivial  aims 

and  pursuits  of  native  society,  might  well  make  those  who  up  to  the  present 
had  been  its  guides  not  a  little  sceptical  as  to  the  uses  to  which  local  self-gov- 

ernment would  be  put,  and  doubtful  as  to  the  intelligence  and  interest  with 
which  it  would  be  carried  into  effect.  So  far  as  concerns  the  district  or  local 
bodies,  these  apprehensions  have  not  been  without  justification.  But  so  far 
as  town  and  municipal  bodies  are  concerned,  the  measure  of  1882  has  met  with 
a  degree  of  success  fully  equal  to  any  that  its  authors  could  have  expected. 
Local  self-government  in  all  countries  is  a  plant  of  slow  growth.  In  India, 
with  its  counter-currents  of  Hindu  and  Mohammedan,  its  apathy,  its  passion 
for  hereditary  usages  and  employment,  the  indifference  of  its  several  units  to 
the  general  good,  the  aptitude  of  the  Indian  for  verbal  controversy  and  inapti- 
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tude  for  collective  action,  any  marked  or  early  development  of  disinterested 
public  spirit  could  not  be  counted  on.  It  would  be  untrue  to  assert  that  the 
results  have  so  far  brought  India  into  line  with  even  moderately  progressive 
European  countries.  But  with  regard,  at  least,  to  the  more  important  towns, 
it  may  be  affirmed  that  the  measure  enforced  by  the  government  of  Lord 
Ripon  has,  up  to  the  present  time,  proved  as  useful  as  its  authors  hoped,  and 
promises  with  the  progress  of  years  to  acquire  increasing  stability. 

It  is  to  be  noted  that  in  India,  and  more  especially  in  Upper  India,  the 
Mohammedan  element,  though  considerable,  is  numerically  inferior  to  the 
Hindu.  The  former  have  thus  found  themselves,  wherever  election  is  the 
rule  of  appointment,  in  danger  of  being  left  permanently  in  a  minority.  They 
view  with  distrust  and  natural  dislike  the  passing  of  authority  into  Hindu 
hands.  Especially  is  this  the  case  where,  as  often  happens,  the  hands  into 
which  power  passes  are  those  of  classes  of  Hindus  who,  though  previously 

ColLEOE  AT  JEYFORE 

of  no  consideration,  of  obscure  origin,  and  socially  of  less  than  little  weight, 
are  enabled  by  their  familiarity  with  English,  and  by  their  education  in 
British  colleges,  wholly  to  manipulate  and  control  the  mimicipal  councils.  In 
this  direction  there  will  for  long  exist  antagonism  between  Hindu  and  Moham- 

medan. Resentment  will  smoulder  on  the  one  side,  and  on  the  other  there 
wUl  be  little  wish  to  conciliate.  In  India  such  differences  do  not  take  the 
form  of  party,  but  are  inflamed  by  the  virus  of  race  and  of  religion,  and 
become  the  more  embittered. 

The  conduct  of  education  and  the  control  of  colleges  and  schools  in  India 
is  in  the  hands  of  the  provincial  governments.  But  in  this,  as  in  all  other 
departments,  the  central  government  retains  the  ultimate  authority.  It  has 
been  already  noted  that  the  main  lines  on  which  the  system  of  education  in 
India  is  carried  on  were  laid  down  in  1854  and  1859.  Since  then,  necessarily, 
progress  has  been  made,  and  fresh  developments  have  called  for  further 
instructions.  To  the  three  universities  of  Calcutta,  Madras,  and  Bombay 
have  been  added  imiversities  at  Lahore  and  at  Allahabad,  respectively  the 
headquarters  of  the  Punjab  and  north-western  governments. 

Western  education  at  the  most  has  as  yet  touched  little  more  than  the 
fringe  of  Indian  life.  But  the  crying  defect  of  education  in  India  is  the  failure 
to  f£d  means  of  extending  education  to  girls.    Only  402,158  girls  were  under 
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instruction  in  1896-97,  whether  in  public  or  private  institutions,  forming  2.34 
of  the  percentage  of  school  age.  Practically,  woman  in  India  is  wholly  unin- 

fluenced by  western  education.  Mothers,  wives,  or  daughters  at  no  time  of 
their  existence  come  under  its  influence.  Whether  from  a  social  or  political 
point  of  view  this  is  lamentable,  and  the  consequences  are  far-reaching  and 
injurious.  The  influence  of  women  in  India  is  very  considerable,  and  it  is 
to  be  feared  that  it  is  exerted  consistently  in  a  direction  opposed  to  the  ethical 
or  educational  standards  set  up  in  English  teaching  institutions.  But  the 
position  of  woman  in  the  East,  and  the  strictness  with  which,  after  her  earlier 
years,  she  is  guarded  from  contact  with  aU  but  the  nearest  members  of  her 
family,  oppose  barriers  which  are  at  present  impassable. 

In  general  terms  it  may  perhaps  be  added  that,  so  far  as  concerns  the 
masses,  to  live  under  British  administration,  when  at  its  best,  is  in  itself  a  lib- 

eral education.  Enlightened  codes,  justice,  equality  before  the  law,  social 
and  religious  freedom,  protection,  order,  method,  moderation  in  the  assess- 

ment of  fiscal  burdens,  good  and  easy  means  of  transport,  are  no  mean  lessons 
in  enlightenment  to  the  millions  who,  till  comparatively  recent  years,  have 
lived  in  the  dark  ages  of  bigoted  tyranny  and  have  cowered  under  violence 
and  misrule. 

Great  attention  was  paid  by  Lord  Ripon's  government  towards  carrying 
out  the  recommendations  of  the  famine  commission  of  1880  with  regard  to  the 
extension  of  railways.  A  programme  was  prepared  in  1883-84  covering  the 
ensuing  six  years,  but  it  was  not  put  into  practical  effect  till  Lord  Dufferin  had 
assumed  the  reins  of  government  in  1885.  But  from  that  date  to  the  present 
time  the  extension  of  the  Indian  railway  system,  whether  directly  by  the  state 
or  by  aided  enterprise,  whether  for  commercial,  protective,  or  military  lines, 
has  been  pursued  with  vigour. 

CRIMINAL   PROCEDURE 

A  proposed  alteration  of  the  Criminal  Procedure  Code,  with  the  view  of 
conferring  criminal  jurisdiction  over  European  British  subjects  upon  certain 
classes  of  native  judicial  ofiicers  in  the  interior,  caused  during  1883  the  greatest 
excitement  throughout  India. 

A  bill  was  accordingly  introduced  on  February  9th,  1883.  Immediately 
there  arose  the  clamour  of  opposition.  On  the  20th  of  February  a  public 
meeting  of  the  European  inhabitants  of  Calcutta  was  held  in  the  town  hall, 
at  which  a  resolution  was  passed  denoimcing  the  principle  of  the  bill,  and 
pledging  the  community  to  oppose  its  progress.  From  that  time  the  opposi- 

tion rapidly  gathered  strength,  and  later  in  the  year  became  violent  beyond 
ail  precedent.  The  British  community,  with  rare  exceptions,  united  in 
opposing  the  bill. 

In  1884  the  government  undertook  to  agree  in  select  committee  to  the  right 
being  given  to  European  British  subjects,  when  brought  for  trial  before  a  dis- 

trict magistrate  or  sessions  judge,  to  claim  trial  by  jury,  such  as  is  provided 
by  section  451  of  the  Cruninal  Procedure  Code,  subject  to  the  following  condi- 

tions: (1)  No  distinction  to  be  made  between  European  or  native  district 
magistrates  or  sessions  judges;  (2)  the  powers  of  district  magistrates  under 
section  446  of  the  code  to  be  extended  to  imprisonment  for  six  months  or  fine 
of  2,000  rupees.  The  settlement  thus  arrived  at  became  law  without  further 
opposition  in  January,  1884,  and  remains  the  law  on  this  subject  to  the 
present  time. 

Among  other  prominent  measures  of  the  early  years  of  the  eighth  decade 
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was  the  repeal  of  the  Vernacular  Press  Acts  passed  by  Lord  Lytton.  In  the 

opinion  of  Lord  Ripon's  government,  the  Press  Acts  passed  by  Lord  Lytton 
(9  and  16  of  1878)  constituted  a  direct  departure  from  the  policy  with  respect 
to  the  press  in  India  which  had  been  followed  by  the  government  of  India  for 
upwards  of  forty  years.  It  was  the  aim  of  these  acts  to  restrain  the  press, 
which  was  stated  to  have  been  at  that  time  markedly  seditious  in  its  tone. 
They  provided  that  a  paper,  after  having  been  warned,  would  be  liable  to 
suspension,  and  they  applied  not  only  to  publications  of  a  nature  to  excite 
disaffection  and  endanger  the  public  peace,  but  also  to  those  affecting  private 
persons  and  public  servants.  Other  objections  apart,  it  was  held  by  Lord 

Ripon's  government  that  an  invidious  exception  was  thus  permitted  in  favour 
of  the  English  press;  and  it  was  contended  that  if  the  Penal  Code  did  not  meet 
such  cases,  the  existing  defect  in  the  code  might  be  remedied.  Acts  9  and  16 
of  1878  were  accordingly  repealed.  Later,  in  1898,  in  consequence  of  plague 
riots  in  Poona,  the  murder  of  two  British  officers  in  retaliation  for  alleged 

insults  to  native  usage  and  custom  in  the  searching  of  women's  apartments, 
and  of  much  seditious  writing  connected  therewith  in  the  Bombay  press,  the 
Penal  and  Criminal  Procedure  codes  were  respectively  amended  by  Acts  4  and 
5  of  1898,  which  rendered  the  law  in  regard  to  seditious  writing  very  consid- 

erably more  stringent. 

From  Lord  Ripon's  tenure  of  office  date  also  the  revival  and  reorganisa- tion, in  accordance  with  the  recommendations  of  the  famine  commission  of 
1878,  of  an  agricultural  department,  whether  in  the  government  of  India  or  in 
provincial  governments.  Such  a  department  had  already  been  brought  into 
existence  in  1871,  but  only  to  be  abolished  in  1877.  It  was  not  till  the  tenure 
of  office  by  Lord  Dufferin  that  the  Bengal  and  Oudh  Rent  bills  actually 
became  law;  but  they  had  been  framed  and  prepared  and  made  almost  ready 
for  legislative  sanction  before  his  predecessor  resigned  office.  They  aimed  at 
securing  to  the  cultivating  tenant  a  more  stable  interest  in  his  holding,  and 
they  modified  previous  legislation  principally  in  this  direction.  In  Bengal, 
and  in  a  lesser  measure  in  Oudh,  the  objects  aimed  at  by  the  legislature  met 
with  strenuous  and  organised  opposition.  In  both  provinces  the  landlord 
had  hitherto  enjoyed  in  a  degree  unusual  in  India  the  power  of  rack-renting 
and  evicting  his  tenants.  In  neither  province  had  he  shown  solicitude  for  the 
tenant  by  whose  labour  he  so  largely  profited.  The  Bengal  and  Oudh  Rent 
acts  dealt  with  a  vast  variety  of  local  tenures  and  sub-tenures  and  complicated 
questions  of  tenant  right  in  a  spirit  of  equity  and  moderation.  The  result 
has  been  everywhere  beneficial.  Speaking  in  general  terms,  it  may  be  said 
that  legislation  was  more  favourable  to  the  tenant  than  to  the  landlord.  The 
dust  of  controversy  has  since  settled  down,  and  the  new  legislation  has  become 
the  rule  of  practice. 

The  year  1885  furnishes  the  high-water  mark  of  peaceful  and  uninterrupted 
progress.  From  that  date  clouds  again  began  to  accumulate  around  and 
about  the  Indian  horizon.  Before  that  year  was  over  Great  Britain  had  been 
nearly  plunged  into  war  by  a  collision  between  Russian  and  Afghan  troops  at 
Panjdeh,  in  Central  Asia.  Over  £2,000,000  had  been  expended  in  hurried 
war  preparations;  commercial  and  famine  railway  extension  had  been  arrested, 
and  a  large  scheme  of  unremunerative  mihtary  railways  had  in  part  overlaid 
and  superseded  it.  Then  came,  almost  on  the  heels  of  the  Panjdeh  incident, 
the  outbreak  of  the  Burma  War,  which  in  one  or  other  form  dragged  on  for 
the  space  of  nearly  two  years.  Meanwhile,  in  view  of  the  approach  of -Russia 
in  Central  Asia,  the  government  of  India  had  decided  to  increase  the  effective 
strength  both  of  its  British  and  native  army,  the  formet  by  ten  thousand,  the 
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latter  by  twenty  thousand  men,  at  an  estimated  annual  increase  of  little  less 
than  one  and  one-half  million  sterling.  Military  defence  works  and  measures 
for  more  speedy  mobilization  added  largely  to  prospective  military  expendi- 

ture. Exchange,  which  had  remained  for  the  space  of  three  or  fom-  years 
fairly  stationary,  again  resumed  its  downward  course.  A  succession  of  costly 
frontier  wars  was  entered  on;  and,  as  in  1878,  before  long  the  attention  of  the 
government  was  once  more  diverted  from  all  home  questions.  Finally, 
though  at  a  later  date,  came  a  recurrence  of  famine  and  the  appearance  in 
India  of  the  bubonic  plague.  Such,  during  the  period  from  1885  to  1900, 
was  the  accumulation  of  disastrous  circumstances,  some  of  which  it  was  not 
in  the  power  of  the  government  of  India  by  the  exercise  of  any  prudence  or 
wisdom  to  avert.  Following  rapidly  one  on  the  other,  they  again  obstructed 
indefinitely  that  uncertain  and  hesitating  path  of  progress  which  is  so  soon 
lost  or  choked  by  the  sudden  and  tropical  growth  of  tangled  troubles  in  India. 

CIVIL  SEEVICE  BEFORM 

Before,  however,  all  this  had  finally  occurred,  one  or  two  measures  of 

importance  remain  to  be  noticed,  which  originated  with  Lord  Dufferin's  gov- 
ernment, though  they  were  in  their  final  stage  put  into  execution  by  his  suc- 

cessor. They  are  marked  by  the  desire  to  conciliate  native  opinion,  and  to 
provide  a  field  for  the  due  expansion  of  native  ambitions,  which  had  uniformly 
characterised  the  administration  both  of  Lord  Dufferin  and  of  his  predecessor. 
In  October,  1886,  a  strong  mixed  commission  was  appointed  by  the  govern- 

ment of  Lord  Dufferin  to  inquire  into  the  system  imder  which  natives  of 
India  were  at  that  time  admitted  by  statute  to  the  covenanted  civil  service,  or 
to  ofl&ces  formerly  reserved  exclusively  for  members  of  that  service;  and  also 
their  employment  in  all  branches  of  the  public  service  connected  with  the 
civil  administration  of  the  country.  The  commission  presented  a  report  at 
the  close  of  1887,  dealing  with  all  branches  of  the  civil  administration.  The 
recommendations  of  the  commission,  with  comparatively  unimportant  reser- 

vations, were  accepted  by  the  government  of  India  and  the  secretary  of  state 
for  India,  and  are  at  the  present  moment  in  force.  They  have  greatly  im- 

proved and  strengthened  the  prospects  of  higher  employment  to  all  classes 
of  natives  of  India,  and  have  for  some  time  to  come,  it  may  be  reasonably 
anticipated,  set  at  rest  agitation  on  this  point. 

A  measure  was  introduced  by  Lord  Dufferin's  government  which  concerns 
rather  the  military  and  political  than  the  internal  administration  of  India, 
but  which  cannot  be  wholly  regarded  as  outside  the  general  scope  of  Indian 
affairs.  At  the  time  of  the  Panjdeh  difficulty  in  1885,  when  war  with  Russia 
seemed  imminent,  all  the  leading  native  princes  made  offers  of  pecuniary  aid. 
Their  offers  were  refused,  but  it  was  intimated  to  them  at  a  somewhat  later 
date  that  if  they  would  place  a  small  military  force  in  each  state  at  the  dis- 

posal of  the  British  government,  to  be  commanded  by  state  officers,  but 
drilled,  disciplined,  and  armed  under  the  supervision  of  British  officers  and 
on  British  lines,  the  government  would  undertake  to  find  the  necessary  super- 

vising officer,  arms,  and  organisation.  The  offer  was  imiversally  accepted, 
and  the  Imperial  State  troops,  as  they  are  called,  amount  at  present  to  nearly 
18,000,  mainly  cavalry  and  infantry,  whose  efficiency  is  very  highly  thought 
of.  They  rendered  good  service  in  Chitral  and  Gilgit,  in  the  warson  the  north- 

west frontier,  and  in  China.  The  total  native  state  troops  are  said  to  number, 
inclusive  of  this  body,  about  one  hundred  and  ten  thousand,  largely  an  ill- 
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armed  and  ill-disciplined  rabble.    The  Imperial  Service  troops,  therefore, 
amount  to  about  16  per  cent,  of  the  total  number. 

During  the  twenty-one  years  preceding  1880  both  upper  and  southern 
India  had  been  visited  at  times  by  devastating  famines.  In  1896-97  India 
was  revisited  by  famine,  and  the  bubonic  plague,  which  has  since  been  con- 

stantly present  in  more  or  less  virulence,  first  showed  itself.  The  famine  of 
1896-97  extended  over  some  310,000  square  miles,  with  a  population  in  round 
figures  of  35  millions,  and  was  most  severe  in  the  north-west  provinces,  in 
Oudh,  and  in  the  central  provinces.  It  lasted  from  about  September,  1896, 
till  October,  1897.  At  the  worst  time  the  total  numbers  on  relief  were  4,609,- 
000.  The  death-rate  per  mile  in  the  famine  districts  rose  from  32.80,  the 
normal  death-rate,  to  39.54.  The  total  government  expenditure  and  loss  to 
government  is  estimated  at  about  seventeen  and  one-quarter  millions.  Again, 
in  1900,  famine  appeared  and  proved  itself  most  severe  in  Bombay,  Raj- 
putana,  and  the  central  provinces.  The  tract  concerned  contained  a  popu- 

lation of  eighty-five  millions,  of  whom  perhaps  fifty-two  miUions  were  severely 
affected.  Of  the  eighty-five  millions,  forty-three  and  one-quarter  millions 
were  inhabitants  of  native  states,  and  forty-one  and  three-quarter  millions 
were  in  British  territory.  At  the  close  of  May  1900,  5,802,000  were  in  receipt 
of  relief.  After  the  rainy  season  of  1900  distress  gradually  abated.  The 
expenditure  necessary  to  cope  with  the  famine  was  estimated  at  £13,000,000 
(at  15  rupees  to  the  £1).  The  death  of  adults  from  starvation  is  stated  to 
have  been  of  rare  occurrence,  and  due  entirely  to  the  apathy  of  the  people 
themselves.  / 

THIRD   BUEMESE  WAB   (1885  A.D.) 

The  causes  which  led  to  this  war,  and  the  consequent  annexation  of  Upper 
Burma,  may  be  briefly  narrated.  Relations  between  the  British  and  Bur- 

mese governments  had  for  some  years  been  considerably  strained,  but  it  was 
not  till  the  accession  of  Thibaw  to  the  throne  in  1878  that  matters  became 
really  serious.  This  potentate  opened  his  reign  by  a  series  of  more  than 
usually  cold-blooded  massacres  of  his  nearest  male  relatives,  and  it  soon 
became  evident  that  the  position  of  a  British  envoy  at  the  court  of  Ava  was 
no  longer  either  a  desirable  or  dignified  one.  In  1879,  therefore.  Great 
Britain  ceased  to  be  represented  in  Mandalay,  and  matters  went  from  bad  to 
worse.  Thibawlenthimself  more  and  more  to  foreign  intrigues;  and  fimally, 
in  the  summer  of  1885,  matters  came  to  a  crisis  over  a  dispute  that  had  arisen 
between  the  king  and  a  large  British  mercantile  firm  called  the  Bombay- 
Burma  Trading  Company,  which  for  years  had  been  engaged  in  the  export 
of  timber  from  the  great  teak  forests  of  the  king's  dominions.  The  imposition 
of  an  impossible  fine  on  this  comjjany,  coupled  with  the  threat  of  confiscation 
of  all  their  rights  and  property  in  case  of  non-payment,  led  to  the  British 
ultimatum  of  October  22nd,  1885;  and  by  November  9th  a  practical  refusal 
of  the  terms  having  been  received  at  Rangoon,  the  occupation  of  Mandalay 
and  the  dethronement  of  the  king  were  determined  upon. 

At  this  time,  beyond  the  fact  that  the  country  was  one  of  dense  jimgle, 
and  therefore  most  unfavourable  for  military  operations,  little  was  known 
of  the  interior  of  Upper  Burma;  but  British  steamers  had  for  years  been 
running  on  the  great  river  highway  of  the  Irawadi,  from  Rangoon  to  Manda- 

lay, and  it  was  obvious  that  the  quickest  and  most  satisfactory  method  of 
carrying  out  the  British  campaign  was  an  advance  by  water  direct  on  the 
capital.    The  total  effective  of  the  British  force  was  9,034  fighting  men 
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2,810  native  followers,  and  67  guns;  and,  for  river  service,  24  machine  guns, 

'rhe  river  fleet  which  conveyed  the  troops  and  stores  was  composed  of  a  total of  no  less  than  55  steamers,  barges,  launches,  etc. 
Thayetmyo  was  the  British  post  on  the  river  nearest  to  the  frontier,  and 

here,  by  November  14th,  five  days  after  Thibaw's  answer  had  been  received 
practically  the  whole  expedition  was  assembled.  On  the  same  day  General 
Prendergast  received  instructions  to  commence  operations.  There  is  not  the 
slightest  doubt  that  the  Burmese  king  and  his  country  were  taken  completely 
by  surprise  by  the  unexampled  rapidity  of  the  advance.  There  had  been  no 
time  for  them  to  collect  and  organise  for  the  stubborn  resistance  of  which  the 
river  and  its  defences  were  undoubtedly  capable.  They  had  not  even  been 
able  to  block  the  river  by  sinking  steamers,  etc.,  across  it,  for,  on  the  very  day 
of  the  receipt  of  orders  to  advance,  the  armed  steamers,  the  Irrawaddy  and 
Kathleen,  engaged  the  nearest  Burmese  batteries,  and  brought  out  from  under 

their  guns  the  king's  steamer  and  some  barges  which  were  lying  in  readiness for  this  very  purpose.  On  the  16th  the  batteries  themselves  on  both  baiis 
were  taken  by  a  land  attack,  the  enemy  being  evidently  unprepared  and 
making  no  resistance.  On  the  17th  of  November,  however,  at  Minhla,  on 
the  right  bank  of  the  river,  the  Burmans  in  considerable  force  held  success- 

ively a  barricade,  a  pagoda,  and  the  palace  and  redoubt  of  Minhla.  The 
attack  was  pressed  home  by  a  brigade  of  native  infantry  on  shore,  covered 
by  a  bombardment  from  the  river,  and  the  enemy  were  defeated  with  a  loss 
of  170  killed  and  276  prisoners,  besides  many  more  drowned  in  the  attempt 
to  escape  by  the  river. 

The  advance  was  continued  next  day  and  the  following  days,  the  naval 

brigade  and  heavy  artillery  leading  and  silencing  in  succession  the  enemy', river  defences  at  Nyoungu,  Pokoko,  and  Myingyan.  On  the  26th  of  Novem 
ber,  when  the  flotilla  was  approaching  the  ancient  capital  of  Ava,  envoys  from 
King  Thibaw  met  General  Prendergast  with  offers  of  surrender  and  on  the 
27th,  when  the  ships  were  lying  off  that  city  and  ready  to  commence  hostilities, 
the  order  of  the  king  to  his  troops  to  lay  down  their  arms  was  received.  There 
were  three  strong  forts  here,  full  at  that  moment  of  thousands  of  armed  Bur- 
mans,  and  though  a  large  number  of  these  filed  past  and  laid  down  their  arms 

by  the  king's  command,  still  many  more  were  allowed  to  disperse  with  their 
weapons;  and  these,  in  the  time  that  followed,  broke  up  into  "dacoit"  or 
guerilla  bands,  which  became  the  scourge  of  the  country  and  prolonged  the  war 
for  years.  Meanwhile,  however,  the  surrender  of  the  king  of  Burma  was 
complete;  and  on  November  28th,  in  less  than  a  fortnight  from  the  declara- 

tion of  war,  Mandalay  had  fallen,  and  the  king  himself  was  a  prisoner,  while 

every  strong  fort  and  town  on  the  river,  and  all  the  king's  ordnance  (1,861 
pieces),  and  thousands  of  rifles,  muskets,  and  arms  had  been  taken.  Much 
valuable  and  curious  "loot"  and  property  was  found  in  the  palace  and  city 
of  Mandalay,  which,  when  sold,  lealized  about  9  lacs  of  rupees  (£60,000). 

A  grant  of  money  was  divided  among  the  troops  as  "prize  money." 
From  Mandalay,  General  Prendergast  made  a  bold  stroke  and  seized 

Bhamo  on  December  28th.  This  was  a  very  important  move,  as  it  forestalled 
the  Chinese,  who  were  preparing  to  claim  the  place.  But  unfortunately, 
although  the  king  was  dethroned  and  deported,  and  the  capital  and  the  whole 
of  the  river  in  the  hands  of  the  British,  the  bands  of  armed  soldiery,  imaccus- 
tomed  to  conditions  other  than  those  of  anarchy,  rapine,  and  murder,  took 
advantage  of  the  impenetrable  cover  of  their  jungles  to  continue  a  desultory 
armed  resistance.  Reinforcements  had  to  be  pressed  into  the  country,  and 
it  was  in  this  phase  of  the  campaign,  lasting  several  years,  that  the  most 
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difficult  and  most  arduous  work  fell  to  the  lot  of  the  troops.  It  was  in  this 
jungle  warfare  that  the  losses  from  battle,  sickness,  and  privation  steadily 
mounted  up;  and  the  troops,  both  British  and  native,  proved  once  again  their 
fortitude  and  courage. 

Various  expeditions  followed  one  another  in  rapid  succession,  penetrating 
to  the  remotest  corners  of  the  land,  and  bringing  peace  and  protection  to  the 
inhabitants,  who,  it  must  be  mentioned,  suffered  at  least  as  much  from  the 

"dacoits"  as  did  the  troops.  The  final,  and  completely  successful,  pacifica- 
tion of  the  country  was  only  brought  about  by  an  extensive  system  of  small 

protective  posts  scattered  all  over  the  country,  and  small  lightly-equipped 
columns  moving  out  to  disperse  the  enemy  whenever  a  gathering  came  to  a 
head,  or  a  pretended  prince  or  king  appeared.? 

THE   DECLINE   OF  INDIAN  PEOSPERITY 

The  first  fruits  of  political  compUcations  and  military  measures,  combined 
with  a  further  fall  in  the  exchange,  was  the  repeal  of  the  then  existing  licence 
tax  and  the  reimposition  of  an  income  tax  in  March,  1886;  this  being  the  first 
of  a  succession  of  fiscal  measures  by  which  in  the  course  of  the  ensuing  eight 
years  the  work  of  Sir  John  Strachey  and  Sir  Evelyn  Baring  was  gradually  but 
completely  undone,  and  the  country  again  subjected  to  methods  of  taxation 
which  it  had  been  the  object  of  their  reforms  finally  to  remove. 

In  introducing  the  Income  Tax  Bill  in  1886,  the  financial  member  of  the 

coimcU  said :  "  With  the  present  year  our  brief  spell  of  happiness  has  come  to 
an  end.  The  fat  kine  have  passed  on,  and  the  lean  kine  have  come  in.  Three 
uninterrupted  years  of  prosperity  is  a  godsend  in  the  annals  of  every  nation; 

in  our  Indian  annals  it  is  extraordinarily  good  fortune."  In  1885-1886  the 
fall  in  exchange  which  had  been  temporarily  suspended  recommenced,  and 
the  Burmese  War  broke  out.  In  1886  India  definitely  entered  into  the  region 
of  depression  and  storm  from  war,  famine,  pestilence,  and  exchange,  from 
which  in  1902  she  had  not  yet  emerged. 

Taking  the  average  net  expenditure  of  the  years  1883-1885,  and  contrast- 
ing it  with  1895-1896,  the  Indian  expenditure  commission  found  that  the 

increase  in  the  later  period  amounted  to  twelve  and  one-half  millions  of 
pounds.  To  meet  the  increased  expenditure  it  had  therefore  become  necessary 
that  the  resources  of  the  Indian  treasury  should  be  increased  by  about  £12,- 
000,000.  Thus  the  taxation  on  salt  and  imports,  which  was  abolished  by 
Sir  John  Strachey  and  Sir  E.  Baring,  has  now  been  reimposed,  and  remains  in 
force.  Other  taxation  has  been  added.  The  normal  growth  of  revenue  dur- 

ing the  period  of  comparison  (£5,800,000)  was  absorbed  by  the  increase  of 

expenditure  under  "defence  and  foreign  affairs" — in  other  words,  military 
and  political — in  India,  and  apart  from  the  charge  for  exchange. 

Of  the  total  increased  expenditure  of  £12,400,000,  not  less  than  £9,786,000, 
inclusive  of  exchange,  was  due  to  military  and  political  expenditure.  From 
1886  onwards,  with  but  brief  intervals,  there  has  occurred  a  series  of  wars  and 
frontier  expeditions,  some  of  which,  such  as  the  Burmese  War  of  1886-1887, 
were  extremely  costly.  The  preparation  for  possible  war  with  Russia 
amounted,  in  1885-1886,  to  over  two  millions.  The  war  with  Burma  cost, 
in  the  three  years  1885-1886  to  1887-1888,  over  four  millions.  Minor  expedi- 

tions, from  1887-1888  to  1895-1896,  cost  over  five  millions.  The  Tirah  cam- 
paign of  1897-1898  (though  this  was  of  a  date  later  than  1896-1897,  the  last 

year  of  the  commission's  comparison)  cost  over  three  millions — say  in  all, 
in  round  numbers,  fourteen  millions  in  eleven  years.    Increase  in  military  and 
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political  expenditure,  and  increased  loss  by  exchange  (itself  partly  caused  by 
the  increase  in  military  expenditure),  are  the  causes  which  have  led  to  the 
reimposition  of  the  customs  duties  on  cotton  and  other  goods,  and  to  the  rais- 

ing of  the  salt  duties.  The  increased  loss  by  exchange  has  been  checked  by 
closing  the  Indian  mints  to  the  coinage  of  silver  and  by  the  adoption  of  a  gold 
standard.  The  further  increase  of  military  and  political  expenditure  must 
largely  depend  on  the  policy  pursued  by  the  government  of  India  with  regard 
to  the  tribes  on  its  north-western  frontier,  and  to  the  course  of  events  hereafter 
in  Afghanistan. 

EVENTS  ON  THE  NORTH-WEST  FBONTIEB 

Smce  1889  India  has  suffered  from  a  succession  of  frontier  wars.  At  the 
close  of  the  Kabul  War  in  1880  the  British  cabinet  decided  to  withdraw  not 
from  Kabul  only,  but  from  Kandahar,  and  with  the  exception  chiefly  of  the 
Pishin  and  Sibi  districts,  and  of  Quetta,  the  British  retired  within  their  former 
borders.  So  matters  remained  tfll  1883-1884,  wnen  the  advance  of  Russia  in 
Central  Asia  again  turned  the  attention  of  the  government  of  India  to  affairs 
on  and  beyond  the  frontier,  and  led  ultimately  to  the  final  abandonment  of 
the  policy  of  observation  and  reserve,  which  is  known  as  the  Lawrence  policy. 
The  control  of  the  frontier  was  transferred  in  the  latter  part  of  the  eighth 
decade  from  the  lieutenant-governor  of  the  Punjab  to  the  government  of 
India  in  its  foreign  department. 

From  that  time  the  policy  of  non-interference  was  replaced  by  increasing 
activity.  From  1885,  when  war  with  Russia  seemed  unminent,  there  has 
been  more  or  less  continuous  movement  along  one  or  other  part  of  the  frontier 
and  beyond  the  British  border,  indicating  the  gradual  development  of  a  pre- 

arranged plan  of  operations.  Between  the  years  1885-1895  there  were 
delimited  at  various  times  by  joint  commissions  the  Russo-Afghan  frontier. 
To  the  westward,  after  various  disagreements  and  two  military  expeditions, 
the  territories  comprising  the  Zhob,  Barhan,  and  Bori  valleys,  occupied  by 
Pathan  tribes,  were  in  1890  finally  incorporated  in  the  general  system  of  the 
Trans-Indus  protectorate.  About  the  same  time  (in  1889)  at  the  other  end 
of  the  frontier,  where  it  touches  China,  the  post  of  British  resident  in  Gilgit 
had  been  re-established.  The  result  became  very  shortly  apparent.  The 
government  of  Kashmir  having  for  the  time  passed  under  the  direct  control 
of  the  British  authorities  through  the  death  of  the  maharajah,  in  1889,  a 
council  of  regency  was  established  imder  the  supreme  direction  and  authority 
of  the  British  resident  in  Kashmir.  Acting  under  his  instructions,  the  council 
asserted  and,  with  the  aid  of  its  troops  led  by  the  resident  of  Gilgit  and  by 
other  British  officers,  re-established  its  supremacy  over  the  petty  states  of 
Hunza  and  Nagar,  in  the  neighbourhood  of  Gilgit,  which  it  claimed  as  feuda- 

tories. The  former  chieftains  were  deposed,  and  others,  more  friendly  to  the 
British  government,  replaced  them.  In  1893  the  frontiers  of  Afghanistan  and 
British  India  were  defined  by  a  joint  agreement  between  the  two  govern- 

ments. There  followed  on  the  part  of  the  British  authorities,  mterference  in 
Chitral,  which  had  fallen  to  India,  ending  in  an  expedition  in  1895  and  the 
ejection  of  the  local  chiefs  in  favour  of  candidates  amenable  to  British  influence. 

A  more  formidable  hostile  combination,  however,  awaited  the  government 
of  India.  By  the  agreement  of  1893  with  the  amir  most  of  the  Waziri  clan, 

the  Bajouris,  and  the  Afridis  had  been  left  outside  the  limits  of  the  amir's 
influence  and  transferred  to  the  British  zone.  Soon  after  that  date  the  estab- 

lishment of  the  British  military  authorities  of  posts  within  the  Waziri  country 
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had  led  to  apprehension  on  the  part  of  the  local  tribesmen.  In  1895  the  occu- 
pation of  points  within  the  Swat  territory  for  the  safety  of  the  road  from  India 

to  Chitral  similarly  roused  the  suspicion  of  the  Swatis.  The  Waziris  and 
Swatis  successively  rose  in  arms,  ia  June  and  July,  1897,  and  their  example 

was  followed  by  the  Moh- 
mands.  FinaUy,  in  Au- 

gust the  powerful  Afridi 
tribe  joined  the  combina- 

tion and  closed  the  Khyber 
pass,  which  runs  through 
their  territory,  and  which 
was  held  by  them,  on  con- 

ditions, in  trust  for  the  gov- ernment of  India.  This  led 
to  the  military  operations 
known  as  the  Tirah  cam- 

paign, which  proved  very 
costly  both  in  men  and 
money.  It  was  not  till 
February,  1898,  that  hos- 

tilities finally  ceased  along 
the  border,  with  a  total 
British  loss  in  aU  the  sev- 

eral engagements  with  the 
several  tribes  of  506  of  all 
ranks  killed,  537  dead  of 
disease,  1,428  wounded,  and 
9  missing  —  in  all  2,480. 
By  the  middle  of  1898  Brit- 

ish authority  had  been 
made  paramount  through- 

out the  whole  belt  of  ter- 
ritory which  stretches  between  the  former  British  frontier  and  the  frontiers 

of  Russia  and  Afghanistan,  and  from  the  Karakoram  pass  to  Pishin. 

Temple  of  Hathisinh  at  Ahmedabad 

VICEROYS,    1880-1906 

The  viceroys  who  held  office  during  the  period  here  dealt  with  were  the 
marquis  of  Ripon,  1880-84  ;  the  marquis  of  Dufferin  and  Ava,  1884-88 ;  the 
marquis  of  Lansdowne,  1888-95;  the  earl  of  Elgin,  1895-99;  Baron  Curzon  of 
Kedleston,  1899;  [and  the  earl  of  Minto  from  1905].  Few  viceroys  have  been 
animated  by  greater  zeal,  or  sustained  by  a  higher  conception  of  duty,  than 
Lord  Ripon.  In  the  prime  of  life,  possessed  of  much  ability,  an  indefatigable 
worker,  and  of  experience  in  public  affairs,  he  was  greeted  on  arrival  in  India 
with  a  welcome  the  more  warm  in  that  the  public  had  grown  distrustful  of  his 
predecessor.  Before  he  laid  down  office  the  goodwill  with  which  he  had  been 
received  had  turned  into  hatred  such  as  had  never  before  dogged  the  footsteps 
of  an  Indian  governor-general.  So  long  as  Lord  Ripon  confined  himself  to 
raising  and  improving  the  status  of  the  native  of  India  his  action  was  followed 
by  the  British  community,  if  not  with  warm  approval,  at  least  with  kindly 
good  will.  But  when  he  proceeded  to  assimilate  the  authority  of  native 
magistrates  over  Eiuropean  British  subjects  to  that  of  British  magistrates 
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themselves,  he  was  rudely  made  to  feel  that  the  government  of  India,  auto- 
cratic though  it  may  at  times  be  with  the  natives,  must  be  more  circumspect 

in  dealing  with  the  British  community. 
The  struggle  with  his  fellow  countrymen  in  which  Lord  Ripon  suffered 

himself  to  be  involved  dealt  a  death-blow  to  his  usefulness  as  viceroy. 
Instead  of  holding  the  balance  between  all  parties,  the  viceroy  became  seem- 

ingly a  partisan  of  one  against  another.  When  Lord  Ripon's  name  grew  to  be 
a  symbol  between  contending  factions,  nothing  remained  for  him  but  to  with- 

draw from  an  office  in  which  he  could  no  longer  render  useful  service.  But 
the  Indian  historian  will  hereafter  record  that  to  Lord  Ripon  belongs  the  dis- 

tinction of  having  been  the  first  viceroy  openly  to  recognise  and  give  practical 
encouragement  to  the  growth  of  a  self-respecting  spirit  of  endeavour  and  of 
the  desire  for  some  measure  of  self-government  among  the  more  advanced 
classes  of  the  natives.  He  sought,  as  eivents  have  shown  not  unsuccessfully,  to 
assist  them  in  raising  themselves  from  an  attitude  of  passive  administrative 
subjection  to  a  position  more  worthy  both  of  themselves  and  of  the  govern- 

ment under  whose  liberal  rule  they  live.  His  generous  and  kindly  recognition 
of  their  claims  and  capacity  was  warmly  responded  to  by  all  classes  of  natives; 
and  if  he  was  condemned  to  leave  Calcutta  in  whatever  disgrace  may  be 
thought  to  attach  to  the  censure  of  that  city,  he  received  from  the  natives  of 
India  throughout  his  journey  to  Bombay  a  spontaneous  and  enthiisiastic 
ovation,  of  which  the  Hke  has  never  been  accorded  to  his  predecessors  or 
successors. 

It  is  greatly  to  the  honour  of  Lord  Dufferin  that,  though  by  no  means 
indifferent  to  popularity  among  his  coimtrjTnen,  he  never  for  a  moment 
hesitated  to  continue  and  to  carry  further  the  main  lines  of  the  enlightened 

policy  which  had  been  initiated  by  Lord  Ripon.  But  in  Lord  Dufferin's 
sagacious  hands  the  rocks  and  shoals  on  which  his  predecessor  foundered  were 
avoided.  In  raising  the  status  of  the  native  civil  service,  and  in  enlarging  the 
basis  and  extending  the  attributes  of  the  several  legislative  coimcils.  Lord 
Dufferin  laid  the  native  population  under  a  lasting  debt  of  gratitude.  In  the 
historic  interview  with  the  amir  of  Afghanistan  in  1885  at  Rawal  Pindi,  as 
throughout  his  treatment  of  the  Panjdeh  incident,  his  characteristic  finnness 
and  suavity  were  equally  displayed.  His  term  of  office  was  darkened  by 
financial  difficulties,  largely  owing  to  the  fall  in  exchange.  The  conquest  of 
Upper  Burma,  though  it  increased  his  popularity  and  added  to  the  lustre  of 
his  viceroyalty,  reopened  the  floodgates  of  military  expenditiu-e  and  added  to financial  troubles. 

With  the  advent  of  Lord  Lansdowne  the  liberal  policy  of  his  immediate 
predecessors  suffered  eclipse.  As  time  passed,  it  became  evident  that  his 
thoughts  were  more  occupied  with  affairs  beyond  the  north-west  frontier  of 
tidia  than  with  the  interests  of  good  government  within  its  limits.  The 
growing  influence  exercised  over  the  viceroy  by  his  chief  military  and  political 
advisers  became  more  and  more  matter  of  uneasy  comment.  Under  their 
influence,  and  probably  with  approval  in  Whitehall,  Lord  Lansdowne  renewed 
in  substance  Lord  Lytton's  policy,  and  the  wars  which  have  drained  India 
of  money  and  men  sLace  1896  were  due  to  the  course  of  action  adopted  under 
his  auspices  in  the  years  preceding.  There  never  was  a  time  smce  1838  when 
Simla  was  so  actively  the  centre  of  ambitions  and  of  designs  beyond  the  Indus. 
The  most  favoured  type  of  Indian  official  was  no  longer  the  provincial  gov- 

ernor or  .the  sagacious  resident,  but  that  warden  of  the  marches  of  Baluch- 
istan, Sir  Robert  Sandeman,  whose  unique  aim  it  was  to  extend  the  zone  of 

British  influence  beyond  the  frontier,  and  whose  method  was  to  participate  in 
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tribal  dissensions,  and  to  profit  by  them,  "  Sandemania,"  which  has  proved 
so  contagious,  then  first  became  epidemic  in  high  quarters. 

It  should  be  added,  however,  to  the  credit  of  his  administration,  that  Lord 
Lansdowne  grappled  successfully  with  one  hideous  evil  in  Hindu  social  life. 
He  left  behind  him  an  act  to  raise  the  age  of  consent  among  Indian  wives  from 
ten  to  twelve,  which,  while  it  provoked  much  popular  clamour,  was  approved 
by  men  of  enlightenment  of  all  creeds  and  races. 

During  so  much  of  his  term  of  office  as  was  not  occupied  with  combating 
famine  and  plague.  Lord  Elgin  was  engaged  in  conflict  beyond  the  frontier 
with  enemies  who  were  none  of  his  own  seeking,  or  in  acrid  controversy  with 
political  friends  in  England  on  questions  arising  out  of  the  political  diJSiculties 
which  had  been  bequeathed  to  him  by  his  predecessor.  Though  the  credit  of 
introducing  a  gold  standard  into  India  does  not  personally  rest  with  Lord 
Elgin,  it  was  during  his  term  of  office  that  the  measure  was  matured  and  effect 
given  to  it.  /  Lord  Curzon  became  viceroy  in  1899.  Under  him  the  years 
1900-1902  were  marked  by  a  great  famine  which  was  especially  pronounced 
in  the  Bombay  presidency,  Baroda,  Hyderabad,  and  the  Central  Indian  States. 
Still  more  terrible  were  the  ravages  of  the  plague,  which,  beginning  in  1896, 
gradually  increased  in  virulence  until  in  the  year  1903  about  842,0W),  and  in 
1904  about  1,029,000  persons  died  of  it.  The  fact  that  in  December  and 
January  of  1902-03  about  $1,000,000  was  expended  on  the  great  coronation 
Durbar  at  Delhi,  when  this  money  might  have  been  devoted  to  saving  human 
lives,  aroused  much  criticism. 

In  the  year  1903  a  British  mission  under  Colonel  Younghusband  was 
despatched  by  the  Indian  government  to  Tibet  to  discuss  trade  relations  and 
to  secure  the  observance  of  certain  conventions  made  in  1890  and  1893.  In 

the  following  March,  after  long  delays  and  protracted  negotiations,  the  mili- 
tary escort  which  accompanied  the  mission  became  involved  in  an  armed 

conflict  with  the  Tibetans.  After  some  further  delays  and  negotiations,  the 
exi)edition  then  fought  its  way  to  the  mysterious  forbidden  city  of  Lhasa, 
which  was  taken  on  the  3d  of  August.  There  a  formal  treaty  was  signed 
by  which  arrangements  were  made  for  commercial  intercourse  between  India 
and  Tibet,  and  Tibet  agreed  to  pay  an  indemnity  of  £500,000,  but  this  sum 
was  later  reduced  to  £166,000. 

Lord  Curzon's  administration  was  in  general  a  satisfactory  one,  but  in 
1905  he  became  involved  in  a  controversy  with  Lord  Kitchener,  the  com- 

mander-in-chief of  the  forces  in  India,  over  a  proposal  to  increase  the  powers 
of  the  latter,  and  as  Kitchener  was  sustained  by  the  home  government,  the 
viceroy  resigned  on  August  12th.    He  was  succeeded  by  the  earl  of  Minto. 

On  September  1,  1904,  the  presidency  of  Bengal  was  divided  into  two 
provinces  known  as  East  Bengal  and  Assan.  This  partition  aroused  oppo- 

sition among  the  BengaUs,  and  in  1907  the  agitation  spread  into  the  Punjab; 
there  were  signs  of  latent  sedition  throughout  eastern  Bengal  and  the  Punjab; 
there  was  some  rioting,  and  the  government  was  obliged  to  take  rather  harsh 
measures.  The  reasons  underlying  the  movement  appear  to  be  the  inevitable 
antagonism  of  the  native  Indian  to  alien  rule.  Babu  Chundra  Pal,  a  Bengali 
of  considerable  education,  much  ability,  and  of  great  eloquence,  was  the  chief 
purveyor  of  seditious  ideas;  and  it  was  noted  that  the  Europeanised  barristers 
and  others,  having  a  western  education,  were  among  the  most  active  in  the 
movement." 
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A   CHRONOLOGICAL    SUMMAET    OF   THE    HISTOET    OF 

INDIA  (1336-1908  a.d.) 

1336  Independent  Afghan  dynasty  (capital  Ghor)  begins  to  reign  in  Bengal. 
1347-1357  Earliest  Mohammedan  dynasty  established  in  the  Deccan  by  Ala-ud-din  (capi- 

tal Gulbargah). 
1391  Independent  Mohammedan  dynasty  founded  at  Ahmadabad  in  Guzerat. 
1484  Imad  Shahi  dynasty  founded  at  Berar  (capital  Ellichpur). 
1489  Adil  Shahi  dynasty  founded  at  Bijapur. 
1490  Nizam  Shahi  dynasty  founded  at  Ahmadnagar. 
1492  Barid  Shahi  dynasty  founded  at  Bidar. 
1498  Vasco  da  Gama  discovers  the  Cape  route  to  India  and  reaches  Calicut. 
1500  Portuguese  factories  established  at  Kananur  and  Cochin. 

THE    SIXTEENTH   CENTURY 

1505  First  Portuguese  viceroy  in  India:  the  Portuguese  discover  Ceylon. 
1510  The  Portuguese  viceroy  conquers  Goa  and 
1511  Malacca. 
1512  Kutab  Shahi  dynasty  founded  at  Golconda. 
1515  Portuguese  established  at  Diu. 
1518  Portuguese  settle  in  Ceylon. 
1521  The  discontented  subjects  of  the  emperor  of  Delhi  summon  Baber  (Zehir-ud-din),  the 

Mughal  king  of  Kabul,  to  India. 
1526  Baber  defeats  the  Delhi  emperor  in  the  great  battle  of  Panipat  and  takes  Agra;  the 

Bana  Sanga  of  Mewar  (Udaipur)  collects  a  vast  host  against  him. 
1527  Baber  wins  the  battle  of  Kanweh  and  makes  himself  master  of  India. 
1530  Death  of  Baber.     His  son  Humayun  succeeds  him. 
1531  Daman  taken  and  destroyed  by  Portuguese. 
1539  Humayun  defeated  by  Shir  Shah  Avho  becomes  lord  of  Hindustan;  Humayun  takes 

refuge  in  Persia. 
1543  St.  Francis  Xavier  founds  Christian  settlements  in  Travancore. 
1545  Portuguese  viceroy  defeats  the  king  of  Guzerat  at  Diu. 
1556  Humayun  recovers  part  of  his  empire,  including  Delhi.  Humayun  dies  and  is  suc- 

ceeded by  Akbar  the  Great  under  regency  of  Bairam  Khan.  He  begins  a  series,  of 
wars  to  recover  the  empire  of  Baber. 

1558  Portuguese  settled  at  Daman. 
1560  Akbar  assumes  the  government  in  person  and  exercises  a  strong  and  humane  govern- 

ment. 
1565  Battle  of  Talikota;  the  five  Mohammedan  kings  of  the  Deccan  defeat  the  Hindu 

rajah  of  Vijayanagar  and  overthrow  his  empire  (founded  1118)  which  splits  up 
into  small  sovereignties. 

1667  Princes  of  western  India  league  against  the  Portuguese  but  are  defeated  bj  them. 

827 
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1568  Akbar  takes  Chitor  and  conquers  Ajmir. 
1570  Akbar  obtains  Oudh  an^  Gwalior. 
1572  Akbar  defeats  the  ruler  of  Ahmadabad  and  constitutes  Guzerat  a  viceroyalty.  The 

Afghans  expelled  from  Bengal,  and  the  lower  Ganges  valley  recovered  for  Akbar. 

1578  Orissa  annexed  to  Akbar's  empire.    Akbar  invites  Jesuit  missionaries  to  Lahore. 
1579  The  Englishman,  Thomas  Stephens  visits  India. 

1581  Kabul  added  to  Akbar's  empire. 
1586  Kashmir  acquired  by  Akbar. 
1592  Sind  acquired  by  Akbar. 
1594  Kandahar  submits  to  Akbar. 
1596  Akbar  subdues  Berar. 
1600  Charter  granted  to  the  English  East  India  Company. 

THE   SEVENTEENTH   CENTURY 

1602  First  voyage  made  for  the  East  India  Company.    Dutch  East  India  Company  formed. 
1605  Akbar  dies  and  is  succeeded  by  his  son  Jahangir. 

1606  Rebellion  of  Jahangir's  son,  Khusru,  punished. 
1612  The  East  India  Company's  first  factory  founded  at  Surat.  First  Danish  East  India 

Company  founded. 
1614  British  agency  established  at  Ajmir. 
1615  An  English  embassy  despatched  to  the  court  of  Delhi. 
1616  Danish  settlements  at  Tranquebar  and  Serampur. 
1620  Portuguese  fleet  defeated  by  the  English. 
1622  The  Dutch  massacre  eighteen  Englishmen  at  Amboyna.    English  factory  established 

at  Masulipatam. 
1627  Shah  Jahan  succeeds  Jahangir;  the  Mughal  Empire  at  its  height. 
1634  Portuguese  expelled  from  Bengal. 
1638  Aurangzeb,  son  of   Shah  Jahan,  having  seized   and  plundered  Hyderabad  becomes 

governor  of  the  Deccan.    The  Dutch  take  Portuguese  forts  in  Ceylon. 
1639  English  settlement  established  at  Madras. 
1650  Shah  Jahan  renders  the  kingdom  of  Bijapur  (Deccan)  tributary. 
1657  The  Mahratta,  Sivaji,  rebels  against  the  king  of  Bijapur  and  builds  up  a  Mahratta 

power  in  the  Deccan. 
1658  Aurangzeb,   having  defeated   three  brothers   and   assassinated   another,   usurps   the 

throne  of  his  father,  Shah  Jahan.  The  Dutch  take  Colombo  and  the  last  Portu- 
guese possessions  in  Ceylon. 

1661  Bombay  ceded  to  England  by  Portugal. 
1664  The  Dutch  take  the  Portuguese  settlements  on  the  Malabar  coast.  Sivaji  pillages 

Surat. 
1666  Shah  Jahan  dies  and  is  buried  in  the  beautiful  Taj  Mahal  which  he  had  built  at  Agra. 
1668  Bombay  transferred  to  the  East  India  Company.  Successful  campaign  of  Aurangzeb 

in  the  Deccan. 

1670  Second  Danish  East  India  Company  founded. 
1674  French  East  India  Company  established  at  Pondicherry. 
1680  Sivaji,  having  consolidated  a  strong  Mahratta  power  in  the  Deccan,  dies. 
1682  Aurangzeb  sets  out  to  conquer  the  Deccan. 
1683-1687  Aurangzeb  incorporates  the  kingdoms  of  Bijapur  and  Golconda  with  his  empire. 
1686  The  English  attempt  to  take  Chittagong  and  are  driven  from  Bengal. 
1687  Bombay  becomes  the  headquarters  of  the  East  India  Company. 

1693  East  India  Company's  charter  renewed. 
1698  "  General  Society  trading  to  the  East  Indies  "  formed  in  England. 
1700  Calcutta  purchased  by  the  East  India  Company. 

THE   EIGHTEENTH   CENTURY 

1707  Death  of  Aurangzeb,  the  last  great  ruler  of  the  Mughal  dynasty.  War  between  his 
sons;  Bahadur  Shah  the  victor.  The  authority  of  the  Mughal  power  gradually 
usurped  by  minor  chieftains. 

1709  "  deneral  Society  "  unites  with  English  East  India  Company. 1712  Death  of  Bahadur  Shah.    Quarrels  between  his  sons. 
1713  Jahandar  fShah,  son  of  Bahadur  Shah,  deposed  and  strangled;  IFarrakhsiyyar  succeeds. 
1714  Kamr-ud-din  (Asaf  Jah)  is  appointed  governor  of  the  Deccan  and  becomes  founder  of 

the  Hyderabad  dynasty.  The  peshwas  of  J'oona  begin  to  found  an  independent 
Mahratta  power  which  becomes  the  head  of  the  Mahratta  confederacy. 
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1716  The  Bhonsla  king  Raghoji  establishes  a  Mahratta  power  of  Nagpur. 
X719  Farrakhsiyyar  deposed  and  strangled;  Muhammed  Shah  succeeds.    Various  French 

companies  consolidated  as  "  Company  of  the  Indies." 
1720  Saadat  Ali  Khan  appointed  nawab  of  Oudh,  which  he  makes  an  independent  sov- 

ereignty. 
1721  Commencement  of  the  foundation  of  the  Mahratta  state  of  Baroda. 
1724  The  Mahratta  dynasty  of  Sindhia  establishes  itself  at  Gwalior. 

1733  Foundation  of  the  Mahratta  power  of  Indore,  or  Holkar's  dominions. 
1735  Kashmir  incorporated  with  the  kingdom  of  Kabul. 
1736  Sindhia's  forces  invade  Hindustan  and  advance  to  Delhi. 
1739  Persians  under  Nadir  Shah  invade  India  and  withdraw  after  sacking  Delhi. 
1746  Madras  captured  by  the  French  under  La  Bourdonnais. 
1748  The  English  besiege  Pondicherry. 
1751  French  and  English  having  taken  sides  in  the  quarrels  of  the  Deccan  princes,  the 

English  under  Clive  take  Arcot  and  defend  it  against  the  French  and  their  allies. 
1753  The  French  acquire  the  Northern  Circars  from  the  sovereign  of  the  Deccan. 
1756  Clive  becomes  governor  of  Fort  St.  David.    The  fort  at  Calcutta  taken  by  Siraj-ud- 

Daula  (Surajah  Dowlah)  and  the  European  prisoners  confined  in  the  Black  Hole 
of  Calcutta. 

1757  Clive  defeats  Siraj-ud-Daula  at  Plassey,  and  establishes  Mir  Jafar  in  his  place.    The 
British  relieve  Trichinopoli,  besieged  by  the  French,  who  take  the  English  factory 
at  Vizagapatam.    Madura  surrendered  to  the  British. 

1758  French  under  Lally  take  Fort  St.  David  from  the  British. 
1759  Lally  fails  in  the  siege  of  Madras.    The  British  take  Masulipatam  from  the  French 

and  obtain  eight  districts  from  the  ruler  of  the  Deccan.    Northern  Circars  trans- 
ferred to  British.    Clive  aids  Mir  Jafar  to  repel  an  invasion  from  Rohilkhand. 

1760  The  British  defeat  Lally  at  Wandewash  and  take  Pondicherry.    Bardwan,  Midnapur, 
and  Chittagong  ceded  to  the  British. 

1761  The  king  of  Kabul  totally  defeats  the  Mahrattas  at  Panipat  and  finally  destroys  the 
power  of  the  king  of  Delhi. 

1763  War  between  the  British  and  the  nawab  of  Bengal. 
1764  The  great  Mughal  with  Sujah-ud-Daula,  ruler  of  Oudh,  aids  the  nawab  of  Bengal 

and  is  defeated  at  Baxar.    The  English  make  a  treaty  with  the  great  Mughal  who 
grants  them  the  zemindari  of  Benares. 

1765  Sujah-ud-Daula  and  the  Mahrattas  defeated  by  the  British  at  Korah.    The  great 
Mughal  empowers  Clive  to  collect  the  revenues  of  Bengal,  Behar,  and  Orissa. 

1766  Hyder  Ali  makes  himself  rajah  of  Mysore. 
1767  War  between  the  peshwa  and  Hyder  Ali.    The  British  and  the  nizam  of  the  Deccan 

aid  the  peshwa.    The  peshwa  makes  a  separate  peace  with  Hyder.    The  British  re- 
treat and  defeat  the  Mysore  troops  at  Trinomali  and  Ambur. 

1768  Nepal  conquered  by  the  Gurkas. 
1769  Hyder,  joined  by  the  French,  makes  successful  attacks  on  the  British.    Treaty  of 

Hyder  Ali  with  the  British. 
1770  Great  famine  in  Bengal. 
1771  War  between  Hyder  and  the  peshwa.    Shah  Alam  becomes  nominal  sovereign  of 

Delhi  under  the  real  domination  of  Sindhia. 

1772  Marawar  war.    Impeachment  of  Clive.    Warren  Hastings  governor  of  Bengal. 

1773  "  Regulating  Act  "  for  the  East  India  Company  passed. 
1774  British  troops  aid  Sujah-ud-Daula  of  Oudh  in  the  Kohilla  war.    Hastings  becomes 

governor-general. 
1775  War  with  Mahrattas  (first  Mahratta  war)  and  acquisition  of  Salsette  by  the  Bom- 

bay presidency.    The  supreme  council  at  Calcutta  forces  the  Bombay  government 
to  break  faith  with  the  Mahratta  chief  Ragoba. 

1778  War  between  France  and  England.    Hastings  seizes  Chandarnagar.    War  with  the 
Mahrattas  renewed. 

1780  Hyder  Ali  overruns  the  Coromandel  Coast  and  defeats  the  British  at  Conjeveram. 
Independence  of  Baroda  recognised  by  the  British  government. 

1781  Hyder  ravages  Tanjore  and  is  defeated  at  Porto  Novo  by  Sir  Eyre  Coote,  who  re- 
lieves Vellore. 

1782  Sea  fights  between  the  British  and  the  French  under  Suflfren.    Tipu  Sahib  succeeds 
his  father  Hyder  Ali. 

1783  Bednor  taken  by  the  British  and  recovered  by  Tipu,  who  besieges  Mangalore.    In- 
decisive sea  fight  off  Cuddalore  between  Suffren  and  Hastings. 

1784  The  British  evacuate  Mangalore.    Peace  with  Tipu.    Pitt's  India  Bill,  regulating  the 
management  of  the  East  India  Company,  passed. 

1786  Lord  Cornwallis  becomes  governor-general  of  India.    Supplementary  bills  passed. 
1787  Impeachment  of  Warren  Hastings. 
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1788  Tipu  Sahib  overruns  and  oppresses  Calicut. 
1789  Tipu  attacks  the  rajah  of  Travancore,  a  British  ally.    The  British  make  alliance  with 

the  peshwa  against  Tipu.    Tipu  defeats  the  rajah  of  Travancore. 
1790  War  with  Tipu.    The  rajah  of  Travancore  restored. 
1791  Cornwallis  takes  Bangalore  and  defeats  Tipu,  but  retreats. 
1792  Cornwallis  takes  Seringapatam  and  forces  Tipu  to  surrender  half  his  territories,  the 

British  retaining  his  possessions  on  the  Malabar  coast. 

1793  "Permanent  Settlement"  (of  assessments  on  land  in  Bengal). 
1795  Sindhia  attacks  and  defeats  the  nizam  of  the  Deccan.    The  British  take  the  Dutch 

forts  in  Ceylon. 
1796  French  company  of  the  Indies  abolished  by  the  French  national  assembly. 

1798  Lord  Momington   (Marquis  Wellesley)   becomes   governor-general.    Napoleon  Bona- 
parte opens  negotiations  with  Tipu  Sahib;  French  from  Mauritius  organise  a 

jacobin  club  in  Seringapatam.    Eanjit  Singh  becomes  ruler  of  Lahore. 
1799  British  declare  war  on  Tipu  and  defeat  him  at  Malaveli;  they  capture  Seringapatam, 

where  Tipu  is  killed.  The  Kanara  district  becomes  British  territory.  Maharajah 
Krishna,  representative  of  the  ancient  dynasty  of  Mysore,  made  sovereign  of 

Mysore. 
1800  Sir  John  Malcolm  is  sent  as  ambassador  to  the  king  of  Persia  and  concludes  an 

alliance  between  him  and  the  British  government.  The  East  India  Company  as- 
sumes the  government  of  Surat.  By  treaty  with  the  nizam  the  East  India  Com- 

pany engages  to  defend  Hyderabad  against  foreign  aggression,  receives  territories 
in  trust  (Berar)  to  defray  cost  of  British  troops,  and  assumes  direction  of  Hydera- 

bad's foreign  affairs. 

THE   NINETEENTH  CENTURY 

1801  The  East  India  Company  interferes  in  the  disputes  for  the  rule  of  the  Carnatic  and 
takes  over  the  government  in  perpetuity. 

1802  The  peshwa,  driven  from  Poona  by  Holkar,  concludes  the  Treaty  of  Bassein  with  the 
Company.  British  possessions  in  Ceylon  become  a,  direct  dependency  of  the  British 
crown. 

1803  Second  Mahratta  War.    General  Wellesley  (Duke  of  Wellington)  restores  the  peshwa. 
Wellesley  defeats  the  Mahrattas  at  Assaye.  Lake  takes  Aligarh,  wins  the  battle 
of  Laswari  and  takes  Delhi  and  Agra.  Wellesley  defeats  the  Mahrattas  at  Argam. 
Powell  overruns  Bundelkhand  and  takes  Gwalior.  Cuttack  conquered  by  the 
British.  Unsuccessful  war  in  Ceylon.  Treaty  with  Sindhia  who  surrenders  his 
suzerain  rights  over  the  chiefs  between  the  Jumna  and  Ganges  and  others. 

1804  War  with  Holkar.     Wellesley  disperses  the  predatory  bands  formed  from  Sindhia's 
army.  Holkar  besieges  Delhi  which  Lake  relieves.  Holkar's  forces  destroyed  at 
Dig  and  Farrakhabad. 

1805  Lake  besieges  Bhartpur,  but  fails  to  take  it;  the  rajah  of  Bhartpur  makes  a  treaty 
with  the  British.  Treaty  with  Sindhia,  who  cedes  Gwalior  and  part  of  Gohud  to  the 
British;  treaty  with  Holkar  secures  Poona  and  Bundelkhand  to  the  British. 

1806  Sepoy  mutiny  at  Vellore  quelled  by  Colonel  Gillespie. 
1807  Lord  Minto  becomes  governor-general. 
1809  Treaty  between  the  British  and  Shuja-ul-Mulk  king  of  Kabul.    Shuja-ul-Mulk  de- 

feated by  his  brother  Mahmud.  Treaty  between  the  British  and  Ranjit  Singh. 
Kashmir  becomes  an  independent  Kingdom. 

1810  Amboyna  and  the  Banda  Islands  conquered  by  the  Company.    The  British  conquer Mauritius. 

1811  The  Company's  troops  conquer  Java  from  the  Dutch. 
1813  An  act  of  Parliament  modifies  the  political  organisation  of  the  East  India  Company 

and  extends  the  privilege  of  trading  with  India  to  other  persons.  A  system  intro- 
duced for  the  support  of  government-paid  missionaries  in  India.  Lord  Moira  (Hast- 
ings) governor-general.    Ranjit  Singh  obtains  possession  of  Attock. 

1814  Disastrous  war  with  Nepal.    Amboyna,  Banda  Islands  and  Java  restored  to  the  Dutch. 
1815  The  British  defeat  the  tyrant  of  Ceylon;  the  whole  island  becomes  British;  civil  and 

religious  liberty  granted  to  the  inhabitants. 
1816  Second  war  with  Nepal;   the  Gurkas  defeated  at  Mukwanpur;   a  British  residency established  in  Nepal. 

1817-1818  Power  of  the  robber  Pindharis  crushed  by  the  British.  Third  Mahratta  war; 
the  Mahrattas  of  Poona  (peshwa's  capital),  Nagpur  and  Indore  (Holkar's  domin- 

ions) rise  against  the  British  and  are  overthrown;  Holkar  defeated  at  Mehidpur. 
Ranjit  Singh  obtains  possession  of  Multan. 

J^o  ̂   ?1^"^  factory  established  at  Singapore.    Eanjit  Singh  annexes  Kashmir. 
Isz3  Lord  Amherst  becomes  governor-general. 
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1824  First  Burmese  war. 

1825  Dispute  over  the  suceession  to  Bhartpur.    Burmege  War  ended  by  Treaty  of  Yandabuj- Assam,  Arakan,  and  Tenasserim  ceded  to  the  British. 
1826  Bhartpur  besieged  and  taken  by  Lord  Combermere. 
1828  Lord  William  Bentinck  becomes  governor-general. 
1829  Bentinck  decrees  the  abolition  of  suttee  (sati). 
1831  Misgovemment  in  Mysore  compels  the  British  to  assume  the  direct  administration. 
1833  The  charter  of  the  East  India  Company  renewed;  it  is  compelled  to  abandon  its  trade; 

a  commission,  under  Macaulay's  presidency,  appointed  to  codify  the  law  of  India. 
1835  Lord  Auckland  governor- general. 
1838  First  Afghan  war;  the  British  in  alliance  with  Eanjit  Singh  undertake  to  restore 

Shah  Shuja. 
1839  Ghazni  and  Kabul  taken  and  Shah  Shuja  reinstated.    Death  of  Eanjit  Singh. 
1840  The  amirs  of  Sind  arise  against  the  British. 
1841  Kevolt  in  Kabul;   the  British  envoys  murdered;   disastrous  retreat  of  the  British 

garrison,  only  one  man  reaching  Jalalabad  alive.  The  Afghans  besiege  the  British 
garrisons  in  Kandahar  and  Jalalabad. 

1842  Lord  EUenborough   succeeds  Auckland.    Afghans   defeated   at  Jalalabad  and  Kan- 
dahar.   The  British  occupy  Kabul;  they  evacuate  Afghanistan. 

1843  War  in  Sind;  Sir  Charles  Napier  wins  the  battles  of  Miani  and  Hyderabad.    Sind 
annexed. 

1845  The  English  acquire  the  Danish  settlements  at  Tranquebar  and  Serampur  by  pur- 
chase. First  Sikh  War;  the  Sikhs  invade  British  territory  and  are  defeated  at 

Mudki  and  Ferozshaw. 
1846  Sikhs  defeated  at  Aliwal  and  Sobraon;  Lahore  surrenders  to  the  British,  Dhuleep 

(Dhalip)  Singh  is  recognised  as  rajah  of  Lahore,  and  a  British  garrison  is  sta- 
tioned there;  the  Jalandhar  Doab  annexed  by  the  British;  Kashmir  recognised  as 

independent. 
i848  Lord  Dalhousie  becomes  governor-general.  Murder  of  British  officers  at  Multan  be- 

gins the  second  Sikh  War. 
1849  Multan  taken  by  the  British.  Battle  of  Chilianwala  and  heavy  British  losses.  Gough 

destroys  the  Sikh  army  at  Gujrat.  The  Punjab  annexed  to  the  British  dominions. 
Satara  annexed. 

1852-1853  Second  Burmese  War  resulting  in  the  annexation  of  Pegu. 
1853  Nagpur  and  Jhansi  escheat  to  the  central  government.    Change  in  the  charter  of  the 

East  India  Company  decreasing  the  company's  influence  on  the  government  and 
throwing  the  Indian  civil  service  open  to  competition. 

1854  Ganges  canal  opened.    Treaty  with  Baluchistan. 
1856  The  king  of  Oudh  dethroned  for  misgovemment  and  a  British  commissioner  appointed. 

Lord  Canning  becomes  governor-general.    Successful  war  with  Persia. 
1857  Religious  fears  of  the  sepoys  roused  by  the  issue  of  greased  cartridges.    First  at- 

tempt at  mutiny  suppressed.  Formidable  mutiny  jit  Meerut  and  murder  of  many 
Europeans;  the  mutineers  escape  to  Delhi,  are  joined  by  the  garrison  there,  and 
proclaim  the  king  of  Delhi  sovereign  of  India;  the  British  destroy  the  Delhi  powder 
magazine.  Mutinies  and  massacres  at  Neemuch,  Allahabad,  Jhansi,  Mhow,  and 
other  places  in  the  Bengal  Presidency.  Massacre  in  Delhi.  Nana  Sahib  besieges 
Cawnpore.  Sir  John  Lawrence  aided  by  Sikh  troops  prevents  mutiny  in  the  Pun- 

jab. The  British  besiege  Delhi.  Neill  recovers  Allahabad.  Cawnpore  garrison 
massacred.  Mutineers  besiege  the  residency  at  Lucknow.  Massacre  of  the  women 

and  children  at  Cawnpore.  Delhi  taken  by  storm;  Hodson  shoots  down  the  king's 
sons.  Mutinies  in  the  Bombay  Presidency.  Outram  and  Havelock  relieve  Luck- 
now.  Sir  Colin  Campbell  brings  reinforcements  from  England  and  finally  rescues 
the  Lucknow  garrison. 

1858  Sir  Colin  Campbell  recovers  Lucknow.    The  revolted  city  of  Jhansi  taken  by  Sir  Hugh 
Rose.  Campbell  subdues  Rohilkhand.  Kalpi  and  Gwalior  taken  by  Rose.  Behar 
reduced.  End  of  the  East  India  Company;  its  territories  and  powers  transferred 
to  the  crown;  Canning  receives  the  title  of  viceroy. 

1862  Lord  Elgin  viceroy.    Death  of  the  ex-king  of  Delhi,  Bahadur  Shah,  the  last  of  the 
great  Mughals. 

1863  Sir  John  Lawrence  viceroy. 
1865  War  with  Bhutan  ended  by  the  cession  by  the  Bhutias  of  the  eighteen  Dwars  of 

Bengal  and  Assam  in  return  for  a  subsidy. 
1866  Terrible  famine  and  flood  in  Orissa. 
1869  Lord  Mayo  viceroy;  interview  at  Ambala  with  Sher  Ali,  amir  of  Afghanistan. 
1872  Lord  Mayo  assassinated  at  the  Andaman  Islands.    Lord  Northbrook  viceroy. 
1874  Famine  in  Lower  Bengal,    Gaikwar  of  Baroda  deposed  for  incapacity  and  a  new 

gaikwar  established. 
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1876  Lord  Northbrook  resigns  and  is  succeeded  by  Lord  Lytton.    Treaty  with  the  khan 

of  Kalat;  the  British  Government  undertakes  to  uphold  the  khan's  authority. 
1877  Queen  Victoria  proclaimed  empress  of  India.    Severe  famine  inlndia. 
1878  Acts  restraining  the  liberty  of  the  press  passed.    Sher  Ali  receives  a  Russian  mission 

and  declines  to  admit  a  British  one.  Second  Afghan  War;  the  British  invade 

Afghanistan. 
1879  By  the  Treaty  of  Gandamak  the  British  frontier  is  advanced  towards  Afghanistan 

and  a  British  resident  admitted  at  Kabul.  Murder  of  the  British  resident  and  his 

escort.  A  punitive  expedition  under  General  Roberts  takes  Kabul.  The  amir  de- 

posed. 1880  Lord  Lytton  resigns   and  is   succeeded  by  Lord  Ripon.    Abdurrahman  Khan  pro- 
claimed amir  of  Kabul.  Disaster  at  Maiwand;  a  British  force  is  defeated  by  a 

son  of  the  deposed  amir  and  the  remnant  besieged  in  Kandahar.  March  of  General 
Roberts  to  relieve  Kandahar;  he  routs  the  enemy  before  the  walls.  The  British 
withdraw  from  Afghanistan. 

1881  Government  of  Mysore  restored  to  the  Hindu  dynasty. 
1882  Abolition  of  cotton  duties;  salt  duties  reduced;  increased  administrative  powers  con- 

ferred on  provincial  governments. 
1883  Controversy  over  the  Ilbert  Bill  concerning  the  extension  of  the  powers  of  covenanted 

civil  servants. 
1884  The  Ilbert  Bill  passed  with  a  reservation  granting  European  British  subjects  the 

right  of  trial  by  jury.  Lord  Dufferin  viceroy.  The  Indian  national  congress,  de- 
signed to  oppose  the  exclusive  conduct  of  Indian  affairs  by  the  ruling  race,  holds 

its  first  annual  session. 

1885  Collision  between  Afghans  and  Russians  at  Panjdeh  leads  to  preparations  for  war  in 
India;  the  affair  arranged  diplomatically.  Burmese  War;  Ava  and  Mandalay  oc- 

cupied and  the  king  Thibaw  taken. 
1886  Upper  Burma  formally  annexed. 
1887  Civil  service  reform.    British  Baluchistan  incorporated  with  India. 
1888  Hazara  expedition.    A  British  expedition  expels  the  Tibetans  from  Sikkim.    Lord 

Lansdowne  viceroy. 
1889  Burmese  War  ends. 
1890  China  acknowledges  the  British  protectorate  over  Sikkim. 
1891  Manipur  expedition. 
1892  Indian  Councils  Act  passed. 
1893  Frontier  between  India  and  Afghanistan  defined. 
1895  Opium  inquiries;  the  report  declares  against  repressive  measures.    Chitral  expedition. 

Lord  Elgin  viceroy. 
1896  Famine  and  plague  in  India. 
1897  Burma   made    a    lieutenant-governorship.     The    Waziris,    Swatis,    Mohmands,    and 

Afridis  rise  against  the  British;  the  Tirah  campaign  undertaken  in  consequence. 
1899  Lord  Curzon  of  Kedleston  viceroy.    Nushki  district  and  Niabat  in  Baluchistan  trans- 

ferred to  British  management. 
1900  Severe  famine. 
1903  842,000  people  die  of  the  plague. 
1904  An  expedition  captures  Lhasa,  the  capital  of  Tibet.     1,029,000  people  die  of  the  plague. 
1905  Lord  Curzon  resigns  and  is  succeeded  by  the  earl  of  Minto. 
1907  Disturbances  in  Bengal  and  the  Punjab. 
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THE   COLONIAL  WORLD 

CHAPTER   I 

THE   HISTORY  OF  AUSTRALIA  AND  NEW  ZEALAND 

DISCOVERY  AND   EXPLORATION 

Owing  to  its  position  at  the  antipodes  of  the  civilised  world,  Australia  has 
been  longer  a  terra  incognita  than  any  other  region  of  the  same  extent.  Its 
first  discovery  is  involved  in  considerable  doubt,  from  confiision  of  the  names 
which  were  applied  by  the  earlier  navigators  and  geographers  to  the  Austral- 

asian coasts. 
The  ancients  were  somehow  impressed  with  the  idea  of  a  Terra  Australis 

which  was  one  day  to  be  revealed.  The  Phoenician  mariners  had  pushed 
through  the  outlet  of  the  Red  Sea  to  eastern  Africa,  the  Persian  Gulf,  and  the 
coasts  of  India  and  Sumatra.  But  the  geographer  Ptolemy,  in  the  2nd  cen- 

tury, still  conceived  the  Indian  Ocean  to  be  an  inland  sea,  boimded  on  the 
south  by  an  unknown  land,  which  connected  the  Chersonesus  Aurea  (Malay 
Peninsula)  with  the  promontory  of  Prasxmi  in  eastern  Africa.  This  erroneous 
notion  prevailed  in  mediaeval  Europe,  although  some  travellers  like  Marco 
Polo  heard  rumours  in  China  of  large  insular  countries  to  the  southeast. 

The  investigations  of  Mr.  R.  H.  Major  make  it  appear  probable  that  the 
Australian  mainland  was  known  as  "Great  Java"  to  the  Portuguese  early  in 
the  sixteenth  century;  and  the  following  passage  in  the  Descriptionis  Ptole- 
maicce  Augmentum  of  Cornelius  Wytfiiet,^  printed  at  Louvain  in  1598,  is  per- 

haps the  first  distinct  account  that  occurs  of  the  country :  —  "  The  Australis Terra  is  the  most  southern  of  all  lands,  and  is  separated  from  New  Guinea  by 
a  narrow  strait.    Its  shores  are  hitherto  but  little  known,  since,  after  one 
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voyage  and  another,  that  route  has  been  deserted,  and  seldom  is  the  country 
visit^,  unless  when  sailors  are  driven  there  by  storms.  The  Australis  Terra 
begins  at  one  or  two  degrees  from  the  equator  and  is  ascertained  by  some  to 
oe  of  so  great  an  extent,  that  if  it  were  thoroughly  explored  it  would  be 

regarded  as  a  fifth  part  of  the  world." 
It  was  in  1606  that  Torres,  with  a  ship  commissioned  by  the  Spanish  gov- 

ernment of  Peru,  parted  from  his  companion  Quiros  (after  their  discovery  of 
Espiritu  Santo  and  the  New  Hebrides),  and  sailed  from  east  to  west  through 
the  strait  which  bears  his  name;  while  in  the  same  year  the  peninsula  of  Cape 
York  was  touched  at  by  a  vessel  called  the  Duyfhm  or  Dove  from  the  Dutch 
colony  of  Bantam  in  Java,  but  this  was  imderstood  at  the  time  to  form  a  part 
of  the  neighboiu-ing  island  of  New  Guinea.  The  Dutch  continued  their 
attempts  to  explore  the  unknown  land,  sending  out  in  1816  the  ship  Endraght, 
commanded  by  Dirk  Hartog,  which  sailed  along  the  west  coast  of  Australia 

from  lat.  26°  3(y  to  23°  S.  This  exjDedition  left  on  an  islet  near  Shark's  Bay 
a  record  of  its  visit  engraved  on  a  tin  plate,  which  was  found  there  in  1801. 
The  Pera  and  Amhem,  Dutch  vessels  from  Ambojnia,  in  1618  explored  the 
Gulf  of  Carpentaria,  giving  to  its  westward  peninsula,  on  the  side  opposite  to 
Cape  York,  the  name  of  Amhem  Land.  The  name  of  Carpentaria  was  also 
bestowed  on  this  vast  gulf  in  compliment  to  Peter  Carpenter,  then  governor 
of  the  Dutch  East  India  Company.  In  1627  the  GvMene  Zeepard,  carrying 
Peter  Nuyts  to  the  embassy  in  Japan,  sailed  along  the  south  coast  from  Cape 
Leeuwin,  and  sighted  the  whole  shore  of  the  Great  Bight.  But  alike  on  the 
northern  and  southern  seaboard,  the  aspect  of  New  Holland,  as  it  was  then 
called,  presented  an  uninviting  appearance. 

An  important  era  of  discovery  began  with  Tasman's  voyage  of  1642.  He, 
too,  sailed  from  Batavia;  but,  first  crossing  the  Indian  Ocean  to  the  Maiuitius, 
he  descended  to  the  44th  parallel  of  S.  lat.,  recrossing  that  ocean  to  the  east. 
By  taking  this  latter  course  he  reached  the  island  which  now  bears  his  name, 

but  which  he  called  Van  Diemen's  Land,  after  the  Dutch  governor  of  Batavia. 
In  1644  Tasman  made  another  attempt,  when  he  explored  the  northwest  coast 
of  Australia,  from  Arnhem  Land  to  the  22nd  degree  of  latitude,  approaching 

the  locality  of  Dirk  Hartog's  discoveries  of  1616.  He  seems  to  have  landed 
at  Cape  Ford,  near  Victoria  River,  also  in  Roebuck  Bay,  and  again  near 

Dampier's  Archipelago.  But  the  hostile  attitude  of  the  natives,  whom  he 
denoimced  as  a  malicious  and  miserable  race  of  savages,  prevented  his  seeing 
much  of  the  new  country;  and  for  half  a  century  after  this  no  iiesh  discov- 

eries were  made. 
The  English  made  their  first  appearance  on  the  Australian  coast  in  1688, 

when  the  northwestern  shores  were  visited  by  the  famous  buccaneer  Captain 
William  Dampier,  who  spent  five  weeks  ashore  near  Roebuck  Bay.  A  few 
years  later  (1697)  the  Dutch  organised  another  expedition  under  Vlamingh, 
who,  first  touching  at  Swan  River  on  the  west  coast,  sailed  northward  to 

Shark's  Bay,  where  Hartog  had  been  in  1616.  Dampier,  two  years  later, 
visited  the  same  place,  not  now  as  a  roving  adventurer,  but  with  a  commission 
from  the  English  admiralty  to  pursue  his  Australian  researches.  This  ente> 
prising  navigator,  in  the  narrative  of  liis  voyages,  gives  an  accoimt  of  the 
trees,  bird^  and  reptiles  he  observed,  and  of  his  encounters  with  the  natives. 
But  he  found  nothing  to  invite  a  long  stay.  There  was  yet  another  Dutch 
exploring  squadron  on  that  coast  in  1705,  but  the  results  were  of  little  im- 
portance. 

It  was  Captain  Cook,  in  his  voyages  from  1769  to  1777,  who  communicated 
the  most  important  discoveries,  and  first  opened  to  European  enterprise  and 
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settlement  the  Australasian  coasts.  In  command  of  the  bark  Endeavour,  370 
tons  burden,  and  carrying  85  persons,  amongst  whom  were  Sir  Joseph  Banks 
and  Dr.  Solacder,  returning  from  the  Royal  Society's  expedition  to  observe the  transit  of  Venus,  Cook  visited  both  New  Zealand  and  New  South  Wales. 
He  came  upon  the  Australian  mainland  in  April,  1770,  at  a  point  named  alter 
Lieutenant  Hicks,  who  first  sighted 

it,  on  the  shore  of  Gipps'  Land,  Vic- 
toria, S.  M.,  38°,  E.  long.  148°  53'. 

From  this  point,  in  a  coasting  voy- 
age not  without  peril  when  entan- 

gled in  the  barrier  reefs  of  coral, 
the  little  vessel  made  its  way  up  the 
whole  length  of  the  eastern  sides  of 
Australia,  rounding  Cape  York,  and 
crossing  Torres  Strait  to  New  Gui- 

nea. In  his  second  expedition  of 
Australasian  discovery,  which  was 

sent  out  in  1773,  Cook's  ship,  the 
Resolute,  started  in  company  with 
the  Adventure,  commanded  by  Cap- 

tain Furneaux.  The  two  vessels 
separated,  and  Cook  went  to  New 
Zealand,  while  Furneaux  examined 
some  parts  of  Tasmania  and  Bass 
Strait.  The  third  voyage  of  Cook 
brought  him,  in  1777,  both  to  Tas- 

mania and  to  New  Zealand. 
Next  to  Cook,  twenty  or  thirty 

years  after  his  time,  the  names  of 
Bass  and  Flinders  are  justly  hon- 

oured for  continuing  the  work  of 
maritime  discovery  he  had  so  well  begiin.  To  their  courageous  and  persever- 

ing efforts,  begun  at  their  private  risk,  is  due  the  correct  determination  of  the 
shape  both  of  Tasmania  and  the  neighbouring  continent.  The  French  admiral 
Entrecasteaux,  in  1792,  had  made  a  careful  examination  of  the  inlets  at  the 
south  of  Tasmania,  and  in  his  opinion  the  opening  between  Tasmania  and 
Australia  was  only  a  deep  bay.  It  was  Bass  who  discovered  it  to  be  a  broad 
strait,  with  numerous  small  islands.  Captain  Flinders  survived  his  friend  Bass, 
having  been  associated  with  him  in  1798  in  this  and  other  useful  adventures. 
Flinders  afterwards  made  a  complete  survey  in  detail  of  all  the  Australian 
coasts,  except  the  west  and  northwest.  He  was  captured,  however,  by  the 
French  during  the  war,  and  detained  a  prisoner  in  Mauritius  for  seven  years.^ 

William  Dampieb 

(1652-1715) 

THE  FOUNDING  OF  NEW  SOUTH  WALES 

New  South  Wales,  the  oldest  of  the  Australian  group,  was  founded  in  1788. 
The  more  immediate  reason  for  its  occupation  arose  from  the  necessity  of 
finding  an  outlet  for  British  criminals,  who,  until  that  time,  had  been  sent  to 

America.  On  the  13th  of  May,  1787,  the  "first  fleet,"  as  it  has  ever  since 
been  called,  consisting  of  eleven  vessels,  sailed  from  Portsmouth.  In  these 
348  free  persons  —  officers,  guards,  women,  children,  etc.,  were  embarked, 
together  with  504  male  and  192  female  prisoners.    Captain  Arthur  Phillip, 
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R.N.,  was  in  charge  of  the  expedition,  which  arrived  after  a  tedious  voyage 
of  eight  months. 

The  first  attempt  to  land  was  made  at  Botany  Bay,  so  named  by  Sir 
Joseph  Banks  from  the  profusion  of  wild  flowers  abounding  there.  The 
harbour  was  foimd  to  be  spacious,  but  exposed  to  easterly  gales,  and  the 
land,  where  it  was  not  swampy,  was  composed  of  sand  hills.  It  did  not  seem 
to  be  suitable  for  a  permanent  settlement,  and  Captain  Phillip  determined 
to  select  another  site.  He  soon  fixed  upon  the  promontory  where  Sydney 
now  stands,  and  there  he  disembarked  on  the  26th  of  January,  1788.  Imme 
diately  on  his  arrival,  he  endeavoured  to  make  the  infant  settlement  inde 
pendent  of  supplies  from  Europe,  but  his  first  attempts  to  farm  at  Parramatta, 
then  called  Rose  Hill,  were  unsuccessful. 

Captain  Phillip  niled  with  rare  ability  imtil  1792  —  often  under  circum- 
stances of  considerable  difficulty.  He  was  succeeded  by  Captain  John  Himter, 

R.N.,  a  man  of  firm  character  and  of  generally  sound  judgment.  If  he  had 
met  with  more  loyal  co-operation  from  his  ofiicers  he  might  have  effected 
greater  good.    A  few  free  settlers  arrived,  and  agriculture  made  some  progress. 

The  MnsEUH,  Coli/EOe  Street,  Stonet 

The  rich  district  of  the  "Cow-pastures,"  about  forty  miles  to  the  southwest 
of  Sydney,  was  discovered  by  some  cattle,  which,  having  escaped  from  the 
herd,  increased  and  multiplied.  Two  churches  were  built,  one  at  Sy;dney  and 
the  other  at  Parramatta,  the  lormer  oemg  named  St.  Phillip  —  not  in  honour 
of  the  apostle,  but  of  the  first  governor. 

Captain  Philip  Gidley  King  was  the  third  governor.  Van  Diemen's 
Land  was  now  colonised  as  a  penal  settlement,  and  a  futile  attempt  was 
made  to  settle  at  Port  Phillip  Dy  Captain  David  Collins.  Several  free 
settlers  arrived,  and  grants  of  farms  upon  the  river  Hawkesbury  were  made 
to  them.  For  a  time  they  prospered,  out  one  of  those  floods,  to  which  the 
rivers  are  so  subject,  destroyed  £3,500  worth  of  produce.  Danger  of 
absolute  starvation  ensued,  as  this  valley  was  the  granary  of  the  colony. 
Maize  and  flour  sold  at  2s.  6d.  per  pound.  A  2  lb.  loaf  reacned  the  price 
of  5s.  For  many  months  the  inhabitants  aaoptea  stringent  measures  to 
restrict  consumption.  The  growth  of  garden  vegetables  was  encouraged, 
and  sea-fishing  was  imdertaken.  The  crisis  had  passed  when  Captain 
King's  term  of  office  expired.    He  left  the  colony  in  August,  1806. 

Captain  William  Bligh,  the  hero  of  the  mutiny  of  the  Bounty,  succeeded 
him.    The  fact  that  he  had  been  imfortunate  in  his  control  of  men  should 
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have  warned  the  English  government  against  his  appointment  to  so  diffi- 
cult a  charge  as  that  of  a  penai  settlement.  Almost  immediately  upon 

his  arrival  he  was  involved  in  disputes  with  the  officers  of  the  New  South 
Wales  corps,  whose  conduct  was  in  many  respects  open  to  censure.  The 
measures  which  were  adopted  by  Captain  Bligh  during  the  collision  which 
ensued  were,  to  say  the  least,  ill-advised.  The  opposition  to  them  culmi- 

nated in  an  overt  act  of  rebellion.  The  officers  of  the  corps  deposed  him 
from  his  office  on  the  26th  of  January,  1808.  He  was  placed  on  board  the 
Porpoise,  with  the  object  of  returning  to  England,  but  he  lingered  about 
Van  Diemen's  Land  and  the  coast  until  the  arrival  of  the  newly  appointed governor,  Colonel  Lachlan  Macquarie. 

The  earlier  difficulties  of  colonisation  had  now  been  surmoimted.  The 
state  of  the  settlement  was  well  described  by  Macquarie  himself  in  his 
vindication  of  the  policy  from  the  aspersions  cast  upon  him.  He  says 
that  on  his  arrival : 

"I  found  the  colony  barely  emerging  from  infantile  imbecility,  and 
suffering  from  various  privations  and  disabilities.  The  country  impene- 

trable beyond  forty  miles  from  Sydney,  agriculture  in  a  yet  languishing 
state,  commerce  in  its  early  dawn,  revenue  vmknown,  threatened  with 
famine,  the  public  buildings  in  a  state  of  dilapidation  and  mouldering  to 
decay,  the  few  roads  and  bridges  formerly  constructed  rendered  almost 
impassable,  tho  population  in  general  oppressed  by  poverty,  no  public 
credit  or  private  confidence,  the  morals  of  the  great  mass  of  the  populace 
in  the  lowest  state  of  debasement,  and  religious  worship  almost  tota.lly 
neglected.  Such  was  the  state  of  New  South  Wales  when  I  took  charge 
of  its  administration,  on  January  1st,  1810.  I  left  it  in  February  last 
(1821),  reaping  incalculable  advantages  from  my  extensive  and  important 
discoveries  in  all  directions,  including  the  supposed  almost  impassable 
barrier  called  the  'Blue  Mountains,'  to  the  westward  of  which  are  situated 
the  fertile  plains  of  Bathurst,  and  in  all  respects  enjoying  a  state  of  private 
comfort  and  public  prosperity  which  I  trust  will  at  least  equal  the  expecta- 

tion of  his  majesty's  government."  He  goes  on  to  say  that  in  1810  there 
were:  population,  11,590,  sheep,  25,888;  cattle,  9,544;  acres  in  cultiva- 

tion, 7,615;  and  Ihat  in  October,  1821,  the  population  was  38,778;  sheep, 
290,158;  cattle,  102,939;  acres  in  cultivation,  32,267. 

The  means  Macquarie  adopted  for  the  reformation  and  elevation  of 
the  prisoners  formed  matter  for  keen  controversy.  He  invited  to  his  table, 
and  appointed  as  magistrates  men  from  the  convict  population  whom 
he  supposed  to  be  reformed.  These  and  other  marks  of  favour  towards 
the  emancipists  were  deepl7  resented  by  the  free  settlers  and  by  the  military, 
who  then  constituted  society. 

The  controversy  excited  much  interest  in  England,  and  Mr.  John.  Bigge 
was  Gent  out  in  1819  with  the  fullest  powers  for  investigation.  Serious 
doubts  wore  entertained  in  Downing  Street,  not  only  as  to  the  wisdom  of 

Macquarie's  policy,  but  also  whether  transportation  had  not,  in  consequence 
of  it,  ceased  to  be  a  terror  to  evildoers.  After  an  inquiry  spread  over 
two  years,  three  separate  reports  were  forwarded;  a  continuation  of  trans- 

portation was  recommended,  but  several  improvements  in  discipline  were 

suggested.  The  governor's  avowed  patronage  of  prisoners  was  censured, 
and  his  liberality  in  the  issue  of  pardons  and  indulgences  was  severely 
animadverted  upon. 

Governor  Macquarie's  financial  policy  had  been  rather  singular.  The 
balance  of  trade  had  caused  a  scarcity  of  coin.  Private  individuals  were  auth- 
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orised  to  issue  promissory  notes  for  5s.,  redeemable  in  copper.  This  "  ciu-- 
rency  "  was  soon  depreciated  to  the  extent  of  25  per  cent.  It  was  the  origin  of 
the  slang  term  "  currency,"  a  name  bestowed  upon  the  native-born  youth 
as  contradistinguished  from  the  "sterling,"  by  which  term  the  immigrant 
was  known.  Another  expedient  to  prevent  the  exportation  of  the  Spanish 

dollar,  a  coin  then  much  in  use,  was  to  punch  out  the  centre.  The  "  dump" 
passed  for  Is.  3d.,  and  the  remaining  ring  was  declared  to  be  still  worth  5s. 

Old  colonists  were  for  many  years  familiar  with  the  phrase  the  "holy 
dollar,"  but  were  not  aware  of  the  origin  of  it./ 

ABOLITION   OF   TRANSPORTATION:     GOLD   AND    SHEEP 

Governor  Macquarie  was  succeeded  as  governor  in  1821  by  Sir  Thomas 
Brisbane,  the  distinguished  astronomer,  in  whose  administration  (1822-25) 
the  first  legislative  council  met,  trial  by  jury  in  criminal  cases  was  sub- 

stituted for  trial  by  military  juries,  and  the  censorship  of  the  press  was 
abolished.  A  penal  colony  established  at  Moreton  Bay  in  1824  after- 

ward developed  into  the  colony  of  Queensland,  the  capital  city  of  which 
was  named  from  Governor  Brisbane.  In  1825  Sir  Ralph  Darling  became 
governor  and  established  many  needed  reforms^  particularly  in  regard 
to  the  land  system.  It  was  during  his  administration  that  the  movement 
to  put  an  end  to  the  system  of  convict  transportation  attained  new  force 
by  the  alliance  of  the  governor  with  the  exclusionists.  In  1831  he  was  super- 

seded by  Sir  Richard  Bourke  of  whom  it  has  been  said  that  he  revolutionised 
the  whole  system  of  government,  and  inaugurated  a  new  era  for  the  colony. 

Free  grants  of  land,  excepting  such  as  were  for  public  purposes,  were 
abolished,  thus  doing  away  with  one  of  the  greatest  sources  of  fraud  and 
discontent.  The  convict  system  was  remodelled  and  regulated,  abuses 

in  "assignment"  were  rectified  and  the  severity  of  punishments  mitigated. 
The  immigration  of  women  was  encouraged  in  order  to  remedy  the  defect 
due  to  the  extraordinarily  disproportionate  numbers  of  men  in  the  colony; 
a  law  providing  for  more  liberal  religious  equality  was  enacted.  In  the 

six  years  of  Governor  Bourke's  administration  the  population  of  New South  Wales  had  almost  doubled. 
In  1838  Sir  George  Gipps  became  governor,  remaining  at  the  head  of 

the  colonial  government  until  1846.  A  violent  temper  and  great  obstinacy 
made  the  new  governor  unpopular  in  the  extreme,  but  his  administration 
was  marked  by  great  progress  in  many  directions.  It  was  a  period  of 
rapid  growth  in  the  new  districts  of  Victoria  (Australia  Felix  or  Port  Phillip) 
and  in  South  Australia.  The  abolition  of  transportation  in  1840  was 
followed  by  the  encouragement  of  free  immigration.  In  1841  the  popula- 

tion passed  130,000.  Extravagant  speculation,  undue  inflation,  over- 
trading and  overproduction  led  to  a  crisis  which  was  precipitated  by  a 

fall  in  the  price  of  wool  in  England  and  a  severe  drought  in  1841-42.  Land 
sales  fell  from  £316,000  in  1840  to  £90,000  in  the  following  year,  and  in 
1842  the  sales  barely  defrayed  the  expenses  of  the  survey. 

Sir  Charles  Fitzroy  was  governor  from  1846-1855.  His  administra- 
tion was  marked  by  several  occurrences  of  importance.  By  1851  the 

population  of  New  South  Wales  had  reached  190,000  while  Victoria  and 
South  Australia  aggregated  about  80,000  inhabitants  each.« 

At  Summerhill  Creek,  20  miles  north  of  Bathurst,  in  the  Macquarie 
plains,  gold  was  discovered,  in  February,  1851,  by  Edward  Hammond 
Hargraves,   an   Australian   gold  miner  returned  from  California.    The 
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intelligence  was  made  known  in  April  or  May;  and  then  began  a  rush  of 
thousands  —  men  leaving  their  former  employments  in  the  bush  or  in  the 
towns  to  search  for  the  ore  so  greatly  coveted  in  all  ages.  In  August  it 
was  foimd  at  Anderson's  Creek,  near  Melbourne;  a  few  weeks  later  the 
great  Ballarat  gold  field,  80  miles  west  of  that  city,  was  opened;  and  after 
that,  Bendigo,  now  called  Sandhurst,  to  the  north.  Not  only  in  these 
lucky  provinces,  New  South  Wales  and  Victoria,  where  the  auriferous 
deposits  were  re- 

vealed, but  in  every 
British  colony  of 
Australasia,  all  ordi- 

nary industry  was 
left  for  the  one  excit- 

ing pursuit.  The 
copper  mines  of  South 
Australia  were  for  the 
time  deserted,  while 
Tasmania  and  New 
Zealand  lost  many 
inhabitants,  who  em- 

igrated to  the  more 
promising  country. 
The  disturbance  of 
social,  industrial,  and 
comrnercial  affairs, 
during  the  first  two  or  t>hree  years  of  the  gold  era,  was  very  great.  Immi- 

grants from  Europe,  and  to  some  extent  from  North  America  and  China, 
poured  into  Melbourne,  where  the  arrivals  in  1852  averaged  2,000  persons 
in  a  week.  The  population  of  Victoria  was  doubled  in  the  first  twelve- 

month of  the  gold  fever.* 
In  the  year  of  the  gold  discovery  Victoria  was  established  as  an  inde- 

pendent colony.  Two  years  later  (1853),  the  imperial  parliament  enacted 
as  law  the  new  constitution  drawn  up  by  the  New  South  Wales  legislative 
council  which  made  the  colony  self-governing  on  a  responsible  representa- 

tive basis .« 
Any  one,  who  had  patiently  studied  the  statistics  of  Australia  during  the 

opening  years  of  the  nineteenth  century  might  have  been  puzzled  to  name 
the  advantages  which  were  likely  to  result  from  the  foundation  of  the  settle- 

ment. Yet  there  were,  even  at  that  time,  causes  in  operation  which  were 
slowly  securing  success  for  the  colony.  In  1791  the  same  ship  which  had 
brought  out  a  load  of  fever-stricken  convicts  carried  a  young  man,  John 
MacArthur,  who  had  bought  a  commission  in  the  corps  which  the  government 
decided  tw  form  for  New  South  Wales,  and  who  was  resolute  to  seek  his  fortune 
in  the  colony.  Three  years  afterwards,  when  land  was  granted  to  officers, 
MacArthur  purchased  sixty  Bengal  ewes  and  lambs  which  had  been  imported 
from  Calcutta,  and  two  Irish  ewes  and  a  young  ram.  The  Indian  sheep  pro- 

duced coarse  hair,  but  by  crossing  the  two  breeds,  MacArthur  had  the  satis- 
faction to  see  the  lambs  of  the  Indian  ewes  bear  a  mingled  fleece  of  hair  and 

wool.  He  had  the  perspicacity  to  infer  from  this  circumstance  that  the 
climate  of  the  colony  was  suited  to  the  production  of  wool,  and  he  had  the 
courage  to  speculate  on  the  conclusions  which  he  formed.  It  so  happened 
that  a  flock  of  Merino  sheep  was  on  sale  at  the  Cape  of  Good  Hope,  that  its 
value  was  not  understood  by  the  Dutch,  and  that  an  agent  whom  MacArthur 
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employed  succeeded  in  securing  five  ewes  and  three  rams  from  among  tiiem. 
Taking  every  precaution  to  preserve  the  breed  pure,  MacArthur  subsequently 
added  to  his  flock  1,200  sheep  which  he  purchased  at  the  Cape.  In  1801  he 
carried  to  England  specimens  of  the  wool  which  he  had  obtained  from  his 
flock;  and  in  1804  he  succeeded  in  obtaining  a  grant  of  5,000  acres  of  land  and 
an  assignment  of  convicts  for  the  prosecution  of  his  experiment.  Confident 
as  MacArthur  was,  he  could  hardly  have  foreseen,  and  he  did  not  himself  live 
to  see,  the  full  consequence  of  what  he  was  doing.  In  1800  New  South 
Wales  possessed  6,757  sheep,  or  probably  as  many  sheep  as  there  were  people 
in  the  colony;  in  1821  she  had  120,000  sheep,  or  about  three  sheep  for  every 
person  in  the  colony.  In  1834,  when  the  population  had  risen  to  between 
60,000  and  60,000,  the  sheep  had  increased  to  1,000,000.  In  1839,  when  the 
population  exceeded  100,000,  the  sheep  niombered  3,000,000.  In  1856  the 
colony  contained  265,000  persons  and  7,700,000  sheep.  In  the  next  twenty- 
five  years  the  population  was  trebled,  and  the  huge  stock  of  sheep  increased 
more  than  fourfold./ 

Ministry  succeeded  ministry  at  short  intervals,  and  it  was  some  years 
before  constitutional  government  worked  smoothly.  The  powers  of  the  new 
parliament  were  utilised  for  extending  representative  institutions.  Vote  by 
ballot  was  introduced;  the  number  of  members  in  the  assembly  was  increased 

■  to  80,  and  the  franchise  was  granted  to  every  adult  male  after  six  months' 
residence  in  any  electoral  area.  Meanwhile  the  material  progress  of  the 
colony  was  unchecked. 

Diu-ing  the  regime  of  Sir  John  Young,  afterwards  Lord  Lisgar,  who  suc- 
ceeded Sir  William  Denison  in  1861,  several  important  events  occurred.  TTie 

land  policy  of  previous  governments  was  entirely  revised,  and  the  Land  Bill, 
framed  by  Sir  John  Robertson,  introduced  the  principle  of  deferred  payments 
for  the  purchase  of  crown  lands,  and  made  residence  and  cultivation,  rather 
than  a  sufficient  price,  the  object  to  be  sought  by  the  crown  in  alienating  the 
public  estate.  This  measure  was  followed  by  similar  legislation  in  all  of  the 
Australian  colonies.  It  was  during  the  governorship  of  Sir  John  Young  that 
the  distinction  between  the  descendants  of  convicts  and  the  descendants  of 
free  settlers,  hitherto  maintained  with  great  strictness,  was  finally  abandoned. 
In  1862  the  agitation  against  the  Chinese  assumed  importance,  and  the  atti- 

tude of  the  miners  at  Lanibing  Flat  was  so  threatening  that  a  large  force, 
military  and  police  was  despatched  to  that  gold-field  in  order  to  protect  the 
Chinamen  from  ill  treatment  by  the  miners.  The  railways  were  gradually 
extended,  and  the  condition  of  the  country  roads  was  improved.  The  only 
drawback  to  the  general  progress  and  prosperity  of  the  country  was  the 
recrudescence  of  bushranging,  or  robbery  under  arms,  in  the  country  districts. 
This  crime,  originally  confined  to  runaway  convicts,  was  now  committed  by 
young  men  born  in  the  colony,  familiar  with  its  mountains  and  forests,  who 
were  good  horsemen  and  excellent  shots.  It  was  not  until  a  large  number  of 
lives  had  been  sacrificed,  and  many  bushrangers  brought  to  the  scaffold,  that 
the  offence  was  thoroughly  stamped  out  in  New  South  Wales,  only  to  reappear 
some  years  afterwards  under  somewhat  similar  conditions. 

The  earl  of  Belmore  was  governor  from  1868  to  1872.  Sir  Hercules  Rob- 
inson, afterwards  Lord  Rosmead,  was  sworn  in  as  governor  in  1872.  During 

his  rule  the  long  series  of  political  struggles,  which  prevented  any  administra- 
tion from  remaining  in  office  long  enough  to  develop  its  pohcy,  was  brought 

to  an  end  by  a  coalition  between  Sir  Henry  Parkes  and  Sir  John  Robertson. 
Lord  Augustus  Loftus  became  governor  in  1879,  in  time  to  inaugurate  the  first 
international  e,xhibition  ever  held  in  Australia.    The  census  taken  during  the 
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following  year  gave  the  population  of  the  colony  as  751,468.  The  railway  to 
Melbourne  was  completed  in  1880;  and  in  1883  valuable  deposits  of  silver 
were  discovered  at  Broken  Hill,  near  the  western  frontier  of  New  South  Wales. 

In  1889  the  premier,  Sir  Henry  Tarkes,  gave  his  adhesion  to  the  movement 
for  Australasian  federation,  and  New  South  Wales  was  represented  at  the  first 
conference  held  at 
Melbourne  in  the  be- 

ginning of  1890. 
Lord  Jersey  assumed 
office  January  15, 
1891,  and  a  few  weeks 
afterwards  the  con- 

ference to  consider 

the  question  of  fed- 
erating the  Austra- 

lian colonies  was  held 
at  Sydney.  A  board 
of  arbitration  and 
conciliation  to  hear 
and  determine  la- 

bour questions  and 
disputes  was  formed  and  by  later  legislation  its  powers  have  been  strength- 

ened." Sir  William  Duff,  who  followed  Lord  Jersey,  died  in  1895,  and  was 
succeeded  by  Lord  Hampden,  who  in  1899  gave  way  to  Earl  Beauchamp. 
Federation  was  not  so  popular  in  New  South  Wales  as  in  some  of  the  colonies; 
and  when  the  federation  bill  came  before  the  people  there  was  doubt  as  to 
the  outcome,  but  those  favouring  the  measure  carried  the  day,  and  New  South 
Wales  entered  the  union." 

THE  SETTLEMENT  OF  VAN  DIEMEN'S  LAND 

When  Van  Diemen's  Land,  as  the  island  of  Tasmania  was  first  called,  was 
first  occupied  in  1803  it  was  intended  to  devote  it  to  colonisation  of  the  more 
dangerous  criminals,  particularly  the  Irish  rebels  of  1798.  For  almost  a  quar- 

ter of  a  century  it  was  little  but  a  convict  settlement  imder  the  control  of  the 
governor  of  New  South  Wales,  represented  by  a  lieutenant-governor  at  Hobart 
Town.  In  1810  the  total  population  was  only  1,300.  Bushranging  was  rife, 
and  there  was  no  guarantee  of  safety  to  either  life  or  property.  In  December, 
1825,  Van  Diemen's  Land,  its  population  being  then  over  8,000,  was  separated 
from  New  South  Wales  and  made  a  separate  colony  under  the  governorship 
of  Sir  George  Arthur,  who  continued  in  control  until  1836.  _  Hewas  an  able 
man,  and  a  strict  and  perhaps  at  times  a  rather  autocratic  disciplinarian. 
But  strict  discipline  was  exactly  what  the  colony  demanded  and  the  admin- 

istration of  Governor  Arthur  marked  the  beginning  of  a  new  era  for  the  island 
that  was  to  prepare  the  way  for  the  still  better  time  to  come  when  the  convict 
transportation  should  cease.  During  this  period  too  occurred  the  expeditions 
against  the  aborigines  known  as  the  Black  War.  This  was  an  attemptto 
hem  in  by  a  cordon  drawn  across  the  island  the  remainder  of  the  native 
tribes  which  had  been  giving  trouble  to  the  rapidly  growing  sheep  raising 
communities.  An  inglorious  campaign  in  which  3,500  regular  and  volun- 

teer troops  were  employed  resulted  in  the  expenditure  of  £30,000  but  nothing 
more.  In  1837  conciliatory  methods  prevailed  where  force  had  failed  and 

the  remnants  of  the  native  population  were  removed  en  masse  to  Flinder's H.  w. — VOL.  xxn.  B 
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Island.  Sir  John  Franklin  of  Arctic  exploration  fame,  succeeded  Sir  George 
Arthur  as  governor  in  1836  and  free  immigration  soon  commenced.  For 

years  the  political  history  of  Van  Diemen's  Land  is  confined  almost  exclu- 
sively to  agitation  against  transportation.  The  system  known  as  "assign- 
ment" was  tried  and  failed.  The  introduction  of  "probation  gangs"  was 

infinitely  worse.  At  length  a  league  was  formed  with  the  other  colonies  and 
in  1853  this  iniquitous  system,  so  long  a  blot  on  the  fair  fame  of  Australia, 
was  abolished.  Even  the  old  name  of  the  island  was  changed  to  that  of  Tas- 

mania in  the  effort  to  efface  from  memory  the  awful  rigime  which  the  name  of 
Van  Diemen's  Land  must  ever  recall." 

THE  CONVICT  SYSTEM  IN  VAN  DIEMEN's  LAND 

It  mattered  little  in  earlier  times  whether  the  convict  was  located  at  Hobart 
Town,  in  the  bleak  and  inhospitable  regions  of  Macquarie  Harbour,  or  later 
still  at  Port  Arthur  or  on  Maria  Island  —  there  was  no  material  difference  in 
the  nature  of  the  punishments  inflicted  on  him,  and  it  would  be  a  stretch  of 
the  imagination  to  suppose  that  worse  things  have  ever  happened  in  Siberia. 
Weighted  down  with  heavy  chains,  which  made  walking  exceedingly  difficult, 
the  convict  was  required  to  toil  in  the  woods  or  in  the  immediate  neighbour- 

hood of  his  prison,  from  day  to  day  and  month  to  month,  without  hope  of  his 
fetters  ever  being  removed  or  the  exactions  upon  his  powers  of  physical  endur- 

ance made  less  irksome  or  hard  to  bear.  If  he  complained  that  he  was  too  ill 
to  continue  with  his  gang,  no  relief  was  forthcoming.  His  physical  weakness 
was  called  malingering,  and  his  complainings  only  increased  the  brutality  of 
his  jailers  and  sent  him  to  the  triangle,  where  fifty  lashes,  and  sometimes  a 
hundred,  upon  his  bared  back  and  loins  were  applied  as  a  preventive  of  any 
complaints  in  future.  Flogging  was  resorted  to  sometimes  for  the  most 
trivial  breaches  of  prison  discipline,  and  the  cat  was  painfully  in  evidence 
upon  many  occasions  when  there  was  not  the  slightest  justification  for  recourse 
to  that  method  of  punishment.  Solitary  confinement,  for  days  and  even  weeks 
upon  the  most  inadequate  sustenance,  was  frequently  the  sequel  to  the  bar- 

barous lash,  and  if  the  convicts  survived  the  trying  ordeal,  they  emerged  from 
it  with  a  fixed  determination  to  revenge  themselves  whenever  they  had  a 
chance,  by  taking  the  lives  of  those  whose  cruelties  had  converted  their  hearts 
to  stone  and  made  them  utterly  reckless  and  desperate,  careless  of  prolonged 
existence  after  the  accomplishment  of  the  deeds  of  vengeance  they  had  resolved 
to  perpetrate  upon  their  inhuman  persecutors.  Many  of  them  succumbed 
before  they  had  the  opportunity,  and  straight  from  the  triangle  to  the  dead- 
house  was  the  last  record  of  some  who  ceased  to  live  before  the  full  number 
of  lashes  could  be  inflicted  upon  them.  It  was  an  offence  to  some  of  the  prison 
officials  if  a  convict  endured  his  flagellation  unflinchingly,  and  then  the  cat 

was  applied  more  ferociously  to  break  his  spirit  and  ensm-e  submissiveness. 
But  the  cruellest  part  of  the  proceedings  at  these  penal  establishments  was 
when  a  man  was  called  upon  to  flog  a  fellow  convict,  and,  if  he  refused  to 
comply,  straight  away  he  was  fastened  to  the  triangle  and  as  many  lashes 
administered  as  suited  the  whim  of  the  monster  whose  odious  command  had 
been  disobeyed.  Orders  of  this  description,  however,  were  sometimes  given 
effect  to  by  convicts  of  weaker  spirit  who  dreaded  the  lash  more  than  anything 
else,  and  if  they  displayed  any  merciful  feelings  by  making  their  strokes 
lighter  than  it  was  considered  they  should  be,  they  were  instantly  threatened 
with  flagellation,  and  the  force  of  their  strokes  was  increased  accordingly. 

The  discipline  was  so  rigorous  and  the  punishments  so  severe  at  these 
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penal  establishments,  that  instances  occurred  where  convicts  took  each  other's 
lives  so  that  they  themselves  might  suffer  death,  and  suicide  was  by  no  means 
infrequent. 

Incredible  as  it  may  seem,  but  only  two  Well  substantiated  by  positive 
testimony,  incidents  of  this  kind  sometimes  happened.  Convicts,  maddened 
to  despair,  brooded  over  the  sufferings  inflicted  upon  them,  and  seeing  no 
possible  means  of  escape,  resolved  to  face  death  as  the  only  release  from 
tortures  and  agonies  which    
were    truly   revolting.    Ut-  5. 
terly  careless  of  their  lives, 
three  or  four  of  these  men 
who  were  subjected  to  treat- 

ment so  diabolical  would 
conspire  amongst  each  other 
to  put  an  end  to  sufferings 
which  were  beyond  endur- 

ance. How  was  this  to  be 
accomplished?  They  decided 
the  question  in  this  way: 
they  drew  lots,  and  one  of 
their  number — the  man  who 
drew  the  shortest  straw  — 
was  to  be  murdered  by  the 
others,  so  -that  they  might 
be  hanged  for  his  murder. 
The  man  who  drew  the  short- 

est straw  was  called  the  lucky 
one,  and  he  was  soon  de- 

spatched out  of  his  misery. 
There  was  no  effort  to  deny 
how  he  had  come  by  his 
death;  self-accusation  served 
the  purpose  of  his  murder- 

ers, and  they  were  executed 
for  a  crime  which  they  had 
arranged  amongst  themselves  to  commit  in  order  that  the  scaffold  might 
claim  its  voluntary  victims.  "Anywhere,  anywhere  out  of  the  world,"  it 
mattered  not  how  ignominiously,  was  a  welcomed  termination  to  their 
miserable  and  brutalised  existence  in  the  penal  prisons  of  Van  Diemen's 
Land.  The  instruments  of  torture  at  these  places  were  various,  and  al- 

ways too  ready  at  hand:  the  iniquities  of  the  Spanish  Inquisition  were 
perpetrated  with  impvmity  upon  helpless  victims,  and  the  poor  wretches 
courted  death  and  met  it  voluntarily  and  imflLnchingly,  as  though  it  had 
been  a  heaven-sent  deliverance  from  their  dreadful  trials.  It  is  with  shame 
one  has  to  admit  that  such  things  were  not  only  possible  under  the  convict 
system,  but  that  they  actually  took  place  in  the  penal  establishments  of 
Van  Diemen's  Land  and  Australia  untU  the  exposure  of  these  inhuman  out- 

rages led  to  their  discontinuance.  Had  the  British  government  and  people 
of  a  past  generation  been  sooner  apprised  of  them,  it  is  only  just  to  their 
feelings  of  humanity  to  believe  that  drastic  measures,would  have  been  taken 
at  a  much  earlier  period  to  punish  those  who  were  responsible  for  these  atroci- 

ties, and  to  reform  the  transportation  system. 

More  convicts  were  sent  to  Van  Diemen's  Land  than  anywhere  else; 
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the  stations  there  were  more  romantically  situated  and  isolated  to  an  extent 
that  removed  them  from  public  supervision,  and  permitted  abuses  to  exist 
which  might  have  been  checked  if  Macquarie  Harbour,  for  instance,  had 

been  nearer  to  the  capital.  Van  Diemen's  Land  gained  a  greater  notoriety 
than  any  other  colony  in  connection  with  the  system  of  transportation,  and 
the  desperate  escapes  which  were  made  from  its  prisons  invested  the  colony 
with  a  degree  of  interest  and  attention  specially  its  own.  The  capital  itself 
was  a  hotbed  of  all  sorts  of  crime  and  iniquity  in  the  days  of  Governor  SoreU, 
one  of  the  earliest  governors,  and  for  years  afterwards.  It  was  quite  a  common 
thing  for  officers  and  others  to  keep  female  convicts  as  their  mistresses,  and 
vice  and  immorality  were  the  outcomes  to  be  expected  from  a  system  which 

allowed  free  settlers  and  military  men  to  make  their  own  selection  of  "  assigned 
prisoners"  as  servants.  Free  and  bond  appear  to  have  been  tarred  with 
the  same  brush,  if  reliance  can  be  placed  on  the  early  chroniclers  of  existing 
social  conditions.  The  written  pictures  of  life  in  Hobart  Town  indicate 
pretty  clearly  that  the  military  portion  of  the  population  could  do  exactly 
what  they  pleased,  and,  as  may  be  inferred,  the  morals  of  the  place  did  not 
improve  from  this  unbridled  license.  Drunkenness  was  very  rampant,  and 
Ulicit  intercourse  between  bond  and  free  was  too  general  to  be  regarded  as 
a  subject  for  remonstrance  or  reproach.  In  those  days  murders  and  other 
personal  outrages  were  of  frequent  occurrence,  and  floggings  and  hangings 
were  spectacles  that  could  be  witnessed  at  intervals  which  were  neither  few 
nor  far  between.  Occasionally,  as  many  as  six  or  eight  condemned  prisoners 
were  launched  iiito  eternity  upon  the  same  morning;  and,  as, far  as  floggings 
are  concerned,  the  billets  of  the  official  flagellators  were  no  sinecures.  The 
victims  were  many,  and  the  punishments  unmercifully  severe  and  sometimes 
fatal.  In  the  prisons  themselves,  not  only  in  Hobart  Town,  but  at  Macquarie 
Harbour,  Port  Arthur,  and  Maria  Island,  crimes  were  committed  of  a  nature 
too  revolting  to  be  recounted  in  these  pages.  Any  one  desirous  of  perusing 
the  imsavoury  details  need  not  go  so  far  away  as  Sydney  or  Hobart  to  get 
nauseated  with  that  kind  of  reading.  All  he  has  got  to  do  is  to  refer  to  the 
evidence  given  before  select  committees  of  the  house  of  lords  and  house 
of  commons,  and  he  will  find  that  the  convict  system  has  never  been  too 
severely  condemned,  nor  the  brutalities  and  villainies  practised  under  that 
system  overdrawn  for  the  purposes  of  sensationalism.  The  wonder  is  that 
these  penal  stations  were  not  broken  up  long  before  the  mandate  went  forth 
to  abolish  them.c 

SOUTH  AUSTRALIA 

The  settlement  of  South  Australia  as  a  separate  and  distinct  colony 
originated  with  a  few  gentlemen  in  London.  Negotiations  were  opened 
with  the  imperial  government  in  1831  with  a  view  to  obtaining  a  charter 
giving  certain  concessions  to  the  projectors.  Possibly  from  the  affair  not 
being  in  proper  hands  in  the  first  instance,  the  negotiations  came  to  nought. 
They  were  resumed  in  1834,  when  a  meeting  was  held  in  Exeter  Hall  for 
discussing  the  principles  on  which  the  new  colony  was  to  be  established. 
Edward  Gibbon  Wakefield,  an  advanced  political  economist  for  those  days, 
had  thought  out  a  system  of  colonisation,  which  he  maintained  was  the  only 
true  system  possessing  the  elements  of  stability  and  success.  His  system 
was  based  on  two  principles :  in  all  cases  to  sell  the  land  for  a  fair  and  reason- 

able value,  and  to  devote  the  proceeds  to  the  introduction  of  labour  from 
the  mother  country.    He  maintained  that  the  worst  thing  that  could  happen 
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to  a  new  country  was  to  give  the  land  away  in  large  blocks;  and  he  found  a 
striking  illustration  of  this  in  the  history  of  Western  Australia.  Grants  of 
land  of  20,000  or  50,000  acres  had  been  made  to  favoured  individuals,  but 

they  had  turned  out  to  be  utterly  worthless.  The  "fathers  and  founders" 
of  the  colony  of  South  Australia  resolved  to  start  it  on  the  principles  laid 
down  by  Mr.  Wakefield. 

Now,  the  object  of  the  originators  of  this  colony  of  South  Australia  was 
to  combine  labour  and  capital.  They  who  had  money  were  to  emigrate  by 
means  of  their  own  resources,  purchase  land  in  limited  blocks,  as  far  as  possible 
within  given  areas,  and  the  money  received  for  the  land  was  to  be  used  in 
bringing  out  labour.  By  this  means  it  was  believed  there  would  be  a  healthy 
combination  of  capital  and  labour,  and  the  population  would  be  concentrated 
within  certain  surveyed  districts,  where  the  early  settlers  would  be  able  to 
help  one  another. 

At  the  outset  it  was  resolved  that  the  price  of  land  should  be  12s.  an  acre, 
to  be  increased  after  a  fixed  time  to  £1  per  acre.    Men  of  means  would  bring 
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out  their  money,  purchase  land  on  which  they  would  settle,  and  with  the 
money  paid  for  it  immigrants  would  be  introduced  into  the  new  settlements, 
whose  labour  would  be  available  for  working  the  land  and  making  it  produc- 

tive. These  preliminary  points  being  settled,  an  application  was  made  to 
the  imperial  parliament  for  an  act,  by  an  association  of  gentlemen  calling 
themselves  "The  South  AustraUan  Association."  In  August  of  1834  the 
act  was  passed.  This  act  defined  the  limits  of  the  new  colony,  gave  power 
to  persons  approved  by  the  privy  council  to  frame  laws,  establish  courts, 
appoint  officers,  chaplains,  and  clergymen  of  the  Church  of  England  or  Scot- 

land, and  to  levy  duties  and  taxes.  Three  or  four  commissioners  were  to  be 
appointed  by  the  crown  to  carry  the  act  into  execution.  The  lands  of  the 
crown  in  the  colony  were  to  be  surveyed  and  open  for  purchase  by  British 
subjects,  or  let  on  rent  for  three  years  —  the  purchase-money  and  rent  to  be 
employed  in  conducting  the  emigration  of  poor  peasants  from  Great  Britain 
or  Ireland  to  the  South  Australian  province  or  provinces. 

One  clause  deserves  to  be  specially  mentioned,  because  to  it  the  colony 
owes  to  a  large  extent  the  good  order  of  its  people  and  the  security  to  life 
and  property  which  have  distinguished  it  from  the  very  beginning.    Clause 
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22  provides  "That  no  person  or  persons  convicted  in  any  court  of  justice 
in  Great  Britain  or  Ireland,  or  elsewhere,  shall  at  any  time,  or  under  any 
circumstances,  be  transported  as  a  convict  to  any  place  within  the  limits 
hereinbefore  described." 

In  the  colonies  of  New  South  Wales  and  Van  Diemen's  Land,  and  more 
recently  in  Western  Australia,  the  taint  of  convictism  seriously  deteriorated 
the  pure  stream  of  social  and  moral  health  of  the  community.  The  evils 
of  this  system  of  letting  the  penal  scum  and  felonry  of  Great  Britain  into 
these  new  lands  was  mown  to  the  founders  of  South  Austraha,  who  were 

not  ignorant  of  the  early  social  life  of  New  South  Wales  and  Van  Diemen's 
Land,  and  they  resolved  that  from  the  first  hour  of  its  history  the  new  colony 
should  be  preserved  from  this  fatal  taint.® 

The  colony  began  its  actual  existence  with  the  arrival  at  Holdfast  Bay 
on  December  28,  1836,  of  the  first  governor.  Captain  Hindmarsh  and  a  com- 

pany of  settlers.  Hindmarsh  proved  a  poor  administrator  and  in  a  little  over 
a  year  was  superseded  by  Colonel  Gawler.  The  course  of  colonial  progress 
in  South  Australia  was  similar  to  that  in  the  other  colonies.  Speculation 
was  followed  by  a  period  of  distress  and  confusion.  The  prices  of  food  pro- 

ducts rose  enormously:  flom-  sold  at  £100  per  ton.  Colonel  Gawler 's  pohcy 
of  undertaking  extensive  public  works  to  keep  the  unemployed  busy  was 
not  approved  by  the  colonial  secretary  and  he  was  superceded  by  Captain, 
afterward  Sir  George  Grey  and  at  the  same  time  the  authority  of  the  South 

Australian  Company  was  abolished.  Governor  Grey's  reforms  were  efficacious 
and  ere  long  the  colony  was  on  a  self  supporting  basis  and  growing  rapidly. 
In  the  administration  of  Colonel  Robe,  who  became  governor  in  1845,  were 
made  the  important  discoveries  of  copper  at  Kapunda  and  Bm-ra  Bvirra.  Sir 
Henry  Fox  Young,  who  succeeded  as  governor  in  1848,  had  to  face  the  serious 
crisis  growing  out  of  the  discovery  of  gold  in  Victoria  in  1851,  the  rush  to 
the  gold  fields  threatening  for  a  time  to  depopulate  the  colony.  But  the 
increased  prosperity  of  the  succeeding  years  more  than  made  up  for  the  tem- 

porary set-back.  In  the  year  1853  a  new  constitution  establishing  a  respon- 
sible government  on  a  representative  basis  was  adopted,  and  although  there 

were  thirty-one  changes  of  ministry  in  the  succeeding  twenty-two  years  it 
can  be  said  to  have  worked  satisfactorily .» 

From  its  origin  as  the  venture  of  private  enterprise.  South  Australia  has 
passed  through  orderly  stages  of  evolution  up  to  the  zenith  of  democratic 
government.  Such  alterations  as  have  been  made  in  the  constitution  have 
been  in  the  direction  of  a  still  further  enlargement  of  the  franchise.  Payment 
of  members  proved  to  be  the  corollary  of  manhood  suffrage.  It  was  held  that 
an  unrestricted  right  of  selection  was  unavailing  if  the  area  of  selection  was 
limited  to  the  few  who  had  been  specially  favoured  by  fortune.  In  1887  a 
temporary  act  was  passed  for  the  payment  of  £200  a  year  to  each  member  of 
both  houses,  and  in  1890  the  law  was  made  permanent.  Thus  was  rendered 
possible  the  direct  representation  of  all  classes.  Soon  afterwards  the  par- 

liamentary labour  party  came  into  existence;  this  forms  a  considerable  pro- 
portion of  the  membership  of  both  houses,  and  includes  in  its  ranks  men  of 

the  highest  intelligence,  industry,  and  eloquence.  In  1894  the  principle  of 
"  one  man  vote  "  was  extended  to  that  of  "  one  adult  one  vote  "  by  the  inclusion 
of  women  as  voters  on  terms  of  absolute  equaHty  with  men.  Experience  has 
demonstrated  that,  owing  to  the  intrusion  of  the  personal  element,  general 
elections  have  often  failed  to  afford  conclusive  evidence  of  the  state  of  the 
popular  will.  Attention  has  therefore  been  directed  towards  the  referendum 
as  a  means  of  obtaining  an  unquestionable  verdict  on  important  public  issues. 
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Although  no  general  statute  had  been  formulated  on  the  subject  up  to  1902, 
custom  has  definitely  established  the  practice.  Undoubtedly  the  practical 
application  of  the  referendum  in  South  Australia  facilitated  the  adoption  of 
this  principle  in  the  ratification  and  in  the  method  of  amendment  of  the  com- 

monwealth constitution.  The  right  of  the  second  chamber  to  suggest  amend- 
ments to  bills  which  it  has  not  power  to  amend  was  borrowed  by  the  common- 

wealth from  the  constitution  of  South  Australia,  as  also  was  the  idea  of  a 
simultaneous  dissolution  of  both  houses  as  a  means  of  overcoming  possible 
deadlocks  between  the  chambers. 

The  existence  of  South  Australia  as  a  colony  was  co-terminous  with  the 
reign  of  Queen  Victoria.  The  colony  was  established  only  a  few  months 
before  the  accession  of  that  monarch,  and  South  Australia  ceased  to  be  a 
colony  by  entering  the  commonwealth  as  a  state  within  a  few  days  of  the  close 
of  the  Victorian  Age.* 

VICTORIA 

The  early  attempts  to  colonise  the  Victoria  district  were  fruitless.  Fears 
that  the  French  contemplated  a  settlement  in  the  region  led  the  government 
to  send  Lieutenant  Grimes  to  examine  the  coimtry  as  early  as  1802.  He 
visited  the  site  of  the  present  city  of  Melbourne,  but  his  report  was  unfavour- 

able, as  was  that  given  by  Colonel  Collins  who  was  dispatched  thither  in  the 
succeeding  year  with  instructions  to  found  a  settlement  at  Port  Phillip  and 
who  returned  without  completing  his  mission.  A  number  of  similar  failures 
are  to  be  recorded  during  the  first  two  decades  of  the  nineteenth  century. 
The  real  founders  of  Victoria  were  undoubtedly  the  Hentys,  sons  of  a  Sussex 
banker  who  had  gone  out  to  Australia  as  members  of  the  unfortunate  Swan 
River  Colony  in  1829,  and  in  1834  established  several  sheep  farms  in  the 
neighbourhood  of  the  present  Portland.  In  May,  1835,  colonists  from  Van 

Diemen's  Land  established  themselves  at  Geelong.  In  the  August  following, 
John  P.  Fawkner  and  his  associates  laid  the  foimdation  of  Melbourne,  which, 
after  some  hesitation,  was  recognised  by  the  appointment  of  a  magistrate  by 
the  Sydney  government.  In  1839  Governor  Latrobe  was  appointed  by  the 
New  South  Wales  government  as  its  representative  in  what  was  then  known 
as  the  Port  Phillip  district,  holding  office  until  he  became  the  first  governor 
of  the  colony  of  Victoria  in  1851.  The  jealousy  between  the  Sydney  and 
Melbourne  governments  was  intense  and  bitter  for  many  years,  and  the  former 
threw  every  obstacle  in  the  way  of  the  separation  of  Port  PhUlip.  The  justice 
of  the  demand  was  too  apparent  to  be  resisted  however  and  in  July,  1851,  the 
Port  Phillip  district,  renamed  the  colony  of  Victoria,  began  its  independent 
existence.  In  1851  the  population  of  the  colony  aggregated  90,000.  In  the 
same  year  gold  was  discovered  at  Ballarat,  and  in  1852  the  new  settlers  enter- 

ing the  colony  numbered  over  70,000.  At  the  end  of  ten  years  (1861)  the 
population  was  six  times  that  of  1851.  Local  self-government  was  introduced 
in  1853,  and  responsible  government  established  under  a  new  constitution  in 
1855.  In  the  same  year  discontent  in  the  gold  fields,  due  to  an  exorbitant 
license  fee  charged  all  miners  culminated  in  an  armed  revolt.  The  difficulty 
was  eventually  overcome  by  the  substitution  of  an  export  duty  on  gold  for 
the  licence  fee. 

The  political  history  of  Victoria  was  for  some  decades  little  more  than  the 
story  of  bitter  struggles  between  the  liberal,  or  democratic  party,  firmly 
ensconced  in  the  lower  branch  of  the  legislature  and  the  conservatives  who 
controlled  the  council.    The  widest  divergence  has  been  upon  the  question  of 
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protection  or  free  trade,  the  democratic  assembly  declaring  for  the  fonner 
while  the  conservative  council  stood  out  firmly  for  the  latter  policy.  So 
bitter  was  the  struggle  and  so  uncompromising  were  the  partisans,  that  on 
several  occasions  all  legislation  came  to  an  end  and  the  whole  fabric  of  society 
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was  shaken  to  its  foundations.  In  1891  began  an  era  in  which  the  coUectivist 
idea  dominated  the  legislation  to  an  unprecedented  degree.  The  principle 

of  "one  man  one  vote"  was  established:  old  age  pensions  and  "eight  hoiu-" 
laws  enacted,  and  tribunals  for  fixing  a  minimum  wage  provided. 

WESTERN  AUSTRALIA 

The  earliest  settlement  in  Western  Australia  was  made  in  1825  by  Major 
Lockyer  who  was  despatched  thither  with  a  company  of  convicts  to  head  off 
a  threatened  French  occupation.  In  three  years  the  settlers  returned  to  New 
South  Wales.  In  1827  Captain  (Sir  James)  Sterling  reported  favourably  on 
the  availability  of  the  Swan  River  region,  and  in  1829  he  was  sent  out  as 
lieutenant-governor  of  a  new  colony  established  under  the  auspices  of  an 
association  of  London  promoters.  But  the  colony  did  not  prosper."  The 
fault  was  an  ignorance  of  the  first  principles  of  colonisation.  Vast  tracts  of 
land  were  sold  or  granted  to  individuals.  The  colony  was  to  be  exempted 
as  a  favour,  from  any  importation  of  convicts.  The  settlers  were  to  be 
allowed  200  acres  of  land  for  every  labouring  man,  woman,  or  child  above  ten 
years  of  age,  that  they  should  import  into  the  colony;  and  forty  acres  of  land 
were  given  for  every  amount  of  £3  imported  into  the  settlement  in  any  shape. 
Thus  land  superabounded  in  proportion  to  capital,  and  the  capital  brought 
in,  though  so  scanty  in  proportion  to  the  land,  abounded  in  proportion  to  the 
labovu".  The  richest  of  the  colonists  could  obtain  no  labourers;  and  they  sat 
down  upon  their  lands,  surrounded  by  their  rotting  goods,  their  useless  tools, 
and  the  frames  of  houses  which  there  were  no  hands  to  erect  —  without 
shelter,  and  certain  soon  to  be  without  food,  if  more  labour  could  not  be 
obtained.  Instead  of  more,  there  was  daily  less,  as  the  few  labourers  who 
were  on  the  spot  made  use  of  their  first  exorbitant  earnings  to  possess  them- 
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selves  of  enough  of  the  cheap  land  to  make  them  their  own  masters.  They 
made  up  their  minds  that  the  secret  of  the  success  of  other  settlements,  pitied 
for  their  liability  to  convict  immigration,  was  in  their  convict  labour;  and  the 
Swan  River  colonists  petitioned  the  government  at  home  to  send  them  con- 

victs to  save  them  from  destruction.  Some  of  the  settlers  wandered  away, 
as  they  could  find  opportunity,  to  other  colonies,  stripped  of  everything  or 
carrying  the  mere  wrecks  of  their  expensive  outfit.9' 

In  1849  the  entire  population  was  only  4,622.  In  the  following  year  the 
prayer  of  the  colonists  that  the  colony  be  made  a  penal  settlement  was  acceded 
to  by  the  imperial  government,  and  during  the  ensuing  eighteen  years  over 
10,000  convicts  were  transported.  In  1868  at  the  unanimous  request  of  the  other 
Australian  colonies  th-  transportation  ceased.  Until  this  was  done  the  colony 
made  no  material  progress.  In  1870  under  the  energetic  governorship  of  Sir 
Frederick  Weld  a  new  era  in  colonial  progress  was  inaugurated.  A  systematic 
exploration  of  the  interior  was  undertaken  and  surveys  made  for  railroad  and 
telegraph  lines.  The  discovery  of  gold  at  Kimberley  in  1882  and  at  Yilgarn 
in  1887  still  further  added  to  the  progress  of  the  colony.  In  October,  1890, 
the  colony  was  granted  a  new  constitution  providing  a  responsible  repre- 

sentative government.  Sir  John  Forrest  who  had  served  the  colony  well  as 
one  of  the  pioneers  in  opening  up  the  interior,  and  later  as  the  principal 
champion  of  the  self-government  movement  became  its  first  premier,  and 
guided  the  colony  safely  into  the  confederation.  The  progress  made  during 
the  decade  of  his  premiership  is  evidenced  by  the  growth  in  population  which 
increased  from  45,290  in  1890  to  195,000  in  1900. 

QUEENSLAND 

The  history  of  Queensland  dates  from  the  planting  of  a  penal  colony  at 
Moreton  Bay  (Brisbane)  in  1824.  It  proved  almost  impossible  however  to 
attract  free  settlers  to  the  colony,  and  little  by  little  the  penal  station  fell  into 

PcBLio  Library,  Melbourne,  Victoria 

disuse.  In  1841  there  were  only  200  people  m  the  settlement.  By  1842  it 

was  practically  deserted.  In  that  year  it  was  declared  open  to  free  settlers 
only,  and  a  slight  immigration  look  place.  In  1844  there  was  a  considerable 

group  of  "squatter"  stations  about  Moreton  Bay  and  on  the  Darling  Downs, 
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and  the  future  prosperity  of  the  region  as  a  stock  raising  community  had 
begun.  By  1849  there  were  in  the  colony  72,000  cattle  and  over  a  million 
sheep.  By  1859  the  population  of  the  district  had  reached  25,000  and  despite 
the  protests  of  New  South  Wales  it  was  constituted  an  independent  colony 
under  the  name  of  Queensland.  A  constitution  conferring  all  the  rights  and 
privileges  of  self-government  was  granted  and  Sir  George  Bowen  became  the 
first  governor.  The  first  premier,  Mr.  Robert  George  Wyndham  Herbert,  held 
office  continuously  until  1866,  during  which  period  the  north  and  west  interiors 
were  rapidly  opened  to  settlement.  The  collapse  of  a  government  loan  in 
1866  during  the  brief  ministry  of  Mr.  Arthur  Macalister,  precipitated  a  panic, 
and  an  easUy  quelled  revolt  among  the  workers  on  the  railroads.  The  discov- 

ery of  gold  at  Gympie  in  1867  was  followed  by  a  big  "rush"  to  the  region  and 
prosperity  was  restored.  Sugar  planting,  begun  in  1862,  became  one  of  the 
leading  industries  of  the  colony,  but  led  to  the  introduction  of  coolie  and 
Kanaka  labourers.  Their  restriction  and  control  has  since  become  one  of  the 

burning  questions  of  Queensland  politics.  The  decade,  1890-1900,  was  chiefly 
notable  for  the  rise  of  the  labour  party  as  a  power  in  politics,  and  the  disap- 

pearance of  the  "squatter"  as  a  dominant  factor.o 

AGRAEIAN  LEGISLATION:    CHINESE  EXCLUSION 

The  history  of  Australia  since  1873  is  mainly  comprised  in  its  industrial 
progress,  for,  with  the  exception  of  the  advent  of  the  labour  party  and  the 
federation  government,  there  have  been  no  occurrences  of  such  political 
importance  as  to  call  for  special  mention.  The  four  eastern  states  had  the 
privilege  of  responsible  government  bestowed  on  them  at  various  dates 
between  1855  and  1860.  After  the  establishment  of  responsible  government 
the  main  questions  at  issue  were  the  secular  as  opposed  to  the  religious  system 
of  public  instruction,  protection  as  opposed  to  a  revenue  tariff,  vote  by  ballot, 
manhood  suffrage,  abolition  of  transportation  and  assignment  of  convicts, 
and  free  selection  of  lands  before  survey;  these,  and  indeed  all  the  great 
questions  upon  which  the  country  was  divided,  were  settled  before  the  year 
1873.  With  the  disposal  of  these  important  problems,  politics  in  Australia 
became  a  struggle  for  office  between  men  whose  political  principles  were 
very  much  alike,  and  the  tenure  of  power  enjoyed  by  the  various  govern- 

ments did  not  depend  upon  the  principles  of  administration  so  much  as  upon 
the  personal  fitness  of  the  head  of  the  ministry,  and  the  acceptability  of  his 
ministry  to  the  members  of  the  more  popular  branch  of  the  legislature.  For 
the  most  part,  therefore,  the  history  of  the  colonies  is  a  catalogue  of  their 
domestic  events,  such  a  thing  as  a  foreign  policy  being  quite  unknown.  The 
leading  politicians  of  all  the  states  have  felt  the  cramping  effects  of  mere 
domestic  legislation,  albeit  on  the  proper  direction  of  such  legislation  depends 
the  well  being  of  the  people,  and  to  this  sense  of  the  limitations  of  local 
politics  was  due,  as  much  as  to  anything  else,  the  movement  towards  federa- 
tion. 

Taking  the  states  as  a  whole,  agrarian  legislation  has  been  the  most  impor- 
tant subject  that  has  engrossed  the  attention  of  their  parliaments,  and  every 

state  has  been  more  or  less  engaged  in  tinkering  with  its  land  laws.  The 
main  object  of  all  such  legislation  is  to  secure  the  residence  of  the  owners 
on  the  land.  The  object  of  settlers,  however,  in  a  great  many,  perhaps  in 
the  majority  of  instances,  is  to  dispose  of  their  holdings  as  soon  as  possible 
after  the  requirements  of  the  law  have  been  complied  with,  and  to  avoid 
permanent  settlement.    This  has  greatly  facilitated  the  formation  of  large 
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estates  devoted  chiefly  to  grazing  purposes,  contrary  to  the  policy  of  the 
legislature,  which  has  everywhere  sought  to  encourage  tillage,  or  tillage  joined 
to  stock  rearing,  and  to  discourage  large  holdings.  The  importance  of  the 
land  question  is  so  great  that  it  is  hardly  an  exaggeration  to  say  that  it  is 
usual  for  every  parliament  of  Australia  to  have  before  it  a  proposal  to  alter 
or  amend  its  land  laws.  Since  1870  there  have  been  four  radical  changes 
made  in  New  South  Wales.  In  Victoria  the  law  has  been  altered  five  times, 
and  in  Queensland  and  SoUth  Australia  six  times. 

Apart  from  the  settlement  of  agrarian  questions,  recent  Australian  politics 
have  concerned  themselves  with  the  prevention  or  regulation  of  the  influx 
of  coloured  races,  the  prevention  or  settlement  of  labour  disputes,  and  federa- 

tion. The  agitation  against  the  influx  of  Chinese  commenced  very  soon 
after  the  gold  discoveries,  the  European  miners  objecting- strongly  to  the 
presence  of  these  aliens  upon  the  diggings.  The  allegations  made  concerning 
the  Chiuese  really  amounted  to  a  charge  of  imdue  indvrstry.  The  Chinese 
were  hard  working  and  had  the  usual  fortime  attending  those  who  work 
hard.  They  spent  little  on  drink  or  with  the  storekeepers  and  were  therefore 
by  no  means  popular.  The  Chinese  difficulty,  so  far  as  the  mining  popula- 

tion was  concerned,  was  solved  by  the  exhaustion  of  the  extensive  alluvial 
deposits.  The  nearness  of  China  to  Australia  always  appeared  to  the 
Australian  democracy  as  a  menace  to  the  integrity  of  the  white  settle- 

ments; but  the  absence  of  any  federal  authority  made  common  action 
difficult. 

In  1888  an  important  conference  on  the  Chinese  question  held  in  Sydney 
and  attended  by  delegates  from  all  the  states,  resolved  that  the  number  of 
Chinese  privileged  to  land  should  be  so  limited  as  to  prevent  the  people 
of  that  race  from  ever  becoming  an  important  element  in  the  community. 
The  New  South  Wales  parliament  ultimately  passed  a  law  which  in  some 
respects  went  much  beyond  the  agreement  arrived  at.  Under  the  New 
South  Wales  law  masters  of  vessels  were  forbidden  to  bring  to  the  colony 
more  than  one  Chinese  to  every  300  tons,  and  a. poll-tax  of  £100  is  charged 
on  every  Chinese  landing.  In  Victoria,  Queensland,  and  South  Australia 
no  poll-tax  was  imposed,  but  masters  of  vessels  may  bring  only  one  Chinese 
to  every  500  tons  burden.  West  Australian  legislation  was  imtil  recently 
similar  to  that  of  the  three  last-named  states,  but  has  now  been  superseded 
by  the  Coloured  Immigrants  Restriction  Act.  Tasmania  allows  one  Chinese 
passenger  to  every  100  tons,  and  imposes  a  poll-tax  of  £10.  These  stringent 
regulations  have  had  the  effect  of  greatly  restricting  the  influx  of  Chinese, 
but  in  spite  of  all  precautions  there  is  stiU  some  immigration.  The  only  other 
alien  race  present  in  large  numbers  in  Australia  ̂ .re  the  PoljTiesians  in  Queens- 

land, where  they  number  about  9000.  Of  late  years  there  has  been  an  influx 
of  Hindus  and  other  Eastern  races.  But  a  very  large  proportion  of  the 
Asiatics,  whose  entrance  into  the  colonies  it  was  desired  to  stop,  were  British 
subjects,  and  the  imperial  government  refused  to  sanction  any  measure 
directly  prohibiting  in  plain  terms  the  movement  of  British  subjects  from 
one  part  of  the  empire  to  another.  Eventually,  the  difficulty  was  overcome 
by  the  application  of  an  educational  test  to  the  coloured  races  seeking  admis- 

sion to  the  states,  whereby  they  are  required  to  write  out  in  some  European 
-Anguage  an  application  for  permission  to  enter  the  colony  in  which  they 
propose  to  reside.  The  agitation  which  this  restrictive  legislation  caused 
was  promoted  and  kept  alive  almost  entirely  by  the  trades  imions,  and  was 
the  first  legislative  trimnph  of  the  labour  party,  albeit  that  party  was  not 
at  the  time  directly  represented  in  parliament. 
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THE   LABOUH  MOVEMENT 

The  labour  movement  in  Australia  may  be  traced  back  to  the  early  days 
when  transportation  was  in  vogue,  and  the  free  immigrant  and  the  time- 
expired  convict  objected  to  tlie  competition  of  the  bond  labourer.  The  great 
object  of  these  early  struggles  being  attained,  labour  directed  its  attention 
mainly  to  securing  shorter  hours.  It  was  aided  very  materially  by  the  dearth 
of  workers  consequent  on  the  gold  discoveries,  when  every  man  could  com- 

mand his  own  price.  When  the  excitement  consequent  on  the  gold  finds 
had  subsided,  there  was  a  considerable  reaction  against  the  claims  of  labour, 
and  this  was  greatly  helped  by  the  congested  state  of  the  labour  market; 
but  the  principle  of  an  eight-hours  day  made  progress,  and  was  conceded 
in  several  trades.  In  the  early  years  of  the  seventies  the  colonies  entered 
upon  an  era  of  well-being,  and  for  about  twelve  years  every  man,  willing  to 
work  and  capable  of  exerting  himself,  readily  foimd  employment.  The 
labour  unions  were  able  to  secure  in  these  years  many  concessions  both  as 
to  hours  and  wages.  In  1873  there  was  an  important  rise  in  wages,  in  the 
following  years  there  were  further  advances.  For  five  years  thereafter  these 
high  wages  ruled;  but  in  1886  there  was  a  sharp  fall,  though  wages 
still  remained  very  good. 

In  1888  there  was  an  advance,  and  again  in  1889.  In  1890  matters 
were  on  the  eve  of  a  great  change  and  wages  fell,  in  most  cases  to  a 
point  20  per  cent,  below  the  rates  of  1885.  In  1893  came  the  bank 
crisis  and  great  restriction  in  trade.  Almost  the  first  effect  of  this  restric- 

tion was  a  reduction  in  wages,  which  touched  their  lowest  in  1895,  and 
fell  to  a  point  below  that  of  any  year  since  1850.  Since  then  there  has 
been  a  marked  recovery,  and  wages  stood  in  1900  at  about  the  same  level 
as  in  1873.  During  the  whole  period  from  1873  onwards,  prices,  other 
than  of  labour,  have  been  steadily  tending  downwards,  so  that  the  cost  of 
living  in  1900  was  much  below  that  of  1873.  Taking  everything  into  con- 

sideration the  reduction  was,  perhaps,  not  less  than  40  per  cent.,  so  that 
though  the  nominal  or  money  wages  in  1873  and  1900  were  the  same,  the 
actual  wages  were  much  higher  in  the  latter  year.  Much  of  the  improve- 

ment in  the  lot  of  the  wage  earners  has  been  due  to  the  labour  organizations, 
yet  so  late  as  1881  these  organizations  were  of  so  little  account,  politicaJly, 
that  when  the  law  relating  to  trades  xmions  was  passed  in  New  South  Wales, 
the  English  law  was  followed,  and  it  was  simply  enacted  that  the  purposes 
of  any  trades  union  shaU  not  be  deemed  unlawful  (so  as  to  render  a  member 
liable  to  criminal  prosecution  for  conspiracy  or  otherwise)  merely  by  reason 
that  they  are  in  restraint  of  trade.  After  the  year  1884  labour  troubles 
became  very  frequent,  the  New  South  Wales  coal  miners  in  particular  being 
at  war  with  the  colliery  owners  during  the  greater  part  of  the  six  years  inter- 

vening between  then  and  what  is  called  the  Great  Strike.  The  strong  down- 
ward tendency  of  prices  made  a  reduction  of  wages  imperative;  but  the 

labouring  classes  failed  to  recognize  any  such  necessity,  and  strongly  resented 
any  reductions  proposed  by  employers.  It  was  hard  indeed  for  a  carter 
drawing  coal  to  a  gasworks  to  recognise  the  necessity  which  compelled  a 
reduction  in  his  wages  because  wool  had  fallen  20  per  cent.  Nor  were  other 
labourers,  more  nearly  connected  with  the  producing  interests,  satisfied 
with  a  reduction  of  wages  because  produce  had  fallen  in  price  all  round. 
Up  to  1889  wages  held  their  ground,  although  work  had  become  more  difficult 
to  obtain,  and  some  industries  were  being  carried  on  without  any  profit. 
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THE   GREAT  STRIKE   OF  1890 

It  was  at  such  an  inopportune  time  that  the  most  extensive  combination 
of  labour  yet  brought  into  action  against  capital  formulated  its  demands. 
A  strike  of  the  Newcastle  miners,  after  lasting  twenty-nine  weeks,  came  to 
an  end  in  January,  1890,  and  throughout  the  rest  of  the  year  there  was  great 
unrest  in  labour  circles.  On  September  6th  the  silver  mines  closed  down, 
and  a  week  later  a  conference  of  employers  issued  a  manifesto  which  was 
met  next  day  by  a  counter-manifesto  of  the  Intercolonial  Labour  Conference, 
and  almost  immediately  afterwards  by  the  calling  out  of  40,000  men.  The 
time  chosen  for  the  strike  was  the  height  of  the  wool  season,  when  a  cessation 
of  work  would  be  attended  with  the  maximum  of  inconvenience.  Sydney 
was  the  centre  of  the  disturbance,  and  the  city  was  in  a  state  of  industrial 
siege,  feeling  running  to  dangerous  extremes.  Riotous  scenes  occurred 
both  in  Sydney  and  on  the  coal  fields,  and  a  large  number  of  special  con- 

stables were  sworn  in  by  the  government.  Towards  the  end  of  October 
20,000  shearers  were  called  out,  and  many  other  trades,  principally  concerned 
with  the  handling  or  shipping  of  wool,  joined  the  ranks  of  the  strikers,  with 
the  result  that  the  maritime  and  pastoral  industries  throughout  the  whole 

of  Australia  were  most  injuriously  disturbed.  The  "Great  Strike,"  as  it 
was  called,  terminated  early  in  November  1890,  the  employers  gaining  a 
decisive  victory.  The  colonies  were,  however,  to  have  other  and  bitter 
experiences  of  strikes  before  labour  recognized  that  of  all  mpans  for  settling 
industrial  disputes  strikes  are,  on  the  whole,  the  most  disastrous  that  it  can 
adopt. 

One  result  of  the  strike  of  1890  was  the  planting  of  a  colony  of  communistic 
Aiistralians  in  South  America.  Another  effect  of  the  Great  Strike  was  in  a 
more  practical  direction.  New  South  Wales  was  the  first  country  which 
endeavored  to  settle  its  labour  grievances  through  the  ballot-box  and  to  send 
a  great  party  to  parliament  as  the  direct  representation  of  labour,  pledged 
to  obtain  through  legislation  what  it  was  unable  to  obtain  by  strikes  and 
physical  force.  Several  attempts  had  been  made  by  individuals  belonging 
to  the  labour  party  to  enter  the  New  South  Wales  parliament,  but  it  was  not 
until  1891  that  the  occurrence  of  a  general  election  gave  the  party  the  looked- 
for  opportunity  for  concerted  action.  The  results  of  the  election  came  as  a 
complete  surprise  to  the  majority  of  the  community.  The  labour  party 
captured  35  seats  out  of  a  house  of  125  members;  and  as  the  old  parties 
almost  equally  divided  the  remaining  seats,  and  a  fusion  was  impossible, 
the  labour  representatives  dominated  the  situation.  It  was  not  long,  how- 

ever, before  the  party  itself  became  divided  on  the  fiscal  question;  and  a 
protectionist  government  coming  into  power,  about  half  the  labour  members 
gave  it  consistent  support  and  enabled  it  to  maintain  office  for  about  three 
years,  the  party  as  a  political  unit  being  thus  destroyed.  The  events  of 
these  three  years  taught  the  labour  leaders  that  a  parliamentary  party  was 
of  little  practical  influence  unless  it  was  able  to  cast  on  all  important  occasions 
a  solid  vote,  and  to  meet  the  case  a  new  method  was  devised.  The  party 
therefore  determined  that  they  would  refuse  to  support  any  person  standing 
in  the  labour  interests  who  refused  to  pledge  himself  to  vote  on  all  occasions 
in  such  way  as  the  majority  of  the  party  might  decide  to  be  expedient.  This 
was  called  the  "solidarity  pledge,"  and,  united  under  its  sanction,  what  was 
left  of  the  labour  party  contested  the  general  election  of  1894.  The  result 
was  a  defeat,  their  mraibers  being  reduced  from  35  to  19,  but  a  signal  triumph 
was  won  for  solidarity.    Very  few  of  the  members  who  refused  to  take  the 
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pledge  were  returned,  and  the  adherents  of  the  united  party  were  able  to 
accomplish  more  with  their  reduced  number  than  under  the  old  conditions. 

The  movement  towards  forming  a  parliamentary  labour  party  was  not 
confined  to  New  South  Wales;  3n  the  contrary,  it  was  common  to  all  the 
colonies  except  West  AustraUa,  and  its  greatest  triumphs  have  been  achieved 
in  New  Zealand  and  South  Australia.  Like  the  organisation  in  New  South 
Wales,  the  labour  party  of  South  Australia  owes  its  origin  to  the  failure  of 
the  Great  Strike  of  1890.  In  that  year  the  Trades  and  Labour  Council  of 
Adelaide  summoned  a  conference  of  labour  representatives,  at  which  a  pro- 

posal for  the  formation  of  a  parliamentary  party  was  drawn  up  and  adopted. 
The  political  programme  of  the  new  party  was  comprehensive  and  popular, 
and  almost  immediately  on  its  adoption  three  representatives  of  labour  won 
seats  in  the  second  chamber  (legislative  council),  and  at  the  ensuing  general 
election  of  1893  the  party  secured  8  seats  in  the  assembly  out  of  a  total  of 
54,  and  6  out  of  24  in  the  council,  thereby  gaining  a  controlling  vote  in  both 
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houses.  In  1900  it  controlled  12  votes  in  the  popular  house  and  8  in  the 
council.  The  members  of  the  South  Australian  labour  party  differ  in  one 
important  respect  from  those  of  New  South  Wales.  They  are  all  persons 
who  have  worked  for  their  living  at  manual  labour,  and  this  qualification 
of  being  an  actual  worker  is  one  that  was  strongly  insisted  upon  at  the  forma- 

tion of  the  party  and  strictly  adhered  to,  although  the  temptation  to  break 
away  from  it  and  to  accept  as  candidates  persons  of  superior  education  and 
position  has  been  very  great.  In  Victoria  the  labour  party  has  not  been 
so  conspicuous  as  in  New  South  Wales  and  South  Australia.  The  members 
of  the  Victorian  assembly  are  not  divided  into  such  distinct  parties  as  are 
the  members  of  the  popular  houses  of  the  other  colonies,  and  the  labour  party 
has  therefore  not  been  able  to  determine  the  real  balance  of  power.  In 
Queensland  the  labour  party  numbered,  in  1900,  21  out  of  72  members  in 
the  elective  branch  of  parliament,  a  larf^er  proportion  than  in  any  other 
state;  but  only  for  a  brief  period  [toward  the  close  of  1899]  have  parties 
been  so  evenly  divided  as  to  give  the  labour  party  the  balance  of  power. 
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FEDERATION 

The  question  of  federation  was  not  lost  sight  of  by  the  framers  of  the 
original  constitution  which  was  bestowed  upon  New  South  Wales.  In  the 
report  of  the  committee  of  the  legislative  council  appointed  in  1852  to  pre- 

pare a  constitution  for  that  colony  [an  inter oolonial  assembly  was  suggested]. 
But  it  was  not  untU  the  necessities  of  the  colonies  forced  them  to  it  that  an 
attempt  was  made  to  do  what  the  framers  of  the  original  constitution  sug- 

gested. Federation  at  no  time  actually  dropped  out  of  sight,  but  it  was  not 
imtil  thirty-five  years  later  that  any  practical  steps  were  taken  towards  its 
accomplishment.  Meanwhile  a  sort  of  makeshift  was  devised,  and  the 
imperial  parliament  passed  a  measure  permitting  the  formation  of  a  federal 
council,  to  which  any  colony  that  felt  inclined  to  join  could  send  delegates. 
Of  the  seven  colonies  New  South  Wales  and  New  Zealand  stood  aloof  from 
the  council,  and  from  the  beginning  it  was  therefore  shorn  of  a  large  share 
of  the  prestige  that  would  have  attached  to  a  body  speaking  and  acting  on 
behalf  of  a  imited  Australia.  The  council  had  also  a  fatal  defect  in  its  con- 

stitution. It  was  merely  a  deliberative  body,  having  no  executive  functions 
and  possessing  no  control  of  funds  or  other  means  to  put  its  legislation  in 
force.  Its  existence  was  well-nigh  forgotten  by  the  people  of  Australia  until 
the  occurrence  of  its  biennial  meetings,  and  even  then  but  slight  interest  was 
taken  in  its  proceedings.  The  cotmcil  held  eight  meetings,  at  which  many 
matters  of  intercolonial  interest  were  discussed.  In  1889  Sir  Henry  Parkes 
addressed  the  other  premiers  on  the  desirability  of  a  federal  union  for  purposes 
of  defence.  The  immediate  result  was  a  conference  at  Parliament  House,  Mel- 

bourne, of  representatives  from  each  of  the  seven  colonies.  This  conference 
adopted  an  address  submitting  certain  resolutions  which  affirmed  the  desira- 

bility of  an  early  union,  under  the  crown,  of  the  Australiasian  colonies,  and  pro- 
vided that  steps  should  be  taken  for  the  appointment  of  delegates  to  a  national 

Australasian  convention,  to  consider  and  report  upon  an  adequate  scheme 
for  a  federal  convention.  In  accordance  with  this  imderstanding,  the  various 
Australasian  parliaments  appointed  delegates  to  attend  a  national  conven- 

tion to  be  held  in  Sydney.  On  the  2nd  of  March,  1891,  the  convention  held  its 
first  meeting.  Sir  Henry  Parkes  was  elected  president,  and  he  moved  a 
series  of  resolutions  embodying  the  principles  necessary  to  establish  the 
structure  of  a  federal  government. 

On  the  31st  of  March  Sir  Samuel  Griffith,  as  chairman  of  the  committee 
on  constitutional  machinery,  brought  up  a  draft  Constitution  Bill,  which 
was  carefully  considered  by  the  convention  in  committee  of  the  whole  and 
adopted  on  the  9th  of  April,  when  the  convention  was  formerly  dissolved. 
The  bill,  however,  feU  absolutely  dead.  Not  because  it  was  not  a  good  bUl, 
but  because  the  movement  out  of  which  it  arose  had  not  poptdar  initiative, 
and  therefore  failed  to  reach  the  popular  imagination.  Even  its  authors 
recognized  the  apathy  of  the  people,  and  parliamentary  sanction  to  its  pro- 

visions was  not  sought  in  any  colony. 
Although  the  bill  of  1891  was  not  received  by  the  people  with  any  show 

of  interest,  the  federation  movement  did  not  die  out;  on  the  contrary,  it 
had  many  enthusiastic  advocates,  especially  in  the  colony  of  Victoria.  In 
1894  an  unofficial  convention  was  held  at  Corowa,  at  which  the  cause  of 
federation  was  strenuously  advocated,  but  it  was  not  until  1895  that  the 
movement  obtained  new  life,  by  reason  of  the  proposals  adopted  at  a  meet- 

ing of  premiers  convened  by  Mr.  G.  H.  Reid  of  New  South  Wales.    At 
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this  meeting  all  the  colonies  except  New  Zealand  were  represented,  and  it  was 
agreed  that  the  parliament  of  each  colony  should  be  asked  to  pass  a  bill 
enabling  the  people  to  choose  ten  persons  to  represent  the  colony  in  a  fed- 

eral convention;  the  work  of  such  convention  being  the  framing  of  a  federal 
constitution  to  be  submitted  to  the  people  for  approval  by  means  of  the 

referendum.  During  the  year  1896  Enabling  Acts  were 
passed  by  New  South  Wales,  Victoria,  Tasmania,  South 
Axlstralia,  and  West  Australia,  and  delegates  were  elected 
by  popular  vote  in  all  the  colonies  named  except  West 
Australia,  where  the  delegates  were  chosen  by  parliament. 
The  convention  met  in  Adelaide  on  the  22nd  of  March 
1897,  and,  after  drafting  a  bill  for  the  consideration  of  the 

various  parliaments,  adjourned 
until  the  2nd  of  September. 
On  that  date  the  delegates  re- 

assembled in  Sydney,  and  de- 
bated the  bill  in  the  light  of 

the  suggestions  made  by  the 
legislatures  of  the  federating 
colonies.  In  the  course  of  the 
proceedings  it  was  announced 
that  Queensland  desired  to 
come  within  the  proposed 
union;  and  in  view  of  this  de- 

velopment, and  in  order  to  give 
further  opportunity  for  the 
consideration  of  the  bill,  the 
convention  again  adjourned. 
The  third  and  final  session  was 
opened  in  Melbourne  on  the 
20th  of  January,  1898,  but 
Queensland  was  still  xmrepre- 
sented;  and,  after  further  con- 

sideration, the  Draft  Bill,  was 
finally  adopted  on  the  16th  of 
March  and  remitted  to  the 
various  colonies  for  submis- 

sion to  the  people.  In  its 
main  provisions  the  bill  of  1898  followed  generally  that  of  1891,  yet  with 
some  very  important  alterations. 

The  constitution  was  accepted  by  Victoria,  South  Australia,  and  Tasmania 
by  popular  acclamation,  but  in  New  South  Wales  very  great  opposition  was 
shown,  the  main  points  of  objection  being  the  financial  provisions,  equal 
representation  in  the  senate,  and  the  difiiculty  in  the  way  of  the  larger  states 
securing  an  amendment  of  the  constitution  in  the  event  of  a  conflict  with 
the  smaller  states.  As  far  as  the  other  colonies  were  concerned,  it  was  evident 
that  the  bill  was  safe,  and  pubHc  attention  throughout  Australia  was  fixed 
on  New  South  Wales,  where  a  fierce  political  contest  was  raging,  which  it 
was  recognised  would  decide  the  fate  of  the  measure  for  the  time  being. 
The  fear  was  as  to  whether  the  statutory  number  of  80,000  votes  necessary 
for  the  acceptance  of  the  bill  would  be  reached.  This  fear  proved  to  be 
well  founded,  for  the  result  of  the  referendum  in  New  South  Wales  showed 
71,595  votes  in  favour  of  the  bill  and  66,228  against  it,  and  it  was  accordingly 
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lost.  In  Victoria,  Tasmania,  and  South  Australia,  on  the  other  hand,  the 
bill  was  accepted  by  triumphant  majorities.  West  Australia  did  not  put  it  to 
the  vote,  as  the  Enabling  Act  of  that  colony  only  provided  for  joining  a  federa- 

tion of  which  New  South  Wales  should  form  a  part.  The  existence  of  such 
a  strong  opposition  to  the  bill  in  the  mother  colony  convinced  even  its  most 
zealous  advocates  that  some  changes  would  have  to  be  made  in  the  constitu- 

tion before  it  could  be  accepted  by  the  people;  consequently,  although  the 
general  election  in  New  South  Wales,  held  six  or  seven  weeks  later,  was  fought 
on  the  federal  issue,  yet  the  opposing  parties  seemed  to  occupy  somewhat 
the  same  ground,  and  the  question  narrowed  itself  down  to  one  as  to  which 
party  should  be  entrusted  with  the  negotiations  to  be  conducted  on  behalf 
of  the  colony,  with  a  view  to  securing  a  modification  of  the  objectionable 
features  of  the  bill.  The  new  parliament  decided  to  adopt  the  procedure 
of  again  sending  the  premier,  Mr.  Reid,  in  conference,  armed  with  a  series 
of  resolutions  affirming  its  desire  to  bring  about  the  completion  of  federal 
union,  but  asking  the  other  colonies  to  agree  to  the  reconsideration  of  the 
provisions  which  were  most  generally  objected  to  in  New  South  Wales.  The 
other  colonies  interested  were  anxious  to  bring  the  matter  to  a  speedy  termi- 

nation, and  readily  agreed.  Accordingly  a  premiers'  conference  was  held 
in  Melbourne  at  the  end  of  January,  1899,  at  which  Queensland  was  for  the 
first  time  represented.  At  this  conference  a  compromise  was  effected;  some- 

thing was  conceded  to  the  claims  of  New  South  Wales,  but  the  main  principles 
of  the  bill  remained  intact.  The  bill  as  amended  was  submitted  to  the  electors 
of  each  colony  and  again  triumphantly  carried  in  Victoria,  South  Australia, 
and  Tasmania.  In  New  South  Wales  and  Queensland  there  were  still  a  large 
number  of  persons  opposed  to  the  measure,  which  was  nevertheless  carried 
in  both  colonies.  New  South  Wales  having  decided  in  favour  of  federation, 
the  way  was  clear  for  a  decision  on  the  part  of  West  Australia,  The  Enabling 
Bill  passed  the  various  stages  in  the  parliament  of  that  colony,  and  the  ques- 

tion was  then  submitted  by  way  of  referendum  to  the  electors.  The  result 
of  the  voting  (in  five  colonies  in  1899,  and  in  West  Australia  in  1900)  was 
as  follows : — 

New  South  Wales,  for  107,420  agamst  82,741 ;  Victoria,  for  152,653  against 
9,804;  Queensland,  for  35,181  agamst  28,965;  South  Australia,  for  65,990 
against  17,053;  West  Australia  (1900),  for  44,704  agamst  19,691;  Tasmania, 
for  13,437  against  791. 

In  accordance  with  this  verdict,  the  Colonial  Draft  Bill  was  submitted  to 
the  imperial  government  for  legislation  as  an  imperial  act. 

Under  an  act  of  the  British  parliament,  dated  July  9th,  1900,  passed  under 
the  auspices  of  Mr.  Chamberlain,  secretary  of  state  for  the  colonies,  a  procla- 

mation was  issued,  September  17th  of  the  same  year,  declaring  that,  on  and 
after  the  1st  of  January,  1901,  the  people  of  New  South  Wales,  Victoria,  South 
Australia,  Queensland,  Tasmania,  and  West  Australia  should  be  united  in  a 
federal  commonwealth  imder  the  name  of  the  Commonwealth  of  Australia. 
The  act  which  gave  authority  for  the  issue  of  this  proclamation  embodied 
and  established  (with  such  variations  as  had  been  accepted  on  behalf  of  the 
CQlonies)  the  constitution  agreed  to  at  the  premiers'  conference  of  1899.  It 
was  cordially  welcomed  in  the  mother  country,  and  finally  became  law  amid 
signs  of  general  approval.  The  difficulties  arose  with  regard  to  the  right 
of  appeal  to  the  queen  in  council.  By  clause  74  of  the  original  bill  this 
right  was  very  seriously  curtailed;  Mr.  Chamberlain  wished  to  preserve  it 
as  in  the  case  of  Canada,  while,  in  order  to  disarm  colonial  opposition,  he 
suggested  that  the  judicial    committee    of  the   privy  council   should  be 
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strengthened  by  the  appointment  of  four  colonial  members  with  the  rank  of 
lords  of  appeal.*'  A  compromise  was,  however,  ultimately  agreed  upon  by 
which  in  cases  involving  non-Australian  interests  the  right  of  appeal  should 
be  fully  maintained,  while,  in  questions  between  the  commonwealth  and  a 
single  state,  or  between  two  states,  leave  to  appeal  might  be  given  by  the 
high  court  of  Australia.  The  commonwealth  was  successfully  inaugurated 
in  1901  with  Lord  Hopetoun,  who  had  won  golden  opinions  as  governor 
of  Victoria  a  few  years  before,  as  governor-general,  and  with  Mr.  Barton, 
who  had  taken  the  lead  among  the  Australian  delegates  in  making  the  con- 

stitution, as  prime  minister.  Lord  Hopetoun  was  succeeded  in  1903  by 
Lord  Tennyson,  and  he  in  turn  in  1904  by  Lord  Northcote.  Mr.  Barton 
remained  prime  minister  until  1903,  when  he  resigned  to  become  a  judge  of 
the  high  court.  He  was  succeeded  by  Mr.  Deakin.  In  April,  1904,  a  labour 
ministry  under  Mr.  Watson  came  into  power,  but  in  August  gave  way  to  a 
liberal  ministry  under  Mr.  Reid.  In  the  following  July  Mr.  Deakin  agam 
became  prime  minister.  The  new  system  has  not  always  given  satisfaction, 
but  it  seems  to  work  more  smoothly  as  time  goes  on.o 

Provisions  of  the  Commonwealth  Act 

The  provisions  of  the  Commonwealth  Act  passed  in  1900  were  as  follows: 
The  six  colonies  entering  the  commonwealth  were  denominated  original 
states,  and  new  states  might  be  admitted,  or  might  be  formed  by  separation 
from  or  imion  uf  two  or  more  states  or  parts  of  states;  and  territories  (as 
distinguished  frosn  states)  might  be  taken  over  and  governed  imder  the 
legislative  power  of  the  commonwealth.  The  legisla'tive  power  is  vested  in 
a  federal  parliament,  consisting  of  the  sovereign,  a  senate,  and  a  house  of 
representatives,  the  sovereign  being  represented  by  a  governor-general. 
The  senate  was  to  consist  of  the  same  nmnber  of  members  (not  less  than  six) 
for  each  state,  the  term  of  service  being  six  years,  but  subject  to  an  arrange- 

ment that  half  the  number  would  retire  every  three  years.  The  house  of  repre- 
sentatives was  to  consist  of  members  chosen  in  the  different  states  in  numbers 

proportioned  to  their  population,  but  never  fewer  than  five.  The  first  house 
of  representatives  was  to  contain  seventy-five  members.  For  elections  to 
the  senate  the  governors  of  states,  and  for  general  elections  of  the  house  of 
representatives  the  governor-general,  would  cause  writs  to  be  issued.  The 
senate  would  choose  its  own  president,  and  the  house  of  representatives  its 
speaker;  each  house  would  make  its  own  rules  of  procedure;  in  each,  one- 
third  of  the  number  of  members  would  form  a  quorum;  the  members  of 
each  must  take  oath,  or  make  affirmation  of  allegiance;  and  all  alike  would 
receive  an  allowance  of  £400  a  year.  The  legislative  powers  of  the  parlia- 

ment have  a  wide  range,  many  matters  being  transferred  to  it  from  the  colonial 
parliaments.  The  more  important  subjects  with  which  it  deals  are  trade, 
shipping,  and  railways;  taxation,  bounties,  the  borrowing  of  money  on  the 
credit  of  the  commonwealth;  the  postal  and  telegraphic  services;  defence, 
census,  and  statistics;  currency,  coinage,  banking,  bankruptcy;  weights 
and  measures;  copyright,  patents,  and  trade  marks;  marriage  and  divorce; 
imrnigration  and  emigration;  conciliation  and  arbitration  in  industrial  dis- 

putes. Bills  imposing  taxation  or  appropriating  revenue  must  not  originate 
in  the  senate,  and  neither  taxation  bills  nor  bills  appropriating  revenue  for 
the  annual  service  of  the  government  liiay  be  amended  in  the  senate,  but 
the  senate  may  return  such  bills  to  the  house  of  representatives  with  a  request 
for  their  amendment.    Appropriation  laws  must  not  deal  with  other  matters. 
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Votes  for  the  appropriation  of  the  revenue  shall  not  pass  unless  recommended 
by  the  governor-general.  The  constitution  requires  the  assent  of  the  sover- 

eign to  all  laws.  The  executive  power  is  vested  in  the  governor-general, 
assisted  by  an  executive  council  appointed  by  himself.  He  has  command  of 
the  army  and  navy,  and  appoints  federal  ministers  and  judges.  The  ministers 
aremembers  of  the  executive  council  and  must  be,  or  within  three  months  of 
their  appointment  must  become,  members  of  the  parliament.  The  judicial 
powers  are  vested  in  a  high  court  and  other  federal  courts,  and  the  federal- 
judges  hold  office  for  life  or  during  good  behaviour.  The  high  court  has 
appellate  jurisdiction  in  cases  from_  other  federal  courts  and  from  the  supreme 
courts  of  the  states,  and  it  has  original  jurisdiction  in  matters  arising  under 
laws  made  by  the  federal  parliament,  in  disputes  between  states,  or  residents 
in  different  states,  and  in  matters  affecting  the  representatives  of  foreign 
powers.  Special  provisions  were  made  respecting  appeals  from  the  high  court 
to  the  sovereign  in  council.  The  constitution  set  forth  elaborate  arrange- 

ments for  the  administration  of  finance  and  trade  during  the  transition  period 
following  the  transference  of  departments  to  the  commonwealth. 

The  constitution,  parliament,  and  laws  of  each  state,  subject  to  the  federal 
constitution,  retained  their  authority;  state  rights  were  carefully  safeguarded, 
and  an  inter-state  commission  was  given  powers  of  adjudication  and  of 
administration  of  the  laws  relating  to  trade,  transport,  and  other  matters. 
Provision  was  made  for  necessary  alteration  of  the  constitution  of  the  common- 

wealth, but  so  that  no  alteration  could  be  effected  unless  the  question  had 
been  directly  submitted  to,  and  the  change  accepted  by,  the  electorate  in 
the  states.  The  seat  of  government  was  to  be  within  New  South  Wales,  not 
less  than  100  miles  distant  from  Sydney,  and  of  an  area  not  less  than  100  square 
miles.  Until  other  provision  was  made,  the  governor-general  was  to  have  a 
salary  of  £10,000,  paid  by  the  commonwealth. 

The  federal  system  has  proved  as  satisfactory  as  could  perhaps  be  reason- 
ably expected.  There  has,  however,  been  considerable  friction  at  times 

between  the  central  government  and  separate  states.  Late  in  1905  New 
South  Wales  expressed  dissatisfaction  because  the  question  of  the  capital  had 
not  been  settled,  and  in  1907  the  same  state  came  in  conflict  with  the  common- 

wealth over  the  question  of  federal  taxation  of  state  imports.  In  1906  West 
Australia  threatened  to  secede  because  the  central  government  had  failed  to 
order  a  survey  for  a  transcontinental  railway.  The  problem  of  national 
defence  and  the  question  of  taking  over  debts  contracted  by  the  separate 
states  prior  to  the  union  are  among  the  important  questions  now  attracting 
attention.^ 

New  Zealand 

The  first  European  discoverer  of  New  Zealand  was  the  famous  Dutch  navi- 
gator, Tasman,  who  sailed  about  the  islands  in  1642,  but  it  remained  practi- 

cally unknown  until  1769,  when  Captain  Cook  made  a  careful  examination  of 
its  coast.  He  visited  the  islands  several  times,  and  introduced  pigs,  fowls, 

and  several  European  vegetables.  From  Cook's  final  voyage  in  1777  to  1814 
little  is  known  of  it,  but  during  this  period  a  few  white  men,  mostly  ship- 

wrecked sailors  and  runaway  convicts  from  Australia,  settled  along  its  coasts. 
In  1814  Rev.  Samuel  Marsden,  colonial  chaplain  of  New  South  Wales,  estab- 

lished the  first  mission  in  the  islands  at  the  Bay  of  Islands.  Other  missions, 
both  Catholic  and  Protestant,  were  soon  formed,  and  in  thirty  years  a  great 
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part  of  the  native  Maori  population  had  at  least  nominally  accepted  Chris- 
tianity. 

The  country  had  been  officially  declared  a  possession  of  Great  Britain  as 
early  as  1787,  but  fifty  years  elapsed  before  a  systematic  attempt  at  colonisa- 

tion was  made.  In  1837  the  New  Zealand  Association  was  formed  under  the 
auspices  of  Lord  Durham,  and  largely  through  the  exertion  of  Edward  Gibbon 

Wakefield,  upon  whose  "system"  South  Australia  was  established.    This 
association  failed  in  obtaining  a  charter 
for  colonising  because  of  the  hesitating 
policy  of  the  ministry,  but  it  awakened 
interest  in  the  colonisation  movement. 
A  second  organisation  was  formed  by 
the  resourceful  Wakefield  in  1839,  known 
as  the  New  Zealand  Land  Company, 
with  Lord  Durham  as  governor.  Wake- 

field determined  not  to  risk  another  fail- 
ure, therefore,  in  the  name  of  the  new 

company  the  ship  Tory  was  secretly  de- 
spatched to  the  islands  with  a  company 

of  colonists  under  Col.  Wm.  Wakefield, 
a  brother  of  the  promoter.  By  him  the 
settlement  of  Wellington  was  formed. 
The  colony  of  New  Zealand  thus  came 
into  existence  independent  of  crown  au- 

thority. The  hands  of  the  government 
being  forced  it  proceeded  to  attach  the 
settlements  in  New  Zealand  to  the  colony 
of  New  South  Wales  with  Captain  Will- 

iam Hobson  as  resident  lieutenant-gov- 
ernor. There  was  some  conflict  between 

the  land  company's  settlers  and  Gov- 
ernor Hobson,  but  they  ultimately  rec- 

ognised his  authority.  In  February, 
1840,  an  assembly  of  Maori  chiefs  at  Waitangi  acknowledged  their  submis- 

sion to  the  British  crown.  In  the  following  September,  Governor  Hobson 
hoisted  the  British  flag  over  the  newly  founded  town  of  Aukland,  which  in 
1841  became  the  capital  of  the  colony. 

May  3,  1841,  New  Zealand  was  proclaimed  a  separate  crown  colony.  The 
early  history  of  the  colony  is  a  long  and  tedious  tale  of  quarrels  over  land 
titles  between  the  land  company,  later  settlers,  and  Maori  chiefs.  Hostilities 
between  the  settlers  and  natives  were  iaevitable.  One  of  the  most  serious 
wars  was  that  led  by  Hone  Heke  in  1845.  Other  and  more  serious  revolts 
occurred  in  1863  and  1864,  the  suppression  of  which  was  accomplished  only 
by  the  aid  of  several  regiments  of  British  troops  and  the  co-operation  of  war- 

ships. An  imperial  act  granted  the  colony  representative  government  ia 
1852.  ,  Gold  was  discovered  in  1862  and  the  colony  grew  rapidly.  A  new 
immigration  policy  adopted  in  1870  still  further  stimulated  the  growth.  The 
population  leaped  from  267,000  in  1871  to  501,000  in  1881 .« 

James  Cook 

(1728-1779) 

HISTORY,  1882-1902 

Between  1882  and  1902  five  governors  represented  the  crown  in  New 
Zealand.    Of  these  Sir  Arthur  Gordon  quitted  the  colony  in  June,  1882.   His 
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successor,  Sir  William  Drummond  Jervois,  arrived  in  January,  1883,  and  held 
office  until  March,  1889.  The  earl  of  Onslow,  who  followed,  landed  in  June, 
1889,  and  resigned  in  February,  1892.  The  next  governor,  the  earl  of  Glas- 

gow, remained  in  the  colony  from  June,  1892,  to  February,  1897,  and  was 
succeeded  in  August  of  the  last-mentioned  year  by  the  earl  of  Ranfurly.  The 
cabinets  which  administered  the  affairs  of  the  colony  during  these  years  were 
those  of  Sir  Frederick  Whitaker,  Sir  Harry  Atkinson  (3),  Sir  Robert  Stout  (2), 
Mr.  Ballance,  and  Mr.  Seddon.  Except  in  one  disturbed  month,  August,  1884, 
when  there  were  three  changes  of  ministry  in  eighteen  days,  executives  were 

more  stable  than  in  the  colony's  earlier  years.  The  party  headed  by  Mr. BaUance  and  Mr.  Seddon  held  office  without  a  break  for  more  than  eleven 
years,  a  result  mainly  due  to  the  general  support  given  to  its  agrarian  and 
labour  policy  by  the  smaller  farmers  and  the  working  classes. 

The  industrial  history  of  New  Zealand  during  these  two  decades  may  be 
divided  into  two  unequal  periods.  Thirteen  lean  years  —  marked,  some  of 
them  by  great  depression  —  were  followed  by  seven  years  of  prosperity.  The 
colony,  which  in  1882  was  vmder  a  cloud,  has  not  often  been  busier  and  more 
self-confident  than  in  1902.  A  division  into  two  periods  also  marks  the 
political  history  of  the  same  time;  but  here  the  dividing  line  is  drawn  in  a 
different  year.  Up  to  December,  1890,  the  conservative  forces  which  over- 

threw Sir  George  Grey  in  1879,  controlled  parliament  in  effect,  though  not 
always  in  name;  and  for  ten  years  progressive  legislation  was  confined  to  a 
mild  experiment  in  offering  crown  lands  on  perpetual  lease,  with  a  right  of 
purchase  (1882),  and  a  stUl  milder  instalment  of  local  option  (1881).  In 
September,  1889,  however,  Sir  George  Grey  succeeded  in  getting  parliament 
to  abolish  the  last  remnant  of  plural  voting.  Finance  otherwise  absorbed 

attention;  the  task  of  successive  ministries  was  to  make  the  colony's  accounts 
balance,  and  search  for  some  means  of  restoring  prosperity.  The  years  1884, 
1887,  and  1888  were  notable  for  heavy  deficits  in  the  treasury.  Taxation, 
direct  and  indirect,  had  to  be  increased,  and  as  a  means  of  gaining  support  for 
this,  in  1888  Sir  Harry  Atkinson  gave  the  customs  tariff  a  distinctly  protec- 

tionist complexion.  The  commercial  revival  came  but  slowly.  The  heavy 
borrowing  and  feverish  speculation  of  the  seven  years  1872-79  must  in  any 
case  have  been  paid  for  by  reaction.  The  failure  of  the  City  of  Glasgow 
Bank  in  1879  precipitated  this,  and  the  almost  continuous  fall  in  the  price  of 
wool  and  wheat,  together  with  the  dwindling  of  the  output  of  alluvial  gold, 
postponed  recovery.  The  principal  local  bank  —  the  Bank  of  New  Zealand 
—  was  in  an  unsound  condition,  and  imtil  in  1895  it  was  taken  under  control 
and  guaranteed  by  the  colony,  the  fear  of  its  collapse  overshadowed  the  com- 

munity. The  financial  and  commercial  improvement  which  began  in  1895 
was  doubtless  to  some  extent  connected  with  this  venturesome  but  apparently 
successful  stroke  of  policy. 

SOCIALISTIC   NEW   ZEALAND 

During  the  years  1882-90  the  leading  political  personage  was  Sir  Harry 
Atkinson.  In  December,  1890,  he  was  overthrown  by  the  progressives  under 

John  Ballance.  Atkinson's  party  never  rallied  from  this  defeat,  and  a  striking 
change  came  over  public  life,  though  Ballance,  untU  his  death  in  April,  1893, 
continued  the  prudent  financial  policy  of  his  predecessor.  The  change  was 
emphasised  by  the  active  intervention  in  pohtics  of  the  trade  unions.  These 
bodies,  impelled  by  a  socialistic  movement  felt  throughout  Australia  and  New 
Zealand,  decided  in  1889  and  1890  to  exert  their  influence  in  returning  work- 
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men  to  parliament,  and  where  this  was  impossible,  to  secure  pledges  from 
middle  class  candidates.  This  plan  was  first  put  into  execution  at  the  general 
election  of  1890.  The  number  of  labour  members  thus  elected  to  the  general 
assembly  was  small,  never  more  than  six,  and  no  independent  labour  party 
was  formed.  But  the  influence  of  labour  in  the  progressive  or,  as  it  preferred 
to  be  called,  liberal  party,  was  considerable,  and  the  legislative  results  note- 

worthy. These  did  not  interfere  with  the  general  lines  of  Atkinson's  strong 
and  cautious  finance,  though  the  first  of  them  was  the  abolition  of  his  direct 
tax  upon  all  property,  personal  as  well  as  real,  and  the  substitution  therefor 
of  a  graduated  tax  upon  unimproved  land  values,  and  an  income-tax  also 
graduated,  though  less  elaborately.  The  income-tax  is  not  levied  on  incomes 
drawn  from  land.  In  1891  the  tenure  of  members  of  the  legislative  council  or 
nominated  upper  house,  which  had  hitherto  been  for  life,  was  altered  to  seven 
years.  In  1892  a  new  form  of  land  tenure  was  introduced,  imder  which  large 
areas  of  crown  lands  have  since  been  leased  for  999  years.  In  the  same  year 
a  law  was  also  passed  authorising  government  to  repurchase  private  land  for 
closer  settlement.  At  first  the  owner's  consent  to  the  sale  was  necessary,  but 
in  1894  power  was  taken  to  buy  land  compulsorily.  So  energetically  was  the 
law  administered  by  John  Mackenzie,  minister  of  lands  from  1891  tol900,  that 
in  March,  1901,  more  than  a  million  acres  had  been  repurchased  and  subdi- 

vided, and  over  6,000  souls  were  living  thereon. 
On  Ballance's  sudden  death  his  place  was  taken  by  Richard  Seddon, 

minister  of  mines  in  the  Ballance  cabinet,  whose  first  task  was  to  pass  the 
Electoral  Bill  of  his  predecessor,  which  provided  for  granting  the  franchise  to 
all  adult  women.  This  was  adopted  in  September,  1893.  In  1893  was  also 
enacted  the  Alcoholic  Liquor  Control  Act,  greatly  extending  local  option.  In 
1894  the  Advances  to  Settlers  Act  authorised  state  loans  on  mortgage  to 
farmers  at  5  per  cent.,  and  about  £2,500,000  has  been  lent  in  this  way,  causing 
a  general  decline  in  the  rate  of  interest.  The  same  year  also  saw  the  climax 
of  a  series  of  laws  passed  by  the  progressives  affecting  the  relations  of  employ- 

ers and  workmen. 
Meanwhile  the  keystone  of  the  regulative  system  had  been  laid  by  the 

passing  of  the  Industrial  Conciliation  and  Arbitration  Act,  under  which  dis- 
putes between  employers  and  unions  of  workers  are  compulsorily  settled  by 

state  tribunals;  strikes  and  lock-outs  are  virtually  prohibited  in  the  case  of 
organised  work-people,  and  the  conditions  of  employment  in  industries  may 
be,  and  in  many  cases  are,  regulated  by  the  awards  of  public  boards  and 
courts.  The  Arbitration  Act,  consolidated  and  extended  in  1900,  was  soon 
in  constant  use.  The  Old  Age  Pensions  Bill,  which  became  law  in  November, 
1898,  by  1902  had  become  the  means  of  conferring  a  free  pension  of  £18  a 
year,  or  less,  upon  12,300  men  and  women  of  65  years  of  age  and  upwards 
whose  private  income  was  less  than  £1  a  week.  About  1,000  of  these  pen- 

sioners were  Maori.  The  total  cost  to  the  colony  was  about  £205,000  annu- 
ally. In  1900  the  English  system  of  compensation  to  workmen  for  accidents 

suffered  in  their  trade  was  adopted  with  some  changes.  In  1895  borrowing  on 
a  large  scale  was  begun,  and  in  seven  years  as  many  millions  were  added  to 
the  public  debt.  Before  this  the  Ballance  ministry  had  organised  two  new 
departments,  those  of  labour  and  agriculture.  The  former  supervises  the 
labour  laws,  and  endeavours  to  deal  with  unemployment;  the  latter  has  done 
much  practical  teaching  and  inspecting  work,  manages  experimental  farms, 
and  is  active  in  stamping  out  diseases  of  live  stock,  noxious  weeds,  and 
adulteration.^ 

Blessed  with  a  climate  resembling  that  of  England,  New  Zealand  has  been 
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properly  regarded  as  the  future  Britain  of  the  southern  hemisphere.  The 
progress  which  the  colony  has  made  has  both  encouraged  and  apparently 
justified  the  prediction.  Yet  there  are  few  subjects  on  which  ordinary people  betray  greater  ignorance  than  on  the  position  of  New  Zealand.  Su- 
Charles  Dilke^  has  pointed  out  that,  though  "the  future  of  the  Pacific  shores IS  inevitably  brilliant,  it  is  not  New  Zealand,  the  centre  of  the  water  hemis- 

phere, which  will  occupy  the  position  that  England  has  taken  in  the  Atlantic, but  some  country  such  as  Japan  or  Vancouver,  jutting  out  into  the  ocean  from 
Asia  or  America,  as  England  juts  out  from  Europe."  New  Zealand,  sepa- rated from  Australia  by  more  than  a  thousand  miles  of  stormy  ocean  can 
never  prove  to  Australia  what  England  has  pi-oved  to  Europe.  Her' own advantages  of  soil  and  climate  may  raise  her  to  greatness.  She  will  not  rise 
to  greatness  as  the  emporium  of  Australian  trade,  i 

The  election  on  December  6th,  1905,  resulted  in  an  overwhelming  majority 
for  the  Seddon  ministry.  In  the  following  June  Mr.  Seddon  died  suddenly 
while  returning  from  a  visit  to  Australia.  A  ministry  was  formed  by  Sir 
Joseph  Ward  to  follow  Mr.  Seddon's  policy.  In  September,  1907,  a  royal proclamation  was  issued  to  the  effect  that  the  colony  should  henceforth  be 
called  the  Dominion  of  New  Zealand.^ 

The  Maoris 

The  Maoris  are  one  of  the  most  important  families  of  the  brown  Polynesian 
stock,  being  those  who  have  developed  its  peculiar  mental  and  physical 
characteristics  to  the  highest 
degree.  This  is  due  in  part 
to  their  having  to  maintain 
themselves  in  a  far  less  fa- 

vourable climate  than  their 
fellows  of  the  tropical  islands. 
They  became  skilful  hunters 
and  fishers,  and  good  agri- 

culturists; and  the  amount 
of  skill  and  energy  necessi- 

tated in  these  pursuits  in 
building  houses  and  canoes, 
in  making  clothing,  and  in 
forming  the  various  weapons 
and  implements  which  they  required  from  stone,  wood,  or  shell,  furnished 
the  needful  stimulus  for  an  active  and  healthy  existence.  War,  too,  as  among 
all  savage  tribes,  occupied  them  greatly,  and  the  construction  of  forts  and 
defences  was  added  to  the  regular  labours  of  every  commimity. 

The  earliest  European  settlers  thus  found  the  Maoris  in  a  state  of  civilisa- 
tion not  often  to  be  met  with  among  a  barbarous  and  savage  people.  They 

lived  together  in  villages,  ia  huts  well  constructed  of  wood  and  reeds,  orna- 
mented with  ingenious  and  fanciful  carvings,  and  painted  with  gay-coloured 

arabesques.  They  protected  their  vUlages  with  ditches  and  palisades,  and 
surrounded  them  with  extensive  plantations.  They  manufactured  flax  from 
a  native  plant,  and  from  it  wove  mats  and  clothing,  which  they  dyed  with 
various  kinds  of  bark  and  roots,  and  ornamented  with  the  bright  feathers  of 
birds;  and  they  made  cloaks  of  great  value  from  the  dressed  skins  of  their 
dogs.  Their  faces  and  some  parts  of  their  bodies  were  elaborately  and  ele- 

gantly tattooed,  more  largely  in  the  men  than  the  women,  and  the  heads  of 

Light  House  on  the  Coast  or  New  South  Wales 
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the  great  chiefs  were  skillfully  embalmed  and  preserved,  either  as  trophies  of 
the  fight  or  in  affectionate  remembrance  of  the  dead.  Although  they  had  no 
written  language,  they  had  numerous  songs  and  proverbs,  legends  and  tra- 

ditions, transmitted  orally  from  generation  to  generation.  They  knew  every 
plant  and  bird  and  insect  of  the  country  they  inhabited,  and  designated  them 
by  distinctive  names;  and  they  distinguished  the  various  kinds  of  rock  with 
a  keen  talent  of  observation.  They  had  words  in  their  language  for  the  four 
seasons,  and  they  divided  the  year  into  thirteen  months,  all  of  which  had 
appropriate  names,  the  year  commencing  with  the  first  new  moon  after  a 
particular  star,  called  Puanga,  began  to  be  visible  in  the  morning.  They  had 
names  for  all  the  chief  stars,  and  also  for  many  constellations,  which  were 
called  after  their  resemblance  to  canoes,  houses,  garments,  weapons,  etc. 
They  had  measures  derived  from  the  human  body,  as  the  span,  the  stride,  and 
the  fathom.  They  had  no  regular  barter,  but  whatever  a  friend  asked  for 
was  given,  on  the  understanding  that  the  giver  might  in  his  turn  have  any- 

thing he  took  a  fancy  to;  but  all  valuable  property  appears  to  have  been 
held  by  the  tribe,  and  could  only  be  exchanged  in  this  way  with  other  family 
tribes.  They  had  numerous  games  of  skill  or  chance,  many  of  them  exactly 

similar  to  our  own,  as  flying  kites,  skipping-ropes,  cat's-cradle,  gymnastic 
poles,  wrestling,  hide-and-seek,  stilts;  as  well  as  dancing,  diving,  and  many 
others.  They  had  a  firm  belief  in  a  future  state,  and  an  elaborate  mythology 
and  system  of  temples,  priests,  omens,  and  sacrifices.  They  were  great 
orators,  and  a  son  of  every  chief  had  to  learn  the  traditions,  laws,  and  rites  of 
his  tribe,  and  to  be  an  orator  and  a  poet  as  well  as  a  warrior,  a  hunter,  and 
a  seaman. 

The  dark  side  of  their  character  was  the  practice  of  cannibalism,  which 
prevailed  extensively  at  the  time  when  Europeans  first  visited  them.  But 
this  vile  practice  seems  always  to  have  been  associated  with  a  superstitious 
belief  in  the  transfer  of  the  qualities  of  the  victim  to  his  devourer.  This 
became  one  of  the  chief  incentives  to  war,  as  to  eat  the  bodies  of  the  slain 
was  supposed  to  impart  courage  and  ferocity  to  those  who  partook  of  them, 
and  likewise  to  make  their  triumph  over  their  enemies  complete.*' 

The  rapid  decrease  of  the  Maori  population  for  many  years  seemed  to 
foreteU  its  early  extinction  as  a  race,  but  during  very  recent  years  there 
appears  to  have  been  a  slight  increase  in  numbers.  In  1840  estimates  placed 
the  native  population  at  over  100,000,  which  had  decreased  to  65,000  in  1856 
and  to  45,740  in  1874.  By  1896  the  Maori  population  was  only  39,800,  but 
in  1901  it  had  risen  again  to  43,143.« 



CHAPTER   II 

THE   HISTORY   OF   SOUTH   AFRICA 

THE   DISCOVERY  OF  THE   CAPE 

The  Cape  of  Good  Hope  was  discovered  by  Bartholomeu  Dias,  the  Portu- 
guese navigator,  in  1487.  He  first  landed  at  Algoa  Bay,  having,  after  explor- 

ing the  west  coast,  been  driven  out  to  sea  by  a  storm.  Thus  accidentally 
doubling  the  Cape,  he  saw  it  on  his  way  back,  and  gave  it  the  name  of  the 
Cape  of  Storms  (Cabo  Tormentoso).  The  king  of  Portugal,  however,  gave 
it  the  more  auspicious  name  it  now  bears,  as  its  discovery  afforded  a  hope  of 
a  new  and  easier  way  of  reaching  India,  the  great  obj  -ct  of  aU  the  maritime 
expeditions  of  that  age. 

The  great  navigator  Vasco  da  Gama  doubled  the  Cape  in  1497,  and  carried 
the  Portuguese  flag  into  the  Indian  seas.  His  countrjmien,  however,  attracted 
by  the  riches  of  the  East,  made  no  permanent  settlement  at  the  Cape,  although 
they  frequently  touched  there  on  the  voyage  to  India.  But  the  Dutch,  who, 
on  the  decline  of  the  Portuguese  power,  established  themselves  in  the  East, 
early  saw  the  importance  of  the  place  as  a  station  where  their  vessels  might 
take  in  water  and  proAosions.  They  did  not,  however,  colonise  it  till  1652, 
when  the  Dutch  East  India  Company  directed  Jan  van  Riebeek,  with  a  small 
party  of  colonists,  to  form  a  settlement  there.  The  country  was  at  that  time 
mhabited  by  a  people  called  Qusequse,  but  to  whom  the  Dutch  seem  to  have 
given  the  name  of  Hottentots.  TTie  Riebeek  settlers  had  at  first  great  diffi- 

culties and  hardships  to  endure,  and  their  territory  did  not  extend  beyond 
a  few  miles  round  the  site  of  the  present  Cape  Town,  where  they  first  fixed 
their  abode.  They  gradually,  however,  extended  their  limits,  by  driving  the 
natives  back  or  reducing  them  to  serfdom.  These  colonists,  although  under 
Dutch  authority,  were  not  wholly  of  that  nation,  but  consisted  partly  of 
persons  of  various  nations,  especially  Germans  and  Flemings,  with  a  few 
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Poles  and  Portuguese.  They  were  for  the  most  part  people  of  low  station  or 
indifferent  character;  there  was,  however,  a  small  number  of  a  higher  class, 
from  whom  was  selected  a  council  to  assist  the  governor.  About  the  year 
1686  the  European  population  was  increased  by  a  number  of  the  French 
refugees  who  left  theu"  country  on  the  revocation  of  the  Edict  of  Nantes.  Our 
limits  forbid  our  attempting  to  trace  the  history  of  the  Cape  Colony  during 
the  lengthened  period  it  remained  under  the  Dutch  government.  We  may, 
however,  mention  some  of  its  prominent  incidents,  the  effects  of  which  are 
visible  in  the  colony  to  this  hour. 

The  Dutch,  partly  by  so-caUed  contracts,  partly  by  force,  gradually  de- 
prived the  Hottentots  of  their  coimtry.  They  reduced  to  slavery  a  large 

part  of  that  unfortunate  people  whom  they  did  not  destroy.  They  intro- 
duced a  nimiber  of  Malays  and  negroes  as  slaves.  They  established  that 

narrow  and  tyrannical  system  of  policy  which  they  adopted  in  other  colonies, 
prescribing  to  the  farmers  the  nature  of  the  crops  they  were  to  grow,  demand- 

ing from  them  a  large  part  of  their  produce,  and  harassing  them  with  other 
exactions  tending  to  discourage  industry  and  enterprise.  There  is  no  doubt 
that  to  this  mischievous  policy  is  due  the  origin  of  those  unsettled  habits,  that 
disUke  to  orderly  government,  and  that  desire  to  escape  from  its  control, 
which  characterise  a  considerable  part  of  the  so-called  Dutch  Boers  of  the 
present  day  —  qualities  utterly  at  variance  with  the  character  of  the  Dutch 
in  their  native  coimtry,  which  were  strongly  manifested  at  the  Cape,  long 
before  they  came  under  British  rule  and  under  those  influences  to  which  some 
exclusively  attribute  the  insubordination  of  those  men.  The  attempts  of  the 
Boers  to  escape  from  the  Dutch  power,  and  so  form  an  independent  govern- 

ment beyond  the  borders  of  the  colony,  especially  in  the  district  since  called 
Graaf-Reinet,  are  strikingly  similar  to  their  proceedings  at  a  later  date  under 
the  British  government.  The  Gumti  river  formed  the  boundary  between  the 
Hottentot  and  Kaflir  races,  and  was  early  adopted  by  the  Dutch  as  their 
eastern  limit;  but  about  the  year  1740  they  began  to  pass  this  river,  and 
came  into  collision  with  the  Kaffirs,  and  in  1780  they  extended  their  frontier 
to  the  Great  Fish  river. 

In  1795  the  colonists,  having  imbibed  the  revolutionary  principles  then 
prevailing  in  Europe,  attempted  to  throw  off  the  yoke  of  the  Dutch,  upon 
which  the  British  sent  a  fleet  to  support  the  authority  of  the  prince  of  Orange, 
and  took  possession  of  the  coimtry  in  his  name.  As,  however,  it  was  evident 
that  HoUand  would  not  be  able  to  hold  it,  and  that  at  a  general  peace  it  would 
be  made  over  to  England,  it  was  ruled  by  British  governors  till  the  year  1802, 
when,  at  the  Peace  of  Aniiens,  it  was  again  restored  to  Holland.  In  1806,  on 
the  renewal  of  the  war,  it  was  again  taken  by  the  British  under  Sir  David 
Baird,  and  has  since  remained  in  their  possession,  having  been  finally  ceded 
by  the  king  of  the  Netherlands  at  the  peace  of  1815.  At  this  time  the  limit 
of  the  colony  was  formed  by  the  Great  Fish  river  and  the  line  of  the  mountains 
south  of  Bushman  Land  to  the  Buffals  river  and  the  Atlantic,  the  area  being 
about  one  hundred  and  twenty  thousand  square  miles,  and  the  population 
little  over  sixty  thousand.  A  summary  may  be  given  of  the  chief  events 
which  have  taken  place  since  1806. 

KAFFIR  WARS  AND  THE  GREAT  TREK 

The  first  of  these  wars  took  place  in  1811-1812,  and  the  second  in  1819, 
when  the  boundary  of  the  colony  was  extended  to  the  Keiskamma.  The 

third  occurred  in  1835,  under  Sir  Benjamin  d'Urban,  when  the  boimdary  was 
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advanced  to  the  Kei;  but  on  the  recall  of  that  officer  the  country  between 
the  Kei  and  Keiskamma  rivers  was  restored  to  the  Kafl&rs.  The  fourth 
Kaffir  War  took  place  in  1846,  and  after  being  conducted  by  governors  Mait- 
land  and  Pottinger,  it  was  terminated  by  Sir  Harry  Smith  in  1848.  The  fifth 
war  broke  out  at  the  end  of  1850,  and  after  being  carried  on  for  some  time  by 
Governor  Sir  H.  Smith,  it  was  conducted  in  1852  by  Governor  Cathcart,  and 
brought  to  a  conclusion  only  in  March,  1853.  During  its  progress  an  armed 
police  had  been  organised  for  the  protection  of  the  frontier,  and  British 
Kaffraria  was  subsequently  formed  into  a  crown  colony,  reserved  at  first  for 
occupation  by  Kaffirs. 

In  1820,  British  emigrants,  to  the  number  of  five  thousand,  arrived  at 
Algoa  Bay,  and  laid  the  foundation  of  the  settlements  on  the  eastern  frontier 
which  have  since  become  the  most  thriving  part  of  the  colony,  including  the 
important  towns  of  Grahamstown  and  Port  Elizabeth.  In  1834  the  great 
measure  of  slave-emancipation  took  effect  in  the  Cape  Colony.  It  has  been 
of  immense  service  in  raising  the  character  and  condition  of  the  Hottentots 
and  other  races  before  held  in  bondage,  though  many  of  the  vices  begotten 
by  the  state  of  slavery  still  adhere  to  them.  This  measure  gave  great  offence 
to  the  Dutch  Boers  of  the  colony,  and  completed  their  already  existing  dis- 

affection to  the  British  rule. 

In  1835-1836  a  large  number  of  these  people  resolved  to  free  themselves 
from  the  British  government  by  removing  with  their  families  beyond  the 
limits  of  the  colony.  With  this  object  they  sold  their  farms,  mostly  at  a  great 
sacrifice,  and  crossed  the  Orange  river  into  territories  inhabited  chiefly  by 
tribes  of  the  Kaffir  race.  After  meeting  with  great  hardships  and  varied 
success  in  their  contests  with  the  natives,  a  part  of  their  number,  under  one 
Peter  Retief,  crossed  the  Drakenberge  and  took  possession  of  the  district  of 
Natal,  where  they  established  a  republican  government,  and  maintained  their 
groimd  against  powerful  nations  of  Zulu  Kaffirs  till  1842,  when  they  were 
forced  to  yield  to  the  authority  of  the  British  government,  which  took  posses- 

sion of  Natal. 

The  Boers  beyond  the  Orange  river  and  west  of  the  Drakenberge  still,  how- 
ever, retained  a  sort  of  independence  till  1848,  when,  in  consequence  of  the 

lawless  state  of  the  country,  and  the  solicitation  of  part  of  the  inhabitants, 
the  governor.  Sir  Harry  Smith,  declared  the  supremacy  of  the  crown  over  the 
territory,  which  was  thenceforth  called  the  Orange  River  Sovereignty.  Shortly 
after  this,  in  consequence,  it  was  alleged,  of  certain  acts  of  the  British  govern- 

ment in  Natal,  Andrew  Pretorius,  an  intelligent  Boer  of  that  district,  crossed 
the  Drakenberge  mountains  with  his  followers,  and  after  being  joined  on  the 
western  side  by  large  numbers  of  disaffected  Boers,  raised  the  standard  of 
rebellion.  Upon  this  the  governor,  Sir  H.  Smith,  crossed  the  Orange  river  at 
the  head  of  a  detachment  of  troops,  and  encountered  and  defeated  the  rebels 
in  a  short  but  brilliant  skirmish  at  Boem  Plaats.  After  this  Pretorius  and 
the  most  disaffected  part  of  the  Boers  retreated  to  beyond  the  Vaal  river  (the 
northern  limit  of  the  sovereignty),  where  they  established  a  government  of 
their  own.  They  were  subsequently,  in  1852,  absolved  from  their  allegiance 

to  the  British  crown  by  treaty  with  the  governors  and  her  majesty's  com- 
missioners for  settling  frontier  affairs. 

In  1853-1854,  in  consequence  of  the  troubled  state  of  the  Orange  River 
Sovereignty,  and  the  difficulty  of  maintaining  with  becoming  dignity  the 
authority  of  her  majesty  there,  it  was  resolved  to  abandon  the  country  to 
the  settlers,  mostly  Dutch  Boers.  This  was  carried  into  effect  by  a  special 
commissioner,  Sir  George  Clerk,  sent  from  England  for  the  purpose;  and  the 
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country,  under  the  name  of  the  Orange  Free  State,  was  constituted  a  republic, 
with  a  president  at  its  head,  assisted  or  controlled  by  an  assembly  called  the 

volksraad  (people's  council),  elected  by  nearly  universal  suffrage. 

THE   CONVICT  AGITATION 

After  the  British  government  had  felt  itself  compelled  to  discontiuue  the 

sending  of  convicts  to  New  South  Wales  and  Van  Diemen's  Land,  the  subject 
of  transportation  became  one  of  great  difl&culty,  the  more  so  that  an  unusually 
large  number  of  prisoners  was  then  on  its  hands  in  consequence  of  the  prose- 

cutions arising  out  of  the  disturbed  state  of  Ireland.  Under  these  circum- 
stances an  order  in  council  was  passed  in  1848,  under  authority  of  the  Act  of 

5,  George  IV,  authorising  the  secretary  of  state  to  send  certain  convicts  to 
such  colonies  as  he  might  think  proper.  A  circular  was  sent  by  Earl  Grey, 
then  colonial  secretary,  to  the  governor  of  the  Cape  (among  other  colonial 
governors),  requesting  him  to  ascertain  the  feelings  of  the  colonists  regarding 
the  reception  of  a  certain  class  of  convicts. 

Unfortunately,  owing  to  some  misunderstanding,  a  vessel,  the  Neptune, 
was  despatched  to  the  Cape  before  the  opinion  of  the  colonists  had  been 
received,  having  on  board  289  convicts,  among  whom  were  John  Mitchell,  the 
Irish  rebel,  and  his  colleagues.  When  the  news  reached  the  Cape  that  this 
vessel  was  on  her  way,  the  people  of  the  colony  became  violently  excited;  and 
goaded  to  fury  by  the  inflammatory  articles  in  the  local  newspapers,  and 
guided  by  a  few  demagogues,  they  established  what  was  called  the  Anti- 
Convict  Association,  by  which  they  boimd  themselves  by  a  pledge  to  cease 

from  all  intercourse  of  every  kind  with  persons  in  any  way  connected  "  with 
the  landing,  supplying,  or  employing  of  convicts."  On  the  19th  of  September, 
1849,  the  Neptune  arrived  in  Simon's  Bay;  and  when  the  intelligence  reached 
Gape  Town,  the  people  assembled  in  masses,  and  their  behaviour  was  violent 
and  outrageous  in  the  extreme.  The  governor,  after  adopting  several  reso- 

lutions, and  again  abandoning  them  under  the  pressure  of  popular  agitation, 

agreed  not  to  land  the  convicts,  but  to  keep  them  on  board  ship  in  Simon's 
Bay  tUl  he  received  orders  to  send  them  elsewhere.  Even  this  concession  did 
not  satisfy  any  but  a  small  number  of  more  moderate  men.  The  mass  of  the 
population,  under  the  guidance  or  domination  of  a  few  agitators,  continued  to 
do  all  in  their  power  to  prevent  the  convicts  and  all  the  officers  of  the  govern- 

ment from  obtaining  supplies.  When  the  home  government  became  aware 
of  the  state  of  affairs  it  immediately  sent  orders  directing  the  Neptune  to 

proceed  to  Van  Diemen's  Land,  and  the  agitation  ceased.  This  agitation 
did  not,  however,  pass  away  without  important  results,  since  it  led  to  another 
movement,  the  object  of  which  was  to  obtain  a  free  representative  govern- 

ment for  the  colony.  This  concession,  which  had  been  previously  promised 

by  Lord  Grey,  was  granted  by  her  majesty's  government,  and,  in  1853,  a  con stitution  was  established  of  almost  imexampled  liberality. 
In  1857  an  almost  incredible  delusion  arose  in  the  Amaxosa  tribe  of  British 

Kaffraria.  It  was  predicted  among  them  that,  on  condition  of  a  complete 
sacrifice  of  their  lives  and  property,  a  resurrection  would  take  place  on  a 
certain  day,  in  which  all  the  dead  warriors  and  great  men  of  the  nation  would 
arise  in  new  strength;  and  acting  upon  this  faith  nearly  a  third  of  the  tribe 
or  about  fifty  thousand,  perished  m  a  national  suicide.  The  tracts  thus 
depopulated  were  afterwards  peopled  by  European  settlers,  among  whoni 
were  many  of  the  German  legion  which  had  served  with  the  English  army  in 
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the  Crimea,  and  a  body  of  upwards  of  two  thousand  industrious  North  Ger- 
man emigrants,  who  proved  to  be  a  valuable  acquisition  to  the  colony. 

Public  works  in  the  colony  marked  an  era  in  the  opening,  in  November, 
1863,  of  the  railway  from  Cape  Town  to  Wellington,  begun  m  1859,  and,  in 
1860,  of  the  great  breakwater  in  Table  Bay,  long  needed  on  that  perilous 
coast.  In  1865  the  province  of  British  Kaffraria  was  incorporated  with  the 
colony,  imder  the  title  of  the  Electoral  Divisions  of  King  William's  Town  and 
East  London.  In  the  same  year  several  important  modifications  of  the  con- 

stitution were  adopted. 
The  discovery  of  diMnonds  in  the  districts  north  of  the  Orange  river  in 

1867  drew  the  attention  of  the  whole  world  to  the  colony,  and  gave  new  life 
and  impetus  to  every  branch  of  industry,  leading  to  the  annexation  of  the 
large  territory  of  Griqualand  west  to  the  British  crown.  The  Basutos,  a 
division  of  the  Bechuana  Kaffirs,  occupying  the  upper  valleys  of  the  Orange 
river,  had  subsisted  under  a  semi-protectorate  of  the  British  government  from 
1848  to  1854;  but  having  been  left  to  their  own  resources  on  the  abandon- 

ment of  the  Orange  Sovereignty,  they  fell  into  a  long  exhaustive  warfare  with 
the  Boers  of  the  Free  State.  On  the  urgent  petition  of  their  chief  Moshesh 
they  were  proclaimed  British  subjects  in  1868,  and  their  territory  became  part 
of  the  colony  by  act  of  government  of  1871.^ 

The  year  1870  marks  the  dawn  of  a  new  era  in  South  Africa.  From  that 
date  the  development  of  modem  South  Africa  may  be  said  to  have  fairly 
started,  and  in  spite  of  political  complications,  arising  from  time  to  time,  the 
progress  of  Cape  Colony  down  to  the  outbreak  of  the  Transvaal  War  of  1899 
was  steadily  forward.  The  discovery  of  diamonds  on  the  Orange  river  in 
1867,  followed  immediately  afterwards  by  the  discovery  of  diamonds  on  the 
Vaal  river,  led  to  the  rapid  occupation  and  development  of  a  tract  of  country 
which  had  hitherto  been  but  sparsely  inhabited.  In  1870  Dutoitspan  and 
Bultfontein  diamond  mines  were  discovered,  and  in  1871  the  still  richer 
mines  of  Kimberley  and  De  Beers.  These  four  great  deposits  of  mineral 
wealth  are  still  richly  productive,  and  although  not  technically  within  the 
confines  of  Cape  Colony  till  1880,  to-day  they  constitute  the  greatest  industrial 
asset  which  the  colony  possesses. 

At  the  time  of  the  beginning  of  the  diamond  industry,  both  Cape  Colony 
and  the  Boer  republics,  as  well  as  all  the  rest  of  the  colonies  of  South  Africa, 
were  in  a  very  depressed  condition.  Ostrich-farming  was  in  its  infancy,  and 
agriculture  but  little  developed.  The  Boers,  except  in  the  immediate  vicinity 
of  Cape  Town,  were  a  prunitive  people.  Their  wants  were  few,  they  lacked 
enterprise,  and  the  trade  of  the  colony  was  restricted.  Even  the  British 
colonists  at  that  time  were  far  from  rich.  The  diamond  mdustry  therefore 
offered  considerable  attractions,  especially  to  colonists  of  British  origin.  It 
was  also  the  means  at  length  of  demonstrating  the  fact  that  South  Africa, 
barren  and  poor  on  the  surface,  was  rich  below  the  surface.  It  takes  ten 
acres  of  Karroo  to  feed  a  sheep,  but  it  was  now  seen  that  a  few  square  yards 
of  diamondiferous  blue  ground  would  feed  a  dozen  families.  By  the  end  of 
1871  a  large  population  had  already  gathered  at  the  diamond  fields,  and  immi- 

gration continued  steadily,  bringing  new-comers  to  the  rich  fields.  Among 
ttiose  who  emigrated  to  South  Africa  at  that  time  was  Mr.  Cecil  Rhodes. 

So  far  back  in  the  history  of  the  colony  as  1858,  the  then  governor,  Sir 

George  Grey,  had  prepared  for  the  home  authorities  a  scheme  for  the  federa- 
tion of  the  various  colonies  and  states  of  South  Africa,  but  this  proposition  was 

not  entertained  at  the  time.  In  1875,  Lord  Carnarvon,  who  was  secretan^  of 
state  for  the  colonies,  and  who  had  been  successful  in  aiding  to  bring  about 
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the  federation  of  Canada,  turned  his  attention  to  a  similar  scheme  for  the 
confederation  of  South  Africa.  The  new  parliament  at  Cape  Town,  which  had 
received  its  privileges  of  self  government  in  1872  appears  to  have  resented 
the  despatch  in  which  he  propounded  his  suggestions,  and  passed  a  resolution 
stating  that  any  scheme  in  favour  of  confederation  must  in  their  opinion 
originate  within  South  Africa  itself.  James  Anthony  Froude,  the  distin- 

guished historian,  was  sent  out  by  Lord  Carnarvon  to  further  his  policy  in 
South  Africa.  As  a  diplomatist  and  a  representative  of  the  British  govern- 

ment, the  general  opinion  in  South  Africa  was  that  Froude  was  not  a  success, 

and  he  entirely  failed  to  induce  the  colonists  to  adopt  Lord  Carnarvon's 
views.  Lord  Carnarvon,  still  bent  on  confederation,  now  appointed  Sir 
Bartle  Frere  governor  of  Cape  Colony  and  high  commissioner  of  South  Africa. 

Frere  had  no  sooner  taken  office  as  high  commissioner,  than  he  found  him- 
self confronted  with  serious  native  troubles' in  Zululand  and  on  the  Kaffir 

frontier  of  Cape  Colony.  In  1877  there  occurred  an  outbreak  on  the  part  of 
the  Galekas  and  the  Gaikas.  A  considerable  force  of  imperial  and  colonial 
troops  was  eiriployed  to  put  down  this  rising,  and  the  war  was  subsequently 
known  as  the  Ninth  KafiBr  War.  This  war  was  the  last  of  a  long  series  which 
the  colonists  waged  on  the  eastern  frontier  ever  since  the  colony  came  into 
existence.  At  its  conclusion  the  Transkei,  the  territory  of  the  Galeka  tribe, 
under  Kreli,  was  annexed  by  the  British.  In  the  meantime  Lord  Carnarvon 
had  resigned  his  position  in  the  British  cabinet,  and  the  scheme  for  confeder- 

ation which  he  had  been  pushing  forward  was  abandoned.  As  a  matter  of 
fact,  at  that  time  Cape  Colony  was  too  fully  occupied  with  native  troubles  to 
take  into  consideration  very  seriously  so  great  a  question  as  confederation. 
A  wave  of  feeling  spread  amongst  the  different  Kaffir  tribes  on  the  colonial 
frontier,  and  after  the  Gaika-Galeka  War  there  followed  in  1879  a  rising  in 
Basutoland  under  Moirosi,  whose  cattle-raiding  had  for  some  time  past  caused 
considerable  trouble.  His  stronghold  was  taken  after  very  severe  fighting  by 
a  colonial  force,  but,  their  defeat  notwithstanding,  the  Basutos  remained  in 
a  restless  and  aggressive  condition  for  several  years. 

In  1880  the  colonial  authorities  endeavoured  to  extend  to  Basutoland  the 
Peace  Preservation  Act  of  1878,  under  which  a  general  disarmament  of  the 
Basutos  was  attempted.  Further  fighting  followed  on  this  proclamation, 
which  was  by  no  means  successful,  and  although  peace  was  declared  in  the 
country  in  1883,  the  colonial  authorities  were  very  glad  in  1884  to  be  relieved 
of  the  administration  of  a  country  which  had  already  cost  them  £3,000,000. 
The  imperial  government  then  took  over  Basutoland  as  a  crown  colony,  on 
the  understanding  that  Cape  Colony  should  contribute  for  administrative  pur- 

poses £18,000  annually.  In  1880,  Sir  Bartle  Frere,  who  by  his  energetic  and 
statesmanlike  attitude  on  the  relations  with  the  native  states,  as  well  as  on 
all  other  questions,  had  won  the  esteem  and  regard  of  loyal  South  African 
colonists,  was  recalled  by  Lord  Kimberley,  the  liberal  secretary  of  state  for 
the  colonies,  and  was  succeeded  by  Sir  Hercules  Robinson.  Griqualand 
West,  which  included  the  diamond  fields,  was  now  incorporated  as  a  portion 
of  Cape  Colony. 

THE  AFRIKANDER  BOND 

The  Boer  War  of  1881,  with  its  disastrous  termination,  naturally  reacted 
throughout  South  Africa;  and  as  one  of  the  most  important  results,  in  the 
year  1882  the  first  Afrikander  Bond  congress  was  held  at  Graaf-Reinet.  The 
organisation  of  the  Bond  developed  into  one  embracing  the  Transvaal,  the 



THE   HISTORY   OF   SOUTH   AFETCA  «71 
[1881-1884  A.D.] 

Orange  Free  State,  and  Cape  Colony.  Each  country  had  a  provincial  com- 
mittee with  district  committees,  and  branches  were  distributed  throughout 

the  whole  of  South  Africa.  At  a  later  date  the  Bond  in  the  Cape  Colony 
dissociated  itself  from  its  republican  branches.  The  general  lines  of  policy 
which  this  organisation  endeavoured  to  promote  may  best  be  gathered  from 
De  Patriot,  a  paper  published  in  the  colony,  and  an  avowed  supporter  of  the 
organisation.  "  The  Afrikander  Bond,"  it  said,  "  has  for  its  object  the  estab- 

lishment of  a  South  African  nationality  by  spreading  a  true  love  for  what  is 
really  our  fatherland.  The  British  government  keep  on  talking  about  a  con- 

federation under  the  British  flag,  but  that  will  never  be  brought  about.  They 
can  be  quite  certain  of  that.  There  is  just  one  obstacle  in  the  way  of  con- 

federation, and  that  is  the  British  flag.  Let  them  remove  that,  and  in  less 
than  a  year  the  confederation  would  be  established  under  the  free  Afri- 

kander flag." 
The  fact  is  that,  from  1881  onwards,  two  great  rival  ideas  came  into  being, 

each  strongly  opposed  to  the  other.  One  was  that  of  imperialism  —  fim 
civil  rights  for  every  civilised  man,  whatever  his  race  might  be,  under  the 
supremacy  and  protection  of  Great  Britain.  The  other  was  nominally  repub- 

lican, but  in  fact  exclusively  oligarchical  and  Dutch.  The  policy  of  the 
extremists  of  this  last  party  was  summed  up  in  the  appeal  which  President 

Kruger  made  to  the  Free  State  in  February,  1881,  when  he  bade  them  "Come 
and  help  us.  God  is  with  us.  It  is  his  will  to  unite  us  as  a  people  —  to 
make  a  united  South  Africa  free  from  British  authority."  The  two  actual 
founders  of  the  Bond  party  were  Mr.  Borckenhagen,  a  German  who  was  resid- 

ing in  Bloemfontein,  and  Mr.  Reitz,  afterwards  state  secretary  of  the  Transvaal. 
In  1882  an  act  was  passed  in  the  Cape  legislative  assembly,  empowering 

members  to  speak  in  the  Dutch  language  on  the  floor  of  the  house,  if  they  so 
desired.  By  this  act  an  increase  of  influence  was  given  to  the  Dutch  leaders. 
The  head  of  the  Afrikander  Bond  at  this  time  in  Cape  Colony,  and  the  leader 
of  Dutch  opinion,  was  Mr.  J.  H.  Hofmeyr,  a  man  of  undoubted  ability  and 
astuteness.  His  influence  over  the  Dutch  members  was  supreme,  and  in 
addition  to  directing  the  policy  of  the  Bond  within  the  Cape  Colony,  he  sup- 

ported and  defended  the  aggressive  expansion  policy  of  President  Kruger  and 
the  Transvaal  Boers.  In  1884  Mr.  HofmejT  led  the  Bond  in  strongly  sup- 

porting the  Transvaal  Boer  raiders  in  Bechuanaland. 
Fortunately,  however,  for  the  peace  of  Cape  Colony  at  that  time.  Sir 

Charles  Warren  removed  the  invading  Boers  from  Stellaland  and  no  rebellion 
occurred.  Nevertheless  the  Bond  party  was  so  strong  in  the  house  that  they 
compelled  the  ministry  under  Sir  Thomas  Scanlen  to  resign  in  1884.  The 
logical  and  constitutional  course  for  Mr.  Hofmeyr  to  have  followed  in  these 
circumstances  would  have  been  to  accept  office  and  himself  form  a  government. 
This  he  refused  to  do.  He  preferred  to  put  in  a  nominee  of  his  own  who 
should  be  entirely  dependent  on  him.  Mr.  UpLngton,  a  clever  Irish  barrister, 
was  the  man  he  selected,  and  imder  him  was  formed  in  1884  what  will  always 
be  known  in  Cape  history  as  the  Warming-pan  ministry.  This  action  was 
denounced  by  many  British  colonists,  who  were  sufficiently  loyal,  not  only  to 
Great  Britain,  but  also  to  that  constitution  which  had  been  conferred  by 
Great  Britain  upon  the  Cape  Colony,  to  desire  to  see  the  man  who  reaUy 
wielded  political  power  also  enacting  as  the  responsible  head  of  the  party. 

It  was  Mr.  Hofmeyr's  refusal  to  accept  this  responsibility,  as  well  as  the  nature 
of  his  Bond  policy,  which  won  for  him  the  political  sobriquet  of  the  "Mole." 

Open  and  responsible  exercise  of  a  power  conferred  imder  the  constitution 
of  the  country,  Englishmen  and  English  colonists  would  have  accepted  and 
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even  welcomed.  But  that  subterranean  method  of  Dutch  policy  which  found 
its  strongest  expression  in  Pretoria,  and  which  operated  from  Pretoria  to 
Cape  Town,  could  not  but  be  resented  by  loyal  colonists.  From  1881  down 
to  1898,  Mr.  Hofmeyr  practically  determined  how  Dutch  members  should  vote, 
and  also  what  policy  the  Bond  should  adopt  at  every  juncture  in  its  history. 
The  influence  of  this  action  on  Cape  politics  was  a  demoralising  one.  Other 
well-known  politicians  at  the  Cape  subsequently  found  it  convenient  to  adapt 
their  views  a  good  deal  too  readily  to  those  held  by  the  Bond.  In  justice  to 
Mr.  Hofmeyr,  however,  it  is  only  fair  to  say  that  after  the  Warren  expedition 
in  1884,  which  was  at  least  evidence  that  Great  Britain  did  not  intend  to 
renounce  her  supremacy  in  South  Africa  altogether,  he  adopted  a  less  hostile 
or  anti-British  attitude. 

Recognising  the  difliculties  of  the  position,  Mr.  Rhodes  from  the  outset  of 
his  political  career  showed  his  desire  to  conciliate  Dutch  sentiment  by  consid- 

erate treatment  and  regard  for  Dutch  prejudices.  Mr.  Rhodes  was  first 
returned  as  member  of  the  house  of  assembly  for  Barkly  West  in  1880,  and  in 
spite  of  aU  vicissitudes  this  constituency  remained  loyal  to  him.  He  sup- 

ported the  bill  permitting  Dutch  to  be  used  in  the  house  of  assembly  in  1882, 
and  early  in  1884  he  first  took  oflace,  as  treasurer-general,  under  Sir  Thomas 
Scanlen.  Mr.  Rhodes  had  only  held  this  position  for  six  weeks  when  Sir 
Thomas  Scanlen  resigned,  and  later  in  the  same  year  he  was  persuaded  by  Sir 
Hercules  Robinson  to  proceed  to  British  Bechuanaland  as  special  commis- 

sioner in  succession  to  Mr.  Mackenzie.  In  1885  the  territories  of  Cape  Colony 
were  further  extended,  and  Tembuland,  Bomvaniland,  and  Galekaland  were 
formally  added  to  the  colony.  In  1886  Sir  Gordon  Sprigg  succeeded  Sir 
Thomas  Upington  as  prime  minister. 

The  period  from  1878  to  1885  in  Cape  Colony  had  been  one  of  considerable 
unrest.  In  this  short  time  there  occurred  a  series  of  native  disturbances 
which  were  followed  by  the  Boer  War  of  1881,  and  the  Bechuanaland  dis- 

turbances of  1884.  In  spite,  however,  of  these  drawbacks,  the  development 
of  the  coimtry  proceeded.  The  diamond  industry  was  flourishing.  In  the 
year  1888,  a  Customs  Union  Bill  was  passed  by  the  Cape  parliament,  and  this 
in  itself  constituted  a  considerable  development  of  the  idea  of  federation. 
Shortly  after  the  passing  of  the  biU  the  Orange  Free  State  entered  the  union. 
An  endeavour  was  also  made  then,  and  for  many  years  afterwards,  to  get  the 
Transvaal  to  join.  But  President  Kruger,  consistently  pursuing  his  own 
policy,  hoped  through  the  Delagoa  Bay  railway  to  make  the  South  African 
Republic  entirely  independent  of  Cape  Colony. 

Another  event  of  considerable  commercial  importance  to  the  Cape  Colony, 
and  indeed  to  South  Africa,  was  the  amalgamation  of  the  diamond-mining 
companies,  chiefly  brought  about  by  Mr.  Cecil  Rhodes,  Mr.  Alfred  Beit,  and 
Mr.  Bamato  in  1889.  One  of  the  principal  and  most  beneficent  results  of  the 
discovery  and  development  of  the  diamond  mines  was  the  great  impetus  which 
it  gave  to  railway  extension.  Lines  were  opened  up  to  Worcester  and  West 
Beaufort,  to  Grahamstown,  Graaf-Reinet,  and  Queenstown.  Kimberley  was 
reached  in  1885.  In  1890  the  line  was  extended  northwards  on  the  western 
frontier  of  the  Transvaal  as  far  as  Vryburg  in  Bechuanaland.  In  1889  the 
Free  State  entered  into  an  arrangement  with  the  Cape  Colony  whereby  the 
main  trunk  railway  was  extended  to  Bloemfonteia,  the  Free  State  receiving 
half  the  profits.  Subsequently  the  Free  State  bought  at  cost  price  the  portion 
of  the  railway  in  its  own  territory.  In  1891  the  Free  State  railway  was  still 
further  extended  to  Viljoen's  Drift  on  the  Vaal  river,  and  in  1892  it  reached 
Pretoria  and  Johannesburg. 
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THE  RHODES  ADMINISTEATION 

In  1889  Sir  Henry  Loch  was  appointed  high  commissioner  and  governor  of 
Cape  Colony  in  succession  to  Sir  Hercules  Ilobinson.  In  1890  Sir  Gordon 
Sprigg,  the  premier  of  the  colony,  resigned,  and  a  government  was  formed 
under  Cecil  Rhodes.  Prior  to  the  formation  of  this  ministry,  and  whUe  Sir 
Gordon  Sprigg  was  still  in  office,  Mr.  Hofme3T  approached  Mr.  Rhodes  and 
offered  to  put  him  in  office  as  a  Bond  nominee.  This  offer  Mr.  Rhodes  de- 

clined. When,  however,  he  was  invited  to  take  office  after  the  downfall  of 
the  Sprigg  ministry,  he  asked  the  Bond  leaders  to  meet  him  and  discuss  the 
situation.  His  policy  of  customs  union  and  railway  union  between  the  various 
states,  added  to  the  personal  esteem  in  which  he  was  at  this  time  held  by  many 
of  the  Dutchmen,  enabled  him  to  undertake  and  to  carry  on  successfully  the 
business  of  government. 

The  colonies  of  British  Bechuanaland  and  Basutoland  were  now  taken  into 
the  customs  imion  existing  between  the  Orange  Free  State  and  Cape  Colony. 
Pondoland,  another  native  territory,  was  added  to  the  colony  in  1894,  and 
the  year  was  marked  by  the  passage  of  the  Glen  Grey  Act,  a  departure  in 
native  policy  for  which  Mr.  Rhodes  was  chiefly  responsible.  It  dealt  with 
the  natives  residing  in  certain  native  reserves,  and  in  addition  to  providing  for 
their  interests  and  holdings,  the  principle  of  the  duty  of  some  degree  of  labour 
devolving  upon  every  able-bodied  native  enjoying  these  privileges  was  asserted 
and  a  small  labour  tax  was  levied.  In  the  session  of  1895  Mr.  Rhodes  was 
able  to  report  to  the  Cape  parliament  that  the  act  then  applied  to  one  hundred 
and  sixty  thousand  natives. 

During  1895  Sir  Hercules  Robinson  was  reappointed  governor  and  high 
commissioner  of  South  Africa  in  succession  to  Sir  Henry  Loch,  and  in  the 

same  year  Mr.  Chamberlain  became  her  majesty's  secretary  of  state  for  the colonies. 
With  the  development  of  railways,  and  the  extension  of  trade  between 

Cape  Colony  and  the  Transvaal,  there  had  grown  up  a  closer  relationship  of 
political  questions.  Whilst  premier  of  Cape  Colony,  by  means  of  the  customs 
imion  and  in  every  other  way,  Mr.  Rhodes  endeavoured  to  bring  about  a 
friendly  measure  of  at  least  commercial  federation  among  the  states  and 
colonies  of  South  Africa.  He  hoped  to  establish  both  a  commercial  and  a 
railway  union.  To  this  policy  President  Kruger  and  his  government  offered 
every  possible  opposition. 

Li  the  year  1895  the  Jameson  raid  occurred,  and  Mr.  Rhodes'  complicity 
in  this  movement  compelled  him  to  resign  the  premiership  of  Cape  Colony  in 
January,  1896.  [Sir  Gordon  Sprigg  thereupon  became  premier  for  the  third 

time.]  As  Mr.  Rhodes'  complicity  in  the  raid  became  known,  there  naturally 
arose  a  strong  feeling  of  resentment  and  astonishment  among  his  colleagues 
in  the  Cape  ministry,  who  had  been  kept  in  complete  ignorance  of  his  con- 

nection with  any  such  scheme.  Mr.  Hofmeyr  and  the  Bond  were  loud  in  their 
denunciation  of  him.  After  his  resignation,  Mr.  Rhodes  was  proceeding  to  the 
north,  when  he  received  a  summons  from  the  chartered  company  to  go  to 
London;  but  after  interviews  with  the  directors  in  London,  he  went  back  to 
Rhodesia,  and  was  present  in  the  country  during  the  Matabele  rebellion. 
While  hostilities  were  still  proceeding  in  Matabeleland,  Mr.  Rhodes  went 
unarmed  to  a  meeting  of  Matabele  ivdunas  (chiefs)  in  the  heart  of  the  Mat- 
oppo  hills.  The  result  was  not  a  massacre  of  the  great  white  chief,  as  was 
foretold  at  the  time,  and  as  has  occurred  on  similar  occasions  in  attempted 
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negotiations  with  Bantu  tribes,  but  a  peace  which  terminated  the  rebellion. 
It  was  a  master-stroke  of  diplomacy  and  courage. 

In  1897  Sir  Alfred  Milner  was  appointed  high  commissioner  of  South  Africa 
and  governor  of  Cape  Colony  in  succession  to  Sir  Hercules  Robinson,  who  was 
created  a  peer  under  the  title  of  Baron  Rosmead.  In  1898  commercial  feder- 

ation in  South  Africa  advanced  another  stage.  Natal  entering  the  customs 
union. 

THE   MINISTRY   OF   W.    P.   SCHREINER 

In  the  following  year  the  Cape  parliamentary  election  occurred,  and  the 
result  was  the  return  to  power  of  a  Bond  ministry  under  Mr.  W.  P.  Schreiner. 
From  this  time  imtil  Jime,  1900,  Mr.  Schreiner  remained  in  office  as  head  of 
the  Cape  government.  During  the  negotiations  which  preceded  the  war  in 

1899,  feeling  at  the  Cape  ran  very  high,  and  Mr.  Schreiner's  attitude  has  been 
freely  discussed.  As  head  of  a  party,  dependent  for  its  position  in  power  on 

the  Bond's  support,  his  position  was  undoubtedly  a  tr3Tng  one.  At  the  same 
time,  as  prime  minister  of  a  British  colony,  it  was  strongly  felt  by  loyal  col- 

onists that  he  should  at  least  have  refrained  from  openly  interfering  between 
the  TVansvaal  and  the  imperial  government  during  the  course  of  most  difficult 
negotiations.  But  however  excellent  his  intentions,  his  publicly  expressed 
disapproval  of  the  Chamberlain-Milner  policy  probably  did  more  haim  than 
his  private  influence  with  Mr.  Kruger  could  possibly  do  good. 

Early  in  June,  1899,  the  Cape  Dutch  politicians  began  to  realise  that 

President  Kruger's  attitude  was  not  so  reasonable  as  they  had  endeavoiu-ed 
to  persuade  themselves,  and  Mr.  Hofmeyr,  accompanied  by  Mr.  Herholdt, 
the  Cape  minister  of  agriculture,  visited  Pretoria.  If  any  emissary  could 
accomplish  anything  in  the  way  of  persuading  Mr.  Kruger,  it  was  assuredly 
Mr.  Hofmeyr.  Much  was  looked  for  from  his  mission  by  moderate  men  of  all 
parties,  and  by  none  more  so,  it  is  fair  to  believe,  than  by  Mr.  Schreiner.  But 

Mr.  Hofmeyr's  mission,  like  every  other  mission  to  Mr.  Kruger  to  induce  him 
to  take  a  reasonable  and  equitable  course,  proved  entirely  frmtless.  He 
returned  to  Cape  Town  disappointed,  but  probably  not  altogether  surprised 
at  the  failure  of  his  mission. 

On  July  11th,  after  seeing  Mr.  Hofmeyr  on  his  retmn,  Mr.  Schreiner  made 
a  personal  appeal  to  President  Kruf  ̂ r  to  approach  the  imperial  government 
in  a  friendly  spirit.  At  this  time  an  incident  occurred  which  raised  the  feeling 
against  Mr.  Schreiner  to  a  very  high  pitch.  On  July  7th  five  hundred  rifles 
and  one  million  rounds  of  ammunition  were  landed  at  Port  Elizabeth,  con- 

signed to  the  Free  State  government,  and  forwarded  to  Bloemfontein.  Mr. 

Schreiner's  attention  was  called  to  this  consignment  at  the  time,  but  he  refused 
to  stop  it,  alleging  as  his  reason  that,  inasmuch  as  Great  Britain  was  at  peace 
with  the  Free  State,  he  had  no  right  to  interdict  the  passage  of  arms  through 
the  Cape  Colony.  The  British  colonist  is  as  capable  of  a  grim  jest  as  the 
Transvaal  Boer,  and  this  action  of  Mr.  Schreiner's  won  for  him  the  nicfaiame 
Ammimition  BUI.  At  a  later  date  he  was  accused  of  delay  in  forwarding 
artillery  and  rifles  for  the  defence  of  Kimberley,  Mafeking,  and  other  towns  of 
the  colony.  The  reason  he  gave  for  delay  was  that  he  did  not  anticipate  war; 
and  that  he  did  not  wish  to  excite  imwarrantable  suspicions  in  the  minds  of 
the  Free  State.  His  conduct  in  both  instances  may  have  been  technically 
correct,  but  it  was  much  resented  by  loyal  colonists. 

On  August  28th,  Sir  Gordon  Sprigg  in  the  Cape  house  of  assembly  moved 
the  adjournment  of  the  debate,  to  discuss  the  removal  of  arms  to  the  Free 
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State.  Mr.  Schreiner,  in  reply,  used  expressions  which  called  down  upon  him 
the  severest  censure  and  indication,  both  in  the  colony  and  in  Great  Britain. 
He  stated  that,  should  the  storm  burst,  he  would  keep  the  colony  aloof  with 
regard  both  to  its  forces  and  its  people.  In  the  course  of  the  speech  he  also 
read  a  telegram  from  President  Steyn,  in  which  the  President  repudiated  all 
contemplated  aggressive  action  on  the  part  of  the  Free  State  as  absurd.  The 
speech  created  a  great  sensation  in  the  British  press.  Actual  experience 
taught  Mr.  Schreiner  that  President  Kruger  was  beyond  an  appeal  to  reason, 
and  that  the  protestations  of  President  Stejm  were  insiacere.  War  had  no 
sooner  commenced  with  the  ultimatum  of  the  Transvaal  RepulDlic  on  October 
9th,  1899,  than  Mr.  Schreiner  found  himself  called  upon  to  deal  with  the  con- 

duct of  Cape  rebels.  The  rebels  joined  the  invading  forces  of  President  Steyn, 
whose  false  assurances  Mr.  Schreiner  had  offered  to  an  indignant  house  of 
assembly  only  a  few  months  before.  Mr.  Schreiner  ultimately  addressed,  as 
prime  minister,  a  sharp  remonstrance  to  President  Steyn  for  allowing  his 
burghers  to  invade  the  colony.  He  also  co-operated  with  Sir  Alfred  Milner, 
and  used  his  influence  to  restrain  the  Bond. 

CAPE   COLONY  DURING   THE   WAR 

Proclamations  by  the  Transvaal  and  Free  State  annexing  portions  of  Cape 
Colony  were  actually  issued  on  October  18th,  and  included  British  Bechuana- 
land  and  Griqualand  West,  with  the  diamond  fields.  On  October  28th  Mr. 
Schreiner  signed  a  proclamation  issued  by  Sir  Alfred  Milner  as  high  commis- 

sioner, declaring  the  Boer  annexations  of  territory  within  Cape  Colony  to  be 
null  and  void.  The  battles  of  Belmont,  Graspan,  and  Modder  river  were  all 
fought  by  Lord  Methuen  in  November,  on  colonial  soil,  in  his  endeavour  to 
force  a  passage  through  to  the  relief  of  Kimberley.  The  heavy  British  losses 
at  Modderfontein  on  November  29th  were  followed  by  a  reverse  in  Cape 
Colony  at  Stormberg,  where  an  expedition  under  General  Gatacre  from 
Queenstown  marched  into  a  Boer  ambush  and  was  defeated.  On  the  following 
day  Lord  Methuen  suffered  a  severe  check  and  heavy  losses  at  Magersfontein. 
The  effect  of  these  engagements  at  the  very  outset  of  the  war,  occurring  as  they 
did  within  Cape  Colony,  was  to  offer  every  inducement  to  a  number  of  the 
frontier  colonial  Boers  to  join  their  kinsmen  of  the  republics.  The  Boers  are 
prolific,  and  their  families  large.  Many  younger  sons  from  the  colony,  with 
nothing  to  lose,  left  their  homes  with  horse  and  rifle  to  join  the  republican 
forces. 

Meanwhile  the  loyal  Cape  colonists  were  chafing  at  the  tardy  manner  in 
which  they  were  enrolled  by  the  imperial  authorities.  It  was  not  untU  after 
the  arrival  of  Lord  Roberts  and  Lord  Kitchener  at  Cape  Town  on  January 
10th,  1900,  that  these  invaluable  and  many  of  them  experienced  men  were 
freely  invited  to  come  forward.  So  strongly  did  Lord  Roberts  feel  on  the 
subject,  that  he  at  once  made  Colonel  Brabant,  a  well-known  and  respected 
colonial  veteran  and  member  of  the  house  of  assembly,  a  brigadier-general, 
and  started  recruiting  loyal  colonists  in  earnest.  On  February  15th  Kimber- 

ley was  relieved  by  General  French,  and  the  Boer  general,  Cronje,  evacuated 
Magersfontein,  and  retreated  towards  Bloemfontein.  Mr.  Cecil  Rhodes  was 
shut  up  in  Kimberley  during  the  whole  of  the  siege,  and  his  presence  there 
undoubtedly  offered  an  additional  incentive  to  the  Boers  to  endeavour  to 
capture  the  town,  but  his  unique  position  and  influence  with  the  De  Beers 
workmen  enabled  him  to  render  yeoman  service,  and  infused  enthusiasm  and 
courage  into  the  irjiabitants.      Mafeking,  where  the  beleaguered  garrison 
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maintained  their  gallant  defence  under  Colonel  Baden-Powell  till  May  17th, 
was  relieved  by  a  force,  chiefly  colonial,  sent  up  from  Kimberley.  With  this 
incident  the  Cape  rebellion  ended. 

In  June,  1900,  Mr.  Schreiner,  whose  recent  support  of  Sir  Alfred  Milner 
had  incensed  many  of  his  Bond  followers,  resigned  in  consequence  of  the  refusal 
of  some  of  his  colleagues  to  support  the  Disfranchisement  Bill  which  he  was 
prepared,  in  accordance  with  the  views  of  the  home  government,  to  introduce 
for  the  punishment  of  Cape  rebels.  The  bill  certainly  did  not  err  on  the  side 
of  severity,  but  disfranchisement  for  their  supporters  in  large  numbers  was 
more  distasteful  to  the  Bond  extremists  than  any  stringency  towards  indi- 

viduals. Sir  Gordon  Sprigg,  who  after  a  political  crisis  of  considerable  delicacy 
succeeded  Mr.  Schreiner,  and  for  the  fourth  time  became  prime  minister,  was 
able  to  pass  the  bill  with  the  co-operation  of  Mr.  Schreiner  and  his  section. 
Towards  the  end  of  the  year  1900  the  war  entered  on  a  new  phase,  and  took 
the  form  of  guerilla  skirmishes  with  scattered  forces  of  marauding  Boers.  In 
December  some  of  these  bands  entered  the  Cape  Colony  and  endeavoured  to 
induce  colonial  Boers  to  join  them.  In  this  endeavour  they  met  at  first  with 
little  or  no  success;  but  as  the  year  1901  progressed  and  the  Boers  still  man- 

aged to  keep  the  various  districts  in  a  ferment,  it  was  deemed  necessary  by 
the  authorities  to  proclaim  martial  law  over  the  whole  colony,  and  this  was 
done  on  the  9th  of  October,  1901.  On  January  4th,  1901,  Sir  Alfred  Milner 
was  gazetted  governor  of  the  Transvaal  and  Orange  River  Colony,  being 
shortly  afterwards  created  a  peer  as  Lord  Milner;  and  Sir  Walter  Hely- 
Hutchinson,  governor  of  Natal,  was  appointed  governor  of  the  Cape  Colony./ 

In  February,  1904,  after  being  defeated  in  the  elections.  Sir  Gordon  Sprigg's 
ministry  resigned;  it  was  succeeded  by  a  "progressive"  ministry  under  Dr. 
Jameson,  of  Jameson  raid  fame.  In  the  following  year  the  prisoners  who  had 
been  connected  with  the  rebeUion  were  released,  and  in  August,  1906,  the 
assembly  passed  an  amnesty  bill  removing  all  disabilities  arising  out  of  par- 

ticipation in  the  war.<^ 
THE  ORANGE  EIVER  SETTLEMENT 

At  the  commencement  of  the  last  century  the  Orange  river  country  was 
inhabited  by  sections  of  aboriginal  tribes  ̂ — Bushmen,  Korannas,  andBechu- 
anas;  and  soon  afterwards  a  number  of  Griquas  from  the  northwest  of  the  Cape 
Colony  came  in  among  them.  A  chronic  state  of  warfare  prevailed  between 
these  races.  In  182-1-  nomad  farmers  from  the  colony,  seeking  pastures  for 
their  flocks,  crossed  the  Orange  river  and  settled  in  the  territory.  These  were 
followed  in  1835-1836  b^  large  bodies  of  Dutch  Boer  emigrants  who  left  the 
colony  in  order  to  be  beyond  British  control.  They  formed  a  rude  government 
for  themselves,  and  in  attempting  to  exercise  authority  came  into  collision 
with  the  Griquas,  who  claimed  protection  from  the  colony,  with  which  they 
were  allied  by  treaty.  The  British  governor.  Sir  P.  Maitland,  intervened  in 
1845,  assisting  the  Griquas  with  troops,  and  defeating  the  Boers  at  Zwart  Kop; 
and,  to  prevent  further  collisions,  a  resident  was  appointed.  In  1848  Gov- 

ernor Sir  H.  Smith  visited  the  territory,  and  came  to  the  conclusion  that  peace 
could  not  be  maintained  among  the  mixed  elements  forming  the  population 
without  the  establishment  of  a  regular  government.  He  therefore  issued  a 
proclamation,  afterwards  confirmed  by  the  crown,  annexing  the  territory  to  the 
empu-e  under  the  name  of  the  Orange  River  British  Sovereignty.  Thereupon 
some  of  the  Boers,  under  their  leader  Andries  Pretorius,  took  up  arms  and 
expelled  the  British  magistrates;  but  a  military  force  was  brought  against 
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them  by  Sir  H.  Smith  in  person,  and,  after  a  short  but  sharp  encounter  at 
Boomplaats,  the  Boers  were  defeated,  and  the  crown  authority  re-estabhshed 
and  maintained  from  that  time  until  towards  the  close  of  1853.  During  this 
period  many  Europeans  and  colonists  of  European  descent  took  up  their 
abode  in  the  sovereignty.  But  disturbances  again  occurred,  arising  from 
long-standing  disputes  between  the  native  tribes;  and,  in  order  to  chastise  the 
most  powerful  of  them  —  the  Basutos  —  for  certain  acts  of  outrage.  Governor 
Cathcart  in  1852  moved  a  large  military  expedition  against  their  chief,  Moshesh 
and  the  battle  of  the  Berea  was  fought,  after  which  the  chief,  on  behalf  of  the 
tribe,  gave  in  his  submission.  After  this  expedition  the  British  government 
resolved  to  withdraw  from  the  territory." 

THE  REPUBLIC  ORGANISED 

In  1853  a  convention  was  entered  into  between  representatives  of  the  Free 
State  and  the  British  government  for  transferring  the  government  of  the 
Orange  River  Sovereignty  to  representatives  delegated  by  the  inhabitants  to 
receive  it.  By  means  of  this  transfer  the  imperial  government  established 
the  future  independence  of  the  country,  and  further  stated  that  the  British 
government  had  no  alliance  whatever  with  any  native  chiefs  or  tribes  to  the 
north  of  the  Orange  river,  with  the  exception  of  the  Griqua  chief,  Adam  Kok. 
It  was  also  stipulated  that  the  Orange  river  government  should,  as  hitherto, 
permit  no  slavery  or  trade  in  slaves  in  their  territory  north  of  the  Orange 

■  river.  At  the  time  of  this  transfer  some  Boers,  leading  residents  of  the  Free 
State,  protested  against  the  abandonment,  but  the  duke  of  Newcastle,  who 
was  then  British  colonial  secretary,  stated  that,  in  his  opinion,  imperial 
authority  had  already  been  extended  too  far  in  South  Africa. 

The  new  state  of  things  had  only  been  one  year  in  existence  when  the  Free 
State  government  found  themselves  victims  to  an  intrigue  of  Messrs.  Preto- 
rius  and  Kruger,  within  the  Transvaal,  to  bring  about,  by  force  if  necessary, 
a  confederation  between  the  two  countries.  In  the  first  instance,  peaceful 
overtures  were  made,  but  the  Free  Staters  declined  to  accept  the  proposal. 
Thereupon  Pretorius,  aided  by  Paul  Kruger,  organised  and  conducted  a  raid 
into  the  Free  State  territory,  in  the  hope  of  overawing  the  Free  State  govern- 

ment, and  compelling  it  to  fall  in  with  the  views  of  the  minority  of  the  Free 
Staters,  who  were  co-operating  with  Pretorius.  On  learning  of  the  invasion 
Boshof,  president  of  the  Free  State,  proclaimed  martial  law  throughout  the 
country,  and  called  out  his  burghers.  The  majority  of  the  burghers  rallied 
to  his  support,  and  in  a  very  short  time  a  formidable  force  was  got  together 
to  oppose  the  invaders.  On  the  25th  of  May,  1854,  the  two  opposing  forces 
faced  one  another  on  the  banks  of  the  Rhenoster.  President  Boshof  not  only 
managed  to  get  together  a  considerable  force  within  the  Free  State,  but  he 
received  an  offer  of  support  from  General  Schoeman,  the  Transvaal  leader  in 
the  Zoutpansberg  district.  Pretorius  and  Kruger,  when  they  learned  what 
had  occurred,  realised  that  they  would  have  to  sustain  attack  from  both  north 
and  south,  and  abandoned  their  enterprise.  Before  leaving,  a  treaty  was 
signed,  which  amounted  to  an  apology  on  the  part  of  Pretorius. 

In  1858  the  volksraad  of  the  Free  State  were  so  tired  of  the  responsibilities 

of  independence,  that  they  passed  a  resolution  in  favour  of  a  confederation  in 
some  shape  or  form  with  the  Cape  Colony.  This  proposition  received  the 
strong  support  of  Sir  George  Grey,  at  that  time  governor  of  Cape  Colony,  but 
his  view  did  not  commend  itself  to  the  home  authorities,  and  was  not  adopted. 
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BORDER  DISPUTES 

From  the  date  of  their  first  settlement  in  the  Orange  river  territories,  the 
Boers  were  continually  at  feud  with  their  Basuto  neighbours  on  the  eastern 
border.  In  1866  they  organised  a  powerful  expedition,  and  attacked  Moshesh. 
The  expedition  was  successful,  Moshesh  was  defeated,  and  a  treaty  was  arrived 
at,  by  which  he  gave  up  possession  of  a  portion  of  Basutoland,  and  acknowl- 

edged himself  the  subject  of  the  Free  State.  This  treaty  did  not,  however, 
by  any  means  terminate  the  strife;  a  period  of  feud  continued,  in  the  course 
of  which  Moshesh  and  his  followers  were  reduced  to  very  dire  straits.  They 
appealed  to  Great  Britain  for  assistance,  and  in  1869  a  treaty  was  agreed  to 
between  the  high  commissioner  and  the  Orange  Free  State,  defining  the  bord- 

ers between  the  Orange  Free  State  and  Basutoland.  All  the  fertile  tract  of 
country  lying  to  the  north  of  the  Orange  river  and  west  of  the  Caledon, 
originally  a  part  of  Basutoland,  was  ceded  to  the  Free  State. 

The  Basutoland  difficulties  were  no  sooner  arranged  than  the  Free  Staters 
found  themselves  confronted  with  a  serious  difficulty  on  their  western  border. 
In  the  years  1870-1871  a  large  nimiber  of  diggers  had  settled  on  the  diamond 
fields,  which  were  situated  on  the  boundary  between  the  Griqua  chief  Water- 
boer  and  the  Free  State.  At  the  time  both  the  Free  State  and  Waterboer 
claimed  the  district,  and  the  Free  State  established  a  temporary  government 
over  the  diamond  fields,  but  the  administration  of  this  body  was  satisfactory 
neither  to  the  Free  State  nor  to  the  diggers.  At  this  juncture  Waterboer 
offered  to  place  the  territory  under  the  administration  of  Queen  Victoria. 
The  offer  was  accepted,  and  on  October  27th,  1870,  the  district  was  pro- 

claimed, imder  the  name  of  Griqualand  West,  British  territory.  President 
Brand  contended  at  the  time  that  Waterboer's  title  was  a  bad  one.  The 
matter  involved  much  correspondence  and  no  little  irritation  between  the 
British  government  and  the  Free  State  until  1876. 

It  was  then  finally  disposed  of  by  Lord  Carnarvon,  who  granted  to  the  Free 
State  £90,000  in  compensation  for  any  possible  harm  or  wrong  which  the 
Free  State  might  have  sustained  from  the  annexation.  In  making  this  con- 

cession, it  is  right  to  state  that  Lord  Carnarvon,  having  gone  into  the  question, 
declined  to  acknowledge  any  validity  in  the  Free  State  claim  to  the  territory 
in  question.  One  thing  at  least  is  certain  with  regard  to  the  dia,mond  fields 
—  they  were  the  means  of  restoring  the  credit  and  prosperity  of  the  Free 
State.  In  the  opinion,  moreover,  of  Doctor  Theal,  who  has  written  the  history 
of  the  Boer  republics  and  has  been  a  consistent  supporter  of  the  Boers,  the 
annexation  of  Griqualand  West  was  probably  in  the  best  interests  of  the  Free 
State.  Fortunately  at  the  time  the  Free  State  had  an  enlightened  and  liberal- 
minded  ruler  in  President  Brand,  who  avoided  collisions  and  encouraged 
amicable  relations  with  the  British  authorities. 

In  spite  of  the  troubles  on  her  borders,  the  Free  State,  under  Brand's 
beneficent  and  tactful  guidance,  made  progress  in  various  directions.  Villages 
sprang  up,  roads  were  constructed,  and  a  postal  service  was  established. 
Tea-planting  was  encouraged  by  the  government.  At  the  same  time  the  Free 
State  Boers,  like  their  Transvaal  neighbours,  had  drifted  into  financial  straits. 
A  paper  currency  had  been  instituted,  and  the  notes  —  currently  known  as 
"bluebacks"  —  soon  dropped  to  less  than  half  their  normal  value.  Com- 

merce was  largely  carried  on  by  barter,  and  many  cases  of  bankruptcy  oc- 
curred in  the  state.  But  as  British  annexation  in  1877  saved  the  Transvaal 

from  bankruptcy,  so  did  the  influx  of  British  and  other  immigrants  to  the 
diamond  fields,  in  the  early  seventies,  restore  public  credit  and  individual 
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prosperity  to  the  Boers  of  the  Free  State.  The  diamond  fields  offered  a  ready 
market  for  stock  and  other  agricultural  produce.  Money  flowed  into  the 
pockets  of  the  farmers.  Public  credit  was  restored.  "Bluebacks"  recovered 
par  value,  and  were  duly  called  in  and  redeemed  by  the  government.  At  a 
later  date  valuable  diamond  mines  were  discovered  within  the  Free  State,  of 
which  the  one  at  Jagersfontein  is  the  richest.  Capital  from  Kimberley  and 
London  were  soon  provided  with  which  to  work  them.  The  relations  between 
the  diggers  and  the  Free  State  Boers,  after  the  question  of  the  boundary  was 
once  settled,  remained  perfectly  amicable  down  to  the  outbreak  of  the  Boer 
war  m  1899. 

In  1880,  when  a  rising  of  the  Boers  in  the  Transvaal  against  Sir  Owen 
Lanyon  was  threatening.  President  Brand  showed  every  desire  to  avert  the 
conflict.  He  suggested  to  the  authorities  at  Cape  Town  that  Sir  Henry  de 
Villiers,  chief  justice  of  Cape  Colony,  should  be  sent  into  the  Transvaal  to 
endeavour  to  gauge  the  true  state  of  affairs  in  that  country.  This  suggestion 
was  not  acted  upon,  but  when,  in  1881,  the  Boers  in  the  Transvaal  broke  out 
into  ppen  rebellion  and  war  followed,  Brand  declined  to  take  any  part  in  the 
struggle.  At  a  later  date  he  urged  that  peace  should  be  brought  about,  and 
expressed  his  friendly  sentiments  towards  the  British  government.  In  spite 
of  the  neutral  attitude  taken  by  Brand  during  this  period,  there  can  be  no 
question  that  a  certain  number  of  the  Free  State  Boers,  living  in  the  northern 
part  of  the  Free  State,  went  to  the  Transvaal  and  joined  their  brethren  then 

La  arms  against  the  British  government.  '  In  1888  Sir  John  Brand  died.  He had  been  president  of  the  country  since  1863,  and  in  him  the  Boers,  not  only 
in  the  Free  State  but  in  the  whole  of  South  Africa,  lost  one  of  the  most  en- 

lightened and  most  upright  rulers  and  leaders  they  have  ever  had.  Through- 
out his  long  official  career  he  remained  on  cordial  terms  of  friendship  with 

Great  Britain. 

THE   NEW  REGIME 

In  1889  an  agreement  was  come  to  between  the  Free  State  and  the  Cape 
Colony  government,  whereby  the  latter  were  empowered  to  extend,  at  their 
own  cost,  their  railway  system  to  Bloemfontein.  The  Free  State  retained  the 
right  to  pm-chase  this  extension  at  cost,  a  right  which  they  exercised  within 
the  course  of  a  few  years.  In  the  same  year  Mr.  Reitz  was  elected  president 
of  the  Free  State.  His  accession  to  the  presidency  marked  the  commence- 

ment of  a  new  and  disastrous  line  of  policy  in  the  public  affairs  of  the  country. 
Mr.  Reitz  had  no  sooner  got  into  office  than  a  meeting  was  arranged  with 
President  Kruger,  at  which  various  terms  of  the  agreement  dealing  with  the 
railways,  terms  of  a  treaty  of  amity  and  commerce,  and  what  was  called  a 
political  treaty,  were  discussed  and  decided  upon.  The  political  treaty 
referred  in  general  terms  to  a  federal  imion  between  the  two  states,  and  bound 
each  of  them  to  help  the  other,  whenever  the  independence  of  either  should 
be  assaUed  or  threatened  from  without,  unless  the  state  so  called  upon  for 
assistance  should  be  able  to  show  the  injustice  of  the  cause  of  quarrel  in 
which  the  other  state  had  engaged.  In  1889  the  Free  State,  having  accepted 
the  assistance  of  the  Cape  government  in  constructing  its  railway,  entered 
into  a  customs  union  convention  with  them.  In  1895  the  Free  State  volksraad 

passed  a  resolution,  in  which  they  declared  their  readmess  to  entertain  a 
proposition  from  the  Transvaal  in  favour  of  some  form  of  federal  union.  In 
the  same  year  President  Reitz  retired  from  the  presidency  of  the  Free  State 
on  the  ground  of  ill-health,  and  was  succeeded  by  Judge  Steyn.    In  1896 
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a  further  offensive  and  defensive  alliance  between  the  two  republics  was  entered 
into,  under  which  the  Free  State  took  up  arms  on  the  outbreak  of  hostilities 
with  the  Transvaal  in  1899. 

In  1897  President  Kruger,  being  bent  on  still  further  cementing  the  union 
with  the  Free  State,  himself  visited  Bloemfontein.  It  was  on  this  occasion 
that  President  Kruger,  referring  to  the  London  convention,  spoke  of  Queen 
Victoria  as  a  kwaaje  Frau,  an  expression  which  caused  a  good  deal  of  offence 
in  England  at  the  time,  but  which,  to  any  one  familiar  with  the  homely 
phraseology  of  the  Boers,  obviously  was  not  meant  by  President  Kruger  as 
insulting.  In  order  to  vmderstand  the  attitude  which  the  Free  State  took  at 
this  time  in  relation  to  the  Transvaal,  it  is  necessary  to  review  the  history  of 
Mr.  Reitz  from  an  earlier  date.  Previous  to  his  becoming  president  of  the 
Free  State  he  had  acted  as  its  chief  justice,  and  still  earlier  in  life  had  practised 
as  an  advocate  in  Cape  Colony.  In  1881  Mr.  Reitz  had,  with  his  successor 
President  Ste}^,  come  under  the  influence  of  a  clever  German  named  Borck- 
enhagen,  the  editor  of  the  Bloemfontein  Express.  These  three  men  were  prin- 

cipally responsible  for  the  formation  of  the  Afrikander  Bond.  From  1881 
onwards  there  is  no  doubt  that  they  cherished  the  one  idea  of  an  independent 
South  Africa,  in  which  a  monopoly  of  independence  was  to  be  held  by  the 
Boers. 

Brand  during  his  lifetime  had  been  far  too  sagacious  to  be  led  away  by 
this  pseudo-nationalist  dream.  He  did  his  utmost  to  discoimtenance  the 
Bond  when  it  was  started  by  Mr.  Reitz  and  Mr.  Borckenhagen,  inasmuch  as 
he  saw  full  well  that  it  was  calculated  to  cause  mischief  in  the  future.  At  the 
same  time  his  policy  was  guided  by  a  sincere  patriotism,  which  looked  to  the 
true  prosperity  of  the  Free  State  as  well  as  to  that  of  the  whole  of  South  Africa. 
It  was  only  after  his  death  that  the  fatal  development  of  an  exclusively 
Dutch  policy  arose  in  the  Free  State.  From  his  death  may  be  dated  the  dis- 

astrous line  of  policy  which  led  to  the  extinction  of  the  state  as  a  republic. 
The  one  prominent  member  of  the  volksraad  who  inherited  the  traditions  and 
enlightened  views  of  President  Brand  with  regard  to  the  future  of  the  Free 
State  was  Mr.  G.  J.  Fraser,  the  son  of  a  Presbyterian  minister,  who  had  acted 
as  a  minister  in  the  Dutch  Reformed  church  since  the  middle  of  the  century. 

The  economic  progress  of  the  Free  State,  which  began  with  the  discovery 
of  the  diamond  fields,  has  been  redoubled  since  the  construction  of  the  rail- 

way through  its  territory  to  Johannesburg,  thus  fully  justifying  the  forward 
commercial  policy  adopted  in  the  teeth  of  Transvaal  opposition.  In  illustra- 

tion of  this  we  have  only  to  cite  the  fact  that,  in  1898-1899,  out  of  a  total 
revenue  of  about  £650,000,  more  than  half  represented  the  earnings  of  the 
railway. 

THE  FREE  STATE  AND  PRESIDENT  KRUGER 

On  entering  Bloemfontein  in  1900  the  British  obtained  possession  of  cer- 
tain state  papers  which  contained  records  of  negotiations  between  the  Trans- 
vaal and  the  Orange  Free  State.  The  evidence  contained  in  these  state 

records  so  clearly  marks  the  difference  between  the  policy  of  Mr.  Kruger  and 
the  pacific,  commercial  policy  of  President  Brand  and  his  followers,  that  the 
documents  call  for  careful  consideration.  From  these  papers  it  was  found 
that,  in  1887,  two  secret  conferences  had  taken  place  between  the  republics. 
At  the  first  of  these  conferences,  held  in  Pretoria,  there  were  present  President 
Kruger,  with  his  slate  secretary  and  state  attorney,  Messrs..  Bok  and  Leyds 
and  a  commission  of  the  Transvaal  volksraad.    On  the  other  side  the  deputa- 
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tion  from  the  Free  State  volksraad  was  composed  of  Messrs.  Fraser,  Klynveld, 
and  Myburgh. 

The  result  of  this  conference  was  a  secret  session  of  the  Transvaa,!  volks- 
raad and  the  proposition  of  a  secret  treaty  with  the  Free  State,  by  which  each 

state  should  bind  itself  not  to  build  railways  to  its  frontier  without  the  consent 
of  the  other,  the  eastern  and  northern  frontiers  of  the  Transvaal  being  excepted. 
The  railway  from  Pretoria  to  Bloemfontein  was  to  be  proceeded  with;  neither 
party  was  to  enter  the  customs  union  without  the  consent  of  the  other.  The 
Transvaal  was  to  pay  £20,000  annually  to  the  Free  State  for  loss  incurred  for 
not  having  the  railway  to  Cape  Colony.  Such  a  treaty  as  the  one  proposed 
would  simply  have  enslaved  the  Free  State  to  the  Transvaal.  It  was  rejected 
by  the  Free  State  volksraad  in  due  course,  but  President  Kruger  determined 
on  a  stiU  more  active  measure,  and  proceeded  to  interview  President  Brand 
at  Bloemfontein.  A  series  of  meetings  took  place  in  October  of  the  same  year 
(1887).  President  Brand  opened  the  proceedings  by  proposing  a  treaty  of 
friendship  and  free  trade  between  the  two  republics.  President  Kruger,  how- 

ever, soon  brushed  these  propositions  aside,  and  responded  by  stating  that, 
in  consideration  of  the  common  enemy  and  the  dangers  which  threatened  the 
republic,  an  offensive  and  defensive  alliance  must  be  preliminary  to  any 
closer  union.  Brand  refused  to  allow  the  Free  State  to  be  committed  to  a 
suicidal  treaty,  or  dragged  into  any  wild  pohcy,  which  the  Transvaal  might 
deem  it  expedient  to  adopt.  The  result  of  the  whole  conference  was  that 
Kruger  returned  to  Pretoria  completely  baffled,  and  for  a  time  the  Free  State 
was  saved  from  being  a  party  to  the  fatal  policy  into  which  others  subse- 

quently drew  it.  Independent  power  of  action  was  retained  by  Brand  for  the 
Free  State  in  both  the  railway  and  customs  union  questions. 

THE  BREAK  WITH  GREAT  BRITAIN 

After  Sir  John  Brand's  death,  as  already  stated,  Mr.  Reitz  became  presi- 
dent, and  consistently  followed  out  that  policy  which,  as  one  of  the  founders  of 

the  Bond,  he  had  endeavoured  to  inaugurate  throughout  Dutch  South  Africa. 
A  series  of  agreements  and  measures  in  the  volksraad  gradually  subordinated 
those  true  Free  State  interests  which  Brand  had  always  protected  to  the  mis- 

taken ambition  and  narrow  views  of  the  Transvaal.  Mr.  Fraser  in  vain  tried 
to  stem  the  tide  of  Krugerism  within  the  Free  State,  but  the  extent  to  which 

it  had  travelled  after  Brand's  death  was  evidenced  by  the  election  for  president 
in  February,  1896,  when  Mr.  Steyn  was  elected  against  Mr.  Fraser  by  forty-one 
votes  to  nineteen.  That  this  election  should  have  taken  place  immediately 

after  the  Jameson  raid  probably  increased  President  Steyn's  majority.  At 
the  same  time  the  history  of  the  state  after  Brand's  death  renders  it  probable 
that  Mr.  Fraser's  defeat  was  only  a  question  of  degree.  Mr.  Fraser  continued, 
down  to  the  outbreak  of  the  war  of  1899,  consistently  to  denounce  the  policy 
on  which  the  Free  State  had  embarked,  warning  his  countrymen  continually 
that  this  policy  could  have  but  one  end  —  the  loss  of  their  independence. 
Underlying  the  state  policy  there  was  undoubtedly  the  belief,  if  not  with 
President  Steyn  himseK,  at  least  with  his  followers,  that  the  two  republics 
combined  would  be  more  than  a  match  for  the  posver  of  Great  Britain  should 
hostilities  eventually  occur. 

In  December,  1897,  the  Free  State  revised  its  constitution  in  reference  to 
the  franchise  law,  and  the  process  of  naturalisation  was  reduced  from  five  to 
three  years.    'The  oath  of  allegiance  to  the  state  was  alone  required,  and  no 
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renunciation  of  nationality  was  insisted  upon.  In  1898  the  Free  State  also 
acquiesced  in  the  fresh  convention  arranged  with  regard  to  the  customs 
unions  between  the  Cape  Colony,  Basutoland,  and  the  Bechuanaland  pro- 

tectorate. These  measures  suggest  that  already  a  slight  reaction  agamst  the 
extreme  policy  of  President  Kruger  had  set  in.  But  events  were  moving  rap- 

idly in  the  Transvaal,  and  matters  had  proceeded  too  far  for  the  Free  State 
to  turn  back.  In  1899  President  Steyn  suggested  the  conference  at  Bloem- 
fontein  between  President  Kruger  and  Sir  Alfred  Milner,  but  this  act,  if  it 
expressed  at  all  a  genuine  desire  for  reconciliation,  was  too  late.  President 
Kruger  had  got  the  Free  State  ensnared  in  his  meshes.  The  Free  Staters  were 
bound  practically  hand  and  foot,  imder  the  offensive  and  defensive  alliance, 
in  case  hostilities  arose  with  Great  Britain,  either  to  denounce  the  policy  to 
which  they  had  so  unwisely  been  secretly  party,  or  to  throw  in  their  lot  with 
the  Transvaal.  War  occurred,  and  they  accepted  the  inevitable  consequence. 
In  September,  1899,  Sir  Alfred  Milner  sent  a  despatch  to  President  Steyn, 
informing  him  that  the  exigencies  of  the  situation  demanded  that  he  should 
take  some  steps  to  protect  his  line  of  communications,  and  that  he  was  sta- 

tioning a  force  near  the  Orange  Free  State  frontier.  Sir  AKred  Milner  at  the 
same  time  expressed  the  hope  that  the  difference  between  the  British  govern- 

ment and  the  Transvaal  might  still  be  adjusted,  but  if  this  hope  were  disap- 
pointed, he  should  look  to  the  Free  State  to  preserve  strict  neutrality,  in 

which  case  the  integrity  of  their  territory  would  in  all  circumstances  be 
respected.  In  similar  circumstances  Sir  John  Brand  had  remained  neutral  in 
1881,  but  he  was  unfettered  by  any  treaty  with  the  Transvaal.  For  President 
Steyn  and  the  Free  State  of  1899,  in  the  light  of  the  negotiations  we  have 
recorded,  neutrality  was  impossible.  Before  war  had  actually  broken  out  the 
Free  State  began  to  expel  British  subjects,  and  the  very  first  act  of  war  was 
committed  by  Free  State  Boers,  who,  on  the  11th  of  October,  seized  a  train 
upon  the  border  belonging  to  Natal.^ 

THE  TKANSVAAL 

The  historic  life  of  the  Transvaal  begins  with  the  Great  Trek,  or  general 
exodus  of  the  Cape  Colony  Boersj  who,  being  dissatisfied,  especially  with  the 
liberal  policy  of  the  British  government  towards  the  natives,  removed  north- 

wards in  large  numbers  between  the  years  1833  and  1837.  By  1836  some 
thousands  had  already  crossed  the  Vaal,  that  is,  had  reached  the  "Trans- 
Vaal"  country,  which  at  that  time  was  mostly  under  the  sway  of  the  powerful 
refugee  Zulu  chief  Moselekatse,  whose  principal  kraal  was  at  Mosega  in  the 
present  Marico  district  on  the  west  frontier.  To  avenge  the  massacre  of  some 
emigrant  bands,  the  Boers  under  Maritz  and  Potgieter  attacked  and  utterly 
defeated  Moselekatse  at  this  place  in  1837,  Next  year  the  Zulu  chief  with- 

drew beyond  the  Limpopo,  where  he  founded  the  present  Matabele  state 
between  that  river  and  the  Zambesi,  thus  leaving  the  region  between  the 
Vaal  and  Limpopo  virtually  in  the  hands  of  the  trekkers.  But  their  posi- 

tion was  rendered  insecure  on  the  east  side  by  the  military  despotism  of  the 
fierce  Zulu  chief  Dingaan,  who,  after  the  murder  of  his  brother  Chaka,  had 
asserted  his  authority  over  the  whole  of  Zululand  and  most  of  the  present 
Natal.  The  situation  was  rendered  almost  desperate  by  the  complete  route 
and  wholesale  massacre  (1838)  of  the  right  division  of  the  emigrant  Boers, 
who  had  ventured  to  cross  the  Buffalo  under  Peter  Retief,  and  who  were 
defeated  by  Dingaan,  first  at  Umkongloof  (Aceldama),  then  at  Weenen 
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(Weeping),  and  again  soon  after  under  Uys,  Maritz,  and  Potgieter,  when  as 
many  as  eight  hundred  fell  before  the  irresistible  onslaught  of  the  disciplined 
Zulu  warriors. 

At  this  critical  juncture  the  trekkers  were  saved  from  utter  extermination 
by  Andries  Pretorius  of  Graaf-Reinet,  by  whom  Dingaan  met  with  a  flrst  check 
before  the  close  of  1838,  followed  in  January,  1840,  by  a  still  more  crushing 
defeat.  Dingaan  having  been  soon  after  murdered,  the  friendly  Panda  was 
set  up  in  his  place,  and  Natal  proclaimed  a  Boer  republic.  But  the  British 
occupation  of  that  territory  in  1843  induced  the  Boers  to  retire  in  two  bands 
across  the  Drakensberg,  the  southern  division  settling  in  the  present  Orange 
Free  State,  the  northern  again  passing  into  the  Transvaal.  But,  owing  to 
internal  dissensions,  and  the  perpetual  bickerings  of  the  two  most  prominent 
personalities,  Pretorius  and  Potgieter,  all  attempts  at  establishing  an  organised 
system  of  government  throughout  the  Transvaal  ended  in  failure,  till  Pretorius 
induced  the  British  government  to  sign  the  Sand  River  Convention  (January 
17th,  1852),  which  virtually  established  the  political  independence  of  that 
region.  The  death  both  of  Pretorius  and  Potgieter  in  1853  prepared  the  way 
for  a  period  of  internal  peace  under  Pretorius'  eldest  son  Marthinus  Wessels 
Pretorius,  first  president  of  the  Dutch  African  Republic,  whose  title  was  after- 

wards altered  (1858)  to  that  of  the  South  African  Republic.  But  a  fatal 
element  of  weakness  lay  in  the  persistent  refusal  of  the  Boers  to  treat  the 
natives  on  a  footing  of  equality,  or  even  with  common  justice.  The  murder 

of  Hermann  Potgieter  and  family  (1854),  avenged  by  Pretorius  at  Makapan's 
Cave,  was  followed  (1856)  by  the  Apprentice  Law,  establishing  a  system  of 
disguised  slavery,  which  was  further  strengthened  by  the  sanction  (1858)  of 

the  Grond  wet,  or  Fundamental  Law,  declaring  that  the  "  people  will  admit  of 
no  equality  of  persons  of  colour  with  the  white  inhabitants  either  in  state  or 

church."  Owing  to  this  policy  opposition  was  constantly  shown  both  to  the 
English  traders,  disposed  to  deal  fairly  with  aU,  and  to  the  missionaries, 

preachers  of  imiversal  equality,  as  illustrated  by  the  plimder  of  Livingstone's 
house  by  the  commando  sent  against  the  native  chief  Secheli  in  1852.^ 

Apart  from  the  trek  Boers'  attitude  towards  the  natives,  their  history  in 
the  Transvaal  imtil  1877  shows  that  they  carried  with  them  to  their  new 
home  a  spirit  hostile  not  merely,  as  has  been  represented  by  many  writers,  to 
British  rule,  but  to  civilised  rule  in  any  shape  or  form.  They  and  their 
fathers  had,  while  still  resident  in  the  frontier  districts  of  the  colony,  rebelled 
first  of  all  against  the  government  of  the  Dutch  East  India  Company,  and  at 
a  later  date  against  the  British  government,  because  they  resented  in  both 
cases  any  interference  with  their  relations  either  to  the  natives  or  to  one 
another.  Governments  within  the  Transvaal  appointed  by  themselves,  as 
a  review  of  their  history  will  show,  fared  no  better,  but  even  worse  than  those 
from  the  rule  of  which  the  Boers  had  withdrawn. 

In  1856  a  series  of  pubhc  meetings  among  the  Boers,  summoned  by  Com- 
mandant-General Matthias  Wessels  Pretorius,  was  held  at  different  districts 

in  the  Transvaal  for  the  purpose  of  discussing  and  deciding  whether  the  time 
had  not  arrived  for  abolishing  the  system  of  petty  district  governments  which 
had  hitherto  existed.  The  result  was  that  a  representative  assembly  of  dele- 

gates was  elected,  empowered  to  draft  a  constitution.  In  December  this 
assembly  met  at  Potchefstroom,  and  for  three  weeks  was  engaged  in  model- 

ling the  constitution  of  the  country.  The  new  constitution  made  provision 
for  a  volksraad  to  which  members  were  to  be  elected  by  the  people  for  a 
period  of  two  years,  and  in  which  the  legislative  fvmction  was  vested.  The 
administrative  authority  was  to  be  vested  in  a  president,  aided  by  an  execu- 
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tive  council.  It  was  stipulated  that  members  both  of  assembly  and  council 
should  be  members  of  the  Dutch  Reformed  church. 

In  reviewing  an  incident  so  important  in  the  history  of  the  Transvaal  as 
the  appointment  of  the  Potchefstroom  assembly,  it  is  of  mterest  to  note  the 
gist  of  the  complaint  among  the  Boers  which  led  to  this  revolution  in  the  gov- 

ernment of  the  country  as  it  had  previously  existed.  In  his  History  of  South 

Africa,  Theal  says,  "The  community  of  Lydenburg"  (the  oldest  district  gov- 
ernment) "was  accused  of  attempting  to  domineer  over  the  whole  country, 

without  any  other  right  to  pre-eminence  than  that  of  being  composed  of  the 
earliest  inhabitants,  a  right  which  it  had  forfeited  by  its  opposition  to  the 

general  weal."  In  later  years  this  complaint  was  precisely  that  of  the  Uit- 
landers  at  Johannesburg.  In  order  to  endeavour  to  conciliate  one  of  these 
district  governments  at  Zoutpansberg,  the  new-bom  assembly  at  Potchef- 

stroom appointed  Mr.  Schoeman,  a  commandant  of  the  Zoutpansberg  dis- 
trict, commandant-general.  This  offer  was,  however,  declined  by  Schoeman, 

and  both  Zoutpansberg  and  Lydenburg  indignantly  repudiated  the  new 
assembly  and  its  constitution.  The  executive  council,  which  had  been 
appointed  by  the  Potchefstroom  assembly  with  Pretorius  as  president,  now 
took  up  a  bolder  attitude:  they  deposed  Schoeman  from  all  authority,  de- 

clared Zoutpansberg  in  a  state  of  blockade,  and  denounced  Boers  of  the  two 
northern  districts  as  rebels. 

In  order  further  to  strengthen  their  position,  Pretorius  and  his  party  also 
endeavoured  to  bring  about  a  union  with  the  Free  State.  With  this  intention 
they  sent  emissaries  to  the  Free  State  government  to  make  overtures  on 
the  subject.  These  overtures  were  rejected.  Nothing  daunted,  Pretorius 
determined  to  win  by  force  what  he  had  failed  to  obtain  by  persuasion.  There 
was  a  certain  number  of  Free  State  Boers  prepared  to  accede  to  the  proposals 
of  Pretorius,  and  relying  on  their  aid,  Pretorius  entered  into  an  intrigue  to 
overthrow  the  president  of  the  Free  State,  Boshof,  and  his  government.  Pre- 

torius placed  himself  at  the  head  of  a  commando  and  crossed  the  Vaal, 
being  joined  by  a  certain  number  of  Free  State  burghers.  On  learning  of  the 
invasion,  President  Boshof  immediately  took  energetic  measures  to  defend 
his  country.  He  proclaimed  martial  law,  called  out  his  burghers,  and  marched 
towards  Kroonstad  to  meet  the  invaders.  At  the  same  time  Boshof  received 
an  offer  from  the  outraged  and  deposed  General  Schoeman  of  Zoutpansberg  to 
gather  a  force  and  come  to  his  assistance. 

The  forces  of  Pretorius  and  Boshof  at  length  faced  each  other  on  opposite 
banks  of  the  Rhenoster  river.  Threatened  from  the  north  as  well  as  the 

south,  Pretorius  now  recognised  that  he  was  engaged  in  a  dangerous  enter- 
prise. He  had  as  his  lieutenant  on  this  occasion  no  less  a  personage  than  Mr. 

Stephanus  Johannes  Paulus  Kruger,  and  to  Mr.  Kruger  was  entrusted  the 
task  of  bearing  a  flag  of  truce  to  the  Free  Staters,  with  an  expression  of  hope 
that  a  peaceful  settlement  might  be  arrived  at.  A  treaty,  containing  an 
apology  from  Pretorius,  was  agreed  upon,  and  the  invading  force  withdrew. 
By  the  year  1860,  the  foregoing  events  notwithstanding,  Zoutpansberg  and 
Lydenburg  had  become  incorporated  with  the  republic.  Schoeman  had 
accepted  the  post  of  commandant-general,  and  Pretoria  was  made  the  seat  of 
government  and  capital  of  the  country.  The  state  was  now  apparently 
united,  and  the  government  founded  on  the  will  of  the  people.  The  Sepa- 

ratist church  of  Holland  in  the  year  1858  sent  out  a  young  expositor  of  its 
doctrines,  named  Postma.  This  minister  settled  at  Rustenburg  and  founded 
the  first  branch  of  the  Dopper  sect,  a  sect  which  has  since  become  famous  in 
the  Transvaal,  as  well  as  in  the  Free  State  and  even  Cape  Colony.    The  tenets 



THE  HISTORY   OP   SOUTH  AFRICA  285 
[1860-1864  A.I).] 

of  the  Separatist  Reformed  (or  Dopper)  church  do  not  call  for  close  analysis 
here.  It  will  be  sufficient  to  say  that  they  approached  somewhat  those  held 
by  the  Scottish  covenanters.  They  raised  strong  objection  to  the  singing  of 
hymns,  other  than  paraphrases  of  Scripture,  as  part  of  the  church  service. 
Of  this  sect  Paul  Kruger,  who  resided  near  Rustenburg,  became  an  adherent. 

In  1860  a  curious  sequel  to  the  invasion  of  the  Free  State  by  Pretorius 
occurred.  Pretorius,  while  still  president  of  the  Transvaal,  was  elected  presi- 

dent of  the  Free  State.  He  thereupon  obtained  six  months'  leave  of  absence 
and  repaired  to  Bloemfontein,  in  the  hope  of  peacefully  bringing  about  a 
union  between  the  two  republics.  He  had  no  sooner  left  the  Transvaal  than 
the  old  Lydenburg  party,  headed  by  Potgieter,  landdrost  of  Lydenburg, 
protested  that  the  union  would  be  much  more  beneficial  to  the  Free  State 
than  to  the  people  of  Lydenburg,  and  followed  this  up  with  the  contention 
that  it  was  illegal  for  any  one  to  be  president  of  the  South  African  Republic 
and  the  Free  State  at  the  same  time.  Pretorius,  apparently  in  disgust  at  the 
whole  situation,  resigned.  Mr.  J.  H.  Grobelaar,  who  had  been  appointed 
president  during  the  temporary  absence  of  Pretorius,  was  requested  to  remain 
in  office.  The  immediate  followers  of  Pretorius  now  became  extremely 
incensed  at  the  action  of  the  Lydenburg  party,  and  a  mass  meeting  was  held 
at  Potchefstroom,  where  it  was  resolved  that:  (1)  the  volksraad  no  longer 
enjoyed  its  confidence;  (2)  that  Pretorius  should  remain  president  of  the 

South  African  Republic,  and  have  a  year's  leave  of  absence  to  bring  about 
union  with  the  Free  State;  (3)  that  Schoeman  should  act  as  president  during 
the  absence  of  Pretorius;  (4)  that  before  the  return  of  Pretorius  to  resume  his 
duties  a  new  volksraad  should  be  elected. 

The  events  of  the  year  1860,  as  well  as  of  all  the  years  that  followed  down 
to  British  annexation  in  1877,  show  that  licence  rather  than  liberty,  a  narrow 
spirit  of  faction  rather  than  patriptism,  were  the  dominant  instincts  of  the 
Boer.  Had  the  fusion  of  the  two  little  republics  which  Pretorius  sought  to 
bring  about,  and  from  which  apparently  the  Free  State  was  not  averse, 
actually  been  accomplished  in  1860,  it  is  more  than  probable  that  a  republican 
state  on  liberal  lines,  with  some  prospect  of  permanence  and  stability,  might 
have  been  formed.  But  a  narrow,  distrustful,  grasping  policy  on  the  part  of 
whatever  faction  might  be  dominant  at  the  time  invariably  prevented  the 
state  from  acquiring  stability  and  security  at  any  stage  of  its  history.  On  no 
less  than  three  occasions,  imique  opportunities  were  afforded  for  consolidating 
and  estabhshing  this  republic.  The  first  of  these  occasions  we  have  dealt 
with.  The  second  occurred  in  1887,  and  the  third  in  1895.  Of  these  oppor- 

tunities no  advantage  was  taken. 
The  complications  that  ensued  on  the  action  of  the  Pretorius  party  subse- 

quent to  his  resignation  were  interminable  and- complicated.  Some  of  the 
new  party  were  arraigned  for  treason  and  fined;  and  for  several  months  there 
were  once  more  two  acting  presidents  and  two  rival  governments  within  the 
Transvaal.  At  length  Commandant  Paul  Kruger  called  out  the  burghers  of 
his  district  and  entered  into  the  strife.  In  1864,  after  a  series  of  intestine 
quarrels,  a  conference  was  held  lasting  six  days,  followed  by  a  new  election  for 
president,  and  once  more  Pretorius  was  called  upon  to  fill  that  office.  Kruger 
was  appointed  commandant-general. 

CivU  strife  for  a  time  was  now  at  an  end,  but  the  injuries  inflicted  on  the 
state  were  deep  and  lastmg.  The  public  funds  were  exhausted;  taxes,  always 
an  abomination  to  the  'fransvaal  Boer,  were  not  only  in  arrear,  but  impossible 
to  collect;  and  the  natives  on  the  borders  of  the  country  and  in  the  mountains 
of  the  north,  taking  advantage  of  the  anarchy  that  prevailed,  had  thrown  off 
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all  allegiance  to  the  state.  The  prestige  of  the  country  was  practically  gone, 
not, only  with  the  world  outside,  but,  what  was  of  still  more  moment,  with  her 
neighbour  the  Free  State,  which  felt  that  a  federation  with  the  Transvaal, 
which  the  Free  State  once  had  sought  but  which  it  now  definitely  foreswore, 
was  an  evil  avoided  and  not  an  advantage  lost.  A  charge  frequently  laid  at 
the  door  of  the  Boers,  at  that  time  and  since,  was  that  of  enslaving  the  black 
races.  It  is  true  that  laws  prohibiting  slavery  were  in  existence,  but  the  Boer 
who  periodically  took  up  arms  against  his  own  appointed  government  was  not 
likely  to  be,  nor  was  he,  restrained  by  laws.  Natives  were  openly  transferred 
from  one  Boer  to  another,  and  the  fact  that  they  were  described  as  apprentices 
by  the  farmers  did  not  in  the  least  alter  the  status  of  the  native,  who  to  all 
intents  and  purposes  became  the  property  of  his  master. 

In  1865  an  empty  exchequer  called  for  drastic  measures,  and  the  volksraad 
determined  to  endeavour  to  meet  their  liabilities  and  provide  for  further  con- 

tingencies by  the  issue  of  notes.  Paper  money  was  thus  introduced,  and  in 
a  very  short  time  fell  to  a  considerable  discount.  In  this  same  year  the 
farmers  of  the  Zoutpansberg  district  were  driven  into  laagers  by  a  native 
rising  which  for  some  considerable  time  they  were  unable  to  suppress.  Schoe- 
mansdal,  a  village  at  the  foot  of  the  Zoutpansberg,  was  the  most  important 
settlement  of  the  district,  and  the  most  advanced  outpost  in  European  occu- 

pation at  that  time  in  South  Africa.  At  length  a  small  relief  party  pro- 
ceeded to  the  district,  but  they  had  no  sooner  arrived  than  dissensions  arose 

between  them  and  some  of  the  more  turbulent  spirits  of  the  Zoutpansberg. 
Ultimately  Schoemansdal  and  a  considerable  portion  of  the  district  were 
abandoned,  and  Schoemansdal  finally  was  burned  to  ashes  by  a  party  of 
natives. 

Meanwhile  the  public  credit  and  finances  of  the  Transvaal  went  from  bad 
to  worse.  The  paper  notes  already  issued  had  been  constituted  by  the  law 
legal  tender  for  all  debts,  but  in  1868  their  power  of  actual  purchase  was  only 
30  per  cent,  compared  with  that  of  gold,  and  by  1870  it  had  fallen  as  low  as 
25  per  cent.  CivU  servants,  who  were  paid  in  this  depreciated  scrip,  naturally 
suffered  considerable  distress.  The  revenue  for  1869  was  stated  as  £31,511; 
the  expenditure  at  £30,836.  The  discovery  of  gold  at  Tati  led  President 
Pretorius  in  1868  to  issue  a  proclamation  extending  his  territories  on  the  west 
and  north  so  as  to  embrace  the  gold  field,  and  on  the  east  so  as  to  advance 
considerably  over  the  Portuguese  boundary.  This  proclamation  was  followed 

by  protests  on  the  part  of  her  majesty's  high  commissioner,  Sir  Philip  Wode- 
house,  as  well  as  on  the  part  of  the  consul-general  for  Portugal  in  South 
Africa.  The  boundary  on  the  east  was  settled  by  a  treaty  with  Portugal  in 
1870;  that  on  the  west  was  dealt  with  in  1871. 

The  Sand  River  Convention  of  1852  had  not  clearly  defined  the  western 
border  of  the  state,  and  the  discovery  of  gold  at  Tati  to  the  northwest,  to- 

gether with  the  discovery  of  diamonds  on  the  Vaal  in  1867,  doubtless  offered 
Pretorius  every  inducement  to  extend  his  boimdary.  Although  to-day  the 
great  diamond  mines  are  south  of  the  Vaal  river,  it  so  happened  that  the  early 
discoveries  of  diamonds  were  made  chiefly  on  the  northern  bank  of  the  Vaal 
near  the  site  of  the  town  now  known  as  Barkly  West.  This  territory  was 
claimed  by  the  South  African  Republic,  by  some  of  the  Batlaping  tribe,  and 
also  by  Mr.  David  Arnot,  on  behalf  of  Nicholas  Waterboer,  the  chief  of  the 
Griquas,  a  race  of  bastards  sprung  from  the  illicit  intercourse  between  Boers 
and  native  women,  who  had  been  settled  north  of  the  Orange  since  1834.  In 
order  to  settle  the  boundary  question,  an  arbitration  court  was  appointed, 

consisting  of  a  Transvaal  landdrost,  Mr.  O'Reilly,  on  behalf  of  the  South 
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African  Republic,  and  Mr.  John  Campbell  on  behalf  of  the  other  claimants, 
with  Lieutenant-Governor  Keate  of  Natal  as  final  referee.  The  two  judges 
disagreed,  and  the  final  decision,  afterwards  known  as  the  Keate  award,  was 
given  by  the  referee.  The  decision  was  in  favour  of  Waterboer,  and  conceded 
to  him  the  boundary  line  to  the  north  and  northeast  which  his  agent  Arnot 
had  claimed  for  him.  Following  on  this  decision,  Waterboer  offered  his  ter- 

ritory to  Queen  Victoria.  The  offer  was  accepted,  and  the  territory  became 
British  under  the  title  of  Griqualand  West.  The  Keate  award  practically 
brought  Bechuanaland  into  existence  as  a  separate  state,  and  thus  kept  the 
great  trade  route  to  the  north  open  to  British  enterprise. 

The  award  caused  a  strong  feeling  of  resentment  among  the  Boers,  and 
led  to  the  resignation  of  President  Pretorius  and  his  executive.  The  Boers 
now  cast  about  to  find  a  man  who  should  have  the  necessary  abUity,  as  they 
said,  to  negotiate  on  equal  terms  with  the  British  authorities  should  any 
future  question  of  dispute  arise.  With  this  view  they  approached  Sir  John 
Henry  Brand,  president  of  the  Free  State,  and  asked  him  to  allow  them  to 
nominate  him  for  the  presidency  of  the  South  African  Republic.  To  this 
Brand  would  not  consent.  The  Boers  then  invited  the  reverend  Thomas 
Francois  Burgers,  a  member  of  a  well-known  Cape  Colony  family  and  a  min- 

ister of  the  Dutch  Reformed  church,  to  allow  himself  to  be  nominated.  Burg- 
ers accepted  the  offer,  and  in  1872  was  duly  elected  president.  In  1871  gold 

reefs  were  discovered  in  the  Zoutpansberg  district  near  Marabastad,  and 
already  a  few  gold-seekers  from  Europe  and  Cape  Colony  began  to  prospect 
the  northern  portions  of  the  Transvaal.  The  miners  and  prospectors  did  not, 
however,  exceed  a  few  hundred  in  number  for  several  years,  and  it  was  not  until 
1882  that  they  began  to  make  themselves  felt  as  a  political  and  an  important 
commercial  factor  in  the  development  and  future  of  the  country. 

The  appointment  of  Burgers  to  the  presidency  in  1872  was  a  new  departure, 
Hitherto  the  Boers  had  always  chosen  one  of  their  own  number  as  president, 
but  in  Burgers  they  had  selected  a  man  from  outside  for  the  express  purpose 
of  securing  an  educated  and  capable  leader.  In  a  measure  Burgers  may  be 
said  to  have  fulfilled  their  choice.  He  was  able,  active,  and  enlightened,  but 
he  was  unfortunately  a  visionary  rather  than  a  man  of  affairs  or  sound  judg- 

ment. Instead  of  reducing  chaos  to  order  and  concentrating  his  attention, 
as  Brand  had  done  so  wisely  in  the  Free  State,  on  establishing  security  and 
promoting  industry  in  the  country,  he  took  up  with  all  its  entanglements,  the 
old  misguided  policy  of  intrigues  with  native  chiefs  beyond  the  border  and 
the  dream  of  indefinite  expansion. 

On  his  return  to  the  Transvaal  in  1876,  after  a  trip  to  Europe  in  a  futile 
endeavour  to  raise  a  loan  of  £300,000  for  the  construction  of  a  railway  to 
Delagoa  Bay,  Burgers  found  that  the  condition  of  affairs  in  the  state  was  worse 
than  ever.  The  acting  president,  Joubert,  had,  in  his  absence  been  granted 
leave  by  the  volksraad  to  carry  out  various  measures  opposed  to  the  public 
weKare,  native  lands  had  been  indiscriminately  allotted  to  adventurers,  and 
a  war  with  Secocoeni,  a  native  chief  on  the  eastern  borders  of  the  country, 
was  imminent.  A  commando  was  called  out,  which  the  president  himself 
led.  The  expedition  was  an  ignominious  failure,  and  many  burghers  did  not 

hesitate  to  assign  their  non-success  to  the  fact  that  Burgers'  views  on  religious 
questions  were  not  sound.  Burgers  then  proceeded  to  levy  taxes,  which  were 
never  paid;  to  enroll  troops,  which  never  marched;  and  to  continue  the  head 
of  a  government  which  had  neither  resources,  credit,  nor  power  of  admin- 

istration. In  1877  the  Transvaal  one-pound  notes  were  valued  at  one  shilling 
cash.    Add  to  this  condition  of  things  the  fact  that  the  Zulus  were  threatening 
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the  Transvaal  on  its  western  border,  and  the  picture  of  utter  collapse  which 
existed  in  the  state  is  complete.  In  1877  the  condition  of  the  Transvaal 
appeared  so  menacing  to  the  peace  of  South  Africa  that  Sir  Theophilus  Shep- 
stone  was  despatched  to  the  country  by  the  high  commissioner,  Sir  Henry 
Barkly,  to  corner  with  President  Burgers  as  to  its  future  government. 

By  this  time  Burgers  had  had  his  eyes  opened  to  the  true  state  of  things. 
He  was  no  longer  blinded  by  the  foolish  optimism  of  a  visionary  who  had 
woven  fine-spun  theories  of  what  an  ideal  republic  might  be.  He  had  lived 
among  the  Boers  and  attempted  to  lead  their  government.  He  had  found 
their  idea  of  liberty  to  be  anarchy,  their  native  policy  to  be  slavery,  and  their 
republic  to  be  a  sham.  His  was  a  bitter  awakeniag,  and  the  bitterness  of  it 
found  expression  in  some  remarkable  words  addressed  to  the  volksraad :  "  I 
would  rather,"  said  Burgers  in  March,  1877,  "be  a  policeman  under  a  strong 
government  than  the  president  of  such  a  state.  It  is  you  —  you  members  of 
the  raad  and  the  Boers  —  who  have  lost  the  country,  who  have  sold  your 
independence  for  a  drink.  You  have  ill-treated  the  natives,  you  have  shot 
them  down,  you  have  sold  them  into  slavery,  and  now  you  have  to  pay  the 
penalty.  To-day  a  bill  for  £1,000  was  laid  before  me  for  signature,  but  I 
would  sooner  have  cut  off  my  right  hand  than  sign  that  paper,  for  I  have  not 
the  slightest  ground  to  expect  that  when  that  bill  becomes  due  there  will  be 

a  penny  to  pay  it  with." 

BRITISH  ANNEXATION    (1877  A.D.) 

After  spending  some  months  at  Pretoria,  Shepstone  satisfied  himself  that 
annexation  was  the  only  possible  salvation  for  the  Transvaal.  The  treasury 
was  empty,  the  Boers  refused  to  pay  their  taxes,  and  there  was  no  power  to 
enforce  them.  A  public  debt  of  £215,000  existed,  and  government  con- 

tractors were  left  unpaid.  Out  of  a  male  population  of  less  than  nine  thousand, 
three  thousand  had  already  signed  a  petition  for  annexation.  Sir  Theophilus 
Shepstone  therefore,  in  April,  1877,  issued  a  proclamation  annexing  the 

coimtry.  The  proclamation  stated:  "It  is  the  wish  of  her  most  gracious 
majesty  that  it  [the  state]  shall  enjoy  the  fullest  legislative  privileges  com- 

patible with  the  circumstances  of  the  country  and  the  intelligence  of  its 

people."  The  wisdom  of  the  step  taken  by  Shepstone  has  been  called  in 
question.  No  one  who  acquaints  himself  with  the  simple  facts  of  the  position 

will  deny  that  Shepstone's  task  was  an  extremely  difficult  one,  and  that  he 
acted  with  care  and  moderation.  The  best  evidence  in  favour  of  the  step  is 

to  be  found  in  the  publicly  expressed  views  of  the  state's  own  president, 
Burgers,  already  quoted.  Moreover,  the  menace  of  attack  on  the  Zulu  side 
was  a  pressing  and  serious  one.  Even  before  annexation  had  occurred,  Shep- 

stone felt  the  danger  so  acutely  that  he  sent  a  message  to  Cettiwayo,  the  Zulu 
chief,  warning  him  that  British  annexation  was  about  to  be  proclaimed  and 
that  invasion  of  the  Transvaal  would  not  be  tolerated.  To  this  warning 
Cettiwayo,  who,  encouraged  by  the  defeat  of  the  Boers  at  Secocoeni's  hands, 
had  already  gathered  his  warriors  together,  replied:  "I  thank  my  father 
Somtseu  [Shepstone]  for  his  message.  I  am  glad  that  he  has  sent  it,  because 
the  Dutch  have  tired  me  out,  and  I  Latended  to  fight  with  them  and  to  drive 
them  over  the  Vaal." 

A  stUl  further  reason  for  Shepstone's  annexation,  given  by  Sir  Bartle 
Frere,  was  that  Burgers  had  already  sought  alliance  with  continental  powers, 
and  Shepstone  had  no  reason  to  doubt  that  if  Great  Britain  refused  to  inter- 

fere, Germany  would  intervene.    The  only  military  force  at  Shepstone's 
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command  at  the  time  of  annexation  was  twenty-five  policemen,  and  it  is 
quite  certain  that,  apart  from  the  attitude  of  President  Burgers,  which  cannot 
be  said  to  have  been  one  of  active  opposition,  a  large  number,  probably  a 
niajority  of  the  Boers,  accepted  the  annexation  with  complacency.  Burgers 
himself  left  the  Transvaal  a  disappointed,  heart-broken  man,  and  a  deathbed 
statement  published  some  time  after  his  decease  throws  a  lurid  light  on  the 
intrigues  which  arose  both  before  and  after  annexation.  He  shows  how,  for 
purely  personal  ends,  Kruger  allied  himself  with  the  British  faction  who  were 
agitating  for  annexation,  and  in  order  to  imdermine  him  and  endeavour  to 
gain  the  presidency  actually  urged  the  Boers  to  pay  no  taxes.  However  this 
may  be,  Burgers  was  crushed,  but  as  a  consequence  the  British  government 
and  not  Paul  Kruger  was,  for  a  time  at  least,  master  of  the  Transvaal.  In 
view  of  his  attitude  before  annexation,  it  was  not  surprising  that  Kruger 
should  be  one  of  the  first  men  to  agitate  against  it  afterwards.  The  work  of 
destruction  had  gone  too  far.  The  plot  had  miscarried.  And  so  Kruger  and 
Jorissen  were  the  first  to  approach  Lord  Carnarvon  with  an  appeal  for  revoca- 

tion of  the  proclamation.  To  this  request  Lord  Carnarvon's  reply  was  that 
the  act  of  annexation  was  an  irrevocable  one.  Unfortunately,  the  train  of 
events  in  England  favoured  the  intrigues  of  the  party  who  were  bent  on  getting 
the  annexation  cancelled.  In  1878  Lord  Carnarvon  resigned,  and  there  were 
other  evidences  of  dissension  in  the  British  cabinet. 

Kruger,  who  since  the  annexation  had  held  a  salaried  appointment  under 
the  British  government,  became  one  of  a  deputation  to  England.  On  this 
occasion  Sir  T.  Shepstone  not  unnaturally  determined  to  dispense  with  his 
further  services  as  a  government  servant.  In  the  beginning  of  1879  Shep- 

stone was  recalled  and  Colonel  Owen  Lanyon,  an  entire  stranger  to  the  Boers 
and  their  language,  was  appointed  his  successor  as  administrator  in  the 
Transvaal.  In  the  meantime,  the  Zulu  forces  which  threatened  the  Transvaal 
had  been  turned  against  the  British,  and  the  disaster  of  Isandhlwana  occurred. 
Rumours  of  British  defeat  soon  reached  the  Transvaal,  and  encouraged  the 
disaffected  party  to  become  stiU  bolder  in  their  agitation  against  British  rule. 

In  April,  Sir  Bartle  Frere  visited  Pretoria  and  conferred  with  the  Boers. 
He  assured  them  that  they  might  look  forward  to  complete  self  government 
under  the  crown,  and  at  the  same  time  urged  them  to  sink  political  differences 
and  join  hands  with  the  British  against  their  common  enemy,  the  Zulus.  The 
Boers,  however,  continued  to  agitate  for  complete  independence,  and  with  the 
honourable  exception  of  Piet  Uys,  a  gallant  Boer  leader,  and  a  small  band  of 
followers,  who  assisted  Colonel  Evelyn  Wood  at  Hlobani,  the  Boers  held 
entirely  aloof  from  the  conflict  with  the  Zulus,  a  campaign  which  cost  Great 
Britain  many  lives  and  £5,000,000  before  the  Zulu  power  was  finally  broken. 
In  June  Sir  Garnet  Wolseley  went  to  South  Africa  as  commander  of  the  forces 

against  the  Zulus,  and  as  high  commissioner  "for  a  time,"  in  place  of  Sir 
Bartle  Frere,  of  the  Transvaal  and  Natal.  After  the  settlement  of  the  Zulu 
question.  Sir  Garnet  Wolseley  proceeded  to  Pretoria  and  immediately  organ- 

ised an  expedition  against  the  old  Transvaal  enemy  Secocoeni,  who  throughout 
the  Zulu  campaign  had  been  acting  under  the  advice  of  Cettiwayo.  Seco- 
coeni's  stronghold  was  captured  and  his  forces  disbanded. 

It  will  be  seen  from  this  review  of  the  events  following  annexation  that  the 
first  work  accomplished,  over  and  above  establishing  a  solvent  and  responsible 
government  in  the  country,  was  the  demolition  by  the  British  of  the  two 
native  foes  who  for  so  long  had  harassed  the  Boers.  In  speaking,  after  the 
conclusion  of  the  native  wars,  on  the  question  of  the  revocation  of  the  Act  of 
Annexation,  Sir  Garnet  Wolseley  assured  the  Boers  at  a  public  gathering  that 
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SO  long  as  the  sun  shone  the  British  flag  would  fly  at  Pretoria.  In  May,  1880, 
he  returned  to  England.  Meanwhile  events  in  Great  Britain  had  once  more 
taken  a  turn  which  gave  encouragement  to  the  disaffected  Boers.  Already  in 
November,  1879,  Gladstone  had  conducted  his  Midlothian  campaign.  In  hia 
speeches  he  denounced  in  the  strongest  terms  the  annexation  which  had  been 
carried  out  by  the  Beaconsfield  government.  Referring  to  Cyprus  and  the 
Transvaal,  he  went  so  far  as  to  say,  "  If  those  acquisitions  were  as  valuable 
as  they  are  valueless,  I  would  repudiate  them,  because  they  were  obtained  by 
means  dishonourable  to  the  character  of  our  country."  Expressions  such  as 
these  were  translated  into  Dutch  and  distributed  among  the  Boers  by  some  of 
their  leaders,  and  it  is  impossible  not  to  admit  that  they  exercised  a  good  deal 
of  influence  in  fanning  the  agitation  for  retrocession  already  going  on  in  the 
Transvaal.  So  keenly  were  the  Midlothian  speeches  appreciated  by  the  Boers 
that  the  Boer  committee  wrote  a  letter  of  thanks  to  Mr.  Gladstone,  and 
expressed  the  hope  that,  should  a  change  in  the  government  of  Great  Britain 
occur,  "the  injustice  done  to  the  Transvaal  might  find  redress." 

In  April,  1880,  this  change  in  the  British  government  did  occur.  Glad- 
stone became  prime  minister,  and  shortly  afterwards  Frere  was  recalled. 

Could  events  be  more  auspicious  for  the  party  seeking  retrocession?  If  words 
in  the  mouth  of  an  ex-minister  at  election  time  meant  anything,  retrocession 
could  only  be  a  matter  of  time.  The  loyalists,  not  only  in  the  Transvaal,  but 
throughout  South  Africa,  were  disheartened  and  disgusted.  The  retrocession 
party  in  the  Transvaal  redoubled  their  efforts  and  their  appeals.  They  were 
not  destined  to  meet  with  such  immediate  success  as  the  British  premier's 
speeches,  delivered  during  the  heat  of  an  election,  very  naturally  led  them  to 
anticipate.  On  being  directly  appealed  to  by  Kruger  and  Joubert,  Mr.  Glad- 

stone replied  that  the  liberty  which  they  sought  might  be  "most  easily  and 
promptly  conceded  to  the  Transvaal  as  a  member  of  a  South  African  con- 

federation." This  was  not  at  all  what  was  wanted,  and  the  agitation  con- 
tinued. Meanwhile  in  the  Transvaal  itself,  concurrently  with  the  change  of 

prime  minister  and  high  commissioner,  the  administrator.  Colonel  Lanyon, 
began  vigorously  to  enforce  taxation  among  the  Boers.  Men  who  would  not 
pay  taxes  to  their  own  appointed  governments,  and  who  were  daily  expecting 
to  be  allowed  to  return  to  that  condition  of  anarchy  which  they  had  come  to 
regard  as  the  normal  order  of  things,  were  not  likely  to  respond  willingly  to  the 

tax-gatherer's  demands.  That  many  of  them  refused  payment  in  the  circum- stances which  existed  was  natural. 

THE   FIRST  BOER  WAR    (1880-1881   A.D.) 

In  November  matters  were  brought  to  a  head  by  some  wagons  being  seized 
for  the  non-payment  of  taxes,  and  promptly  retaken  from  the  sheruf  by  a 
party  of  Boers.  Lanyon  began  to  recognise  that  the  position  was  becoming 
grave,  and  wired  to  Sir  George  Colley,  the  high  commissioner  of  Southeast 
Africa,  for  military  aid.  This,  however,  was  not  immediately  available,  and 
the  Boers  in  j)ublic  meeting  at  Paardekraal  resolved  once  more  to  proclaim 
the  South  African  Republic,  and  in  the  meantime  to  appoint  a  triumvirate, 
consisting  of  Kruger,  Pretorius,  and  Joubert,  who  were  to  act  as  a  provisional 
government.  Within  three  days  of  the  Paardekraal  meeting  a  letter  was  sent 
to  the  administrator  demanding  the  keys  of  the  government  ofiices  within 
forty-eight  hours.  Hostilities  forthwith  began,  and  then  followed  a  series  of 
the  most  disastrous  skirmishes,  the  most  contradictory  and  most  vacillating 
changes  of  policy  which  have  ever  embarrassed  a  military  force  or  discredited 
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a  government.  No  outbreak  or  rebellion  ever  occurred  under  more  anomalous 
conditions.  While  the  administrator  and  high  commissioner  were  endeavour- 

ing to  carry  out  with  very  inadequate  resources  the  declared  policy  of  the 
British  government  and  their  own  instructions,  continual  pressure  was  being 
put  on  the  British  prime  minister,  not  only  from  the  insurgent  Boers  but  from 
his  own  followers,  to  carry  out  the  policy  he  had  avowed  while  out  of  oflBce, 
and  to  grant  the  retrocession  of  the  country.  But  it  was  not  until  Great 
Britain  was  suffering  from  the  humiliation  of  defeat  that  the  premier  was 
convinced  that  the  time  for  granting  that  retrocession  had  arrived.  The  first 
shots  fired  were  outside  Potchefstroom,  which  was  then  occupied  by  a  small 
British  garrison,  who,  aided  by  the  loyal  inhabitants  of  the  town,  successfully 
sustained  a  siege  of  the  place  until  after  the  close  of  the  war.  On  December 
29th,  a  small  body  of  some  240  men,  chiefly  belonging  to  the  94th  regiment, 
while  marching  from  Lydenburg  to  Pretoria,  were  surprised  and  cut  up  by 
the  Boer  forces.  Half  the  men  were  killed  and  wounded,  the  other  half, 
including  some  officers,  were  taken  prisoners.  Of  the  prisoners,  captains 
Elliott  and  Lambert  were  subsequently  treacherously  shot  by  the  Boers  while 
crossing  a  stream  after  they  had  been  released  on  parole.  In  the  meantime 
Pretoria,  Rustenburg,  Lydenburg,  and  other  small  towns  had  been  placed  in  a 
position  of  defence  under  the  directions  of  Colonel  Bellairs,  who  remained  in 
command  at  Pretoria,  the  garrison  consisting  of  a  small  number  of  troops  and 
the  loyal  inhabitants.  Sir  George  CoUey,  with  about  fourteen  hundred  men, 
marched  towards  the  Transvaal  frontier,  but  before  reaching  it  he  found,  on 
January  24th,  1881,  that  the  Boers  had  already  invaded  Natal  and  occupied 

Laing's  Nek.    He  pitched  his  camp  at  Ligogo.« 
Disaster  followed  disaster  in  rapid  succession.  On  January  28th,  with  a 

battalion  of  the  58th  infantry  and  a  company  of  moimted  infantry,  he  made 
a  rash  and  desperate  attempt  to  dislodge  the  forces  of  two  thousand  Boers 

who  had  firmly  intrenched  themselves  on  the  heights  of  Laing's  Nek.  The result  was  disastrous  and  the  British  retired  with  a  loss  of  190  officers  and 
men.  On  February  8th,  while  conducting  a  reconnoitring  party  of  three 
hundred  on  the  Newcastle  road  on  Ingogo  heights,  Colley  was  surprised  by  a 
superior  Boer  force  and  only  after  the  severest  sort  of  fighting,  in  which  he  lost 
half  his  men,  was  he  able  to  cut  his  way  back  to  the  main  body  of  his  troops." 

On  February  27th  came  the  crowning  disaster  of  Majuba  hiU.  Majuba  is 
a  flat  topped  mountain  towering  some  two  thousand  feet  over  the  western  side 
of  Laing's  Nek.  Colley  conceived  the  idea  of  ascending  it  and  thus  turning 
the  flank  of  the  Boer  position.  With  five  hundred  and  fifty-four  men  selected, 
from  various  regiments,  the  ascent  was  made  on  the  night  of  the  26th.  Li  the 
morning  the  Boers  saw  the  force  on  Majuba  and  for  a  moment  thought  of 
abandoning  their  position.  On  second  thought  they  determined  to  make  a 
bold  attempt  to  drive  Colley  off  the  hill.  Less  than  two  hundred  volunteers 
under  General  Nicholas  Smit  carried  out  the  feat  of  actually  storming  the  top 
of  Majuba.  Creeping  up  imder  cover  of  the  steep  hill-side  they  gradually 
worked  their  way  up,  shooting  every  man  that  exposed  himself  on  the  summit. 
No  attempt  had  been  made  to  occupy  the  lower  slopes  which  commanded  the 
approach,  and  the  bayonet  charge  which  might  have  saved  the  day  at  the  last 
moment  was  never  carried  out.  The  British  troops  broke  and  rushed  head- 

long down  the  hill.  Sir  G.  Colley  and  ninety-one  men  were  killed,  one  hundred 
and  thirty-four  wounded,  and  a  number  of  prisoners  taken.  Of  the  Boers  one 
man  was  killed  outright  and  another  died  afterwards  of  his  wounds.' 

Ten  days  previous  to  the  disaster  at  Majuba,  Sir  Evelyn  Wood  had  arrived 
at  Newcastle  with  reinforcements.    On  CoUey's  death  he  assumed  command, 
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and  on  March  6th  concluded  an  armistice  with  Joubert  at  Laing's  Nek.  Lord 
Kimberley  then  telegraphed  offering  an  amnesty  to  the  Boers.  Gladstone 
announced  in  pariiament  that  an  opportunity  for  a  settlement  of  affairs  in  the 
Transvaal  had  arisen.  On  March  6th  the  terms  of  peace  were  arranged 
between  the  Boers  and  Sir  Evelyn  Wood.  The  most  important  of  these  terms 
were  that  the  Transvaal  should  have  complete  self  government  under  British 
suzerainty,  and  that  a  British  resident  should  be  stationed  at  Pretoria.  The 
treaty  of  peace  practically  conceded  all  that  the  Boers  demanded,  and  was 
never  regarded  as  anything  else  than  surrender  either  by  the  Boers  or  the 
loyalists  in  South  Africa.  It  had  hardly  been  concluded  when  Sir  Frederick 
Roberts  arrived  at  the  Cape  with  ten  thousand  troops,  and  after  spending 
forty-eight  hours  there  returned  to  England. 

In  the  meantime,  while  the  English  general  was  making  a  treaty  vmder  the 
instructions  of  British  ministers  on  the  frontier,  the  beleaguered  garrisons  of 
Pretoria,  Potchefstroom,  and  other  smaller  towns  were  stoutly  and  gallantly 
holding  their  own.  The  ne\^Fs  of  the  surrender  reached  Pretoria  through  Boer 
sources,  and  when  first  received  there  was  laughed  at  by  the  garrison  and 
inhabitants  as  a  Boer  joke.  When  the  bitter  truth  was  at  length  realised,  the 
British  flag  was  dragged  through  the  dust  of  Pretoria  streets  by  outraged 
Englishmen.  At  Potchefstroom  the  garrison  imder  Colonel  Winsloe  were  hard 
pressed.  During  the  siege  a  third  of  their  mmiber  had  been  killed  and 
wounded.  The  Boer  commander,  Cronje,  was  duly  informed  of  the  armistice 
by  his  leaders,  but  in  spite  of  this  knowledge  continued  the  siege  for  ten  days 
afterwards,  imtil  Winsloe  and  his  little  band  were  compelled  to  surrender. 
In  May  the  terms  of  settlement  already  agreed  upon  were  drawn  up  at  Pre- 

toria in  the  form  of  a  convention  and  signed.  The  preamble  to  the  Pretoria 
Convention  of  1881  contained  in  brief  but  explicit  terms  the  grant  of  self 
government  to  the  Boers,  subject  to  British  suzerainty.  In  later  years,  when 
the  Boers  desired  to  regard  the  whole  of  this  convention  (and  not  merely  the 
articles)  as  cancelled  by  the  London  Convention  of  1884,  and  with  it  the 
suzerainty  which  was  only  mentioned  in  the  preamble,  Mr.  Chamberlain 
pointed  out  that  if  the  preamble  to  this  instrument  were  considered  cancelled, 
so  also  would  the  grant  of  self  government  be  cancelled.  The  Pretoria  Con- 

vention contained  thirty-three  articles.  The  most  important  of  these  reserved 
to  her  majesty  "  the  control  of  the  external  relations  of  the  said  state,  including 
the  conclusion  of  treaties  and  the  conduct  of  diplomatic  intercourse  with 

foreign  powers,"  and  the  right  to  march  troops  through  the  Transvaal.  The 
boundaries  of  the  state  were  defined,  and  to  them  the  Transvaal  was  strictly 
to  adhere. 

The  retrocession  of  the  Transvaal  was  a  terrible  blow  to  the  loyalists.  The 
Boers  on  the  other  hand,  found  themselves  in  better  plight  than  they  had 
ever  been  before.  Their  native  foes  Cettiwayo  and  Secocoeni  had  been  crushed 
by  British  forces;  their  HabiUties  were  consohdated  into  a  debt  to  Great  Brit- 

ain, to  be  repaid  at  convenience  and  leisure  —  as  a  matter  of  fact,  not  even 
interest  was  paid  for  some  time.  If  ever  a  small  state  was  well  treated  by  a 
large  one,  the  Transvaal  was  so  in  the  retrocession  of  1881.  Unfortunately, 
this  magnanimity  was  forthcoming  after  defeat.  It  appeared  as  though  a 
virtue  had  been  made  of  a  necessity,  and  the  Boers  never  could  regard  it  in 
any  other  light. 

The  new  volksraad  had  scarcely  been  returned,  and  Kruger  elected  pres- 
ident, before  a  system  of  government  concessions  to  private  individuals  was 

started.  These  concessions,  in  so  far  as  they  prejudiced  the  commerce  and 
general  interests  of  the  inhabitants,  consisted  chiefly  in  the  granting  of  monop- 
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olies.  Among  the  first  monopolies  which  were  granted  in  1882  was  one  for  the 
manufactm-e  of  spirituous  liquor.  The  system  continued  steadily  down  to 
1899,  by  which  time  railways,  dynamite,  spirits,  iron,  sugar,  wool,  bricks, 
jam,  paper,  and  a  number  of  other  things,  were  all  of  them  articles  of  monopoly. 
In  1882  also  began  that  alteration  of  the  franchise  law  which  subsequently 
developed  into  positive  exclusion  of  all  but  the  original  Boer  burghers  of  the 
country  from  the  franchise.  In  1881,  on  the  retrocession,  full  franchise  rights 
could  be  obtained  after  two  years'  residence;  in  1882  the  period  of  residence 
was  increased  to  five  years.  Meanwhile  the  land-hunger  of  the  Boers  became 
stimulated  rather  than  checked  by  the  regaining  of  the  independence  of  their 
country.  _  On  the  western  border  intrigues  were  already  going  on  with  petty 
tribal  chiefs,  and  the  Boers  drove  out  a  portion  of  the  Ba-Rolongs  from  their 
lands,  setting  up  the  so-called  republics  of  Stellaland  and  Goshen.  This  act 
called  forth  a  protest  from  Lord  Derby,  the  minister  chiefly  responsible  for 
the  Pretoria  Convention,  stating  that  he  could  not  recognise  the  right  of  Boer 
freebooters  to  set  up  governments  of  their  own  on  the  Transvaal  borders. 
This  protest,  however,  had  no  effect  upon  the  freebooters,  who  issued  one 
proclamation  after  another  until  in  November,  1883,  they  united  the  two  new 
republics  under  the  title  of  the  United  States  of  Stellaland.  Simultaneously 

with  this  "irresponsible"  movement  for  expansion,  President  Kruger,  having 
found  the  policy  of  putting  pressure  upon  Great  Britain  so  successful,  pro- 

ceeded to  London  to  interview  Lord  Derby  and  endeavour  to  induce  him  to 
dispense  with  the  suzerainty,  and  to  withdraw  other  clauses  in  the  Pretoria 
Convention  on  foreign  relations  and  natives,  which  were  objectionable  from 
the  Boer  point  of  view.  Moreover,  Kruger  significantly  requested  that  the 
term  South  African  Republic  should  be  substituted  for  Transvaal  State. 

The  result  was  the  London  Convention  of  1884.  In  this  document  a  fresh 
set  of  articles  was  substituted  for  those  of  the  Pretoria  Convention  of  1881. 
In  the  articles  of  the  new  convention  the  boundaries  were  once  more  defined, 

and  to  them  the  Transvaal  was  bound  "  strictly  to  adhere."  In  what  followed 
it  must  always  be  remembered  that  Lord  Derby  began  by  emphatically 
rejecting  the  first  Boer  draft  of  a  treaty  on  the  ground  that  no  treaty  was 
possible  except  between  equal  sovereign  states.  Moreover,  it  is  undeniable 
that  Lord  Derby  acted  as  though  he  was  anxious  to  appear  to  be  giving  the 
Boers  what  they  wanted.  He  would  not  formally  abolish  the  suzerainty,  but 
he  was  willing  not  to  mention  it;  and  though,  as  before  stated,  in  substituting 
new  articles  for  those  of  the  Pretoria  Convention  he  left  the  preamble  un- 

touched, he  avoided  anything  which  could  commit  the  Boer  delegates  to  a 
formal  recognition  of  that  fact.  On  the  other  hand,  he  was  most  indignant 
when  in  the  house  of  lords  he  was  accused  by  Lord  Caims  of  impairing  British 

interests  and  relinquishing  the  queen's  suzerainty.  He  declared  that  he  had 
preserved  the  thing  in  its  substance,  if  he  had  not  actually  used  the  word;  and 
this  view  of  the  matter  was  always  oflicially  maintained  in  the  colonial  ofiice 
(which,  significantly  enough,  dealt  with  Transvaal  affairs)  whatever  the  polit- 

ical party  in  power.  Unfortunately,  the  timid  way  in  which  it  was  done  made 
as  ineffaceable  an  impression  on  Kruger  even  as  the  surrender  after  Majuba. 
Article  4  stated:  "The  South  African  Repubhc  will  conclude  no  treaty  or 
engagement  with  any  state  or  nation  other  than  the  Orange  Free  State,  nor 
with  any  native  tribe  to  the  eastward  or  westward  of  the  repubhc,  until  the 

same  has  been  approved  by  her  majesty  the  queen."  The  other  article  to 
which  the  greatest  interest  was  subsequently  attached  was  Article  14:  "All 
persons,  other  than  natives,  conforming  themselves  to  the  laws  of  the  South 
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African  Republic  (1)  will  have  full  liberty,  with  their  families,  to  enter,  travel, 
or  reside  in  any  part  of  the  South  African  Republic;  (2)  they  will  be  entitled 
to  hire  or  possess  houses,  manufactories,  warehouses,  shops,  and  premises; 
(3)  they  may  carry  on  their  commerce  either  in  person  or  by  any  agents  whom 
they  may  think  fit  to  employ;  (4)  they  will  not  be  subject,  in  respect  of  their 
persons  or  property  or  in  respect  of  their  commerce  or  industry,  to  any  taxes, 
whether  general  or  local,  other  than  those  which  are  or  may  be  imposed  upon 

citizens  of  the  said  republic." 
As  the  freebooters  continued  their  operations  in  Bechuanaland,  Sir  Hercules 

Robinson  despatched  the  Reverend  J.  Mackenzie  to  adjust  matters  and  if  nec- 
essary "to  order  the  ejectment  of  the  persons  now  trespassing  at  Rooi 

Grond."  Mr.  Mackenzie  met  with  but  partial  success,  and  Mr.  Rhodes  was 
sent  to  succeed  him,  but  the  latter  equally  failed  to  bring  about  a  settlement. 

Meanwhile  President  Kruger  "provisionally"  proclaimed  and  ordained,  "in 
the  interests  of  humanity,"  that  the  territory  in  dispute  should  be  under  the 
protection  of  the  South  African  Republic.  Public  protests  were  made  in  Cape 
Town  and  throughout  the  colony  against  this  last  act  of  aggression,  and  in 
October,  1884,  Sir  Charles  Warren  was  despatched  by  the  British  government 

to  "pacificate"  and  "hold  the  country"  pending  further  instructions.  There- 
upon President  Kruger  withdrew  his  proclamation.  Sir  Charles  Warren  sub- 

sequently broke  up  the  freebooters'  two  states,  and  occupied  the  country 
without  a  shot  being  fired.  The  expedition  cost  Great  Britain  a  million  and 
a  half,  but  the  attempt  at  further  extension  westwards  was  foiled. 

At  the  eastern  border  a  similar  policy  was  followed  by  the  Boers,  and  in 
this  instance  with  more  success.  Following  up  the  downfall  of  the  Zulu 
power  after  the  British  conquest  in  1879,  several  parties  of  Boers  began  in- 

triguing with  the  petty  chiefs,  and  in  January,  1883,  in  the  presence  of  ten 
thousand  Zulus,  they  proclaimed  Dinizulu,  the  son  of  Cettiwayo,  to  be  king 
of  Zululand.  As  a  "reward"  for  their  services  to  the  Zulus,  the  Boers  then 
took  over  from  them  a  tract  of  country  in  which  they  established  a  new  re- 

public. Encouraged  by  success,  the  Boer  claims  were  extended  imtil  at  the 
end  of  1885  they  claimed  about  three  fourths  of  the  whole  Zulu  territory.  In 
1886  the  new  republic,  with  limits  considerably  narrowed,  was  recognised  by 
Great  Britain,  and  the  territory  became  incorporated  with  the  Transvaal  in 
1888.  Their  eastern  boundary,  in  the  teeth  of  the  spirit  of  the  conventions 
and  with  but  scant  observance  of  the  latter,  was  by  this  means  eventually 
considerably  extended.  A  similar  policy  eventually  brought  Swaziland 
almost  entirely  under  their  dominion. 

Meanwhile,  events  occurring  within  the  state  augured  iU  for  the  future  of 
the  country.  In  1884  a  concession  to  a  number  of  Hollander  and  German 
capitalists  of  all  rights  to  make  railways  in  the  state  led  to  the  formation  of 
the  Netherlands  Railway  Company.  This  company,  which  was  not  actually 
floated  till  1887,  was  destined  to  exercise  a  disastrous  influence  upon  the 
fortunes  of  the  state.  Gold  digging,  which  had  commenced  with  the  discovery 
in  1869  of  the  Zoutpansberg  and  Lydenburg  gold  fields,  had  hitherto  enjoyed  in 

the  Transvaal  but  a  precarious  existence.  In  1883  the  discovery  of  Moodie's 
Reef  near  the  Kaap  valley  led  to  a  considerable  influx  of  diggers  and  pros- 

pectors. In  1886  the  Rand  gold  fields,  which  had  just  been  discovered,  were 
proclaimed  and  Johannesburg  was  founded.  From  that  time  the  gold  indus- 

try made  steady  progress  until  the  Rand  gold  mines  proved  the  richest  and 
most  productive  gold  field  in  the  world.  As  the  industry  prospered,  so  did 
the  European  population  increase.  The  revenue  of  the  state  went  up  by 
leaps  and  bounds.    In  1882  it  was  £177,407;  in  1889,  £1,577,445;  in  1896, 
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£3,912,095.  At  the  end  of  1886  Johannesburg  consisted  of  a  few  stores  and 
some  few  thousand  inhabitants.  In  October,  1896,  the  sanitary  board  census 
estimated  the  population  as  107,078,  of  whom  50,907  were  Europeans.  The 
wealth  which  was  poiu-ing  into  the  Boer  state  coflFers  exceeded  the  wildest 
dreams  of  President  Kruger  and  his  followers.  Land  went  up  in  value,  and 
the  Boers  eventually  parted  with  a  third  of  the  whole  land  area  of  the  country 
to  Uitlander  purchasers.  Yet  in  spite  of  the  wealth  which  the  industry  of  the 
XJitlanders  was  bringing  both  to  the  state  and  to  individuals,  a  policy  of  rigid 
political  exclusion  and  restriction  was  adopted  towards  them. 

An  attempt  was  made  in  1888,  after  the  conference  held  between  Cape 
Colony,  the  Orange  Free  State,  and  Natal,  to  induce  the  Transvaal  to  enter 
the  customs  union.  Kruger  would  have  none  of  it.  His  design  at  this  time 
was  ultimately  to  bring  the  whole  of  the  external  trade  of  the  state,  which  was 
growing  yearly  as  the  gold  industry  developed,  through  Delagoa  Bay  and 
over  the  Netherlands  Railway.  In  1888  Sir  John  Brand,  president  of  the 
Free  State,  died.  He  was  succeeded  in  1889  by  Mr.  Reitz.  President  Kruger 
now  induced  the  Free  State  to  agree  to  a  treaty  whereby  each  state  bound  itself 
to  help  the  other  whenever  the  independence  of  either  should  be  threatened  or 
assailed,  vmless  the  cause  of  quarrel  was,  in  the  eyes  of  the  state  called  in  to 

assist,  an  unjust  one.  This  was  the  thin  end  of  the  wedge,  which  in  Brand's 
time  President  ICruger  had  never  been  able  to  insert  into  the  affairs  of  the  Free 
State. 

KRUGER  AND  THE  UITLANDER  GRIEVANCES 

President  Kruger  now  turned  his  attention  to  finding  a  seaport,  and  was 
only  prevented  from  doing  so  by  the  British  annexation  of  Tongaland,  which 
barred  his  progress  in  that  direction.  In  1890  a  feeling  of  considerable  irrita- 

tion had  grown  up  among  the  Uitlanders  at  the  various  monopolies,  but  par- 
ticularly at  the  djmamite  monopoly,  which  pressed  solely  and  with  peculiar 

severity  upon  gold  miners.  Requests  for  some  consideration  in  the  matter 
of  the  franchise,  and  also  for  a  more  liberal  commercial  policy  in  the  matter  of 
railways,  dynamite,  and  customs  dues,  began  to  be  made.  In  response 
Kruger  resorted  to  the  most  sweeping  alteration  in  the  franchise  law.  He 
enacted  that  the  period  of  qualification  for  the  full  franchise  should  now  be 
raised  to  ten  years  instead  of  five.  He  at  the  same  time  instituted  what  was 
called  a  second  chamber,  the  franchise  qualifications  for  which  were  certainly 
less,  but  which  was  not  endowed  with  any  real  power.  During  this  year 

Kruger  visited  Johannesburg,  and  what  was  known  as  "the  flag  incident" 
occurred.  He  had  by  this  time  rendered  himself  somewhat  impopular,  and 

in  the  evening  the  Transvaal  flag,  which  flew  over  the  landdrost's  house,  was 
pulled  down.  This  incensed  Kruger  so  much  that  for  many  years  he  con- 

tinued to  quote  it  as  a  reason  why  no  consideration  could  be  granted  to  the 
Uitlanders. 

In  1892  the  Uitlanders  began  to  feel  that  if  they  were  to  obtain  any  redress 
for  their  grievances  some  combined  constitutional  action  was  called  for,  and 
the  first  reform  movement  began.  The  Transvaal  National  Union  was  formed. 
This  consisted  at  the  outset  chiefly  of  mercantile  and  professional  men 
and  artisans.  TTie  mining  men,  especially  the  heads  of  the  larger  houses,  did 
not  care  at  this  juncture  to  run  the  risk  of  political  agitation.  The  objects  of 
this  body  were  avowed  from  the  outset.  They  desired  equal  rights  for  all 
citizens  in  the  state,  the  abolition  of  monopolies  and  abuses,  together  with  the 
maintenance  of  the  state's  independence.     In  the  fm-thering  of  this  policy 
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the  Uitlander  leader,  Mr.  John  Tudhope,  an  ex-minister  in  the  Cape  govern- 
ment, was  supported  by  Mr.  Charles  Leonard  and  his  brother  Mr.  James 

Leonard,  who  at  one  time  had  distinguished  himself  as  attorney-general 
of  Cape  Colony. 

Both  the  Leonards,  as  well  as  many  of  their  followers,  were  South  Africans 
by  birth.  They,  in  common  with  the  great  bulk  of  the  Uitlanders,  recognised 
that  the  state  had  acquired  its  independence,  and  had  every  right  to  have  that 
independence  respected.  They  neither  sought  nor  desired  to  see  it  abolished. 
But  they  asserted  that  a  narrow  and  retrogressive  policy,  such  as  Kruger  was 
following,  was  the  very  thing  to  endanger  that  independence.  The  soundness 
of  these  views  and  the  legitimacy  of  Uitlander  aspirations  were  recognised  by 
a  few  of  the  most  enlightened  men  among  the  Boer  officials  at  Pretoria.  Some 
prominent  burghers  even  spoke  at  Uitlander  meetings  in  favour  of  the  Uit- 

lander requests.  At  a  later  date  Chief  Justice  Kotze  when  on  circuit  warned 
the  Boers  that  in  its  retrogressive  action  the  Boer  government  was  under- 

mining the  grand  wet  or  constitution  of  the  state.  It  soon  became  evident 
that  one  course,  and  only  one,  lay  open  to  President  Kruger  if  he  desired  to 
avert  a  catastrophe.  It  was  to  meet  in  a  friendly  spirit  those  men  who  had 
by  their  industry  converted  a  poor  pastoral  country  into  a  rich  industrial  one, 
who  represented  more  than  half  the  inhabitants,  who  paid  more  than  three 
fourths  of  the  revenue,  and  who  were  anxious  to  join  him  as  citizens,  with  the 
rights  of  citizenship.  He  chose  a  course  diametrically  opposite.  In  an  inter- 

view accorded  to  seven  delegates  from  the  National  Union,  who  visited  him 

in  1892,  with  regard  to  reforms,  he  told  Mr.  Charles  Leonard  to  "go  back  and 
tell  your  people  that  I  shall  never  give  them  anything.  I  shall  never  change 

my  policy.    And  now  let  the  storm  burst." 
In  1894  there  occurred  an  incident  which  not  only  incensed  the  Uitlanders 

to  fury,  but  called  for  British  intervention.  A  number  of  British  subjects 
resident  in  the  Transvaal,  in  spite  of  their  having  no  political  status,  were  com- 

mandeered for  compulsory  service  to  suppress  a  native  rising.  This  led  to  a 
protest,  and  eventually  a  visit  to  Pretoria,  from  Sir  Henry  Loch.  President 

Kruger  at  length  agreed  to  extend  "most  favoured  nation"  privileges  to 
British  subjects  in  reference  to  compulsory  military  service,  and  five  British 
subjects  who  had  been  sent  as  prisoners  to  the  front  were  released.  Following 
this  incident  came  a  further  alteration  in  the  franchise  law,  making  the  fran- 

chise practically  impossible  to  obtain.  The  Delagoa  Bay  Railway  now  being 
completed,  Kruger  determined  to  take  steps  to  bring  the  Rand  traffic  over  it. 
The  Netherlands  Railway  began  by  putting  a  prohibitive  tariff  on  goods  from 
the  Vaal  river.  Not  to  be  coerced  in  this  manner,  the  Rand  merchants  pro- 

ceeded to  bring  their  goods  on  from  the  Vaal  by  wagon.  Kruger  then  closed 
the  drifts  (or  fords)  on  the  river  by  which  the  wagons  crossed.  He  only 
reopened  them  after  the  receipt  of  what  was  tantamount  to  an  ultimatum  on 
the  subject  from  Great  Britain. 

At  this  time  the  Uitlanders  formed  a  majority  of  the  population,  owned 
half  the  land  and  nine  tenths  of  the  property,  and  they  were  at  least  entitled 
to  a  hearing.  When  m  August,  1895,  they  forwarded  one  of  their  many 
petitions  praying  for  redress  of  their  grievances  and  an  extension  of  the  fran- 

chise, their  petition  with  over  thirty-five  thousand  signatures  was  rejected 
with  jeers  and  insult.  In  September  a  combined  meeting  of  the  chambers  of 
mines  and  commerce  was  held  at  Johannesburg,  and  a  letter  on  various  matters 
of  the  greatest  importance  to  the  mining  industry  and  community  at  Johan- 

nesburg was  addressed  to  the  Boer  executive.  It  was  never  vouchsafed  an 
answer.    Men  of  any  spirit  among  the  Uitlanders  were  exasperated  beyond 
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measure.  Their  position  was  humiliating.  What  the  next  step  should  be  was 
freely  discussed.  It  was  easy  to  i^ropound  the  question,  impossible  to  answer 
it.  Some  urged  an  appeal  to  the  imperial  government;  but  others,  especially 
men  of  colonial  birth  and  experience,  objected  that  they  would  be  leaning  on 
a  broken  reed.  That  men  who  had  still  the  memory  of  Majuba  in  their 
hearts  should  have  felt  misgiving  is  not  to  be  wondered  at. 

THE   JAMESON   RAID   AND   ITS   CONSEQUENCES  (1895   A.D.) 

At  this  juncture  came  overtures  to  the  leading  Uitlanders  from  Cecil 
Rhodes  and  Doctor  Jameson,  leading  to  the  Jameson  raid.  To  one  or  two  men 
this  scheme,  subsequently  known  as  the  Jameson  plan,  had  been  revealed 
earlier  in  the  year,  but  to  the  majority  even  of  the  small  group  of  leaders  it 
was  not  known  till  October  or  November,  1895.  The  proposition  came  in  a 
tempting  hour.  Mr.  Rhodes  and  Doctor  Jameson,  after  considerable  delib- 

eration, came  to  the  conclusion  that  they  might  advantageously  intervene 
between  Kruger  and  the  Uitlanders.  They  induced  Mr.  Alfred  Beit,  who  was 
an  old  personal  friend  of  Mr.  Rhodes,  and  also  largely  interested  in  the  Rand 
gold  mines,  to  adopt  this  view  and  to  lend  his  co-operation.  They  then  sub- 

mitted their  scheme  to  some  of  the  Uitlander  leaders.  Between  them  it  was 
arranged  that  Doctor  Jameson  should  gather  a  force  of  eight  hundred  men  on 
the  Transvaal  border;  that  the  Uitlanders  should  continue  their  agitation; 
and  that,  should  no  satisfactory  concession  be  obtained  from  President  Kru- 

ger, a  combined  movement  of  armed  forces  should  be  made  against  the  Trans- 
vaal government.  The  arsenal  at  Pretoria  was  to  be  seized;  the  Uitlanders 

in  Johannesburg  were  to  rise  and  hold  the  town.  Jameson  was  to  make  a 
rapid  march  to  Johannesburg.  The  various  movements  were  to  be  started 
simultaneously.  Meanwhile,  in  order  to  give  President  Kruger  a  final  chance 
of  making  concessions  with  a  good  grace,  and  for  the  purpose  of  stating  the 
Uitlander  case  to  the  world,  Charles  Leonard,  as  chairman  of  the  National 
Union,  issued  a  historic  manifesto,  which  concluded  as  follows: 

"We  have  now  only  two  questions  to  consider:  (1)  What  do  we  want? 
(2)  How  shall  we  get  it?  I  have  stated  plainly  what  our  grievances  are,  and 
I  shall  answer  with  equal  directness  the  question.  What  do  we  want?  We 
want:  (1)  the  establishment  of  this  republic  as  a  true  republic;  (2)  a  grand 
wet  or  constitution  which  shall  be  framed  by  competent  persons  selected  by 
representatives  of  the  whole  people  and  framed  on  lines  laid  down  by  them  — 
a  constitution  which  shall  be  safeguarded  against  hasty  alterations;  (3)  an 
equitable  franchise  law,  and  fair  representation;  (4)  equality  of  the  Dutch 
and  EngHsh  languages;  (5)  responsibility  to  the  heads  of  the  great  depart- 

ments of  the  legislature;  (6)  removal  of  religious  disabilities;  (7)  independence 
of  the  courts  of  justice,  with  adequate  and  secured  remuneration  of  the  judges; 
(8)  liberal  and  comprehensive  education;  (9)  efficient  civil  service,  with 
adequate  provision  for  pay  and  pension;  (10)  free  trade  in  South  African 
products.  That  is  what  we  want.  There  now  remains  the  question  which 
is  to  be  put  before  you  at  the  meeting  of  the  6th  of  January,  viz.,  How  shall 
we  get  it?  To  this  question  I  shall  expect  from  you  an  answer  in  plain  terms 
according  to  your  deliberate  judgment." 

The  Jameson  conspiracy  fared  no  worse  and  no  better  than  the  great 
majority  of  conspiracies  in  history.  It  failed  in  its  immediate  object.  Doctor 
Jameson  did  not  obtain  more  than  five  hundred  men.  Johannesburg  had  the 

greatest  difficulty  in  smuggling  in  and  distributing  the  rifles  with  which  the 
insurgents  were  to  be  armed,    The  scheme  to  seize  the  Pretoria  fort  had  to 
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be  abandoned,  as  at  the  time  fixed  Pretoria  was  thronged  with  Boers.  Finally, 
to  make  confusion  worse  confounded,  Doctor  Jameson,  becoming  impatient 
of  delay,  in  spite  of  receiving  direct  messages  from  the  leaders  at  Johannesburg 
telling  him  on  no  accoimt  to  move,  marched  into  the  Transvaal  on  the  day 
which  had  been  provisionally  decided  on. 

The  poHcy  of  delay  in  the  execution  of  the  plot  which  the  Uitlander  leaders 
found  themselves  compelled  to  adopt  was  determined  by  a  variety  of  causes. 
Apart  from  the  dilficxilty  of  obtaining  arms,  a  serious  question  arose  at  the 
eleventh  hour  which  filled  some  of  the  Uitlanders  with  mistrust.  The  reform 
leaders  in  the  Transvaal,  down  to  and  including  the  Johannesburg  rising,  had 
always  recognised  as  a  cardinal  principle  the  due  observance  and  maintenance 
of  the  independence  of  the  state.  From  Cape  Town  it  was  now  hinted  that 
the  movement  in  which  Doctor  Jameson  was  to  co-operate  should,  in  Mr. 
Rhodes'  view,  be  carried  out  under  the  British  flag.  A  meeting  of  Uitlander 
leaders  was  hastily  summoned  on  December  25th.  Two  messengers  were  that 
night  despatched  to  interview  Cecil  Rhodes,  who  then  gave  the  assurance  that 
he  approved  of  the  republican  flag.  Meanwhile,  on  December  29,  Doctor 
Jameson  had  started,  and  the  news  of  his  having  done  so  reached  Johannes- 

burg from  outside  sources.  A  number  of  leading  citizens  were  at  once  formed 
into  a  reform  committee.  In  the  absence  of  Charles  Leonard,  who  had  been 
sent  as  one  of  the  delegates  to  Cape  Town  to  interview  CecU  Rhodes,  Lionel 
Phillips,  a  partner  in  Messrs.  Eckstein  and  Company,  the  largest  mining  firm 
on  the  Rand,  was  elected  chairman,  Mr.  Phillips  had  been  for  three  years 
in  succession  chairman  of  the  chamber  of  mmes,  and  he  had  persistently  for 
several  years  endeavoured  to  induce  President  Kruger  to  take  a  reasonable 
view  of  the  requirements  of  the  industry.  He  was  a  man  of  marked  ability 
and  energy,  and  enjoyed  the  confidence  of  the  great  majority  of  the  Uitlanders, 

Under  the  supervision  of  the  reform  committee,  such  arms  as  had  been 
smuggled  in  were  now  distributed,  and  Colonel  Frank  Rhodes,  a  brother  of 
Cecil,  was  given  charge  of  the  armed  men,  TTie  canteens  were  closed  in  the 
towns  and  along  the  mines,  A  large  body  of  police  was  enrolled,  and  order 
was  maintained  throughout  the  town.  On  Januaiy  2nd,  1896,  Doctor  Jame- 
Bon,  wh-)  found  himself  at  Doomkop  in  a  position  surroimded  by  Boers,  sur- 

rendered. Doctor  Jameson  and  his  men  were  conveyed  to  Pretoria  as  pris- 
oners, and  subsequently  handed  over  to  the  high  commissioner.  The  whole 

of  the  reform  committee  (with  the  exception  of  a  few  who  fled  the  coimtry) 
were  arrested  on  a  charge  of  hi^h  treason  and  imprisoned  in  Pretoria;  they 
were  then  brought  up  for  prelimmary  examination  in  the  Raadzaal,  and  com- 

mitted lor  trial.  In  April,  at  the  trial,  the  four  leaders  —  Lionel  Phillips, 
Colonel  Frank  Rhodes,  J.  H.  Hammond,  and  George  Farrar,  who  in  con- 

junction with  Charles  Leonard  had  made  the  arrangements  with  Doctor  Jame- 
son —  were  sentenced  to  death,  the  sentence  beingafter  some  months'  im- 

prisonment commuted  to  a  fine  of  £25,000  each.  The  rest  of  the  committee 

were  each  sentenced  to  two  years'  imprisonment,  £2^000  fine,  or  another 
year's  irnprisonment,  and  three  years'  banishment.  The  sentence,  after  a 
month's  incarceration,  was  also  commuted.  "Die  fine  was  exacted,  and  the 
prisoners,  with  the  exception  of  Woolls  Sampson  and  Karri  Davis,  were  lib- 

erated on  undertaking  to  abstain  from  politics  for  three  years  in  lieu  of  ban- 
ishment. Messrs.  Sampson  and  Davis,  refusing  to  appeal  to  the  executive 

for  a  reconsideration  of  their  sentence,  were  retained  for  o^er  a  year. 
Sir  Hercules  Robinson  was  unfortunately  in  feeble  health  at  the  time,  and 

having  reached  Pretoria  on  the  4th  of  January,  he  had  to  conduct  negotiations 
under  great  physical  disadvantage.    He  had  no  sooner  learned  of  the  raid  in 
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Cape  Town  than  he  issued  a  proclamation  through  Sir  Jacobus  de  Wet,  the 
Bntish  resident  at  Pretoria,  warning  all  British  subjects  in  Johannesburg  or 
elsewhere  from  aiding  and  abetting  Jameson.  This  was  freely  distributed 
among  the  public  of  Johannesburg.  While  in  Pretoria  the  high  commissioner 
in  the  first  instance  addressed  himself  to  inducing  Johannesburg  to  lay  down 
its  arms.  He  telegraphed  to  the  reform  committee  that  President  Kruger 
had  insisted  "that  Johannesburg  must  lay  down  arms  unconditionally  as  a 
precedent  to  any  discussions  and  consideration  of  grievances."  On  the  fol- 

lowing day,  January  7th,  Sir  Hercules  telegraphed  again  through  the  British 
agent,  who  was  then  at  Johannesburg,  saying:  "If  the  Uitlanders  do  not 
comply  with  my  request  they  wiU  forfeit  all  claims  to  sympathy  from  her 

majesty's  government  and  from  British  subjects  throughout  the  world,  as  the 
lives  of  Jameson  and  the  prisoners  are  now  practically  in  their  hands."  The 
two  thousand  odd  rifles  which  had  been  distributed  among  the  Uitlanders 
were  then  given  up.  With  regard  to  the  inducements  to  this  step  urged  upon 
the  reform  committee  by  the  high  commissioner,  it  is  only  necessary  to  say 
with  reference  to  the  first  that  the  grievances  never  were  considered,  and  with 
reference  to  the  second  it  subsequently  appeared  that  one  of  the  conditions  of 

the  surrender  of  Doctor  Jameson's  force  at  Doornkop  was  that  the  lives  of  the 
men  should  be  spared.  It  was  after  the  Johannesburg  disarmament  that 
President  Kruger  had  sixty-four  members  of  the  reform  committee  arrested, 
announcing  at  the  same  time  that  his  motto  would  be  "Forget  and  forgive." 
Sir  Hercules  Robinson,  in  response  to  a  message  from  the  British  government 
urging  him  to  use  firm  language  in  reference  to  reasonable  concessions,  replied 
that  he  considered  the  moment  inopportune,  and  on  January  15th  he  left  for 
Cape  Town. 

In  the  three  years  which  intervened  between  the  Jameson  raid  and  the 

outbreak  of  the  war  in  1899  Kruger's  administration  continued  to  be  what  it 
had  been  before  the  war;  that  is  to  say,  it  was  not  merely  bad,  but  it  got 
progressively  worse.  His  conduct  immediately  after  Johannesburg  had  given 
up  its  arms,  and  while  the  reform  committee  were  in  prison,  was  distinctly 
disingenuous.  Instead  of  discussing  grievances,  as  before  the  Johannesburg 
disarmament  he  had  led  the  high  commissioner  to  believe  was  his  intention, 
he  proceeded  to  request  the  withdrawal  of  the  London  Convention,  because, 

among  other  things,  "  it  is  injurious  to  the  dignity  of  an  independent  republic." 
When  President  Kruger  found  that  no  concession  was  to  be  wrung  from 
the  British  government,  he  proceeded,  instead  of  considering  grievances,  to 

add  considerably  to  their  number.  The  Aliens'  Expulsion  and  Aliens'  Immi- 
gration laws,  as  well  as  the  new  Press  Law,  were  passed  in  the  latter  part  of  1896. 

In  1897  a  decision  of  Chief-Justice  Kotze  was  overruled  by  an  act  of  the 
volksraad.  This  led  to  a  strong  protest  from  the  judges  of  the  high  court, 
and  eventually  led  to  the  dismissal  of  the  chief-justice,  who  had  held  that  ofl&ce 
for  over  twenty  years,  and  during  the  whole  of  that  time  had  been  a  loyal  and 
patriotic  friend  to  his  country.  While  in  office  Mr.  Kotze  had  protested  that 
no  honourable  man  could  continue  to  sit  as  judge  under  such  conditions. 
After  dismissal  he  spoke  out  stiU  more  plainly  at  a  public  dinner  in  Johannes- 

burg, and  openly  charged  President  Kruger  with  the  tjTanny  of  a  despot. 
An  industrial  commission  appointed  during  this  year  by  President  Kruger 
fared  no  better  than  the  high  court  had  done.  The  commission  was  deputed 
to  inquire  into  and  report  on  certain  of  the  grievances  adversely  affecting  the 
gold  industry.  Its  constitution  for  this  purpose  was  anomalous,  as  it  con- 

sisted almost  entirely  of  Transvaal  officials  whose  knowledge  of  the  require- 
ments of  the  industry  was  scanty.    In  spite  of  this  fact,  however,  the  com- 
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mission  reported  in  favour  of  refonn  in  various  directions.  They  urged 
due  enforcement  of  the  liquor  law,  more  police  protection,  the  abolition  of  the 
dynamite  concession,  and  that  foodstuffs  should  be  duty  free. 

THE   UITLANDER   PETITION 

These  recommendations  made  by  President  Kruger's  own  nominees  were 
practically  ignored.  In  January,  1899,  the  British  colonial  secretary,  Mr. 
Chamberlain,  pointed  out  in  a  despatch  to  President  Kruger  that  the  dyna- 

mite monopoly  constituted  a  breach  of  the  London  Convention.  In  order  to 
help  the  TVansvaal  government  out  of  its  difficulty,  and  to  make  one  more 
effort  towards  conciliation,  the  financial  houses  of  Johannesburg  offered  to 
lend  the  Transvaal  government  £600,000  wherewith  to  buy  out  the  dynamite 
company,  and  so  terminate  the  scandal  and  bring  some  relief  to  the  industry. 
TTie  offer  was  not  accepted.  In  May  the  Uitlanders,  hopeless  of  ever  obtaining 
redress  from  President  Kruger,  weary  of  sending  petitions  to  the  raad  only  to 
be  jeered  at,  determined  to  invoke  intervention  if  nothing  else  could  avail, 
and  forwarded  a  petition  to  Queen  Victoria.  This  petition,  the  outcome  of 
the  second  Uitlander  movement  for  reform,  was  signed  by  twenty-one  thousand 
British  subjects,  and  stated  the  Uitlander  position  at  considerable  length. 
The  following  extract  conveys  its  general  tenor: 

The  condition  of  your  majesty's  subjects  in  this  state  has  become  well-nigh  intoleiable. 
The  acknowledged  and  admitted  grievances,  of  which  your  majesty's  subjects  complained  prior 
to  1895,  not  only  are  not  redressed,  but  exist  to-day  in  an  aggravated  form.  They  are  still 
deprived  of  all  political  rights,  they  are  denied  any  voice  in  the  government  of  the  country, 
they  are  taxed  far  above  the  requirements  of  the  country,  the  revenue  of  which  is  misapplied 
and  devoted  to  objects  which  keep  alive  a  continuous  and  well-founded  feeling  of  irritation, 
without  in  any  way  advancing  the  general  interest  of  the  state.  Maladministration  and  pecula- 

tion of  public  moneys  go  hand  in  hand,  without  any  vigorous  measures  being  adopted  to  put  a 
stop  to  the  scandal.  The  education  of  Uitlander  children  is  made  subject  to  impossible  con- 

ditions. The  police  afford  no  adequate  protection  to  the  lives  and  property  of  the  inhabitants 
of  Johannesburg ;  they  are  rather  a  source  of  danger  to  the  peace  and  safety  of  the  Uitlander 
population. 

In  response  to  this  appeal,  which  the  imperial  government  felt  themselves 
bound  to  deal  with,  Mr.  Chamberlain  proposed  a  conference;  and  this  was 
arranged  between  President  Kruger  and  Sir  Alfred  Mihier,  who  met  at  Bloem- 
fontem  on  May  31st,  1899.  It  no  sooner  opened  than  it  was  evident  that 
Kruger  had  come  to  obtain  not  to  grant  concessions.  He  offered,  it  is  true, 

a  seven  years'  franchise  law  in  place  of  the  five  years'  franchise  which  Sir 
Alfred  Milner  asked  for.  But  apart  from  the  relief  suggested  being  entirely 
inadequate,  it  was  only  to  be  given  on  certain  conditions,  one  of  which  was 
that  all  future  disputes  which  might  arise  between  the  Transvaal  and  the 
imperial  government  should  be  referred  to  a  court  of  arbitration,  of  which  the 
president  should  be  a  foreigner.  No  arrangement  was  possible  on  such  terms. 
Meanwhile  feeling  was  nmning  high  at  Johannesburg  and  throughout  South 
Africa.  Meetings  were  held  in  all  the  large  towns,  at  which  resolutions  were 
passed  declaring  that  no  solution  of  the  Transvaal  question  would  be  accept- 

able which  did  not  provide  for  equal  political  rights  for  all  white  men.  Sir 
Alfred  Milner  (who  compared  the  position  of  the  Uitlanders  to  that  of 
"helots")  urged  the  Home  government  to  insist  upon  a  minimum  of  reform, 
and  primarily  the  five  years'  franchise;  and  Mr.  Chamberlain,  backed  by 
the  cabinet,  adopted  the  policy  of  the  high  commissioner.e 
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A   CHARACTERISATION   OF   KRUGER 

The  character  of  President  Kruger  naturally  called  forth  varied  expres- 
sions of  oi)inion.  It  may  be  permissible  to  quote,  as  bearing  upon  his  action 

at  this  period  of  his  career,  the  balanced  judgment  of  the  TiTnes  on  the  occasion 
of  his  death  in  July,  1904: 

"He  was  neither  a  hero  nor  a  saint.  In  intellect  and  in  sentiment  he 
remained  to  the  end  a  typical  peasant  farmer.  Not  only  did  he  fail  to  form 
statesmanlike  conceptions  himself,  but  he  constantly  displayed  an  entire 
inability  to  appreciate  such  conceptions  when  they  were  submitted  to  him 
by  others.  Like  the  Bourbons  he  learned  nothing  and  forgot  nothing,  and 
for  the  same  reason.  He  could  not  rise  above  the  prejudices  to  which  he 
was  born.  His  horizon  was  limited  throughout  life,  notwithstanding  his 
wide  experience  of  men  and  affairs,  by  the  narrow  ideas  of  the  class  from 
which  he  sprang.  But  he  had  not  a  few  of  the  virtues  as  well  as  the  faults 
of  his  class,  and  they  are  virtues  which,  in  foeman  as  in  friend,  ever  command 
the  sterling  admiration  of  the  British  race.  'England  loves  a  man,'  and  Mr. 
Kruger  was  every  inch  a  man.  His  arrogance,  his  courage,  and  above  all  his 
dogged  resolution  to  have  his  own  way,  appealed  very  strongly  to  certain 
fibres  in  our  hearts.  We  admired  his  patriotism  so  warmly  that  some  of  us 
occasionally  forgot  how  closely  the  domination  of  the  Pretoria  oligarchy, 
which  was  the  true  object  of  his  patriotic  devotion,  was  itself  connected  with 
his  own  personal  and  material  interests.  Even  his  ostentatious  intrusion  of 
religious  considerations  into  secular  matters  was  regarded  with  indulgence, 
because  there  was  a  widespread  impression  that  he  had  recourse  to  such 
arguments  in  all  good  faith.  Had  the  president  been  only  a  little  more 
upright  in  his  dealings,  and  a  little  less  disingenuous  in  his  speech,  our  opinion 
of  him  would  have  stood  very  high  indeed.  But  he  had  all  the  petty  cunning 
and  the  deceitfulness  of  the  peasant,  not  less  conspicuously  than  the  peasant's 
sturdy  self-confidence  and  stubborn  courage.  It  was  this  trait  in  his  character 
which  made  a  real  arrangement  with  him  hopeless.  We  found  little  fault 
with  him  for  being  a  hard  bargainer;  but  when  we  discovered  that  we  could 
not  trust  him  to  keep  a  bargain,  a  collision  became  inevitable.  His  unre- 
ceptive  mind  was  closed  both  to  the  teaching  of  facts  and  to  the  advice  tendered 
to  him  by  Europeans  who  could  not  be  suspected  of  any  sympathy  with 
English  ambitions.  He  would  not,  and  indeed  probably  could  not,  see  that 
the  Uitlanders  had  rights.  He  hated  progress,  and  there  was  progress  at  his 
gates.  He  would  have  liked  to  get  rid  of  it,  except  in  so  far  as  it  brought 
untold  wealth  to  the  Boer  oligarchy,  but  as  he  could  not  get  rid  of  it,  he 

resolved  to  keep  it  down." 
Mr.  J.  A.  Hobson,»»  the  well-known  English  economic  author  and  journalist, 

writing  on  the  eve  of  the  war,  said :  "  Of  Mr.  Kruger's  actual  power  it  is  hard 
to  judge,  but  I  am  convinced  of  this — there  is  no  strong  man  in  or  out  of  the 
rand  who  could  really  stand  up  against  the  president,  or  could  rally  a  powerful 

party  against  him  in  a  national  emergency."  He  expresses  it  as  his  conviction 
that  the  majority  would  have  acquiesced  in  almost  any  decision,  and  have 
endorsed  almost  any  concessions  he  might  have  made." 

THE  CRISIS  OF  1899 

A  state  of  extreme  diplomatic  tension  lasted  all  the  sumnier.  It  was  not 
then  realised  either  by  the  public  or  the  government  how  seriously  and  with 



804  THE   COLONIAL  WORLD 
[1899  A.D.] 

what  considerable  justification  the  Boers  believed  in  their  ability,  if  necessary, 

to  sweep  the  English  "  into  the  sea."  President  Kruger  had  every  expectation of  large  reinforcements  from  the  Dutch  in  the  two  Bntish  colonies;  he  believed 
that,  whatever  happened,  Europe  would  not  allow  Boer  independence  to  be 
destroyed;  and  he  had  assured  himself  of  the  adhesion  of  the  Orange  Free 
State,  though  it  was  not  till  the  very  last  moment  that  President  Steyn  for- 

mally notified  Sir  Alfred  Milner  of  this  fact.  In  England,  on  the  other  hand, 
it  was  thought  by  most  people  that  if  a  firm  enough  attitude  were  adopted  Mr, 

Kruger  would  "climb  down."  Negotiations  could  only  bring  the  conflict  a 
little  nearer,  delay  it  a  little  longer,  or  supply  an  opportimity  to  either  side  to 
justify  its  action  in  the  eyes  of  the  world. 

Tne  persistent  attempt  of  the  South  African  Republic  to  assert  its  full 
independence,  culminating  in  a  formal  denial  of  British  suzerainty,  made  it 
additionally  incumbent  on  Great  Britain  to  carry  its  point  as  to  the  Uitlander 

grievances,  while,  from  Kruger's  point  of  view,  the  admission  of  the  Uitlanders 
to  real  political  rights  meant  the  doom  of  his  oligarchical  regime,  and  appeared 
in  the  light  of  a  direct  menace  to  Boer  supremacy.  The  franchise,  again,  was 
an  internal  afifair,  in  which  the  convention  gave  Great  Britain  no  right  to  inter- 

fere, while  if  Great  Britain  relied  on  certain  definite  breaches  of  the  convention, 
satisfaction  for  which  was  sought  in  the  first  place  in  such  a  guarantee  of 
amendment  as  the  Uitlander  franchise  would  involve,  the  Boer  answer  was 
an  offer  of  arbitration,  a  course  which  Great  Britain  could  not  accept  without 
admitting  the  South  African  Republic  to  the  position  of  an  equal. 

After  July  the  tactics  of  the  Boer  executive  were  simply  (hrected  towards 
putting  off  a  crisis  till  the  beginning  of  October,  when  the  grass  would  be 
growing  on  the  veldt,  and  meanwhile  towards  doing  all  they  could  in  their 
despatches  to  put  the  blame  on  Great  Britain.  At  last  they  drafted  on 
September  27th,  an  ultimatum  to  the  British  government.  But  although 
ready  drafted,  many  circumstances  conspired  to  delay  its  presentation.  Mean- 

while, the  British  war  office  began  to  wake  up,  and  early  in  September  the 
cabinet  sanctioned  the  despatch  to  Natal  from  India  of  a  mixed  force,  five 
thousand  six  hundred  strong,  while  two  battalions  were  ordered  to  South 
Africa  from  the  Mediterranean.  Sir  George  White  was  nominated  to  the 
chief  command  of  the  forces  in  Natal,  and  sailed  on  September  16th,  while 
active  preparations  were  set  on  foot  in  England  to  prepare  against  the  neces- 

sity of  despatching  an  army  corps  to  Cape  Town,  in  which  case  the  chief  com- 
mand was  to  be  vested  in  Sir  Redvers  Buller.  Fortunately  for  Great  Britain, 

although  the  draft  of  the  ultimatiun  was  lying  in  the  state  secretary's  office  in 
Pretoria,  the  Boers  unprepared  in  departmental  arrangements  which  are 
necessary  in  large  military  operations,  were  unable  to  take  the  field  with  the 
promptitude  that  the  situation  demanded.  They  consequently  forfeited  many 
of  the  advantages  of  the  initiative.  Thus  it  happened  that,  while  the  ulti- 

matum remained  undelivered  in  Pretoria,  the  British  government  were  able, 
U  not  to  render  their  line  of  resistance  secure,  at  least  to  prop  it  with  sufficient 
reinforcements  to  enable  it  to  defeat  the  crowning  object  of  the  Boer  invasion 
of  Natal  — the  capture  of  Pietermaritzburg  and  Durban. 

The  military  strength  of  the  two  republics  was  practically  an  unknown 
quantity.  It  was  certain  that,  since  the  troublous  times  of  1896,  the  Trans- 

vaal had  greatly  increased  its  armaments,  but  at  their  best,  except  by  a  very 
few,  the  Boers  were  looked  upon  by  English  military  experts  as  a  disorganised 
rabble,  which,  while  containing  many  individual  first-class  marksmen,  would 
be  incapable  of  maintaining  a  prolonged  resistance  against  a  disciplined  army. 
As  was  to  be  subsequently  shown,  the  hostilities  were  not  confined  to  oppo- 
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sition  from  the  fighting  strength  of  the  two  little  republics  alone;  the  British 
had  to  face  Dutch  opposition  in  their  own  colonies,  and  it  was  only  the  apathy 
and  caution  of  the  South  African  Dutch,  taken  as  a  whole,  which  saved  the 
empire  from  disaster.  The  total  fighting  strength  of  the  Boer  republics  was 
probably  never  more  than  sixty  thousand  men,  and  of  these  it  is  doubtful  if 
at  any  period  of  the  war  there  were  more  than  thirty-six  thousand  in  the  field 
at  the  same  time. 

But  the  fact  that  it  was  to  a  large  extent  a  struggle  with  a  nation  in  arms 
doubled  the  numbers  of  the  force  that  the  Transvaal  executive  was  able  to 
draw  upon,  while  to  this  may  be  added  the  not  insignificant  total  of  ten  thou- 

sand Uitlanders  and  foreigners,  and  fifteen  thousand  Kaffirs,  employed  in 
menial  duties  attendant  upon  military  operations.  Of  this  force  only  a 
microscopic  proportion  was  permanent  and  disciplined.  At  the  outbreak  of 
war  the  disciplined  forces  in  the  Transvaal  were  the  South  African  Republic 
police,  about  one  hundred  and  forty  strong,  with  twenty  ofiicers;  the  Swazi- 

land police,  four  hundred  strong;  and  the  Staats  artillery,  which,  when  the 
reservists  were  called  up  in  mobilisation  for  war,  numbered  about  eight  hun- 

dred men.  The  permanent  forces  of  the  Orange  Free  State  simply  consisted 
of  an  artillery  corps,  at  the  most  four  hundred  strong.  For  the  rest,  the  biilk 
of  the  Dutch  levies  were  organised  on  the  burgher  system  —  that  is,  each 
district  was  furnished  with  a  commandant,  who  had  under  him  field-cornets 
and  assistant  field-cornets,  who  administered  the  fighting  capacity  of  the 
district.  Each  field-cornet,  who,  with  the  commandant,  was  a  paid  ofiicial 
of  the  state,  was  responsible  for  the  arms,  equipment,  and  attendance  of  his 
commando  —  the  commando  ^  being  the  tactical  as  well  as  the  administrative 
unit;  any  number  of  commandoes  might  be  grouped  under  one  commandant. 
The  supreme  military  control  was  vested  in  the  commandant-general. 

THE   ULTIMATUM 

The  plan  of  campaign  which  found  favour  with  the  Boers,  when  they 
determined  to  put  their  differences  with  Great  Britain  to  the  test  by  the  ordeal 
of  the  sword,  was  to  attack  all  the  principal  British  towns  adjacent  to  their 
own  borders;  at  the  same  time  to  despatch  a  field  army  of  the  necessary 
dimensions  to  invade  and  reduce  Natal,  where  the  largest  British  garrison 
existed.  It  is  not  too  much  to  suppose  that  the  executive  in  Pretoria  had 

calculated  that  the  occupation  of  Durban  would  inspu-e  the  entire  Dutch  nation 
with  a  spirit  of  unanimity  which  would  eventually  wrest  South  Africa  from 
the  British.  On  paper  the  scheme  had  everythmg  to  recommend  it,  as  the 
expedient  most  hkely  to  bring  about  the  desired  end.    But  the  departmental 

['  General  De  Wet "  in  his  2Vee  Years'  War  thus  explains  the  commando  law  as  it  existed 
in  the  Orange  Free  State  in  1899  :  "  It  stipulated  that  every  burgher  between  the  ages  of  sixteen 
and  sixty  must  be  prepared  to  fight  for  his  country  at  any  moment ;  and  that,  if  required  for 
active  service,  he  must  provide  himself  with  a  riding-horse,  saddle,  and  bridle,  with  a  rifle  and 
thirty  cartridges  or  if  he  were  unable  to  obtain  a  rifle,  he  must  bring  with  him  thirty  bullets, 

thirty  caps,  and'  half  a  pound  of  powder ;  in  addition  he  must  be  provisioned  for  eight  days. That  there  should  have  been  an  alternative  to  the  rifle  was  due  to  the  fact  that  the  law  was 

made  at  a  time  when  only  a  few  burghers  possessed  breech-loading  rifles,  achUrlamers,  as  we 

call  them.  "With  reference  to  the  provisions  the  law  did  not  specify  their  quality  or  quantity, 
but  there  was  an  unwritten  but  strictly  observed  rule  amongst  the  burghers  that  they  should 

consist  of  meat  cut  in  strips,  salted,  peppered,  and  dried,  or  elso  of  sausages  and  '  Boer  biscuits ' 
—  small  loaves  manufactured  of  flour,  with  fermented  raisins  instead  of  yeast,  and  twice 

baked.  With  regard  to  quantity,  each  burgher  had  to  make  bis  own  estimate  of  the  amount 

he  would  require  lor  eight  da7S."] 
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executive  could  not  push  off  the  Natal  invading  force  as  early  as  had  been 
anticipated,  and  it  was  not  until  October  9th  that  the  ultimatum  was  pre- 

sented to  Mr.  Cunyngham  Green,  the  British  agent  at  Pretoria.  This  ulti- 
matum showed  clearly  that  the  Boer  government  had  determined  long  before 

to  put  their  differences  to  the  final  test  of  arms,  and  that  the  later  negotiations 
had  but  served  to  cover  the  warlike  preparations  which  were  in  hand.  The 
scheduled  demands  were  as  follows : 

"  (1)  That  all  points  of  mutual  difference  shall  be  regulated  by  the  friendly course  of  arbitration,  or  by  whatever  amicable  way  may  be  agreed  upon  by 

the  government  with  her  majesty's  government.  (2)  That  the  troops  on  the 
borders  of  this  republic  shall  be  instantly  withdrawn.  (3)  That  all  reinforce- 

ments of  troops  which  have  arrived  in  South  Africa  since  the  1st  of  June,  1899, 
shall  be  removed  from  South  Africa  within  a  reasonable  time,  to  be  agreed 
upon  with  this  government,  and  with  a  mutual  assurance  and  guarantee  on 
the  part  of  this  government  that  no  attack  upon  or  hostilities  against  any 
portion  of  the  possessions  of  the  British  goverrmient  shall  be  made  by  the 
repubUc  during  further  negotiations  within  a  period  of  time  to  be  subsequently 
agreed  upon  between  the  governments,  and  this  government  will,  on  com- 

pliance therewith,  be  prepared  to  withdraw  the  armed  burghers  of  this  repub- 
lic from  the  borders.  (4)  That  her  majesty's  troops  now  on  the  high  seas  shall 

not  be  landed  in  any  part  of  South  Africa." 
To  these  demands  the  Transvaal  government  required  an  answer  within 

forty-eight  hours.  There  could  be  only  one  reply,  and  on  Wednesday,  October 
11th,  1899,  at  five  o'clock  p.  M.,  a  state  of  war  existed  between  the  British 
government  and  the  two  Boer  republics.  On  the  following  day  the  Boer 
attack  on  an  armoured  train  at  Kraaipan,  on  the  western  frontier  of  the  Trans- 

vaal, witnessed  the  first  hostile  shot  of  a  bloody  war,  destined  to  plunge  South 
Africa  into  strife  for  two  years  and  a  half. 

STAGES   OF  THE   WAR 

For  the  purposes  of  history  the  South  African  campaign  may  be  conven- 
iently divided  into  five  distinct  periods.  The  first  of  these  would  be  the  suc- 
cessful Boer  invasion  of  British  territory,  terminating  with  the  relief  of  Lady- 

smith  on  February  28th;  the  second,  the  period  of  Boer-organised  resistance, 
which  may  be  said  to  have  finished  with  Lord  Roberts'  formal  annexation  of 
the  Transvaal  on  October  25th,  1900,  and  the  flight  of  ex-President  Kruger  to 
Holland.  The  next  period,  the  most  unsatisfactory  of  the  whole  war,  may  be 
characterised  as  a  period  of  transition;  it  marks  the  opening  of  earnest  guerilla 
resistance  on  the  part  of  the  enemy,  and  uncertain  casting  about  on  the  part 
of  the  British  for  a  definite  system  with  which  to  grapple  with  an  vmforeseen 
development.  This  phase  may  rightly  be  said  to  have  continued  until  the 
abortive  Middelburg  negotiations  were  broken  off  on  March  16th,  1901.  The 
next  stage  was  that  which  saw  the  slow  building  up  of  the  blockhouse  system 
and  the  institution  of  small  punitive  colimins,  and  may  be  considered  to  have 
extended  until  the  close  of  1901.  The  fifth  and  last  period  —  which,  after  all 
other  expedients  had  failed,  finally  brought  the  residue  of  uncaptured  and 
unsurrendered  burghers  to  submission  —  was  the  final  development  of  the 
blockhouse  system,  wedded  to  the  institution  of  systematic  "driving"  of 
given  areas,  which  operations  were  in  force  until  May  31st,  1902,  the  date  upon 
which  a  peace  was  ratified  at  Pretoria  between  Lord  Kitchener  and  the  repre- 

sentative Boer  leaders. 
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THE  WAR   IN  NATAL 

The  first  of  these  periods  saw  the  severest  fighting  of  the  campaign.  It 
opened  with  the  investment  of  Mafeking  by  a  Transvaal  force  under  A.  P. 
Cronje,  the  envelopment  of  Kimberley  by  Free  State  commandoes  under 
General  Wessels,  and  on  November  1st  the  complete  isolation  of  the  bulk  of 
the  Natal  field  force,  in  Ladysmith,  by  the  main  federal  army  under  the  Com- 

mandant-General Piet  Joubert.  The  Natal  field  force,  however,  did  not  sub- 
mit to  investment  without  a  struggle;  and  before  the  enemy  finally  cut  the 

communication  with  the  south,  portions  of  Sir  George  White's  force  had  fought 
four  considerable  actions  with  the  invading  army.  The  first  two  of  these  were 
of  the  nature  of  British  successes.  On  October  20th  the  detached  brigade  at 
Talana  drove  back  the  Boer  left  under  Lucas  Meyer.  But  this  superiority  was 
bought  at  a  price  which  nullified  many  of  the  results  of  victory.  General  Sir 
W.  Penn  Symons,  the  British  officer  in  command,  was  mortally  wounded,  and 
after  losing  half  its  mounted  men  as  prisoners  and  two  hundred  and  twenty-six 
officers  and  men  killed  and  wounded,  the  brigade  only  escaped  being  enveloped 
by  beating  a  masterly  retreat  upon  Ladysmith,  where  it  arrived  in  a  very 
exhausted  state  on  October  26th.  In  the  meantime  Sir  George  White  had 
taken  the  aggressive,  and  hearing  on  October  20th  that  an  advance  guard 
under  General  Kock  had  occupied  Elandslaagte,  and  placed  itself  athwart  the 

direct  conmiunications  of  General  Symons'  force,  he  detached  a  force  of  all 
arms  under  Major-General  French,  and  defeated  Kock  after  a  sanguinary 
engagement  on  October  21st  (British  losses,  two  hundred  and  fifty-eight  all 
ranks  killed  and  wounded).  Three  days  later  Sir  George  White  fought  a 
second  engagement  against  the  enemy  advancing  from  the  north  at  Tintwa 
Inyoni,  in  order  to  cover  the  retirement  of  the  Dundee  force.  It  was  an 
inconsequent  action,  which  cost  the  Natal  field  force  one  hundred  and  eighteen 
casualties,  the  majority  of  which  occurred  in  the  Gloucestershire  regiment. 

By  October  29th  Joubert's  army  had  practically  enveloped  Ladysmith,  and 
Sir  George  White  determined  to  strike  a  blow  in  force  which  should  be  decisive 
in  effect.  The  result  of  this  decision  was  the  battle  of  Lombard's  Kop,  outside 
Ladysmith,  in  which  the  whole  of  Sir  George  White's  available  garrison  was 
engaged.  The  engagement  was  disastrous  to  the  British,  who  had  under- 

taken far  too  comprehensive  an  attack,  and  the  Natal  field  force  was  obliged 
to  fall  back  upon  Ladysmith,  with  the  loss  of  fifteen  hundred  men  in  casual- 

ties, including  the  headquarters  of  the  Gloucestershire  and  Royal  Irish  fusiliers, 

which  surrendered  to  the  Free  Staters  and  Johannesburg  zarps  at  Nicholson's 
Nek.  From  that  day  the  r61e  of  the  Natal  field  force  was  changed  from  that 
of  a  hostile  field  army  into  the  defence  of  a  standard  on  a  hill,  and  two  days 
later  it  was  completely  isolated,  but  not  before  General  French  had  succeeded 
in  escaping  south  by  train,  and  the  naval  authorities  had  been  induced  by  Sir 

George  White's  urgent  appeals  to  send  into  the  town  a  naval  brigade  with  a 
few  guns  of  sufficient  range  and  calibre  to  cope  with  the  heavy  position  artil- 

lery which  Joubert  was  now  able  to  bring  into  action  against  the  town. 

"GENERAL   BULLER'S  ARRIVAL 

General  Sir  Redvers  Buller,  who  had  been  given  the  supreme  command  in 

South  Africa  as  soon  as  it  was  perceived  that  war  was  the  only  solution  to  the 
South  African  trouble  —  his  force  being  an  army  corps  in  three  divisions,  the 

divisional  generals  being  Lord  Methuen,  Sir  W.  Gatacre,  and  Sir  W.  Clery  — H.  W.  —  VOL.  XXII.  X 
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arrived  in  Cape  Town,  ahead  of  his  troops,  on  the  day  following  the  final  bid 

of  Sir  George  White's  army.  The  situation  which  presented  itself  was  delicate 
in  the  extreme.  In  Natal  practically  the  whole  of  the  available  defence  force 
was  swallowed  up  by  the  steady  success  of  the  invasion;  on  the  western  frontier 
two  important  British  towns  were  isolated  and  besieged;  and  federal  com- 

mandoes were  on  the  point  of  invading  Cape  Colony,  which,  as  far  as  its  Dutch 
population  was  concerned,  seemed  in  peril  of  rebellion.  The  army  corps,  which 
had  been  mobolised  for  war,  was  about  to  arrive  in  South  Africa;  but  it  was 
evident  that  the  exigencies  of  the  situation,  and  the  widely  divided  areas  of 
invasion,  would  for  the  time  being  place  in  abeyance  the  original  plan  which 
had  been  formulated  for  an  invasion  of  the  Orange  Free  State  from  Cape 
Colony  on  three  parallel  lines. 

The  first  duty  was  to  effect  the  relief  of  the  British  forces  which  had  been 
rendered  immobile,  and  to  do  this  Sir  Redvers  Buller  had  no  choice  but  to  dis- 

integrate the  army  corps.  Hildyard's  and  Barton's  brigades  were  sent  to 
Natal,  Sir  William  Gatacre,  with  a  brigade  instead  of  a  division,  was  des- 

patched to  Queenstown,  Cape  Colony;  while  Lord  Methuen,  with  a  division, 
was  sent  off  at  breathless  pace  to  relieve  Kimberley.  As  November  wore  on, 
the  situation  did  not  improve.  Cape  Colony  was  invaded  in  earnest;  while  in 
Natal  a  flying  column  of  Boers,  pushing  down  from  the  Tugela,  not  only  cap- 

tured an  armoured  train,  but  for  a  short  time  isolated  Hildyard's  forces  con- 
centrating at  Estcourt.  The  situation  in  Natal  seemed  so  serious  that  on 

November  22nd  Sir  Redvers  Buller  suddenly  disappeared  from  Cape  Town, 
to  arrive  in  Natal  three  days  later. 

In  the  meantime  Lord  Methuen,  with  characteristic  energy,  had  com- 

menced his  march  to  the  relief  of  Kimberley.-''  He  encountered  the  Boers first  at  Belmont  on  the  23rd,  in  much  inferior  numbers  to  the  British,  to  be 
sure,  but  strongly  intrenched  behind  a  ridge  of  rugged,  crag- topped  kopjes. 
Against  this  position  in  the  early  morning  the  British  advanced  to  the  attack. 

"They  were  in  a  fierce  humour,"  writes  Conan  Doyle,"  "for  they  had  not 
breakfasted,  and  military  history  from  Agincourt  to  Talavera  shows  that  want 
of  food  makes  a  dangerous  spirit  in  British  troops.  A  Northiunberland 
fusilier  exploded  into  words  that  expressed  the  gruffness  of  his  comrades. 
As  a  too  energetic  staff  oflftcer  pranced  before  their  line  he  roared  in  his  rough 

North-country  tongue,  'Damn  thee!  Get  thee  to  hell,  and  let  me  fire!'  In 
the  face  of  a  withering  fire  the  troops  advanced,  carrying  kopje  after  kopje  at 
the  point  of  the  bayonet.  The  victory  was  an  expensive  one  for  Lord  Methuen, 
for  the  Boers  easily  withdrew  and  the  British  had  no  cavalry  with  which  to 
follow  up  their  advantage. 

"  The  next  opposition  to  the  British  advance  was  met  with  at  Enslin  two 
days  later,  when,  as  at  Belmont,  the  Boers  had  posted  themselves  behind  a  line 
of  formidable  kopjes.  The  story  of  Belmont  was  repeated.  The  key  to  the 
position  was  a  large  hill  in  the  centre  which  was  gallantly  carried  by  the  naval 
brigade  but  with  terrific  loss  of  life  —  reaching  a  total  of  almost  fifty  per  cent, 
of  the  force  engaged.  Beyond  the  fact  that  the  way  had  been  cleared  for 
another  stage  toward  Kimberley,  it  is  hard  to  see  the  advantage  the  British 

won  from  this  second  expensive  victory." 
By  the  night  of  the  27th  Lord  Methuen's  columns  had  almost  reached  the 

Modder  river.  They  were  started  in  motion  early  the  next  morning  with  the 
promise  that  they  could  have  their  breakfast  as  soon  as  they  reached  the  river 
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—  a  grim  joke,  as  has  been  remarked,  to  those  who  hved  to  appreciate  it. De  la  Rey,  the  Boer  commander,  had  meanwhile  been  enforced  by  Cronje,  who 
disposed  his  troops,  contrary  to  the  accepted  practice  in  the  defence  of  nvers, 
on  both  banks  of  the  Modder,  Unaware  of  the  enemy's  presence,  the  British eagerly  advanced  toward  the  green  river  banks  where  they  expected  to  enjoy 
the  breakfast  that  had  been  promised  them.  The  resulting  surprise  has  been 
thus  graphically  pictured  by  Conan  Doyle  "  : 

"They  swept  onwards  into  the  fatal  fire  zone  —  and  then,  and  only  then, there  blazed  out  upon  them  four  miles  of  rifles,  cannon,  and  machine  guns,  and 
they  realised,  from  general  to  private,  that  they  had  walked  unwittingly  into 
the  fiercest  battle  yet  fought  in  the  war.  Before  the  position  was  understood 
the  guards  were  within  seven  hundred  yards  of  the  Boer  trenches,  and  the  other 
troops  about  niae  hundred,  on  the  side  of  a  very  gentle  slope  which  made  it 
most  difficult  to  find  any  cover.  In  front  of  them  lay  a  serene  landscape,  the 
river,  the  houses,  the  hotel,  no  movement  of  men,  no  smoke  —  everything 
peaceful  and  deserted  save  for  an  occasional  quick  flash  and  sparkle  of  flame. 
But  the  noise  was  horrible  and  appalling.  Men  whose  nerves  had  been  steeled 
to  the  crash  of  the  big  guns,  or  the  monotonous  roar  of  Maxims  and  the  rattle 

of  Mauser  fire,  found  a  new  terror  in  the  malignant  'ploop-plooping'  of  the 
automatic  quick-firer.  The  Maxim  of  the  Scots  Guards  was  caught  in  the 
steel-bUzzard  from  this  thing  —  each  shell  no  bigger  than  a  large  walnut,  but 
flying  in  strings  of  a  score  —  and  men  and  gun  were  destroyed  in  an  instant. 
.A^  to  the  rifle  bullets,  the  air  was  humming  and  throbbing  with  them,  and  the 
sand  was  mottled  like  a  pond  in  a  shower.  To  advance  was  impossible,  to 
retire  was  hateful.  The  men  fell  upon  their  faces  and  cuddled  close  to  the 
earth,  too  happy  if  some  friendly  ant-heap  gave  them  a  precarious  shelter. 
And  always,  tier  above  tier,  the  lines  of  rifle  fire  rippled  and  palpitated  in 
front  of  them.  The  infantry  fired  also,  and  fired,  and  fired  —  but  what  was 
there  to  fire  at?  An  occasional  eye  and  hand  over  the  edge  of  a  trench  or 
behind  a  stone  is  no  mark  at  seven  hundred  yards.  It  womd  be  instructive 
to  know  how  many  British  bullets  found  a  billet  that  day." 

Cavalry  and  infantry  were  alike  useless  in  the  face  of  such  a  resistance,  and 
the  battle  resolved  itself  soon  into  an  artiUery  duel.  The  British,  reinforced 
by  the  timely  arrival  of  the  62nd  Field  Battery,  which  had  come  thirty-two 
miles  over  unknown  roads  in  the  night  time  in  the  space  of  eight  hours,  at 
length  began  to  silence  the  Boer  guns.  Later  in  the  afternoon  a  part  of  the 
9th  brigade  succeeded  in  crossing  the  river  higher  up,  and  as  troop  after  troop 
dashed  through  the  water  and  gained  the  other  bank,  the  Boers  realised  that 
the  British  had  turned  their  right  flank,  and  that  the  tide  of  battle  had  set 
in  against  them.  Critics  of  the  battle  are  severe  on  Lord  Methuen  for  his 
attempts  earlier  in  the  day  to  cross  the  river  in  the  face  of  the  deadly  Boer  fire, 
but  his  personal  gallantry  was  highly  commendable.  When  the  Boers  at 
length  abandoned  their  resistance  and  withdrew  from  their  rifle  pits  under 
cover  of  darkness,  the  British  loss  had  reached  five  hundred  killed  and  wounded, 

among  the  latter  being  their  commander." 
Lord  Methuen  now  found  that  his  force  had  exhausted  its  forward  momen- 

tum, and  that  other  than  heroic  tactics  would  have  to  be  employed  to  raise 
the  siege  of  Kimberley. 

TTie  extent  of  the  operations  and  the  gravity  of  the  situation  now  began  to 
be  felt  in  England,  every  available  man  was  called  up  from  the  reserves,  and 
the  war  office  made  what  at  the  time  appeared  to  be  adequate  provision  for  the 
waste  which  it  was  seen  would  occur  in  a  war  under  modem  conditions.  On 
Novemlaer  30th  the  mobilisation  of  a  sixth  division  was  ordered,  offers  of 
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colonial  aid  were  accepted,  and  every  facility  provided  for  local  recruiting  in 
the  South  African  ports.  All  through  the  early  weeks  of  December  confi- 

dence was  considerably  restored.  BiiUer  was  arranging  for  the  relief  of  Lady- 
smith,  which  had  already  shown  its  spirit  by  two  successful  sorties  to  the 

besiegers'  batteries.  In  every  theatre  the  British  strength  was  consolidating. 
But  the  full  significance  of  British  incapacity  to  cope  with  the  situation  pre- 

sented by  these  two  small  nations  in  arms  had  not  yet  been  appreciated.  The 
confidence  restored  by  the  lull  during  the  early  part  of  December  was  destined 
to  Tae  roughly  shattered./ 

STORMBERG  AND   MAGERSFONTEIN 

General  Gatacre,  commanding  in  the  northern  parts  of  Cape  Colony  had 
advanced  to  within  thirty  mUes  of  Stormberg,  where  the  Boers  had  occupied 

a  strong  position.  Determining  to  break  if  he  could  the  Boers'  hold  on  the 
Cape  Dutch,  he  advanced  against  Stormberg  on  December  9th,  with  a  force  of 
about  three  thousand  men.  By  a  forced  night  march  he  reached  the  place 
about  dawn  on  the  following  morning,  and  before  he  realised  his  proximity  to 
the  enemy,  his  tired  force  was  beset  in  front  and  on  both  flanks  by  a  galling 
fire  from  the  hidden  Boers.  Instead  of  attempting  to  extricate  themselves 
the  British  threw  themselves  forward  in  a  confused,  disorganised  mass  on  their 
opponents.  The  British  artillery  was  useless  against  the  riflemen  scattered 
among  the  sheltering  crags.  Finally,  when  to  retreat  was  as  dangerous  as  to 
advance,  an  attempt  was  made  to  withdraw.  A  part  of  the  infantry  in  the 
front  column  were  surroxmded  and  captured.  All  military  formation  was  at 
an  end,  and  the  troops,  thoroughly  demoralised,  struggled  back  as  best  they 
might. 

The  loss  in  killed  and  wounded  was  not  great,  but  upward  of  seven  hundred 

prisoners  were  left  in  the  Boers'  hands.  The  disastrous  result  was  due  prima- 
rily to  the  undue  strain  Gatacre  had  put  upon  his  troops,  and  the  shock  of  the 

surprise;  but,  making  aU  allowances,  the  failure,  according  to  competent 
critics,  was  greater  than  it  should  have  been.  The  British  feU  back  the  next 
day  to  Steikstroom,  but  the  Boers,  victors  at  Stormberg,  largely  disorganised 
Cape  Dutch,  were  in  no  position  to  follow  up  their  success. 

On  the  night  of  the  day  following  Gatacre's  fatal  rout  at  Stormberg,  Lord 
Methuen,  who  had  continued  his  advance  from  the  Modder  river,  met  an  even 
more  disastrous  repulse  in  his  attempt  to  storm  the  rocky  heights  at  Magers- 
fontein.  Cronje  had  been  reinforced  until  he  had  eight  thousand  men  at  his 
disposal  and  his  position  was  the  strongest  he  had  yet  occupied.  The  British, 
as  usual  apparently  forgetful  of  the  awful  lessons  they  should  have  learned, 
advanced  through  the  darkness  in  a  drizzling  rain,  the  Highland  brigade  m 
the  lead.  As  at  Stormberg  they  were  assailed  by  a  deadly  fire  before  they 

realised  their  nearness  io  the  enemy.  Again  we  quote  from  Conan  Doyle's 
spirited  story  of  the  fight: 

"The  storm  of  lead  burst  upon  the  head  and  right  flank  of  the  column, 
which  broke  to  pieces  under  the  murderous  volley.  Wauchope  (the  Highland 
commander)  was  shot,  struggled  up,  and  fell  once  more  forever.  Men  went 
down  in  swathes,  and  a  howl  of  rage  and  agony,  heard  afar  over  the  veldt, 
swelled  upon  the  frantic  and  struggling  crowd.  By  the  hundred  they  dropped 
—  some  dead,  some  wounded,  some  Imocked  down  by  the  rush  and  sway  of 
the  broken  ranks.  A  few  dashed  forward  and  were  foimd  at  the  very  edges 

of  the  trench."  To  stand  their  ground  in  the  face  of  such  a  fire  was  impossible 
and  the  remnants  of  the  brigade  fell  backward  upon  the  main  column. 
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By  sunrise  Lord  Methuen  had  succeeded  in  reforming  his  broken  lines, 
and  the  battle  resolved  itself  into  another  Modder  river.  An  attempt  to  turn 
the  British  right  flank  was  gallantly  defeated  by  the  Coldstream  Guards  but 
with  the  close  of  day  Lord  Methuen  made  up  his  mind  that  a  further  attempt 
to  carry  the  heights  was  useless  and  dejectedly  withdrew  to  his  former  camp  at 
Modder  river.  The  day's  fightmg  had  cost  the  British  upward  of  a  thousand men  in  killed,  wounded,  and  missing,  the  losses  of  the  Highland  brigade  alone 
reaching  seven  hundred.  "Never,"  says  one  writer  "had  Scotland  had  a 
more  grievous  day  than  this  of  Magersfontein.  It  may  be  doubted  if  any 
single  battle  has  ever  put  so  many  families  of  high  and  low  into  mourning 
from  the  Tweed  to  the  Caithness  shore."  « 

But  even  the  defeat  at  Magersfontein,  the  British  thought,  could  be  suf- 
fered with  equanimity,  since  BuUer  was  about  to  bring  his  own  force  into  play, 

and  BuUer,  it  was  confidently  supposed,  would  not  fail.  He  had  collected  at 
Chievely  in  Natal  a  brigade  of  moimted  men,  four  brigades  of  infantry  (gen- 

erals Lyttelton,  Hart,  Barton,  and  Hildyard),  and  two  brigade  divisions  of 
artillery,  and  he  carried  with  him  the  trust  alike  of  the  army  and  the  nation.  / 

COLENSO 

Sir  George  White  had  been  thrust  back  into  Ladysmith  on  October  30th. 
On  November  2nd  telegraphic  communication  had  been  interrupted.  On  the 
day  foUowmg  the  railway  line  was  cut.  Buller  had  arrived  in  Natal  on 
November  25th,  and  by  December  15th  was  ready  to  advance  upon  the  enemy 
who  under  their  vigilant  young  commander,  Louis  Botha,  lay  strongly  in- 

trenched along  the  Tugela.  The  task  before  the  British  was  a  severe  one,  but 
neither  general  nor  private  soldier  seems  to  have  had  the  least  misgivings  as  to 
its  success. 

Buller's  plan  called  for  a  simple  frontal  attack.  The  troops  were  to  be 
thrown  across  the  river  at  two  points,  the  main  column  at  Colenso  bridge,  the 
Irish  brigade  three  miles  below  at  Bridle  Drift.  It  was  the  story  of  Modder 
river  and  Stormberg  and  Magersfontein  over  again.  TTie  Irish  troops  in 
quarter  column,  unable  to  find  the  ford,  were  exposed  to  a  withering  fire 
while  hunting  for  a  place  to  cross,  and  lost  all  regimental  formation.  They 
bravely  held  their  position  for  five  hours,  exposed  to  the  Boer  fire  in  front,  and 
to  the  misdirected  shells  of  British  guns  in  the  rear.  At  length  relief  came  in 
the  order  to  retire,  but  not  until  between  five  and  six  hvmdred  of  them  had 

fallen.  "  It  is  superfluous,"  says  a  critic,  "  to  point  out  that  the  same  old  omis- 
sions were  responsible  for  the  same  old  results.  Why  were  the  men  in  quarter 

columns  when  advancing  against  an  imseen  foe?  Why  had  no  scouts  gone 
forward  to  be  certain  of  the  position  of  the  foe?  Where  were  the  skirmishers 

who  should  have  preceded  such  an  advance?" 
In  the  mean  time  Hildyard's  English  brigade  had  advanced  upon  Colenso 

and,  with  the  loss  of  some  two  hundred  men,  had  succeeded  in  reaching  the 
station.  Their  more  open  formation  alone  kept  their  losses  from  being  as 
heavy  as  those  suffered  by  the  Irish.  While  this  was  going  on  the  two  field 
batteries  which  were  to  cover  the  British  advance  had  recklessly  been  wheeled 
forward  and  unlimbered  in  an  exposed  position  within  a  thousand  yards  of  the 
Boer  line  where  ofiicers,  gunners,  and  troops  were  practically  exterminated  by 
the  Boer  fire.  A  brilliant  and  heroic  attempt  to  save  the  guns  was  only  par- 

tially successful,  and  the  greater  part  of  them  fell  into  the  Boers'  hands.  An 
attack  of  Dundonald's  mounted  colonials  on  the  extreme  left  was  likewise 
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repulsed,  whereupon  Buller  gave  up  his  attempt  and  withdrew  his  shattered 
forces  from  the  fatal  field.  The  British  loss  approximated  eleven  hundred 
men  and  ten  guns.** 

The  full  nature  of  the  failure  was  not  realised  by  the  British  public,  nor  the 
spirit  in  which  the  general  had  received  the  finding  of  fortune.  How  he  had 
lost  heart,  and  actually  suggested  the  surrender  of  Ladysmith,  was  only 
Imown  to  them  later,  but  the  cabinet  knew,  and  in  the  face  of  the  serious 
situation  thus  created  the  cabinet  took  strong  action.  They  appointed  Field- 
Marshal  Lord  Roberts,  V.C.,  to  the  supreme  command  in  South  Africa,  with 
Lord  Kitchener  as  his  chief  of  the  staff.  A  wave  of  military  enthusiasm  shook 
the  empire,  and  as  the  final  requisition  for  mobilising  a  seventh  division  prac- 

tically drained  the  mother  country  of  trained  men,  a  scheme  for  the  employ- 
ment of  amateur  soldiers  was  formulated,  resulting  in  the  "  imperial  yeomanry 

and  volunteer"  movement,  which  proved  one  of  the  most  striking  features  of 
the  South  African  campaign.  Pending  the  arrival  of  Lord  Roberts  and  rein- 

forcements, the  situation  in  South  Africa  remained  at  a  deadlock:  the  three 
besieged  towns  —  Mafeking,  Kimberley,  Ladysmith  —  still  held  their  own, 
but  no  headway  was  made  by  the  relief  columns;  all  they  could  do  was  to 
stand  on  the  defensive.  The  only  bright  spot,  as  far  as  the  British  were  con- 

cerned, was  to  be  found  in  northern  Cape  Colony,  where  General  French,  with 
two  cavalry  brigades  and  a  scratch  force,  was  able,  by  a  magnificent  display  of 

strategy,  to  keep  at  arm's  length  a  superior  force  of  the  enemy,  over  a  front  of 
thirty  miles  in  the  vicinity  of  Colesberg.  General  French's  achievements  diu-- 
ing  this  phase  of  the  war  were  the  more  noteworthy  since  he  had  pitted  against 
him  the  military  skill  of  both  De  la  Rey  and  De  Wet,  two  of  the  three  men  of 
niilitaiy  genius  produced  by  the  war  on  the  Boer  side.  On  January  6th  the 
Boers  in  Natal  made  a  desperate  attempt  to  reduce  Ladysmith  by  storm. 
The  garrison,  already  weakened  by  privation  and  sickness,  made  a  stubborn 
resistance,  and  after  one  of  the  most  sanguinary  engagements  of  the  war,  at 

Csesar's  Camp  and  Wagon  HUl,  the  garrison  repulsed  the  attack  with  severe 
loss  to  the  enemy,  itself  having  five  hundred  casualties,  including  Lord  Ava, 
the  eldest  son  of  tlae  marquis  of  Dufferin. 

When  Lord  Roberts  arrived  in  Cape  Town  on  January  10th,  1900,  three 
garrison  towns  were  still  invested,  and  the  relieving  forces  were  stiU  main- 

taining their  role  of  passive  resistance.  The  commander-in-chief's  first  duty 
was  to  create  out  of  the  tangle  of  imits  in  Cape  Colony  a  field  army  capable  of 

advancing  into  the  enemy's  country  via  the  Orange  Free  State./ 

SPION   KOP 

Nearly  a  month  had  clasped  smce  Buller's  disastrous  frontal  attack  on 
Colenso.  Meantime  he  had  reorganised  his  army  and  had  been  reinforced  by 
Sir  Charles  Warren^s  division.  His  force  then  amounted  to  nineteen  thousand 
infantry  and  three  thousand  cavalry,  and  he  had  sixty  guns.  He  still  held  the 
confidence  of  his  troops  who  were  eager  to  be  led  forward  to  the  relief  of  their 
comrades  in  Ladysmith.  Therefore  on  January  10,  1900,  he  moved  out  to 
attempt  a  flank  attack  on  the  Boers  along  the  Tugela.  On  the  17th,  by  an 
excellently  planned  and  well  carried  out  movement,  he  created  a  diversion  by 

a  feigned  attempt  to  cross  the  river  at  Potgeiter's  Drift,  fifteen  miles  west  of 
Colenso,  while  at  the  same  time  he  actually  crossed  with  the  greater  part  of  his 
army  five  miles  further  west.  Save  for  the  fact  that  they  were  across  the 
river  however  the  British  advantage  was  not  great  for  they  were  further  from 
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Ladysniith  than  they  had  been,  and  right  in  their  path  loomed  up  a  lofty 
plateau  with  the  high  peak  of  Spion  Kop  forming  one  comer  of  it.  Upon  this 
plateau  Botha  had  ranged  his  forces  behind  hastily  constructed  earth  works. 
Against  this  position  Buller  advanced.  For  five  days  the  British  line  cau- 

tiously and  slowly  pushed  itself  forward  to  the  foot  of  the  plateau,  fighting  as  it 
advanced.  On  the  night  of  January  22nd  a  force  of  British  under  General 
Woodgate  and  Colonel  Thorneycroft  stealing  up  through  the  darkness  occupied 
Spion  Kop  which  they  found  all  but  unoccupied." 

Morning  broke,  and  with  it  the  attack.  The  enemy,  realising  the  vital 
importance  of  the  position,  concentrated  every  man  and  gun  at  his  disposal 
for  its  recapture.  A  fierce  and  furious  shell  fire  was  opened  forthwith  on  the 
summit,  causing  immediate  and  continual  loss.  General  Woodgate  wac 
severely  wounded. 

Sir  Redvers  Buller  then  took  the  extreme  step  of  appointing  Major  Thor- 
neycroft —  already  only  a  local  lieutenant-colonel  —  local  brigadier-general 

commanding  on  the  summit  of  Spion  Kop.  The  Imperial  light  infantry,  the 
Middlesex  regiment,  and  a  little  later  the  Somersets,  were  ordered  to  reinforce 
the  defence. 

The  Boers  followed,  and  accompanied  their  sheUs  by  a  vigorous  rifle  attack 
on  the  hill,  and  about  half-past  eight  the  position  became  most  critical.  The 
troops  were  driven  almost  entirely  off  the  main  plateau  and  the  Boers  suc- 

ceeded in  reoccupying  some  of  their  trenches.  A  frightful  disaster  was  nar- 
rowly averted.  About  twenty  men  in  one  of  the  captured  trenches  aban- 
doned their  resistance,  threw  up  their  hands,  and  called  out  that  they  would 

surrender.  Colonel  Thorneycroft,  whose  great  stature  made  him  ever)rwhere 
conspicuous,  and  who  was  from  dawn  till  dusk  in  the  first  firing  line,  rushed 
to  the  spot.  The  Boers  advancing  to  take  the  prisoners  were  scarcely  thirty 
yards  away.  Thorneycraft  shouted  to  the  Boer  leader:  "  You  may  go  to  hell. 
I  command  on  this  hill  and  allow  no  surrender.  Go  on  with  your  firing." 
Which  latter  they  did  with  terrible  effect,  killing  many.  The  survivors,  with 
the  rest  of  the  firing  line,  fled  two  hundred  yards,  were  rallied  by  their  indom- 

itable commander,  and,  being  reinforced  by  two  brave  companies  of  the  Mid- 
dlesex regiment,  charged  back,  recovering  all  lost  ground,  and  the  position 

was  maintained  until  nightfall.  No  words  in  these  days  of ,  extravagant 
expression  can  do  justice  to  the  glorious  endurance  which  the  JEnglish  regi- 

ments displayed  throughout  the  long  dragging  hours  of  heU  fire.  Between 
three  and  four  o'clock  the  shells  were  falling  on  the  hill  from  both  sides,  at  the 
rate  of  seven  a  minute,  and  the  strange  discharges  of  the  Maxim  shell  guns  — 
the  "pom-poms"  —  lacerated  the  hillsides  with  dotted  chains  of  smoke  and 
dust.  A  thick  and  continual  stream  of  wounded  flowed  rearwards.  A  village 
of  ambulance  wagons  grew  up  at  the  foot  of  the  mountain.  The  dead  and 
injured,  smashed  and  Broken  by  the  shells,  littered  the  summit  till  it  was  a 
bloody,  reeking  shambles.  Thirst  tormented  the  soldiers,  for  though  water 

was  at  hand,  the  fight  was  too  close  and  furious  to  ̂ ve  even  a  moment's 
breathing  space.'  But  nothing  could  weaken  the  stubborn  vigour  of  the 
defence.  Though  the  British  artillery,  unable  to  find  or  reach  the  enemy's 
guns,  could  only  tear  up  the  ground  in  impotent  fury;  though  the  shell  fire 
and  rifle  fire  never  ceased  for  an  instant  —  the  magnificent  infantry  main- 

tained the  defence,  and  night  closed  in  with  the  British  still  in  possession  of 
the  hill.o 

But  Thorneycroft,  dreading  to  expose  his  men  to  another  such  day  of 
death,  gave  the  order  to  evacuate  the  hill,  and  in  the  morning  Botha  reoccu- 
pied  the  bloody  peak.    Buller,  having  lost  in  all  over  two  thousand  men  since 
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he  had  crossed  the  Tugela,  determined  to  try  for  an  easier  line  of  advance  else- 
where, and  fell  back  with  his  defeated  army  to  the  other  side  of  the  river.* 

BELIEF   OF   KIMBERLEY  AND   BATTLE   OF  PAARDEBERG 

By  February  1st  Lord  Roberts  had  begun  to  feel  his  way,  and  on  February 
3rd  he  ordered  a  demonstration  against  the  right  of  the  Boer  position  at 
Spytfontein  to  Koodoosberg  to  cover  the  withdrawal  of  General  French  and 
the  cavalry  from  before  Colesberg,  and  the  concentration  of  his  army  at 
Modder  river.  In  spite  of  another  set-back  in  Natal  to  Sir  Redvers  BuUer, 
who  had  essayed  a  third  attempt  to  relieve  Ladysmith  on  February  5th  and 
failed  to  make  good  the  purchase  which  he  secured  across  the  Tugela,  Lord 
Roberts  matured  his  plans,  and,  arriving  at  Modder  river  on  February  9th, 
he  set  his  operations  in  motion  two  days  later  by  detaching  French  to  the 
relief  of  Kimberley. 

On  the  15th  of  February,  French  at  the  head  of  his  cavalry  galloped  into 
Kimberley,  spreading  dismay  through  the  ranks  of  the  burghers  under  Cronje, 
who  vacated  the  Spytfontein  positions  on  the  night  of  the  15th,  and  retreated 
along  the  line  of  the  Modder,  crossing  the  front  of  the  infantry  division  which 
was  pushing  up  into  the  gap  made  by  the  cavalry  advance.  Lord  Kitchener, 
who  was  with  the  infantry,  at  once  sent  the  mounted  infantry  in  pursuit  and 
changed  the  direction  of  the  infantry,  sending  word  to  French  to  bring  his 
cavalry  across  to  Koodoosrand  drift.  French,  with  that  unfailing  energy 

which  is  the  true  attribute  of  a  cavalry  leader,  conformed  to  Kitchener's 
urgent  appeal,  and  on  the  17th  seized  the  hills  above  Paardeberg  just  in  front 
of  Cronje's  advance-guard.  Thus  checked,  the  pursuing  infantry  crashed  into 
him  on  the  18th.  Kitchener,  who  as  chief  of  the  staff  issued  orders,  attempted 
to  reduce  Cronje,  now  in  the  river  bed,  by  a  coup  de  main,  which,  though  cost- 

ing over  one  thousand  casualties,  compressed  Cronje  into  the  confined  area 
from  which  he  was  only  to  leave  as  a  prisoner  of  war  with  four  thousand  of  his 
men  on  February  27th,  the  anniversary  of  Majuba. 

RELIEF   OF  LADYSMITH   AND   CAPTURE   OF   BLOEMFONTEIN 

Lord  Roberts'  bold  plunge  into  the  Free  State  had  automatically  relieved 
the  pressure  in  front  of  BuUer,  who  after  desperate  fighting  was  able  to  turn 

the  left  flank  of  Botha's  position  at  Colenso,  and  after  ten  days'  fighting  to 
relieve  Ladysmith  on  the  28th  of  February.  Ladysmith  had  fared  worst  of 
all  the  beleaguered  garrisons,  and  its  twenty-two  thousand  inhabitants  were 
almost  at  their  last  gasp  when  relief  came.  The  casualties  from  shell  fire  had 
only  been  sixty-six,  but  those  from  sickness  were  many  times  as  heavy  as  those 
by  the  chances  of  war.  The  relief  had  not  been  without  a  strain:  BuUer's 
operations  had  cost  at  Colenso  twelve  hundred  men,  at  Spion  Kop  seventeen 
hundred  men,  at  Vaalkranz  four  hundred,  and  now  in  the  last  long-drawn 
effort  sixteen  hundred  more  —  over  five  thousand  in  all.  But  the  tide  of  war 
had  changed.  The  Natal  invaders  fell  back  to  the  mountains  which  enclose 
the  north  of  the  colony;  Olivier  and  Schoeman  retired  from  Cape  Colony 
before  Gatacre  and  Clements;  and  the  presidents  of  the  republics,  realising 
that  the  British  Empire  was  capable  of  more  resistance  than  they  had  calcu- 

lated upon,  put  forward  feelers  aiming  at  the  restoration  of  the  status  quo 
before  the  war.  These  proposals  were  rejected  by  Lord  Salisbury:  there 
could  be  no  end  now  but  a  complete  destruction  of  the  Boer  power. 

The  surrender  of  Cronje  and  the  relief  of  Ladysmith  for  the  time  being 



THE  HISTORY  OF  SOUTH  AFRICA  313 
[1900  A.D.] 

paralysed  the  Boer  resistance.  Two  half-hearted  attempts  v/ere  made  on 
March  7th  and  10th,  at  Poplar  Grove  and  Driefontein,  to  stem  Lord  Roberts' 
advance  upon  Bloemfontein,  President  Kruger  himself  arriving  on  the  scene 
to  give  confidence  to  his  burghers;  but  the  demoralisation  was  so  great  that 
neither  the  military  genius  of  the  few  nor  the  personal  influence  of  the  president 
could  bolster  up  an  adequate  resistance,  and  on  March  13th,  1900,  Lord  Rob- 

erts' army  marched  into  the  Free  State  capital.  This  great  move  of  the  field- 
marshal's,  accomplished  in  spite  of  the  loss  of  a  convoy  which  cut  down  his 
reserve  supplies  by  two  thirds,  and  only  possible  by  reducing  the  ration  of  the 
fighting  man  to  a  minimum  and  by  undertaking  the  almost  unprecedented 
risks  of  changing  the  line  of  communication  three  times,  was  followed  by  a 
period  of  reaction.  It  was  not  until  March  29th  that  the  new  railway  com- 

munication recommenced  to  feed  the  army.  In  the  meantime  rebellion  had 
broken  out  in  the  Prieska  district  of  Cape  Colony,  which  was  promptly  quelled 
by  Lord  Kitchener.  The  halt  at  Bloemfontein  was  marked  by  the  publica- 

tion of  proclamations,  offering  protection  to  the  burghers,  which,  however,  the 
invaders  had  not  yet  the  power  to  fulfill. 

The  enforced  halt  was  unfortunate;  it  not  only  resulted  in  a  bad  outbreak 
of  enteric,  but  it  gave  the  Boers  time  to  recuperate,  and  by  the  beginning  of 
April  they  again  took  the  initiative.  The  death  of  their  commandant-general, 
Piet  Joubert,  on  March  28th,  seemed  to  mark  a  change  in  the  fortunes  of  the 
republican  army.  Commandant  De  Wet,  who  had  first  come  into  prominence 

as  the  capturer  of  Lord  Roberts'  convoy  at  Waterval,  now  added  to  his  laurels 
by  ambushing  Broadwood's  mounted  brigade  at  Sannah's  Post,  just  outside Bloemfontein,  on  March  31st,  while  four  days  later  he  reduced  a  detachment 
of  Irish  Rifles  at  Redersburg,  and  then  went  south  and  invested  Colonel 
Dalgety  and  a  mixed  force  at  Wepener,  which  was  relieved  after  ten  days  by 

General  Hunter's  division,  brought  round  to  Aliwal  North  from  Natal. 

MAFEKING   AND   PRETORIA 

These  successes  were  not  able  to  retard  Lord  Roberts'  progress.  It  took 
the  field-marshal  six  weeks  to  reconstruct  his  plan  of  operations,  and  on  May 
1st  the  grand  army  moved  northwards  upon  the  Transvaal  capital.  The 
main  advance  was  taken  with  one  cavalry  and  three  infantry  divisions  (the 
cavalry  commanded  by  French,  and  the  infantry  divisions  by  generals  Tucker, 

Pole-Carew,  and  Ian  Hamilton).  Rundle's  division  took  the  right  of  the 
advance;  Methuen  and  Hunter,  moving  from  Kimberley,  formed  the  left. 
Kelly  Kenny,  Colvile,  and  Chermside  held  the  communications  based  on 
Bloemfontein.  A  flying  column  detached  from  Hunter,  under  Mahon,  in  con- 

junction with  Plumer  from  the  north,  relieved  Mafeking  (where  Baden-Powell 
aroused  world-wide  enthusiasm  by  his  resistance)  on  May  17th,  the  same  day 
that  the  Natal  field  force  vmder  BuUer  moved  up  into  the  Biggarsberg  and 
occupied  Dundee.  On  May  10th  Lord  Roberts  had  crossed  the  Zand  river; 
on  May  12th  he  entered  Kroonstad.  After  a  halt  of  eight  days  at  Kroonstad, 
the  grand  army  again  moved  forward  and  marched  triumphantly,  meeting 
but  small  resistance,  without  a  halt  into  Johannesburg,  which  was  occupied 

on  May  31st,  the  Orange  Free  State  having  been  formally  annexed  by  procla- 
mation three  days  earlier.  On  May  30th  President  Kruger  fled  his  capital 

with  the  state  archives,  taking  up  his  residence  at  Waterval  Boven  on  the 
Komati  Poort  line.  But  while  the  gold  mines  were  now  in  the  possession  of 
the  British,  attacks  were  made  on  their  line  of  communications  by  De  Wet, 
who  from  this  period  organised  a  guerilla  resistance  which  he  maintained  until 
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the  end  of  the  war.  On  June  5th  Lord  Roberts'  army  occupied  the  capital  of 
the  Transvaal  practically  without  resistance,  setting  free  about  three  thousand 
British  prisoners  of  war  detained  there. 

It  had  been  anticipated  that  the  occupation  of  both  the  capitals  would  have 
brought  the  hostilities  to  a  close,  but  this  was  not  the  case,  and  though  after 
June  5th  regular  resistance  was  at  an  end,  the  occupation  was  met  with  two 
years  of  almost  unparalleled  and  unprecedented  partisan  warfare.  On  June 
8th  Sir  Redvers  Buller  forced  his  way  over  Alleman's  Nek,  and  on  the  follow- 

ing day  occupied  Laing's  Nek,  while  the  field-marshal  fought  a  more  or  less 
decisive  action  against  Botha,  De  la  Rey,  and  Kemp  at  Diamond  HUl,  twenty 
miles  east  of  Pretoria.  The  pressure  on  the  main  commimications  was  now 
so  serious  that  a  force  was  thrown  back  into  the  Orange  River  Colony  under 

Hunter,  which  in  co-operation  with  Rimdle's  division  accomplished  the  sur- render of  Prinsloo  with  three  thousand  Free  Staters  in  the  Brandwater  basin 

(July  29th).  A  week  before  this  satisfactory  result  the  field-marshal  had 
initiated  a  movement  from  Pretoria  to  sweep  down  to  Komati  Poort  on  the 
Portuguese  frontier,  in  which  Buller,  advancing  from  the  south,  was  to  co- 
operate. 

On  August  26th-27th  the  combined  forces  engaged  and  defeated  Botha  at 
Dalmanutha  and  Bergendal,  with  the  result  that  the  enemy  dispersed  into  the 
bush-veld  north  of  the  Middelburg  railway.  On  August  30th  the  remainder 
of  the  British  prisoners  were  released  at  Nooitgedacht.  On  September  6th 
Buller  occupied  Lydenburg  in  the  bush-veld,  and  five  days  later  the  aged 
president  of  the  republic,  fleeing  his  country,  took  refuge  in  Lorenzo  Marques. 
On  September  13th  Barberton  was  occupied,  and  on  the  25th  the  Guards 
brigade  occupied  Komati  Poort.  In  October  the  military  operations  were 
confined  to  attempts  to  reduce  guerilla  commandoes  which  had  taken  the  field. 
Mr.  Kruger,  deserting  his  countrymen,  left  for  Europe  in  a  Dutch  man-of-war, 
and  General  Buller  sailed  for  Europe.  On  the  25th  of  this  month  Lord  Roberts 
formally  annexed  the  Transvaal  as  an  integral  portion  of  the  British  Empire. 

GUERILLA  warfare;    KITCHENER's  CONCENTRATION  POLICY 

In  November  there  seemed  to  be  evidences  that  the  back  of  the  trouble 

was  broken,  and  the  field-marshal,  who  had  been  appointed  commander-in- 
chief  at  home,  left  South  Africa,  handing  over  the  command  of  the  army  of 
occupation  to  Lord  Kitchener.  Then  followed  a  long  period  of  groping  for  a 
means  to  cope  with  the  development  of  guerilla  tactics,  which  for  the  next  six 
months  were  at  their  zenith.  The  railway  communications  were  constantly 
damaged,  isolated  posts  and  convoys  captured,  and  the  armed  guerilla  bands 
always  seemed  able  to  avoid  contact  with  the  regular  columns  sent  in  pursuit. 
Before  the  close  of  1900  they  scored  several  signal  successes.  De  Wet  cap- 

tured Dewetsdorp,  Kemp  defeated  Clements  in  the  Hekpoort  valley,  and 
disaffection  broke  out  in  Cape  Colony  to  an  alarming  degree,  while,  as  fore- 

runners of  the  promised  invasion,  scattered  bodies  of  Free  Staters  crossed 
south  of  the  Orange  river  to  swell  the  rebellion.  Against  this  the  British 

scored  one  success,  namely,  the  severe  handling  of  De  Wet's  commando  at 
Bothaville,  when  the  gallant  Le  Gallais  lost  his  life.  The  year  closed  badly, 
as  the  commandoes,  under  the  direct  influence  of  Louis  Botha,  attacked  the 
whole  of  the  railway  posts  on  the  Middelburg  railway  and  captured  Helvetia, 
with  its  4.7  gun,  though  two  attempts  at  invasion  of  Cape  Colony  in  force  had 

been  frustrated  by  the  watchfulness  of  Charles  Knox's  columns.   Lord  Kitch- 
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ener  called  for  more  men,  and  on  December  22nd  the  war  office  announced  that 
thirty  thousand  more  mounted  men  would  be  despatched  to  the  seat  of  war. 

With  the  opening  of  1901  Lord  Kitchener  tried  new  schemes.  He  with- 
drew all  his  detached  garrisons  except  in  the  most  important  centres,  and  set 

himself  to  make  his  raUway  communications  perfectly  secure.  He  determiaed 
to  make  the  area  of  operations  a  waste,  and  instituted  the  concentration 
camps,  into  which  he  intended  to  bring  the  whole  of  the  non-combatant  inhab- 

itants of  the  two  republics.  He  despatched  French  with  a  large  force  to  clear 
the  southeastern  districts  of  the  Transvaal;  and  for  the  rest  maintained  a  force 
to  watch  De  Wet,  and  organised  a  defence  force  in  Cape  Colony,  while  using 
the  residue  of  his  mounted  men  to  sweep  the  country  of  stock,  forage,  and 
inhabitants.  Although  there  were  no  great  disasters,  the  new  policy  was  not 
prolific  in  success.  The  enemy  invariably  dispersed  before  superior  forces; 
and  the  removal  of  the  women  and  children  from  the  farms  did  not  have  the 

effect  of  disheartening  the  burghers  as  had  been  anticipated  —  it  rather 
mended  their  vitality  by  relieving  them  of  responsibility  for  their  families' 
welfare.  On  February  10th,  De  Wet,  with  five  gims  and  three  thousand  men, 
carried  out  his  promised  invasion  of  Cape  Colony.  This  invasion  was  a 
fiasco;  by  judicious  use  of  the  railway  Kitchener  concentrated  sufficient  troops 
in  the  colony  to  cope  with  the  attempt,  and,  after  being  hunted  from  pillar  to 
post  for  eighteen  days,  De  Wet  escaped  back  into  the  Orange  River  Colony 
with  the  loss  of  all  his  guns,  munitions  of  war,  and  half  his  force.  On  March 
3rd  De  la  Rey,  the  lion  of  the  western  Transvaal,  essayed  an  attack  upon  Lich- 
tenburg,  in  which  he  was  heavily  repulsed.  Signs  of  weakness  were  now 
apparent,  and  as  a  result  Louis  Botha,  acting  with  the  authority  of  Schalk 
Burger,  the  representative  of  President  Kruger,  opened  negotiations  with 
Kitchener.  A  meeting  took  place  at  Middelburg,  Transvaal,  on  February 
28th.  These  negotiations,  however,  broke  down,  mainly  over  the  treatment 
to  be  awarded  to  Cape  rebels. 

THE  BLOCKHOUSE  SYSTEM 

The  hostilities  now  entered  upon  a  new  phase.  The  establishment  of  a 
line  of  defensive  posts  between  Bloemfontein  and  Ladybrand  had  given 
Kitchener  an  idea,  and  he  resolved  upon  the  scheme  of  partition  of  the  theatre 
of  war  by  chains  of  blockhouses.  In  the  meantime,  while  these  posts  were 
imder  construction,  the  harrying  of  the  guerillas  by  mobile  columns  was  con- 

tinued. In  March  Babington  captured  three  guns  and  six  Maxims  from 
De  la  Rey  near  Ventersdorp.  In  April  Plumer  occupied  Pietersburg,  the  last 
remaining  seat  of  government  open  to  the  enemy.  Rawlinson  captured  a 
laager  and  guns  at  Klerksdorp.  In  May  matters  had  so  far  improved  that 
municipal  government  was  given  to  Johannesburg,  and  a  certain  number  of 
mines  were  allowed  to  recommence  operations.  De  la  Rey  was  defeated  by 
Dixon  at  Vlakfontein,  after  a  desperate  encounter.  Jvme  brought  little  of 
moment,  though  the  Boers  scored  two  minor  successes,  Kritzinger  capturing 
the  village  of  Jamestown  in  Cape  Colony,  and  Hindon  reducing  the  camp  of 
the  Victorian  M.I.  at  Wihnansrust.  In  July  there  were  further  evidences  of 

weakness  on  the  part  of  the  Boers,  and  Botha  applied  for  permission  to  com- 
mimicate  with  ex-President  Kruger.  This  was  allowed,  but,  as  Mr.  Kruger 
advised  a  continuance  of  the  struggle,  the  slow  course  of  the  war  continued. 
In  the  meantime,  the  concentration  camps  were  becoming  filled  to  overflowing, 
and  a  steady  stream  of  captures  and  surrenders  was  reducing  the  hostile 
power  of  the  republics.    On  July  13th  President  Steyn  only  escaped  capture 
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by  Broadwood  at  Reitz  by  a  few  minutes;  and  on  July  20th  the  aged  wife  of 
the  ex-president  died  in  Pretoria.  August  was  an  important  month,  as  in  it 
Kitchener  promulgated  a  proclamation,  formally  threatening  the  Boer  leaders 
who  should  not  surrender  with  permanent  banishment  from  South  Africa: 
this  proclamation,  though  supported  by  the  home  government,  unfortunately 
had  very  little  effect.  Kitchener  also  received  letters  from  the  Boer  leaders, 
showing  that  they  were  still  determined  to  keep  the  field. 

September  showed  some  slight  improvement  in  the  situation  in  Cape 
Colony,  when  General  (later  Sir  John)  French  was  in  supreme  command. 
On  the  5th,  Scobell  captured  Letter,  who  was  subsequently  executed  for 

murder;  though  this  was  rather  balanced  a  few  days  later  by  Smut's  attack 
on  the  17th  Lancers.  Botha  made  a  desperate  effort  to  reinvade  Natal, 
but  his  plans  were  rendered  abortive  by  his  failure  to  reduce  the  posts  of 
Mount  Prospect  and  Fort  Itala,  which  he  attacked  on  September  26th. 

De  la  Rey  was  also  defeated  in  the  west,  in  an  attack  upon  Colonel  Kekewich's 
camp  at  Moedville.  Desultory  fighting  continued  till  the  close  of  the  year,  the 
balance  of  success  being  with  the  British,  though  on  October  30th  Colonel 

Benson's  column  had  been  defeated  by  Botha  at  Brakenlaagte,  in  the  south- 
eastern Transvaal.  Affairs  again  took  an  unsatisfactory  turn  in  Cape  Colony, 

and  on  October  8th  the  whole  colony  was  placed  under  martial  law.  / 
[This  period  of  the  war  was  full  of  such  incidents  as  General  De  Wet  thus 

simply  describes.] 

"When  we  had  crossed  the  river,"  he  says,  "I  received  a  report  from  my 
scouts  that  there  were  about  twenty  of  the  enemy  in  a  strong  schanze  on  a 

kopje,  which  was  about  half  an  hour's  march  further  up  stream.  I  gave  orders 
that  a  veldtcornet  and  twenty-five  men,  among  whom  was  one  of  my  staff, 
Willem  Pretorius,  should  go  and  capture  the  schame.  The  veldtcornet 
preferred  not  to  approach  beyond  a  certain  distance,  and  consequently  Willem 
Pretorius  and  four  other  men  were  left  to  do  the  work.  Willem  climbed  the 
hill  from  one  side,  and  the  others,  dividmg  into  two,  climbed  it  from  the  other 
side  at  two  different  points.  They  were  met  by  a  severe  fire  from  the  fort, 
but  when  they  got  to  close  quarters  up  went  the  white  flag,  and  the  English 
shouted  'We  surrender!' 

"Thus  Willem  Pretorius  and  four  burghers  captured  twenty  prisoners 
and  a  like  number  of  horses,  saddles,  bridles,  rifles  and  bandoliers,  not  to 
mention  some  three  thousand  cartridges.  When  the  veldteomet  at  last 
arrived  with  his  twenty  men,  he  certainly  proved  himself  very  useful  in  carry- 

ing away  the  booty!"  ̂  
But  in  December  matters  improved,  and  General  Bruce  Hamilton's 

column,  by  a  series  of  night  marches,  practically  blotted  out  the  resistance 
in  the  eastern  Transvaal.  The  corps  of  National  Scouts  (burghers  who  had 
come  over)  was  inaugurated,  and  matters  so  far  mended  in  Johannesburg 
that  the  stock  exchange  reopened.  By  the  end  of  the  year  the  blockhouse 
system  was  complete,  but  this  phase  of  the  war  was  destined  to  close  badly, 

as  De  Wet  on  Christmas  Eve  captured  the  whole  of  Colonel  Firman's  Yeo- 
manry camp  at  Tweefontein,  Orange  River  Colony. 

THE 

With  1902  the  last  phase  of  this  protracted  struggle  commenced.  The 
blockhouse  system  was  practically  finished,  and  Kitchener  determined  upon 
a  new  means  of  harassing  the  enemy,  who  still  had  a  total  of  about  twenty- 
five  thousand  men  in  the  field.    But  the  blockhouses  had  already  begun  to 
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serve  the  purpose  for  which  they  were  designed.  In  the  past  the  mobile 
columns,  of  which  there  were  over  sixty  in  the  field,  had  always  been  bound 
to  the  railway  for  supply ;  now  convoys  could  be  pushed  out  to  them  along 
whatever  blockhouse  line  they  touched. 

During  January  and  February  this  system  was  continued  with  alternate 
successes  and  disasters.  In  March  De  la  Rey  performed  a  gallant  feat  of 

arms  by  capturing  Paris'  column  and  Lord  Methuen ;  but  the  great  drive 
in  the  western  Transvaal  proved  to  the  Boers  the  futility  of  prolonging  the 
struggle.  On  March  23d  representatives  came  into  Pretoria,  six  weeks  were 
spent  in  negotiation,  and  then  a  monster  meeting  of  delegates,  under  the 
presidency  of  General  Kemp,  was  held  at  Vereeniging. 

PEACE 

As  a  result  of  this  conference  a  peace  was  ratified  at  Pretoria  on  May  31st, 
and  the  South  African  War  was  a  history  of  the  past.  The  terms  of  peace 
may  be  condensed  into  the  following  points:  (1)  surrender  of  all  burghers 
in  the  field,  with  aU  arms  and  munitions  of  war;  (2)  all  burghers  duly  declaring 
themselves  subjects  of  King  Edward  VII  to  be  repatriated;  (3)  no  burghers 
who  should  surrender  to  be  deprived  of  either  their  hberty  or  property;  (4) 
no  proceedings  to  be  taken  against  burghers  for  any  legitimate  acts  of  war 
during  the  period  of  hostilities;  (5)  the  Dutch  language  to  be  taught  in  pubHc 
schools  on  the  request  of  parents,  and  to  be  allowed  in  courts  of  law;  (6)  sport- 

ing rifles  to  be  allowed  upon  the  taking  out  of  licences ;  (7)  the  military  adminis- 
tration to  be  superseded  by  civil  administration  as  soon  as  possible,  the  civil 

administration  to  lead  up  to  self-government;  (8)  the  question  of  the  native 
franchise  not  to  be  considered  until  after  the  introduction  of  self-govern- 

ment; (9)  landed  property  not  to  be  subjected  to  any  special  tax  to  defray 
the  cost  of  the  war;  (10)  a  cor  jnission  to  be  formed  to  facilitate  the  repatria- 

tion of  the  burghers.  A  grant  of  £3,000,000  to  be  given  as  compensation  for 
the  destruction  of  farms.  These  terms  were  signed  on  behalf  of  the  British 
government  by  Lord  Milner  and  Lord  Kitchener;  on  behalf  of  the  Orange 
Free  State  by  Messrs.  J.  Brebner,  C.  R.  de  Wet,  C.  Olivier,  and  Judge  J.  B.  M. 
Hertzog;  on  behalf  of  the  Transvaal  government,  by  Messrs.  S.  W.  Burger, 
F.  W.  Reitz,  Louis  Botha,  J.  H.  De  la  Rey,  Lucas  Meyer,  and  Krogh. 

In  the  whole  war  the  British  lost  5,774  killed  and  22,829  wounded,  while 
the  Boers  lost  about  4,000  killed.  The  number  of  Boer  prisoners  in  the  hands 
of  the  British  at  the  end  of  the  war  was  about  40,000.  / 

The  story  of  the  Transvaal  since  the  war  can  be  told  in  few  words.  The 
work  of  repatriation  proceeded  rapidly,  and  a  new  government,  consisting 
of  an  executive  and  legislative  council,  a  supreme  court,  and  a  lieutenant- 
governor,  all  appointive,  was  established.  In  1904  the  home  government 
decided  that  the  time  had  come  when  an  elective  element  could  be  intro- 

duced ;  and  in  April,  1905,  the  draft  of  a  new  constitution  was  issued. 
Before  this  constitution,  which  did  not  concede  full  local  government,  was 
inaugurated,  the  liberal  party  came  into  control  in  England,  and,  much  to  the 
satisfaction  of  the  Boers,  announced  that  a  responsible  government  would 
be  established.  Owing  to  the  scarcity  of  labour  for  working  the  mines,  an 
ordinance  allowing  the  introduction  of  non-Europeans  under  contract  was 
passed  in  1904,  and  in  the  same  year  and  in  1905  many  thousands  of  Chinese 
were  brought  in.  This  policy  aroused  opposition,  especially  among  the  libe- 

rals in  England,  and  the  new  liberal  ministry  suspended  the  introduction  of 
these  persons  until  the  colony  could  decide  upon  the  question  for  itself. 
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On  July  31st,  1906,  the  new  British  parliament  took  up  the  question  of 
granting  a  constitution  to  the  Transvaal  colony,  and  later  in  the  year  a  new 
constitution  was  put  in  operation.  It  provides  for  universal  manhood 

suffrage  on  a  qualification  of  six  months'  residence;  for  an  election  every  five 
years;  and  for  an  elective  second  chamber  modelled  on  that  of  Cape  Colony. 
In  the  first  election  the  Boers,  aided  in  many  constituencies  by  the  English 
Nationalists,  who  opposed  the  grasping  policy  of  the  mine  owners,  gained  a 
majority  of  the  seats.  General  Botha  became  the  first  premier  and  entered 
upon  his  duties  in  a  way  that  gave  bright  promise  for  future  harmony.  Despite 
the  opposition  of  the  mine  owners,  steps  were  taken  to  exclude  the  Chinese  and 
to  repatriate  those  already  in  the  colony  at  the  expiration  of  their  contracts. 
An  education  bill  has  also  been  adopted,  and  the  colony  has  presented  to  King 
Edward  the  famous  Cullinan  diamond." 

NATAL 

The  country  which  forms  the  colony  of  Natal  was  discovered  by  Vasco 
da  Gama,  who  sighted  the  bluff  headland  at  the  entrance  to  the  bay  forming 
the  present  port  at  Durban,  on  Christmas  Day  in  1497,  and  so  named  the 
country  Terra  Natalis.  From  that  date  little  is  recorded  xmtil  the  survivors 
of  the  crew  of  the  Dutch  ship  Stavenisse,  wrecked  on  the  coast  in  1686,  gave 
their  report  of  the  country  and  its  inhabitants.  In  1721  the  Dutch  formed 
a  settlement,  but  it  was  soon  abandoned.  Subsequently,  about  1810,  it  would 
seem  that  Chaka,  chief  of  the  Amazulu,  swept  with  his  warriors  through  the 
whole  of  Natal  and  the  adjoining  territories,  destroying  aU  males,  and  making 
booty  of  the  cattle  and  women.  One  tribe,  the  Amatuli,  however,  after 
offering  resistance  to  the  invader,  retreated  into  the  dense  bush  near  the  bluff 
and  were  amongst  the  few  aborigines  when  the  British  took  possession  of  the 
country.  In  1824  Lieutenant  Farewell  and  about  twenty  companions  landed 
in  Natal  with  the  view  of  colonising  it,  and  for  that  purpose  entered  into  a 
treaty  with  Chaka.  Some  four  years  after  their  arrival,  however,  Chaka 
was  murdered  by  his  brother  Dingaan,  and  the  settlement  was  broken  up. 
In  1835  another  British  officer.  Captain  AUen  Gardner,  got  permission  from 
Dingaan  to  introduce  missionaries  into  the  country,  and  at  once  formed  the 
township  of  Durban,  at  the  port  where  there  were  still  a  few  English  settlers. 
In  1837  several  Dutch  farmers  made  an  exodus  from  the  Cape  Colony,  and 
one  of  their  leaders,  Peter  Retief,  with  the  assistance  of  the  reverend  Mr. 

Owen,  who  had  been  for  some  time  a  resident  missionary  at  Dmgaan's  own 
head  kraal,  obtained  from  Dingaan  a  cession  of  the  whole  territory  of  Natal. 
Immediately  after  the  conclusion  of  the  treaty  Retief  and  his  followers  were 
treacherously  murdered,  and  the  attempt  was  made  to  extirpate  the  Boers 
throughout  the  length  and  breadth  of  the  land.  The  latter  with  their  fire- 

arms eventually  proved  more  than  a  match  for  their  numerous  assailants, 
and  joining  Mpanda,  who  had  rebelled  against  his  brother  Dingaan,  utterly 

routed  Dingaan's  army  on  the  banks  of  the  White  Umvolozi  in  1840,  and 
drove  him  to  the  Amaswazi  country,  where  he  was  shortly  after  assassinated. 
Natal  became  a  British  colony  on  August  8th,  1843,  and,  owing  no  doubt  to 
the  fame  of  the  security  and  protection  to  be  found  under  the  British  flag, 
large  accessions  were  at  once  made  to  the  native  population  by  refugees  from 
the  several  surrounding  tribes.  Since  1843  the  colony  has  made  rapid  progress; 
the  native  tribes  as  a  rule  have  been  loyal,  and,  although  occasional  reports 
from  Zululand  have  alarmed  the  colonists,  it  has  very  seldom  been  found 
necessary  to  send  out  the  volimteer  forces  on  commando.    Any  tendency  to 
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insubordination  on  the  part  of  the  resident  natives  has  always  been  quickly 
suppressed,  and  a  spirit  of  disaffection  has  never  become  general.  In  1879 
the  colony  became  the  base  of  ojperations  against  the  Zulu  king,  and  in  1881 
it  was  for  a  short  time  invaded  by  the  Transvaal  Boers  in  connection  with  the 
fighting  which  arose  out  of  the  annexation  of  the  Transvaal  in  1877.3 

At  the  conclusion  of  the  first  Boer  War  in  1881,  the  chief  engagements  of 
which  were  fought  in  the  northern  extremity  of  Natal,  Sir  Evelyn  Wood  was 

commander-in-chief  of  her  majesty's  forces.  He  was  also  appointed  for  a 
short  time  administrator  of  Natal,  and  on  his  departure  for  England,  after  a 
final  arrangement  for  the  cession  of  the  Transvaal,  he  was  succeeded  by 
Colonel  (afterwards  Sir  Charles)  Mitchell  as  administrator.  In  1882  Sir 
Henry  Bulwer  was  sent  to  Natal  with  the  full  title  of  governor,  and  in  1886 
was  succeeded  by  Sir  Arthur  Havelock.  The  feeling  of  the  colonists  after 
the  retrocession  of  the  Transvaal  was  extremely  bitter.  Tte  treaty  of  retro- 

cession was  never  regarded  in  Natal  as  anything  but  a  surrender. 
The  Zulu  power  which  had  always  been  a  menace  to  Natal  as  well  as  the 

Transvaal,  was  broken  in  1879  by  British  forces.  After  the  settlement  intes- 
tine quarrels  arose  among  the  petty  chiefs,  and  in  1883  some  Transvaal  Boers 

intervened,  and  subsequently,  as  a  reward  for  the  assistance  they  had  rendered 
to  one  of  the  combatants,  demanded  and  annexed  eight  thousand  square  miles 
of  coimtry,  which  they  styled  the  New  Republic.  A  strong  feeling  was  once 
more  aroused  in  Natal.  The  New  Republic  was  nevertheless  allowed  to 
remain,  and  in  1887  the  British  consented  to  the  territory  being  mcorporated 
with  the  Transvaal. 

In  1884  the  discovery  of  gold  in  De  Kaap  Valley,  and  on  Mr.  Hoodie's 
farms  in  the  Transvaal,  caused  a  considerable  rush  of  colonists  from  Natal 
to  that  coimtry.  Railways  were  still  far  from  the  Transvaal  border,  and 
Natal  not  only  sent  her  own  colonists  to  the  new  fields,  but  also  offered  the 
nearest  route  for  prospectors  from  Cape  Colony  or  from  Europe.  Durban 
was  soon  thronged;  and  Pietermaritzburg,  which  was  then  practically  the 
terminus  of  the  Natal  railway,  was  the  base  from  which  nearly  all  the  expedi- 

tions to  the  gold  fields  were  fitted  out.  Two  years  later,  in  1885,  gold  was 
also  discovered  at  the  Witwatersrand,  and  the  tide  of  trade  which  had  already 
set  in  with  the  Transvaal  steadily  increased. 

For  many  years  Sir  John  Robinson  led  a  party  in  Natal  which  agitated 
for  a  responsible  form  of  government.  In  1893  a  bill  in  favour  of  this  change 
was  introduced  into  the  legislative  coimcil,  and  passed.  The  British  govern- 

ment gave  their  consent  to  the  bill,  and  the  Constitution  Act  of  1893  became 
law.  Sir  John  Robinson,  K.C.M.G.,  was  the  first  colonial  secretary  and  premier 
under  the  new  constitution,  and  Mr.  Harry  Escombe,  Q.C.,  the  first  attorney- 
general.  In  the  same  year  Sir  Walter  Hely-Hutchinson  was  appointed 
governor  of  the  colony.  In  1898  Natal  entered  the  customs  imion  already 
existing  between  Cape  Colony  and  Orange  Free  State. 

In  May,  1899,  the  Natal  government  began  to  suspect  the  nature  of  the 
military  preparations  that  were  being  made  by  the  Boers,  and  their  apprehen- 

sions were  communicated  to  the  high  commissioner.  Sir  Alfred  Milner,  who 
telegraphed  on  May  25th  to  Mr.  Chamberlain,  informmg  him  that  Natal  was 
uneasy.  la  July  the  Natal  ministry  learned  that  it  was  not  the  intention  of 
the  imperial  government  to  endeavour  to  hold  the  frontier  in  case  hostilities 
arose,  but  that  a  line  of  defence  considerably  south  of  the  frontier  would  be 
taken  up.  This  led  to  a  request  on  their  part  that  if  the  imperial  government 
had  any  reason  to  anticipate  the  breakdown  of  negotiations,  such  steps 
may  be  at  once  taken  as  may  be  necessary  for  the  effectual  defence  of  the 
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whole  colony."  Sir  W.  P.  Symons,  the  general  commanding  the  British 
forces  in  NataMn  September,  decided  to  hold  Glencoe.  On  the  arrival  of 
Sir  George  Whitfe  from  India,  he  informed  the  governor  that  he  considered  it 
dangerous  to  attempt  to  hold  Glencoe,  and  urged  the  advisabiUty  of  with- 

drawing the  troops  tOs..Ladysmith.  The  governor  was  strongly  opposed  to 
this  step,  as  he  was  anxious  to  protect  the  coal  supply,  and  also  feared  the 
moral  effect  of  a  withdrawal.  Eventually  Sir  A.  Hunter  was  consulted,  and 

stated  that  in  his  opinion,  Glencoe  being  already  occupied,  "  it  was  a  case  of 
balancing  drawbacks,  and  advised  that,  under  the  circumstances,  the  troops 

be  retained  at  Glencoe."     This  course  was  then  adopted. 
On  October  11th,  1899,  war  broke  out.  The  first  act  was  the  seizure  by 

the  Boers  of  a  Natal  train  on  the  Free  State  border.  On  the  12th  Laing's 
Nek  was  occupied  by  the  Boer  forces,  who  were  moved  in  considerable  force 
over  the  Natal  border.  Sir  W.  Penn  Symons  hoped  to  be  able  to  hold  the 
northern  portion  of  Natal,  and  there  is  no  doubt  that  this  policy  strongly 
commended  itself  to  the  governor  and  ministers  of  Natal,  who  exercised  con- 

siderable pressure  to  have  it  adopted.  But  from  a  military  point  of  view  it 
was  not  at  all  cordially  approved  of  by  Sir  George  White,  and  it  was  afterwards 
condemned  by  Lord  Roberts.  Ladysmith  became  later  in  the  month  the 
centre  of  further  operations.  The  Boers  gradually  surrounded  the  town 
and  cut  off  the  communication  from  the  south.  Various  engagements  were 
fought  in  an  attempt  to  prevent  this  movement,  including  the  disastrous 

mishap  at  Nicholson's  Nek,  and  the  battle  of  Farquhar's  Farm  on  the  30th. 
The  siege  of  Ladysmith  continued  till  February  28th,  1900,  when,  after 

various  attempts  to  relieve  the  beleaguered  garrison,  Sir  Reavers  Buller's 
forces  at  last  entered  the  town.  The  relief  of  Ladysmith  soon  led  to  the  evacua- 

tion of  Natal  by  the  Boer  forces,  who  trekked  northwards. 
During  the  Boer  invasion  the  government  and  the  loyal  colonists,  con- 

stituting the  great  majority  of  the  inhabitants  of  the  colony,  rendered  the 
imperial  forces  every  assistance.  In  the  actual  hostilities  the  Natal  Volunteers 
and  other  Natal  forces  took  a  prominent  part.  The  Imperial  Light  Horse 
and  other  irregular  corps  were  recruited  in  Natal,-  although  the  bulk  of  the 
men  in  the  forces  were  Uitlanders  from  Johannesburg.  As  the  nearest  colony 
to  the  Transvaal,  Natal  was  resorted  to  by  a  large  number  of  men,  women 
and  children  who  were  compelled  to  leave  the  Transvaal  on  the  outbreak 
of  the  war.  Refugee  and  Uitlander  committees  were  formed  both  at  Durban 
and  Maritzburg,  and,  in  conjunction  with  the  colonists,  they  did  all  in  their 
power  to  assist  in  recruiting  irregular  corps,  and  also  in  furnishing  relief  to 
the  sick  and  needy.  Natal  was  the  theatre  of  some  of  the  most  arduous 
fighting  during  the  whole  course  of  the  war,  and  the  brunt  of  it  was  shared 
by  her  colonists  with  the  imperial  forces.* 

In  1906  a  revolt  among  the  natives  occasioned  alarm,  but  it  was  put  down 
after  considerable  bloodshed.  In  September,  1907,  a  new  governor,  Sir 
Matthew  Nathan,  was  enthusiastically  received  at  Durban.* 



CHAPTER   III 

THE  HISTORY  OF  CANADA 

THE  DISCOVERERS 

The  stage  on  which  the  drama  of  Canadian  history  unfolds  may  seem  to 
the  world  an  obscure  one.  A  closer  view,  however,  will  reveal  that  on  this 
stage  some  of  the  gravest  problems  of  history  have  been  pressed  to  a  solution; 
and  we  may  reasonably  expect  to  find  in  this  drama  an  answer  to  some  of  the 
weightiest  questions  of  modern  politics.  Battles  were  fought  on  the  Rhine, 
the  Elbe,  the  Danube;  German,  Austrian,  Spanish  thrones  were  shaken  to  their 
fall;  navies  grappled  in  the  Caribbean,  and  Mahratta  hordes  were  slaughtered 
on  the  rice-fields  of  India,  to  decide  the  struggle  which  ended  only  upon  the 
Plains  of  Abraham.  Now,  in  these  imperial  domains  which  Wolfe's  triumph 
secured  to  British  sway,  a  people  is  taking  shape  which  bids  fair  to  combine 
the  power  and  genius  of  the  two  great  races  from  which  it  springs.<i 

The  story  of  the  European  discovery  and  colonisation  of  America,  of  the 
two  centuries  of  struggle  between  France  and  England  for  the  mastery  of 
the  North  American  continent,  of  the  upbuilding  and  downfall  of  French 
dominion  in  Canada,  is  so  interwoven  and  bound  up  with  the  history  of  the 
beginnings  of  the  great  American  Republic  that  we  have  told  it  there  in  all 
the  detail  befitting  one  of  the  grandest  and  most  romantic  eras  of  all  history. 
Here  it  will  be  enough  to  trace  briefly  the  principal  points  in  that  dramatic 
period  as  they  affected  Canadian  history  down  to  the  establishment  of  Eng- 

lish rule  in  1760. 
It  is  in  the  shadowy  realms  of  myth  and  tradition  that  Canadian  history 

seems  to  have  its  beginnings.  In  the  Icelandic  sagas  that  tell  of  the  voyages 
and  adventures  of  the  North  vikings,  Eric  and  Leif  and  Thorfinn,  to  the 
"new  lands"  —  undoubtedly  the  shores  of  North  America  —  we  find  the 
record  of  the  earliest  contact  of  Europeans  with  what  is  now  Canada.    But 
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their  ventures  came  to  naught;  and  we  shall  probably  never  know  whether 
Thorfinn's  colony  of  Vineland  was  located  on  the  coast  of  Nova  Scotia  or  on 
the  more  southerly  shores  of  New  England. 

To  the  Venetian  reared  navigator  John  Cabot,  sailing  out  of  Bristol  imder 
a  charter  from  Henry  VII  of  England  five  years  after  Columbus  had  opened 
a  "  New  World "  to  European  conquest  and  exploitation,  belongs  without 
doubt  the  honour  of  the  first  discovery  of  the  North  American  continent. 
On  his  act  in  planting  the  standard  of  England  on  the  Newfoundland  shore 
rested  the  claim  of  Great  Britain  to  America.  The  Newfoundland  fisheries 

were  the  first  fruits  of  the  discovery,  and  twenty  years  after  Cabot's  first 
voyage,  English,  Basque,  and  Breton  fisherman  were  swarming  on  the  Banks 
and  drying  their  fish  upon  the  neighbouring  shores.  The  next  discoverers  of 
whom  we  have  records  carried  the  flag  of  France,  and  upon  the  declaration 
of  one  of  them,  Verrazano,  a  Florentine  in  the  French  service,  who  coasted 
along  the  shore  from  the  Carolinas  to  the  St.  Lawrence  in  1524,  rests  the 
claim  of  France  to  American  dominion. 

THE   FRENCH   REGIME 

The  energy  and  good  fortune  of  the  French  enabled  them  to  outstrip  for 
a  time  their  rivals  in  the  north,  and  eventually  by  actual  settlement  to  estab- 

lish the  sovereignty  of  France  over  a  great  part  of  the  disputed  territory. 
The  greatest  of  her  earliest  voyagers  was  the  adventurous  Breton  navigator, 
Jacques  Cartier,  who  between  1534  and  1542  sailed  three  times  to  the  New 
World,  discovered  and  entered  the  St.  Lawrence,  spent  the  winter  of  1535- 
1536  on  the  site  of  the  present  city  of  Quebec,  and  planted  the  lilies  of  France 

where  the  city  of  Montreal  later  rose.  Associated  with  Cartier's  last  voyage 
is  the  ill-fated  attempt  of  the  sieur  de  Roberval  to  establish  a  permanent  col- 

ony on  the  banks  of  the  St.  Lawrence.  For  fifty  years  after  his  failure  the 
government  of  France  seemed  to  have  forgotten  Canada,  although  her  fish- 

ermen still  flocked  to  the  Newfoundland  Banks.  In  the  mean  time  English 
eyes  were  turned  toward  it;  in  1576  Martin  Frobisher  landed  on  the  rocky 
cliffs  of  Labrador,  and  in  the  next  year  on  the  other  side  of  the  continent  Sir 
Francis  Drake,  seeking  Spanish  treasure-ships  in  the  far  Pacific,  looked  upon 
the  snow-capped  mountains  of  the  future  British  Columbia.  Soon  after,  in 
1583,  the  first  attempt  at  English  settlement  was  made  by  the  gallant  Sir 

Humphrey  Gilbert,  who  planted  a  short-lived  colony  at  St.  John's,  New- foundland. 
In  1598  the  French  again  turned  their  attention  to  colonisation,  but  for 

many  years  every  attempt  resulted  in  failure.  The  convict  colony  of  De  la 
Roche,  the  fur-trading  venture  of  Chauvin  and  Pontgrav6  at  Tadousac,  the 
settlement  of  De  Mont  and  Champlain  at  St.  Croix  later  removed  to  Port 
Royal,  succeeded  one  another  in  rapid  succession  and  passed  out  of  existence. 

In  1610-1611  came  Biencourt  to  found  a  new  colony  at  Port  Royal. 
With  him  came  the  Jesuits.  "  Now,"  writes  a  graphic  Canadian  historian, 
"appeared  the  mysterious,  black-robed,  indomitable  figures  of  the  Jesuits, 
destined  to  leave  so  deep  a  mark  on  Canada.  Magnificent  in  peril,  meddle- 

some in  peace,  oft  dreaded  by  their  friends,  but  extorting  the  admiration  of 
their  enemies,  their  record  in  the  councils  of  Canada  is  one  of  ceaseless  quar- 

rels with  the  civil  power;  but  their  record  among  the  savages  is  one  of 

imperishable  glory." 
Before  this,  however,  Champlain  in  1608  had  established  on  the  St.  Law- 

rence a  little  trading-post  destined  soon  to  grow  into  the  city  of  Quebec,  the 
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first  permanent  settlement  of  importance  in  Canada.  Already  it  had  become 
the  centre  of  the  fur-trade,  upon  which  from  first  to  last  the  prosperity  of 
New  France  was  based.  In  every  direction  the  coureurs  de  hois  pierced  the 
forests,  and  where  the  carefully  organised  settlements  had  failed,  they  estab- 

lished successfully  their  trading  posts  and  erected  their  dwellings.  But  now 
it  was  that  the  English  and  French  met  in  Canada  in  actual  armed  hostility. 
Argall,  sailing  north  from  Virginia,  destroyed  the  French  settlement  at  Port 
Royal  and  also  a  Jesuit  mission  post  at  Mount  Desert  on  the  Maine  coast. 
In  1629  Admiral  Kirke,  entering  the  St.  Lawrence,  defeated  a  French  fleet 
and  attacked  Quebec.  The  spirited  defence  of  Champlain  was  of  no  avail 
and  the  English  flag  for  the  first  time  floated  over  the  Quebec  heights.  Eng- 

lish rule  was  of  short  duration,  however,  as  France's  Canadian  possessions 
were  restored  to  her  by  the  Treaty  of  St.  Germain-en-Laye  in  1632.  The 
years  that  followed  saw  the  beginnings  of  Scotch  settlement  in  Nova  Scotia, 
and  the  fierce  struggle  between  the  Catholic  Charnisay  and  the  Huguenot  De 
la  Tour  for  supremacy  in  Acadia,  which  so  weakened  the  French  that  Port 
Royal  and  the  whole  surrounding  country  fell  an  easy  prey  to  the  expedition 
sent  from  Boston  in  1654,  only  to  be  for  a  second  time  returned  to  France  by 
the  Treaty  of  Breda  (1667).  Meanwhile,  despite  the  ceaseless  hostility  of 

England's  red  allies,  the  Iroquois,  the  French  settlers  were  pushing  westward 
up  the  valley  of  the  St.  Lawrence.  Montreal  was  founded  by  Maisonneuve  in 
October,  1641. 

THE   STRUGGLE   FOR  SUPREMACY 

The  rise  of  Colbert  as  the  chief  counsellor  of  Louis  XIV  was  marked  by 
a  somewhat  better  treatment  of  Canada  by  France.  He  recognised  that  the 
colony  might  be  made  of  great  value  to  French  commerce,  and  that  to  make 
it  so  a  more  liberal  policy  must  be  adopted.  In  this  he  was  ably  represented 
in  New  France  by  the  indomitable  Talon,  appointed  intendant  at  Quebec, 
and  the  brave  marquis  de  Tracy  sent  out  as  viceroy  in  1665.  The  former 
turned  his  attention  to  the  resources  of  the  colony,  made  new  rules  for  the 
regulation  of  the  fur  trade,  discovered  iron  deposits  in  the  Three  Rivers 
district,  and  began  the  importation  of  women  from  France  to  supply  wives 
for  the  colonists.  The  defeat  of  the  Iroquois  by  De  Tracy  relieved  the  set- 

tlements for  a  time  from  their  raids.  Perrot,  Joliet,  and  Marquette  pushed 
their  way  westward  into  the  region  beyond  the  Great  Lakes.  The  year 
1672  marks  the  appearance  of  the  count  de  Frontenac,  the  greatest  figure 
ip  the  history  of  New  France,  who,  in  that  year,  was  appointed  to  succeed 
De  Courcelles  as  governor.  Under  his  auspices  La  Salle  and  Tonty  explored 
the  upper  Mississippi,  and  military  posts  were  established  at  Niagara, 
Mackinac,  and  in  the  Illinois  country.  Recalled  in  1682,  Frontenac  was  reap- 

pointed governor  in  1689  in  time  to  direct  the  French  and  Indian  attacks  on 

the  frontiers  of  Maine,  New  Hampshire,  and  New  York,  to  despatch  D'lber- 
ville,  to  capture  the  English  posts  in  the  Hudson  Bay  region,  and  to  repulse 
the  redoubtable  Sir  William  Phips,  who,  fresh  from  the  capture  of  Port 
Royal,  descended  on  Quebec  in  1690.  Frontenac  died  in  1698,  a  year  after 
his  conquests  in  the  New  World  had  been  handed  back  to  the  English  by  the 
Treaty  of  Ryswick. 

The  peace  was  of  short  duration.  In  1702  the  war  of  the  Spanish  Suc- 
cession, known  in  America  as  Queen  Anne's  War,  broke  out.  The  bloody border  warfare  was  resumed,  Francis  Nicholson  captured  Port  Royal,  and 

only  the  wrecking  of  Sir  Hoveden  Walker's  fleet  saved  Quebec.  But  Marl- 
borough's victories  at  Blenheim,  Oudenarde,  and  Malplaquet  decided  the 



324  THE    COLONIAL   WOELD 
[17ia-1763  A.D.] 

fate  of  Acadia,  which  together  with  Newfoundland  and  the  Hudson  Bay 
territory,  was  ceded  to  England  by  the  Treaty  of  Utrecht  (1713). 

Again  a  few  years  of  peace  succeeded,  during  which  the  French  slowly 
but  surely  extended  their  dominion  in  the  great  West  and  the  valley  of  the 
Mississippi,  forming  a  complete  cordon  of  settlements  about  the  English  who 
now  saw  that  they  must  either  break  the  chain  or  content  themselves  with 
the  limitation  of  their  territory  to  the  east  of  the  AUeghanies.  For  fifty 
years  they  made  no  attempt  to  gain  the  northwest  or  to  control  the  fur  trade. 
In  1711  Louisiana  had  been  separated  from  Canada  and  erected  into  a  sep- 

arate colony.  Meanwhile  on  the  seaboard  Cape  Breton  was  strengthened 
and  fortified  as  a  bulwark  of  the  French  against  future  English  aggression  in 
that  direction,  and  millions  were  expended  on  making  the  fortress  of  Louis- 
burg  impregnable.  Hostilities  began  again  in  1740  with  the  outbreak  of  the 

"War  of  the  Austrian  Succession  (King  George's  War),  the  principal  event  of which  in  America  was  the  capture  of  Louisburg  by  a  New  England  expedi- 
tion under  Sir  William  Pepperell.  The  Treaty  of  Aix-la-Chapelle  (1748) 

restored  the  conquest  to  the  French. 
Eight  years  of  nominal  peace  followed.  The  English,  realising  that  a 

greater  struggle  was  approaching,  tightened  their  grip  on  Nova  Scotia  by 
founding  a  fortified  city  at  Halifax  (1749).  The  French  located  a  new  line 
of  forts  in  the  backwoods  of  New  York  and  Pennsylvania — at  French  Creek, 
Presque  Isle  (Erie),  and  Fort  Duquesne  (Pittsburgh).  The  outposts  of  the 
two  nations  were  thus  drawn  so  near  together  that  a  conflict  was  a  mere 
matter  of  time.  The  peace  signed  at  Aix-la-Chapelle  laid  down  no  definite 
line  between  French  and  English  territory,  and  the  Ohio  Company  chartered 
to  make  settlements  west  of  the  Ohio,  sent  the  young  Virginian  surveyor 
Washington  into  the  region  in  1749  to  m&,ke  a  preliminary  survey.  In  1754 
Washington,  at  the  head  of  a  body  of  Virginia  militia,  attacked  the  French 
at  Great  Meadows  near  Fort  Duquesne,  but  was  soon  attacked  in  tin-n  at 
Fort  Necessity,  and  compelled  to  retire  from  the  country.  It  proved  to  be 
the  first  engagement  of  the  French  and  Indian  War.  In  1755  hostilities 
broke  out  in  earnest  with  several  more  engagements,  although  it  was  not  till 
May,  1756,  that  war  was  actually  declared.  Before  that,  however,  Braddock 
had  been  disastrously  defeated  near  Fort  Duquesne,  and  the  English  had 
adopted  the  radical  and  harsh  measure  of  deporting  the  French  in  Acadia, 
the  justice  and  necessity  of  which  historians  have  ever  since  disputed.  The 
campaigns  of  1756-1757  were  favourable  to  the  French,  whose  energetic 
commander  Montcalm  captured  Oswego  and  Fort  William  Henry.  The  year 
1758  saw  some  English  successes,  for  the  strong  hand  of  the  elder  Pitt  was 
guiding  the  English  ship  of  state.  Amherst  and  Wolfe  took  Louisburg,  and 
the  forts  at  Niagara  and  Duquesne  fell  into  English  hands.  As  England 
awakened  to  the  situation  France  weakened.  Montcalm  was  neglected  and 
left  with  a  wholly  insuflicient  force  to  hold  the  immense  empire  entrusted  to 
him.  The  battle  of  September  13th,  1759,  on  the  Plains  of  Abraham,  and 
the  subsequent  capture  of  Quebec  and  Montreal,  made  England  supreme  on 
the  North  American  continent.    New  France  ceased  to  exist. 

By  the  terms  of  the  Treaty  of  Paris  (February  10th,  1763)  France  ceded 
to  Great  Britain,  Canada  and  the  Cape  Breton  district,  and  all  the  land  east 
of  the  Mississippi  except  the  city  and  district  of  New  Orleans,  and  formally 
renounced  all  claims  to  Acadia.  Great  Britain  pledged  itself  to  {)rotect  the 
adherents  of  the  Catholic  church  in  Canada,  and  to  allow  a  continuance  of 
French  fishing  rights  on  the  Newfoundland  coast.  By  the  same  treaty  Spain 
ceded  Florida  to  Great  Britain.* 
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THE   MILITARY   REGIME;   THE   PONTIAC   CONSPIRACY 

The  first  intervention  of  the  British  in  the  affairs  of  Canada  after  the 
conquest  was  in  1774,  when  two  Acts  were  passed  relating  to  the  newly  acquired 
territory,  then  called  "the  Province  of  Quebec."  The  one  gave  it  a  consti- 

tution; the  other  provided  a  revenue  for  defraying  the  administration  of 
justice  and  support  of  the  civil  government,  by  the  imposition  of  certain  duties 
on  spirits  and  molasses,  and  which  duties  were  in  lieu  of  others  enjoyed  by  the 
French  king  previous  to  the  conquest.  They  were,  however,  in  the  total  but 
inconsiderable  and  far  short  of  the  amount  annually  required  for  the  purposes 
to  which  they  were  appropriated,  the  deficiency  being  supplied  from  the 
imperial  treasury. 

From  the  conquest  to  this  epoch,  fourteen  years,  the  province  appears 
to  have  been  governed  generally  to  the  satisfaction  of  the  inhabitants.''^ 
Bourinot^  declares  that  "none  of  the  habitants  ever  left  Canada  after  the 
war."a  During  the  first  three  years  of  this  period,  however,  the  government 
was  a  purely  military,  though  it  seems  an  equitable,  one,  and  indeed  more 
to  the  taste,  as  some  will  have  it,  of  "the  new  subjects"  (as  the  Canadians 
were  then  denominated),  themselves  a  brave  and  military  people,  than  that 
which  immediately  succeeded  it.  The  royal  proclamation  of  1763,  by  their 
new  sovereign.  King  George  III,  put  an  end  to  this,  and  introduced  a  new 
orderj  something  more  congenial  to  British  feelings  and  habits.  All  disputes 
from  this  time  forward,  between  the  new  subjects  concerning  rights  in  land 
and  real  property,  inheritance,  succession  to,  and  diAdsion  of,  the  same  among 
coheirs,  continued,  as  previous  to  the  conquest,  to  be  determined  by  judges 
from  among  their  own  countrymen.'' 

It  was  at  this  period,  when  the  French  in  the  St.  Lawrence  valley,  satis- 
fied that  a  change  of  kings  was  to  mean  practically  no  change  in  their  lives, 

were  beginning  to  take  up  again  the  daily  routine  of  their  work,  that  the 
Western  Indians,  united  under  the  able  Ottawa  chief  Pontiac,  suddenly  rose 
and  fell  unexpectedly  upon  all  the  former  French  ports,  now  held  by  British 
garrisons,  in  the  Great  Lake,  Ohio,  and  upper  Mississippi  country.  French 
traders  and  emissaries  had  urged  the  red  men  on  and  their  plans  were  well 
laid.  In  six  weeks  after  the  first  attack  on  Detroit,  May  9th,  1763,  every 
fort  in  the  western  country  except  Detroit,  Fort  Pitt,  and  Green  Bay  had 
been  seized  and  destroyed,  and  the  Virginia  and  Pennsylvania  frontiers  laid 
waste,  and  it  was  not  until  the  intrepid  Colonel  Bouquet  had  carried  the 
warfare  into  the  very  heart  of  the  Indian  country  on  the  Muskingum  that 
Eeace  was  at  length  restored.    The  stirring  story  of  this  great  conspiracy,  as 
rilliantly  related  by  Francis  Parkman,   will  be  found  under  the  United 

States. 
Before  the  Indian  outbreak  was  quelled  George  III,  in  the  autumn  of 

1763,  issued  a  proclamation  establishing  four  new  governments  in  North 
America;  Quebec,  East  and  West  Florida  and  Grenada.  The  several  gov- 

ernors were  empowered  to  summon  legislative  assemblies,  to  legislate  with, 
their  consent,  and  to  establish  law  courts.  In  Quebec  (Canada),  however, 
no  assembly  ever  met  under  his  proclamation,  for  the  French  Canadians  were 
unwilling  to  take  the  required  test  oath  or  declare  against  transubstantiation. 
From  1763  to  1774,  therefore,  the  government  of  the  province  was  carried 
on  solely  by  the  governor-general,  assisted  by  an  executive  council  composed 
chiefly  of  officials,  but  containing  also  a  few  prominent  colonists.  The  pre- 

vailing uncertainty  as  to  the  laws  in  force  tended  to  keep  things  in  an  unset- 
tled state.     The  French  Canadians  contended  for  the  retention  of  their 
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ancient  customs  and  usages,  the  English  subjects  demanded  the  establish- 
ment of  courts  in  which  the  English  common  law  should  be  the  only  juris- 

prudence recognised.  The  French  colonists  trusted  both  Governor  Murray 
and  Governor  Carleton,  and  on  the  whole  were  content  with  their  lot,  but 
the  British  were  restless. 

THE  QUEBEC  ACT,   AND  THE  AMERICAN  REVOLTTTION 

At  length  in  1774  parliament  passed  the  measure  known  as  the  Quebec 

Act.  The  British  settlers  who  had^  demanded  a  change  were  its  most  violent opponents  because  of  the  substitution  of  the  ancient  laws  and  customs  of 
Prench  Canada  for  the  English  common  law.  The  American  colonies  objected 
to  it  because  of  the  inclusion  of  the  Great  Lake  country  within  the  new 
jurisdiction.  But  Sir  Guy  Carleton,  who  had  been  named  to  succeed  Gen- 

eral Murray  as  governor-general  in  1766,  had  studied  the  needs  of  the  colony 
on  the  spot,  and  his  advocacy  was  probably  the  determining  factor  that  led 
to  the  passage  of  the  bill.« 

The  new  constitution  came  into  force  in  October,  1774.  It  provided 
that  Roman  Catholics  should  be  no  longer  obliged  to  take  the  test  oath,  but 
only  the  oath  of  allegiance.  The  government  of  the  province  was  entrusted 
to  a  governor  and  a  legislative  council,  appointed  by  the  crown,  inasmuch  as 

it  was  "  inexpedient  to  call  an  assembly."  This  council  had  the  power,  with 
the  consent  of  the  governor,  to  make  ordinances  for  the  good  government 
of  the  province.  In  all  matters  of  controversy,  relative  to  property  and  civil 
rights,  recourse  should  be  had  to  the  French  civil  procedure,  whilst  the  law 
of  England  should  obtain  in  criminal  cases.  Roman  Catholics  were  permitted 
to  observe  their  religion  with  perfect  freedom,  and  their  clergy  were  to  enjoy 

their  "  accustomed  duties  and  rights,"  with  respect  to  such  persons  as  pro- fessed that  creed. 

Sir  Gu)^  Carleton  nominated  a  legislative  council  of  twenty-three  members, 
of  whom  eight  were  Roman  Catholics.  This  body  sat,  as  a  rule,  with  closed 
doors;  both  languages  were  employed  in  the  debates,  and  the  ordinances 
agreed  to  were  drawn,  up  in  English  and  French.  In  1776  the  governor- 
general  called  to  his  assistance  an  advisory  privy  council  of  five  members. 

When  Canada  came  under  the  operation  of  the  Quebec  Act,  the  Thirteen 
Colonies  were  on  the  eve  of  that  revolution  which  ended  in  the  establishment 
of  a  federal  republic,  and  had  also  most  important  influence  on  the  fortunes 
of  the  country  through  which  the  St.  Lawrence  flows. 

The  Canadian  people  had  now  entered  on  one  of  the  most  important 
periods  of  their  history.  Their  country  was  invaded,  and  for  a  time  seemed 
on  the  point  of  passing  under  the  control  of  the  congress  of  the  old  Thirteen 
Colonies,  now  in  rebeUion  against  England.  The  genius  of  an  able  English 
governor-general,  however,  saved  the  valley  of  the  St.  Lawrence  for  the  Eng- 

lish crown,  and  the  close  of  the  war  for  American  independence  led  to  radical 
changes  in  the  governments  of  British  North  America.  A  large  population, 
imbued  with  the  loftiest  principles  of  patriotism  and  self-sacrifice,  came  in 
and  founded  new  provinces,  and  laid  the  basis  of  the  present  Dominion  of 
Canada. 

During  the  revolution  emphatic  appeals  were  made  to  the  Canadian  French 
to  join  the  English  colonies  in  their  rebellion  against  England.  The  mass  of 
the  French  Canadians,  especially  in  the  rural  districts,  no  doubt  looked  with 
great  indifference  on  the  progress  of  the  conflict  between  the  king  of  England 
and  his  former  subjects,  but  in  Quebec  and  Montreal,  principally  in  the  latter 
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town,  there  were  found  English  as  well  as  French-speaking  persons  quite 
ready  to  welcome  and  assist  the  forces  of  congress  when  they  invaded  Can- 

ada. On  the  other  hand,  the  influences  of  the  Quebec  Act  and  of  the  judi- 
cious administrations  of  Murray  and  Carleton  were  obvious  from  the  outset, 

and  the  bishop,  Monseigneur  Briand — who  had  been  chosen  with  the  silent 
acquiescence  of  the  English  government  —  the  clergy  of  the  Roman  Catholic 
church,  and  the  leading  seigniors  combined  to  maintain  Canada  under  the 
dominion  of  a  generous  power  which  had  already  given  such  undoubted 
guaranties  for  the  preservation  of  the  civil  and  religious  rights  of  the  "  new 

subjects."e We  will  not  dwell  here  on  the  events  of  the  War  of  the  American  Revolu- 
tion. The  government  of  Canada  from  1778  on  to  the  end  of  the  war  was 

under  the  control  of  General  Haldimand,  whose  management  of  the  affairs 
of  the  province  during  a  critical  period  was  marked  by  some  rather  arbitrary 
acts  such  as  the  arrest  of  several  French  Canadian  supposed-to-be  sympa- 

thisers with  the  revolted  colonies.  But  probably  his  severity  was  no  greater 
than  the  situation  demanded.  At  any  rate  he  fulfilled  the  requirement  for 
a  governor  who  could  keep  Canada  loyal  to  the  British  cause. 

THE   LOYALISTS 

The  restoration  of  peace  in  1783  meant  to  Canada  both  loss  and  gain. 
The  fertile  Ohio  valley  and  the  entire  region  south  and  west  of  the  Great 
Lakes,  now  the  richest  part  of  the  North  American  continent,  was,  with 
that  ignorance  of  possibilities  which  has  generally  characterised  the  transfer 
of  unsettled  territory,  taken  from  Canada,  and  ceded  to  the  United  States 
for  all  time.  On  the  eastern  coast  it  was  provided  that  the  boundary  between 
Nova  Scotia  and  Maine  should  be  the  St.  Croix  river,  with  a  line  drawn  "  from 
its  source  to  the  highlands,  dividing  the  waters  falling  into  the  Atlantic  from 

those  emptying  themselves  into  the  St.  Lawrence,"  thus  establishing  a  great 
elbow  of  alien  territory  between  Canada  proper  and  the  maritime  provinces. 
But  what  Canada  lost  by  a  readjustment  of  its  boimdaries  it  gained  by  the 
addition  to  its  population  of  an  element  which  has  been  perhaps  the  greatest 
factor  in  its  progress  and  development,  namely,  the  American  loyalists,  or  as 
they  are  commonly  called  in  the  United  States  the  tories.  The  Treaty  of 
Versailles  virtually  abandoned  to  their  fate  these  men,  without  whose  active 
aid  the  British  successes  in  the  revolted  colonies  would  have  been  few  indeed. 
The  only  clause  referring  to  them  in  the  treaty  was  one  pledging  congress  to 
recommend  to  the  various  states  the  adoption  of  measures  of  restitution. 
As  everyone  foresaw,  it  turned  out  a  perfect  nullity,  and  the  British  govern- 

ment was  called  upon  to  compensate  them  for  their  losses  by  the  grant  of 

lands  in  the  maritime  provinces  and  the  region  about  Lake  Ontario.  "  With- 
out detracting  from  the  achievements  of  our  French  fellow-citizens,"  writes  a 

popular  Canadian  historian,  "  it  is  but  truth  to  say  that  the  loyalists  were  the 
makers  of  Canada.  They  were  an  army  of  leaders.  The  most  influential 
judges,  the  most  distinguished  lawyers,  the  most  capable  and  prominent 
physicians,  the  most  highly  educated  of  the  clergy,  the  members  of  coimcil 
of  the  various  colonies,  the  crown  oflicials,  people  of  culture  and  social  dis- 
tmction  —  these,  with  the  faithful  few  whose  fortune  followed  theirs,  were 
the  loyalists.  Canada  owes  deep  gratitude  to  her  southern  kinsmen  who 
thus,  from  Maine  to  Georgia,  picked  out  their  choicest  spirits,  and  sent  them 

forth  to  people  our  northern  wilds." It  is  estimated  that  by  1786  upwards  of  fifty  thousand  of  these  people  had 
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reached  British  North  America.  Thousands  settled  in  Nova  Scotia,  thou- 
sands more  moved  on  into  the  valley  of  the  St.  John  and  founded  the  prov- 

ince of  New  Brunswick;  another  large  contingent  found  their  way  to  the 
west  and  laid  the  foundations  of  the  province  of  Upper  Canada,  the  future 
Ontario. 

The  English  inhabitants  of  the  province  of  Quebec  had  never  been  satis- 
fied with  the  provisions  of  the  Quebec  Act  of  1774,  and  to  the  new  loyahst 

population  in  the  lake  territory  the  thought  of  living  under  French  law  was 
particularly  distasteful.  Then,  too,  their  inherent  love  of  a  representative 
government  asserted  itself,  and  the  demands  for  a  change  which  would 
embody  the  principles  of  self-government  based  on  English  law  were  many 
and  clamorous.  Nova  Scotia  had  had  a  representative  government  since 
1758,  and  the  two  newly  established  provinces  of  New  Brunswick  and  Cape 
Breton  received  similar  rights  in  1784.  Naturally  the  English  of  the  west 
objected  to  being  considered  less  able  to  govern  themselves  than  their  coun- 

trymen on  the  seaboard.  General  Haldimand,  whose  strict  and  rather  arbi- 
trary administration  had  perhaps  unjustly — considering  the  condition  of  the 

provinces  —  won  for  him  the  reputation  of  being  "  a  mere  military  martinet," 
was  at  length  in  1786  superseded  by  Sir  Guy  Carleton,  who  had  been  raised 
to  the  peerage  as  Lord  Dorchester. 

Lord  Dorchester,  who  has  been  lauded  by  his  ardent  admirers  as  "  the 
founder  and  saviour  of  Canada,"  seems  to  have  been  well  fitted  to  govern 
mixed  peoples.  What  was  more  to  the  point,  he  was  a  rather  liberal-minded, 
far-sighted  statesman,  and  he  at  once  set  himself  to  solve  the  difficult  prob- 

lem before  him.  Although  he  was  himself  the  principal  author  of  the  act 
under  which  the  province  of  Quebec  was  then  governed,  he  recognised  clearly 
that  new  conditions  demanded  new  laws.  He  inmiediately  undertook  tem- 

porary measures  which  would  soothe  the  discontent  until  the  British  parlia- 
ment could  enact  the  necessary  legislation.  His  first  official  acts  were  the 

restoration  of  the  Habeas  Corpus  Act  and  the  right  of  trial  by  jury  in  civil 
cases.  Then  he  set  to  work  to  study  the  necessities  of  the  province,  which 
he  set  forth  in  a  masterly  report  to  the  colonial  secretary.  The  newly  set- 

tled lake  region  he  divided  into  four  new  districts,  to  be  administered  under 

English  law.«» 

THE  CONSTITUTIONAL  ACT 

The  remedy  proposed  by  Lord  Dorchester  for  the  difficulties  in  Canada 
was  a  division  of  the  territory  into  two  provinces,  each  to  have  that  form  of 
constitution  best  suited  to  the  wants  of  its  inhabitants.  In  accordance  with 
this  plan.  Earl  Granville  introduced  in  the  British  parliament  a  bill,  known  to 
Canadian  history  as  the  Constitutional  Act,  for  dividing  the  dissatisfied  prov- 

ince into  Upper  Canada  and  Lower  Canada.  The  act  stirred  up  a  fierce 
debate  in  the  imperial  parliament.  The  English  population  of  the  proposed 
lower  province  were  violently  against  it,  fearing  that  they  would  be  swamped 
by  the  French  majority.  Many  were  for  treating  French  Canada  in  all 
respects  as  a  conquered  territory,  and  imposing  upon  it  the  English  language, 
English  laws,  and  English  institutions  —  a  course  which  would  have  found 
ample  precedent  in  the  practice  of  civilised  states.  But  both  policy  and  jus- 

tice seemed  to  point  to  other  measures.  Lord  Dorchester's  advice,  backed 
by  the  tremendous  support  of  the  younger  Pitt,  carried  the  day.  The  French 
Canadians  had  proved  themselves  loyal  subjects  of  Great  Britain  at  a  time 
when  the  sons  of  her  own  loins  were  flying  at  her  throat.    They  had  turned 
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a  deaf  ear  to  the  English-American  colonies.  Now,  at  a  time  when  France 
was  given  up,  in  the  name  of  liberty,  to  all  the  wild  horrors  of  the  Revolu- 

tion, the  French  Canadians  were  faithful  to  their  church  and  obedient  to  their 
priests.  This  steadiness  and  conservatism  found  great  favour  in  English, 
eyes.  English  statesmen  were  not  inclined  to  force  upon  so  excellent  a  people 
any  laws  and  customs  which  they  did  not  like.  Moreover,  the  revolt  of  the 
thirteen  colonies  had  rubbed  smartly  into  the  English  mind  a  lesson  which 
was  not  yet  fully  understood.  Pitt  fancied  that  the  new  colonies  would  be 
more  securely  held  to  England  if  they  could  be  held  somewhat  apart  from 
each  other.  He  favoured  the  perpetuation  of  French  ideas,  institutions,  and 
speech  in  Lower  Canada,  as  a  barrier  between  the  English  provinces  of  Upper 
Canada  on  the  one  hand,  and  Nova  Scotia  and  New  Brunswick  on  the  other. 
His  dread  was  lest  these  provinces  should  some  day  roll  together  into  one, 

and  repeat  the  deeds  of  '76.  He  remembered  the  cynical  saying  of  Turgot, 
that  "  colonies  are  like  fruits  which  only  cling  till  they  ripen."    He  wished  by 

Citadel  of  Qttebec  from  the  Terrace 

justice  and  generosity  to  strengthen  every  tie  of  love  between  the  colonies: 
and  England;  but  by  no  means  did  he  wish  the  colonies  should  love  each 
other. 

Upper  Canada,  therefore,  was  made  in  all  respects  a  British  province,  with 
English  laws,  and  with  all  lands  held  on  the  freehold  tenure.  Lower  Canada, 
while  receiving  the  benefit  of  representative  institutions,  along  with  the 
Habeas  Corpus  Act,  and  the  criminal  law  of  England,  remained  in  other 
respects,  what  she  alreadj^  was,  a  French  province.  Lands  were  held  on  that 
feudal  tenure  then  in  existence.  In  the  case  of  new  grants,  however,  the 
freehold  tenure  was  permitted  on  special  request.  In  civil  law  the  French 
practice  was  established.  French  sentiment  was  determined  that  the  French 
language  and  French  customs  should  not  go  down  before  the  swarmmg 
inroads  of  English  settlement,  and  this  sentiment  was  fully  recognised  in  the 
new  act.  The  act  secured  to  the  French  Canadians  what  had  been  allowed 

them  from  the  conquest  —  the  privileges  of  their  religion  and  the  mainte- 
nance of  their  church  system;  but  at  the  same  time,  to  protect  the  Protes- 

tant minority,  a  large  portion  of  the  wild  lands  was  set  apart  in  Lower  Canada, 
as  in  the  other  provinces,  for  the  support  of  the  Protestant  clergy.  These 

lands,  known  as  the  "  clergy  reserves,"  became  in  after  years  a  source  of  bitter 
strife  in  the  provincial  assemblies. 

At  the  time  of  the  division  Lower  Canada  had  a  population  of  perhaps- 
125,000,  Upper  Canada  of  less  than  20,000.    To  each  was  given  a  legislature 
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of  three  branches,  as  in  the  other  provinces.  These  three  branches  —  gov- 
ernor, legislative  council,  and  house  of  assembly  —  corresponded  in  a  vague 

way  to  the  "  three  estates  "  in  England:  king,  lords,  and  commons.  There 
was  also  a  strong  but  anomalous  body  called  the  executive  council,  which 
acted  as  an  advisory  board  to  the  governor.  Its  powers  were  very  vaguely 
laid  down;  and  the  position  of  its  members  enabled  them  to  defy  public 
opinion.  They  were  the  occupants  of  the  highest  official  posts  in  each  colony, 
and  as  a  rule,  though  not  of  necessity,  they  held  seats  in  the  legislative  council. 
The  governor,  appointed  by  the  crown,  and  usually  sent  out  from  England 
with  small  knowledge  of  the  peculiar  conditions  of  life  in  a  new  country,  was 
apt  to  be  swayed  unduly  by  these  official  advisers.  If  the  governor  made 
himself  obnoxious  to  the  people,  the  people  could,  in  course  of  time,  get  rid 
of  him  by  petitioning  for  his  recall.  But  the  members  of  the  executive  coun- 

cil, once  they  were  appointed,  held  office  without  responsibility  either  to  the 
governor  or  the  people.  The  crown,  of  course,  could  remove  them;  but  they 

were  hardly  important  enough  to  attract  the  crown's  attention.  Therefore 
their  seats  were  impregnable,  and  they  gradually  acquired  a  lofty  contempt 
for  the  classes  whom  they  considered  their  inferiors.  Much  of  the  bitterness 
of  the  struggle  for  responsible  government,  destined  so  soon  to  commence, 
was  directly  traceable  to  the  arrogance  of  the  executive  council. 

The  legislative  council  was  mixed  up  with  the  executive  in  a  most  confus- 
ing way;  its  membership  in  part,  and  its  interests  altogether  were  the  same. 

The  members  of  the  legislative  council  were  appointed  by  the  crown,  and  for 
life.  They  were  selected  from  among  the  juages,  bishops,  and  highest  offi- 

cials of  the  provinces.  They  held  themselves  responsible  to  no  one  but  a 
king  who  was  too  far  off  to  observe  them;  and  they  strove  to  secure  to  them- 

selves the  privileges  of  a  hereditary  aristocracy.  In  the  beginning  they  were 
the  most  vehement  petitioners  for  free  representative  government.  When 
they  had  gained  a  measure  of  it,  and  that  measure  entirely  in  their  own  hands, 
they  set  themselves  to  block  the  wheels  of  progress.  Themselves  at  first 
the  leaders  in  the  advance,  they  became  at  last  its  most  obstinate  oppo- 

nents. The  final  triumph  of  the  principles  of  responsible  government  was 
only  gained  by  their  overthrow. 

The  members  of  the  assembly  were  the  representatives  of  the  people, 
responsible  to  the  people,  and  elected  by  the  people  to  serve  for  a  fixed  term 
of  years.  They  did  not  always  serve  the  full  term,  however,  as  the  governor 

had  power  to  "  dissolve  the  house  "  at  any  time,  and  call  upon  the  people  to 
elect  a  new  assembly.  Under  these  circumstances  the  people  were  very 
likely  to  re-elect  their  old  representatives.  In  the  hands  of  the  assembly 
rested  the  power  of  raising  revenues  for  the  public  services,  by  taxation  ana 
the  imposition  of  customs  duties.  The  making  of  laws  rested  with  the 
assembly  and  legislative  council,  but  no  law  became  operative  till  it  received 
the  assent  of  the  governor.  As  we  have  said,  the  raising  of  revenue  was  in  the 
hands  of  the  assembly;  but  there  was  a  large  revenue  coming  in  from  the  sale 
or  lease  of  crown  lands,  as  well  as  from  the  lease  of  mines  and  timber  limits, 
which  was  known  as  the  "  casual  and  territorial  revenue."  The  control  of 
this  revenue  was  in  the  very  beginning  seized  by  the  executive,  with  the  leg- 

islative council's  consent.  It  became  a  bone  of  fierce  contention  between 
executive  and  assembly.** 

The  two  decades  which  elapsed  between  the  inauguration  of  the  consti- 
tution of  1792  and  the  outbreak  of  the  War  of  1812  between  England  and 

the  United  States  contained  few  incidents  of  importance.  The  administra- 
tion of  Colonel  John  Graves  Simcoe,  the  first  lieutenant-governor  of  the  new 
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province  of  Upper  Canada,  was  marked  by  a  zealous  extension  of  the  west- 
ern settlements  and  the  encouragement  of  immigration,  particularly  that  of 

American  loyalists.  The  capital  was  removed  to  Toronto.  Simcoe's  intense 
hostility  to  the  United  States,  however,  led  him  to  give  countenance  if  not 
actually  to  encourage  the  Indian  attacks  on  the  American  settlements  on  the 
Great  Lakes,  and  he  was  removed  in  1796.  In  the  same  year  Lord  Dorchester 
(Sir  Guy  Carleton)  was  recalled  from  the  governor-generalship  which  he  had 
held  with  distinguished  abiUty  for  ten  years.  In  the  early  years  of  the  nine- 

teenth century  the  first  warnings  of  political  unrest  were  manifest  in  the 
bitter  enmity  between  the  governor-general,  Sir  James  Craig,  an  obstinate 
Scotch  soldier,  appointed  1808,  and  the  representative  assemblies.  In  Lower 
Canada  he  aroused  the  racial  hostility  of  the  French  Canadians  by  arbitrarily 
suppressing  their  principal  organ  Le 
Canadien.  The  reformers  were  some- 

what pacified  by  the  removal  of 
Governor  Craig  in  1811,  and  the  ap- 

pointment in  his  place  of  Sir  George 
Prevost,  and  the  outbreak  of  the 
War  of  1812  caused  a  brief  post- 

ponement of  a  settlement  of  the 
differences. 

"The  War  of  1812,"  said  Bouri- 
not,«  "  was  to  prove  the  fidelity  of 
the  Canadian  people  to  the  British 
crown  and  stimulate  a  new  spirit  of 
self-reliance  among  French  as  well 
as  English  Canadians."  From  the 
beginning  to  the  end  of  the  conflict 
Canada  was  the  theatre  of  the 

greater  part  of  the  military  opera- 
tions, and  the  scene  of  the  principal 

battles.  Upper  Canada,  however, 
was  the  only  province  that  really 
suffered  as  a  result.  The  Canadian 
militia  rallied  to  the  call  of  the  au- 

thorities, and  played  a  part  in  the 
several  campaigns  that  compares  not  unfavourably  with  that  of  the  British 
regulars  whom  they  supported.  But  the  war  had  little  enough  glory  for  any 
of  the  parties  concerned.  The  conflict,  its  causes  and  results,  will  be  found 
treated  as  a  part  of  the  history  of  the  United  States. 

Kent  Gate,  Quebec 

THE   STRUGGLE   FOE   CONSTITUTIONAL   GOVERNMENT 

The  restoration  of  peace  in  1815  marked  the  beginning  of  a  quarter  cen- 
tury of  domestic  strife  and  turmoil.  The  struggle  centering  in  the  two  Can- 

adas  originated  in  the  constant  contest  for  supremacy  between  the  executive 
authorities  on  the  one  hand  and  the  popular  legislative  authorities  on  the 

other,  that  had  begun  some  years  earlier.  In  Lower  Canada  the  dispute  was 

aggravated  by  the  fact  that  the  English-speaking  minority  controlled  the 
executive  and  the  legislative  councils,  while  the  popular  assembly  was  domin- 

ated by  the  French  Canadians.  The  basis  of  the  whole  trouble,  therefore, 
may  be  said  to  have  been  race  antagonism.    As  Lord  Durham  expressed  it 
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in  1839,  "I  found  two  nations  warring  in  the  bosom  of  a  single  state;  I 
found  a  struggle  not  of  principles  but  of  races." 

Circumstances  gave  to  the  movement  the  form  and  aspect  of  a  struggle 
for  representative  government.  The  several  constitutions  granted  the  prov- 

inces in  the  latter  part  of  the  eighteenth  century  placed  the  governments 
nominally  on  a  representative  basis.  In  reality  they  were  far  from  being  so. 
The  members  of  the  executive  councils,  appointed  for  life  and  responsible  to 
no  one,  represented  ohly  a  small  aristocracy.  Their  influence  dominated  also 
the  upper  or  appointive  chamber  of  the  legislatures,  serving  as  a  positive 
check  on  the  actions  of  the  popular  lower  branch.  The  assembly  demanded 
that  the  executive  should  be  responsible  to  them,  that  he  should  acknowledge 
the  theory  of  parliamentary  responsibility  and  retire  from  office  on  the  with- 

drawal of  popular  support.  In  Upper  Canada  this  oligarchic  aristocracy 
came  to  be  known,  because  of  their  jealous  exclusiveness,  as  the  Family  Com- 

pact, and  the  name  eventually  extended  to  the  corresponding  parties  in  the 
other  colonies. 

In  Lower  Canada  the  strife  began  again  before  the  close  of  the  American 
war  with  the  impeachment  by  the  assembly  of  Judge  Monk  and  Chief-Justice 
Sewell,  whom  the  reformers  blamed  for  all  the  sins  of  omission  and  com- 

mission of  their  former  governor,  Sir  James  Craig.  But  the  charges  had  no 
justification  either  in  law  or  justice,  and  the  impeachment  proceedings  failed 
utterly.  The  next  bone  of  contention  was  the  civil  list,  in  regard  to  which 
the  assembly  asserted  the  right  of  examination  of  the  items.  In  1819  the 
assembly  and  the  legislative  council  came  to  a  deadlock  over  appropriations, 
and  such  was  the  situation  when  King  George  III  died  and  Lord  Dalhousie 
became  governor-general. 

At  the  very  outset  the  new  governor  precipitated  a  conflict  by  demand- 
ing that  the  assembly  provide  for  the  civil  list  by  a  permanent  appropriation, 

and  upon  their  immediate  refusal  he  himself  appropriated  an  amount  from 
the  treasury  sufficient  to  cover  the  civil  list  expenses.  Session  after  session 
passed  and  the  deadlock  continued.  Recourse  was  had  by  the  governor  to 
the  funds  accumulating  from  the  sale  of  crown  lands,  but  even  these  were 
inadequate  for  the  purpose.  Then,  too,  they  were  so  carelessly  managed 
that  Sir  John  Caldwell,  the  receiver-general,  became  a  heavy  defaulter. 

Dalhousie  at  length  dissolved  the  assembly.  But  the  new  house  had  an 
even  larger  majority  of  reformers  than  the  old,  and  at  once  re-elected  as 
speaker,  Louis  Joseph  Papineau,  the  rash  and  impetuous  leader  of  the  French 
<^anadians  who,  save  for  a  brief  interval,  had  been  speaker  of  the  house  since 

1817.  He  had  been  most  active  in  the  attack  upon  the  governor's  assump- 
tion of  the  assembly's  appropriating  power,  and  was  the  most  eloquent 

defender  of  the  prerogatives  of  the  popular  chamber.  A  man  of  command- 
ing presence,  gifted  with  unusual  powers  of  rhetoric  and  persuasion,  a  bril- 

liant debater  and  an  able  parliamentarian,  Papineau  was  too  much  lacking  in 
tact  and  discretion,  too  erratic  and  too  extreme  a  partisan  ever  to  take  rank 
as  a  constructive  statesman.  As  an  agitator,  as  the  enthusiastic  and  radical 
leader  of  a  popular  cause,  whose  adherents  were  inherently  emotional  rather 
than  rational,  no  man  was  by  nature  better  fitted  than  Papineau.  Lord  Dal- 

housie distrusted  and  disliked  him.  He  rightly  considered  him  the  real  leader 
of  the  opposition,  and  his  re-election  as  speaker  was  taken  as  a  challenge 
from  the  reformers.  Lord  Dalhousie  accepted  it  and  refused  to  sanction 

Papineau's  election.  The  assembly  refused  to  reconsider  its  action,  and  the 
governor-general  prorogued  the  body,  which  did  not  meet  again  during  Lord 
Dalhousie's  administration.    A  petition  signed  by  eighty-seven  thousand 
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inhabitants  was  at  once  forwarded  to  England,  charging  the  governor-general 
with  many  arbitrary  acts,  of  illegal  appropriation  of  treasury  funds,  of  vio- 

lent prorogation  of  the  assembly,  of  dismissing  militia  officers  for  opposing 
his  policy,  of  remodelling  the  civil  service  to  serve  political  purposes,  and  of 
■continuing  in  the  office  of  receiver-general  a  notorious  defaulter.  Sir  John €aldwell.« 

As  Upper  Canada  was  at  the  same  time  besieging  the  home  government 
with  like  petitions,  the  state  of  affairs  attracted  anxious  attention  in  England. 
Parliament  appointed  a  Canada  committee  to  examine  the  points  at  issue. 
The  report  of  this  committee  (1828) 
was  hailed  in  Lower  Canada  with 
.grateful  rejoicing.  It  urged  that 
the  crown  duties(of  the  Act  of  1774) 
should  be  put  under  the  control  of 
the  assembly  on  condition  that 
permanent  provision  should  be 
made  for  the  payment  of  the  crown 
officials;  that  the  judges  should  give 
up  their  seats  in  the  legislative 
council;  that  bishops  should  not  be 
allowed  to  interfere  in  matters  of 
government;  that  receivers-general 
should  give  security;  that  accounts 
should  be  examined  by  the  assem- 

bly's auditors;  and  that  the  execu- 
tive and  legislative  councils  should 

be  enlarged  and  made  more  inde- 
pendent by  the  addition  of  mem- 

bers representing  different  classes 
and  interests,  and  not  holding  gov- 

ernment offices.  These  recom- 
mendations applied  to  both  Upper 

and  Lower  Canada;  and  in  regard 
to  the  latter  province  it. was  partic- 

ularly urged  that  the  French  Cana- 
dian majority  should  have  a  fair 

representation.  The  unpopular  Dal-  sous  le  cap,  qotbec 
iousie  was  recalled.    The  new  gov- 

ernor-general. Sir  James  Kempt,  recognised  Papineau  as  speaker  of  the  assem- 
bly; and  once  more  the  excitement  died  away.d 

THE   DISPUTE   IN   UPPER   CANADA 

Events  in  Upper  Canada  meanwhile  were  tending  in  much  the  same  direc- 
tion as  in  the  lower  province,  though  the  various  steps  in  the  progress  were 

very  different.  The  race  antagonism  for  one  thing  was  lacking.  The  strug- 
gle, too,  at  the  outset  at  any  rate,  lacked  some  of  the  bitterness  of  that  in 

the  sister  province.  More  clearly  defined  than  elsewhere,  the  issue  was  the 
domination  or  overthrow  of  the  Family  Compact,  This  faction  existed  in 
Upper  Canada  in  its  strictest,  most  oligarchic,  and  most  objectionable  form. 
Every  branch  of  provincial  activity,  not  alone  the  pohtical,  but  the  social, 
educational,  mercantile  and  industrial,  felt  the  blight  of  its  rule.  Its  mem- 

bers held  not  only  all  the  government  offices,  but  they  owned  practically  all 
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the  real  estate,  and  controlled  virtually  every  trade  and  industry  in  the  prov- 
inces. Frightened  by  the  logic  of  "  the  spirit  of  76,"  these  sons  of  exiled 

tories  vigorously  repelled  every  attempt  to  enlighten  or  instruct  the  people 
in  regard  to  self-government.  They  frowned  on  popular  education  for  the 
masses,  they  kept  the  press  muzzled  in  a  most  un-English  manner,  and  every 
attempt  to  petition  for  the  correction  of  popular  grievances  they  ignored 
absolutely. 

Without  a  doubt,  the  alarm  of  the  Family  Compact  partisans  was  aggra- 
vated by  the  flood  of  immigration  from  the  United  States  which  set  in  imme- 

diately after  the  peace  in  1815.  The  new  settlers  were  democratic  in  their 
training  and  method  of  thought,  and  had  nothing  but  ridicule  for  the  old 
tory  aristocracy,  whose  power  they  at  once  openly  set  about  to  overthrow 
and  discredit.  Their  frankly  uttered  expressions  favouring  a  possible  annex- 

ation to  the  United  States  certainly  did  not  serve  to  make  a  reconciliation 
with  the  ruling  class  easier.  The  struggle  was  precipitated  by  Robert  Gour- 
lay,  an  eccentric  Scotch  agitator  who,  as  a  land  agent,  aroused  the  hostility 
of  the  Compact  by  going  about  the  country  and  advising  the  people  to  com- 

plain of  their  wrongs  to  the  colonial  office.  The  Compact  then  set  about 
driving  the  objectionable  Gourlay  from  the  country.  Twice  he  was  arrested 
and  tried  for  libel,  and  twice  he  was  acquitted.  Thwarted  in  their  attempts 
to  remove  him  legally,  his  enemies  conspired  to  bring  against  him  an  unjust 
and  unfounded  charge  of  sedition.  Again  he  was  arrested,  and  contrary  to 
every  principle  of  English  law  and  justice,  he  was  allowed  to  languish  in 
prison  seven  long  months  without  trial.  He  was  then  taken  to  Niagara, 
where  the  control  and  influence  of  the  Compact  were  all-powerful,  and 
before  a  prejudiced  judge,  in  a  trial  that  was  from  first  to  last  a  hollow  mock- 

ery and  a  travesty  on  justice,  he  was  found  guilty  by  a  packed  jury  and 
sentenced  to  exile.  But  in  the  fate  of  the  unhappy  Scotchman  was  sounded 
the  doom  of  the  Family  Compact.  Men  were  at  length  awakened  to  demand 
their  rights,  and  the  spirit  aroused  that  day  ceased  not  to  grow  till  the 
Family  Compact  was  overthrown  and  responsible  government  established." 

Unquestionably  most  of  the  movements  against  the  democratic  tendencies 
of  the  time  in  Upper  Canada  were  originated  by  Dr.  John  Strachan,  after- 

wards first  bishop  of  Toronto.  He  was  a  politician  of  the  most  ardent  type. 

He  added  the  persistency  of  his  Scottish  nature  to  the  imcompromising  prin- 
ciples of  loyalism.  Bravery,  perseverance,  astuteness,  and  mgenuity  were 

the  prominent  features  of  the  ecclesiastical  legislator  and  councillor.  It  is 
easy  to  imagine  with  what  gusto,  in  his  Aberdonian  dialect,  the  clerical  poli- 

tician, when  it  was  suggested  to  him  that  the  law  did  not  permit  the  house  to 

expel  a  refractory  member,  would  declare,  "  The  law  —  the  law!  Never  mind 
the  law  —  turn  him  oot;  turn  him  oot!  "^ 

MACKENZIE  AND  THE   FAMILY  COMPACT 

The  forces  of  the  Family  Compact  in  Upper  Canada  under  Doctor  Strachan 
and  Beverley  Robinson  were  much  better  organised  than  in  the  lower  province, 
and  they  were  able  for  some  time  to  keep  the  upper  hand  of  their  radical 
opponents.  It  was  not  until  1824  that  the  reformers  obtained  a  majority  in 
the  assembly.  In  that  same  year  William  Lyon  Mackenzie,  a  fiery,  hot-headed 
young  Scotchman,  started  a  reform  paper  called  the  Colonial  Advocate.  Its 
bitter  and  scathing  criticisms  of  the  Compact  in  1826  led  a  band  of  young 
Compact  partisans  to  break  into  the  office  one  night  and  destroy  the  presses. 
The  only  important  result  of  this  raid  was  that  Mackenzie,  who  had  been  on 
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the  point  of  discontinuing  the  paper  for  lack  of  support,  was  enabled  to  start 
in  again  on  a  larger  scale  with  the  $3,000  damages  awarded  him." 

Other  things  happened  to  stir  up  the  people's  indignation.  Members  of 
the  opposition  in  the  assembly  were  spied  upon  and  persecuted.  A  British 
half -pay  officer.  Captain  Matthews,  for  having,  in  an  after-dinner  mood,  called 
upon  some  strolling  American  players  to  give  two  or  three  American  national 
airs,  was  reported  to  the  home  government  for  disloyalty,  and  lost  his  pension. 
A  certain  Judge  Willis,  sent  out  from  England,  incurred  the  wrath  of  the 
Compact  by  his  strictures  upon  their  modes  of  administering  justice,  and  was 
removed  from  his  position.  Then  a  grasping  inn-keeper  named  Forsyth,  at 
Niagara  Falls,  built  a  high  fence  along  the  front  of  his  place,  to  shut  out  the 
view  and  force  visitors  to  pass  through  his  grounds  if  they  wished  to  see  the 
great  cataract.  Governor  Maitland  ordered  him  to  take  away  the  obstruction, 
but  Forsyth  refused.  Thus  far,  Forsyth  was  in  the  wrong.  But  the  arbi- 

trary governor  made  haste  to  put  himself  in  the  wrong  —  and  at  once  the 
avaricious  boniface  appeared  a  victim  of  tory  persecution.  A  squad  of 

soldiers  appeared,  tore  down  the  fence,  destroyed  a  house  of  Forsyth's  which 
stood  on  his  own  land,  and  threw  the  wreck  into  the  falls.  The  assembly 
undertook  to  investigate  the  outrage.  Certain  government  officials  were 

summoned  before  the  house  to  give  evidence;  but  on  Maitland's  rash  advice 
they  refused  to  obey  the  summons.  The  assembly  had  them  arrested  and 
put  in  prison;  whereupon  the  governor  dissolved  the  house.  This  led  to  such 
a  storm  of  anger  that  Maitland  was  promptly  recalled  by  the  colonial  office 
(1828).  He  was  succeeded  by  Sir  John  Colbome,  a  veteran  of  the  Napo- 

leonic wars.<* 
The  new  governor,  however,  was  imable  to  terminate  the  conflict  which 

was  daily  growing  more  ominous.  The  extremes  to  which  the  Mackenzie 
faction  ran  however,  led  to  a  split  in  the  ranks  of  the  reformers,  and  the  more 
moderate  liberals  led  by  such  men  as  Egerton  Ryerson,  Robert  Baldwin  and 
Marshall  Bidwell,  speaker  of  the  assembly,  did  all  they  could  to  stem  the  tide 
which  they  began  to  fear  was  rising  to  dangerous  heights.  This  split  enabled 
the  Compact  to  obtain  control  of  the  assembly  in  1830;  an  occasion  which 
they  took  advantage  of  by  passing  a  measure  known  as  the  Everlasting 
Salaries  Act,  which  by  providing  a  permanent  grant  for  the  salaries  of  judges 
and  officials  rendered  them  independent  of  the  assembly.  Mackenzie,  who 
had  been  elected  a  member,  bitterly  attacked  the  bill,  and  was  expelled. 
Again  and  again  he  was  returned  by  his  loyal  constituents,  only  to  be  as  often 
expelled  by  the  tory  majority.  Mackenzie  appealed  to  the  colonial  secre- 

tary, who  declared  that  his  expulsion  was  illegal.  He  at  once  became  a  pop- 
ular idol,  and  was  enthusiastically  chosen  first  mayor  of  Toronto  in  1834. 

In  1835  the  reformers  again  had  a  majority  in  the  assembly,  Bidwell  was 
re-elected  speaker,  and  Mackenzie  made  chairman  of  a  special  committee  on 
grievances. 

Sir  John  Colbome  was  recalled,  but  the  new  governor.  Sir  Francis  Bond 
Head,  although  appointed  with  the  evident  idea  of  placating  the  reform  party, 
at  the  very  outset  adopted  a  course  that  made  peace  between  the  warring 
parties  impossible.  He  appointed  three  reformers  to  his  council,  but  declared 
to  them  that  he  should  take  their  advice  only  when  he  felt  so  disposed,  and 
that  he  had  no  faith  in  the  principle  of  responsible  ministers.  Thereupon 
the  reformers  resigned,  the  new  governor  filling  their  places  with  Compact 
leaders  and  acted  thenceforth  with  that  party.  The  assembly  retaliated  by 
passing  resolutions  of  censure  upon  Governor  Head,  and  refused  to  vote 
supplies.    At  this  junctvire  Speaker  Bidwell  received  a  communication  from 
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Papineau,  the  reform  leader  in  Lower  Canada,  suggesting  that  the  reformers 
in  the  two  provinces  act  in  unison.  Sir  Francis  Head  thought  he  scented  in 
this  a  republican  conspiracy,  and  dissolved  the  assembly.  The  new  assembly, 
elected  after  a  sharp  campaign  in  which  the  loyalty  of  the  voters  was  appealed 
to,  showed  a  majority  for  the  Compact.  The  Mackenzie  faction,  bitterly 
complaining  of  injustice  and  oppression  were  thus  driven  into  alliance  with 
the  more  radical  elements  in  the  lower  province. 

THE  LOWER  CANADA  RISING 

Meanwhile  affairs  in  Lower  Canada  had  reached  a  crisis.  A  royal  com- 
mission was  appointed  in  1835  to  inquire  into  the  state  of  affairs  in  the  prov- 

ince. Its  report,  submitted  to  the  British  parliament  in  1837  was  adverse  to 
the  extreme  demands  of  the  reformers.  Lord  John  Russell,  in  view  of  this 
report,  took  the  step  of  introducing  a  bill  authorising  the  use  of  provincial 
treasury  funds  to  make  up  for  the  failure  of  the  assembly  to  support  the  civil 
list.  When  the  news  of  this  action  reached  the  province  the  reformers  pre- 

pared for  resistance.  Public  meetings  were  held  in  every  parish,  and  secret 
militia  organisations  called  Sons  of  Liberty  were  widely  established.  The 
local  authorities  seemed  paralysed,  but  Bishop  Lartigue  and  the  French  Ro- 

man Catholic  clergy  asserted  themselves  against  the  seditious  utterances  of 
tiie  revolutionary  leaders.    The  admonitions  of  the  priests  fell  on  deaf  ears. 

In  October  occurred  the  first  steps  in  an  organised  revolt.  The  rebels 
collected  in  force  at  St.  Charles  and  St.  Denis.  At  the  former  place,  a  column 
crowned  by  a  liberty  cap  was  set  up.  Everywhere  the  tri-colour  was  dis- 

played. At  the  latter  place,  imder  Dr.  Wolfred  Nelson,  an  educated  English- 
man, a  large  stone  distillery  was  fortified.  The  first  bloodshed  occurred  in  a 

street  riot  between  the  factions  in  Montreal  early  in  November.  Soon  after- 
wards. Sir  John  Colbome,  commander  of  the  forces,  dispatched  two  expeditions 

to  scatter  the  rebels  at  St.  Charles  and  St.  Denis. 
Against  St.  Denis  was  sent  Colonel  Gore  with  five  hundred  men  and  one 

cannon.  Lieutenant  Weir,  a  young  militia  officer,  carrjmig  despatches  to 
■Colonel  Gore,  was  captured  by  a  band  of  rebels  and  shot  while  endeavouring 
to  escape.  The  shooting  was  apparently  unwarrantable  and  was  condemned 
by  Doctor  Nelson,  who  however,  from  the  despatches  captured,  was  apprised 

•of  Colonel  Gore's  strength  and  purposes.  Colonel  Gore  attacked  on  the  night 
of  November  23rd,  but  was  beaten  off  with  considerable  loss  and  retired, 
leaving  his  gun  ignominiously  stuck  in  the  mud. 

Two  days  later,  however.  Colonel  Wetherall  moving  against  the  rebel  posi- 
tion at  St.  Charles  had  scattered  the  insurgent  habitants  with  little  difficulty, 

and  Wetherall  leaving  a  small  force  in  the  village  returned  to  Montreal 
dragging  the  liberty  pole  and  cap  behind  him.  Papineau,  who  it  is  alleged, 
shrank  from  participating  in  the  armed  revolt  which  he  had  been  the  most 
active  agent  in  arousing,  fled  across  the  border  after  the  rout  at  St.  Charles. 
On  December  5th  martial  law  was  proclaimed  in  the  Montreal  district.  On 
December  13th  Sir  John  Colborne,  at  the  head  of  an  effective  force  of  thirteen 
hundred  men,  regular  troops  and  militia,  marched  against  the  rebels  in  the 
Two  Moimtain  district.  At  St.  Eustache  on  the  following  day  a  force  of 
insurgents  was  dispersed,  and  many  lost  their  lives  by  the  burning  of  a  church 

-whence  they  had  fled  for  protection.  At  St.  Benoit  the  rebels  without  firing 
a  shot,  laid  down  their  arms,  and  were  allowed  to  return  to  their  homes.  With 
the  return  of  Sir  John  Colbome  to  Montreal,  the  first  revolt  in  Lower  Canada 
may  be  said  to  have  terminated. 
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THE  REVOLT  IN  UPPER  CANADA 

In  Upper  Canada  after  their  defeat  in  the  assembly  election  the  Mackenzie 
faction  prepared  to  act  in  agreement  with  the  radicals  in  the  lower  province. 
In  the  simimer  of  1837  Mackenzie  effected  an  organisation  known  as  the  Com- 

mittee of  Vigilance,  and  throwing  caution  to  the  winds  went  about  the  province 
making  incendiary  speeches.  Bidwell  refused  to  have  anything  to  do  with 
the  movement.  The  dispatch  of  troops  to  Lower  Canada  on  the  first  signs  of 

outbreak  in  that  province,  favoured  Mackenzie's  schemes.  On  the  very  day 
•of  Colonel  Wetherall's  victory  at  St.  Charles  a  revolutionary  appeal  headed 
"  Proclamation  by  William  Lyon  Mackenzie,  chairman  pro  tern,  of  the  Provi- 

sional Government  of  the  State  of  Upper  Canada,"  and  calling  on  all  liberty- 
loving  Canadians  to  rise,  was  scattered  broadcast  throughout  the  province. 

The  proclamation  stated  that  the  "patriots"  had  established  a  provisional 
seat  of  government  on  Navy  Island  in  the  Niagara  river. 

In  the  first  week  in  December  the  rebels  began  to  report  at  Montgomery's 
tavern,  near  Toronto,  designated  as  a  rendezvous.  Had  the  insurgents 
marched  at  once  on  Toronto,  where  the  apathy  was  great,  it  must  have  fallen 
into  their  hands.  The  rebels  opened  negotiations  with  Governor  Head,  who 
would  grant  none  of  their  demands.  But  the  time  spent  in  parleying  was 
fatal.  Colonel  Allan  McNab  arrived  in  Toronto  with  a  force  of  militia,  and 

lost  no  time  in  attacking  the  insurgents  at  Montgomery's  tavern.  After  a 
short  but  sharp  skirmish  the  rebels  gave  way  and  Mackenzie,  for  whose  head 
a  reward  of  £1,000  had  been  offered,  fled  across  the  border  into  the  United 
States." 

The  provisional  government  was  still  organised  on  Navy  Island,  in  the 

Niagara  river.  The  patriot  flag,  with  twin  stars  and  the  motto,  "  Liberty  and 
Equality,'-  was  hoisted  and  planted  in  the  face  of  Colonel  McNab,  who  held 
the  Canadian  shore.  A  daring  action  was  performed  on  December  29th  by 

Captain  Drew,  R.N.,,  one  of  McNab's  command.  The  insurgents  had  made 
lose  of  a  vessel,  the  Caroline,  in  carrying  supplies  from  the  American  shore  to 
Navy  Island.  The  vessel  lay  moored  for  the  night  under  the  very  guns  of 
Tort  Schlosser,  indeed  the  shadows  of  the  fort  enveloped  the  Caroline.  _With 
seven  boats,  carrying  some  sixty  men  in.  all,  who  were  armed  with  pistols, 
cutlasses,  and  pikes,  the  captain  boarded  the  ill-fated  vessel,  captured  her, 
but  not  being  able,  on  account  of  the  current,  to  bring  her  to  the  Canadian 
side,  sent  her  flaming  over  the  Niagara  Falls.  The  vessel  proved  to  be  an 
American  bottom,  and  so  Britain  was  compelled  to  disavow  the  seizure,  but 
nothing  could  blot  out  the  bravery  of  the  deed.^ 

Up  to  the  end  of  1838  Upper  Canada  was  from  time  to  time  entered  by 
marauding  bands  from  the  United  States,  composed  of  a  few  disappointed 
revolutionists  urged  on  by  Mackenzie  and  others,  and  such  ruffians  or  adven- 

turers as  they  could  persuade  by  promise  of  pillage  or  grants  of  land  to  join 
them.  None  of  the  expeditions  were  successful  enough  to  cause  much  more 
than  a  temporary  disturbance,  and  they  came  to  an  end  when  the  United 
States  authorities  finally  awakened  to  the  necessity  of  suppressing  them. 
Mackenzie  himself  was  arrested  and  spent  some  time  in  prison  for  his  part 
in  instigating  the  raids.  The  inefficient  Sir  Francis  Bond  Head  was  at  length 
removed  from  the  lieutenant-governorship  and  his  successor.  Sir  George 
Arthur,  acted  with  more  resolution.  Lount,  Matthews,  Von  Shoultz  and  a 
number  of  the  American  raiders  were  executed,  and  a  large  number  trans- 

ported to  the  convict  settlements  in  Australia.  The  revolt  was  an  imfortunate 

and  imnecessary  episode  in  Canadian  history,  but  as  Sir  John  Boiu-inote H.  W.  —  VOL.  XXII.  Z 
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points  out,  it  caused  the  extinction  of  the  Family  Compact  regime,  and  led 
to  a  better  system  of  government." 

LORD   DURHAM  IN  CANADA 

The  immediate  result  of  the  rebellion  in  Lower  Canada  was  the  mter- 
vention  of  the  imperial  authorities  by  the  suspension  of  the  constitution  of 
that  province,  and  the  formation  of  a  special  council  for  piuposes  of  temporary 
government.  Lord  Durham,  a  nobleman  of  great  ability,  who  had  won  dis- 

tinction in  imperial  politics  as  a  reformer,  was  sent  out  to  Canada  as  governor- 
general  and  high  commissioner  to  inquire  into  and  adjust  provincial  diffi- 

culties.   This  distinguished  statesman  remained  at  the  head  of  affairs  in 

Pabmament  Building,  Ottawa 

the  province  from  the  last  of  May,  1838,  imtil  the  3rd  of  November  in  the 
same  year,  when  he  returned  to  England,  where  his  ordinance  of  the  28th 
of  June,  sentencing  certain  British  subjects  in  custody  to  transportation 
without  a  form  of  trial,  and  subjecting  them  and  others  not  in  prison  to  death 
in  case  of  their  return  to  the  country  without  permission  of  the  authorities, 
had  been  most  severely  censured  in  England  as  quite  unwarranted  by  law. 
By  this  ordinance  Wolfred  Nelson,  Bouchette,  Viger,  and  five  others,  then 

in  prison,  were  banished  to  Bermuda,  while  Papiaeau,  Cartier,  O'Callaghan, 
Robert  Nelson,  and  others  beyond  Canadian  jurisdiction  were  threatened 

with  death  if  they  returned  to  the  province.  Lord  Durham's  action  was 
certainly  in  conflict  with  the  principles  of  English  law,  but  it  was  an  error  of 
judgment  on  the  side  of  clemency.  He  was  unwilling  to  resort  to  a  court- 
martial —  the  only  tribunal  open  to  the  authorities.  A  trial  in  the  com-ts 
of  justice  was  impracticable  imder  existing  conditions,  as  it  was  shown  later. 
Lord  Durham  left  Canada,  in  deep  indignation  at  the  manner  in  which  his 
acts  had  been  criticised  in  England,  largely  through  the  influence  of  Lord 
Brougham,  his  personal  enemy.  The  most  important  result  of  his  mission 
was  a  report  which  was  probably  written  by  Charles  Buller,  his  secretary, 
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and  an  exceptionably  able  man,  although  there  is  no  doubt  that  it  embodied 
Lord  Durham's  own  opinions  and  conclusions. 

Soon  after  the  departure  of  Lord  Durham,  who  died  a  few  months  later, 
Sir  John  Colbome  became  governor-general.  He  was  called  upon  to  put  down 
another  rebellious  movement  led  by  Robert  Nelson,  brother  of  Wolfred 
Nelson,  then  in  exile.  At  Caughnawaga,  Montarville  Moimtain,  Beauhamois, 
and  Odelltown  the  insurgents  made  a  stand  from  time  to  time,  but  were  soon 
scattered.  Bands  of  marauders  inflicted  some  injury  upon  loyal  inhabitants 
near  the  frontier,  but  ui  a  few  months  these  criminal  attempts  to  disturb 
the  peace  of  the  province  ceased  entirely.  The  government  now  decided  to 
make  an  example  of  men  who  had  not  appreciated  the  clemency  previously 
shown  their  friends.  Twelve  men  were  executed,  but  it  was  not  possible  to 
obtain  a  verdict  from  a  jury  against  the  murderers  of  Weir  and  Chartrand 
—  the  latter  a  French  Canadian  volunteer  murdered  under  circumstances  of 
great  brutality  while  a  prisoner .e 

THE  UNION  ACT  OF   1840 

Lord  Diu-ham's  report  was  so  important  that  a  bill  was  founded  on  its 
recommendations,  and  introduced  into  parliament  in  1839,  by  Lord  John 
Russell.  Before  the  final  passage  of  this  bill,  it  was  deemed  wise  that  it 
should  be  submitted  to  the  colonial  governing  bodies.  To  accomplish  this 
end  a  shrewd  diplomatic  envoy,  Mr.  Charles  Poulett  Thompson,  a  relative 
of  the  famous  Lord  Ashburton,  was  sent  to  Canada,  September  13th,  1839. 

The  council  of  Lower  Canada  accepted  the  proposed  constitution,  though 
had  the  assembly,  which  had  been  suspended  during  the  rebellion,  been  in 

existence  the  residt  would  have  been  different. "  Even  the  Upper  Canadian legislature  needed  much  skilful  management  by  Mr.  Thompson  in  order  to 
induce  it  to  accept  the  bill;  for  the  loyalists  saw  that  they  would  be  greatly 
outnimibered  in  United  Canada.  A  strong  appeal  to  their  patriotism,  how- 

ever, at  length  gained  their  approval. 

The  imperial  parliament  then  again  took  up  the  matter,  and  the  "  Act  to 
Reimite  the  Provinces  of  Upper  and  Lower  Canada"  became  law  July  23rd, 
1840.  Under  this  new  constitution,  there  was  provision  made  for  a  legislative 
council,  whose  members  would  be  appointed  for  life  by  the  governor,  while 
the  legislative  assembly  was  to  consist  of  an  equal  mmiber  of  members  from 
Upper  and  Lower  Canada.  Toronto,  Montreal,  and  Quebec  were  to  elect 
two  members  each;  the  towns  one  member;  and  to  the  governor  was  given 
the  power  of  fixing  the  limits  of  the  constituencies.  The  EngUsh  language 
alone  was  permitted  ui  the  legislative  records,  but  this  provision  was  changed 
in  after  years.  In  order  to  make  the  constitution  stable,  it  was  provided 
that  no  change  in  the  number  of  members  of  the  assembly  could  be  made, 
unless  by  a  two-thirds  vote. 

By  the  new  constitution  a  fixed  civil  list,  amounting  to  £75,000  annually, 
was  made,  over  which  the  assembly  had  no  control,  but  all  other  expenditure 
must  be  under  its  direction.  Amoimts  due  the  clergy  were  not  subject  to 
the  vote  of  the  assembly,  and  ecclesiastical  rights  were  under  the  protection 
of  the  crown.  Taxes  on  the  people  coiild  only  be  levied  for  the  benefit  of 
the  province,  and  with  the  assent  of  the  two  houses  of  parliament.  Pro- 

vision was  made  for  the  fuU  establishment  of  courts  of  law.  To  the  governor 
belonged  the  power  of  fixing  the  place  of  meeting  of  the  Canadian  legislature. 

The  longing  desire  of  the  people  was  that  the  new  constitution  should  pro- 
vide the  executive  council  being  made  responsible  to  the  assembly,  and  so 
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to  the  people.  In  the  new  act  this  was  not  provided  for  in  so  many  words, 
but  it  was  provided  that  the  governor  should  only  exercise  power  according 
to  instructions  from  her  majesty.  To  supplement  these  important  provisions, 
upon  the  act  coming  into  force  by  proclamation,  on  the  5th  of  February, 
1841,  a  despatch  was  forwarded  by  Lord  John  Russell  to  the  governor-general 
that  "  the  governor  must  only  oppose  the  wishes  of  the  assembly  when  the 
honour  of  the  crown  or  the  interests  of  the  empire  are  deeply  concerned." 
The  moderate  oppciitients  of  the  Family  Compact  were  in  transports  of  delight 
over  the  new  constitution;  the  rebel  party  of  Upper  Canada  regarded  it  as 
but  a  half  measure,  their  aforetime  compatriots  in  Lower  Cana,da  were  much 
dissatisfied,  and  sent  a  petition  with  forty  thousand  signatiu-es  against  the 
new  act  to  Britain,  while  the  loyalists  looked  suspiciously  upon  it,  regarding 
it  as  the  beginning  of  a  Canadian  republic.  The  British  ministry,  through 

Lord  Durham's  aid,  had  undoubtedly  reached  the  happy  mean;  Mr.  Thomp- 
son was  raised  to  the  peerage  as  Lord  Sydenham  for  his  successful  manage- 

ment and  appointed  governor-general,  and  imder  his  wise  guidance  the  new 
constitution  was  launched  to  go  on  its  perilous  way.^ 

THE   ESTABLISHMENT   OF  RESPONSIBLE   GOVERNMENT 

"The  passage  of  the  Union  Act  of  1840,"  says  the  eminent  Canadian 
publicist,  Sir  J.  G.  Bourinot,«  "was  the  commencement  of  a  new  era  in  the 
constitutional  history  of  Canada  as  well  as  of  the  other  provinces.  The  most 
valuable  result  was  the  admission  of  the  all-important  principle  that  the 
ministry  advising  the  governor  should  possess  the  confidence  of  the  repre- 

sentatives of  the  people  assembled  in  parliament." 
Lord  Sydenham  entered  with  enthusiasm  into  the  work  of  launching  the 

new  constitution.  The  first  assembly  elected  after  the  imion  was  heterogen- 
eous in  the  extreme,  the  old  discredited  "Family  Compact"  faction  was 

scarcely  represented,  and  the  successful  inauguration  of  the  new  government 
was  accomplished  by  its  avowed  friends.  But  Lord  Sydenham  died  (Septem- 

ber, 1841)  before  the  success  or  failure  of  his  policy  could  be  proved,  and  his 
successor  Sir  Charles  Bagot  likewise  died  within  a  year.  The  next  governor- 
general  was  Lord  Metcalfe,  a  protege  of  the  colonial  secretary.  Earl  Stanley. 
Lord  Metcalfe  like  his  superior  was  of  strong  reactionary  tendencies,  and  a 
term  as  governor  of  Jamaica,  where  he  had  to  deal  principally  with  inferior 
races,  had  not  fitted  him  especially  well  for  his  new  post  as  governor  of  a 
people  struggling  to  establish  a  responsible  parliamentary  government.  The 
crisis  soon  came.  Under  the  able  lead  of  Robert  Baldwin,  a  conservative 
but  sincere  advocate  of  responsible  government,  the  assembly  declared  that 
the  acts  of  the  governor  must  be  in  harmony  with  the  advice  of  his  executive 
coimcil. 

Ignoring  this  declaration  Lord  Metcalfe  made  an  appointment  without 
consulting  his  council  of  ministers,  who  thereupon  resigned,  and  it  was  only 
with  the  greatest  difficulty  that  the  autocratic  governor  could  fill  their  places. 
At  the  succeeding  elections  (1844)  his  ministry  was  barely  sustained.  The 
British  ministry  gave  its  unqualified  approval  of  his  attitude,  however,  and 
raised  him  to  the  peerage;  and,  satisfied  with  this  manifestation  of  confidence, 
the  lack  of  confidence  of  the  Canadian  people  troubled  him  but  little.  Harassed 
by  ill  health  he  resigned  the  following  year  and  returned  to  England,  where 

he  soon  died.  Of  him  Dr.  George  Bryce*  says:  "Of  a  kind  and  benevolent 
disposition,  he  was  not  without  his  Canadian  admirers;  but  the  attempt  to 
interfere  needlessly  with  a  constitution  which  had  been  obtained  by  the  exile 
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of  a  number  of  leading  Canadians,  and  the  blood  of  others,  stirred  up  the 
strong  feeling  of  the  best  elements  of  Canadian  society  against  this  propounder 
of  absolutist  theories." 

Meanwhile  the  maritime  provinces  were  not  without  their  constitutional 
struggles.  In  Nova  Scotia  Sir  Colin  Campbell,  a  good  soldier,  but  wholly 
unsuited  for  the  position  of  civil  governor,  after  an  unceasing  strife  with  the 
liberals  led  by  Joseph  Howe  and  William  Young,  was  recalled  at  the  request 
of  the  assembly  and  superseded  by  Lord  Falkland,  a  vain  and  pompous  man, 
who  became  the  tool  of  the  tory  party  and  after  an  administration  even  more 
troublous  than  that  of  Campbell  was  in  turn  replaced  by  Sir  John  Harvey, 
who  as  governor  of  New  Brunswick  had  already  by  his  tact  and  a  high  order 
of  statesmanship  established  government  on  a  responsible  basis  in  that 
province. 

In  1847  Lord  Elgin  was  sent  to  Canada  as  governor-general  with  positive 
instructions  "  to  act  generally  upon  the  advice  of  his  executive  council,  and, 
to  receive  as  members  of  that  body  those  persons  who  might  be  pointed  out, 
to  him  as  entitled  to  such  positions  by  possessing  the  confidence  of  the  assem- 

bly." The  year  1848  thus  saw  the  principle  of  parhamentary  self-government, 
fully  established  in  the  provinces  of  Canada,  New  Bnmswick,  and  Nova  Scotia.. 

By  1851  Prince  Edward's  Island  too  was  in  full  enjoyment  of  a  like  system.. 

THE   REBELLION   LOSSES   BILL 

Lord  Elgin,  in  1848,  in  carrying  out  the  theory  of  responsible  government, 
had  called  into  power  a  ministry  dominated  by  the  two  liberal  leaders,  Bald- 

win and  Lafontine,  who  had  at  once  introduced  a  bill  allowing  £100,000  for 
the  satisfaction  of  losses  incurred  during  the  rebellion  of  1837.  At  once  the 

British  or  conservative  party  raised  the  cry  of  "No  pay  to  rebels,"  and  race 
and  party  feeling  ran  high.  The  conservatives  organised  the  British  North 
American  League  with  the  idea  of  effecting  a  union  of  aU  the  provinces,  in 
the  expectation  of  a  separation  of  the  two  Canadas.  In  the  provincial  parlia- 

ment, the  opposition,  led  by  Sir  Arthur  McNab  fought  the  Rebellion  Losses 
Bill  bitterly,  but  in  spite  of  every  effort  it  was  passed.  Its  opponents  then 
tried  to  persuade  Lord  Elgin  to  veto  it,  but  in  vain.  Believing  that  it  was 
desired  by  the  people  as  represented  by  their  ministers  he  gave  it  his  assent. 
A  first  signal  victory  for  responsible  government  had  been  won. 

As  Lord  Elgin  left  the  Parliament  house  after  assenting  to  the  bill  he  was 
followed  by  a  jeering,  threatening  mob  composed  of  the  best  educated  and 

most  enlightened  portion  of  Montreal's  population.  The  news  of  the  governor's 
action  spread  like  wildfire  and  a  mob  soon  quartered  about  the  Parliament 
house  where  a  night  session  was  in  progress.  At  last,  after  flying  stones  had 
broken  every  window  in  the  building,  the  mob  rushed  in  and  thrust  the 
frightened  legislators  from  the  hall.  The  torch  was  then  applied  and  the 
building  was  soon  a  mass  of  flames.  The  imperial  government  sustained 
Lord  Elgin  and  as  a  rebuke  to  Montreal,  the  provincial  capital  was  removed 
and  finally  (1858)  established  at  Ottawa. 

CANADIAN   CONFEDERATION 

Slowly  but  surely  during  three  years  the  idea  of  confederation  was  form- 
ing itself  throughout  the  provinces.  Its  necessity  as  the  only  solution  of  the 

increasing  difficulties  of  administration  was  daily  becoming  more  evident 
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It  had  been  ably  advocated  in  the  Canadas  by  Alexander  Gait  in  1857.  In 
the  year  following  the  conservatives,  to  save  themselves,  accepted  Gait  as  a 
colleague,  and  incorporated  his  ideas  of  confederation  into  their  party  pro- 

gramme. Early  in  1864  representatives  of  the  maritime  provinces  met  at 
Charlottetown  to  discuss  a  imion  of  the  maritime  provinces.  Before  any 
plan  of  coalition  could  be  decided  upon,  a  delegation  from  the  two  Canadas 
appeared  on  the  scene  with  a  proposal  for  a  larger  union.  A  second  conference 
was  decided  upon  and  met  in  Quebec  in  the  following  October.  TTiey  deliber- 

ated eighteen  days  and  adopted  a  series  of  seventy-four  resolutions,  forming a  scheme  of  imion, 
which  formed  the 

basis  of  the  subse- 
quent British  North 

America  Act. 

Agitation  con- tinued during  several 
years.  Upper  and 
Lower  Canada,  Nova 
Scotia  and  New 
Brunswick  decided 
for  confederation  and 
sent  delegates  to 
England  to  urge  the 
passage  of  an  act  to 
bring  it  about.  New- foundland and  Prince 
Edward's  Island  held 
back,  and  for  a  time 
a  reaction  in  Nova 
Scotia  almost  caused 

that  province's  withdrawal  from  the  proposed  imion.  The  so-called  Fenian 
invasions  of  1866,  by  emphasising  the  necessity  for  imited  action,  won  votes 
for  the  Confederation  proposals.  At  length  the  British  North  American 
Act  passed  the  imperial  parliament  and  was  assented  to  by  the  queen,  March 
29,  1867. 

St.  Loots  Gate,  Qih^bec 

THE  NORTHWEST 

Until  the  year  1867  the  history  of  the  Canadian  northwest  was  little  more 

than  a  history  of  the  fur  trade.  The  original  Hudson's  Bay  Company  was 
organised  under  a  charter  of  Charles  II  in  1670  with  Prince  Rupert  as  presi- 

dent. This  corporation  disputed  the  field  with  the  French  and  American 
colonial  traders  for  over  a  century.  In  1787  the  merchants  of  Montreal  and 
other  Canadian  towns  organised  a  rival  company  known  as  the  North  West 

Company,  or  more  familiarly  the  "Nor'  Westers."  In  1789  the  famous 
explorer  Alexander  Mackenzie,  an  agent  of  the  "Nor'  Westers,"  started  on 
his  way  across  the  continent,  arriving  at  length,  in  July,  1793,  on  the  shores 
of  the  Pacific,  the  first  known  white  man  to  cross  the  continent  north  of 
Mexico.  But  already  the  navigators  Cook  (1778)  and  Vancouver  (1792) 
had  planted  the  British  flag  upon  the  shores*  of  the  western  ocean.  In  1806 
Simon  Frazer  built  at  Fort  Frazer  the  first  trading  post  in  British  Columbia. 
In  a  few  years  the  great  interior  region  was  being  opened  to  settlement.  The 
first  post  in  the  Red  river  country  was  established  by  a  Frenchman,  Veren- 
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drye,  who  as  early  as  1735  had  built  a  stockade  which  he  named  Fort  Rouge 
on  the  site  of  the  present  city  of  Winnipeg.  It  was  not,  however,  \intil  1812 
that  an  English  settlement  was  attempted.  In  the  previous  year  Lord 
Selkirk,  a  Scotch  nobleman,  purchased  from  the  Hudson  Bay  Company,  in 
which  he  was  one  of  the  heaviest  stockholders,  a  hundred  thousand  square 
miles  of  territory  in  the  northwest,  which  he  named  Assiniboia.  In  1812  he 
planted  on  the  banks  of  the  Red  river  a  colony  of  Scotch  and  Irish  immigrants. 
The  North  West  Company,  suspecting  the  new  settlement  to  be  a  venture  of 
their  rival  in  the  fur  trade,  adopted  a  hostile  attitude,  and  the  early  days  of 
the  settlement,  which  really  marked  the  foimding  of  Manitoba,  were  marked 
by  turmoil  and  privation  and  bloodshed.  In  1816  the  animosity  of  the  North 
West  Company  took  the  form  of  an  armed  expedition  against  the  Selkirk 
colony  with  the  avowed  purpose  of  exterminating  it.  The  Nor'  Westers' 
attack  on  Fort  Douglass  was  gallantly  beaten  off,  though  with  the  loss  of 
Governor  Semple.  In  the  following  year  Lord  Selkirk  himself  led  an  armed 
force  and  a  new  lot  of  settlers  to  the  aid  of  his  colonists,  reduced  several  of 

the  North  West  Company's  posts,  and  established  his  settlements  on  a  firm 
foimdation.  The  cause  of  all  the  rivalry  came  to  a  happy  end  with  the  union 

of  the  Hudson's  Bay  and  North  West  companies  in  1821  and  a  period  of 
steady,  peaceful  growth  followed.  In  1835  the  entire  Red  river  region  was 
placed  imder  a  regular  government  known  as  the  council  of  Assiniboia  which 
continued  to  control  it  till  the  purchase  of  the  Northwest  by  the  Canadian 
Confederation. 

In  1849  the  Hudson  Bay  Company  made  Victoria  on  Vancouver  Island 
the  capital  of  the  Pacific  coast  part  of  its  territories.  The  discovery  of  gold 
in  the  coast  range  in  1856  led  to  a  large  influx  of  settlers.  The  Oregon  Treaty 
of  1846  had  however  left  the  United  States  boundary  in  doubt,  and  the  sub- 

sequent imcertainty  almost  led  to  hostilities.  This  dispute  was  patched  up 
in  1860  however.  Previously  in  1858  Vancouver  Island  and  British  Columbia 
were  made  separate  provinces,  but  in  1866  they  were  again  united  to  avert 
a  threatened  movement  on  the  island  for  annexation  to  the  United  States. 
In  1870  after  the  confederation  had  been  accomplished,  negotiations  for  taking 
the  control  of  the  Northwest,  including  the  Red  river  region,  from  the  Hudson 
Bay  Company  were  crowned  with  success.  In  return  the  company  received 
£300,000  in  cash,  one-twentieth  of  all  surveyed  land  and  certain  guarantees 
as  to  excessive  taxation.  In  1870  the  new  province  of  Manitoba  was  admitted 
to  the  Confederation,  to  be  followed  three  years  later  by  British  Columbia.* 

THE   BED   RIVER  REBELLION 

The  transfer  of  the  Hudson  Bay  Company  territories  to  Canada  was 
greatly  mismanaged.  Before  the  country  had  been  handed  over  Canadian 
surveying  and  working  parties  had  been  sent  into  it  to  lay  it  out,  and  com- 

plete the  "Dawson  Road"  from  Lake  of  the  Woods  to  Red  river.  These 
parties  had  expressed  contempt  for  the  natives,  who  had  Indian  blood  in 
their  veins,  and  who  were  not  being  considered  in  the  matter  of  the  transfer. 

"The  French  Metis,  or  half-breeds,  especially  were  in  a  disturbed  state,  and 
were  led  by  a  rash  and  vainglorious  young  man,  named  Louis  Riel.  He  was 
the  son  of  a  fiery  French  Canadian  miller,  who  lived  on  the  small  river,  the 
Seine,  which  empties  into  Red  river,  below  Fort  Garry.  Louis  Riel,  the 
younger,  was  a  French  half-breed,  and  had  been  partially  educated  for  a 
priest  in  Montreal. 

On  the  arrival  on  the  boundary-line  at  Pembina  of  William  McDougall, 
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who  on  account  of  his  long  agitation  on  behalf  of  the  Northwest  was  named, 
as  its  first  governor,  he  found  himself  opposed  by  the  Metis,  who  had  risen 
in  rebellion.  Buried  in  the  wilds  of  Minnesota,  four  hundred  miles  north  of 
St.  Paul,  warned  against  entering  the  new  district  for  which  he  had  laboured, 
McDougall  issued  his  proclamation  as  governor,  ordering  the  rebels  to  lay 
down  their  arms.  The  proclamation  was  a  brutum  fulmen,  for  the  Red  river 
people  soon  heard  of  its  being  valueless,  from  the  territory  not  having  been 
transferred.  The  few  Canadians  in  the  country  and  the  English-speakmg 
natives  were  anxious  to  receive  the  soi-disant  governor,  but  Riel,  who  had 
seized  Fort  Garry,  and  formed  a  provisional  government,  refused. 

"M.  le  pr&ident  Riel,"  as  the  upstart  desired  to  be  called,  arrested  a  band 
of  Canadians,  and  imprisoned  them  at  Fort  Garry,  treating  them  in  a  con- 

temptuous and  inhuman  manner.  He  even  went  so  far  as  to  execute  a  young; 
Canadian  named  Scott,  who  had  been  somewhat  imyielding  and  independent.. 
The  news  of  the  shooting  of  Scott,  on  its  arrival  in  Canada,  roused  a  wild  feel- 

ing, and  the  cry  for  vengeance  was  loudly  heard.  Thousands  of  volunteers 
offered  their  services,  of  whom  some  seven  hundred  were  accepted  as  sufficient, 
and  with  them  five  himdred  regulars  made  up  the  Red  River  Expeditionary 
Force,  which  was  commanded  by  Colonel  Wolseley. 

After  a  long  and  toilsome  journey  up  Lake  Superior,  and  by  the  old  fur- 
trader's  route,  after  passing  five  hundred  miles  of  rapid  and  portage,  and  lake 
and  stream,  the  little  army  reached  Fort  Garry  on  August  24th,  1870,  to  find 
the  rebel  leader  fled,  and  the  rebellion  at  an  end. 

The  Canadian  government  had  sent  by  Bishop  Tach^,  from  Ottawa,  the 
promise  of  an  amnesty,  but  the  murder  of  Scott  having  taken  place  before 
the  delegate  could  reach  the  country  to  promulgate  the  pardon,  the  authorities 
maintained  that  circumstances  had  changed,  and  refused  to  recognise  Riel  as 
entitled  to  the  amnesty.  Accordingly  the  besotted  leader  was  induced  to 
leave  the  country,  and  passed  five  years  of  exile  in  the  United  States.  His 

"adjutant-general,"  Lepine,  was  afterwards  tried,  found  guilty,  and  for  a 
time  imprisoned. 

The  Red  River  Rebellion  grew  out  of  a  series  of  blunders.  The  Canadian 
government  should  have  taken  steps  to  conciliate  the  people  of  Red  river, 
before  taking  possession  of  the  country.  The  Hudson  Bay  Company  officials 
in  Fort  Garry  were  singularly  inert,  the  pseudo-proclamation  of  Governor 
McDougaU  was  a  great  mistake,  and  the  crowning  blunder  of  Riel,  in  advo- 

cating the  case  of  his  compatriots,  was  the  murder  of  Scott.  The  military 
enthusiasm  awakened,  however,  throughout  Canada  was  notable,  and  numbers 
of  the  volunteers  of  the  expedition  remained  in  Manitoba  to  be  among  its 
truest  citizens. 

The  enormous  influx  of  settlers  to  the  Northwest  had  led  Canada  to  believe 

that  the  French  half-breed  population  was  powerless.  Many  of  the  Metis 
had,  after  the  suppression  of  the  Red  River  Rebellion,  gone  west  to  settle  on 
the  Saskatchewan.  In  the  remote  settlements,  no  doubt,  due  attention  was 
not  given  to  the  difficulties  and  grievances  of  these  scattered  settlers  by  the 
Canadian  government.  The  settlers  on  the  Saskatchewan  river,  in  the 
neighbourhood  of  Prince  Albert  and  Batoche,  were  ill  at  ease.  The  Indian 
population,  too,  on  account  of  the  destruction  of  the  buffalo  and  the  encroach- 

ment of  the  whites,  were  in  a  dissatisfied  state  of  mind. 
The  malcontents  invited  the  aforetime  exile,  Riel,  from  Montana,  whither 

he  had  gone,  to  return  and  lead  their  movement.  Riel  accepted  the  call  of 
his  countrymen,  and  posed  as  the  liberator  of  his  race,  and  even  promulgated 
a  new  religion.    Little  danger  was  apprehended  from  the  wild  harangues  of 
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the  adventurer.  Suddenly  Canada  was  convulsed  by  the  news,  telegraphed 
from  within  a  few  miles  of  the  scene,  that  an  attack  had  been  made  on  the 
moimted  police  and  Prince  Albert  volunteers  at  Duck  Lake,  on  the  26th  of 
March,  1885,  and  that  the  troops  had  been  defeated  with  loss  of  life. 

The  excitement  through  all  Canada  was  intense.  The  insurgents  were 
intrenched  at  a  point  two  hundred  miles  from  the  Canadian  Pacific  Railway, 
and  there  were  unmistakable  signs  of  restlessness  among  all  the  Indian  tribes, 
for  messengers  to  them  had  been  sent  in  all  directions  by  Riel,  who  had  formed 
another  provisional  government.  The  90th  battalion,  from  Winnipeg,  and 
a  volunteer  field  battery  were  despatched  to  the  scene  of  action,  and  from 
different  parts  of  Canada  in  a  few  days  some  five  or  six  thousand  of  the  vol- 

unteer militia  were  on  their 

way  to  the  scene  of  the  re-  -<:^?fe'^-^ 
bellion.  ,^.«.^.?*5^ 

The  first  skirmish  took 
place  at  Fish  Creek  on  the 
Saskatchewan,  where  the 
French  half-breeds  held  a 
strong  position  among  the 
ravines  with  their  skilfully 
arranged  rifle-pits.  After 
loss  of  life  they  were  com- 

pelled to  retire.  In  another 
portion  of  the  country  far- 

ther up  the  Saskatchewan, 

the  Queen's  Own,  of  Tor- 
onto, attacked  an  intrenched 

camp  of  Cree  Indians  under 
Chief  Poundmaker,  and  in- 

flicted severe  loss.  The  de- 
feated half-breeds,  with  a 

number  of  Sioux  Indians  as 
allies,  after  the  fight  of  Fish 
Creek,  fell  back  to  their 
stronghold  at  Batoche;  but 

here,  after  several  days' 
skirmishing,  and  further  loss  of  life,  the  position  was  taken  on  the  12th  of  May,. 
1885,  after  which  the  rebel  chief  was  captured  a  few  miles  from  the  field. 
Taken  to  Regina,  tried  by  civil  process,  and  found  guilty,  on  the  16th  of  No- 

vember, 1885,  Louis  Riel,  on  the  scaffold,  expiated  the  crime  of  leading  two 
rebellions  and  the  country  was  again  at  peace.* 

Sir  Johv  Alexandeb  Macdoitald 

(1815-1891) 

AFTER  CONFEDERATION 

The  governor-generalship  of  Canada  became  on  confederation  one  of  the 
greatest  official  appointments  in  the  gift  of  the  crown.  It  is  agreed. that  the 
statesmen  who  have  filled  the  post  have  been  imiformly  successful  in  holding 
evenly  the  balance  between  political  parties,  and  Canadians  are  satisfied  with 

the  method  of  appointing  the  official  head  of  the  state.  Canada's  political history  is  interesting,  as  showing  the  gradual  development  of  a  policy  strictly 
Canadian,  and  yet  not  divergent  from  that  of  the  empire.  The  liberal  con- 

servative party  which  gathered  round  Sir  John  A.  Macdonald,  the  first  pre- 
mier, represented  a  practical  school  of  statesmen.    Drawn  from  the  ranks  of 
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both  parties,  they  adopted  a  system  of  compromise  in  political  matters,  and 
made  the  early  and  speedy  development  of  the  country  the  main  object  of 
their  policy.  Opposed  to  them  were  the  reform  party,  who  took  as  their 
watchword  financial  retrenchment,  and  therefore  opposed  the  government  in 
its  railway  policy  and  other  schemes  of  rapid  development.  On  the  over- 

throw of  the  Macdonald  ministry  in  1873,  a  reform  government  was  formed 
imder  the  Hon.  Alex.  Mackenzie.  Committed  by  their  parliamentary  record 
to  a  policy  of  economy,  the  reformers  soon  aroused  discontent  by  their  neglect 
of  the  Canadian  Pacific  Railway  project.  As  consistent  believers  in  free  trade 
too,  they  seemed  powerless  in  the  face  of  the  financial  difficulties  that  then 
beset  Canada  and  threatened  the  ruin  of  her  manufactures.  This  led  to  their 
defeat  in  1878.  The  conservative  party,  on  returning  to  power,  adopted  a 
highly  protective  tariff  as  a  defence  against  American  trade  encroachment, 
and  this  has  so  far  proved  itself  f avoidable  to  the  commercial  well-being  of  the 
country  that  it  has  been  continued  to  the  present  day.<?  On  the  death  of  Sir 
John  A.  Macdonald  in  1891,  Sir  John  Abbott  became  premier,  but  resigned 
through  ill-health  in  the  following  year,  and  was  succeeded  by  Sir  John  Thomp- 

son, who  died  at  Windsor  Castle  in  1894,  while  attending  to  be  sworn  in  as  a 

member  of  her  majesty's  privy  council.  Sir  Mackenzie  Bowell  then  became 
premier,  and  held  the  office  until  1896,  when  he  gave  way  to  Sir  Charles 
Tupper.  In  the  elections  of  the  same  year,  under  the  able  leadership  of  Sir 
Wilfrid  Laurier,  the  reformers,  who  had  been  in  opposition  since  1878,  won  a 
signal  victory,  which  they  repeated  in  1900  and  again  in  1904.  The  reform 
administration  has  been  marked  by  various  measures  tending  to  unite  Canada 
more  closely  with  the  empire — such,  as  the  adoption  of  imperial  penny 
postage ;  the  denunciation  of  the  German  and  Belgian  treaties,  with  the 
subsequent  preferential  treatment  accorded  to  British  goods ;  the  carrying 
out  of  plans  previously  made  for  cable  connection  between  Canada  and 
Australia  ;  and  the  contribution  of  men  for  the  South  African  war.  On  the 
other  hand,  the  abandonment  by  the  British  government  of  the  Canadian 
claims  in  the  Alaskan  boundary  dispute  aroused  a  storm  of  indignation  in 
the  dominion ;  and  Sir  Wilfrid  Laurier  went  so  far  as  to  suggest  that  Canada 
should  be  given  the  right  to  conduct  her  own  diplomatic  negotiations.  A 
notable  feature  of  Canadian  history  in  recent  years  has  been  a  great  flood  of 
immigration,  in  large  measure  from  the  United  States,  into  the  northwest. 
In  1905  Alberta  and  Saskatchewan  were  erected  into  provinces.  At  present 
the  Grand  Trunk  company,  with  the  assistance  of  the  government,  is  con- 

structing a  new  transcontinental  railway,  which  will  greatly  facilitate  the 
settlement  of  this  region." 

The  general  election  of  1906  resulted  in  a  great  victory  for  the  liberals, 
but  this  success  coincided  with  their  defeat  in  Ontario,  where  they  had  been  in 
power  for  thirty  years.  In  the  session  of  parliament  beginning  in  November, 
1906,  a  new  tariff  bill  was  passed  providing  for  three  different  rates  on  imports: 
(1)  on  imports  from  Great  Britain,  (2)  on  imports  from  other  countries  that  do 
not  have  reciprocity  agreements  with  Canada,  and  (3)  on  imports  from 
countries  that  have  such  agreements.  The  establishment  of  a  permanent 
commission  to  deal  with  difficulties  arising  between  railways  and  shippers,  the 
appointment  of  an  insurance  commission,  and  the  development  of  the  federal 
department  of  labour  are  among  the  other  important  political  events  of  the 
time.  In  September,  1907,  serious  riots  broke  out  in  Vancouver  against  the 
Chinese  and  Japanese.  A  demonstration  was  also  made  against  the  landing 
of  900  Hindus,  who  were  reported  to  be  of  a  superior  class  and  well  supplied 
with  funds." 
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NEWFOUNDLAND 

The  discovery  of  John  Cabot  in  1497  of  the  island  of  Newfoundland, 

which  thereby  became  the  most  ancient  of  all  Great  Britain's  colonial  posses- 
sions, has  already  been  mentioned.  Likewise  we  have  touched  upon  the  early 

attempts  at  colonisation  of  Sir  Humphrey  Gilbert  (1583)  and  others.  By  the 
year  1650,  a  century  and  a  half  after  its  discovery,  the  entire  population  of 
Newfoundland  was  under  two  thousand,  distributed  along  the  southern  shore 
in  fifteen  small  settlements.  This  scant  population  was  swelled  in  the  sum- 

mer time  by  several  thousand  fishermen,  who  made  the  island  a  temporary 
dwelUng  place  while  they  salted  and  dried  their  season's  catch.  Hence  the 
foreign  fish-traders  and  shipowners  discouraged  permanent  settlement  in  order 
to  maintain  a  monopoly  of  the  fisheries  and  to  retain  the  shore  and  coves  for 
their  exclusive  use.  To  retard  permanent  settlement  the  British  government 
was  led  to  make  stringent  laws  prohibiting  settlement  within  six  miles  of  the 
shore  and  forbidding  fishermen  to  remain  over  winter  or  to  build  or  repair  a 
house  without  special  licence.  The  rivalry  of  the  French  fishermen  was 
another  element  which  retarded  the  prosperity  of  the  island.  During  the  long 
period  of  the  French  and  English  wars  the  constant  hostility  of  the  French 
harassed  the  few  English  settlers  and  rendered  life  and  property  insecure. 
The  Peace  of  Utrecht  (1713)  which  gave  to  France  the  right  of  catching  and 
drying  fish  on  the  western  and  northern  shores,  known  henceforth  as  the 
French  Shore  did  not  terminate  the  quarrel  by  any  means,  for  although  the 
sovereignty  was  confirmed  to  England  the  practical  effect  was  to  exclude 
settlers  from  the  most  habitable  part  of  the  island.  It  was  only  after  a 
prolonged  contest  of  over  two  centuries  that  the  Newfoundland  settlers 
obtained  the  repeal  of  the  last  of  the  restrictive  laws. 

Meanwhile,  despite  these  adverse  conditions,  the  colonj^  grew.  In  1728, 
in  the  face  of  the  objection  of  the  "  adventurers,"  the  appointment  of  a  gov- 

ernor was  secured.  Captain  Henry  Osborne  being  sent  on  in  that  year  with  a 
commission  to  organise  a  civil  government  for  the  island.  This  marked  a  new 
era  in  the  history  of  the  colony,  and  by  1763  its  permanent  population  had 
increased  to  eight  thousand.  In  1765  Labrador  was  attached  to  the  New- 

foundland jurisdiction.  During  the  Napoleonic  wars  the  French  were  swept 
from  the  seas,  and  the  colonial  merchants  and  fishermen  reaped  the  whole 
advantage  of  the  fisheries.  The  value  of  fish  trebled,  wages  rose,  and  in  1814 
no  less  than  seven  thousand  immigrants  settled  in  the  colony,  the  population 
of  which  had  by  that  time  increased  to  over  eighty  thousand.  In  1832  a  new 
constitution  embodying  the  principle  of  representative  government  was 
adopted,  and  in  1855  the  system  of  responsible  ministries  was  inaugurated. 

In  1884  Newfoundland  gained  a  new  importance  in  international  politics 
from  the  revival  of  the  ancient  dispute  in  regard  to  the  French  Shore.  In 
1884  and  again  in  1885  conventions  arranged  between  the  British  and  French 
governments  were  rejected  by  the  Newfoundland  legislature,  which  in  1886 
went  further  and  passed  an  act  cutting  off  the  supply  of  fish  bait  to  French 
fishermen.  This  measure  was  rather  tardily  approved  by  Lord  Salisbury,  a 
year  and  a  half  later,  and  at  once  the  French  foreign  secretary,  M.  de  Frey- 
cinet,  retaliated  by  ordering  the  seizure  and  confiscation  of  the  implements 
and  stock  of  all  foreign  fishermen  found  upon  the  French  Shore.  The  order 
was  subsequently  made  to  apply  to  the  Newfoundland  lobster  factories, 
although  the  treaty  originally  dealt  only  with  the  question  of  the  cod  fisheries. 
In  1890  a  modus  vivendi  was  agreed  upon  by  which  existing  lobster  factories, 
both  French  and  British,  were  to  be  left  undisturbed  imtil  a  final  settlement 
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could  be  arranged.  The  Newfoundland  legislature  was  finally  prevailed  upon,, 
by  the  promise  that  the  imperial  government  would  attempt  to  negotiate  a. 
new  treaty,  to  incorporate  the  stipulations  of  the  modus  vivendi  in  an  act- 
which  was  passed  annually  thereafter  up  to  1904,  each  passage  being  accom- 

panied with  a  protest.  At  length  by  the  terms  of  an  agreement  signed  April 
7th,  1904,  by  M.  Delcass^  on  the  part  of  France  and  Lord  Lansdowne  on  the 
part  of  England,  France  gave  up  her  pretensions  to  exclusive  fishing  rights  on 
the  French  shore  in  return  for  an  indemnity  to  be  settled  by  arbitration,  and 
a  recognition  of  her  rights  in  Morocco. 

A  question  of  supreme  importance  in  Newfoundland's  domestic  politics, 
has  been  the  so-called  Reid  Contract.  A  Montreal  contractor  of  the  name 
of  R.  G.  Reid  secured,  in  1893,  despite  bitter  opposition,  a  contract  for  the- 
construction  of  a  trans-insular  railroad.  The  contract  provided  that  the  con- 

tractor should  operate  the  road,  and  a  telegraph  system  which  he  agreed  ta 
build,  for  a  period  of  ten  years,  in  return  for  a  grant  in  fee-simple  of  5,000  acres 
of  land  for  each  mile  of  road  constructed  amounting,  if  the  railroad  was  fifty 
miles  in  length,  to  2,500,000  acres.  The  railroad,  completed  in  1897,  had  a 
mileage  of  over  six  himdred  miles.  In  1898  Mr.  Reid  made  a  new  contract 
with  the  Winter  ministry  by  which  in  consideration  of  a  further  grant  of 
2,500,000  acres  he  undertook  to  pay  into  the  colonial  treasury  the  sum  of 
$1,000,000  and  to  operate  both  the  railway  and  telegraph  systems  free  of 
charge  for  fifty  years,  with  the  provision  that  at  the  end  of  that  period  both 
should  become  his  property.  In  the  face  of  the  declarations  of  the  opponents, 
of  the  measure  that  it  practically  meant  the  sale  of  the  colony  to  Mr.  Reid, 
the  ministry  secured  the  assent  of  the  legislature  and  the  approval  of  the  im- 

perial government.  The  action  of  the  British  government  led  to  the  resigna- 
tion of  the  governor.  Sir  Herbert  Murray,  who  disapproved  of  the  measure, 

and  eventually  (1900)  to  the  overthrow  of  the  ministry  of  Sir  James  Winter 
and  the  formation  of  a  liberal  ministry  by  Sir  Robert  Bond  who  had  led  the 

opposition  to  the  "contract."  The  proposal  of  Mr.  Reid  to  convert  his. 
property  into  a  limited  liabiUty  company  led  the  way  to  a  readjustment  of 
the  terms  of  the  new  contract  of  1898.  The  new  agreement  provided  for  the 
immediate  transfer  of.  the  telegraph  system  to  the  company,  for  a  more 
equitable  arrangement  of  the  land  grants,  and  gave  the  colony  the  option  of 
taking  back  the  railroad  system  after  fifty  years  by  the  paying  back  to  the 
contractor  of  the  sum  of  $1,000,000  and  interest,  and  a  further  sum  for 
betterments. 

Legislation  directed  at  American  fishermen  caused  considerable  friction. 
during  1905  and  1906.  In  October  of  the  latter  year  a  modus  vivendi  arranged 
for  one  year  between  the  United  States  and  Great  Britain  on  the  subject- 
aroused  much  dissatisfaction  in  the  island.  In  August,  1907,  the  modus- 
vivendi  was  renewed  in  a  modified  form  and  an  agreement  was  reached  to» 
submit  the  questions  at  issue  to  the  arbitration  of  The  Hague." 
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THE  BULL  OF  POPE  ADRIAN  IV  EMPOWERING  HENRY  II  TO 

CONQUER  IRELAND  (1155  a.d.  ) 

Bishop  Adrian,  servant  of  the  servants  of  God,  sends  to  his  dearest  son 
in  Christ,  the  illustrious  king  of  the  English,  greeting  and  apostolic  benedic- 

tion. Laudably  and  profitably  enough  thy  magnificence  thinks  of  extending 
thy  glorious  name  on  earth,  and  of  heaping  up  rewards  of  eternal  felicity  in 
Heaven,  inasmuch  as,  like  a  good  catholic  prince,  thou  dost  endeavour  to 
«nlarge  the  bounds  of  the  church,  to  declare  the  truth  of  the  Christian  faith 
to  ignorant  and  barbarous  nations,  and  to  extirpate  the  plants  of  evil  from 
the  field  of  the  Lord.  And,  in  order  the  better  to  perform  this,  thou  dost 
ask  the  advice  and  favour  of  the  apostolic  see.  In  which  work,  the  more 
lofty  the  counsel  and  the  better  the  guidance  by  which  thou  dost  proceed,  so 

much  more  do  we  trust  that,  by  God's  help,  thou  wilt  progress  favourably 
in  the  same;  for  that  reason  that  those  things  which  have  taken  their  rise 
from  ardour  of  faith  and  love  of  religion  are  accustomed  always  to  come  to  a 
good  end  and  termination. 

There  is  indeed  no  doubt,  as  thy  Highness  doth  ako  acknowledge,  that 
Ireland  and  all  other  islands,  which  Christ  the  Sun  of  Righteousness  has 
illumined,  and  which  have  received  the  doctrines  of  the  Christian  faith,  belong 
to  the  jurisdiction  of  St.  Peter  and  of  the  holy  Roman  Church.  Wherefore, 
so  much  the  more  willingly  do  we  grant  to  them  that  the  right  faith  and  the 
seed  grateful  to  God  may  be  planted  in  them,  the  more  we  perceive,  by  examin- 

ing more  strictly  our  conscience,  that  this  wUl  be  required  of  us. 
349 
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Thou  hast  signified  to  us,  indeed,  most  beloved  son  in  Christ,  that  thou 
dost  desire  to  enter  into  the  island  of  Ireland,  in  order  to  subject  the  people 
to  the  laws  and  to  extirpate  the  vices  that  have  there  taken  root,  and  that 
thou  art  willing  to  pay  an  annual  pension  to  St.  Peter  of  one  penny  from  every 
house,  and  to  preserve  the  rights  of  the  churches  in  that  land  inviolate  and 
entire.  We,  therefore,  seconding  with  the  favour  it  deserves  thy  pious  and 
laudable  desire,  and  granting  a, benignant  assent  to  thy  petition,  are  well 
pleased  that,  for  the  enlargement  of  the  bounds  of  the  church,  for  the  restraint 
of  vice,  for  the  correction  of  morals  and  the  introduction  of  virtuee,  for  the 

advancement  of  the  Christian  religion,  thou  should'st  enter  that  island,  and 
carry  out  there  the  things  that  look  to  the  honour  of  Grod  and  to  its  own 
salvation.  And  may  the  people  of  that  land  receive  thee  with  honour,  and 
venerate  thee  as  their  master;  provided  always  that  the  rights  of  the  churches 
remain  inviolate  and  entire,  and  saving  to  St.  Peter  and  the  holy  Roman 
Church  the  annual  pension  of  one  penny  from  each  house.  If,  therefore, 
thou  dost  see  fit  to  complete  what  thou  hast  conceived  in  thy  mind,  strive 
to  imbue  that  people  with  good  morals,  and  bring  it  to  pass,  as  well  through 
thyself  as  through  those  whom  thou  dost  know  from  their  faith,  doctrine, 
and  course  of  life  to  be  fit  for  such  a  work,  that  the  church  may  there  be 
adorned,  the  Christian  religion  planted  and  made  to  grow,  and  the  things 
which  pertain  to  the  honour  of  God  and  to  salvation  be  so  ordered  that  thou 

may'st  merit  to  obtain  an  abundant  and  lasting  reward  from  God,  and  on 
earth  a  name  glorious*thrx)ughoutthe  ages. 

II 

JOHN'S  CONCESSION  OF  ENGLAND  TO  THE  POPE  (1213  a.d.) 

John,  by  God's  grace,  king  of  England,  lord  of  Ireland,  duke  of  Normandy 
and  Aquitaine,  count  of  Anjou,  to  aU  Christ's  faithful  that  shall  see  the  present 
charter,  greeting.  To  all  of  you,  through  this  our  charter,  furnished  with  our 
seal,  we  wish  it  to  be  known  that  inasmuch  as  we  had  offended  God  and  our 

mother  Holy  Church  in  many  ways  and  hence  are  known  greatly  to  need  God's 
mercy,  and  can  not  offer  anything  worthy  to  make  due  satisfaction  to  God  and 
to  the  church  imless  we  humble  ourselves  and  our  kingdoms:  —  wishing  to 
humble  ourselves  for  Him  who  humbled  Himself  for  us  unto  death,  and 
inspired  by  the  grace  of  the  Holy  Spirit,  not  induced  by  force  or  driven  by 
fear,  but  of  our  own  good  free  will  and  by  the  common  advices  of  our  barons, 
we  do  offer  and  freely  yield  to  God  and  His  holy  apostles  Peter  and  Paul  and 
the  holy  Roman  church  our  mother,  and  to  our  lord  pope  Innocent  and  to  his 
catholic  successors,  the  entire  realm  of  England  and  the  entire  realm  of  Ire- 

land, with  all  their  rights  and  appurtenances,  for  the  forgiveness  of  our  own 
sins  and  of  those  of  all  our  race,  both  living  and  dead;  and  now  receiving 
and  holding  them,  as  a  vassal  from  God  and  the  Roman  church,  in  the  pres- 

ence of  the  wise  PandulpH,  subdeacon  and  of  the  household  of  the  lord  pope, 
fealty  for  them  to  him  our  aforesaid  lord  pope  Innocent,  and  his  catholic 
successors  and  the  Roman  church  wo  do  perform  and  swear  according  to  the 
form  appended,  and  in  the  presence  of  the  lord  pope,  if  we  be  able  to  come 
before  him,  we  shall  do  liege  homage  to  him:  binding  our  successors  and  our 
heirs  by  our  wife  forever,  in  like  manner  to  perform  fealty  and  show  homage 
to  him  who  shall  be  chief  pontiff  at  the  time,  and  to  the  Roman  church  without 
demur.    As  a  sign,  moreover,  of  this  our  perpetual  obligation  and  concession 
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we  will  and  establish  that  from  the  proper  and  especial  revenues  of  our  afore- 
said realms,  for  all  the  service  and  customs  which  we  ought  to  render  for 

them,  saving  in  all  things  the  penny  of  St.  Peter,  the  Roman  church  shall 
receive  yearly  a  thousand  marks  sterling,  namely  at  the  feast  of  St.  Michael 
five  hundred  marks,  and  at  Easter  five  hundred  marks  —  seven  hundred, 
namely  for  the  kingdom  of  England,  and  three  hundred  for  the  kingdom  of 
Ireland  —  saving  to  us  and  to  our  heirs  .our  rights,  liberties  and  regalia;  all 
of  which  things,  as  they  have  been  described  above,  we  declare  to  be  forever 
holding  and  firm,  and  we  bind  ourselves  and  our  successors  not  to  act  counter 
to  them.  And  if  we  or  any  one  of  our  successors  make  bold  to  attempt  this, 
—  whoever  he  be,  unless  after  due  admonition  he  repent,  he  shall  lose  his 
right  to  the  kingdom,  and  this  charter  of  our  obligation  and  concession  shall 
always  remain  firm. 

Form  of  the  Oath  of  Fealty 

I,  John,  by  God's  grace,  king  of  England  and  lord  of  Ireland,  from  this hour  forth  will  be  faithful  to  God  and  St.  Peter  and  the  Roman  church  and 
my  lord  pope  Innocent  and  his  successors  who  are  ordained  in  a  catholic 
manner:  I  shall  not  allow,  by  act,  deed,  word,  consent  or  counsel,  that  they 
lose  life  or  members  or  be  taken  captive.  I  will  stop  harm  unto  them,  if  I 
know  of  it,  and  will  cause  harm  to  be  removed  from  them  if  I  can:  otherwise 
with  all  speed  I  will  inform  them  or;  tell  of  it  to  such  person  as  I  believe  will 
for  certain  inform  them.  Any  counsel  which  they  entrust  to  me  through 
themselves  or  through  their  envoys  or  through  their  letters,  I  will  keep  secret, 
nor  will  I  wittingly  disclose  it  to  any  for  their  harm.  The  patrimony  of  St. 
Peter,  and  especially  the  kingdom  of  England  and  the  kingdom  of  Ireland, 
I  will  aid  to  the  best  of  my  ability  in  holding  and  defending  against  all  men. 
So  God  and  these  holy  Gospels  help  me. 

Ill 

THE  STATUTE  DE  RELIGIOSIS  (STATUTE  OF  MORTMAIN) 
(1279  A.D.) 

[The  Statute  de  Religiosis,  or  as  it  is  more  commonly  called,  the  Statute  of  Mortmain,  was 
enacted  by  Edward  I  to  forbid  the  acquisition  of  land  by  religious  orders  or  by  the  church,  in 
such  wise  that  the  land  should  come  into  mortmain.  "The  king  and  other  lords,"  says 
Stubbs,  "  were  daily  losing  the  services  due  to  them,  by  the  granting  of  estates  to  persons  or 
institutions  incapable  of  fulfilling  the  legal  obligations.  In  future  all  lands  so  bestowed  were 
to  be  forfeited  to  the  immediate  lord  of  the  fee;  the  crown  standing  in  the  position  of  ultimate 

sequestrator."] 

The  king  to  his  Justices  of  the  Bench,  greeting.  Inasmuch  as  of  late  it 
has  been  provided  that  members  of  orders  should  not  enter  into  the  fees  of 
any  without  the  will  and  licence  of  the  lords  in  chief  of  whom  these  fees  are 
held  immediately;  and  members  of  orders,  nevertheless,  have  hereafter  entered 
as  well  into  their  own  fees  as  into  those  of  others,  appropriating  them  to  them- 

selves, and  buying  them,  and  sometimes  receiving  them  from  the  gift  of  others, 
whereby  the  services  which  are  due  of  such  fees,  and  which  from  the  beginning 
were  provided  for  the  defence  of  the  realm,  are  imduly  withdrawn,  and  the 
lords  in  chief  do  lose  their  escheats  thence  ;  we,  for  the  profit  of  our  realm, 
wishing  to  provide  a  fit  remedy,  by  advice  of  our  prelates,  counts  and  other 
subjects  of  our  realm  who  are  of  our  council,  have  provided,  established  and 
ordained,  that  no  person,  member  of  an  order  or  no,  or  whatsoever  else  he  be, 
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shall  make  bold  to  buy  or  sell  any  lands  or  holdings,  or  under  colour  of  gift, 
or  of  any  other  term  or  title  whatever,  receive  them  from  any  one,  or  in  any 
other  way,  by  craft  or  by  wile  appropriate  them  to  himself,  whereby  such 
lands  and  holdings  may  come  into  mortmain;  imder  pain  of  forfeiture  of  the 
same.  We  have  provided  also  that  if  any  person,  member  of  an  order,  or  no, 
make  bold  either  by  craft  or  wile  to  go  counter  to  this  statute,  it  shall  be  law- 

ful for  us  and  for  other  immediate  lords  in  chief  of  the  fee  so  alienated,  to 
«nter  it  within  a  year  from  the  time  of  such  alienation  and  to  hold  it  in  fee 
as  an  inheritance.  And  if  the  immediate  lord  in  chief  shall  be  negligent  and 
be  not  willing  to  enter  into  such  fee  within  the  year,  then  it  shall  be  lawful 
ior  the  next  mediate  lord  in  chief,  within  the  half  year  following,  to  enter 
that  fee  and  to  hold  it,  as  has  been  said;  and  thus  each  mediate  lord  may 
do  if  the  next  lord  be  negligent  in  entering  such  fee,  as  has  been  said  before. 
And  if  all  such  chief  lords  of  such  fee,  who  shall  be  of  full  age  and  within  the 
four  seas  and  out  of  prison,  shall  be  for  one  year  negligent  or  remiss  in  this 
matter,  we,  straightway  after  the  end  of  the  year  after  the  tibae  when  such 
purchases,  gifts,  or  appropriations  of  another  kind  happen  to  be  made,  shall 
take  such  lands  and  holdings  into  our  hand,  and  shall  enfief  others  therein 
by  certam  services  to  us  to  be  rendered  thence  for  the  defence  of  our  realms; 
saving  to  the  lords  in  chief  of  the  same  fees  their  wards,  escheats  and  other 
things  which  pertain  to  them,  and  the  services  therefrom  due  and  accustomed. 
And  therefore  we  command  you  to  cause  the  aforesaid  statute  to  be  read 
before  you,  and  from  henceforth  to  be  firmly  kept  and  observed.  Witness 
the  King  at  Westminster,  the  15th  day  of  November,  the  7th  year  of  our 
Teign. 

IV 

THE  STATUTE  QUIA  EMPTORES  (1290  a.d.) 

[The  Statute  Quia  Bmptores,  known  also  as  the  Statute  of  Westminster  III,  was  to  feudal- 
ism what  the  Statute  of  Mortmain  was  to  the  church.  Its  abolition  and  prohibition  of  subin- 

feudation was  one  of  the  strongest  restraints  put  upon  the  feudal  system  in  England,  and 
•checked  the  natural  tendency  of  development  along  the  lines  followed  on  the  Continent.  The 
-difference  between  the  feudal  systems  in  England  and  in  continental  countries  being  one  of  the 
vital  points  in  English  mediaeval  history,  the  importance  of  the  enactment  is  evident.] 

Inasmuch  as  buyers  of  lands  and  holdings  of  the  fees  of  magnates  and 
others  to  the  injury  of  the  same,  often  in  former  times  have  entered  upon  their 
fees,  and  to  them  (the  purchasers)  the  free  tenants  of  these  same  magnates 
and  others  have  sold  their  lands  and  holdings  to  be  held  in  fee  for  themselves 
and  their  heirs  from  the  subinfeudators  and  not  from  the  lords  in  chief  of  the 
fees,  whereby  the  same  lords  in  chief  have  often  lost  the  escheats,  marriages, 
and  wardships  of  lands  and  holdings  belongmg  to  their  fees,  which  thing 
indeed  to  the  same  magnates  and  other  lords  seemed  very  hard  and  extreme, 
and  likewise,  in  this  case,  manifest  disinheritance;  the  lord  king  in  his  par- 

liament at  Westminster  after  Easter  in  the  18th  year  of  his  reign,  viz.,  in  the 
<5uinzime  of  St.  John  the  Baptist,  at  the  instance  of  the  magnates,  of  his 
Tealm  did  grant,  provide,  and  decree  that  henceforth  it  shall  be  lawful  for  any 
and  every  free  man  to  sell  at  will  his  lands  or  holdings  or  a  part  of  them;  in 
such  manner,  however,  that  the  infeudated  person  shall  hold  that  land  or 
holdings  from  the  same  lord  and  chief  and  by  the  same  services  and  customs 
by  which  his  infeudator  previously  held  them.  And  if  he  shall  have  sold  to 
any  one  any  part  of  the  same  lands  or  holdings,  the  infeudated  person  shall  hold 
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it  directly  of  tlie  lord  in  chief,  and  shall  straightway  be  charged  with  as  much 
service  as  pertains  or  ought  to  pertain  to  that  lord  for  that  parcel,  according 
to  the  amount  of  the  land  or  holding  sold;  and  so  in  this  case  there  shall  faU 
away  from  the  lord  in  chief  that  part  of  the  service  which  is  to  be  performed 
by  the  hand  of  the  infeudator,  from  the  time  when  the  infeudated  person 
ought  to  be  attendant  and  answerable  to  that  same  lord  in  chief,  according 
to  the  quantity  of  the  land  or  holding  sold,  for  that  parcel  of  service  thus  due. 
And  it  must  be  known  that  by  the  said  sales  or  purchases  of  lands  or  holdings 
or  any  part  of  them,  those  lands  or  holdings  in  part  or  in  whole,  can  not  come 
into  mortmain,  by  art  or  by  wile,  contrary  to  the  statute  recently  issued 
thereupon,  etc.  [the  statute  of  1279].  And  it  is  to  be  known  that  that  statute 
concerning  lands  sold  holds  good  only  for  those  holding  in  fee  simple,  etc.; 
and  that  it  extends  to  future  time;  and  it  shall  begin  to  take  effect  at  the 
feast  of  St.  Andrew  next  coming. 

STATUTE   OF  LABOURERS   (1349  a.d.) 

[The  first  Statute  of  Labourers,  passed  in  the  twenty-third  year  of  Edward  III  was  an  at- 
tempt to  regulate  labour,  the  price  of  which  had  become  unusually  high  as  a  result  of  the 

dearth  of  labourers  following  the  Black  Death.  A  second  statute,  passed  two  years  later, 
minutely  regulated  the  scale  of  wages.] 

Edward,  by  the  grace  of  God,  etc.,  to  the  reverend  father  in  Christ,  Wil- 
liam, by  the  same  grace,  archbishop  of  Canterbury,  primate  of  all  England, 

greeting.  Because  a  great  part  of  the  people,  and  especially  of  the  workmen 
and  servants,  has  now  died  in  that  pestilence,  some,  seeing  the  straights  of  the 
masters  and  the  scarcity  of  servants,  are  not  willing  to  serve  unless  they 
receive  excessive  wages,  and  others,  rather  than  through  labour  to  gain  their 
living,  prefer  to  beg  in  idleness.  We,  considering  the  grave  inconveniences 
which  might  come  from  the  lack,  especially  of  ploughmen  and  such  labourers, 
have  held  dehberation  and  treaty  concerning  this  with  the  prelates  and  nobles 
and  other  learned  men  sitting  by  us;  by  whose  consentient  counsel  we  have 
seen  fit  to  ordain :  that  every  man  and  woman  of  our  kingdom  of  England, 
of  whatever  condition,  whether  bond  or  free,  who  is  able  bodied  and  below 
the  age  of  sixty  years,  not  living  from  trade  nor  carrying  on  a  fixed  craft,  nor 
having  of  his  own  the  means  of  living,  or  land  of  his  own  with  regard  to  the 
cultivation  of  which  he  might  occupy  himself,  and  not  serving  another  —  if 
he,  considering  his  station,  be  sought  after  to  serve  in  a  suitable  service,  he 
shall  be  bound  to  serve  him  who  has  seen  fit  so  to  seek  after  him;  and  he  shall 
take  only  the  wages,  liveries,  meed,  or  salary  which,  in  the  places  where  he 
sought  to  serve,  were  accustomed  to  be  paid  in  the  twentieth  year  of  our 
reign  of  England,  or  the  five  or  six  common  years  next  preceding.  Provided, 
that  in  thus  retaining  their  service,  the  lords  are  preferred  before  others  of 
their  bondsmen  or  their  land  tenants :  so,  nevertheless  that  such  lords  thus 
retaui  as  many  as  shall  be  necessary  and  not  more;  and  if  any  man  or  woman, 
being  thus  sought  after  in  service,  will  not  do  this,  the  fact  being  proven  by 
two  faithful  men  before  the  sheriffs  or  the  bailiffs  of  our  lord  the  king,  or  the 
constables  of  the  town  where  this  happens  to  be  done  —  straightway  through 
them,  or  some  one  of  them,  he  shall  be  taken  and  sent  to  the  next  jaU,  and 
there  he  shall  remain  in  strict  custody  until  he  shall  find  surety  for  serving  in 
the  aforesaid  form. 

And  if  a  reaper  or  mower,  or  other  workman,  or  servant,  of  whatever 
H.  W.  —  VOI/.  XIII.  2A 
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standing  or  condition  he  be,  who  is  retained  in  the  service  of  any  one,  do 
depart  from  the  said  service  before  the  end  of  the  term  agreed,  without  per- 

mission or  reasonable  cause,  he  shall  undergo  the  penalty  of  imprisonment, 
and  let  no  one,  under  the  same  penalty,  presume  to  receive  or  retain  such  a 
one  in  his  service.  Let  no  one,  moreover,  pay  or  permit  to  be  paid  to  any  one 
more  wages,  livery,  meed  or  salary  than  was  customary  as  has  been  said;  nor 
let  any  one  in  any  other  manner,  exact  or  receive  them,  under  penalty  of  pay- 

ing to  him  who  feels  himself  aggrieved  from  this,  double  the  sum  that  has  thus 
been  paid  or  promised,  exacted,  or  received;  and  if  such  person  be  not  willing 
to  prosecute,  then  it  (the  sum)  is  to  be  given  to  any  one  of  the  people  who  shaU 
prosecute  in  this  matter;  and  such  prosecution  shall  take  place  in  the  court 
of  the  lord  of  the  place  where  such  case  shall  happen.  And  if  the  lords  of  the 
towns  or  manors  presume  of  themselves,  or  through  their  servants,  in  any  way 
to  act  contrary  to  this,  our  present  ordinance,  then  in  the  counties,  wapen- 

takes and  tithings  suit  shall  be  brought  against  them  in  the  aforesaid  form 
for  the  triple  penalty  (of  the  sum)  thus  promised  or  paid  by  them  or  their 
servants;  and  if  perchance,  prior  to  the  present  ordinance,  any  one  shall  have 
covenanted  with  any  one  thus  to  serve  for  more  wages,  he  shall  not  be  bound 
by  reason  of  the  said  covenant,  to  pay  more  than  at  another  time  was  wont 
to  be  paid  to  such  person;  nay,  vmder  the  aforesaid  penalty  he  shall  not 
presimie  to  pay  more. 

Likewise  saddlers,  skinners,  white-tawers,  cordwainers,  tailors,  smiths, 
carpenters,  masons,  tilers,  shipwrights,  carters,  and  all  other  artisans  and 
labourers  shall  not  take  for  their  labour  and  handiwork  more  than  what,  in 
the  places  where  they  happen  to  labour,  was  customarily  paid  to  such  per- 

sons in  the  said  twentieth  year  and  in  the  other  common  years  preceding,  as 
has  been  said;  and  if  any  man  take  more,  he  shall  be  committed  to  the  nearest 
Jail  in  the  manner  aforesaid. 

Likewise  let  butchers,  fishmongers,  hostlers,  brewers,  bakers,  pulters,  and 
all  other  vendors  of  any  victuals,  be  bound  to  sell  such  victuals  for  a  reasonable 
price,  having  regard  for  the  price  at  which  such  victuals  are  sold  in  the  adjoin- 

ing places:  so  that  such  vendors  may  have  moderate  gains,  not  excessive, 
according  as  the  distance  of  the  places  from  which  such  victuals  are  carried 
may  seem  reasonably  to  require;  and  if  any  one  sell  such  victuals  in  another 
manner,  and  be  convicted  of  it  in  the  aforesaid  way,  he  shall  pay  the  double 
of  that  which  he  received  to  the  party  injured,  or  in  default  of  him,  to  another 
who  shall  be  willing  to  prosecute  in  this  behalf;  and  the  mayor  and  bailiffs  of 
the  cities  and  burroughs,  merchant  towns,  and  others,  and  of  the  maritime 
ports  and  places  shall  have  power  to  inquire  concerning  each  and  every  one 
who  shall  in  any  way  err  against  this,  and  to  levy  the  aforesaid  penalty  for  the 
benefit  of  those  at  whose  suit  such  delinquents  shall  have  been  convicted; 
and  in  case  that  the  same  mayor  and  bailiffs  shall  neglect  to  carry  out  the 
aforesaid,  and  shall  be  convicted  of  this  before  justices  to  be  assigned  by  us, 
then  the  same  mayor  and  bailiffs  shall  be  compelled  through  the  same  justices, 
to  pay  to  such  wronged  person  or  to  another  prosecuting  in  his  place,  the  treble 
of  the  thing  thus  sold,  and  nevertheless,  on  our  part  too,  they  shall  be  griev- 

ously punished. 
And  because  many  sound  beggars  do  refuse  to  labour  so  long  as  they  can 

live  from  begging  alms,  giving  themselves  up  to  idleness  and  sins,  and,  at 
times,  to  robbery  and  other  crimes  —  let  no  one,  imder  the  aforesaid  pain  of 
imprisonment  presume,  under  coloiu*  of  piety  or  alms,  to  give  anything  to 
such  as  can  very  well  labour,  or  to  cherish  them  in  their  sloth  —  so  that  thus 
they  may  be  compelled  to  labour  for  the  necessaries  of  life. 



DOCUMENTS   EELATING   TO   BEITISH   HISTORY  S6S 

VI 

PETITION  OF  RIGHT  (1628  a.d.) 

[The  Petition  of  Bight  is  memorahle,  as  Gardiner  points  out,  as  the  first  statutory  restric- 
tion of  the  powers  of  the  crown  since  the  accession  of  the  Tudors.  It  received  the  name  of 

petition  because  the  commons  stated  their  grievances  in  the  form  of  a  petition,  refusing  to 
grant  supplies  until  Charles  gave  his  assent  to  the  measure.  The  king  at  first  eluded  the 
petition,  but,  finally,  moved  by  the  threat  of  the  commons  to  proceed  with  charges  against  his 
favourite,  Buckingham,  affixed  his  signature  to  the  enactment.] 

THE  PETITION  EXHIBITED  TO  HIS  MAJESTY  BY  THE  LORDS  SPIBITUAL  AND 

TEMPORAL  AND  COMMONS,  IN  THIS  PRESENT  PARLIAMENT  ASSEMBLED,, 

CONCERNING  DIVERS  BIGHTS  AND  LIBERTIES  OP  THE  SUBJECTS,  WITH 

THE  king's  majesty's  ROYAL  ANSWER  THEREUNTO  IN  FULL  PARLIAMENT^ 

To  the  King's  Most  Excellent  Majesty 

Humbly  shew  imto  our  Sovereign  Lord  the  King,  the  Lords  spiritual  and 
temporal,  and  Commons  in  Parliament  assembled,  that  whereas  it  is  declared 
and  enacted  by  a  statute  made  in  the  time  of  the  reign  of  King  Edward  I, 
commonly  called  Statutum  de  taUagio  non  concedendo,  that  no  tallage  or  aid 
shall  be  laid  or  levied  by  the  King  or  his  heirs  in  this  realm,  without  the  good 
will,  and  assent  of  the  archbishops,  bishops,  earls,  barons,  knights,  burgesses, 
and  other  the  freemen  of  the  commonalty  of  this  realm;  and  by  authority  of 
Parliament  holden  in  the  five-and-twentieth  year  of  the  reign  of  King  Edward 
III,  it  is  declared  and  enacted,  that  from  thenceforth  no  person  should  be 
compelled  to  make  any  loans  to  the  King  against  his  will,  because  such  loans 
were  against  reason  and  the  franchise  of  the  land;  and  by  other  laws  of  this, 
realm  it  is  provided,  that  none  should  be  charged  by  any  charge  or  imposition 
called  a  benevolence,  nor  by  such  like  charge;  by  which  statutes  before 
mentioned  and  other  the  good  laws  and  statutes  of  this  realm,  your  subjects; 
have  inherited  this  freedom,  that  they  should  not  be  compelled  to  contribute 
to  any  tax,  tallage,  aid,  or  other  like  charge  not  set  by  common  consent,  in 
Parliament. 

II.  Yet  nevertheless,  of  late  divers  commissions  directed  to  sundry  com- 
missioners in  several  counties,  with  instructions,  have  issued;  by  means: 

whereof  your  people  have  been  in  divers  places  assembled,  and  required  to 
lend  certain  sums  of  money  vinto  your  Majesty,  and  many  of  them,  upon  their 
refusal  so  to  do,  have  had  an  oath  administered  imto  them  not  warrantable 
by  the  laws  or  statutes  of  this  realm,  and  have  been  constrained  to  become 
boimd  to  make  appearance  and  give  utterance  before  your  Privy  Council  and 
in  other  places,  and  others  of  them  have  been  therefore  imprisoned,  confined,, 
and  sundry  other  ways  molested  and  disquieted;  and  divers  other  charges; 
have  been  laid  and  levied  upon  your  people  in  several  counties  by  lord  lieu- 

tenants, deputy  lieutenants,  commissioners  for  musters,  justices  of  peace  and 
others,  by  command  or  direction  of  your  Majesty,  or  your  Privy  Council,, 
against  the  laws  and  free  customs  of  the  realm. 

III.  And  whereas  also  by  the  statute  called  "The  Great  Charter  of  the; 
Liberties  of  England,"  it  is  declared  and  enacted.  That  no  freeman  may  be 
taken  or  imprisoned,  or  be  disseised  of  his  freehold  or  liberties,  or  his  free; 
customs,  or  be  outlawed  or  exiled,  or  in  any  manner  destroyed,  but  by  the: 
lawful  judgment  of  his  peers,  or  by  the  law  of  the  land. 
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IV.  And  in  the  eight-and-twentieth  year  of  the  reign  of  King  Edward  lH, 
it  was  declared  and  enacted  by  authority  of  Parliament,  that  no  man,  of  what 
'estate  or  condition  that  he  be,  should  be  put  out  of  his  land  or  tenements,  nor 
taken,  nor  imprisoned,  nor  disherited,  nor  put  to  death  without  being  brought 
"to  answer  by  due  process  of  law. 

V.  Nevertheless,  against  the  tenor  of  the  said  statutes,  and  other  the 
good  laws  and  statutes  of  your  realm  to  that  end  provided,  divers  of  your 
subjects  have  of  late  been  imprisoned  without  any  cause  shewed;  and  when 

for  their  deliverance  they  were  brought  before  justices  by  your  Majesty's 
writs  of  habeas  corpus,  there  to  undergo  and  receive  as  the  court  should  order, 
and  their  keepers  commanded  to  certify  the  causes  of  their  detainer,  no  cause 

was  certified,  but  that  they  were  detained  by  your  Majesty's  special  command, 
signified  by  the  lords  of  your  Privy  Coimcil,  and  yet  were  returned  back  to 
several  prisons,  without  being  charged  with  anything  to  which  they  might 
make  answer  according  to  the  law. 

VI.  And  whereas  of  late  great  companies  of  soldiers  and  mariners  have 
been  dispersed  into  divers  coimties  of  the  reahn,  and  the  inhabitants  against 
their  wills  have  been  compelled  to  receive  them  into  their  houses,  and  there 
to  suffer  them  to  sojourn,  against  the  laws  and  customs  of  this  realm,  and  to 
the  great  grievance  and  vexation  of  the  people. 

VII.  Ajid  whereas  also  by  authority  of  Parliament,  in  the  five-and- 
twentieth  year  of  the  reign  of  King  Edward  III,  it  is  declared  and  enacted, 
that  no  man  should  be  forejudged  of  life  or  limb  against  the  form  of  the  Great 
Charter  and  the  law  of  the  land;  and  by  the  said  Great  Charter  and  other 
the  laws  and  statutes  of  this  your  realm,  no  man  ought  to  be  adjudged 
to  death  but  by  the  laws  established  in  this  your  realm,  either  by  the  customs 
of  the  same  realm,  or  by  Acts  of  Parliament:  and  whereas  no  offender  of  what 
kind  soever  is  exempted  from  the  proceedings  to  be  used,  and  punishments 
to  be  inflicted  by  the  laws  and  statutes  of  this  your  realm;  nevertheless  of 

late  time  divers  commissions  under  your  Majesty's  great  seal  have  issued  forth, 
by  which  certain  persons  have  been  assigned  and  appointed  commissioners 
with  power  and  authority  to  proceed  within  the  land,  according  to  the  justice 
of  martial  law,  against  such  soldiers  or  mariners,  or  other  dissolute  persons 

joinin'g  with  them,  as  should  commit  any  murder,  robbery,  felony,  mutiny, or  other  outrage  or  misdemeanour  whatsoever,  and  by  such  summary  course 
and  order  aa  is  agreeable  to  martial  law,  and  as  is  used  in  armies  in  time  of 
war,  to  proceed  to  the  trial  and  condemnation  of  such  offenders,  and  them 
to  cause  to  be  executed  and  put  to  death  according  to  the  law  martial. 

VIII.  By  pretext  whereof  some  of  your  Majesty's  subjects  have  been  by 
some  of  the  said  commissioners  put  to  death,  when  and  where,  if  by  the  laws 
and  statutes  of  the  land  they  had  deserved  death,  by  the  same  laws  and 
statutes  also  they  might,  and  by  no  other  ought  to  have  been  judged  and 
executed. 

IX.  And  also  sundry  grievous  offenders,  by  colour  thereof  claiming  an 
exemption,  have  escaped  the  pimishments  due  to  them  by  the  laws  and 
statutes  of  this  your  realm,  by  reason  that  divers  of  your  officers  and  ministers 
of  justice  have  unjustly  refused  or  forborne  to  proceed  against  such  offenders 
according  to  the  same  laws  and  statutes,  upon  pretence  that  the  said  offenders 
were  pimishable  only  by  martial  law,  and  by  authority  of  such  commissions 
as  aforesaid;  which  commissions,  and  all  other  of  like  nature,  are  wholly  and 
directly  contrary  co  the  said  laws  and  statutes  of  this  your  realm. 

X.  They  do  therefore  humbly  pray  your  most  excellent  Majesty,  that  no 
roan  hereafter  be  compelled  to  make  or  yield  any  gift,  loan,  benevolence,  tax. 
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or  such  like  charge,  without  common  consent  by  Act  of  Parliament;  and  that 
none  be  called  to  make  answer,  or  to  take  such  oath,  or  to  give  attendance, 
or  be  confined,  or  otherwise  molested  or  disquieted  concerning  the  same  or 
for  refusal  thereof;  and  that  no  freeman,  in  any  such  manner  as  is  before 
mentioned,  be  imprisoned  or  detained;  and  that  your  Majesty  would  be 
pleased  to  remove  the  said  soldiers  and  mariners,  and  that  your  people  may 
not  be  so  burthened  in  time  to  come;  and  that  the  aforesaid  commissions,  for 
proceeding  by  martial  law,  may  be  revoked  and  annulled;  and  that  hereafter 
no  commissions  of  like  nature  may  issue  forth  to  any  person  or  persons 
whatsoever  to  be  executed  as  aforesaid,  lest  by  colour  of  them  any  of  your 
Majesty's  subjects  be  destroyed  or  put  to  death  contrary  to  the  laws  and franchise  of  the  land. 

XI.  All  which  they  most  himibly  pray  of  your  most  excellent  Majesty  as; 
their  rights  and  liberties,  according  to  the  laws  and  statutes  of  this  realm;, 
and  that  your  Majesty  would  also  vouchsafe  to  declare  that  the  awards,  doings,, 
and  proceedings,  to  the  prejudice  of  your  people  in  any  of  the  premises,  shall 
not  be  drawn  hereafter  into  consequence  or  example;  and  that  your  Majesty 
would  be  also  graciously  pleased,  for  the  further  comfort  and  safety  of  your 
people,  to  declare  your  royal  will  and  pleasure,  that  in  the  things  aforesaid 
all  your  officers  and  ministers  shall  serve  you  according  to  the  laws  and  statutes 
of  this  realm,  as  they  tender  the  honour  of  your  Majesty,  and  the  prosperity 
of  this  kingdom. 

QiM  quidem  petitione  lectd  et  plenius  intellectd  per  dictum  dominum  regem 
taliter  est  responsum  in  pleno  parliamento,  viz.  Soit  droit  fait  comme  est  desir4. 

VII 

THE   SOLEMN   LEAGUE   AND   COVENANT    (1643  a.d.) 

[The  Solemn  League  and  Covenant  was  the  Eecond  of  the  public  national  covenants  entered 
into  in  Great  Britain,  the  first  being  the  Scottish  National  Covenant,  drawn  up  by  order  of 
James  VI  in  1580,  and  several  times  renewed,  lastly  in  1638.  The  Solemn  League  and  Cov- 

enant was  arranged  by  English  and  Scotch  commissioners,  and  was  practically  an  international 
treaty  between  England  and  Scotland  for  the  purpose  of  securing  the  uniform  establishment  of 
the  civil  and  religious  liberties  of  the  two  kingdoms.] 

A  SOLEMN  LEAGUE  AND  COVENANT  FOR  REFORMATION  AND  DEFENCE  OF  RELI- 

GION, THE  HONOUR  AND  HAPPINESS  OF  THE  KING,  AND  THE  PEACE  AND 
SAFETY  OF  THE  THREE  KINGDOMS  OF  ENGLAND,  SCOTLAND  AND  IRELAND 

We,  noblemen,  barons,  knights,  gentlemen,  citizens,  burgesses,  ministers 
of  the  Gospel,  and  commons  of  all  sorts  in  the  kingdoms  of  England,  Scotland, 
and  Ireland,  by  the  providence  of  God  living  under  one  king,  and  being  of  one 
reformed  religion;  having  before  our  eyes  the  glory  of  God,  and  the  advance- 

ment of  the  kmgdom  of  our  Lord  and  Saviour  Jesus  Christ,  the  honour  and 

happiness  of  the  king's  majesty  and  his  posterity,  and  the  true  public  liberty, 
safety,  and  peace  of  the  kingdoms,  wherein  every  one's  private  condition  is 
included;  and  calling  to  mind  the  treacherous  and  bloody  plots,  conspiracies, 
attempts,  and  practices  of  the  enemies  of  God  against  the  true  religion  and 
professors  thereof  in  aU  places,  especially  in  these  three  kingdoms,  ever  smce 
the  reformation  of  religion;  and  hoW  much  their  rage,  power,  and  presumption 
are  of  late,  and  at  this  time  increased  and  exercised,  whereof  the  deplorable 
estate  of  the  church  and  kingdom  of  Ireland,  the  distressed  estate  of  the 
church  and  kingdom  of  England,  and  the  dangerous  estate  of  the  church  and 
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kingdom  of  Scotland,  are  present  and  public  testimonies:  we  have  (now  at 
least)  after  other  means  of  supplication,  remonstrance,  protestations,  and 
sufferings,  for  the  preservation  of  ourselves  and  our  religion  from  utter  ruin 
and  destruction  according  to  the  commendable  practice  of  these  kingdoms  in 

former  times,  and  the  example  of  God's  people  in  other  nations,  after  mature 
deliberation,  resolved  and  determined  to  enter  into  a  mutual  and  solemn 
league  and  covenant,  wherein  we  all  subscribe,  and  each  one  of  us  for  himself, 
with  our  hands  lifted  up  to  the  most  high  God,  do  swear: 

That  we  shall  sincerely,  really,  and  constantly,  through  the  grace  of  God, 
endeavour  in  our  several  places  and  callings,  the  preservation  of  the  reformed 
religion  in  the  church  of  Scotland,  in  doctrine,  worship,  discipline,  and  govern- 

ment, against  our  common  enemies;  the  reformation  of  religion  in  the  king- 
doms of  England  and  Ireland,  in  doctrine,  worship,  discipline,  and  govern- 
ment, according  to  the-  Word  of  God,  and  the  example  of  the  best  reformed  churches; 

and  we  shall  endeavour  to  brmg  the  churches  of  God  in  the  three  kingdoms  to 
the  nearest  conjunction  and  imiformity  in  religion,  confession  of  faith,  form 
of  church  government,  directory  for  worship  and  catechising,  that  we,  and 
our  posterity  after  us,  may  as  brethren,  live  in  faith  and  love,  and  the  Lord 
may  delight  to  dwell  in  the  midst  of  us. 

II 

That  we  shall  in  hke  manner,  without  respect  of  persons,  endeavour  the 
extirpation  of  popery,  prelacy,  (that  is,  church  government  by  archbishops, 
bishops,  their  chancellors  and  commissaries,  deans,  deans  and  chapters,  arch- 

deacons, and  all  other  ecclesiastical  officers  depending  on  that  hierarchy), 
superstition,  heresy,  schism,  profaneness,  and  whatsoever  shall  be  found  to  be 
contrary  to  sound  doctrine  and  the  power  of  godliness  lest  we  partake  in  other 
men's  sins,  and  thereby  be  in  danger  to  receive  of  their  plagues;  and  that  the 
Lord  may  be  one,  and  His  name  one  in  the  three  kingdoms. 

Ill 

We  shall,  with  the  same  sincerity,  reahty,  and  constancy,  in  our  several 
vocations,  endeavour  with  our  estates  and  lives  mutually  to  preserve  the 
rights  and  privileges  of  the  parliaments,  and  the  liberties  of  the  kingdoms, 
and  to  preserve  ard  defend  the  king's  majesty's  person  and  authority,  in  the 
preservation  and  defence  of  the  true  religion  and  liberties  of  the  kingdoms, 
that  the  world  may  bear  witness  with  our  consciences  of  our  loyalty,  and  that 

Ave  have  no  thoughts  or  intentions  to  diminish  his  majesty's  just  power  and 
greatness. 

IV 

We  shall  also,  with  all  faithfulness  endeavour  the  discovery  of  all  such  as 
have  been  or  shall  be  incendiaries,  malignants,  or  evil  instruments,  by  hindering 
;the  reformation  of  religion,  dividing  the  king  from  his  people,  or  one  of  the 
kingdoms  from  another,  or  making  any  faction  or  parties  amongst  the  people, 
contrary  to  the  league  and  covenant,  that  they  may  be  brought  to  public 
trial  and  receive  condign  punishment,  as  the  degree  of  their  offences  shall 
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require  or  deserve,  or  the  supreme  judicatories  of  both  kingdoms  respectively, 
or  others  having  power  from  them  for  that  effect,  shall  judge  convenient. 

And  whereas  the  happiness  of  a  blessed  peace  between  these  kingdoms, 
denied  in  fonner  times  to  our  progenitors,  is  by  the  good  providence  of  God 
granted  to  us,  and  hath  been  lately  concluded  and  settled  by  both  parliaments: 
we  shall  each  one  of  us,  according  to  our  places  and  interest,  endeavour  that 
they  may  remain  conjoined  in  a  firm  peace  and  union  to  all  posterity,  and  that 
justice  may  be  done  upon  the  wilful  opposers  thereof,  in  manner  expressed  in 
the  precedent  articles. 

VI 

We  shall  also,  according  to  our  places  and  callings,  in  this  common  cause 
of  religion,  liberty,  and  peace  of  the  kingdom,  assist  and  defend  all  those  that 
enter  into  this  league  and  covenant,  in  the  maintaining  and  pursuing  thereof; 
and  shall  not  suffer  ourselves,  directly  or  indirectly,  by  whatsoever  combina- 

tion, persuasion  or  terror,  to  be  divided  and  withdrawn  from  this  blessed 
imion  and  conjunction,  whether  to  make  defection  to  the  contrary  part,  or 
give  ourselves  to  a  detestable  indifferency  or  neutrality  in  this  cause,  which 
so  much  concemeth  the  glory  of  God,  the  good  of  the  kingdoms,  and  the 
honour  of  the  king;  but  shall  all  the  days  of  our  lives  zealously  and  constantly 
continue  therein,  against  all  opposition,  and  promote  the  same  according  to 
our  power,  against  all  lets  and  impediments  whatsoever;  and  what  we  are 
not  able  ourselves  to  suppress  or  overcome  we  shall  reveal  and  make  known, 
that  it  may  be  timely  prevented  or  removed:  all  which  we  shall  do  as  in  the 
sight  of  God. 

And  because  these  kingdoms  are  guilty  of  many  sins  and  provocations 
against  God,  and  His  Son  Jesus  Christ,  as  is  too  manifest  by  our  present  dis- 

tresses and  dangers,  the  fruits  thereof;  we  profess  and  declare,  before  God  and 
the  world,  our  unfeigned  desire  to  be  humbled  for  our  own  sins,  and  for  the  sins 
of  these  kingdoms;  especially  that  we  have  not  as  we  ought  valued  the  inesti- 

mable benefit  of  the  Gospel;  that  we  have  not  laboured  for  the  purity  and 
power  thereof;  and  that  we  have  not  endeavoured  to  receive  Christ  in  our 
hearts,  nor  to  walk  worthy  of  Him  in  our  lives,  which  are  the  causes  of  other 
sins  and  trangressions  so  much  abounding  amongst  us,  and  our  true  and 
imfeigned  purpose,  desire,  and  endeavour,  for  ourselves  and  all  others  under 
our  power  and  charge,  both  in  public  and  in  private,  in  all  duties  we  owe  to 
God  and  man,  to  amend  our  lives,  and  each  one  to  go  before  another  in  the 
example  of  a  real  reformation,  that  the  Lord  may  turn  away  His  wrath  and 
heavy  indignation,  and  establish  these  churches  and  kingdoms  in  truth  and 
peace.  And  this  covenant  we  make  in  the  presence  of  Almighty  God,  the 
Searcher  of  all  hearts,  with  a  true  intention  to  perform  the  same,  as  we  shall 
answer  at  that  Great  Day  when  the  secrets  of  all  hearts  shall  be  disclosed: 
most  humbly  beseeching  the  Lord  to  strengthen  us  by  His  Holy  Spirit  for  this 
end,  and  to  bless  our  desires  and  proceedings  with  such  success  as  may  be  a 
deliverance  and  safety  to  His  people,  and  encouragement  to  the  Christian 
churches  groaning  under  or  in  danger  of  the  yoke  of  anti-Christian  tyranny, 
to  join  in  the  same  or  like  association  and  covenant,  to  the  glory  of  God,  the 
enlargement  of  the  kingdom  of  Jesus  Christ,  and  the  peace  and  tranquillity 
of  Christian  kingdoms  and  commonwealths. 
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VIII 

THE   DECLARATION   OF   BREDA   (1660  a.d.) 

[The  conciliatory  pToclamation  of  Charles  II,  known  as  the  Declaration  of  Breda,  from  the 
tpwn  in  the  Netherlands  where  the  fugitive  king  had  set  up  his  court,  was  published  after 
Monk  had  declared  for  a  free  parliament  and  begun  his  advance  from  Scotland  into  England. 

It  was  intended  and  accepted  as  a  proof  of  Charles'  willingness  to  take  the  crown  from  the 
hands  of  the  united  Cavaliers  and  Presbyterians,  and  of  his  design  to  bury  old  animosities  and 
in  general  to  forgive  those  who  had  been  keeping  him  from  his  inheritance.] 

Charles  R.,  by  the  grace  of  God,  King  of  England,  Scotland,  France  and 
Ireland,  Defender  of  the  Faith,  &c.  To  all  our  loving  subjects,  of  what  degree 
or  quality  soever,  greeting. 

If  the  general  distraction  and  confusion  which  is  spread  over  the  whole 
kingdom,  doth  not  awaken  all  men  to  a  desire  and  longing  that  those  wounds 
which  have  so  many  years  together  been  kept  bleedmg,  may  be  bound  up,  all 
we  can  say  will  be  to  no  purpose;  however,  after  this  long  silence,  we  have 
thought  it  our  duty  to  declare  how  much  we  desire  to  contribute  thereimto; 
and  that  as  we  can  never  give  over  the  hope,  in  good  time,  to  obtain  the 
possession  of  that  right  which  God  and  nature  hath  made  our  due,  so  we  do 
make  it  our  daily  suit  to  the  Divine  Providence,  that  He  will,  in  compassion 
to  us  and  our  subjects,  after  so  long  misery  and  sufferings,  remit  and  put  us 
into  a  quiet  and  peaceable  possession  of  that  our  right,  with  as  little  blood  and 
damage  to  our  people  as  possible;  nor  do  we  desire  more  to  enjoy  what  is 
ours,  than  that  all  our  subjects  may  enjoy  what  by  law  is  theirs,  by  a  full  and 
entire  administration  of  justice  throughout  the  land,  and  by  extending  our 
mercy  where  it  is  wanted  and  deserved. 

Aiid  to  the  end  that  the  fear  of  pimishment  may  not  engage  any,  conscious 
to  themselves  of  what  is  past,  to  a  perseverance  in  guilt  for  the  future,  by 
opposing  the  quiet  and  happiness  of  the  coxmtry,  in  the  restoration  of  King, 
Peers  and  the  people  to  their  just,  ancient  and  fundamental  rights,  we  do,  by 
these  presents,  declare,  that  we  do  grant  a  free  and  general  pardon,  which  we 
are  ready,  upon  demand,  to  pass  under  our  Great  Seal  of  England,  to  all  our 
subjects,  of  what  degree  or  quality  soever,  who,  within  forty  days  after  the 
publishing  hereof,  shall  lay  hold  upon  this  our  grace  and  favour,  and  shall, 
by  any  public  act,  declare  their  doing  so,  and  that  they  return  to  the  loyalty 
and  obedience  of  good  subjects;  excepting  only  such  persons  as  shall  hereafter 
be  excepted  by  Parliament,  those  only  to  be  excepted.  Let  all  our  subjects, 
how  faulty  soever,  rely  upon  the  word  of  a  King,  solemnly  given  by  this 
present  declaration,  that  no  crime  whatsoever,  committed  against  us  or  our 
royal  father  before  the  publication  of  this,  shall  ever  rise  in  judgment,  or  be 
brought  in  question,  against  any  of  them,  to  the  least  endamagement  of  them, 
either  in  their  lives,  liberties  or  estates,  or  (as  far  forth  as  lies  in  our  power) 
so  much  as  to  the  prejudice  of  their  reputations,  by  any  reproach  or  term  of 
distinction  from  the  rest  of  our  best  subjects;  we  desiring  and  ordaining  that 
henceforth  all  notes  of  discord,  separation  and  difference  of  parties  be  utterly 
aboHshed  among  all  our  subjects,  whom  we  invite  and  conjure  to  a  perfect 
imion  among  themselves,  under  our  protection,  for  the  re-settlement  of  our 
just  rights  and  theirs  in  a  free  Parliament,  by  which,  upon  the  word  of  a  King, 
we  will  be  advised. 

And  because  the  passion  and  uncharitableness  of  the  times  have  produced 
several  opinions  in  religion,  by  which  men  are  engaged  in  parties  and  animos- 
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ities  against  each  other  (which,  when  they  shall  hereafter  unite  in  a  freedom 
of  conversation,  will  be  composed  or  better  understood),  we  do  declare  a 
liberty  to  tender  consciences,  and  that  no  man  shall  be  disquieted  or  called  m 
question  for  differences  of  opinion  in  matter  of  religion,  which  do  not  disturb 
the  peace  of  the  kingdom;  and  that  we  shall  be  ready  to  consent  to  such  an 
Act  of  Parliament,  as,  upon  mature  deliberation,  shall  be  offered  to  us,  for  the 
full  granting  of  that  indulgence. 

And  because,  in  the  continued  distractions  of  so  many  years,  and  so  many 
and  great  revolutions,  many  grants  and  purchases  of  estates  have  been  made 
to  and  by  many  officers,  soldiers,  and  others,  who  are  now  possessed  of  the 
same,  and  who  may  be  liable  to  actions  at  law  upon  several  titles,  we  are 
likewise  willing  that  all  such  differences,  and  all  things  relating  to  such  grants, 
sales  and  purchases,  shall  be  determined  in  Pariiament,  which  can  best  pro- 

vide for  the  just  satisfaction  of  all  men  who  are  concerned. 
.  And  we  do  further  declare,  that  we  will  be  ready  to  consent  to  any  Act  or 
Acts  of  Parliament  to  the  purposes  aforesaid,  and  for  the  full  satisfaction  of 
all  arrears  due  to  the  officers  and  soldiers  of  the  army  imder  the  command  of 
General  Monk;  and  that  they  shall  be  received  into  our  service  upon  as  good 
pay  and  conditions  as  they  now  enjoy. 

Given  under  our  Sign  Manual  and  Privy  Signet,  at  our  Court  at 
Breda,  this  4th  day  of  April,  1660,  in  the  twelfth  year  of 
our  reign. 

IX 

THE  BILL  OF  RIGHTS  (1689  a.d.) 

[The  great  statute  knoWaas  the  Bill  of  Rights  was  one  of  the  first  acts  of  the  first  parlia- 
ment of  William  and  Mary,  which  met  on  February  13th,  1689.  It  wrs,  as  Sir  Edward  Creasy 

points  out,  the  third  and  last  great  bulwark  of  English  liberty — the  two  earlier  being  the 
Magna  Charta  (1215)  and  the  Petition  of  Right  (1628).] 

AN   ACT   FOR   DECLARING   THE   RIGHTS   AND   LIBERTIES   OF   THE   SUBJECT,   AND 
SETTLING  THE   SUCCESSION   OF   THE   CROWN 

Whereas  the  Lords  Spiritual  and  Temporal,  and  Commons,  assembled  at 
Westminster,  lawfully,  fully,  and  freely  representing  all  the  estates  of  the 
people  of  this  realm,  did,  upon  the  thirteenth  day  of  February,  in  the  year  of 
our  Lord  one  thousand  six  hvmdred  eighty-eight,  present  unto  their  Majesties, 
then  called  and  known  by  the  names  and  style  of  William  and  Mary,  Prince 
and  Princess  of  Orange,  being  present  in  their  proper  persons,  a  certain  declara- 

tion in  writing,  made  by  the  said  Lords  and  Commons,  in  the  words  following; 

viz. — Whereas  the  late  King  James  II,  by  the  assistance  of  divers  evil  counsellors, 
judges,  and  ministers  employed  by  him,  did  endeavour  to  subvert  and  extirpate 
the  Protestant  religion,  and  the  laws  and  liberties  of  this  kingdom :  — 

1.  By  assuming  and  exercising  a  power  of  dispensing  with  and  suspending 
of  laws,  and  the  execution  of  laws,  without  consent  of  Parliam«it. 

2.  By  committing  and  prosecuting  divers  worthy  prelates,  for  humbly 
petitioning  to  be  excused  from  concurring  to  the  said  assumed  power. 

3.  By  issuing  and  causing  to  be  executed  a  commission  under  the  Great 
Seal,  for  erecting  a  court,  called  the  Court  of  Commissioners  for  Ecclesiastical 
Causes. 

4.  By  levying  money  for  and  to  the  use  of  the  Crown,  by  pretence  of 
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prerogative,  for  other  time,  and  in  other  manner  than  the  same  was  granted 
by  Parliament. 

5.  By  raising  and  keeping  a  standing  army  within  this  kingdom  in  time 
of  peace,  without  consent  of  Parliament,  and  quartering  soldiers  contrary  to 
law. 

6.  By  causing  several  good  subjects,  being  Protestants,  to  be  disarmed, 
at  the  same  time  when  Papists  were  both  armed  and  employed,  contrary  to  law. 

7.  By  violating  the  freedom  of  election  of  members  to  serve  in  Parliament. 

8.  By  prosecutions  in  the  Court  of  King's  Bench,  for  matters  and  causes 
cognisable  only  in  Parliament;  and  by  divers  other  arbitrary  and  illegal 
courses. 

9.  And  whereas  of  late  years,  partial,  corrupt,  and  unqualified  persons 
have  been  returned  and  served  on  juries  in  trials,  and  particularly  divers 
jurors  in  trials  for  high  treason,  which  were  not  freeholders. 

10.  And  excessive  bail  hath  been  required  of  persons  committed  in  criminal 
cases,  to  elude  the  benefit  of  the  laws  made  for  the  liberty  of  the  subjects. 

11.  And  excessive  fines  have  been  imposed;  and  illegal  and  cruel  punish- 
ments inflicted. 

12.  And  several  grants  and  promises  made  of  fines  and  forfeitures,  before 
any  conviction  or  judgment  against  the  persons  upon  whom  the  same  were 
to  be  levied. 

All  which  are  utterly  and  directly  contrary  to  the  known  laws  and  statutes, 
and  the  freedom  of  this  realm. 

And  whereas  the  said  late  King  James  II  having  abdicated  the  govern- 
ment, and  the  throne  being  thereby  vacant,  his  Highness  the  Prince  of  Orange 

(whom  it  hath  pleased  Almighty  God  to  make  the  glorious  instrument  of 
delivering  this  kingdom  from  popery  and  arbitrary  power)  did  (by  the  advice 
of  the  Lords  Spiritual  and  Temporal,  and  divers  principal  persons  of  the 
Commons)  cause  letters  to  be  written  to  the  Lords  Spiritual  and  Temporal, 
being  Protestants,  and  other  letters  to  the  several  coimties,  cities,  universities,, 
boroughs  and  cinque-ports,  for  the  choosing  of  such  persons  to  represent  them, 
as  were  of  right  to  be  sent  to  Parliament,  to  meet  and  sit  at  Westminster  upon 
the  two-and-twentieth  day  of  January,  in  this  year  one  thousand  six  huni^d 
eighty  and  eight,  in  order  to  such  an  establishment,  as  that  their  religion, 
laws  and  liberties  might  not  again  be  in  danger  of  being  subverted;  upon 
which  letters,  elections  have  been  accordingly  made. 

And  thereupon  the  said  Lords  Spiritual  and  Temporal,  and  Commons, 
pursuant  to  their  respective  letters  and  elections,  being  now  assembled  in  a 
full  and  free  representation  of  this  nation,  taking  into  their  most  serious  con- 

sideration the  best  means  for  attaining  the  ends  aforesaid,  do  in  the  first  place 
(as  their  ancestors  in  like  case  have  usually  done)  for  the  vindicating  and 
asserting  their  ancient  rights  and  liberties,  declare:  — 

1.  That  the  pretended  power  of  suspending  of  laws,  or  the  execution  of 
laws,  by  regal  authority,  without  consent  of  Parliament,  is  illegal. 

2.  That  the  pretended  power  of  dispensing  with  laws,  or  the  execution  of 
laws  by  regal  authority,  as  it  hath  been  assumed,  and  exercised  of  late,  is 
illegal. 

3.  That  the  commission  for  erecting  the  late  Court  of  Commissioners  for 
Ecclesiastical  Causes,  and  all  other  commissions  and  courts  of  like  nature, 
are  illegal  and  pernicious. 

4.  That  levying  money  for  or  to  the  use  of  the  Crown,  by  pretence  and 
prerogative,  without  grant  of  Parliament,  for  longer  time  or  in  other  manner 
than  the  same  is  or  shall  be  granted,  is  illegal. 
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5.  That  it  is  the  right  of  the  subjects  to  petition  the  King,  and  all  com- 
mitments and  prosecutions  for  such  petitioning  are  illegal. 

6.  That  the  raising  or  keeping  a  standing  army  within  the  kingdom  in 
time  of  peace,  imless  it  be  with  the  consent  of  Parliament,  is  against  law. 

7.  lliat  the  subjects  which  are  Protestants,  may  have  arms  for  their 
defence  suitable  to  their  conditions,  and  as  allowed  by  law. 

8.  That  elections  of  members  of  Parliament  ought  to  be  free. 
9.  That  the  freedom  of  speech,  and  debates  or  proceedings  in  Parliament, 

ought  not  to  be  impeached  or  questioned  in  any  court  or  place  out  of  Parlia- 
ment. 

10.  That  excessive  bail  ought  not  to  be  required,  nor  excessive  fines 
imposed;  nor  cruel  and  unusual  pimishments  inflicted. 

11.  That  jurors  ought  to  be  duly  impanelled  and  retiuned,  and  jurors 
which  pass  upon  men  in  trials  for  high  treason  ought  to  be  freeholders. 

12.  That  all  grants  and  promises  of  fines  and  forfeitures  of  particular 
persons  before  conviction,  are  illegal  and  void. 

13.  And  that  for  redress  of  all  grievances,  and  for  the  amending,  strengthen- 
ing, and  preserving  of  the  laws.  Parliaments  ought  to  be  held  frequently. 
And  they  do  claim,  demand,  and  insist  upon  all  and  singular  the  premises, 

as  their  undoubted  rights  and  liberties;  and  that  no  declarations,  judgments, 
doings  or  proceedings,  to  the  prejudice  of  the  people  in  any  of  the  said  prem- 

ises, ought  in  any  wise  to  be  drawn  hereafter  into  consequence  or  example. 
To  which  demand  of  their  rights,  they  are  particularly  encouraged  by  the 

declaration  of  his  Highness  the  Prince  of  Orange,  as  being  the  only  means  for 
obtaining  a  full  redress  and  remedy  therein. 

Having  therefore  an  entire  confidence  that  his  said  Highness  the  Prince 
of  Orange  will  perfect  the  deliverance  so  far  advanced  by  him,  and  will  still 
preserve  them  from  the  violation  of  their  rights,  which  they  have  here  asserted, 
and  from  all  other  attempts  upon  their  religion,  rights,  and  liberties: 

II.  The  said  Lords  Spiritual  and  Temporal,  and  Commons,  assembled  at 
Westminster,  do  resolve  that  William  and  Mary,  Prince  and  Princess  of  Orange 
be,  and  be  declared,  King  and  Queen  of  England,  France  and  Ireland,  and  the 
dominions  thereunto  belonging,  to  hold  the  Crown  and  royal  dignity  of  the 
said  kingdoms  and  dominions  to  them  the  said  Prince  and  Princess  during 
their  lives,  and  the  life  of  the  survivor  of  them;  and  that  the  sole  and  fuU 
exercise  of  the  regal  power  be  only  in,  and  executed  by,  the  said  Prince  of 
Orange,  in  the  names  of  the  said  Prince  and  Princess,  during  their  joint  lives; 
and  after  their  deceases,  the  said  Crown  and  royal  dignity  of  the  said  kingdoms 
and  dominions  to  be  to  the  heirs  of  the  body  of  the  said  Princess;  and  for 
default  of  such  issue  to  the  Princess  Anne  of  Denmark,  and  the  heirs  of  her 
body;  and  for  default  of  such  issue  to  the  heirs  of  the  body  of  the  said  Prince 
of  Orange.  And  the  Lords  Spiritual  and  Temporal,  and  Commons,  do  pray 
the  said  Prince  and  Princess  to  accept  the  same  accordingly. 

III.  And  that  the  oaths  hereafter  mentioned  be  taken  by  all  persons  of 
whom  the  oaths  of  allegiance  and  supremacy  might  be  required  by  law,  instead 
of  them;  and  that  the  said  oaths  of  allegiance  and  supremacy  be  abrogated. 

I,  A.  B.,  do  sincerely  promise  and  swear,  That  I  wiU  be  faithful  and  bear 
true  allegiance  to  their  Majesties  King  William  and  Queen  Mary: 

So  help  me  God. 

I,  A.  B.,  do  swear,  That  I  do  from  my  heart  abhor,  detest,  and  abjure  as 
impious  and  heretical,  that  damnable  doctrine  and  position,  that  Princes 
excommunicated  or  deprived  by  the  Pope,  or  any  authority  of  the  See  of 
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Rome,  may  be  deposed  or  murdered  by  their  subjects,  or  any  other  whatso- 
ever. And  I  do  declare,  that  no  foreign  prince,  person,  prelate,  state,  or 

potentate  bath,  or  ought  to  have,  any  jurisdiction,  power,  superiority,  pre- 
eminence, or  authority  ecclesiastical  or  spiritual,  within  this  realm: 

So  help  me  God. 

IV.  Upon  which  their  said  Majesties  did  accept  the  crown  and  royal 
dignity  of  the  kingdoms  of  England,  France,  and  Ireland,  and  the  dominions 
thereunto  belonging,  according  to  the  resolution  and  desire  of  the  said  Lords 
and  Commons  contained  in  the  said  declaration. 

V.  And  thereupon  their  Majesties  were  pleased,  that  the  said  Lords 
Spiritual  and  Temporal,  and  Commons,  being  the  two  Houses  of  Parliament, 

should  continue  to  sit,  and  with  their  Majesties'  royal  concurrence  make 
effectual  provision  for  the  settlement  of  the  religion,  laws  and  liberties  of  this 

kingdom,  so  that  the  same  for  the  future  might  not  be  in  danger  again  of  being  ' subverted;  to  which  the  said  Lords  Spiritual  and  Temporal,  and  Commons, 
did  agree  and  proceed  to  act  accordingly. 

VI.  Now  in  pursuance  of  the  premises,  the  said  Lords  Spiritual  and 
Temporal,  and  Commons,  in  Parliament  assembled,  for  the  ratifying,  con- 

firming and  establishing  the  said  declaration,  and  the  articles,  clauses,  matters, 
and  things  therein  contained,  by  the  force  of  a  law  made  in  due  form  by 
authority  of  ParUament,  do  pray  that  it  may  be  declared  and  enacted.  That 
all  and  singular  the  rights  and  liberties  asserted  and  claimed  in  the  said 
declaration,  are  the  true,  ancient,  and  indubitable  rights  and  liberties  of  the 
people  of  this  kingdom,  and  so  shall  be  esteemed,  allowed,  adjudged,  deemed, 
and  taken  to  be,  and  that  all  and  every  the  particulars  aforesaid  shall  be 
firmly  and  strictly  holden  and  observed,  as  they  are  expressed  in  the  said 
declaration;  and  all  ofiicers  and  ministers  whatsoever  shall  serve  their  Majes- 

ties and  their  successors  according  to  the  same  in  all  times  to  come. 
VII.  And  the  said  Lords  Spiritual  and  Temporal,  and  Commons,  seriously 

considering  how  it  hath  pleased  Almighty  God,  in  his  marvellous  providence, 
and  merciful  goodness  to  this  nation,  to  provide  and  preserve  their  said 

Majesties'  royal  persons  most  happily  to  reign  over  us  upon  the  throne  of  their 
ancestors,  for  which  they  render  tinto  Him  from  the  bottom  of  their  hearts 
their  humblest  thanks  and  praises,  do  truly,  firmly,  assuredly,  and  in  the 
sincerity  of  their  hearts,  think,  and  do  hereby  recognise,  acknowledge  and 
declare,  that  King  James  II  having  abdicated  the  government,  and  their 
Majesties  having  accepted  the  Crown  and  royal  dignity  as  aforesaid,  their  said 
Majesties  did  become,  were,  are,  and  of  sovereign  right  ought  to  be,  by  the 
laws  of  this  realm,  our  sovereign  liege  lord  and  lady.  King  and  Queen  of  Eng- 

land, France,  and  Ireland,  and  the  dominions  thereunto  belonging,  in  and  to 
whose  princely  persons  the  royal  State,  Crown,  and  dignity  of  the  said  realms, 
with  all  honours,  styles,  titles,  regahties,  prerogatives,  powers,  jurisdictions 
and  authorities  to  the  same  belonging  and  appertaining,  are  most  fully,  right- 

fully, and  entirely  invested  and  incorporated,  united  and  annexed. 
VIII.  And  for  preventmg  all  questions  and  divisions  in  this  realm,  by 

reason  of  any  pretended  titles  to  the  Crown,  and  for  preserving  a  certainty 
in  the  succession  thereof,  in  and  upon  which  the  imity,  peace,  and  tranquillity, 
and  safety  of  this  nation  doth,  under  God,  wholly  consist  and  depend,  the 
said  Lords  Spiritual  and  Temporal,  and  Commons,  do  beseech  their  Majesties 
that  it  may  be  enacted,  established  and  declared,  that  the  Crown  and  legal 
government  of  the  said  kingdoms  and  dommions,  with  all  and  singular  the 
premises  thereunto  belonging  and  appertaining,  shall  be  and  continued  to 
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their  said  Majesties,  and  the  survivor  of  them,  during  their  lives,  and  the  Hfe 
of  the  survivor  of  them.  And  that  the  entire,  perfect,  and  full  exercise  of 
the  regal  power  and  government  be  only  in,  and  executed  by,  his  Majesty, 
in  the  names  of  both  their  Majesties  during  their  joint  lives;  and  after  their 
deceases  the  said  Crown  and  premises  shall  be  and  remain  to  the  heirs  of  the 
body  of  her  Majesty;  and  for  default  of  such  issue,  to  her  Royal  Highness 
the  Princess  Anne  of  Denmark,  and  the  heirs  of  her  body;  and  for  default  of 
such  issue,  to  the  heirs  of  the  body  of  his  said  Majesty:  And  thereunto  the 
said  Lords  Spiritual  and  Temporal,  and  Conunons  do,  m  the  name  of  all  the 
people  aforesaid,  most  humbly  and  faithfully  submit  themselves,  their  heirs 
and  posterities  for  ever;  and  do  faithfully  promise.  That  they  will  stand  to, 
maintain,  and  defend  their  said  Majesties,  and  also  the  limitation  and  succes- 

sion of  the  Crown  herein  specified  and  contained,  to  the  utmost  of  their  powers, 
with  their  lives  and  estates,  against  all  persons  whatsoever  that  shall  attempt 
anything  to  the  contrary. 

IX.  And  whereas  it  hath  been  found  by  experience,  that  it  is  inconsistent 
with  the  safety  and  welfare  of  this  Protestant  kingdom,  to  be  governed  by  a 
Popish  Prince,  or  by  any  King  or  Queen  marrying  a  Papist,  the  said  Lords 
Spiritual  and  Temporal,  and  Commons,  do  further  pray  that  it  may  be  enacted. 
That  all  and  every  person  and  persons  that  is,  are,  or  shall  be  reconciled  to, 
or  shall  hold  communion  with,  the  See  or  Church  of  Rome,  or  shall  profess 
the  Popish  religion,  or  shall  marry  a  Papist,  shall  be  excluded,  and  be  for  ever 
incapable  to  inherit,  possess,  or  enjoy  the  Crown  and  government  of  this 
realm,  and  Ireland,  and  the  dominions  thereimto  belonging,  or  any  part  of 
the  same,  or  to  have,  use,  or  exercise  any  regal  power,  authority,  or  jurisdiction 
within  the  same;  and  in  all  and  every  such  case  or  cases  the  people  of  these 
realms  shall  be  and  are  hereby  absolved  of  their  allegiance;  and  the  said 
Crown  and  government  shall  from  time  to  time  descend  to,  and  be  enjoyed 
by,  such  person  or  persons,  being  Protestants,  as  should  have  inherited  and 
enjoyed  the  same,  in  case  the  said  person  or  persons  so  reconciled,  holding 
communion,  or  professuig,  or  marrying  as  aforesaid,  were  naturally 
dead. 

X.  And  that  every  King  and  Queen  of  this  realm,  who  at  any  time  here- 
after shall  come  to  and  succeed  in  the  Imperial  Crown  of  this  kingdom,  shall, 

on  the  first  day  of  the  meeting  of  the  first  Parliament,  next  after  his  or  her 
coming  to  the  Crown,  sitting  in  his  or  her  throne  in  the  House  of  Peers,  in  the 
presence  of  the  Lords  and  Commons  therein  assembled,  or  at  his  or  her  corona- 

tion, before  such  person  or  persons  who  shall  administer  the  coronation  oath 
to  him  or  her,  at  the  time  of  his  or  her  taking  the  said  oath  (which  shall  first 
happen),  make,  subscribe,  and  audibly  repeat  the  declaration  mentioned  in 
the  statute  made  in  the  thirteenth  year  of  the  reign  of  King  Charles  II, 

intituled  "An  act  for  the  more  effectual  preserving  the  King's  person  and 
government,  by  disabling  Papists  from  sitting  in  either  House  of  Parliament." But  if  it  shall  happen,  that  such  King  or  Queen,  upon  his  or  her  succession  to 
the  Crown  of  this  reahn,  shall  be  imder  the  age  of  twelve  years,  then  every 

such  King  or  Queen  shall  make,  subscribe,  and  audibly  repeat  the  said  declara- 
tion at  his  or  her  coronation,  or  the  first  day  of  meeting  of  the  first  Parliament 

as  aforesaid,  which  shall  first  happen  after  such  King  or  Queen  shall  have 
attained  the  said  age  of  twelve  years. 

XI.  All  which  their  Majesties  are  contented  and  pleased  shall  be  declared, 
enacted,  and  established  by  authority  of  this  present  Parliament,  and  shall 
stand,  remain,  and  be  the  law  of  this  realm  for  ever;  and  the  same  are  by  their 
said  Majesties,  by  and  with  the  advice  and  consent  of  the  Lords  Spiritual  and 
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Temporal,  and  Commons,  in  Parliament  assembled,  and  by  the  authority  of 
the  same,  declared,  enacted,  or  established  accordingly. 

XII.  And  be  it  further  declared  and  enacted  by  the  authority  aforesaid. 
That  from  and  after  this  present  session  of  Pariiament,  no  dispensation  by 
non  obstante  of  or  to  any  statute, -or  any  part  thereof,  shall  be  allowed,  but 
that  the  same  shall  be  held  void  and  of  no  effect,  except  a  dispensation  be 
allowed  of  in  such  statute,  and  except  in  such  cases  as  shall  be  especially  pro- 

vided for  by  one  or  more  bill  or  biUs  to  be  passed  during  this  present  session 
of  Parliament. 

XIII.  Provided  that  no  charter,  or  grant,  or  pardon  granted  before  the 
three-and-twentieth  day  of  October,  in  the  year  of  our  Lord  One  thousand 
six  himdred  eighty-nine,  shall  be  any  ways  impeached  or  invalidated  by  this 
Act,  but  that  the  same  shall  be  and  remain  of  the  same  force  and  effect  in  law, 
and  no  other  than  as  if  this  Act  had  never  been  made. 

X 

THE  ACT  OF  SETTLEMENT  (1700  a.d.) 

["  In  order  to  obviate  the  confusion  that  was  likely  to  arise  as  to  the  right  of  the  crown, 
in  the  event  (which  actually  occurred)  of  there  being  no  surviving  issue  of  William  and  Mary, 
of  the  Princess  Anne,  or  of  William,  it  was  found  necessary,  in  1700,  to  fix  more  definitely  the 
succession  of  the  crown,  and  it  was  now  further  limited  to  the  Princess  Sophia,  electress  of 
Hanover,  and  her  heirs,  she  being  granddaughter  of  James  I  and  the  next  in  succession  who 
held  the  Protestant  faith.  In  the  statute  by  which  this  was  done,  called  the  Act  of  Settlement, 

several  very  important  constitutional  provisions  were  introduced." — Snt  EdwArd  Creasy. 
The  second,  third  and  fifth  provisions  were  obviously  adopted  because  of  the  jealousy  felt  for 
a  foreign  dynasty.  The  third,  fourth  and  sixth  provisions  were  repealed  before  the  act  came 
into  operation.  It  is  upon  the  seventh,  which  supplements  the  Petition  of  Right  and  the  Bill 
of  Rights,  that  the  greatest  importance  of  the  act  rests.] 

1.  That  whosoever  shall  hereafter  come  to  the  possession  of  this  Crown, 
shall  join  in  commimion  with  the  Church  of  England,  as  by  law  established. 

2.  That  in  case  the  Crown  and  imperial  dignity  of  this  realm  shall  here- 
after come  to  any  person,  not  being  a  native  of  this  kingdom  of  England,  this 

nation  be  not  obliged  to  engage  in  any  war  for  the  defence  of  any  dominions 
or  territories  which  do  not  belong  to  the  Crown  of  England,  without  the  con- 

sent of  Parliament. 
3.  That  no  person  who  shall  hereafter  come  to  the  possession  of  this  Crown, 

shall  go  out  of  the  dominions  of  England,  Scotland,  or  Ireland,  without  consent 
of  Parliament. 

4.  That  from  and  after  the  time  that  the  further  limitation  by  this  Act 
shall  take  effect,  all  matters  and  things  relating  to  the  well  governing  of  this 
kingdom,  which  are  properly  cognisable  in  the  Privy  Council  by  the  laws  and 
customs  of  this  realm,  shall  be  transacted  there,  and  all  resolutions  taken 
thereupon  shall  be  signed  by  such  of  the  Privy  Council  as  shall  advise  and 
consent  to  the  same. 

5.  That,  after  the  said  limitations  shall  take  effect  as  aforesaid,  no  person 
bom  out  of  the  Kingdom  of  England,  Scotland,  or  Ireland,  or  the  dominions 
thereunto  belonging  (although  to  be  naturalised  or  made  a  denisen  —  except 
such  as  are  bom  of  English  parents),  shall  be  capable  to  be  of  the  Privy  Council, 
or  a  member  of  either  House  of  Parliament,  or  to  enjoy  any  office  or  place  of 
trust,  either  civil  or  miUtary,  or  to  have  any  grants  of  land,  tenements,  or 
hereditaments,  from  the  Crown,  to  himself,  or  to  any  other  or  others  in  trust 
for  him. 
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6.  That  no  person  who  has  an  office  or  place  of  profit  imder  the  King,  or 
receives  a  pension  from  the  Crown,  shall  be  capable  of  serving  as  a  member 
of  the  House  of  Commons. 

7.  That,  after  the  said  limitation  shall  take  effect  as  aforesaid,  judges' 
commissions  be  made  quamdiu  se  bene  gesserint,  and  their  salaries  ascertained 
and  established;  but  upon  the  address  of  both  Houses  of  Parliament,  it  may 
be  lawful  to  remove  them. 

8.  That  no  pardon  imder  the  Great  Seal  of  England  be  pleadable  to  an 
impeachment  by  the  Commons  in  Parliament. 
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Chapter  I.    The  History  of  Australia 

*  R.  Acton,  article  on  "  Australia  "  in  the  Eneyclopadia  Britcmmca.  —  «  J.  G.  Oret,  Au»- 
tralasia.  —  <<  J.  M.  Curran  and  T.  A.  Cosblait,  article  on  "  Australia"  in  the  New  Volumes  of 

the  Una/clopcBdia  Britannica.  — « "W.  Harcus,  South  Australia.  —  f  3.  F.  V.  Pitzqeeald, 
Australia.  —  »  Harriet  Martineau,  History  of  Ungland  During  tlie  Thirty  Years'  Peace.  — 
*  C.  Wytfliet,  Descriptionis  Ptolemaicce  Augmentum.  —  *  J.  A.  Cocebubn,  article  on  "  South 
Australia  "  in  the  New  Volumes  of  the  Uncyclopaidia  Britannica,  — '  H.  Spencer  Walpolb, 
Bistcry  of  Ungland.  —  *  A.  R.  Wallace,  Australasia.  — '  W.  P.  Reeves,  article  on  "New 
Zealand  "  in  the  New  Volumes  of  the  Encyclopcedia  Britannica.  — "  C.  Dilke,  Greater  Britain. 
— "  G.  C.  Levey,  article  on  "New  South  Wales"  in  the  New  Volumes  of  the  Eneyelopadia Britannica, 

Chapter  II.    The  History  of  South  Africa 

*  A.  P.  Hillier,  article  on  "  Orange  River  Colony  "  in  the  New  Volumes  of  the  Eneyclo- 
podia  Britannica.  —  °  Anonymous,  article  on  "  Orange  River  Free  State  "  in  the  Encyclopcsdia 
Britannica.  —  <«  A.  H.  Keane,  article  on  the  "  Transvaal "  in  the  Encyclopcedia  Britannica. 
—  «  A.  P.  Hillier,  article  on  the  "Transvaal".  (Pomestic  History)  in  the  New  Volumes  of  the 
Encyclopcedia  Britannica. — /Lionel  Jahes,  article  on  the  "Transvaal — the  War  of  1899- 
1902  "  in  the  New  Volumes  of  the  Encyclopcedia  Britannica.  —  »  J.  W.  Turnbull,  article  on 
"  Natal "  in  the  Encyclopcedia  Britannica.  —  *  A.  P.  Hilliei^,  article  on  "  Natal "  in  the  New 
Volumes  of  the  Encyclopcedia  Britannica.  — *  Keith  Johnston,  article  on  "  Cape  Colony"  in 
the  Encyclopcedia  Britannica.  — i  A.  P.  Hillier,  article  on  "  Cape  Colony"  in  the  New  Vol- 

umes of  the  Encyclopcedia  Britamniea.  —  «=  Christian  Db  Wet,  Three  Yea/ri  Wan:  — '  L.  S. 
Ahery,  The  Times'  History  of  the  War  in  South  Africa.  —  ">  J.  A.  Hobson,  The  War  in  South 
Africa.  —  "  A.  C.  Doyle,  The  Cheat  Boer  War.  —  »  W.  S.  Churchill,  London  to  Ladysmith, 

Chapter  III.    The  History  of  Canada 

*  G.  Brycb,  History  of  the  Canadian  People.  —  <'  C.  G.  D.  Robebts,  History  of  Canada.  — 
«J.  G.  BouRiNOT,  Canada. — »  G.  R.  Parkin,  article  on  the  "History  of  Canada"  in  the 
New  Volumes  of  the  Encyclopcedia  Britannica. 

Appendix.    Documents  Relating  to  British  History 

The  documents  here  given  are  to  be  found  in  the  following  sources  and  publications:  I  in 

George  Lyttleton's  History  of  the  Life  of  Henry  II,  London,  1767;  II,  III,  and  IV  in 
Stubbs'  Select  Charters  of  English  Constitutional  History,  Oxford,  1870;  V,  VI,  VII,  IX,  and 
X  in  the  Statutes  of  the  Realm,  Loudon,  1810-1828;  VlII  in  T,  Btugs's  F<£dira,  Loudon, 
1704-1735. 
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Abbott,  E.  A.,  Bacon  and  Essex,  London,  1877.  —  Abercromby,  P.,  Martial  Achieve- 
ments of  the  Scots  Nation,  Edinburgh,  1711-1715,  2  vols.  —  Abrahams,  B.  L.,  The  Expul- 

sion of  the  Jews  from  England  in  1290,  London,  1893.  —  AbnUazl,  Akbar  Namah,  in 
Bibliotheea  Indica,  Calcutta,  1873-1887. — Adam,  G.  M.,  The  Canadian  Northwest,  To- 

ronto, 1885. — Adamnan  (Bishop),  Life  of  Saint  Columba,  edited  by  W.  F.  Skene,  Edin- 
burgh, 1874.  —  Adams,  H.,  with  H.  C.  Lodge,  E.  Young  and  J.  L.  Laughlin,  Essays  in 

Anglo-Saxon  Law,  Boston,  1876.  —  Adams,  J.,  Epochs  of  Indian  History,  London,  1893. — 
Adams,  W.  H.  D.,  The  Makers  of  British  India,  London,  1893.  —  Adamson,  R.,  Roger 
Bacon,  London,  1876.  —  Adolphus,  J.,  A  History  of  England  from  the  Accession  of  George 
in  to  1803,  London,  1805-1845,  7  vols.  —  .flSthelred,  (Ailred),  De  Bello  Standardii,  in 

Migne's  Patroloe/ie  Latine,  vol.  195,  Paris,  1844-1864,  221  vols. —  Aiken,  L.,  Memoirs  of 
the  Court  of  Elizabeth,  London,  1819;  The  Court  and  Character  of  James  I,  London,  1822; 
Memoirs  of  the  Court  of  Charles  I,  London,  1833.  —  Airy,  O.,  Lauderdale  Papers,  London 
1884-1885,  3  vols.;  Louis  XFV  and  the  English  Restoration,  in  Epochs  of  Modem  History, 
London,  1888;  Essex  Papers,  London,  1890;  article  on  "  Prince  Rupert "  in  the  Encydo- 
padia  Britwrmica.  —  Albemarle,  Earl  of,  Memoirs  of  the  Marquis  of  Rockingham,  Lon- 

don, 1852,  2  vols.  —  Alfred,  (Samuel  Kydd),  History  of  the  Factory  Movement,  London, 
1857,  2  vols.  —  Alison,  A.,  History  of  Europe  from  the  Commencement  of  the  French  Revo- 

lution to  the  Restoration  of  the  Bourbons  1815,  Edinburgh,  1833-1842,  14  vols.;  History  of 
Europe  from  the  Fall  of  Napoleon  to  the  Accession  of  Louis  Napoleon,  Edinburgh,  1852- 
1857,  8  vols.;  Life  of  John,  Duke  of  Marlborough,  London,  1855,  2  vols.;  Lives  of  Lord 
Castlereagh  and  Sir  Charles  Stewart,  Edinburgh,  1861,  3  vols. 

Sir  Archibald  Alison  was  born  at  Kenly  in  Shropshire,  December  29th,  1792,  and  after 
graduating  from  Edinburgh  University  with  high  honours,  was  called  to  the  bar  in  1814. 
His  great  success  as  an  advocate  soon  enabled  him  to  indulge  his  taste  for  travel,  and 
he  spent  much  of  his  leisure  time  upon  the  Continent  visiting  the  localities  rendered 
memorable  by  the  Napoleonic  wars.  In  1835,  having  been  appointed  sheriff  of  Lanark- 

shire, he  settled  near  Glasgow  and  devoted  himself  to  literary  work.  His  History  of 
Europe,  commenced  in  1829  and  completed  in  1842,  achieved  immediate  success,  passing 
through  six  editions  within  two  years,  and  was  translated  into  many  foreign  languages, 
even  into  Arabic  and  Hindustani.  This  great  success  was  due  to  the  fact  that  the  work 
presented  for  the  iirst  time,  in  compact  though  not  always  well  arranged  form,  a  mass 
of  information  regarding  the  most  exciting  period  of  European  history.  The  interest 
aroused  by  its  matter  obscured,  for  the  time,  a  faulty  style,  strong  political  partisan- 

ship, inaccurate  statement  and  incomplete  deductions.  Alison's  literary  activity  con- 
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tinued  to  the  end  of  Ms  life,  and  he  received  many  public  honours,  being  created  a  baronet 
in  1852,  and  chosen  as  rector  of  Glasgow  University  in  the  previous  year.  He  died  at 
Glasgow  May  23rd,  1867. 

Almon,  J.,  Anecdotes  of  Lord  Chatham,  London,  1792,  2  vols.  —  Amery,  L.  S.  (edi- 
tor). The  Times'  History  of  the  War  in  South  Africa,  London,  1902-3,  3  vols.  —  Amos,  S., 

Fifty  Years  of  the  English  Constitution  1830-80,  London  and  Boston,  1880.  —  Anderson, 
A.,  Historical  and  Chronological  Deduction  of  the  Origin  of  Commerce,  London,  1762,  2 
vols.  —  Andre,  B.,  Historia  Begis  Henrici  Septimi,  edited  by  J.  Gairdner  in  Bolls  Series, 
London,  1858.  —  Anglo-Saxon  Chronicle,  translation  by  J.  Ingram,  London,  1823;  by  B. 
Thorpe,  London,  1861,  2  vols. 

For  nearly  four  hundred  years  after  the  death  of  Bede,  no  historian  whose  name 
has  been  preserved  existed  in  England.  During  all  this  period,  however,  a  record  of  cur- 

rent events  written  in  the  vernacular,  was  being  compiled  by  many  successive  but  now 
unknown  hands,  which  is  of  inestimable  value  to  the  historian.  Its  beginning  is  uncer- 

tain— at  least  as  early  as  the  reign  of  Alfred — and  it  was  continued  t&ough  successive 
generations  until  after  the  death  of  Stephen.  Being  largely  chronological,  it  is  not,  as  a 
whole,  interesting  reading,  but  many  important  events,  especially  the  Danish  incursions 
and  the  deeds  of  some  of  the  ancient  worthies  are  described  vividly  and  at  length.  Apart 
from  its  historical  value  the  work  possesses  great  interest  as  indicating  the  development 
and  transformation  of  the  language,  and  the  fusion  of  the  different  dialects  of  the  island. 
Its  style  is  generally  plain,  clear,  and  matter  of  fact,  without  rhetorical  embellishment; 
in  the  main  it  is  a  dry  record  of  events,  but  it  bridged  the  wide  gap  from  Bede  to  Eadmer, 
and  has  proved  a  mine  of  information  to  later  historians. 

Annals  of  the  Kingdom  of  Ireland,  by  the  Four  Masters,  edited  by  J.  O'Donovan, 
Dublin,  1848-1851,  6  vols. —  Annual  Register,  The,  London,  1758-1904. —  Anon,  Lives 
of  Sir  William  Wallace,  etc.,  London,  1807;  Annual  Register,  London,  1814;  Historical 
and  Biographical  Memoirs  of  George  Villiers,  First  Duke  of  Buckingham,  London,  1819;  A 
Relation,  or  rather  a  True  Account  of  the  Island  of  England,  London,  1847;  The  Distress 
in  Lancashire,  London,  1862;  England  and  America,  Philadelphia,  1862;  Book  of  Scottish 
Pasquils,  Edinburgh,  1868;  The  Gladstone  Administration  1869-1872,  London,  1872;  Revela- 

tions from  the  Seat  of  War,  London,  1878. —  Angon,  W.  R.,  Law  and  Custom  of  the  Con- 
stitution, Oxford,  1886,  2nd  edition,  1896.  —  Archbold,  W.  A.  J.,  The  Somerset  Religious 

Houses,  Cambridge,  1892.  —  Arena,  The,  article  "The  Telegraph  in  England,"  Boston, 
1895.  — Argyll,  Duke  of.  The  Eastern  Question  from  the  Treaty  of  Paris  in  1856  to  the 
Treaty  of  Berlin  in  1878,  London,  1879,  2  vols.  — -  Armitage,  E.  S.,  A  Key  to  English 
Antiquities,  SheflBeld,  1897.  —  Armstrong,  J.,  Notices  of  the  War  of  1812,  New  York,  1840, 
2  vols. — Arnold,  E.,  India  Revisited,  London,  1886.  —  Arnold,  J.,  Memoirs  of  Thomas, 
First  Lord  Denman,  London,  1873,  2  vols.  —  Arnold,  M.,  Schools,  in  Reign  of  Queen  Vic- 

toria, London,  1887,  2  vols.;  Home  Rule  for  Ireland,  London,  1891. —  Arnold,  R.,  The 
Customs  of  England,  or  Arnold's  Chronicles,  London,  1500,  new  edition  1811.  —  Arrian, 
Anabasis  of  Alexander,  and  Indica,  Venice,  1535,  English  translation  by  E.  J.  Chinnock, 
London,  1893.  —  Ashbourne,  Lord,  Pitt,  Some  CSiapters  of  His  Life  and  Times,  London, 
1898.  —  Ashley,  E.,  Life  of  Palmerston  1846-65,  London,  1876.  —  Ashley,  W.  J.,  James  and 
Philip  van  Artevelde,  London,  1883;  Early  History  of  the  English  Woollen  Industry,  Bal- 

timore, 1887;  An  Introduction  to  English  Economic  History  and  Theory,  London  and  New 
York,  1888-93,  2  vols.  —  Ashton,  J.,  Social  Life  in  the  Reign  of  Queen  Anne,  London,  1884, 
2  vols.;  The  Dawn  of  the  Nineteenth  Century  in  England,  London,  1886.  —  Ashworth,  C, 
Canada:  Progress  and  Development. — Asiatic  Researches,  Journal  of.  —  Asser  (Asserios 
Menevensis),  De  ̂ Ifredi  Rebus  Gestis,  London,  1571,  translation  by  J.  A.  Giles,  Annals 
of  Alfred  the  Great,  London,  1848. 

Asser,  the  biographer  of  Alfred  the  Great,  was  probably  of  Welsh  birth,  as  he  was 
educated  and  ordained  priest  at  the  monastery  of  St.  Davids  in  Pembrokeshire.  His 
talents  attracted  the  attention  of  Alfred,  who  invited  him  to  the  court  and  subsequently 
made  him  bishop  of  Exeter  and  abbot  of  several  wealthy  monasteries.  It  is  said  that  he 
induced  Alfred  to  found  the  University  of  Oxford  and  settle  annual  stipends  upon  its  in- 

structors. The  life  of  Alfred  is  the  sole  work  of  Asser  that  has  come  down  to  our  times; 
it  is  merely  a  fragment  and  largely  a  compilation,  but  derives  its  interest  from  the  genuine 
greatness  of  the  person  described.  Asser  possessed  genuine  merit  as  a  biographer,  and 
many  of  his  graphic  anecdotes  illustrative  of  the  life  and  character  of  the  great  British 
king  have  become  familiar  to  all  readers  of  English  history.  His  long  and  useful  life  ended 
in  the  year  909. 

Aubrey,  J.,  Miscellanies,  London,  1696;  Brief  Lives,  Chieily  of  Contemporaries,  Lon- 
don, 2  vols.,  new  edition,  1898.  —  Aubrey,  W.  H.  S.,  The  Rise  and  Growth  of  the  English 

Nation,  London,  1896,  3  vols.  —  Australasia,  in  British  Umpire  Series,  London,  1900. — 
Avienus,  Rufus  Festus,  Ora  maritima,  Venice,  1488,  Paris,  1825. 

Bacon,  Francis,  In  Felicem  Memoriam  Elizabethise,  London,  1609,  translation  by  J. 

Spedding,  Cambridge,  1875;  The  Reign  of  Henry  VII,  London,  1622,  Cambridge,  1876.— 



WITH   CEITICAL  AND  BIOGRAPHICAL  T<JOTEB  371 

Bagehot,  W.,  The  English  Constitution,  London,  1867;  Lombard  Street,  London,  1873; 
Essays  on  Parliamentary  Reform,  London,  1883. 

Walter  Bagehot  was  born  at  Langport,  Somerset,  England,  in  1826,  took  his  degree  at 
London  University  in  1848,  and  after  engaging  for  ten  years  in  banking,  became  editor  of 

the  Economist,  retaining  the  position  until  his  death  in  1877.  Bagehot's  fame  rests  chiefly 
on  The  English  Constitution,  a  brilliant  philosophic  essay  on  the  workings  of  the  English 
government,  already  accepted  as  a  classic,  and  Lombard  Street,  essays  on  practical  finance, 
which  have  had  a  wide  influence  on  the  history  of  banking  in  England. 

Bagwell,  R.,  Ireland  under  the  Tudors,  London,  1885,  3  vols.  —  Baillie,  R.,  Letters  and 
Journals,  Edinburgh,  1841-1842,  3  vols. —  Bain,  F.  W.,  The  English  Monarchy,  London,  1894. 
—  Bain,  J.,  Calendar  of  Documents  Relating  to  Scotland,  in  Scottish  Rolls  Series,  Edin- 

burgh, 1881-1885,  4  vols.  — Balfour,  F.  H.,  Waifs  and  Strays  from  Far  East,  London,  1876. 
—  Balfour,  J.,  Annales  of  Scotland  1059-1603,  Edinburgh,  1824-1825,  4  vols. — Ballantyne, 
A.,  Lord  Carteret,  London,  1887.  —  Bamberg,  F.,  Gesehiehte  der  orientalischen  Angelegen- 
heit  im  Zeitraume,  Berlin,  1888.  —  Bamford  S.,  Passages  in  the  Life  of  a  Radical.  — Banks, 
J.  S.,  Our  Indian  Empire,  London,  1879. — Bannister,  S.,  Life  of  William  Paterson,  Edin- 

burgh, 1858.  —  Barbe^  L.  A.,  Traged,y  of  Gowrie  House,  Paisley,  1887.  — Barbour,  J.,  The 
Bruce,  Edinburgh,  1894,  2  vols.  — Barrow,  G.,  Ceylon,  Past  and  Present,  London,  1857.  — 
Barrow,  J.,  Life  and  Correspondence  of  Admiral  Sir  William  Sidney  Smith,  London,  1848, 

2  vols.  —  Bartoli,  D.,  Istoria  della  Compagnia  di  Gesu,  Rome,  1653-1673,  5  vols. —  Baxter, 
E.,  Reliquiae  Baxterianae,  a  Narrative  of  the  Most  Memorable  Passages  of  His  Life  and 
Times,  London,  1694.  —  Bayne,  P.,  in  English  Puritanism,  London,  1862;  The  Chief  Actors 
in  the  Puritan  Revolution,  London,  1878.  —  Beaumanoir,  P.  de,  Les  Coutumes  de  Beauvoisis, 
Paris,  1690,  edited  by  Bcugnot,  Paris,  1842,  2  vols. — Becker,  E.,  Maria  Stuart,  Darnley 
und  Bothwell,  Giessen,  1881. — Bede  (Beda),  Venerabilis,  Historia  Ecclesiastica  Gentis 
Anglorum,  Paris,  1544-1554,  6  vols.,  English  translation.  Ecclesiastical  History  of  England, 
London,  1870. 

Bede  (Beda)  sumamed  the  Venerable,  was  an  English  monk  who  was  born  about  the 
year  672  at  Wearmouth  in  the  bishopric  of  Durham.  At  the  age  of  seven  he  was  placed 
in  the  monastery  of  St.  Peter,  at  Wearmouth,  and  after  a  few  years  removed  to  the  mon- 

astery of  Jarrow,  where  he  was  ordained  deacon  in  691  and  priest  in  702.  The  fame  of 
his  learning  spread  to  foreign  lands,  and  Pope  Sergius  urged  him  to  visit  Rome,  but  Bede 
remained  quietly  in  his  cell  gathering  the  material  for  his  Ecclesiastical  History,  which 
was  completed  in  731.  This  great  work  was  received  with  suchf  favour  that  it  was  ordered 
read  in  the  churches.  Bede  wrote  numerous  treatises  on  religious  and  scientiflc  subjects, 
and  besides  conducting  a  large  correspondence  continued  his  instruction  in  the  school  of 

the  monastery  to  -the  time  of  his  death  in  the  year  735.  While  his  writings  are,  to  mod- 
ern view,  subject  to  grave  criticism  as  superficial,  inexact,  and  disfigured  by  the  credulity 

of  his  age  in  matters  of  religion,  there  is  no  doubt  that  his  attainments  were  remarkable, 
and  that  he  occupied  the  highest  rank  among  the  scholars  of  his  period.  His  history  was 
translated  into  Anglo-Saxon  by  King  Alfred. 

Beddoe,  J.,  The  Races  of  Britain,  London,  1885.  —  Begg,  A.,  History  of  the  North- 
west, Toronto,  1894. — Bellay,  J.  du,  Lettres,  Paris,  1542. — Bemont,  C,  Simon  de  Mont- 

fort,  Comte  de  Leicester,  Paris,  1884.  —  Berkley,  J.,  Memoirs  of  the  Negotiations  of 
Charles  I  with  Parliament,  London,  1699.  —  Bernard,  M.,  Neutrality  of  Great  Britain 
during  American  Civil  War,  London,  1870.  —  Beutzon,  T.,  Nouvelle  France  et  Nouvelle 
Angleterre,  Paris,  1899.  —  Biondi,  G.  F.,  History  of  the  Civil  War  between  the  Houses  of 
Lancaster  and  York,  London,  1637.  —  Birch,  T.,  Court  and  Times  of  James  I,  London, 
1848,  2  vols.  —  Bisset,  A.,  History  of  the  Commonwealth  in  England  from  the  Death  of 
Charles  I,  London,  1867;  History  of  the  Struggle  for  Parliamentary  Government,  London, 
1877,  2  vols.  —  Bisset,  E.,  History  of  the  Reign  of  George  III,  London,  1839,  3  vols.  — 
Blaauw,  W.  H.,  The  Baron's  War,  London,  1871.  —  Blackstone,  W.,  Commentaries  on  the 
Laws  of  England,  Oxford,  1765-1769,  4  vols.,  edited  by  Kerr,  London,  1885-1887.  — Blair, 
D.,  Cyclopaedia  of  Australia,  Melbourne,  1881.  —  Blanc,  Louis,  Histoire  de  dix  ans,  1830- 
1840,  Paris,  1841-1844,  5  vols.,  English  translation.  History  of  the  Ten  Years,  1830-1840, 
London,  1844,  2  vols. —  Blennerhassett,  R.,  Ireland,  London,  1897,  2  vols. —  Blind  Harry 
(Henry  the  Minstrel),  The  Actis  and  Deidis  of  the  lUuster  and  Vailzeand  Campioun, 
Schir  William  Wallace,  Edinburgh,  1570,  edited  by  Moir,  1885-1887,  2  vols.  — Blue  Books, 
Reports  from  Committees,  February  to  August,  1889;  Report  on  grants  to  members  of 
the  Royal  Family,  London,  1889,  8  vols.  —  Boderie,  L.  F.  de  la,  Ambassades  en  Angleterre 
sous  le  regne  de  Henri  IV,  Paris,  1750.  — Bonwick,  J.,  First  Twenty  Years  of  Australia, 
London,  1882.  —  Bor,  P.  C,  Oorsprongk,  begin  ende  verfolg  der  Nederlantscher  Oorlogen, 
Amsterdam,  1679,  6  vols.  —  Bourinot,  J.  G.,  Manual  of  the  Constitutional  History  of 
Canada,  Montreal,  1888,  London,  1895;  Historical  and  Descriptive  Account  of  Cape  Breton, 
Montreal,  1892;  How  Canada  is  Governed,  London,  1895;  Canada,  in  Story  of  the  Nations 
Series,  New  York,  1897.  — Bourrienne,  F.  de,  Mgmoires,  Paris,  1829-1831,  10  vols.;  Me- 

moirs of  Napoleon,  London,  1893,  4  vols.  —  Bracton,  H.  de,  De  legibus  et  eonsuetudinibus 
Angliae,  London,  1569,  1640,  English  translation,  London,  1878-1883.  —  Bradshaw,  J.,  New 
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Zealand  of  To-day,  London,  1888.  —  Brant6me,  P.  de.  Vies  des  grands  capitaines,  Leyden, 
1666,  10  vols.,  Paris,  1865  f .f .  —  Brenton,  E.  P.,  Naval  History  of  Great  Britain  from  1783- 

1822,  London,  1837,  5  vols.  —  Brewer,  J.  S.,  The  Student's  Hyime,  New  York,  1880;  Reign 
of  Henry  VIII,  London,  1884,  2  vols.  —  Bright,  J.,  Public  Letters,  London,  1854;  Speeches 
on  the  American  Question,  London,  1865.  —  Bright,  J.  F.,  History  of  England  from  449 
to  1880,  London,  1880-1888,  4  vols.  —  Bright,  W.,  Chapters  of  Early  Church  History,  Ox- 

ford, 1878;  The  Roman  See  and  the  Early  Church,  London,  1896. — British  Quarterly 
Review,  "  The  Political  Situation,"  London,  1868.  —  Broderlck,  6.  C,  History  of  the  Uni- 

versity of  Oxford,  London,  1886.  —  Brodie  G.,  Constitutional  History  of  the  British  Em- 
pire from  Charles  I,  London,  1865-1866,  3  vols.  —  Brougham,  H.,  Historical  Sketches  of 

Statesmen  of  the  Time  of  George  III,  London,  1839,  3  vols.;  History  of  England  and  France, 
under  the  House  of  Lancaster,  London,  1861;  The  British  Constitution,  London,  1861. — 

Brown,  P.  H.,  History  of  Scotland,  Cambridge,  1899,  2  vols.  —  Browning,  O.,  Napoleon 
and  England  in  1803,  London,  1887.  —  Bruce,  J.,  Letters  of  Elizabeth  and  James  VI,  Lon- 

don, 1849.  —  Bryce,  G.,  Manitoba,  Its  Infancy,  Growth,  and  Present  Condition,  London, 
1882;  Short  History  of  the  Canadian  People,  London,  1887. —  Bryce,  J.,  Impressions  of 
South  Africa,  London,  1899.  —  Bryce,  T.,  Home  Rule  Bill,  London,  1893.  —  Buchanan,  G., 
Rerum  Scoticarum  Eistoria,  Edinburgh,  1582.  —  Buchanan,  M.,  Liber  Pluseardensis,  a 
continuation  of  John  of  Fordun,  edited  and  translated  by  W.  F.  Skene,  Edinburgh,  1877- 
1880,  2  vols.  —  Buck,  (Buc),  G.,  Life  of  Richard  III,  London,  1706.  —  Buckle,  H.  T.,  His- 

tory of  Civilisation  in  England,  London,  1869. 
Henry  Thomas  Buckle  was  born  at  Lee,  Kent,  November  24,  1821.  Being  a  delicate 

child  his  studies  were  pursued  at  home,  but  to  such  advantage  that  at  the  age  of  thirty 
he  knew  nineteen  languages.  Possessing  an  independent  fortune,  he  spent  much  time  in 
foreign  travel,  and  about  1844  conceived  the  design  of  writing  a  history  of  the  Middle 
Ages.  After  several  years  of  preparation  he  enlarged  the  scope  of  his  work,  and  in  1857 
published  the  first  volume  of  his  History  of  Civilisation,  which  achieved  immediate  and 
marked  success.  After  the  publication  of  the  second  volume  in  1861,  he  sought  to  re- 

store his  wasted  strength  by  travel,  but  died  at  Damascus,  May  29th,  1862.  Buckle's  work 
is  really  only  an  unfinished  introduction  to  the  great  history  which  he  had  planned.  He 
seeks  to  establish  history  as  an  exact  science:  to  show  that  climate,  soil,  and  natural 
forces  form  the  character  of  a  people;  that  scepticism  advances  and  credulity  retards 
national  progress,  and  that  paternal  government  dwarfs  the  spirit  of  freedom  and  civili- 

sation.   His  ideals  are  high,  his  style  vigorous  and  elegant. 
Bulwer,  H.  L.  E.,  Life  of  Viscount  Palmerston,  London,  1870;  Sir  Robert  Peel,  Lon- 

don, 1874. —Burke,  E.,  Works,  Boston,  1865,  12  vols.;  Select  Works,  Oxford,  1874;  Re- 
flections on  the  French  Revolution,  London,  1790. — Burnet,  G.  (Bishop),  History  of  the 

Reformation  of  the  Church  of  England,  London  1679-1715,  3  vols.,  1829,  3  vols.;  History 
of  His  Own  Times  [a  work  of  great  interest,  and  containing  much  of  value,  but  marred 
by  the  partisanship  of  the  writer],  London,  1724-1734,  2  vols.,  Oxford,  1833.  —  Burns,  W., 
The  War  of  Scottish  Independence,  Glasgow,  1874,  2  vols.  —  Burrows,  M.,  Cinque  Ports, 
London,  1888;  Memoir  of  linacre,  Oxford,  1890;  Life  of  Admiral  Hawke,  London,  1896. — 

Burton,  J.  H.,  History  of  Scotland  from  Agricola's  Invasion,  London,  1853,  7  vols.;  1867- 
1870,  8  vols.;  A  History  of  the  Reign  of  Queen  Anne,  Edinburgh  and  New  York,  1880. — 
Barton,  R.  F.,  Lord  Beaconsfield,  A  Sketch,  London,  1882.  —  Butler,  A.,  Lives  of  the  Saints, 
Newcastle,  1799,  2  vols. — Buxton,  S.,  Finance  and  Politics,  London,  1888. 

Caesar,  C.  Julius,  De  Bello  Gallico,  Rome,  1449;  edited  by  Dinter,  Leipsic,  1890. — 
Oalthorpe,  S.  J.  J.,  Letters  from  Headquarters,  or  the  Realities  of  War  in  the  Crimea, 
London,  1858.  —  Calvert,  A.  F.,  Western  Australia  and  its  Welfare,  London,  1894.  —  Cal- 
▼ert,  A.  J.,  Discovery  of  Australia,  London,  1893.  —  Camden,  W.,  Britannia  sive  Reg- 
norum  Anglise  Scotise  et  Hibernise  ex  intima  Antiquitate  Chorographica  Descriptio,  Lon- 

don, 1586,  translation  by  E.  Gibson,  London,  1722,  2  vols.  —  Cameron,  T.  W.,  article  on 
"  Wolsey "  in  the  Encyclopcedia  Britannica.  —  Campbell,  G.  D.,  The  New  British  Con- 

stitution and  its  Master  Builders,  Edinburgh,  1888.  —  Campbell,  J.,  Lives  of  the  Lord 
Chancellors,  London,  1845-1848,  7  vols.;  Lives  of  the  Chief  Justices  of  England,  London, 
1849-1857,  3  vols. —  Canadian  Monthly  and  National  Review,  Great  Britain,  Canada 
and  the  United  States,  1872.  —  Cardauns,  H.,  Sturtz  Maria  Stuarts,  Cologne,  1883. — 
Carey,  R.  (Earl  of  Monmouth),  Memoirs,  London,  1759.  —  Carey,  W.,  and  J.  Marshman, 
The  Ramayana  of  Valmiki,  Serampore,  1806-1810. —  Carlos,  E.  S.,  Short  History  of 
British  India,  London,  1889.  —  Carlyle,  T.,  Chartism,  London,  1839 ;  Heroes,  Hero  Worship 
and  the  Heroic  in  History,  London,  1840;  Cromwell's  Letters  and  Speeches,  London,  1845. 

Thomas  Carlyle  was  born  at  Ecclefechan,  Dumfriesshire,  Scotland,  December  4th,  1795. 
He  began  to  study  for  the  ministry  at  Edinburgh  University,  but  abandoned  this  plan 
and,  after  teaching  several  years,  settled  at  Edinburgh  with  the  determination  of  sup- 

porting himself  by  letters.  He  first  secured  recognition  with  a  Life  of  Schiller  (1835J. 
From  that  time  on  he  busied  himself  with  translations  and  essays,  until  1837,  when  his 
first  notable  work.  The  French  Revolution,  appeared.    His  characterisation  of  that  event 
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as  •'  truth  clad  in  hell  fire  "  accounts  for  his  method  of  treating  it  —  but  wonderful  as  it 
is,  it  can  scarcely  be  called  history.  Several  years  devoted  to  writing  and  lecturing  fol- 

lowed, and  in  1845  his  Oliver  Cromwell's  Letters  and  Speeches  was  published.  This  great 
work  —  hero-worship  as  it  is  —  is  considered  by  many  his  masterpiece.  It  certainly  created 
a  new  and  favourable  picture  of  the  Great  Protector  which  has  remained  to  this  day. 
Between  1858-1865  appeared  in  six  volumes  his  History  of  Frederick  the  Great.  After  the 
death  of  his  wife  in  1866  his  life  became  more  and  more  secluded,  but  he  continued  his 
literary  activity  almost  up  to  his  death,  February  4th,  1881. 

Camithers,  E.,  article  on  "  Elizabeth "  in  the  Encyclopmdia  Britannica.  Carte,  T. , 
Life  of  James,  Duke  of  Ormonde,  London,  1736,  3  vols.,  Oxford,  1851. —  Cartier,  J.,  Premier 
Voyage  de  J.  Cartier  au  Canada,  in  Voyages  de  dScouvertes  au  Canada  entre  les  annees  ISSJf 
et  IBJ/S,  Quebec,  1843.  —  Castelnau,  H.  de,  Mfimoires,  Paris,  1621;  Brussels,  1731,  3  vols. — 
Oathcajrt,  William  Shaw  (Earl  of  Cathcart),  Proclamation  to  Danish  People  and  to  Com- 

mander-in-chief of  Danish  Forces,  in  Parliamentary  Debates,  London,  1812. —  Cavendish, 
G.,  Life  of  Cardinal  Wolsey,  London,  1641;  1825,  2  vols.,  1855.  —  Chalmers,  G.,  Life  of  Mary 
Queen  of  Scots,  Edinburgh,  1812,  2  vols.;  Caledonia,  Edinburgh,  1807-1824,  3  vols.  —  Chal- 

mers, M.  D.,  Local  Government,  London  and  New  York,  1885.  —  Chambers,  R.,  History 
of  the  Rebellion  of  1745-46,  London,  1869. —  Chapleau,  J.  N.,  Constitution  and  Government 
of  Canada,  Montreal,  1894.  —  Charles  I,  Eikon  Basilike,  edited  by  J.  L.  Scott,  London, 
1880.  —  Cherburg,  H.,  Life  and  Reign  of  Henry  VIII,  in  Ecclesiastical  Biography,  Lon- 

don, 1853.  —  Chezy,  A.  L.  de,  Yadjnadattabada  or  the  Death  of  Yadjnadatta,  Paris,  1826. 
—  Child,  F.  J.,  English  and  Scottish  Popular  Ballads,  Boston  and  New  York,  1888-1889, 
5  vols. —  Child,  G.  W.,  Church  and  State  under  the  Tudors,  London,  1890.  —  Christie,  B., 
Military  and  Naval  Operations  in  the  Canadas,  New  York,  1818. —  Christie,  W.  D.,  Life 
of  Anthony  Ashley  Cooper  (Earl  of  Shaftesbury),  London,  1871,  2  vols.  —  Church,R.W., 
The  Oxford  Movement,  London,  1891;  Beginnings  of  Middle  Ages,  London  and  New  York, 
1895. — Clapin,  La  France  Transatlantique,  Paris,  1885.  —  Clarendon,  Edward  Hyde,  Earl 
of,  History  of  the  Rebellion  and  Civil  Wars  in  England  [A  work  of  much  value  because 
of  close  personal  knowledge  of  the  author  with  the  events  which  he  describes,  but  not  to 

be  trusted  without  verification  because  of  the  writer's  keen  enmities],  Oxford,  1702,  3 
vols.;  1888,  6  vols. —  Clarke,  J.  S.,  The  Life  of  James  II,  King  of  England,  London, 
1816,  2  vols. — Clayden,  P.  W.,  England  under  the  Coalition,  1888-1892,  London,  1892- 
1893,  8  vols.  —  Clinton,  H.  R.,  War  in  the  Peninsula,  London,  1898.  —  Clowes,  W.  L.,  The 
Royal  Navy,  London,  1899.  —  Coates,  T.  F.  G.,  Life  and  Speeches  of  Lord  Rosebery,  Lon- 

don, 1900,  2  vols.  —  Cobbett,  W.,  Parliamentary  History  of  England,  from  the  Norman 
Conquest  to  1800  {The  most  complete  and  valuable  collection  of  the  records  and  pro- 

ceedings of  Parliament  for  the  period  covered],  London,  1806,  36  vols.;  Selections  from 
Political  Works,  London,  1812,  4  vols.;  History  of  the  Protestant  Reformation  in  England 
and  Ireland,  London,  1829,  2  vols. —  Coke,  R.,  A  Detection  of  the  Court  and  State  of 
England,  London,  1694,  2  vols.  —  Coleridge,  S.  T.,  Letters,  Conversations  and  Recollec- 

tions, London,  1836.  —  Collins,  W.  E.,  What  Was  the  Position  of  the  Pope  in  England, 
London,  1896.  —  Colmer,  J.  G.,  Recent  Developments  in  Canada,  Montreal,  1894.  —  Colvin, 
A.,  article  on  the  "  Recent  History  of  India "  in  the  new  volumes  of  the  Encyclopmdia 
Britannica.  —  Comines,  P.  de,  M6moires,  Paris,  1524-1525,  English  translation,  London, 
1855,  2  vols.  —  Congrave,  J.  F.,  South  Australia  —  A  Sketch  of  its  History  and  Resources, 
Adelaide,  1886.  —  Cooke,  G.  W.,  History  of  Party  from  Charles  II,  London,  1855,  2  vols.  — 
Corbett,  J.  S.,  Sir  Francis  Drake,  London,  1890;  Drake  and  the  Tudor  Navy,  London, 

1899,  2  vols.  —  Cornewoleys,  T.,  in  Goodman's  Court  of  King  James  I,  London,  1839,  2 
vols.  —  Comhill  Magazine,  Characteristics  of  Lord  Beaconsfield,  London,  November,  1866. 
—  Costello,  L.  S.,  Memoirs  of  Mary,  the  young  Duchess  of  Burguiidy,  London,  1853. — 
Cotton,  J.  S.,  article  on  "  Warren  Hastings,"  in  the  Encyclopcsdia  Britannica  —  Cotton, 
J.  S.,  and  E.  J.  Payne,  Colonies  and  Dependencies,  London,  1883.  —  Couch,  T.  Quiller-  and 
others,  The  Story  of  the  Sea,  London,  1898,  2  vols.  —  Cowan,  S.,  Mary,  Queen  of  Scots, 
and  WTio  Wrote  the  Casket  Letters?  London,  1901,  2  vols.  —  Cowell,  J.,  Law  Dictionary,  or 
the  Interpreter,  London,  1607;  1708.  —  Cox,  H.,  Institutions  of  the  English  Government, 
London,  1863;  History  of  the  Reform  Bills,  1866-1867,  London,  1868;  Ancient  Parlia- 

mentary Elections,  London,  1868;  Whig  and  Tory  Administrations  during  the  Last  Thirteen 
Years,  London,  1868.  —  Coze,  W.,  Memoirs  of  Sir  Robert  Walpole,  London,  1800,  3  vols.; 
Memoirs  of  the  Duke  of  Marlborough,  with  his  original  correspondence,  London,  1817-1819, 
3  vols.,  1847,  3  vols.  —  Craik,  G.  L.,  Contributions  to  Knight's  Pictorial  History  of  England, 
London,  1849. —  Craik,  H,  The  State  in  Its  Relation  to  Education,  London,  1885. — 
Creasy,  E.  S.,  Text-book  of  the  Constitution,  London,  1848;  The  Rise  and  Progress  of  the 
English  Constitution,  London,  1856;  Imperial  and  Colonial  Constitutions  of  the  British 
Empire,  London,  1872. 

Edward  Shepherd  Creasy  was  born  at  Bexford,  in  Kent,  September  12th,  1812.  Edu- 
cated at  Cambridge,  he  was  called  to  the  bar  in  1837,  and  in  1840  was  made  professor  of 

history  in  London  University,  where  he  remained  for  twenty  years  until  his  appointment 
as   chief   justice   of   Ceylon.     During  his   connection  with   the   university   he   published 
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several  historical  works  of  much  merit,  of  which  his  Fifteen  Decisive  Battles  of  the  World 
received  high  commendation  and  has  been  widely  read.  His  death  occurred  January  27th 
1878. 

Creighton,  M.,  The  Age  of  Elizabeth,  London,  1876;  The  Tudors  and  the  Reformation, 
London,  1876;  A  History  of  the  Papacy  during  the  Reformation,  London,  1882-1894,  5 
vols.,  1897,  6  vols.;  The  Early  Renaissance  in  England,  London,  1895;  The  English  National 
Character,  1896;  Queen  Elizabeth,  London,  1889. 

Mandell  Creighton  (1843-1901)  graduated  at  Oxford  in  1866  and  entered  the  ministry 
of  the  Church  of  England.  In  1884  he  became  professor  of  ecclesiastical  history  at  Cam- 

bridge, in  1891  was  made  bishop  of  Peterborough,  and  in  1897  transferred  to  the  see  of 
London.  His  History  of  the  Papacy  is  probably  the  most  authoritative  work  on  the  sub- 

ject written  by  an  Englishman.  His  works  on  the  Tudor  period  in  English  history  are 
also  of  great  value.     He  was  a  founder  and  first  editor  of  the  English  Historical  Review. 

Orooke,  W.,  the  Northwestern  Provinces  of  India,  London,  1897.  —  Crozali,  J.  de, 
Lanfranc,  archevfique  de  Canterbury,  sa  vie,  son  enseignement,  sa  politique,  Paris,  1877. — 
Cteaias,  'Iviticd,  Paris,  1894,  English  translation  by  J.  W.  McCrindle,  Ancient  India  as 
described  by  Ctesias,  Calcutta,  1882.  —  Cunningham,  H.  S.,  British  India  and  Its  Rulers, 
London,  1881. — Ounningham,  W.,  Constitutional  or  Parliamentary  History  of  England, 
London,  1751-1761,  24  vols.  —  Cumiiiigham,  Wm.,  Growth  of  English  Industry  and  Com- 

merce, London,  1892,  2  vols.  —  Gushing,  C,  The  Treaty  of  Washington,  New  York,  1873. — 
Cutts,  E.  L.,  Scenes  and  Characters  of  the  Middle  Ages,  London,  1872. 

Dalrymple,  J.,  Memoirs  of  Great  Britain  and  Ireland  from  the  Dissolution  of  the 
Last  Parliament  of  Charles  II  to  the  Great  Battle  oflF  La  Hogue,  Dublin,  1771-1773,  3  vols.  — • 
Salyell,  J.  6.,  Fragments  of  Scottish  History,  Edinburgh,  1798.  —  Davids,  T.  W.  R., 
(translator).  The  Jatakatthavannana,  Buddhist  Birth  Stories,  etc.,  London,  1880.  —  Davies, 
J.,  A  Discovery  of  the  True  Causes  why  Ireland  was  never  Entirely  Subdued,  London, 
1612.  —  Davin,  N.  F.,  The  Irishman  in  Canada,  London,  1887.  —  Dawkins,  W.  B.,  Cave 
Hunting,  London,  1874;  Early  Man  in  Britain,  London,  1880.  —  Dawson,  J.,  The  Australian 
Aborigines,  Melbourne,  1881.  —  Defoe,  D.,  The  True-Bom  Englishman,  London,  1701;  His- 

tory of  the  Union,  London,  1709;  A  Journal  of  the  Plague  Year,  London,  1722,  new  edition 

by  Haweis,  1886.  —  Delolme,  J.  L.,  Constitution  de  I'Angleterre,  Amsterdam,  1771,  trans- 
lation. Rise  and  Progress  of  the  English  Constitution,  London,  1838.  —  Demans,  R.,  Hugh 

Latimer,  London,  1869;  William  Tyndale,  London,  1891. —  Dent,  The  Last  Forty  Years, 
Toronto,  1881,  2  vols.  —  Denton,  W.,  England  in  the  Fifteenth  Century,  London,  1888. — 
D'Ewes,  S.,  Journals  of  all  the  Parliaments  during  the  Reign  of  Elizabeth,  London,  1682.  — 
Diceto,  Ralph  de,  Historia  de  regibus  Britonum,  in  Rolls  Series,  London,  1876.  —  Dicey, 
A.  v..  Lectures  Introductory  to  the  Law  of  the  Constitution,  London,  1885.  —  Dickens,  C., 
Child's  History  of  England,  1852,  3  vols.  —  Diggeg,  D.,  The  Compleat  Ambassador,  London, 
1655. — Dilke,  C,  Problems  of  Greater  Britain,  London,  1890;  On  the  Cost  of  the  Crown 
(Speech),  London,  1891.  —  Dimitresco,  M.,  Pierre  de  Gaveston,  Paris,  1898. —  Diodonu 
Siculus,  Bi)3X(a0iiKii  !(rropiKi},  Leipsic,  1838,  6  vols.  —  Dion  Cassius,  jxaiiatxii  laropla,  Venice, 
1526,  Leipsic,  1824,  9  vols. — Dionne,  N.  E.,  La  Nouvelle  France,  Quebec,  1891.  —  Disraeli, 
B.,  Vindication  of  the  English  Constitution,  London,  1835.  —  Disraeli,  I.,  Commentaries  on 
the  Life  and  Reign  of  Charles  I,  London,  1828-1831,  5  vols.  —  Dixon,  H.,  Robert  Blake, 
London,  1852.  —  Dixon,  R.  W.,  History  of  the  Oiurch  of  England  from  the  Abolition  of 
the  Roman  Jurisdiction,  London,  1878,  3  vols.  —  Dodd,  C,  Church  History  of  England  frem 
the  Commencement  of  the  XVIth  Century  to  the  Revolution,  London,  1688,  1840-1843,  5 
vols.  —  Doubleday,  T.,  Life  of  Sir  Robert  Peel,  London,  1856,  2  vols.  —  Douglas,  J.,  Ca- 

nadian Independence,  Annexation  and  Imperial  Federation,  New  York,  1894.  —  Doutre,  J., 
The  Constitution  of  Canada,  Montreal,  1880.  —  Dowell,  M.  S.,  History  of  Taxes  and  Taxa- 

tion in  England,  London,  1888,  4  vols.  —  Doyle,  A.  C,  History  of  the  Great  Boer  War, 
London,  1901.  —  Dryden,  J.,  Annus  Mirabllis,  London,  1667.  —  DuOane,  E.  F.,  The  Pun- 

ishment and  Prevention  of  Crime,  London  and  New  York,  1885. — Dimy,  C.  B.,  Young 
Ireland,  1840-1850,  London  and  New  York,  1880;  Four  Years  of  Irish  History,  1845-1849, 
London  and  New  York,  1883.  —  Dunoker,  M.,  Geschichte  des  Alterthums,  Leipsic,  1852- 
1857,  4  vols.,  translated  by  E.  Abbott,  London,  1877,  6  vols. — Dunham,  S.  A.,  History  of 
Europe,  London,  1830,  3  vols. 

Samuel  Astley  Dunham  was  associated  with  Lardner  in  the  preparation  of  the  Cabinet 
CyelopKdia,  for  which  he  compiled  a  number  of  histories.  These  works  are  not  professedly 
original,  but  are  well  arranged  and  entertainingly  written.  He  also  collaborated  with 

Southey,  who  speaks  of  his  knowledge  of  the  middle  ages  as  "marvellous,"  and  with 
Lingard.  He  received  the  degree  of  LL.D.  in  recognition  of  his  labours,  and  died  at  London 
in  1858. 

Dunlap,  R.,  Life  of  Henry  Grattan,  London,  1889.  —  Dupin,  L.  E.,  Bibliothfique  univer- 
selle  des  auteurs  ecclSsiastiques,  Paris,  1686  fi.,  61  vols. 

Eadmer,  Historia  Novorum,  sive  sui  sseculi,  London,  1623,  edited  by  M.  Rule  in  Rollc 
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Series,  London,  1884. — Earle,  J.,  Two  of  the  Saxon  Chronicles  (parallel),  London,  1865. — 
Bdgar,  J.  D.,  Canada  and  its  Capital,  London,  1898.  —  Edgar,  M.,  Ten  Years  of  Upper 
Canada,  Quebec,  1888.  —  Edinburgh  Cabinet,  Historical  Account  of  the  Circumnavigation, 
Edinburgh,  1830-1844,  3  vols. —  Edinburgh  Review,  January,  1870.  —  Edwards,  B.,  Life 
of  sir  Walter  Raleigh,  London,  1868,  2  vols.  —  ElUott,  A.  D.,  The  State  and  the  Church, 
London,  1899.  —  Elliott,  H.  M.,  History  of  India,  as  Told  by  Its  Own  Historians,  London, 
1872-1877,  8  vols.  — ElUs,  G.  E.,  Life  of  William Penn,  Boston,  1846.—  Ellis,  H.,  Original 
Letters  Illustrative  of  English  History,  London,  1824-1846,  11  vols.  —  ElphlnBtone,  M.,  The 
History  of  India;  the  Hindoo  and  Mohammedan  Periods,  London,  1841,  2  vols.  —  Elton,  C, 
Origins  of  English  History,  London,  1882.  —  Emmet,  T,  A.,  Pieces  of  Irish  History,  New 
York,  1807. — Encyclopaedia  Britannica,  Edinburgh,  1888,  25  vols. — Erasmus,  Epistolse, 
Amsterdam,  1703-1706,  10  vols.,  Vol.  Ill;  Lives  of  Jehan  Vitrier  and  John  Colet,  London, 
1883.  —  Escott,  T.  H.,  England,  its  People,  Polity,  and  Pursuits,  London,  1879,  2  vols. — 
Evelyn,  J.,  Diary,  London,  1818-1819,  1879,  4  vols.  [John  Evelyn  (1620-1706)  was  the 
author  of  some  thirty  works  on  various  subjects,  but  his  fame  rests  chiefly  on  his  Diary, 
which,  covering  a  period  of  seventy  years,  is  scarcely  less  valuable  than  that  of  Pepys]. — 
Ewald,  A.  C,  The  Crown  and  its  Advisers,  London,  1880;  Stories  from  the  State  Papers, 
London,  1883;  Life  and  Times  of  Prince  Charles  Stuart,  London,  1883;  The  Right  Honour- 

able Benjamin  Disraeli,  Earl  of  Beaconsfield,  London,  1883,  2  vols. 

Fabyan,  R.,  The  Concordance  of  Histories;  The  New  Chronicles  of  England  and 
Trance,  London,  1516,  1533,  5th  edition,  1811.  —  Faillion,  M.  E.,  Histoire  de  la  Colonic 
Erancaise  en  Canada,  Paris,  1865-1866,  3  vols.  —  Fanshawe,  Lady  Anne,  Memoirs  of  Sir 
Richard  Fanshawe,  London,  1829.  —  Farrer,  T.  H.,  The  State  in  Relation  to  Trade,  London, 
1883.  —  Favenc,E.,  The  History  of  Our  Continent,  Sydney,  1891. — Feasey,  R.  J.,  Ancient 
English  Holy  Week  Ceremonial,  London,  1897;  Monasticism,  What  is  It?  London,  1898. — 
Fenelon,  B.  de  La  Mothe,  Correspondance  diplomatique,  Paris,  1838-1841,  7  vols. — Fenn,J., 
Paston  Letters,  written  during  Reigns  of  Henry  VI,  Edward  IV,  and  Richard  III,  London, 
1859.  —  Farishta,  M.  K.,  History  of  the  Mohammedan  Power  in  India,  translated  by 
Briggs,  London,  1829,  4  vols.  —  Ferguson,  J.,  Tree  and  Serpent  Worship  in  India,  London, 
1868.  —  Fiddes,  R.,  Life  of  Wolsey,  London,  1724.  — Firth,  C.  H.,  The  Clarke  Papers, 
London,  1891-4;  Scotla,nd  and  the  Commonwealth,  London,  1895;  Life  of  Cromwell,  London, 
1900. —  Firth,  J.  B.,  Municipal  London,  London,  1876.  —  Fischel,  E.,  English  Constitution, 
London,  1863. — Fitznigel,  R.,  Dialogus  de  Scaccario,  in  Stubbs'  SeUcl  Charters  and  other 
Documents  illustrative  of  Unglish  Bistory,  Oxford,  1870,  1881.  —  Fitzpatrick,  W.  J.,  Secret 
Service  under  Pitt,  London,  1892.  — Fitzstephen,  W.,  Vita  Sancta  Thomse,  in  Sparke's  His- 
ioricB  Anglicanm  Scriptores,  London,  1723;  Description  of  the  Moat  Noble  City  of  London, 
London,  1723,  1890.  —  Flood,  Y.  S.,  Story  of  Prince  Henry  of  Monmouth  and  Chief  Justice 
Gascoigne,  London,  1886.  —  Florence  of  Worcester,  Chronicle,  London,  1690,  edited  by  B. 
Thorpe,  London,  1848,  2  vols. — Fonblanque,  A.  de.  How  We  Are  Governed,  etc.;  England 
under  Seven  Administrations,  London,  1837,  3  vols.  —  Fontpertius,  F.  de,  L'Inde  Britan- 
nique,  Paris,  1878.  —  Forbes,  M.,  Reminiscences  of  the  Mutiny,  London,  1893. —  Fortescue, 
J.,  The  Governance  of  England,  Oxford,  1885.  —  Forster,  J.,  Eminent  British  Statesmen, 
London,  1836,  6  vols.;  Lives  of  the  Statesmen  of  the  Commonwealth  of  England,  London, 
1840,  7  vols.;  Arrest  of  Five  Members  by  Charles  I,  London,  1860;  Sir  John  Elliott,  a 
Biography,  London,  1872,  2  vols.  —  Forsyth,  W.,  History  of  Trial  by  Jury,  London, 
1852.  — FoBi,  E.,  The  Judges  of  England,  London,  1848-1864,  9  vols.  —  Fowle,  T.  W.,  The 
Poor  Law,  London,  1882-1885. —  Foze,  J.,  History  of  the  Acts  and  Monuments  of  the 
Church  (Book  of  Martyrs),  London,  1563. —  Fraser,  W.  A.,  Disraeli  and  his  Diary,  London, 
1891. —  Freeman,  E.  A.,  Lectures  on  the  Origin  of  the  English  Nation,  London,  1870;  His- 

tory of  the  Norman  Conquest  of  England,  London,  1871-79,  6  vols.;  Growth  of  the  English 
Constitution,  London,  1872;  Comparative  Politics,  London,  1873;  Reign  of  William  Rufus, 

Oxford,  1882,  2  vols.;  article  on  the  "  History  of  England"  in  the  Encyclopoedia  Britannica. 
Edward  Augustus  Freeman  was  bom  at  Mitchley  Abbey,  in  Staffordshire,  August  2, 

1823.  He  was  educated  at  Oxford  and  after  his  marriage,  in  1847,  devoted  his  life  to 
literary  pursuits.  His  first  publication  was  a  History  of  Architecture,  and  by  frequent 
contributions  to  periodicals  he  soon  became  known  to  the  English  reading  public  as  an 
accurate  and  versatile  writer.  In  1867  the  first  volume  of  the  History  of  the  Norman 
Conquest  established  his  position  among  English  historians,  and  brought  him  numerous 
academic  honours.  To  familiarise  himself  with  countries  whose  history  he  was  writing 
Freeman  travelled  extensively,  and  became  well  known  as  a  lecturer  in  both  England 
and  the  United  States.  He  was  a  very  voluminous  writer  and  has  treated  of  many  nations 
and  diverse  periods  with  unfailing  accuracy  and  critical  ability.  His  prolixity,  however, 
mars  the  literary  quality  of  his  work  and  interferes  with  the  flow  of  his  thought,  but  his 
honesty  of  purpose  and  profound  search  for  truth  will  render  his  works  always  valuable 
and  authoritative.  Freeman  succeeded  Bishop  Stubbs  as  regius  professor  of  history  at 
Oxford  in  1884,  but  failing  health  compelled  him  to  spend  much  of  his  time  in  a  warmer 
climate,  and  while  travelling  in  Spain  he  died  at  Alicante,  March  16th,  1892. 
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Friedman,  P.,  Anne  Boleyn,  London,  1884,  2  vols.  —  Proissart,  J.,  Chroniques  de 

France,  d'Angleterre,  etc.,  Paris,  1769,  English  translation,  London,  1839.  —  Frost,  T., 
The  Secret  Societies  of  the  European  Revolution,  London,  1896,  2  vols.  —  Froude,  X  A., 
History  of  England  from  the  Fall  of  Wolsey  to  the  Death  of  Elizabeth,  London,  1856- 
1867, 10  vols.;  The  English  in  Ireland,  Eighteenth  Century,  London,  1871-74,  3  vols.;  Oceana, 
or  England  and  her  Colonies,  London,  1886;  Life  of  Lord  Beaconsfield,  London,  1890; 
Divorce  of  Catharine  of  Aragon,  London,  1891;  Life  and  Letters  of  Erasmus,  London,  1894; 
English  Seamen  in  the  Sixteenth  Century,  London,  1895. 

James  Anthony  Froude  was  born  at  Dartington,  in  Devonshire,  April  23rd,  1818,  and  was 
educated  at  Westminster  School  and  Oxford.  He  entered  the  church,  but  the  change  in  his 
religious  views,  caused  by  the  Tractarian  movement,  in  which  he  became  deeply  interested, 
caused  him  to  abandon  the  profession  and  devote  his  life  to  literature.  A  frequent 

contributor  to  the  reviews,  he  was  editor  of  Fraser's  Magazine  for  many  years  and  pub- 
lished numerous  historical  and  biographical  works.  As  literary  executor  of  Carlyle  he 

aroused  vehement  criticism  by  what  many  considered  his  lack  of  editorial  discretion.  He 
travelled  extensively,  both  privately  and  on  government  missions,  and  gave  numerous 
lectures  in  the  United  States  as  well  as  in  England.  His  historical  fame  is  mainly 
founded  on  his  History  of  England,  though  this,  like  all  his  works,  is  injured  by  his  adapta- 

tion of  facts  to  suit  his  chosen  views.  But  if  he  often  subordinated  accuracy  to  the 
exigencies  of  vivid  description,  his  lucid  style  and  the  charm  of  his  language  cause  his 
works  to  be  ranked  among  the  most  noteworthy  of  his  century  and  will  give  him  high 
position  among  British  historians.  Froude  succeeded  E.  A.  Freeman  as  regius  professor 
of  modern  history  at  Oxford  in  1892,  and  died  at  Salcombe,  Devonshire,  October. 20th,  1894. 

Fuller,  T.,  The  Church  History  of  Britain  from  the  Birth  of  Christ  to  1648,  London, 
1655;  The  Worthies  of  England,  London,  1661.  —  Fyfe,  B.  H.,  Annals  of  Our  Time,  London, 
1893.  —  Fyflfe,  C.  A.,  A  History  of  Modern  Europe,  London,  1891,  3  vols. 

Gairdner,  J.,  The  Paston  Letters,  Westminster,  1874,  3  vols.;  The  Houses  of  Lancaster 
and  York,  in  Epochs  of  Modern  History,  London,  1874,  1877;  History  of  the  Life  and 
Reign  of  Richard  HI,  London,  1875;  Henry  the  Seventh,  London,  1889;  Richard  the  Third, 
Cambridge,  1898. 

James  Oairdner  was  born  at  Edinburgh,  March  22nd,  1828.  At  the  age  of  eighteen  he 
was  appointed  to  a  clerkship  in  the  Public  Records  Office  in  London,  and  displayed  such 
capabilities  that  his  advancement  was  rapid.  For  many  years  he  was  assistant  keeper  of 
the  public  records,  and  has  published  numerous  works  as  the  result  of  his  assiduous  study 
of  the  ancient  documents.  These  publications  have  thrown  a  flood  of  light  upon  the 
early  history  of  England,  and  will  always  be  of  invaluable  service  to  the  historian  as  well 
as  of  interest  to  the  general  reader. 

Gallon,  A.,  Character  and  Times  of  Thomas  Cromwell,  Birmingham,  1887.  —  Gamache, 
C.  de.  Court  and  Times  of  Charles  I,  London,  1848,  2  vols.  — Gammage,  R.  G.,  History  of  the 
Chartist  Movement,  Newcastle,  1894.  —  Gardiner,  S.  R.,  History  of  England  from  the 
Accession  of  James  I  to  the  Outbreak  of  the  Great  Civil  War,  1603-1642,  London,  1867- 
1877,  10  vols.;  Fall  of  the  Monarchy  of  Charles  I,  London,  1882,  2  vols.;  History  of  the 
Great  Civil  War,  1642-1649,  London,  1886-1891,  3  vols.,  1893,  4  vols.;  History  of  the 
Commonwealth,  London,  1894;  The  First  Stuarts  and  the  Puritan  Revolution,  London, 

1896;  A  Students'  History  of  England,  London,  1900,  3  vols.  —  Gardiner,  S.  R.,  and  J.  B. 
nSullinger,  Introduction  to  the  Study  of  English  History,  London,  1894. 

Samuel  Rawson  Gardiner  was  born  at  Ropley,  Hants,  March  4th,  1829,  and  was  educated 
at  Oxford,  subsequently  taking  courses  at  Edinburgh  and  Gottingen.  He  was  for  many 

years  professor  of  history  at  King's  College,  London,  and  was  offered  the  professorship 
at  Oxford  made  vacant  by  the  death  of  Froude,  but  declined  it.  Gardiner's  historical 
studies  were  mainly  devoted  to  the  revolutionary  period  following  the  death  of  James  I, 
of  which  he  made  most  exhaustive  study,  being  greatly  aided  by  the  discovery  of  the 
hitherto  unknown  sources  contained  in  the  collections  known  as  the  Clarke  and  Verney 

MSS.,  the  Paston  Letters  and  the  "Nicholas  and  Hamilton  Papers."  He  was  the  first  to 
treat  this  important  epoch  in  a  non-partisan  spirit,  and  has  given  the  first  fair  and  ade- 

quate explanation  of  the  rise  of  the  Cavalier  party,  and  the  political  quarrels  which  arose 
in  the  Long  Parliament  from  differences  of  religious  opinion.  He  edited  many  volumes 
for  the  Camden  Society  and  was  for  ten  years  editor  of  the  English  Historical  Review, 
to  which  his  contributions  were  numerous  and  valuable.  At  his  death,  in  1902,  he  was 
engaged  upon  the  last  part  of  his  great  work.  The  Commonwealth  and  The  Protectorate, 
which  was  completed  to  the  year  1656. 

Garneau,  F.  X.,  Histoire  du  Canada  depuis  sa  dficouverte,  Quebec,  1845-1852,  4  vols., 
Montreal,  1882.  —  Gauthier,  J.,  Histoire  de  Marie  Stuart,  Paris,  1869,  2  vols. —  Geikie,  C, 
The  English  Reformation,  London,  1875,  1883.  —  George,  H.  B.,  Battles  of  English  History, 
London,  1895.  —  Gerard,  J.,  Condition  of  Catholics  under  James  I,  London,  1871. —  Gerln 
lia  Joie,  Dix  ans  au  Canada,  London,  1888.  —  Gerrase  of  Canterbury,  Chronicles,  in  Rolls 
Series,  London,  1879-1880. —  Gesta   Stepbani,  edited  by  R.  C.  Sewall,  London,  1845.— 
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Oibbon,  E.,  A  History  of  the  Decline  and  Fall  of  the  Roman  Empire,  London,  1776-1788,  6 
vols.  —  GildaB,  De  Excidio  Britannise  Liber  Querulus,  in  Monumenta  Historica  Briiannica, 
London,  1848.  —  Gile8^  J.  A.,  Six  Old  English  Chronicles,  London,  1848.  — Giovio,  P.,  His- 
toria  sui  temporis  libri  XLV,  Venice,  1550. — Giraldus  Cambrensis,  Topographia  Hibernise; 
Expugnatio  Hibemise;  Historia  Vaticinalis  de  expugnata  ab  Anglis  Hibernia;  Itinerarium 
Cambriee,  Frankfort,  1602;  in  Soils  Series,  London,  1861-1877,  7  vols.;  De  Principis  In- 
structione  Distinetiones  tres,  London,  1891. 

Giraldus  Cambrensis  (Girald  de  Barri)  was  born  near  Pembroke,  in  South  Wales, 
in  the  year  1145.  He  was  educated  by  his  uncle,  the  bishop  of  St.  David's,  and  at  the 
age  of  twenty  was  sent  to  Paris,  where  he  studied  theology  under  Peter  Comestor,  and 
lectured  upon  belles  lettres  and  rhetoric  in  the  English  college.  Upon  his  return  to 
England,  in  1172,  his  reputation  for  learning  and  his  zeal  for  the  church  were  so  great 
that  he  was  given  an  extraordinary  commission  to  reform  abuses  in  Wales.  In  1176 
he  returned  to  Paris  and  spent  three  years  in  the  study  of  the  canon  law,  with  such  success 
that  he  was  Ojffered  the  professorship  in  the  university.  Henry  H  sent  him  to  Ireland  in 
1185  as  secretary  to  Prince  John.  Giraldus  did  not  accompany  the  prince  on  his  return, 
but  remained  in  Ireland  for  more  than  a,  year  in  search  of  antiquities  and  to  complete 
his  topographical  description,  for  which  purpose  he  travelled  over  the  whole  island.  In 

1198  he  was  elected  bishop  of  St.  David's;  the  election  being  disputed,  he  went  to  Rome 
in  1200  to  press  his  claim,  but  was  defeated  by  a  more  wealthy  competitor.  Giraldus  lived 
about  seventy  years  and  left  many  writings,  some  of  which  have  been  published.  He 
was  eloquent  and  profoundly  learned  for  his  age,  but  credulous  and  superstitious.  A  bitter 

enemy  of  the  monks,  it  was  a  common  saying  with  him  "  a  monachorum  malitia  libera 
DOS,  Domine"  (from  the  malice  of  monks,  good  Lord,  deliver  us). 

Gisborne,  W.,  The  Colony  of  New  Zealand,  London,  1898.  —  Giustiniani,  P.,  Four 
years  at  the  Court  of  Henry  VIII,  translation  by  R.  Brown,  London,  1854,  2  vols.  — Glan- 
ville,  R.  de,  Traetatus  de  legibus  et  consuetudinibus  regni  Angliae,  London,  1673;  English 
translation  by  Beames,  London,  1812.  —  Gleig,  G.  R.,  Life  of  the  Duke  of  Wellington, 
London,  1862. — Gneist,  H.  R.  H.  F.,  Englische  Verfassungsgeschichte,  Berlin,  1882;  English 
translation, -History  of  the  English  Constitution,  London,  1885;  English  Parliament  in  its 
Transformation  (1,000  years),  London,  1886. 

Heinrich  Rudolf  Hermann  Friedrich  von  Oneist,  a  German  jurist  and  statesman,  was 
bom  at  Berlin,  August  13th,  1816.  He  was  educated  at  the  Berlin  University  and  practised 
his  profession  for  several  years,  becoming  an  assistant  judge  of  the  Superior  Court.  In 
1850  he  resigned  this  position  to  devote  his  time  to  teaching  jurisprudence.  He  was  a 
member  of  the  Prussian  Lower  House  from  1858  to  1893,  and  of  the  Reichstag  from  1867  to 
1884,  where  he  became  a  leader  of  the  National  Liberal  party.  Gneist  was  an  ardent  ad- 

mirer of  the  English  constitution,  of  which  he  made  exhaustive  study  and  frequently  cited 
as  a  model  for  German  affairs.  His  published  works  are  numerous,  including  many  treatises 
upon  the  history  of  jurisprudence  in  addition  to  those  relating  to  English  parliamentary 
history.    He  was  ennobled  by  Frederick  III  in  1888,  and  died  at  Berlin,  July  22nd,  1895. 

Godwin,  W.,  History  of  the  Commonwealth  of  England,  London,  1824rl828,  4  vols.— 
Godwin,  F.  (Bishop),  Rerum  Anglicarum  Annalea,  London,  1616. — Goldsmid,  F.  J.,  article 
on  "  Sind  "  in  the  Encyclopxdia  Briiannica.  —  Goldsmith,  O.,  History  of  England,  London, 
1771.  —  Gomme,  G.  E.,  Literature  of  Local  Institutions,  London,  1886.  —  Gonner,  E.  C.  K., 
Early  History  of  Chartism,  London,  1889.  —  Goodman,  G.,  Court  of  King  James  the  First, 
London,  1839,  2  vols. — Goodwin,  G.,  Dictionary  of  National  Biography,  London,  1890. — 
Gordon,  C.  G.,  Last  Journal,  London,  1885.  —  Grace,  M.  S.,  Sketch  of  the  New  Zealand 
War,  London,  1899.  —  Gramont,  P.  de,  Mfimoires  du  Chevalier  de  Gramont,  London,  1713; 
English  translation,  Memoirs  of  the  Court  of  Charles  II,  London,  1846.  —  Grant,  J.,  British 
Battles  on  Land  and  Sea,  London,  1873-1875,  3  vols.  —  Grant,  R.,  History  of  the  East 
India  Company,  London,  1813. — Green,  J.  R.,  Short  History  of  the  English  People,  London, 
1875;  History  of  the  English  People,  1877-1880,  4  vols.;  Conquest  of  England,  London, 
1882;  The  Making  of  England,  London,  1883,  2  vols. 

John  Richard  Green  was  born  at  Oxford,  December  12th,  1837.  Upon  completing  his 
university  course  he  entered  the  church,  but  failing  health  caused  him  to  abandon  clerical 

life  and  accept  a  position  as  librarian  at  Lambeth  in  1869.  From  early  years  an  enthusiastic 
student  of  English  history,  he  sought  in  his  Short  History  of  the  English  People  to  present 
vivid  pictures  of  the  life  and  customs  of  the  people  and  of  the  social  conditions  which  had 
influenced  their  growth  rather  than  to  dwell  upon  dynasties  and  wars.  The  success  of 

the  work  was  immediate;  its  picturesque  style  and  life-like  descriptions  proved  eminently 
attractive  to  the  general  public,  even  though  he  often  built  a  larger  and  more  elaborate 
structure  than  his  foundation  warranted.  Notwithstanding  his  bodily  weakness,  Green 

wrote  The  Making  of  England,  a  much  more  scholarly  work,  which  was  published  in  1882; 
and  so  far  collected  and  arranged  the  material  for  the  succeeding  volume  on  The  Conquest 

of  England  that  it  was  published  by  his  widow  shortly  after  his  death,  in  1883.  Mrs. 
Green,  who  was  a  student  and  writer  of  much  ability,  rendered  constant  and  valuable 
assistance  to  her  husband,  and  has  produced  important  works  of  her  own  composition. 
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Oraen,  J.  R.  (Mrs.),  Henry  II,  London,  1885;  Life  in  the  Fifteenth  Century,  London, 
1894.  — Green,  W.  D.,  William  Pitt,  Earl  of  Chatham,  London,  1901.— Grego,  J.,  History  of 
Parliamentary  Elections,  London,  1886.  —  Grenville,  R.  (Duke  of  Buckingham  and  Chan- 
dos)>  Memoirs  of  the  Court  and  Cahinets  of  George  III,  London,  1853-185S,  4  vols.  —  Grei- 
weU,  W.  H.  P.,  History  of  the  Dominion  of  Canada,  London,  1891;  The  Growth  and 
Administration  of  the  British  Colonies,  London,  1897.  —  Greville,  C.  C.  ¥.,  Greville 
Memoirs,  London,  1875,  3  vols.;  Journal  of  the  Reigns  of  George  IV  and  William  IV,  Lon- 

don, 1875,  3  vols.  —  Greville,  F.  (Lord  Brooke),  Life  of  Sir  Philip  Sidney,  London,  1652, 
1816. —  Grimm,  G.,  Concise  History  of  Australia,  Sydney,  1891. —  Oroom,  W.  T.,  With 
Havelock  from  Allahabad  to  Lucknov,  1857,  London,  1874.  —  Oro8S,  C,  The  Gild  Merchant, 
Oxford,  1890,  2  vols.  —  Groisteste,  R.,  in  Hutton's  Simon  de  Montfort  cmd  his  Cause, 
London,  1888.  —  Guest,  £.,  Early  English  Settlements,  London,  1850;  Julius  Caesar's 
Invasion  of  Britain,  London,  1864;  Origines  Celticse,  edited  by  W.  Stubbs,  London,  1883. — 

Guizot,  F.  P.  6.,  Histoire  de  la  revolution  d'Angleterre,  Paris,  1827-1828,  2  vols.;  English 
translation.  History  of  the  English  Revolution,  1640,  London,  1856;  Monk,  Chute  de  la 
rgpublique  et  r€tablissement  de  la  monarchie  en  1660,  Paris,  1851,  English  translation. 

Monk,  or  the  Fall  of  the  Republic,  London,  1851 ;  Histoire  de  la  rgpublique  d'Angleterre  et 
d'OIiver  Cromwell,  1649-1658,  Paris,  1854,  2  vols.,  English  translation.  History  of  Oliver 
Cromwell  and  the  English  Commonwealth,  London,  1854;  Histoire  du  protectorat  de 
Richard  Cromwell,  Paris,  1856,  English  translation.  History  of  Richard  Cromwell  and  the 
Restoration  of  Charles  11,  London,  1856,  2  vols.;  Memoirs  of  Sir  Robert  Peel,  London, 

1867;  Histoire  d'Angleterre,  racontfie  a  mes  petits-enfants,  Paris,  1877-1878,  2  vols.,  Eng- 
lish translation.  History  of  England  from  the  Earliest  Times  to  the  Accession  of  Queen 

Victoria,  London,  1879,  3  vola.- 
Frcmfois  Pierre  Ouillmime  Ouizot,  a  distinguished  French  historian  and  statesman, 

was  born  at  Nlmes,  October  4th,  1787.  His  father  was  guillotined  during  the  Reign  of  Ter- 
ror, and  his  mother  sought  refuge  in  Switzerland,  where  young  Guizot  was  educated.  Re- 

turning to  Paris  in  1805,  he  began  the  brilliant  literary  career  which  ended  only  with  his 
life.  History,  biography,  translations,  essays  and  reviews  followed  in  rapid  succession,  and 
quickly  gave  him  high  rank  among  French  literati.  In  addition,  he  lectured  for  many  years 
in  the  Sorbonne  and  occupied  important  positions  in  the  government,  attaining  the 

premiership  in  1847.  The  coup  d'€tat  of  1851  closed  his  public  career  and  the  remainder  of 
his  life  was  passed  in  literary  labour.  A  close  student  of  English  history,  his  writings 
upon  the  Puritan  period  have  great  merit  and  deserved  reputation.  Guizot  died  at  the  age 
of  eighty-seven  at  Val-Rocher,  September  13th,  1874. 

Gumble,  T.,  The  Life  of  General  Monk,  London,  1671.  —  Gurwood,  J.,  The  Despatches 
and  Correspondence  of  the  Duke  of  Wellington  during  his  Various  Campaigns,  London, 
1838, 13  vols. 

Hacket,  J.,  Serinia  referata;  a  Memorial  of  John  Williams,  D.D.,  London,  1692. — 
Haigh,  D.  H.,  The  Conquest  of  Britain  by  the  Saxons,  London,  1861.  —  Hailes,  Lord  (D. 
Dalrymple),  Annals  of  Scotland,  Edinburgh,  1779.  —  Hakluyt,  R.,  The  Principal  Naviga- 

tions, Voyages,  Traffiques  and  Discoveries  of  the  English  Nation,  London,  1598-1600,  3  vols.; 
Divers  Voyages  Touching  the  Discoverie  of  America,  London,  1852,  edited  by  the  Hakluyt 
Society,  London,  1850. 

Richard  Hakluyt  was  bom  in  or  near  London  about  1553.  He  took  his  degree  at  Ox- 
ford in  1573-4,  and  after  taking  his  M.A.  in  1577,  commenced  at  Oxford  the  first  public  lec- 

tures on  geography.  His  first  published  work  was  his  Divers  Voyages  Touching  the  Dis- 
coverie of  America  (1582).  From  1583  to  1588  he  was  chaplain  to  Lord  Stafford,  English 

ambassador  to  France,  busying  himself  meanwhile  with  studies  and  researches  in  history 

and  geography.  Hakluyt's  greatest  work  was  The  Principal  Navigations,  Voyages,  Trof- 
fiques,  cmd  Discoveries  of  the  English  Nation  (1598-1600),  which  has  been  truly  called 
"  the  prose  epic  of  the  modem  English  Nation."  Though  but  little  read,  it  is  an  invaluable 
treasure  house  for  the  study  of  English  history,  geographical  discovery  and  colonisation. 
He  was  archdeacon  of  Westminster  from  1603  until  his  death  in  1616. 

Haldane,  D.,  Admiral  Duncan,  London,  1898.  —  Hall,  E.,  The  Union  of  the  Two  Noble 
and  lUustre  Families  of  Lancastre  and  York,  London,  1542,  1550,  1809.  —  Hallam,  H.,  View 
of  the  State  of  Europe  during  the  Middle  Ages,  London,  1818,  2  vols.,  1853,  3  vols.;  The 
Constitutional  History  of  England  from  the  Accession  of  Henry  VII  to  the  Death  of 
George  II,  London,  1827,  2  vols.,  1854,  3  vols.;  Introduction  to  the  Literature  of  Europe 
in  the  Fifteenth,  Sixteenth  and  Seventeenth  Centuries,  London,  1837-1839,  4  vols. 

Henry  Hallam  was  born  at  Windsor,  July  9,  1777.  He  was  educated  at  Eton  and  Ox- 
ford, studied  law  and  was  in  active  practice  on  the  Oxford  circuit  until  1812,  when  he  was 

enabled  to  retire  and  devote  himself  to  historical  study.  He  exhibited  literary  talent  at 
an  early  age,  and  his  contributions  to  the  reviews  had  already  established  his  position 
among  English  writers.  In  1818  he  published  A  View  of  Europe  during  the  Middle  Ages, 
the  result  of  two  years'  research  and  extended  European  travel.  Hallam's  works,  charac- 

terised by  careful  and  painstaking  study,  impartial  criticism,  and  sincere,  straightforward 
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style,  have  taken  a  rank  among  English  classics  from  which  they  will  never  be  dislodged. 
Subsequent  investigations  and  later  discoveries  of  sources  have,  of  course,  rendered  parts 
of  his  work  of  little  value.  Absolute  justice  to  every  one  was  Hallam's  aim,  and  in  his 
Constitutional  History  he  has  treated  men  and  events  with  judicial  coolness  and  impar- 

tiality. His  general  knowledge  was  immense,  and  he  was  a  competent  critic  in  science 
and  theology,  mathematics  and  poetry,  metaphysics  and  law.  Many  honours  were  be- 

stowed upon  him  by  the  state  and  various  learned  societies  and  universities.  His  domestic 
life  was  saddened  toward  its  close  by  the  death  of  his  wife  and  ten  of  his  eleven  children. 
He  died  at  Pickhurst,  Kent,  January  21,  1859. 

Halliwell-Phillipps,  J.  0.,  Letters  of  the  Kings  of  England,  London,  1846,  2  vols.— 
Hamley,  E.  B.,  The  War  in  the  Crimea,  London,  1855,  new  edition,  1891;  Wellington's 
Career,  London,  1860. —  Handbook  of  Indian  History,  Madras,  1887.  — Hannay,  D., 
Admiral  Blake,  London,  1886.  —  Hansard,  L.,  Parliamentary  Debates,  London,  1803-1900, 

76  vols.  —  Harcui,  W.,  South  Australia — Its  History,  London,  1876. —  Hardwicke.  Philip' Yorke  (Earl  of).  Miscellaneous  State  Papers,  London,  1778,  2  vols. —  Hardy,  F.,  Memoirs 
of  James  Caulfield,  Earl  of  Charlemont,  London,  1812,  2  vols.  —  Hardy,  T.  D.,  A  Descrip- 

tive Catalogue  of  MSS.  Relating  to  the  History  of  Great  Britain  and  Ireland,  London,  1862- 
1871,  3  vols. —  Harington,  J.,  Nugae  Antiquae,  London,  1779,  2  vols.  —  Harris,  J.  (Earl  of 
Malmesbury),  Diaries  and  Correspondence,  London,  1844,  4  vols. —  Harrison,  F.,  History 
of  the  Law  of  Treason,  in  the  Fortnightly  Review,  London,  1882,  May  and  June.— 
Harrison,  W.,  An  Historical  Description  of  the  Island  of  Britaine,  in  the  Chronicles  of 
Holinshed,  London,  1578,  2  vols.;  1807-1808,  6  vols.;  1877-1881.  — Havland,  O.  A.,  The  New 
Empire,  London,  1891.  -^  Hawkins,  A.,  Picture  of  Quebec  with  Historical  Recollections, 
Quebec,  1834.  —  Haynes,  S.,  Collectioh  of  State  Papers,  left  by  William  Cecil,  Lord 
Burghley,  London,  1740.  —  Hazlitt,  W.,  The  Character  of  W.  Cobbett,  M.P.,  London,  1835.— 
Haad,  F.  B.,  Administration  of  the  Government  of  Upper  Canada,  London,  1839.  —  Heam, 
W.  E.,  The  Government  of  England,  London,  1867,  2d  edition,  1887.  —  Heath,  J.,  A 
Chronicle  of  the  Late  Intestine  War  in  the  Three  Kingdoms,  London,  1661.  —  Heaton,  W., 
The  Three  Reforms  of  Parliament;  a  History,  1830-1885,  London,  1885.  —  Heber,  R.,  Life 
of  Jeremy  Taylor,  London,  1822;  Journey  through  India  from  Calcutta  to  Bombay,  with 
Uotes  on  Ceylon,  London,  1828,  2  vols.  —  Heeren,  A.  H.  L.,  Historical  Researches,  Oxford, 
1838-1846,  5  vols.  —  Henry  of  Huntingdon,  Historia  Anglorum,  edited  by  Sir  Henry  Savile, 
1596,  translation  by  T.  Forester,  London,  1853.  —  Henry,  R.,  History  of  Great  Britain, 
Xondon,  1771-1793,  6  vols.  —  Hentzner,  P.,  England  as  Seen  by  Foreigners,  London,  1865.— 
Herbert  of  Oherbury,  E.,  History  of  the  Life  and  Reign  of  Henry  VIII,  London,  1649. — 
Herodotus,  History,  translated  by  William  Beloe,  London,  1806.  —  Herve,  A.  M.  E.,  La 
Crise  Irlandaise  depuis  la  fin  du  dix-huiti6me  si6cle  jusqu'a  nos  jours,  Paris,  1885. — 
Hervey,  J.,  Memoirs  of  the  Reign  of  George  II,  London,  1848,  2  vols.  —  Hewins,  W.  A.  S., 
English  Trade  and  Finance,  Chiefly  in  the  Seventeenth  Century,  London,  1892.  —  Heylin, 
P.,  History  of  the  Reformation,  London,  1661,  Cambridge,  1849,  2  vols.  —  Hill,  G.  B.,  Life 
of  Sir  Walter  Rowland  Hill,  London,  1880,  2  vols.  —  Hillier,  A.  S.,  Articles  on  South  Afri- 

can History  in  new  volumes  Encyclopcedia  Britannica.  —  Hirst,  F.  W.,  Life  of  W.  E. 
Crladstone,  London,  1899.  —  Historical  MSS.  Oommission,  Calendar  of  the  MSS.  of  the 
Most  Hon.  the  Marquis  of  Salisbury,  preserved  at  Hatfield  House,  London,  1888,  8  vols.  — 
laitchman,  F.,  Public  Life  of  the  Earl  of  Beaeonsfield,  London,  1881.  —  Hocken,  T.  M., 
•Contributions  to  the  Early  History  of  New  Zealand,  London,  1898.  —  Hodder,  E.,  The 
History  of  South  Australia,  London,  1893,  2  vols.  —  Hodges,  N.,  Loimologia,  London,  1622. 
—  Hodson,  G.  H.,  Twelve  Years  of  a  Soldier's  Life  in  India,  Boston,  1860.  —  Holland,  H.  R. 
F.  v.,  History  of  the  Whig  Party  during  My  Time,  London,  1852-1854,  2  vols.  —  Holland,  S. 
(Lady),  Memoirs  of  Sydney  Smith,  Leipsic,  1855,  2  vols.,  London,  1874. —  Holies,  D., 
Memoirs,  London,  1699;  printed  in  Select  Tracts  relating  to  the  Civil  Wars  in  England,  in 

the  Reign  of  Charles  the  First,  London,  1815.  —  Holmes,  A.  M.,  England's  Navy,  London, 
1897.  —  Holmes,  T.  R.  B.,  History  of  the  Indian  Mutiny,  London,  1883.  —  Holwell,  J.  L., 
Black  Hole  of  Calcutta,  in  Wheeler's  Early  Records  of  British  India,  London,  1878. — 
Hook,  W.  F.,  Lives  of  the  Archbishops  of  Canterbury,  London,  1861-1884,  14  vols. — 
Hooker,  R.,  The  Laws  of  Ecclesiastical  Polity,  London,  1594-1597,  5  vols.,  1666,  8  vols.,  7th 
edition  1888t  4  vols.  —  Hosack,  J.,  Mary  and  Her  Accusers,  London,  1869-1874,  2  vols. — 
Howell,  J.,  Familiar  Letters,  London,  1650.  —  Hughes,  T.  S.,  and  T.  Smollett,  History  of 
England  from  the  Accession  of  George  m,  London,  1855,  18  vols.  —  Hume  D.,  History  of 
England  from  the  Invasion  of  Julius  Caesar  to  the  Revolution  in  1688,  London,  1754-1762,  6 
vols.,  1864,  8  vols. 

David  Hume  was  born  at  Edinburgh,  April  26th,  1711.  Being  a  younger  son,  with 
:slender  patrimony,  and  of  a  sober,  studious  disposition,  he  was  destined  by  his  parents 
for  the  law,  but,  seized  with  an  early  passion  for  letters,  he  had  an  insurmountable 
aversion  to  any  other  study.  After  an  unsuccessful  attempt  at  business  life  in  Bristol,  he 
went  to  France  for  the  further  prosecution  of  his  studies,  and  remained  three  years, 
during  which  period  he  wrote  his  Treatise  on  Human  Nature.  Returning  to  England  in 
1737,  he  was  at  first  secretary  to  the  marquis  of  Annandale,  afterwards  on  the  staff  of 
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General  St.  Clair,  whom  he  accompanied  to  Austria  and  Italy  in  1747.  His  early  writings 
were  not  received  with  commendation,  though  his  reputation  as  a  man  of  letters  was 
increasing.  In  1754  he  published  the  first  volume  of  A  Portion  of  English  History  from  the 
Accession  of  James  I  to  the  Revolution,  which  he  hoped  to  be  a  success,  as  he  thought  him- 

self the  first  English  historian  free  from  bias,  but  he  says  "  that  he  was  herein  miserably 
disappointed,  and  that,  instead  of  pleasing  all  parties,  had  made  himself  obnoxious  to 

all."  The  second  volume,  which  appeared  in  1756,  was  more  favorably  received.  In 
1759  he  published  the  History  of  the  House  of  Tudor,  and  in  1761  the  early  portion  of 
the  English  History.  Notwithstanding,  possibly  by  reason  of,  the  clamour  raised  by  his 
opponents,  his  publications  proved  very  remunerative,  and  he  twice  retired  to  Edinburgh, 
with  the  intention  of  leading  a  life  of  scholarly  ease,  but  was  recalled  to  accept  important 
appointments.  In  1769  he  finally  abandoned  public  life  and  lived  in  Edinburgh  until  his 
death,  on  August  25,  1776.  His  history,  notwithstanding  its  faults,  has  a  distinct  place 
in  English  literature;  it  was  the  first  attempt  at  comprehensive,  thoughtful  treatment  of 
historic  facts,  the  first  to  consider  the  social  and  literary  aspects  of  the  national  life  as 
little  inferior  to  its  politics  and  wars.  While  Hume  was  at  all  times  an  advocate,  colouring 
facts  to  suit  his  theories,  and  glossing  over  the  faults  of  his  favourites,  he  established  a 
standard  of  historical  composition  and  developed  a  style  animated,  yet  refined  and  polished. 

Hume,  M.  A.  S.  (translator),  Chronica  del  Rey  Enrico  Ottavo  de  Ingleterra,  London, 
1889;  The  Courtships  of  Queen  Elizabeth,  London,  1896;  Calendar  of  State  Papers  in  the 
Archives  of  Simancas,  London,  1892-1899,  4  vols.  —  Hunt,  J.,  Religious  Thought  in 

England,  London,  1870.  —  Hunt,  W.,  "Bristol,  London,  1887;  The  English  Church  from  its 
Foundation  to  the  Norman  Conquest,  ,,London,  1899.  —  Hunter,  W.  W.,  The  Indian  Empire, 
London,  1878;  article  on  "India"  in  the  Encyclopcedia  Britannica. — Huntingdon,  H.  W. 
H.,  History  of  Australia,  Newcastlgji,  1888.  —  Huskision,  W.,  Speeches,  London,  1830,  3 
vols.  —  Hutchinson,  L.,  Memoirs  of  the  Life  of  Col.  Hutchinson,  London,  1806.  —  Hutch- 
iason,  T.,  History  of  the  Province  of  Massachusetts  Bay,  Boston,  1764-1774,  4  vols. — 
Hutton,  W.  H.,  Sir  Thomas  More,  London,  1895. 

Indian  Student,  An,  India  before  and  after  the  Mutiny,  Edinburgh,  1886. — Ingram, 
J.  K.,  A  History  of  Political  Economy,  London  and  New  York,  1888. —  Ingram,  T.  D., 
History  of  the  Legislative  Union  of  Great  Britain  and  Ireland,  London,  1887,  new  edition, 
1899. — Innes,  C,  History  of  Scotland  to  818,  Edinburgh,  1853;  Scotland  in  the  Middle 
Ages,  Edinburgh,  1860;  Sketches  of  Early  Scottish  History  and  Social  Progress,  Edin- 

burgh, 1861.  —  Irish  History,  Two  Centuries  of,  London,  1888. 

James  I,  A  Counterblast  to  Tobacco,  London,  1616;  A  Remonstrance  of  the  Most  Gra- 
cious King  James  I  against  an  Oration  of  the  Cardinal  of  Perron,  Cambridge,  1619; 

Book  of  Sports,  London,  1709.  —  James,  Lionel,  article  on  the  War  in  South  Africa,  1899- 
1901,  in  new  volumes  of  Encyclopedia  Britannica. — James,  W.,  The  Naval  History  of 
Great  Britain  from  the  Declaration  of  War  by  France  in  1793  to  the  Accession  of  George 

IV,  London,  1822-1826,  6  vols.,  1866. —James,  W.  N.,  The  British  in  India,  London,  1882.— 
Jardlne,  D.,  Criminal  Trials,  London,  1832,  2  vols.;  Narrative  of  the  Gunpowder  Plot, 
London,  1857.  —  Jenks,  E.,  The  Australian  Colonies  to  1893,  London,  1895.  —  Jennings,  G. 
H.,  An  Aneedotical  History  of  the  British  Parliament,  London,  1892.  —  Jesse,  J.  H, 
Memoirs  of  the  Pretenders  and  Their  Adherents,  London,  1845;  Memoirs  of  the  Life  and 

Times  of  George  III,  London,  1867. — Jessopp,  A.,  Studies  by  a  Recluse,  London,  1893. — 
Jevons,  W.  S.,  The  State  in  Its  Relation  to  Labour,  London  and  New  York,  1885.  —  John  of 
Fordun,  Chronica  gentis  Scotorum,  in  T.  Gales'  Scriptores  Quindecim,  Edinburgh,  1691, 
translation  by  W.  F.  Skene  in  the  Historians  of  Scotland,  Edinburgh,  1871. — Jomini,  H., 
Vie  politique  et  militaire  de  Napoleon,  Paris,  1827,  4  vols.,  translation  by  H.  W.  Halleck, 
London,  1864,  4  vols.  —  Jones,  W.,  Works,  London,  1811,  13  vols.;  articles  in  Journal  of 
Asiatic  Jtesearches.  —  Jones,  W.  B.,  Vestiges  of  the  Gael  in  Gwynedd,  London,  1851;  His- 

tory of  St.  Davids,  London,  1856.  —  Joyce,  P.  W.,  Concise  History  of  Ireland,  London  and 
Dublin,  1893.  —  Jung,  C.  E.,  Australia,  London,  1884.  —  Junius,  Letters,  London,  1772,  1812, 
1854.  —  Jusserand,  J.  J.,  Les  Anglais  au  moyen  age,  Paris,  1884,  translation  by  L.  T.  Smith, 
English  Wayfaring  Life  in  the  Middle  Ages,  London,  1899;  The  Romance  of  a  King's  Life, 
London,  1896. 

Eaye,  J.  W.,  History  of  the  War  of  Afghanistan,  London,  1851.  —  Eaye,  J.  W.,  and 
G.  B.  Malleson,  History  of  the  Indian  Mutiny,  London,  1865-1880,  6  vols.  —  Kebbel,  T. 
E.,  Life  of  Lord  Beaconsfield,  London,  1888.— Keene,  H.  G.,  The  Fall  of  the  Moghul  Em- 

pire of  Hindustan,  London,  1876,  1887.— Keightloy,  T.,  History  of  England,  London,  1837. 
Thomas  Keightley  was  born  near  Dublin  in  Ireland  in  October,  1789.  He  entered 

Trinity  College  in  1803,  but  did  not  take  a  degree,  and  in  1824  settled  in  London,  where 
for  nearly  half  a  century  he  was  busily  engaged  in  literary  work.  He  is  probably  best 
known  for  his   Mythology  of  Ancient  Greece  and  Rome,  but  his  biographies  and  miscel- 
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laneous  works  possess  much  merit,  and  his  historical  writings  are  carefully  compiled,  and 
written  in  a  clear  and  entertaining  style.    He  died  at  Erith,  Kent,  November  4th,  1872. 

Kemble,  J.  M.,  The  Saxons  in  England:  A  History  of  the  English  Commonwealth  till 
the  Period  of  the  Norman  Conquest,  London,  1849,  2  vols. 

John  Mitchell  Kemble,  the  son  of  Charles  Kemhle  the  actor,  was  born  in  London  in 
1807.  He  entered  Cambridge  in  1826,  where  he  became  an  intimate  friend  of  Tennyson 
and  Archbishop  Trench,  but  left  before  completing  his  course,  to  take  up  the  study  of 
Anglo-Saxon  law,  afterwards  pursuing  philological  studies  at  Gottingeu  and  other  German 
universities.  His  edition  of  Beowulf,  published  in  1833,  established  his  rank  as  an  Anglo- 
Saxon  scholar,  and  his  reputation  was  greatly  enhanced  by  a  course  of  lectures  given  at 
Cambridge  in  the  following  year.  Kemble  was  editor  of  the  British  and  Foreign  Review, 
for  nine  years,  and  in  1840  succeeded  his  father  as  licenser  of  the  stage  plays.  As  a  re- 

sult of  his  study  of  Anglo-Saxon  law,  he  published,  in  1839-1840,  a  valuable  collection  of 
Saxon  charters,  and  in  1849  the  first  two  volumes  of  a  History  of  the  Anglo-Saxons  in 

IJngland,  which  was  never  completed,  but  w^as  for  many  years  the  chief  authority  for  this 
period  of  English  history.    He  died  at  Dublin,  March  26th,  1857. 

Kent,  C.  B.  E.,  The  English  Radicals,  London,  1899. —  Kerr,  Robert,  History  of  Scot- 
land during  the  Reign  of  Robert  Bruce,  Edinburgh,  1811.  —  King,  W.,  Political  and  Liter- 
ary Anecdotes,  London,  1819.  —  Singlake,  A.  W.,  The  Invasion  of  the  Crimea,  London, 

1863-1887,  8  vols.  —  Eingsford,  W.,  History  of  Canada,  London,  1887-1898,  10  vols. — 
Eirkup,  T.,  articles  on  "  Henry  VII "  and  "  Henry  VIII "  in  the  Encyclopadia  Britannica. 
—  Knight,  C,  Pictorial  History  of  England,  London  and  New  York,  1837-1844,  8  vols.; 
Popular  History  of  England,  London,  1856-1862,  8  vols.;  Half-hours  with  English  History, 
London,  1867. 

Charles  Knight  was  the  son  of  a  bookseller  at  Windsor,  where  he  was  born  March 

15th,  1791.  His  schooling  was  limited,  most  of  his  education  being  gained  in  his  father's 
shop.  While  publishing  the  Etonian  he  formed  the  acquaintance  of  Macaulay,  Praed,  and 

Nelson  Coleridge,  who  induced  him  to  start  Knight's  Quarterly  Magazine  in  1824.  The 
venture  was  a  financial  failure,  but  served  to  introduce  Knight  to  the  London  public  and 
encouraged  him  in  his  plans  for  popular  instruction.  The  Society  for  the  Diffusion  of 

Useful  Knowledge,  established  by  Brougham  in  1825,  was  Knight's  idea,  and  he  was  called 
to  superintend  its  publications.  Henceforth  his  literary  activity  was  enormous  and  his 
influence  widespread.  Besides  editing  numerous  cyclopaedias,  magazines,  and  literary  and 
scientific  works,  he  personally  wrote  several  biographies  and  contributed  largely  to  all 
his  publications.  After  his  retirem^ht  from  active  business  life,  he  continued  literary 
work  until  his  death  at  Addlestone,  March  9th,  1873. 

Knighton,  H.,  Chronicle,  edited  by  J.  R.  Lumby  (Rolls  Series),  London,  1889,  2  vols. 
T— Knox,  J.,  Historic  of  the  Reformation  of  Religioun  in  the  Realme  of  Scotland,  London, 
1584,  3  vols.,  1664,  5  vols.,  1844,  5  vols.— Kydd,  S.,  see  Alfred. 

Labanoff,  A.,  Letters  of  Mary,  Queen  of  Scots,  London,  1845,  3  vols.;  Maria  Stuart, 
London,  1859.  —  Iiabilliere,  F.  P.,  Early  History  of  the  Colony  of  Victoria,  London,  1878. 
—  Laing,  M.,  History  of  Scotland  from  the  Accession  of  James  VI  to  the  Reign  of  Queen 
Anne,  Edinburgh,  1800-1804.  —  Iianercost,  Chronicon,  edited  by  J.  Stephenson,  Edinburgh, 
1839. — Lang,  A.,  Oxford:  Brief  Historical  and  Descriptive  Notes,  London,  1879;  Life, 
Letters  and  Diaries  of  Sir  Stafford  Northcote,  first  Earl  of  Iddesleigh,  London,  1890,  2 
vols.;  The  Mystery  of  Mary  Stuart,  London,  1901. —  Langtoft,  P.,  Chronicle  of  England, 
in  Rolls  Series,  London,  1866-1868,  2  vols.  —  Lanigan,  J.,  Ecclesiastical  History  of  Ire- 

land, Dublin,  1822,  4  vols.  —  Iiappenberg,  J.  M.,  Geschichte  von  England,  Hamburg,  1834- 
1837,  2  vols.,  translation  by  B.  Thorpe,  A  History  of  England  under  the  Anglo-Saxon 
Kings,  London,  1845,  1857,  2  vols.;  A  History  of  England  under  the  Norman  Kings,  Lon- 

don, 1857. 

Johann  Martin  Lappenberg  was  born  at  Hamburg,  July  30th,  1794.  He  studied  medi- 
cine at  Edinburgh,  resided  for  some  time  in  London,  and  afterwards  studied  law  and  his- 
tory at  Berlin  and  Gottingen.  His  appointment  as  archivist  to  the  Hamburg  Senate  in 

1823  led  to  the  discovery  of  many  important  manuscripts  and  records.  His  historical  writ- 
ings were  numerous  and  valuable,  and  he  edited  many  specimens  of  early  German  litera- 

ture.   His  death  occurred  November  28th,  1865. 

Latimer,  E.  W.,  England  in  the  Nineteenth  Century,  Chicago,  1894.  —  Iiatimer,  H., 
Works,  Cambridge,  1844-1845,  2  vols.  —  Xaud,  W.,  History  of  the  Troubles  and  Tryal  of 
the  Most  Reverend  Father  in  God  and  Blessed  Martyr  William  Laud,  Written  by  Him- 

self, London,  1695,  Oxford,  1839;  Works,  Oxford,  1857-1860,  7  vols.  —  LaughUn,  J.  L.,  see 
Adams,  H.  —  Laughton,  J.  K.,  The  Story  of  Trafalgar,  Portsmouth,  1890.  — Laurie,  T. 

S.,  The  Story  of  Australia,  London,  1890-1896. — 'Lawrence,  H.  M.,  Essays,  Military  and 
Political,  Calcutta,  1859.  —  Le  Bon,  G.,  Les  civilisations  de  I'Inde,  Paris,  1886. —  Lechler, 
G.,  John  Wyclif  and  His  Precursors  in  England,  London,  1892,  2  vols. — Lecky,  W.  E.  H., 
The  Leaders  of  Public  Opinion  in  Ireland,  London,   1871;    History   of  England  in  the 
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Eighteenth  Century,  London,  1878-1890,  8  vols.;  Ireland  in  the  Eighteenth  Century,  Lon- 
don, 1892,  4  vols. ;  Democracy  and  Liberty,  London,  1899,  2  vols. 
William  Edward  Hartpole  Lechy  was  born  near  Dublin,  March  26th,  1838,  and  edu- 

cated at  Trinity  College,  Dublin.  His  History  of  the  Rise  and  hifluence  of  the  Spirit  of 
Rationalism  in  Europe,  published  in  1865,  aroused  wide  interest  from  its  unusual  eru- 

dition and  profound  thought.  After  many  years  of  preparation  he  produced  his  History 
of  England  in  the  Eighteenth  Century,  in  which  his  object  was  "  to  disengage  from  the 
great  mass  of  facts  those  which  relate  to  the  permanent  forces  of  the  nation,  or  which 

indicate  the  more  enduring  features  of  national  life."  The  work  is  distinguished  by  the 
extent  and  fulness  of  its  authorities,  by  its  impartiality  and  its  admirable  style.  The  por- 

tion dealing  with  Ireland  has  since  been  published  independently.  Mr.  Lecky  has  served 
in  parliament,  been  a  privy  councillor,  and  has  received  many  civic  and  literary  honours^ 
He  died  October  22d,  1903. 

lieffinann,  S.,  Geschichte  des  alten  Indiens  (Oncken  Series),  Berlin,  1889.  —  Iceland, 
(Leyland),  J.,  De  Rebus  Britannicis  Collectanea,  Oxford,  1715,  6  vols.,  London,  1770. — 
Iieland,  T.,  History  of  Ireland  from  the  Invasion  of  Henry  II,  Dublin,  1774.  —  Le  Moine, 
J.  M.,  Maple  Leaves;  Canadian  History,  Quebec,  1863-1894;  Quebec,  Past  and  Present, 
Quebec,  1876.  —  Lesley,  Bishop,  De  origine,  moribus  et  rebus  gestis  Scotorum,  Rome,  1578, 
10  vols.  — Lethbridge,  R.,  Indian  History,  London,  1895. — Levey,  G.,  Australasian  En- 

cyclopaedia, London,  1892. — Levi,  L.,  History  of  British  Commerce  and  of  the  Economic 
Progress  of  the  British  Nation,  1763-1870  [the  best  account  of  the  upbuilding  of  British 
commercial  supremacy],  London,  1879. —  Lewis,  G.  C,  Essays  on  the  Administration  of 
Great  Britain  from  1780-1830,  London,  1864. — Lewis,  J.,  A  Complete  History  of  the  Several 
Translations  of  the  Holy  Bible  and  New  Testament  into  English,  London,  1818. —  Liber 
PluscardensU,  see  Buchanan,  M. —  I^y,  W.,  True  History  of  King  James  and  King 
Charles  I,  London,  1615.  —  Lingard,  J.,  History  of  England  from  the  First  Invasion  by 
the  Romans  to  the  Accession  of  William  and  Mary  in  1C88,  London,  1819-1830,  8  vols.,  1883, 
10  vols.;  Abridgement  of  the  History  of  England,  London,  1855. 

John  Lingard  was  born  at  Winchester,  February  5,  1771.  He  was  educated  for  the 
Catholic  priesthood  at  Douay  in  France,  where  he  remained  until  the  college  was  broken 
up  by  the  Revolution  in  1793.  With  some  of  his  former  companions  at  Douay  he  estab- 

lished a  seminary  at  Crook  Hall  near  Lancaster,  where  he  remained  as  professor  and  vice- 
president  until  1811,  when  he  retired  to  a  small  parish  at  Hornby.  While  at  Crook  Hall 
he  had  published  a  History  of  t.ie  Anglo-Saxon  Church,  a  preliminary  to  his  master-work, 
which  appeared  between  1819  and  1830  in  eight  quarto  volumes,  and  passed  through  six 
editions  during  his  lifetime.  Being  the  first  important  history  of  England  written  from 
the  Catholic  standpoint,  it  attracted  much  attention  from  the  start,  and  though  concilia- 

tory in  tone,  was  vehemently  attacked  by  Protesant  partisans.  Lingard's  replies  to  the 
detractions  displayed  such  profound  knowledge  and  were  fortified  by  such  well-digested 
authorities  as  to  add  materially  to  his  reputation.  Although  often  invited  to  more  im- 

portant positions  in  the  church,  he  remained  in  the  seclusion  of  Hornby  until  his  death, 
July  17th,  1851.  He  was  granted  a  pension  of  £300  by  the  government;  made  doctor  of 
divinity  by  Pope  Pius  VII,  and  Leo  XII  is  said  to  have  created  him  a  cardinal  in  petto. 

Lister,  T.  H.,  Life  and  Administration  of  Edward,  First  Earl  of  Clarendon,  London, 
1838,  3  vols.  —  Lloyd,  D.,  The  Statesmen  and  Favourites  of  England  since  the  Reforma- 

tion, London,  1665.  —  Lodge,  E.,  Illustrations  of  British  History,  Biography  and  Manners 
in  the  Reigns  of  Henry  VIII,  Edward  VI,  Mary,  Elizabeth  and  James  I,  London,  1791,  3 
vols.  —  Lodge,  H.  C,  see  H.  Adams.  —  Long,  J.,  Eastern  Proverbs  and  Emblems,  Lon- 

don, 1881.  —  Longman,  W.,  Lectures  on  the  History  of  England,  London,  1863;  History 
of  the  Life  and  Times  of  Edward  III,  London,  1869,  2  vols.  —  Lord,  W.  F.,  Lost  Posses- 

sions of  England,  London,  1896.  —  Lome,  Marquis  of.  Viscount  Palmerston,  K.G.,  Lon- 
don, 1892.  —  Lough,  T.,  England's  Wealth,  Ireland's  Poverty,  London,  1896.  —  Low,  S.  J., 

and  F.  S.  Palling,  Dictionary  of  English  History,  London,  1897.  —  Lowth,  R.,  Life  of 
William  of  Wykeham,  London,  1777. — Lubbork,  J.,  Prehistoric  Times,  London,  1900. — 
Lucy,  H.  W.,  Diary  of  Two  Parliaments,  London,  1885,  2  vols.;  Diary  of  the  Salisbury 
Parliament,  London,  1892;  Gladstone,  A  Study  from  Life,  London,  1898.  —  Ludlow,  E., 
Memoirs,  London,  1698,  2  vols.  • —  Luttrell,  N.,  A  Brief  Historical  Relation  of  State  AflFairs 
from  September,  1678,  to  April,  1714,  Oxford,  1857,  6  vols.  —  Lyall,  A.  C,  The  Rise  and 
Expansion  of  the  British  Dominion  in  India,  London,  1893.  —  Lynch,  J.,  Cambrensis 
Eversus,  London,  1662.  —  Lyndsay  of  Pitscottie,  R.,  Historic  of  Scotland  1436-1575,  edited 
by  A.  J.  G.  Mackay,  Edinburgh,  1899.  —  Lyte,  H.  C.  M.,  History  of  the  University  of  Ox- 

ford to  1830,  London,  1886. 

MacArthur,  M.,  History  of  Scotland,  London,  1873.  —  Macaulay,  T.  B.,  History  of 
England  from  the  Accession  of  James  II,  London,  1848-1855,  vols.  1-4,  1861,  vol.  5;  Critical 
and  Historical  Essays,  London,  1854,  2  vols. 

Thomas  Babington  Macaulay  was  born  at  Rothley  Temple,  Leicestershire,  October 
25tb,  1800.    He  exmbited  unusual  talent  from  a  rery  early  age,  and  his  progress  through 
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Bchool  and  university  was  a  constant  series  of  literary  triumphs.  His  first  public  appear- 

ance was  in  the  pages  of  Knight's  Quarterly  Magazine,  but  his  essay  on  Milton,  published 
in  the  Edinhwrgh  Review  in  1826,  established  his  reputation  for  brilliance,  eloquence,  and 
learning.  Entering  parliament  in  1830,  he  at  once  took  high  rank  as  a  debater,  and  be- 

came a  member  of  the  Board  of  Control  for  Indian  Affairs  in  1832.  He  was  appointed'  a 
member  of  the  Supreme  Council  in  1834,  and  spent  the  next  four  years  in  India,  where  he 
revised  and  greatly  improved  the  penal  code.  Re-entering  parliament  in  1839  as  member 
for  Edinburgh,  he  became  a  member  of  the  Melbourne  ministry.  After  sharing  the  vicis- 

situdes of  fortune  of  the  whig  party  until  1847,  he  retired  from  public  life  to  devote  him- 
Belf  to  the  preparation  of  his  History  of  England  from  the  Accession  of  James  I.  The 
first  two  volumes  appeared  in  1848,  and  achieved  a  reputation  and  sale  which  have  scarcely 
been  surpassed  by  the  most  popular  novel,  and  were  only  exceeded  by  the  reception  granted 
the  later  volumes  in  1855.  University  and  national  honours  were  heaped  upon  him,  and 
his  reputation  became  world-wide.  Ill-health,  which  had  interfered  with  the  prosecution 
of  his  work  in  1852,  soon  became  permanent,  and  he  died  December  28th,  1859.  Macaulay 
was  a  man  of  remarkable  talent,  with  most  unusual  powers  of  literary  acquisition,  and 
his  knowledge  of  modem  history  was  unsurpassed,  but  his  great  work,  while  a  master- 

piece of  style,  is  partial  and  prejudiced. 
McCarthy,  J.,  Outline  of  Irish  History,  London,  1883;  History  of  the  Four  Georges, 

London,  1884-1901,  4  vols.;  History  of  Our  Own  Times,  London,  1879-1897,  5  vols.;  Modern 
England,  in  Story  of  the  Nations  Series,  London,  1898-1899.  —  MacOarthy,  J.  H.,  A  His- 

tory of  England  under  Gladstone,  London,  1887.  —  MacCarthy,  M.  J.  P.,  Mr.  Balfour's 
Rule  in  Ireland,  London,  1891.  —  M'Crie,  T.,  Life  of  John  Knox,  Edinburgh,  1812;  Life  of 
Andrew  Melville,  Edinburgh,  1824,  2  vols.  —  Macfarlane,  C,  Civil  and  Military  History 
of  England,  in  Knight's  Pictorial  History  of  England,  London,  1838-1844,  2  vols,  1881. 

Charles  Macfarlane  was  of  Scotch  descent,  but  most  of  his  early  life  was  spent  in 
Italy  and  Turkey.  In  1829  he  went  to  London,  and  was  for  a  number  of  years  engaged  in 
literary  work  in  connection  with  the  Society  for  the  Diffusion  of  Useful  Knowledge.  He 

contributed  the  Civil  and  Military  History  of  England  to  Knight's  Pictorial  History,  and 
also  wrote  several  popular  biographies  and  historical  novels.  In  his  later  years  he  again 
travelled  extensively  in  Italy  and  Turkey,  but  returning  to  London  was  admitted,  as  a 
poor  brother,  to  the  Charterhouse,  where  he  died,  December  9th,  1858. 

Machar,  A.  M.,  Stories  of  New  France,  Boston,  1890.  —  Mackay,  A.  J.  G.,  articles  on 
"Scotland"  and  "Robert  Bruce"  in  the  Encyclomsdia  Britannica. —  Mackay,  G.,  History 
of  Bendigo,  Melbourne,  1891.  —  Mackinnon,.  J.,  The  Union  of  England  and  Scotland,  Lon- 

don, 1896;  History  of  Edward  III,  London,.  1900. —Mackintosh,  J.,  History  of  the 
Bevolution  in  England  in  1688,  London,  1884,  1853,  2  vols.;  Miscellaneous  Works,  Lon- 

don, 1851.  —  MacLagan,  R.,  article  on  "Punjab"  In  the  Encyclopmdia  Britatmica. —  Mac- 
Iiennan,  W.,  Montreal  and  Some  of  the  Makers  Thereof,  Montreal,  1893.  —  MacMorran, 
A.,  The  Local  Government  Act,  London,  1888.  —  MacMuUen,  J.,  History  of  Canada  from 
Its  First  Discovery  to  the  Present  Time,  London,  1868.  —  Macy,  J.,  The  English  Consti- 

tution, New  York,  1897.  —  Madhava  Acharya,  The  Serva-Dorsanc-Samgraha:  or  Review 
of  the  Different  Systems  of  Hindu  Philosophy,  London,  1882.  —  Mahan,  A.  T.,  Influence 
of  Sea  Power  upon  History  1660-1783,  London,  1889;  Influence  of  Sea  Power  upon  the 
French  Revolution  and  Empire  1793-1812,  London,  1892,  2  vols.;  Life  of  Nelson,  the  Em- 

bodiment of  the  Sea  Power  of  Great  Britain,  London,  1899,  2  vols. 
Alfred  Tlia/ger  Maham,  was  born  September  27th,  1840,  at  West  Point,  N.  Y.,  where 

his  father  was  for  many  years  professor  of  engineering  at  the  United  States  Military 
Academy.  He  graduated  from  the  Naval  Academy  in  1859,  and  saw  active  service  during 
the  war  between  the  states,  gaining  the  rank  of  lieutenant-commander  in  1865,  and  that 
of  captain  in  1885.  For  four  years  he  was  president  of  the  Naval  War  College  at  New- 

port, but  was  retired  at  his  own  request  in  1896.  His  great  work,  Infltience  of  Sea  Power 
upon  History,  which  was  an  expansion  of  his  lectures  in  the  War  College,  received  im- 

mediate recognition  as  the  first  philosophic  discussion  of  the  influence  of  maritime  activity. 
The  Life  of  Nelson  has  been  accepted  as  the  best  biography  of  that  renowned  admiral  yet 

published,  and  M&han's  other  works  have  given  him  the  first  rank  among  writers  upon  his 
special  topic. 

Mahendranatha,  D.,  Sketch  of  the  History  of  the  Establishing  of  British  Rule  in 
India,  Benares,  1888.  —  Mahon  (P.  H.  Stanhope),  Lord,  History  of  England  from  the 
Peace  of  Utrecht  to  the  Peace  of  Versailles  1713-1783,  London,  1836,  2  vols,  5th  edition, 
18S8,  7  vols.;  The  Forty-five,  London,  1851;  Life  of  Sir  Robert  Peel,  London,  1856-1857, 
2  vols.;  History  of  JEngland,  Comprising  the  Reign  of  Queen  Anne,  London,  1870,  2  vols.; 
Life  of  William  Pitt,  London,  1879,  2  vols. 

Philip  Henry  Stanhope,  Lord  Mahon  and  fifth  Earl  of  Stanhope,  was  born  in  Kent  in 
1805.  He  Was  educated  at  Oxford  and  entered  parliament  in  1832,  in  which  he  represented 
Hertford  for  nearly  twenty  years,  and  introduced  and  carried  the  copyright  law  which 
bears  his  name.  He  was  imder-secretary  for  foreign  affairs  in  1834,  and  secretary  to  the 
board  of  control  under  Peel,    He  was  largely  instrumental  in  the  establishment  of  the 
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National  Portrait  Gallery  and  the  Historical  Manuscript  Commission.  Though  not  a  great 
historian,  he  was  a  diligent  student,  an  impartial  critic,  and  exhibited  great  judgment 
in  weighing  facts.  His  style  is  clear  and  concise,  and  his  works  are  recognised  as  authori- 
tative. 

Maine,  H.  J.  S.,  Lectures  on  the  Early  History  of  Institutions,  London,  1875;  India 

1837-1887,  London,  1887.— MaiUand,  F.  W.,  Justice  and  Police,  London  and  New  York, 
1885;  Domesday  Book  and  Beyond,  Cambridge,  1897  [the  best  analysis  of  the  contents 
of  Domesday].  See  also  Pollock  F.  —  Maitland,  S.  R.,  The  Dark  Ages,  Being  a  Series  of 
Essays  Intended  to  Illustrate  the  State  of  Religion  and  Literature  in  the  Ninth,  Tenth, 
Eleventh  and  Twelfth  Centuries,  London,  1844.  —  M^or,  J.,  Historia  Majoris  Britanniee 
tarn  Angliee  quam  Scotiae,  Paris,  1521,  4  vols.,  English  translation  by  A.  Constable,  Edin- 

burgh, 1892.  —  Makower,  L.,  Constitution  of  the  English  Church,  London,  1895. —  Mal- 
colm, J.,  Memoir  of  Central  India,  London,  1823,  2  vols.;  Political  History  of  India  from 

1784  to  1823,  London,  1826,  2  vols.;  Life  of  Lord  Clive,  London,  1836.  —  Malleson,  G.  B., 
History  of  the  French  in  India,  London,  1868;  Founders  of  the  Indian  Empire,  London, 
1882;  Decisive  Battles  in  India,  London,  1885;  The  Indian  Mutiny  of  1857,  London,  1890. 
—  Malmesbury,  Earl  of.    Memoirs  of  an  Ex-Minister;  an  Autobiography,  London,  1884. 
—  Malmesbury,  William  of,  De  Gestis  Regum  Anglorum,  edited  by  T.  D.  Hardy,  Lon- 

don, 1840,  2  vols.,  translation  by  J.  A.  Giles,  Chronicle  of  the  Kings  of  England,  London, 
1847;  De  Vita  S.  Wulstani,  London,  1691,  2  vols.;  Gesta  Stephani,  edited  by  R.  C.  Sewell, 
London,  1846. 

William  of  Malmesbury  was  of  English  and  Norman  parentage,  and  was  born  ap- 
parently about  thirty  years  after  the  Conquest.  His  love  for  letters  was  encouraged  by 

his  father,  who  placed  him  in  the  monastic  school  at  Malmesbury,  where  he  became  a  monk 
and  subsequently  librarian  and  annalist  to  the  monastery.  He  declined  the  appointment 
of  abbot  in  1140,  took  part  in  the  council  at  Westminster  in  1141,  and  probably  died  in 
1142.  Though  little  is  known  of  his  life,  his  works  testify  to  his  intellect  and  literary 
capacity.  His  reputation  was  widespread,  and  he  was  often  requested  by  other  monas- 

teries to  write  the  lives  of  their  patron  saints  and  the  history  of  their  communities.  His 
research  was  painstaking  and  comprehensive,  and  the  clear,  flowing  style  of  his  narratives 
is  in  striking  contrast  with  the  dry  compilations  of  other  writers  of  his  day.  His  educa- 

tion seems  to  have  raised  him  above  the  superstitious  credulity  of  the  period;  he  is  care- 
ful in  weighing  evidence  and  sifts  thoroughly  all  doubtful  stories.  His  pictures  of  social 

life  and  customs  are  vivid  and  accurate,  and  his  narrative  of  the  upheavals  of  that  stir- 
ring period  is  graphic  and  picturesque. 
Malthus,  T.  R.,  An«Essay  on  the  Principle  of  Population,  London,  1798,  9th  edition, 

1888.  —  Manning,  Mrs.,  Ancient  and  Mediaeval  India,  London,  1869,  2  vols.  —  Manvier, 
X.,  Les  ;&tats  Unis  et  le  Canada,  Tours,  1886.  —  Markham,  C.  R.,  Life  of  the  Great  Lord 
Fairfax,  London,  1870.  —  Marris,  H.  M.,  The  Rt.  Hon.  Joseph  Chamberlain,  London,  1890. 
—  Marsden,  J.  B.,  History  of  the  Later  Puritans,  London,  1852.  —  Marshall,  C,  The  Ca- 

nadian Dominion,  London,  1871.  —  Marshall,  H.,  Ceylon  and  Its  Inhabitants,  London, 
1846.  —  Marshman,  J.  C,  The  History  of  India,  London,  1893.  —  Martin,  A.  P.,  Stories 
from  Australian  History,  London,  1893;  Australia  and  the  Empire,  Edinburgh,  1893. — 
Martin,  H.,  Histoire  de  France  depuis  1789,  Paris,  1879,  2  vols.  —  Martin,  R.  M.,  The 
Colonies  of  the  British  Empire,  London,  1834-1838,  6  vols.  —  Martin,  T.,  The  Life  of  the 
Prince  Consort,  London,  1875,  5  vols.  —  Martineau,  H.,  History  of  England  during  the 
Thirty  Years'  Peace,  London,  1849-1850,  2  vols.;  British  Rule  in  India,  London,  1857;  Intro- 

duction to  the  History  of  the  Peace,  London,  1857;  Palmerston,  in  Biographical  Sketches, 
London,  1869;  History  of  England  1800-1815,  London,  1878. 

Barriet  Martineau  was  of  Huguenot  descent,  and  was  born  at  Norwich,  June  12th, 

1802.  At  her  father's  death,  being  left  in  comparative  poverty,  she  began  a  literary  career, 
and  continued  to  be  a  prolific  and  popular  writer  throughout  her  life.  She  spent  two  years 
in  the  United  States,  from  1834  to  1836,  and  in  1846  travelled  extensively  in  the  Levant. 
Her  works  are  numerous  and  varied  in  subject,  and  are  distinguished  for  lucid  style,  sin- 

cerity, and  wise  judgment. 
Marvel!,  A.,  Life  and  Works,  edited  by  Cooke,  London,  1726,  2  vols.,  by  Thompson, 

London,  1776,  3  vols.,  by  J.  Dove,  London,  1832,  by  E.  P.  Hood,  London,  1853.  —  Massey 
W.,  History  of  England  during  the  Reign  of  George  III,  London,  1855-1860,  4  vols.,  2nd 
edition,  1865-1866.  —  Masson,  D.,  Life  of  John  Milton  [containing  in  chapters  alternat- 

ing with  the  personal  biography,  one  of  the  best  accounts  to  be  found  of  social  life  during 
the  Civil  War  and  under  the  Commonwealth],  London,  1859-1879,  6  vols. —  Matthew  of 
Paris,  Historia  Major  Anglise,  edited  by  Luard,  London,  1872-1880,  5  vols.;  Historia  Minor 
Angliae,  edited  by  Madden,  London,  1866-1869,  3  vols. 

Little  is  known  of  Matthew  Paris,  save  that  he  became  a  monk  of  St.  Albans  in  1217, 
and  was  appointed  ehronographer  of  that  abbey  in  1236,  a  position  which  he  held  until 
his  death  about  1259.  In  1248  he  was  sent  by  the  pope  on  a  special  mission  to  Norway, 
where  he  remained  eighteen  months.  He  is  believed  to  have  been  a  skilful  artist  and 
illuminator  as  well  as  a  worker  in  metals.    His  writings  indicate  an  education  far  broader 
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than  that  of  most  of  his  contemporaries,  and  a  cosmopolitan  view  which  must  have  been 
gained  by  extensive  travel  and  wide  reading.  His  views  of  English  politics  are  singularly 
clear  and  accurate,  and  his  estimates  of  foreign  nations  in  their  relations  with  England 
are  almost  modern  in  their  breadth  and  freedom  from  insular  prejudice. 

Matthew  of  Westminster,  Flores  Historiarum,  translation  by  D.  Young,  London, 
1853,  2  vols.  —  Maude,  F.  C,  Memoirs  of  the  Mutiny,  London,  1894.  —  Maures  de  Ma- 
lartlc,  A.  J.  H.  de,  Journal  des  Campagnes  au  Canada,  Dijon,  1890.  —  Maurice,  E.  C,  Lives 
of  the  English  Popular  Leaders  in  the  Middle  Ages,  London,  1875,  2  vols.  —  Maxwell,  H. 
E.,  Life  of  the  Right  Hon.  W.  H.  Smith,  London,  1893;  Life  of  the  Duke  of  Wellington, 
London,  1899,  2  vols.  —  Maxwell,  W.  H.,  Life  of  the  Duke  of  Wellington,  London,  1831- 
1841,  3  vols.  —  May,  T.,  A  History  of  the  Parliament  of  England  which  began  November 
3rd,  1640,  London,  1650,  Oxford,  1854.— May,  T.  E.,  A  Constitutional  History  of  England 
since  the  Accession  of  George  III  1760-1860  [supplementing  and  continuing  the  works  of 
Stubbs  and  Hallam,  it  is  the  most  valuable  constitutional  history  of  England  for  the  period 
covered],  London,  1861,  1863,  2  vols.  —  Mede,  J.,  Works,  London,  1664,  2  vols.  —  Medley, 
D.  J.,  Manual  of  English  Constitutional  History,  London,  1898.  —  Melville,  J.,  Memoirs  of 
His  Own  Life,  edited  by  T.  Thomas,  Edinburgh,  1827.  —  Melville,  J.  (Rev.),  Diary,  Edin- 

burgh, 1836.  —  Mercier,  H.,  L'avenir  du  Canada,  Montreal,  1893. — Merewether,  H.  A. , 
and  A.  J.  Stephens,  The  History  of  the  Boroughs  and  Municipal  Corporations  in  the 
United  Kingdom,  from  the  Earliest  to  the  Present  Time,  London,  1835,  3  vols.  —  Merivale, 
C,  A  General  History  of  Rome,  London,  1875.  —  Menyweather,  F.  S.,  Glimmerings  in  the 
Dark,  London,  1850.  —  Meteren,  E.  van,  Belgicshe  of  Nederlantsche  historien  van  onse 
tyden.  Delft,  1599.  —  Mezlhiac,  G.  de,  Essai  comparatif  entre  le  cardinal  due  de  Richelieu 
et  M.  William  Pitt,  Paris,  1816.  —  Michele,  G.,  Les  dgpgches  de  G.  Michiel,  Ambassadeur 
de  Veniae  en  Angleterre  pendant  les  annfies  de  1554  a  1557,  Venice,  1869.  —  Mignet,  F.  A. 
M.,  N§gociations  relatives  a  la  succession  d'Espagne  sous  Louis  XIV,  Paris,  1836-1844,  4 
vols.;  Histoire  de  Marie  Stuart,  Paris,  1851,  2  vols.,  translation  by  A.  Scoble,  London,  1851, 
1881. —Mill,  J.,  The  History  of  British  India,  London,  1818,  3  vols,  1851,  9  vols,  1872,  10 
vols. — Milman,  H.  H.,  History  of  Latin  Christianity,  London,  1854-1856,  6  vols.,  1883,  9 
vols.  —  Milner,  A.,  England  in  Egypt,  London,  1899.  —  Milner,  I.  and  J.,  History  of  the 
Church  of  Christ,  London,  1794-1809,  5  vols.  —  Milton,  J.,  History  of  Britain,  London, 
1670;  Prose  Works,  London,  1808,  7  vols,  in  Vol.  I,  Defence  of  the  People  of  England  in 
answer  to  Salmasius. 

John  Milton  was  born  in  London,  December  9th,  1608.  He  gave  early  promise  of  un- 
nsual  mental  power,  and  became  distinguished  at  Cambridge  for  the  remarkable  grace  of 
his  Latin  verse.  From  childhood  destined  for  the  church,  the  policy  of  Laud  caused  him 
to  hesitate  and  finally  to  abandon  his  chosen  calling.  After  leaving  the  university  he 

passed  six  years  upon  his  father's  estate  in  study  and  poetical  composition.  In  1638  he 
went  to  Italy,  where  he  was  received  with  great  honour,  but  was  recalled  to  England  by 
the  civil  strife  then  approaching  a  climax.  For  ten  years  he  was  engaged  in  ecclesiastical 
■controversy,  and  published  numerous  pamphlets  in  defence  of  the  Puritan  contentions. 
In  1649  he  issued  his  famous  Iconoclastes,  and  in  1650  the  Defensio  PopuU  Anglicani  in 
reply  to  Salmasius.  On  the  establishment  of  the  Commonwealth  he  was  appointed  Latin 
secretary  to  the  council  of  state,  a  post  for  which  he  was  especially  qualified,  and  notwith- 

standing the  total  loss  of  his  eyesight  in  1652,  he  continued  to  perform  the  duties  of  the 
office  until  the  abdication  of  Richard  Cromwell  in  1659.  After  his  retirement  from  public 
life  he  completed  the  great  epics  whose  preparation  he  had  long  planned.  He  died  Novem- 

ber 8th,  1674.  Milton's  poetic  fame  has  largely  obscured  his  merit  as  a.  controversialist. 
His  prose  writings  have  the  defects  of  his  time:  personalities,  grossness  and  pedantry; 
but  in  them  he  defends  religious,  civil,  and  political  liberty  with  an  eloquence  unsurpassed 
in  English  literature  for  grandeur,  harmony,  and  colour. 

Moberley,  G.  H.,  Life  of  William  of  Wykeham,  Winchester,  1887.  —  Molesworth,  W. 
M.,  The  History  of  England  from  the  Year  1830,  London,  1866-1873,  3  vols.  —  Momerie, 
A.  W.,  English  Church  and  Roman  Schism,  Edinburgh,  1896.  —  Moncrieff,  J.,  Influence  of 
John  Knox  and  the  Scottish  Reformation  in  England,  London,  1860.  —  Monstrelet,  E.  de, 
Chronique,  in  Buchon's  Ghroniques  Frcmgaises  du  XIII'  siicle,  Paris,  1824-1829,  47  vols. — 
Montcalm  de  St.  Veran,  L.  JT,  Journal  de  Marquis  de  Montcalm,  Quebec,  1895.  —  More, 
T.,  Utopia,  Louvain,  1516,  translation  by  R.  Robynson,  London,  1551,  by  G.  Burnet,  Lon- 

don, 1688,  London,  1893.  —  Morgan,  H.  J.,  Canadian  Men  and  Women  of  the  Time,  Ottawa, 
1898 —  Morley,  J.,  Life  of  Edmund  Burke,  London,  1879;  Life  of  Richard  Cobden,  London, 
1881,  2  vols.;  Walpole,  London,  1889;  Cromwell,  London,  1900;  Life  of  Gladstone,  London, 
1903. 

John  Morley  was  bom  at  Blackburn,  in  Lancashire,  December  24th,  1838,  and  was 
educated  at  Oxford.  He  was  successively  editor  of  the  Literary  Gazette  and  of  the 
Morning  Star  until  1867,  when  he  took  charge  of  the  Fortnightly  Review  which  he  con- 

ducted with  great  success  until  1883,  when  he  became  editor  of  Macmillam's  Magazine. 
During  this  period  he  supervised  the  "  English  Men  of  Letters  Series,"  writing  the  lives 
of  Burke  and  Cobden.    Upon  entering  parliament  in  1883  he  soon  became  prominent,  and 

H.  W.  —  VOL.  xxn.  20 
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in  1886  was  made  secretary  for  Ireland  under  Gladstone,  whose  political  vicissitudes  he 
shared.  He  has  been  a  prominent  figure  in  public  life  for  many  years,  and  in  addition  to 
his  editorial  labours  has  published  numerous  valuable  biographies,  notably  those  of  Crom- 

well and  Gladstone.  Morley  was  one  of  the  three  literary  men  of  England  chosen  by 
JLdward  VII  to  receive  the  new  Order  of  Merit,  instituted  at  the  time  of  his  coronation. 

Morris,  W.  O'C,  Ireland,  Cambridge,  1896.  ̂   Mozley,  T.  B.,  Essays,  Historical  and 
Theological,  London,  1884,  2  vols.  —  Mueller,  F.  M.,  India,  What  Can  It  Teach  Us  ?  Lon- 

don, 1892. — Munro,  J.  E.  C,  The  Constitution  of  Canada,  Cambridge,  1889.  —  MuUinger, 
J.  B.,  The  Schools  of  Charles  the  Great,  London,  1876;  History  of  the  University  of  Cam- 

bridge, London,  1888.  —  Murdin,  W.,  Collection  of  State  Papers  Relating  to  the  Affairs 
of  the  Reign  of  Queen  Elizabeth,  London,  1759.  —  Murdock,  J.,  History  of  Constitutional 
Reform  in  Great  Britain  and  Ireland,  London,  1885. —  Murison,  A.  F.,  Sir  William  Wal- 

lace, Edinburgh,  1898. 

Nalson,  J.,  Impartial  Collection  of  the  Great  AfTairs  of  State  from  the  Beginning  of  tlie 
Scotch  Rebellion  to  the  Murder  of  Charles  I,  London,  1682.  —  Napier,  W.  F.  P.,  History  of 
the  War  in  the  Peninsula,  London,  1836,  6  vols.;  History  of  the  Conquest  of  Scinde,  London, 
1845, 2  vols. 

William  Francis  Patrick  Napier,  who  was  born  at  Celbridge,  Ireland,  December  17th, 
1785,  entered  the  army  at  an  early  age,  took  part  in  the  siege  of  Copenhagen,  served  with 
Moore  at  Corunna,  and  was  made  lieutenant-colonel  in  1813,  for  distinguished  services  in 
Spain.  He  rose  to  the  rank  of  general  and  was  knighted  in  1848.  His  active  participation 
in  the  Peninsular  War  well  qualified  him  in  some  respect  to  write  its  history,  and  he 
gained  great  reputation  by  the  work,  though  many  of  his  statements  were  bitterly  con- 

troverted.   Napier  died  February  10th,  1860,  at  Scinde  House,  Clapham. 
Nasse,  E.,  tJber  die  mittelalterliehe  Feldgemeinschaft  und  die  Einhegungen  des  16. 

Jahrhunderts  in  England,  Bonn,  1869,  English  translation,  On  the  Agricultural  Community 
of  the  Middle  Ages,  London,  1871.  —  Naunton,  R.,  Fragmenta  Regalia,  or  Observations  on 
the  late  Queen  Elizabeth,  her  Times  and  Favourites,  London,  1642.  —  Neal,  D.,  History  of 
the  Puritans,  London,  1811. —  Nennius,  Historia  Britonum,  in  Monumenta  Eistorica 
Britannica,  London,  1848.  —  Neve,  J.  le.  Fasti  Ecclesise  Anglicanae,  London,  1854,  3  vols. — 
Newland,  S.,  The  Far  North  Country,  Adelaide,  1894.  —  NichoUs,  G.,  A  History  of  Scotch 
Poor  Law  and  also  Irish  Poor  Law ;  A  History  of  English  Poor  Law,  London,  1854,  2  vols.  — 
Nicolas,  N.  H.,  History  of  the  Battle  of  Agincourt,  3d  edition,  London,  1833;  History  of 
the  Royal  Navy,  London,  1847,  2  vols.  —  Nicoll,  H.  J.,  Great  Orators,  Edinburgh,  1880.  — 
Nimmo,  History  of  Stirlingshire,  Edinburgh,  1777.  —  Nineteenth  Century,  article  called 
"  Tanered,"  by  B.  Disraeli,  London,  1895;  article  called  "The  Queen  and  Lord  Beacons- 
field,"  by  R.  B.  Brett,  London,  1895.  —  Noailles,  A.  de,  Nfigociations  en  Angleterre,  Paris, 
1766.  —  Norgate,  K.,  England  under  the  Angevin  Kings,  London,  1869.  —  North,  R.,  The 
Lives  of  the  Norths,  London,  1740-1742,  2  vols.,  new  edition  1898. —  Norton,  G.,  History, 
Constitution,  etc.,  of  the  City  of  London,  London,  1869. —  Nugent,  G.  N.  C.,  Memorials 
of  John  Hampden,  London,  1825. 

Oblate  of  Mary  Immaculate,  An,  History  of  Ceylon,  Jaffna,  1887.  —  O'Brien,  R.  B., 
The  Irish  Land  Question  and  English  Public  Opinion,  London,  1881;  Fifty  Years  of  Con- 

cessions to  Ireland,  1831-81,  London,  1883-1885,  2  vols.;  Life  of  Charles  Stewart  Parnell, 

1846-1891,  London,  1898.— O'Oonnell,  T.,  in  Correspondence  of  D.  O'Conmll,  London,  1888, 
2  vols.  —  O'Connor,  T.  P.,  The  Parnell  Movement,  London,  1889.  —  O'Donovan,  J.,  The 
Four  Masters,  Annals  of  the  Kingdom  of  Ireland,  Dublin,  1848-1851,  3  vols.  —  Oldmixon,  J., 
Critical  History  of  England,  London,  1730-1739,  3  vols.  —  Oliphant,  M.,  Historical  Sketches 
of  the  Reign  of  George  II,  London,  1869,  2  vols.  —  Oman,  C.  W.  C,  The  Art  of  War  in  the 
Middle  Ages,  London,  1885;  England  and  the  Hundred  Years'  War,  London,  1898. 

Charles  William  ChadmcJc  Oman  was  bom  at  Mozufferpore,  India,  January  12th,  1860. 
He  was  educated  at  Winchester  and  Oxford,  and  in  1900  was  made  deputy  professor  of 
modern  history  in  that  university.  Since  1888  he  has  been  busily  engaged  in  historical 
research,  and  has  produced  a  number  of  valuable  works  relating  to  the  history  of  England, 
as  well  as  of  other  nations. 

One  of  Her  M^esty's  Servants,  The  Private  life  of  the  Queen,  London,  1897. — 
Ordericus  Vitalis,  Historia  Eeclesiastica,  Paris,  1619,  English  translation.  Ecclesiastical 
History  of  England  and  Normandy,  London,  1853-1856,  4  vols. 

Ordericus  Vitalis,  born  at  Atcham,  near  Shrewsbury,  about  the  year  1075,  was  of 
French  parentage,  and  was  sent  abroad  at  an  early  age  to  receive  his  education.  The 
greater  part  of  his  life  was  spent  at  the  abbey  of  St.  Evrault,  at  Ouche,  in  Normandy, 
where  he  composed  his  history.  This  work,  in  thirteen  books,  is  wholly  without  chrono- 

logical arrangement,  and  seems  to  have  been  thrown  together  at  random,  as  the  author 
gained  information.  This  discursiveness  of  style,  however,  does  not  detract  from  the 
interest  of  the  work,  and  it  furnishes  a  series  of  valuable  facts  regarding  the  history 
of  England  and  Normandy,  narrated  in  a  remarkably  clear  and  vivid  maaaer,  interspersed 



WITH   CEITICAL  AND   BIOGEAPHICAL   NOTES  387 

rith  vigorous  sketches  of  the  life  and  character  of  the  period.    Ordericus  died  at  Ouche  in 
142. 

Orme,  E.,  History  of  the  Military  Transactions  of  the  British  Nation  in  Hindostan, 
ladras,  1775-1778,  3  vols.;  Historical  Fragments  of  the  Mogul  Empire  of  the  Mahrattas, 
ladras,  1782. —  Orr,  J.,  The  Reformers,  Glasgow,  1885.  —  Osborne,  F.,  Traditional  Memoirs 
f  the  Reign  of  King  James  I,  Edinburgh,  1811.  —  Osier,  E.,  Life  of  Admiral  Viscount  Ex- 
louth,  London,  1840.  —  Overall,  J.,  Convocation  Book  of  MDCfVl,  commonly  called  Bishop 
iverall's  Book  of  Canons,  Oxford,  1844.  —  Owen,  T.  M.,  History  of  England  and  Wales, 
,ondon,  1882. 

Palgrave,  F.,  Rise  and  Progress  of  the  English  Commonwealth,  London,  1831,  2  vols.; 
Dstory  of  the  Anglo-Saxons,  London,  1832;  History  of  Normandy  and  England,  London, 
857,  4  vols. 

Francis  Palgra/ve  was  born  in  London  in  1788.  He  was  the  son  of  Meyer  Cohen,  a 
wealthy  Hebrew,  and  was  privately  educated,  exhibiting  marked  precocity.  On  his  mar- 
iage,  in  1823,  he  obtained  permission  to  assume  the  name  of  Palgrave.  From  an  early  age 
le  was  interested  in  antiquarian  and  historical  research,  and  contributed  frequently  to 
tie  Edinburgh  and  Quarterly  Reviews.  After  the  publication  of  his  Rise  and  Progress 
f  the  English  Commonwealth,  in  1831,  he  received  the  honour  of  knighthood.  In  1838 
e  was  appointed  deputy  keeper  of  records,  and  to  him  was  due  the  establishment  of  the 
reat  Public  Record  Office.  His  History  of  Normandy  was  mainly  published  after  his 
eath,  July  6th,  1861.  While  his  works  display  research  and  ingenuity,  they  are  lacking 
tt  style  and  arrangement,  and  have  been  largely  superseded  by  those  of  later  writers. 

Palgrave,  R.  F.  D.,  The  House  of  Commons,  London,  1878.  —  Palmer,  R.,  (Baron 
lelborne).  Memorials,  London,  1898,  4  vols.  —  Paris,  M.,  see  Matthew  Paris.  —  Parker, 
;.  S.,  Life  of  Peel,  London,  1890.  —  Parker,  J.,  Some  Account  of  Domestic  Architecture 
Q  England,  Oxford,  1859.  —  Parkes,  H.,  Fifty  Years  in  the  Making  of  Australian  History, 
jondon,  1892,  2  vols.  —  Parkin,  J.  R.,  The  Great  Dominion,  London,  1895. —  Parkman,  P., 
?he  Conspiracy  of  Pontiac  and  the  Indian  War,  Boston,  1851;  The  Old  Regime  in  Canada, 
Joston,  1864,  London,  1899;  Count  Frontenac  and  New  France  under  Louis  XVI,  Boston, 
878;  A  Half  Century  of  Conflict,  Boston,  1892,  2  vols.  —  Parliamentary  or  Constitutional 
listory  of  England,  London,  1751-1761,  24  vols.  —  Parsons,  R.,  Leycester's  Common- 
irealth,  London,  1641. — Paston  Letters,  edited  by  J.  Gairdner,  in  Arber's  English  Re- 

prints, London,  1872-1875,  3  vols. —  Pauli,  G.  R.,  Konig  Alfred  und  seine  Steile  in  der 
Jeschichte  Englands,  Berlin,  1851,  English  translation.  Life  of  King  Alfred,  London,  1852; 
leschichte  Englands  seit  den  Friedensschliissen  von  1814  und  1815,  Leipsic,  1864-1875,  3 
'ols.;  Simon  von  Montfort,  Graf  von  Leicester,  der  Schopfer  des  Hauses  der  Gemeinen, 

[■ubingen,  1867,  English  translation,  Simon  de  Montfort,  London,  1876. 
Oeorg  Reinhold  Pauli  was  born  at  Berlin,  May  25th,  1823.  He  was  educated  at  Berlin 

nd  Bonn  and  spent  several  years  in  England  in  antiquarian  research  and  as  secretary  to 
he  Prussian  embassy.  Upon  his  return  to  Germany  he  became  a  professor  at  Tubingen, 
nd  afterwards  at  Marburg  and  Gbttingen.  His  historical  writings  are  largely  connected 
pith  England  and  are  marked  by  lucidity  and  research.    He  died  June  3rd,  1982. 

Payne,  E.  J.,  and  J.  S.  Cotton,  Colonies  and  Dependencies,  London,  1883. —  Peacock, 
1.,  Archseological  Journal,  London,  1883. — Pearson,  C.  H.,  History  of  England  during  the 
!arly  and  Middle  Ages,  London,  1867,  2  vols.;  English  History  in  the  Fourteenth  Century, 
/ondon,  1876. 

Charles  Henry  Pearson,  born  at  Islington,  September  7th,  1830,  was  educated  at  King's 
ollege,  London,  and  at  Oxford.  From  1855  to  1865  he  was  professor  of  modern  history 
t  King's  college,  and  from  1869  to  1871  lecturer  at  Trinity  college,  Cambridge.  In  1871 
e  went  to  Australia,  engaged  in  sheep-farming,  and  sat  for  a  number  of  years  in  the 
igislative  assembly  of  South  Australia.  From  1886  to  1890  he  was  minister  of  education, 
ompelled  by  ill-health  to  return  to  England,  he  died  at  London,  May  29th,  1894. 

Pepys,  S.,  Diary  and  Correspondence,  London,  1825. 
Samuel  Pepys  was  born  in  London,  February  23d,  1633,  and  educated  at  Cambridge, 

[e  entered  the  public  service  and  held  the  position  of  secretary  to  the  admiralty  from  1673 
ntil  the  revolution  of  1688.  For  two  years  he  was  president  of  the  Royal  Society,  and  was 
usy  throughout  his  life  in  the  collection  of  the  vast  store  of  ancient  manuscripts  which 
e  bequeathed  to  Magdalen  college.  He  wrote  a  History  of  the  Royal  Navy,  and  has  been 
redited  with  Tlie  Portugal  History,  but  will  always  be  famous  for  his  Diary,  written 
uring  the  years  1660  to  1669,  which  presents  a  most  vivid  picture  of  the  court  and  times 
f  Charles  II.  It  was  written  from  day  to  day  in  a  sort  of  shorthand,  which  was  deciphered 
y  the  Rev.  J.  Smith,  and  first  published  in  1825.  Pepys  was  a  diligent  and  laborious  public 
jrvant,  and  an  exceedingly  shrewd  observer  of  men  and  events,  and  has  left  us  an  in- 
iluable  record  of  a  most  interesting  period.    He  died  at  London,  May  26th,  1703. 

Percy,  T.,  Reliques  of  Ancient  English  Poetry,  Edinburgh,  1765,  3  vols.,  edited  by 
^heatley,  London,  1891,  3  vols. — Perry,  G.  G.,  History  of  the  English  Church,  London, 
378-1881,  3  vols.  —  Peter  of  Blois,     Epistolee,  Paris,  1667.  —  Petitot,    E.,  Traditions  in- 
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diennes  du  Canada  Nord  Quest,  Paris,  1886.  —  Petty,  W.,  Political  Arithmetic,  London, 
1682.  —  Phayre,  A.,  History  of  Burma,  London,  1883.  —  Pimblett,  W.  M.,  How  the  Brit- 

ish Won  India,  London,  1893.  —  Pinkerton,  J.,  History  of  Scotland  from  the  Accession 
of  the  House  of  Stuart  to  that  of  Mary,  London,  1797,  2  vols. —  Plener,  E.  E.  von.  Die 
Englische  Fabrikgesetzgebung,  Vienna,  1871,  English  translation,  English  Factory  Legis- 

lation, London,  1873.  —  Plinius,  C.  Secundus,  Historia  Naturalis,  Venice,  1469,  transla- 
tion by  Philemon  Holland,  London,  1601.  —  Plunket,  D.,  Life,  Letters  and  Speeches  of 

Lord  Plunket,  London,  1867,  2  vols.  —  Pole,  R.,  Apologia,  Rome,  1538;  Pro  unitate  ecclesise, 
Rome,  1538.— Pollock,  F.,  The  Land  Laws,  London  and  New  York,  1882-1885;  with  F.  W. 
Maitland,  History  of  the  English  Law  before  the  time  of  Edward  I,  Cambridge,  1895,  2 
vols.  —  Pope,  G.  U.,  Indian  History  and  Geography,  London,  1871.  —  Porter,  E.  Ot.,  The 
Progress  of  the  Nation,  London,  1836-1843,  3  vols.,  1851.- — Powell,  F.  Y.,  Saga  Growth  in 
Folk-Lore,  Oxford,  1883,  2  vols.  —  Prentice,  A.,  Personal  Recollections  of  Manchester, 
London,  1851 ;  History  of  the  Anti-Corn  Law  League,  London,  1853,  2  vols.  —  Prinsep, 
H.  T.,  The  India  Question  in  1853,  London,  1853.  —  Prothero,  G.  W.,  Life  and  Times  of 
Simon  de  Montfort,  London,  1877;  Statutes  and  Constitutional  Documents,  1559-1625, 
Cambridge,  1897;  articles  in  the  Encyclopcedia  Britannica. 

George  Walter  Prothero,  born  in  Wiltshire,  October  14th,  1848,  was  educated  at 
Cambridge  and  Bonn.  He  was  lecturer  on  modern  history  at  Cambridge  from  1876  to 
1894,  and  professor  at  Edinburgh  until  1899,  when  he  became  editor  of  the  Qua/rterly  lie- 
view.     He  has  edited  a  number  of  important  works  and  has  written  valuable  biographies. 

Pr3nine,  W.,  Canterburies  Doome,  London,  1646. — Puiseux,  M.  L.,  Si6ge  et  prise  de 
Rouen,  Caen,  1867.  —  Pulling,  F.  S.,  Life  and  Speeches  of  the  Marquis  of  Salisbury,  Lon- 

don, 1885.  — Pulling,  F.  S.,  and  S.  J.  Low,  Dictionary  of  English  History,  London,  1897.  — 
Purchas,  S.,  Hakluytus  Posthumus,  or  Purchas  his  Pilgrimes,  London,  1625-1626,  5  vols. 

Quarterly  Revievr,  Simon  de  Montfort,  Earl  of  Leicester,  London,  1866;  The  Con- 
servative Surrender,  London,  1867;  Mr.  Balfour's  Administration  of  Ireland,  London,  1888. 

Radcliffe,  G.,  The  Earl  of  Stafford's  Letters — with  an  Essay  Towards  His  Life, 
London,  1739.  —  Rae,  W.  F.,  Wilkes,  Sheridan,  Fox,  London,  1874;  Sheridan,  London,  1896, 
2  vols.  —  Raleigh,  W.,  Discoverie  of  Guiana,  London,  1596;  Works,  Oxford,  1829. — 
Ramsay,  J.  H.,  Lancaster  and  York,  Oxford,  1892;  Foundations  of  England,  London,  1898. 

James  Henry  Ramsay,  who  was  born  in  1832  and  educated  at  Eton  and  Oxford,  was 
called  to  the  bar  in  1863.  Since  his  succession  to  the  estates  of  his  ancient  family  he  has 
engaged  in  literary  pursuits,  and  has  made  some  valuable  contributions  to  English  history, 
and  by  his  diligent  investigation  has  solved  many  controverted  points. 

Ranke,  L.  von,  Englische  Geschichte  vornehmlich  im  17.  Jahrhundert,  Berlin,  1858- 
1867,  7  vols.,  4th  edition  1877-1879,  9  vols.,  English  translation,  A  History  of  England 
Principally  in  the  Seventeenth  Century,  London,  1875,  6  vols. 

Leopold  von  Ranke,  (1795-1886),  who,  with  Niebuhr,  was  a  founder  of  the  modern 
school  of  historical  research,  in  support  of  his  theory  of  the  essential  unity  of  history — 
especially  that  of  the  Latin  and  Germanic  peoples  of  Europe — has  made  very  careful  study 
of  England  in  her  continental  relations.  His  investigations  of  the  Protestant  revolutions 
of  the  sixteenth  and  seventeenth  centuries  are  marked  by  the  same  careful  research,  ex- 

cellent critical  judgment,  and  sharp,  accurate  characterisation  which  distinguish  his  other 
writings. 

Ransome,  C,  Our  Colonies  and  India;  How  We  Got  Them,  London,  1885;  Rise  of 
Constitutional  Government  in  England,  London,  1887.  —  Rapson,  E.  J.,  Struggle  between 
England  and  France  in  India,  London,  1887. — Rashdall,  H.,  Universities  of  Europe  in  the 
Middle  Ages,  Oxford,  1895. — Raumer,  F.  L.  G.  von,  Political  History  of  England  in  the 
Sixteenth  and  Seventeenth  Centuries,  London,  1837,  2  vols. 

Friedrich  Ludwig  Qeorg  von  Raumer  was  born  at  Worlitz,  near  Dessau,  May  14th, 
1781,  educated  at  Halle  and  Gottingen,  and  began  the  practice  of  law  in  1801.  He  was 
appointed  professor  of  history  at  Breslau  in  1811,  and  in  1819  became  professor  of  political 
science  at  Berlin.  His  utter  lack  of  oratorical  power  proved  a  great  obstacle  to  his  success 
as  a  lecturer  and  he  resigned  in  1831.  The  following  years  were  spent  in  travel  through 
France,  Italy,  England  and  America,  and  bore  fruit  in  several  works  upon  the  history  of 
these  countries.  Von  Raumer  entered  public  life  in  1848  and  represented  Prussia  at  the 
French  court  for  several  years.  In  1853  he  was  made  professor  emeritus  at  the  university 
of  Berlin,  and  was  a  member  of  the  House  of  Lords  of  Prussia  from  1851  until  his  death, 
June  14th,  1873.  Von  Raumer  was  the  first  to  popularise  history  in  Germany,  and  his 
works  have  attained  high  reputation. 

Raven,  J.,  Parliamentary  History  of  England  from  the  Passing  of  the  Reform  Bill  in 
1832,  London,  1885.  — Rees,  R.,  Essay  on  the  Welsh  Saints,  London,  1836.  —  Reeves,  W.  P., 
The  Long  White  Cloud,  A  History  of  New  Zealand,  London,  1898. — Reid,  S.  J.,  Lord 
John  Russell,  London,  1895.  —Reid,  T.  W.,  Life  of  W.  E.  Forster,  London,  1888;  Life,  Let- 

ters and  Friendships  of  R.  M.  Milnes,  First  Lord  Houghton,  London,   1890. — Reresby, 
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J.,  Memoirs,  London,  1875,  edited  by  J.  J.  Cartwright. — Retz,  Cardinal  de,  Mgmoires, 
Paris,  1717,  edited  by  A.  ChampoUion,  Paris,  1837.  —  Reynolds,  T.,  Life  of  Thomas  Rey- 

nolds of  Kilkea  Castle,  London,  1839,  2  vols.  —  Rhys,  J.,  Early  Britain,  Celtic  Britain, 
Iiondon,  1882;  Studies  in  the  Arthurian  Legend,  Oxford,  1891.  —  Richard  of  Devizes, 
Chronicon  de  Rebus  Gestis  Richard  I,  edited  by  J.  Stevenson,  London,  1838. 

Richa/rd  of  Devizes,  a  chronicler  of  the  twelfth  century,  was  a  Benedictine  monk  of 

St.  Swithin's  at  Winchester.  His  chronicle  is  of  interest  as  relating  to  the  condition  of 
England  during  the  reign  of  Richard  I.  While  he  gives  much  information  regarding 
Richard's  crusade,  his  work  is  chiefly  occupied  with  the  record  of  domestic  events  and 
the  contests  of  Prince  John  with  the  adherents  of  Richard.  An  interesting  item  is  that 
of  the  first  incorporation  of  the  city  of  London.  The  chronicle  is  written  in  a  pedantic, 
artificial  style,  and  filled  with  classical  quotations;  but  its  matter  is  of  exceptional  value 
and  enables  us  to  form  a  clear  idea  of  the  spirit  of  the  age. 

Richey,  A.  G.,  A  Short  History  of  the  Irish  People,  London,  1887.  —  Ridpath  J.  C, 
Life  and  Times  of  Gladstone,  Cincinnati,  1898.  —  Riley,  H.  T.,  Memorials  of  London  ahd 
London  Life,  London,  1868.  —  Rishanger,  W.,  Chronicon  et  Annales,  in  Chronica  llonasterii 
S.  Albani  (Rolls  Series),  London,  1863-1876,  11  vols.  —  Roberts,  C.  G.  D.,  His.tory  of  Can- 

ada, Boston,  1897,  London,  1898.  —  Roberts,  F.  S.,  Lord,  The  Rise  of  Wellington,  London, 
1895;  Forty-one  Years  in  India,  London,  1898. —  Roberts,  P.  (translation  from  the  Welsh), 
Chronicles  of  the  Kings  of  Britain,  London,  1811.  —  Robertson,  E.  W.,  Scotland  under  her 
Early  Kings,  Edinburgh,  1862,  2  vols.  —  Robertson,  W.,  History  of  Scotland  during  the 
Reigns  of  Mary  and  of  James  VI  till  his  Accession  to  the  crown  of  England,  London, 
1759,  2  vols. —  Robertson,  W.  J.,  Leading  Facts  of  Canadian  History,  1891.  —  Rockhill, 
W.  W.,  The  Life  of  Buddha  and  the  Early  History  of  his  Order  (derived  from  Tibetan 
Works,  etc.).  New  York,  1884. —  Roe,  W.  F.,  Columbia  and  Canada,  London,  1878. — 
Roebuck,  J.  A.,  History  of  the  Whig  Ministry  of  1830,  London,  1852,  2  vols.  —  Roger  of 
Hoveden,  Chronica,  Oxford,  1596,  edited  by  W.  Stubbs,  History  of  England  from  731- 
1202  (Annals  of  English  History),  London,  1868-1871,  4  vols.  —  Roger  of  Wendover 
Flores  Historiarum,  translation  by  J.  A.  Giles,  Flowers  of  History,  London,  1849,  2  vols.  — 
Rogers,  J.  E.  Thorold,  A  History  of  Agriculture  and  Prices  in  England  from  1250-1793, 
Oxford,  1866-1888,  6  vols.;  Six  Centuries  of  Work  and  Wages;  A  History  of  English 
Labour,  London,  1884,  2  vols.;  Industrial  and  Commercial  History  of  England,  London, 
1892-1894,  2  vols.  —  Romilly,  S.,  Memoirs,  London,  1842,  2  vols.  —  Roosevelt,  T.,  The 
Naval  War  of  1812,  New  York,  1882;  Cromwell,  New  York,  1900.  —  Rosebery,  Lord,  Pitt, 
London,  1891.  —  Ross,  C,  Correspondence  of  Charles,  First  Marquis  of  Cornwallis,  London, 
1859.  —  Royal,  Le  Canada  Rfipublique  ou  Colonic,  Montreal,  1894.  —  Rusdorf,  J.  J.  de, 
M§moires  et  nfigociations  secretes,  Leipsic,  1789,  2  vols.  —  Rush,  R.,  Narrative  of  a  Resi- 

dence at  the  Court  of  London  from  1817  till  1825,  Philadelphia,  1833-1845,  2  vols.  — Rush- 
worth,  J.,  Historical  Collections  of  Private  Passages  of  Stb,te,  etc.  (1618-1649),  London, 
1659-1701,  8  vols.  —  Russell,  G.,  Right  Honourable  William  Ewart  Gladstone,  Londofl, 
\891. —  Russell,  J.  (Lord),  Correspondence  of  the  Duke  of  Bedford,  London,  1842-1846,  3 
vols.;  Life  and  Times  of  Charles  James  Fox,  London,  1859-1860;  An  Essay  on  the 
English  Government  and  Constitution  from  Henry  VII,  London,  1873;  Recollections  and 
Suggestions,  London,  1875.  —  Russell,  H.,  Canada,  its  Defences,  Condition,  and  Resources, 
London,  1865.  —  Russell,  T.  B.,  Last  Year,  Events  of  1890,  London,  1891.  —Russell,  W.  C, 
Horatio  Nelson  and  the  Supremacy  of.  England,  London,  1890. — Rymer,  T.,  Foedera 
Conventiones  Literse  et  alia  Acta  Publica  inter  Reges  Angliae  et  alios  Principes,  London, 
1704-1734,  20  vols.,  edited  by  T.  Cayley  and  F.  Holbrooke,  London,  1869,  4  vols. 

St.  Remy,  J.  LefSvre  de,  Chronique  de  Lalain,  Paris,  1668,  edited  by  Buchon,  in 
PanthSon  UMraire,  Paris,  1826-1838.— Saintsbury,    G.,  The  Earl  of  Derby,  London,  1892. 
—  Sanders,  L.  C.,  Life  of  Viscount  Palmerston,  London,  1888.  —  Sanders,  N.,  De  Origins 
ae  Progressu  Schismatis  Anglicani,  London,  1585,  English  version  by  Lewis,  London,  1877. 
—  Sanderson,  E.,  Africa  in  the  Nineteenth  Century,  London,  1898.  —  Sanderson, 
W.,  Aulicus  Coquinarise,  edited  by  Sir  W.  Scott,  Edinburgh,  1811,  2  vols. —  Sandham, 
A.,  Ville  Marie,  or  Montreal  Past  and  Present,  Montreal,  1870.  —  Satyachandra,  M.,  In- 

dian History  of  Our  Own  Times,  London,  1891. — Savile,  B.  W.,  How  India  was  Won, 
London,  1881.  —  Savile,  H.,  Rerum  Anglicarum  Scriptores  post  Bedam  praecipui,  ex  vetus- 
tissimis  codicibus  manuscriptis  nunc  primum  in  lucem  editi,  Frankfort,  1601. —  Scott, 
Walter,  Secret  History  of  the  Court  of  James  I,  Edinburgh,  1811,  2  vols.;  History  of  Scot- 

land (in  Lardner's  Cabinet  Cyclopaedia),  London,  1830,  3  vols. 
Walter  Scott,  poet,  novelist  and  historian,  was  born  at  Edinburgh,  August  15th,  1771. 

He  was  descended  from  a  family  of  Border  lairds  of  which  the  first  known  representative 

was  a  Walter  Scott,  known  as  "Auld  Wat  of  Harden."  Scott's  health  in  early  youth 
was  delicate  and  his  schooling  was  irregular.  At  the  age  of  sixteen  he  was  apprenticed 
to  his  father,  who  was  a  lawyer,  and  was  admitted  to  the  faculty  of  advocates  in  1792.  His 
subsequent  appointment  to  certain  official  positions  enabled  him  to  apply  much  of  his  time 
to  literary  work.    Study  of  ancient  Scottish  manuscripts  had  supplied  him  with  a  store 
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of  old  traditions  and  romantic  tales,  and  the  success  attained  by  his  translation  of  some 

of  Burger's  ballads  in  1792,  encouraged  him  to  undertake  original  composition.  The  imme- 
diate popularity  of  the  Lay  of  the  Last  Minstrel,  published  in  1805,  determined  his  choice 

of  a  literary  career.  For  the  next  few  years  his  connection  with  the  publishing  house  of 
Ballantyne  and  Co.  occupied  his  time  and  mind,  still  he  produced  Marmion  and  the  Lady  of 
the  Lake,  besides  many  miscellaneous  poems.  In  1812  the  rash  speculative  ventures  of  the 
Ballantynes  so  involved  him  that  he  was  on  the  verge  of  bankruptcy.  Under  the  spur 
of  an  enormous  debt,  Scott  exhibited  the  marvellous  powers  of  his  mind  and  the  fertility 
of  his  imagination  by  pouring  forth  a  succession  of  historic  novels,  treatises  on  chivalry 
and  romance.  Border  antiquities,  biographies,  and  histories  with  a  rapidity  that  has  never 
been  equalled.  Success  and  honour  rewarded  his  labours.  His  name  became  a  household 
word  and  his  fame  undying,  but  the  strain  was  too  great  upon  an  originally  delicate  con- 

stitution, and  the  end  came  September  21st,  1832.  Scott's  reputation  rests  more  upon  his 
poems  and  historical  novels  than  upon  his  histories.  These  were  to  a  large  extent  hack- 

work, but  were  informed  and  enlivened  by  the  same  intimate  knowledge  and  wealth  of 
description. 

Scrutton,  T.  E.,  Commons  and  Common  Fields,  London,  1887. —  Seebohm,  F.,  The 
English  Village  Community,  London,  1883;  The  Oxford  Reformers,  London,  1887;  Tribal 
System  in  Wales,  London,  1895. — Seeley,  J.  R.,  The  Expansion  of  England,  London,  1885. 

Sir-  John  R.  Seeley  was  bom  in  London  in  1834.  He  graduated  at  Christ's  College, 
Cambridge,  and  in  1863  was  appointed  professor  of  Latin  at  University  College,  London. 
From  1869  till  his  death,  in  1895,  he  was  professor  of  modern  history  at  Cambridge.  His 
valuable,  but  unduly  long  and  unattractive.  Life  and  Times  of  Stein  was  followed  by 
his  illuminating  essay  on  The  Expansion  of  England,  wyiidh,  coming  at  an  opportune 
time,  did  much  to  make  Englishmen  regard  the  colonies,  not  as  mere  appendages,  but  as 
an  expansion  of  the  British  state  and  nationality.  His  last  work,  a  lucid  and  thoughtful 
study  entitled  The  Qrowth  of  British  Policy,  was  published  posthumously  in  1896. 

Sepp,  B.,  Maria  Stuarts  Briefwechsel  mit  Anthony  Babington,  Munich,  1886.  —  Sewell, 
R.  C.  (editor),  Gesta  Stephani  regis  Anglorum,  London,  1846. —  Shand,  A.  J.,  Half  a  Cen- 

tury, or  Changes  in  Men  and  Manners,  London,  1887.  —  Shakespeare,  W.,  Works,  London, 
1623,  1866,  9  vols.  —  Shaw,  F.  L.,  Story  of  Australia,  London,  1897.  —  Showers,  C.  L., 
Missing  Chapter  of  the  Indian  Mutiny,  London,  1888.  —  Silva,  Canada,  London,  1881. — 
Simon,  J.  J.  S.,  Le  gouvernement  de  M.  Thiers,  Paris,  1871,  2  vols.,  English  translation. 
The  Government  of  M.  Thiers,  from  8th  February,  1871,  to  24th  May,  1873,  London,  1879, 
2  vols.  —  Simpson,  R.,  Edmund  Campion,  London,  1867.  —  Skelton,  J.,  Maitland  of  Leth- 
ington  and  the  Scotland  of  Mary  Stuart,  London,  1887-1888,  2  vols.;  Mary  Stuart,  Paris, 
1893.—  Skene,  W.  F.,  Celtic  Scotland,  Edinburgh,  1876-1880,  3  vols.  —  Skottowe,  B.  C, 
Our  Hanoverian  Kings,  London,  1884. —  Smith,  Goldwin,  Irish  History  and  Irish  Character, 
London,  1861;  Three  English  Statesmen,  London,  1868;  Loyalty,  Aristocracy,  and  Jingo- 

ism, Toronto,  1891;  Canada  and  the  Canadians,  Toronto,  1891. 
Ooldwin  Smith,  born  at  Reading,  August  23d,  1823,  was  educated  at  Oxford,  and 

became  an  enthusiast  upon  the  subject  of  university  reform.  He  served  as  secretary  to 
the  Royal  Commissions  of  1850  and  1854,  and  in  1858  was  made  regius  professor  of  modern 
history  at  Oxford.  During  the  Civil  War  in  the  United  States  he  strongly  espoused  the 
cause  of  the  North,  and  was  largely  influential  in  turning  English  sentiment  to  that  side. 
In  1868  he  removed  to  the  United  States  and  became  professor  of  English  history  at 
Cornell  University,  where  he  remained  until  1871,  when  he  removed  to  Toronto,  Canada, 
where  he  still  resides.  Since  his  removal  to  Toronto  he  has  been  editor  of  the  Canadian 
Monthly,  also  of  the  Week  and  the  Bystander.  He  has  written  many  pamphlets  and 
treatises  on  questions  of  the  day  and  several  historical  works,  which,  although  terse  and 
brilliant  in  style,  make  no  claim  to  original  research. 

Smith,  G.  B.,  Life  of  Mr.  Gladstone,  London,  1879.  —  Smith,  G.  G.,  The  Days  of 
James  IV,  London,  1890.  —  Smith,  P.  V.,  History  of  English  Institutions,  London,  1874.  — 
Smith,  Sydney,  Complete  Works,  London,  1850.  —  Smith,  T.,  The  Commonwealth  of 
England  and  Manner  of  Government  thereof,  London,  1646. —  Smith,  W.,  History  of 
Canada,  Quebec,  1815.  —  Smollett,  T.,  and  T.  S.  Hughes,  Continuation  of  Hume's  His- 

tory, London,  1757-1836,  1866-1866,  18  vols.  —  Soames,  H.,  Elizabethan  Religious  History, 
London,  1826,  4  vols. —  Sombart,  W.,  Socialism  and  the  Social  Movement,  New  York, 
1898.  —  Somerville,  T.,  History  of  Great  Britain  during  the  Reign  of  Queen  Anne,  London, 
1798. —  Southey,  R.,  Letters  from  England  by  Don  Manuel  Alvarez  Espriella,  London, 
1807;  Life  of  Nelson,  London,  1813,  1891;  Lives  of  the  British  Admirals,  London,  1820,  4 
vols.;  The  Book  of  the  Church,  3rd  edition,  London,  1825. —  Spedding,  J.,  Life  and  Times 
of  Francis  Bacon,  Boston,  1878.  —  Speed,  J.,  History  of  Great  Britain  under  the  Con- 

quests of  the  Romans,  Saxons,  Danes,  and  Normans,  London,  1611.  —  Spenser,  E.,  View 
of  the  State  of  Ireland,  Dublin,  1633.  —  Spottiswoode,  J.,  History  of  the  Church  of 
Scotland  to  the  End  of  the  Reign  of  James  VI,  London,  1655,  edited  by  Russell,  Edinburgh, 
1847-1851,  3  vols.  —  Stanhope,  P.  H.,  see  Mahon,  Lord. —  Stanley,  A.  P.,  Life  and  Cor- 

respondence of  Thomas  Arnold,  London,  1844;  Henry  III  and  Westminster  Abbey,  London, 
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1882;  Historical  Memorials  of  Canterbury,  London,  1887. —  Stapleton,  A.  G.,  Political  Life 
of  George  Canning,  London,  1831,  3  vols.  —  Starkey,  T.,  England  in  the  Reign  of  Henry 
Vin,  London,  1878.  —  State  Papers  of  the  Reign  of  Henry  VIII,  London,  1834,  11  vols. 

Prior  to  1833  the  public  records  of  England  were  most  negligently  kept.  Packed 
in  chests,  unindexed,  and,  therefore,  almost  unavailable,  they  were  stored  in  various 
lumber  rooms,  exposed  to  theft  and  to  destruction  by  damp  and  vermin.  Upon  the 
establishment  of  the  State  Paper  Office  these  important  documents  began  to  take  their 
proper  place  in  the  national  literature,  and  having  been  largely  calendared  and  arranged  ̂  
the  more  ancient  transcribed  and  in  many  instances  translated  —  now  constitute  a  most 
valuable  source  of  historical  knowledge.  Large  volumes  containing  condensations  of  many 
of  these  records  from  the  time  of  Henry  VIII  to  the  end  of  the  eighteenth  century  have 
been  published,  and  in  time  every  paper  of  historical  value  will  be  available. 

Stebbing,  H.,  History  of  the  Reformation,  London,  1836. —  Steevens,  G.  W.,  In 
India,  London,  1899.  —  Stephens,  T.,  Literature  of  the  Kymry,  Llandovery,  1849.  —  Stiles, 
E.,  Most  Illustrious  and  Heroic  Defenders  of  Liberty;  Lives  of  Three  of  the  Judges  of 
Charles  I,  New  Haven,  1794.  —  Stockmar,  E.  von,  Denkwiirdigkeiten  aus  den  Papieren  des 
Freiherrn  Chr.  F.  von  Stockmar,  Brunswick,  1872,  English  translation,  Memoirs  of  Baron 

von  Stockmar,  London,  1872,  2  vols.  —  Stow,  J.,  A  Summarie  of  the  Chronicles  of  England 
into  this  present  yeare  of  Christe  1574,  London,  1574,  1575,  1587,  1607;  A  Survey  of 
London,  London,  1598,  edited  by  W.  J.  Thoms,  London,  1876;  Flores  Historiarum,  London, 
1600;  Annales,  London,  1615.  —  Strabo,  reurypo^tKi,  Venice,  1516,  English  translation,  Lon- 

don, 1854,  3  vols.  —  Strachey,  J.  and  R.,  Finances  and  Public  Works  of.  India,  London, 
1882.  —  Strada,  P.,  De  Bello  Belgico  ab  Excessu  Carii  V  ad  Annum  1590,  Rome,  1632-1647, 
2  vols.  —  Strickland,  A.,  Lives  of  the  Queens  of  England  from  the  Norman  Conquest, 
London,  1840-1849,  12  vols.,  1864-1865,  6  vols.;  Letters  of  Mary  Queen  of  Scots,  London, 
1842-1843,  complete  edition  1864,  5  vols.;  Lives  of  the  Queens  of  Scotland,  London,  1850- 
1859,  6  vols.;  Lives  of  the  Last  Four  Stuart  Princesses,  London,  1872. 

Agnes  Strickland  was  born  at  Reydon  Hall,  Suffolk,  July  19th,  1796.  Her  earliest 
literary  efforts  were  historical  romances  in  the  style  of  Scott,  followed  by  a  number  of 
histories  for  children.  For  nearly  twenty  years  Miss  Strickland  was  engaged  in  the 
preparation  of  a  series  of  biographies  of  the  queens  of  England  and  Scotland,  which  were 
published  between  the  years  1840  and  1859.  Earnest  study  of  official  documents  and 
records  enabled  her  to  present  lifelike  pictures  of  the  manners  and  customs  of  former 
times.  Miss  Strickland  was  an  enthusiastic  champion  of  Mary  Stuart,  and  published 
an  edition  of  the  letters  of  that  unfortunate  queen  in  1843.  In  1871  she  was  granted  a 
pension  of  £100  in  recognition  of  her  talents,  and  died  at  Reydon  Hall,  July  8th,  1874. 

Strjrpe,  J.,  Life  of  Cranmer,  London,  1694;  Annals  of  the  Reformation,  London, 
1709,  1731,  4  vols.,  Oxford,  1824,  7  vols.;  Life  and  Acts  of  John  Whitgift,  London,  1718, 
Oxford,  1822;  Ecclesiastical  Memorials,  London,  1721,  3  vols.,  new  edition,  Oxford,  1822,  6 
vols.  —  Stubbs,  W.,  Select  Charters  and  other  Illustrations  of  English  History,  London, 
1866;  The  Early  Plantagenets,  London  and  New  York,  1874;  Memorials  of  St.  Duijstan,  In 
Rolls  Series,  London,  1874;  Seventeen  Lectures  on  the  Study  of  Mediaeval  or  Modem 
History,  Oxford,  1886;  The  Constitutional  History  of  England,  Oxford,  1874-1878,  3  vols., 
Sth  edition,  1896. 

William  Stubbs,  born  at  Knaresborough,  June  21st,  1825,  was  educated  at  Oxford. 
Entering  the  church,  he  was  rector  of  Navestock,  in  Essex,  from  1850  to  1866,  when  he 
was  appointed  regius  professor  of  modern  history  at  Oxford.  The  duties  of  his  pro- 

fessorship were  irksome,  as  they  seriously  interfered  with  his  historical  researches, 
which  he  pursued  diligently  until  his  elevation  to  the  bishopric  of  Chester  in  1884.  Dr. 
Stubbs  was  especially  qualified  for  historical  work,  possessing  remarkable  keenness  of 
judgment  and  a  love  for  minute  and  critical  investigation.  He  edited  numerous  Latin 
texts  and  wrote  ecclesiastical  history,  but  his  reputation  is  largely  based  upon  his 
Constitutional  History,  which  is  the  highest  authority  on  the  period  it  covers,  and 
undoubtedly  one  of  the  most  scholarly  historical  works  ever  written.  He  became  bishop 
of  Oxford  in  1889,  and  died  in  London,  April  22nd,  1901. 

Sugenheim,  S.,  Geschichte  der  Aufhebung  der  Leibeigenschaft  und  HSrigkeit  in 
Europa  bis  um  die  Mitte  des  19.  Jahrhunderts,  St.  Petersburg,  1861.  —  Sullivan,  W.,  His- 

torical Causes  and  Effects,  A.D.  476-1517,  Boston,  1838.  —  Sullivan,  W.  K.,  article  on 

"  Ireland "  in  the  Encyclopmdia  Britannica.  —  Suite,  B.,  Pages  d'histoire  du  Canada, 
Montreal,  1891.  —  Sutherland,  A.  and  G.,  History  of  Australia  and  New  Zealand  from 
1606-1890,  London,  1894.  —  Swift,  J.,  Political  Papers  against  Marlborough,  Edinburgh, 
1824.  —  Swinburne,  A.  C,  article  on  "  Mary  "  in  the  Encyclopcedia  Britamiica.  —  Sydney, 
W.  C,  Early  Days  of  Nineteenth  Century,  London,  1898,  2  vols.  —  Symes,  J.  E.,  Social 
England,  London,  1896. — Symonds,  J.  A.,  Sir  Philip  Sydney,  London,  1886. 

Taine,  H.  A.,  Histoire  de  littSrature  Anglaise,  Paris,  1864,  5  vols.,  English  translation. 
History  of  English  Literature,  London,  1878,  4  vols.,  1886.  —  Tait,  C.  W.  A.,  Analysis  of 
English  History,  London,  1897.  —  Tancock,  0.  W.,  England  during  the  American  and  Euro- 
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pean  Wars,  London,  1878.  —  Taswell-Iiangmead,  T.  P.,  English  Constitutional  History, 
from  the  Teutonic  Conquest  to  thie  Present  Time,  London,  1880,  1896.  —  Taunton,  E.  L., 
English  Black  Monks  of  St.  Benedict,  London,  1897,  2  vols.  —  Taurine,  La  Nation  Cana- 
dienne,  Paris,  1894. —  Tavernier,  J.  B.,  Six  Voyages!  en  Turquie,  en  Perse  et  aux  Indes, 
Paris,  1677,  3  vols.  —  Taylor,  H.,  The  Origin  and  Growth  of  the  English  Constitution, 
Boston,  1898-1899,  2  vols.  —  Taylor,  I.,  Words  and  Places,  or  Etymological  Illustrations 
of  History,  Ethnology  and  Geography,  London,  1864. —  Taylor,  J.,  The  Age  We  Live  In, 
Edinburgh  and  Dublin,  n.  d.,  2  vols.  —  Taylor,  W.,  Thirty-eight  Years  in  India,  London, 
1882. — Temple,  R.,  Life  in  Parliament,  1886-1892,  London,  1893. —  Temple,  W.,  Memoirs 
of  What  Passed  in  Christendom  from  1672-1679,  London,  1692.  —  Tennett,  J.  E.,  Ceylon, 
Physical,  Historical,  Topographical,  London,  1859,  2  vols.  —  Thackeray,  F.,  History  of 
William  Pitt,  London,  1827,  2  vols.  —  Thackeray,  W.  M.,  The  Four  Georges,  London,  1861. 

William  Makepeace  Thackeray  was  born  in  Calcutta,  India,  July  18th,  1811.  He 
was  educated  at  Cambridge,  but  left  without  taking  a,  degree.  Having  inherited  a  con- 

siderable fortune,  he  pursued  the  study  of  art  for  several  years,  but  about  1840  adopted 
a  literary  career.  The  superior  talent  for  humour  and  satire  displayed  in  his  writings 
soon  gave  him  wide  reputation,  which  was  extended  and  established  by  the  series  of 
novels  published  during  the  years  1844  to  1854.  During  1852  and  1856  Thackeray  visited 
the  United  States,  lecturing  in  the  principal  cities.  For  the  second  tour,  he  wrote  the 
Lectures  on  the  Four  Georges,  his  only  historical  work.  In  1860  he  became  editor  of  the 
Cornhill  Magazine,  but  resigned  in  1862.    He  died  suddenly,  December  24th,  1863. 

Theiner,  A.,  Histoire  des  Institutions  d'Education  EcclCsiastiques,  Paris,  1841,  2  vols.  — 
Thierry,  A,  Histoire  de  la  conquete  de  I'Angleterre  par  les  Normands,  Paris,  1821-1825,  4 
vols.  —  Thiers,  L.  A.,  L'Histoire  du  Consulat  et  de  I'Empire,  Paris,  1845-1862,  20  vols. — 
Thompson,  G.  C,  Public  Opinion  and  Lord  Beaconsfield,  1875-1880,  London,  1886,  2  vols. — 
Thompson,  J.,  The  Nature  of  the  Municipal  Franchises  of  the  Middle  Ages,  in  The  Gentle- 

men's Magazine,  London,  1851. — Thomson,  J.,  History  of  the  Scottish  People,  Glasgow, 
1893.  —  Thomson,  K.,  Memoirs  of  the  Life  of  Sir  Walter  Raleigh,  London,  1830.  — 
Thomson,  Mrs.,  Life  and  Times  of  George  Villiers,  Duke  of  Buckingham,  London,  1860,  3 
vols.  —  Thornton,  E.,  History  of  British  Empire  in  India,  London,  1858.  —  Thorpe,  B., 
Ancient  Laws  and  Institutions  of  England,  London,  1840;  translation  of  3'Ae  Anglo-Saxon 
Chronicle,  London,  1861,  2  vols.  —  Thou,  (Thouanus),  J.  A.  de,  Historia  sui  Temporis,  Paris, 
1620;  London,  1733,  7  vols.  —  Thursfield,  J.  R.,  Peel,  London,  1891.  — Times,  The, 
Queen  Victoria's  Birth,  Parentage,  etc.,  in  issues  of  December  18th,  1854,  December  16th, 
1861,  January  23rd,  1901,  London. — Tobias,  Bishop  of  Rochester,  see  Ingram.  —  Todd, 
A.,  Parliamentary  Government  in  England,  London,  1867,  2  vols.;  Parliamentary  Govern- 

ment in  the  British  Colonies,  Boston,  1880;  Her  Majesty's  Colonies,  Boston,  1886.  —  To..d, 
J.  H.,  Wars  of  the  Gaedhil  with  the  Gaill,  in  Rolls  Series,  London,  1876.  —  Tomline,  G.  P., 
Memoirs  of  the  Life  of  Pitt,  London,  1822,  3  vols.  —  Tone,  T.  Wolfe,  Autobiography, 
London,  1893,  2  vols.  —  Tooke,  T.,  A  History  of  Prices  and  of  the  State  of  the  Paper 
Circulation  from  1793  to  1837,  London,  1838-1857,  6  vols.— Torrens,  W.  McC,  Twenty 
Years  in  Parliament,  London,  1893.  —  Toussaint,  F.  X.,  Abr6g6  d'histoire  du  Canada, 
Quebec,  1895.  — Tout,  T.  F.,  Edward  I,  London,  1893.  — Traill,  H.  D.,  Central  Govern- 

ment, London  and  New  York,  1881;  Shaftesbury  (The  First  Earl),  London,  1886;  The 
Marquis  of  Salisbury,  London,  1892;  England,  Egypt  and  the  Sudan,  London,  1900. — 
Tregarthen,  G.,  Australian  Commonwealth,  London,  1893.  —  Trevelyan,  G.  M.,  England 
in  the  Age  of  Wyelif,  London,  1899.= — Trevelyan,  G.  O.,  Life  of  Lord  Macaulay,  London, 
1876,  2  vols.;  Early  History  of  Charles  James  Fox,  London,  1880;  The  American  Revolu- 

tion, London,  1899. 
Sir  George  Otto  Trevelyan,  author  and  statesman,  was  born  in  1838,  and  took  his 

degree  at  Trinity  college,  Cambridge.  He  spent  several  years  in  the  Indian  civil  service, 
was  a  member  of  parliament  from  1868  to  1886,  where  he  advocated  such  radical  meas- 

ures as  a  woman's  suffrage  bill  and  the  abolition  of  the  house  of  lords.  He  entered  the 
Gladstone  ministry  of  1868  as  civil  lord  of  the  admiralty,  was  chief  secretary  for  Ireland 
in  1882,  chancellor  for  the  Duchy  of  Lancaster,  1884-1885,  and  secretary  for  Scotland  1886. 
In  1876  he  published  his  admirable  Life  and  Letters  of  Lord  Macaulay,  and  in  1880  his 
Marly  History  of  Charles  James  Fox.  From  1892-1895  he  was  again  secretary  for  Scotland, 
retiring  to  private  life  in  the  latter  year. 

TroHope,  A.,  Australia  and  New  Zealand,  London,  1873.  —  Trotter,  L.  J.,  History  of 
India  under  Queen  Victoria,  London,  1886.  —  Tupper,  C,  Our  Indian  Protectorate,  London, 
1893.  —  Turgot,  Bishop,  Life  of  St.  Margaret,  Queen  of  Scotland,  translation  by  W. 
Forbes-Leith,  1884.  —  Turner,  J.,  Memoirs  of  His  Own  Life  and  Times,  Edinburgh,  1829. — 
Turner,  S.,  History  of  England  from  the  Norman  Conquest  to  the  Death  of  Elizabeth, 
London,  1814-1829,  5  vols.,  1839,  12  vols.;  History  of  the  Anglo-Saxons,  London,  1797- 
1805,  3  vols.,  1852.  —  Tuttle,  C.  R.,  History  of  Canada,  Boston,  1878.  — Twiss,  H.,  The 
Public  and  Private  Life  of  Lord  Eldon,  London,  1844,  3  vols.  —  Twysden,  R.,  Historise 
Anglicanae  Scriptores  Decem,  London,  1652;  The  Government  of  England,  edited  by  J.  M. 
Kemble  for  Camden  Society,  London,  1849.  —  Tyler,  J.  E.,  Henry  of  Monmouth,  London, 
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1838,  2  vols.  —  Tyler,  M.  C,  Glimpses  of  England,  New  York,  1898.  —  Tyrrell,  J.,  General 
History  of  England,  both  Ecclesiastical  and  Civil,  London,  1700-1704,  3  vols.  —  Tytler, 
A.  F.,  Universal  History,  from  the  Creation  of  the  World  to  the  Beginning  of  the  Eighteenth 
Century,  London,  1834,  6  vols. 

Alexander  Eraser  Tytler  was  born  at  Edinburgh,  October  15th,  1747.  He  was  educated 
at  Edinburgh  and  London,  called  to  the  bar  in  1770,  and  appointed  joint-professor  of 
universal  history  in  the  university  of  Edinburgh  in  1780,  becoming  sole  professor  in  1786. 
The  general  heads  of  his  lectures  were  published  in  1782,  under  the  title  of  Elements  of 
History  but  their  full  text  did  not  appear  until  1834.  The  work  attained  great  popularity 
and  was  translated  into  several  foreign  languages.  In  1802  Tytler  was  raised  to  the 
bench  under  the  title  of  Lord  Woodhouselee.    He  died  at  Edinburgh,  January  5th,  1813. 

Tytler,  P.  F.,  History  of  Scotland,  Edinburgh,  1828-1843,  10  vols.;  Life  of  Henry  the 
Eighth,  London,  1837.  —  Tytler,  W.,  Inquiry,  Historical  and  Critical,  into  the  Evidence 
against  Mary  Queen  of  Scots,  Edinburgh,  1759,  4th  edition,  London,  1790,  2  vols. 

Ubaldini,  P.,  Relazione  delle  cose  del  regno  d'lnghliterra,  London,  1551. 

Valbezen,  E.  de.  The  English  in  India,  London,  1883.  —  Vaughan,  K.,  Memorials  of 
the  Stuart  Dynasty,  London,  1831,  2  vols.;  History  of  England  under  the  House  of  Stuart, 
London,  1840. —  Victoria,  (Queen),  Lieaves  from  the  Journal  of  our  Life  in  the  High- 

lands, London,  1868. — Vigfusson,  G.,  and  G.  Y.  Powell,  Corpus  poeticarum  boreale, 
Oxford,  1883,  2  vols.  —  Vincent,  T.,  God's  Terrible  Voice  in  the  City  by  Plague  and  Fire, 
London,  1666.  —  Vine,  J.  R.  S.,  English  Municipal  Institutions,  London,  1879.  —  Virgil, 
Polydore,  Historia  Anglica,  Bale,  1534-1555,  edited  by  H.  Ellis,  London,  1846. 

Wace,  R.,  Roman  de  Rou,  Rouen,  1827,  London,  1877.  —  Wakeman,  H.  0.,  History 
of  the  Church  of  England,  London,  1896,  6th  edition,  1899.  —  Wakeman,  H.  O.,  and  A. 
Hassall,  Essays  Introductory  to  English  Constitutional  History,  London,  1887. —  Walford, 
C,  Guilds;  their  Origin,  Constitution,  Objects  and  Later  History,  London,  1888.  —  Walker, 

C,  The  High  Court  of  Justice,  or  Cromwell's  Slaughter-House,  London,  1651.  —  Walker, 
H.  de  R.,  Australasian  Democracy,  London,  1897.  —  Walker,  J.,  Account  of  the  Numbers 
and  Sufferings  of  the  Clergy  who  were  Sequestered  in  the  Grand  Rebellion,  London, 
1714.  —  Wallace,  A.  R.,  Australia,  London,  1893.  —  Wallington,  N.,  Historical  Notices 
of  Events  occuring  chiefly  in  the  Reign  of  Charles  II,  London,  1869,  2  vols.  —  Wallon, 
H.,  L'Insurreotion  des  paysans  d'Angleterre,  Paris,  1863,  4  vols.;  Richard  II,  Paris,  1864,  2 
vols.  —  Walpole,  H.,  Historic  Doubts  on  the  Life  and  Reign  of  Richard  III,  London,  1768; 
Memoirs  of  the  Last  Ten  Years  of  the  Reign  of  George  II,  London,  1822,  1847,  3  vols.; 
Journal  of  the  Reign  of  George  III  from  1771  to  1783,  London,  1859,  2  vols.;  Letters, 
London,  1891,  9  vols.;  Memoirs  of  the  Reign  of  George  III,  London,  1845,  4  vols.,  1894,  4 
vols.  —  Walpole,  S.,  Life  of  the  Right  Hon.  Spencer  Perceval,  London,  1874,  2  vols.;  A 
History  of  England  from  the  Conclusion  of  the  Great  War  in  1815,  London,  1878-1886,  5 
vols.;  The  Electoral  and  the  Legislature,  London  and  New  York,  1881;  Foreign  Rela- 

tions, London  and  New  York,  1882;  Life  of  Lord  John  Russell,  London,  1891,  2  vols. 
Sir  Spencer  Walpole,  born  1839,  was  educated  at  Eton  and  entered  the  Civil  Service; 

was  lieutenant-governor  of  the  Isle  of  Man  in  1882,  and  has  been  secretary  of  the  Post 
Office  since  1892.  His  History  of  England  is  the  best  treatment  of  the  modern  period, 
noteworthy  for  its  impartiality  and  breadth  of  view. 

Walsingham,  T.,  Chronica  Anglicana,  in  Chronica  Monasterii  S.  Albani  {Rolls  Series), 
London,  1863-1876,  11  vols.  —  Walter  De  Hemingburgh,  Chronicon,  edited  by  H.  C.  Hamil- 

ton, London,  1848,  2  vols.  —  Warburton,  G.,  Hochelaga,  or  England  in  the  New  World, 
London,  1847,  2  vols.  —  Warburton,  W.,  Edward  III,  London,  1875.  — Ward,  A.  W.,  History 
of  English  Dramatic  Literature  to  the  Death  of  Queen  Anne,  London,  1875,  2  vols.,  revised 
edition,  1899.  —  Ward,  T.  H.,  The  Reign  of  Queen  Victoria,  a  Survey  of  Fifty  Years,  Lon- 

don, 1885,  2  vols. —  Ware,  J.,  Annals  of  the  Affairs  of  Ireland,  Dublin,  1705.  —  Warner, 
C.  T.,  Landmarks  in  English  Industrial  History,  London,  1899.  —  Wars  of  the  Gaedhil 
with  the  Gain,  edited  by  J.  H.  Todd,  in  Holls  Series,  London,  1876.  —  Warwick,  P., 
Memoirs  of  His  Own  Time,  London,  1701. — Webb,  J.,  Roll  of  the  Household  Expenses 
of  Richard  de  Swinfield,  Bishop  of  Hereford,  London,  1855. — Webb,  S.  and  B.,  History 
of  Trade  Unionism,  London,  1896.  — Weber,  G.,  Allgemeine  Wcltgeschichte,  Leipsie, 
1857-1880,  15  vols.  — Webster,  J.,  and  T.  Dekker,  The  Famous  History  of  Sir  Thomas 
Wyatt,  London,  1607.  —  Weedon,  T.,  Queensland — Past  and  Present,  Brisbane,  1896. — 
Westgarth,  W.,  The  Colony  of  Victoria;  its  History,  etc.,  London,  1864;  Half  a  Century 
of  Progress,  London  1899.  —  Wheeler,  J.  T.,  Early  Records  of  British  India,  London, 
1878;  A  Short  History  of  India,  London,  1880.  —  Whethamstede,  J.,  Registrum,  in 
Chronica  Monasterii  S.  Albani  (Rolls  Series),  London,  1863-1876,  11  vols.  —  White,  J.,  His- 

tory of  England  from  the  Earliest  Times  to  the  Year  1858,  London,  1860.  —  Whitelocke, 
B.,  Memorials  of  English  Affairs  from  the  Beginning  of  the  Reign  of  Charles  I  to  the  Res- 

toration of  Charles  II,  London,  1682;  Memorials  of  English  Affairs  from  the  Supposed 
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Expedition  of  Brute  to  the  End  of  the  Reign  of  James  I,  London,  1709.  —  Wilberforce, 
K.  J.  and  S.,  An  Unrecorded  Chapter  of  the  Indian  Mutiny,  London,  1895;  Life  of  William 
Wilberforce,  London,  1838,  5  vols.,  1898,  3  vols.  —  WUberforce,  W.,  Pitt  and  Wilberforce, 
edited  by  Lord  Rosebery,  Edinburgh,  1897. — William  of  Jumieges,  Historise  Norman- 
norum,  in  Migne's  Patrologim  Latine,  vol.  149,  Paris,  1844-1864,  221  vols. —  William  of 
Malmesbury,  see  Malmesbury.  —  William  of  Newburgh,  Historia  Rerum  Anglicarum 
(1066-1098),  in  Rolls  Series,  London,  1884. —  William  of  Poitiers,  Historia  Norman- 
norum,  in  Wigne's  PatrologicE  Latine,  vol.  149,  Paris,  1844-1864,  221  vols. —  Williams,  J., 
History  of  Wales,  London,  1869. — Williams,  M.,  Modern  India  and  the  Indians,  London, 
1879. — Wilson,  A.,  History  of  Great  Britain,  being  the  Life  and  Reign  of  James  I,  Lon- 

don, 1653;  Complete  History  of  England,  with  the  Lives  of  all  the  Kings  and  Queens 
Thereof,  London,  1706,  2  vols.  — Wilson,  A.  J.,  The  National  Budget,  Debt,  Taxes,  and 
Rates,  London  and  New  York,  1882.  —  Wilson,  H.  H.,  History  of  British  India  from  1805 
to  1835,  London,  1846,  2  vols.  —  Wilson,  R.,  Life  and  Times  of  Queen  Victoria,  London, 
1888,  1891,  1893.  —  Winsor,  J.,  The  Struggle  in  America  between  England  and  France,  Lon- 

don, 1895.  —  Withers,  H.,  English  and  Dutch  in  South  Africa,  London,  1896.  —  Wodrow, 
R.,  History  of  the  Sufferings  of  the  Church  of  Scotland  from  the  Restoration  to  the  Revo- 

lution, Edinburgh,  1722,  2  vols.,  Glasgow,  1829,  4  vols.  —  Wolseley,  G.  J.,  Viscount,  John 
Churchill,  Duke  of  Marlborough,  London,  1894,  2  vols.;  The  Decline  and  Fall  of  Napoleon, 
London,  1895.  —  Wood,  A.,  Athense  Oxonienses ;  an  Exact  History  of  all  the  Writers  and 
Bishops  who  have  had  their  Education  in  the  University  of  Oxford  from  1500  to  1690,  Lon- 

don, 1691-1692,  2  vols.—  Woodward,  B.  B.,  History  of  Wales,  London,  1853.  —  Worsaae, 
J.  J.  A.,  Minder  cm  de  Danske  og  Nordmsendene  i  England,  Skotland  og  Irland,  Copen- 

hagen, 1852,  translation,  an  Account  of  the  Danes  and  Northmen  in  England,  Scotland  and 
Ireland,  London,  1852. 

Jens  Jacob  Asmussen  Worsaae,  a  Danish  historian  and  antiquary,  was  born  in  Veile, 
Jutland,  March  14th,  1821.  In  1847  he  became  inspector  of  antiquarian  monuments  of  the 
kingdom  of  Denmark,  and  in  1865  was  made  director  of  the  Museum  of  Northern  An- 

tiquities and  of  the  Ethnological  Museum  in  Copenhagen.  From  1874  to  1875  he  was  min- 
ister of  public  instruction.  His  works  on  Scandinavian  history  and  antiquities  are 

numerous  and  valuable.  Worsaae  has  made  extensive  investigation  of  the  Danish  and 

Norwegian  invasions  of  England  and  presents  many  valuable  facts'  showing  their  perma- 
nent results  in  English  history. 

Wotton,  H.,  Reliquiae  Wottonianse,  London,  1651.  —  Wren,  C.  and  S.,  Parentalia,  or 
Memoirs  of  the  Family  of  the  Wrens,  London,  1750.  —  Wright,  T.,  Biographia  Britannica 
Literaria,  London,  1842-1846,  2  vols.;  Essays  on  the  Literature,  Superstition  and  History 
of  England  in  the  Middle  Ages,  London,  1846,  2  vols.;  England  under  the  House  of  Hanover, 
London,  1848,  2  vols.,  reproduced  as  Caricature  History  of  the  Georges,  London,  1868,  2 
vols.;  The  Celt,  the  Roman,  and  the  Saxon,  London,  1852,  4th  edition,  1885;  History  of 
Scotland,  London,  1852-1857,  3  vols.;  Political  Songs  of  England  from  the  Reign  of  John 
to  that  of  Edward  II,  London,  1859-1861,  2  vols.;  Political  Poems  and  Songs  from  Edward 
in  to  Richard  III,  in  Rolls  Series,  London,  1859-1861,  2  vols.;  Domestic  Manners  and 
Sentiments  in  England  in  the  Middle  Ages,  London,  1862.  —  Wriothesley,  C,  Chronicle  of 
England  during  the  Reigns  of  the  Tudors,  edited  by  W.  D.  Hamilton,  London,  1875-1877,  2 
vols. —  Wylie,  J.  H.,  History  of  England  under  Henry  IV,  London,  1894,  4  vols. — Wyn- 
toun,  A.,  Metrical  Chronicle,  edited  by  D.  Laing,  Edinburgh,  1872-1879,  3  vols. —  Wyon, 
F.  W.,  History  of  Great  Britain  during  the  Reign  of  Queen  Anne,  London,  1876,  2  vols. 

Yeats,  J.,  The  Growth  and  Vicissitudes  of  Commerce  in  the  Middle  Ages,  London, 
1887.  — Yonge,  C.  D.,  Life  of  the  Duke  of  Wellington,  London,  1860,  2  vols.;  Constitutional 
History  of  England,  London,  1882. — Youngs,  E.,  see  Adams,  H. 

ZosimuB,  'laTopla  via,  Bale,  1576,  edited  by  Bekker,  Bonn,  1837. 
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BASED  CHIEFLY  UPON  THE  FOLLOWING  AUTHORITIES 

C.  K.  ADAMS,     G.  BANCROFT,    H.  H.  BANCROFT,    J.  S.  BARRY,    W.  BRADFORD, 
Q.   CHALMERS,      S.   de   CHAMPLAIN,       P.   F.   X.   CHARLEVOIX,      CODEX 

FLATEYENSIS,  F.  V.  de  CORONADO,  H.  M.  DEXTER,  E.  EGQLESTON, 
EYRBRIGQIA    SAGA,      J.   FISKE,      F.   L.   GOMARA,      R.   HAKLUYT,      R.   HAMOR. 
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BOOK  I 

THE  EARLY  COLONIAL  PERIOD 

CHAPTER   I 

THE   DISCOVERERS   OF   AMERICA 

Venient  armis 
iScBcula  seris,  qwibus  Oceanus 
Vincula  rerum  laxet,  et  ingens 
Pateat  tellus,  Tiphysque  novos 
Detegai  Orbes,  nee  sit  terns 
Ultima  Thule. 

Senbca:  Medea.' 

If  the  Europeans  had  never  happened  upon  America,  then  at  some  period 
—  far  later,  indeed,  yet  inevitable  —  the  Americans  would  have  discovered 
Europe.  Perhaps  they  would  have  come  down  from  behind  the  horizon  with 
all  the  sudden,  barbaric  pomp  and  terror  that  marked  the  appearance  of  the 
Gauls  at  Rome's  gates,  of  the  Tatars  in  China,  of  the  Huns  on  the  French  plain 
of  Chalons,  of  the  Moslems  in  Granada  and  round  Constantinople,  of  the 
Northmen  in  Sicily,  of  the  Portuguese  in  India,  of  the  Spanish  at  the  court  of 
Montezuma  and  in  Peru. 

'  These  famous  lines  have  heen  regaTded  as  a  prophecy  of  the  discovery  of  America. 
Even  if  so  intended,  Seneca  was  not  the  first,  by  any  means,  to  dream  of  land  beyond  the 

ocean-river.  His  verses  may  be  translated  :  "  There  will  come,  after  the  years  have  lapsed, 
cycles  wherein  Ocean  shall  loosen  the  chains  of  things,  and  a  vast  land  shall  be  revealed,  and 

Tiphys  shall  explore  new  worlds;  nor  shall  Thule  remain  ultimate  on  earth."  Tiphys  was  the 
helmsman  of  the  Argonauts,  whom  some  writers  credited  with  exploring  the  northern  Atlantic. 
Seneca  died  in  65  a.d.  ;  by  a  curious  coincidence  he  was  born  in  the  Spain  that  gave  Columbus 
the  means  to  immortalise  these  very  lines,  which,  indeed,  Columbus  was  fond  of  quoting.  The 

son  of  the  admiral  wrote  on  the  margin  of  his  copy  of.  Seneca.  "  This  prophecy  was  fulfilled 
by  my  father,  Christopher  Columbus,  admiral,  in  the  year  1492.  {Hcec  prophetia  expletaeper 

patre  meum  CristoforO,  Cold  almirante  anno  ti9S.") 397 
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We  are  too  prone  to  think  of  history  as  revolving  round  a  European  hub. 
We  think  of  America  as  coming  into  view  only  with  Columbus.  We  minimise 
all  previous  explorations  in  the  light  of  the  legend  Columbus  has  become  to 
us.  Then  we  minimise  the  importance  of  Columbus  himself  because,  after  all, 
the  nation  whose  agent  he  was  made  no  lasting  impression  upon  the  civilisa- 

tion of  America  north  of  Mexico. 
Even  physical  geography  suffers  from  this  egoism  which  makes  ourselves, 

our  lineage,  and  our  conditions  the  central  point  of  the  universe  and  all  his- 
tory. Though  we  may  not  give  the  fallacy  voice  or  serious  acceptance,  it  yet 

is  part  of  our  mental  attitude.  We  almost  dream  of  the  great  continent  of 
the  new  world  languishing  impatiently,  dully  vegetating  imtil  the  present 
white  peoples  appeared  there  in  the  proxy  of  their  forefathers.  Merely  to 
bring  such  a  false  thought  to  the  light  is  to  destroy  it.  To  destroy  it  is  to 
open  and  enlarge  the  mind  to  the  larger  view  of  history,  to  the  conception  of 
it  as  founded  far  down  in  geology.  With  new  eyes  we  can  follow  the  growth 
of  the  earth  through  the  long  slow  patiences  or  the  enormous  catastrophes  of 
the  world-energy.  Without  knowing  just  when  or  whence,  just  how  or  why, 
we  can  imagine  the  gradual  appearance  of  the  first  men  upon  the  continent, 
their  timid  explorations,  their  groping  after  the  simplest  ideas,  the  most 
brutish  comforts,  the  most  pitiful  delights,  the  most  puerile  dignities. 

PEEHISTOEIC   CONDITIONS 

It  was  long  the  fashion  to  think  of  the  "Indians"  whom  Columbus  found, 
as  degenerate  relics  of  a  noble  civilisation.  Crude  ruins  were  invested  with  a 
meaning  and  an  antiquity  that  the  science  of  to-day  finds  ludicrous.  The 
myths  of  the  Mound  Builders  are  the  most  vivid  example.  Thousands  of 
these  curious  artificial  hillocks  are  scattered  about  the  United  States.  In 
some  of  them  are  found  skeletons,  bits  of  pottery,  weapons,  and  utensils  of 
various  sort.  To  these  were  added  various  forgeries  of  inscriptions  by  those 
enthusiastic  and  laborious  practical  jokers  who  make  the  life  of  the  antiquary 
one  of  exquisite  terror. 

Upon  a  solution  of  the  mysteries  of  the  mounds,  scholars  of  wide  learning, 
deep  thoroughness,  and  complete  honesty  spent  years  of  research  and  printed 
their  opinions  in  hundreds  of  volimies.  An  element  of  imagination  is  neces- 

sary to  a  constructive  scientist,  but  in  American  archaeology  it  was  given  the 
free  reign.  Pipes  and  trinkets  made  by  European  traders,  bartered  to  the 
Indians,  and  found  among  their  relics  were  thought  to  be  the  ancient  vestiges 
of  a  civilisation  highly  advanced  in  art.  The  famous  ruined  tower  at  New- 

port was  credited  to  Norse  colonists  ages  before  Columbus,  because  it  was 
said  to  be  of  an  unknown  style  of  architecture,  yet  it  is  spoken  of  by  Governor 

Arnold,  in  1677,  as  "my  stone-built  windmill,"  and  as  Palfrey  shows,*  an 
almost  exact  duplicate  of  it,  probably  its  original,  is  foimd  in  Chesterton,  Eng- 
land. 

The  notorious  Dighton  rock,  near  Berkeley,  Massachusetts,  was  solemnly 
accepted  as  a  mysterious  Phoenician  or  Norse  inscription,  though  even  George 
Washington  smilingly  said  he  recognised  its  close  resemblance  to  battle 
accounts  or  hunt-records  which  he  himself  had  seen  the  Indians  carving  on 
trees,  and  Schoolcraft,"  on  showing  a  copy  of  it  to  an  old  Indian  chief,  was 
told  that  it  was  easily  translatable  save  for  a  few  characters.  Yet  the  simplest 
and  nearest-at-hand  explanation  was,  as  usual,  the  last  to  be  tried. 

One  by  one  the  antiquities  of  America  have  thus  been  brought  nearer  and 
nearer  modern  times.    And  yet  a  satisfactory  account  of  the  origin  of  the 
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people  found  by  Columbus  is  still  lacking,  though  theories  have  not,  by  any 
means,  been  wanting,  on  which  brUliant  minds  have  amused  themselves  with 
elaborate  futility.  They  range  from  the  theory  that  America  was  peopled 
from  Europe  or  Asia,  to  the  theory  that  Europe  and  Asia  were  peopled  from 
America;  from  the  doctrine  that  the  Indians  were  the  lost  ten  tribes  of  Israel, 
to  the  doctrine  that  the  Indians  were  autocthonous  and  were  gradually  reared 
from  lower  states  of  life  by  evolution;  from  the  hypothesis  that  man  extended 
his  habitat  as  rapidly  as  the  prehistoric  glaciers  receded,  to  the  blunt  denial 
that  there  is  any  trustworthy  evidence  of  great  antiquity  in  human  appearance 

on  American  soil.  But,  after  all, "the  important  thing  is  that  America  is capable  of  sustaining  and  encouraging  an  industrious  civilisation  and  that  its 
capabilities  were  finally  discovered  by  the  peoples  who  actually  could,  would, 
and  did  start  that  civilisation  on  its  way. 

While  then  there  is  no  theory  of  the  prehistoric  American  on  which  all 
archaeologists  are  willing  to  repose,  perhaps  the  most  cautious  view  and  the 
one  most  largely  and  recently  accepted  would  be  something  as  follows:  So 
far  as  negative  proof  can  decide,  it  is  evident  that  no  race  had  ever  reached  a 
state  of  high  civilisation  before  the  advent  of  the  Europeans.  Even  the 
southern  races,  so  romantically  described  by  the  Spanish  conquistadors,  were 
simply  passing  from  the  stone  age  to  the  bronze;  they  did  not  use  beasts  of 
burden  and  had  not  mastered  the  art  of  writing.  They  are  not  to  be  dis- 

tinguished from  the  otner  Americans  as  a  superior  race,  but  were  simply  at  a 
more  advanced  point  of  the  civilisation  toward  which  all  the  others  were 
trending,  as  even  to-day  Boston  differs  from  the  backwoods  of  Arkansas. 

ANTIQUITY  AND   OHIGIN   OF  MAN   IN   AMERICA 

How  long  had  these  people  been  here?  Some  years  ago  John  T.  Short  <^ 
declared  brusquely,  "No  truly  scientific  proof  of  man's  great  antiquity  in 
America  exists."  But  Dr.  C.  C.  Abbott «  found  hundreds  of  undoubtedly 
palaeolithic  implements  in  the  glacial  drift  near  Trenton,  New  Jersey;  his 
proofs  were  met  with  a  counter-theory  that  the  glacial  age  was  perhaps  of 
later  period  than  had  been  supposed.  As  to  the  relative  antiquity  of  man's 
appearance  in  America  and  in  Europe  there  has  been  a  sharp  division  of 
opinion  among  scholars,  and  every  link  in  the  two  chains  of  proof  has  been 
matter  of  bitter  dispute.  In  the  words  of  H.  H.  Howorth,/  "The  evidence 
for  the  existence  of  palaeolithic  man  in  America  has  been  more  fiercely  con- 

tested even  than  in  Europe,  and  the  problem  there  is  certainly  more  compli- 
cated. In  Europe  we  can  test  the  age  of  the  remains  not  merely  by  their 

actual  character,  but  also  by  the  presence  or  absence  of  associated  domestic 
animals.  In  America  this  test  is  absent,  for  there  were  virtually  no  domestic 

animals  save  the  dog  known  to  the  pre-European  inhabitants.  We  are  there- 
fore remitted  to  less  direct  evidence,  namely,  the  provenance  of  the  remains 

from  beds  of  distinctly  Pleistocene  age,  the  fabric  of  the  remains,  and  their 
association  with  animals,  we  have  reason  to  beUeve,  become  extinct  at  the 

termination  of  that  period." 
The  battle  still  rages  on  aU  the  problems  of  American  paleography,  and 

the  general  reader  must  perhaps  rest  content  with  some  such  cautious  generali- 
sation as  that  of  Henry  W.  Haynes,S'  who  thmks  it  probable  that,  at  least  in 

the  valley  of  the  Delaware  river,  man  appeared  in  the  palaeolithic  stage, 

developed  to  the  neolithic,  and  became  extinct.  "The  so-called  Indians,"  he 
says,  'Vith  their  many  divisions  into  numerous  linguistic  families,  were  later 

comers  than  the  primitive  population;  the  so-called  'mound  builders'  were 
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the  ancestors  of  tribes  found  in  the  occupation  of  the  soil;  and  the  Pueblos 

and  the  Aztecs  were  only  peoples  relatively  further  advanced  than  the  others." 

DID  THE  AMERICANS  COME  FBOM  ASIA? 

Whence,  then,  came  this  invading  race?  The  most  nearly  accepted  theory 

accepts  Asia  as  the  original  home.  As  Justin  Winsor''  says,  "There  is  not  a 
race  of  eastern  Asia  —  Siberian,  Tatar,  Chinese,  Japanese,  Malay,  with  the 
Polynesians  —  which  has  not  been  claimed  as  discoverers,  ia tending  or  acci- 

dental, of  American  shores,  or  as  progenitors,  more  or  less  perfect  or  remote, 
of  American  peoples;  and  there  is  no  good  reason  why  any  of  them  may  not 
have  done  all  that  is  claimed.  The  historical  evidence,  however,  is  not  such 
as  is  based  on  documentary  proofs  of  indisputable  character,  and  the  recitals 
advanced  are  often  far  from  precise  enough  to  be  convincing  in  details,  if 

their  general  authenticity  is  allowed." 
The  paths  by  which  the  Asiatics  might  have  come  are  various.  The  ice 

of  the  Behring  Sea  might  have  afforded  a  bridge;  the  Aleutian  Islands  lie 
Hke  stepping-stones  for  gradual  ventures;  the  great  northern  Pacific  current 
might  have  brought  to  the  Californian  shores  vessels  whose  sails  or  rudders 
were  lost  in  storm,  and  the  intermarriage  of  these  waifs  with  the  primitive 
races  may  have  occasioned  the  physical  differences  observable  between  the 
Americans  and  the  Asiatics,  though  there  are  niunerous  points  of  strong 
resemblance,  and  the  very  flora  of  the  two  coasts  of  the  same  ocean  have 
much  in  common.  Finally  it  is  not  thought  impossible  that  the  Malays  of 
the  PoljTiesian  islands  may  have  advanced  timidly  or  accidentally  toward 
South  America,  where  there  are  many  curious  traces  of  apparent  Malaysian 
occupation. 

WHO  DISCOVERED  AMERICA?     THE  NUMEROUS  CLAIMANTS 

The  problem  of  the  origin  of  the  so-called  native  races  must  then  join  the 
problem  of  the  antiquity  of  man  in  the  limbo  of  the  unsolved.  There  remains 
stUl  another  problem  unsolved,  despite  a  whole  literature  of  controversy. 
Who  were  the  first  to  have  brought  the  continent  into  the  ken  of  the  older 
and  more  civilised  world?  So  many  are  the  theories  in  this  direction  that  the 

question  is  almost  less,  "Who  discovered  America?"  than  "Who  did  not?" 
Vigorously  defended  claims  exist  for  the  priority  of  the  Chinese,  Japanese, 

Polynesians,  Phoenicians,  Romans,  Arabians,  Turks,  Hindoos,  Basques,  Welsh, 

Irish,  French,  PoUsh,'  German,  Dutch,  Portuguese,  and  Scandinavians. 
The  Welsh  asserted  that  Madoc,  the  son  of  Owen  Gwyneth  discovered  America 
in  1170,  and  Hakluyt  *  thus  describes  his  adventures: 

"  Madoc,  another  of  Owen  Gwyneth  his  sonnes,  left  the  land  in  contention 
betwixt  his  brethren  and  prepared  certaine  ships,  with  men  and  munition, 
and  sought  adventures  by  seas,  sailing  west  and  leaving  the  coast  of  Ireland 
so  farre  north,  that  he  came  unto  a  land  unknowen,  where  he  saw  many 
strange  things.  This  land  must  needs  be  some  part  of  that  countrey  of  which 

the  Spanyards  affirme  themselves  to  be  the  first  finders  since  Hanno's  time. 
Whereupon  it  is  manifest  that  that  countrey  was  by  Britaines  discovered, 
long  before  Columbus  led  any  Spanyards  thither.  Of  the  voyage  and  retume 
of  this  Madoc  there  be  many  fables  fained,  as  the  common  people  doe  use  in 
distance  of  place  and  length  of  time,  rather  to  augment  than  to  diminish: 

[i  The  Pole,  John  Szkolnj,  latinised  as  Skolmus,  is  said  to  have  reached  Labrador  in  1476 
while  in  Danish  service.] 
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but  sure  it  is,  there  he  was.  And  after  he  had  returnsd  home,  and  declared 
the  pleasant  and  fruitfull  countreys  that  he  had  seene  without  inhabitants, 
and  upon  the  contrary  part,  for  what  barren  and  wild  ground  his  brethren  and 
nephewes  did  murther  one  another,  he  prepared  a  number  of  ships,  and  got 
with  him  such  men  and  women  as  were  desirous  to  live  m  quietnesse:  and 
taking  leave  of  his  friends,  tooke  his  journey  thitherward  againe.  Therefore 
it  is  supposed  that  he  and  his  people  inhabited  part  of  those  countreys:  for  it 
appeareth  by  Francis  Lopez  de  Gomara,  that  in  Acuzamil  and  other  places 
the  people  honoured  the  crosse.  Whereby  it  may  be  gathered  that  Christians 
had  bene  there  before  the  coming  of  the  Spanyards.  But  because  this  people 
were  not  many,  they  followed  the  manners  of  the  land  which  they  came  unto, 

and  used  the  language  they  foimd  there." 
The  Basque  claim  is  based  on  better  evidence,  for  in  addition  to  the  stories 

that  French  and  Basque  fishermen  had  known  the  fisheries  of  Newfoundland 
for  centuries  before  Columbus,  it  is  a  fact,  according  to  Peter  Martyr,  that 

Sebastian  Cabot  named  those  regions  Baccalaos  "because  that  in  the  seas thereabout  he  found  so  great  multitude  of  certaine  bigge  fishes,  much  like 
unto  tunies  (which  the  inhabitants  call  baccalaos),  that  they  sometimes  stayed 

his  shippes." Now  baccalaos  is  the  Basque  word  for  a  codfish,  and  since  Cabot  found  it 
in  use  among  the  inhabitants  of  Newfoimdland,  the  Basques  have  a  good 
argument  for  having  arrived  earlier  than  Cabot. 

The  little  city  of  Dieppe  which  furnished  France  one  of  its  few  great  naval 
warriors,  Duquesne,  claims  not  only  to  have  made  important  discoveries  in 
Africa,  but  also  that  a  citizen  named  Jean  Cousin  was  blown  to  Brazil  in  1488 
and  brought  back  the  news.  There  is  a  story  that  two  Italians,  Nicolo  and 
Antonio  Zeno  reached  Aiherica  in  1380  or  1390.  It  is  not  considered  improb- 

able that  certain  Basque  whalers  were  blown  across  the  ocean.  Two  Portu- 
guese sailors,  Cortereal  and  Ramalho  also  are  mentioned  as  discoverers  of 

Newfoundland  in  1463,  and  the  Nuremburg  map-maker  Martin  Behaim  is  said 
to  have  reached  South  America  in  1476,  though  he  did  not  himself  make  the 
claim. 

From  the  Scriptures  the  sons  of  Japhet  and  the  Canaanites  expelled  by 
Joshua  have  been  looked  to;  in  Greek  mythology  the  inhabitants  of  the  lost 
land  of  Atlantis  have  been  advocated.  In  1673  an  American,  probably  with 
humorous  intent,  suggested  that  the  exiled  Trojans  had  fovuid  America. 
The  study  of  the  Indian  languages  has  led  some  to  find  what  they  declared 
imdeniably  words  from  the  Norse,  the  Welsh,  Irish,  Japanese,  Tatar,  and  even 
from  the  Roman  tongues.  In  the  ruins  of  Central  America,  Huidu  and 
Egyptian  elements  have  been  seen  by  ethnologists,  and  botanists  have  found 
trees  of  African  origin. 

In  1790  Benjamin  Smith  Barton,/  workuig  with  a  true  sense  of  the  differ- 
ence between  proof  and  probability,  heaped  up  a  mountain  of  evidence  on  all 

sides  of  the  question,  and  declared  that  a  definite  decision  was  impossible. 
This  is  the  view  now  held  by  the  most  cathoUc  students.  None  the  less  it 
is  of  interest  to  state  the  principal  claimants  for  whom  there  is  any  serious 
evidence. 

THE   LAND  OF  FOUSANG 

There  exists  a  strange  old  account  of  some  Buddhist  priests  who  dis- 
covered the  land  of  Fousang  or  Fusang.  The  Chinese  historian  Ma  Twan-lin 

claims  to  quote  one  of  these  priests,  Hoei  Shin,  who  in  499  described  this 
H.  yr.  — VOL.  XXII.  2d 
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voyage  and  the  land  of  Fusang.  Some  have  claimed  that  Japan  or  some 
adjacent  region  was  the  coast  described;  others  have  insisted  on  Mexico, 
claiming  that  the  fusang  tree  was  the  Mexican  maguey  plant.  Among  those 
who  have  believed  that  the  Buddhists  actually  reached  America  a  thousand 
years  before  Columbus,  and  who  have  claimed  to  find  traces  of  their  residence, 
have  been  De  Guignes,'''  Neumann,'  Paravey,™  Leland,''  and  more  recently 
Vining;"  the  vast  weight  of  authority,  however,  is  most  decidedly  against 
the  theory. 

ICELANDIC  SAGAS  CONCERNING  THE  IRISH  DISCOVERY:  GREAT  IRELAND 

The  next  oldest  claim  after  the  Chinese  is  the  Irish.  Irish  monks  and 
colonists  were  in  Iceland  as  early  as  the  ninth  century  and  there  is  an  Icelandic 
saga  which  not  only  claims  that  the  Irish  preceded  the  Norse  in  Iceland,  but 
also  describes  the  fate  of  the  Icelandic  chief,  Ari  Marson,  who  in  the  tenth 
century  was  storm-driven  to  a  land  occupied  by  Irishmen.  It  was  called 
Huitramannaland,  i.e.  White  Man's  Land;  or  Irland  it  Mikla,  i.e.  Ireland  the Great.    He  was  there  detained. 

The  story  of  Ari  Marson's  voyage  is  thus  quoted  by  Beamish,?  from 
Ari's  9  famous  Landnamabok:  "  Ulf  the  Squinter,  son  of  Hogna  the  White, 
took  all  Reykjanes,  between  Thorkafjord  and  HafraffeU;  he  married  Bjorg, 
daughter  to  Eyvind  the  Eastman,  sister  to  Helge  the  Lean;  their  son  was 
Atli  the  Red,  who  married  Thorbjord,  sister  to  Steinolf  the  Humble;  their 
son  was  Mar  of  Holum,  who  married  Thorkatla,  daughter  of  Hergil  Neprass; 

their  son  was  Ari;  he  was  driven  by  a  tempest  to  White  Man's  Land,  which some  call  Great  Ireland;  it  lies  to  the  west  in  the  sea,  near  to  Vinland  the 

Good,  and  VI  days'  sailing  west  from  Ireland.*  From  thence  could  Ari  not 
get  away,  and  was  there  baptized.  The  story  was  first  told  Rafn  the  Limerick 
merchant,  who  had  long  lived  at  Limerick  in  Ireland.  Thus  said  [also] 
ThorkeU  Gellerson,  that  Icelanders  had  stated,  who  had  heard  Thorfinn 

Jarl  of  the  Orkneys  relate  that  Ari  was  recognised  in  White  Man's  Land, 
and  could  not  get  away  from  thence,  but  was  there  much  respected." 

There  is  an  old  geographical  fragment,  quoted  by  Beamish  as  corroborative 

of  the  preceding:  "Now  are  there,  as  is  said,  south  from  Greenland,  which 
is  inhabitated,  deserts,  uninhabitated  places,  and  ice-bergs,  then  the  Skrsel- 
ings,  then  Markland,  then  Vinland  the  Good;  next,  and  somewhat  behind, 
lies  Albania,  which  is  White  Man's  Land;  thither  was  sailing,  formerly,  from 
Ireland;  there  Irishmen  and  Icelanders  recognised  Ari  the  son  of  Mar  and 
Katla  of  Reykjaness,  of  whom  nothing  had  been  heard  for  a  long  time,  and 

who  had  been  made  a  chief  there  by  the  inhabitants." 
Then  there  is  the  romantic  story  of  the  Eyrbyggja  Saga  concerning  Bjarni 

Asbrandson,  who  having  betrayed  an  Icelandic  married  woman  named  Thurid, 
who  bore  him  a  son,  was  attacked  by  her  husband,  Thorodd,  and  others,  but 
fought  off  his  assailants;  finally,  for  the  sake  of  peace,  he  consented  to  leave  the 
coimtry.  He  sailed  away  in  999  a.d.  and  was  never  seen  there  again.  But  in 
1029  a  merchant,  Gudleif  Gudlangson,  was  blown  to  a  strange  land  and  there 
found  Bjarni  Asbrandson  among  a  people  who  spoke  Irish.  We  quote  from 
this  quaint  saga : " 

['  "  Vi  daegra  sigling  vestr  fra  Irlomdi."  Rafn  ■■  is  of  opinion  that  the  figures  VI  have 
arisen  through  mistake  or  carelessness  of  the  transcriber  of  the  original  manuscript  which  is 
now  lost,  and  were  erroneously  inserted  instead  of  XX,  XI,  or  perhaps  XV,  which  would  bet- 

ter correspond  with  the  distance ;  this  mistaie  might  have  easily  arisen  from  a  blot  or  defect  in 
that  part  of  the  original  manuscript,j| 
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The  Eyrbyggja  Saga  concerning  the  Irish  Colony 

It  happened  in  the  last  years  of  the  reign  of  King  Olaf  the  Saint  that 
Gudleif  undertook  a  trading  voyage  to  DubUn;  but  when  he  sailed  from  the 
west,  intended  he  to  sail  to  Iceland;  he  sailed  then  from  the  west  of  Ireland, 
and  met  with  northeast  winds,  and  was  driven  far  to  the  west  and  southwest, 
in  the  sea,  where  no  land  was  to  be  seen.  But  it  was  already  far  gone  in  the 
summer,  and  they  made  prayers  that  they  might  escape  from  the  sea;  and 
it  came  to  pass  that  they  saw  land. 

It  was  a  great  land,  but  they  knew  not  what  land  it  was.  Then  took  they 
the  resolve  to  sail  to  the  land,  for  they  were  weary  of  contending  longer  with 
the  violence  of  the  sea.  They  found  there  a  good  harbour;  and  when  they 
had  been  a  short  time  on  shore,  came  people  to  them:  they  knew  none  of  the 
people,  but  it  rather  appeared  to  them  that  they  spoke  Irish.  Soon  came  to 
them  so  great  a  number  that  it  made  up  many  hundreds.  These  men  fell 
upon  them  and  seized  them  all,  and  bound  them,  and  drove  them  up  the 
country.  There  were  they  brought  before  an  assembly,  to  be  judged.  They 
understood  so  much  that  some  were  for  killing  them  but  others  would  have 
seem  distributed  amongst  the  inhabitants,  and  made  slaves. 

And  while  this  was  going  on,  saw  they,  where  rode  a  great  body  of  men, 
and  a  large  banner  was  borne  in  the  midst.  Then  thought  they  that  there 
must  be  a  chief  in  the  troop;  but  when  it  came  near,  saw  they  that  under  the 
banner  rode  a  large  and  dignified  man,  who  was  much  in  years,  and  whose 
hair  was  white.  All  present  bowed  down  before  the  man,  and  received  him 
as  well  as  they  could.  Now  observed  they  that  all  opinions  and  resolutions 
concerning  their  business  were  submitted  to  his  decision. 

Then  ordered  they  this  man  Gudleif  and  his  companions  to  be  brought  before 
him,  and  when  they  had  come  before  this  man,  spoke  he  to  them  in  the  North- 

ern tongue,  and  asked  them  from  what  country  they  came.  They  answered 
him  that  the  most  of  them  were  Icelanders.  The  man  asked  which  of  them 
were  Icelanders.  Gudleif  said  that  he  was  an  Icelander.  He  then  saluted 
the  old  man,  and  he  received  it  well,  and  asked  from  what  part  of  Iceland 
he  came.  Gudleif  said  that  he  was  from  that  district  which  hight  Borgafjord. 
Then  inquired  he  from  what  part  of  Borgafjord  he  came,  and  Gudleif  answered 
just  as  it  was.  Then  asked  this  man  about  almost  every  one  of  the  principal 
men  in  Borgafjord  and  Breidafjord;  and  when  they  talked  thereon,  inquired 
he  minutely  about  everything,  first  of  Snorri  Godi,  and  his  sister  Thurid  of 
Froda,  and  most  about  Kjartan  her  son. 

The  people  of  the  country  now  called  out,  on  the  other  side,  that  some 
decision  should  be  made  about  the  seamen.  After  this  went  the  great  man 
away  from  them,  and  named  twelve  of  his  men  with  himself,  and  they  sat  a 
long  time  talking.  Then  went  they  to  the  meeting  of  the  people  and  the 
old  man  said  to  Gudleif:  "I  and  the  people  of  the  country  have  talked  to- 

gether about  your  business,  and  the  people  have  left  the  matter  to  me;  but 
I  will  now  give  ye  leave  to  depart  whence  ye  will;  but  although  ye  may 
think  that  the  summer  is  almost  gone,  yet  will  I  counsel  ye  to  remove  from 

hence,  for  here  are  the  people  not  to  be  trusted,  and  bad  to  deal  with,  and 

they  think  besides  that  the  laws  have  been  broken  to  their  injury." 
Gudleif  answered:  "What  shall  we  say,  if  fate  permits  us  to  return  to 

our  own  country,  who  has  given  us  this  freedom?"  He  answered:  "That 
can  I  not  tell  you,  for  I  like  not  that  my  relations  and  foster-brothers  should 
make  such  a  journey  hereto,  as  ye  would  have  made,  if  ye  had  not  had  the 

benefit  of  my  help;  but  now  is  my  age  so  advanced,  that  I  may  expect  every 
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hour  old  age  to  overpower  me;  and  even  if  I  could  live  yet  for  a  time,  there 
are  here  more  powerful  men  than  me,  who  little  peace  would  give  to  foreigners 
that  might  come  here,  although  they  be  liot  just  here  in  the  neighbourhood 

where  ye  landed." Then  caused  he  their  ship  to  be  made  ready  for  sea,  and  was  there  with 
them,  imtil  a  fair  wind  sprang  up,  which  was  favourable  to  take  them  from 
the  land.  But  before  they  separated  took  this  man  a  gold  ring  from  his  hand, 
and  gave  it  into  the  hands  of  Gudleif,  and  therewith  a  good  sword;  then  said 
he  to  Gudleif:  "If  the  fates  permit  you  to  come  to  your  own  country,  then 
shall  you  take  this  sword  to  the  yeoman,  Kjartan  of  Froda,  but  the  ring  to 

Thurid  his  mother."  Gudleif  replied:  "What  shall  I  say,  about  it,  as  to 
who  sends  them  these  valuables?" 

He  answered:  "Say  that  he  sends  them  who  was  a  better  friend  of  the 
lady  of  Froda,  than  of  her  brother,  Godi  of  Helgafell;  but  if  any  man  there- 

fore thinks  that  he  knows  who  has  owned  these  articles,  then  say  these  my 
words,  that  I  forbid  any  one  to  come  to  me,  for  it  is  the  most  dangerous 
expedition,  tinless  it  happens  as  fortunately  with  others  at  the  landing  place 
as  with  you:  but  here  is  the  land  great,  and  bad  as  to  harbours,  and  in  all 
parts  may  strangers  expect  hostility,  when  it  does  not  turn  out  as  has  been 

with  you." After  this,  Gudleif  and  his  people  put  to  sea,  and  they  landed  in  Ireland 
late  in  harvest,  and  were  in  Dublin  for  the  winter.  But  in  the  summer  after, 
sailed  they  to  Iceland,  and  Gudleif  delivered  over  these  valuables;  and  people 
held  it  for  certain  that  this  man  was  Bjorn,  the  champion  of  Breidavik,  and 
no  other  account  to  be  relied  on  is  there  in  confirmation  of  this,  except  that 
which  is  now  given  here.® 

THE   NORSE   DISCOVEEERS 

We  have  given  the  account  of  the  Irish  settlement  of  Great  Ireland,  which 
sceptics  have  thought  to  be  merely  some  European  island.  We  come  now  to 
the  Norse  claims  which  assert  that  these  sea-rovers  came  to  America  by  way 
of  the  stepping  stone  of  Iceland,  into  Greenland,  and  thence  down  the  coast 
as  far  as  a  region  where  vines  grew.  It  is  claimed  that  the  year  after  the  first 
Norse  settlers  reached  Iceland  a  Norseman  called  Gunnbjorn  was  driven  west 
so  far  that  he  sighted  a  new  land.  Half  a  century  later  the  Norse  adven- 

turers of  whom  we  have  already  read,  found  Ireland  the  Great. 
Next  appears  the  Red  Eric,  a  murderous  brawler  who  left  Norway  for  his 

country's  good,  and  later  found  even  Iceland  too  peaceful  for  him.  Sent  into 
three  years'  exile,  he  went  himting  a  more  congenial  shore.  Having  heard  of 
the  land  that  Gunnbjorn  had  seen,  he  sailed  due  west  and  found  it.  Returning 
at  the  end  of  his  term  of  banishment  he  desired  to  take  out  colonists.  The 

Saga  of  Eric  the  Red  credits  him  with  shrewdness,  for  "  he  called  the  land  which 
he  had  found  Greenland,  because,  quoth  he, '  people  will  be  attracted  thither 
if  the  land  has  a  good  name.'" 

So  effective  were  his  stories  of  the  arctic  region,  that  in  985  (?)  thirty-five 
ships  set  forth  with  him,  of  which  twenty-one  were  lost  on  the  way.  This 
was  the  beginning  of  genuine  colonisation.  In  999  Eric's  son  Leif  went  back 
to  Norway  and  found  that  Christianity  had  become  the  state  religion.  He 
was  converted  and  took  back  to  Greenland  a  priest,  the  first  Christian  mis- 

sionary to  America.  This  great  and  undoubted  colonisation  of  a  portion  of 
arctic  America  was  doomed  to  an  ultimate  failure,  and  the  colonies  eventually 
disappeared.    Some  have  said  that  the  Eskimos  began  to  drive  the  Northmen 
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out  as  early  as  1342.  Communication  with  Iceland  and  the  home  country  of 
Norway  ceased  entirely  in  the  fifteenth  century.  All  that  remains  of  the 
colony  now  is  a  few  ruins  and  a  few  doubtful  remnants  of  custom  or  tradition 
among  the  Eskimos. 

As  early  as  986,  if  we  can  believe  the  sagas,  one  Bjami  Herjulfson,  set  out 
from  Iceland  for  Greenland;  but  was  so  beset  by  north  winds  and  fogs  that 
he  lost  his  bearings  and  at  last  made  out  a  coast  which  did  not  conform  to 
Eric  the  Red's  account  of  the  mountainous  and  icy  coast  of  Greenland.  This 
land  was  "without  mountains  and  covered  with  wood."  They  turned  north and  on  their  way  they  saw  four  different  lands  and  finally  reached  Greenland, 
where  Bjarni  gave  up  sea-faring."  Such  is  the  simple  detail  of  the  first voyage  of  the  Northmen  to  the  western  hemisphere. 

Rafn  r  felt  that  there  were  sufficient  data  in  the  ancient  Icelandic  geograph- ical works  to  determine  the  position  of  the  various  coasts  and  headlands  thus 
discovered  by  Bjami  Herjulfson.  A  day's  sail  was  estimated  by  the  North- 

men at  from  twenty-seven  to  thirty  geographical  miles,  and  the  knowledge  of 
this  fact,  together  with  that  of  the  direction  of  the  wind,  the  course  steered,  the 
appearance  of  the  shores,  and  other  details  contained  in  the  narrative  itself,, 
together  with  the  more  minute  description  of  the  same  lands  given  by  suc- 

ceeding voyagers,  leave  no  doubt,  according  to  some  writers,  that  the  coimtries. 
thus  discovered  by  Bjami  Herjulfson  were  Connecticut,  Long  Island,  Rhode 
Island,  Massachusetts,  Nova  Scotia,  and  Newfoimdland;  and  that  the  date 
of  the  expedition  is  determined  by  the  passage  in  the  preliminary  narrative 
which  fixes  the  period  of  Herjulfson's  settlement  at  Herjulf's  Ness  in  Iceland. 
R.  G.  Haliburton  gives  a  map  in  which  Bjarni's  course  is  marked  as  entering 
the  St.  Lawrence  Gulf  by  the  south,  and  emerging  by  the  straits  of  Belle- 
Isle. 

It  may,  perhaps,  be  urged  in  disparagement  of  these  discoveries  that  they 
were  accidental  —  that  Bjarni  Herjulfson  set  out  in  search  of  Greenland,  and 
fell  in  with  the  eastern  coast  of  North  America;  but  so  it  was,  also,  with 
Columbus. 

_  Bjami  had  had  enough  of  the  north  Atlantic  winds,  but  the  story  excited 
Leif,  Eric's  son,  to  himt  that  fair  shore  seen  by  Bjami.  About  the  year  1000 
he  set  out  with  thirty-five  companions.  The  old  account  as  given  in  the 
sagas  is  interesting  and  important  enough  to  quote  as  translated  from  the 

Codex  Flatoyensis  or  Flatey  Book.  We  have  put  in  footnotes  Rafn's*"  shrewd 
guesses  at  the  identity  of  the  places  mentioned,  though  it  is  necessary  to 
caution  the  reader  that  they  are  only  cateful  speculations  not  adhered  to  by 
many  severe  critics." 

THE   SAGA   OF  VINELAND   THE   GOOD    {CodcX  Fltttoyensis) 

The  next  thing  now  to  be  related  is  that  Bjarni  Herjulfson  went  out  from 
Greenland,  and  visited  Eric  Jarl  [i.e.  Red  Eric,  the  earl  or  jarl],  and  the  jarl 
received  him  well.  Bjami  told  about  his  voyages,  that  he  had  seen  unknown 
liands,  and  people  thought  that  he  had  shown  no  curiosity  when  he  had  nothing 
to  relate  about  these  countries;  and  this  became  somewhat  a  matter  of 

reproach  to  him.  Bjami  became  one  of  the  jarl's  courtiers,  and  came  back to  Greenland  the  summer  after.  There  was  now  much  talk  about  voyages  of 
discovery.  Leif,  the  son  of  Eric  the  Red,  of  Brattelid,  went  to  Bjami  Her^ 
julfson,  and  bought  the  ship  of  him,  and  engaged  men  for  it,  so  that  there  were 
thirty-five  men  in  all.  Leif  asked  his  father  Eric  to  be  the  leader  on  the 
voyage,  but  Eric  excused  himself,  saying  that  he  was  pretty  well  stricken  in 
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years,  and  could  not  now,  as  formerly,  hold  out  all  the  hardships  of  the  sea. 
There  was  a  southerner  on  the  voyage,  hight  Tyrker. 

Now  prepared  they  their  ship,  and  sailed  out  into  the  sea  when  they  were 
ready,  and  then  found  that  land  first  which  Bjarni  had  found  lasts  There 
sailed  they  to  the  land,  and  cast  anchor,  and  put  off  boats,  and  went  ashore, 
and  saw  there  no  grass.  Great  icebergs  were  over  all  up  the  country,  but  like 
a  plain  of  flat  stones  was  all  from  the  sea  to  the  mountains,  and  it  appeared 
to  them  that  this  land  had  no  good  qualities.  Then  said  Leif,  "We  have  not 
done  like  Bjarni  about  this  land,  that  we  have  not  been  upon  it;  now  will  I 
give  the  land  a  name,  and  call  it  Helluland  [from  hella,  a  flat  stone,  perhaps 
slate."]  Then  went  they  on  board,  and  after  that  sailed  out  to  sea,  and 
found  another  land;  they  sailed  again  to  the  land,  and  cast  anchor,  then  put 
off  boats  and  went  on  shore. 

This  land  was  flat,  and  covered  with  wood,  and  white  sands  were  far 
around  where  they  went,  and  the  shore  was  low.  Then  said  Leif,  "  This  land 
shall  be  named  after  its  qualities,  and  called  Markland  (woodland)."  They 
then  immediately  returned  to  the  ship.  Now  sailed  they  thence  into  the  open 
sea,  with  a  northeast  wind,  and  were  two  days  at  sea  before  they  saw  land, 
and  they  sailed  thither  and  came  to  an  island  which  lay  to  the  eastward  of 
the  land,  and  went  up  there,  and  looked  round  them  in  good  weather,  and 
observed  that  there  was  dew  upon  the  grass;  and  it  so  happened  that  they 
touched  the  dew  with  their  hands,  and  raised  the  fingers  to  the  mouth,  and 

they  thought  that  they  had  never  before  tasted  anything  so  sweet.^ 
After  that  they  went  to  the  ship,  and  sailed  into  a  sound,  which  lay  between 

the  island  and  a  ness  (promontory),  which  ran  out  to  the  eastward  of  the  land; 
and  then  steered  westwards  past  the  ness.  It  was  very  shallow  at  ebb  tide, 
and  their  ship  stood  up,  so  that  it  was  far  to  see  from  the  ship  to  the  water. 

But  so  much  did  they  desire  to  land  that  they  did  not  give  themselves 
time  to  wait  xmtil  the  water  again  rose  under  their  ship,  but  ran  at  once  on 
shore,  at  a  place  where  a  river  flows  out  of  a  lake :  but  so  soon  as  the  waters 
rose  up  under  the  ship,  then  took  they  boats,  and  rowed  to  the  ship,  and 
floated  it  up  to  the  river,  and  thence  into  the  lake,  and  there  cast  anchor,  and 
brought  up  from  the  ship  their  skin  cots,  and  made  their  booths.^ 

.Mter  this  took  they  counsel,  and  formed  the  resolution  of  remaining  there 
for  the  winter,  and  built  there  large  houses.  There  was  no  want  of  salmon 
either  in  the  river  or  in  the  lake,  and  larger  salmon  than  they  had  before  seen. 
The  nature  of  the  country  was,  as  they  thought,  so  good  that  cattle  wotild  not 

require  house  feeding  in  winter,  for*  there  came  no  frost  in  winter,  and  little 
did  the  grass  wither  there.  Day  and  night  were  more  equal  than  in  Green- 

land or  Iceland,  for  or  the  shortest  day  was  the  sim  above  the  horizon  from 

half  past  seven  in  the  forenoon  till  half  past  four  in  the  afternoon.' 
But  when  they  had  done  with  the  house  building,  Leif  said  to  his  com- 

rades :  "  Now  will  I  divide  our  men  into  two  parts,  and  have  land  explored, 

[*  This  island  appears  to  have  been  Nantucket,  where  honey  dew  is  known  to  abound,  and 
Hell  aland  and  MarUand  are  clearly  shown  by  Rafn  ■■ — on  the  authority  of  modern  voyagers  and 
hydrographers,  the  chief  of  whom  are  quoted  in  the  preceding  notes — to  be  Newfoundland 
and  Nova  Scotia.—  Bbamibh.p] 

['  From  these  details  Rafn  >•  thinks  it  evident  that  Leif  and  his  companions  shaped  their 
course  through  Nantucket  Bay,  beyond  the  southwestern  extremity  of  the  peninsula  of  Cape 

Cod  ;  thence  across  the  mouth  of  Buzzard's  Bay  to  Seaconnet  Passage,  and  thus  up  the  Pocasset 
river  to  Mount  Hope  Bay,  which  they  seem  to  have  taken  for  a  lake.P] 

['  This  would  give  very  nearly  the  latitude  of  Mount  Hope  Bay,  which  locality  is  previously 
pointed  out  by  the  details  relating  to  the  soil  and  climate,  and  fully  corresponds  with  the 
descriptions  of  modern  travellers.?] 
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and  the  half  of  the  men  shall  remain  at  home  at  the  house,  while  the  other 
explore  the  land;  but,  however,  not  go  further  than  that  they  can  come  home 

in  the  evening,  and  they  should  not  separate."  Now  they  did  so  for  a  time, 
and  Leif  changed  about,  so  that  the  one  day  he  went  with  them,  and  the 
other  remained  at  home  in  the  house.  Leif  was  a  great  and  strong  man, 
grave  and  well  favoured,  therewith  sensible  and  moderate  in  all  things. 

It  happened  one  evening  that  a  man  of  the  party  was  missing,  and  this 
was  Tyrker  the  German.  This  took  Leif  much  to  heart,  for  Tyrker  had  been 
long  with  his  father  and  him,  and  loved  Leif  much  in  his  childhood.  Leif 
now  took  his  people  severely  to  task,  and  prepared  to  seek  for  Tyrker,  and 
took  twelve  men  with  him.  But  when  they  had  gotten  a  short  way  from  the 
house,  then  came  Tyrker  towards  them,  and  was  joyfully  received.  Leif  soon 
saw  that  his  foster-father  was  not  in  his  right  senses.  Tyrker  had  a  high 
forehead,  and  imsteady  eyes,  was  freckled  in  the  face,  smaU  and  mean  in 

statiu-e,  but  excellent  in  all  kinds  of  artifice.  Then  said  Leif  to  him :  "Why 
were  thou  so  late,  my  fosterer,  and  separated  from  the  party?" 

He  now  spoke  first,  for  a  long  time,  in  German,  and  rolled  his  eyes  about 
to  different  sides,  and  twisted  his  mouth,  but  they  did  not  imderstand  what 

he  said.  After  a  time  he  spoke  Norsk:  "I  have  not  been  much  further  off, 
but  still  have  I  something  new  to  tell  of;  I  found  vines  and  grapes."  "But 
is  that  true,  my  fosterer?"  quoth  Leif.  "Surely  is  it  true,"  replied  he,  "for 
I  was  bred  up  in  a  land  where  there  is  no  want  of  either  vines  or  grapes." 
They  slept  now  for  the  night,  but  in  the  morning  Leif  said  to  his  sailors: 

"  We  wiU  now  set  about  two  things,  in  that  the  one  day  we  gather  grapes,  and 
the  other  day  cut  vines  and  fell  trees,  so  from  thence  will  be  a  loading  for  my 

ship,"  and  that  was  the  counsel  taken,  and  it  is  said  their  long  boat  was 
filled  with  grapes.  Now  was  a  cargo  cut  down  for  the  ship,  and  when  the 
spring  came,  they  got  ready,  and  sailed  away,  and  Leif  gave  the  land  a  name 
after  its  qualities,  and  called  it  Vinland.'  They  sailed  now  into  the  open  sea, 
and  had  a  fair  wind  imtil  they  saw  Greenland,  and  the  mountains  below 
the  joklers. 

Leif  was,  after  that,  called  Leif  the  Lucky.  Leif  had  now  earned  both 
riches  and  respect.  This  winter  died  also  Eric  the  Red.  Now  was  there 

much  talk  about  Leif 's  voyage  to  Vinland,  and  Thorvald,  his  brother,  thought 
that  the  land  had  been  much  too  little  explored.  Then  said  Leif  to  Thorvald: 

"Thou  canst  go  with  my  ship,  brother,  if  thou  wUt,  to  Vinland." 
Now  Thorvald  made  ready  for  this  voyage  with  thirty  men,  and  took 

■coimsel  thereon  with  Leif  his  brother.  Then  made  they  their  ship  ready,  and 
put  to  sea,  and  nothing  is  told  of  their  voyage  until  they  came  to  Leif 's  booths 
in  Vinland.  There  they  laid  up  their  ship,  and  spent  a  pleasant  winter,  and 
caught  fish  for  their  support.  But  in  the  spring  said  Thorvald  that  they 

should  make  ready  the  ship,  and  that  some  of  the  men  shotdd  take  the  ship's 
long  boat  round  the  western  part  of  the  land,  and  explore  there  during  the 
summer.  To  them  appeared  the  land  fair  and  woody,  and  but  a  short  dis- 

tance between  the  wood  and  the  sea,  and  white  sands;  there  were  many 
islands,  and  much  shallow  water.  They  found  neither  dwellings  of  men  nor 
beasts  except  upon  an  island,  to  the  westward,  where  they  found  a  com-shed 

['  It  appears  by  a  communication  from  Dr.  Webb,  secretary  to  the  Rhode  Island  Historical 
Society,  which  is  given  in  that  part  of  Rafn's  "■  worlt  entitled  Monumentum  vetustum  in  Mas- 
sachussetts,  that  wild  grape  vines  of  several  varieties,  as  well  as  maize  or  Indian  corn,  and  other 
esculents,  were  found  growing  in  that  district,  in  great  profusion,  when  it  was  first  visited  by 
the  Europeans.  Hence  the  name  of  Vinland  (Vineland),  given  to  the  country  by  Leif,  a  name 
mentioned  by  Adam  of  Bremen,'  and  Torfseus,"  as  well  as  by  Pinkerton"  and  Malte  Brun,""  as 
■designating  a  country  frequently  visited  by  the  Northmen.?] 
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of  wood,  but  many  works  of  men  they  found  not;  and  they  then  went  back 
and  came  to  Leif's  booths  in  the  autumn. 

But  the  next  summer  went  Thorvald  eastward  with  the  ship,  and  round 
the  land  to  the  northward.  Here  came  a  heavy  storm  upon  them  when  off  a 
ness,  so  that  they  were  driven  on  shore,  and  the  keel  broke  off  from  the  ship 
and  they  remained  here  a  long  time,  and  repaired  their  ship.  Then  said 
Thorvald  to  his  companions:  "Now  will  I  that  we  fix  up  the  keel  here  upon 
the  ness,  and  call  it  Keelness"  (Kjarlness),  and  so  did  they.  After  that  they 
sailed  away  round  the  eastern  shores  of  the  land,  and  into  the  mouths  of  the 
friths,  which  lay  nearest  thereto,  and  to  a  point  of  land  which  stretched  out, 
and  was  covered  all  over  with  wood.  There  they  came-to  with  the  ship  and 
shoved  out  a  plank  to  the  land,  and  Thorvald  went  up  the  country,  with  all 

his  companions.  He  then  said:  "Here  it  is  beautiful,  and  here  would  I  like 
to  raise  my  dwelling."  Then  went  they  to  the  ship,  and  saw  upon  the  sands 
within  the  promontory  three  elevations,  and  went  thither,  and  saw  there  three 
skin  boats  (canoes)  and  three  men  under  each. 

Then  divided  they  their  people,  and  caught  them  aU,  except  one,  who  got 
away  with  his  boat.  They  killed  the  other  eight,  and  then  went  back  to  the 
cape,  and  looked  round  them,  and  saw  some  heights  inside  of  the  frith,  and 
supposed  that  these  were  dwellings.  After  that,  so  great  a  drowsiness  came 
upon  them,  that  they  could  not  keep  awake,  and  they  all  fell  asleep.  Then 

came  a  shout  over  them,  so  that  they  all  awoke.  Thus  said  the  shout:  "  Wake 
thou!  Thorvald!  and  all  thy  companions,  if  thou  wilt  preserve  life,  and  return 

thou  to  thy  ship,  with  all  thy  men,  and  leave  the  land  without  delay." Then  rushed  out  from  the  interior  of  the  frith  an  innumerable  crowd  of 

skin  boats,  and  made  towards  them.  Thorvald  said  then:  "  We  will  put  out 
the  battle-screen,  and  defend  ourselves  as  well  as  we  can,  but  fight  little 
against  them."  So  did  they,  and  the  Skrselings  *  shot  at  them  for  a  time,  but 
afterwards  ran  away,  each  as  fast  as  he  could.  Then  asked  Thorvald  his  men 
if  they  had  gotten  any  wounds;  they  answered  that  no  one  was  wounded. 

"I  have  gotten  a  woimd  under  the  arm,"  said  he,  "for  an  arrow  fled 
between  the  edge  of  the  ship  and  the  shield,  in  under  my  arm,  and  here  is  the 
arrow,  and  it  will  prove  a  mortal  wound  to  me.  Now  counsel  I  ye  that  ye  get 
ready  instantly  to  depart,  but  ye  shall  bear  me  to  that  cape,  where  I  thought 
it  best  to  dwell;  it  may  be  that  a  true  word  fell  from  my  mouth,  that  I  should 
dwell  there  for  a  time;  there  shall  ye  bury  me,  and  set  up  crosses  at  my  head 

and  feet,  and  call  the  place  Krossaness  ^  forever  in  all  time  to  come."  Green- 
land was  then  christianised,  but  Eric  the  Red  died  before  Christianity  was 

introduced.  Now  Thorvald  died,  but  they  did  all  things  according  to  his 
directions,  and  then  went  away,  and  returned  to  their  companions,  and  told 
to  each  other  the  tidings  which  they  knew,  and  dwelt  there  for  the  winter,  and 
gathered  grapes  and  vines  to  load  the  ship.  But  in  the  spring  they  made 
ready  to  sail  to  Greenland  and  came  with  their  ship  in  Eriksfjord,  and  could 
now  tell  great  tidings  to  Leif.a; 

In  the  season  following  these  events  (1005-6),  Thomstein,  the  third  son  of 
Eric,  embarked  with  his  wife  Gudrida,  in  search  of  the  body  of  Thorvald, 
which  they  wished  to  bring  back  to  Greenland.  The  voyage  was  unsuccessful. 
They  were  tossed  about  all  summer,  and  knew  not  whither  they  were  driven. 

['  Of  Skrailinger,  various  definitions  have  been  given,  some  authors  attributing  it  to  the  low 
stature  of  the  Eskimos,  who  are  also  called  Smaelingar  (diminutive  men)  by  Icelandic 
authors,  and  others  deducing  it  from  ihrmla,  to  make  dry,  in  allusion  to  their  withered  appear- 

ance. The  word  skrcehja,  to  cry  out,  has  also  been  given  as  the  etymology  of  the  term,  from 
their  habit  of  shouting.*] 

['  This  appears  to  have  been  Cape  or  Point  Aldeeton,  according  to  Bafn.**] 
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It  was  winter  before  they  made  the  western  coast  of  Greenland,  where  Thom- 
stein  died.  In  the  spring,  Gudrida,  his  wife,  returned  to  the  family  seat  at Eriksfjord. 

The  following  year,  1006,  is  of  importance  in  the  history  of  these  expedi- 
tions. In  the  summer  of  this  year,  there  arrived  in  Greenland  two  ships  from 

Iceland.  The  one  was  commanded  by  Thorfinn,  surnamed  Karlsefne,  that 
is,  the  Hopeful,  a  wealthy  and  powerful  personage,  of  illustrious  lineage, 
descended  from  Danish,  Norwegian,  Swedish,  Irish,  and  Scottish  ancestors, 
some  of  whom  were  of  royal  rank.  The  other  ship  was  commanded  by 
Bjami  Grimolfson  and  Thorhall  Gamlason.  They  kept  the  festival  of  Yule 
(Christmas)  at  Eriksfjord.  Here  Thorfinn  became  enamoured  of  Gudrida, 
and  espoused  her  in  the  course  of  the  winter. 

The  discoveries  in  Vinland  were  the  subject  of  great  interest  in  the  family 
of  Eric.  Thorfinn  was  urged  by  his  wife  and  the  other  members  of  the  family 
to  undertake  a  voyage  to  the  newly-discovered  country.  Accordingly,  in  the 
spring  of  1007,  he  and  his  associates  embarked  in  their  two  vessels;  and  a 
third  ship,  commanded  by  Thorvald  (who  had  married  Freydisa,  a  natural 
daughter  of  Eric),  was  joined  to  the  expedition.  The  party  consisted,  in  the 
whole,  of  one  hundred  and  forty  men.  They  took  with  them  all  kinds  of  live 
stock,  intending,  if  possible,  to  colonise  the  cotmtry.  They  touched  at 
Helluland,  on  their  way  southward,  and  found  many  foxes  there.  Markland 
also  they  found  stocked  with  wild  animals. 

Proceeding  southward,  the  voyagers  made  Kjarlness  (Cape  Cod  ?)*,  and 
passed  trackless  deserts  and  long  tracts  of  sandy  beach,  which  they  called 
Furdustrandir.  They  continued  their  course  until  they  came  to  a  place, 
where  a  frith  penetrated  far  into  the  country.  Off  the  mouth  of  it  was  an 
island,  past  which  there  ran  strong  currents,  which  was  also  the  case  farther 
up  the  frith.  On  the  island  there  was  an  immense  number  of  eider-ducks,  so 
that  it  was  scarcely  possible  to  walk  without  treading  upon  their  eggs.  They 
called  the  island  Straumey  or  Stream  Isle  (Martha's  Vineyard?),  and  the 
frith,  Straum  Fjords  or  Stream  Frith  (Buzzard's  Bay?) ;  and  on  its  shores  they 
landed  and  made  preparations  for  a  winter's  residence.  They  found  the  coun- 

try extremely  beautiful,  and  set  themselves  to  explore  it  in  all  directions. 
Thorhall,  with  a  party  of  eight  men,  took  a  course  northward,  in  search  of 

the  settlements  of  Leif,  at  Vinland;  but  they  were  driven  by  westerly  gales 
to  the  coast  of  Ireland,  and  there  made  slaves.  Thorfinn,  with  the  rest  of  the 
company,  in  all  one  hundred  and  thirty-one  men,  sailed  southward,  and 
arrived  at  a  place  where  a  river  falls  into  the  sea  from  a  lake.  Opposite  to  the 
mouth  of  the  river  were  large  islands.  They  steered  into  the  lake  and  called 
the  place  Hop  (Mount  Hope  Bay?).  On  the  low  grounds  they  foimd  fields 
covered  with  wheat  growing  wild,  and  on  the  rising  grounds,  vines.  Here 
they  were  visited  by  great  numbers  of  the  natives  in  canoes.  These  people 
are  described  as  sallow-coloured,  ill-looking,  with  imsightly  heads  of  hair, 
large  eyes,  and  broad  cheeks.  Thorfinn  and  his  company  erected  their  houses 
a  little  above  the  bay  and  passed  the  winter  there.  No  snow  fell,  and  the 
cattle  found  their  food  in  the  open  field. 

In  the  following  spring,  1008,  the  natives  began  to  assemble  in  numbers, 
and  open  a  trade  with  the  strangers.  The  articles  exchanged  were  furs  on  the 
one  side,  and  strips  of  cloth  on  the  other.  In  the  course  of  the  season,  Gudrida, 
the  wife  of  Thorfinn,  gave  birth  to  a  son,  who  was  called  Snorre,  and  who  was 
the  first  child,  of  European  descent,  bom  in  America,  and  the  ancestor  of  many 

[•  The  suggestions  in  parentheses  are  by  Eafn.'] 
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distinguished  personages  at  the  present  day,  whose  descent  is  lineally  traced 
to  Thorfinn  and  Gudrida,  in  the  Icelandic  genealogical  tables.  Among  these 
is  Thorvaldsen,  the  great  sculptor. 

After  other  adventures  and  contests  with  the  natives,  Thorfinn  returned 
to  Greenland,  leaving  a  part  of  his  company  established  in  the  new  country. 
After  a  few  years  spent  in  Greenland,  Thorfinn  purchased  an  estate  in  Iceland, 
in  1015,  where  he  passed  the  rest  of  his  life,  as  did  Snorre,  his  American  son. 
After  the  death  of  Thorfinn,  and  the  marriage  of  her  son,  Gudrida  made  a 
pilgrimage  to  Rome .  The  family  remained  distinguished  for  wealth,  influence, 
and  intelligence.  Thorlak,  the  grandson  of  Snorre,  was  raised  to  the  Episcopal 
rank,  and  was  of  great  repute  for  his  learning.  He  compiled  a  code  of  the 
ecclesiastical  law  of  Iceland,  which  is  stiU  extant;  and  he  is  very  likely  to  have 
been  the  person  who  committed  to  writing  the  Sagas,  or  traditions  of  the 
voyages  and  adventures  of  which  the  foregoing  narrative  is  an  abstract. 

In  the  year  1011,  the  colony  in  Vinland  left  by  Thorfinn,  was  joined  by 
Helge  and  Fiimboge,  two  brothers  from  Iceland,  who  were  accompanied  in 
their  voyage  by  Thorvald,  and  his  wife  Freydisa,  a  daughter  of  Eric  the  Red. 
This  woman  excited  a  quarrel,  which  proved  fatal  to  about  thirty  of  the 
colonists.  Detested  for  her  vices,  she  was  constrained  to  return  to  Greenland, 
where  she  lived  despised  and  died  imlamented. 

From  this  period,  we  hear  no  more  of  the  northern  colony  in  America  till 
the  year  1059,  when  an  Irish  or  Saxon  priest,  named  Jon  or  John,  who  had 
preached  some  time  as  a  missionary  in  Iceland,  went  to  Vinland  for  the  pur- 

pose of  converting  the  colonists  to  Christianity,  where  he  was  murdered  by 
the  heathen.  A  bishop  of  Greenland,  Erik  Upsa,  afterwards  (1121)  imder- 
took  the  same  voyage,  for  the  same  purpose,  but  his  success  is  uncertain. 
The  authenticity  of  the  Icelandic  accounts  of  the  discovery  and  settlement  of 
Vinland,  were  recognised  in  Denmark,  shortly  after  this  period,  by  King 
Swejm  Estrithson,  Sweno  II,  in  a  conversation  which  Adam  of  Bremen* had 
with  this  monarch. 

In  the  latter' part  of  the  fourteenth  century,  two  Venetian  navigators,  sail- ing in  the  service  of  a  Norman  prince  of  the  Orcades,  are  said  to  have  visited 
Vinland,  and  to  have  found  traces  of  the  colony  left  by  the  Northmen.  From 
that  time  to  the  discovery  of  the  New  World  by  Colmnbus,  there  was  no 
communication  —  none  at  least  that  is  known  —  between  it  and  the  north 
of  Europe. 

This  circumstance  has  induced  many  to  doubt  of  facts  which  have  already 
been  related.  If,  they  contend,  North  America  were  really  discovered  and 
repeatedly  visited  by  the  Icelanders,  how  came  a  country  so  fertile  in  com- 

parison with  that  island  or  with  Greenland,  or  even  Norway,  to  be  so  suddenly 
abandoned?  This  is  certainly  a  difficulty,  but  a  greater  one  in  our  opinion  is 
involved  in  the  rejection  of  all  the  evidence  that  has  been  adduced.  The 
history  is  not  founded  upon  one  tradition  or  record,  but  upon  many;  and  it  is 
confirmed  by  a  variety  of  collateral  and  incidental  facts,  as  well  established 
as  any  of  the  contemporary  relations  upon  which  historical  inquirers  are 
accustomed  to  rely.  For  relations  so  numerous  and  so  uniform,  for  circum- 

stances so  naturally  and  so  graphically  described,  there  must  have  been  some 
foundation.  Even  fiction  does  not  invent,  it  only  exaggerates.  There  is 
nothing  imi)robable  in  the  alleged  voyages.  The  Scandinavians  were  the  best 

navigators  in  the  world.'    From  authentic  and  indubitable  testimony,  we 
[*  That  their  eager  and  daring  nature  should  have  deserted  them  at  this  point  is  hardly 

conceivable.  We  may  consider  that  the  weight  of  probability  is  in  favour  of  a  Northman 
descent  upon  the  coast  of  the  American  mainland  at  some  point  or  at  several,  but  the  evidence 
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know  that  their  ships  visited  every  sea,  from  the  Mediterranean  to  the  Baltic, 
from  the  extremity  of  the  Finland  Gulf  to  the  entrance  of  Davis  Strait. 

Men  thus  familiar  with  distant  seas  must  have  made  a  greater  progress  in 
the  science  of  navigation  than  we  generally  allow.  The  voyage  from  Reykja- 

vik, in  Iceland,  to  Cape  Farewell,  is  not  longer  than  that  from  the  south- 
western extremity  of  Iceland  —  once  well  colonised  —  to  the  eastern  coast 

of  Labrador. 

But  does  the  latter  country  itself  exhibit  in  modern  times  any  vestiges  of  a 
higher  civilisation  than  we  should  expect  to  find  if  no  Europeans  had  ever 
visited  it?  So  at  least  the  Jesuit  missionaries  inform  us.  They  found  the 
cross,  a  knowledge  of  the  stars,  a  superior  kind  of  worship,  a  more  ingenious 
mind  among  the  inhabitants  of  the  coast  which  is  thought  to  have  been 
colonised  from  Greenland.  They  even  assure  us  that  many  Norwegian  words 
are  to  be  found  in  the  dialect  of  the  people.  The  causes  which  led  to  the 
destruction  of  the  settlement  were  probably  similar  to  those  which  produced 
the  same  effect  in  Greenland. 

A  handful  of  colonists,  cut  off  from  all  communication  with  the  mother 
country,  and  consequently  deprived  of  the  means  for  repressing  their  savage 
neighbours,  could  not  be  expected  to  preserve  always  their  original  character- 

istics. They  would  either  be  exterminated  by  hostilities  or  driven  to  amalga- 
mate with  the  natives:  probably  both  causes  led  to  the  unfortunate  result. 

The  only  difficulty  in  this  subject  is  that  which  we  have  before  mentioned, 
viz. :  the  sudden  and  total  cessation  of  all  intercourse  with  Iceland  or  Green- 

land; and  even  this  must  diminish  when  we  remember  that  in  the  fourteenth 
century  the  Norwegian  colony  in  Greenland  disappeared  in  the  same  manner, 
after  a  residence  in  the  coimtry  of  more  than  three  hundred  years. 

On  weighing  the  preceding  circumstances  and  the  simple  and  natural 
language  in  which  they  are  recorded,  few  men  not  bom  in  Italy  or  Spain  will 
deny  to  the  Scandinavians  the  claim  of  having  been  the  original  discoverers 
of  the  New  World.y 

WHAT  CREDIT  IS  DUE   TO   COLUMBUS? 

In  many  of  the  cases  of  alleged  discovery,  historians  can  only  say:  "This 
is  not  impossible.  It  is  even  probable.  But  it  is  not  supported  by  genuine 
evidence,  except  in  the  case  of  the  Scandinavians.  The  one  certain  thing  is 
that  Columbus  brought  America  into  general  European  cognisance,  and  made 
possible  the  great  flow  of  colonisation  over  seas. 

Discovery  was  indeed  the  fashion  of  the  time.  The  Portuguese  began  it 

with  the  support  of  Prince  Henry,  "  the  navigator."  Their  wonderful  prowess 
has  been  discussed  in  our  history  of  Portugal.  Had  Columbus  not  discovered 
America,  someone  else  would  certainly  have  done  so  soon.  But  this  should  not 
be  allowed  to  diminish  his  credit.  Had  Newton  not  made  his  generalisation  on 
gravitation,  someone  else  would  eventually  have  reached  it.  Just  as  Darwin 
was  about  to  present  to  the  world  his  life-thesis  on  evolution  he  received  an 
elaborate  presentation  of  the  same  idea  from  Alfred  Russel  Wallace,  then  in 
the  Antipodes.  Immediately  upon  the  publication  of  the  two  works  a  deluge 
of  citations  appeared  showing  how  ancient  the  idea  was.  But  whereas 
philosophers,  poets,  and  modem  scientists  had  recorded  their  opinions, 
dreams,  and  theories  only  as  so  much  learned  guess-work,  Charles  Darwin 

is  hardly  that  which  establishes  well-established  records.  The  archaeological  traces  which  are 
lacking  further  south  are  abundant  in  Greenland,  and  confirm  in  the  most  positive  way  the 
Norse  occupation. — Winsob.''] 
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spent  ten  years  piling  up  evidence  based  on  actual  experiment  and  investiga- 
tion. So  it  is  with  Columbus;  ancient  Greek  theories,  old-time  poetry,  the 

adventures  of  voyagers  unwillingly  blown  to  strange  lands  and  eager  only  to 
get  home  again  —  these  were  but  the  smoke  that  precedes  every  cannon  ball. 

The  theory  that  the  world  is  round  dates  at  least  from  Pythagoras.  It 
was  Columbus  alone  that  determined  to  prove  the  sphericity  of  the  globe  by 
actual  travel:  it  was  he  that  spent  eighteen  long  years  of  travel  from  court  to 
court,  suggesting,  imploring,  bribing,  threatening,  wrangling,  haggling,  cajol- 

ing, till  he  secured  his  three  ships.  It  was  he  that  went  forth  to  see  what  lay 
beyond  the  western  horizon.  It  was  he  that  held  a  mutinous,  hysterical, 
superstitious  crew  imder  his  will  by  threats,  lies,  prayers,  and  bribery.  It  was 
he  that  foimd  land,  and  brought  back  natives,  fruits,  metals,  maps,  facts, 
allurements. 

Columbus  could  not,  of  course,  explore  all  he  had  discovered;  but  he  was 
the  forerunner  of  the  swarm  of  exploration  that  became  ahnost  the  chief 
industry  of  the  time.  It  was  pitiable  that  he  should  have  died  in  the  belief 
that  he  had  found  India;  but  his  mistake  was  soon  discovered  by  the  rest  of 
mankind. 

The  personal  character  of  Columbus  has  been  a  battle-ground,  men  like 
Irving  2  smoothing  over  his  defects  and  enlarging  upon  the  no  greater  defects 
of  men  like  Bobadilla;  historians  like  Winsor  bb  dealing  with  his  faults  unspar- 

ingly. But  it  was  the  old  truth  that  a  man  has  "  the  defects  of  his  qualities." 
If  Columbus  had  been  less  mercenary,  he  would  not  have  haggled  with  the 
queen,  or  denied  the  seaman  who  first  saw  land  his  pension,  or  begun  the 
slave  trade  as  a  means  of  wringing  profit  from  the  goldless  islands;  but 
neither  would  his  dream  of  the  wealth  that  would  accrue  from  finding  a 
waterway  to  India  have  upheld  him  in  his  long  poverty  and  deferment.  If 
he  had  been  more  rigidly  honest  and  more  merciful  he  would  not  have  butch- 

ered the  wretched  natives  and  earned  the  bitter  hatred  of  his  subordinates 
and  the  suspicion  of  his  superiors  as  he  did;  but  neither  would  he  have  kept 
two  log-books,  one  of  them  false,  to  deceive  his  crew  as  to  the  distance  they 
had  gone  —  he  would  have  listened  to  their  prayers,  had  pity  for  their  anguish 

of  terror, 'and  turned  back  to  Spain.  His  vices  were  but  the  other  side  of  the pendulum  swing  of  the  fierce,  unending  energy  that  made  him  the  man  he 
was,  and  led  him  to  the  deed  he  did. 

If  mercy  is  shown  to  his  faults,  it  should  also  be  shown  to  the  faults  of  his 
enemies  and  his  well-meaning  opponents.  It  must  be  remembered  that  Co- 

lumbus promised  Spain  the  vast  trade  of  India  and  China;  and  gaye  Spain  a 
savage  wilderness  of  naked  paupers  living  in  jungles  that  absorbed  vast  sums 
of  Spain's  money  and  great  nimibers  of  Spain's  sons.  The  disappointment 
was  bitter,  and  as  Columbus  had  made  his  appeal  to  Spanish  cupidity,  by 
Spanish  cupidity  he  was  judged.  The  adventurers  returning  in  rags  and 
sickness  became  beggars  for  the  king's  charity.  When  they  saw  the  children 
of  Columbus  go  about  in  splendour,  they  jeered  at  them  as  "  the  sons  of  the 
admiral  of  Mosquitoland  —  that  man  who  discovered  the  lands  of  deceit  and 

regret  —  a  region  of'  graves  and  misery  for  the  hidalgos  of  Spain." To  them  Columbus  was  a  failure  as  a  discoverer.  Even  to  us  his  failure 
as  a  governor  was  absolute  and  dire.  He  was  the  fanatic  that  does  one  great 
service  to  the  world  and  with  it  outweighs  a  mjrriad  mistakes  and  crimes 
equally  fanatic. 

In  this  connection  occurs  a  speculation  of  some  importance  as  indicating 
that  there  is  actually  some  progress  in  human  affairs.  What  would  have  been 
the  result  for  the  world  if  America  had  not  been  discovered  till  two  or  three 
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centuries  later?  It  would  undoubtedly  have  been  the  worse  for  Europe  in 
many  ways,  particularly  for  the  poor  and  the  oppressed  who  would  have  been 
denied  the  loophole  of  escape  into  freedom  and  ambition  and  work  that  was 
in  the  largest  sense  constructive.  It  would  have  delayed  the  uplifting  of  the 
common  people  and  the  bringing  down  at  least  to  some  extent  of  the  self- 
declared  anointed  royalties.  It  would  have  held  back  the  establishment  of 
English  Hberties,  to  which  as  before  mentioned,  the  American  Revolution  con- 

tributed largely.  It  would  have  at  least  altered  the  character,  and  perhaps 
prevented  the  possibility  of  the  French  Revolution,  which,  for  all  its  excesses, 
was  conceived  in  the  spirit  of  liberty  and  mercy,  and  which,  after  the  reaction 
had  taken  the  Napoleonic  form  and  again  subsided,  undoubtedly  contributed 
enormously  to  the  betterment  of  all  European  and  colonial  conditions.  The 
later  discovery  of  America  after  the  idea  of  slavery  had  been  discarded  in 
Europe  would  have  meant  much  in  the  history  of  the  United  States;  it  would 
have  made  unnecessary  the  war  of  the  Rebellion,  with  its  destruction  of 
American  sea-trade  and  its  loss  of  at  least  a  million  men  disabled,  killed  or dead  of  disease. 

The  other  side  of  the  picture  is  the  fate  of  the  wretched  aboriginals  found 
in  America  by  Europeans.  The  wrongs  they  suffered  can  never  be  atoned  for 
to  them;  the  atrocities  wrought  against  them  by  the  old-world  civilisation 
(and  later  in  some  degree  by  the  new-world  civilisation)  are  an  indelible  stain 
on  the  history  of  mankind. 

It  was  in  many  senses  a  disaster  to  the  world  that  America  was  discovered 
at  a  period  when  the  Inquisition  was  filling  hearts  with  a  blood-thirst  for 
inflicting  pain,  taking  life,  and  suppressing  thought.  It  was  a  double  dis- 

aster that  America  should  have  been  discovered  by  the  Spanish  in  the  very 
midst  of  their  devotion  to  torture  as  a  fine  art,  to  the  revenging  of  Christ's 
crucifixion  upon  the  Jews  of  their  own  day,  and  to  the  waging  upon  the  swart 
and  heretic  race  of  Moors  of  a  ruthless  feud  under  the  alias  of  a  holy  war. 
As  great  good  and  great  evil  fought  bitterly  m  the  soul  of  Columbus,  so  they 
have  fought  in  the  results  of  his  discovery.  We  may  now  take  up  in  some 
detail  the  account  of  his  origin,  his  theories,  voyages,  and  their  results,  without 
pausing  over  the  voluminous  controversies  that  qualify  almost  every  possible 
statement  concerning  his  motives  and  his  achievements." 

STATE  OF  GEOGRAPHICAL  SCIENCE  ;    THE  SPIRIT  OF  MARITIME  DISCOVERY 

A  thousand  years  had  passed  away  since  the  barbarous  nations  of  the  north 
of  Europe  overthrew  the  Roman  Empire  of  the  West,  and  erected  new  insti- 

tutions upon  its  ruins;  yet  the  science  of  geography  had  made  but  little 
progress.  The  western  world  was  still  unknown,  and  the  intercourse  between 
Europe  and  India  was  carried  on  through  the  Red  Sea.  The  spirit  of  mari- 

time discovery  received  its  first  impulse  from  the  kings  of  Castile,  in  the  begin- 
ning of  the  fifteenth  century.  These  monarchs,  in  following  up  their  conquests 

and  settlements  in  the  Canary  Islands,  led  the  way  to  further  navigations 
into  the  Atlantic,  in  search  of  new  islands  in  the  west.  Hence,  also,  arose  the 
traffic  with  the  African  coast,  and  the  splendour  and  wealth  of  the  city  of 
Seville,  the  great  mart  for  slaves  and  other  African  productions;  and  hence 
the  extraordinary  zeal  for  nautical  adventure  along  the  coast  of  Andalusia. 

The  Portuguese,  emulous  of  the  glory  of  their  neighbours,  entered  into  the 
same  career,  and  pursued  it  with  such  vigour  and  perseverance,  as  to  outstrip 
their  precufsors,  by  improving  naval  science  and  extending  their  commerce  in 
a  surprising  manner.  Their  ships  sailed  along  the  western  coast  of  Africa,  and 
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at  length  reached  the  Cape  of  Good  Hope.  Curiosity  received  a  new  stimulus 
from  these  discoveries;  the  boundless  ocean  of  the  west  offered  a  wide  field 
for  speculation.  The  annals  of  the  Egyptians,  contemporary  with  the  most 
ancient  human  records;  the  marvellous  narratives  of  Plato,  concerning  the 
Atlantic  island,  and  its  mighty  monarchs  and  nations  in  the  western  ocean, 
regained  their  lost  reputation;  and  the  credit  which  Alexander  the  Great 
gave  to  the  opinion  of  Anaxarchus,  respecting  the  existence  of  a  new  world, 
was  now  deemed  to  be  well  founded. 

These  notions  spread  themselves  over  Europe,  from  the  period  of  the 
Spanish  conquest  of  the  Canary  Islands,  as 
literature  and  nautical  science  shed  mu- 

tual light  on  each  other.  A  nimiber  of 
ancient  manuscripts  were  brought  to  light, 
in  which  many  sayings  were  found  relative 
to  several  countries,  formerly  seen  or  con- 

jectured to  exist  in  the  Atlantic  Ocean. 
What  chiefly  impressed  the  minds  of  men, 
however,  was  the  large  island,  abounding 
with  navigable  rivers,  which,  it  was  said, 
the  Carthaginians  had  discovered  at  a  dis- 

tance from  the  continent,  the  extraordinary 
fertility  of  which  had  induced  them  to  in- 

habit it;  but  the  government,  afraid  that 
this  happy  colony  might  eclipse  the  mother 
country,  ordered  the  settlers  to.  evacuate  it, 
and  never  to  return  thither  under  pain  of 
death. 

The  book  in  which  this  account  was 
found  bore  the  name  of  Aristotle,  and  its 
authenticity  no  person  dared  to  doubt.  To 
the  narration  of  this  philosopher  several 
embellishments  were  added:  for  instance, 
that  seven  Spanish  bishops,  with  a  num- 

ber of  Christians,  had  fled  thither,  and 
found  an  asylum  from  the  persecution  of 
the  Moors,  the  conquerors  of  Spain,  in  the 
eighth  century.  There  were  also  fabulous, 
but  still  credited  accounts  of  Portuguese 
voyagers  who  had  sailed  to  that  island;  and 

the  settlements  were  soon  represented  in  books  and  maps  under  the  name  of 
the  Seven  Towns.  At  last  it  was  reported  that  of  a  quantity  of  earth,  brought 
from  one  of  these  western  harbours,  the  third  part  was  pure  gold.  This  idle 
legend  stimulated  several  mariners  to  set  out  in  pursuit  of  the  ore;  and  though 
they  persisted  in  vain  yet  their  disappointment  was  not  sufficient  to  discredit 
the  story;  on  the  contrary,  it  spread  still  wider,  and  the  island  was  actually 
represented  imder  the  name  of  Antilla  on  most  of  the  maps  of  the  fifteenth 
century. 

The  island  of  Brandon  was  not  less  renowned  and  stood  higher  in  fable. 
This  name  was  given  to  a  meteoric  appearance  which  had  been  observed 
westward  of  the  Canary  Islands;  and  which  induced  the  inhabitants  of  the 
Azores  and  Madeira,  as  well  as  the  mariners  who  sailed  to  the  coast  of  Africa, 
to  fancy  that  they  saw  a  country,  which,  however,  only  existed  in  their  own 
imagination.    This  gave  rise  to  a  number  of  voyages  of  discovery  in  the 

Spanish  Explorer 
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western  ocean,  and  not  a  few  by  the  orders  of  the  court  of  Portugal,  Various 
pretended  discoveries  were  soon  represented  on  the  maps  as  realities.  General 
maps  of  the  unknown  ocean  were  drawn,  and  filled  with  painted  islands  and 
continents  which  no  person  had  really  visited  or  even  seen.  Notwithstanding 
this,  after  the  mature  consideration  of  all  authorities,  maps,  and  traditions, 
so  little  certainty  could  be  attained,  nay,  even  so  little  probability,  that  no 
person  would  venture  to  seek  discoveries  in  such  a  boundless  sea,  unless  he 
had  yielded  himself  up  wholly  to  the  influence  of  rash  credulity. 

The  ancient  Carthaginians,  the  Arabs  of  the  Middle  Ages,  and  the  later 
adventurers  of  Portugal  and  Spain,  had  made  researches  in  vain  for  this 
purpose.  The  unsuccessful  perseverance  of  the  latter  seemed  to  be  an  evident 
proof  that,  if  those  pretended  western  countries  were  really  in  existence,  they 
were  not,  however,  situated  at  a  convenient  distance  from  those  shores  to 
which  the  seamen,  in  the  existing  state  of  navigation,  were  under  the  necessity 
of  returning.  As  long  as  this  necessity  existed,  adventurers  dared  not  risk  a 
distant  voyage  on  the  Atlantic  wave;  nor  could  they  be  expected  to  persevere 
long  enough  in  fruitless,  hazardous,  and  expensive  efforts.  But  now  a  man 
appeared,  who  was  born  for  the  achievement  of  discoveries  of  incalculable 
importance  to  mankind.cc 

THE   EARLY   LIFE   OF   COLUMBUS 

Of  the  early  life  of  Columbus '  little  is  known.  He  was  bom  in  Genoa. 
He  was  sent  by  his  father,  Dominico  Colombo,  to  Pavia,  the  chief  seat  of 
learning  in  Italy,  to  prosecute  his  studies;  but  these  he  broke  off  at  the  age 
of  fourteen,  to  commence  his  naval  career  —  not,  however,  before  he  had 
made  extraordinary  progress  and  imbibed  a  taste  for  literary  cultivation 
which  he  preserved  during  his  hfe.  He  surpassed  his  contemporaries  in 
geometry,  astronomy,  and  cosmography,  studies  which  appear  to  have  been 
peculiarly  congenial  to  his  enterprising  character.  He  took  part,  it  seems,  in 
a  naval  expedition,  fitted  out  at  Genoa,  by  John  of  Anjou,  Duke  of  Calabria, 
in  1459,  against  Naples.  He  subsequently  went  to  Lisbon,  where  his  brother 
Bartholomew  found  a  profitable  occupation  in  constructing  sailing-charts  for 
navigators.  Portugal  was  at  that  time  engaged  in  promoting  geographical 
discovery;  and  Columbus  soon  embarked  in  an  arduous  voyage  to  the  north, 
in  which  he  reached  the  73rd  degree  of  north  latitude,  or,  as  he  expresses  it, 
one  hundred  degrees  beyond  the  Thule  of  Ptolemy.  He  made  several  other 
voyages  to  England,  it  seems,  and  to  the  islands  possessed  by  Spain  and 
Portugal  in  the  Western  Ocean;  he  soon  became,  in  consequence,  the  most 
experienced  navigator  of  his  time.  By  taking  notes  of  everything  he  saw, 
comparing  them  with  the  existing  systems  of  cosmography,  and  by  drawing 
maps  and  constructing  globes  he  kept  his  mind  intently  fixed  on  the  studies 
in  which  he  was  destined  to  effect  so  great  a  revolution. 

While  a  resident  in  Lisbon,  he  married  Donna  Felipa,  the  daughter  of 
Bartolomeo  Munnis  de  Perestrello,  an  Italian  cavalier,  who  had  been  one  of 
the  most  distinguished  navigators  under  Prince  Henry  of  Portugal,  and  had 
colonised  and  governed  the  island  of  Porto  Santo.    By  this  marriage  Columbus 

[i  The  fanuly  name  in  Italian  is  Colombo  ;  it  was  latinised  into  Columbus  by  himself,  in  his 
earlier  letters.  He  is  better  known,  in  Spanish  history,  as  Christoval  Colon,  having  altered  his 
name  when  he  removed  to  Spain.  The  date  of  his  birth  is  uncertain  ;  it  was  formerly  placed 
about  1436,  but  most  recent  investigators  incline  to  a  later  date.  Sixteen  towns  claim  the  honor 
of  his  nativity,  but  he  named  Genoa  himself.  His  father  was  probably  a  wool  comber.  But  all 
his  career  before  his  first  voyage  is  rendered  vague  by  the  radical  discrepancies  in  the  various 
records.] 
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procured  access  to  the  charts  and  papers  of  Perestrello,  and  of  other  expe- 
rienced navigators  connected  with  his  wife's  family.  In  his  conversations 

with  the  able  geographers  and  pilots  whom  he  found  in  Lisbon,  he  consulted 
them  on  the  possibility  of  discovering  a  western  passage  to  the  countries  of 
Cathay  and  Zipangu  or  Cipango,  described  by  Marco  Polo.  The  theory  which 
he  had  already  formed  on  this  subject  received  confirmation  by  certain  facts 
which  came  to  his  knowledge  .2/ 

Pedro  Torrea,  his  wife's  relation,  had  found,  on  the  coast  of  Porto  Santo, 
pieces  of  carved  wood,  evidently  not  cut  with  a  knife,  and  which  had  been 
carried  thither  by  strong  westerly  winds;  other  navigators  had  picked  up  in 
the  Atlantic  canes  of  an  extraordinary  size,  and  many  plants  not  apparently 
belonging  to  the  Old  World.  The  bodies  of  men  were  foimd,  thrown  by  the 
waves  on  the  shore  of  one  of  the  Azores,  who  had  features  differing  essentially 
from  those  of  Africans  or  Europeans,  and  who  had  evidently  come  from  the 
West.  2/ 

WASHINGTON  IRVING's  ACCOUNT  OF  COLTIMBUS'  TRIALS 

It  is  impossible  to  determine  the  precise  time  when  Columbus  first  con- 
ceived the  design  of  seeking  a  western  route  to  India.  It  is  certain,  however, 

that  he  meditated  it  as  early  as  the  year  1474,  though  as  yet  it  lay  crude  and 
immatured  in  his  mind.  This  fact,  which  is  of  some  importance,  is  suffi- 

ciently established  by  the  correspondence  with  the  learned  Toscanelli  of 
Florence,  which  took  place  in  the  summer  of  that  year.  The  letter  of  Tos- 

canelli is  in  reply  to  one  from  Columbus,  and  applauds  the  design  which  he 
had  expressed  of  making  a  voyage  to  the  west.  To  demonstrate  more  clearly 
the  facility  of  arriving  at  India  in  that  direction,  he  sent  him  a  map,  pro- 

jected partly  according  to  Ptolemy,  and  partly  according  to  the  descriptions 
of  Marco  Polo,  the  Venetian.  The  eastern  coast  of  Asia  was  depicted  in  front 
of  the  western  coasts  of  Africa  and  Europe,  with  a  moderate  space  of  ocean 
between  them,  in  which  were  placed  at  convenient  distances  Cipango,  Antilla, 
and  the  other  islands.  This  map,  by  which  Colvunbus  sailed  on  his  first 
voyage  of  discovery.  Las  Casas  '^^  says  he  had  in  his  possession  at  the  time  of 
writing  his  history.  It  is  greatly  to  be  regretted  that  so  interesting  a  docu- 

ment should  be  lost.  It  may  yet  exist  among  the  chaotic  lumber  of  the  Spanish 
archives.    Few  documents  of  mere  curiosity  would  be  more  precious. 

Columbus  was  greatly  animated  by  the  letter  and  chart  of  ToscaneUi,  who 
was  considered  one  of  the  ablest  cosmographers  of  the  day.  He  appears  to 
have  procured  the  work  of  Marco  Polo,  which  had  been  translated  into  various 
languages,  and  existed  in  manuscript  in  most  Ubraries.  This  author  gives 
marvellous  accounts  of  the  riches  of  the  realms  of  Cathay  and  Mangi,  or 
Mangu,  since  ascertained  to  be  northern  and  southern  China,  on  the  coast  of 
which,  according  to  the  map  of  Toscanelli,  a  voyager  sailing  directly  west 
would  be  sure  to  arrive.  The  work  of  Marco  Polo  is  a  key  to  many  parts  of 

Columbus'  history.  In  his  apphcations  to  the  various  courts,  he  represented 
the  countries  he  expected  to  discover  as  those  regions  of  inexhaustible  wealth 
which  the  Venetian  had  described.  The  territories  of  the  grand  khan  were 
the  objects  of  inquiry  in  all  his  voyages;  and  in  his  cruisings  among  the 
Antilles,  he  was  continually  flattering  himself  with  the  hopes  of  arriving  at 
the  opulent  island  of  Cipango,  and  the  coasts  of  Mangi  and  Cathay. 

While  the  design  of  attempting  the  discovery  in  the  west  was  maturing  in 
the  mind  of  Columbus.he  made  a  voyage  to  the  north  of  Europe.  Of  this  we 
have  no  other  memorial  than  the  following  passage,  extracted  by  his  son, 
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remando,«e  from  one  of  his  letters:  "In  the  year  1477,  in  February,  I  navi- 
gated one  hundred  leagues  beyond  Thule,  the  southern  part  of  which  is 

seventy-three  degrees  distant  from  the  equator,  and  not  sixty-three,  as  some 
pretend:  neither  is  it  situated  withiri  the  Ime  which  includes  the  west  of 
Ptolemy,  but  is  much  more  westerly.  The  English,  principally  those  of 
Bristol,  go  with  their  merchandise  to  this  island,  which  is  as  large  as  England. 
When  I  was  there,  the  sea  was  not  frozen,  and  the  tides  were  so  great  as  to 

rise  and  faU  twenty-six  fathoms."  The  island  thus  mentioned  is  generally supposed  to  have  been  Iceland,  which  is  far  to  the  west  of  the  Ultima  Thule 
of  the  ancients,  as  laid  down  in  the  map  of  Ptolemy, 

Columbus  is  Duped  by  the  Portuguese  Court 

Several  more  years  elapsed,  without  any  decided  efforts  on  the  part  of 
Columbus  to  carry  his  design  into  execution.  He  was  too  poor  to  fit  out  the 
armament  necessary  for  so  important  an  expedition.  Indeed  it  was  an  enter- 

prise only  to  be  undertaken  in  the  employ  of  some  sovereign  state,  which 
could  assume  dominion  over  the  territories  he  might  discover,  and  reward  him 
with  dignities  and  privileges  commensurate  to  his  services.  It  is  asserted  that 
he  at  one  time  endeavoured  to  engage  his  native  coimtry,  Genoa,  in  the  xmder- 
taking,  but  without  success.  No  record  remains  of  such  an  attempt,  though 
it  is  generally  believed,  and  has  strong  probability  in.  its  favour.  His  residence 
in  Portugal  placed  him  at  hand  to  solicit  the  patronage  of  that  power,  but 
Alfonso,  who  was  then  on  the  throne,  was  too  much  engrossed  in  the  latter 
part  of  his  reign  with  a  war  with  Spain,  for  the  succession  of  the  princess 
Juana  to  the  crown  of  Castile,  to  engage  in  peaceful  enterprises  of  an  expen- 

sive nature;  the  public  mind,  also,  was  not  prepared  for  so  perilous  an  under- 
taking. Notwithstanding  the  many  recent  voyages  to  the  coast  of  Africa 

and  the  adjacent  islands,  and  the  introduction  of  the  compass  into  more 
general  use,  navigation  was  still  shackled  with  impediments,  and  the  mariner 
rarely  ventured  far  out  of  sight  of  land. 

Discovery  advanced  slowly  along  the  coasts  of  Africa,  and  the  mariners 
feared  to  cruise  far  into  the  southern  hemisphere,  with  the  stars  of  which  they 
were  totally  imacquainted.  To  such  men,  the  project  of  a  voyage  directly 
westward,  into  the  midst  of  that  boundless  waste,  to  seek  some  visionary 
land,  appeared  as  extravagant  as  it  would  be  at  the  present  day  to  launch 
forth  in  a  balloon  into  the  regions  of  space,  in  quest  of  some  distant  star. 
The  time,  however,  was  at  hand  that  was  to  extend  the  sphere  of  navigation. 
The  era  was  propitious  to  the  quick  advancement  of  knowledge.  The  recent 
invention  of  the  art  of  printing  enabled  men  to  communicate  rapidly  and 
extensively  their  ideas  and  discoveries.  It  drew  forth  learning  from  libra- 

ries and  convents,  and  brought  it  familiarly  to  the  reading  desk  of  the  student. 
There  was,  henceforth,  to  be  no  retrogression  in  knowledge,  nor  any  pause 
in  its  career.  Every  step  in  advance  was  immediately,  and  simultaneously, 
and  widely  promulgated,  recorded  in  a  thousand  forms,  and  fixed  forever. 
There  could  never  again  be  a  dark  age ;  nations  might  shut  their  eyes  to  the 
light,  and  sit  in  wilful  darkness,  but  they  could  not  trample  it  out;  it  would 
still  shine  on,  dispensed  to  happier  parts  of  the  world,  by  the  diffusive  powers 
of  the  press. 

At  this  jimcture,  in  1481,  a  monarch  ascended  the  throne  of  Portugal,  of 
different  ambition  from  Alfonso.  John  II,  or  Joao,  then  in  the  twenty-fifth 

year  of  his  age,  had  imbibed  the  passion  for  discovery  from  his  grand-uncle. 
Prince  Henry,  and  with  his  reign  all  its  activity  revived.    The  African  dis- 

H.  W. — VOL.  XXII.  2E 
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coveries  had  conferred  great  glory  upon  Portugal,  but  as  yet  they  had  been 
expensive  rather  than  profitable.  The  accompfislunent  of  the  route  to  India, 
however,  it  was  expected  would  repay  ̂ ,11  cost  and  toil,  and  open  a  source  of 
incalculable  wealth  to  the  nation.  The  project  of  Prince  Henry,  which  had  now 
been  tardily  prosecuted  for  half  a  century,  had  excited  a  curiosity  about  the  re- 

mote parts  of  Asia,  and  revived  all  the  accounts,  true  and  fabulous,  of  travellers. 
Impatient  of  the  slowness  with  which  his  discoveries  advanced  along  the 

coast  of  Africa,  and  of  the  impediments  which  every  cape  and  promontory 
presented  to  nautical  enterprise,  Joao  II  called  in  the  aid  of  science  to  devise 
some  means  by  which  greater  scope  and  certainty  might  be  given  to  naviga- 

tion. His  two  physicians,  Roderigo  and  Joseph,  the  latter  a  Jew,  the  most 
able  astronomers  and  cosmographers  of  his  kingdom,  together  with  the  cele- 

brated Martin  Behaim,  entered  into  a  learned  consultation  on  the  subject. 
The  result  of  their  conferences  and  labours  was  the  application  of  the  astrolabe 
to  navigation,  enabling  the  seaman,  by  the  altitude  of  the  sun,  to  ascertain  his 
distance  from  the  equator.  This  instrument  has  since  been  improved  and 
modified  into  the  modern  quadrant,  of  which,  even  at  its  first  introduction,  it 
possessed  all  the  essential  advantages. 

It  is  impossible  to  describe  the  effect  produced  upon  navigation  by  this 
invention.  It  cast  it  loose  at  once  from  its  long  bondage  to  the  land,  and  set 
it  free  to  rove  the  deep.  The  mariner  now,  instead  of  coasting  the  shores  like 
the  ancient  navigators,  ajid,  if  driven  from  the  land,  groping  his  way  back  in 
doubt  and  apprehension  by  the  uncertain  guidance  of  the  stars,  plight  adven- 

ture boldly  into  unknown  seas,  confident  of  being  able  to  trace  his  course  by 
means  of  the  compass  and  the  astrolabe. 

It  was  shortly  after  this  event,  which  had  prepared  guides  for  discovery 
across  the  trackless  ocean,  that  Columbus  made  the  first  attempt,  of  which 
we  have  any  clear  and  indisputable  record,  to  procure  royal  patronage  for  his 
enterprise.  Encouraged  by  the  liberality,  and  by  the  anxiety  evinced  by 
King  Joao  II  to  accomplish  a  passage  by  sea  to  India,  Columbus  obtained  an 
audience  of  that  monarch,  and  proposed,  in  case  the  king  would  furnish  him 
with  ships  and  men,  to  undertake  a  shorter  and  more  direct  route  than  that 
along  the  coast  of  Africa.  His  plan  was  to  strike  directly  to  the  west,  across 
the  Atlantic.  He  then  unfolded  his  hypothesis  with  respect  to  the  extent  of 
Asia,  describing  also  the  immense  riches  of  the  island  of  CSpango,  the  first  land 
at  which  he  expected  to  arrive.  Of  this  audience  we  have  two  accoimts, 
written  in  somewhat  of  an  opposite  spirit;  one' by  his  son  Fernando,ee  the 
other  by  Joao  de  Barros  S9  the  Portuguese  historiographer.  It  is  curious  to 
notice  the  different  views  taken  of  the  same  transaction  by  the  enthusiastic 
son,  and  by  the  cool,  perhaps  prejudiced,  historian. 

TTie  king,  according  to  Fernando,  listened  to  his  father  with  great  attention, 
but  was  discouraged  from  engaging  in  any  new  scheme  of  the  kind,  by  the  cost 
and  trouble  already  sustained  in  exploring  the  route  by  the  African  coast, 
which  as  yet  remained  unaccomplished.  His  father,  however,  supported  his 
proposition  by  such  excellent  reasons  that  the  king  was  induced  to  give  his 
consent.  The  only  difficulty  that  remained  was  the  terms;  for  Columbus, 
being  a  man  of  lofty  and  noble  sentiments,  demanded  high  and  honourable 
titles  and  rewards,  to  the  end,  says  Fernando,  that  he  might  leave  behind  him 
a  name  and  family  worthy  of  his  deeds  and  merits. 

Barros,  on  the  other  hand,  attributes  the  seeming  acquiescence  of  the  king 

['  It-is  to  be  noted  that  there  is  dispute  as  to  the  authenticity  of  this  life  of  Oilumbus  by 

his  son.  Many  critics,  such  as  Harrisse,-''-''  have  claimed  that  he  did  not  write  it.  This  scepti- cism is  not,  howevei,  by  any  means  uniyeisal.^ 
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lerely  to  the  importunities  of  Columbus.  He  considered  him,  says  the  his- 
jrian,  a  vain-glorious  man.  fond  of  displaying  his  abilities,  and  given  to 
mtastic  fancies,  such  as  that  respecting  the  island  of  Cipango.  But  in  fact; 
[lis  idea  of  Coliombus  being  vain,  was  taken  up  by  the  Portuguese  writers  in 
fter  years;  and  as  to  the  island  of  Cipango,  it  was  far  from  being  considered 
himerical  by  the  king,  who,  as  shown  by  his  mission  in  search  of  Prester  John, 
ras  a  ready  believer  in  these  travellers'  tales  concerning  the  East.  The 
masoning  of  Colimibus  must  have  produced  an  effect  on  the  mind  of  the 
lonarch,  since  it  is  certain  that  he  referred  the  proposition  to  a  learned  junto, 
harged  with  all  matters  relating  to  maritime  discovery. 

This  scientific  body  treated  the  project  as  extravagant  and  visionary, 
till  the  king  does  not  appear  to  have  been  satisfied.  According  to  his  histo- 
ian  Vasconcellos,'''''  he  convoked  his  council,  composed  of  prelates  and  persons 
f  the  greatest  learning  in  the  kingdom,  and  asked  their  advice,  whether  to 
dopt  this  new  route  of  discovery,  or  to  pursue  that  which  they  had  already 
pened.  The  project  of  circumnavigating  Africa  was  prosecuted  with  new 
rdour  and  triumphant  success:  the  proposition  of  Columbus,  however,  was 
enerally  condemned  by  the  council. 

Seeing  that  King  Joao  still  manifested  an  inclination  for  the  enterprise,  it 
ras  suggested  to  him  by  the  bishop  of  Ceuta  that  Colmnbus  might  be  kept  in 
uspense  while  a  vessel,  secretly  dispatched  in  the  direction  he  should  point 
ut,  might  ascertain  whether  there  were  any  foundation  for  his  theory.  By 
his  means  all  its  advantages  might  be  secured,  without  committing  the  dignity 
f  the  crown  by  formal  negotiations  about  what  might  prove  a  mere  chimera, 
[^ing  Joao,  in  an  evil  hour,  had  the  weakness  to  permit  a  stratagem  so  incon- 
istent  with  his  usual  justice  and  magnanimity.  Columbus  was  required  to 
umish,  for  the  consideration  of  the  council,  a  detailed  plan  of  his  proposed 
oyage,  with  the  charts  and  documents  according  to  which  he  intended  to 
hape  his  course.  These  being  procured,  a  caravel  was  dispatched  with  the. 
stensible  design  of  carrying  provisions  to  the  Cape  Verd  islands;  but  with, 
rivate  instructions  to  pursue  the  designated  route.  Departing  from  those: 
dands,  the  caravel  stood  westward  for  several  days,  until  the  weather  became 
tormy;  when  the  pilots,  seeing  nothing  but  an  immeasurable  waste  of  wild/ 
umbling  waves  still  extending  before  them,  lost  all  courage,  and  put  back,, 
idiculing  the  project  of  Columbus  as  extravagant  and  irrational. 

This  unworthy  attempt  to  defraud  him  of  his  enterprise  roused  the  indig- 
ation  of  Columbus,  and  he  declined  all  offers  of  King  Joao  to  renew  the  ne- 
otiation.  The  death  of  his  wife,  which  had  occurred  sometime  previously, 
ad  dissolved  the  domestic  tie  which  bound  him  to  Portugal ;  he  determined, 
herefore,  to  abandon  a  country  where  he  had  been  treated  with  so  little  faith, 
nd  to  look  elsewhere  for  patronage.  Before  his  departure,  he  engaged  his 
rother  Bartholomew  to  carry  proposals  to  the  king  of  England,  though  he 
oes  not  appear  to  have  entertained  great  hope  from  that  quarter — England 
y  no  means  possessing  at  the  time  the  spirit  of  nautical  enterprise  which  has 
ince  distinguished  her.  The  great  reliance  of  Columbus  was  on  his  own 
ersonal  exertions. 

It  was  towards  the  end  of  1484  that  he  left  Lisbon,  taking  with  him  his  son 
>iego.    His  departure  had  to  be  conducted  with  secrecy,  lest,  as  some  assert, 
should  be  prevented  by  King  Joao;  but  lest,  as  others  surmise,  it  should  be 
revented  by  his  creditors.'    Like  many  other  great  projectors,  while  engaged 

P  This  surmise  is  founded  on  a  letter  from  King  Joao  to  Columbus,  written  some  years 
terwards,  inviting  him  to  return  to  Portugal,  and  assuring  him  against  arrest  on  account  of 

ly  process,  civil  or  criminal,  that  might  be  pending  against  him.     See  Navarrete.**] 
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upon  schemes  of  vast  benefit  to  mankind,  he  had  suffered  his  own  affairs  to 
go  to  ruin,  and  was  reduced  to  struggle  hard  with  poverty;  nor  is  it  one  of  the 
least  interesting  circumstances  in  his  eventful  life  that  he  had,  in  a  manner, 
to  beg  his  way  from  court  to  court,  to  offer  to  princes  the  discovery  of  a 
world. 

Columbus  in  Spain  (H85-1^2  A.D.) 

The  immediate  movements  of  Columbus  on  leaving  Portugal  are  involved 
in  uncertainty.  It  is  said  that  about  this  time  he  made  a  proposition  of  his 
enterprise,  in  person,  as  he  had  formerly  done  by  letter,  to  the  government  of 
Genoa.  The  republic,  however,  was  in  a  languishing  decline,  and  embar- 

rassed by  a  foreign  war.  Thus  Genoa,  disheartened  by  her  reverses,  shut  her 
ears  to  the  proposition  of  Columbus,  which  might  have  elevated  her  to  tenfold 
splendour,  and  perpetuated  within  her  grasp  the  golden  wand  of  commerce. 
While  at  Genoa,  Columbus  is  said  to  have  made  arrangements,  out  of  Ms 
scanty  means,  for  the  comfort  of  his  aged  father.  It  is  also  affirmed  that  about 
this  time  he  carried  his  proposal  to  Venice,  where  it  was  declined  on  account  of 
the  critical  state  of  national  affairs.  This,  however,  is  merely  traditional,  and 
unsupported  by  documentary  evidence.  The  first  firm  and  indisputable  trace 
we  have  of  Columbus  after  leaving  Portugal,  is  in  the  south  of  Spain,  in  1485, 
"where  we  find  him  seeking  his  fortune  among  the  Spanish  nobles,  several  of 
■whom  had  vast  possessions,  and  exercised  almost  independent  sovereignty  in their  domains. 

Columbus  had  many  interviews  with  the  duke  of  Medina  Sidonia,  who  was 
tempted,  for  a  time,  by  the  splendid  prospects  held  out;  but  their  very 
splendour  threw  a  colouring  of  improbability  over  the  enterprise,  and  he  finally 
rejected  it  as  the  dream  of  an  Italian  visionary.  The  duke  of  Medina  Celi 
was  likewise  favourable  at  the  outset,  but  he  suddenly  changed  his  mind. 
Finding,  however,  that  Columbus  intended  to  make  his  next  application  to 
the  king  of  France,  and  loth  that  an  enterprise  of  such  importance  should  be 
lost  to  Spain,  the  duke  wrote  to  Queen  Isabella,  recommending  it  strongly  to 
her  attention.  The  queen  made  a  favourable  reply,  and  requested  that 
Columbus  might  be  sent  to  her.  He  accordingly  set  out  for  the  Spanish  coiu-t, 
then  at  Cordova,  bearing  a  letter  to  the  queen  from  the  duke,  soliciting  that, 
in  case  the  expedition  should  be  carried  into  effect,  he  might  have  a  share  in 
it,  and  the  fitting  out  of  the  armament  from  his  port  of  St.  Mary,  as  a  recom- 

pense for  having  waived  the  enterprise  in  favour  of  the  crown. 
The  time  when  Columbus  thus  sought  his  fortimes  at  the  court  of  Spain 

coincided  with  one  of  the  most  brilliant  periods  of  the  Spanish  monarchy.  The 
union  of  the  kingdoms  of  Aragon  and  Castile,  by  the  marriage  of  Ferdinand 
and  Isabella,  had  consolidated  the  Christian  power  in  the  peninsula,  and  put 
an  end  to  those  internal  feuds,  which  had  so  long  distracted  the  country,  and 
insured  the  domination  of  the  Moslems.  The  whole  force  of  imited  Spam  was 
now  exerted  in  the  chivalrous  enterprise  of  the  Moorish  conquest.  Ferdinand 
and  Isabella,  it  has  been  remarked,  lived  together  not  like  man  and  wife,  whose 
estates  are  common,  under  the  orders  of  the  husband,  but  Uke  two  monarchs 
strictly  allied.  They  had  separate  claims  to  sovereignty,  in  virtue  of  their 
respective  kingdoms;  they  had  separate  councils,  and  were  often  distant  from 
each  other  in  different  parts  of  their  empire,  each  exercising  the  royal  author- 

ity. Yet  they  were  so  happily  united  by  common  views,  common  interests, 
and  a  great  deference  for  each  other,  that  this  double  administration  never 
prevented  a  unity  of  purpose  and  of  action.    All  acts  of  sovereignty  were 
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executed  in  both  their  names;  all  public  writings  were  subscribed  with  both 
their  signatures;  their  likenesses  were  stamped  together  on  the  public  coin; 
and  the  royal  seal  displayed  the  united  arms  of  Castile  and  Aragon. 

When  Columbus  arrived  at  Cordova,  he  was  given  in  charge  to  Alonzo  de 
Quintanilla,  comptroller  of  the  treasury  of  Castile.  This  was  an  unpropitious 
moment  to  urge  a  suit  like  that  of  Colmnbus.  In  fact  the  sovereigns  had  not 
a  moment  of  leisure  throughout  this  eventful  year. 

While  thus  lingering  in  idle  suspense  in  Cordova,  he  became  attached  to  a 
lady  of  the  city,  Beatrix  Enriquez  by  name,  of  a  noble  family,  though  in 
reduced  circumstances.  Their  connection  was  not  sanctioned  by  marriage; 
yet  he  cherished  sentiments  of  respect  and  tenderness  for  her  to  his  dying  day. 
She  was  the  mother  of  his  second  son,  Fernando,  bom  in  the  following  year 
(1487),  whom  he  always  treated  on  terms  of  perfect  equality  with  his  legiti- 

mate son  Diego,  and  who  after  his  death  became  his  historian. 
In  the  winter,  Coliunbus  followed  the  court  to  Salamanca.  Here  his 

zealous  friend,  Alonzo  de  Quintanilla,  exerted  his  influence  to  obtain  for  him 
the  countenance  of  the  celebrated  Pedro  Gonzalez  de  Mendoza,  archbishop  of 
Toledo  and  grand  cardinal  of  Spain.  This  was  the  most  important  personage 

about  the  court;  and  was  facetiously  called  by  Peter  Martyr,  the  "third  king 
of  Spain."  Through  his  representations  Columbus  at  length  obtained  admis- 

sion to  the  royal  presence.  We  have  but  scanty  particulars  of  this  audience, 
nor  can  we  ascertain  whether  Queen  Isabella  was  present  on  the  occasion; 
the  contrary  seems  to  be  most  probably  the  case. 

Ferdinand  was  cool  and  wary,  and  would  not  trust  his  own  judgment.  He 
determined  to  take  the  opinion  of  the  most  learned  men  in  the  kingdom,  and 
to  be  guided  by  their  decision.  Fernando  de  Talavera,  prior  of  the  monastery 
of  Prado  and  confessor  of  the  queen,  one  of  the  most  erudite  men  of  Spain,  and 
high  in  the  royal  confidence,  was  commanded  to  assemble  the  most  learned 
astronomers  and  cosmographers  for  the  purpose  of  holding  a  conference  with 
Columbus,  and  examining  him  as  to  the  grounds  on  which  he  founded  his 
proposition.  After  they  had  informed  themselves  fully  on  the  subject,  they 
were  to  consult  together,  and  make  a  report  to  the  sovereign  of  their  collective 
opinion. 

Columbus  Before  the  Council  of  Salamanca 

The  interesting  conference  relative  to  the  j)roposition  of  Columbus  took 
place  in  Salamanca,  the  great  seat  of  learning  in  Spain.  It  was  held  in  the 
Dominican  convent  of  St.  Stephen,  in  which  he  was  lodged  and  entertained 
with  great  hospitality  during  the  course  of  the  examination.  Religion  and 
science  were  at  that  time,  and  more  especially  in  that  country,  closely  asso- 

ciated. The  treasures  of  learning  were  immm-ed  in  monasteries,  and  the 
professors'  chairs  were  exclusively  filled  from  the  cloister.  The  domination 
of  the  clergy  extended  over  the  state  as  well  as  the  church,  and  posts  of  honour 
and  influence  at  court,  with  the  exception  of  hereditary  nobles,  were  almost 
entirely  confined  to  ecclesiastics.  The  era  was  distinguished  for  the  revival 

of  learning,  but  still  more  for  the  prevalence  of  religious  zeal,  and  Spain  sur- 
passed all  other  countries  of  Christendom  in  the  fervour  of  her  devotion.  The 

Inquisition  had  just  been  established  in  that  kingdom,  and  every  opinion  that 
savoured  of  heresy  exposed  its  owner  to  odium  and  persecution. 

Such  was  the  period  when  a  council  of  clerical  sages  was  convened  in  the 
collegiate  convent  of  St.  Stephen,  to  investigate  the  new  theory  of  Columbus. 
It  was  composed  of  professors  of  astronomy,  geography,  mathematics,  and 
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other  branches  of  science,  together  with  various  dignitaries  of  the  church,  and 
learned  friars.  Before  this  erudite  assembly,  Columbus  presented  himself  to 
propound  and  defend  his  conclusions.  Colxunbus  appeared  in  a  most  unfa- 

vourable light  before  a  scholastic  body:  an  obscure  navigator,  a  member  of 
no  learned  institution,  destitute  of  all  the  trappings  and  circumstances  which 
sometimes  give  oracular  authority  to  dulness,  and  depending  upon  the  mere 
force  of  natural  genius.  Some  of  the  junto  entertained  the  popular  notion 
that  he  was  an  adventurer,  or  at  best  a  visionary;  and  others  had  that  morbid 
impatience  of  any  innovation  upon  established  doctrine,  which  is  apt  to  grow 
upon  dull  and  pedantic  men  in  cloistered  life.  What  a  striking  spectacle  must 
the  hall  of  the  old  convent  have  presented  at  this  memorable  conference! 
A  simple  mariner,  standing  forth  in  the  midst  of  an  imposing  array  of  pro- 

fessors, friars,  and  dignitaries  of  the  church;  maintaining  his  theory  with 
natural  eloquence,  and,  as  it  were,  pleading  the  cause  of  the  New  World. 

Several  of  the  objections  proposed  by  this  learned  body  have  been  handed 
down  to  us,  and  have  provoked  many  a  sneer  at  the  expense  of  the  University 
of  Salamanca;  but  they  are  proofs,  not  so  much  of  the  peculiar  deficiency  of 
that  institution,  as  of  the  imperfect  state  of  science  at  the  time,  and  the 
manner  in  which  knowledge,  though  rapidly  extending,  was  still  impeded  in 
its  progress  by  monastic  bigotry. 

Thus,  at  the  very  threshold  of  the  discussion,  instead  of  geographical 
objections,  Columbus  was  assailed  with  citations  from  the  Bible  and  the  Testa- 

ment: the  book  of  Genesis,  the  psalms  of  David,  the  prophets,  the  epistles, 
and  the  gospels.  To  these  were  added  the  expositions  of  various  saints  and 
reverend  commentators:  St.  Chrysostom  and  St.  Augustine,  St.  Jerome  and 
St.  Gregory,  St.  Basil  and  St.  Ambrose,  and  Lactantius  Firmianus,  a  redoubted 
champion  of  the  faith.  Doctrinal  points  were  mixed  up  with  philosophical 
discussions,  and  a  mathematical  demonstration  was  allowed  no  weight,  if  it 
appeared  to  clash  with  a  text  of  Scripture,  or  a  commentary  of  one  of  the 
fathers.  Thus  the  possibility  of  antipodes,  in  the  southern  hemisphere,  an 
opinion  so  generally  maintained  by  the  wisest  of  the  ancients,  as  to  be  pro- 

nounced by  Pliny  w  the  great  contest  between  the  learned  and  the  ignorant, 
became  a  stumbling-block  with  some  of  the  sages  of  Salamanca.  Several  of 
them  stoutly  contradicted  this  fundamental  position  of  Columbus,  supporting 
themselves  by  quotations  from  Lactantius  and  St.  Augustine,  who  were  con- 

sidered in  those  days  as  almost  evangelical  authority.  But,  though  these 
writers  were  men  of  consummate  erudition,  and  two  of  the  greatest  luminaries 
of  what  has  been  called  the  golden  age  of  ecclesiastical  learning,  yet  their 
writings  were  calculated  to  perpetuate  darkness  in  respect  to  the  sciences. 

The  passage  cited  from  Lactantius  '^^  to  confute  Columbus,  is  in  a  strain  of 
gross  ridicule,  unworthy  of  so  grave  a  theologian.  "  Is  there  any  one  so  fool- 

ish," he  asks,  "as  to  believe  that  there  are  antipodes  with  their  feet  opposite 
to  ours;  people  who  walk  with  their  heels  upward,  and  their  heads  hanging 
down?  That  there  is  a  part  of  the  world  in  which  all  thiags  are  topsy-tmvy: 
where  the  trees  grow  with  their  branches  downward,  and  where  it  rains,  haife, 

and  snows  upward?  The  idea  of  the  roundness  of  the  earth,"  he  adds,  "was the  cause  of  inventing  this  fable  of  the  antipodes,  with  their  heels  in  the  air; 
for  these  philosophers  having  once  erred,  go  on  in  their  absurdities,  defending 
one  with  another." 

Objections  of  a  graver  nature  were  advanced  on  the  authority  of  St. 
Augustine.  He  pronounces  the  doctrine  of  antipodes  to  be  incompatible 
with  the  historical  foundations  of  our  faith;  since  to  assert  that  there  were 
inhabited  lands  on  the  opposite  side  of  the  globe  would  be  to  maintain  that 
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there  were  nations  not  descended  from  Adam,  it  being  impossible  for  them 
to  have  passed  the  intervening  ocean.  This  would  be,  therefore,  to  discredit 
the  Bible,  which  expressly  declares  that  all  men  are  descended  from  one  com- 

mon parent.  Such  were  the  unlooked-for  prejudices  which  Columbus  had  to 
sncounter  at  the  very  outset  of  his  conference.  To  his  simplest  proposition, 
the  spherical  form  of  the  earth,  were  opposed  figurative  texts  of  Scripture, 
rhey  observed  that  in  Psalm  104,  verse  3,  the  heavens  are  said  to  be  extended 
like  a  hide,  that  is,  according  to  conraientators,  the  curtain  or  covering  of  a  tent 
tvhich,  among  the  ancient  pastoral  nations,  was  formed  of  the  hides  of  animals; 
and  that  St.  Paul,  in  his  Epistle  to  the  Hebrews,  compares  the  heavens  to  a 
tabernacle,  or  tent,  extended  over  the  earth,  which  they  thence  inferred  must 
be  fiat. 

Columbus,  who  was  a  devoutly  religious  man,  found  that  he  was  in  danger 
Df  being  convicted  not  merely  of  error  but  of  heterodoxy.  Others  more  versed 
in  science  admitted  the  globular  form  of  the  earth,  and  the  possibility  of  an 
apposite  and  habitable  hemisphere;  but  they  brought  up  the  chimera  of  the 
mcients,  and  maintained  that  it  would  be  impossible  to  arrive  there,  in  con- 

sequence of  the  insupportable  heat  of  the  torrid  zone.  Even  granting  this 
30uld  be  passed,  they  observed  that  the  circumference  of  the  earth  must  be  so 
^reat  as  to  require  at  least  three  years  to  the  voyage,  and  those  who  should 
undertake  it  must  perish  of  hunger  and  thirst,  from  the  impossibility  of  carry- 

ing provisions  for  so  long  a  period.  He  was  told,  on  the  authority  of  Epicurus, 
that  admitting  the  earth  to  be  spherical,  it  was  only  inhabitable  in  the  northern 
iiemisphere,  and  in  that  section  only  was  canopied  by  the  heavens;  that  the 
opposite  half  was  a  chaos,  a  gulf,  or  a  mere  waste  of  water.  Not  the  least 
ibsurd  objection  advanced  was,  that  should  a  ship  even  succeed  in  reaching 
in  this  way,  the  extremity  of  India,  she  could  never  get  back  again;  for  the 
rotundity  of  the  globe  would  present  a  kind  of  mountain,  up  which  it  would 
3e  impossible  for  her  to  sail  with  the  most  favourable  wind.  Such  are  spec- 

imens of  the  errors  and  prejudices,  the  mingled  ignorance  and  erudition,  and 
t;he  pedantic  bigotry,  with  which  Columbus  had  to  contend  throughout  the 
examination  of  his  theory.  Can  we  wonder  at  the  difficulties  and  delays 
ivhich  he  experienced  at  courts,  when  such  vague  and  crude  notions  were 
entertained  by  the  learned  men  of  a  university? 

There  were  no  doubt  objections  advanced  more  cogent  in  their  nature,  and 
nore  worthy  of  that  distinguished  imiversity.  It  is  but  justice  to  add,  also, 
;hat  the  replies  of  Columbus  had  great  weight  with  many  of  his  learned  exam- 
ners.  In  answer  to  the  Scriptural  objections,  he  submitted  that  the  inspired 
mters  were  not  speaking  technically  as  cosmographers,  but  figuratively,  in 
anguage  addressed  to  all  comprehensions.  The  commentaries  of  the  fathers 
le  treated  with  deference  as  pious  homilies,  but  not  as  philosophical  proposi- 
iions  which  it  was  necessary  either  to  admit  or  refute.  The  objections  drawn 
rom  ancient  philosophers  he  met  boldly  and  ably  upon  equal  terms;  for  he 
vas  deeply  studied  on  all  points  of  cosmography.  He  showed  that  the  most 
llustrious  of  those  sages  believed  both  hemispheres  to  be  inhabitable,  though 
;hey  imagined  that  the  torrid  zone  precluded  communication;  and  he  obvi- 
ited  conclusively  that  difficulty;  for  he  had  voyaged  to  St.  George  la  Mina 
n  Guinea,  almost  under  the  equinoctial  line,  and  had  found  that  region  not 
nerely  traversable,  but  abounding  in  population,  in  fruits  and  pasturage. 

When  Columbus  took  his  stand  before  this  learned  body,  he  had  appeared 
he  plain  and  simple  navigator;  somewhat  daunted,  perhaps,  by  the  greatness 
)f  his  task,  and  the  august  nature  of  his  auditory.  But  he  had  a  degree  (rf 

eligious  feeling  which  gave  him  a  confidence  in  the  execution  of  what  he  con- 
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(jeived  his  great  errand,  and  he  was  of  an  ardent  temperament  that  became/ 
heated  in  action  by  its  own  generous  fires.  Las  Casas,**  and  others  of  his 
contemporaries,  have  spoken  of  his  commanding  person,  his  elevated  de- 

meanour, his  air  of  authority,  his  kindling  eye,  and  the  persuasive  intonations 
of  his  voice.  How  must  they  have  given  majesty  and  force  to  his  words,  as, 
casting  aside  his  maps  and  charts,  and  discarding  for  a  time  his  practical  and 
scientific  lore,  his  visionary  spirit  took  fire  at  the  doctrinal  objections  of  his 
opponents,  and  he  met  them  upon  their  own  ground,  pouring  forth  those  mag- 

nificent texts  of  Scripture,  and  those  mysterious  predictions  of  the  prophets, 
which,  in  his  enthusiastic  moments,  he  considered  as  types  and  annun- 

ciations of  the  sublime  discovery  which  he  proposed!  One  great  difficulty 
was  to  reconcile  the  plan  of  Columbus  with  the  cosmography  of  Ptolemy,  to 
which  all  scholars  yielded  implicit  faith.  How  would  the  most  enlightened  of 
those  sages  have  been  astonished,  had  any  one  apprised  them  that  the  man, 
Copernicus,  was  then  in  existence,  whose  solar  system  should  reverse  the  grand 
theory  of  Ptolemy,  which  stationed  the  earth  in  the  centre  of  the  universe. 

Columbus  the  Victim  of  Spanish  Procrastination 

The  Castilian  court  departed  from  Salamanca  early  in  the  spring  of  1487 
and  repaired  to  Cordova,  to  prepare  for  the  memorable  campaign  against 
Malaga.  Fernando  de  Talavera,  later  Bishop  of  Avila,  accompanied  the 
queen  as  her  confessor,  and  as  one  of  her  spiritual  counsellors  in  the  concerns 
of  the  war.  The  consultations  of  the  board  at  Salamanca  were  interrupted 
by  this  event,  before  that  learned  body  could  come  to  a  decision,  and  for  a 
long  time  Columbus  was  kept  in  suspense,  vainly  awaiting  the  report  that  was 
to  decide  the  fate  of  his  application. 

It  has  generally  been  supposed  that  the  several  years  which  he  wasted  in 
irksome  solicitation,  were  spent  in  the  drowsy  and  monotonous  attendance 
of  antechambers;  but  it  appears  on  the  contrary,  that  they  were  often  passed 
amidst  scenes  of  peril  and  adventure,  and  that,  in  following  up  his  suit,  he  was 
led  into  some  of  the  most  striking  situations  of  this  wild,  rugged,  and  moun- 

tainous war.  Several  times  he  was  summoned  to  attend  conferences  in  the 
vicinity  of  the  sovereigns,  when  besieging  cities  in  the  very  heart  of  the  Moorish 
dominions;  but  the  tempest  of  warlike  affairs,  which  hurried  the  court  from 
place  to  place  and  gave  it  aU  the  bustle  and  confusion  of  a  camp,  prevented 
those  conferences  from  taking  place,  and  swept  away  all  concerns  that  were 
not  immediately  connected  with  the  war.  Whenever  the  court  had  an  inter- 

val of  leisure  and  repose,  there,  would  again  be  manifested  a  disposition  to  con- 
sider his  proposal,  but  the  hiirry  and  tempest  would  again  return  and  the 

question  be  again  swept  away. 
Wearied  and  discouraged  by  these  delays,  he  began  to  think  of  applying 

elsewhere  for  patronage,  and  appears  to  have  commenced  negotiations  with 
King  Joao  II  for  a  return  to  Portugal.  He  wrote  to  that  monarch  on  the 
subject,  and  received  a  letter  in  reply  dated  the  20th  of  March,  1488,  inviting 
him  to  return  to  his  court,  and  assuring  him  of  protection  from  any  suits  of 
either  a  civil  or  criminal  nature,  that  might  be  pending  against  him.  He 
received,  also,  a  letter  from  Henry  VII  of  England,  inviting  him  to  that 
country,  and  holding  out  promises  of  encouragement.  There  must  have  been 
strong  hopes,  authorised  about  this  time  by  the  conduct  of  the  Spanish  sov- 

ereigns, to  induce  Columbus  to  neglect  these  invitations;  and  we  find  ground 
for  such  a  supposition  in  a  memorandum  of  a  sum  of  money  paid  to  him  by  the 
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treasurer  Gonzalez,  to  enable  him  to  comply  with  a  summons  to  attend  the 
Castilian  court. 

During  this  long  course  of  solicitation  he  supported  himself,  in  part,  by- 
making  maps  and  charts,  and  was  occasionally  assisted  by  the  purse  of  the 
worthy  friar  Diego  de  Deza.  It  is  due  to  the  sovereigns  to  say,  also,  that 
whenever  he  was  simimoned  to  follow  the  movements  of  the  court,  or  to  attend 
any  appointed  consultation,  he  was  attached  to  the  royal  suite,  and  lodgings 
were  provided  for  him  and  sums  issued  to  defray,  his  expenses.  During  all 
this  time  he  was  exposed  to  continual  scoffs  and  indignities,  being  ridiculed  by 
the  light  and  ignorant  as  a  mere  dreamer,  and  stigmatised  by  the. illiberal  as 
an  adventurer.  The  very  children,  it  is  said,  pointed  to  their  foreheads  as  he 
passed,  being  taught  to  regard  him  as  a  kind  of  madman.  The  summer  of 
1490  passed  away,  but  still  Columbus  was  kept  in  tantalising  and  tormenting 
suspense.  The  subsequent  winter  was  not  more  propitious.  He  was  wearied, 
if  not  incensed,  at  the  repeated  postponements  he  had  experienced,  by  which 
several  years  had  been  consumed.  He  now  pressed  for  a  decisive  reply  with 
an  earnestness  that  would  not  admit  of  evasion.  Fernando  de  Talavera, 
therefore,  was  called  upon  by  the  sovereigns  to  hold  a  definitive  conference 
with  the  scientific  men  to  whom  the  project  had  been  referred,  and  to  make  a 
report  of  their  decision.  The  bishop  tardily  complied,  and  at  length  reported 
to  their  majesties,  as  the  general  opinion  of  the  junto,  that  the  proposed 
scheme  was  vain  and  impossible,  and  that  it  did  not  become  such  great  princes 
to  engage  in  an  enterprise  of  the  kind  on  such  weak  grounds  as  had  been 
advanced. 

Notwithstanding  the  unfavourable  report,  the  sovereigns  were  unwilling 
to  close  the  door  upon  a  project  which  might  be  productive  of  such  important 
advantages.  Fernando  de  Talavera  was  commanded  to  mform  Columbus,  who 
was  still  at  Cordova,  that  the  great  cares  and  expenses  of  the  wars  rendered  it 
impossible  for  the  sovereigns  to  engage  in  any  new  enterprise ;  but  that  when 
the  war  was  concluded  they  would  have  both  time  and  inclination  to  treat 
with  him  about  what  he  proposed.  This  was  but  a  starved  reply  to  receive 
after  so  many  days  of  weary  attendance,  anxious  expectations,  and  deferred 
hope;  Columbus  was  unwilling  to  receive  it  at  second  hand,  and  repaired 
to  the  court  at  Seville  to  learn  his  fate  from  the  lips  of  the  sovereigns.  Their 
reply  was  virtually  the  same,  dechning  to  engage  in  the  enterprise  for  the 
present,  but  holding  out  hopes  of  patronage  when  relieved  from  the  cares 
and  expenses  of  the  war.  Renouncing  all  further  confidence,  therefore,  in 
vague  promises,  which  had  so  often  led  to  disappointment,  and  giving  up  all 
hopes  of  coimtenance  from  the  throne,  he  turned  his  back  upon  Seville,  indig- 

nant at  the  thoughts  of  having  been  beguiled  out.  of  so  many  precious  years  of 
waning  existence. 

Columbus  Turns  His  Back  on  the  Co2irt 

About  half  a  league  from  the  little  sea-port  of  Palos  de  Moguer  in  Anda,- 
lusia  there  stood,  and  continues  to  stand  at  the  present  day,  an  ancient  con- 

vent of  Franciscan  friars,  dedicated  to  Santa  Maria  de  Rabida.  One  day  a 
stranger  on  foot,  in  humble  guise,  but  of  a  distinguished  air,  accompanied  by  a 
small  boy,  stopped  at  the  gate  of  the  convent,  and  asked  of  the  porter  a  little 
bread  and  water  for  his  child.  While  receiving  this  humble  refreshment,  the 
prior  of  the  convent,  Juan  Perez  de  Marchena,  happening  to  pass  by,  was 
struck  with  the  appearance  of  the  stranger,  and  observing  from  his  air  and 
accent  that  he  was  a  foreigner,  entered  into  conversation  with  him,  and  soon. 
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learned  the  particulars  of  his  story.  That  stranger  was  Columbus.  He  was 
on  his  way  to  the  neighbouring  town  of  Huelva,  to  seek  his  brother-in-law,  who 
had  married  a  sister  of  his  deceased  wife. 

The  prior  was  a  man  of  extensive  information.  He  was  greatly  interested 
by  the  conversation  of  Columbus,  and  struck  with  the  grandeur  of  his  views. 
When  he  foimd,  however,  that  the  voyager  was  on  the  point  of  abandoning 
Spain  to  seek  patronage  in  the  court  of  France,  and  that  so  important  an  enter- 

prise was  about  to  be  lost  forever  to  the  country,  the  patriotisih  of  the  good 
friar  took  the  alarm.  Several  conferences  took  place  at  the  convent,  at  which 
several  of  the  veteran  mariners  of  Palos  were  present.  Among  these  was 
Martin  Alonzo  Pinzon,  the  head  of  a  family  of  wealthy  and  experienced  navi- 

gators of  the  place,  celebrated  for  their  adventurous  expeditions.  Facts  were 
related  by  some  of  these  navigators  in  support  of  the  theory  of  Columbus.  In 
a  word,  his  project  was  treated  with  a  deference  in  the  quiet  cloisters  of  La 
Rabida  and  among  the  seafaring  men  of  Palos  which  had  been  sought  in  vain 
among  the  sages  and  philosophers  of  the  court.  Martin  Alonzo  Pinzon, 
especially,  was  so  convinced  of  its  feasibility  that  he  offered  to  engage  in  it 
with  purse  and  person,  and  to  bear  the  expenses  of  Columbus  in  a  renewed 
application  to  the  court. 

Isabella  had  always  been  favourably  disposed  to  the  proposition  of  Colum- 
bus. She  wrote  in  reply  to  a  letter  from  Juan  Perez,  requesting  that  he  would 

repair  immediately  to  the  court,  leaving  Christopher  Columbus  in  confident 
hope  until  he  should  hear  further  from  her.  She  was  moved  by  the  repre- 

sentations of  Juan  Perez.  The  queen  requested  that  Columbus  might  be 
again  sent  to  her,  and,  with  the  kind  considerateness  which  characterised  her, 
bethinking  herself  of  his  poverty,  and  his  humble  plight,  ordered  that  twenty 
thousand  maravedies  [about  £14  and  equivalent  to  £43  to-day]  in  florins 
should  be  forwarded  to  him,  to  bear  his  travelling  expenses,  to  provide  him 
with  a  mule  for  his  journey,  and  to  furnish  him  with  decent  raiment,  that  he 
might  make  a  respectable  appearance  at  the  court. 

When  Colimibus  arrived  at  the  court,  he  experienced  a  favourable  recep- 
tion, and  was  given  in  hospitable  charge  to  his  steady  friend  Alonzo  de  Quinta- 

nilla,  the  accountant-general.  The  moment,  however,  was  too  eventful  for 
his  business  to  receive  immediate  attention.  He  arrived  in  time  to  witness 
the  memorable  surrender  of  Granada  to  the  Spanish  arms.  He  beheld 
Boabdil,  the  last  of  the  Moorish  kings,  sally  forth  from  the  Alhambra,  and 
yield  up  the  keys  of  that  favourite  seat  of  Moorish  power;  while  the  king  and 
queen,  with  all  the  chivalry,  and  rank,  and  magnificence  of  Spain,  moved  for- 

ward in  proud  and  solemn  procession,  to  receive  this  token  of  submission.  It 
was  one  of  the  most  brilliant  triumphs  in  Spanish  history.  After  nearly  eight 
hundred  years  of  painful  struggle,  the  crescent  was  completely  cast  down,  the 
cross  exalted  in  its  place,  and  the  standard  of  Spain  was  seen  floating  on  the 
highest  tower  of  the  Alhambra.  The  whole  court  and  army  were  abandoned 
to  jubilee. 

The  war  with  the  Moors  was  at  an  end,  Spain  was  delivered  from  its 
intruders,  and  its  sovereigns  might  securely  turn  their  views  to  foreign  enter- 

prise. They  kept  their  word  with  Columbus.  Persons  of  confidence  were 
appointed  to  negotiate  with  him,  among  whom  was  Fernando  de  Talavera, 
who,  by  the  recent  conquest,  had  risen  to  be  archbishop  of  Granada.  At  the 
very  outset  of  their  negotiation,  however,  unexpected  difficulties  arose.  So 
fully  imbued  was  Columbus  with  the  grandeur  of  his  enterprise  that  he  would 
listen  to  none  but  princely  conditions.  His  principal  stipulation  was,  that 
he  should  be  invested  with  the  titles  and  privileges  of  admiral  and  viceroy  over 
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the  countries  he  should  discover,  with  one-tenth  of  all  gains,  either  by  trade 
or  conquest.  The  courtiers  who  treated  with  him  were  indignant  at  such  a 
demand.  Their  pride  was  shocked  to  see  one,  whom  they  had  considered  as  a 
needy  adventurer,  aspiring  to  rank  and  dignities  superior  to  their  own.  One 
observed  with  a  sneer  that  it  was  a  shrewd  arrangement  which  he  proposed, 
whereby  he  was  secure,  at  aU  events,  of  the  honour  of  a  command,  and  had 
nothing  to  lose  in  case  of  failure.  To  this  Columbus  promptly  replied  by 
offering  to  furnish  one-eighth  of  the  cost,  on  condition  of  enjpying  an  eighth 
of  the  profits.  To  do  tliis,  he  no  doubt  calculated  on  the  proffered  assistance 
of  Martin  Alonzo  Pinzon,  the  wealthy  navigator  of  Palos. 

His  terms,  however,  were  pronounced  inadmissible.  Fernando  de  Tala- 
vera  had  always  considered  Columbus  a  dreaming  speculator,  or  a  needy  appli- 

cant for  bread;  but  to  see  this  man,  who  had  for  years  been  an  indigent  and 
threadbare  solicitor  in  his  antechamber,  assuming  so  lofty  a  tone,  and  claiming 
an  office  that  approached  to  the  awful  dignity  of  the  throne,  excited  the 
astonishment  as  well  as  the  indignation  of  the  prelate.  More  moderate  con- 

ditions were  offered  to  Columbus,  and  such  as  appeared  highly  honourable  and 
advantageous.  It  was  all  in  vain ;  he  would  not  cede  one  point  of  his  demands, 
and  the  negotiation  was  broken  off. 

It  is  impossible  not  to  admire  the  great  constancy  of  purpose  and  loftiness 
of  spirit  displayed  by  Columbus,  ever  since  he  had  conceived  the  sublime  idea 
of  his  discovery.  More  than  eighteen  years  had  elapsed  since  his  correspond- 

ence with  Paulo  Toscanelli  of  Florence,  wherein  he  had  announced  his  design. 
The  greatest  part  of  that  time  had  been  consumed  in  applications  at  various 
courte.  During  that  period  what  poverty,  neglect,  ridicule,  contumely,  and 
disappointment  had  he  not  suffered!  Nothing,  however,  could  shake  his  p)er- 
severance,  nor  make  him  degcend  to  terms  which  he  considered  beneath  the 
dignity  of  his  enterprise.  In  all  his  negotiations  he  forgot  his  present  obscurity, 
he  forgot  his  present  indigence;  his  ardent  imagination  realised  the  magnitude 
of  his  contemplated  discoveries,  and  he  felt  himself  negotiating  about  empire. 

Though  so  large  a  portion  of  his  life  had  worn  away  in  fruitless  solicitings; 
though  there  was  no  certainty  that  the  same  weary  career  was  not  to  be 
entered  upon  at  any  other  court;  yet  so  indignant  was  he  at  the  repeated  dis- 

appointments he  had  experienced  in  Spain,  that  he  determined  to  abandon  it 
for  ever,  rather  than  compromise  his  demands.  Taking  leave  of  his  friends, 
therefore,  he  mounted  his  mule,  and  sallied  forth  from  Santa  F6  in  the  begin- 

ning of  February,  1492,  on  his  way  to  Cordova,  whence  he  intended  to  depart 
imimediately  for  France.^ 

COLUMBUS'  FIRST  VOYAGE   (1492  A.D.) 

St.  Angel  and  Quintanilla,  by  their  earnest  and  powerful  intercessions  with 

Queen  Isabella,  induced  her  to  despatch  a  messenger  for  Columbus'  recall. 
The  queen,  moved  by  the  eloquence  of  St.  Angel,  adopted  the  scheme  with 
enthusiasm,  and  even  offered  to  pledge  her  jewels  to  raise  the  necessary  funds. 
It  was  an  act  every  way  worthy  of  her  noble  character.  But  the  funds  were 

raised  without  having  recourse  to  Isabella's  generosity;  and  iirrangements 
were  speedily  entered  into  for  fitting  out  the  expedition. 

On  the  17th  of  April,  1492,  were  signed  the  articles  of  agreement  by  which 
Columbus  received  from  the  sovereigns  the  hereditary  titles  of  admiral  and 

viceroy,  in  all  the  seas,  lands,  and  islands  which  he  should  discover.  He  was 
entitled  also  to  reserve  for  himself  one  tenth  of  all  pearls,  precious  stones,  gold, 

sUver,  spices,  and  other  articles  and  merchandises,  in  whatever  manner  found. 
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bought,  bartered,  or  gained  within  his  admiralty,  the  costs  being  first  deducted; 
and  he  was  permitted  to  contribute  an  eighth  part  of  the  expense  of  the  expe- 

dition, and  to  receive  an  eighth  part  of  the  profits. 
On  the  12th  of  May,  he  proceeded  to  the  port  of  Palos,  to  fit  out  the  arm- 

ament. Three  vessels  were  prepared  for  the  voyage.  The  largest,  which  was 
decked,  was  called  the  Santa  Maria,  and  on  board  of  this  ship  Columbus 
hoisted  his  flag.  The  second,  called  the  Pinta,  was  commanded  by  Martin 
Alonzo  Pinzon,  accompanied  by  his  brother,  Francisco  Martin,  as  pilot.  The 
third,  called  the  Nina,  had  lateen  sails,  and  was  commanded  by  the  third 
of  the  brothers,  Vicente  Yanez  Pinzon.  There  were  three  other  pilots,  an 
inspector-general  of  the  armament,  a  chief  alguazil,  and  a  royal  notary.  The 
expedition  was  also  provided  with  a  physician  and  a  surgeon,  and  was  accom- 

panied by  various  private  adventurers,  together  with  several  servants,  and 
ninety  mariners  —  making,  in  all,  one  hundred  and  twenty  persons. 

On  Friday,  the  3rd  of  August,  1492,  the  expedition  sailed.  They  directed 
their  course  to  the  Canary  Islands,  where  they  were  delayed  for  some  time  in 
consequence  of  an  injury  done  to  the  rudder  of  the  Pinta.  On  the  6th  of 
September,  they  left  the  Canaries;  and  that  may  be  regarded  as  the  first  day 
of  the  most  memorable  voyage  which  has  ever  been  imdertaken.  The  winds 
were  at  first  light,  and  little  way  was  made;  the  second  day,  the  fleet  lost  sight 
of  land.  The  companions  of  Columbus,  who  were  now  advancing  over  the 
ocean,  imable  to  conjecture  the  termination  of  their  voyage,  began  to  feel 
astonished  at  the  boldness  of  the  enterprise.  Many  of  them  shed  tears  and 
broke  into  loud  lamentations,  believing  that  they  should  never  return.  Colum- 

bus endeavoured  to  console  them  and  inspire  them  with  new  courage. 
On  the  11th  of  September,  when  they  were  a  hundred  and  fifty  leagues 

from  the  island  of  Ferrp,  they  found  the  mast  of  a  ship,  which  seemed  to  have 
been  brought  there  by  the  current.  Columbus  made  daily  observations  on 
the  meridian  altitude  of  the  sim,  and  he  was  the  first  to  observe  the  variation 
of  the  magnetic  needle,  a  phenomenon  which  occasioned  considerable  alarm 
among  his  people,  and  which  he  found  himself  under  the  necessity  of  explain- 

ing by  a  plausible  theory  of  his  own,  in  order  to  calm  their  apprehensions.  On 
the  15th,  three  hundred  leagues  from  the  island  of  Ferro,  during  a  dead  calm, 
they  saw  a  fire-ball  strike  the  sea,  about  five  leagues  ahead  of  the  fleet,  one  of 
the  meteors  of  very  common  occurrence  in  the  tropical  regions. 

Hitherto  the  wind  had  blown  constantly  from  the  east;  the  seamen, 
observing  this  fact,  thought  that  it  would  be  impossible  for  them  ever  to 
return  to  Spain.  On  the  following  day  they  saw  some  birds,  which  revived 
their  hopes,  as  they  were  supposed  to  be  of  a  species  that  never  went  more 
than  twenty  leagues  from  the  land.  The  sea  soon  after  seemed  covered  with 
marine  plants,  which  had  the  appearance  of  having  been  recently  detached 
from  the  rocks  on  which  they  had  grown;  and  the  men  were  convinced  that 
land  could  not  be  far  distant.  On  the  18th,  Alonzo  Pinzon,  who  sailed  ahead 
told  Columbus  that  he  had  seen  a  multitude  of  birds  in  the  west,  and  that  he 
thought  he  had  discerned  land  towards  the  north.  As  his  vessel  was  a  fast 
sailer,  he  crowded  canvas  and  kept  in  the  advance. 

Columbus  had  taken  the  precaution  of  keeping  secret  the  true  reckoning 
of  the  distance  passed  over,  while  he  kept  a  false  reckoning  for  the  inspection 
of  his  companions,  which  made  the  distance  considerably  less;  but,  notwith- 

standing this  deception,  the  people  were  now  growing  extremely  uneasy  at 
the  length  of  the  voyage.  The  admiral  endeavoured  in  every  way  to  soothe 
their  rising  fears,  sometimes  by  arguments  and  expostulations,  sometimes  by 
awakening  fresh  hopes,  and  pointing  out  new  signs  of  land.    Light  breezes 
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from  the  southwest  springing  up  on  the  20th  of  September,  had  a  cheering 
effect  on  the  people,  as  they  proved  that  the  wind  did  not  always  prevail  in 
the  same  direction.  Three  days  later  a  whale  was  observed,  heaving  up  his 
huge  form  at  a  distance,  which  Columbus  pointed  out  as  an  indication  of  the 
proximity  of  land.  The  prevalence  of  calms,  however,  and  the  great  quanti- 

ties of  sea-weed  which  they  encountered,  retarding  the  course  of  the  ships, 
occasioned  fresh  alarm.  Columbus  reasoned,  expostulated,  and  promised  in 
vain.  The  men  were  too  much  under  the  influence  of  terror  to  listen  to 
reason.  The  more  Columbus  argued  the  more  boisterous  became  their  mur- 

murs, until  there  came  a  heavy  swell  of  the  sea  unaccompanied  by  wind.  This, 
fortunately,  dispelled  the  terrors  occasioned  by  the  previous  dead  calm. 

On  the  25th  of  September,  while  Columbus,  with  his  officers,  was  studying 
a  map  and  endeavouring  to  make  out  from  it  their  position,  they  were  aroused 
by  a  shout  from  the  Pinta,  and  looking  up,  beheld  Martin  Alonzo  Pinzon, 
mounted  on  the  stern  of  his  vessel,  who  cried  with  a  loud  voice,  "  Land!  land! 
Senor,  I  claim  my  reward!"'  pointing  at  the  same  time  to  the  southwest, 
where  there  was  indeed  an  appearance  of  land,  at  about  twenty-five  leagues 
distance.  Columbus  threw  himself  upon  his  knees  and  returned  thanks  to 
God,  and  Martin  Alonzo  repeated  the  Gloria  in  Excelsis,  in  which  he  was  loudly 
joined  by  the  crews  of  the  ships.  They  changed  their  course,  and  sailed  aU 
night  in  the  same  direction.  At  daylight  all  eyes  were  turned  in  that  quarter; 
but  the  supposed  land,  which  had  caused  so  much  joy,  had  disappeared,  and 
they  found  that  they  had  been  deceived  by  the  appearance  of  clouds  on  the 
horizon.    The  direct  course  to  the  west  was  again  resumed. 

The  crews  soon  relapsed  into  their  former  despondency.  Nevertheless, 
the  multitude  of  birds  which  they  saw  continually  flying  about  the  ships,  the 
pieces  of  wood  which  they  picked  up,  and  many  other  symptoms  of  land  pre- 

vented them  from  giving  themselves  wholly  up  to  despair.  Columbus,  in  the 
midst  of  so  much  uneasiness  and  dejection,  remained  calm  and  self-possessed. 

After  the  1st  of  October,  the  birds  having  been  observed  to  fly  directly 
across  their  course,  the  sailors  supposed  them  to  have  been  passing  from  one 
island  to  another,  and  they  wished  to  turn  to  the  right  or  the  left,  to  find  the 
shores  which  they  supposed  to  lie  in  those  directions;  but  Columbus  refused 
to  abandon  his  theory,  and  held  on  his  western  course.  His  firmness  excited 
among  the  men  a  spirit  of  revolt  more  formidable  than  eVer;  but  on  the  4th  of 
October  the  indications  of  land  increased,  the  birds  flew  so  near  the  ships  that 
a  seaman  killed  one  with  a  stone,  and  their  hopes  again  revived.2/  Eager  to 
obtain  the  promised  pension,  the  seamen  were  continually  giving  the  cry  of 
land,  on  the  least  appearance  of  the  kind.  To  put  a  stop  to  these  false  alarms, 
"which  produced  continual  disappointments,  Colimibus  declared  that  should 
any  one  give  such  notice,  and  land  not  be  discovered  within  three  days  after- 

wards, he  should  thenceforth  forfeit  all  claim  to  the  reward. 

On  the  morning  of  the  7th  of  October,  at  sunrise,  several  of  the  admiral's 
crew  thought  they  beheld  land  in  the  west,  but  so  indistinctly  that  no  one 
ventured  to  proclaim  it,  lest  he  should  be  mistaken,  and  forfeit  all  chance  of 
the  reward :  the  Nina,  however,  being  a  good  sailer,  pressed  forward  to  ascer- 

tain the  fact.  In  a  little  while  a  flag  was  hoisted  at  her  mast-head,  and  a  gtm 
discharged,  being  the  preconcerted  signals  for  land.  New  joy  was  awakened 
throughout  the  little  squadron,  and  every  eye  was  turned  to  the  west.  As 
they  advanced,  however,  their  cloud-built  hopes  faded  away,  and  before 
evening  the  fancied  land  had  again  melted  into  air. 

['  A  pension  of  30  crowns  had  been  promised  by  the  sovereigns  to  the  first  man  who  should 
discover  land.] 
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The  cr6ws  now  sank  into  a  degree  of  dejection  proportioned  to  their  recent 
excitement;  but  new  circumstances  occurred  to  arouse  them.  Columbus, 
having  observed  great  flights  of  small  field-birds  going  towards  the  southwest, 
concluded  they  must  be  secure  of  some  neighbouring  land,  where  they  would 
find  food  and  a  resting  place.  He  knew  the  importance  which  the  Portuguese 
voyagers  attached  to  the  flight  of  birds,  by  following  which  they  had  dis- 

covered most  of  their  islands.  He  had  now  come  seven  hundred  and  fifty 
leagues,  the  distance  at  which  he  had  computed  to  find  the  island  of  Cipango; 
as  there  was  no  appearance  of  it,  he  might  have  missed  it  through  some  mistake 
in  the  latitude.  He  determined,  therefore,  on  the  evening  of  the  7th  of 
October,  to  alter  his  course  to  the  west  southwest,  the  direction  in  which  the 
birds  generally  flew,  and  continue  that  direction  for  at  least  two  days.  After 
all,  it  was  no  great  deviation  from  his  main  course,  and  would  meet  the  wishes 
of  the  Pinzons,  as  well  as  be  inspiriting  to  his  followers  generally. 

For  three  days  they  stood  in  this  direction,  and  the  further  they  went  the 
more  frequent  and  encouraging  were  the  signs  of  land.  Flights  of  small  birds 
of  various  colours,  some  of  them  such  as  sing  in  the  fields,  came  flying  about 
the  ships,  and  then  continued  towards  the  southwest,  and  others  were  heard 
also  flying  by  in  the  night.  Timny  fish  played  about  the  smooth  sea,  and  a 
heron,  a  pelican,  and  a  duck  were  seen,  all  bound  in  the  same  direction.  The 
herbage  which  floated  by  was  fresh  and  green,  as  if  recently  from  land,  and 
the  air,  Columbus  observes,  was  sweet  and  fragrant  as  April  breezes  in  Seville. 

All  these,  however,  were  regarded  by  the  crews  as  so  many  delusions 
beguiling  them  on  to  destruction;  and  when,  on  the  evening  of  the  third  day, 
they  beheld  the  sun  go  down  upon  a  shoreless  horizon,  they  broke  forth  into 
turbulent  clamour.  They  exclaimed  against  his  obstinacy  in  tempting  fate 
by  continuing  on  into  a  boundless  sea.  They  insisted  upon  turning  home,  and 
abandoning  the  voyage  as  hopeless.  Columbus  endeavoured  to  pacify  them 
by  gentle  words  and  promises  of  large  rewards;  but  finding  that  they  only 
increased  in  clamour,  he  assumed  a  decided  tone.  He  told  them  it  was  useless 
to  murmur,  the  expedition  had  been  sent  by  the  sovereigns  to  seek  the  Indies, 
and,  happen  what  might,  he  was  determined  to  persevere,  until,  by  the  blessing 
of  God,  he  should  accomplish  the  enterprise.^ 

'  It  has  been  asserted  by  various  historians,  that  Columbus,  a  day  or  two  previous  to  com- 
ing in  sight  of  the  New  Worid,  capitulated  with  his  mutinous  crew,  promising,  if  he  did  not 

discover  land  within  three  days,  to  abandon  the  voyage,  There  is  no  authority  for  such  an 
assertion,  either  in  the  history  of  his  son  Fernando  «  or  that  of  the  bishop  Las  Casas,'*''  each  of 
whom  had  the  admiral's  papers  before  him.  There  is  no  mention  of  such  a  circumstance  in  the 
extracts  made  from  the  journal  by  Las  Casas,  which  have  recently  been  brought  to  light ;  nor 
is  it  asserted  by  either  Peter  Martyr"  or  the  curate  of  Los  Palacios,  Bernaldesi,""»  both  con- 

temporaries and  acquaintances  of  Columbus,  who  could  scarcely  have  failed  to  mention  so- 
striking  a  fact,  if  true.  It  rests  merely  upon  the  authority  of  Oviedo  ""•  who  is  of  inferior 
credit  to  either  of  the  authors  above  cited,  andwas  grossly  misled  as  to  many  of  the  particulars, 
of  this  voyage  by  a  pilot  of  the  name  of  Hernan  Perez  Matheo,  who  was  hostile  to  Columbus. 
In  the  manuscript  process  of  the  memorable  lawsuit  between  Don  Diego,  son  of  the  admiral, 
and  the  fiscal  of  the  crown,  is  the  evidence  of  one  Pedro  de  Bilbao,  who  testifies  that  he  heard 
many  times  that  some  of  the  pilots  and  mariners  wished  to  turn  back,  but  that  the  admiral 
promised  them  presents,  and  entreated  them  to  wait  two  or  three  days,  before  which  time  he 

should  discover  land.  ("  Pedro  de  Bilbao  oyo  muchas  veces  que  algunos  pilotos  y  marineros 
querian  volverse  sino  fuerra  por  el  Almiranteque  les  prometio  donOs,  les  rog6  esperasen  dos  6' 

tres  dias  I  que  antes  del  termino  descubriera  tierra.")  This,  if  true,  implies  no  capitulation  to 
relinquish  the  enterprise.  On  the  other  hand,  it  was  asserted  by  some  of  the  witnesses  in  the 
above-mentioned  suit  that  Columbus,  after  having  proceeded  some  few  hundred  leagues  without 
finding  land,  lost  confidence  and  wished  to  turn  back  ;  but  was  persuaded  and  even  piqued  to 
continue  by  the  Pinzons.  This  assertion  carries  falsehood  on  its  very  face.  It  is  in  total  con- 

tradiction to  that  persevering  constancy  and  undaunted  resolution  displayed  by  Columbus,  not 
merely  in  the  present  voyage,  but  from  first  to  last  of  his  difficult  and  dangerous  career.  This 
testimony  was  ̂ ven  by  some  of  the  mutinous  men,  anxious  to  exaggerate  the  merits  of  the- 
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Columbus  was  now  at  open  defiance  with  his  crew,  and  his  situation  became 
desperate.  Fortunately  the  manifestations  of  the  vicinity  of  land  were  such 
on  the  following  day  as  no  longer  to  admit  a  doubt.  Beside  a  quantity  of 
fresh  weeds,  such  as  grow  in  rivers,  they  saw  a  green  fish  of  a  kind  which  keeps 
about  rocks ;  then  a  branch  of  thorn  with  berries  on  it,  and  recently  separated 
from  the  tree,  floated  by  them;  then  they  picked  up  a  reed,  a  small  board,  and, 
above  all,  a  staff  artificially  carved.  All  gloom  and  mutiny  now  gave  way  to 
sanguine  expectation;  and  throughout  the  day  each  one  was  eagerly  on  the 
watch,  in  hopes  of  being  the  first  to  discover  the  long-soughWor  land. 

In  the  evenmg,  when,  according  to  invariable  custom  on  board  of  the 

admiral's  ship,  the  mariners  had  sung  the  Salve  regina,  or  vesper  h3Tnn  to  the 
Virgin,  he  made  an  impressive  address  to  his  crew.  He  thought  it  probable 
they  would  make  land  that  very  night;  he  ordered,  therefore,  a  vigilant  look- 

out to  be  kept  from  the  forecastle,  promising  to  whosoever  should  make  the 
discovery  a  doublet  of  velvet,  in  addition  to  the  pension  to  be  given  by  the 
sovereigns. 

The  breeze  had  been  fresh  all  day,  with  more  sea  than  usual,  and  they  had 
made  §reat  tmogress.  At  sunset  they  had  stood  again  to  the  west,  and  were 
ploughing  the  waves  at  a  rapid  rate,  the  Pinta  keeping  the  lead  from  her 
superior  sailing.  The  greatest  animation  prevailed  throughout  the  ships; 
not  an  eye  was  closed  that  night.  As  the  evening  darkened,  Colxunbus  took 
his  station  on  the  top  of  the  castle  or  cabin  on  the  high  poop  of  his  vessel, 

ranging"  his  eye  along  the  dusky  horizon,  and  maintaining  an  intense  atid 
imremitting  watch.  About  ten  o'clock  he  thought  he  beheld  a  light  glimmer- 

ing at  a  great  distance.  Fearing  his  eager  hopes  might  deceive  him,  he  called 

to  Pedro  Gutierrez,  gentleman  of  the  king's  bed-chamber,  and  inquired 
whether  he  saw  such  a  light;  the  latter  replied  in  the  aSirmative.  Doubtful 
whether  it  might  nol  yet  be  some  delusion  of  the  fancy,  Columbus  called 
Rodrigo  Sanchez  of  Segovia,  and  made  the  same  inquiry.  By  the  time  the 
latter  had  ascended  the  round-house,  the  light  had  disappeared.  They  saw 
it  once  or  twice  afterwards  in  sudden  and  passing  gleams,  as  if  it  were  a  torch 
in  the  bark  of  a  fisherman,  rising  and  sinking  with  the  waves,  or  in  the  hand 
of  some  person  on  shore,  borne  up  and  down  as  he  walked  from  house  to  house. 
So  transient  and  uncertain  were  these  gleams  that  few  attached  any  import- 
tance  to  them;  Columbus,  however,  considered  them  as  certain  signs  of  land, 
and,  moreover,  that  the  land  was  inhabited. 

They  continued  their  course  until  two  in  the  morning,  when  a  gun  from 
the  Pinta  gave  the  joyful  signal  of  land.  It  was  first  descried  by  a  mariner 
named  Rodrigo  de  Triana;  but  the  reward  was  afterwards  adjudged  to  the 
admiral,  for  having  previously  perceived  the  light.  The  land  was  now  clearly 
seen  about  two  leagues  distant,  whereupon  they  took  in  sail,  and  lay-to, 
Waiting  impatiently  for  the  dawn. 

The  thoughts  and  feeling  of  Columbus  in  this  little  space  of  tinae  must 
have  been  tumultuous  and  intense.  At  length,  in  spite  of  every  diSiculty 
and  danger,  he  had  accomplished  his  object.  The  great  mystery  of  the  ocean 
was  revealed;  his  theory,  which  had  been  the  scoff  of  sages,  was  triumphantly 
established;  he  had  secured  to  himself  a  glory  durable  as  the  world  itself. 

It  is  difficult  to  conceive  the  feelings  of  such  a  man,  at  such  a  moment, 
or  the  conjectures  which  must  have  thronged  upon  his  mind,  as  to  the  land 

Pinzons,  and  to  depreciate  that  of  Columbus.  Fortunately,  the  extracts  from  the  journal  of 

the  latter,  written  from  day  to  day  with  guileless  simplicity,  and  all  the  air  of  truth,  disprove 
these  fables,  and  show  that  on  the  very  day  previous  to  his  discovery  he  expressed  a  peremptory 
determination  to  persevere,  in  defiance  of  aU  dangers  and  difficulties. 
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before  him,  covered  with  darkness.  That  it  was  fruitful,  was  evident  from 
the  vegetables  which  floated  from  its  shores.  He  thought,  too,  that  he  per- 

ceived the  fragrance  of  aromatic  groves.  The  moving  light  he  had  beheld 
proved  it  the  residence  of  man.  But  what  were  its  inhabitants?  Were  they 
like  those  of  the  other  parts  of  the  globe,  or  were  they  some  strange  and 
monstrous  race,  such  as  the  imagination  was  prone  in  those  times  to  give  to  all 
remote  and  unknown  regions?  Had  he  come  upon  some  wild  island  far  in 
the  Indian  Sea,  or  was  this  the  famed  Cipango  itself,  the  object  of  his  golden, 
fancies?  A  thousand  speculations  of  the  kind  must  have  swarmed  upon  him, 
as,  with  his  anxious  crews,  he  waited  for  the  night  to  pass  away;  wondering 
whether  the  morning  light  would  reveal  a  savage  wilderness,  or  dawn  upon 
spicy  groves,  and  glittering  fanes,  and  gilded  cities,  and  all  the  splendour  of 
oriental  civilisation. 

It  was  on  Friday  morning,  the  12th  of  October,  that  Columbus  first  beheld 
the  New  World.  As  the  day  dawned  he  saw  before  him  a  level  island,  several 
leagues  in  extent,  and  covered  with  trees  like  a  continual  orchard.  Thoiigh 
apparently  imcultivated,  it  was  populous,  for  the  inhabitants  were  seen 
issuing  from  all  parts  of  the  woods  and  running  to  the  shore.  They  wern 
perfectly  naked,  and,  as  they  stood  gazing  at  the  ships,  appeared  by  then 
attitudes  and  gestures  to  be  lost  in  astonishment.  Columbus  made  signal 
for  the  ships  to  cast  anchor,  and  the  boats  to  be  manned  and  armed.  He 
entered  his  own  boat,  richly  attired  in  scarlet,  and  holding  the  royal  standard; 
whUst  Martin  Alonzo  Pinzon,  and  Vincent  Yanez  his  brother,  put  off  in  com- 

pany in  their  boats,  each  with  a  banner  of  the  enterprise  emblazoned  with  a 
green  cross,  having  on  either  side  the  letters  F  and  Y,  the  initials  of  the  Castilian 
monarchs  Ferdinand  and  Isabella,  surmounted  by  crowns. 

As  he  approached  the  shore,  Columbus,  who  was  disposed  for  all  kinds  of 
agreeable  impressions,  was  delighted  with  the  purity  and  suavity  of  the 
atmosphere,  the  crystal  transparency  of  the  sea,  and  the  extraordinary  beauty 
of  the  vegetation.  He  beheld,  also,  fruits  of  an  imknown  kind  upon  the  trees 
which  overhung  the  shores.  On  landing  he  threw  himself  on  his  knees,  kissed 
the  earth,  and  returned  thanks  to  God  with  tears  of  joy.  His  example  was 
followed  by  the  rest,  whose  hearts  indeed  overflowed  with  the  same  feelings  of 
gratitude.  Columbus  then  rising  drew  his  sword,  displayed  the  royal  standard 
and  assembling  round  him  the  two  captains,  with  Rodrigo  de  Escobedo,  notary 
ot  the  armament,  Rodrigo  Sanchez,  and  the  rest  who  had  landed,  he  took 
solemn  possession  in  the  name  of  the  Castilian  sovereigns,  giving  the  island 
the  name  of  San  Salvador.  Having  complied  with  the  requisite  forms. and 
ceremonies,  he  called  upon  all  present  to  take  the  oath  of  obedience  to  him, 

as  admiral  and  viceroy,  representing  the  persons  of  the  sovereigns.' 
The  feeUngs  of  the  crew  now  burst  forth  in  the  most  extravagant  trans- ^ 

ports.  They  had  recently  considered  themselves  devoted  men,  hurrying 
forward  to  destruction;  they  now  looked  upon  themselves  as  favourites  of 
fortime,  and  gave  themselves  up  to  the  most  unbounded  joy.  They  thronged 
around  the  admiral  with  overflowing  zeal,  some  embracing  him,  others  kissing 
his  hands.  Those  who  had  been  most  mutinous  and  turbulent  during  the 
voyage,  were  now  most  devoted  and  enthusiastic.  Some  begged  favours  of 
him,  as  if  he  had  already  wealth  and  honours  in  his  gift.    Many  abject  spirits, 

'  Claudio  Clemente  "»  has  conserved  a  form  of  prayer,  said  to  have  been  used  by  Columbus 
on  this  occasion,  and  which,  by  order  of  the  Castilian  sovereigns,  was  afterwards  used  by  Balboa, 

Cortez,  and  Pizarro  in  their  discoveries:  "  Domine  Deus  (sterne  et  omnipotens,  sacro  tuo  verbo 
coBlum,  et  terrum,  et  marc  creasti ;  benedicatur  et  glorificetw  nomen  tuum,  laudetur  tua  majestaa, 
quoi  digrvita  est  per  hvmilem  servvm  tuum,  ut  ejus  sacrum  nomen  agnoseatw,  et  pradicetur  in 

hac  altera  munai  parte." 
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^ho  had  outraged  him  by  their  insolence,  now  crouched  at  his  feet,  begging 
pardon  for  all  the  trouble  they  had  caused  him,  and  promising  the  blindest 
obedience  for  the  future. 

The  natives  of  the  island,  when,  at  the  dawn  of  day,  they  had  beheld 
the  ships  hovering  on  their  coast,  had  supposed  them  monsters  which  had 
issued  from  the  deep  during  the  night.  They  had  crowded  to  the  beach, 
and  watched  their  movements  with  awful  anxiety.  Their  veering  about, 
apparently  without  effort,  and  the  shifting  and  furling  of  their  sails,  resembling 
huge  wings,  filled  them  with  astonishment.  When  they  beheld  their  boats 
approach  the  shore,  and  a  number  of  strange  beings  clad  in  glittering  steel,  or 
raiment  of  various  colours,  landing  upon  the  beach,  they  fled  in  affright  to  the 
woods.  Finding,  however,  that  there  was  no  attempt  to  pursue  nor  molest 
ihem,  they  gradually  recovered  from  their  terror,  and  approached  the  Span- 

iards with  great  awe;  frequently  prostrating  themselves  on  the  earth,  and 
making  signs  of  adoration.  During  the  ceremonies  of  taking  possession,  they 
remained  gazing  in  timid  admiration  of  the  complexion,  the  beards,  the  shin- 

ing armour,  and  splendid  dress  of  the  Spaniards.  The  admiral  particularly 
attracted  their  attention,  from  his  commanding  height,  his  air  of  authority, 
his  dress  of  scarlet,  and  the  deference  which  was  paid  him  by  his  companions; 
all  which  pointed  him  out  to  be  the  commander.  When  they  had  still  further 
recovered  from  their  fears,  they  approached  the  Spaniards,  touched  their 
beards,  and  examined  their  hands  and  faces,  admiring  their  whiteness.  Colum- 

bus was  pleased  with  their  gentleness  and  confiding  simplicity,  and  suffered 
their  scrutiny  with  perfect  acquiescence,  winning  them  by  his  benignity. 
They  now  supposed  that  the  ships  had  sailed  out  of  the  crystal  firmament 
which  bounded  their  horizon,  or  had  descended  from  above  on  their  ample 
wings,  and  that  these  marvellous  beings  were  inhabitants  of  the  skies. 

The  natives  of  the  island  were  no  less  objects  of  curiosity  to  the  Spaniards, 
differing,  as  they  did,  from  any  race  of  men  they  had  ever  seen.  Their  appear- 

ance gave  no  promise  of  either  wealth  or  civilisation,  for  they  were  entirely 
naked,  and  painted  with  a  variety  of  colours.  Their  features,  though  obscured 
and  disfigured  by  paiat,  were  agreeable;  they  had  lofty  foreheads  and  remark- 

ably fine  eyes.  They  were  of  moderate  stature  and  well-shaped;  most  of 
them  appeared  to  be  under  thirty  years  of  age :  there  was  but  one  female  with 
them,  quite  young,  naked  like  her  companions,  and  beautifully  formed. 

As  Columbus  supposed  himself  to  have  landed  on  an  island  at  the  extremity 
of  India,  he  called  the  natives  by  the  general  appellation  of  Indians,  which 
was  universally  adopted  before  the  true  nature  of  his  discovery  was  known, 
and  has  since  been  extended  to  all  the  aboriginals  of  the  New  World. 

The  islanders  were  friendly  and  gentle.  Their  only  arms  were  lances, 
hardened  at  the  end  by  fire,  or  pointed  with  a  flint,  or  the  teeth  or  bone  of  a 
fish.  There  was  no  iron  to  be  seen,  nor  did  they  appear  acquainted  with  its 
properties ;  for  when  a  drawn  sword  was  presented  to  them,  they  unguardedly 
took  it  by  the  edge.  Columbus  distributed  among  them  coloured  caps,  glass 
beads,  hawks'  bells,  and  other  trifles,  such  as  the  Portuguese  were  accustomed 
to  trade  with  among  the  nations  of  the  gold  coast  of  Africa.  They  received 
them  eagerly,  hung  the  beads  round  their  necks,  and  were  wonderfuUy  pleased 
with  their  finery,  and  with  the  sound  of  the  bells.  The  Spaniards  remained 
all  day  on  shore  refreshing  themselves  after  their  anxious  voyage  amidst  the 
beautiful  groves  of  the  island;  and  returned  on  board  late  in  the  evening, 
delighted  with  all  they  had  seen. 

On  the  following  morning,  at  break  of  day,  the  shore  was  thronged  with 
the  natives ;  some  swam  off  to  the  ships,  others  came  in  light  barks  which  they 

H.  W.  —  VOL.  XXII.  3F 
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called  canoes,  formed  of  a  single  tree,  hollowed,  and  capable  of  holding  from 
one  man  to  the  number  of  forty  or  fifty.  These  they  managed  dexterously 
with  paddles,  and,  if  orverturned,  swam  about  in  the  water  with  perfect  uncon- 

cern, as  if  in  their  natural  element,  righting  their  canoes  with  great  facility, 
and  baling  them  with  calabashes. 

The  avarice  of  the  discoverers  was  quickly  excited  by  the  sight  of  small 
ornaments  of  gold,  worn  by  some  of  the  natives  in  their  noses.  These  the 

latter  gladly  exchanged  for  glass  beads  and  hawks'  bells;  and  both  parties 
exulted  in  the  bargain,  no  doubt  admiring  each  other's  simplicity.  As  gold, 
however,  was  an  object  of  royal  monopoly  in  all  enterprises  of  discovery, 
Columbus  forbade  any  traffic  in  it  without  his  express  sanction;  and  he  put 
the  same  prohibition  on  the  traffic  for  cotton,  reserving  to  the  crown  all  trade 
for  it,  wherever  it  should  be  found  in  any  quantity. 

He  inquired  of  the  natives  where  this  gold  was  procured.  They  answered 
him  by  signs,  pointing  to  the  south,  where,  he  imderstood  them,  dwelt  a  king 
of  such  wealth  that  he  was  served  in  vessels  of  wrought  gold.  He  imderstood, 
also,  that  there  was  land  to  the  south,  the  southwest,  and  the  northwest; 
and  that  the  people  from  the  last>-mentioned  quarter  frequently  proceeded  to 
the  southwest  in  quest  of  gold  and  precious  stones,  making  in  their  way  descent 
upon  the  islands,  and  carrying  off  the  inhabitants^  Several  of  the  natives 
showed  him  scars  of  wounds  received  in  battles  with  these  invaders.  It  is 

evident  that  a  great  part  of  this  fancied  intelligence  was  self-delusion  on  the 
part  of  Columbus;  for  he  was  under  a  spell  of  the  imagination,  which  gave 
its,  own  shapes  and  colours  to  every  object.  He  was  persuaded  that  he  had 
arrived  among  the  islands  described  by  Marco  Polo,  as  lying  opposite  Cathay, 
in  the  Chinese  sea,  and  he  construed  everything  to  accord  with  the  account 
given  of  those  opulent  regions.  Thus  the  enemies  which  the  natives  spoke  of 
as  coming  from  the  northwest  he  concluded  to  be  the  people  of  the  mainland 
of  Asia,  the  subjects  of  the  great  khan  of  Tatary,  who  were  represented  by  the 
Venetian  traveller  as  accustomed  to  make  war  upon  the  islands,  and  to  enslave 
their  inhabitants.  The  country  to  the  south,  abounding  in  gold,  could  be  no 
other  than  the  famous  island  of  Cipango;  and  the  king  who  was  served  out 
of  vessels  of  gold  must  be  the  monarch  whose  magnificent  city  and  gorgeous 
palace,  covered  with  plates  of  gold,  had  been  extolled  in  such  splendid  terms 
by  Marco  Polo. 

The  island  where  Columbus  had  thus,  for  the  first  time,  set  his  foot  upon 
the  New  World,  was  called  by  the  natives  Guanahane.'  It  still  retains  the 
name  of  San  Salvador,  which  he  gave  to  it,  though  called  by  the  English  Cat 
Island.  The  light  which  he  had  seen  the  evening  previous  to  his  making  land, 

may  have  been  on  Watling's  Island,  which  lies  a  few  leagues  to  the  east.  San 
Salvador  is  one  of  the  great  cluster  of  the  Lucayos,  or  Bahama  Islands,  which 
stretch  southeast  and  northwest,  from  the  coast  of  Florida  to  Hispaniola, 
covering  the  northern  coast  of  Cuba. 

On  the  morning  of  the  14th  of  October  the  admiral  set  off  at  daybreak  with 
the  boats  of  the  ships  to  reconnoitre  the  island,  directing  his  course  to  the 
northeast.  The  coast  was  surrounded  by  a  reef  or  rocks,  within  which  there 
was  depth  of  water  and  sufficient  harbour  to  receive  all  the  ships  in  Christen- 

dom. The  entrance  was  very  narrow;  within  there  were  several  sand-banks, 
but  the  water  was  as  still  as  in  a  pool.    Having  taken  in  a  supply  of  wood  and 

P  Later  readings  make  this  GuanahanL  As  to  its  exact  identity,  there  has  been  some  dis- 
pute. Rudolf  Cronau,^'!'  who  made  a  special  study  of  the  ground  asserts  that  Columbus  landed 

on  Watling's  Island,  and  on  its  west  coast,  not  its  eastern.     With  this  Adams  m  agrees.] 
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water,  they  left  the  island  the  same  evenmg,  the  admiral  being  impatient  to 
arrive  at  the  wealthy  country  to  the  south,  which  he  flattered  himself,  would 
prove  the  famous  island  of  Cipango.^ 

COLUMBUS'   OWN  ACCOUNT  OF  HIS  DISCOVERT 

A  letter,  addressed  to  the  noble  Lord  Raphael  Sanchez,  treasurer  of  their  most  invincible 
majesties,  Ferdinand  and  Isabella,  king  and  queen  of  Spain,  by  which  Christopher  Columbus 
to  whom  our  age  is  greatly  indebted,  treating  of  the  islands  of  India  recently  discovered  beyond 
the  Ganges,  to  explore  which  he  had  been  sent  eight  months  before  under  the  auspices  and  at 
the  expense  of  their  said  majesties : 

Knowing  that  it  will  afford  you  pleasure  to  learn  that  I  have  brought  my 
undertaking  to  a  successful  termination,  I  have  decided  upon  writing  you  this 
letter  to  acquaint  you  of  all  the  events  which  have  occurred  in  my  voyage, 
and  the  discoveries  which  have  resulted  from  it.  Thirty-three  days  after  my 
departure  from  Cadiz  I  reached  the  Indian  sea,  where  I  discovered  many 
islands  without  resistance  in  the  name  of  our  most  illustrious  monarch,  by 
public  proclamation  and  with  unfurled  banners.  To  the  first  of  these  islands, 
which  is  called  by  the  Indians  Guanahani,  I  gave  the  name  of  the  blessed 
Saviour  (San  Salvador),  relying  upon  whose  protection  I  had  reached  this  as 
well  as  the  other  islands;  to  each  of  these  I  also  gave  the  name,  ordering  that 
one  should  be  called  Santa  Maria  de  la  Concepcion,  another  Fernandina,  the 
third  Isabella,  the  fourth  Juana,  and  so  with  all  the  rest  respectively. 

As  soon  as  we  arrived  at  that  which  as  I  have  said  was  named  Juana,  I 
proceeded  along  its  coast  a  short  distance  westward,  and  found  it  to  be  so 
large  and  apparently  without  termination,  that  I  could  not  suppose  it  to  be 
an  island,  but  the  continental  province  of  Cathay.  Seeing,  however,  no 
towns  or  populous  places  on  the  sea  coast,  but  only  a  few  detached  houses 
and  cottages,  with  whose  inhabitants  I  was  unable  to  communicate,  because 
they  fled  as  soon  as  they  saw  us,  I  went  further  on,  thinking  that  in  my  pro- 

gress I  should  certainly  find  some  city  or  village.  At  length,  after  proceed- 
ing a  great  way  and  finding  that  nothing  new  presented  itself,  and  that  the 

line  of  coast  was  leading  us  northwards  (which  I  wished  to  avoid,  because  it 
was  winter,  and  it  was  my  intention  to  move  southwards;  and  because, 
moreover,  the  winds  were  contrary),  I  resolved  not  to  attempt  any  further 
progress,  but  rather  to  turn  back  and  retrace  my  course  to  a  certain  bay 
that  I  had  observed,  and  from  which  I  afterwards  despatched  two  of  our 
men  to  ascertain  whether  there  were  a  king  or  any  cities  in  that  province. 
These  men  reconnoitred  the  country  for  three  days,  and  found  a  most  numerous 
population,  and  great  numbers  of  houses,  though  small  and  built  without  any 
regard  to  order,  and  with  which  information  they  returned  to  us. 

In  the  meantime  I  had  learned  from  some  Indians  whom  I  had  seized 
that  that  country  was  certainly  an  island;  and  therefore  I  sailed  towards  the 
east,  coasting  to  the  distance  of  three  hundred  and  twenty-two  miles,  and 
brought  us  to  the  extremity  of  it;  from  this  point  I  saw  lying  eastwards 
another  island,  fifty-four  miles  distant  from  Juana,  to  which  I  have  gave 
the  name  of  Hispaniola:  I  went  thither,  and  steered  my  course  eastward  as 
I  had  done  at  Juana,  even  to  the  distance  of  five  hundred  and  sixty-four 
miles  along  the  north  coast.  This  said  island  of  Juana  is  exceedingly  fertile, 
as  indeed  are  all  others;  it  is  surrounded  with  many  bays,  spacious,  very 
secure,  and  surpassing  any  that  I  have  ever  seen;  numerous  large  and  health- 

ful rivers  intersect  it,  and  it  also  contains  many  very  lofty  mountains. 
All  these  islands  are  very  beautiful,  and  distinguished  by  a  diversity  of 
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scenery;  they  are  filled  with  a  great  variety  of  trees  of  immense  height,  which 
I  believe  to  retain  their  foUage  in  all  seasons;  for  when  I  saw  them  they  were 
as  verdant  and  luxuriant  as  they  usually  are  in  Spain  in  the  month  of  May 
—  some  of  them  were  blossoming,  some  bearing  fruit,  and  all  flourishing  in 
the  greatest  perfection,  according  to  their  respective  stages  of  growth,  and  the 
nature  and  quality  of  each:  yet  the  islands  are  not  so  thickly  wooded  as  to 
be  impassable.  The  nightingale  and  various  birds  were  singing  in  countless 
numbers,  and  that  in  November,  the  month  in  which  I  arrived  there.  There 
are  besides  in  the  same  island  of  Juana  seven  or  eight  kinds  of  palm  trees, 
which  like  all  the  other  trees,  herbs,  and  fruits,  considerably  surpass  ours  in 
height  and  beauty.  The  pines  also  are  very  handsome,  and  there  are  very 
extensive  fields  and  meadows,  a  variety  of  birds,  different  kinda  of  honey,  and 
many  sorts  of  metals,  but  no  iron.  In  that  island  also  I  have  before  said  we 
named  Hispaniola,  there  are  mountains  of  very  great  size  and  beauty,  vast 
plains,  groves,  and  very  fruitful  fields,  admirably  adapted  for  tillage,  pasture, 
and  habitation.  The  convenience  and  excellence  of  the  harbours  in  this 
island,  and  the  abundance  of  the  rivers,  so  indispensable  to  the  health  of  man, 
surpass  anything  that  would  be  believed  by  one  who  had  not  seen  it.  The 
trees,  herbage,  and  fruits  of  Hispaniola  are  very  different  from  those  of  Juana, 
and  moreover  it  abounds  in  various  kinds  of  spices,  gold,  and  other  metals. 

The  inhabitants  of  both  sexes  in  this  island,  and  in  all  the  others  which  I 
have  seen,  or  of  which  I  have  received  information,  go  always  naked  as  they 
were  born,  with  the  exception  of  some  women,  who  use  the  covering  of  a 
leaf,  or  small  bough,  or  an  apron  of  cotton  which  they  prepare  for  that  pur- 

pose. None  of  them,  as  I  have  already  said,  are  possessed  of  any  iron,  neither 
have  they  weapons,  being  unacquainted  with  and  indeed  incompetent  to  use 
them,  not  from  any  deformity  of  body  (for  they  are  well  formed),  but  because 
they  are  timid  arid  full  of  fear.  They  carry,  however,  in  lieu  of  arms,  canes 
dried  in  the  sun,  on  the  ends  of  which  they  fix  heads  of  dried  wood  sharpened 
to  a  point,  and  even  these  they  dare  not  use  habitually;  for  it  has  often 
occurred  when  I  have  sent  two  or  three  of  my  men  to  any  of  the  villages  to 
speak  with  the  natives,  that  they  have  come  in  a  disorderly  troop,  and  have 
fled  in  such  haste  at  the  approach  of  our  men  that  the  fathers  forsook  their 
children  and  the  children  their  fathers. 

This  timidity  did  not  arise  from  any  loss  or  injury  that  they  had  received 
from  us,  for,  on  the  contrary,  I  gave  to  all  I  approached  whatever  articles  I 
had  about  me,  such  as  cloth  and  many  other  things,  taking  nothing  of  theirs 
in  return;  but  they  are  naturally  timid  and  fearful.  As  soon,  however,  as 
they  see  that  they  are  safe,  and  have  laid  aside  all  fear,  they  are  very  simple 
and  honest,  and  exceedingly  liberal  with  all  they  have;  none  of  them  refusing 
anything  he  may  possess  when  he  is  asked  for  it,  but  on  the  contrary,  inviting 
us  to  ask  them.  They  exhibit  great  love  towards  all  others  in  preference 
to  themselves;  they  also  give  objects  of  great  value  for  trifles,  and  content 
themselves  with  very  little  or  nothing  in  return.  I,  however,  forbade  that 
these  trifles  and  articles  of  no  value  (such  as  pieces  of  dishes,  plates,  and  glass, 
keys  and  leather  straps)  should  be  given  them,  although  if  they  could  obtain 
them  they  imagined  themselves  to  be  possessed  of  the  most  beautiful  trinkets 
in  the  world.  It  even  happened  that  a  sailor  received  for  a  leather  strap  as 
much  gold  as  was  worth  three  golden  nobles,  and  for  things  of  more  trifling 
value  offered  by  our  men,  especially  newly  coined  blancas,  or  any  gold  coins, 
the  Indians  would  give  whatever  the  seller  required,  as,  for  instance,  an  ounce 
and  a  half  or  two  ounces  of  gold,  or  thirty  or  forty  pounds  of  cotton,  with, 
which  commodity  they  were  already  acquainted. 
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Thus  they  bartered,  like  idiots,  cotton  and  gold  for  fragments  of  bows, 
glasses,  bottles,  and  jars :  which  I  forbade  as  being  unj  ust,  and  myself  gave 
them  many  beautiful  and  acceptable  articles  which  I  had  brought  with  me, 
taking  nothing  from  them  in  return;  I  did  this  in  order  that  I  might  the 
more  easily  conciliate  them,  that  they  might  be  led  to  become  Christians,  and 
be  inclined  to  entertain  a  regard  for  the  king  and  queen,  our  princes,  and  all 
Spaniards,  and  that  I  might  induce  them  to  take  an  interest  in  seeking  out, 
and  collecting  and  delivering  to  us  such  things  as  they  possessed  in  abun- 

dance, but  which  we  greatly  needed. 
They  practise  no  kind  of  idolatry,  but  have  a  firm  belief  that  all  strength 

and  power,  and  indeed  all  good  things,  are  in  heaven,  and  that  I  had  descended 
from  thence  with  these  ships  and  sailors,  and  under  this  impression  was  I 
received  after  they  had  thrown  aside  their  fears.  Nor  are  they  slow  or  stupid, 
but  of  very  clear  understanding;  and  those  men  who  have  crossed  to  the 
neighbouring  islands  give  an  admirable  description  of  everything  they 
observed;  but  they  never  saw  any  people  clothed,  nor  any  ships  like  ours. 

On  my  arrival  at  that  sea,  I  had  taken  some  Indians  by  force  from  the 
first  island  that  I  came  to,  in  order  that  they  might  learn  our  language,  and 
communicate  to  us  what  they  knew  respecting  the  country,  which  plan  suc- 

ceeded excellently,  and  was  a  great  advantage  to  us,  for  in  a  short  time, 
either  by  gestures  and  signs  or  by  words,  we  were  enabled  to  understand  each, 
other.  These  men  are  still  travelling  with  me,  and  although  they  have  been, 
with  us  now  a  long  time,  they  continue  to  entertain  the  idea  that  I  have 
descended  from  heaven;  and  on  our  arrival  at  any  new  place  they  published 

this,  crying  out  immediately  with  a  loud  voice  to  the  other  Indians,  "Come, 
come  and  look  upon  beings  of  a  celestial  race";  upon  which  both  women  and 
men,  children  and  adults,  young  men  and  old,  when  they  got  rid  of  the  fear 
they  at  first  entertained,  would  come  out  in  throngs,  crowding  the  roads  to  see 
us,  some  bringing  food,  others  drink,  with  astonishing  affection  and  kindness. 

Each  of  these  islands  has  a  great  number  of  canoes,  built  of  solid  wood, 
narrow  and  not  unhke  our  double-banked  boats  in  length  and  shape,  but 
swifter  in  their  motion :  they  steer  them  only  by  the  oar.  These  canoes  are 
of  various  sizes,  but  the  greater  number  are  constructed  with  eighteen  banks 
of  oars,  and  with  these  they  cross  to  the  other  islands,  which  are  of  countless 
number,  to  carry  on  traffic  with  the  people.  I  saw  some  of  these  canoes  that 
held  as  many  as  seventy-eight  rowers.  In  all  these  islands  there  is  no  differ- 

ence of  physiognomy,  of  manners,  or  of  language,  but  they  all  clearly  under- 
stand each  other,  a  circumstance  very  propitious  for  the  realisation  of  what 

I  conceive  to  be  the  principal  wish  of  our  most  serene  king,  namely,  the  con- 
version of  these  people  to  the  holy  faith  of  Christ,  to  which,  indeed,  as  far 

as  I  can  judge,  they  are  very  favourable  and  well-disposed. 
I  said  before  that  I  went  three  hundred  and  twenty-two  miles  in  a  direct 

line  from  west  to  east,  along  the  coast  of  the  island  of  Juana,  judging  by 
which  voyage,  and  the  length  of  the  passage,  I  can  assert  that  it  is  larger 
than  England  and  Scotland  united;  for  independent  of  the  said  three  hun- 

dred and  twenty-two  miles,  there  are  in  the  western  part  of  the  island,  two 
provinces  which  I  did  not  visit;  one  of  these  is  called  by  the  Indians  Avan, 
and  its  inhabitants  are  born  with  tails.  These  provinces  extend  to  one  hun- 

dred and  fifty-three  miles  in  length,  as  I  have  learned  from  the  Indians  whom 
I  have  brought  with  me,  and  who  are  well  acquainted  with  the  country. 
But  the  extent  of  Hispaniola  is  greater  than  all  Spain  from  Catalonia  to 
Fuenterrabia,  which  is  easily  proved,  because  one  of  its  four  sides  which  I 
myself  coasted  in  a  direct  line,  from  west  to  east,  measures  five  hundred  and 
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forty  miles.  This  island  is  to  be  regarded  with  especial  interest,  and  not  to 
be  slighted;  for  although,  as  I  have  said,  I  took  possession  of  these  islands  in 
the  name  of  our  invincible  king,  and  the  government  of  them  is  unreservedly 
committed  to  his  majesty,  yet  there  was  one  large  town  in  Hispaniola  of 
which  especially  I  took  possession,  situated  in  a  remarkably  favourable  spot, 
and  in  every  way  convenient  for  the  purposes  of  gain  and  commerce. 

To  this  town  I  gave  the  name  of  Navidad  de  Senor,  and  ordered  a  for- 
tress to  be  built  there,  which  must  by  this  time  be  completed,  in  which  I  left 

as  many  men  as  I  thought  necessary,  with  all  sorts  of  arms,  and  enough  pro- 
visions for  more  than  a  year.  I  also  left  them  one  caravel,  and  skilful  work- 

men both  in  shipbuilding  and  other  arts,  and  engaged  the  favour  and  friend- 
ship of  the  king  of  the  island  in  their  behalf,  to  a  degree  that  would  not  be 

believed,  for  these  people  are  so  amiable  and  friendly  that  even  the  king  took 
a  pride  in  calling  me  his  brother.  But  supposing  their  feelings  should  become 
changed,  and  they  should  wish  to  injure  those  who  have  remained  in  the 
fortress,  they  could  not  do  so,  for  they  have  no  arms,  they  go  naked,  and  are 
moreover  too  cowardly;  so  that  those  who  hold  the  said  fortress  can  easily 
keep  the  whole  island  in  check,  without  any  pressing  danger  to  themselves, 
provided  they  do  not  transgress  the  directions  and  regulations  which  I  have 
given  them. 

As  far  as  I  have  learned,  every  man  throughout  these  islands  is  united 
to  but  one  wife,  with  the  exception  of  the  kings  and  princes,  who  are  allowed 
to  have  twenty:  the  women  seem  to  work  more  than  the  men.  I  could  not 
clearly  understand  whether  the  people  possess  any  private  property,  for  I 
observed  that  one  man  had  the  charge  of  distributing  various  things  to  the 
rest,  but  especially  meat  and  provisions  and  the  like.  I  did  not  find,  as  some 
of  us  had  expected,  any  cannibals  amongst  them,  but  on  the  contrary,  men  of 
great  deference  and  kindness.  Neither  are  they  black,  like  the  Ethiopians, 
their  hair  is  smooth  and  straight:  for  they  do  not  dwell  where  the  rays  of 
the  sun  strike  most  vividly  —  and  the  sun  has  intense  power  there,  the  dis- 

tance from  the  equinoctial  line  being,  it  appears,  but  six-and-twenty  degrees. 
On  the  tops  of  the  mountains  the  cold  is  very  great,  but  the  effect  of  this 
upon  the  Indians  is  lessened  by  their  being  accustomed  to  the  climate  and 
by  their  frequently  indulging  in  the  use  of  very  hot  meats  and  drinks. 

Thus,  as  I  have  already  said,  I  saw  no  cannibals  [monsters],  nor  did  I 
hear  of  any,  except  in  a  certain  island  called  Charis,  which  is  the  second  from 
Hispaniola  on  the  side  towards  India,  where  dwell  a  people  who  are  consid- 

ered by  the  neighbouring  islanders  as  most  ferocious:  and  these  feed  upon 
human  flesh.  The  same  people  have  many  kinds  of  canoes,  in  which  they 
cross  to  all  the  surrounding  islands  and  rob  and  plunder  wherever  they  can; 
they  are  not  different  from  the  other  islands,  except  that  they  wear  their 
hair  long,  like  women,  and  make  use  of  the  bows  and  javelins  of  cane,  with 
sharpened  spear-points  fixed  on  the  thickest  end,  which  I  have  before 
described,  and  therefore  they  are  looked  upon  as  ferocious,  and  regarded  by 
the  other  Indians  with  unbounded  fear;  but  I  think  no  more  of  them  than 
of  the  rest.  These  are  the  men  who  form  unions  with  certain  women,  who 
dwell  alone  in  the  island  Matenin,  which  lies  next  to  Hispaniola  on  the 
side  towards  India;  these  latter  employ  themselves  in  no  labour  suitable  to 
their  own  sex,  for  they  use  bows  and  javelins,  as  I  have  already  described 
their  paramours  as  doing,  and  for  defensive  armour  have  plates  of  brass,  of 
which  metal  they  possess  great  abundance.  They  assure  me  that  there  is 
another  island  larger  than  Hispaniola,  whose  inhabitants  have  no  hair,  and 
which  abounds  in  gold,  more  than  any  of  the  rest. 
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I  bring  with  me  individuals  of  tiiis  island  and  of  the  others  that  I  have 
seen,  who  are  proofs  of  the  facts  which  I  state.  Finally,  to  compress  into 
few  words  the  entire  summary  of  my  voyage  and  speedy  return,  and  of  the 
advantages  derivable  therefrom,  I  promise  that  with  a  little  assistance  afforded 
me  by  our  most  invincible  sovereigns,  I  will  procure  them  as  much  gold  as 
they  need,  as  great  a  quantity  of  spices,  of  cotton,  and  mastic  (which  is  only 
found  in  Chios),  and  as  many  men  for  the  service  of  the  navy  as  their  majesties 
may  require.  I  promise  also  rhubarb  and  other  sorts  of  drugs,  which  I  am 
persuaded  the  men  whom  I  have  left  in  the  aforesaid  fortress  have  found 
already  and  will  continue  to  find;  for  I  myself  have  tarried  nowhere  longer 
than  I  was  compelled  to  do  by  the  winds  except  in  the  city  of  Navidad,  while 
I  provided  for  the  building  of  the  fortress  and  took  the  necessary  precautions 
for  the  perfect  security  of  the  men  I  left  there. 

Although  all  I  have  related  may  appear  to  be  wonderful  and  unheard  of, 
yet  the  results  of  my  voyage  would  have  been  more  astonishing  if  I  had  had 
at  my  disposal  such  ships  as  I  required.  But  these  great  and  marvellous 
results  are  not  to  be  attributed  to  any  merit  of  mine,  but  to  the  holy  Christian 
faith  and  to  the  piety  and  religion  of  our  sovereigns;  for  that  which  the 
unaided  intellect  of  man  could  not  compass,  the  spirit  of  God  had  granted 
to  human  exertions,  for  God  is  wont  to  hear  the  prayers  of  his  servants  who 
love  his  precepts  even  to  the  performance  of  apparent  impossibilities.  Thus 
it  has  happened  to  me  in  the  present  instance,  who  have  accomplished  a  task 
to  which  the  powers  of  mortal  men  have  never  hitherto  attained;  for  if  there 
have  been  those  who  have  anywhere  written  or  spoken  of  these  islands,  they 
have  done  so  with  doubts  and  conjectures,  and  no  one  has  ever  asserted  that 
he  has  seen  them,  on  which  account  their  writings  have  been  looked  upon  as 
little  else  than  fables. 

Therefore,  let  the  king  and  queen,  our  princes,  and  their  happy  kingdoms, 
and  all  the  other  provinces  of  Christendom,  render  thanks  to  our  Lord  and 
Saviour  Jesus  Christ,  who  has  granted  us  so  great  a  victory  and  such  pros- 

perity. Let  processions  be  made  and  sacred  feasts  be  held,  and  the  temples 
be  adorned  with  festive  boughs.  Let  Christ  rejoice  on  earth,  as  he  rejoices  in 
heaven,  in  the  prospect  of  the  salvation  of  the  souls  of  so  many  nations 
hitherto  lost.  Let  us  all  rejoice,  as  well  on  account  of  the  exaltation  of  our 
faith  as  on  account  of  the  increase  of  our  temporal  prosperity,  of  which  not 
only  Spain  but  all  Christendom  will  be  partakers. 

Such  are  the  events  which  I  have  briefly  described.    Farewell. 
Lisbon,  the  14th  of  March.  Christopher  Columbus, 

Admiral  of  the  Fleet  of  the  Ocean."* 

THE   RETUKN  OF  COLUMBUS   (1493  A.D.) 

In  pursuit  of  Cathay  and  Cipango,  Columbus  prosecuted  his  researches 
until  he  discovered  Cuba.  The  interpreters  whom  he  had  brought  from  San 
Salvador  learned  here  that  some  gold  was  found  in  Cuba,  but  that  it  was 
much  more  abundant  in  another  country  farther  to  the  east.  The  prospect 
of  obtaining  gold  inflamed  the  cupidity  of  the  Spaniards,  and  Alonzo  Pinzon, 
the  commander  of  the  Pinta,  which  was  the  best  sailer  in  the  fleet,  wishing 
to  arrive  first  at  the  land  where  the  precious  metal  abounded,  crowded  all 
sail,  and  was  soon  out  of  sight. 

On  the  5th  of  December  Columbus,  with  the  remaining  ships,  sailed  from 
the  eastern  point  of  Cuba,  and  soon  arrived  at  the  rich  country  of  which  he 
had  received  such  a  glowing  description.    It  was  called  by  the  natives  Haiti; 
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Columbus  [as  we  have  seen  from  his  letter],  gave  it  the  name  of  Hispaniola. 
They  anchored  first  at  Port  St.  Nicholas,  and  shortly  after  at  a  little  distance 
from  Cape  Frangois.  Guanacanagari,  the  prince  of  the  country,  or  cacique, 
as  he  was  called  by  his  people,  received  Columbus  with  much  kindness,  and 
in  return  was  treated  by  him  with  great  distinction.  They  contracted  a» 
friendship,  which  continued  ever  afterwards  undiminished.  He  was  loaded 
with  ornaments  of  gold,  which  he  informed  the  Spaniards  came  from  a. 
country  farther  to  the  east,  called  Cibao.  Columbus,  deceived  by  the  resem- 

blance of  the  names,  believed  at  first  that  it  was  Cipango;  but  he  afterwards, 
learned  that  Cibao  was  the  name  of  a  mountain  in  the  centre  of  the  island. 

The  fleet  now  proceeded  to  the  east,  for  the  purpose  of  approaching  the 
gold  mines  of  Cibao.  On  the  night  of  the  24th  of  December  Columbus'  ves- 

sel, the  Santa  Maria,  struck  upon  a  reef,  and  he  was  compelled  to  abandon 
her,  and  take  refuge  with  his  crew  on  board  the  Nina.  The  cacique  and  his 
people  assisted  the  Spaniards  in  saving  their  effects,  and  consented  to  their 
erecting  a  fort  with  the  timber  of  the  wreck.  It  was  named  La  Navidad,. 
and  garrisoned  with  thirty-eight  men,  the  first  colony  in  Spanish  America.- 
The  admiral  left  provisions  in  the  fort  [as  we  have  seen  from  his  letter],, 
articles  to  barter  with  the  natives,  and  whatever  was  necessary  for  its  defence- 
He  then  took  leave  of  the  friendly  cacique,  with  the  promise  to  return  soon. 

On  the  4th  of  January,  1493,  Columbus  set  sail,  proceeding  a  little  to  the 
east,  in  order  to  complete  the  examination  of  the  north  coast  of  the  island, 
and  on  his  way  met  the  Pinta,  near  Monte  Christo.  He  affected  to  be  satis- 

fied with  the  excuses  made  by  Alonzo  Pinzon  to  explain  his  parting  company. 
At  length,  on  the  16th,  the  two  ships  directed  their  course  for  Spain. 

The  weather  was  favourable  at  the  commencement  of  the  voyage;  but  heavy 
gales  came  on  when  the  ships  were  near  the  Azores,  and  the  Pinta  was  a 

second  time  lost  sight  of.  The  admiral's  vessel  was  in  such  imminent  danger 
that  he  despaired  of  ever  reaching  land.  He  was  fearful  that  the  knowledge 
of  his  discovery  would  perish  with  him;  and  to  prevent  this  he  wrote  a  brief 
account  of  his  voyage  on  two  leaves  of  parchment,  and  put  each  of  these 
leaves  into  a  tight  cask.  One  of  these  casks  was  thrown  overboard  imme- 

diately; the  other  was  allowed  to  remain  on  deck  to  await  the  foundering 
of  the  vessel.  But  the  storm  subsided.  They  arrived  at  the  Azores  on  the 
15th  of  February.;/ 

February  24th  Columbus  resumed  his  course,  but  was  again  assailed  by 
such  stress  of  weather  that  he  feared  the  supreme  irony  of  perishing  in  the 

moment  of  his  return,  or,  as  he  said,  of  "  being  repulsed  from  the  very  door 
of  the  house."  On  the  4th  of  March  he  reached  the  Portuguese  coast  where 
his  ship  was  forced  to  take  shelter  in  the  Tagus.  Here  he  was  detained. 
He  sent  a  courier  by  land  to  the  queen  of  Spain  and  a  message  to  the  king 
of  Portugal,  by  whom  he  was  invited  to  the  court  at  Valparaiso.  So  great 
was  the  jealousy  of  the  Portuguese  at  the  discovery  which  placed  their  pre- 

viously unrivalled  achievements  in  the  second  rank,  that,  it  is  said,  the  mon- 
arch was  advised  to  have  Columbus  assassinated  and  to  send  a  fleet  to  occupy 

his  discoveries.  The  king  disdained  such  baseness,  however,  and  Columbus 
was  allowed  to  sail  on  the  13th  of  March,  arriving  at  Palos  at  noon  of  the 
15th,  after  an  absence  of  about  seven  months  and  a  half." 

irving's  picture  of  columbus'  triumph 

The  triumphant  return  of  Columbus  was  a  prodigious  event  in  the  history 
of  the  little  port  of  Palos,  where  everybody  was  more  or  less  interested  in  the 
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fate  of  his  expedition.  The  most  important  and  wealthy  sea  captains  of 
the  place  had  engaged  in  it,  and  scarcely  a  family  but  had  some  relative  or 
friend  among  the  navigators.  The  departure  of  the  ships  upon  what  appeared 
a  chimerical  and  desperate  cruise  had  spread  gloom  and  dismay  over  the 
place,  and  the  storms  which  had  raged  throughout  the  winter  had  heightened 
the  public  despondency.  Many  lamented  their  friends  as  lost,  while  imagina- 

tion lent  mysterious  horrors  to  their  fate,  picturing  them  as  driven  about 
over  wild  and  desert  wastes  of  water  without  a  shore,  or  as  perishing  amidst 
rocks,  and  quicksands,  and  whirlpools,  or  a  prey  to  those  monsters  of  the 
deep  with  which  credulity  peopled  every  distant  and  unfrequented  sea. 
There  was  something  more  awful  in  such  a  mysterious  fate  than  in  death 
itself,  under  any  defined  and  ordinary  form. 

Great  was  the  agitation  of  the  inhabitants,  therefore,  when  they  beheld 
one  of  the  ships  standing  up  the  river;  but  when  they  learned  that  she 
returned  in  triumph  from  the  discovery  of  a  world,  the  whole  community 
broke  forth  into  transports  of  joy.  The  bells  were  rung,  the  shops  shut,  all 
business  was  suspended;  for  a  time  there  was  nothing  but  hurry  and  tumult. 
When  Columbus  landed  the  multitude  thronged  to  see  and  welcome  him,  and 
a  grand  procession  was  formed  to  the  principal  church,  to  return  thanks  to 
God  for  so  signal  a  discovery  made  by  the  people  of  that  place  —  forgetting, 
in  their  exultation,  the  thousand  difficulties  they  had  thrown  in  the  way  of 
the  enterprise.  Wherever  Columbus  passed  he  was  hailed  with  shouts  and 
acclamations.  What  a  contrast  to  his  departure  a  few  months  before,  fol- 

lowed by  murmurs  and  execrations;  or,  rather,  what  a  contrast  to  his  first 
arrival  at  Palos,  a  poor  pedestrian,  craving  bread  and  water  for  his  child  ait 
the  gate  of  a  convent! 

Understanding  that  the  court  was  at  Barcelona,  he  felt  disposed  to  pro- 
ceed thither  immediately  in  his  caravel;  reflecting,  however,  on  the  dangers 

and  disasters  he  had  already  experienced  on  the  seas,  he  resolved  to  proceed 
by  land.  He  despatched  a  letter  to  the  king  and  queen,  informing  them  of 
his  arrival,  and  soon  after  departed  for  Seville  to  await  their  orders,  taking 
with  him  six  of  the  natives  whom  he  had  brought  from  the  New  World. 
One  had  died  at  sea,  and  three  were  left  ill  at  Palos. 

It  is  a  singular  coincidence,  which  appears  to  be  well  authenticated,  that 
on  the  very  evening  of  the  arrival  of  Columbus  at  Palos,  and  while  the  peals 
of  triumph  were  still  ringing  from  its  towers,  the  Pinta,  commanded  by 
Martin  Alonzo  Pinzon,  likewise  entered  the  river.  After  her  separation  from 
the  admiral  in  the  storm  she  had  been  driven  before  the  gale  into  the  bay  of 
Biscay,  and  had  made  the  port  of  Bayonne.  Doubting  whether  Columbus 
had  survived  the  tempest,  Pinzon  had  immediately  written  to  the  sovereigns, 
giving  information  of  the  discovery  he  had  made,  and  had  requested  per- 

mission to  come  to  court  and  conmiunicate  the  particulars  in  person.  As 
soon  as  the  weather  permitted,  he  had  again  set  sail,  anticipating  a  trium- 

phant reception  in  his  native  port  of  Palos.  When,  on  entering  the  harbour, 
he  beheld  the  vessel  of  the  admiral  riding  at  anchor,  and  learned  the  enthu- 

siasm with  which  he  had  been  received,  the  heart  of  Pinzon  died  within  him. 
It  is  said  that  he  feared  to  meet  Columbus  in  this  hour  of  his  triumph,  lest 
he  should  put  him  under  arrest  for  his  desertion  on  the  coast  of  Cuba;  but  he 
was  a  man  of  too  much  resolution  to  indulge  in  such  a  fear.  It  is  more  prob- 

able that  a  consciousness  of  his  misconduct  made  him  unwilling  to  appear 
before  the  public  in  the  midst  of  their  enthusiasm  for  Columbus,  and  perhaps 
he  sickened  at  the  honours  heaped  upon  a  man  whose  superiority  he  had 
been  so  unwilling  to  acknowledge.    Getting  into  his  boat,  therefore,  he  landed 
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privately,  and  kept  out  of  sight  until  he  heard  of  the  admiral's  departure. 
He  then  returned  to  his  home,,  broken  in  health  and  deeply  dejected,  con- 

sidering all  the  honours  and  eulogiums  heaped  upon  Columbus  as  so  many 
reproaches  on  himself.  The  reply  of  the  sovereigns  to  his  letter  at  length 
arrived.  It  was  of  a  rej)roachful  tenor,  and  forbade  his  appearance  at  court. 
This  letter  completed  his  humiliation;  the  anguish  of  his  feelings  gave  viru- 

lence to  his  bodily  malady,  and  in  a  few  days  he  died,  a  victim  to  deep 
chagrin. 

Let  no  one,  however,  indulge  in  harsh  censures  over  the  grave  of  Pinzon! 
His  merits  and  services  are  entitled  to  the  highest  praise;  his  errors  should 
be  regarded  with  indulgence.  He  was  one  of  the  foremost  in  Spain  to  appre- 

ciate the  project  of  Columbus,  animating  him  by  his  concurrence,  and  aiding 
him  with  his  purse  when  poor  and  unknown  at  Palos.  He  afterwards  enabled 
him  to  procure  and  fit  out  ships  when  even  the  mandates  of  the  sovereigns 
were  ineffectual,  and  finally  embarked  in  the  expedition  with  his  brothers 
and  his  friends,  staking  life,  property,  everything,  upon  the  event.  He  thus 
entitled  himself  to  participate  largely  in  the  glory  of  this  immortal  enter- 

prise; but  unfortunately,  forgetting  for  a  moment  the  grandeur  of  the  cause, 
and  the  implicit  obedience  due  to  his  commander,  he  yielded  to  the  incite- 

ments of  self-interest,  and  committed  that  act  of.  insubordination  which  has 
cast  a  shade  upon  his  name.  His  story  shows  how  one  lapse  from  duty  may 
counterbalance  the  merits  of  a  thousand  services;  how  one  moment  of  weak- 

ness may  mar  the  beauty  of  a  whole  life  of  virtue;  and  how  important  it  is 
for  a  man,  under  all  circumstances,  to  be  true,  not  merely  to  others,  but  to 
himself. 

After  a  lapse  of  years  the  descendants  of  the  Pinzons  made  strenuous 
representations  to  the  crown  of  the  merits  and  services  of  their  family, 
endeavouring  to  prove,  among  other  things,  that  but  for  the  aid  and  encour- 

agement of  Martin  Alonzo  and  his  brothers,  Columbus  would  never  have  made 
his  discovery.  Some  of  the  testimony  rendered  on  this  and  another  occa- 

sion was  rather  extravagant  and  absurd.  The  emperor  Charles  V,  however, 
taking  into  consideration  the  real  services  of  the  brothers  in  the  first  voyage, 
and  the  subsequent  expeditions  and  discoveries  of  that  able  and  intrepid 
navigator  Vincente  Yanez  Pinzon,  granted  to  the  family  the  well-merited  rank 
and  privileges  of  hidalguia,  a  degree  of  nobility  which  constituted  them 
noble  hidalgos,  with  the  right  of  prefixing  the  title  Don  to  their  names.  A 
coat-of-arms  was  also  given  them,  emblematical  of  their  services  as  discov- 

erers. These  privileges  and  arms  are  carefully  preserved  by  the  family  at 
the  present  day. 

The  letter  of  Columbus  to  the  Spanish  monarchs  had  produced  the  greatest 
sensation  at  court.  The  event  he  announced  was  considered  the  most  extra- 

ordinary of  their  prosperous  reign,  and  following  so  close  upon  the  conquest 
of  Granada,  was  pronounced  a  signal  mark  of  divine  favour  for  that  triumph 
achieved  in  the  cause  of  the  true  faith.  The  sovereigns  themselves  were  for 
a  time  dazzled  by  this  sudden  and  easy  acquisition  of  a  new  empire,  of  indefi- 

nite extent,  and  apparently  boundless  wealth;  and  their  first  idea  was  to 
secure  it  beyond  the  reach  of  dispute.  Shortly  after  his  arrival  in  Seville, 
Columbus  received  a  letter  from  them  expressing  their  great  delight,  and 
requesting  him  to  repair  immediately  to  court,  to  concert  plans  for  a  second 
and  more  extensive  expedition.  This  letter  was  addressed  to  him  by  the  title 

"  Don  Christopher  Columbus,  our  admiral  of  the  Ocean  sea,  and  viceroy  and 
governor  of  the  islands  discovered  in  the  Indies";  at  the  same  time  he  was 
promised  still  further  rewards.    Columbus  lost  no  time  in  complying  with 



THE   DISCOVEEEES   OP   AMEEICA  443 
[1493  A.B.] 

the  commands  of  the  sovereigns.  He  sent  a  memorandum  of  the  ships,  men, 
and  munitions  requisite,  and  having  made  such  dispositions  at  Seville  as 
circumstances  permitted,  set  out  for  Barcelona,  taking  with  him  the  six 
Indians  and  the  various  curiosities  and  productions  brought  from  the  New 
World. 

The  fame  of  his  discovery  had  resounded  throughout  the  nation,  and  as 
his  route  lay  through  several  of  the  finest  and  most  populous  provinces  of 
Spain,  his  journey  appeared  like  the  progress  of  a  sovereign.  Wherever  he 
passed,  the  country  poured  forth  its  inhabitants,  who  lined  the  road  and 
thronged  the  villages.  The  streets,  windows,  and  balconies  of  the  towns 
were  filled  with  eager  spectators,  who  rent  the  air  with  acclamations.  His 
journey  was  continually  impeded  by  the  multitude  pressing  to  gain  a  sight 
of  him  and  of  the  Indians,  who  were  regarded  with  as  much  astonishment  as 
if  they  had  been  natives  of  another  planet.  It  was  impossible  to  satisfy  the 
craving  curiosity  which  assailed  him  and  his  attendants  at  every  stage  with 
innumerable  questions;  popular  rumour,  as  usual,  had  exaggerated  the  truth, 
and  had  filled  the  newly  found  country  with  all  kinds  of  wonders. 

About  the  middle  of  April  Columbus  arrived  at  Barcelona,  where  every 
preparation  had  been  made  to  give  him  a  solemn  and  magnificent  reception. 
The  beauty  and  serenity  of  the  weather  in  that  genial  season  and  favoured 
climate  contributed  to  give  splendour  to  this  memorable  ceremony.  As  he 
drew  near  the  place,  many  of  the  youthful  courtiers  and  hidalgos,  together 
with  a  vast  concourse  of  the  populace,  came  forth  to  meet  and  welcome  him. 
His  entrance  into  this  noble  city  has  been  compared  to  one  of  those  triumphs 
which  the  Romans  were  accustomed  to  decree  to  conquerors.  First  were 
paraded  the  Indians,  painted  according  to  their  savage  fashion,  and  decora- 

ted with  their  national  ornaments  of  gold.  After  these  were  borne  various 
kinds  of  live  parrots,  together  with  stuffed  birds  and  animals  of  unknown 
species,  and  rare  plants  supposed  to  be  of  precious  qualities;  while  great 
care  was  taken  to  make  a  conspicuous  display  of  Indian  coronets,  bracelets, 
and  other  decorations  of  gold,  which  might  give  an  idea  of  the  wealth  of  the 
newly  discovered  regions.  After  this  followed  Columbus  on  horseback,  sur- 

rounded by  a  brilliant  cavalcade  of  Spanish  chivalry.  The  streets  were 
almost  impassable  from  the  countless  multitude;  the  windows  and  balconies 
were  crowded  with  the  fair;*  the  very  roofs  were  covered  with  spectators. 
It  seemed  as  if  the  public  eye  could  not  be  sated  with  gazing  on  these 
trophies  of  an  unknown  world,  or  on  the  remarkable  man  by  whom  it  had 
been  discovered.  There  was  a  sublimity  in  this  event  that  mingled  a  solemn 
feeling  with  the  public  joy.  It  was  looked  upon  as  a  vast  and  signal  dis- 

pensation of  Providence  in  reward  for  the  piety  of  the  monarchs;  and  the 
majestic  and  venerable  appearance  of  the  discoverer,  so  different  from  the 
youth  and  buoyancy  generally  expected  from  roving  enterprise,  seemed  in 
harmony  with  the  grandeur  and  dignity  of  his  achievement. 

To  receive  him  with  suitable  pomp  and  distinction,  the  sovereigns  had 
ordered  their  throne  to  be  placed  in  public  under  a  rich  canopy  of  brocade 
of  gold,  in  a  vast  and  splendid  saloon.  Here  the  king  and  queen  awaited  his 
arrival,  seated  in  state,  with  the  prince  Juan  beside  them,  and  attended  by 
the  dignitaries  of  their  court,  and  the  principal  nobility  of  Castile,  Valentia, 
Catalonia,  and  Arragon,  all  impatient  to  behold  the  man  who  had  conferred  so 
incalculable  a  benefit  upon  the  nation.  At  length  Columbus  entered  the  hall, 

surrounded  by  a  brilliant  crowd  of  cavaliers,  among  whom,  says  Las  Casas,** 
he  was  conspicuous  for  his  stately  and  commanding  person,  which  with 
his  countenance,  rendered  venerable  by  his  gray  hairs,  gave  him  the  august 
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appearance  of  a  senator  of  Rome.  As  Columbus  approached,  the  sovereigns 
rose,  as  if  receiving  a  person  of  the  highest  rank.  Bending  his  knees,  h& 
offered  to  kiss  their  hands;  but  there  was  some  hesitation  on  their  part  tO' 
permit  this  act  of  homage.  Raising  him  in  the  most  gracious  manner,  they 
ordered  him  to  seat  himself  in  their  presence,  a  rare  honour  in  this  proud  and 
punctilious  court. 

At  their  request  he  now  gave  an  account  of  the  most  striking  events  of 
his  voyage,  and  a  description  of  the  islands  discovered.  He  displayed  speci- 

mens of  unknown  birds,  and  other  animals;  of  rare  plants  of  medicinal  and 
aromatic  virtues;  of  native  gold  in  dust,  in  crude  masses,  or  laboured  intO' 
barbaric  ornaments;  and,  above  all,  the  natives  of  these  countries,  who  were 
objects  of  intense  and  inexhaustible  interest.  All  these  he  pronounced  mere 
harbingers  of  greater  discoveries  yet  to  be  made,  which  would  add  realms  of 
incalculable  wealth  to  the  dominions  of  their  majesties,  and  whole  nations  of 
proselytes  to  the  true  faith. 

When  he  had  finished,  the  sovereigns  sank  on  their  knees,  and .  raising 
their  clasped  hands  to  heaven,  their  eyes  filled  with  tears  of  joy  and  grati- 

tude, poured  forth  thanks  and  praises  to  God  for  so  great  a  providence:  all 
present  followed  their  example;  a  deep  and  solemn  enthusiasm  pervaded 
that  splendid  assembly,  and  prievented  all  common  acclamations  of  triumph. 
The  anthem  Te  Deum  Laudamus,  chanted  by  the  choir  of  the  royal  chapel,, 
with  the  accompaniment  of  instruments,  rose  in  full  body  of  sacred  harmony,, 
bearing  up,  as  it  were,  the  feelings  and  thoughts  of  the  auditors  to  heaven, 

"  so  that,"  says  the  venerable  Las  Casas,d<i  "  jt  seemed  as  if  in  that  hour  they 
communicated  with  celestial  delights."  Such  was  the  solemn  and  pious  man- 

ner in  which  the  brilliant  court  of  Spain  celebrated  this  sublime  event;  offer- 
ing up  a  grateful  tribute  of  melody  and  praise,  and  giving  glory  to  God  for 

the  discovery  of  another  world.  When  Columbus  retired  from  the  royal 
presence  he  was  attended  to  his  residence  by  all  the  court,  and  followed  by  the 
shouting  populace.  For  many  days  he  was  the  object  of  universal  curiosity,, 
and  wherever  he  appeared  was  surrounded  by  an  admiring  multitude. 

While  his  mind  was  teeming  with  glorious  anticipations,  his  pious  scheme 
for  the  deliverance  of  the  Holy  Sepulchre  was  not  forgotten.  It  has  been 
shown  that  he  suggested  it  to  the  Spanish  sovereigns  at  the  time  of  first 
making  his  propositions,  holding  it  forth  as  the  great  object  to  be  effected 
by  the  profits  of  his  discoveries.  Flushed  with  the  idea  of  the  vast  wealth 
now  to  accrue  to  himself,  he  made  a  vow  to  furnish  within  seven  years  an 
army,  consisting  of  four  thousand  horse  and  fifty  thousand  foot,  for  the 
rescue  of  the  Holy  Sepulchre,  and  a  similar  force  within  the  five  following 
years.  This  vow  was  recorded  in  one  of  his  letters  to  the  sovereigns,  to 
which  he  refers,  but  which  is  no  longer  extant;  nor  is  it  certain  whether  it 
was  made  at  the  end  of  his  first  voyage  or  at  a  subsequent  date,  when  the 
magnitude  and  wealthy  result  of  his  discoveries  became  more  fully  mani- 

fest. He  often  alludes  to  it  vaguely  in  his  writings,  and  he  refers  to  it 
expressly  in  a  letter  to  Pope  Alexander  VI,  written  in  1502,  in  which  he 
accounts  also  for  its  non-fulfilment.  It  is  essential  to  a  full  comprehension 
of  the  character  and  motives  of  Columbus  that  this  visionary  project  should 
be  borne  in  recollection.  It  will  be  found  to  have  entwined  itself  in  his  mind 
with  his  enterprise  of  discovery,  and  that  a  holy  crusade  was  to  be  the  con- 

summation of  those  divine  purposes,  for  which  he  considered  himself  selected 
by  heaven  as  an  agent.  It  shows  how  much  his  mind  was  elevated  above 
selfish  and  mercenary  views  —  how  it  was  filled  with  those  devout  and 
heroic  schemes  which  in  the  time  of  the  crusades  bad  inflamed  the  thoughtss 
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and  directed  the  enterprises  of  the  bravest  warriors  and  most  illustrious 
princes. 

The  joy  occasioned  by  the  great  discovery  of  Columbus  was  not  confined 
to  Spain;  the  tidings  were  spread  far  and  wide  by  the  communications  of 
ambassadors,  the  correspondence  of  the  learned,  the  negotiations  of  mer- 

chants, and  the  reports  of  travellers,  and  the  whole  civilised  world  was  filled 
with  wonder  and  delight.  How  gratifying  would  it  have  been,  had  the  press 
at  that  time,  as  at  present,  poured  forth  its  daily  tide  of  speculation  on  every 
passing  occurrence!  With  what  eagerness  should  we  seek  to  know  the  first 
ideas  and  emotions  of  the  public  on  an  event  so  unlocked  for  and  sublime! 
Even  the  first  announcements  of  it  by  contemporary  writers,  though  brief 
and  incidental,  derive  interest  from  being  written  at  the  time,'  and  from 
showing  the  casual  way  in  which  such  great  tidings  were  conveyed  about  the 
world.  Allegretto  Allegretti,*^  in  his  annals  of  Sienna  for  1493,  mentions  it 
as  just  made  known  there  by  the  letters  of  their  merchants  who  were  in 
Spain,  and  by  the  mouths  of  various  travellers.  The  news  was  brought  to 
Genoa  by  the  return  of  her  ambassadors,  Francisco  Marchesi  and  Giovanni 
Antonio  Grimaldi,  and  was  recorded  among  the  triumphant  events  of  the 
year:  for  the  republic,  though  she  may  have  slighted  the  opportunity  of 
making  herself  mistress  of  the  discovery,  has  ever  since  been  tenacious  of  the 
»lory  of  having  given  birth  to  the  discoverer.  The  tidings  were  soon  carried 
to  England,  which  as  yet  was  but  a  maritime  power  of  inferior  importance, 
rhey  caused,  however,  much  wonder  in  London,  and  great  talk  and  admira- 

tion in  the  court  of  Henry  VII,  where  the  discovery  was  pronounced  "a 
thing  more  divine  than  human."  We  have  this  [as  quoted  from  memory  by 
Ramusio'*]  on  the  authority  of  Sebastian  Cabot  himself,  the  future  discov- 

erer of  the  northern  continent  of  America,  who  was  in  London  at  the  time, 
md  was  inspired  by  the  event  with  a  generous  spirit  of  emulation. 

Every  member  of  civilised  society,  in  fact,  rejoiced  in  the  occurrence,  as 
3ne  in  which  he  was  more  or  less  interested.  To  some  it  opened  a  new  and 
unbounded  field  of  inquiry;  to  others  of  enterprise;  and  everyone  awaited 
mth  intense  eagerness  the  further  development  of  this  unknown  world,  still 
Jbvered  with  mystery,  the  partial  glimpses  of  which  were  so  full  of  wonder. 
We  have  a  brief  testimony  of  the  emotions  of  the  learned  in  a  letter,  written 

it  the  time,  by  Peter  Martyr""  to  his  friend  Pomponius  Lsetus.  "  You  tell 
ne,  my  amiable  Pomponius,"  he  writes,  "  that  you  leaped  for  joy,  and  that 
i^our  delight  was  mingled  with  tears,  when  you  read  my  epistle,  certifying  to 
jrou  the  hitherto  hidden  world  of  the  antipodes.  You  have  felt  and  acted  as 
aecame  a  man  eminent  for  learning,  for  I  can  conceive  no  aliment  more 
ielicious  than  such  tidings  to  a  cultivated  and  ingenuous  mind.  I  feel  a 
wonderful  exultation  of  spirits  when  I  converse  with  intelligent  men  who 
lave  returned  from  these  regions.  It  is  Uke  an  accession  of  wealth  to  a 
niser.  Our  minds,  soiled  and  debased  by  the  common  concerns  of  life  and 
;he  vices  of  society,  become  elevated  and  ameliorated  by  contemplating  such 

glorious  events." Notwithstanding  this  universal  enthusiasm,  however,  no  one  was  aware 
)f  the  real  importance  of  the  discovery.  No  one  had  an  idea  that  this  was 
I  totally  distinct  portion  of  the  globe,  separated  by  oceans  from  the  ancient 
vorld.  The  opinion  of  Columbus  was  universally  adopted,  that  Cuba  was 
;he  end  of  the  Asiatic  continent,  and  that  the  adjacent  islands  were  in  the 
Indian  seas.  This  agreed  with  the  opinions  o-f  the  ancients,  about  the  mod- 

erate distance  from  Spain  to  the  extremity  of  India,  sailing  westwardly.  The 
)arrots  were  also  thought  to  resemble  those  described  by  Pliny,  as  abounding 
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in  the  remote  parts  of  Asia.  The  lands,  therefore,  which  Columbus  had 
visited  were  called  the  West  Indies;  and  as  he  seemed  to  have  entered  upon 
a  vast  region  of  unexplored  countries,  existing  in  a  state  of  nature,  the  whole 
received  the  comprehensive  appellation  of  the  New  World. 

During  the  whole  of  his  sojourn  at  Barcelona,  the  sovereigns  took  every 
occasion  to  bestow  on  Columbus  personal  marks  of  their  high  consideration. 
He  was  admitted  at  all  times  to  the  royal  presence,  and  the  queen  delighted 
to  converse  with  him  on  the  subject  of  his  enterprises.  The  king,  too, 
appeared  occasionally  on  horseback,  with  Prince  Juan  on  one  side,  and 
Columbus  on  the  other.  To  perpetuate  in  his  family  the  glory  of  his  achieve- 

ment, a  coat-of-arms  was  assigned  him,  in  which  the  royal  arms,  the  castle 
and  lion,  were  quartered  with  his  proper  bearings,  which  were  a  group  of 
islands  surrounded  by  waves.  To  these  arms  was  afterwards  annexed  the 
motto: 

A  Costilla  y  6  Leon, 
Nuevo  mundo  dio  Colon, 

(To  Castile  and  Leon 
Columbus  gave  a  new  world.) 

The  pension  which  had  been  decreed  by  the  sovereigns  to  him  who  in  the 
first  voyage  should  discover  land,  was  adjudged  to  Columbus,  for  having 
first  seen  the  light  on  the  shore.  It  is  said  that  the  seaman  who  first  descried 
the  land  was  so  incensed  at  being  disappointed  of  what  he  conceived  his 
merited  reward,  that  he  renounced  his  country  and  his  faith,  and  going  into 
Africa,  turned  Mussulman;  an  anecdote  which  rests  merely  on  the  authority 
of  Oviedo,"'^  who  is  extremely  incorrect  in  his  narration  of  this  voyage,  and 
inserts  many  falsehoods  told  him  by  the  enemies  of  the  admiral. 

It  may,  at  first  sight,  appear  but  little  accordant  with  the  acknowledged 
magnanimity  of  Columbus,  to  have  borne  away  the  prize  from  this  poor 
sailor,  but  this  was  a  subject  in  which  his  whole  ambition  was  involved,  and 
he  was  doubtless  proud  of  the  honour  of  being  personally  the  discoverer  of 
the  land  as  well  as  projector  of  the  enterprise. 

Thus  honored  by  the  sovereigns,  courted  by  the  great,  idolised  by  the 
people,  Columbus,  for  a  time,  drank  the  honeyed  draught  of  popularity, 
before  enmity  and  detraction  had  time  to  drug  it  with  bitterness.  His  dis- 

covery burst  with  such  splendour  upon  the  world  as  to  dazzle  envy  itself, 
and  to  call  forth  the  general  acclamations  of  mankind.  Well  would  it  be 
for  the  honour  of  human  nature,  could  history,  like  romance,  close  with  the 

consummation  of  the  hero's  wishes;  we  should  then  leave  Columbus  in  the 
full  fruition  of  great  and  well-merited  prosperity.  But  his  history  is  des- 

tined to  furnish  another  proof,  if  proof  be  wanting,  of  the  inconstancy  of 
public  favour,  even  when  won  by  distinguished  services.  No  greatness  was 
ever  acquired  by  more  incontestable,  unalloyed,  and  exalted  benefits  rendered 
to  mankind,  yet  none  ever  drew  on  its  possessor  more  unremitting  jealousy 
and  defamation,  or  involved  him  in  more  unmerited  distress  and  difficulty.* 

FUETHER  VOYAGES   AND   DEATH   OF  COLUMBUS   (1493-1506  A.D.) 

Loaded  with  caresses,  commendations,  and  honours,  soon  after  Columbus 
re-embarked  from  Cadiz,  September  25th,  1493,  with  seventeen  sail,  to 
make  new  discoveries  and  to  establish  colonies.  He  arrived  at  Hispaniola 
November  3rd,  with  twelve  hundred  men,  soldiers,  artificers,  and  mission- 

aries, with  provisions  for  their  subsistence,  with  the  seeds  of  ell  the  plants 
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that  were  thought  likely  to  thrive  in  this  hot  and  damp  climate,  and  with 
the  domestic  animals  of  the  old  hemisphere,  of  which  there  was  not  one  in 
the  new.  Columbus  found  nothing  but  ruins  and  carcasses  upon  the  spot 
where  he  had  left  fortifications  and  Spaniards.  These  plunderers  had  occa- 

sioned their  own  destruction  by  their  haughty,  licentious,  and  tyrannical 
behaviour.  Columbus  had  the  address  to  persuade  his  men,  who  were  eager 
to  glut  their  vengeance  upon  the  natives,  that  it  was  good  policy  to  postpone 
their  revenge  to  another  time.  A  fort,  honoured  with  the  name  of  Isabella, 
was  How  constructed  on  the  borders  of  the  ocean ;  and  that  of  St.  Thomas 
was  erected  on  the  mountains  of  Cibao,  where  the  islanders  gathered  from 
the  torrents  the  greatest  part  of  the  gold  they  used  for  their  ornaments,  and 
where  the  conquerors  intended  to  open  mines. 

While  these  works  were  going  on,  the  provisions  that  had  been  brought 
from  Europe  had  been  either  consumed  or  were  spoilt.  The  colony  had 
received  nothing  to  supply  the  deficiency;  and  soldiers,  or  sailors,  neither 
possessed  the  leisure,  knowledge,  nor  inclination  to  produce  fresh  articles 
of  subsistence.  It  became  necessary  to  have  recourse  to  the  natives  of  the 
country,  who,  cultivating  but  little,  were  unable  to  maintain  strangers,  even 
though  they  were  the  most  moderate  persons  of  the  old  hemisphere,  for 
they  yet  consumed,  each  of  them,  as  much  as  would  have  been  sufficient  for 
several  Indians.  These  unfortunate  people  gave  up  all  they  had,  and  still 
more  was  required.  Such  continued  exactions  produced  an  alteration  in  their 
character,  which  was  naturally  timid;  and  all  the  caciques,  except  Guana- 
canagari,  who  had  first  received  the  Spaniards  in  his  dominions,  resolved  to 
unite  their  forces,  in  order  to  break  a  yoke  which  was  becoming  every  day 
more  intolerable. 

Columbus  desisted  from  pursuing  his  discoveries,  in  order  to  prepare 
against  this  unexpected  danger.  Although  two-thirds  of  his  followers  had 
been  hurried  to  the  grave  by  hardships,  by  the  climate,  and  by  debauchery; 
although  sickness  prevented  many  of  those  who  had  escaped  these  terrible 
scourges  from  joining  him;  and  although  he  could  not  muster  more  than 
two  hundred  infantry  and  twenty  horse  to  face  the  enemy,  yet  this  extra- 

ordinary man  was  not  afraid  of  attacking  an  army,  assembled  in  the  plains 
of  Vega  Real. 

The  unhappy  islanders  were,  in  fact,  conquered  before  the  action  began. 
They  considered  the  Spaniards  as  beings  of  a  superior  order;  their  admira- 

tion, respect,  and  fear  were  increased  by  the  European  armour;  and  the 
sight  of  the  cavalry,  in  particular,  astonished  them  beyond  measure^  Many 
of  them  were  simple  enough  to  believe  that  the  man  and  the  horse  were  but 
one  animal,  or  a  kind  of  deity.  Had  their  courage  even  been  proof  against 
these  impressions  of  terror,  they  could  have  made  but  a  faint  resistance. 
The  cannonading,  the  pikes,  and  a  discipline  to  which  they  were  strangers 
must  have  easily  dispersed  them.  They  fled  on  all  sides.  To  punish  them 
for  their  rebellion,  as  it  was  called,  every  Indian  above  fourteen  years  of  age 
was  subjected  to  a  tribute  in  gold  or  in  cotton,  according  to  the  district  in 
which  he  lived. 

This  regulation,  which  required  assiduous  labour,  appeared  the  greatest 
of  evils  to  a  people  who  were  not  used  to  constant  employment.  The  desire 
of  getting  rid  of  their  oppressors,  therefore,  became  their  ruling  passion.  As 
they  entertained  no  further  hope  of  being  able  to  expel  them  by  force,  the 
idea  occurred  to  them,  in  1496,  of  reducing  them  by  famine.  In  this  view 
they  sowed  no  more  maize,  they  pulled  up  the  cassava  roots  that  were  already 
planted,  and  fled  for  refuge  to  the  mountains. 
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Desperate  resolutions  are  seldom  attended  with  success;  accordingly,  that 
which  the  Indians  had  taken  proved  fatal  to  them.  The  products  of  rude 
and  uncultivated  nature  were  not  sufficient  for  their  support,  as  they  had 
inconsiderately  expected  they  would  be;  and  their  asylum,  however  difficult 

of  access,  was  not  a  security  from  the  pursuit  of  their  incensed  tjn-ants,  who, 
during  this  total  privation  of  local  resources,  accidentally  received  some  pro- 

visions from  the  mother  country.  The  rage  of  the  Spaniards  was  excited  to 
such  a  degree  that  they  trained  up  dogs  to  hunt  and  devour  these  unhappy 
mien;  and  it  has  even  been  said  that  some  of  the  Castilians  had  made  a  vow 
to  massacre  twelve  Indians  every  day  in  honour  of  the  twelve  apostles.  Before 
this  event  the  island  was  reckoned  to  contain  a  million  of  inhabitants.  A 
third  part  of  this  considerable  population  perished  in  these  campaigns,  by 
fatigue,  hunger,  and  the  sword. 

Scarcely  had  the  remnant  of  these  unfortunate  people,  who  had  escaped 
so  many  disasters,  returned  to  their  habitations,  where  calamities  of  another 
kind  were  preparing  for  them,  when  divisions  arose  among  their  persecutors. 
The  removal  of  the  capital  of  the  colony  from  the  north  to  the  south,  from 
Isabella  to  Santo  Domingo,  might  possibly  furnish  a  pretence  for  some  com- 

plaints; but  the  dissensions  had  their  chief  origin  in  indulged  passions,  raised 
to  an  uncommon  degree  of  fermentation  beneath  a  burning  sky,  and  not 
sufficiently  restrained  by  an  authority  imperfectly  established.  When  the 
business  was  to  dethrone  a  cacique,  to  plunder  a  district,  or  extermine  a  vil- 

lage, the  commands  of  the  brother  of  Columbus,  or  of  his  representative, 
were  readily  obeyed.  After  sharing  the  booty,  insubordination  followed; 
and  mutual  jealousies  and  animosities  became  their  sole  occupation.  The 
Spaniards  at  length  took  up  arms  against  each  other,  and  war  was  openly 
declared. 

During  the  course  of  these  divisions,  Columbus  was  in  Spain,  whither  he 
had  returned  in  June,  1496,  in  order  to  answer  the  accusations  that  were 
incessantly  renewed  against  him.  The  recital  of  the  great  actions  he  had 
performed  and  the  exposition  of  the  useful  plans  he  meant  to  carry  into 
execution  easily  regained  him  the  confidence  of  Isabella.  Ferdinand  himself 
began  to  be  a  little  reconciled  to  the  idea  of  distant  voyages.  The  plan  of  a 
regular  form  of  government  was  traced,  which  was  first  to  be  tried  at  San 
Domingo,  and  afterwards  adopted,  with  such  alterations  as  experience  might 
show  to  be  necessary,  in  the  several  settlements,  which  in  process  of  time 
might  be  founded  in  the  other  hemisphere.  Men  skilled  in  the  working  of 
mines  were  carefully  selected,  and  the  government  agreed  to  pay  and  main- 

tain them  for  several  years. 
On  the  30th  of  May,  1498,  Columbus  sailed  on  his  third  voyage,  with  six 

ships.  He  touched  at  the  Canaries,  and  despatched  from  thence  three  of  his 
squadron  direct  to  Hispaniola.  With  the  other  three  he  steered  toward  the 
Cape  Verd  islands.  Taking  his  departure  from  this  point  he  held  a  south- 

westerly course  till  he  came  within  five  degrees  of  the  equator,  where  the 
heat  of  the  air  burst  the  wine-pipes  and  water-casks,  and  caused  the  crews 
to  fear  that  the  ships  would  be  burned.  After  eight  days  of  calm  weather 
and  intolerable  heat,  the  air  became  a  little  cooler,  and  on  the  31st  of  July 
they  discovered  land,  which  proved  to  be  the  island  of  Trinidad,  at  the  mouth 
of  the  Orinoco.  Proceeding  along  the  shore,  he  obtained  a  sight  of  some  of 
the  natives,  who  proved  very  hostile,  and  discharged  showers  of  arrows  at 
the  ships.  They  had  shields,  the  first  defensive  armour  the  Spaniards  had 
seen  in  the  New  World.  Columbus  sailed  through  the  gulf  lying  between 
Trinidad  and  the  mouth  of  the  Orinoco,  struck  with  amazement  at  the  moun- 
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tainous  billows  which  that  great  stream  rolls  into  the  ocean.  On  the  coast 
of  Paria  they  saw  more  of  the  natives,  and  held  friendly  intercourse  with 
them.  They  offered  the  Spaniards  provisions  and  a  sort  of  wine.  Consider- 

able gold  was  discovered,  and  the  natives  directed  them  to  a  pearl  fishery. 
From  this  coast  they  steered  to  Hispaniola.  This  was  the  voyage  in  which 
the  Spaniards  first  saw  the  main  land  of  America.  The  continent  of  North 
America  had  been  discovered  in  June  of  the  preceding  year  by  John  Cabot. 

The  third  visit  of  Columbus  succeeded  no  better  than  the  preceding  in 
securing  good  order  and  prosperity  in  the  colony.  The  form  of  government 
projected  in  Spain  had  not  the  desired  effect  —  that  of  establishing  a  peace- 

able community.  The  people  thought  differently  from  their  sovereigns. 
Time,  which  brings  on  reflection  when  the  first  transports  of  enthusiasm  are 
passed,  had  abated  the  desire,  originally  so  ardent,  of  going  to  the  New 
World.  Its  gold  was  no  longer  an  object  of  irresistible  temptation.  On  the 
contrary,  the  livid  complexions  of  the  Spaniards  who  returned  home;  the 
accounts  of  the  insalubrity  of  the  climate;  of  the  numbers  who  had  lost 
their  lives,  and  the  hardships  they  had  undergone  from  the  scarcity  of  pro- 

visions; an  unwillingness  to  be  under  the  command  of  a  foreigner,  the  sever- 
ity of  whose  discipline  was  generally  censured;  and  perhaps  the  jealousy  that 

was  entertained  of  his  growing  reputatioa;  all  these  reasons  contributed  to 
produce  an  insuperable  prejudice  against  Santo  Domingo  in  the  subjects  of  the 
crown  of  Castile,  the  only  Spaniards  who,  till  the  year  1593,  were  allowed  to 
embark  for  that  island. 

The  malefactors  who  accompanied  Columbus,  in  conjunction  with  the  Plun- 
derers that  infested  Santo  Domingo,  formed  one  of  the  most  unnatural  kinds 

of  society  that  had  ever  appeared  upon  the  globe.  Their  mutual  coalition 
enabled  them  to  set  all  authority  at  defiance;  and  the  impossibility  of  sub- 

duing them,  made  it  necessary  to  resort  to  negotiation.  Many  attempts  were 
made  in  vain.  At  length,  in  1499,  it  was  proposed  that,  to  the  lands  which 
every  Spaniard  received,  a  certain  number  of  islanders  should  be  annexed, 
whose  time  and  labour  should  be  devoted  to  masters  destitute  alike  of  human- 

ity and  prudence.  This  act  of  weakness  on  the  part  of  the  government 
restored  apparent  tranquillity  to  the  colony,  but  without  gaining  for  Colum- 

bus the  affection  of  those  who  profited  by  it.  The  complaints  made  against 
him  grew  more  loud  and  violent,  and  ere  long  proved  effectual. 

This  extraordinary  man  purchased  upon  very  hard  terms  the  fame  which 
his  genius  and  industry  had  procured  him.  His  life  exhibited  a  perpetual 
series  of  brilliant  successes  and  deep  misfortunes.  He  was  continually  exposed 
to  the  cabals,  calumnies,  and  ingratitude  of  individuals;  and  obliged  at  the 
same  time  to  submit  to  the  caprices  of  a  haughty  and  turbulent  court,  which 
by  turns  rewarded  or  punished  —  now  mortified  him  by  the  most  humiliating 
disgrace,  and  now  restored  him  to  its  confidence. 

The  prejudice  entertained  by  the  Spanish  ministry  against  the  author  of 
the  greatest  discovery  the  world  had  yet  seen,  grew  to  such  a  pitch,  that  an 
arbitrator  was  sent  to  the  colonies  to  decide  between  Columbus  and  his 
soldiers.  Bobadilla,  the  most  ambitious,  self-interested,  unjust,  and  violent 
man  that  had  yet  visited  the  New  World,  arrived  at  Santo  Domingo  in  1500; 
he  deprived  the  admiral  of  his  property,  his  honours  and  his  command,  and 
sent  him  to  Spain  in  irons.  Surprise  and  indignation  were  everywhere  excited 
by  this  act  of  atrocious  ingratitude;  and  Ferdinand  and  Isabella,  overwhelmed 
with  shame  by  the  expression  of  the  public  feelings,  ordered  the  fetters  of 
Columbus  to  be  immediately  taken  off.  They  also  recalled,  with  real  or 
feigned  resentment,  the  wretch  Bobadilla,  who  had  so  infamously  abused  his 
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authority.  But  to  their  disgrace  it  must  be  added  that  this  was  all  the 
reparation  made  to  Columbus  for  so  atrocious  an  insult. 

To  crown  the  ingratitude  of  the  Spanish  court,  they  constantly  resisted 
the  petitions  and  applications  of  Columbus  to  be  reinstated  in  his  ofBce. 
The  reason  alleged  for  this  unkingly  breach  of  faith  was  the  great  value  and 
importance  of  the  discoveries  of  Columbus,  which  would  render  the  reward 
too  magnificent!  After  a  fruitless  attendance  at  court  for  two  years,  he  gave 
up  his  solicitations,  and  requested  merely  to  be  sent  upon  a  fourth  voyage. 
Ferdinand  and  Isabella,  eager  to  get  rid  of  a  man  whose  presence  was  a 
reproach  to  them,  granted  his  request  with  alacrity.  Four  small  vessels  were 
provided  for  him;  and  the  discoverer  of  the  western  world,  broken  down  by 
age,  fatigues  and  mortification,  set  sail  once  more  from  Cadiz  on  May  9, 1502. 
His  design  was  to  proceed  west,  beyond  the  newly  discovered  continent,  and 
to  circumnavigate  the  globe.  On  reaching  Hispaniola  he  found  a  fleet  of 
eighteen  ships  ready  to  depart  for  Spain.  Columbus  was  refused  admission 
into  the  harbour  of  Santo  Domingo,  although  his  vessel  was  unseaworthy.  His 
knowledge  of  these  regions  enabled  him  to  perceive  signs  of  an  approaching 
hurricane.  Although  the  governor,  Ovando,  had  refused  him  a  shelter  in 
the  harbour,  Columbus  warned  him  of  the  approaching  danger;  but  his 
warning  was  disregarded;  the  fleet  put  to  sea:  and  the  ensuing  night  they 
were  assailed  by  a  furious  hurricane,  and  the  whole  fleet,  except  three  ships, 
went  to  the  bottom.  In  this  wreck  perished  the  malignant  Bobadilla, 
together  with  the  greater  part  of  the  men  who  had  been  most  active  in  per- 

secuting Columbus  and  oppressing  the  Indians.  The  treasure  lost  in  the 
ships  surpassed  the  value  of  two  hundred  thousand  dollars. 

Columbus,  by  his  prudent  precautions,  escaped  the  danger,  and  departed 
for  the  continent.  He  proceeded  along  the  coast  from  the  eastern  point  of 
Honduras  to  the  isthmus  of  Darien,  searching  in  vain  for  a.  passage  to  the 
South  Sea.  Attracted  by  the  appearance  of  gold,  he  attempted  to  form  a 
settlement  at  the  river  Belem,  in  Veragua;  but  the  natives,  a  more  hardy 
and  warlike  race  than  the  islanders,  killed  many  of  the  settlers  and  drove  the 
remnant  away.  This  unexpected  repulse  was  followed  by  a  long  train  of 
disasters.  Storms,  hurricanes,  terrible  thunder  and  lightning,  and  all  the 
calamities  that  can  befall  the  explorers  of  an  unknown  sea,  kept  Columbus 
in  a  continual  state  of  anxiety  and  suffering.  At  last  he  was  shipwrecked  on 
the  coast  of  Jamaica.  No  settlement  had  been  made  here,  and  Columbus 
despatched  a  few  of  his  men  in  Indian  canoes  to  Hispaniola  for  relief.  The 
insolent  Ovando,  from  a  mean  jealousy  of  the  great  discoverer,  delayed  to 
grant  him  any  assistance.  Columbus  remained  in  Jamaica,  perpetually 
harassed  by  the  mutinous  conduct  of  his  men.  The  natives,  tired  of  the 
loHg  stay  of  the  Spaniards  in  their  island,  intercepted  their  supplies  of  pro- 

visions. Columbus,  however,  intimidated  them  by  an  artifice.  An  eclipse 
was  at  hand:  he  assembled  the  chief  Indians,  and  informed  them  that  the 
Great  Spirit  was  angry  at  their  behaviour  toward  their  visitors,  and  on  that 
night  the  moon  would  be  turned  blood-red.  They  listened  with  increduhty, 
but  when  the  moon  began  to  change  her  hue  they  were  all  struck  with  terror. 
They  loaded  themselves  with  provisions,  and  brought  them  to  Columbus, 
entreatmg  him  to  intercede  with  the  Deity  in  their  behalf.  From  that  time 
their  superstitious  apprehensions  kept  them  in  implicit  obedience  to  the 
Spaniards. 

After  about  a  year's  detention  on  the  island,  three  vessels  came  to  their 
relief,  and  the  crews  passed  over  to  Hispaniola,  where  the  once  arrogant 
Ovando  received  his  distinguished  visitor  with  fawning  sycophancy,  and 
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affected  to  treat  him  with  every  mark  of  honour  and  esteem.  His  complai- 
sance, however,  went  no  further  than  outward  show.  Columbus,  finding  no 

means  of  prosecuting  his  enterprise  in  this  part  of  the  world,  returned  to 
Spain,  September  12th,  1504,  where  his  miseries  were  crowned  by  the  intelli- 

gence of  the  death  of  Isabella,  whose  favour  and  protection  he  had  always 
considered  his  last  resource.  This  was  a  blow  from  which  he  never  recov- 

ered. Overwhelmed  with  calamities,  disgusted  with  the  ingratitude  ot  those 
whom  he  had  faithfully  and  successfully  served,  declining  in  age,  and  broken 
in  health,  he  lingered  a  few  years  longer  in  poverty  and  neglect,  making  from 
time  to  time  a  fruitless  appeal  to  the  honour  and  justice  of  those  who  had 

given  him  "  chains  for  a  crown,  a  prison  for  a  world "  ;  and  finally  closed 
his  life  at  Valladolid,  May  20th,  1506,  in  the  59th  year  of  his  age. 

'  Such  was  the  end  of  this  remarkable  man,  who,  to  the  astonishment  of Europe,  added  a  fourth  part  to  the  earth,  or  rather  half  a  world  to  this  globe, 
which  had  been  so  long  desolate  and  so  little  known.  It  might  reasonably  be 
expected  that  public  gratitude  would  have  given  the  name  of  this  intrepid 
seaman  to  the  new  hemisphere,  the  first  discovery  of  which  was  owing  to  his 
enterprising  genius.  This  was  the  smallest  homage  of  respect  that  could  be 
paid  to  his  memory;  but  either  through  envy,  inattention,  or  the  caprice  of 
fortune  even  in  the  distribution  of  fame,  this  honour  was  reserved  for  a 
Florentine  adventurer,  who  did  nothing  more  than  follow  the  footsteps  of  a 
man  whose  name  ought  to  stand  foremost  in  the  list  of  great  characters.cc 



CHAPTER  II 

THE  ARMY  OF  EXPLORERS 

Sometimes  in  Wagner's  musical  dramas  the  introduction  of  a  few 
notes  from  some  leading  melody  foretells  the  inevitable  catastrophe 

toward  which  the  action  is  moving,  as  when  in  Lohengrin's  bridal 
chamber  the  well-known  sound  of  the  distant  Grail  motive  steals  sud- 

denly upon  the  ear,  and  the  heart  of  the  rapt  listener  is  smitten  with 
a  sense  of  impending  doom.  So  in  the  drama  of  maritime  discovery, 
as  glimpses  of  new  worlds  were  beginning  to  reward  the  enterprising 
crowns  of  Spain  and  Portugal,  for  a  moment  there  came  from  the 
North  a  few  brief  notes  fraught  with  ominous  portent.  The  power 
for  whom  destiny  had  reserved  the  world  empire  of  which  these 
Southern  nations  —  so  noble  in  aim,  so  mistaken  in  policy — were 
dreaming  stretched  forth  her  hand  in  quiet  disregard  of  papal  bulls, 
and  laid  it  upon  the  western  shore  of  the  ocean.  It  was  only  for  a 
moment,  and  long  years  were  to  pass  before  the  consequences  were 
developed.  But  in  truth  the  first  fateful  note  that  heralded  the  com- 

ing English  supremacy  was  sounded  when  John  Cabot's  tiny  craft 
sailed  out  from  the  Bristol  channel  on  a  bright  May  morning  of  1497. 
— John  Fiskk.'' 

It  is  a  curious  fact  that  most  of  the  discoveries  made  concerning  America 
were  made  indirectly  and  unintentionally.  Even  the  Norse  and  other  tradi- 

tions say  that  their  heroes  were  blown  to  America  by  storm;  Columbus  sought 
India  and  stumbled  across  the  West  Indies;  John  Cabot  happened  upon  North 
America  and  thought  he  had  found  the  realm  of  the  great  khan  of  Tatary; 
Sebastian  Cabot  sought  the  Northwest  Passage  to  Cathay  and  India;  the 
Portuguese  Cortereal  came  for  slaves;  the  French  flocked  to  the  cod-fisheries 
of  Newfoundland  as  early  as  1525,  little  caring  where  they  were. 

Verrazano  (whose  very  existence  has  been  questioned),  Cartier,  and  a  few 
others  indeed  went  exploring  for  the  sake  of  acquiring  information  and  terri- 

tory, but  these  were  the  exceptions. 
The  veteran  Ponce  de  Leon  sought  the  Fountain  of  Youth  and  found  a 

mortal  woimd  in  Florida.  Pineda  in  seeking  a  strait  found  the  Mississippi. 
Gomez  was  another  Northwest  Passager.  Coronado  made  his  wonderful  Anab- 
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asis  in  search  of  the  seven  golden  cities  of  Cibola  and  found  the  mud  huts  of 
New  Mexico,  the  plains  of  Kansas,  and  the  gorge  of  the  Colorado.  Soto  was 
hunting  a  Peru  in  North  America  and  found  instead  of  gold  only  nakedness, 
fever,  and  a  secret  burial  in  the  great  river  which  he  was  not  even  the  first  to 
reach.  Frobisher  sought  the  Northwest  Passage  and  went  on  a  fool's  errand 
to  Labrador  for  gold.  Drake  circumnavigated  the  world  on  a  piratical  cruise 
for  Spanish  galleons.  Hudson  explored  the  river  and  the  bay  that  perpetuate 
in  their  names  his  vain  hope  of  probing  his  way  through  the  continent  that 
lay  Uke  a  bar  across  the  path  to  India.  The  passage  through  this  continent  is 
yet  to  be  made  and  artificially,  and  it  can  only  lead  as  we  know  now  into  an 
ocean  far  wider  than  the  Atlantic. 

It  is  interesting  to  note  the  division  of  the  labour  of  discovery  among  the 
maritime  nations  of  Europe.  The  Norse  made  the  first  approaches  but  did 
not  improve  their  opportunity;  as  someone  has  said,  "  their  visit  was  as  profit- 

able as  the  visit  of  a  flock  of  sea-gulls."  The  Portuguese  began  the  great 
passion  for  discovery,  and  Columbus,  as  we  have  seen,  spent  his  first  ten 
years  of  pleading  at  their  court  before  he  turned  to  Spain.  When  he 
returned  with  his  prize.  Pope  Alexander  VI,  the  Borgia,  in  his  famous  bull  of 
May  3rd  and  4th,  1493,  drew  a  magnificent  line  down  through  the  Atlantic 
ocean  and  gave  Portugal  all  the  un-Christian  world  east  of  it;  Spain  all  that 
lay  to  the  west. 

This  demarcation  restrained  the  enthusiasm  of  the  English,  then  a  Catholic 
nation,  temporarily,  but  not  long.  Rapidly  —  for  a  time  when  there  were  no 
newspapers  and  telegraph  systems  to  spread  news  —  aU  the  seafaring  peoples 
of  the  Atlantic  coast  felt  the  impetus  for  exploration,  and  turned  their  prows 
and  their  hopes  westward.  The  Spanish  took  the  lead  in  enthusiasm  and  in 

niunbers,  till,  as  Galvano<=  said  in  Hakluyt's  version,  "there  grew  such  a 
common  desire  of  travaile  among  the  Spanyards,  that  they  were  ready  to 
leape  into  the  sea  to  swim,  if  it  had  been  possible,  into  those  new-foimd 
parts."  Once  the  first  voyage  had  been  made  imitation  was  so  easy  that,  as 
Columbus  wrote,  "  Now  there  is  not  a  man,  down  to  the  very  tailors,  who  does 
not  beg  permission  to  be  a  discoverer." 

But  Italy  had  furnished  the  inspiration,  through  Marco  Polo  and  Tosca- 
nelli,  as  well  as  the  men,  for  many  of  the  best  discoveries,  though  she  did  not 
get  the  credit.  In  Genoa  were  born  Colombo  (known  to  the  Spanish  as 
Colon)  and  Giovanni  or  Zuan  Cabot  (known  to  his  Enghsh  employers  as  John 
Cabot)  though  he  was  a  naturalised  citizen  of  Venice,  whence  came  also  Polo 
and  Cadamosto.  In  Florence  was  born  the  unjustly  maligned  Amerigo 
Vespucci  (whose  name  though  given  only  to  the  part  of  the  continent  which 
he  explored  soon  spread  to  the  whole  new  world).  Florence  also  lent  to 
France  the  true  discoverer  of  the  Hudson  river,  Verrazano. 

To  Spain  belong  by  birth  and  service  the  brilliantly  fearless  and  bloodily 
ruthless  cohort  of  the  brothers  Pinzon,  Ojeda,  Solis,  Cortes,  Pizarro,  Ponce 
de  Leon,  Grijalva,  Cordova,  Pineda,  Valdivia,  Coronado,  Lepe,  Alamagro, 
Alvarado,  La  Cosa,  Ayllon,  Gil  Gonzalez  Gasca,  Perrelo,  and  others. 

Portugal  gave  the  world  not  only  its  splendid  explorers  of  the  East,  but  also 
Cortereal;  Magelahes  (known  to  us  as  Magellan),  who  sailed  imder  the  Spanish 
flag  in  the  most  wonderful  of  all  ocean  voyages;  Cabral,  who  gave  Brazil  to 
Portugal;  Gomez,  de  Cintra,  Jacques,  and  Coelho. 

From  France  came  Jean  Cousin  of  Dieppe,  who  is  claimed  as  a  preceder  of 
Columbus,  the  plucky  Breton  and  Normandy  fishermen  who  swarmed  over 
to  Newfoundland  immediately  after  its  discovery  was  rumoured;  Fray  Marcos 
of  Nice,  L^ry,  Cartier,  Roberval,  Champlain,  Villegagnon,  Ribaut,  Laudon- 
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ni^re,  La  Salle,  Marquette,  Joliet,  Gourgues,  Hennepin,  Frontenac,  La  V^ 
rendrez. 

In  return  for  borrowing  Cabot  from  Italy,  England  lent  Hudson  to  the 
Dutch  when  he  rediscovered  the  river,  but  bought  him  back  for  the  fatal 
bay  voyage.  She  fimiished  also  Frobisher,  Drake,  Hawkins,  Gilbert,  Raleigh, 
John  Smith,  Gosnold,  Pring,  Weymouth,  John  Davis,  Willoughby,  and 
William  Baffin. 

Holland  furnished  Barentz  and  Van  Horn,  while  Juan  de  la  Fuca  was  a 
Greek.  As  a  final  settlement  of  the  theory  that  America  was  part  of  Asia, 
the  Russian  Guosdjeff  and  the  Danish  Bering  proved  in  the  eighteenth  century 
that  Asia  and  America  were  not  anyTvhere  joined  by  land. 

The  rewards  of  the  discoverers  make  a  sad  catalogue.  Among  those  who 
died  in  obscurity  and  disgrace  were  Columbus,  Gonzalez,  and  Cortes.  The 
death  penalty  was  meted  out  to  Pinzon,  Grijalva,  Balboa,  and  Pizarro. 
Among  those  who  perished  in  battle  or  died  from  the  hardships  of  their 
career  were  Cordova,  De  Soto,  Magellan,  Valdura,  Narvaez,  Ayllon,  Solis, 
Ribaut,  Roberval,  Gilbert,  and  Hudson.  When  Bering  perished  in  1741  he 
was  —  with  the  exception  of  those  names  on  the  stiU  unfinished  death-roll  of 
Arctic  exploration  —  the  last  martyr  to  the  costly  cause  of  the  discovery  of 
America.  But  never  have  lives  and  gold  been  lavished  with  more  profit  to 
posterity,  and  never  have  cruelty,  avarice,  theft,  and  oppression  borne  so 
liberally  the  fruit  of  happiness,  riches,  and  liberty.  We  may  now  take  up 
in  some  detail  the  voyages  of  discovery  and  exploration  that  became  the  most 
notable  industry  of  the  age." 

THE  VOYAGES  OF  THE  CABOTS 

In  the  new  career  of  western  adventure,  the  American  continent  was  first 
discovered  under  the  auspices  of  the  English.  In  the  history  of  maritime 
enterprise  in  the  New  World,  the  achievements  of  John  and  Sebastian  Cabot 
are,  in  boldness,  success,  and  results,  second  only  to  those  of  Columbus.  The 
wars  of  the  houses  of  York  and  Lancaster  had  ceased;  tranquillity  and 
thrifty  industry  had  been  restored  by  the  prudent  severity  of  Henry  VII;  the 
spirit  of  commercial  activity  began  to  be  successfully  fostered;  and  the  marts 
of  England  were  thronged  with  Lombard  adventurers.  The  fisheries  of  the 
north  had  long  tempted  the  merchants  of  Bristol  to  an  intercourse  with  Ice- 

land; and  the  nautical  skill  necessary  to  buffet  the  storms  of  the  Atlantic  had 
been  acquired  in  this  branch  of  northern  commerce.  Nor  is  it  impossible  that 
some  uncertain  traditions  respecting  the  remote  discoveries  which  Icelanders 
had  made  in  Greenland  towards  the  northwest,  "  where  the  lands  did  nearest 
meet,"  as  Bacon  <^  says,  should  have  excited  "  firm  and  pregnant  conjectures." 
The  magnificent  achievement  of  Columbus,  revealing  the  wonderful  truth,  of 
which  the  germs  may  have  existed  in  the  imagination  of  every  thoughtful 
mariner,  won  the  admiration  which  was  due  to  an  enterprise  that  seemed  more 
divine  than  human,  and  kindled  in  the  breasts  of  the  emulous  a  vehement 
desire  to  gain  as  signal  renown  in  the  same  career  of  daring;  while  the  politic 
king  of  England  desired  to  share  in  the  large  returns  which  were  promised 
by  maritime  adventure. 

It  was,  therefore,  not  difficult  for  John  Cabot,  a  Venetian  merchant,  resid- 
ing at  Bristol,  to  engage  Henry  VII  in  plans  for  discovery.  He  obtained  from 

that  monarch  a  patent  (March  5th,  1496),  empowering  himself  and  his  three 
sons,  or  any  of  them,  their  heirs,  or  their  deputies,  to  sail  mto  the  eastern, 
western,  or  northern  sea,  with  a  fleet  of  five  ships,  at  their  own  proper  expense 
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and  charges;  to  search  for  islands,  countries,  provinces,  or  regions,  hitherto 
unseen  by  Christian  people;  to  affix  the  banners  of  England  on  any  city, 
island,  or  continent,  that  they  might  find;  and,  as  vassals  of  the  English  crown, 
to  possess  and  occupy  the  territories  that  might  be  discovered.  It  was  further 
stipulated,  in  what  Chalmers «  has  called  "  the  most  ancient  American  state 
paper  of  England,"  that  the  patentees  should  be  strictly  bound  in  their  voy- 

ages to  land  at  the  port  of  Bristol,  and  to  pay  to  the  king  one  fifth  part  of  the 
emoluments  of  the  navigation;  while  the  exclusive  right  of  frequenting  all  the 
coimtries  that  might  be  found  was  reserved,  unconditionally  and  without 
limit  of  time,  to  the  family  of  the  Cabots  and  their  assigns.  Under  this  patent, 
containing  the  worst  features  of  colonial  monopoly  and  commercial  restriction, 
John  Cabot  and  [perhaps]  his  celebrated  son  Sebastian  embarked  for  the 
west  [May,  1497].  Of  what  tempests  they  encountered,  what  mutinies  they 
calmed,  no  record  has  been  preserved.  The  discovery  of  the  American  con- 

tinent (June  24,  1497),  probably  in  the  latitude  of  fifty-six  degrees,  far,  there- 
fore, to  the  north  of  the  straits  of  Belle  Isle,  among  the  polar  bears,  the  rude 

savages,  and  the  dismal  cliffs  of  Labrador,  was  the  fruit  of  the  voyage. 
It  has  been  attempted  to  deprive  the  father  of  the  glory  of  having  led  the 

expedition.  The  surest  documentary  evidence  confirms  his  claims.*  The 
navigators  hastened  homewards  to  announce  their  success.  Thus  the  discov- 

ery of  the  continent  was  an  exploit  of  private  mercantile  adventure;  and  the 

possession  of  the  new-found  "  land  and  isles  "  was  a  right  vested  by  an  exclusive 
patent  in  the  family  of  a  Bristol  merchant.  Yet  the  Cabots  derived  little 
benefit  from  the  expedition  which  their  genius  had  suggested,  and  of  which 
they  alone  had  defrayed  the  expense.  Posterity  hardly  remembered  that 
they  had  reached  the  American  continent  nearly  fourteen  months  before 
Columbus,  on  his  third  voyage,  came  in  sight  of  the  mainland,  and  almost 
two  years  before  Amerigo  Vespucci  sailed  west  of  the  Canaries.  But  England 
acquired  through  their  energy  such  a  right  to  North  America  as  this  indis- 

putable priority  could  confer.  Henry  VII  and  his  successors  recognised  the 
claims  of  Spain  and  Portugal,  only  so  far  as  they  actually  occupied  the  terri- 

tories to  which  they  laid  pretension;  and,  at  a  later  day,  the  English  parlia- 
ment and  the  English  courts  derided  a  title  founded,  not  upon  occupancy, 

but  upon  a  grant  from  the  Roman  pontiff. 
Confidence  and  zeal  awakened;  and  Henry  grew  circumspect  in  the  con- 

cession of  rights  which  now  seemed  to  become  of  immense  value.  A  new 
patent  was  issued  (February  3rd,  1498)  to  John  Cabot,  less  ample  in  the  privi- 

leges which  it  conferred.  A  voyage  was  again  undertaken;  purposes  of  traffic 
were  connected  with  it;  and  the  frugal  king  was  himself  a  partner  in  the 
expenditure.  The  object  of  this  new  expedition  was,  in  part,  to  explore 

"what  manner  of  landes  those  Indies  were  to  inhabit";  and  perhaps,  also,  a 
hope  was  entertained  of  reaching  the  rich  empire  of  Cathay.    Embarking  in 

["  We  tell  the  story  of  the  Cabots  as  it  is  generally  accepted.  It  is  impossible  to  enter  here 
into  the  controversies  on  every  point,  and  we  can  only  caution  the  reader  to  remember  that  we 
liave  not  even  an  allusion,  in  the  narrative  form,  to  the  voyages  of  the  Cabots  till  twenty 
^ears  after  they  are  said  to  have  occurred,  and  that  much  of  what  information  we  have  is  based 
3n  the  reported  conversations  of  Sebastian  Cabot  of  a  far  later  date.  How  uncertain  these  are 

nay  be  seen  from  the  fact  that  Eden/  says  :  "  Sebastian  Cabot  tolde  me  that  he  was  borne  in 
Bryston,"  while  there  is  much  stronger  proof,  and  his  own  statement  to  Contarini,  to  prove  that 
le  was  born  in  Venice  about  1473.  The  first  printed  account  of  the  Cabots'  discovery  was  in 
;he  Decades  of  Peter  Martyr,  "  who  was  Sebastian's  friend,  and  whose  account  does  not  even nention  John  Cabot.  On  the  other  hand  there  are  evidences  that  lead  certain  scholars  to 
Joubt  that,  Sebastian  was  present  on  the  first  voyage  at  all.  His  name  is  not  mentioned  in  the 
:on.temporary  documents  lately  discovered,  and  there  seems  to  be  in  the  reports  of  Ms  conver- 
iations  a  hopeless  confusion  of  the  first  and  second  voyages.] 



456  THE  HISTOEY  OF  THE  TJlSriTED   STATES 
[1498  A.D.] 

May,  Sebastian  Cabot/  with  a  company  of  three  hundred  men,  sailed  for 
Labrador,  by  way  of  Iceland;  and  reached  the  continent  in  the  latitude  of 
fifty-eight  degrees.  The  severity  of  the  cold,  the  strangeness  of  the  imknown 
land,  and  his  declared  purpose  of  exploring  the  country,  induced  him  to  turn 
to  the  south;  and,  having  proceeded  along  the  shores  of  the  United  States  to 
the  southern  boundary  of  Maryland,  or  perhaps  to  the  latitude  of  Albemarle 
Sound,  want  of  provisions  induced  him  to  retunn  to  England. 

Curiosity  desires  to  trace  the  further  career  of  the  great  seaman,  who,  with 
his  father,  gave  a  continent  to  England.    The  maps  which  he  sketched  of  his 

discoveries,  and  the  accounts  which  he  wrote  of 

^.■.  II  ..I     i..ii.iniTmiinjaa.av      his  adventures,  have  perished,  and  the  history 
f  ^        of  the  next  years  of  his  life  is  involved  in  ob- 

scurity. Yet  it  does  not  admit  of  a  reasonable 
doubt,  that,  perhaps  in  1517,  after  he  had  been 
in  the  employment  of  Ferdinand  of  Spain,  and 
before  he  received  the  appointment  of  pilot- 
major  from  Charles  V,  he  sailed  once  more  from 
England  to  discover  the  Northwest  Passage. 
The  testimony  respecting  this  expedition  is  con- 

fused and  difficult  of  explanation;  the  circum- 
stances which  attended  it,  are  variously  related, 

and  are  assigned  to  other  and  earlier  voyages. 
Sebastian  Cabot  passed  through  the  straits  and 
entered  the  bay,  which,  after  the  lapse  of  nearly 
a  century,  took  their  name  from  Hudson.  He 
himself  wrote  a  "discourse  of  navigation,"  in which  the  entrance  of  the  strait  was  laid  down 

with  great  precision  "  on  a  card,  drawn  by  his 
own  hand."  He  boldly  prosecuted  his  design, 
making  his  way  through  regions,  into  which  it 
was,  long  afterwards,  esteemed  an  act  of  the 
most  intrepid  maritime  adventure  to  penetrate, 
till,  on  June  11th,  1517,  as  we  are  informed  from 
a  letter  written  by  the  navigator  himself,  he  had 
attained  the  altitude  of  sixty-seven  and  a  half 
degrees,  ever  in  the  hope  of  finding  a  passage 
into  the  Indian  Ocean.  The  sea  was  still  open; 

but  the  cowardice  of  a  naval  officer  [Sir  Thomas  Pert  or  Spert],  and  the  mutiny 
of  the  mariners,  compelled  him  to  return,  though  his  own  confidence  in  the 
possibility  of  effecting  the  passage  remained  unimpaired. 

The  career  of  Sebastian  Cabot  was  in  the  issue  as  honourable  as  it  had  in 
the  opening  been  glorious.  For  sixty  years,  during  a  period  when  maritime 
adventure  engaged  the  most  intense  public  curiosity,  he  was  reverenced  for  his 
achievements  and  his  skill.  He  sailed  to  South  America  in  1526  under  the 

auspices  of  Charles  V,  though  not  with  entire  success.^  On  his  return  to  Eng- 
land in  1548  he  advanced  the  commerce  of  England  by  opposing  a  mercantile 

monopoly,  and  was  pensioned  and  rewarded  for  his  merits  as  the  Great  Sea- 
['  Hakluyt  *■  quotes  Fabian  to  the  effect  that  John  Cabot  went  also  on  this  second  voyage. 

It  seems  improbable,  indeed,  that  he  was  not  in  command.  All  evidence  of  him  was  lacking, 
however,  till  as  late  as  1897,  when  the  Customs  Roll  of  Bristol  for  1496-1499  was  discovered  in 
Westminster  Abbey  and  published ;  it  tends  to  prove  that  John  Cabot  returned  from  bis  second 
voyage  before  September  29,  1498,  and  was  alive  at  that  date.] 

[^  V^hile  in  Spain  he  was  ordered  into  banishment  for  this  failure,  though  it  is  not  known  if 
the  sentence  was  executed.] 

(1474-1557) 
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nan  in  1549.  It  was  also  he  who  framed  the  instructions  for  the  expedition 
vhich  discovered  the  passage  to  Archangel  in  1553.  He  lived  to  an  extreme 
)ld  age,  and  so  loved  his  profession  to  the  last,  that  in  the  hour  of  death  his 
vandering  thoughts  were  upon  the  ocean.  There  is  deep  cause  for  regret,  that 
lime  has  spared  so  few  memorials  of  his  career.  Himself  incapable  of  jealousy, 
le  did  not  escape  detraction.  He  gave  England  a  continent,  and  no  one 
mows  his  burial  place. 

THE   PORTUGUESE   CORTEREAL 

The  king  of  Portugal,  grieved  at  having  neglected  Columbus,  readily 
avoured  an  expedition  for  northern  discovery.  Gaspar  Cortereal  was  ap- 

pointed commander  of  the  enterprise.  [He  sailed  with  three  ships  on  May 
L5th,  1501.]  He  reached  the  shores  of  North  America,  ranged  the  coast  for 
I  distance  of  six  or  seven  hundred  miles,  and  carefully  observed  the  country 
md  its  inhabitants.  The  most  northern  point  which  he  attained,  was  prob- 
ibly  about  the  fiftieth  degree.  Of  the  country  along  which  he  sailed,  he  had 
)Ccasion  to  admire  the  brilliant  freshness  of  the  verdure,  and  the  density  of 
he  stately  forests.  The  pines,  well  adapted  for  masts  and  yards,  promised  to 
)ecome  an  object  of  gainful  commerce.  But  men  were  already  with  the 
Portuguese  an  established  article  of  traffic;  the  inhabitants  of  the  American 
ioast  seemed  well  fitted  for  labour;  and  Cortereal  freighted  his  ships  with  more 
han  fifty  Indians,  whom,  on  his  return,  October  8th,  he  sold  as  slaves.  It  was 
loon  resolved  to  renew  the  expedition;  but  the  adventurer  never  returned, 
lis  death  was  ascribed  to  a  combat  with  the  natives,  whom  he  desired  to 
ddnap;  the  name  of  Labrador,  transferred  to  a  more  northern  coast,  is, 
)robably,  a  memorial  of  his  crime;  and  is,  perhaps,  the  only  permanent  trace 
)f  Portuguese  adventure  within  the  limits  of  North  America.*  In  May  of  the 
lext  year,  1502,  Caspar's  brother,  Miguel,  sailed  to  search  for  his  brother, 
rhey  foimd  so  many  rivers  and  bays  that  they  divided  their  fleet;  two  vessels 
eturned,  but  Miguel,  like  his  brother,  was  never  heard  of  again.  A  new 
ixpedition  sent  by  the  king  found  no  trace  of  either,  and  when  the  eldest  of 
he  family  asked  permission,  the  king  said  he  had  lost  enough  Cortereals." 

FRENCH   DISCOVERIES:     VERRAZANO 

The  French  entered  without  delay  into  the  competition  for  the  commerce 
md  the  soU  of  America.  Within  seven  years  of  the  discovery  of  the  continent, 
n  1504,  the  fisheries  of  Newfoimdland  were  known  to  the  hardy  mariners  of 
Brittany  and  Normandy.'  The  island  of  Cape  Breton  acquired  its  name  from 
heir  remembrance  of  home,  and  in  France  it  was  usual  to  esteem  them  the 
liscoverers  of  the  country.  A  map  of  the  gulf  of  St.  Lawrence  was  drawn  by 
)enys,  a  citizen  of  Honflour;  and  the  fishermen  of  the  northwest  of  France 
lerived  wealth  from  the  regions,  which,  it  was  reluctantly  confessed,  had  been 
irst  visited  by  the  Cabots. 

The  fisheries  had  for  some  years  been  successfully  pursued;  savages  from 
he  northeastern  coast  had  been  brought  to  France  [by  Thomas  Aubert  of 
Dieppe],  in  1508;  plans  of  colonisation  in  North  America  had  been  suggested. 
518  [and  perhaps  attempted],  by  De  L^ry  and  Saint-Just;  when  at  length 

['  If  the  archives  of  Dieppe  had  not  been  destroyed  in  the  bombardment  of  1694,  and 
bose  of  La  Rochelle  in  the  famous  siege,  France  would  doubtless  occupy  a,  higher  place  even 
tian  she  now  holds  in  the  account  of  American  exploration.] 



458  THE   HISTORY   OF   THE   UNITED   STATES 
[1524  A.  B.J 

Francis  I,  a  monarch  who  had  invited  Da  Vinci  and  Cellini  to  transplant  the 
fine  arts  into  his  kingdom,  employed  Giovanni  Verrazano  another  Florentine, 
to  explore  the  new  regions,  which  had  alike  excited  cmiosity  and  hope.  It 
was  by  way  of  the  isle  of  Madeira  that  the  Italian,  jjarting  from  a  fleet  which 
had  cruised  successfully  along  the  shores  of  S^ain,  sailed  for  America,  January 
17th,  1524,  with  a  single  caravel,  resolute  to  make  discovery  of  new  countries.* 

VERRAZANO'S  OWN  ACCOUNT  OF  HIS  VOYAGE  IN  1524 

Captain  Giovanni  da  Verrazano  to  his  most  serene  majesty,  the  king  of 
France,  writes: 

Since  the  tempests  which  we  encountered  on  the  northern  coasts,  I  have 
not  written  to  your  most  serene  and  Christian  majesty  concerning  the  four 
ships  sent  out  by  your  orders  on  the  ocean  to  discover  new  lands,  because  I 
thought  you  must  have  been  before  apprized  of  all  that  had  happened  to  us 
—  that  we  had  been  compelled  by  the  impetuous  violence  of  the  winds  to  put 
into  Brittany  in  distress  with  only  the  two  ships  Normandy  and  Dolphin;  and 
that  after  having  repaired  these  ships,  we  made  a  cruise  in  them,  well  armed, 
along  the  coast  of  Spain,  as  your  majesty  must  have  heard,  and  also  of  our 
new  plan  of  continuing  our  begun  voyage  with  the  Dolphin  [or  Dauphine] 
alone;  from  this  voyage  being  now  returned,  I  proceed  to  give  your  majesty 
an  account  of  our  discoveries. 

On  the  17th  of  last  January  we  set  sail  from  a  desolate  rock  near  the  island 
of  Madeira,  belonging  to  his  most  serene  majesty,  the  king  of  Portugal,  with 
fifty  men,  having  provisions  sufficient  for  eight  months,  arms  and  other  warlike 
munition  and  naval  stores.  Sailing  westward  with  a  light  and  pleasant 
easterly  breeze,  in  twenty-five  days  we  ran  eight  hundred  leagues.  On  the 
24th  of  February  we  encountered  as  violent  a  hurricane  as  any  ship  ever  weath- 

ered from  which  we  escaped  unhurt  by  the  divine  assistance  and  goodness,  to 
the  praise  of  the  glorious  and  fortunate  name  of  our  good  ship,  that  had  been 
able  to  support  the  violent  tossing  of  the  waves.  Pursuing  our  voyage 
towards  the  west,  a  little  northwardly,  in  twenty-four  days  more,  having  run 
four  hundred  leagues,  we  reached  a  new  country,  which  had  never  before 
been  seen  by  any  one,  either  in  ancient  or  modem  times.  At  first  it  appeared 
to  be  very  low,  but  on  approaching  it  to  within  a  quarter  of  a  league  from  the 
shore  we  perceived,  by  the  great  fires  near  the  coast,  that  it  was  inhabited. 
We  perceived  that  it  stretches  to  the  south,  and  coasted  along  in  that  direction 
in  search  of  some  port,  in  which  we  might  come  to  anchor,  and  examine  into 
the  nature  of  the  country,  but  for  fifty  leagues  we  could  find  none  in  which  we 
could  lie  securely. 

Seeing  the  coast  still  stretch  to  the  south,  we  resolved  to  change  our  course 
and  stand  to  the  northward,  and  as  we  still  had  the  same  difficiJty,  we  drew 
in  with  the  land  and  sent  a  boat  on  shore.  Many  people  who  were  seen  com- 

ing to  the  sea-side  fled  at  our  approach,  but  occasionally  stopping,  they  looked 
back  upon  us  with  astonishment,  and  some  were  at  length  induced,  by  various 
friendly  signs,  to  come  to  us.  These  showed  the  greatest  delight  on  beholding 
us,  wondering  at  our  dress,  countenances  and  complexion.  They  then  showed 
us  by  signs  where  we  could  more  conveniently  secure  our  boat,  and  offered 
us  some  of  their  provisions.  That  your  majesty  may  know  all  that  we  learned, 
whUe  on  shore,  of  their  manners  and  customs  of  life,  I  will  relate  what  we  saw 
as  briefly  as  possible.  They  go  entirely  naked,  except  that  about  the  loins 
they  wear  skins  of  small  animals  Uke  martens  fastened  by  a  girdle  of  plaited 
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ass,  to  which  they  tie,  all  round  the  body,  the  tails  of  other  animals  hang- 
g  down  to  the  knees;  all  other  parts  of  the  body  and  the  head  are  naked. 
)me  wear  garlands  similar  to  birds'  feathers. 
The  complexion  of  these  people  is  black,  not  much  different  from  that  of 

e  Ethiopians;  their  hair  is  black  and  thick,  and  not  very  long,  it  is  worn 
;d  back  upon  the  head  in  the  form  of  a  little  tail.  In  person  they  are  of  good 
oportions,  of  middle  stature,  a  little  above  om-  own,  broad  across  the  breast, 
rang  in  the  arms,  and  well  formed  in  the  legs  and  other  parts  of  the  body; 
e  only  exception  to  their  good  looks  is  that  they  have  broad  faces,  but  not 
[,  however,  as  we  saw  many  that  had  sharp  ones,  with  large  black  eyes  and 
fixed  expression.  They  are  not  very  strong  in  body,  but  acute  in  mind, 
tive  and  swift  of  foot,  as  far  as  we  could  judge  by  observation.  In  these 
3t  two  particulars  they  resemble  the  people  of  the  east,  especially  those  of 
e  most  remote.  We  could  not  learn  a  great  many  particulars  of  their 
ages  on  account  of  our  short  stay  among  them,  and  the  distance  of  oiu-  ship am  the  shore. 

As  the  "  East "  stretches  around  this  country,  I  think  it  cannot  be  devoid 
the  same  medicinal  and  aromatic  drugs,  and  various  riches  of  gold  and  the 
:e,  as  is  denoted  by  the  colour  of  the  ground.  It  aboimds  also  in  animals, 
deer,  stags,  hares,  and  many  other  similar,  and  with  a  great  variety  of  birds 
r  every  kind  of  pleasant  and  delightful  sport.  It  is  plentifully  supplied 
th  lakes  and  ponds  of  running  water,  and  being  in  the  latitude  of  34  the  air 
salubrious,  pure  and  temperate,  and  free  from  the  extremes  of  both  heat  and 
Id. 

We  set  sail  from  this  place,  continuing  to  coast  along  the  shore,  which  we 
und  stretching  out  to  the  west  (east?) ;  the  inhabitants  being  ntimerous,  we 
w  everywhere  a  multitude  of  fires.  While  at  anchor  on  this  coast,  there 
ling  no  harbom-  to  enter,  we  sent  the  boat  on  shore  with  twenty-five  men 
obtain  water,  but  it  was  not  possible  to  land  without  endangering  the  boat, 

L  accoimt  of  the  immense  high  surf  thrown  up  by  the  sea,  as  it  was  an  open 
adstead.  Many  of  the  natives  came  to  the  beach,  indicating  by  various 
endly  signs  that  we  might  trust  ourselves  on  shore.  One  of  their  noble 
leds  of  friendship  deserves  to  be  made  known  to  your  majesty.  A  yoimg 
ilor  was  attempting  to  swim  ashore  through  the  surf  to  carry  them  some 
lick-knacks,  as  little  bells,  looking-glasses,  and  other  like  trifles;  when  he 
me  near  three  or.  foiu"  of  them  he  tossed  the  things  to  them,  and  turned 
lOut  to  get  back  to  the  boat,  but  he  was  thrown  over  by  the  waves,  and  so 
.shed  by  them  that  he  lay  as  it  were  dead  upon  the  beach.  When  these 
iople  saw  him  in  this  situation,  they  ran  and  took  him  up  by  the  head,  legs 
id  arms,  and  carried  him  to  a  distance  from  the  surf;  the  young  man,  find- 
g  himself  borne  off  in  this  way,  uttered  very  loud  shrieks  in  fear  and  dismay, 
lile  they  answered  as  they  could  in  their  language,  showing  him  that  he  had 
1  cause  for  fear. 
Afterwards  they  laid  him  down  at  the  foot  of  a  little  hill,  when  they  took 

I  his  shirt  and  trousers,  and  examined  him,  expressing  the  greatest  astonish- 
But  at  the  whiteness  of  his  skin.  Our  saUors  in  the  boat  seeing  a  great  fire 
ade  up,  and  their  companion  placed  very  near  it,  full  of  fear,  as  is  usual  in 
[  cases  of  novelty,  imagined  that  the  natives  were  about  to  roast  him  for 
ad.  But  as  soon  as  he  had  recovered  his  strength  after  a  short  stay  with 
em,  showing  by  signs  that  he  wished  to  return  aboard,  they  hugged  him 
th  great  affection,  and  accompanied  him  to  the  shore,  then  leaving  him, 
at  he  might  feel  more  secure,  they  withdrew  to  a  little  hill,  from  which  they 
itched  him  untU  he  was  safe  in  the  boat.    This  young  man  remarked  that 
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these  people  were  black  like  the  others,  that  they  had  shining  skins,  middle 
stature,  and  sharper  faces,  and  very  delicate  bodies  and  limbs,  and  that  they 
were  inferior  in  strength,  but  quick  in  their  minds;  this  is  all  that  he  observed 
of  them. 

Departing  hence,  and  always  following  the  shore,  which  stretched  to  the 
north,  we  came,  in  the  space  of  fifty  leagues,  to  another  land,  which  appeared 
very  beautiful  and  full  of  the  largest  forests.  We  approached  it,  and  going 
ashore  with  twenty  men,  we  went  back  from  the  coast  about  two  leagues, 
and  found  that  the  people  had  fled  and  hid  themselves  in  the  woods  for  fear. 
By  searching  around  we  discovered  in  the  grass  a  very  old  woman  and  a  young 
girl  of  about  eighteen  or  twenty,  who  had  concealed  themselves  for  the  same 
reason;  the  old  woman  carried  two  infants  on  her  shoulders,  and  behind  her 
neck  a  little  boy  eight  years  of  age;  when  we  came  up  to  them  they  began  to 
shriek  and  make  si^s  to  the  men  who  had  fled  to  the  woods.  We  gave  them 
a  part  of  our  provisions,  which  they  accepted  with  delight,  but  the  girl  would 
not  touch  any;  everything  we  offered  to  her  being  thrown  down  in  great 
anger.  We  took  the  little  boy  from  the  old  woman  to  carry  with  us  to  France, 
and  would  have  taken  the  girl  also,  who  was  very  beautiful  and  very  tall,  but 
it  was  impossible  because  of  the  loud  shrieks  she  uttered  as  we  attempted  to 
lead  her  away;  having  to  pass  some  woods,  and  being  far  from  the  ship,  we 
determined  to  leave  her  and  take  the  boy  only.  We  found  them  fairer  than 
the  others,  and  wearing  a  covering  made  of  certain  plants,  which  hung  down 
from  the  branches  of  the  trees,  tying  them  together  with  threads  of  wild 
hemp;  their  heads  are  without  covering  and  of  the  same  shape  as  the  others. 

We  saw  in  this  country  many  vines  growing  natiu-ally,  which  entwine 
about  the  trees,  and  nm  up  upon  them  as  they  do  in  the  plains  of  Lombardy. 
These  vines  would  doubtless  produce  excellent  wine  if  they  were  properly 
cultivated  and  attended  to,  as  we  have  often  seen  the  grapes  which  they  pro- 

duce very  sweet  and  pleasant,  and  not  imlike  otu-  own. 
After  having  remained  here  three  days,  riding  at  anchor  on  the  coast,  as 

we  could  find  no  harbour  we  determined  to  depart,  and  coast  along  the  shore 
to  the  northeast,  keeping  sail  on  the  vessel  only  by  day,  and  coming  to  anchor 
by  night.  After  proceeding  one  hundred  leagues,  we  found  a  very  pleasant 
situation  among  some  steep  hills,  through  which  a  very  large  river,  deep  at 
its  mouth,  forced  its  way  to  the  sea;  from  the  sea  to  the  estuary  of  the  river, 
any  ship  heavily  laden  might  pass,  with  the  help  of  the  tide,  which  rises  eight 
feet.  But  as  we  were  riding  at  anchor  in  a  good  berth,  we  would  not  venture 
up  in  our  vessel,  without  a  knowledge  of  the  mouth;  therefore  we  took  the 
boat,  and  entering  the  river,  we  found  the  country  on  its  banks  well  peopled, 
the  inhabitants  not  differing  much  from  the  others,  being  dressed  out  with 
the  feathers  of  birds  of  various  colours.  They  came  towards  us  with  evident 
delight,  raising  loud  shouts  of  admiration,  and  showing  us  where  we  could 
most  securely  land  with  our  boat.  We  passed  up  this  river,  about  half  a 
league,  when  we  found  it  formed  a  most  beautiful  lake  three  leagues  in  cir- 

cuit,^ upon  which  they  were  rowing  thirty  or  more  of  their  small  boats,  from 
one  shore  to  the  other,  filled  with  multitudes  who  came  to  see  us.  All  of  a 
sudden,  as  is  wont  to  happen  to  navigators,  a  violent  contrary  wind  blew  in 
from  the  sea,  and  forced  us  to  return  to  our  ship,  greatly  regretting  to  leave 
this  region  which  seemed  so  commodious  and  delightful,  and  which  we  sup- 

posed must  also  contain  great  riches,  as  the  hills  showed  many  indications  of 

['  This  is  universally  admitted  to  be  the  harbour  of  New  York,  and  the  mouth  of  the  Hud- 
son, where  Verrazano  preceded  Henry  Hudson  by  several  years.  The  triangular  island  is 

recognised  as  Block  Island,] 
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minerals.  Weighing  anchor,  we  sailed  fifty  leagues  toward  the  east,  as  the 
coast  stretched  in  that  direction,  and  always  in  sight  of  it;  at  length  we  dis- 

covered an  island  of  a  triangular  form,  about  ten  leagues  from  the  mainland, 
in  size  about  equal  to  the  island  of  Rhodes,  having  many  hills  covered  with 
trees,  and  well  peopled,  judging  from  the  great  munber  of  fires  which  we  saw 
all  aroimd  its  shores;  we  gave  it  the  name  of  your  majesty's  illustrious  mother. 

We  did  not  land  there,  as  the  weather  was  unfavourable,  but  proceeded 
to  another  place,  fifteen  leagues  distant  from  the  island,  where  we  found  a  very 
excellent  harbour.  Before  entering  it,  we  saw  about  twenty  small  boats  full 
of  people,  who  came  about  our  ship,  uttering  many  cries  of  astonishment,  but 
they  would  not  approach  nearer  than  within  fifty  paces.  By  imitating  their 
signs,  we  inspired  them  in  some  measure  with  confidence,  so  that  they  came 
near  enough  for  us  to  toss  to  them  some  little  bells  and  glasses,  and  many  toys, 
which  they  took  and  looked  at,  laughing,  and  then  came  on  board  without 
fear.  Among  them  were  two  kings  more  beautiful  in  form  and  stature  than 
can  possibly  be  described:  one  was  about  forty  years  old,  the  other  about 
twenty-four.  We  saw  upon  them  several  pieces  of  wrought  copper,  which  is 
more  esteemed  by  them  than  gold,  as  this  is  not  valued  on  account  of  its 
colour,  but  it  is  considered  by  them  as  the  most  ordinary  of  the  metals — 
yellow  being  the  colour  especially  disliked  by  them;  azure  and  red  are  those 
in  highest  estimation  with  them.  Of  these  things  which  we  gave  them,  they 
prized  most  highly  the  bells,  azure  crystals,  and  other  toys  to  hang  in  their 
ears  and  about  their  necks;  they  do  not  value  or  care  to  have  silk  or  gold 
stuffs,  or  other  kinds  of  cloth,  nor  implements  of  steel  or  iron.  When  we 
showed  them  our  arms,  they  expressed  no  admiration,  and  only  asked  how  they 
were  made;  the  same  was  the  case  of  the  looking-glasses,  which  they  returned 
to  us,  smiling,  as  soon  as  they  had  looked  at  them.  They  are  very  generous, 
giving  away  whatever  they  have.    We  formed  a  great  friendship  with  them. 

This  region  is  situated  in  the  parallel  of  Rome,  being  41°  40'  of  north 
latitude,  but  much  colder  from  accidental  circumstances,  and  not  by  nature, 
as  I  shall  hereafter  explain  to  your  majesty,  and  confine  myself  at  present  to 
the  description  of  its  local  situation.  It  looks  towards  the  south,  on  which 
side  the  harbour  is  half  a  league  broad;  afterwards,  upon  entering  it,  the  extent 
between  the  coast  and  north  is  twelve  leagues,  and  then  enlarging  itself  it 
forms  a  very  large  bay,  twenty  leagues  in  circumference,  in  which  are  five  small 
islands,  of  great-  fertihty  and  beauty,  covered  with  large  and  lofty  trees. 
Among  these  islands  any  fleet,  however  large,  might  ride  safely,  without  fear 
of  tempests  or  other  dangers.  Turning  towards  the  south,  at  the  entrance  of 
the  harbour,  on  both  sides,  there  are  very  pleasant  hills,  and  many  streams  of 
clear  water,  which  flow  down  to  the  sea.  In  the  midst  of  the  entrance,  there 
is  a  rock  of  freestone,  formed  by  nature,  and  suitable  for  the  construction  of 
any  kind  of  machine  or  bulwark  for  the  defence  of  the  harbour. 

Having  supplied  ourselves  with  everything  necessary,  on  the  5th  of  May 
we  departed  from  the  port,  and  sailed  one  hundred  and  fifty  leagues,  keeping 
so  close  to  the  coast  as  never  to  lose  it  from  our  sight;  the  nature  of  the  country 
appeared  much  the  same  as  before,  but  the  mountains  were  a  little  higher, 
and  all  in  appearance  rich  in  minerals.  We  did  not  stop  to  land  as  the  weather 
was  very  favourable  for  pursuing  our  voyage,  and  the  country  presented  no 
variety.  The  people  were  entirely  different  from  the  others  we  had  seen, 
whom  we  had  found  kind  and  gentle,  but  these  were  so  rude  and  barbarous 
that  we  were  unable  by  any  signs  we  could  make,  to  hold  communication  with 
them.  They  clothe  themselves  in  the  skins  of  bears,  lynxes,  seals,  and  other 
animals.    Their  food,  as  far  as  we  could  judge  by  several  visits  to  their  dwel- 
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lings,  is  obtained  by  hunting  and  fishing,  and  certain  fruits,  which  are  a  sort 
of  root  of  spontaneou3  growth.  They  have  no  pulse,  and  we  saw  no  signs 
of  cultivation;  the  land  appears  sterile  and  unfit  for  growing  of  fruit  or  grain 
of  any  kind.  If  we  wished  at  any  time  to  traffick  with  them,  they  came  to 
the  sea  shore  and  stood  upon  the  rocks,  from  which  they  lowered  down  by  a 
cord  to  our  boats  beneath  whatever  they  had  to  barter,  continually  crying 
out  to  us,  not  to  come  nearer,  and  instantly  demanding  from  us  that  which 
was  to  be  given  in  exchange;  they  took  from  us  only  knives,  fish  hooks,  and 
sharpened  steel.  No  regard  was  paid  to  our  courtesies;  when  we  had  nothing 
left  to  exchange  with  them,  the  men  at  our  departure  made  the  most  brutal 
signs  of  disdain  and  contempt  possible. 

Against  their  wiU  we  penetrated  two  or  three  leagues  into  the  interior  with 
twenty-five  men;  when  we  came  to  the  shore,  they  shot  at  us  with  their 
arrows,  raising  the  most  horrible  cries  and  afterwards  fleeing  to  the  woods. 
In  this  region  we  foimd  nothing  extraordinary  except  vast  forests  and  some 
metalliferous  hiUs,  as  we  infer  from  seeing  that  many  of  the  people  wore 
copper  earrings.  Departing  from  thence,  we  kept  along  the  coast,  steering 
northeast,  and  found  the  coimtry  more  pleasant  and  open,  free  from  woods, 
and  distant  in  the  interior  we  saw  lofty  moimtains,  but  none  which  extended 
to  the  shore.  Within  fifty  leagues  we  discovered  thirty-two  islands,  aU  near 
the  main  land,  small  and  of  pleasant  appearance,  but  high  and  so  disposed 
as  to  afford  excellent  harbours  and  channels,  as  we  see  in  the  Adriatic  gulf, 
near  Illyria  and  Dalmatia.  We  had  no  intercourse  with  the  people,  but  we 
judge  that  they  were  similar  in  nature  and  usages  to  those  we  were  last  among. 
After  sailing  between  east  and  north  the  distance  of  one  hundred  and  fifty 
leagues  more,  and  finding  our  provisions  and  naval  stores  nearly  exhausted, 
we  took  in  wood  and  water  and  determined  to  return  to  France,  having  dis- 

covered 502,  that  is  700  (sic)  leagues  of  imknown  lands. 
As  to  the  religious  faith  of  all  these  tribes,  not  understanding  their  lan- 

guage, we  could  not  discover  either  by  sign  or  gestures  anything  certain.  It 
seemed  to  us  that  they  had  no  religion  nor  laws,  nor  any  knowledge  of  a  First 
Cause  or  Mover,  that  they  worshipped  neither  the  heavens,  stars,  sun,  moon, 
nor  other  planets;  nor  could  we  learn  if  they  were  given  to  any  kind  of  idol- 

atry, or  offered  any  sacrifices  or  supphcations,  or  if  they  have  temples  or 
houses  of  prayer  in  their  villages:  our  conclusion  was  that  they  have  no 
religious  belief  whatever,  but  live  in  this  respect  entirely  free.  AU  which  pro- 

ceeds from  ignorance,  as  they  are  very  easy  to  be  persuaded,  and  imitated 
us  with  earnestness  and  fervour  in  all  which  they  saw  us  do  as  Christians  in 
our  acts  of  worship. 

My  intention  in  this  voyage  was  to  reach  Cathay,  on  the  extreme  coast  of 
Asia,  expecting,  however,  to  find  in  the  newly  discovered  land  some  such  an 
obstacle,  as  they  have  proved  to  be,  yet  I  did  not  doubt  that  I  should  penetrate 
by  some  passage  to  the  eastern  ocean.  It  was  the  opinion  of  the  ancients, 
that  our  oriental  Indian  Ocean  is  one,  and  without  any  interposing  land; 
Aristotle  supports  it  by  arguments  founded  on  various  probabilities;  but  it  is 
contrary  to  that  of  the  moderns  and  shown  to  be  erroneous  by  experience;  the 
country  which  has  been  discovered,  and  which  was  unknown  to  the  ancients, 
is  another  world  compared  with  that  before  known,  being  manifestly  larger 
than  our  Europe,  together  with  Africa  and  perhaps  Asia,  if  we  rightly  estimate 
its  extent.  If  the  breadth  of  this  newly  discovered  country  corresponds  to  its 
extent  of  sea  coast,  it  doubtless  exceeds  Asia  in  size.  In  this  way  we  find 
that  the  land  forms  a  much  larger  portion  of  our  globe  than  the  ancients 
supposed,  who  maintained,  contrary  to  mathematical  reasoning,  that  it  was 
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less  than  the  water,  whereas  actual  experience  proves  the  reverse,  so  that  we 
judge  in  respect  to  extent  of  surface  the  land  covers  as  much  space  as  the 
water;  and  I  hope  more  clearly  and  more  satisfactorily  to  point  out  and 
exjjlain  to  your  majesty  the  great  extent  of  that  new  land,  or  new  world,  of 
which  I  have  been  speaking.  The  continent  of  Asia  and  Africa,  we  know  for 
certain,  is  joined  to  Europe  to  the  north  in  Norway  and  Russia,  which  dis- 

proves the  idea  of  the  ancients  that  all  this  part  had  been  navigated  from  the 
Cimbric  Chersonesus,  eastward  as  far  as  the  Caspian  Sea.  They  also  main- 

tained that  the  whole  continent  was  surrounded  by  two  seas  situated  to  the 
east  and  west  of  it,  which  seas  in  fact  do  not  surround  either  of  the  two  conti- 

nents, for  as  we  have  seen  above,  the  land  of  the  southern  hemisphere  at  the 
latitude  of  54  extends  eastwardly  an  unknown  distance,  and  that  of  the 
northern  passing  the  66th  parallel  turns  to  the  east,  and  has  no  termination 
as  high  as  the  70th.  In  a  short  time,  I  hope,  we  shall  have  more  certain 
knowledge  of  these  things,  by  the  aid  of  your  majesty,  whom  I  pray  Almighty 
God  to  prosper  in.  lasting  glory,  that  we  may  see.  the  most  important  results 
of  this  our  cosmography  in  the  fulfilment  of  the  holy  words  of  the  Gospel. 

On  board  the  ship  Dolphin,'^  in  the  port  of  Dieppe  in  Normandy,  the  8th of  July,  1524. 
Your  humble  servitor, 

Giovanni  da  Verrazano./ 

JACQUES   CARTIER      (1534-1536  A.D.) 

The  account  of  Verrazano's  voyage  is  taken  from  his  letter  to  the  French 
king  sent  from  Dieppe  Jtdy  8th,  1524.  The  original  is  lost,  but  two  ItaUan 
translations  exist  and  there  are  allusions  to  it  of  early  date.  In  1864,  an 
American,  Buckingham  Smith,^  cast  doubts  on  the  credibility  of  the  letter. 
H.  C.  Murphy,^  ui  1875  took  up  the  subject  again,  and  denied  Verrazano's 
voyage  in  to  to.  The  brilliance  of  his  argument  made  a  sensation  and  led 
Bancroft  *  in  his  revision  of  his  history  to  omit  the  pages  concerning  Verrazano 
which  he  had  originally  written.  Murphy's  onslaught,  however,  evoked  a 
host  of  defenders,  and  the  great  majority  of  historians  now  give  full  credence 
and  honour  to  Verrazano." 

In  July,  Verrazano  was  once  more  in  France  [arriving  at  Dieppe  July  8th]. 
His  own  narrative  of  the  voyage  is  the  earliest  original  account,  now  extant,  of 
the  coast  of  the  United  States.  He  advanced  the  knowledge  of  the  coimtry; 
and  he  gave  to  France  some  claim  to  an  extensive  territory,  on  the  pretext 
of  discovery.  The  historians  of  maritime  adventure  agree  that  Verrazano 
again  embarked  upon  an  expedition,  from  which,  it  is  usually  added,  he  never 
returned.  Did  he  sail  once  more  under  the  auspices  of  France?  When  the 

monarch  had  just  lost  "everything  but  honour"  in  the  disastrous  battle  of 
Pavia,  is  it  probable  that  the  impoverished  government  could  have  sent  forth 
another  expedition?  Did  he  relinquish  the  service  of  France  for  that  of 
England?  It  is  hardly  a  safe  conjecture,  as  advanced  by  Biddle,"«  that  he 
was  murdered  in  an  encounter  with  savages,  while  on  a  voyage  of  discovery, 
which  Henry  VIII  had  favoured.  Hakluyt  *■  asserts  that  Verrazano  was  thrice 
on  the  coast  of  America,  and  that  he  gave  a  map  of  it  to  the  English  monarch. 
It  is  the  common  tradition  that  he  perished  at  sea,  having  been  engaged  in 
an  expedition  of  which  no  tidings  were  ever  heard.    Such  a  report  might 

['  The  name  of  this  famous  ship  is  usually  translated  Dolphin  from  the  French  Umtphine 
or  the  Italian  Deljma,  but  it  more  probably  was  chosen  in  honour  of  the  Dauphin  of  France.] 
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easily  be  spread  respecting  a  great  navigator  who  had  disappeared  from  the 
public  view.    Yet  such  certainty  cannot  be  established. 

But  the  misfortunes  of  the  French  monarchy  did  not  affect  the  industry 
of  its  Miermen;  who,  amidst  the  miseries  of  France,  still  resorted  to  New- 

foundland, There  exists  a  letter  of  August  3rd,  1527,  to  Henry  VIII,  from 
the  haven  of  St.  John,  in  Newfoundland,  written  by  an  English  captain,  in 
which  he  declares  he  found  in  that  one  harbour  eleven  sail  of  Normans  and 
one  Breton,  engaged  in  the  fishery.  The  French  king,  engrossed  by  the 
passionate  and  unsuccessful  rivalry  with  Charles  V,  could  hardly  respect  so 
humble  an  interest.  But  Chabot,  admiral  of  France,  a  man  of  bravery  and 
influence,  acquainted  by  his  office  with  the  fishermen,  on  whose  vessels  he 
levied  some  small  exactions  for  his  private  emolument,  interested  Francis  in 
the  design  of  exploring  and  colonising  the  New  World. 

Jacques  Cartier,  a  mariner  of  St.  Malo,  was  selected  to  lead  the  expedition. 
His  several  voyages  are  of  great  moment;  for  they  had  a  permanent  effect 
in  guiding  the  attention  of  France  to  the  region  of  the  St.  Lawrence.  It  was 
April  20th,  that  the  mariner,  with  two  ships,  left  the  harbour  of  St.  Malo; 
and  prosperous  weather  brought  him  May  10th  upon  the  coasts  of  Newfound- 

land. Having  almost  circumnavigated  the  island,  he  turned  to  the  south, 
and  crossing  the  gulf,  entered  the  bay,  which  he  called  Des  Chaleurs,  from 
the  intense  heats  of  midsummer.  Finding  no  passage  to  the  west,  he  sailed 
along  the  coast,  as  far  as  the  smaller  inlet  of  Gaspe.  There,  July  12th,  upon  a 
point  of  land,  at  the  entrance  of  the  haven,  a  lofty  cross  was  raised,  bearing 
a  shield,  with  the  lilies  of  France  and  an  appropriate  inscription.  Henceforth 
the  soil  was  to  be  esteemed  a  part  of  the  dominions  of  the  French  king.  Leav- 

ing the  bay  of  Gaspe,  Cartier  discovered  the  great  river  of  Canada,  and  sailed 
up  its  channel,  till  he  could  discern  land  on  either  side.  As  he  was  unprepared 
to  remain  during  the  winter,  it  then  became  necessary  to  return;  the  little 
fleet  embarked  August  9th,  for  Europe,  and  in  less  than  thirty  days,  entered 
the  harbour  of  St.  Malo  in  security.  His  native  city  and  France  were  filled 
with  the  tidings  of  his  discoveries.  The  voyage  had  been  easy  and  successful. 
Up  to  the  day  of  steamships,  the  passage  to  and  fro  was  not  often  made  more 
rapidly  or  more  safely. 

The  court  listened  to  the  urgency  of  the  friends  of  Cartier;  a  new  com- 
mission was  issued;  three  well-furnished  ships  were  provided  by  the  king; 

and  some  of  the  young  nobility  of  France  volunteered  to  join  the  new  expedi- 
tion. The  squadron  sailed  May  19th,  1535,  for  the  New  World,  full  of  hopes 

of  discoveries  and  plans  of  colonisation  in  the  territory  which  now  began  to 
be  known  as  New  France. 

It  was  after  a  stormy  voyage  that  they  arrived  within  sight  of  Newfound- 
land. Passing  to  the  west  of  that  island  on  the  day  of  St.  Lawrence,  August 

10th,  1535,  they  gave  the  name  of  that  martyr  to  a  portion  of  the  noble  gulf 
which  opened  before  them;  a  name  which  has  gradually  extended  to  the  whole 
gulf,  and  to  the  river.  Sailing  to  the  north  of  Anticosti,  they  ascended  the 
stream  in  September,  as  far  as  a  pleasant  harbour  in  the  isle,  since  called 
Orleans.  The  natives,  Indians  of  Algonquin  descent,  received  them  with 
tmsuspecting  hospitahty.  Leaving  his  ships  safely  moored,  Cartier,  in  a 
boat,  sailed  up  the  majestic  stream  to  the  chief  Indian  settlement  on  the  island 
of  Hochelaga.  The  language  of  its  inhabitants  proves  them  to  have  been 
of  the  Huron  family  of  tribes.  The  town  lay  at  the  foot  of  a  hill,  which  he 
climbed.  As  he  reached  the  summit,  he  was  moved  to  admiration  by  the 
prospect  before  him  of  woods,  and  waters,  and  mountains. 

uoagination  presented  it  as  the  future  emporium  of  inland  commerce, 
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and  the  metropolis  of  a  prosperous  province;  filled  with  bright  anticipations, 
he  called  the  hill  Mont-Real,  and  time,  that  has  transferred  the  name  to  the 
island,  is  realising  his  visions.  Cartier  also  gathered  of  the  Indians  some 
indistinct  account  of  the  countries  now  contained  in  the  north  of  Vermont 
and  New  York.  Rejoining  his  ships,  the  winter,  rendered  frightful  by  the 
ravages  of  the  scurvy,  was  passed  where  they  were  anchored.  At  the  approach 
of  spring,  a  cross  was  solemnly  erected  upon  land,  and  on  it  a  shield  was  sus- 

pended, which  bore  the  arms  of  France,  and  an  inscription,  declaring  Francis 
to  be  the  rightful  king  of  these  new-found  regions.  Having  thus  claimed 
possession  of  the  territory,  the  Breton  mariner  returned  to  Europe,  and 
July  6th,  1536,  once  more  entered  St.  Malo  in  security. 

THE   SPANISH   EXPLOBEES 

Extraordinary  success  had  kindled  in  the  Spanish  nation  an  equally 
extraordinary  enthusiasm.  No  sooner  had  the  New  World  revealed  itself 
to  their  enterprise  than  the  valiant  men,  who  had  won  laurels  under  Ferdinand 
among  the  mountains  of  Andalusia  sought  a  new  career  of  glory  in  more 
remote  adventures.  The  weapons  that  had  been  tried  in  the  battles  with 
the  Moors,  and  the  military  skill  that  had  been  acquired  in  the  romantic 
conquest  of  Granada,  were  now  turned  against  the  feeble  occupants  of  America. 
The  passions  of  avarice  and  religious  zeal  were  strangely  blended;  and  the 
heroes  of  Spain  sailed  to  the  west,  as  if  they  had  been  bound  on  a  new  crusade, 
where  infinite  wealth  was  to  reward  their  piety.  The  Spanish  nation  had 
become  infatuated  with  a  fondness  for  novelties;  the  "chivalry  of  the  ocean" 
despised  the  range  of  Europe  as  too  narrow,  and  offering  to  their  extravagant 
ambition  nothing  beyond  mediocrity.  America  was  the  region  of  romance, 
where  the  heated  imagination  could  indulge  in  the  boldest  delusions;  where 
the  simple  natives  ignorantly  wore  the  most  precious  ornaments;  and,  by  the 
side  of  the  clear  runs  of  water,  the  sands  sparkled  with  gold. 

What  way  soever,  says  the  historian  of  the  ocean,  the  Spaniards  are  called, 
with  a  beck  only,  or  a  whispering  voice,  to  anything  rising  above  water,  they 
speedily  prepare  themselves  to  fly,  and  forsake  certainties  imder  the  hope  of 
more  brilliant  success.  To  carve  out  provinces  with  the  sword;  to  divide 
the  spoils  of  empires;  to  plunder  the  accumulated  treasures  of  some  ancient 
Indian  dynasty;  to  return  from  a  roving  expedition  with  a  crowd  of  enslaved 
captives  and  a  profusion  of  spoils  —  soon  became  the  ordinary  dreams  in 
which  the  excited  minds  of  the  Spaniards  delighted  to  indiilge.  Ease,  fortune, 
hfe,  all  were  squandered  in  the  pursuit  of  a  game,  where,  if  the  issue  was  un- 

certain, success  was  sometimes  obtained,  greater  than  the  boldest  imagination 
had  dared  to  anticipate.  Is  it  strange  that  these  adventurers  were  often 
superstitious?  The  New  World  and  its  wealth  were  in  themselves  so  wonder- 

ful, that  why  should  credit  be  withheld  from  the  wildest  fictions?  Why 
should  not  the  hope  be  indulged,  that  the  laws  of  nature  themselves  would 
yield  to  the  desires  of  men  so  fortunate  and  so  brave  ?^ 

THE  DISPUTED  VOYAGE  OF  VESPUCCI,  AND  THE  NAME   "aMEEICA" 

Few  of  the  early  names  in  American  history  have  failed  to  be  the  subject 
of  critical  dispute.  None  have  been  the  victims  of  more  bitter  controversy 
than  Vespucci,  the  Florentine,  whose  first  name  has  been  latinised  and  femi- 

['  His  kter  activities  as  a  colonist  will  be  discussed  in  another  chapter.] 
H.  W. — VOL.  XXII.  3h 
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nised  into  the  title  of  the  entire  New  World.  There  exists  a  letter  credited 

to  Vespucci  which  says:  "We  sailed  from  the  port  of  Cadiz,  May  10,  1497." 
After  spending  a  few  days  at  the  Canaries,  the  four  ships  proceeded  and 
"  arrived  at  the  end  of  twenty-seven  days  upon  a  shore  which  we  believed  to 
be  that  of  a  continent." 

If  this  letter  is  to  be  believed,  Vespucci  reached  the  continent  a  week  or 
more  before  John  Cabot,  for  whom  June  24th,  1497,  is  the  earliest  date  claimed; 
and  fourteen  months  before  the  date  when  Columbus  sighted  the  mainland 
in  August  1498.  Therefore  there  would  be  at  least  partial  justice  in  giving  the 
name  America  to  the  mainland.  But  this  letter  is  in  conflict  with  so  much 
negative  evidence  that  the  1497  voyage  of  Vespucci  is  not  seriously  accepted 
by  the  majority  of  historians,  though,  of  course,  it  cannot  be  entirely  disproved 

to  have  happened  in  a  crowded  time  when,  as  Columbus  said,  "the  very 
tailors"  wanted  to  be  discoverers.  The  letter  however  was  not  written  till 
1504,  if  then,  and  it  distinctly  states  that  Vespucci  went  under  royal  com- 

mission. Of  this  there  is  absolutely  no  confirmation,  which  is  suspicious; 
there  is  indeed  some  proof  that  he  could  not  have  been  out  of  Spain  in  the 
period  indicated. 

While  Vespucci's  voyage  in  1497  is  denied  by  almost  all  reputable  his- 
torians with  the  exception  of  a  few  stalwart  defenders  like  Vamhagen  "•  and 

John  Fiske,^  there  is  little  doubt  that  he  made  what  he  calls  his  "second" 
voyage,  in  1499.  Of  this  there  is  proof,  for  he  is  mentioned  by  Alonzo  de  Ojeda 
who  was  with  Columbus  in  1492  and  who  in  1499,  made  an  independent 
voyage  with  four  ships  by  royal  commission  and  reached  the  Orinoco.  In 

1512  Columbus'  son  Diego,  as  heir  to  his  father's  rights,  brought  suit 
against  the  king  of  Spain  for  royalties  from  certain  provinces.  The  lang  tried 
to  prove  that  Columbus  did  not  discover  the  provinces  in  question.  Ojeda, 
called  as  a  witness,  mentioned  his  voyage  in  1499  and  stated  that  he  took 

with  him  "Juan  de  la  Cosa  and  Morigo  Vespuche  and  other  pilots."  But 
he  did  not  say  that  Vespucci  had  two  years  earlier  discovered  the  mainland, 
though  he  did  admit  that  his  own  voyage  in  1499  was  made  possible  by  a 
surreptitious  use  of  the  maps  and  journals  made  by  Columbus  in  1498.  Nor 

did  Vespucci's  nephew,  who  was  at  the  trial,  advance  any  family  claims  for 
priority. 

The  claim  thus  bemg  further  discredited,  the  question  of  Vespucci's  inten- 
tion to  deceive  is  a  new  problem.  The  letters  credited  to  him  claim  four 

voyageSj  two  for  the  king  of  Spain,  two  for  the  king  of  Portugal.  These 
letters  appear  as  an  appendix  to  the  Cosmographiw  introdvctio  published  in 
the  small  town  of  St.  Di^  in  1507.  In  the  text  the  author  says,  "The  fourth 
part  of  the  world  having  been  discovered  by  Americus,  it  may  be  called 

Amerige;  i.e.,  Americus'  land  or  America,"  He  later  reiterates  the  sugges- 
tion and  explains  the  form  America  by  saying  that  "  both  Europe  and  Asia 

have  chosen  their  names  from  the  feminine  form."  The  author  of  this  book, 
Martin  Waldzeemuller,"  otherwise  known  as  Hylacomylus,  thus  deliberately 
invented  the  word  America  in  1509.  In  1522  it  was  placed  on  a  map  in  an 

edition  of  Ptolemy's  Geographia. 
From  that  time  its  convenience  and  gracefulness  have  given  it  permanence. 

The  problem  of  Vespucci's  assistance  in  foisting  his  name  on  the  New  World 
is  also  in  dispute.  If  he  wrote  the  letters  in  which  he  claims  to  have  made 

four  voyages  of  which  the  one  he  calls  "the  first"  required  seventeen  months, 
while  the  one  he  calls  "  the  second"  was  made  in  1499;  it  seems  hard  to  relieve 
him  of  a  charge  of  intentional  fraud.  He  deserves,  however,  the  honour  of 
planting  the  first  colony  of  Europeans  in  South  America,  in  1503.    In  1508 
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he  was  made  pilot-major  to  King  Ferdinand  and  he  died  February  22nd,  1512, 
apparently  in  high  honour.  The  contrast  with  Columbus  is  complete.  Colum- 

bus spent  years  and  years  of  land-travel  and  toil  preparing  the  means  to  invade 
the  imknown  sea,  found  a  world  there,  suffered,  after  a  brief  glory,  ignominy, 
imprisonment,  and  neglect,  and  was  buried  with  the  chains  he  had  worn. 

The  year  after  his  death,  a  suggestion  was  obscurely  made  that  a  certain 
minor  navigator,  Amerigo  Vespucci,  should  be  chosen  as  the  sponsor  for  the 
New  World.  In  proof  of  his  right  to  the  naming  of  a  quarter  of  the  globe, 
certain  letters  of  his  own  were  cited  to  the  effect  that  he  saw  a  coast  which  he 
thought  to  be  a  continent;  this  was  five  years  after  Columbus  had  made  his 
first  voyage.  At  best  the  letter  utterly  lacks  substantiation,  but  evidence 
which  woiild  in  a  law  court  hardly  estabhsh  a  claim  to  an  acre  of  ground  has 
sufficed  to  fasten  the  name  of  a  subordinate  pilot  upon  a  hemisphere." 

OTHER  SPANISH  EXPLORERS   (1499-1511  A.D.) 

A  voyage  of  discovery  was  undertaken  in  1499  by  Alonso  Nino,  who  had 
served  under  the  admiral  in  his  last  voyage.  Having  fitted  out  a  single  ship, 
in  conjunction  with  Christobal  Guerra,  a  merchant  of  Seville,  they  both  sailed 
to  the  coast  of  Paria.  Though  their  discoveries  were  unimportant,  yet  they 
carried  home  such  a  quantity  of  gold  and  pearls,  as  inflamed  their  countrymen 
with  desire  of  engaging  in  similar  enterprises. 

Vincent  Yafiez  Pinzon,  having,  in  connection  with  Ariez  Pinzon,  built  four 
caravels,  sailed  in  December  of  the  preceding  year  from  Palos  for  America. 
Leaving  the  Cape  Verd  Islands  on  the  13th  of  January,  he  stood  boldly  toward 
the  south,  and  was  the  first  Spaniard  who  ventured  to  cross  the  equinoctial 

line.  In  February,  he  discovered  a  cape,  in  8°  north  latitude,  and  called  it 
Cabo  de  Consolacion;  but  it  has  since  been  called  Cape  Augustine.  Here  his 
men  landed,  who  out  the  names  of  the  ships,  and  the  date  of  the  year  and  day 
upon  the  trees  and  rocks,  and  took  possession  of  the  country  for  the  crown  of 
Castile.  They  saw  no  natives,  but  they  perceived  footsteps  upon  the  shore. 
During  the  following  night  they  saw  many  fires.  In  .the  morning,  they  sent 
forty  armed  men  to  treat  with  the  natives,  thirty-two  of  whom,  armed  with 
bows  and  arrows,  advanced  to  meet  them,  followed  by  others,  armed  in  the 
same  manner.  The  Spaniards  endeavoured  to  allure  them  by  gifts,  but  in 
vain;  for,  in  the  dead  of  night,  they  fled  from  the  places  which  they  had 
occupied.  Sailing  northwestward,  they  discovered  the  river  of  the  Amazons. 
At  the  mouth  of  this  great  river,  they  found  many  islands,  the  inhabitants  of 
which  received  them  hospitably  and  unsuspiciously;  but  Pinzon,  with  bar- 

barian cruelty,  seized  about  thirty  of  them,  and  carried  them  away  to  sell  for 
slaves.  At  the  mouth  of  one  of  the  rivers,  Pinzon  and  his  squadron  were 
endangered;  but,  escaping  thence,  crossing  the  line,  and  continuing  his  course 
till  he  came  to  Orinoco  and  Trinidad,  he  then  -made  for  the  islands,  sailed 
homewards,  and,  losing  two  of  his  three  ships  by  the  way,  returned  to  Spain. 

THE  PORTUGUESE  CABRAL  DISCOVERS  BRAZIL   (1500  A.D.) 

Before  Pinzon  reached  Europe,  the  coast  which  he  had  discovered,  had 
been  taken  possession  of  by  the  nation  to  whom  it  was  allotted.  The  fertile 

district  of  country,  "on  the  confines  of  which  Pinzon  stopped  short,"  was  very 
soon  more  fully  discovered.    Pedro  Alvarez  Cabral,  sent  by  Emanuel,  king  of 
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Portugal,  with  thirteen  ships,  on  a  voyage  from  Lisbon  to  the  East  Indies,  in 
order  to  avoid  the  calms  on  the  Guinea  shore,  fetched  a  compass  so  far  west- 

ward, as,  by  accid  nt,  to  discover  land  in  the  10th  degree  south  of  the  equinoc- 
tial line.  Proceeding  along  the  coast  several  days,  he  was  led  from  its  extent 

to  believe,  that  it  must  be  a  part  of  some  great  continent;  and,  on  account  of 
a  cross  which  he  erected  there  with  much  ceremony,  he  called  it  the  Land  of 
the  Holy  Cross;  but  it  was  afterward  called  Brazil.  Having  taken  possession 
of  it  for  the  crown  of  Portugal,  he  despatched  a  ship  to  Lisbon  with  an  account 
of  this  important  discovery,  and  pursued  his  voyage. 

The  Portuguese  king,  on  receiving  the  intelligence,  sent  ships  to  discover 
the  whole  coimtry,  and  found  it  to  be  the  land  of  America.  A  controversy 
hence  arose  between  him  and  the  king  of  Spain;  but  they  being  kinsmen  and 
near  friends,  it  was  ultimately  agreed  that  the  king  of  Portugal  should  hold 
all  the  country  that  he  had  discovered,  which  was  from  the  river  of  Maranon, 
or  Amazons,  to  the  river  of  Plate. 

Portugal,  at  that  time  stUl  in  her  glory,  disregarding  the  donation  made  by 
the  pope,  and  the  compromise  for  half  the  world,  to  which  he  had  reluctantly 
agreed,  viewed  all  the  discoveries  made  by  Spain  in  the  New  World  as  so 
many  encroachments  on  her  own  rights  and  property.  Under  the  influence 
of  this  national  jealousy,  Gaspar  de  Cortereal,  a  Portuguese,  of  respectable 
family,  inspired  with  the  resolution  of  discovering  new  countries,  and  a  new 
route  to  India,  sailed  from  Lisbon,  as  we  have  already  seen,  and  discovered 
the  land  which  he  judged  to  be  fit  for  cultivation,  and  named  Terra  de  Lavra- 
dores. 

The  king  of  Portugal,  on  receiving  intelligence  of  Cabral's  discovery,  fitted 
out  three  ships  to  explore  the  country,  and  gave  the  command  to  Amerigo 
Vespucci,  whom  he  invited  for  that  purpose  from  Seville.  They  sailed  in 
May,  1501,  and,  after  a  very  tempestuous  voyage  of  three  months,  made  land 
in  5°  south  latitude.  Having  coasted  on  northward  till  they  advanced  as  far 
as  32°  they  left  the  coast,  and  struck  out  to  sea.  Standing  to  the  southward 
till  they  reached  52°,  they  foimd  it  expedient  to  return,  and  they  reached 
Lisbon  after  a  voyage  of  sixteen  months. 

FURTHER   SPANISH   DISCOVERIES 

Rodigero  de  Bastidas,  in  partnership  with  John  de  la  Cosa,  fitted  out  two 
ships  from  Cadiz.  Sailing  toward  the  western  continent,  he  arrived  on  the 
coast  of  Paria;  and,  proceeding  to  the  west,  discovered  all  the  coast  of  the 
province  since  known  by  the  name  of  Terra  Firma,  from  Cape  de  Vela  to 
the  gulf  of  Darien.  Ojeda,  with  his  former  associate  Amerigo  Vespucci,  went 
on  a  second  voyage.  Unacquainted  with  the  destination  of  Bastidas,  he  held 
the  same  course,  touched  at  the  same  places,  and  proceeded  to  Hispaniola. 

In  1508,  Juan  Diaz  de  Solis  and  Vincent  Yanez  Pinzon  sailed  from  Seville, 
with  two  caravels,  to  the  coast  of  Brazil,  and  went  to  the  35th  degree,  south 
latitude,  where  they  found  the  great  river  Paranaguazu,  afterward  called 
Rio  de  Plata,  or  River  of  Silver.  Proceeding  to  the  40th  degree,  they  erected 
crosses  wherever  they  landed,  took  formal  possession,  and  returned  to  Spain, 
In  this  voyage  they  discovered  an  extensive  province,  known  afterward  by  the 
name  of  Yucatan.  This  same  year  Sebastian  de  Ocampo,  by  command  of 
Ovando,  sailed  around  Cuba,  and  first  discovered  with  certainty  that  this 
country,  which  Columbus  once  supposed  to  be  a  part  of  the  continent,  is  a 
large  island. 

In  1509,  Don  Diego,  son  of  Christopher  Columbus,  having  for  two  years 
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after  the  death  of  his  father  made  incessant  but  fruitless  application  to  King 
Ferdinand  for  the  offices  and  rights  to  which  he  was  legally  entitled,  at  last 
commenced  a  suit  against  the  king  before  the  councU  of  the  Indies,  and 
obtained  a  decree  in  confirmation  of  his  claim  of  the  viceroyalty,  with  all  the 
privileges  stipulated  ia  the  capitulation  with  his  father.  Succeeding  Ovando 
in  the  government  of  Hispaniola,  he  now  repaired  to  that  island,  accompanied 
by  his  wife,  his  brother,  and  uncles,  and  a  numerous  retinue  of  both  sexes,  of 
good  parentage;  and  the  colony  acquired  new  lustre  by  the  accession  of  so 
many  respectable  inhabitants.  Agreeably  to  instructions  from  the  king,  he 
settled  a  colony  in  Cubagua,  where  large  fortunes  were  soon  acquired  by  the 
fishery  of  pearls.  He  also  sent  to  Jamaica  John  de  Esquibal  with  seventy 
men,  who  began  a  settlement  on  that  island. 

Alonso  de  Ojeda,  having  sailed  from  Hispaniola  with  a  ship  and  two  brig- 
antines,  carrying  three  hundred  soldiers,  to  settle  the  continent,  landed  at 
Carthagena;  but  was  beaten  off  by  the  natives.  While  he  began  a  settlement 
at  St.  Sebastian,  on  the  east  side  of  the  gulf  of  Darien,  Diego  Nicuesa  with  six 
vessels  and  780  men  began  another  at  Nombre  de  Dios,  on  the  west  side. 
Both,  however,  were  soon  broken  up  by  the  natives.  The  early  historians  say 
that  the  natives  of  these  countries  were  fierce  and  warhke;  that  their  arrows 
were  dipped  in  a  poison  so  noxious  that  every  wound  was  followed  with  certain 
death;  that  in  one  encounter  they  slew  seventy  of  Ojeda's  followers;  and  that 
the  Spaniards,  for  the  first  time,  were  taught  to  dread  the  inhabitants  of  the 
New  World.  This  was  the  first  attempt  to  take  possession  of  Terra  Firma; 

and  it  was  by  virtue  of  the  pope's  grant,  made  in  a  form  prescribed  by  some  of 
the  most  eminent  divines  and  lawyers  in  Spain. 

The  greater  part  of  those  who  had  engaged  with  Ojeda  and  Nicuesa  in  the 
expedition  for  settling  the  continent  having  perished  in  less  tHan  a  year,  a 
few  who  survived  now  settled,  as  a  feeble  colony,  at  Santa  Maria  on  the  gulf 
of  Darien,  under  the  command  of  Vasco  Nunez  de  Balboa. 

In  1511,  Don  Diego  Columbus,  proposing  to  conquer  the  island  of  Cuba, 
and  to  establish  a  colony  there,  many  persons  of  distinction  in  Hispaniola 
engaged  in  the  enterprise.  Three  hundred  men,  destined  for  the  service,  were 
put  under  the  command  of  Diego  Velazquez,  who  had  accompanied  Christopher 
Columbus  in  his  second  voyage.  With  this  inconsiderable  number  of  troops, 
Velazquez  conquered  the  island,  without  the  loss  of  a  man,  and  annexed  it  to 
the  Spanish  monarchy.  The  conqueror  was  now  appointed  governor  and 
captain-general  of  the  island.? 

I 

PONCE   DE   LEON   IN   FLORIDA    (1513   A.D.) 

Juan  Ponce  de  Leon  was  the  discoverer  of  Florida.  His  youth  had  been 
passed  in  military  service  in  Spain,  and  during  the  wars  in  Granada  he  had 
shared  in  the  wild  exploits  of  predatory  valour.  No  sooner  had  the  return  of 
the  first  voyage  across  the  Altantic  given  an  assurance  of  a  New  World,  than 
he  hastened  to  participate  in  the  dangers  and  the  spoils  of  adventure  in 
America.  He  was  a  fellow  voyager  of  Columbus  in  his  second  expedition.  In 
the  wars  of  Hispaniola  he  had  been  a  gallant  soldier;  and  Ovando  had  re- 

warded him  with  the  government  of  the  eastern  province  of  that  island.  From 
the  hills  in  his  jurisdiction  he  could  behold,  across  the  clear  waters  of  a  placid 
sea,  the  magnificent  vegetation  of  Porto  Rico,  which  distance  rendered  still 
more  admirable  as  it  was  seen  through  the  transparent  atmosphere  of  the 
tropics.  A  visit  to  the  island  stimulafed  the  cupidity  of  avai:ice;  and  Ponce 
aspired  to  the  government.    He  obtained  the  station  in  1509:   inured  to 



470  THE   HISTOEY   OP   THE   UNITED    STATES 
[1513-1521  A.D.] 

sanguinary  war,  he  was  inexorably  severe  in  his  administration :  he  oppressed 
the  natives;  he  amassed  wealth.  But  his  commission  as  governor  of  Porto 
Rico  conflicted  with  the  claims  of  the  family  of  Columbus;  and  policy,  as  well 
as  justice,  required  his  removal.    Ponce  was  displaced. 

Yet,  in  the  midst  of  an  archipelago,  and  in  the  vicinity  of  a  continent,  what 
need  was  there  for  a  brave  soldier  to  pine  at  the  loss  of  power  over  a  wild 
though  fertile  island?  Age  had  not  tempered  the  love  of  enterprise:  he 
longed  to  advance  his  fortunes  by  the  conquest  of  a  kingdom,  and  to  retrieve 
a  reputation  which  was  not  without  a  blemish.*  Besides,  the  veteran  soldier, 
whose  cheeks  had  been  furrowed  by  hard  service  as  well  as  by  years,  had 
heard,  and  had  believed  the  tale,  of  a  fountain  which  possessed  virtues  to 
renovate  the  life  of  those  who  should  bathe  in  its  stream,  or  give  a  perpetuity 
of  youth  to  the  happy  man  who  should  drink  of  its  ever-flowing  waters.  So 
tiniversal  was  this  tradition  that  it  was  credited  in  Spain,  not  by  the  people 
and  the  court  only,  but  also  by  those  who  were  distinguished  for  virtue  and 
intelligence.  Nature  was  to  discover  the  secrets  for  which  alchemy  had  toiled 
in  vain;  and  the  elixir  of  life  was  to  flow  from  a  perpetual  fountain  of  the  New 
World,  in  the  midst  of  a  country  glittering  with  gems  and  gold. 

Ponce  embarked  at  Porto  Rico,  March  3rd,  1513,  with  a  squadron  of  three 
ships,  fitted  out  at  his  own  expense,  for  his  voyage  to  fairyland.  He  touched 
at  Guanahani ;  he  sailed  among  the  Bahamas ;  but  the  laws  of  nature  remained 
inexorable.  On  Easter  Sunday,  March  27th,  which  the  Spaniards  call  Pascua 
Florida,  land  was  seen.  It  was  supposed  to  be  an  island,  and  received  the 
name  of  Florida,  from  the  day  on  which  it  was  discovered  and  from  the  aspect 
of  the  forests,  which  were  then  brUliant  with  a  profusion  of  blossoms  and  gay 
with  the  fresh  verdure  of  early  spring.  Bad  weather  would  not  allow  the 
squadron  to  approach  land  (April  2nd) :  at  length  the  aged  soldier  was  able  to 
go  on  shore,  in  the  latitude  of  thirty  degrees  and  eight  minutes;  some  mUes, 
therefore,  to  the  north  of  St.  Augustine.  The  territory  was  claimed  (April 
8th)  for  Spain.  Ponce  remained  for  many  weeks  to  investigate  the  coast 
which  he  had  discovered;  though  the  currents  of  the  Gulf  Stream,  and  the 
islands,  between  which  the  channel  was  yet  unknown,  threatened  shipwreck. 
He  doubled  Cape  Florida;  he  sailed  among  the  group  which  he  named  Tor- 
tugas;  and,  despairing  of  entire  success,  he  returned  to  Porto  Rico,  leaving  a 
trusty  follower  to  continue  the  research.  The  Indians  had  everjrwhere  dis- 

played determined  hostiUty.  Ponce  de  Leon  remained  an  old  man;  but 
Spanish  commerce  acquired  a  new  channel  through  the  gvdf  of  Florida,  and 
Spain  a  new  province,  which  imagination  could  esteem  immeasurably  rich, 
since  its  interior  was  unknown. 

The  government  of  Florida  was  the  reward  which  Ponce  received  from  the 
king  of  Spain;  but  the  dignity  was  accompanied  with  the  onerous  condition 
that  he  should  colonise  the  country  which  he  was  appointed  to  rule.  Prepa- 

rations in  Spain,  and  an  expedition  against  the  Caribbee  Indians,  delayed  his 
return  to  Florida.  When,  after  a  long  interval,  he  proceeded  in  1521  with 
two  ships  to  take  possession  of  his  province  and  select  a  site  for  a  colony,  his 
company  was  attacked  by  the  Indians  with  implacable  fury.  Many  Spaniards 
were  killed;  the  survivors  were  forced  to  hurry  to  their  ships;  Ponce  de  Leon 
himself,  mortally  wounded  by  an  arrow,  returned  to  Cuba  to  die.   So  ended  the 

['  The  Peter  Martyr  map  of  1511  had  already  shown  in  the  relative  place  of  Florida  an 
island  called  Bimini.  Here  the  fountain  of  youth  was  generally  supposed  to  exist,  and  its  dis- 

covery was  the  ambition  of  various  explorers,  but  only  incidentally.  The  fountain  of  youth 
has  no  place  in  the  official  documents  of  that  time,  and  Balboa  like  others  was  mainly  seeking 
gold  and  power.] 
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adventurer  who  had  coveted  immeasurable  wealth  and  had  hoped  for  per- 
petual youth.  The  discoverer  of  Florida  had  desired  immortality  on  earth, 

and  gained  its  shadow. 

LATER  EXPLORERS  OP  THE  COAST 

_  Meantime,  commerce  may  have  discovered  a  path  to  Florida;  and  Diego 
Miruelo,  a  careless  sea-captain,  sailing  from  Havana  in  1516,  is  said  to  have 
approached  the  coast,  and  trafficked  with  the  natives.  He  could  not  tell 

distinctly  in  what  harbour  he  had  anchored ';  he  brought  home  specimens  of 
gold,  obtained  in  exchange  for  toys;  and  his  report  swelled  the  rumours, 
already  credited,  of  the  wealth  of  the  country.  Florida  had  at  once  obtained 
a  governor;  it  now  constituted  a  part  of  a  bishopric* 

BALBOA  DISCOVERER   OF  THE   PACIFIC    (1513  A.D.) 

Attempts  were  made,  at  this  period,  to  conquer  and  settle  on  the  coast  of 
Carthagena  and  Darien.  In  1509,  John  de  Esquibel  had  been  sent  by  Diego 
Columbus  from  Santo  Domingo  to  form  the  first  settlement  in  Jamaica,  to 
which  Alonzo  de  Ojeda  laid  a  claim,  and  threatened  to  hang  Esquibel. 

During  the  following  year,  Ojeda  and  John  de  la  Cosa,  who  had  received 
a  licence  to  capture  and  take  possession  of  Veragua,  Carthagena,  and  other 
western  countries,  sailed  from  Santo  Domingo,  landed  on  the  continent,  and  had 
several  conflicts  with  the  natives,  who  were  a  bolder  and  more  advanced  race 
than  the  aborigines  of  Hayti.  In  one  attack  seventy  Spaniards  were  kUled, 
and  the  remainder  Tvounded  with  poisoned  arrows.  Ojeda  and  Cosas  were 
saved  by  the  arrival  of  another  adventurer,  Nicuesa,  with  four  ships.  The 
latter  attacked  the  natives,  burned  their  town,  in  which  they  found  a  large 
store  of  gold,  and  taking  a  number  of  prisoners  sent  them  as  slaves  to  work 
in  the  mines  of  Hayti.  Among  the  commanders  of  these  vessels  was  Francis 
Pizarro,  whom  Ojeda  left  at  St.  Sebastian,  the  place  where  he  fixed  upon  for 
a  settlement.  The  latter  entered  into  an  agreement  with  an  outlaw,  or  pirate, 

to  take  him  in  his  vessel  to  Santo  Domingo.  The  pirate's  vessel  was  wrecked 
on  the  coast  of  Cuba,  from  whence  they  escaped  to  Jamaica  in  a  canoe.  The 
pirate  was  there  apprehended  and  hanged.  Pizarro  was  obliged  to  leave  St. 
Sebastian,  and  escaped  with  a  few  men  to  Carthagena — where  Enciso,  with 
two  ships,  arrived  from  Santo  Domingo.  Pizarro  and  Enciso  then  proceeded  to 
St.  Sebastian,  where  they  were  shipwrecked,  and,  on  landing,  found  the  place 
entirely  destroyed  by  the  natives.  They  saved,  from  the  wrecks,  provisions, 
arms,  and  various  articles,  and  proceeded  to  re-establish  themselves  at  St. 
Sebastian,  but  they  were  reduced  to  great  extremities  by  the  attacks  of  the 
natives,  and  by  the  scanty  supply  of  food. 

One  of  the  most  remarkable  men  among  the  explorers  of  America  accom- 
panied this  expedition.  This  person  was  Vasquez  [or  Vasco]  Nunez  de  Balboa, 

[a  bankrupt  farmer],  who  had  formerly  sailed  with  Bastidas  on  his  voyage 
of  discovery.  He  had  obtained  a  settlement  at  Hayti;  but  having  been 
accused  of  some  excesses,  for  which  he  was  to  have  been  executed,  he  escaped 

by  being  concealed  on  board  Enciso's  ship  in  a  bread  cask.  He  ventured 
after  a  day  to  make  his  appearance.  Enciso  was  enraged,  as  he  had  been 
warned  not  to  take  any  one  but  those  on  his  muster-roll,  from  Hayti;  but 
the  principal  persons  on  board  interceded  for  Nunez,  and  he  was  consequently 

['  It  was  probably  Pensacola  Bay.] 
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protected.  He  was  afterwards  almost  the  only  person  at  St.  Sebastian  who 
had  not  absolutely  given  himself  up  to  despair.  Enciso  was  rallied  and 
encouraged  by  Nunez,  by  whose  energy  the  stranded  vessels  were  at  last  got 
afloat,  and  they  sailed,  according  to  the  advice  of  Nunez,  to  where  he  had  seen 
a  town,  when  he  had  made  the  voyage  with  Bastidas.  They,  accordingly, 
steered  for  the  river  Darien,  and  found  the  place  and  country  such  as  both 
were  described  by  Nunez.  They  marched  against  the  cacique  and  his  people, 
attacked  and  put  them  to  flight  —  found  ia  the  town,  which  was  immediately 
deserted,  abundance  of  provisions,  also  cotton,  spun  and  unspun,  household 
goods  of  various  kinds,  and  more  than  the  value  of  $10,000  in  gold  plates. 
The  success  of  this  adventure  being  justly  attributed  to  Nunez,  his  reputation 
became  great.  He  deprived  Enciso,  who  bore  him  no  good  will  from  the 
first,  of  all  authority;  gained,  by  his  boldness,  the  confidence  of  the  Spaniards, 
and  founded  the  settlement  of  Santa  Maria.  Nunez  established  his  authority 

and  retained  his  power  in  Darien,  and  the  coimtry  then  called  Castell  d'Oro, 
by  gaining  over,  or  defeating,  the  chi  fs  of  the  country,  by  buying,  with  the 
gold  he  sent  to  Santo  Domingo,  the  authorities  there  over  to  his  interest,  and 
by  his  superior  fertility  of  resources  under  the  most  difficult  circumstances. 

In  the  middle  of  September,  1513,  having  been  informed  of  rich  and  vast 
regions  to  the  southwest,  stretching  along  a  great  ocean  which  was  not  far  dis- 

tant, he  departed  from  Santa  Maria,  accompanied  by  the  afterwards  celebrated 
Francis  Pizarro,'  on  an  expedition  in  which,  after  some  desperate  conflicts 
with  the  natives,  he  advanced  so  far,  on  the  25th  of  September,  as  to  behold, 
lying  broad  in  view,  the  great  Pacific  Ocean  [which  he  named  the  South  Sea, 
or  Mar  del  Sur —  it  was  Magellan  who  gave  it  its  name  of  Pacific  Ocean]. 

Nunez  possessed  the  manner  and  ability  of  making  himself  beloved  by  his 
companions  and  followers.  He  was  kind  to  the  sick  and  the  wounded,  and 
shared  the  same  fatigues  and  the  same  food  as  the  humblest  soldier.  Before 
reaching  the  shores  of  the  Pacific,  he  was  opposed  by  Chiapes,  the  cacique 
of  the  coimtry;  who,  however,  was  soon  routed,  and  several  of  the  natives 
killed  by  fire-arms,  or  torn  by  blood-hounds,  those  powerful  auxiliaries  of 
the  Spanish  conquerors  in  America.  Nunez  then  made  peace  with  them  — 
exchanging  trinkets  of  little  cost  for  gold  to  the  value  of  four  thousand  pieces. 
Pizarro  was  then  sent  in  advance  to  view  the  coast,  and  two  others  proceeded, 
on  different  routes,  to  find  the  nearest  way  from  the  heights  to  the  sea.  Nunez 
followed  as  soon  as  he  could  bring  up  the  sick  and  wounded.  On  reaching 
the  shore,  he  walked,  with  his  armour  on,  into  the  sea,  \mtil  the  water  reached 
his  middle,  and  then  performed  solemnly  the  ceremony  of  taking  possession, 
in  the  name  of  the  crown  of  Castile,  of  the  ocean  which  he  had  discovered. 

Before  attempting  further  discoveries,  he  considered  it  prudent  to  return 
from  the  Pacific,  and  arrived  at  Santa  Maria  about  the  end  of  January,  1513, 
with  the  gold  and  pearls  he  had  collected,  and  which  he  distributed  fairly 
among  the  soldiers,  deducting  one  fifth  for  the  king.  He  immediately  sent 

the  king's  share  of  gold  and  pearls  and  all  his  own  to  Spain  by  an  agent.  On 
arriving  at  Seville,  this  agent  applied  first  to  the  bishop  of  Burgos,  who  was 
delighted  at  the  sight  of  the  gold  and  pearls.  The  bishop  sent  him  to  the 
king,  and  used  all  his  influence  with  Ferdmand,  who  entertained  a  strong 
aversion  to  Nunez  de  Balboa. 

The  bishop  of  Burgos  had,  previous  to  the  arrival  of  the  agent  with  treas- 
ures from  Nunez,  counselled  the  king  to  supersede  him  by  one  of  the  worst 

characters  in  Spain.    Instead  of  confirming  Nunez  de  Balboa  in  the  govem- 

['  Pizarro's  conquest  of  Peru  will  be  found  treated  in  our  history  of  that  coontry.l 
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ment  of  the  countries  he  discovered  and  annexed  to  the  crown  of  Castile, 

Ferdinand  appointed  Pedro  Arias  d'AvUa,  or,  as  the  Spanish  writers,  by 
contracting  the  first  name,  call  him,  Pedrarias,  governor  of  Castell  d'Oro. 
Haughty  and  ignorant,  he  was  a  master  of  the  arts  of  oppression,  violence, 
and  fraud.  He  left  Spain  in  April,  1514,  with  a  fleet  of  fifteen  ships,  two 
thousand  troops,  a  bishop,  John  de  Quevedo,  and  numerous  greedy  and 
rapacious  followers  of  noble  birth;  among  others,  Enciso,  the  enemy  of 
Nunez.  On  their  arrival  at  Santa  Maria,  they  were  received  by  Nunez  with 
great  respect.  They  found  the  latter  inhabiting  a  small  house,  in  simple 
attire,  living  on  the  most  frugal  diet,  and  drinking  no  other  liquid  than  water; 
while  he  had,  at  the  same  time,  a  strong  fort  with  four  hundred  and  fiifty  brave 
soldiers  faithfully  attached  to  him.  That  he  was  ambitious,  and  did  severe 
things  to  obtain  that  power  which  he  was  never  known  to  abuse,  is  admitted. 
His  accounts  and  statements  were  clear,  and  he  had  annexed  the  country, 
between  the  Atlantic  and  the  sea  which  he  had  discovered,  to  the  crown  of 
Spain.  Pedrarias  imprisoned  this  great  man,  and  sent  strong  representations 
against  him  to  Spain. 

There  were,  however,  some  honest  men  among  those  brought  over  by 
Pedrarias,  who  sent  a  true  account  of  Nunez  to  the  king;  and  the  latter 
formally  expressed  his  approbation  of  the  conduct  of  the  late  governor,  and 
appointed  him  lord-lieutenant  of  the  countries  of  the  South  Seas,  directing 
also  that  Pedrarias  should  act  by  the  advice  of  his  predecessor. 

On  the  king's  letters  arriving  from  Spain,  they  were  suppressed  by  Pe- 
drarias, who,  in  the  meantime,  by  his  perfidy  and  cruel  exactions,  brought 

the  whole  native  population  into  hostility  and  revolt  against  the  Spaniards. 
The  bishop  Quevedo  then  interfered,  Nunez  was  liberated,  and,  by  his  skill 
and  demeanour,  established  tranquillity,  and  proceeded  to  the  South  Sea  to 
build  a  town,  which  he  in  a  short  time  accomplished,  and  was  then  recalled 
by  Pedrarias.  To  the  astonishment  and  horror  of  all  the  Spaniards,  Nunez 
was  charged  with  treason  ̂   by  Pedrarias,  and  publicly  beheaded,  on  the  charge 
that  he  had  invaded  the  domains  of  the  crown,  merely  by  cutting  down, 

without  the  governor's  licence,  the  trees  used  in  erecting  the  town  which  he built. 
His  execution  was  declared  a  murder  by  the  royal  audienza  of  Santo 

Domingo;  yet  Pedrarias,  whom  the  bishop  of  Chiapa  described  as  the  most 
wicked  monster  who  was  ever  sent  to  America,  continued  for  many  years,  by 

the  king's  will,  to  exercise  his  cruelty  and  injustice.  Thus  perished  Nunez 
de  Balboa,  in  1517,  at  the  age  of  forty-four  years,  for  having  served  his  king 
with  more  fidelity  than  any  of  the  Spanish  conquerors;  of  whom,  if  we  may 
except  Cortes,  he  was  the  ablest;  and  whose  character  stands  far  higher  than 
any  of  those  who  added  new  territories  to  the  dominions  of  Spain. 

Pedrarias  removed  to  Panama,  where  he  erected  a  palace.  In  his  hos- 
tUities  and  cruelties  to  the  caciques  and  the  native  tribes,  he  caused  great 
destruction  of  life;  and  so  ill-judged  and  planned  were  his  enterprises  that, 
in  subduing  one  cacique,  Uracca  of  the  mountains,  more  Spanish  lives  were 
lost  than  during  the  whole  conquest  of  Mexico  by  Cortes.  The  only  important 
conquest  made  under  Pedrarias  was  by  Francis  Hernandez  of  the  territory  of 
Nicaragua,  to  which  the  governor  immediately  repaired  to  take  possession  for 
himself.    Jealous  of  Hernandez,  as  he  was  of  Nunez,  he  charged  the  former 

['  The  charge  of  treason  was  not  entirely  false,  as  Balboa  had  planned  to  secede  from  the 
government  and  go  on  an  independent  voyage.  He  was  also  now  re-acoused  of  complicity  in the  murder  of  Nicuesa,  who  had  been  forced  to  go  to  sea  in  a  rotten  ship  in  1511,  and  was 
never  heard  of  again.] 
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with  a  design  to  revolt;  which  the  latter,  confident  in  his  uinocence,  boldly 
denied.  Pedrarias  immediately  ordered  him  to  be  executed :  power  was  to  be 
upheld  by  the  immediate  death,  according  to  the  maxim  of  this  tyrant,  of 
conquerors  who  were  suspected.  For  this  murder,  equally  barbarous  as  that 
of  Nunez,  Pedrarias  was  not  called  to  account.3 

HERNANDEZ,    GRUALVA,   GARAY,    GOMEZ,   AND   NABVAEZ 

Hernandez  [or  Fernandez]  de  Cordova  had  discovered  the  province  of 
Yucatan  and  the  bay  of  Campeachy,  in  1517.  At  a  place  where  he  had  landed 
for  supplies  of  water,  his  company  was  suddenly  assailed,  and  he  himself  mor- 

tally woimded.  The  pilot  whom  Fernandez  had  employed  conducted  another 
squadron  to  the  same  shores  in  1518.  The  knowledge  already  acquired  was 
extended,  and  under  happier  auspices;  and  Grijalva,  the  commander  of  the 
fleet,  explored  the  coast  from  Yucatan  towards  Panuco.  The  masses  of  gold 
which  he  collected,  the  rumours  of  the  empire  of  Montezuma,  its  magnificence 
and  its  extent,  heedlessly  confirmed  by  the  costly  presents  of  the  unsuspecting 
natives,  were  sufficient  to  inflame  the  coldest  imagination,  and  excited  the 

enterprise  of  Cortes.    The  voyage  did  not  reach  the  shores  of  Florida.' 
But  while  Grijalva  was  opening  the  way  to  the  conquest  of  Mexico,  the 

line  of  the  American  coast,  from  the  Tortugas  to  Panuco,  is  said  to  have 
been  examined,  yet  not  with  care,  by  an  expedition  which  was  planned,  if  not 
conducted,  by  Francisco  Garay,  the  governor  of  Jamaica.  The  general  out- 

line of  the  gulf  of  Mexico  now  became  known.^  Garay  encountered  the 
determined  hostility  of  the  natives;  a  danger  which  eventuaUy  proved  less 
disastrous  to  him  than  the  rivalry  of  his  own  countrymen.  The  adventurers 
in  New  Spain  would  endure  no  independent  neighbour:  the  governor  of 
Jamaica  became  involved  in  a  career  which,  as  it  ultimately  tempted  him  to 
dispute  the  possession  of  a  province  with  Cortes,  led  him  to  the  loss  of  fortune 
and  an  inglorious  death.  The  progress  of  discovery  along  the  southern 
boimdary  of  the  United  States  was  but  little  advanced  by  the  expedition,  of 
which  the  circumstances  have  been  variously  related. 

A  voyage  for  slaves  brought  the  Spaniards  still  farther  upon  the  northern 
coast.  A  coijipany  of  seven,  of  whom  the  most  distinguished  was  Lucas 
Vasquez  de  Ayllon,  fitted  out  two  slave  ships  from  Santo  Domingo,  in  1520,  in 
quest  of  labourers  for  their  plantations  and  mines.  From  the  Bahama 
Islands  they  passed  to  the  coast  of  South  Carolina,  a  coimtry  which  was 
called  Chicora.  The  Combahee  river  received  the  name  of  the  Jordan:  the 
name  of  St.  Helena,  given  to  a  cape,  now  belongs  to  the  sound.  The  natives 
of  this  region  had  not  yet  had  cause  to  fear  Europeans;  they  were  invited  to 
visit  the  ships;  they  came  in  cheerfifl  throngs;  the  decks  were  covered.  Im- 

mediately the  ships  weighed  anchor;  the  sails  were  unfurled,  and  the  prows 
turned  towards  Santo  Domingo.  Husbands  were  torn  from  their  wives,  and 
children  from  their  parents.  The  crime  was  improfitable,  and  was  finally 
avenged.  One  of  the  returning  ships  foundered  at  sea,  and  the  guilty  and 
guiltless  perished;  many  of  the  captives  in  the  other  sickened  and  died. 

The  events  that  followed  mark  the  character  of  the  times.  Vasquez, 
repairing  to  Spain,  boasted  of  his  expedition,  as  if  it  entitled  him  to  reward, 
and  the  emperor,  Charles  V,  acknowledged  his  claim.     Iii  those  days  the 

f'  The  account  of  Cortes  in  Mexico  will  be  found  in  our  history  of  that  country.] 
'  Garay's  lieutenant  Alonzo  Alvarez  de  Pineda  was  in  command,  and  in  1519  discovered 

the  mouth  of  agreat  river,  which  is  by  many  believed  to  be  the  Mississippi.    It  was  at  first  called 

■  the  Espiritu  Santo  on  Garay's  map  of  his  provinoe.] 
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Spanish  monarch  conferred  a  kind  of  appointment  [a  cedula]  which,  however 
strange  its  character  may  appear,  still  has  its  parallel  in  history.  Not  only 
were  provinces  granted  —  countries  were  distributed  to  be  subdued;  and 
Lucas  Vasquez  de  Ayllon  begged  to  be  appointed  to  the  conquest  of  Chicora. 
After  long  entreaty,  he  obtained  his  suit,  June  12th,  1523. 

The  issue  of  the  new  and  bolder  enterprise  was  disastrous  to  the  under- 
taker. He  wasted  his  fortune  in  preparations;  his  largest  ship  was  stranded 

in  the  river  Jordan;  many  of  his  men  were  killed  by  the  natives,  whom 
wrongs  had  quickened  to  active  resistance;  he  himself  escaped  only  to  suffer 
from  wounded  pride;  and,  conscious  of  having  done  nothing  worthy  of  being 
remembered,^  the  sense  of  humiliation  is  said  to  have  hastened  his  death, 
October  18th,  1526. 

The  love  of  adventure  did  not  wholly  extinguish  the  desire  for  maritime 
discovery.  When  Cortes  was  able  to  pause  from  his  success  in  Mexico,  and 
devise  further  schemes  for  ingratiating  himself  with  the  Spanish  monarch,  he 
proposed  to  solve  the  problem  of  a  northwest  passage  —  the  secret  which  has 
so  long  baffled  the  enterprise  of  the  most  courageous  and  persevering  naviga- 

tors. He  deemed  the  existence  of  the  passage  unquestionable,  and,  by 
simultaneous  voyages  along  the  American  coast,  on  the  Pacific,  and  on  the 
Atlantic,  he  hoped  to  complete  the  discovery  to  which  Sebastian  Cabot  had 
pointed  the  way. 

The  design  of  Cortes  remained  but  the  offer  of  loyalty.  A  voyage  to  the 
northwest  was  really  undertaken  in  1525  by  Stephen  Gomez,  an  experienced 
Portuguese  naval  officer,  who  had  been  with  Magellan  in  the  first  memorable 
passage  into  the  Pacific  Ocean.^  The  expedition  was  decreed  by  the  council 
for  the  Indies,  in  the  hope  of  discovering  the  northern  route  to  India,  which, 
notwithstanding  it  had  been  sought  for  in  vain,  was  yet  universally  believed 
to  exist.  His  ship  entered  the  bays  of  New  York  and  New  England;  on  old 
Spanish  maps,  that  portion  is  marked  as  the  land  of  Gomez.  Failing  to  dis- 

cover a  passage,  and  fearful  to  return  without  success  and  without  a  freight, 
he  filled  his  vessel  with  robust  Indians,  to  be  sold  as  slaves.  Brilliant  expec- 

tations had  been  raised;  and  the  conclusion  was  esteemed  despicably  ludi- 
crous. The  Spaniards  scorned  to  repeat  their  voyages  to  the  cold  and  frozen 

north;  in  the  south,  and  in  the  south  only,  they  looked  for,  as  Peter  Martyr? 

said,  "  great  and  exceeding  riches."  The  adventure  of  Gomez  had  no  political 
results.  It  had  been  furthered  by  the  enemies  of  Sebastian  Cabot,  who  was, 
at  that  time,  in  the  service  of  Spain;  and  it  established  the  reputation  of  the 
Bristol  mariner. 

But  neither  the  fondness  of  the  Spanish  monarch  for  extensive  domains, 
nor  the  desire  of  the  nobility  for  new  governments,  nor  the  passion  of  adven- 

turers for  imdiscovered  wealth  would  permit  the  abandonment  of  the  conquest 
of  Florida.  Permission  to  iavade  that  territory  was  next  sought  for  and 
obtained  by  Pamphilo  de  Narvaez,  the  same  person  who  had  been  sent  by  the 
jealous  governor  of  Cuba  to  take  Cortes  prisoner,  and  who,  after  having 
declared  him  an  outlaw,  was  himself  easily  defeated. 

The  territory,  placed  at  the  mercy  of  Narvaez,  extended  to  the  river  of 
Palms;  farther,  therefore,  to  the  west,  than  the  territory  which  was  after- 

wards included  in  Louisiana.    His  expedition  was  as  unsuccessful  as  his 

['  His  settlement  of  San  Miguel  was  attempted  in  the  region  where  the  English  later 
established  Jamestown.] 

['  In  our  history  of  Portugal  we  have  already  described  the  first  circumnavigation  of  the 
globe  in  1519-21  by  the  companions  of  Fernao  de  Magelhaes  or  Magellan,  whose  exploit  belongs 
to  Spanish  glory  as  it  was  made  by  commission  from  the  Spanish  king.] 
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attempt  against  Cortes,  but  it  was  memorable  for  its  disasters.  Of  three 
hundred  men,  of  whom  eighty  were  moimted,  but  four  or  five  returned.  The 
valour  of  the  natives,  thirst,  famine,  and  pestilence,  the  want  of  concert 
between  the  ships  and  the  men  set  on  shore,  the  errors  of  judgment  in  the 
commanders,  rapidly  melted  away  the  unsuccessful  company.  It  is  not  pos- 

sible to  ascertain,  with  exactness,  the  point  where  Narvaez  first  landed  in 
Florida,  April  15th,  1527;  probably  it  was  at  a  bay  a  little  east  of  the  meridian 
of  Cape  St.  Antony,  in  Cuba;  it  may  have  been,  therefore,  not  far  from  the 
bay  now  called  Apalache.  The  party  soon  struck  into  the  interior;  they 
knew  not  where  they  were,  nor  whither  they  were  going;  and  followed  the 
directions  of  the  natives.  These,  with  a  sagacity  careful  to  save  themselves 
from  danger,  described  the  distant  territory  as  full  of  gold,  and  freed  them- 

selves from  the  presence  of  troublesome  guests  by  exciting  a  hope  that  covet- 
ousness  could  elsewhere  be  amply  gratified.  The  town  of  Apalache,  which  was 
thought  to  contain  immense  accumulations  of  wealth,  proved  to  be  an  incon- 

siderable collection  of  wigwams.  It  was  probably  in  the  region  of  the  bay  of 
Pensacola  that  the  remnant  of  the  party,  after  a  ramble  of  eight  hundred 
miles,  finally  came  again  upon  the  sea,  in  a  condition  of  extreme  penury 
(September  22nd).  Here  they  manufactured  rude  boats,  in  which  none  but 
desperate  men  would  have  embarked;  and  Narvaez  and  most  of  his  com- 

panions, after  having  passed  nearly  six  months  in  Florida,  perished  in  a  storm 
near  the  mouth  of  the  Mississippi.'  One  ship's  company  was  wrecked  upon 
an  island;  most  of  those  who  were  saved  died  of  famine.  The  four  who  ulti- 

mately reached  Mexico  (1536)  by  land  succeeded  only  after  years  of  hard- 
ships. The  simple  narrative  of  their  wanderings,  their  wretchedness,  and 

their  courageous  enterprise  could  not  but  have  been  full  of  marvels;  their 
rambles,  extending  across  Louisiana  and  the  northern  part  of  Mexico  to  the 
shores  of  the  Pacific  Ocean  in  Sonora,  were  almost  as  wide  as  those  of  Lewis 
and  Clark  to  the  sources  of  the  Missouri  and  the  mouth  of  the  Columbia  river; 
the  story  which  one  of  them,  Cabeza  de  Vaca,  published,  and  of  which  the 
truth  was  affirmed,  on  oath,  before  a  magistrate,  is  disfigured  by  bold  exag- 

gerations and  the  wildest  fictions.  The  knowledge  of  the  bays  and  rivers  of 
Florida,  on  the  gulf  of  Mexico,  was  not  essentially  increased;  the  strange  tales 
of  miraculous  cures,  of  natural  prodigies,  and  of  the  resuscitation  of  the  dead 
were  harmless  falsehoods;  the  wanderers,  on  their  return,  persevered  in  the 
far  more  fatal  assertion  that  Florida  was  the  richest  country  in  the  world. 
The  assertion  was  readily  believed,  even  by  those  to  whom  the  wealth  of 
Mexico  and  Peru  was  familiarly  known. 

SOTO'S  MARCH  TO  THE  MISSISSIPPI 

To  no  one  was  credulity  more  disastrous  than  to  Ferdinand  de  Soto,  a 
native  of  Xeres,  and  now  an  ambitious  courtier.  He  had  himself  gained  fame 
and  fortune  by  mihtary  service  in  the  New  World.  He  had  been  the  favourite 
companion  of  Pizarro  in  the  conquest  of  Peru,  where  he  had  distinguished 
himself  for  conduct  and  valour.  Perceiving  the  angry  divisions  which  were 
threatened  by  the  jealousy  of  the  Spaniards  in  Peru,  Soto  had  seasonably 
withdrawn,  with  his  share  of  the  spoils,  and  now  appeared  in  Spain  to  enjoy 
his  reputation,  to  display  his  opulence,  and  to  solicit  advancement.  His 
reception  was  triumphant;  success  of  all  kinds  awaited  him.    The  daughter 

['  Cabeza  deVaca'',one  of  the  survivors  described  this  river  as  sweetening  the  brine  of  the gulf  of  Mexico  so  that  they  were  able  to  drink  of  Its  waters.  Cabeza  ic  by  soiao  thuc  credited, 
with  preceding  De  Soto  in  the  discovery  of  the  Mississippi.] 
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of  the  distinguished  nobleman  under  whom  he  had  first  served  as  a  poor 
adventurer  became  his  wife;  and  the  special  favour  of  Charles  V  invited  his 
ambition  to  prefer  a  large  request.  It  had  ever  been  believed  that  the  depths 
of  the  continent  at  the  north  concealed  cities  as  magnificent  and  temples  as 
richly  endowed  as  any  which  had  yet  been  plundered  within  the  limits  of  the 
tropics.  Soto  desired  to  rival  Cortes  in  glorj',  and  surpass  Pizarro  in  wealth. 
Blinded  by  avarice  and  the  love  of  power,  he  repaired  to  Valladolid,  and 
demanded  permission  to  conquer  Florida  at  his  own  cost;  and  Charles  V 
readily  conceded  to  so  renowned  a  commander  the  government  of  the  isle  of 
Cuba,  with  absolute  power  over  the  immense  territory  to  which  the  name  of 
Florida  was  still  vaguely  applied. 

No  sooner  was  the  design  of  the  new  expedition  published  in  Spain,  than 
the  wildest  hopes  were  indulged.  How  brilliant  must  be  the  prospect,  since 
even  the  conqueror  of  Peru  was  willing  to  hazard  his  fortune  and  the  greatness 
of  his  name!  Adventurers  assembled  as  volunteers,  many  of  them  people  of 
noble  birth  and  good  estates.  Houses  and  vineyards,  lands  for  tillage,  and 
rows  of  olive  trees  in  the  Ajarrafe  of  Seville  were  sold,  as  in  the  times  of  the 
Crusades,  to  obtain  the  means  of  military  equipments. 

The  fleet  sailed  as  gaily  as  if  it  had  been  but  a  holiday  excursion  of  a 
bridal  party.  In  Cuba,  the  precaution  was  used  to  send  vessels  to  Florida  to 
explore  a  harbour;  and  two  Indians,  brought  as  captives  to  Havana,  invented 
such  falsehoods  as  they  perceived  would  be  acceptable.  They  conversed  by 
signs;  and  the  signs  were  interpreted  as  affirming  that  Florida  abounded  in 
gold.  The  news  spread  great  contentment;  Soto  and  his  troops  were  restless 
with  longing  for  the  hour  of  their  departure  to  the  conquest  of  [what  the  gen- 

tleman of  Elvas  s  called]  "  the  richest  country  which  had  yet  been  discovered." 
Soto  had  been  welcomed  in  Cuba  (May,  1539)  by  long  and  brilliant  festi- 

vals and  rejoicings.  At  length,  all  preparations  were  completed;  leaving  his 
wife  to  govern  the  island,  he  and  his  company,  full  of  unbounded  expectations, 
embarked  for  Florida,  and  in  about  a  fortnight  his  fleet  anchored  in  the  bay 
of  Espiritu  Santo.  The  soldiers  went  on  shore;  the  horses,  between  two  and 
three  hundred  in  number,  were  disembarked;  and  the  men  of  the  expedition 
stood  upon  the  soil  which  they  had  so  eagerly  desired  to  tread.  Soto  would 
listen  to  no  augury  but  that  of  success;  and,  like  Cortes,  he  refused  to  retain 
his  ships,  lest  they  should  afford  a  temptation  to  retreat.  Most  of  them  were 
sent  to  Havana. 

And  now  began  the  nomadic  march  of  the  adventurers;  a  numerous  body 
of  horsemen,  besides  infantry,  completely  armed;  a  force  exceeding  in  num- 

bers and  equipments  the  famous  expeditions  against  the  empires  of  Mexico 
and  Peru.  Everything  was  provided  that  experience  in  former  invasions  and 
the  cruelty  of  avarice  could  suggest;  chains  for  captives,  and  the  instruments 
of  a  forge;  arms  of  all  kinds  then  in  use,  and  bloodhounds  as  auxiliaries  against 
the  feeble  natives;  ample  stores  of  food,  and,  as  a  last  resort,  a  drove  of  hogs 
which  would  soon  swarm  in  the  favouring  climate,  where  the  forests  and  the 
Indian  maize  furnished  abundant  sustenance.  It  was  a  roving  expedition  of 
gallant  freebooters  in  quest  of  fortune.  It  was  a  romantic  stroll  of  men  whom 
avarice  rendered  ferocious,  through  unexplored  regions,  over  unknown  paths; 
wherever  rumour  might  point  to  the  residence  of  some  chieftain  with  more 
than  Peruvian  wealth,  or  the  ill-interpreted  signs  of  the  ignorant  natives  might 
seem  to  promise  a  harvest  of  gold.  Religious  zeal  was  also  united  with  ava- 

rice: there  were  not  only  cavalry  and  foot-soldiers,  with  all  that  belongs  to 
warlike  array;  twelve  priests,  besides  other  ecclesiastics,  accompanied  the 
expedition,    Florida  was  to  become  Catholic  during  scenes  of  robbery  and 
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carnage.  Every  festival  was  to  be  kept;  every  religious  practice  to  be 
observed.  As  the  troops  marched  through  the  wilderness,  the  solemn  pro- 

cessions, which  the  usages  of  the  church  enjoined,  were  scrupulously  in- 
stituted. 

The  wanderings  of  the  first  season  brought  the  company  from  the  bay  of 
Espiritu  Santo  to  the  country  of  the  Appalachians,  east  of  the  Flint  river, 
and  not  far  from  the  head  of  the  bay  of  Appalachee.  The  names  of  the  inter- 

mediate places  cannot  be  identified.  The  march  was  tedious  and  full  of  dan- 
gers. The  Indians  were  always  hostile ;  the  two  captives  of  the  former  expedi- 

tion escaped;  a  Spaniard,  who  had  been  kept  in  slavery  from  the  time  of 
Narvaez,  could  give  no  accounts  of  any  coimtry  where  there  was  silver  or  gold. 
The  guides  would  purposely  lead  the  Castilians  astray,  and  involve  them  in 
morasses;  even  though  death,  under  the  fangs  of  the  bloodhounds,  was  the 
certain  punishment.  The  whole  company  grew  dispirited,  and  desired  the 

governor  to  return,  since  the  country  opened  no  brUliant  prospects.  "  I  will 
not  turn  back,"  said  Soto,  "till  I  have  seen  the  poverty  of  the  country  with 
my  own  eyes."  An  exploring  party  discovered  Ochus,  the  harbour  of  Pen- 
sacola;  and  a  message  was  sent  to  Cuba,  desiring  that  in  the  ensuing  year 
supplies  for  the  expedition  might  be  sent  to  that  place. 

Early  in  the  spring  of  the  following  year,  1540,  the  wanderers  renewed 
their  march,  with  an  Indian  guide,  who  promised  to  lead  the  way  to  a  country, 
governed,  it  was  said,  by  a  woman,  and  where  gold  so  abounded  that  the  art 
of  melting  and  refining  it  was  understood.  He  described  the  process  so  well, 

that  the  credulous  Spaniards  took  heart,  and  exclaimed,  "He  must  have 
seen  it,  or  the  devil  has  been  his  teacher!"  The  Indian  appears  to  have 
pointed  towards  the  Gold  Region  of  North  Carolina.  The  adventurers, 
therefore,  eagerly  hastened  to  the  northeast;  they  passed  the  Alatamaha; 
they  admired  the  fertile  valleys  of  Georgia,  rich,  productive,  and  full  of  good 
rivers.  They  passed  a  northern  tributary  of  the  Alatamaha,  and  a  southern 
branch  of  the  Ogechee;  and,  at  length,  came  upon  the  Ogechee  itself,  which, 
in  April,  flowed  with  a  full  channel  and  a  strong  current.  Much  of  the  time, 
the  Spaniards  were  in  wild  solitudes;  they  suffered  for  want  of  salt  and  of 
meat. 

The  direction  of  the  march  was  now  to  the  north;  to  the  comparatively 
sterile  country  of  the  Cherokees,  and  in  part  through  a  district  in  which  gold 
is  now  found.  The  inhabitants  were  poor,  but  gentle.  Soto  could  hardly 
have  crossed  the  mountains,  so  as  to  enter  the  basin  of  the  Tennessee  river; 
it  seems,  rather,  that  he  passed  from  the  head-waters  of  the  Savannah,  or 
the  Chattahouchee,  to  the  head-waters  of  the  Coosa.  The  name  of  Canasauga, 
a  village  at  which  he  halted,  is  still  given  to  a  branch  of  the  latter  stream. 
For  several  months  the  Spaniards  were  in  the  valleys  which  send  their  waters 
to  the  bay  of  Mobile;  Chiaha  was  an  island  distant  about  a  himdred  miles 
from  Canasauga.  An  exploring  party,  sent  to  the  north,  were  appalled  by 
the  aspect  of  the  Appalachian  chain,  and  pronounced  the  mountains  impassable. 
They  had  looked  for  mines  of  copper  and  gold;  and  their  only  plunder  was  a 
buffalo  robe. 

In  the  latter  part  of  July  the  Spaniards  were  at  Coosa.  A  southerly 
direction  led  the  train  to  Tuscaloosa,  October  18th;  the  wanderers  reached 
a  considerable  town  on  the  Alabama,  above  the  junction  of  the  Tombigbee, 

and  about  one  hundred  miles,  or  six  days'  journey,  from  Pensacola.  The 
town  was  called  Mavilla,  or  Mobile,  a  name  which  is  still  preserved,  and 
applied,  not  to  the  bay  only,  but  to  the  river,  after  the  union  of  its  numerous 
tributaries.    The  Spaniards,  tired  of  lodging  in  the  fields,  desired  to  occupy 
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the  town;  the  Indians  rose  to  resist  the  invaders,  whom  they  distrusted  and 
feared.  A  battle  ensued;  the  terrors  of  their  cavalry  gave  the  victory  to  the 
Spaniards.  We  know  not  if  a  more  bloody  Indian  fight  ever  occurred  on  the 
soU  of  the  United  States:  the  town  was  set  on  fire;  and  twenty-five  hundred 
Indians  are  said  to  have  been  slain,  suffocated,  or  burned.  They  had  fought 
with  desperate  courage;  and,  but  for  the  flames,  which  consumed  their  light 
and  dense  settlements,  they  would  have  effectually  repulsed  the  invaders. 

"  Of  the  Christians,  eighteen  died";  one  hundred  and  fifty  were  wounded  with 
arrows;  twelve  horses  were  slain,  and  seventy  hurt.  The  flames  had  not 
spared  the  baggage  of  the  Spaniards;  it  was  within  the  town,  and  was  entirely 
consumed. 

Meanwhile,  ships  from  Cuba  had  arrived  at  Ochus,  now  Pensacola.  Soto 
was  too  proud  to  confess  his  failure.  He  determined  to  send  no  news  of  him- 

self, imtil,  like  Cortes,  he  had  foimd  some  rich  country.  Soto  retreated 
towards  the  north,  November  18th,  his  troops  already  reduced,  by  sickness 
and  warfare,  to  five  himdred  men.  A  month  passed  away  before  he  reached 
winter  quarters  at  Chicaga,  a  smaU  town  in  the  coimtry  of  the  Chickasaws, 
in  the  upper  part  of  the  state  of  Mississippi;  probably  on  the  western  bank  of 
the  Yazoo.  The  weather  was  severe,  and  snow  fell;  but  maize  was  yet  stand- 

ing in  the  open  fields.  The  Spaniards  were  able  to  gather  a  supply  of  food, 
and  the  deserted  town,  with  such  rude  cabins  as  they  added,  afforded  them 
shelter  through  the  winter.  Yet  no  mines  of  Peru  were  discovered;  no 
ornaments  of  gold  adorned  the  rude  savages;  their  wealth  was  the  harvest  of 
com,  and  wigwams  were  their  only  palaces;  they  were  poor  and  independent; 
they  were  hardy  and  loved  freedom.  When  spring  opened,  Soto,  as  he  had 
usually  done  with  other  tribes,  demanded  of  the  chieftain  of  the  Chickasaws 
two  himdred  men  to  carry  the  burdens  of  his  company. 

The  Indians,  deceiving  the  sentinels,  set  fire  to  their  own  village,  in  which 
the  Castilians  were  encamped.  On  a  sudden,  half  the  houses  were  in  flames; 
and  the  loudest  notes  of  the  war-whoop  rung  through  the  air.  The  Indians, 
could  they  have  acted  with  calm  bravery,  might  have  gained  an  easy  and 
entire  victory;  but  they  trembled  at  their  own  success,  and  feared  the  unequal 
battle  against  weapons  of  steel.  Many  of  the  horses  had  broken  loose;  these, 
terrified  and  without  riders,  roamed  through  the  forests,  of  which  the  burning 
village  illuminated  the  shades,  and  seemed  to  the  ignorant  natives  the  gather- 

ing of  hostile  squadrons.  Others  of  the  horses  perished  in  the  stables;  most 
of  the  swine  were  consumed;  eleven  of  the  Christians  were  burned,  or  lost 
their  lives  in  the  tumult.  The  clothes  which  had  been  saved  from  the  fires 
of  Mobile  were  destroyed,  and  the  Spaniards,  now  as  naked  as  the  natives, 
suffered  from  the  cold.  Weapons  and  equipments  were  consumed  or  spoiled. 
Had  the  Indians  made  a  resolute  onset  on  this  night  or  the  next,  the  Spaniards 
would  have  been  unable  to  resist.  But  in  a  respite  of  a  week,  forges  were 
erected,  swords  newly  tempered,  and  good  ashen  lances  were  made,  equal  to 
the  best  of  Biscay.  When  the  Indians  attacked  the  camp,  March  15th,  they 

foimd  "the  Christians"  prepared. 
All  the  disasters  which  had  been  encountered,  far  from  diminishing  the 

boldness  of  the  governor,  served  only  to  confirm  his  obstinacy  by  wovmding 
his  pride.  Should  he,  who  had  promised  greater  booty  than  Mexico  or  Peru 
had  yielded,  now  return  as  a  defeated  fugitive,  so  naked  that  his  troops  were 
clad  only  in  skins  and  mats  of  ivy?  The  search  for  some  wealthy  region  was 
renewed,  April  27th;  the  caravan  marched  still  farther  to  the  west.  For 
seven  days  it  struggled  through  a  wilderness  of  forests  and  marshes;  and, 
at  length,  came  to  Indian  settlements  in  the  vicinity  of  the  Mississippi.    Soto 
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was  the  first '  of  Europeans  to  behold  the  magnificent  river,  which  rolled  its 
immense  mass  of  waters  through  the  splendid  vegetation  of  a  wide  aUuvial 
soil.  The  lapse  of  nearly  three  centuries  has  not  changed  the  character  of 
the  stream;  it  was  then  described  as  more  than  a  mile  broad;  flowing  with  a 
strong  current,  and,  by  the  weight  of  its  waters,  forcing  a  channel  of  great 
depth.  The  water  was  always  muddy;  trees  and  timber  were  continually 
floating  down  the  stream. 

The  Spaniards  were  guided  to  the  Mississippi  by  natives;  and  were  directed 
to  one  of  the  usual  crossing  places,  probably  at  the  lowest  Chickasaw  bluff, 
not  far  from  the  thirty-fifth  parallel  of  latitude.  The  arrival  of  the  strangers 
awakened  curiosity  and  fear.  A  multitude  of  people  from  the  western  banks 
of  the  river,  painted  and  gayly  decorated  with  great  plumes  of  white  feathers, 
the  warriors  standing  in  rows  with  bow  and  arrows  in  their  hands,  the  chief- 

tains sitting  under  awnings  as  magnificent  as  the  artless  manufactures  of  the 
natives  could  weave,  came  rowing  down  the  stream  in  a  fleet  of  two  himdred 

canoes,  seeming  to  the  admiring  Spaniards  "like  a  fair  army  of  galleys." 
The  boats  of  the  natives  were  too  weak  to  transport  horses;  almost  a  month 
expired  before  barges  large  enough  to  hold  three  horsemen  each  were  con- 

structed for  crossing  the  river.  At  length  the  Spaniards,  in  May,  embarked 
upon  the  Mississippi;  and  Europeans  were  borne  to  its  western  bank. 

The  Kaskaskias  Indians,  at  that  time,  occupied  a  province  southwest  of 
the  Missouri;  Soto  had  heard  its  praises;  he  believed  in  its  vicinity  to  mineral 
wealth;  and  he  determined  to  visit  its  towns.  In  ascending  the  Mississippi 
the  party  was  often  obliged  to  wade  through  morasses;  at  length  they  came, 
as  it  would  seem,  upon  the  district  of  Little  Prairie,  and  the  dry  and  elevated 
lands  which  extend  towards  New  Madrid.  The  Spaniards  were  adored  as 
children  of  the  sun,  and  the  blind  were  brought  into  their  presence,  to  be 

healed  by  the  sons  of  light.  "  Pray  only  to  God,  who  is  in  heaven,  for  what- 
soever ye  need,"  said  Soto  in  reply.  At  Pacaha,  the  northernmost  point 

which  Soto  reached  near  the  Mississippi,  he  remained  forty  days,  June  19th  to 
July  29th.    The  spot  cannot  be  identified. 

An  exploring  party,  which  was  sent  to  examine  the  regions  to  the  north, 
reported  that  they  were  almost  a  desert.  The  country  stUl  nearer  the  Missouri 
was  said  by  the  Indians  to  be  thinly  inhabited;  the  bison  abounded  there  so 
much  that  no  maize  could  be  cultivated;  and  the  few  inhabitants  were 
hunters.  Soto  turned,  therefore,  to  the  west  and  northwest,  and  in  August 
plunged  stiU  more  deeply  into  the  interior  of  the  continent.  The  highlands 
of  White  river,  more  than  two  hundred  miles  from  the  Mississippi,  were 
probably  the  limit  of  his  ramble  in  this  direction.  The  moimtains  offered 
neither  gems  nor  gold;  and  the  disapj)ointed  adventurers  marched  to  the 
south.  They  passed  through  a  succession  of  towns,  of  which  the  position 
cannot  be  fixed;  till,  at  length,  we  find  them  among  the  Tunicas,  near  the 
hot  springs  and  saline  tributaries  of  the  Washita.  It  was  at  Autiamque,  a 
town  on  the  same  river,  that  they  passed  the  winter;  they  had  arrived  at  the 
settlement  through  the  country  of  the  Kappaws. 

The  native  tribes,  everywhere  on  the  route,  were  found  in  a  state  of  civilisa- 
tion beyond  that  of  nomadic  hordes.  They  were  an  agricultural  people,  with 

fixed  places  of  abode,  and  subsisted  upon  the  produce  of  the  fields,  more  than 
upon  the  chase.  The  Spaniards  treated  them  with  no  other  forbearance  than 
their  own  selfishness  demanded,  and  enslaved  such  as  offended,  emplojring 

['  We  have  already  mentioned  the  prior  claims  of  Pineda  and  Caheza  de  Vaca.  But  though 
many  have  casually  found  the  mouth  of  the  river,  it  was  Soto's  men  who  first  gave  the  world 
a  true  idea  of  its  magnitude,] 
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them  as  porters  and  guides.  On  a  slight  suspicion,  they  would  cut  off  the 
hands  of  numbers  of  the  natives,  for  punishment  or  intimidation;  while  the 
young  cavaliers,  from  desire  of  seeming  valiant,  ceased  to  be  merciful,  and 
exulted  in  cruelties  and  carnage.  The  guide  who  was  unsuccessful,  or  who 
purposely  led  them  away  from  the  settlements  of  his  tribe,  would  be  seized 
and  thrown  to  the  hounds.  Sometimes  a  native  was  condemned  to  the  flames. 
Any  trifling  consideration  of  safety  would  induce  the  governor  to  set  fire  to  a 
hamlet. 

In  the  spring  of  the  following  year,  1542,  Soto  determined  to  descend  the 
Washita  to  its  junction,  and  to  get  tidings  of  the  sea.  As  he  advanced,  he 
was  soon  lost  amidst  the  bayous  and  marshes  which  are  found  along  the  Red 
river  and  its  tributaries.  Near  the  Mississippi,  he  came  upon  the  country 
of  Nilco,  which  was  well  peopled.  At  last,  April  17th,  he  arrived  at  the 
province  where  the  Washita,  already  united  with  the  Red  river,  enters  the 
Mississippi.  The  province  was  called  Guachoya.  Soto  anxiously  inquired 
the  distance  to  the  sea:  the  chieftain  of  Guachoya  could  not  tell.  Were  there 
settlements  extending  along  the  river  to  its  mouth?  It  was  answered  that 
its  lower  banks  were  an  uninhabited  waste.  Unwilling  to  believe  so  disheart- 

ening a  tale,  Soto  sent  one  of  his  men,  with  eight  horsemen,  to  descend  the  banks 
of  the  Mississippi,  and  explore  the  country.  They  travelled  eight  days,  and 
were  able  to  advance  not  much  more  than  thirty  miles,  they  were  so  delayed 
by  the  frequent  bayous,  the  impassable  cane-brakes,  and  the  dense  woods. 
The  governor  received  the  intelligence  with  concern;  he  suffered  from  anxiety 
and  gloom.  His  horses  and  men  were  dying  around  him,  so  that  the  natives 
were  becoming  dangerous  enemies.* 

AN  EYE-WITNESS   ON  SOTO's  DEATH   (THE  GENTLEMAN  OF  ELVAS) 

The  governor  fell  into  great  dumps  to  see  how  hard  it  was  to  get  to  the 
sea;  and  worse,  because  his  men  and  horses  every  day  diminished,  being 
without  succour  to  sustain  themselves  in  the  country;  and  with  that  thought 
he  feU  sick.  But  before  he  took  his  bed  he  sent  an  Indian  to  the  cacique  of 
Quigalta  to  tell  him  that  he  was  the  child  of  the  sim,  and  that  all  the  way 
that  he  came  all  men  obeyed  and  served  him,  that  he  requested  him  to  accept 
of  his  friendship  and  come  imto  him,  for  he  would  be  very  glad  to  see  him; 
and  in  sign  of  love  and  obedience  to  bring  something  with  him  of  that  which 
in  his  country  was  most  esteemed.    The  cacique  answered  by  the  same  Indian : 

"  That  whereas  he  said  he  was  the  child  of  the  sun,  if  he  would  dry  up  the 
river  he  would  believe  him;  and  touching  the  rest,  that  he  was  wont  to  visit 
none;  but  rather  that  aU  those  of  whom  he  had  notice  did  visit  him,  served, 
obeyed,  and  paid  him  tributes  willingly  or  perforce:  therefore,  if  he  desired 
to  see  him,  it  were  best  he  should  come  thither;  that  if  he  came  in  peace  he 
would  receive  him  with  special  good  will;  and  if  in  war,  in  like  manner  he 
would  attend  him  in  the  town  where  he  was,  and  that  for  him  or  any  other 

he  would  not  shrink  one  foot  back." 
By  the  time  the  Indian  returned  with  this  answer,  the  governor  had 

betaken  himself  to  bed,  being  evil  handled  with  fevers,  and  was  much  aggrieved 
that  he  was  not  in  case  to  pass  presently  the  river  and  to  seek  him,  to  see 
if  he  could  abate  that  pride  of  his,  considering  the  river  went  now  very  strongly 
in  those  parts;  for  it  was  near  half  a  league  broad,  and  sixteen  fathoms  deep, 
and  very  furious,  and  ran  with  a  great  current;  and  on  both  sides  there  were 
many  Indians,  and  his  power  was  not  now  so  great,  but  that  he  had  need  to 
help  himseK  rather  by  finesse  than  by  force.      And  seeing  how  many  Indians 

B.  W.  —  VOL.  XXII.  Zl 
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came  daily  to  the  town,  and  what  store  of  people  was  in  that  country,  fearing 
they  should  all  conspire  together  and  plot  some  treason  against  him;  and 
because  the  town  had  some  open  gaps  which  were  not  made  an  end  of  enclosing, 
besides  the  gates  which  they  went  in  and  out  by:  because  the  Indians  should 
not  think  he  feared  them,  he  let  them  all  alone  unrepaired;  and  commanded 
the  horsemen  to  be  appointed  to  them,  and  to  the  gates :  and  aU  night  the  horse- 

men went  the  round;  and  two  and  two  of  every  squadron  rode  about,  and 
visited  the  scouts  that  were  without  the  town  in  their  standings  by  the  passages 
and  the  crossbowmen  that  kept  the  canoes  in  the  river.  And  because  the 
Indians  should  stand  in  fear  of  them,  he  determined  to  send  a  captain  to  Nilco, 
for  those  of  Guachoya  had  told  him  that  it  was  inhabited;  that  by  using 
them  cruelly,  neither  the  one  nor  the  other  should  presume  to  assail  him; 
and  he  sent  Nunez  de  Touar  with  fifteen  horsemen,  and  John  de  Guzman 
captain  of  the  footmen,  with  his  company  in  canoes  up  the  river. 

There  were  about  five  or  six  thousand  people  in  the  town;  and,  as  many 
people  came  out  of  the  houses,  and  fled  from  one  house  to  another,  and  many 
Indians  came  flocking  together  from  all  parts,  there  was  never  a  horseman 
that  was  not  alone  among  many.  The  captain  had  commanded  that  they 
should  not  spare  the  life  of  any  male.  Their  disorder  was  so  great  that  there 
was  no  Indian  that  shot  an  arrow  at  any  Christian.  The  shrieks  of  women 
and  children  were  so  great  that  they  made  the  ears  deaf  of  those  that  followed 
them.  There  were  slain  a  hundred  Indians,  httle  more  or  less:  and  many 
were  woimded  with  great  wounds,  whom  they  suffered  to  escape  to  strike  a 
terror  in  the  rest  that  were  not  there.  There  were  some  so  cruel  and  butcher- 

like that  they  killed  old  and  young,  and  all  that  they  met,  though  they  made 
no  resistance;  and  those  which  presumed  of  themselves  for  their  valour,  and 
were  taken  for  such,  broke  through  the  Indians,  bearing  down  many  with 
their  stirrups  and  breasts  of  their  horses;  and  some  they  wounded  with  their 
lances,  and  so  let  them  go:  and  when  they  saw  any  youth  or  woman  they 

took  them,  and  delivered  them  to  the  footmen.  These  men's  sins  by  God's 
permission  lighted  on  their  own  heads;  who,  because  they  would  seem  valiant, 
became  cruel;  showing  themselves  extreme  cowards  in  the  sight  of  all  men 
when  most  need  of  valour  was  required,  and  afterwards  they  came  to  a 
shameful  death.  Of  the  Indians  of  Nilco  were  taken  prisoners  fourscore 
women  and  children,  and  much  spoil. 

The  governor  felt  in  himself  that  the  hour  approached  wherein  he  was  to 

leave  this  present  life,  and  called  for  the  king's  ofiicers,  captains,  and  principal 
persons,  to  whom  he  made  a  speech,  saying  that  now  he  was  to  go  to  give  an 
account  before  the  presence  of  God  of  all  his  life  past:  and  since  it  pleased 
him  to  take  him  in  such  a  time,  and  that  the  time  was  come  that  he  knew  his 
death,  that  he  his  most  unworthy  servant  did  yield  him  many  thanks  there- 

for; and  desired  all  that  were  present  and  absent  (whom  he  confessed  himself 
to  be  much  beholden  unto  for  their  singular  virtues,  love  and  loyalty,  which 
himself  had  well  tried  in  the  travels  which  they  had  suffered,  which  always 
in  his  mind  he  did  hope  to  satisfy  and  reward,  when  it  should  please  God  to 
give  him  rest,  with  more  prosperity  of  his  estate),  that  they  would  pray  to 
God  for  him,  that  for  his  mercy  he  would  forgive  him  his  sins,  and  receive 
his  soul  into  eternal  glory:  and  that  they  would  quit  and  free  him  of  the 
charge  which  he  had  over  them,  and  ought  unto  them  all,  and  that  they 
would  pardon  him  for  some  wrongs  which  they  might  have  received  of  him. 
And  to  avoid  some  division,  which  upon  his  death  might  fall  out  upon  the 
choice  of  his  successor,  he  requested  them  to  elect  a  principal  person,  and 
able  to  govern,  of  whom  all  should  like  well;  and  when  he  was  elected,  they 
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should  swear  before  him  to  obey  him:  and  that  he  would  thank  them  very 
much  in  so  doing;  because  the  grief  that  he  had  would  somewhat  be  assuaged, 
and  the  pain  that  he  felt,  because  he  left  them  in  so  great  confusion,  to  wit, 
in  leaving  them  in  a  strange  country,  where  they  knew  not  where  they  were. 

Baltasar  de  Gallegos  answered  in  the  name  of  all  the  rest.  And  first  of 
all  comforting  him,  he  set  before  his  eyes  how  short  the  life  of  this  world  was, 
and  with  how  many  troubles  and  miseries  it  is  accompanied,  and  how  God 
showed  him  a  singular  favor  which  soonest  left  it:  telling  him  many  other 
things  fit  for  such  a  time.  And  touching  the  governor  which  he  commanded 
they  should  elect,  he  besought  him  that  it  would  please  his  lordship  to  name 
him  which  he  thought  fit,  and  him  they  would  obey.  And  presently  he 
named  Luys  de  Moscoso  de  Alvarado,  his  captain-general.  And  presently 
he  was  sworn  by  all  that  were  present,  and  elected  for  governor. 

The  next  day  being  the  21st  of  May,  1542,  departed  out  of  this  life,  the 
valorous,  virtuous,  and  valiant  captain,  Don  Fernando  de  Soto,  governor 
of  Cuba,  and  adelantado  of  Florida:  whom  fortune  advanced,  as  it  useth  to  do 
others,  that  he  might  have  the  higher  fall.  He  departed  in  such  a  place,  and 
at  such  a  time,  as  in  his  sickness  he  had  but  little  comfort:  and  the  danger 
wherein  aU  his  people  were  of  perishing  in  that  country,  which  appeared  before 
their  eyes,  was  cause  sufficient  why  every  one  of  them  had  need  of  comfort, 
and  why  they  did  not  visit  nor  accompany  him  as  they  ought  to  have  done. 
Luys  de  Moscoso  determined  to  conceal  his  death  from  the  Indians,  because 
Fernando  de  Soto  had  made  them  believe  that  the  Christians  were  immortal; 
and  also  because  they  took  him  to  be  hardy,  wise,  and  valiant:  and  if  they 
should  know  that  he  was  dead,  they  would  be  bold  to  set  upon  the  Christians, 
though  they  live  peaceably  by  them. 

As  soon  as  he  was  dead,  Luys  de  Moscoso  commanded  to  put  him  secretly 
in  the  house,  where  he  remained  three  days;  and  moving  him  from  thence, 
commanded  him  to  be  buried  in  the  night  at  one  of  the  gates  of  the  town  within 
the  wall.  And  as  the  Indians  had  seen  him  sick,  and  missed  him,  so  did  they 
suspect  what  might  be.  And  passing  by  the  place  where  he  was  buried,  see- 

ing the  earth  moved,  they  looked  and  spake  one  to  another.  Luys  de  Moscoso 
understanding  of  it,  commanded  him  to  be  taken  up  by  night,  and  to  cast  a 
great  deal  of  sand  into  the  mantles,  wherein  he  was  wound  up,  wherein  he 
was  carried  in  a  canoe,  and  thrown  into  the  midst  of  the  river.  The  cacique 
of  Guachoya  inquired  for  him,  demanding  what  was  become  of  his  brother 
and  lord,  the  governor.  Luys  de  Moscoso  told  him  that  he  was  gone  to  heaven, 
as  many  other  times  he  did:  and  because  he  was  to  stay  there  certain  days 
he  had  left  him  in  his  place.  The  cacique  thought  with  himself  that  he  was 
dead;  and  commanded  two  young  and  weU-proportioned  Indians  to  be 
brought  thither;  and  said  that  the  use  of  that  coimtry  was  when  any  lord 
died,  to  kill  Indians  to  wait  upon  him,  and  serve  him  by  the  way,  and  for 
that  purpose  by  his  commanchnent  were  those  come  thither:  and  prayed 
Luys  de  Moscoso  to  command  them  to  be  beheaded,  that  they  might  attend 
and  serve  his  lord  and  brother.  Luys  de  Moscoso  told  him  that  the  governor 
was  not  dead,  but  gone  to  heaven,  and  that  of  his  own  Christian  soldiers  he 
had  taken  such  as  he  needed  to  serve  him,  and  prayed  him  to  cormnand  those 
Indians  to  be  loosed,  and  not  to  use  any  such  bad  custom  from  thenceforth: 
straightway  he  commanded  them  to  be  loosed  and  to  get  them  home  to  their 
houses.  And  one  of  them  would  not  go;  sajnng  that  Ee  would  not  serve  him 
that  without  desert  had  judged  him  to  death,  but  that  he  would  serve  him  as 
long  as  he  lived  which  had  saved  his  life. 

Luys  de  Moscoso  caused  all  the  goods  of  the  governor  to  be  sold  at  an 
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outcry:  to  wit,  two  men  slaves  and  two  women  slaves,  and  three  horses, 
and  seven  hundred  hogs.  For  every  slave  or  horse,  they  gave  two  or  three 
thousand  ducats:  which  were  to  be  paid  at  the  first  melting  of  gold  or  silver, 
or  at  the  division  of  their  portion  of  inheritance.  And  they  entered  into 
bonds,  though  in  the  country  there  was  not  wherewith  to  pay  it  within  a 
year  after,  and  put  in  sureties  for  the  same.  Such  as  in  Spain  had  no  goods 
to  bind,  gave  two  hundred  ducats  for  a  hog,  giving  assurance  after  the  same 
manner.  Those  which  had  any  goods  in  Spain  bought  with  more  fear,  and 
bought  the  less.  From  that  time  forward,  most  of  the  company  had  swine, 
and  brought  them  up,  and  fed  upon  them;  and  observed  Fridays  and  Satur- 

days, and  the  evenings  of  feasts,  which  before  they  did  not.  For  sometimes 
in  two  or  three  months  they  did  eat  no  flesh,  and  whensoever  they  could  coma 
by  it,  they  did  eat  it. 

Some  were  glad  of  the  death  of  Don  Ferdinando  de  Soto,  holding  for 
certain  that  Luys  de  Moscoso  (which  was  given  to  his  ease)  would  rather 
desire  to  be  among  the  Christians  at  rest,  than  to  continue  the  labours  of  the 
war  in  subduing  and  discovering  of  countries;  whereof  they  were  already 
weary,  seeing  the  small  profit  that  ensued  thereof.® 

THE  RETURN  OF  SOTO'S  COMPANIONS   (1542  A.D.) 

The  discoverer  of  the  Mississippi  slept  beneath  its  waters.  He  had  crossed 
a  large  part  of  the  continent  in  search  of  gold,  and  found  nothing  so  remarkable 

as  his  burial-place.^ 
No  longer  guided  by  the  energy  and  pride  of  Soto,  the  company  resolved 

on  reaching  New  Spain  without  delay.  Should  they  embark  in  such  miserable 
boats  as  they  could  construct,  and  descend  the  river?  Or  should  they  seek 
a  path  to  Mexico  through  the  forests?  They  were  unanimous  in  the  opinion 
that  it  was  less  dangerous  to  go  by  land;  the  hope  was  still  cherished  that  some 
wealthy  state,  some  opulent  city,  might  yet  be  discovered,  and  aU  fatigues 
be  forgotten  in  the  midst  of  victory  and  spoils.  Again  they  penetrated  the 
western  wilderness;  in  July  they  foimd  themselves  in  the  coimtry  of  the 
Natchitoches;  but  the  Red  river  was  so  swollen  that  it  was  impossible  for 
them  to  pass.  They  soon  became  bewildered.  As  they  proceeded,  the  Indian 

guides  purposely  led  them  astray;  "they  went  up  and  down  through  very 
great  woods,"  without  making  any  progress.  The  wilderness,  into  which 
they  had  at  last  wandered,  was  sterile  and  scarcely  inhabited;  they  had  now 
reached  the  great  buffalo  prairies  of  the  west,  the  himting-grounds  of  the 
Pawnees  and  Comanches,  the  migratory  tribes  on  the  coiSines  of  Mexico. 
The  Spaniards  believed  themselves  to  be  at  least  one  hundred  and  fifty  leagues 
west  of  the  Mississippi.  Desperate  as  the  resolution  seemed,  it  was  deter- 

mined to  return  once  more  to  its  banks,  and  follow  its  current  to  the  sea. 
There  were  not  wanting  men  whose  hopes  and  whose  courage  were  not  yet 
exhausted,  who  wished  rather  to  die  in  the  wilderness  than  to  leave  it  in 
poverty;  but  Moscoso  [or  Muscogo]  the  new  governor,  [says  the  gentleman 

of  Elvas «],  had  long  "  desired  to  see  himself  in  a  place  where  he  might  sleep 
his  full  sleep." In  December  they  came  upon  the  Mississippi  at  Minoya,  a  few  leagues 
above  the  mouth  of  Red  river,  often  wading  through  deep  waters,  and  grate- 

ful to  God  if  at  night,  they  could  find  a  dry  resting-place. 
Nor  was  the  labour  yet  at  an  end;  it  was  no  easy  task  for  men  in  their 

['  "  The  adelantado  of  Cuba  and  Florida,  who  had  hoped  to  gather  the  wealth  of  nations, 
left  as  bis  property  io\u  ladiaa  slaves,  tbree  horses,  aod  a  herd  of  swine."— J,  Q.  Sbsa.<] 
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condition  to  build  brigantines.  Erecting  a  forge,  they  struck  off  the  fetters 
from  the  slaves;  and,  gathering  every  scrap  of  iron  in  the  camp,  they  wrought 
it  into  nails.  Timber  was  sawed  by  hand  with  a  large  saw,  which  they  had 
always  carried  with  them.  They  caulked  their  vessels  with  a  weed  like  hemp; 
barrels,  capable  of  holding  water,  were  with  difficulty  made;  to  obtain  sup- 

plies of  provision,  all  the  hogs  and  even  the  horses  were  killed,  and  their 
flesh  preserved  by  drying;  and  the  neighbouring  townships  of  Indians  were 
so  plundered  of  their  food  that  the  miserable  inhabitants  would  come  about 
the  Spaniards  begging  for  a  few  kernels  of  their  own  maize,  and  often  died 
from  weakness  and  want  of  food.  The  rising  of  the  Mississippi  assisted  the 
laimching  of  the  seven  brigantines;  they  were  fraU  barks,  which  had  no  decks; 
and  as,  from  the  want  of  iron,  the  nails  were  of  necessity  short,  they  were 
constructed  of  very  thin  planks,  so  that  the  least  shock  would  have  broken 
them  in  pieces.  Thus  provided,  in  seventeen  days,  July  2nd  to  18th,  1543, 
the  fugitives  reached  the  gulf  of  Mexico;  the  distance  seemed  to  them  two 
hundred  and  fifty  leagues,  and  was  not  much  less  than  five  hundred  miles. 
They  observed  that  for  some  distance  from  the  mouth  of  the  Mississippi  the 
sea  is  not  salt,  so  great  is  the  volume  of  fresh  water  which  the  river  discharges. 
Following,  for  the  most  part,  the  coast,  it  was  more  than  fifty  days  before  the 
men,  who  finally  escaped,  now  no  more  than  three  himdred  and  eleven  in 
number,  September  lOth,  entered  the  river  Panuco. 

Such  is  the  history  of  the  first  visit  of  Europeans  to  the  Mississippi;  the 
honour  of  the  discovery  belongs,  without  a  doubt,  to  the  Spaniards.  There 
were  not  wanting  adventurers  who  desired  to  make  one  more  attempt  to 
possess  the  coimtry  by  force  of  arms;  their  request  was  refused.  Religious 
zeal  was  more  persevering;  December  28th,  1547,  Louis  Cancello,  a  missionary 
of  the  Dominican  order,  gained,  through  Philip,  then  heir  apparent  in  Spain, 
permission  to  visit  Florida,  and  attempt  the  peaceful  conversion  of  the  natives. 
Christianity  was  to  conquer  the  land  against  which  so  many  expeditions  had 
failed.  The  Spanish  governors  were  directed  to  favour  the  design;  all  slaves, 
that  had  been  taken  from  the  northern  shore  of  the  Gulf  of  Mexico,  were  to 
be  manumitted  and  restored  to  their  country.  The  ship  was  fitted  out  with 
much  solemnity;  but  the  priests,  who  sought  the  first  interview  with  the 
natives,  were  feared  as  enemies,  and,  being  immediately  attacked,  Louis 
and  two  others  fell  martyrs  to  their  zeal  (1549).  Florida  was  abandoned.  It 
seemed  as  if  death  guarded  the  avenues  to  the  country.* 

THE  GREAT  MARCH  OF  CORONADO 

"Almost  at  the  same  time  that  Soto,  with  the  naked,  starving  remnant 
of  his  army,  was  at  Pacaha,"  says  J.  G.  Shea,  "another  Spanish  force  imder 
Vasquez  de  Coronado,  well  handled  and  perfectly  equipped,  must  in  July 
and  August,  1541,  have  been  encamped  so  near  that  an  Indian  runner  in  a 
few  days  might  have  carried  tidings  between  them.  Coronado  actually 
heard  of  his  coimtr3Tnan  and  sent  him  a  letter;  but  his  messenger  failed  to 

find  Soto's  party.  But,  strangely  enough,  the  cruel,  useless  expedition  of 
Soto  finds  ample  space  in  history,  while  the  well-managed  march  of  Coronado's 
careful  exploration  finds  scant  mention.  No  greater  contrast  exists  in  our 

history  than  that  between  these  two  campaigns."  * 
In  1530,  ten  years  after  the  conquest  of  Mexico  by  Cortes,  stories  were 

told  the  Spaniards  there  oi  seven  great  Indian  cities  in  the  north,  within  the 
present  limits  of  New  Mexico  and  Arizona.  The  cities  were  said  to  be  fuU 
of  silver  and  gold;  and  Nimo  de  Guzman,  with  a  /orce  of  foiu-  hundred  Span- 
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iards  and  twenty  thousand  Indians,  set  out  from  Mexico  in  search  of  this  Land 
of  the  Seven  Cities,  beUeved  to  be  only  six  hundred  miles  distant.  The  Seven 
Cities  and  the  Island  of  the  Amazons,  of  which  he  had  also  heard,  kept  receding 
as  he  marched,  and  finally  he  retraced  his  steps  as  far  as  Compostella  and 
Guadalaxara,  where  he  established  what  was  afterwards  known  as  the  province 
of  New  Gallicia.  He  was  presently  deposed  from  the  governorship  of  this 
province  by  Mendoza,  the  new  viceroy,  and  was  succeeded  by  Francisco 
Vasquez  de  Coronado.  To  Coronado,  in  1536,  came  the  accounts  of  the 
arrival  at  Culiacan  of  De  Vaca  and  his  three  companions,  the  sole  survivors 

of  Narvaez's  expedition  to  Florida  in  1527,  after  nine  years'  wanderings 
through  the  great  regions  north  of  the  Gulf  of  Mexico,  with  their  accounts 

of  having  fallen  in  with  civilised  peoples,  living  "in  populous  towns  with 
very  large  houses."  Coronado  sent  out  Fray  Marcos  de  Nizza,  a  monk  who 
had  been  in  Peru  under  Alvarado,  on  a  preliminary  investigation  north, 

accompanied  by  one  of  De  Vaca's  companions,  a  negro  named  Stephen,  and 
others.  Fray  Marcos'  report  upon  his  return  is  the  first  definite  account 
which  exists  of  the  exploration  and  history  of  the  region  occupied  by  what 
we  call  the  Pueblo  Indians.  It  may  be  found  in  Hakluyf*.  Fray  Marcos 
came  to  many  Indian  villages,  passed  through  rich  valleys,  and  heard  much 
about  the  province  of  Cibola  and  its  seven  great  cities,  and  of  other  great 
kingdoms  beyond,  which  were  called  Marata,  Acus,  and  Totonteac.  From 
a  hUl  he  looked  down  upon  a  city  in  a  plain,  which  he  said  was  larger  than 
Mexico,  and  which  his  Indian  companions  said  was  the  smallest  of  the  Seven 
Cities.  After  great  dangers  and  remarkable  experiences  he  returned  to 
Coronado,  who  went  with  him  to  Mexico  to  report  to  Mendoza.  Mendoza 

forwarded  Fray  Marcos'  written  report  to  the  emperor  Charles  V,  accom- 
panied by  an  account  of  his  own  of  the  previous  attempts  at  exploring  the 

country. 
In  February,  1540,  Coronado  himself,  accompanied  by  Fray  Marcos,  set 

out  for  the  Seven  Cities  of  Cibola,  with  a  force  of  three  hundred  Spaniards 
and  eight  hundred  Indians.  But  the  expedition  resulted  in  great  disappoint- 

ment. Instead  of  the  great  city  which  Marcos  had  reported,  Cibola  turned 
out  a  poor  village  with  not  more  than  two  hundred  inhabitants,  situated  on 
a  rocky  eminence.  From  its  resemblance  in  situation,  Coronado  gave  the 
name  Granada  to  the  village.  He  states  that  the  name  Cibola  belonged  to 
the  whole  district,  not  to  any  particular  place.  From  this  village,  August 
3rd,  1540,  he  sent  to  the  viceroy  the  account  of  his  explorations,  from  which 

we  quote,  expressing  his  disappointment  and  his  disbelief  in  Fray  Marcos' 
report  of  the  rich  and  powerful  kingdoms  beyond.'* 

Coronado's  Own  Account  of  His  March 

The  22  of  the  moneth  of  Aprill  last  past  I  departed  from  the  prouince  of 
Culiacan  with  part  of  the  army,  and  in  such  order  as  I  mentioned  vnto  your 
Lordship,  and  according  to  the  successe  I  assured  my  selfe,  by  all  likelihood 
that  I  shall  not  bring  all  mine  armie  together  in  this  enterprise :  because  the 
troubles  haue  bene  so  great  and  the  want  of  victuals,  that  I  thinke  all  this 
yeere  wil  not  be  sufficient  to  performe  this  enterprise,  &  if  it  should  bee  per- 

formed in  so  short  a  time,  it  would  be  to  the  great  losse  of  our  people.  For 
as  I  wrote  vnto  your  Lordship,  I  was  fourescore  dayes  in  trauailing  to  Culiacan, 
in  ail  which  time  I  and  those  Gentlemen  my  companions  which  were  horse- 

men, carried  on  our  backs,  and  on  our  horses,  a  little  victuall,  so  that  from 
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henceforward  wee  carried  none  other  needefuU  apparell  with  vs,  that  was 
aboue  a  pound  weight. 

Thirtie  leagues  before  wee  arriued  at  the  place  which  the  father  prouinciall 
tolde  vs  so  well  of  in  his  relation,  I  sent  Melchior  Diaz  before  with  fifteene 
horses,  giuing  him  order  to  make  but  one  dayes  ioumey  of  two,  because  hee 
might  examine  all  things,  against  mine  arriuall:  who  trauailed  foure  dayes 
iourney  through  exceeding  rough  Mountaines  where  hee  found  neither  vic- 

tuals, nor  people,  nor  information  of  any  things,  sauing  that  hee  found  two 
or  three  poore  little  villages,  containing  20.  or  30.  cottages  a  piece,  and  by  the 
inhabitants  thereof  hee  vnderstoode  that  from  thence  forward  there  were 
nothing  but  exceeding  rough  mountaines  which  ran  very  farre,  vtterly  dis- 
inhabited  and  voyd  of  people.  And  because  it  was  labour  lost,  I  would  not 
write  vnto  your  Lordship  therof . 

It  grieued  the  whole  company,  that  a  thing  so  highly  commended,  and 
whereof  the  father  had  made  so  great  bragges,  should  be  found  so  contrary, 
and  it  made  them  suspect  that  all  the  rest  would  fall  out  in  like  sort.  Which 
when  I  perceiued  I  sought  to  encourage  them  the  best  I  coulde,  telling  them 
that  your  Lordshippe  alwayes  was  of  opinion,  that  this  voyage  was  a  thing 
cast  away,  and  that  wee  should  fixe  our  cogitation  vpon  those  seuen  Cities, 
and  other  prouinces,  whereof  wee  had  knowledge :  that  there  should  bee  the 
ende  of  our  enterprise :  and  with  this  resolution  and  purpose  wee  all  marched 
cheerefully  through  a  very  badde  way  which  was  not  passable  but  one  by  one, 
or  else  wee  must  force  out  with  Pioners  the  path  which  wee  fotmde,  where- 

with the  Souldiours  were  not  a  little  offended,  finding  all  that  the  Frier  had 
sayde  to  bee  quite  contrary :  for  among  other  things  which  the  father  sayde 
and  affirmed,  this  was  one,  that  the  way  was  plaine  and  good,  and  that  there 
was  but  one  small  hill  of  halfe  a  league  in  length.  And  yet  in  trueth  there  are 
mountaines  which  although  the  way  were  well  mended  could  not  bee  passed 
without  great  danger  of  breaking  the  horses  neckes :  and  the  way  was  such, 
that  of  the  cattell  which  your  Lordship  sent  vs  for  the  prouision  of  our  armie 
wee  lost  a  great  part  in  the  voyage  through  the  roughnesse  of  the  rockes.  The 
lambes  and  sheepe  lost  their  hoofes  in  the  way. 

At  length  I  arriued  at  the  valley  of  the  people  called  Caracones,  the  26. 
day  of  the  moneth  of  May :  and  from  Culiacan  vntill  I  came  thither,  I  could 
not  helpe  my  selfe,  saue  onely  with  a  great  quan title  of  bread  of  Maiz:  for 
seeing  the  Maiz  in  the  fieldes  were  not  yet  ripe,  I  was  constrained  to  leaue 
them  all  behind  me. 

And  by  that  time  that  wee  were  come  to  this  valley  of  the  Caracones, 
gome  tenne  or  twelue  of  our  horses  were  dead  through  wearinesse :  for  being 
ouercharged  with  great  burdens,  and  hauing  but  little  meate,  they  could  not 
endure  the  trauaile.  Likewise  some  of  our  Negros  and  some  of  our  Indians 

dyed  here;  which  was  no  small  want  vnto  vs  for  the  performance  of  om- 
enterprise. 

I  departed  from  the  Caracones,  and  alwayes  kept  by  the  Sea  coast  as  neere 
as  I  could  iudge,  and  in  very  deed  I  still  f oimd  my  selfe  the  farther  off :  in 
such  sort  that  when  I  arriued  at  Chichilticale  I  found  myselfe  tenne  dayes 
ioumey  from  the  Sea:  and  the  father  prouinciaU  sayd  that  it  was  onely  but 
fiue  leagues  distance,  and  that  hee  had  scene  the  same.  Wee  all  conceiued 
great  griefe  and  were  not  a  httle  confounded,  when  we  saw  that  wee  found 
euery  thing  contrary  to  the  information  which  he  had  giuen  your  Lordship. 

I  rested  myselfe  two  dayes  in  Chichilticale,  and  to  haue  done  well  I  should 
haue  stayed  longer,  in  respect  that  here  wee  found  our  horses  so  tyred:  but 
because  wee  wanted  victuals,  wee  had  no  leasure  to  rest  any  longer;  I  entred 
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the  confines  of  the  desert  Countrey  on  Saint  lohns  eue,  and  to  refresh  our 
former  trauailes,  the  first  dayes  we  founde  no  grasse,  but  worser  way  of 
mountaines  and  badde  passages,  Ihen  wee  had  passed  alreadie :  and  the  horses 
being  tired,  were  greatly  molested  therewith:  so  that  in  this  last  desert  wee 
lost  more  horsee  then  wee  had  lost  before:  and  some  of  my  Indians  which 
were  our  friendes  dyed,  and  one  Spanyard  whose  name  was  Spinosa;  and 
two  Negroes,  which  dyed  with  eating  certaine  herbes  for  lacke  of  victuals. 

But  after  wee  had  parsed  these  thirtie  leagues,  wee  found  fresh  riuers,  and 
grasse  like  that  of  Castile.  I  sent  the  master  of  the  field  to  search  whether 
there  were  any  bad  passage  which  the  Indians  might  keepe  against  vs,  and 
that  hee  should  take  and  defend  it  vntill  the  next  day  that  I  shoulde  come 
thither.  So  hee  went,  and  found  in  the  way  a  very  bad  passage,  where  wee 
might  haue  sustayned  very  great  harme :  wherefore  there  hee  seated  himselfe 
with  his  company  that  were  with  him:  and  that  very  night  the  Indians  came 
to  take  that  passage  to  defend  it,  and  finding  it  taken,  they  assaulted  our 
men  there,  and  as  they  tell  mee  they  assaulted  them  like  valiant  men; 
although  in  the  ende  they  retired  and  fledde  away.  Whereupon  the  next  day 
in  the  best  order  that  I  could  I  departed  in  so  great  want  of  victuall,  that  I 
thought  that  if  wee  should  stay  one  day  longer  without  foode,  wee  should 
all  perish  for  himger,  especially  the  Indians,  for  among  vs  all  we  had  not  two 
bushels  of  come :  wherefore  it  behooued  mee  to  pricke  forward  without  delay. 
The  Indians  here  and  there  made  fires,  and  were  answered  againe  afarre  off 
as  orderly  as  wee  for  our  lines  could  haue  done,  to  giue  their  feUowes  vnder- 
standing,  how  wee  marched  and  where  we  arriued. 

As  soone  as  I  came  within  sight  of  this  citie  of  Granada,  I  sent  Don  Garcias 
Lopez  Campemaster,  frier  Daniel,  and  frier  Luys,  and  Fernando  Vermizzo 
somewhat  before  with  certaine  horsemen,  to  seeke  the  Indians  and  to  aduertise 
them  that  our  conmiing  was  not  to  hurt  them,  but  to  defend  them  in  the  name 
of  the  Emperour  our  Lord,  according  as  his  maiestie  had  giuen  vs  in  charge : 
which  message  was  deliuered  to  the  inhabitants  of  that  countrey  by  an  inter- 

preter. But  they  like  arrogant  people  made  small  account  thereof;  because 
we  seemed  very  few  in  their  eyes,  and  that  they  might  destroy  vs  without  any 
difficultie;  and  they  strooke  frier  Luys  with  an  arrow  on  the  gowne,  which 
by  the  grace  of  God  did  him  no  harme. 

In  the  meane  space  I  arriued  with  all  the  rest  of  the  horsemen,  and  foote- 
men,  and  foimd  in  the  fieldes  a  great  sort  of  the  Indians  which  beganne  to 
shoote  at  vs  with  their  arrowes:  and  because  I  would  obey  your  will  and  the 
commaund  of  the  Marques,  I  woulde  not  let  my  people  charge  them,  forbid- 

ding my  company,  which  intreated  mee  that  they  might  set  vpon  them,  in 
any  wise  to  prouoke  them,  saying  that  that  which  the  enemies  did  was  noth- 

ing, and  that  it  was  not  meete  to  set  vpon  so  fewe  people.  On  the  other  side 
the  Indians  perceiuing  that  wee  stirred  not,  tooke  great  stomacke  and  courage 
vnto  them:  insomuch  that  they  came  hard  to  our  horses  heeles  to  shoote  at 
vs  with  their  arrowes.  Whereupon  seeing  that  it  was  now  time  to  stay  no 
longer,  and  that  the  friers  also  were  of  the  same  opinion,  I  set  vpon  them 
without  any  danger:  for  suddenly  they  fled  part  to  the  citie  which  was  neere 
and  well  fortified,  and  other  into  the  field,  which  way  they  could  shift:  and 
some  of  the  Indians  were  slaine,  and  more  had  beene  if  I  would  haue  suffered 
them  to  haue  bene  pursued. 

But  considering  that  hereof  wee  might  reape  but  small  profite,  because  the 
Indians  that  were  without,  were  fewe,  and  those  which  were  retired  into  the 
citie,  with  them  which  stayed  within  at  the  first  were  many,  where  the  victuals 
were  whereof  wee  had  so  great  neede,  I  assembled  my  people,  and  deuided 
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them  as  I  thought  best  to  assault  the  citie,  and  I  compassed  it  about:  and 
because  the  famine  which  wee  sustained  suffered  no  delay,  my  selfe  with 
certaine  of  these  gentlemen  and  souldiers  put  our  selues  on  foote,  and  com- 
maunded  that  the  crossebowes  and  harquebusiers  shoulde  giue  the  assault, 
and  shoulde  beate  the  enemies  from  the  walles,  that  they  might  not  hurt  vs, 
and  I  assaulted  the  walles  on  one  side,  where  they  tolde  me  there  was  a  scaling 
ladder  set  vp,  and  that  there  was  one  gate :  but  the  crossebowmen  suddenly 
brake  the  strings  of  their  bowes,  and  the  harquebusiers  did  nothing  at  all: 
for  they  came  thither  so  weake  and  feeble,  that  scarcely  they  coulde  stand  on 
their  feete:  and  by  this  meanes  the  people  that  were  aloft  on  the  wals  to 
defend  the  towns  were  no  way  hindered  from  doing  vs  all  the  mischiefe  they 
could:  sp  that  twise  they  stroke  mee  to  the  ground  with  infinite  nxmiber  of 
great  stones,  which  they  cast  downe:  and  if  I  had  not  beene  defended  with  an 
excellent  good  headpiece  which  I  ware,  I  thinke  it  had  gone  hardly  with  mee: 
neuerthelesse  my  companie  tooke  mee  vp  with  two  small  wounds  in  the  face, 
and  an  arrowe  sticking  in  my  foote,  and  many  blowes  with  stones  on  my 
armes  and  legges,  and  thus  I  went  out  of  the  battell  very  weake.  I  thinke  that 
if  Don  Garcias  Lopez  de  Cardenas  the  second  time  that  they  strooke  mee  to 
the  ground  had  not  succoured  mee  with  striding  ouer  mee  like  a  good  knight, 
I  had  beene  in  farre  greater  danger  then  I  was.  But  it  pleased  God  that  the 
Indians  yeelded  themselues  vnto  vs,  and  that  this  citie  was  taken:  and  such 
store  of  Maiz  was  found  therein,  as  our  necessitie  required.  And  because  my 
armour  was  gilded  and  glittering,  they  all  layd  load  on  mee,  and  therefore  I 
was  more  wounded  than  the  rest,  not  that  I  did  more  than  they,  or  put  my 
selfe  forwarder  than  the  rest,  for  all  these  Gentlemen  and  souldiers  carried 
themselues  as  manfully  as  was  looked  for  at  their  hands.  I  am  nowe  well 
recouered  I  thanke  God,  although  somewhat  bruised  with  stones. 

It  remaineth  now  to  certifie  your  Honour  of  the  seuen  cities,  and  of  the 
kingdomes  and  prouinces  whereof  the  Father  prouiaciall  made  report  vnto 
your  Lordship.  And  to  bee  briefe,  I  can  assure  your  honour^  he  sayd  the 
trueth  in  nothing  that  he  reported,  but  all  was  quite  contrary,  sauing  onely 
the  names  of  the  cities,  and  great  houses  of  stone :  for  although  they  bee  not 
wrought  with  Turqueses,  nor  with  l3mie,  nor  brickes,  yet  are  they  very  excel- 

lent good  houses  of  three  or  foure  or  fiue  lofts  high,  wherein  are  good  lodgings 
and  faire  chambers  with  lathers  instead  of  staires,  and  certaine  cellars  vnder 
the  groimd  very  good  and  paued,  which  are  made  for  winter,  they  are  in 
maner  like  stooues:  and  the  lathers  which  they  liaue  for  their  houses  are  all 
in  a  maner  mooueable  and  portable,  which  are  taken  away  and  set  downe  when 
they  please,  and  they  are  made  of  two  pieces  of  wood  with  their  steppes,  aa 
ours  be. 

The  seuen  cities  are  seuen  small  townes,  all  made  with  these  kinde  of 
houses  that  I  speake  of :  and  they  stand  all  within  foure  leagues  together,  and 
they  are  all  called  the  kingdome  of  Cibola,  and  euery  one  of  them  haue  their 
particular  name :  and  none  of  them  is  called  Cibola,  but  altogether  they  are 
called  Cibola.  And  this  towne  which  I  call  a  citie,  I  haue  named  Granada,  as 
well  because  it  is  somewhat  like  vnto  it,  as  also  in  remembrance  of  your  lord- 

ship. In  this  towne  where  I  nowe  remaine,  there  may  be  some  two  hundred 
hovises,  all  compassed  with  walles,  and  I  thinke  that  with  the  rest  of  the 
houses  which  are  not  so  walled,  they  may  be  together  fiue  hundred.  There  is 
another  towne  neere  this,  which  is  one  of  the  seuen,  &  it  is  somwhat  bigger 
than  this,  and  another  of  the  same  bignesse  that  this  is  of,  and  the  other 
foure  are  somewhat  lesse :  and  I  send  them  all  painted  vnto  your  lordship  with 
the  voyage.     At^H  the  parchment  wherein  the  picture  is,  was  found  hero  with 
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other  parchments.  The  people  of  this  towne  seeme  vnto  me  of  a  reasonable 
stature,  and  wittie,  yet  they  seeme  not  to  bee  such  as  they  should  bee,  of  that 
iudgement  and  wit  to  builde  these  houses  in  such  sort  as  they  are.  For  the 
most  part  they  goe  all  naked,  and  they  haue  painted  mantles  like  those  which 
I  send  vnto  your  lordship.  They  eate  the  best  cakes  that  euer  I  sawe,  and 
euery  body  generally  eateth  of  them.  They  haue  the  finest  order  and  way  to 
grinde  that  wee  euer  sawe  in  any  place.  And  one  Indian  woman  of  this 
countrey  will  grinde  as  much  as  foure  women  of  Mexico.  They  have  most 
excellent  salte  in  kernell,  which  they  fetch  from  a  certaine  lake  a  dayes  iourney 
from  hence.  They  haue  no  knowledge  among  them  of  the  North  Sea,  nor  of 
the  Westerne  Sea,  neither  can  I  tell  your  lordship  to  which  wee  bee  neerest: 
But  in  reason  they  should  seeme  to  bee  neerest  to  the  Westerne  Sea:  and  at 
the  least  I  thinke  I  am  an  hundred  and  fif tie  leagues  from  thence:  and  the 
Northerne  Sea.  should  bee  much  further  off.  Your  lordship  may  see  howe 
broad  the  land  is  here.  Here  are  many  sorts  of  beasts,  as  Beares,  Tigers, 
Lions,  Porkespicks,  and  certaine  Sheep  as  biggo  as  an  horse,  with  very  great 
homes  and  little  tailes,  I  haue  scene  their  homes  so  bigge,  that  it  is  a  wonder 
to  behold  their  greatnesse. 

The  kingdome  of  Totonteac  so  much  extoUed  by  the  Father  prouinciall, 
which  sayde  that  there  were  such  wonderfuU  things  there,  and  such  great 
matters,  and  that  they  liaade  cloth  there,  the  Indians  say  is  an  hotte  lake, 
about  which  arc  fiue  or  sixe  houses;  and  that  there  were  certaine  other,  but 
that  they  are  ruinated  by  warre.  The  kingdome  of  Marata  is  not  to  be  foimd, 
neither  haue  the  Indians  any  knowledge  thereof.  The  kingdome  of  Acus  is 
one  onely  small  citie,  where  they  gather  cotton  which  is  called  Acucu.  I 
would  to  God  I  had  better  newes  to  write  vnto  your  lordship :  neuerthelesse 
I  must  say  the  trueth :  And  as  I  wrote  to  your  lordship  from  Culiacan,  I  am 
nowe  to  aduertise  your  honour  as  wel  of  the  good  as  of  the  bad.  Yet  this  I 
would  haue  you  bee  assured,  that  if  all  the  riches  and  the  treasures  of  the 
world  were  heere,  I  could  haue  done  no  more  in  the  seruice  of  his  Maiestie  and 
of  your  lordshippe,  than  I  haue  done  in  comming  hither  whither  you  haue  sent 
mee,  my  selfe  and  my  companions  carrying  our  victuals  vpon  our  shoulders 
and  vpon  our  horses  three  hundred  leagues;  and  many  dayes  going  on  foots 
trauailing  ouer  hilles  and  rough  mountaines,  with  other  troubles  which  I  cease 
to  mention,  neither  purpose  I  to  depart  vnto  the  death,  if  it  please  his  Maiestie 
and  your  lordship  that,  it  shall  be  so.^ 

CORONADO   CONTINUES   HIS  MARCH 

Bandelierw  identifies  some  of  the  places  mentioned  in  connection  with  the 
expedition  with  pueblos  north  of  Santa  F6.  In  the  Proceedings  of  the  Amer- 

ican Antiquarian  Society  for  October,  1881,  Henry  W.  Ilaynes^  has  given  in 
detail  the  reasons  for  identifying  Cibola  with  the  region  of  the  present  Zuiii 
pueblos.  Frank  H.  Gushing  made  the  important  discovery  that  this  tribe  has 
preserved  the  tradition  of  the  coming  of  Fray  Marcos,  and  also  to  have  a 
tradition  of  the  visit  of  Coronado,  and  even  of  Gabeza  de  Vaca.  Squier2/also 
identifies  Cibola  with  Zufii,  as  do  Simpson,^  Prince,c<;  Davis,^^  and  H.  H. 
Bancroft.'^'' 
'  Of  the  rest  of  the  march,  Thwaites  writes";  "  Disappointed,  but  still  hop- 

ing to  find  the  country  of  gold,  Coronado's  gallant  little  army,  frequently 
thinned  by  death  and  desertion,  beat  for  three  years  up  and  down  the  south- 

western \7ilderness  —  now  thirsting  in  the  deserts,  now  penned  up  in  gloomy 

canons,  now  crawling  over  pathless  mountains,  suffering  the  horrors  of  starvai- 
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tion  and  of  despair,  but  following  this  will-o'-the-wisp  with  a  melancholy  per- 
severance seldom  seen  in  man  save  when  searching  for  some  mysterious 

treasure.  Coronado  apparently  crossed  the  state  of  Kansas  twice ;  '  through 
mighty  plains  and  sandy  heaths,  smooth  and  wearisome  and  bare  of  wood. 
All  that  way  the  plains  are  as  full  of  crookback  oxen  [bison]  as  the  mountain 
Serena  in  Spain  is  of  sheep.  They  were  a  great  succour  for  the  hunger  and 
want  of  bread  which  our  people  stood  in.  One  day  it  rained  in  that  plain  a 
great  shower  of  hail  as  big  as  oranges,  which  caused  many  tears,  weaknesses, 
and  vows.'  The  wanderer  ventured  as  far  as  the  Missouri,  and  would  have 
gone  still  farther  eastward  but  for  his  inability  to  cross  the  swollen  river. 
Co-operating  parties  explored  the  upper  valleys  of  the  Rio  Grande  and  Gila, 
ascended  the  Colorado  for  two  hundred  and  forty  miles  above  its  mouth,  and 
visited  the  Grand  Canon  of  the  same  river.  Coronado  at  last  returned,  sat- 

isfied that  he  had  been  made  the  victim  of  travellers'  idle  tales.  He  was 
rewarded  with  contumely  and  lost  his  place  as  governor  of  New  Gallicia;  but 

his  romantic  march  *  stands  in  history  as  one  of  the  most  remarkable  exploring 
expeditions  of  modern  times."  ̂  

ENGLISH  explorations:   frobisher's  three  voyages 

"England,"  says  Thwaites,  "would  have  followed  up  Cabot's  discovery 
of  North  America  with  more  vigour  had  not  Henry  VII,  being  a  Catholic 

prince,  hesitated  to  set  aside  the  pope's  bull  giving  the  new  continent  to 
Spain.  His  subjects,  however,  made  large  hauls  of  fish  along  the  foggy 
shores  of  Newfoundland,  and  in  1502  some  American  savages  were  exhibited 
to  him  in  London.  Henry  VIII  was  at  first  similarly  scrupulous;  but  when, 
in  1533,  he  got  rid  of  his  queen,  Catharine  of  Aragon,  he  was  free  from  Spanish 
entanglements,  and  aspired  to  make  England  a  maritime  nation.  Among 
many  other  enterprises  the  Northwest  Passage  allured  him,  although  nothing 
came  of  his  ventures  in  that  direction."  «e 

In  1527,  Robert  Thorne,  a  wealthy  merchant  of  Bristol,  who  had  long 
resided  at  Seville,  and  had  acquired  something  of  the  Spanish  love  of  adven- 

ture, prevailed  upon  the  king  to  fit  out  an  expedition  of  two  ships,  "  to  attempt 
a  discovery  even  to  the  north  pole."  The  expedition  left  the  Thames  on  the 
20th  of  May,  1527.  All  that  we  know  of  the  result  of  this  voyage  is  that  one 
of  the  ships  was  cast  away  on  the  north  of  Newfoundland.  In  1536,  a  voyage 
of  discovery  to  the  northwest  parts  of  America  was  projected  by  a  person 
named  Hore,  of  London.  Of  one  hundred  and  twenty  persons,  who  accom- 

panied him,  thirty  were  gentlemen  of  the  inns  of  court  and  chancery.  The 
voyage  was  signally  disastrous.  On  their  arrival  in  Newfoundland,  they 
suffered  so  much  from  famine  that  they  were  driven  to  the  horrible  expedient 
of  cannibalism.  At  length,  a  French  ship  arriving  on  the  coast,  the  adven- 

turers succeeded  in  capturing  it,  by  stratagem,  and  returned  home.  The 
Frenchmen  were  indemnified  by  Henry  VIII,  who  pardoned  the  violence  to 
which  necessity  had  impelled  the  English  adventurers. 

The  foreign  trade  of  England  in  the  sixteenth  century  hardly  extended 
beyond  the  Flemish  towns,  Iceland,  and  a  limited  fishery  on  the  Banks  of 

['General  Simpson ^^  speaks  of  his  expedition  as  one  which,  "for  extent  in  distance 
travelled,  duration  in  time,  and  the  multiplicity  of  its  co-operating  expeditions,  equalled,  if  it 

did  not  exceed,  any  land  expedition  that  has  heen  undertaken  in  modern  times. "  General 
Simpson  maintains  that  Coronado  "  reached  what  is  now  the  boundary  line  between  Kansas  and 
Nebraska,  well  on  toward  the  Missouri  river."  Bandelier""  is  not  satisfied  that  he  went  so  far northeast,  and  thinks  that  he  moved  more  in  a  circle.] 

'  Copyright,  1897,  by  Longmans,  Green,  &  Co. 
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Newfoundland.  But  the  presence  and  counsel  of  Sebastian  Cabot,  who  was 
well  acquainted  with  the  bold  navigations  of  the  Spaniards,  opened  the  views 
and  inflamed  the  ambition  of  a  people  not  insensible  of  their  own  abilities. 
When  that  experienced  navigator  was  appointed  grand  pilot  of  England,  by 
Edward  VI,  he  was  at  the  same  time  constituted  "  governour  of  the  mysterie 
and  companie  of  the  marchants  adventurers  for  the  discovery  of  regions, 
dominions,  islands,  and  places  unknowen."  By  his  advice,  and  imder  his 
directions,  a  voyage  was  undertaken  in  1553,  for  the  discovery  of  a  northeast 
passage  to  Cathay.  Three  ships  were  fitted  out  for  this  expedition,  of  which 
Sir  Hugh  WUloughby  was  appointed  captain-general,  and  Richard  Chancellor 
pilot-major.// 

Thrice,  at  least,  perhaps  thrice  by  Cabot  alone,  the  attempt  at  a  north- 
western passage  had  been  made,  and  always  in  vain.  A  northeast  passage 

was  now  proposed;  the  fleet  of  WUIoughby  and  Chancellor  was  to  reach  the 
rich  lands  of  Cathay  by  doubling  the  northern  promontory  of  Lapland.  The 
ships  parted  company.  The  fate  of  Willoughby  was  as  tragical  &s  the  issue 
of  the  voyage  of  Chancellor  was  successful.  The  admiral,  with  one  of  the 
ships,  was  driven,  by  the  severity  of  the  polar  autumn,  to  seek  shelter  in  a 
Lapland  harbour,  which  afforded  protection  against  storms,  but  not  against 

the  rigours  of  the  season.  "When  search  was  made  for  him  in  the  following spring,  Willoughby  himself  was  found  dead  in  his  cabin;  and  his  journal, 
detailing  his  sufferings  from  the  polar  winter,  was  complete  probably  to  the 

day  when  his  senses  were  suspended  by  the  intolerable  cold.  His  ship's  com- 
pany lay  dead  in  various  parts  of  the  vessel,  some  alone,  some  in  groups.  The 

other  ship  reached  the  harbour  of  Archangel.  This  was  "the  discovery  of 
Russia,"  in  1554,  and  the  commencement  of  maritime  commerce  with  that 
empire.  A  Spanish  writer  calls  the  result  of  the  voyage  "  a  discovery  of  new 
Indies."  The  Russian  nation,  one  of  the  oldest  and  least  mixed  in  Europe, 
ncJw  awakening  from  a  long  lethargy,  emerged  into  political  distinction. 
About  eleven  years  from  this  time,  the  first  town  in  the  United  States' 
territory  was  permanently  built.  So  rapid  are  the  changes  on  the  theatre 
of  nations!  One  of  the  leading  powers  of  the  age  became  known  to  western 
Europe  only  in  the  sixteenth  century;  another  had  not  then  one  white  man 
within  its  limits. 

The  principle  of  joint  stock  companies,  so  favourable  to  every  enterprise  of 
uncertain  result,  by  dividing  the  risks,  and  by  nourishing  a  spirit  of  emulous 
zeal  in  behalf  of  an  inviting  scheme,  was  applied  to  the  purposes  of  navigation; 
and  a  company  of  merchant  adventurers  was  incorporated  in  1555,  for  the 
discovery  of  unknown  lands. 

For  even  the  intolerance  of  Queen  Mary  could  not  check  the  passion  for 
maritime  adventure.  The  sea  was  becoming  the  element  on  which  English 
valour  was  to  display  its  greatest  boldness;  English  sailors  neither  feared  the 
sultry  heats  and  consuming  fevers  of  the  tropics,  nor  the  intense  severity  of 
northern  cold.  The  trade  to  Russia,  now  that  the  port  of  Archangel  had  been 
discovered;  gradually  increased  and  became  very  lucrative;  and  a  regular  and  , 
as  yet  an  mnocent  commerce  was  carried  on  with  Africa.  The  marriage  of 
Mary  with  the  king  of  Spain  tended  to  excite  the  emulation  which  it  was 
designed  to  check.  The  enthusiasm  awakened  by  the  brilliant  pageantry  with 
which  King  Philip  was  introduced  into  London  excited  Richard  Eden/  to 
gather  into  a  volume  the  history  of  the  most  memorable  maritime  expeditions. 
Religious  restraints,  the  thirst  for  rapid  wealth,  the  desire  of  strange  adventure, 
had  driven  the  boldest  spirits  of  Spain  to  the  New  World ;  their  deeds  had  been 
commemorated  by  the  copious  and  accurate  details  of  the  Spanish  historians; 
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a^d  the  English,  through  the  alliance  of  their  sovereign  made  familiar  with 
the  Spanish  language  and  literature,  became  emulous  of  Spanish  success beyond  the  ocean. 

The  firmness  of  Elizabeth  seconded  the  enterprise  of  her  subjects.  They were  rendered  the  more  proud  and  intractable  for  the  short  and  unsuccessful 
effort  to  make  England  an  appendage  to  Spain.  England,  no  longer  the  ally 
but  the  antagonist  of  Philip,  claimed  the  glory  of  being  the  mistress  of  the 
northern  seas,  and  prepared  to  extend  its  commerce  to  every  clime.  The 
queen  strengthened  her  navy,  filled  her  arsenals,  and  encouraged  the  buUding 
of  ships  m  England :  she  animated  the  adventurers  to  Russia  and  to  Africa  by 
her  special  protection;  and  while  her  subjects  were  endeavouring  to  penetrate 
into  Persia  by  land,  and  enlarge  their  commerce  with  the  East  by  combining 
the  use  of  ships  and  caravans,  the  harbours  of  Spanish  America  were  at  the 
same  time  visited  by  their  privateers  in  pursuit  of  the  rich  galleons  of  Spain, 
and  at  least  from  thirty  to  fifty  English  ships  came  annually  to  the  bays  and banks  of  Newfoundland. 

The  possibility  of  effecting  a  northwest  passage  had  ever  been  maintamed 
by  Sebastian  Cabot.  The  study  of  geography  had  now  become  an  interest- 

ing pursuit;  the  press  teemed  with  books  of  travels,  maps,  and  descriptions 
of  the  earth;  and  Sir  Humphrey  Gilbert,  reposing  from  the  toUs  of  war, 
engaged  deeply  in  the  science  of  cosmography.  A  judicious  and  well-written 
argument  [A  Discourse  of  Discovery  for  a  New  Passage  to  Cataia]  in  favour 
of  the  possibility  of  a  northwestern  passage  was  the  fruit  of  his  literary 
industry. 

The  same  views  were  entertained  by  one  of  the  boldest  men  who  ever 
ventured  upon  the  ocean.  For  fifteen  years,  Martin  Frobisher,  an  English- 

man, well  versed  in  various  navigation,  had  revolved  the  design  of  accom- 
plishing the  discovery  of  the  Northwest  Passage;  esteeming  it,  says  Beste^s? 

"the  only  thing  of  the  world,  that  was  yet  left  undone,  by  which  a  notable 
minde  might  be  made  famous  and  fortunate."  Too  poor  himself  to  provide  a 
ship,  it  was  in  vain  that  he  conferred  with  friends;  in  vain  he  offered  his 
services  to  merchants.  After  years  of  desire,  his  representations  found  a  hear- 

ing at  court;  and  Dudley,  earl  of  Warwick,  liberally  promoted  his  design. 
Two  small  barks  of  twenty-five  and  of  twenty  tons,  with  a  pinnace  of  ten 
tons'  burden,  composed  the  whole  fleet,  which  was  to  enter  gulfs  that  none 
but  Cabot  had  visited.  As  they  dropped  down  the  Thames  (June  8th,  1576), 
Queen  Elizabeth  waved  her  hand  in  token  of  favour,  and,  by  an  honourable 
message,  transmitted  her  approbation  of  an  adventure  which  her  own  treasures 
had  not  contributed  to  advance. 

During  a  storm  on  the  voyage,  the  pinnace  was  swallowed  up  by  the  sea; 
the  mariners  in  the  Michael  became  terrified,  and  turned  their  prow  home- 

wards; but  Frobisher,  in  a  vessel  not  much  surpassing  in  tonnage  the  barge 
of  a  man-of-war,  made  his  way,  fearless  and  unattended,  to  the  shores  of  Lab- 

rador, and  to  a  passage  or  inlet  north  of  the  entrance  of  Hudson's  Bay.  It 
was  among  a  group  of  American  islands,  in  the  latitude  of  sixty-three  degrees 
and  eight  minutes,  that  he  entered  what  seemed  to  be  a  strait.  Hope  suggested 
that  his  object  was  obtained;  that  the  land  on  the  south  was  America;  on  the 
north  was  the  continent  of  Asia;  and  that  the  strait  opened  into  the  immense 
Pacific.  Great  praise  is  due  to  Frobisher,  even  though  he  penetrated  less 
deeply  than  Cabot  into  the  baj^  and  among  the  islands  of  this  Meta  Incognita, 
this  unknown  goal  of  discovery.  Yet  his  voyage  was  a  failure.  To  land  upon 
an  island,  and,  perhaps,  on  the  main;  to  gather  up  stones  and  rubbish,  in 
token  of  having  taken  possession  of  the  country  for  EUzabeth;  to  seize  one  of 
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the  natives  of  the  north  for  exhibition  to  the  gaze  of  Europe  —  these  were 
all  the  results  which  he  accomplished. 

What  followed  marks  the  insane  passions  of  the  age.  America  and  mines 
were  always  thought  of  together.  A  stone,  which  had  been  brought  from  the 
frozen  regions,  was  pronounced  by  the  refiners  of  London  to  contain  gold. 
The  news  excited  the  wakeful  avarice  of  the  city:  there  were  not  wanting 
those  who  endeavoured  to  purchase  of  Elizabeth  a  lease  of  the  new  lands,  of 
which  the  loose  minerals  were  so  full  of  the  precious  metal.  A  fleet  was  imme- 

diately fitted  out,  to  procure  more  of  the  gold  rather  than  to  make  any  further 
research  for  the  passage  into  the  Pacific ;  and  the  queen,  who  had  contributed 
nothing  to  the  voyage  of  discovery,  sent  a  large  ship  of  her  own  to  join  the 
expedition,  which  was  now  to  conduct  to  infinite  opulence.  More  men  than 
could  be  employed  volunteered  their  services;  those  who  were  discharged 
resigned  their  brilliant  hopes  with  reluctance.  The  mariners,  having  received 

the  communion,  embarked  May  27th,  1577,  for  the  arctic  El  Dorado,  "and 
with  a  merrie  wind"  soon  arrived  at  the  Orkneys.  As  they  reached  the 
northeastern  coast  of  America,  June  7th,  the  dangers  of  the  polar  seas  became 
imminent;  mountains  of  ice  encompassed  them  on  every  side.  At  one 
moment  they  expected  death;  at  the  next  they  looked  for  gold.  The  fleet 
made  no  discoveries;  it  did  not  advance  so  far  as  Frobisher  alone  had  done. 
But  it  found  large  heaps  of  earth,  which,  even  to  the  incredulous,  seemed 
plainly  to  contain  the  coveted  wealth;  besides,  spiders  abounded;  and  spiders 
were  aflSrmed  to  be  "true  signs  of  great  store  of  gold."^  In  freighting  the 
ships,  the  admiral  himself  toUed  like  a  painful  labourer. 

It  was  believed  that  the  rich  mines  of  the  polar  regions  would  countervail 
the  charges  of  a  costly  adventure;  the  hope  of  a  passage  to  Cathay  increased; 
and,  for  the  security  of  the  newly  discovered  lands,  soldiers  and  discreet  men 
were  selected  to  become  their  inhabitants.  A  magnificent  fleet  of  fifteen  sail 
was  assembled,  in  part  at  the  expense  of  Elizabeth;  the  sons  of  the  English 
gentry  embarked  as  volunteers;  one  hundred  persons  were  chosen  to  form  the 
colony,  which  was  to  secure  to  England  a  country  more  desirable  than  Peru, 
a  country  too  inhospitable  to  produce  a  tree  or  a  shrub,  yet  where  gold  lay, 
not  charily  concealed  in  mines,  but  glistening  in  heaps  upon  the  surface. 
Twelve  vessels  were  to  return  immediately  with  cargoes  of  the  ore;  three 
were  ordered  to  remain  and  aid  the  settlement.  The  Northwest  Passage  was 
now  become  of  less  consideration;  Asia  itself  could  not  vie  with  the  riches  of 
this  hyperborean  archipelago. 

But  the  entrance  to  these  wealthy  islands  was  rendered  difficult  by  frost; 
and  the  fleet  of  Frobisher,  as  it  now  approached  the  American  coast  (May 
31st  to  September  28th,  1578),  was  bewildered  among  immense  icebergs, 
which  were  so  vast  that,  as  they  melted,  torrents  poured  from  them  in  spark- 

ling waterfalls.  One  vessel  was  crushed  and  sunk,  though  the  men  on  board 
were  saved.  In  the  dangerous  mists  the  ships  lost  their  course,  and  came  into 

the  straits  which  have  since  been  called  Hudson's,  and  which  lie  south  of  the 
imagined  gold  regions.  The  admiral  believed  himself  able  to  sail  through  to 
the  Pacific,  and  resolve  the  doubt  respecting  the  passage.  But  his  duty  as  a 
mercantile  agent  controlled  his  desire  of  glory  as  a  navigator.  He  struggled 
to  regain  the  harbour  where  his  vessels  were  to  be  laden;  and,  after  encounter- 

ing peril  of  every  kind  —  "getting  in  at  one  gap  and  out  at  another"  — 
he  at  last  arrived  at  the  haven  in  the  Countess  of  Warwick's  Sound. 

The  zeal  of  the  volunteer  colonists  had  moderated;  and  the  disheartened 

'  Settle,  **  in  Hakluyt  ̂   :  How  rich,  then,  the  alcoves  of  a  library  1 



THE  ARMY   OP  EXPLOHEES  495 
[1578-1580  A.D.] 

sailors  were  ready  to  mutiny.  One  ship,  laden  with  provisions  for  the  colony, 
deserted  and  returned;  and  an  island  was  discovered  with  enough  of  the  black 
ore  "  to  suffice  all  the  gold-gluttons  of  the  world."  The  plan  of  the  settlement 
was  abandoned.  It  only  remained  to  freight  the  home-bound  ships  with  a 
store  of  minerals.  The  adventurers  and  the  historians  of  the  voyage  are  silent 
about  the  disposition  which  was  made  of  the  cargo  of  the  fleet.  The  knowl- 

edge of  the  seas  was  not  extended;  the  credulity  of  avarice  met  with  a  rebuke ; 
and  the  belief  in  regions  of  gold  among  the  Eskimos  was  dissipated;  but 
there  remained  a  firm  conviction  that  a  passage  to  the  Pacific  Ocean  might  yet 
be  threaded  among  the  icebergs  and  northern  islands  of  America. 

While  Frobisher  was  thus  attempting  to  obtain  wealth  and  fame  on  the 
northeast  coast  of  America,  the  western  limits  of  the  territory  of  the  United 
States  became  known.  Embarking  on  a  voyage  in  quest  of  fortune  (1577  to 
1580),  Francis  Drake  acquired  immense  treasures  as  a  freebooter  in  the  Spanish 
harbours  on  the  Pacific,  and,  having  laden  his  ship  with  spoils,  gained  for  him- 

self enduring  glory  by  circumnavigating  the  globe.  But  before  following  in 
the  path  which  the  ship  of  Magellan  had  thus  far  alone  dared  to  pursue, 
Drake  determined  to  explore  the  northwestern  coast  of  America,  in  the  hope 
of  discovering  the  strait  which  connects  the  oceans.  With  this  view,  he 
crossed  the  equator,  sailed  beyond  the  peninsula  of  California,  and  followed 
the  continent  to  the  latitude  of  the  southern  borders  of  New  Hampshire. 
Here  the  cold  seemed  intolerable  to  men  who  had  just  left  the  tropics.  Despair- 

ing of  success,  he  retired  to  a  harbour  in  a  milder  latitude,  within  the  limits  of 
Mexico;  and,  having  repaired  his  ship,  and  named  the  country  New  Albion, 
he  sailed  for  England,  through  the  seas  of  Asia. 

Thus  was  the  southern  part  of  the  Oregon  territory  first  visited  by  English- 
men, yet  not  till  after  a  voyage  of  the  Spanish  from  Acapulco,  commanded  by 

Cabrillo,  a  Portuguese,  had  traced  the  American  continent  to  within  two  and 
a  half  degrees  of  the  mouth  of  Columbia  river  (1542),  while,  thirteen  years 
after  the  voyage  of  Drake,  John  de  Fuca,  a  mariner  from  the  Isles  of  Greece, 
then  in  the  employ  of  the  viceroy  of  Mexico,  sailed  into  the  bay  which  is  now 
known  as  the  gulf  of  Georgia  (1593),  and,  having  for  twenty  days  steered 
through  its  intricate  windings  and  numerous  islands,  returned  with  a  belief, 
that  the  entrance  to  the  long-desired  passage  into  the  Atlantic  had  been  found. 

The  lustre  of  the  name  of  Drake  is  borrowed  from  his  success.  In  itself, 
this  part  of  his  career  was  but  a  splendid  piracy  against  a  nation  with  which 
his  sovereign  and  his  country  professed  to  be  at  peace.  The  exploits  of 
Drake,  except  so  far  as  they  nourished  a  love  for  maritime  affairs,  were  inju- 

rious to  commerce ;  the  minds  of  the  sailors  were  debauched  by  a  passion 
for  sudden  acquisitions;  and  to  receive  regular  wages  seemed  base  and 
unmanly,  when,  at  the  easy  peril  of  fife,  there  was  hope  of  boundless  plunder. 
Commerce  and  colonisation  rest  on  regular  industry;  the  humble  labour  of 
the  English  fishermen,  who  now  frequented  the  Grand  Bank,  bred  mariners 
for  the  navy  of  their  country,  and  prepared  the  way  for  its  settlements  in  the 
New  World.  Already  four  hundred  vessels  came  annually  from  the  harbours 
of  Portugal  and  Spain,  of  France  and  England,  to  the  shores  of  Newfoundland. 
The  English  were  not  there  in  such  numbers  as  other  nations,  for  they  still 
frequented  the  fisheries  of  Iceland;  but  yet  they  "were  commonly  lords  in  the 
harbours,"  and  in  the  arrogance  of  naval  supremacy,  exacted  payment  for 
protection.  It  is  an  incident  honourable  to  the  humanity  of  the  early  voyagers 
that,  on  one  of  the  American  islands,  not  far  from  the  fishing  stations,  hogs 
and  horned  cattle  were  purposely  left,  that  they  might  multiply  and  become 
a  resource  to  some  future  generation  of  colonists. 
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THE   DISASTERS  OF  SIB  HUMPHREY  GILBERT 

While  the  queen  and  her  adventurers  were  dazzled  by  the  glittering  pros- 
pects of  mines  of  gold  in  the  frozen  regions  of  the  remote  north,  Sir  Humphrey 

Gilbert,  with  a  sounder  judgment  and  a  better  knowledge,  watched  the 
progress  of  the  fisheries,  and  formed  healthy  plans  for  colonisation.  It  was 
not  difficult  for  Gilbert  to  obtain  a  liberal  patent  (June  11th,  1578),  formed 
according  to  the  tenor  of  a  previous  precedent,  and  to  be  of  perpetual  efficacy, 
if  a  plantation  should  be  established  within  six  years.  To  the  people  who 
might  belong  to  his  colony,  the  rights  of  Englishmen  were  promised;  to 
Gilbert,  the  possession  for  himself  or  his  assigns  of  the  soil  which  he  might 

discover,  and  the  sole  jurisdic- 
tion, both  civil  and  criminal, 

of  the  territory  within  two 
hundred  leagues  of  his  settle- 

ment, with  supreme  executive 
and  legislative  authority. 
Thus  the  attempts  at  colonisa- 

tion, in  which  Cabot  and  Fro- 
bisher  had  failed,  were  re- 

newed under  a  patent  that 
conferred  every  immunity  on 

twn  >i-     -^^^^  '-^5as<mjs®;s2MBB>^  *^^  leader  of  the  enterprise, 

//V^"   '"' ,^^^'y^^^^^^^^^  y^^      ̂ ^^  abandoned  the  colonists 
Y'^fev^y     "*'*"' -^1  '^^^^^^^^^R^  -/'    themselves  to  the  mercy  of  an ^^^^^^^^^^^^^''         absolute  proprietary. 

Under  this  patent,  Gilbert 
began  to  collect  a  company  of 
volunteer  adventurers,  con- 

tributing largely  from  his  own 
fortune  to  the  preparation. 
Jarrings  and  divisions  ensued, 
before  the  voyage  was  begim; 
many  abandoned  what  they 
had  inconsiderately  undertak- 

en; the  general  and  a  few  of 
his  assured  friends  —  among  them  his  step-brother,  Walter  Raleigh  [in  com- 

mand of  the  Fahon\  —  put  to  sea  in  1579;  one  of  his  ships  was  lost;  and  mis- 
fortune compelled  the  remainder  to  return.  The  vagueness  of  the  accounts  of 

this  expedition  is  ascribed  to  a  conflict  with  a  Spanish  fleet,  of  which  the  issue 
was  unfavourable  to  the  little  squadron  of  emigrants.  Gilbert  attempted  to 
keep  his  patent  alive  by  making  grants  of  lands.  None  of  his  assigns  succeeded 
in  establishing  a  colony;  and  he  was  himself  too  much  impoverished  to  renew 
his  efforts. 

But  the  pupil  of  Coligny  was  possessed  of  an  active  genius,  which  delighted 
in  hazardous  adventure.  To  prosecute  discoveries  in  the  New  World,  lay  the 
foundation  of  states,  and  acquire  inmiense  domains,  appeared  to  the  daring 
enterprise  of  Raleigh  as  easy  designs,  which  would  not  interfere  with  the 
pursuit  of  favour  and  the  career  of  glory  in  England.  Before  the  limit  of  the 
charter  had  expired,  Gilbert,  assisted  by  his  brother,  equipped  a  new  squadron. 
The  fleet  embarked  under  happy  omens;  the  commander,  on  the  eve  of  his 
departure,  received  from  Elizabeth  a  golden  anchor  guided  by  a  lady,  a  token 

of  the  queen's  regard;  a  man  of  letters  from  Hungary  accompanied  the  expe- 

SiB  Humphrey  Gilbert 

(1539-1583) 
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dition;  and  some  part  of  the  United  States  would  have  then  been  colonised, 
had  not  the  unhappy  projector  of  the  design  been  overwhelmed  by  a  succession 
of  disasters.  Two  days  after  leaving  Plymouth  (June  13th),  the  largest  ship 
in  the  fleet,  which  had  been  furnished  by  Raleigh,  who  himself  remained  in 
England,  deserted,  under  a  pretence  of  infectious  disease,  and  returned  into 
harbour.  Gilbert  was  incensed,  but  not  intimidated.  He  sailed  for  New- 

foundland; and,  entering  St.  Johns,  he  summoned  the  Spaniards  and  Portu- 
guese, and  other  strangers,  to  witness  the  feudal  ceremonies  by  which  he  took 

possession  of  the  country  for  his  sovereign.  A  pillar,  on  which  the  arms  of 
England  were  infixed,  was  raised  as  a  monument;  and  lands  were  granted  to 

the  fishermen  in  fee,  on  condition  of  the  payment  of  a  quit-rent.  The  "  min- 
eral-man" of  the  expedition,  an  honest  and  religious  Saxon,  was  especially 

diligent;  it  was  generally  agreed  that  "  the  mountains  made  a  show  of  mineral 
substance";  as  there  were  so  many  foreign  vessels  in  the  vicinity,  the  precious 
ore  was  carried  on  board  the  larger  ship  with  such  mystery  that  the  dull 
Portuguese  and  Spaniards  suspected  nothing  of  the  matter.* 

The  colony  being  thus  apparently  established,  Sir  Humphrey  Gilbert 
embarked  in  his  small  frigate,  the  Squirrel,  which  was,  in  fact,  a  miserable 
bark  of  ten  tons;  and,  taking  with  him  two  other  ships,  proceeded  on  a  voyage 
of  discovery  to  the  southward.  One  of  these  vessels,  the  Delight,  was  soon 
after  wrecked  among  the  shoals  near  Sable  Island;  and  of  above  one  hundred 
men  on  board,  only  twelve  escaped.  Among  those  who  perished  were  the 
historian  and  the  mineralogist  of  the  expedition;  a  circumstance  which 
preyed  upon  the  mind  of  Sir  Humphrey,  whose  ardent  temper  fondly  cherished 
the  hope  of  fame  and  of  inestimable  riches.  He  now  determined  to  return 
to  England;  but  as  his  little  frigate,  as  she  is  called,  appeared  wholly  unfit 
to  proceed  on  such  a  voyage,  he  was  entreated  not  to  venture  in  her,  but  to 
take  his  passage  in  the  Golden  Hinde.  To  these  solicitations  the  gallant  knight 

replied,  "I  will  not  forsake  my  little  company  going  homeward,  with  whom 
I  have  passed  so  many  storms  and  perils."  When  the  two  vessels  had  passed 
the  Azores,  Sir  Humphrey's  frigate  was  observed  to  be  nearly  overwhehned 
by  a  great  sea;  she  recovered,  however,  the  stroke  of  the  waves,  and  imme- 

diately afterwards  the  general  was  observed  by  those  in  the  Hinde,  sitting  abaft 
with  a  book  in  his  hand,  and  calling  out,  "Courage,  my  lads!  we  are  as  near 
heaven  by  sea  as  by  land!"  The  same  night  this  Uttle  bark,  and  all  within 
her,  were  swallowed  up  in  the  sea,  and  never  more  heard  of.  Such  was  the 
unfortunate  end  of  the  brave  Sir  Humphrey  Gilbert,  who  may  be  regarded  as 
the  father  of  western  colonization,  and  who  was  one  of  the  chief  ornaments 
of  the  most  chivalrous  age  of  English  history.// 

DUTCH  explorers:  Hudson's  discoveries 

Producing  ahnost  no  grain  of  any  kind,  Holland  had  the  best  supplied 
granary  of  Europe :  without  fields  of  flax,  it  had  an  infinite  number  of  weavers 
of  linen:  destitute  of  flocks,  it  became  the  centre  of  all  woollen  manufactures; 
and  the  country  which  had  not  a  forest,  built  more  ships  than  all  Europe 
besides.  Their  enterprising  mariners  displayed  the  flag  of  the  republic  from 
Southern  Africa  to  the  Arctic  circle.  "  The  ships  of  the  Dutch,"  said  Raleigh, 
"outnumber  those  of  England  and  ten  other  kingdoms."  War  for  liberty 
became  unexpectedly  a  guaranty  of  opulence;  Holland  gained  the  commerce 
of  Spain  by  its  maritime  force;  it  secured  the  wealth  of  the  Indies  by  traffic. 

I^bon  and  Antwerp  were  despoiled;  Amsterdam,  the  depot  of  the  mer- 
H.  -w.— VOL.  xxn.  8k 
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chandise  of  Europe  and  of  the  East,  was  esteemed  beyond  dispute  the  first 
commercial  city  of  the  world. 

Within  two  years  of  the  Union  of  Utrecht,  that  is,  in  1581,  Bath,  an  Eng- 
lishman who  had  five  times  crossed  the  Atlantic,  proposed  to  the  States  to 

conduct  four  ships  of  war  to  America.  The  adventure  was  declined  by  the 
government;  but  no  obstacles  were  offered  to  private  enterprise.  Ten  years 
afterwards,  William  Usselinx,  who  had  lived  some  years  in  Castile,  Portugal, 
and  the  Azores,  proposed  a  West  India  Company;  but  the  dangers  of  the 
undertaking  were  still  too  appalling.  It  was  not  tiU  1597  that  voyages  to 
the  New  World  were  actually  imdertaken.  In  that  year,  Bikker  of  Amster- 

dam, and  Leyen  of  Enkhuisen,  each  formed  a  company  to  traffic  with  the 
West  Indies.  The  commerce  was  continued  with  such  success,  that,  after 
years  of  discussion,  a  plan  for  a  West  India  Company  was  reduced  to  writing, 
and  communicated  to  the  states  general,  1600. 

As  years  rolled  away,  the  progress  of  English  commerce  in  the  west 
awakened  the  attention  of  the  Dutch.  England  and  Holland  had  been  allies 
in  the  contest  against  Spain;  had  both  spread  thei:  sails  on  the  Indian  seas; 
had  both  become  competitors  for  possessions  in  America.  In  the  same  year 
in  which  Smith  embarked  for  Virginia,  vast  designs  were  ripening  among 
the  Dutch.  Their  merchants  had  perused  every  work  which  shed  light  on 
the  western  world,  had  gathered  intelligence  from  the  narratives  of  sailors; 
and  now  they  plarmed  a  privileged  company,  which  should  count  the  states 
general  among  its  stockholders,  and  possess,  exclusively,  the  liberty  of 
approaching  America  from  Newfoundland  to  the  straits  of  Magellan,  and 

Mrica '  from  the  tropics  to  the  Cape  of  Good  Hope.  Principalities  might easily  be  won  from  the  Spaniards,  whose  scattered  citadels  protected  but  a 
narrow  zone. 

The  party  which  desired  peace  with  Spain,  and  which  counted  Grotius 
and  Olden  Barneveldt  among  its  ornaments,  for  a  long  time  succeeded  in 
repressing  the  energy  of  hope,  and  defeating  every  effort  at  Batavian  settle- 

ments in  the  west. 
While  the  negotiations  with  Spain  postponed  the  formation  of  a  West 

India  Company,  the  Dutch  found  their  way  to  the  United  States  through 
another  channel.  The  first  efforts  of  the  Dutch  merchants  to  share  in  the 
commerce  of  Asia  were  accompanied  with  a  desire  to  search  for  a  northwest 
passage;  and  the  ill  success  of  Cabot  and  Frobisher,  of  Willoughby  and  Davis, 
did  but  animate  the  Netherlands  to  a  generous  rivalry.  Twice  in  the  sixteenth 
century  [as  described  in  our  history  of  Holland,]  did  they  seek  a  passage  by 
the  north,  and  vainly  coasted  along  Nova  Zembla  and  Muscovy.  Again  did 
the  envoy  of  Amsterdam  descend  within  ten  degrees  of  the  pole,  passing  a 
winter  in  Nova  Zembla,  rendered  horrible  by  famine,  by  the  ferocity  of  polar 
beasts  of  prey,  and  by  ice;  the  ship  was  frozen  in  hopelessly;  in  two  little 
vessels  the  wretched  crew  hardly  escaped.  The  voyages  of  the  Dutch  were 
esteemed  without  a  parallel,  for  their  daring. 

The  establishment  of  an  East  India  Company,  March  20th,  1602,  with 
the  exclusive  right  to  commerce  beyond  the  Cape  of  Good  Hope  on  the  one 
side,  and  beyond  the  straits  of  Magellan  on  the  other,  with  all  powers  requisite 
for  conquests,  colonisation,  and  government,  covered  the  seas  of  Asia  with 
fleets  of  Indiamen. 

Meantime  Europe  had  not  relinquished  the  hope  of  a  nearer  passage  to 
Asia;  and  Denmark  took  its  place  among  the  states  whose  ships  vainly  toiled 
for  the  discovery.  No  sooner  was  the  failure  known  than  a  compam^  of 
London  merchants,  excited  by  the  immense  profits  of  voyages  to  the  East, 
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contributed  the  means  for  a  new  attempt;  and  Henry  Hudson  was  the  chosen 
leader  of  the  expedition.  SaiHng  to  the  north  in  1607,  with  his  only  son  for 
his  companion,  he  coasted  the  shores  of  Greenland,  and  hesitated  whether 
to  attempt  the  circumnavigation  of  that  country,  or  the  passage  across  the 
pole.  TVTiat  though  he  came  within  eight  degrees  of  the  pole,  thus  surpassing 
every  earlier  navigator?  After  renewing  the  discovery  of  Spitzbergen,  vast 
masses  of  ice  compelled  his  return.  But  the  zeal  of  Hudson  could  not  be 
quenched;  and  the  next  year  beheld  him  once  more  engaged  in  a  voyage, 
and  cherishing  the  deceitful  hope  that,  through  the  icy  seas  which  divide 
Spitzbergen  from  Nova  Zembla,  he  might  find  a  path  to  the  genial  clime  of 
southern  Asia. 

The  failure  of  two  expeditions  daunted  the  enterprise  of  Hudson's  em- 
ployers; they  could  not  daunt  the  courage  of  the  great  navigator,  who  was 

destined  to  become  the  rival  of  Smith  and  of  Champlain.  He  longed  to  tempt 
once  more  the  dangers  of  the  northern  seas;  and,  repairing  to  Holland,  he 
offered,  in  the  service  of  the  Dutch  East  India  Company,  to  explore  the  icy 
wastes  in  search  of  the  coveted  passage.  The  voyage  of  Smith  to  Virginia 
stimulated  desire;  the  Zealanders,  fearing  the  loss  of  treasure,  objected; 
but  by  the  influence  of  Balthazar  Moucheron,  the  directors  for  Amsterdam 
resolved  on  equipping  a  small  vessel  of  discovery;  and  on  the  fourth  day  of 
April,  1609,  the  Half  Moon,  or  Crescent,  commanded  by  Hudson,  and  manned 
by  a  mixed  crew  of  Englishmen  and  Hollanders,  his  only  son  being  of  the 
number,  set  sail  for  the  Northwestern  Passage. 

Masses  of  ice  impeded  the  navigation  towards  Nova  Zembla;  Hudson, 
who  had  examined  the  maps  of  John  Smith  of  Virginia,  turned  to  the  west; 
and  passing  beyond  Greenland  and  Newfoundland,  and  running  down  the 
coast  of  Acadia,  he  anchored,  probably,  in  the  mouth  of  the  Penobscot.  Then, 
following  the  track  of  Gosnold,  he  came  upon  the  promontory  of  Cape  Cod, 
and,  believing  himself  its  first  discoverer,  gave  it  the  name  of  New  Holland. 
Long  afterwards  it  was  claimed  as  the  northeastern  boundary  of  New  Nether- 

lands. From  the  sands  of  Cape  Cod,  he  steered  a  southerly  course  till  he  was 
opposite  the  entrance  into  the  bay  of  Virginia,  August  18th,  where  Hudson 
remembered  that  his  coimtrymen  were  planted.  Then  turning  again  to  the 
north,  he  discovered  the  Delaware  Bay,  examined  its  currents  and  its  soimd- 
ings,  and,  without  going  on  shore,  took  note  of  the  aspect  of  the  country. 

On  the  third  day  of  September,  ahnost  at  the  tune  when  Champlain  was 
invading  New  York  from  the  north,  less  than  five  months  after  the  truce  with 
Spain,  which  gave  the  Netherlands  a  diplomatic  existence  as  a  state,  the  Half 
Moon  anchored  within  Sandy  Hook,  September  4,  1609,  and  from  the  neigh- 

bouring shores,  that  were  crowned  with  "goodly  oakes,"  attracted  frequent 
visits  from  the  natives.  After  a  week's  delay,  Hudson  sailed  through  the 
Narrows,  September  11th,  and  at  the  mouth  of  the  river  anchored  in  a  harboirr 
which  was  pronounced  to  be  very  good  for  all  winds.  Of  the  surrounding 
lands,  the  luxuriant  grass,  the  flowers,  the  trees,  the  grateful  fragrance,  were 
admired.  Ten  days  were  employed  in  exploring  the  river;  the  first  of 
Europeans,'  Hudson  went  sounding  his  way  above  the  Highlands,  till  at  last 
the  Half  Moon  had  sailed  some  miles  beyond  the  present  city  of  Hudson, 
and  a  boat  had  advanced  a  little  beyond  Albany.  Frequent  intercourse  was 
held  with  the  astonished  natives  of  the  Algonquin  race;  and  the  strangers 
were  welcomed  by  a  deputation  from  the  Mohawks.    Having  completed 

['  In  speaking  of  Hudson's  discovery  of  the  river  that  bears  his  name,  it  is  of  course  to 
be  remembered  that  Verrazano^  had  anchored  in  the  bay  of  New  York  and  seen  the  grandia- 
eima  riviera  nearly  a  century  before  Hudson,  who,  however,  was  the  first  to  explore  it.J 
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his  discovery,  Hudson  descended  the  stream  to  which  time  has  given  his  name; 
and  on  the  fourth  day  of  October,  about  the  season  of  the  return  of  John  Smith 
to  England,  he  set  sail  for  Europe,  leaving  once  more  to  its  soUtude  the  land, 

that  his  imagination,  anticipating  the  future,  described  as  "the  most  beauti- 
ful" in  the  world. 

The  history  of  a  country  is  always  modified  by  its  climate,  and,  in  many 
of  its  features,  is  determined  by  its  geographical  situation.  The  region  which 
Hudson  had  discovered  possessed  on  the  seaboard  a  harbour  unrivalled  in 
its  advantages;  having  near  its  eastern  boundary  a  river  that  admits  the 
tide  far  into  the  interior;  extending  to  the  chain  of  the  great  lakes,  which 
have  their  springs  in  the  heart  of  the  continent;  containing  within  its  limits 
the  sources  of  large  rivers  that  flow  to  the  gulf  of  Mexico  and  to  the  bays  of 
Chesapeake  and  of  Delaware;  inviting  to  extensive  internal  intercourse  by 
natural  channels,  of  which,  long  before  Hudson  anchored  off  Sandy  Hook, 
even  the  warriors  of  the  Five  Nations  availed  themselves  in  their  excursions 
to  Quebec,  to  the  Ohio,  or  the  Susquehanna;  with  just  sufficient  difficulties 
to  irritate,  and  not  enough  to  dishearten  —  New  York  united  most  fertile 
lands  with  the  highest  adaptation  to  foreign  and  domestic  commerce. 

A  happy  return  voyage  brought  the  Half  Moon  into  Dartmouth.  Hudson 
forwarded  to  his  Dutch  employers  a  brilliant  account  of  his  discoveries;  but 
he  never  revisited  the  lands  which  he  eulogized;  and  the  Dutch  East  India 
Company  refused  to  search  further  for  the  Northwest  Passage. 

Meantime  ambition  revived  among  the  English  merchants;  a  company 
was  formed,  and  Hudson  again  entered,  April  17th,  1610,  the  northern  seas 
in  search  of  a  path  to  the  Pacific.  Passing  Iceland,  and  Greenland,  and 

Frobisher's  Straits,  he  sailed,  August  2nd,  into  the  straits  which  bear  his  own 
name,  and  where  he  had  been  preceded  by  none  but  Sebastian  Cabot.  As 
he  emerged  from  the  passage  and  came  upon  the  wide  gulf,  he  believed  that 
his  object  had  been  gained.  How  great  was  his  disappointment  when  he 
foimd  himself  embayed!  As  he  sailed  to  and  fro  along  the  coast,  it  seemed 
a  labyrinth  without  end;  stiU  confident  of  ultunate  success,  the  inflexible 
mariner  resolved  on  wintering  in  the  bay,  that  he  might  perfect  his  discovery 
in  the  spring.  At  length  the  late  and  anxiously-expected  spring  burst  forth; 
but  it  opened  in  vain  for  Hudson.  Provisions  were  exhausted:  he  divided 

the  last  bread  among  his  men,  and  prepared  for  them  a  bill  of  return;  and  "  he 
wept  as  he  gave  it  them."  Believing  himself  almost  on  the  point  of  succeed- 

ing where  Spaniards,  and  EngHsh,  and  Danes,  and  Dutch,  had  failed,  he  left 
his  anchoring-place  to  steer  for  Europe. 

For  two  days  the  ship  was  encompassed  by  fields  of  ice,  and  the  discon- 
tent of  the  crew  broke  forth  into  mutiny.  Hudson  was  seized  June  21st, 

1610,  and,  with  his  only  son  and  seven  others,  four  of  whom  were  sick,  was 
thrown  into  the  shallop.  Seeing  his  commander  thus  exposed,  Philip  Staffe, 
the  carpenter,  demanded  and  gained  leave  to  share  his  fate;  and  just  as  the 

ship  made  its  way  out  of  the  ice,  on  the  longest  summer's  day,  in  a  latitude 
where  the  sun  hardly  went  down,  and  twilight  ceased  only  with  the  dawn, 
the  shallop  was  cut  loose.  What  became  of  Hudson?  Did  he  die  miserably 
of  starvation?  Did  he  reach  land  to  perish  from  the  fury  of  the  natives?  Was 
he  crushed  between  ribs  of  ice?  The  returning  ship  encountered  storms,  by 
which,  it  is  probable,  Hudson  was  overwhelmed.  Alone,  of  the  great  mariners 
of  that  day,  he  lies  buried  in  America;  the  gloomy  waste  of  waters  which  bears 
his  name  is  his  tomb  and  his  monument.^ 

John  Fiske  thus  vividly  sums  up  the  Ufe  and  achievements  of  Hudson: 

"In  all  that  he  attempted  he  failed,  and  yet  he  achieved  great  results  that 
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were  not  contemplated  in  his  schemes.  He  started  two  immense  industries, 
the  Spitzbergen  whale  fisheries  and  the  Hudson  Bay  fur  trade;  and  he  brought 
the  Dutch  to  Manhattan  Island.  No  reaUsation  of  his  dreams  could  have 
approached  the  astonishing  reality  which  would  have  greeted  him  could  he 
have  looked  through  the  coming  centuries  and  caught  a  glimpse  of  what  the 
voyager  now  beholds  in  sailing  up  the  bay  of  New  York.  But  what  perhaps 
would  have  surprised  him  most  of  all  would  have  been  to  learn  that  his  name 
was  to  become  part  of  the  folk-lore  of  the  beautiful  river  to  which  it  is  attached, 
that  he  was  to  figure  as  a  Dutchman,  in  spite  of  himself,  in  legend  and  on  the 
stage;  that  when  it  is  thimder  weather  on  the  Catskills  the  children  should 
say  it  is  Hendrik  Hudson  playing  at  skittles  with  his  goblin  crew.  Perhaps 
it  is  not  an  unkindly  fate.  Even  as  Milton  wished  for  his  dead  friend  Lycidas 
that  he  might  become  the  genius  of  the  shore,  so  the  memory  of  the  great 
Arctic  navigator  will  remain  a  familiar  presence  among  the  hillsides  which 
the  gentle  fancy  of  Irving  has  clothed  with  undying  romance  .»* 

af^ 



CHAPTER  III 

THE  INDIANS 

To  recognise  the  Indian  owneiship  of  the  limitless  prairies  and 
forests  of  this  continent  —  that  is,  to  consider  the  dozen  squalid  sav- 

ages who  hunted  at  long  intervals  over  a  territory  of  a  thousand 
square  miles  as  owning  it  outright  —  necessarily  implies  a  similar 
recognition  of  the  claims  of  every  white  hunter,  squatter,  horse- 
thief,  or  wandering  cattle-man.  Take  as  an  example  the  country 
round  the  Little  Missouri.  When  the  cattle-men,  the  first  actual  set- 

tlers, came  into  this  land  in  1883,  it  was  already  scantily  peopled  hy  a 
few  white  hunters  and  trappers.  Like  the  Indians,  they  felt  that 
their  having  hunted  over  the  soil  gave  them  a  vague  prescriptive  right 
to  its  sole  occupation,  and  they  did  their  best  to  keep  actual  settlers 
out.  In  some  cases,  to  avoid  difficulty,  their  nominal  claims  were 
bought  up  ;  generally,  and  rightly,  they  were  disregarded.  In  fact, 
the  mere  statement  of  the  case  is  sufficient  to  show  the  absurdity  of 
asserting  that  the  land  really  belonged  to  the  Indians.  The  different 
tribes  have  always  been  utterly  unable  to  define  their  own  boundaries. 
Thus  the  Delawares  and  Wyandots,  in  1785,  though  entirely  separate 
nations,  claimed  and,  in  a  certain  sense,  occupied  almost  exactly  the 
same  territory.  —  Theodokb  Eoosevext.  '> 

The  common  belief  in  "  the  gradual  extinction  of  the  noble  red  Indian," 
perpetuates  at  least  four  fallacies.  The  being  referred  to  is  not  an  Indian; 
he  is  red  only  when  he  paints  himself  so;  he  is  not  often  noble;  and  he  is  not 
being  extinguished. 

Everyone  knows,  of  course,  that  Columbus  named  the  aborigines  as  he 
did,  because  he  thought  he  had  found  India.  The  mistake  was  soon  dis- 

covered to  the  disappointment  of  the  Spanish  and  the  ruin  of  Columbus,  but 
the  word  Indian  has  stuck  till  the  real  Indians  are  now  ccTimonly  dubbed 

Hindus  or  East  Indians.  The  epithet  "red"  is  due  to  pure  carelessnciss,  or 
wish  for  brevity,  as  the  Indian  is  usually  of  a  cinnamon  brown  tone.  As 

Columbus'  contemporary,  Gomarac  said,  they  "  were  neither  white,  black,  nor 
grey,  tout  like  men  with  the  jaundice  or  of  the  colour  of  boiled  quinces.    The 503 
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nobility  of  the  Indian  is  credited  to  him  on  various  grounds;  first,  the  pic- 
turesqueness  of  certain  features  of  his  life,  the  romance  that  always  attaches 
to  the  woods  and  to  the  outlaw,  to  the  freedom  from  many  of  those  restrictions 
and  oppressions  of  European  law  and  custom  previous  to  the  nineteenth 
century  which  so  irritated  men  like  Rousseau;  also  to  the  persistent  feeling 
that  in  a  contest  where  both  sides  use  cruelty  and  treachery  freely,  the  one 
who  loses  must  have  lost  because  he  could  not  stoop  to  certain  weapons,  and 
finally,  to  the  poetic  belief  in  the  majesty  of  the  vanquished.  On  the  other 
hand,  the  other  extreme  of  belief  that  no  Indian  is  trustworthy  or  worthy  at 
all,  is  equally  to  be  shunned,  for  history  is  full  of  evidences  of  tribal  and 
individual  fidelity,  scrupulousness,  compassion  and  honour. 

THE   INDIAN   NOT   BECOMING   EXTINCT 

The  theory  that  the  Indian  race  is  waning  into  limbo  along  with  the  dodo 
and  the  bison  is  a  theory  that  will  die  even  harder  than  the  Indian.  It  is 
impossible  that  the  race  should  ever  expect  much  influence  again  on  American 
life;  it  is  probable  that  it  wUl  gradually  be  absorbed  into  the  national  life 
by  intermarriage  and  education.  But  for  the  present,  the  Indian  population 
is  generally  accepted  as  at  worst  stationary. 

There  are  many  grounds  for  believing  that  there  are  more  Indians  living 
in  America  to-day  than  there  were  when  Columbus  landed.  The  wild  exaggera- 

tions natural  to  the  excited  and  terrified  pioneers  were  too  long  accepted  as 
truth.  As  a  matter  of  fact  there  were  vast  tracts  of  territory  which  the 
Indians  never  travelled.  The  very  necessities  of  the  hunt  made  a  crowded 
civilisation  impossible.  They  lived  in  small  and  widely  isolated  tribes. 
Famine  was  their  bitterest  foe,  and  their  legends  are  full  of  the  ravages  it 
made  in  their  numbers.  Starvation,  pestilence,  and  inter-tribal  war  kept 
down  their  numbers  long  before  the  white  man's  gun  startled  the  forests. 

With  this  view  Theodore  Roosevelt  ̂   differs  somewhat:  "  Formerly  writers 
greatly  overestimated  their  original  numbers,  counting  them  by  millions. 
Now  it  is  the  fashion  to  go  to  the  other  extreme,  and  even  to  maintain  that 
they  have  not  decreased  at  all.  This  last  is  a  theory  that  can  only  be  upheld 
on  the  supposition  that  the  whole  does  not  consist  of  the  sum  of  the  parts; 
for  whereas  we  can  check  off  on  our  fingers  the  tribes  that  have  slightly  in- 

creased, we  can  enumerate  scores  that  have  died  out  almost  before  our  eyes. 
Speaking  broadly,  they  have  mixed  but  little  with  the  English  (as  distinguished 
from  the  French  and  Spanish)  invaders.  They  are  driven  back,  or  die  out, 
or  retire  to  their  own  reservations;  but  they  are  not  often  assimilated.  Still, 
on  every  frontier,  there  is  always  a  certain  amount  of  assimilation  going  on, 
much  more  than  is  commonly  admitted;  and  whenever  a  French  or  Spanish 
commimity  has  been  absorbed  by  the  energetic  Americans,  a  certain  amount 
of  Indian  blood  has  been  absorbed  also." 

Opposed  to  the  theory  that  the  Indian  is  a  creature  of  profound  nobility, 
is  the  theory  that  he  is  the  degenerate  relic  of  a  former  high  civilisation. 
This  belief  has  been  shown  to  be  false.  In  Central  America,  Mexico  and  Peru, 
as  is  shown  in  our  history  of  those  regions,  there  was  indeed  a  life  in  cities, 
where  stone  architecture,  hieroglyphic  writing  and  sculpture  were  employed, 
and  where  luxury  reached  a  high  point  of  lavishness,  but  this  civilisation 
was  in  force  at  the  time  the  Spanish  came;  it  was  in  many  respects  only  a 
barbarism  with  mitigations,  and  it  was  doubtless  only  the  beginning  of  a 
progress  which  was  smothered,  as  smaller  billows  by  a  tidal  wave,  under 
the  sudden  shock  of  European  culture  which  for  all  its  cruelty  was  centuries 
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ahead  of  that  in  America.  The  condition  of  these  advanced  Indian  races  is 
discussed  more  fully  in  the  Mexican,  Central  and  South  American  sections  of 
our  history. 

As  the  southern  Indians  were  emerging  into  civilisation,  so  the  northern 
were  well  lifted  up  above  the  lowest  degrees  of  savagery.  Early  explorers 
like  De  Soto  found  some  Indians  devoted  to  agriculture  and  unused  to  war. 
Others  led  a  sort  of  Bedouin  existence.  Their  forest  life  seemed  to  be  that, 
not  of  ignorance,  but  of  conscious  choice  and  pride;  they  had  tribal  govern- 

ment with  a  high  and  valued  degree  of  personal  liberty.  They  had  languages 
—  too  many  in  fact,  four  hundred  being  the  highest  and  one  hundred  and 
twenty-six  the  lowest  estimate  of  the  number  of  American  languages.  The 
Indian  had  pottery,  implements  of  peace  and  war,  and  a  currency.  He  had 
a  superb  system  of  warfare. 

THE   INDIAN   AS   A   MILITARY  GENIUS 

As  a  soldier  the  Indian  may  be  said  to  have  revolutionised  war.  The 
approved  tactics  of  to-day  are  those  which  the  Indians  developed  and  which 
the  white  learned  from  him  at  great  cost  in  frequent  lessons.  The  essentials 
of  discipline  were  rigidly  preserved  yet  with  thefuilest  development  of  per- 

sonal initiative.  Cooperation  and  signal  service  were  well  understood  too, 
and  they  had  beautifully  attained  the  tactics  of  swift  attack  at  a  carefully 
selected  moment  and  retreat  with  a  minimum  loss  at  a  maximum  speed. 
The  Indian  took  the  horse  and  gun  from  the  white  man  and  soon  almost  equalled 
him  in  their  management.  As  for  finding  and  using  cover,  scouting  and 
the  general  service  of  information,  of  keeping  in  touch  with  the  enemy  and 
learning  as  much  as  possible  of  him  without  self-betrayal — the  world  never 
before  knew  what  the  words  meant,  in  comparison  with  the  Indian  perfection. 

The  white  man  had  to  learn  to  fight  Indian  fashion  or  be  driven  back  to 
the  sea  that  brought  him  over.  He  learned  the  lesson  well  and  by  having  an 
inexhaustible  base  of  supplies  and  recruits,  and  by  virtue  of  his  religious  love 
of  a  fixed  home  and  established  industry,  he  gradually  established  white 
civilisation  behind  a  stockade  which  the  Indians  might  endanger  and  alarm, 
but  could  not  capture  and  hold. 

It  is  to  the  Indian,  in  a  large  sense,  that  the  United  States  owes  its  inde- 
pendence. For  the  Indian  imwittingly  taught  the  white  the  value,  the  need, 

the  thrill  of  freedom,  the  necessity  and  the  pride  of  individuality,  and  finally 
the  true  science  of  warfare  by  which  the  irregular  colonial  troops  gradually 
harassed  the  British  regular  to  desperation  and  rashness  and  wore  out  even 
English  pluck  and  perseverance.  Again,  since  many  British  historians 
credit  the  American  Revolution  with  solidifying  the  liberty  of  the  English 
parliament  against  royal  encroachments,  it  is  a  curious,  and  not  altogether 
a  false  deduction,  that  to  the  American  Indian  the  English  people  are  indebted 
for  some  of  their  freedom. 

INDIAN  CRUELTY  AND  WHITE  CRUELTY 

As  to  the  cruelty  of  the  Indian,  there  is  no  defence.  It  is  not  to  lack  of 
imagination  or  to  lack  of  sympathy,  so  much  as  to  sheer  and  wanton  delight 
in  pain.  The  fascinations  of  torment  were  sometimes  inflicted  on  themselves 
and  the  training  of  a  warrior  occasionally  included  such  ordeals  as  gave  a  new 
appearance  to  his  infliction  of  the  same  tortures  on  captives.  Outside  of 
actual  torture  some  of  the  Indians  treated  their  women  captives  with  a 
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respect  bordering  on  indifference.  The  plains  Indians,  however,  added  the 
horrors  of  rapine  to  the  feeling  of  hatred  and  dread  they  inspired.  But  it 
must  be  remembered  that  in  contemporary  Europe  general  rapine  was  the 
custom  m  captured  cities  and  that  the  Inquisition  was  showing  how  illiterate 
in  the  highest  art  of  fiendishness  the  untutored  Indian  actually  was.  Torture 
was  still  a  civil  mstitution  even  in  England  and  Scotland,  and  as  late  as  1646 
a  woman  had  her  tongue  nailed  to  a  board  at  Henley-on-the-Thames  because 
she  complained  of  a  tax  levied  by  parliament.  The  English  in  the  East  Indies 
were  usmg  as  great  cruelties  against  the  natives  as  the  western  Indians  used 
agamst  the  invaders.  The  characters  of  the  various  tribes  of  Indians  were 
almost  as  diverse  as  those  of  the  different  races  and  castes  of  Europe.  The 
patriarchal  idea  of  polygamy  and  the  Roman  idea  of  divorce  at  will  were 
general.  Personal  habits  varied  from  the  filth  and  brutality  of  some  north- 

west and  Eskimo  tribes  to  the  sense  of  beauty  and  adornment,  the  gentle 
dignity  of  the  Sacs  andFoxes  and  some  of  the  eastern  tribes.  Ideas  of  decency 
were,  as  everywhere,  inconsistent.  In  some  of  the  tribes  where  nakedness 
was  almost  absolute,  a  man  or  woman  would  be  ashamed,  imless  very  drunk, 
even  to  speak  to,  or  look  in  the  eye  of  a  son-in-law  or  daughter-in-law.  The 
ideas  of  "uncleanness"  and  its  removal  were  akin  to  those  of  the  Hebrews. 

The  Indian  has  been  nearly  as  much  sinned  against  as  sinning.  As 
Theodore  Roosevelt  ̂   and  others  point  out,  it  is  ridiculous  to  say  that  a  few 
hundred  Indians  secured  a  property  right  over  the  great  forest  lands  which 
they  did  not  clear  and  till,  did  not  mark  out  with  boundaries,  fixed  no  habita- 

tions upon,  and  about  whose  ownership  they  did  not  even  fight  among  one 
another,  except  when  it  was  for  the  time  rich  in  game.  The  whites  had  quite 
as  good  a  right  here  as  the  Indian,  and  the  nature  of  their  plans  made  the 
right  superior.  But  the  white  cheated  the  Indian  right  and  left,  lied  to  him, 
robbed  him,  enslaved  him,  gave  him  rum  with  malice  prepense.  Against 
the  cruelties  of  the  Indians  are  to  be  set  the  retaliations  in  kind  of  the  whites. 
Frontenac  burned  prisoners  at  the  stake  in  1692  (though  the  French  in  general 
treated  the  Indian  with  the  greatest  consideration  and  got  on  best  with  him) ; 
in  1764  the  grandson  of  William  Penn  offered  bounties  for  scalps,  including 
$50  for  the  scalp  of  an  Indian  woman,  and  $130  for  the  scalp  of  an  Indian 
boy  under  ten  years  old.  It  was  a  common  thing  for  the  whites  to  kill  all 
their  prisoners,  and  again  it  must  be  ren;embered  what  unspeakable  atrocities 
were  practised  in  Europe  at  the  capture  of  a  European  city  by  Europeans, 
of  Netherland  towns  by  the  Spanish  for  example,  and  of  the  Christian  city 
of  Constantinople  by  the  holy  crusaders.  And  the  sum  total  of  Indian  atro- 

cities is  almost  negligible  in  comparison  with  the  superhuman  ruthlessness 
of  the  Spaniards,  who,  as  we  shall  see  in  the  next  chapter,  absolutely  anni- 

hilated whole  tribes  of  Indians.  And  even  in  the  years  since  the  white  has 
put  the  Indian  under  such  control  that  he  is  no  longer  a  serious  danger,  the 
treatment  of  him  has  been  by  no  means  such  as  to  show  that  honesty,  mercy, 
and  truth  are  the  exclusive  importation  of  Em-opean  civilisation. 

As  a  whole,  then,  the  Indian  has  been  like  everyone  else.  His  environ- 
ment moulded  him  and  yet  he  was  slowly  rising  in  civilisation.  He  was  a 

mixture  of  good  impulses  and  bad,  and  they  took  turns  in  control  of  his  action. 
Few  things  in  history  are  more  hideous  than  certain  of  his  deeds,  and  few 
things  are  more  beautiful  than  others.  About  him  there  has  grown  up  a  dual 
school  of  literature :  the  poetic  phase,  of  Chateaubriand,  Cooper  and  Long- 

fellow, and  the  cynical  which  denies  him  any  praise  whatever.  There  are 
truth  and  falsehood  in  about  equal  proportion  in  each  phase.  The  real  Indian 
oscillated  between  the  sublime  and  the  ridiculous  as  did  the  knights  errant  of 
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the  Middle  Ages.  MeanwhUe,  we  have  him  to  thank  for  adding  to  historv 
one  of  its  most  interesting  phases.  A  simamary  of  the  prmcipal  tribal  divi- 

sions of  the  Indian  population  is  desirable.** 

THWAITES  '  ON  THE  INDIAN  TRIBES  AND  THEIE  NUMBERS 

The  North  Americans  presented  a  considerable  variety  of  types,  ranging 
from  the  southern  Indians,  some  of  whose  tribes  were  rather  above  the  Caribs 
in  material  advancement,  and  quite  superior  to  them  in  mental  calibre,  down 
to  the  Diggers,  the  savage  root-eaters  of  the  Cordilleran  region. 

The  migrations  of  some  of  the  Red  Indian  tribes  were  frequent,  and  they 
occupied  overlapping  territories,  so  that  it  is  impossible  to  fix  the  tribal 
boundaries  with  any  degree  of  exactness.    Again,  the  tribes  were  so  merged 

by  intermarriage,  by  affiliation,  by  consolidation, 
by  the  fact  that  there  were  numerous  polyglot  vil- 

lages of  renegades,  by  similarities  in  manner,  hab- 
its, and  appearance,  that  it  is  difficult  even  to  sep- 

arate the  savages  into  families.  It  is  only  on  philo- 
logical groimds  that  these  divisions  can  be  made  at 

all.  In  a  general  way  we  may  say  that  between  the 
Atlantic  and  the  Rockies,  Hudson  Bay  and  the 
Gulf  of  Mexico,  there  were  four  Indian  languages  in 
vogue,  with  great  varieties  of  local  dialect. 

The  Algonquins  were  the  most  numerous,  hold- 
ing the  greater  portion  of  the  country  from  the  un- 

occupied "debatable  land"  of  Kentucky  north- 
ward to  Hudson  Bay,  and  from  the  Atlantic  west- 
ward to  the  Mississippi.  Among  their  tribes  were 

the  Narragansetts  and  Mohicans.  These  savages 
were  rude  in  life  and  manners,  were  intensely  war- 

like, depended  for  subsistence  chiefly  on  hunting 
and  fishing,  lived  in  rude  wigwams  covered  with 
bark,  skins,  or  matted  reeds,  practised  agriculture 
in  a  crude  fashion,  and  were  less  stable  in  their 
habitations  than  the  southern  Indians.  They  have 

made  a  larger  figure  in  our  history  than  any  other  family,  because  through  their 
lands  came  the  heaviest  and  most  aggressive  movement  of  white  population. 
Estimates  of  early  Indian  populations  necessarily  differ,  in  the  absence  of 
accurate  knowledge,  but  it  is  now  known  that  the  numbers  were  never  so 
great  as  was  at  first  estimated.  The  colonists  on  the  Atlantic  seaboard  found 
a  native  population  much  larger,  than  elsewhere  existed,  for  the  Indians  had 
a  superstitious,  almost  a  romantic,  attachment  to  the  seaside;  and  fish-food 
abounded  there.  Back  from  the  waterfalls  on  the  Atlantic  slope' — in  the 
mountains  and  beyond  —  there  were  large  areas  destitute  of  inhabitants; 
and  even  in  the  nominally  occupied  territory  the  villages  were  generally  small 
and  far  apart.  A  careful  modem  estimate  is  that  the  Algonquins  at  no  time 
numbered  over  ninety  thousand  souls,  and  possibly  not  over  fifty  thousand. 

In  the  heart  of  this  Algonquin  land  was  planted  the  ethnic  group  called 
the  Iroquois,  with  its  several  distinct  branches,  often  at  war  with  each  other. 
The  craftiest,  most  daring,  and  most  intelligent  of  Red  Indians,  yet  still  in 
the  savage  hunter  state,  the  Iroquois  were  the  terror  of  every  native  band 
east  of  the  Mississippi,  and  eventually  pitted  themselves  against  their  white 

['Beproduced  by  permission.    Copyright,  1897.  by  Longmans,  Green,  &  Co.] 

A  Sioux  Indian 
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neighbours.  The  five  principal  tribes  of  this  family  —  Mohawks,  Oneidas, 
Onondagas,  Cayugas,  and  Senecas,  all  stationed  in  palisaded  vUlages  south 
and  east  of  lakes  Erie  and  Ontario  —  formed  a  loose  confederacy,  styled  by 
themselves  "The  Long  House,"  and  by  the  whites  "The  Five  Nations," 
which  firmly  held  the  waterways  connecting  the  Hudson  river  and  the  Great 
Lakes.    The  population  of  the  entire  group  was  not  over  seventeen  thousand 
—  a  remarkably  small  number,  considering  the  active  part  they  played  in 
American  history,  and  the  control  which  they  exercised  through  wide  tracts 
of  Algonquin  territory.  Later  they  were  joined  by  the  Tuscaroras  from 
North  Carolina,  and  the  confederacy  was  thereafter  known  as  "The  Six 
Nations." 

The  southern  Indians  occupied  the  country  between  the  Tennessee  river 
and  the  Gulf,  the  Appalachian  ranges  and  the  Mississippi.  They  were  divided 
into  five  lax  confederacies  —  the  Cherokees,  Chickasaws,  Choctaws,  Creeks, 
and  Seminoles.  Of  a  milder  disposition  than  their  northern  cousins,  they 
were  rather  in  a  barbarous  than  a  savage  state.  The  Creeks,  in  particular, 
had  good  intellects,  were  fair  agriculturists,  and  quickly  adopted  many 
mechanic  and  rural  arts  from  their  white  neighbours;  so  that  by  the  time  of 
the  revolution  they  were  not  far  behind  the  small  white  proprietors  in  industrial 
or  domestic  methods.  In  the  Indian  Territory  of  to-day  the  descendants  of 
some  of  these  southern  Indians  are  good  farmers  and  herdsmen,  with  a  capa- 

city for  self-government  and  shrewd  business  dealing.  It  is  not  thought  that 
the  southern  tribes  ever  numbered  above  fifty  thousand  persons. 

The  Dakota  or  Sioux  family  occupied  for  the  most  part  the  coimtry  beyond 
the  Mississippi.  They  were  and  are  a  fierce,  high-strung  people,  are  genuine 
nomads,  and  war  appears  to  have  been  their  chief  occupation.  Before  the 
advent  of  the  Spaniards  they  were  foot-wanderers;  but  runaway  horses  came 
to  them  from  Mexico  and  from  the  exploring  expeditions  of  Narvaez,  Coronado, 
and  De  Soto,  and  very  early  in  the  historic  period  the  Indians  of  the  far 
western  plains  became  expert  horsemen,  attaining  a  degree  of  equestrian  skill 
equal  to  that  of  the  desert-dwelling  Arabs.  Outlying  bands  of  the  Dakolas 
once  occupied  the  greater  part  of  Wisconsin  and  northern  Illinois,  and  were, 
it  is  believed  by  competent  investigators,  one  of  the  various  tribes  of  mound- 
builders.  Upon  withdrawing  to  the  west  of  the  Mississippi,  they  left  behind 
them  one  of  their  tribes  —  the  Winnebagos  —  whom  Nicolet  found  (1634) 
resident  on  and  about  Green  Bay  of  Lake  Michigan,  at  peace  and  in  con- 

federacy with  the  Algonquins,  who  hedged  them  about.  Other  trans-Mis  ■ 
sissippi  nations  there  are,  but  they  are  neither  as  large  nor  of  such  historical 
importance  as  the  Dakotas. 

The  above  enumeration,  covering  the  territory  south  of  Hudson  Bay  and 
east  of  the  Rocky  Mountains,  embraces  those  savage  nations  with  which  the 
white  colonists  of  North  America  have  longest  been  in  contact.  North  and 
west  of  these  limits  were  and  are  other  aboriginal  tribes  of  the  same  race,  but 
materially  differing  from  those  to  whom  allusion  has  been  made,  as  well  as 
from  each  other,  in  speech,  stature,  feature,  and  custom.  These,  too,  lie, 
generally  speaking,  in  ethnological  zones.  North  of  British  Columbia  are  the 
fish-eating  and  filthy  Hyperboreans,  including  the  Eskimos  and  the  tribes 
of  Alaska  and  the  British  Northwest.     South  of  these  dwell  the  Colimibians 

—  the  aborigines  of  Oregon,  Washington,  and  British  Columbia  —  a  some- 
what higher  t5^e  than  the  Hyperboreans,  but  much  degenerated  from  con- 

tact with  whites.  The  Calif  ornians  are  settled  not  only  in  what  is  now  termed 
California,  but  stretch  back  irregularly  into  the  mountains  of  Oregon,  Idaho, 
Nevada,  and  Utah.<^ 
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FBANCI?    PABKMAN's'    ACCOUNT    OF    THE    INDIAN    LIFE    AND    CHARACTER 

The  Indian  is  a  true  child  of  the  forest  and  the  desert.  The  wastes  and 
solitudes  of  nature  are  his  congenial  home.  His  haughty  mind  is  imbued 
with  the  spirit  of  the  wilderness,  and  the  light  of  civilisation  falls  on  him 
with  a  blighting  power.  His  unruly  pride  and  untamed  freedom  are  in  har- 

mony with  the  lonely  mountains,  cataracts,  and  rivers  among  which  he  dwells; 
and  primitive  America,  with  her  savage  scenery  and  savage  men,  opens  to 
the  imagination  a  boimdless  world,  unmatched  in  wild  sublimity. 

The  Indians  east  of  the  Mississippi  may  be  divided  into  several  great 
families,  each  distinguished  by  a  radical  peculiarity  of  language.  In  their 
moral  and  intellectual,  their  social  and  political  state,  these  various  families 
exhibit  strong  shades  of  distinction;  but,  before  pointing  them  out,  I  shall 
indicate  a  few  prominent  characteristics,  which,  faintly  or  distinctly,  mark 
the  whole  in  common. 

All  are  alike  a  race  of  hunters,  sustaining  life  wholly,  or  in  part,  by  the 
fruits  of  the  chase.  Each  family  is  split  into  tribes;  and  these  tribes,  by  the 
exigencies  of  the  himter  life,  are  again  divided  into  sub-tribes,  bands,  or 
villages,  often  scattered  far  asunder,  over  a  wide  extent  of  wilderness.  Un- 

happily for  the  strength  and  harmony  of  the  Indian  race,  each  tribe  is  prone 
to  regard  itself,  not  as  the  member  of  a  great  whole,  but  as  a  sovereign  and 
independent  nation,  often  arrogating  to  itself  an  importance  superior  to  all 

the  rest  of  mankind;^  and  the  warrior  whose  petty  horde  might  muster  a 
few  scores  of  half-starved  fighting  men,  strikes  his  hand  upon  his  heart,  and 
exclaims,  in  all  the  pride  of  patriotism,  "I  am  a  Menomone." 

In  an  Indian  conmiunity,  each  man  is  his  own  master.  He  abhors  restraint 
and  owns  no  other  authority  than  his  own  capricious  wiU;  and  yet  this  wild 
notion  of  liberty  is  not  consistent  with  certain  gradations  of  rank  and  influ- 

ence. Each  tribe  has  its  sachem,  or  civil  chief,  whose  office  is  in  a  manner 
hereditary,  and,  among  many,  though  by  no  means  among  all  tribes,  de- 

scends in  the  female  line;  so  that  the  brother  of  the  incumbent,  or  the  son  of  his 

sister,  and  not  of  his  own  son,  is  the  rightful  successor  to  his  dignities.'  If,  how- 
ever, in  the  opinion  of  the  old  men  and  subordinate  chiefs,  the  heir  should  be 

disqualified  for  the  exercise  of  the  office  by  cowardice,  incapacity,  or  any  defect 
of  character,  they  do  not  scruple  to  discard  him,  and  elect  another  in  his 
place,  usually  fixing  their  choice  on  one  of  his  relatives.  The  office  of  the 
sachem  is  no  enviable  one.  He  has  neither  laws  to  administer  nor  power  to 
enforce  his  commands.  His  counsellors  are  the  inferior  chiefs  and  principal 
men  of  the  tribe;  and  he  never  sets  himself  in  opposition  to  the  popular  wiU, 
which  is  the  sovereign  power  of  these  savage  democracies.  His  province  is 
to  advise,  and  not  to  dictate;  but,  should  he  be  a  man  of  energy,  talent,  and 
address,  and  especially  should  he  be  supported  by  numerous  relatives  and 
friends,  he  may  often  acquire  no  small  measure  of  respect  and  power.    A 

[■  Perhaps  no  one  has  known  the  Indians  or  their  homes  better  than  Francis  Parkman,  who 
lived  among  them  in  the  wilderness,  sympathised  both  with  their  patriotism  to  their  tribes 
and  with  the  civilisation  that  shackled  them  ;  who  hunted  out  their  records  with  indefatigable 
zeal  in  book  and  manuscript,  and  who  wrote  so  brilliantly  that  John  Fiske  '  was  moved  to  call 
him  "incomparably  the  greatest  historian  that  America  has  produced."  From  his  description 
of  the  Indian  character  we  shall  quote  liberally.] 

'  Many  Indian  tribes  bear  names  which  in  their  dialect  signify  men,  indicating  that  the 
character  belongs,  par  excellence,  to  them.  Sometimes  the  word  was  used  by  itself,  and  some- 

times an  adjective  was  joined  with  it,  as  original  men,  men  surpassing  all  others. 

'The  dread  of  female  infidelity  has  been  assigned,  and  with  probable  truth,  as  the  origin 
of  this  custom.  The  sons  of  a  chief's  sister  must  necessarily  be  his  kindred  ;  though  his  own 
reputed  son  may  be,  in  fact,  the  ofEspring  of  another, 
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clear  distinction  is  drawn  between  the  civil  and  military  authority,  though 
both  are  often  united  in  the  same  person.  The  functions  of  war-chief  may, 
for  the  most  part,  be  exercised  by  any  one  whose  prowess  and  reputation  are 
sufficient  to  induce  the  young  men  to  follow  him  to  battle;  and  he  may, 
whenever  he  thinks  proper,  raise  a  band  of  volunteers,  and  go  out  against 
the  common  enemy. 

We  might  imagine  that  a  society  so  loosely  framed  would  soon  resolve 
itself  into  anarchy;  yet  this  is  not  the  case,  and  an  Indian  village  is  singularly 
free  from  wranglings  and  petty  strife.  Several  causes  conspire  to  this  result. 
The  necessities  of  the  hunter  life,  preventing  the  accumulation  of  large  com- 

munities, make  more  stringent  organization  needless;  while  a  species  of  self- 
control,  inculcated  from  childhood  upon  every  individual,  enforced  by  a  senti- 

ment of  dignity  and  manhood,  and  greatly  aided  by  the  peculiar  temperament 
of  the  race,  tends  strongly  to  the  promotion  of  harmony.  Though  he  owns 
no  law,  the  Indian  is  inflexible  in  his  adherence  to  ancient  usages  and  cus- 

toms; and  the  principle  of  hero-worship,  which  belongs  to  his  nature,  inspires 
him  with  deep  respect  for  the  sages  and  captains  of  his  tribe.  The  very  rude- 

ness of  his  condition,  and  the  absence  of  the  passions  which  wealth,  luxury, 
and  the  other  incidents  of  civilisation  engender,  are  favourable  to  internal  har- 

mony; and  to  the  same  cause  must  likewise  be  ascribed  too  many  of  his  vir- 
tues, which  would  quickly  vanish,  were  he  elevated  from  his  savage  state. 

A  peculiar  social  institution  exists  among  the  Indians,  highly  curious  in 
its  character;  and  though  I  am  not  prepared  to  say  that  it  may  be  traced 
through  all  the  tribes  east  of  the  Mississippi,  yet  its  prevalence  is  so  general, 
and  its  influence  on  political  relations  so  important,  as  to  claim  especial  atten- 

tion. Indian  communities,  independently  of  their  local  distribution  into 
tribes,  bands,  and  villages,  are  composed  of  several  distinct  clans.  Each 
clan  has  its  emblem,  consisting  of  the  figure  of  some  bird,  beast,  or  reptile; 
and  each  is  distinguished  by  the  name  of  the  animal  which  it  thus  bears  as 
its  device;  as,  for  example,  the  clan  of  the  Wolf,  the  Deer,  the  Otter,  or  the 
Hawk.  In  the  language  of  the  Algonquins,  these  emblems  are  known  by  the 
name  of  Totems}  The  members  of  the  same  clan,  being  connected,  or  sup- 

posed to  be  so,  by  ties  of  kindred,  more  or  less  remote,  are  prohibited  from 
mtermarriage.  Thus  Wolf  cannot  marry  Wolf;  but  he  may,  if  he  chooses, 
take  a  wife  from  the  clan  of  the  Hawks,  or  any  other  clan  but  his  own.  It 
follows  that  when  this  prohibition  is  rigidly  observed,  no  single  clan  can  live 
apart  from  the  rest;  but  the  whole  must  be  mingled  together,  and  in  every 
family  the  husband  and  wife  must  be  of  different  clans. 

To  different  totems  attach  different  degrees  of  rank  and  dignity;  and 
those  of  the  Bear,  the  Tortoise,  and  the  Wolf  are  among  the  first  in  honour. 
Each  man  is  proud  of  his  badge,  jealously  asserting  its  claims  to  respect;  and 
the  members  of  the  same  clan,  though  they  may,  perhaps,  speak  different 
dialects,  and  dwell  far  asunder,  are  yet  bound  together  by  the  closest  ties  of 
fraternity.  If  a  man  is  killed,  every  member  of  the  clan  feels  called  upon  to 
avenge  him;  and  the  wayfarer,  the  himter,  or  the  warrior  is  sure  of  a  cordial 
welcome  in  the  distant  lodge  of  the  clansman  whose  face  perhaps  he  has  never 
seen.    It  may  be  added  that  certain  privileges,  highly  prized  as  hereditary 

'  See  Schoolcraft,  ■''  Oneota.  The  extraordinary  figures  intended  to  represent  tortoises, 
deer,  snakes,  and  other  animals,  which  are  often  seen  appended  to  Indian  treaties,  are  the  totems 
of  the  chiefs,  who  employ  these  devices  of  their  respective  clans  as  their  sign  manual.  The 
device  of  his  clan  is  also  sometimes  tattooed  on  the  body  of  the  warrior.  The  word  tribe  might, 
perhaps,  have  been  employed  with  as  much  propriety  as  that  of  clan,  to  indicate  the  totemic 
division ;  but  as  the  former  is  constantly  employed  to  represent  the  local  or  political  divisions  of 
tUe  Indian  race,  hopeless  confusion  would  arise  from  using  it  in  a  double  capacity. 
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rights,  sometimes  reside  in  particular  clans;  such  as  that,  of  furnishing  a 
sachem  to  the  tribe,  or  of  performing  certain  religious  ceremonies  or  magic 
rites. 

The  Indians  east  of  the  Mississippi  may  be  divided  into  three  great  fam- 
ilies; the  Iroquois,  the  Algonquin,  and  the  MobiUan,  each  speaking  a  language 

of  its  own,  varied  by  numerous  dialectic  forms.  To  these  families  must  be 
added  a  few  stragglers  from  the  great  western  race  of  the  Dakota,  besides 
several  distinct  tribes  of  the  south,  each  of  which  has  been  regarded  as  speak- 

ing a  tongue  peculiar  to  itself.  The  Mobilian  group  embraces  the  motley 
confederacy  of  the  Creeks,  the  crafty  Choctaws,  and  the  staimch  and  warlike 
Chickasaws.  Of  these,  and  of  the  distinct  tribes  dwelling  in  their  vicinity,  or 
within  their  limits,  I  shall  only  observe  that  they  offer,  with  many  modifica- 

tions, and  under  different  aspects,  the  same  essential  features  which  mark  the 
Iroquois  and  the  Algonquins,  the  two  great  families  of  the  north.  The  latter, 
who  were  the  conspicuous  actors  in  the  events  of  the  ensuing  narrative, 
demand  a  closer  attention. 

Foremost  in  war,  foremost  in  eloquence,  foremost  in  their  savage  arts  of 
policy,  stood  the  fierce  people  called  by  themselves  the  Hodenosaunee,  and 
by  the  French  the  Iroquois,  a  name  which  has  since  been  applied  to  the  entire 
family  of  which  they  formed  the  dominant  member.^  They  extended  their 
conquests  and  their  depredations  from  Quebec  to  the  Carolinas,  and  from  the 
western  prairies  to  the  forests  of  Maine.^  On  the  south,  they  forced  tribute 
from  the  subjugated  Delawares,  and  pierced  the  mountain  fastnesses  of  the 
Cherokees  with  incessant  forays.^  On  the  north,  they  uprooted  the  ancient 
settlements  of  the  Wyandots;  on  the  west  they  exterminated  the  Eries  and 
the  Andantes  [Conestogas],  and  spread  havoc  and  dismay  among  the  tribes 
of  the  Illinois;  and  on  the  east,  the  Indians  of  New  England  fled  at  the  first 
peal  of  the  Mohawk  war-cry.  Nor  was  it  the  Indian  race  alone  who  quailed 
before  their  ferocious  valour.  All  Canada  shook  with  the  desolating  fury  of 
their  onset;  the  people  fled  to  the  forts  for  refuge;  the  blood-besmeared  con- 

querors roamed  like  wolves  among  the  burning  settlements,  and  the  youthful 
colony  trembled  on  the  brink  of  ruin. 

The  Iroquois  in  some  measure  owed  their  triimiphs  to  the  position  of  their 
country;  for  they  dwelt  within  the  present  limits  of  the  state  of  New  York, 
whence  several  great  rivers  and  the  inland  oceans  of  the  northern  lakes  opened 

>  A  great  difficulty  in  the  study  of  Indian  history  arises  from  a  redundancy  of  names  em- 
ployed to  designate  the  same  tribe ;  yet  this  does  not  prevent  the  same  name  from  being  often 

used  to  designate  two  or  more  different  tribes.  The  following  are  the  chief  of  those  which 
are  applied  to  the  Iroquois  by  different  writers,  French,  English,  and  German  :  Iroquis,  Five, 
and  afterwards  Six  Nations ;  Confederates,  Hodenosaunee,  Aquanuscioni,  Aggonnonshioni, 
Ongwe  Honwe,  Mengwe,  Maquas,  Mahaquase,  Massawomecs,  Palenachendchiesktajeet.  The 
name  of  Massawomecs  has  been  applied  to  several  tribes  ;  and  that  of  Mingoes  is  often  restricted 
to  a  colony  of  the  Iroquois  which  established  itself  near  the  Ohio. 

'  Francois,  a  well-known  Indian  belonging  to  the  remnant  of  the  Penobscots  living  at  Old 
Town,  in  Maine,  told  me,  in  the  summer  of  1843,  that  a  tradition  was  current,  among  his  peo- 

ple, of  their  being  attacked  in  ancient,  times  by  the  Mohawks,  or,  as  he  called  them,  Mohogs, 
a  tribe  of  the  Iroquois,  who  destroyed  one  of  their  villages,  killed  the  men  and  women,  and 
roasted  the  small  children  on  forked  sticks,  like  apples,  before  the  fire.  When  he  began  to  tell 
his  story,  Franjois  was  engaged  in  patching  an  old  canoe,  in  preparation  for  a  moose  hunt ;  but 
soon  growing  warm  with  his  recital,  he  gave  over  his  work,  and  at  the  conclusion  exclaimed 
with  great  wrath  and  earnestness,  "  Mohog  all  devil  1 " 

'  The  tribute  exacted  from  the  Delawares  consisted  of  wampum,  or  beads  of  shell,  an 
article  of  inestimable  value  with  the  Indians.  ' '  Two  old  men  commonly  go  about,  every  year 
or  two,  to  receive  this  tribute ;  and  I  have  often  had  opportunity  to  observe  what  anxiety  the 
Foor  Indians  were  under,  while  these  two  old  men  remained  in  that  part  of  the  country  where 

was.     An  old  Mohawk  sachem,  in  a  poor  blanket  and  a  dirty  shirt,  may  be  seen  issuing  his 
orders  with  as  arbitrary  an  authority  as  a  Boman  dictator."  —  CoiiDEN.» 
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ready  thoroughfares  to  their  roving  warriors  through  all  the  adjacent  wilder- 
ness. But  the  true  fountain  of  their  success  is  to  be  sought  in  their  own 

inherent  energies,  wrought  to  the  most  effective  action  under  a  political  fabric 
well  suited  to  the  Indian  life;  in  their  mental  and  moral  organisation;  in 
their  insatiable  ambition  and  restless  ferocity. 

In  their  scheme  of  government,  as  in  their  social  customs  and  religious 
observances,  the  Iroquois  displayed,  in  full  s3Tnmetry  and  matured  strength, 
the  same  characteristics  which  in  other  tribes  are  found  distorted,  withered, 
decayed  to  the  root,  or,  perhaps,  faintly  visible  in  an  imperfect  germ.  They 
consisted  of  five  tribes  or  nations  —  the  Mohawks,  the  Oneidas,  the  Onon- 
dagas,  the  Cayugas,  and  the  Senecas,  to  whom  a  sixth,  the  Tuscaroras,  was 
afterwards  added.'  To  each  of  these  tribes  belonged  an  organisation  of  its 
own.  Each  had  several  sachems,  who,  with  the  subordinate  chiefs  and  prin- 

cipal men,  regulated  all  its  internal  affairs;  but,  when  foreign  powers  were  to 
be  treated  with,  or  matters  involving  the  whole  confederacy  required  deliber- 

ation, all  the  sachems  of  the  several  tribes  convened  in  general  assembly  at 
the  great  council-house,  in  the  valley  of  Onondaga.  Here  ambassadors  were 
received,  alliances  were  adjusted,  and  all  subjects  of  general  interest  discussed 
with  exemplary  harmony.^  The  order  of  debate  was  prescribed  by  time- 
honoured  customs,  and,  in  the  fiercest  heat  of  controversy,  the  assembly 
maintained  its  iron  self-control. 

But  the  main  stay  of  Iroquois  poUty  was  the  system  of  totemship.  It  was 
this  which  gave  the  structm-e  its  elastic  strength;  and  but  for  this,  a  mere  con- 

federacy of  jealous  and  warlike  tribes  must  soon  have  been  rent  asunder  by 
shocks  from  without  or  discord  from  within.  At  some  early  period,  the  Iro- 

quois must  have  formed  an  individual  nation;  for  the  whole  people,  irrespec- 
tive of  their  separation  into  tribes,  consisted  of  eight  totemic  clans;  and  the 

members  of  each  clan,  to  what  nation  soever  they  belonged,  were  mutually 
bound  to  one  another  by  those  close  ties  of  fraternity  which  mark  this  singular 
institution.  Thus  the  five  nations  of  the  confederacy  were  laced  together  by 
an  eight-fold  band;  and  to  this  hour  their  slender  remnants  cUng  to  one 
another  with  invincible  tenacity. 

It  was  no  small  security  to  the  liberties  of  the  Iroquois  —  liberties  which 
they  valued  beyond  any  other  possession  —  that  by  the  Indian  custom  of 
descent  in  the  female  line,  which  among  them  was  more  rigidly  adhered  to 
than  elsewhere,  the  office  of  the  sachem  must  pass,  not  to  his  son,  but  to  his 

brother,  his  sister's  son,  or  some  yet  remoter  kinsman.    His  power  was  con- 
'  The  following  are  synonymous  names,  gathered  from  various  writers :  Mohawks,  Anies, 

Agniers,  Agnierrhonons,  Sankhicans,  Canungas,  Mauguawogs,  Ganeagaonoh,  Oneidas,  Oneotas, 
Onoyats,'Anoyints,  Onneiouts,  Oaeyyotecarouoh,  Onoiochrhonons,  Onondagas,  Onnontagues, 
Onondagaonohs,  Cayugas,  Caiyoquos,  Goiogoens,  Gweugwehonoh,  Senecas,  Sinnikes,  Chen- 
nessies,  Genesees,  Chenandoanes,  Tsonnontouans,  Jenontowanos,  Nundawaronoh. 

'  "  In  the  year  1745,  August  Gottlieb  Spangenburg,  a  bishop  of  the  United  Brethren,  spent 
several  weeks  in  Onondaga,  and  frequently  attended  the  great  council.  The  council-house  was 
built  of  bark.  On  each  side  six  seats  were  placed,  each  containing  six  persons.  No  one  was 
admitted  besides  the  members  of  the  council,  except  a  few  who  were  particularly  honored.  If 
one  rose  to  speak,  all  the  rest  sat  in  profound  silence.  Smoking  their  pipes.  The  speaker 
uttered  his  words  in  a  singing  tone,  always  rising  a  few  notes  at  the  close  of  each  sentence. 

Whatever  was  pleasing  to  the  council  was  confirmed  by  all  with  the  word  nee,  or  ' '  yes. "  And, 
at  the  end  of  each  speech,  the  whole  company  joined  in  applauding  the  speaker  by  calling  hoho. 
At  noon,  two  men  entered  bearing  a  large  kettle  fiUed  with  meat,  upon  a  pole  across  their 
shoulders,  which  was  first  presented  to  the  guests.  A  large  wooden  ladle,  as  broad  and  deep 
as  a  common  bowl,  hung  with  a  hook  to  the  side  of  the  kettle,  with  which  every  one  might  at 
once  help  himself  to  as  much  as  he  could  eat.  W^hen  the  guests  had  eaten  their  fill,  they 
begged  the  counsellors  to  do  the  same.  The  whole  was  conducted  in  a  very  decent  and  quiet 
manner.  Indeed,  now  and  then,  one  or  the  other  would  lie  flat  upon  his  back  to  rest  himself, 

and  sometimes  they  would  stop,  joke,  and  laugh  heartily."  —  Loskikl.  ^ 
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stantly  deflected  into  the  collateral  branches  of  his  family;  and  thus  one  of 

the  strongest  temptations  of  ambition  was  cut  off.-  The  Iroquois  had  no 
laws;  but  they  had  ancient  customs  which  took  the  place  of  laws.  Each  man, 
or  rather,  each  clan,  was  the  avenger  of  its  own  wrongs;  but  the  manner  of 
the  retahation  was  fixed  by  established  usage.  The  tribal  sachems,  and  even 
the  great  council  at  Onondaga,  had  no  power  to  compel  the  execution  of  their 

decrees;  yet  they  were  looked  up  to  with  a  respect  which  the  soldier's  bayonet 
or  the  sheriff's  staff  would  never  have  commanded;  and  it  is  highly  to  the 
honour  of  the  Indian  character  that  they  could  exact  so  great  an  authority 

where  there  was  nothing  to  enforce  it  but  the  weight  of  moral  power.' 
The  origin  of  the  Iroquois  is  lost  in  hopeless  obscurity.  That  they  came 

from  the  west;  that  they  came  from  the  north;  that  they  sprang  from  the 
soil  of  New  York,  are  the  testimonies  of  three  conflicting  traditions,  all  equally 
worthless  as  aids  to  historic  inquiry.  It  is  at  the  era  of  their  confederacy  — 
the  event  to  which  the  five  tribes  owed  all  their  greatness  and  power,  and  to 
which  we  need  assign  no  remoter  date  than  that  of  a  century  before  the  first 
arrival  of  the  Dutch  in  New  York  —  that  faint  rays  of  light  begin  to  pierce 
the  gloom,  and  the  chaotic  traditions  of  the  earlier  epoch  mould  themselves 
into  forms  more  palpable  and  distinct. 

Taounyawatha,  the  God  of  the  Waters  —  such  is  the  belief  of  the  Iroquois 
—  descended  to  the  earth  to  instruct  his  favourite  people  in  the  arts  of  savage 
life;  and  when  he  saw  how  they  were  tormented  by  giants,  monsters,  and  evil 
spirits,  he  urged  the  divided  tribes,  for  the  common  defence,  to  band  them- 

selves together  in  an  everlasting  league.  While  the  injunction  was  as  yet 
imfulfilled,  the  sacred  messenger  was  recalled  to  the  Great  Spirit;  but,  before 
his  departure,  he  promised  that  another  should  appear,  empowered  to  instruct 
the  people  in  all  that  pertained  to  their  confederation.  And  accordingly,  as 
a  band  of  Mohawk  warriors  was  threading  the  funereal  labyrinth  of  an  ancient 
pine  forest,  they  heard,  amid  its  blackest  depths,  a  hoarse  voice  chanting  in 
measured  cadence;  and,  following  the  sound,  they  saw,  seated  among  the 
trees,  a  monster  so  hideous,  that,  one  and  all,  they  stood  benumbed  with 
terror.  His  features  were  wild  and  frightful.  He  was  encompassed  by  hissing 
rattlesnakes,  which,  Medusa-hke,  hung  writhing  from  his  head;  and  on  the 
ground  around  him  were  strewn  implements  of  incantation,  and  magic  vessels 
formed  of  hmnan  skulls.  Recovering  from  their  amazement,  the  warriors 
could  perceive  that  in  the  mystic  words  of  the  chant,  which  he  stiU  poured 
forth,  were  couched  the  laws  and  principles  of  the  destined  confederacy.  The 
tradition  further  declares  that  the  monster,  being  surrounded  and  captured, 
was  presently  transformed  to  human  shape,  that  he  became  a  chief  of  tran- 

•  The  descent  of  the  sachemship  in  the  female  line  was  a  custom  universally  prevalent 
among  the  Five  Nations,  or  Iroquois  proper.  Since,  among  Indian  tribes  generally,  the  right 
of  furnishing  a  sachem  was  vested  in  some  particular  totemic  clan,  it  results  of  course  that  the 
descent  of  the  sachemship  must  follow  the  descent  of  the  totem ;  that  is,  if  the  totemship 
descend  in  the  female  line,  the  sachemship  must  do  the  same.  This  custom  of  descent  in  the 
female  line  prevailed  not  only  among  the  Iroquois  proper,  but  also  among  the  Wyandots,  and 
probably  among  the  Andastes  and  the  Eries,  extinct  members  of  the  great  Iroquois  family. 
Thus,  among  any  of  these  tribes,  when  a  Wolf  warrior  married  a  Hawk  squaw,  their  children 
were  Hawks,  and  not  Wolves.  With  the  Creeks  of  the  south,  according  to  the  observations 
of  Hawkins,*  the  rule  was  the  same ;  but  among  the  Algonquins,  on  the  contrary,  or  at  least 
among  the  northern  branches  of  this  family,  the  reverse  took  place,  the  totemships,  and  con- 

sequently the  chieftainships,  descending  in  the  male  line,  after  the  analogy  of  civilised  nations. 
'  Morgan^  is  of  opinion  that  these  institutions  were  the  result  of  "  a  protracted  effort  of 

legislation."  An  examination  of  the  customs  prevailing  among  other  IncUan  tribes  makes  it 
probable  that  the  elements  of  the  Iroquois  policy  existed  among  them  from  an  indefinite  an- 

tiquity ;  and  the  legislation  of  which  Morgan  speaks  could  only  involve  the  arrangement  and 
adjustment  of  already  esistiog  mateiials. 
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scendent  wisdom  and  prowess,  and  to  the  day  of  his  death  ruled  the  councils 
of  the  now  united  tribes.  Ever  afterwards  the  presiding  sachem  of  the  council 
at  Onondaga  inherits  from  him  the  honoured  name  of  Atotarho. 

The  traditional  epoch  which  preceded  the  auspicious  event  of  the  confed- 
eracy, though  wrapped  in  clouds  and  darkness,  and  defying  historic  scrutiny, 

has  yet  a  character  and  meaning  of  its  own.  The  gloom  is  peopled  thick  with 
phantoms;  with  monsters  and  prodigies,  shapes  of  wild  enormity,  yet  offering 
in  the  Teutonic  strength  of  their  conception,  the  evidence  of  a  robustness  of 
mind  imparalleled  among  tribes  of  a  different  lineage.  In  those  evil  days, 
the  scattered  and  divided  Iroquois  were  beset  with  every  form  of  perU  and 
disaster.  Giants,  cased  in  armour  of  stone,  descended  on  them  from  the 
mountains  of  the  north.  Huge  beasts  trampled  down  their  forests  like  fields 
of  grass.  Human  heads,  with  streaming  hair  and  glaring  eyeballs,  shot 
through  the  air  like  meteors,  shedding  pestilence  and  death  throughout  the 
land.  A  great  horned  serpent  rose  from  Lake  Ontario;  and  only  the  thunder- 

bolts of  the  skies  could  stay  his  ravages,  and  drive  him  back  to  his  native 
deeps.  The  skeletons  of  men,  victims  of  some  monster  of  the  forest,  were 
seen  swimming  in  the  Lake  of  Teungktoo;  and  around  the  Seneca  village 
on  the  hill  of  Genundewah,  a  two-headed  serpent  coiled  himself,  of  size  so 
monstrous  that  the  wretched  people  were  unable  to  ascend  his  scaly  sides, 
and  perished  in  multitudes  by  his  pestilential  breath.  Mortally  wounded  at 
length  by  the  magic  arrow  of  a  child,  he  rolled  down  the  steep,  sweeping  away 
the  forest  with  his  writhings,  and  plunging  into  the  lake  below,  where  he 
lashed  the  black  waters  till  they  boiled  with  blood  and  foam,  and  at  length, 
exhausted  with  his  agony,  sunk,  and  perished  at  the  bottom.  Under  the 
falls  of  Niagara  dwelt  the  Spirit  of  the  Thunder,  with  his  brood  of  giant  sons; 
and  the  Iroquois  trembled  in  their  villages  when,  amid  the  blackening  shadows 
of  the  storm  they  heard  his  deep  shout  roll  along  the  firmament. 

The  energy  of  fancy,  whence  these  barbarous  creations  drew  their  birth, 
displayed  itself,  at  a  later  period,  in  that  peculiar  eloquence  which  the  wild 
democracy  of  the  Iroquois  tended  to  call  forth,  and  to  which  the  mountain 
and  the  forest,  the  torrent  and  the  storm,  lent  their  stores  of  noble  imagery. 

'That  to  this  imaginative  vigour  was  joined  mental  power  of  a  different  stamp, is  witnessed  by  the  caustic  irony  of  Garangula  and  Sagoyewatha,  and  no  less 
by  the  subtle  policy,  sagacious  as  it  was  treacherous,  which  marked  the  deal- 

ings of  the  Iroquois  with  surroimding  tribes.' 
With  all  this  intellectual  superiority,  the  arts  of  life  among  them  had  not 

■emerged  from  their  primitive  rudeness;  and  their  coarse  pottery,  their  spear 
and  arrow  heads  of  stone,  were  in  no  way  superior  to  those  of  many  other 
tribes.  Their  agriciilture  deserves  a  higher  praise.  In  1696,  the  invading 
army  of  Count  Frontenac  found  the  maize  fields  extending  a  league  and  a  half 
or  two  leagues  from  their  villages;  and,  in  1779,  the  troops  of  General  Sullivan 
were  filled  with  amazement  at  their  abundant  stores  of  com,  beans,  and 
squashes,  and  at  the  ancient  apple  orchards  which  grew  aroimd  their  settle- 
ments. 

'  For  traditions  of  the  Iroquois  see  Schoolcraft,*  Cusick,'  and  Clark,™  Hist.  Onondaga,  L 
Cnsick  was  an  old  Tuscarora  Indian,  who,  being  disabled  by  an  accident  from  active  occupa- 

tions, essayed  to  become  the  historian  of  his  people,  and  produced  a  small  pamphlet,  written  in 
a  language  almost  unintelligible,  and  filled  with  a  medley  of  traditions  in  which  a  few  grains 
of  truth  are  inextricably  mingled  with  a  tangled  mass  of  absurdities.  He  relates  the  monstrous 

legends  of  his  people  with  an  air  of  implicit  faith,  and  traces  the  presiding  sachems  of  the_  con- 
federacy in  regular  descent  from  the  first  Atotarho  downwards.  His  work,  which  was  printed 

at  the  Tuscarora  village,  near  Lewiston,  in  1828,  is  illustrated  by  several  rude  engravings  rep- 
resenting the  stone  giants,  the  flying  heads,  and  other  traditional  monsters. 
BU  W.  —  VOL.  TXTT.  2li 
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Their  dwellings  and  works  of  defence  were  far  from  contemptible,  either  m 
their  dimensions  or  in  their  structiire;  and  though  by  the  several  attacks  of  the 
French,  and  especially  by  the  invasion  of  De  NonvUle,  in  1687,  and  of  Fronte- 
nac,  nine  years  later,  their  fortified  towns  were  levelled  to  the  earth,  never 
again  to  reappear;  yet,  in  the  works  of  Champlain"  and  other  early  writers 
we  find  abundant  evidence  of  their  pristine  condition.  Along  the  banks  of 
the  Mohawk,  among  the  hills  and  hollows  of  Onondaga,  in  the  forests  of 
Oneida  and  Cayuga,  on  the  romantic  shores  of  Seneca  Lake  and  the  rich 
borders  of  the  Genesee,  surrounded  by  waving  maize  fields,  and  encircled  from 
afar  by  the  green  margin  of  the  forest,  stood  the  ancient  strongholds  of  the 
confederacy.  The  clustering  dwellings  were  encompassed  by  palisades,  in 
single,  double,  or  triple  rows,  pierced  with  loopholes,  furnished  with  platforms 
within,  for  the  convenience  of  the  defenders,  with  magazines  of  stones  to  hurl 
upon  the  heads  of  the  enemy,  and  with  water  conductors  to  extinguish  any 
fire  which  might  be  kindled  from  without. 

The  area  which  these  defences  enclosed  was  often  several  acres  in  extent, 
and  the  dwellings,  ranged  in  order  within,  were  sometimes  more  than  a  himdred 
feet  in  length.  Posts,  firmly  driven  into  the  ground,  with  an  intervening 
framework  of  poles,  formed  the  basis  of  the  structiu-e;  and  its  sides  and 
arched  roof  were  closely  covered  with  layers  of  elm  bark.  Each  of  the  larger 
dwellings  contained  several  distinct  families,  whose  separate  fires  were  built 
along  the  central  space,  while  compartments  on  each  side,  like  the  stalls  of  a 
stable,  afforded  some  degree  of  privacy.  Here,  rude  couches  were  prepared, 
and  bear  and  deer  skins  spread;  while  above,  the  ripened  ears  of  maize, 
suspended  in  rows,  formed  a  golden  tapestry. 

In  the  long  evenings  of  midwinter,  when  in  the  wilderness  without  the 
trees  cracked  with  biting  cold,  and  the  forest  paths  were  clogged  with  snow, 
then,  around  the  lodge-fires  of  the  Iroquois,  warriors,  squaws,  and  restless 
naked  children  were  clustered  in  social  groups,  each  dark  face  brightening  in 
the  fickle  firelight,  while,  with  jest  and  laugh,  the  pipe  passed  round  from 
hand  to  hand.  Perhaps  some  shrivelled  old  warrior,  the  story-teller  of  the 
tribe,  recounted  to  attentive  ears  the  deeds  of  ancient  heroism,  legends  of 
spirits  and  monsters,  or  tales  of  witches  and  vampires  —  superstitions  not  less 
rife  among  this  all-believing  race,  than  among  the  nations  of  the  transatlantic 
world. 

The  life  of  the  Iroquois,  though  void  of  those  multiplying  phases  which 
vary  the  routine  of  civilised  existence,  was  one  of  sharp  excitement  and  sudden 
contrast.  The  chase,  the  war-path,  the  dance,  the  festival,  the  game  of 
hazard,  the  race  of  political  ambition,  all  had  their  votaries.  When  the 
assembled  sachems  had  resolved  on  war  against  some  foreign  tribe,  and  when, 
from  their  great  coimcil-house  of  bark,  in  the  valley  of  Onondaga,  their 
messengers  had  gone  forth  to  invite  the  warriors  to  arms,  then  from  east  to 
west,  through  the  farthest  bounds  of  the  confederacy,  a  thousand  warlike 
hearts  caught  up  the  simmions  with  glad  alacrity.  With  fasting  and  praying, 
and  consulting  dreams  and  omens;  with  invoking  the  war  god,  and  dancing  the 
frantic  war-dance,  the  warriors  sought  to  insure  the  triumph  of  their  arms; 
and,  these  strange  rites  concluded,  they  began  then*  stealthy  progress,  full  of 
confidence,  through  the  devious  pathways  of  the  forest.  For  days  and  weeks, 
in  anxious  expectation,  the  villagers  await  the  result.  And  now,  as  evening 
closes,  a  shrill,  wild  ciy,  pealing  from  afar,  over  the  darkening  forest,  pro- 

claims the  return  of  the  victorious  warriors.  The  village  is  alive  with  sudden 
commotion;  and  snatching  sticks  and  stones,  knives  and  hatchets,  men, 
women,  and  children,  yelling  like  fiends  let  loose,  swarm  out  of  the  narrow 
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portal,  to  visit  upon  the  miserable  captives  a  foretaste  of  the  deadlier  torments 
in  store  for  them.  The  black  arches  of  the  forest  glow  with  the  fires  of  death; 
and  with  brandished  torch  and  firebrand  the  frenzied  multitude  close  around 
their  victim.  The  pen  shrinks  to  write,  the  heart  sickens  to  conceive,  the 
fierceness  of  his  agony;  yet  still,  amid  the  din  of  his  tormentors,  rises  his  clear 
voice  of  scorn  and  defiance.  The  work  is  done;  the  blackened  trunk  is  flung 
to  the  dogs,  and,  with  clamorous  shouts  and  hootings,  the  murderers  seek  to 
drive  away  the  spirit  of  their  victim.' 

The  Iroquois  reckoned  these  barbarities  among  their  most  exquisite  enjoy- 
ments; and  yet  they  had  other  sources  of  pleasure,  which  made  up  in  fre- 

quency and  in  iimocence  what  they  lacked  in  intensity.  Each  passing  season 
had  ite  feasts  and  dances,  often  mingling  religion  with  social  pastime.  The 
yoimg  had  their  frolics  and  merry-makings;  and  the  old  had  their  no  less 
frequent  councils,  where  conversation  and  laughter  alternated  with  grave 
deliberations  for  the  public  weal.  There  were  also  stated  periods  marked  by 
the  recurrence  of  momentous  ceremonies,  in  which  the  whole  community  took 
part  —  the  mystic  sacrifice  of  the  dogs,  the  orgies  of  the  dream  feast,  and  the 
loathsome  festival  of  the  exhumation  of  the  dead.  Yet  in  the  intervals  of 
war  and  hunting,  these  multiform  occupations  would  often  fail;  and,  while 
the  women  were  toiling  in  the  cornfields,  the  lazy  warriors  vainly  sought  relief 
from  the  scanty  resources  of  their  own  minds,  and  beguiled  the  hours  with 
smoking  or  sleeping,  with  gambling  or  gallantry. 

If  we  seek  for  a  single  trait  pre-eminently  characteristic  of  the  Iroquois, 
we  shall  find  it  in  that  boundless  pride  which  impelled  them  to  style  them- 

selves, not  inaptly  as  regards  their  own  race, "  the  men  surpassing  all  others."  ' 
"Must  I,"  exclaimed  one  of  their  great  warriors,  as  he  fell  wounded  among  a 
crowd  of  Algonquins  —  "  must  I,  who  have  made  the  whole  earth  tremble, 
now  die  by  the  hands  of  children?"  Their  power  kept  pace  with  their  pride. 
Their  war  parties  roamed  over  half  America,  and  their  name  was  a  terror  from 
the  Atlantic  to  the  Mississippi;  but,  when  we  ask  the  numerical  strength  of 
the  dreaded  confederacy,  when  we  discover  that,  in  the  days  of  their  greatest 
triimiphs,  their  united  cantons  could  not  have  mustered  four  thousand  war- 

riors, we  stand  amazed  at  the  folly  and  dissension  which  left  so  vast  a  region 
the  prey  of  a  handful  of  bold  marauders.  Of  the  cities  and  villages  now  so 
thickly  scattered  over  the  lost  domain  of  the  Iroquois,  a  single  one  might  boast 
a  more  numerous  population  than  all  the  five  united  tribes.^ 

From  this  remarkable  people,  who  with  all  the  ferocity  of  their  race  blended 

•  "  Being  at  this  place  the  17  of  June,  there  came  fifty  prisoners  from  the  south-westward. 
They  were  of  two  nations,  some  whereof  have  few  guns  ;  the  other  none  at  all.  One  nation  is 

about  ten  days'  journey  from  any  Christians,  and  trade  onely  with  one  greatt  house,  nott  farr 
from  the  sea,  and  the  other  trade  onely,  as  they  say,  with  a  black  people.  This  day  of  them 
was  burnt  two  women,  and  a  man  and  a  child  killed  with  a  stone.  Att  night  we  heard  a  great 
noyse  as  if  y*  houses  had  all  fallen,  butt  itt  was  only  ye  inhabitants  driving  away  y°  ghosts  of 
ye  murthered.  The  IS""  going  to  Canagorah,  that  day  there  were  most  cruelly  burnt  four  men, 
four  women  and  one  boy.  The  cruelty  lasted  aboutt  seven  hours.  When  they  were  almost 
dead  letting  them  loose  to  the  mercy  of  y»  boys,  and  taking  the  hearts  of  such  as  were  dead  to 
feast  on."  —  Gbbenhalgh." 

•  This  is  Golden 's  »  translation  of  the  word  Ongwehonwe,  one  of  the  names  of  the  Iroquois. 
•  La  Hon  tan  !>  estimated  the  Iroquois  at  from  five  thousand,  to  seven  thousand  fighting  men; 

but  his  means  of  information  were  very  imperfect,  and  the  same  may  be  said  of  several  other 
French  writers,  who  have  overrated  the  force  of  the  confederacy.  In  1677,  the  English  sent 
one  Greenhalgh  "  to  ascertain  their  numbers.  He  visited  all  their  towns  and  villages,  and  re- 

ported their  aggregate  force  at  two  thousand  one  hundred  and  fifty  fighting  men.  The  report 
of  Colonel  Coursey,  agent  from  Virginia,  at  about  the  same  period,  closely  corresponds  with 
this  statement.  Subsequent  estimates,  up  to  the  period  of  the  Revolution,  when  their  strength 
had  much  declined,  vary  from  twelve  hundred  to  two  thousand  one  hundred  and  twenty. 

Most  of  these  estimates  are  given  by  Clinton.a  and  several  by  Jefferson.'" 
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heroic  virtues  and  marked  endowments  of  intellect,  I  pass  to  other  members 
of  the  same  great  family,  whose  different  fortimes  may  perhaps  be  ascribed 
rather  to  the  force  of  circumstance,  than  to  any  intrinsic  inferiority. 

The  peninsula  between  the  lakes  Huron,  Erie,  and  Ontario  was  occupied 
by  two  distinct  peoples,  speaking  dialects  of  the  Iroquois  tongue.  The  Hurons 
or  Wyandots,  including  the  formidable  bands  called  by  the  French  the  Dionon- 
dadies,  or  Tobacco  Nation,'  dwelt  among  the  forests  which  bordered  the  eastern 
shores  of  the  fresh  water  sea,  to  which  they  have  left  their  name;  while  the 
Neutral  Nation,  so  called  from  their  neutrality  in  the  war  between  the  Hurons 
and  the  Five  Nations,  inhabited  the  northern  shores  of  Lake  Erie,  and  even 
extended  their  eastern  flank  across  the  strait  of  Niagara. 

The  population  of  the  Hurons  has  been  variously  stated  at  from  ten 
thousand  to  thirty  thousand  souls,  but  probably  did  not  exceed  the  former 
estimate.  The  Franciscans  and  the  Jesuits  were  early  among  them,  and  from 
their  copious  descriptions,  it  is  apparent  that,  in  legends  and  superstitions, 
manners  and  habits,  religious  observances  and  social  customs,  this  people 
were  closely  assimilated  to  their  brethren  of  the  Five  Nations.  Their  capa- 

cious dwellings  of  bark,  and  their  palisaded  forts,  seemed  copied  after  the 
same  model.  Like  the  Five  Nations  they  were  divided  into  tribes,  and  cross- 
divided  into  totemic  clans;  and,  as  with  them,  the  office  of  sachem  descended 
in  the  female  line.  The  same  crude  materials  of  a  political  fabric  were  to  be 
found  in  both;  but,  unlike  the  Iroquois,  the  Wyandots  had  not  as  yet  wrought 
them  into  a  system,  and  woven  them  mto  a  harmonious  whole. 

Like  the  Five  Nations,  the  Wyandots  were  in  some  measure  an  agricul- 
tural people;  they  bartered  the  surplus  products  of  their  maize  fields  to  sur- 

rounding tribes,  usually  receiving  fish  in  exchange;  and  this  traffic  was  so 
considerable,  that  the  Jesuits  styled  their  country  the  Granary  of  the  Algon- 
quins.^  Their  prosperity  was  rudely  broken  by  the  hostilities  of  the  Five 
Nations;  for  though  the  conflicting  parties  were  not  ill  matched  in  point  of 
numbers,  yet  the  united  coimsels  and  ferocious  energies  of  the  confederacy 
swept  all  before  them.  In  the  year  1649,  in  the  depth  of  winter,  their  war- 

riors invaded  the  country  of  the  Wyandots,  stormed  their  largest  villages,  and 
involved  all  within  in  indiscriminate  slaughter.  The  survivors  fled  in  panic 
terror,  and  the  whole  nation  was  dispersed  and  broken. 

Some  foimd  refuge  among  the  French  of  Canada,  where,  at  the  village  of 
Lorette,  near  Quebec,  their  descendants  still  remain;  others  were  incorpo- 

rated with  their  conquerors;  while  others  again  fled  northward,  beyond  Lake 
Superior,  and  sought  an  asylum  among  the  desolate  wastes  which  bordered 
on  the  northeastern  bands  of  the  Dakota.  Driven  back  by  those  fierce  bison- 
hunters,  they  next  established  themselves  about  the  outlet  of  Lake  Superior, 
and  the  shores  and  islands  in  the  northern  parts  of  Lake  Huron.  Thence, 
about  the  year  1680,  they  descended  to  Detroit,  where  they  formed  a  per- 

manent settlement,  and  where,  by  their  superior  valour,  capacity,  and 
address,  they  soon  acquired  a  marvellous  ascendancy  over  the  surrounding 
Algonquins. 

The  ruin  of  the  Neutral  Nation  followed  close  on  that  of  the  Wyandots, 
to  whom,  according  to  Jesuit  authority,  they  bore  an  exact  resemblance  in 
character  and  manners.    The  Senecas  soon  foimd  means  to  pick  a  quarrel 

>  Hurons,  Wyandots,  Yendots,  Ouendaets,  Quatogies.  The  Dionondadies  are  also  designated 
by  the  following  names :    Tionontatez,  Petuneux  —  Nation  of  Tobacco. 

'  Bancroft"  in  his  chapter  on  the  Indians  east  of  the  Mississippi,  falls  into  a  mistake  when 
he  says  that  no  trade  was  carried  on  by  any  of  the  tribes.  For  an  account  of  the  traffic  between 
the  Hurons  and  Algonquins  see  Mercier.' 
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with  them;  they  were  assailed  by  all  the  strength  of  the  insatiable  confed- 
eracy, and  within  a  few  years  their  destruction  as  a  nation  was  complete. 

South  of  Lake  Erie  dwelt  two  members  of  the  Iroquois  famUy.  The 
Andastes  built  their  fortified  villages  along  the  valleys  of  the  Alleghany  and 
the_  upper  Ohio;  while  the  Erigas,  or  Eries,  occupied  the  borders  of  the  lake 
which  still  retains  their  name.  Of  these  two  nations  little  is  known,  for  the 
Jesuits  had  no  missions  among  them,  and  few  traces  of  them  survive  beyond 
their  names  and  the  record  of  their  destruction.  The  war  with  the  Wyandots 
was  scarcely  over,  when  the  Five  Nations  turned  their  arms  against  their 
Erie  brethren. 

In  the  year  1655,  using  their  canoes  as  scaling  ladders,  they  stormed  the 
Erie  stronghold,  leaped  down  like  tigers  among  the  defenders,  and  butchered 
them  without  mercy.  The  greater  part  of  the  nation  was  involved  in  the 
massacre,  and  the  remnant  was  incorporated  with  the  conquerors,  or  with 
other  tribes,  to  which  they  fled  for  refuge.  The  ruin  of  the  Andastes  came 
next  in  turn;  but  this  brave  people  fought  for  twenty  years  against  their 
inexorable  assailants,  and  their  destruction  was  not  consiunmated  until  the 
year  1672,  when  they  shared  the  fate  of  the  rest. 

Thus,  within  less  than  a  quarter  of  a  century,  four  nations,  the  most  brave 
and  powerful  of  the  North  American  savages,  sank  before  the  arms  of  the 
confederates.  Nor  did  their  triimiphs  end  here.  Within  the  same  short 
space  they  subdued  their  southern  neighbours  the  Lenape,  the  leading  mem- 

bers of  the  Algonquin  family,  and  expelled  the  Ottawas,  a  numerous  people 
of  the  same  lineage,  from  the  borders  of  the  river  which  bears  their  name.  In 
the  north,  the  west,  and  the  south,  their  conquests  embraced  every  adjacent 
tribe;  and  meanwhile  their  war  parties  were  harassing  the  French  of  Canada 
with  reiterated  inroads,  and  yelling  the  war-whoop  under  the  very  walls  of 
Quebec. 

They  were  the  worst  of  conquerors.  Inordinate  pride,  the  lust  of  blood 
and  dominion,  were  the  mainsprings  of  their  warfare;  and  their  victories  were 
stained  with  every  excess  of  savage  passion.  That  their  triumphs  must  have 
cost  them  dear;  that,  in  spite  of  their  cautious  tactics,  these  multiplied  con- 

flicts must  have  greatly  abridged  their  strength,  would  appear  inevitable. 
Their  losses  were,  in  fact,  considerable;  but  every  breach  was  repaired  by 
means  of  a  practice  which  they,  in  common  with  other  tribes,  constantly 
adhered  to.  When  their  vengeance  was  glutted  by  the  sacrifice  of  a  sufficient 
number  of  captives,  they  spared  the  lives  of  the  remainder,  and  adopted  them 
as  members  of  their  confederated  tribes,  separating  wives  from  husbands,  and 
children  from  parents,  and  distributing  them  among  different  villages,  in  order 
that  old  ties  and  associations  might  be  more  completely  broken  up.  This 

policy,  was  designated  among  them  by  a  name  which  signifies  "  flesh  cut  into 
pieces  and  scattered  among  the  tribes." 

In  the  years  1714-^15,  the  confederacy  received  a  great  accession  of  strength. 
Southwards,  about  the  headwaters  of  the  rivers  Neuse  and  Tar,  and  separated 
from  their  kindred  tribes  by  intervening  Algonquin  communities,  dwelt  the 
Tuscaroras,  a  warlike  people  belonging  to  the  generic  stock  of  the  Iroquois. 
The  wrongs  inflicted  by  white  settlers,  and  their  own  undistinguishing  ven- 

geance, involved  them  in  a  war  with  the  colonists,  which  resulted  in  their 
defeat  and  expulsion.  They  emigrated  to  the  Five  Nations,  whose  allies  they 
had  been  in  former  wars  with  southern  tribes,  and  who  now  gladly  received 
them,  admitting  them  as  a  sixth  nation,  into  their  confederacy,  and  assigning 
to  their  sachems  a  seat  in  the  council-house  at  Onondaga. 

It  is  a  remark  of  Gallatin,M  that  in  their  career  of  conquest,  the  Five  Nations 
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encountered  more  stubborn  resistance  from  the  tribes  of  their  own  family, 
than  from  those  of  a  different  lineage.  In  truth,  all  the  scions  of  this  warlike 
stock  seem  endued  with  singular  vitality  and  force,  and  among  them  we  must 
seek  for  the  best  tj^e  of  the  Indian  character.  Few  tribes  could  match  them 
in  prowess  and  constancy,  in  moral  energy  and  intellectual  vigour.  The 
Jesuits  remarked  that  they  were  more  intelligent,  yet  less  tractable,  than 
other  savages;  and  Charlevoix"  observes  that,  though  the  Algonquins  were 
readily  converted,  they  made  but  fickle  proselytes;  while  the  Hurons,  though 
not  easily  won  over  to  the  church,  were  far  more  faithful  in  their  adherence. 
Of  this  tribe,  the  Hurons  or  Wyandots,  a  candid  and  experienced  observer 
[W.  H.  Harrison^]  declares  that  of  all  the  Indians  with  whom  he  was  conversant, 
they  alone  held  it  disgraceful  to  turn  from  the  face  of  an  enemy  when  the  for- 

tunes of  the  fight  were  adverse. 
Besides  these  inherent  qualities,  the  tribes  of  the  Iroquois  race  derived 

great  advantages  from  their  superior  social  organisation.  They  were  all, 
more  or  less,  tillers  of  the  soil,  and  were  thus  enabled  to  concentrate  a  more 
numerous  population  than  the  scattered  tribes  who  live  by  the  chase  alone. 
In  their  well-peopled  and  well-constructed  villages,  they  dwelt  together  the 
greater  part  of  the  year;  and  thence  the  religious  rites  and  social  and  political 
usages,  which  elsewhere  existed  only  in  the  germ,  attained  among  them  a  full 
and  perfect  devetopment.  Yet  these  advantages  were  not  without  alloy,  and 
the  Jesuits  were  not  slow  to  remark  that  the  stationary  and  thriving  Iroquois 
were  more  loose  in  their  observance  of  social  ties  than  the  wandering  and 

starving  savages  of  the  north.' 

The  Algonquin  Family 

Except  the  detached  nation  of  the  Tuscaroras,  and  a  few  smaller  tribes 
adhering  to  them,  the  Iroquois  family  was  confined  to  the  region  south  of  the 

lakes  Erie  and  Ontario,  and  the'peninsula  east  of  Lake  Huron.  They  formed, as  it  were,  an  island  in  the  vast  expanse  of  Algonquin  population  extending 
from  Hudson's  Bay  on  the  north  to  the  Carolinas  on  the  south;  from  the 
Atlantic  on  the  east  to  the  Mississippi  and  Lake  Winnipeg  on  the  west.  They 
were  Algonquins  who  greeted  Jacques  Cartier,  as  his  ships  ascended  the  St. 
Lawrence.  The  first  British  colonists  found  savages  of  the  same  race  hunting 
and  fishing  along  the  coasts  and  inlets  of  Virginia;  and  it  was  the  daughter  of 
an  Algonquin  chief  who  interceded  with  her  father  for  the  life  of  the  adven- 

turous Englishman.  They  were  Algonquins  who,  under  Sassacus  the  Pequot, 
and  Philip  of  Mount  Hope,  waged  war  against  the  Puritans  of  New  England; 
who  dwelt  at  Penacook,  imder  the  rule  of  the  great  magician,  Passaconaway, 
and  trembled  before  the  evil  spirits  of  the  Crystal  Hills;  and  who  sang  aves 
and  told  their  beads  in  the  forest  chapel  of  Father  Rasles,  by  the  banks  of  the 
Kennebec.  They  were  Algonquins  who,  imder  the  great  tree  at  Kensington, 
made  the  covenant  of  peace  with  William  Penn;  and  when  French  Jesuits  and 
fur-traders  explored  the  Wabash  and  the  Ohio,  they  found  their  valleys  ten- 

anted by  the  same  far-extended  race.  Years  later  the  traveller,  perchance, 
could  find  them  pitching  their  bark  lodges  along  the  beach  at  Mackinaw, 
spearmg  fish  among  the  boiling  rapids  of  St.  Mary's,  or  skimming  the  waves 
of  Lake  Superior  in  their  birch  canoes. 

Of  all  the  members  of  the  Algonquin  family,  those  called  by  the  English 
'  "  Here  y«  Indyans  were  very  desirous  to  see  us  ride  our  horses,  w*  wee  did :  they  made 

great  feasts  and  dancing,  and  invited  us  y*  when  all  y»  maides  were  together,  both  wee  and  our 
Indyana  might  choose  ̂ uch^as  lyked  us  to  ly  witb,"  — (jKEENHALaH.o 
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the  Delawares,  by  the  French  the  Loups,  and  by  themselves  Lenni  Lenape,  or 
Original  Men,  hold  the  first  claim  to  attention;  for  their  traditions  declare 
them  to  be  the  parent  stem  whence  other  Algonquin  tribes  have  sprung.  The 
latter  recognised  the  claim,  and,  at  all  solemn  councils,  accorded  to  the  ances- 

tral tribe  the  title  of  Grandfather.' 
The  first  European  colonists  found  the  conical  lodges  of  the  Lenape  clus- 

tered in  frequent  groups  about  the  waters  of  the  Delaware  and  its  tributary 
streams,  within  the  present  limits  of  New  Jersey,  and  eastern  Pennsylvania. 
The  nation  was  separated  into  three  divisions,  and  three  sachems  formed  a 
triimivirate,  who,  with  the  council  of  old  men,  regulated  all  its  affairs.  They 
were,  in  some  small  measure,  an  agricultural  people;  but  fishing  and  the  chase 
were  their  chief  dependence,  and  through  a  great  part  of  the  year  they  were 
scattered  abroad,  among  forests  and  streams,  in  search  of  sustenance. 

When  William  Penn  held  his  far-famed  council  with  the  sachems  of  the 
Lenape,  he  extended  the  hand  of  brotherhood  to  a  people  as  unwarlike  in 
their  habits  as  his  own  pacific  followers.  This  is  by  no  means  to  be  ascribed 
to  any  inborn  love  of  peace.  The  Lenape  were  then  in  a  state  of  degrading 
vassalage  to  the  Five  Nations,  who,  that  they  might  drain  to  the  dregs  the 
cup  of  humiliation  had  forced  them  to  assume  the  name  of  Women,  and 
forego  the  use  of  arms.^  Dwelling  under  the  shadow  of  the  tyrannical  con- 

federacy, they  were  long  unable  to  wipe  out  the  blot;  but  at  length,  pushed 
from  their  ancient  seats  by  the  encroachments  of  white  men,  and  removed 

westward,  partially  beyond  the  reach  of  theu"  conquerors,  their  native  spirit 
began  to  revive,  and  they  assumed  a  tone  of  unwonted  defiance.  During 
the  Old  French  War  they  resumed  the  use  of  arms,  and  while  the  Five  Nations 
fought  for  the  English,  they  espoused  the  cause  of  France.  At  the  opening 
of  the  Revolution,  they  boldly  asserted  their  freedom  from  the  yoke  of  their 
conquerors;  and  a  few  years  after,  the  Five  Nations  confessed,  at  a  public 
council,  that  the  Lenape  were  no  longer  women,  but  men.  Ever  since  that 
period,  they  have  stood  in  high  repute  for.  bravery,  generosity,  and  all  the 
savage  virtues;  and  the  settlers  of  the  frontier  have  often  foimd,  to  their 

cost,  that  the  "women"  of  the  Iroquois  have  been  transformed  into  a  race  of 
formidable  warriors.  Later  the  small  remnant  settled  beyond  the  Mississippi 
were  among  the  bravest  marauders  of  the  west.  Their  war-parties  pierced 
the  farthest  wilds  of  the  Rocky  Mountains;  and  the  prairie  traveller  might 
sometimes  meet  the  Delaware  warrior  returning  from  a  successful  foray,  a 
gaudy  handkerchief  bound  about  his  brows,  his  snake  locks  fluttering  in  the 
wind,  and  his  rifle  resting  across  his  saddle-bow,  while  the  tarnished  and 
begrimed  equipments  of  his  half-wild  horse  bore  witness  that  the  unscrupulous 
rider  had  waylaid  and  plundered  some  Mexican  cavalier. 

Adjacent  to  the  Lenape,  and  associated  with  them  in  some  of  the  most 
notable  passages  of  their  history,  dwelt  the  Shawanos,  the  Chaouanons  of 
the  French,  a  tribe  of  bold,  roving,  and  adventurous  spirit.  Their  eccen- 

tric wanderings,  their  sudden  appearances  and  disappearances,  perplex  the 
antiquary,  and  defy  research;   but  from  various  scattered  notices,  we  may 

'  The  Lenape,  on  their  part,  call  the  other  Algonquin  tribes  Children,  Grandchildren' 
Nephews,  or  Younger  Brothers  ;  but  they  confess  the  superiority  of  the  Wyandots  and  the 
Five  Nations,  by  yielding  them  the  title  of  Uncles.  They,  in  return,  call  the  Lenape  Nephews, 
or  more  frequent  Cousins. 

'  The  story  told  by  the  Lenape  themselves,  and  recorded  with  the  utmost  good  faith  by 
Loskiel  *  and  Heckewelder,  *  that  the  Five  Nations  had  not  conquered  them,  but,  by  a  cunning 
artifice,  had  cheated  them  into  subjection,  is  wholly  unworthy  of  credit.  It  is  not  to  be  believed 
that  a  people  so  acute  and  suspicious  could  be  the  dupes  of  so  palpable  a  trick  ;  and  it  is  equally 
incredible  that  a  high-spirited  tribe  could  be  induced,  by  the  most  persuasive  rhetoric,  to 
assume  the  name  of  Women,  which  in  Indian  eyes  is  the  last  confession  of  abject  abasement. 
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gather  that  at  an  early  period,  they  occupied  the  valley  of  the  Ohio;  that,, 
becoming  embroiled  with  the  Five  Nations,  they  shared  the  defeat  of  the 
Andastes,  and  about  the  year  1672  fled  to  escape  destruction.  Some  found 
an  asylum  in  the  country  of  the  Lenape,  where  they  lived  tenants  at  will  of 
the  Five  Nations;  others  sought  refuge  in  the  Carolinas  and  Florida,  where, 
true  to  their  native  instincts,  they  soon  came  to  blows  with  the  owners  of  the- 
soil.  Again,  turning  northwards,  they  formed  new  settlements  in  the  valle3r 
of  the  Ohio,  where  they  were  now  suffered  to  dwell  in  peace,  and  where,  at  a- 
later  period,  they  were  joined  by  such  of  their  brethren  as  had  found  refuge 
among  the  Lenape. 

Of  the  tribes  which,  single  and  detached,  or  cohering  in  loose  confederacies,, 
dwelt  within  the  limits  of  Lower  Canada,  Acadia,  and  New  England,  it  is: 
needless  to  speak;  for  they  offered  no  distinctive  traits  demanding  notice. 
Passing  the  country  of  the  Lenape  and  the  Shawanos,  and  descending  the 
Ohio,  the  traveller  would  have  f  oimd  its  valley  chiefly  occupied  by  two  nations, 
the  Miamis  or  Twightwees,  on  the  Wabash  and  its  branches,  and  the  Illinois, 
who  dwelt  in  the  neighbourhood  of  the  river  to  which  they  have  given  their 
name.  Though  never  subjugated,  as  were  the  Lenape,  both  the  Miamis  and 
the  Illinois  were  reduced  to  the  last  extremity  by  the  repeated  attacks  of  the 
Five  Nations;  and  the  Illinois,  in  particular,  siSfered  so  much  by  these  and. 
other  wars,  that  the  population  of  ten  or  twelve  thousand,  ascribed  to  them 
by  the  early  French  writers,  had  dwindled,  during  the  first  quarter  of  the 
eighteenth  century,  to  a  few  small  villages.'  According  to  Marest.z  they  were 
a  people  sunk  in  sloth  and  licentiousness;  but  that  priestly  father  had  suffered 
much  at  their  hands,  and  viewed  them  with  a  javmdiced  eye.  Their  agricul- 

ture was  not  contemptible;  they  had  permanent  dwellings  as  well  as  portable 
lodges;  and  though  wandering  through  many  months  of  the  year  among 
their  broad  prairies  and  forests,  there  were  seasons  when  their  whole  popula- 

tion was  gathered,  with  feastings  and  merry-making,  within  the  limits  of  their 
vUlages. 

Turning  his  course  northward,  traversing  lakes  Michigan  and  Superior,, 
and  skirting  the  western  margin  of  Lake  Huron,  the  voyager  would  have 
foimd  the  solitudes  of  the  wild  waste  around  him  broken  by  scattered  lodges 
of  the  Ojibwas,  Pottawottomies,  and  Ottawas.  About  the  bays  and  rivers 
west  of  Lake  Michigan,  he  would  have  seen  the  Sacs,  the  Foxes,  and  the 
Menominees;  and  penetrating  the  frozen  wilderness  of  the  north,  he  would 
have  been  welcomed  by  the  rude  hospitality  of  the  wandering  Knisteneaux 
[or  Crees]. 

The  Ojibwas,  with  their  kindred,  the  Pottawottomies,  and  their  friends 
the  Ottawas  —  the  latter  of  whom  were  fugitives  from  the  eastward,  whence 
they  had  fled  from  the  wrath  of  the  Iroquois  —  were  banded  into  a  sort  of 
confederacy.  In  blood  and  language,  in  manners  and  character,  they  were 
closely  allied.  The  Ojibwas,  by  far  the  most  nmnerous  of  the  three,  occupied 
the  basin  of  Lake  Superior,  and  extensive  adjacent  regions.  In  their  bounda- 

ries, the  career  of  Iroquois  conquests  found  at  length  a  check.  The  fugitive 
Wyandots  sought  refuge  in  the  Ojibwa  hunting-grounds;  and  tradition  relates 
that,  at  the  outlet  of  Lake  Superior,  an  Iroquois  war-party  once  encountered 
a  disastrous  repulse. 

In  then-  mode  of  life,  they  were  far  more  rude  than  the  Iroquois,  or  even the_  southern  Algonquin  tribes.  The  totemic  system  is  found  among  them 
in  its  most  imperfect  state.    The  original  clans  have  become  broken  into 

'  Father  Basle],*  1723,  says  that  there  were  eleven.    Marest,«  in  1713,  found  only  three. 
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fragments,  and  indefinitely  multiplied;  and  many  of  the  ancient  customs 
of  the  institution  are  but  loosely  regarded.  Agriculture  is  little  known 
and,  through  summer  and  winter,  they  range  the  wilderness  with  restless 

wandering,  now  gorged  to  repletion,  and  now^  perishing  with  want.  In  the 
calm  days  of  summer,  the  Ojibwa  fisherman  pushes  out  his  birch  canoe  upon 
the  great  inland  ocean  of  the  north;  and,  as  he  gazes  down  into  the  pellucid 
depths,  he  seems  Hke  one  balanced  between  earth  and  sky.  The  watchful 
fish-hawk  circles  above  his  head;  and  below,  farther  than  his  line  will  reach, 
he  sees  the  trout  glide  shadowy  and  sUent  over  the  glimmering  pebbles.  The 
little  islands  on  the  verge  of  the  horizon  seem  now  starting  into  spbes,  now 
melting  from  the  sight,  now  shaping  themselves  into  a  thousand  fantastic 
forms,  with  the  strange  mirage  of  the  waters;  and  he  fancies  that  the  evU  spirits 
of  the  lake  lie  basking  theu-  serpent  forms  on  those  unhallowed  shores.  Again 
he  explores  the  watery  labyrinths  where  the  stream  sweeps  among  pine-tufted 
islands,  or  runs,  black  and  deep,  beneath  the  shadows  of  moss-bearded  firs: 
or  he  drags  his  canoe  upon  the  sandy  beach,  and,  while  his  camp-fire  crackles 
on  the  grass-plat,  reclines  beneath  the  trees,  and  smokes  and  laughs  away 
the  sultry  hours,  in  a  lazy  luxury  of  enjo3Tnent. 

But  when  winter  descends  upon  the  north,  sealing  up  the  fountains,  fetter- 
ing the  streams,  and  turning  the  green-robed  forests  to  shivering  nakedness, 

then,  bearing  their  fraU  dwellmgs  on  their  backs,  the  Ojibwa  famUy  wander 
forth  into  the  wilderness,  cheered  only,  on  their  dreary  track,  by  the  whistling 
of  the  north  wind,  and  the  himgry  howl  of  wolves.  By  the  banks  of  some 
frozen  stream,  women  and  children,  men  and  dogs,  lie  crouched  together 
arotmd  the  fire.  They  spread  their  benimibed  fingers  over  the  embers,  while 
the  wind  shrieks  through  the  fir-trees  like  the  gale  through  the  rigging  of  a 
frigate,  and  the  narrow  concave  of  the  wigwam  isparkles  with  the  frost-work 
of  theu-  congealed  breath.  In  vain  they  beat  the  magic  dnmi,  and  call  upon 
their  guardian  manitoes  —  the  wary  moose  keeps  aloof,  the  bear  lies  close 
in  his  hollow  tree,  and  famine  stares  them  in  the  face.  And  now  the  hunter 
can  fight  no  more  against  the  nipping  cold  and  blinding  sleet.  Stiff  and  stark, 
with  haggard  cheek  and  shrivelled  lip,  he  lies  among  the  snow  drifts;  till, 
with  tooth  and  claw,  the  famished  wildcat  strives  in  vain  to  pierce  the  frigid 
marble  of  his  limbs.  Such  harsh  schooling  is  thrown  away  on  the  incorrigible 
mind  of  the  northern  Algonquin.  He  lives  in  niisery,  as  his  fathers  lived 
before  him.  Still,  in  the  brief  hour  of  plenty  he  forgets  the  season  of  want; 
and  still  the  sleet  and  the  snow  descend  upon  his  houseless  head. 

In  speaking  of  the  Iroquois,  some  of  the  distinctive  peculiarities  of  the 
Algonquins  have  already  been  hinted  at.  It  must  be  admitted  that,  in  moral 
stability  and  intellectual  vigour,  they  are  inferior  to  the  former;  though  some 
of  the  most  conspicuous  offspring  of  the  wilderness,  Metacom,  Tecumseh,  and 
Pontiac  himself,  owned  their  blood  and  language. 

The  fireside  stories  of  every  primitive  people  are  faithful  reflections  of 
the  form  and  colouring  of  the  national  mind;  and  it  is  no  proof  of  soimd 
philosophy  to  turn  with  contempt  from  the  study  of  a  fairy  tale.  The  legend- 

ary lore  of  the  Iroquois,  black  as  the  midnight  forests,  awful  in  its  gloomy 
strength,  is  but  another  manifestation  of  that  spirit  of  mastery  which  uprooted 
whole  tribes  from  the  earth,  and  deluged  the  wilderness  with  blood.  The 
traditionary  tales  of  the  Algonquins  wear  a  different  aspect.  The  credulous 
circle  aroimd  an  Ojibwa  lodge-fire  listened  to  wild  recitals  of  necromancy 
and  witchcraft  —  men  transformed  to  beasts,  and  beasts  transformed  to 
men,  animated  trees,  and  birds  who  spoke  with  human  tongue.  They  heard 
of  malignant  sorcerers  dwelling  among  the  lonely  islands  of  spell-bound  lakes; 
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of  grisly  weendigoes,  and  bloodless  geehi;  of  evil  manitoes  lurking  in  the  dens 
and  fastnesses  of  the  woods;  of  pygmy  champions,  diminutive  in  stature, 
but  mighty  in  soul,  who,  by  the  potency  of  charm  and  talisman,  subdued  the 
direst  monsters  of  the  waste;  and  of  heroes,  who  not  by  downright  force  and 
open  onset,  but  by  subtle  strategy,  tricks,  or  magic  art,  achieved  marvellous 
triimiphs  over  the  brute  force  of  their  assailants.  Sometimes  the  tale  will 
breathe  a  different  spirit,  and  tell  of  orphan  children  abandoned  in  the  heart 
of  a  hideous  wilderness,  beset  with  fiends  and  cannibals.  Some  enamoured 
maiden,  scornful  of  earthly  suitors,  plights  her  troth  to  the  graceful  manito 
of  the  grove;  or  bright  aerial  beings,  dwellers  of  the  sky,  descend  to  tantalise 
the  gaze  of  mortals  with  evanescent  forms  of  loveliness. 

The  mighty  giant,  the  God  of  the  Thunder,  who  made  his  home  among  the 
caverns,  beneath  the  cataract  of  Niagara,  was  a  conception  which  the  deep 
imagination  of  the  Iroquois  might  fitly  engender.  The  Algonquins  held  a 
simpler  faith,  and  maintained  that  the  thimder  was  a  bird  who  built  his  nest 
on  the  pinnacle  of  towering  moimtains.  Two  daring  boys  once  scaled  the 
height,  and  thrust  sticks  into  the  eyes  of  the  portentous  nestlings;  which 
hereupon  flashed  forth  such  wrathful  scintillations,  that  the  sticks  were 
shivered  to  atoms.* 

The  religious  belief  of  the  Algonquins  —  and  the  remark  holds  good,  not 
of  the  Algonqiuns  only,  but  of  all  the  himting  tribes  of  America  —  is  a  cloudy 
bewilderment,  where  we  seek  in  vain  for  system  or  coherency.  Among  a 
primitive  and  savage  people,  there  were  no  poets  to  vivify  its  images,  and  no 
priests  to  give  distinctness  and  harmony  to  its  rites  and  sjrmbols.  To  the 
Indian  mind,  all  nature  was  instinct  with  deity.  A  spirit  was  embodied  in 
every  mountain,  lake,  and  cataract;  every  bird,  beast,  or  reptile,  every  tree, 
shrub,  or  grassblade,  was  endued  with  mystic  influence;,  yet  this  untutored 
pantheism  did  not  exclude  the  conception  of  certain  divinities,  of  incongruous 
and  ever  shifting  attributes.  The  sun,  too,  was  a  god,  and  the  moon  was  a 
goddess.  Conflicting  powers  of  good  and  evil  divided  the  universe:  but  if, 
before  the  arrival  of  Europeans,  the  Indian  recognised  the  existence  of  one, 
almighty,  self-existing  Being,  the  Great  Spirit,  the  Lord  of  heaven  and  earth, 
the  belief  was  so  vague  and  dubious  as  scarcely  to  deserve  the  name.  His 
perceptions  of  moral  good  and  evil  were  perplexed  and  shadowy;  and  the 
belief  in  a  state  of  future  reward  and  pimishment  was  by  no  means  of  universal 
prevalence. 

Of  the  Indian  character,  much  has  been  written  foolishly  and  credulously 
believed.  By  the  rhapsodies  of  poets,  the  cant  of  sentimentalists,  and  the 
extravagance  of  some  who  should  have  knowa  better,  a  counterfeit  image 
has  been  tricked  out,  which  might  seek  in  vain  for  its  likeness  through  every 
comer  of  the  habitable  earth;  an  image  bearing  no  more  resemblance  to  ite 
original  than  the  monarch  of  the  tragedy  and  the  hero  of  the  epic  poem  bear 
to  their  living  prototypes  in  the  palace  and  the  camp.  The  shadows  of  his 
wilderness  home,  and  the  darker  mantle  of  his  own  inscrutable  reserve,  have 
made  the  Indian  warrior  a  wonder  and  a  mystery.     Yet  to  the  eye  of  rational 

'For  Algonquin  legends,  see  Schoolcraft/.  Le  Jeune""  early  discovered  these  legends 
among  the  tribes  of  his  mission.  Two  centuries  ago,  among  the  Algonquins  of  Lower  Canada, 
a  tale  was  related  to  him,  which,  in  its  principal  incidents,  is  identical  with  the  story  of  the 
"Boy  who  set  a  snare  for  the  sun,"  found  by  Schoolcraft  among  the  tribes  of  the  upper  Lakes. 
The  coincidence  affords  a  curious  proof  of  the  antiquity  and  wide  diffusion  of  some  of  these 
tales.  The  Dakotas,  as  well  as  the  Algonquins,  believe  that  the  thunder  is  produced  by  a.bird. 
An  Indian  propounded  to  Le  Jeune  ti  doctrine  of  his  own.  According  tb  his  theory,  thetfaunder 
is  produced  by  the  eructations  of  a  monstrous  giant,  who  had  unfortunately  swallowed  a 
quantity  of  snakes ;  and  the  latter  falling  to  the  earth,  caused  the  appearance  of  lightning. 
"  Voili  une  philoaopMe  bien  nouvelle .'"  exclaims  the  astonished  Jesuit. 
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observation  there  is  nothing  unintelligible  in  him.  He  is  full,  it  is  true,  of 
contradiction.  He  deems  himself  the  centre  of  greatness  and  renown;  his 
pride  is  proof  against  the  fiercest  torments  of  fire  and  steel;  and  yet  the  same 
man  would  beg  for  a  dram  of  whiskey,  or  pick  up  a  crust  of  bread  thrown  to 
him  like  a- dog,  from  the  tent  door  of  the  traveller.  At  one  moment,  he  is 
wary  and  cautious  to  the  verge  of  cowardice;  at  the  next,  he  abandons  himse]f 
to  a  very  insanity  of  recklessness;  and  the  habitual  self-restraint  which 
throws  an  impenetrable  veil  over  emotion  is  joined  to  the  wild,  impetuous 
passions  of  a  beast  or  a  madman. 

Such  inconsistencies,  strange  as  they  seem  in  our  eyes,  when  viewed  under 
a  novel  aspect,  are  but  the  ordinary  incidents  of  humanity.  The  qualities 
of  the  mind  are  not  uniform  in  their  action  through  all  the  relations  of  life. 
With  different  men,  and  different  races  of  men,  pride,  valom-,  prudence,  have 
different  forms  of  manifestation,  and  where  in  one  instance  they  lie  dormant, 
in  another  they  are  keenly  awake.  The  conjunction  of  greatness  and  little- 

ness, meanness  and  pride,  is  older  than  the  days  of  the  patriarchs;  and  such 
antiquated  phenomena,  displayed  under  a  new  form  in  the  unreflecting 
imdisciplined  mind  of  a  savage,  call  for  no  special  wonder,  but  should  rather 
be  classed  with  the  other  enigmas  of  the  fathomless  human  heart.  The  dis- 

secting knife  of  a  Rochefoucauld  might  lay  bare  matters  of  no  less  curious 
observation  in  the  breast  of  every  man. 

Nature  has  stamped  the  Indian  with  a  hard  and  stem  physiognomy. 
Ambition,  revenge,  envy,  jealousy,  are  his  ruling  passions;  and  his  cold  tem- 

perament is  little  exposed  to  those  effeminate  vices  which  are  the  bane  of 
milder  races.  With  him  revenge  is  an  overpowering  instinct;  nay,  more, 
it  is  a  point  of  honour  and  a  duty.  His  pride  sets  all  language  at  defiance. 
He  loathes  the  thought  of  coercion;  and  few  of  his  race  have  ever  stooped  to 
discharge  a  menial  office.  A  wild  love  of  liberty,  an  utter  intolerance  of  con- 

trol, lie  at  the  basis  of  his  character,  and  fire  his  whole  existence.  Yet,  in 
spite  of  this  haughty  independence,  he  is  a  devout  hero-worshipper;  and  high 
achievement  in  war  or  policy  touches  a  chord  to  which  his  nature  never  fails 
to  respond.  He  looks  up  with  admiring  reverence  to  the  sages  and  heroes 
of  his  tribe;  and  it  is  this  principle,  joined  to  the  respect  for  age  which  swings 
from  the  patriarchal  element  in  his  social  system,  which,  beyond  all  others, 
contributes  union  and  harmony  to  the  erratic  members  of  an  Indian  community. 
With  him  the  love  of  glory  kindles  into  a  burning  passion;  and  to  allay  its 
cravings,  he  will  dare  cold  and  famine,  fire,  tempest,  torture,  and  death  itself. 

These  generous  traits  are  overcast  by  much  that  is  dark,  cold,  and  sinister, 
by  sleepless  distrust,  and  rankling  jealousy.  Treacherous  himself,  he  is 
always  suspicious  of  treachery  in  others.  Brave  as  he  is  —  and  few  of  man- 

kind are  braver  —  he  will  vent  his  passion  by  a  secret  stab  rather  than  an 
open  blow.  His  warfare  is  full  of  ambuscade  and  stratagem;  and  he  never 
rushes  into  battle  with  that  joyous  self-abandonment,  with  which  the  warriors 
of  the  Gothic  races  flung  themselves  into  the  ranks  of  their  enemies.  In  his 
feasts  and  his  drinking  bouts  we  find  none  of  that  robust  and  full-toned  mirth, 
which  reigned  at  the  rude  carousals  of  our  barbaric  ancestry.  He  is  never 
jovial  in  his  cups,  and  maudlin  sorrow  or  maniacal  rage  is  the  sole  result  of 
his  potations. 

Over  all  emotion  he  throws  the  veil  of  an  iron  self-control,  originating  in  a 
peculiar  form  of  pride,  and  fostered  by  rigorous  discipline  from  childhood 
upward.  He  is  trained  to  conceal  passion,  and  not  to  subdue  it.  The  inscrut- 

able warrior  is  aptly  imaged  by  the  hackneyed  figure  of  a  volcano-  covered 
with  snow;  and  no  man  can  say  when  or  where  the  wild-fire  will  burst  forth. 
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This  shallow  self-mastery  serves  to  give  dignity  to  public  deliberation,  and 
hannony  to  social  life.  Wrangling  and  quarrel  are  strangers  to  an  Indian 
dwelling;  and  while  an  assembly  of  the  ancient  Gauls  was  garrulous  as  a  con- 

vocation of  magpies,  a  Roman  senate  might  have  taken  a  lesson  from  the 
grave  solemnity  of  an  Indian  council.  In  the  midst  of  his  family  and  friends, 
he  hides  affections,  by  nature  none  of  the  most  tender,  under  a  mask  of  icy 

coldness;  and  in  the  torturing  fires  of  his  en- 
emy, the  haughty  sufferer  maintains  to  the 

last  his  look  of  grim  defiance. 
His  intellect  is  as  peculiar  as  his  moral  or- 

ganisation. Among  all  savages,  the  powers- 
of  perception  preponderate  over  those  of  rea- 

son and  analysis;  but  this  is  more  especially 
the  case  with  the  Indian.  An  acute  judge  of 
character,  at  least  of  such  parts  of  it  as  his 
experience  enables  him  to  comprehend;  keen 
to  a  proverb  in  all  exercises  of  war  and  the 
chase,  he  seldom  traces  effects  to  their  causes,, 
or  follows  out  actions  to  their  remote  results. 
Though  a  close  observer  of  external  nature,, 
he  no  sooner  attempts  to  account  for  her  phe- 

nomena than  he  involves  himself  in  the  most- 
ridiculous  absurdities;  and  quite  content  with, 
these  puerilities,  he  has  not  the  least  desire  to 
push  his  inquiries  further.  His  curiosity, 
abundantly  active  within  its  own  narrow  cir- 

cle, is  dead  to  all  things  else;  and  to  attempt 
rousing  it  from  its  torpor  is  but  a  bootless 
task.  He  seldom  takes  cognisance  of  general  or 
abstract  ideas;  and  his  language  has  scarcely 
the  power  to  express  them,  except  through  the 

medium  of  figures  drawn  from  the  external  world,  and  often  highly  picturesque 
and  forcible.  The  absence  of  reflection  makes  him  grossly  improvident,  and 
unfits  him  for  pursuing  any  complicated  scheme  of  war  or  policy. 

Some  races  of  men  seem  moulded  in  wax,  soft  and  melting,  at  once  plastic 
and  feeble.  Some  races,  like  some  metals,  combine  the  greatest  fiexibihty 
with  the  greatest  strength.  But  the  Indian  is  hewn  out  of  a  rock.  You  can 
rarely  change  the  form  without  destruction  of  the  substance.  Races  of  inferior 
energy  have  possessed  a  power  of  expansion  and  assimilation  to  which  he  is  a 
stranger;  and  it  is  this  fixed  and  rigid  quality  which  has  proved  his  ruin.  He 
will  not  learn  the  arts  of  civilisation,  and  he  and  his  forest  must  perish  together. 
The  stem,  unchanging  features  of  his  mind  excite  our  admiration  from  their 
very  immutability;  and  we  look  with  deep  interest  on  the  fate  of  this  irre- 

claimable son  of  the  wilderness,  the  child  who  wiU  not  be  weaned  from  the 
breast  of  his  rugged  mother.  And  our  interest  increases  when  we  discern 
In  the  unhappy  wanderer  mingled  among  his  vices,  the  germs  of  heroic  virtues 
—  a  hand  boimtiful  to  bestow  as  it  is  rapacious  to  seize,  and  even  in  extremest 
famine,  imparting  its  last  morsel  to  a  fellow-sufferer;  a  heart  which,  strong 
in  friendship  as  in  hate,  thinks  it  not  too  much  to  lay  down  life  for  its  chosen 
comrade;  a  soul  true  to  its  own  idea  of  honour,  and  burning  with  an  unquench- 

able thirst  for  greatness  and  renown. 

The  imprisoned  lion  in  the  showman's  cage  differs  not  more  widely  from 
the  lord  of  the  desert  than  the  beggarly  frequenter  of  frontier  garrisons  and 

An  Indian  Chibf 
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dramshops  differs  from  the  proud  denizen  of  the  woods.    It  is  in  his  native 
wilds  alone  that  the  Indian  must  be  seen  and  studied. 

_  If,  from  the  shades  of  rock  and  forest,  the  savage  features  should  look  too 
grimly  forth,  it  is  because  the  clouds  of  a  tempestuous  war  have  cast  upon 
the  picture  their  murky  shadows  and  lurid  fires."^ 

THEODORE  EOOSEVELT  ON  INDIAN  WARFARE  AND  CRUELTY^ 

When  the  whites  first  landed,  the  superiority  and,  above  all,  the  novelty 
of  their  arms  gave  them  a  very  great  advantage.  But  the  Indians  soon  became 

accustomed  to  the  new-comers'  weapons  and  style  of  warfare.  By  the  time 
the  English  had  consoHdated  the  Atlantic  colonies  under  their  rule,  the  Indians 
had  become  what  they  have  remained  ever  since,  the  most  formidable  savage 
foes  ever  encountered  by  colonists  of  European  stock. 

Their  presence  has  caused  the  process  of  settlement  to  go  on  at  unequal 
rates  of  speed  in  different  places;  the  flood  has  been  hemmed  in  at  one  point, 
or  has  been  forced  to  flow  round  an  island  of  native  population  at  another. 
Had  the  Indians  been  as  helpless  as  the  native  Australians  were,  the  con- 

tinent of  North  America  would  have  had  an  altogether  different  history.  It 
would  not  only  have  been  settled  far  more  rapidly,  but  also  on  very  different 
lines.  Not  only  have  the  red  men  themselves  kept  back  the  settlements, 

"but  they  have  also  had  a  very  great  effect  upon  the  outcome  of  the  struggles between  the  different  intrusive  European  peoples.  Had  the  original  inhabi- 
tants of  the  Mississippi  valley  been  as  numerous  and  unwarlike  as  the  Aztecs, 

Soto  would  have  repeated  the  work  of  Cortes,  and  we  wovild  very  possibly 
have  been  barred  out  of  the  greater  portion  of  our  present  domain.  HaH 
it  not  been  for  their  Indian  allies,  it  would  have  been  impossible  for  the  French 
to  prolong  as  they  did  their  struggle  with  their  much  more  numerous  English 
neighbours. 

The  Indians  were  superb  individual  fighters,  beautifully  drilled  in  their 
own  discipline;  and  they  were  favoured  beyond  measure  by  the  nature  of 
their  ground,  of  which  their  whole  system  of  warfare  enabled  them  to  take 
the  utmost  possible  benefit.  Much  has  been  written  and  sung  of  the  advan- 

tages possessed  by  the  mountaineer  when  striving  in  his  own  home  against 
invaders  from  the  plains;  but  these  advantages  are  as  nothing  when  weighed 
with  those  which  make  the  warlike  dweller  in  forests  imconquerable  by  men 
who  have  not  his  training.  A  hardy  soldier,  accustomed  only  to  war  in  the 
open,  will  become  a  good  cragsman  in  fewer  weeks  than  it  will  take  him  years 
to  learn  to  be  so  much  as  a  fair  woodsman;  for  it  is  beyond  all  comparison 
more  difficult  to  attain  proficiency  in  woodcraft  than  in  mountaineering. 

The  Wyandots,  and  the  Algonquins  who  surrounded  them,  dwelt  in  a 
regionof  sunless,  tangled  forests;  and  all  the  wars  we  waged  for  the  possession 
of  the  country  between  the  AUeghanies  and  the  Mississippi  were  carried  on  in 
the  never-ending  stretches  of  gloomy  woodland.  It  was  not  an  open  forest. 
"The  imderbrush  grew,  dense  and  rank,  between  the  boles  of  the  tall  trees, 
making  a  cover  so  thick  that  it  was  in  many  places  impenetrable,  so  thick 
that  it  nowhere  gave  a  chance  for  human  eye  to  see  even  so  far  as  a  bow 
could  carry.  No  horse  could  penetrate  it  save  by  following  the  game 
trails  or  paths  chopped  with  the  axe,  and  a  stranger  venturing  a  himdred 
yards  from  a  beaten  road  would  be  so  helplessly  lost  that  he  could  not,  except 
iy  the  merest  chance,  even  find  his  way  back  to  the  spot  he  had  just  left. 

['  Reproduced  by  permission.    Copyright,  1889,  by  G.  P.  Putnam's  Sons.J 
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Here  and  there  it  was  broken  by  a  rare  hillside  glade  or  by  a  meadow  in  a 
stream  valley;  but  elsewhere  a  man  might  travel  for  weeks  as  if  in  a  perpetual 
twUight,  never  once  able  to  see  the  sun  through  the  interlacing  twigs  that 
formed  a  dark  oanopy  above  his  head. 

TTiis  dense  forest  was  to  the  Indians  a  home  in  which  they  had  lived  from 
childhood,  and  where  they  were  as  much  at  ease  as  a  farmer  on  his  own  acres. 

To  their  keen  eyes,  trained  for  generations  to  more  than  a  wUd  beast's  watch- 
fulness, the  wilderness  was  an  open  book;  nothing  at  rest  or  in  motion  escaped 

them.  They  had  begun  to  track  game  as  soon  as  they  could  walk;  a  scrape 
on  a  tree  trunk,  a  bruised  leaf,  a  faint  indentation  of  the  soil,  which  the  eye 
of  no  white  man  could  see  all  told  them  a  tale  as  plainly  as  if  it  had  been 

shouted  in  their  ears.*  With  moccasined  feet  they  trod  among  brittle  twigs, 
dried  leaves,  and  dead  branches  as  silently  as  the  cougar,  and  they  equalled 
the  great  wood-cat  in  stealth  and  far  surpassed  it  in  cunning  and  ferocity. 
They  could  no  more  get  lost  in  the  trackless  wilderness  than  a  civilised  man 
could  get  lost  on  a  highway. 

Moreover,  no  knight  of  the  Middle  Ages  was  so  surely  protected  by  his 
armour  as  they  were  by  their  skill  in  hiding;  the  whole  forest  was  to  the 
whites  one  vast  ambush,  and  to  them  a  sure  and  ever-present  shield.  Every 
tree  trunk  was  a  breastwork  ready  prepared  for  battle;  every  bush,  every 
moss-covered  boulder,  was  a  defence  against  assaiilt,  from  behind  which, 
themselves  imseen,  they  watched  with  fierce  derision  the  movements  of  their 
clumsy  white  enemy.  Lurking,  skulking,  travelling  with  noiseless  rapidity, 
they  left  a  trail  that  only  a  master  in  woodcraft  comd  follow,  while,  on  the 

other  hand,  they  could  dog  a  white  man's  footsteps  as  a  hound  runs  a  fox. 
Tteir  silence,  their  cunning  and  stealth,  their  terrible  prowess  and  merciless 
cruelty,  makes  it  no  figure  of  speech  to  call  them  the  tigers  of  the  human  race. 

Unlike  the  southern  Indians,  the  villages  of  the  northwestern  tribes  were 
usually  far  from  the  frontier.  Tireless,  and  careless  of  all  hardship,  they  came 
silently  out  of  unknown  forests,  robbed  and  murdered,  and  then  disappeared 
again  into  the  fathomless  depths  of  the  woods.  Half  of  the  terror  they  caused 
was  due  to  the  extreme  difficulty  of  following  them,  and  the  absolute  imposa- 
bility  of  forecacting  their  attacks.  Without  warning,  and  unseen  imtil  the 
moment  they  dealt  the  death  stroke,  they  emerged  from  the  forest  fastnesses, 
the  horror  they  caused  being  heightened  no  less  by  the  mystery  that  shrouded 
them  than  by  the  dreadful  nature  of  their  ravages.  Wrapped  in  a  mantle 
of  the  imknown,  appalling  by  their  craft,  their  ferocity,  their  fiendish  cruelty, 
they  seemed  to  the  white  settlers  devils  and  not  men;  no  one  could  say  with 
certainty  whence  they  came  nor  of  what  tribe  they  were;  and  when  they  had 
finished  their  dreadful  work  they  retired  into  a  wilderness  that  closed  over 
their  trail  as  the  waves  of  the  ocean  close  in  the  wake  of  a  ship. 

They  were  trained  to  the  use  of  arms  from  their  youth  up,  and  war  and 
hunting  were  their  two  chief  occupations,  the  business  as  well  as  the  pleasure 
of  their  lives.  They  were  not  as  skilful  as  the  white  himters  with  the  rifle ' 
—  though  more  so  than  the  average  regular  soldier  —  nor  could  they  equal 

'  To  this  day  the  wild  —  not  the  half -tame  —  Indians  remain  unequalled  as  trackers.  Even 
among  the  old  hunters  not  one  white  in  a  hundred  can  come  near  them.  In  my  experience  I 
have  known  a  very  few  whites  who  had  spent  all  their  lives  in  the  wilderness  who  equalled  the 
Indian  average ;  but  I  never  met  any  white  who  came  up  to  the  best  Indian.  But,  because  of 
their  better  shooting,  their  better  nerve,  the  whites  often  make  the  better  hunters. 

'  It  is  curious  now  to  this  day  the  wUd  Indians  retain  the  same  traits.  I  have  seen  and 
taken  part  in  many  matches  between  frontiersmen  and  the  Sioux,  Cheyennes,  Qrosventres,  and 
Mandans,  and  the  Indians  were  beaten  in  almost  every  one.  On  the  other  hand  the  Indians 
will  stand  fatigue,  hunger,  and  privation  better,  but  they  seem  more  susceptible  to  cold. 
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the  frontiersman  in  feats  of  physical  prowess,  such  as  boxing  and  wrestling; 
but  their  superior  endurance  and  the  ease  with  which  they  stood  fatigue  and 
exposure  made  amends  for  this.  A  white  might  outrun  them  for  eight  or 
ten  miles;  but  on  a  long  journey  they  could  tire  out  any  man,  and  any  beast 
except  a  wolf.  Like  most  barbarians  they  were  fickle  and  inconstant,  not  to 
be  relied  on  for  pushing  through  a  long  campaign,  and  after  a  great  victory 
apt  to  go  off  to  their  homes,  because  each  man  desired  to  secure  his  own  plun- 

der and  tell  his  own  tale  of  glory.  They  are  often  spoken  of  as  undisciplined; 
but  in  reahty  their  discipline  in  the  battle  itself  was  very  high.  They  attacked, 
retreated,  rallied,  or  repelled  a  charge  at  the  signal  of  command;  and  they 
were  able  to  fight  in  open  order  in  thick  covers  without  losing  touch  of  each 
other  —  a  feat  that  no  European  regiment  was  then  able  to  perform. 

On  their  own  ground  they  were  far  more  formidable  than  the  best  European 
troops.  The  British  grenadiers  throughout  the  eighteenth  century  showed 
themselves  superior,  in  the  actual  shock  of  battle,  to  any  infantry  of  con- 

tinental Europe;  if  they  ever  met  an  over-match,  it  was  when  pitted  against 
the  Scotch  Highlanders.  Yet  both  grenadier  and  Highlander,  the  heroes  of 

Minden,  the  heirs  of  the  glory  of  Marlborough's  campaigns,  as  well  as  the 
sinewy  soldiers  who  shared  in  the  charges  of  Prestonpans  and  Culloden, 
proved  helpless  when  led  against  tho  dark  tribesmen  of  the  forest.  On  the 
march  they  could  not  be  trusted  thirty  yards  from  the  column  without  getting 
lost  in  the  woods  —  the  mountain  training  of  the  Highlanders  apparently 
standing  them  in  no  stead  whatever  —  and  were  only  able  to  get  around  at 
all  when  convoyed  by  backwoodsmen. 

In  fight  they  fared  even  worse.  The  British  regulars  at  Braddock's  battle, 
and  the  Highlanders  at  Grant's  defeat  a  few  years  later,  suffered  the  same  fate. 
Both  battles  were  fair  fights;  neither  was  a  surprise;  yet  the  stubborn  valour 
of  the  red-coated  grenadier  and  the  headlong  courage  of  the  kilted  Scot  proved 
of  less  than  no  avail.  Not  only  were  they  utterly  routed  and  destroyed  in 
each  case  by  an  inferior  force  of  Indians  (the  French  taking  little  part  in  the 
conflict),  but  they  were  able  to  make  no  effective  resistance  whatever;  it  is 
to  this  day  doubtful  whether  these  superb  regulars  were  able,  in  the  battles 
where  they  were  destroyed,  to  so  much  as  kiU  one  Indian  for  every  hundred  of 
their  own  men  who  fell.  The  provincials  who  were  with  the  regulars  were  the 
only  troops  who  caused  any  loss  to  the  foe;  and  this  was  true  in  but  a  less 

degree  of  Bouquet's  fight  at  Bushy  Run.  Here  Bouquet,  by  a  clever  strata- 
gem, gained  the  victory  over  an  enemy  inferior  in  numbers  to  himself;  but 

only  after  a  two  days  struggle  in  which  he  suffered  a  fourfold  greater  loss 
than  he  inflicted.* 

When  hemmed  in  so  that  they  had  no  hope  of  escape,  the  Indians  fought 
to  the  death;  but  when  a  way  of  retreat  was  open  they  would  not  stand 
cutting  like  British,  French,  or  American  regulars,  and  so,  though  with  a 
nearly  equal  force,  would  retire  if  they  were  suffering  heavily,  even  if  they 
were  causing  their  foes  to  suffer  still  more.  This  was  not  due  to  lack  of 
courage;  it  was  their  system,  for  they  were  few  in  numbers,  and  they  did 
not  believe  in  losing  their  men.^    The  Wyandots  were  exceptions  to  this 

'  Bouquet,  like  so  many  of  his  predecessors  and  successors,  greatly  exaggerated  the  num- 
bers and  loss  of  the  Indians  in  the  fight.  Smith, '"'  who  derived  his  information  both  from  the 

Indians  and  from  the  American  rangers,  states  that  but  eighteen  Indians  were  killed  at  Bushy 
Kun.  . 

'  Most  of  the  plains  Indians  feel  in  the  same  way  at  present.  I  was  once  huntang  with  a 
Sioux  half-breed  who  Illustrated  the  Indian  view  of  the  matter  in  a  rather  striking  way,  sajdng: 
"  If  there  were  a  dozen  of  you  white  hunters  and  you  found  six  or  eight  bears  in  a  brush,  and 
you  knew  you  could  go  in  and  kill  tbem  all,  but  that  in  the  fight  you  would  certainly  lose  three 
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Tule  for  with  them  it  was  a  point  of  honour  not  to  yield,  and  so  they  were  of 
all  the  tribes  the  most  dangerous  in  an  actual  pitched  battle.'  But  making 
the  attack,  as  they  usually  did,  with  the  expectation  of  success,  all  were 
«quaUy  dangerous.  If  their  foes  were  clustered  together  in  a  huddle  they 
attacked  them  without  hesitation,  no  matter  what  the  difference  in  numbers, 
and  shot  them  down  as  if  they  had  been  elk  or  buffalo,  they  themselves 
being  almost  absolutely  safe  from  harm,  as  they  flitted  from  cover  to  cover. 
It  was  this  capacity  for  hiding,  or  taking  advantage  of  cover,  that  gave  them 
their  great  superiority;  and  it  is  because  of  this  that  the  wood  tribes  were  so 
much  more  formidable  foes  in  actual  battle  than  the  horse  Indians  of  the 
plains  afterwards  proved  themselves.  In  dense  woodland  a  body  of  regular 
soldiers  are  almost  as  useless  against  Indians  as  they  would  be  if  at  night 
they  had  to  fight  foes  who  could  see  in  the  dark;  it  needs  special  and  long- 

continued  training  to  fit  them  in  any  degree 
for  wood-fighting  against  such  foes.  Out  on 
the  plains  the  white  hunter's  skill  with  the 
rifle  and  his  cool  resolution  give  him  an  im- 

mense advantage;  a  few  determined  men  can 
withstand  a  host  of  Indians  in  the  open,  al- 

though helpless  if  they  meet  them  in  thick 
cover:  and  our  defeats  by  the  Sioux  and 
other  plains  tribes  have  generally  taken  the 
form  of  a  small  force  being  overwhelmed  by 
a  large  one. 

Not  only  were  the  Indians  very  terrible 
in  battle  but  they  were  cruel  beyond  all  be- 

lief in  victory;  and  the  gloomy  annals  of  bor- 
der warfare  are  stained  with  their  darkest 

hues  because  it  was  a  war  in  which  helpless 
women  and  children  suffered  the  same  hideous 
fate  that  so  often  befell  their  husbands  and 
fathers.  It  was  a  war  waged  by  savages 
against  armed  settlers,  whose  families  fol- 

lowed them  into  the  wilderness.  Such  a  war 

IS  inevitably  bloody  and  cruel;  but  the  inhuman  love  of  cruelty  for  cruelty's 
sake,^  which  marks  the  red  Indian  above  all  other  savages,  rendered  these  wars 
more  terrible  than  any  others.  For  the  hideous,  unnamable,  unthinkable  tor- 

tures practised  by  the  red  men  on  their  captured  foes,  and  on  their  foes'  ten- 
der women  and  helpless  children,  were  such  as  we  read  of  in  no  other  struggle, 

hardly  even  in  the  revolting  pages  that  tell  the  deeds  of  the  Inquisition.  It 
was  inevitable  —  indeed  it  was  in  many  instances  proper —  that  such  deeds 
should  awake  in  the  breasts  of  the  whites  the  grimmest,  wildest  spirit  of  re- 

venge and  hatred. 
The  history  of  the  border  wars,  both  in  the  ways  they  were  begun  and  in 

or  four  men  yourselves,  you  wouldn't  go  in,  would  you  ?  You'd  wait  until  you  got  a  better 
chance,  and  could  kill  them  without  so  much  risk.  Well,  Indians  feel  the  same  way  about 

attacking  whites  that  you  would  feel  about  attacking  those  bears." 
'  All  the  authorities  from  Smith  «  to  Harrison  ""  are  unanimous  on  this  point. 
'  Any  one  who  has  ever  been  in  an  encampment  of  wild  Indians,  and  has  had  the  misfor- 

-tune  to  witness  the  delight  the  children  take  in  torturing  little  animals,  will  admit  that  the 
Indian's  love  of  cruelty  for  cruelty's  sake  cannot  possibly  be  exaggerated.  The  young  are  so 
trained  that  when  old  they  shall  find  their  keenest  pleasure  in  infliating  pain  in  its  most  appal- 

ling form.  Among  the  most  brutal  white  borderers  a  man  would  be  instantly  lynched  if  he 
practised  on  any  creature  the  fiendish  torture  which  in  an  Indian  camp  either  attracts  no 
notice  at  all,  or  else  excites  merely  laughter. 

A  MoQui  Squaw 
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the  ways  they  were  waged,  makes  a  long  tale  of  injuries  inflicted,  suffered, 
and  mercilessly  revenged.  It  could  not  be  otherwise  when  brutal,  reckless, 
lawless  borderers,  despising  all  men  not  of  their  own  colour,  were  thrown  in 
contact  with  savages  who  esteemed  cruelty  and  treachery  as  the  highest  of 
virtues,  and  rapine  and  murder  as  the  worthiest  of  pursuits.  Moreover,  it 
was  sadly  inevitable  that  the  law-abiding  borderer  as  well  as  the  white  ruffian, 
the  peaceful  Indian  as  well  as  the  painted  marauder,  should  be  plunged  into 
the  struggle  to  suffer  the  punishment  that  should  only  have  fallen  on  their 
evU-minded  fellows. 

Looking  back,  it  is  easy  to  say  that  much  of  the  wrongdoing  could  have 
been  prevented;  but  if  we  examine  the  facts  to  find  out  the  truth,  not  to 
establish  a  theory,  we  are  bound  to  admit  that  the  struggle  was  really  one  that 
could  not  possibly  have  been  avoided.  The  sentimental  historians  speak  as 
if  the  blame  had  been  all  ours,  and  the  wrong  all  done  to  our  foes,  and  as  if  it 
would  have  been  possible  by  any  exercise  of  wisdom  to  reconcile  claims  that 
were  in  their  very  essence  conflicting;  but  their  utterances  are  as  shallow  as 
they  are  untruthful. 

Unless  we  were  willing  that  the  whole  continent  west  of  the  AUeghanies 
should  remain  an  unpeopled  waste,  the  hunting-ground  of  savages,  war  was 
inevitable;  and  even  had  we  been  willing,  and  had  we  refrained  from  encroach- 

ing on  the  Indians'  lands,  the  war  woidd  have  come  nevertheless,  for  then 
the  Indians  themselves  would  have  encroached  on  ours.  Undoubtedly  we 
have  wronged  many  tribes;  but  equally  undoubtedly  our  first  definite  knowl- 

edge of  many  others  has  been  derived  from  their  improvoked  outrages  upon  our 
people.  The  Chippewas  [Ojibwas],  Ottawas,  and  Pottawottomies  furnished 
hundreds  of  young  warriors  to  the  parties  that  devastated  our  frontiers  genera- 

tions before  we  in  any  way  encroached  upon  or  wronged  them. 
The  excesses  so  often  committed  by  the  whites  when,  after  many  checks 

and  failures,  they  at  last  grasped  victory,  are  causes  for  shame  and  regret; 
yet  it  is  only  fair  to  keep  in  mind  the  terrible  provocations  they  had  endured. 
Mercy,  pity,  magnanimity  to  the  fallen,  could  not  be  expected  from  the 
frontiersmen  gathered  together  to  war  against  an  Indian  tribe.  Almost 
every  man  of  such  a  band  had  bitter  personal  wrongs  to  avenge.  He  was 
not  taking  part  in  a  war  against  a  civilised  foe;  he  was  fighting  in  a  contest 
where  women  and  children  suffered  the  fate  of  the  strong  men,  and  instead 

of  enthusiasm  for  his  country's  flag  and  a  general  national  animosity  towards 
its  enemies,  he  was  actuated  by  a  furious  flame  of  hot  anger,  and  was  goaded 
on  by  memories  of  which  merely  to  think  was  madness.  His  friends  had  been 
treacherously  slain  while  on  messages  of  peace;  his  house  had  been  burned, 
his  cattle  driven  off,  and  all  he  had  in  the  world  destroyed  before  he  knew 
that  war  existed  and  when  he  felt  quite  guiltless  of  all  offence;  his  sweetheart 
or  wife  had  been  carried  off,  ravished,  and  was  at  the  moment  the  slave  and 
concubine  of  some  dirty  and  brutal  Indian  warrior;  his  son,  the  stay  of  his 

house,  had  been  burned  at  the  stake  with  torments  too  horrible  to  mention '-; 
his  sister,  when  ransomed  and  returned  to  him,  had  told  of  the  weary  journey 
through  the  woods,  when  she  carried  around  her  neck  as  a  horrible  necklace 

'  The  expression  "too  horrible  to  mention"  is  to  be  taken  literally,  not  figuratively.  It 
applies  equally  to  the  fate  that  has  befallen  every  white  man  or  woman  who  has  fallen  into  the 
power  of  hostile  plains  Indians  during  the  last  ten  or  fifteen  years  [from  1889.]  The  nature 
of  the  wild  Indian  has  not  changed.  Not  one  man  in  a  hundred,  and  not  a  single  woman, 
escapes  torments  which  a  civilised  man  cannot  look  another  in  the  face  and  so  much  as  speak 
of.  Impalement  on  charred  stakes,  finger-nails  split  off  backwards,  finger-joints  chewed  off. 
eyes  burned  out — these  tortures  can  be  mentioned,  but  there  are  others  equally  normal  and 
customary  which  cannot  even  be  hinted  at,  especially  when  women  are  the  victims. 

H.  W.  —  VOL.  XXII.  2m 



530 THE   HISTORY   OF   THE   UNITED   STATES 

the  bloody  scalps  of  her  husband  and  children;  seared  into  his  eyeballs,  into 
his  very  brain,  he  bore  ever  with  him,  waking  or  sleeping  the  sight  of  the 
skinned,  mutilated,  hideous  body  of  the  baby  who  had  just  grown  old  enough 
to  recognise  him  and  to  crow  and  laugh  when  taken  in  his  arms. 

Such  incidents  as  these  were  not  exceptional;  one  or  more,  and  often 
all  of  them,  were  the  invariable  attendants  of  every  one  of  the  countless  Indian 
inroads  that  took  place  during  the  long  generations  of  forest  warfare.  It 
was  small  wonder  that  men  who  had  thus  lost  everything  should  sometimes 
be  fairly  crazed  by  their  wrongs.  Again  and  again  on  the  frontier  we  hear 
of  some  such  unfortunate  who  has  devoted  all  the  remainder  of  his  wretched 
life  to  the  one  object  of  taking  vengeance  on  the  whole  race  of  the  men  who 
had  darkened  his  days  forever.  Too  often  the  squaws  and  pappooses  fell 
victims  of  the  vengeance  that  should  have  come  only  on  the  warriors;  for 
the  whites  regarded  their  foes  as  beasts  rather  than  men,  and  knew  that  the 
squaws  were  more  cruel  than  others  in  torturing  the  prisoner,  and  that  the 
very  children  took  their  full  part  therein,  being  held  up  by  their  fathers  to 
tomahawk  the  dying  victims  at  the  stake. 

Thus  it  is  that  there  are  so  many  dark  and  bloody  pages  in  the  book  of 
border  warfare,  that  grim  and  iron-bound  volume,  wherein  we  read  how  our 
forefathers  won  the  wide  lands  that  we  inherit.  It  contains  many  a  tale  of 
fierce  heroism  and  adventurous  ambition,  of  the  daring  and  resolute  courage  of 
men  and  the  patient  endurance  of  women;  it  shows  us  a  stern  race  of  freemen 
who  toUed  hard,  endured  greatly,  and  fronted  adversity  bravely,  who  prized 
strength  and  com-age  and  good  faith,  whose  wives  were  chaste,  who  were 
generous  and  loyal  to  their  friends.  But  it  shows  us  also  how  they  spxmied 
at  restraint  and  fretted  under  it,  how  they  would  brook  no  wrong  to  them- 

selves, and  yet  too  often  inflicted  wrong  on  others;  their  feats  of  terrible 
prowess  are  interspersed  with  deeds  of  the  foulest  and  most  wanton  aggression, 
the  darkest  treachery,  the  most  revolting  cruelty;  and  though  we  meet  with 
plenty  of  the  rough,  strong  coarse  virtues,  we  see  but  little  of  such  qualities 
as  mercy  for  the  fallen,  the  weak,  and  the  helpless,  or  pity  for  a  gallant  and 
vanquished  foe.** 



CHAPTER   IV 

THE   FIRST   COLONIES 

It  was  Menendez  who  crushed  French  Protestantism  in  America.  To  plant 
religious  freedom  on  this  western  soU  was  not  the  mission  of  France.  It  was 
for  her  to  rear  in  northern  forests  the  banner  of  absolutism  and  of  Rome  ; 
whUe  among  the  rocks  of  Massachusetts,  England  and  Calvin  fronted  her  in 
dogged  opposition.  Long  before  the  ice-crusted  pines  of  Plymouth  had 
listened  to  the  rugged  psalmody  of  the  Puritan,  the  solitudes  of  western  New 
York  and  the  stern  wilderness  of  Lake  Huron  were  trodden  by  the  iron  heel 
of  the  soldier  and  the  sandalled  foot  of  the  Franciscan  friar.  France  was  the 
true  pioneer  of  the  Great  West.  They  who  bore  the  fleur-de-lis  were  always 
in  the  van,  patient,  daring,  indomitable.  And  foremost  on  this  bright  roll  of 
forest  chivalry  stands  the  half  forgotten  name  of  Samuel  de  Champlain. — 
Francis  Paiikman.i> 

It  has  seemed  clearest  and  most  logical  to  trace  the  story  of  American 
discovery  from  the  beginning  to  the  end,  and  to  describe  the  natives  by  whom 
the  land  was  pre-empted,  before  taking  up  the  process  of  colonisation.  But 
it  must  not  be  concluded  that  the  colonists  waited  patiently  until  the  dis- 

coverers had,  by  long  groping,  made  out  definitely  the  shape  of  the  mysterious 
new  world.  On  the  contrary  the  colonists  trod  zealously  on  the  very  heels 
of  the  explorers;  often  the  two  classes  were  combined  in  one  expedition. 

The  first  colonies,  as  we  have  seen,  were  those  planted  by  the  Norsemen 
in  Greenland.  They  have  disappeared  as  completely  as  some  of  the  later 
efforts  —  that  which  Raleigh  planted  on  Roanoke  Island,  for  example,  and 
which  was  swallowed  into  oblivion  as  into  a  quicksand.  The  mistakes  of  the 
early  colonists  were  as  numerous  as  their  excesses.  For  both  they  often 
made  the  atonement  of  vast  hardship  and  death.  Gold  was,  as  ever,  the  first 
cry,  and  it  rolled  up  its  usual  security  of  murder  and  crime.  Agriculture,  as 
always,  was  despised  at  first,  and  then  became  the  chief  reliance,  the  true 
mine  of  wealth.  In  the  beginning,  the  colonists  fought  with  nature,  and  the 
natives,  and  then  they  fell  upon  one  another.  Then  they  banded  together  to 
fight  their  mother  countries,  and  we  behold  the  thirteen  colonies  at  war  with 
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France,  then  with  England;  the  South  and  Central  Americans  and  the  Island 
peoples  shaking  off  the  yokes  of  Spain  and  of  France,  and  the  great  empire  of 
Brazil  overawing  the  mother  monarchy  of  Portugal.  Finally,  we  shall  see 
the  descendants  of  the  colonists  issuing  a  new  bull  of  demarcation,  called  the 
Monroe  Doctrine,  and  forbidding  the  European  countries  that  settled  the 
New  World,  to  interfere  further  in  its  destinies  or  to  hope  for  any  future 
accession. 

In  the  colonisation  of  America  religion  appears  everjrwhere,  now  as  the 
inspiration  of  unbounded  heroism,  endurance,  and  justice,  now  as  the  tech- 

nical excuse  for  unlimited  duplicity,  ravage,  and  murder.  It  was  "  for  the 
good  of  the  Catholic  cause  "  that  Columbus  and  others  advocated  the  enslaving 
and  slaughter  of  the  heathen;  it  was  "for  the  good  of  the  Catholic  cause" 
that  Las  Casas  advocated  liberty,  gentleness,  and  the  importance  of  setting 

the  unconverted  a  good  example.  It  was  "for  the  sake  of  Calvinism"  that 
De  Gourgues  hanged  the  Spaniards  left  by  Menendez.  It  was  religious  example 
that  led  the  Puritans  to  forsake  England  for  HoUand,  then  Holland  for 
America,  and  in  the  new  home  of  religious  liberty,  to  banish  dissenters  and  to 
inflict  heathenish  cruelties  upon  the  Quakers  who  had  left  the  same  country 
for  the  same  religious  liberty.  It  was  religion  that  warmed  them  in  the  bleak 
wilderness;  and  upheld  them  through  pestilence,  starvation,  and  the  dread 
of  the  stealthy  and  ghostly  Indian  enemy. 

Of  almost  equal  sustaining  and  enspiriting  power  has  been  the  lust  for 
wealth.  In  the  creed  of  the  early  explorers  God  and  gold  were  closely  brack- 

eted. No  pilgrimage  for  a  religious  end  has  ever  been  more  superbly  achieved 
in  the  face  of  greater  hardships  than  the  march  of  Coronado;  yet  he  frankly 
himted  only  the  seven  golden  cities  of  Cibola. 

In  the  exploration  of  America,  gold  and  the  spices  of  India  were  the 

wiUs-o'-the-wisp  that  drew  the  unwilling  victim  through  marsh  and  thicket 
and  morass.  The  Spanish  and  the  English  made  gold  their  first  ambition. 
Consequently  there  was  little  but  failure  for  their  first  efforts.  The  glory  of 
the  first  successful,  as  of  the  first  well-intentioned,  colonisation  belongs  to  the 
French,  both  Huguenot  and  Catholic.  They  had  their  failures  as  well  as  the 
others,  but  they  came  to  cultivate  and  invest,  to  found  a  home.  They  treated 
the  Indian  neither  with  the  mercilessness  nor  the  condescension  of  the  Span- 

iards and  the  English.  The  French  and  the  Indians  in  general  lived  very 
amicably  together,  and  intermarriage  was  the  common  thing.  In  consequence 
the  French  were  the  first  to  reach  a  modus  vivendi,  and  easily  made  the  Indians 
allies  in  their  contests  with  the  Enghsh.  Yet  by  the  irony  of  history,  French 
institutions  have  had  far  less  influence  in  the  New  World  than  either  English, 
or  Spanish,  or  even  Dutch. 

This  chapter,  devoted  to  early  experiments  in  colonisation,  shows  how 
untrustworthy  is  ground  that  the  prophet  must  always  stand  on  unless  he 
waits  till  after  the  event;  for  it  shows  the  English  and  the  Spanish  failing  and 
the  French  succeeding  dramatically  with  picturesque  ease.  Before  taking  up 
these  colonies  let  us  glance  at  the  nature  of  the  territory  they  sought  to  make 
their  own.« 

R,   G.   THWAITES'   ON  THE   PHYSICAL   CHARACTERISTICS   OF  NORTH   AMERICA 

North  America  could  not,  in  a  primitive  stage  of  the  mechanic  arts,  have 
been  developed  by  colonisation  on  any  considerable  scale  from  the  west, 

['  Reproduced  by  permission.     Copyright,  1897,  by  Longmans,  Green,  &  Co.] 
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ixcept  in  the  face  of  difficulties  almost  insuperable.  The  Pacific  coast  of  the 
lountry  is  dangerous  to  approach;  steep  precipices  frequently  come  down  to 
he  shore,  and  the  land  everywhere  rises  rapidly  from  the  sea,  until  not  far 
nland  the  broad  and  mighty  wall  of  the  Cordilleran  mountain  system  extends 
rom  north  to  south.  That  formidable  barrier  was  not  scaled  by  civilised 
nen  until  modern  times,  when  European  settlement  had  already  reached  the 
tlississippi  from  the  east,  and  science  had  stepped  in  to  assist  the  explorers. 
\-t  San  Diego  and  San  Francisco  are  the  only  natural  harbours,  although  Puget 
5ound  can  be  entered  from  the  extreme  north,  and  skilful  improvements  have 
n  our  day  made  a  good  harbour  at  the  mouth  of  Columbia  river.  The  rivers 
)f  the  Pacific  slope  for  the  most  part  come  noisily  tumbUng.  down  to  the  sea 
)ver  great  cliffs  and  through  deep  chasms,  and  cannot  be  utilised  for  progress 
ar  into  the  interior. 

The  Atlantic  seaboard,  upon  the  other  hand,  is  broad  and  inviting.  The 
Appalachian  range  lies  for  the  most  part  nearly  a  hundred  miles  inland.  The 
gently  sloping  coast  abounds  in  indentations  —  safe  harbours  and  generous 
and-locked  bays,  into  which  flow  numerous  rivers  of  considerable  breadth  and 
lepth,  by  means  of  which  the  land  can  be  explored  for  long  distances  from 
,ide-water.  By  ascending  the  St.  Lawrence  and  the  chain  of  the  Great  Lakes, 
ihe  interior  of  the  continent  is  readily  reached.  Dragging  his  craft  over  any 
)ne  of  a  half-dozen  easy  portages  in  Wisconsin,  Illinois,  Indiana,  or  Ohio,  the 
!anoe  traveller  can  emerge  into  the  Mississippi  basin,  by  means  of  whose  far- 
itretching  waters  he  is  enabled  to  explore  the  heart  of  the  New  World,  from 
ihe  Alleghanies  to  the  Rockies,  from  the  Great  Lakes  to  the  Gulf  of  Mexico. 
i  carrying  trail,  at  the  headwaters  of  the  Missouri,  will  lead  him  over  to  tribu- 
;aries  of  the  Columbia,  whereby  he  gains  access  to  the  Pacific  slope;  while  by 
mother  portage  of  a  few  miles  in  length,  from  Pigeon  river  to  Rainy  river,  he 
s  given  command  of  the  vast  basin  of  Hudson  Bay  —  a  labjTinth  of  water- 
vays  extending  northward  to  the  Arctic  Ocean,  and  connected  by  still  other 
jortages  with  the  Pacific.  The  Hudson  river  and  lakes  George  and  Cham- 
)lain  form  a  natural  highway  from  the  St.  Lawrence  southward  to  the  ocean. 
3y  the  Mohawk  and  a  short  carrying-place,  the  Hudson  was  from  early  times 
jonnected  with  the  Great  Lakes.  The  Potomac,  the  Susquehanna,  the  Roa- 
loke,  and  other  southern  rivers  can  be  traced  northwestward  to  their  sources 
n  the  moimtains;  and  hard  by  are  the  headwaters  of  west-flowing  feeders  of 
he  Mississippi.  The  Appalachian  mountains  run  for  the  most  part  in  parallel 
idges  northeast  and  southwest;  and  their  valley  system,  opening  out  through 
he  Cumberland  gap  upon  the  Kentucky  prairies  and  the  valleys  of  the  Ohio 
)asin,  also  afford  a  comparatively  easy  highway  from  the  Atlantic  sea  coast 
0  the  interior. 

Thus  with  the  entrance  of  North  America  facing  the  east,  and  with  Europe 
ying  but  little  more  than  one  half  the  distance  from  Boston  that  Asia  lies  from 
San  Francisco,  it  was  in  the  order  of  things  that  from  the  east  should  have 
ome  the  people  who  were  to  settle  and  civilise  the  New  World.  Colonists 
ould  on  this  side  of  the  continent  found  new  commonwealths,  yet  at  the  same 
ime  easily  maintain  their  connection  with  the  fatherland.  The  march  of 
Lryan  emigration  has  ever  been  on  lines  little  diverging  from  due  east  or 
rest.  It  is  fortunate  that  the  geographical  conditions  of  North  America  were 
uch  as  to  mSfke  her  an  inviting  field  for  the  further  migration  of  the  race. 

The  Atlantic  border  may  be  considered  as  the  threshold  of  the  continent, 
t  was  among  its  dense,  gloomy  forests  of  hard  wood  and  pine  that  European 
ations  planted  their  colonies;  here  those  colonies  grew  into  states,  which  were 
lie  nucleus  of  the  American  Union.    The  Appalachians  are  not  high  enough 
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seriously  to  affect  the  climate  or  landscape  of  the  region.  Their  flanks  slope 
gradually  down  to  the  sea,  furrowed  by  rivers  which  from  the  first  gave  char- 

acter to  the  colonies.  In  New  England,  where  there  is  an  abundance  of  good 
harbours,  the  coast  is  narrow  and  the  streams  are  short  and  rapid,  with 
stretches  of  navigable  water  between  the  waterfalls  which  turn  the  wheels  of 
industry  for  a  busy,  ingenious,  and  thrifty  people.  The  long,  broad  rivers  of 
the  south,  flowing  lazily  through  a  wide  base-plain,  the  coast  of  which  fur- 

nishes but  little  safe  anchorage,  served  as  avenues  of  traffic  for  the  large, 
isolated  colonial  estates  strung  along  their  banks;  the  autocratic  planters  tak- 

ing pleasure  in  having  ports  of  entry  at  their  doors.  The  Hudson  and  the 
Potomac  lead  far  inland  —  paths  to  the  waterways  of  the  interior  —  and 
divide  the  Atlantic  slope  into  three  grand  natural  divisions,  the  New  England, 
the  Middle,  and  the  Southern,  in  which  grew  up  distinct  groups  of  colonies, 
having  quite  a  different  origin,  and  for  a  time  but  few  interests  in  common. 
The  Appalachian  moimtains  and  their  foot-hills  abound  in  many  places  in 
iron  and  coal;  works  for  the  smelting  of  the  former  were  erected  near  James- 

town, Virginia,  as  early  as  1620,  and  early  in  the  eighteenth  century  the 
industry  began  to  be  of  considerable  importance  in  parts  of  New  England, 
New  York,  and  New  Jersey;  but  the  mining  of  anthracite  coal  was  not  com- 

menced until  1820.  The  soil  of  the  Atlantic  border  varies  greatly,  being  much 
less  fertile  in  the  north  than  in  the  south;  but  nearly  everywhere  it  yields 
good  returns  for  a  proper  expenditure  of  labour.  The  climate  is  subject  to 

frequent  and  extreme  changes.  At  about  30°  latitude  the  mean  temperature 
is  similar  to  that  on  the  opposite  side  of  the  Atlantic;  but  farther  north  the 
American  climate,  owing  to  the  divergence  of  the  Gulf  Stream  and  the  influence 
of  the  great  continent  to  the  west,  is  much  colder  than  at  corresponding  points 
in  Europe.    The  rainfall  along  the  coast  is  everywhere  sufficient. 

Beyond  the  Appalachian  mountain  wall,  the  once  heavily  forested  land 

dips  gently  to  the  Mississippi';  then  the  land  rises  again,  in  a  long,  treeless swell,  up  to  the  foot  of  the  giant  and  picturesque  Cordilleras.  The  isothermal 
lines  in  this  great  central  basin  are  nearly  identical  with  those  of  the  Atlantic 
coast.  The  soil  east  of  the  105th  meridian  west  from  Greenwich  is  generally 
rich,  sometimes  extremely  fertile;  and  it  is  now  agreed  that  nearly  all  the  vast 
arid  plains  to  the  west  of  that  meridian,  formerly  set  down  as  desert,  need 
only  irrigation  to  blossom  as  the  rose.  The  Pacific  slope,  narrow  and  abrupt, 
abounds  in  fertile,  pent-up  valleys,  with  some  of  the  finest  scenery  on  the 
continent  and  a  climate  everywhere  nearly  equal  at  the  same  elevation;  the 
isothermal  lines  here  run  north  and  south,  the  lofty  mountain  range  materially 
influencing  both  climate  and  vegetation. 

There  is  no  fairer  land  for  the  building  of  a  great  nation.  The  region 
occupied  by  the  United  States  is  particularly  available  for  such  a  purpose.  It 
offers  a  wide  range  of  diversity  in  climate  and  products,  yet  is  traversed  by 
noble  rivers  which  intimately  connect  the  north  with  the  south,  and  have  been 
made  to  bind  the  east  with  the  west.  It  possesses  in  the  Mississippi  basiii  vast 
plains  unsurpassed  for  health,  fertility,  and  the  capacity  to  support  an  enor- 

mous population,  yet  easily  defended;  for  the  great  outlying  mountain  ranges, 
while  readily  penetrated  by  bands  of  adventurous  pioneers,  and  though 
climbed  by  railway  trains,  might  easily  be  made  serious  obstacles  to  invading 
armies.  The  natural  resources  of  North  America  are  apparently  exhaustless; 
the  United  States  commands  nearly  every  North  American  seaport  on  both 
oceans,  and  withal  is  so  isolated  that  there  appears  to  be  no  necessity  for 

"entangling  alliances"  with  transatlantic  powers.  The  United  States  seems 
permitted  by  nature  to  work  out  her  own  destiny  unhampered  by  foreign 
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mfluence,  secure  in  her  position,  rich  in  capabilities.    Her  land  is  doubtless 
destined  to  become  the  greatest  stronghold  of  the  Aryan  race." 

H.  H.  BANCROFT  ̂     ON   SPANISH  ADMINISTRATION :    THE  REPARTIMIENTO   SYSTEM 

We  have  seen  how  it  had  been  first  of  all  agreed  that  Columbus  should  be 
sole  ruler,  under  the  crown,  of  such  lands  and  seas  as  he  might  discover  for 
Spain.  We  have  seen  how,  under  that  rule,  disruption  and  rebellion  followed 
at  the  heels  of  mismanagement,  until  the  restless  colonists  made  Espanola 
[Hispaniola]  an  angustiarum  insula  to  the  worthy  admiral,  and  until  their 
majesties  thought  they  saw  in  it  decent  excuse  for  taking  the  reins  from  the 
Genoese,  and  supplanting  him  by  agents  of  their  own  choosing. 

The  first  of  these  agents  was  Juan  Aguado,  who  was  merely  a  commis- 
sioner of  inquiry.  With  him,  it  will  be  remembered,  Columbus  returned  to 

Spain  after  his  second  voyage,  leaving  his  brother  Bartholomew  in  command. 
The  admiral  was  permitted  to  try  again;  but  on  reaching  the  seat  of  his  gov- 

ernment he  was  unable  to  quiet  the  disturbances  which  had  increased  during 
his  absence.  Rebellion  had  almost  reached  the  dignity  of  revolution.  After 
another  fair  trial  Columbus  was  obliged  to  give  it  up,  and  to  see  hunself  dis- 

placed by  a  person  far  worse  than  himself.  Perhaps  it  is  true  that  a  knave 
was  better  for  the  office  than  an  honest  man. 

Not  that  Francisco  de  Bobadilla  may  be  lawfully  accused  of  dishonesty; 
the  sovereigns  seemed  competent  to  take  care  of  themselves  where  their  rev- 

enue was  concerned.  And  yet  he  was  certainly  influenced  in  his  conduct  by 
no  sense  of  right  or  of  humanity.  He  was  popular  for  a  time  with  the  colonists 
because  he  was  like  them,  and  because  he  reduced  the  royal  share  of  the  pro- 

duct of  the  mines  from  a  third  to  an  eleventh,  and  permitted  the  dissolute  to 
idle  their  time  and  illtreat  the  natives;  and  because  he  released  those  whom 
the  admiral  had  imprisoned,  and  compelled  Columbus  to  pay  his  debts,  for 
which  last-mentioned  measures  we  have  no  fault  to  find  with  him. 

The  enchaining  of  the  illustrious  discoverer  by  an  infamous  agent,  and  for 
no  crime,  excited  universal  disgust  throughout  Christendom;  and  yet  their 
majesties  seemed  in  no  haste  to  depose  him;  for  it  was  not  until  the  3rd  of 
September,  1501,  in  answer  to  the  persistent  remonstrances  of  Columbus  that 
a  change  was  made,  and  the  government  given  to  Nicolas  de  Ovando. 

Ample  instructions,  both  written  and  verbal,  were  given  him  before  sailing. 
The  natives  should  be  converted,  but  their  bodies  should  not  be  enslaved  or 
inhumanly  treated.  They  must  pay  tribute,  and  gather  gold,  but  for  the 
latter  they  should  be  paid  wages.  Neither  Jews  nor  Moors  might  go  to  the  In- 

dies, but  negro  slaves,  born  into  the  possession  of  Christians,  were  to  be 
permitted  passage.  Columbus  might  always  keep  there  an  agent  to  coUect 
his  dues,  and  he  was  to  be  treated  with  consideration.  The  idle  and  profligate 
were  to  be  returned  to  Spain.  Except  the  provinces  given  to  Ojeda  and 

Pinzon,  Ovando's  jurisdiction  was  made  to  extend  over  all  the  Indies,  that  is 
to  say,  over  all  the  New  World  dommions  of  Spain,  islands  and  firm  land,  with 
the  capital  at  Santo  Domingo,  and  subordinate  or  municipal  governments  in 
the  more  important  localities. 

There  were  no  less  than  thirty  ships  and  twenty-five  hundred  persons  com- 
prising the  expedition.  There  were  seventy-three  respectable  married  women, 

who  had  come  with  their  husbands  and  children,  and  who  were  to  salt  society 

at  "their  several  points  of  distribution.    It  was  evident  as  the  new  governor 

['  Reproduced  by  permission.     Copyright,  1882,  by  Hubert  H.  Bancroft.] 
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entered  his  capital,  elegantly  attired,  with  a  bodyguard  of  sixty-two  foot 
soldiers  and  ten  horsemen,  and  a  large  and  brilliant  retinue,  that  the  colonisa- 

tion of  the  New  World  had  now  been  assumed  in  earnest  by  the  sovereigns  of 
Spain.  Nor  was  Ovando  disposed  to  be  dilatory  in  his  duty.  He  at  once 
annoimced  the  residencia '  of  Bobadilla,  and  put  Roldan,  cidevant  rebel,  and 
later  chief  judge,  under  arrest.  He  built  in  Hispaniola  several  towns  to  which 
arms  and  other  privileges  were  given,  foimded  a  hospital,  removed  Santo 
Domingo  to  a  more  healthful  site  on  the  other  side  of  the  river,  and  established 
a  colony  at  Puerto  de  Plata,  on  the  north  side  of  Hispaniola,  near  Isabella. 

Distant  eight  leagues  from  Santo  Domingo  were  the  mines  where  the 
twenty-five  hundred  thought  immediately  to  enrich  themselves.  For  several 
days  after  landing  the  road  was  alive  with  eager  gold  hunters  drawn  from  all 
classes  of  the  community;  cavalier,  hidalgo,  and  labourer,  priest  and  artisan, 
honest  men  and  villains,  whose  cupidity  had  been  fired  by  the  display  of 
precious  metal  lately  gathered,  and  who  were  now  hurrying  forward  with 
hard  breath  and  anxious  eyes  imder  their  bundle  of  necessities.  But  there 
was  no  happy  fortune  in  store  for  these  new-comers.  The  story  then  new 
has  been  oft  repeated  since:  expecting  to  fill  their  sacks  quickly  and  with 
ease,  and  finding  that  a  very  little  gold  was  to  be  obtained  only  by  very  great 
labour,  they  were  soon  on  their  way  back  to  the  city,  where  many  of  them  fell 
into  poverty,  half  of  them  dying  of  fever. 

Poor  fools!  they  did  not  know;  their  cotmtrymen,  those  that  were  left 

from  former  attempts,  did  not  tell  them,  though  Roldan's  men,  BobadUla's 
men,  knew  well  enough,  and  in  truth  the  remnant  of  Ovando's  men  were  not 
slow  to  learn,  that  the  wise  man,  the  wise  and  villainous  man  from  Spain,  did 
not  work  or  die  for  gold,  or  for  anything  else,  when  there  were  imbelievers 
that  might  be  pricked  to  it  by  the  sword. 

During  this  earliest  period  of  Spanish  domination  in  America,  under  suc- 
cessive viceroys  and  subordinate  rulers,  by  far  the  most  important  matter 

which  arose  for  consideration  or  action  was  the  treatment  of  the  aborigines. 
The  sovereigns  of  Spain  now  found  themselves  called  upon  to  rule  two 

races  in  the  New  World,  the  white  and  the  red.  It  was  natural  and  right  that 
Spaniards  should  be  masters  in  America.  Their  claim  was  twofold;  as  dis- 

coverers, and  as  propagandists.  But  in  just  what  category  to  place  the  red 
man  was  a  question  almost  as  puzzling  as  to  tell  who  he  was,  and  whence  he 
came.  Several  times  the  doctors  sat  to  determine  whether  he  had  a  soul,  or 
a  semi-soul,  and  whether  the  liquid  so  freely  let  by  the  conquerors  was  brute 
blood,  or  of  as  high  proof  as  that  which  Christ  shed  on  Calvary.  The  savages 
were  to  be  governed,  of  course;  but  how,  as  subjects  or  as  slaves?  Columbus 
was  strongly  in  favour  of  Indian  slavery.  He  had  participated  in  the  Portu- 

guese slave  trade,  and  had  found  it  profitable.  Spaniards  enslaved  infidels, 
and  why  not  heathens?  Mahometans  enslaved  Christians,  and  Christians 
Mahometans.  Likewise  Christians  enslaved  Christians,  white  as  well  as  black, 
though  it  began  to  be  questioned  m  Spain  whether  it  was  quite  proper  to  en- slave white  Christians. 

The  negro  slave  trade  was  at  this  time  comparatively  a  new  thing.    It 

'  Residencia  was  the  examination  or  account  taken  of  the  official  acts  of  an  executive  or 
judicial  officer,  during  the  term  of  his  residence  within  the  province  of  his  jurisdiction,  and 
while  in  the  exercise  of  the  functions  of  his  office.  This  was  done  at  the  expiration  of  the  term 
of  office,  or  at  stated  periods,  or  in  case  of  malefeasance  at  any  time.  The  person  making  the 
examination  was  appointed  by  the  king,  or  in  New  World  affairs  by  the  Consejo  de  Jndias, 
or  by  a  viceroy,  and  was  called  ajuez  ae  residencia.  Before  this  judge,  within  a  given  time, 
any  one  might  appear  and  make  complaint,  and  offer  evidence  against  the  retiring  or  suspended 
official,  who  might  refute  and  rebut  as  in  an  ordinary  tribunal. 
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was  one  of  the  proximate  results  of  fifteenth  century  maritime  discovery. 
The  Portuguese  were  foremost  in  it,  organising  for  the  purpose  a  company  at 
Lagos,  anda  factory  at  Arguin,  about  the  middle  of  the  century,  Prince 
Henry  receivmg  his  fifth.  Europe,  however,  offered  no  profitable  field  for 
African  slave  labour,  and  but  for  the  discovery  of  America  the  traffic  probably 
never  would  have  assumed  large  proportions.  Pubhc  sentiment  was  not  in 
those  days  averse  to  slavery,  particularly  to  the  enslavement  of  the  children 
of  Ham.  And  yet  neither  Isabella  nor  Ferdinand  was  at  all  disposed  in  regard 
to  their  New  World  possessions,  to  follow  the  example  of  Portugal  on  the  coast 
of  Africa.  They  did  not  want  these  creatures  in  Spain,  they  had  no  use  for 
them.  In  regard  to  the  ancient  custom  of  enslaving  prisoners  of  war,  par- 

ticularly the  detested  and  chronically  hostile  Moors,  it  was  different.  This 
New  World  had  been  given  them  for  a  higher  purpose.  Its  natives  were  not 
the  enemies  of  Spain;  they  were  innocent  of  any  offence  against  Spain.  It 
was  better,  it  was  more  glorious,  there  was  higher  and  surer  reward  in  it,  to 
Christianise  than  to  enslave.  This  the  clergy  constantly  urged;  so  that  in 
Spain  the  passion  for  propagandism  was  greater  than  the  passion  for  enslaving. 

Meanwhile  Columbus  launched  boldly  forth  in  the  old  way,  not  only  mak- 
ing slaves  of  cannibals  but  of  prisoners  of  war;  and  whenever  slaves  were 

needed,  a  pretence  for  war  was  not  long  wanting.  Thereupon,  with  another 
shipment,  the  admiral  grows  jubilant,  and  swears  by  the  holy  Trinity  that  he 
can  send  to  Spain  as  many  slaves  as  can  be  sold,  four  thousand  if  necessary 
and  enters  upon  the  detaUs  of  capture,  carriage,  sale,  and  return  cargoes  of 
goods,  with  all  the  enthusiasm  of  a  sometime  profitable  experience  in  the 
business.  Further  than  this  he  permits  enforced  labour  where  there  had  been 
failure  to  pay  tribute,  and  finally  gives  to  every  one  who  comes  an  Indian  for  a 
slave. 

Then  the  monarchs  were  angry.  "  What  authority  from  me  has  the  admi- 
ral to  give  to  any  one  my  vassals! "  exclaimed  the  queen.  All  who  had  thus 

been  stolen  from  home  and  country,  among  whom  were  pregnant  women  and 
babes  newly  born,  were  ordered  to  be  returned.  And  from  that  moment  the 
sovereigns  of,  Spain  were  the  friends  of  the  Indians.  Not  Isabella  alone,  but 
Ferdinand,  Charles,  and  Philip,  and  their  successors  for  two  hundred  years, 
with  scarcely  an  exceptional  instance,  stood  manfully  for  the  rights  of  the 
savages  —  always  subordinate  and  determinately  interposing  their  royal 
authority  between  the  persistent  wrong-doing  of  their  Spanish  subjects,  and 
their  defenceless  subjects  of  the  New  World.  Likewise  the  Catholic  church  is 
entitled  to  the  highest  praise  for  her  influence  in  the  direction  of  humanity, 
and  for  the  unwearied  efforts  of  her  ministers  in  guarding  from  cruelty  and 
injustice  these  poor  creatures.  Here  and  there  we  shall  find  a  priest  so  fired 
by  his  fanaticism  as  to  outdo  a  Pizarro  in  bloody-mindedness,  and  we  shall 
find  church  men  and  church  measures  standing  in  the  way  of  truth,  liberty, 
intelligence;  but  though  Spanish  priests,  like  the  Spanish  adventurers,  carried 
away  by  passion  or  a  spirit  of  proselytism,  committed  much  foUy  and  un- 

righteousness, they  also  did  great  good. 
After  the  first  invasions,  in  various  quarters,  aggressive  warfare  on  the 

natives,  even  on  obdurate  heathen  nations,  was  prohibited.  In  the  extension 
of  dominion  that  followed,  the  very  word  "conquest"  was  forbidden  to  be 
employed,  even  though  it  were  a  conquest  gained  by  fighting,  and  the  milder 
term  "pacification"  was  substituted.  Likewise,  after  the  first  great  land 
robberies  had  been  committed,  side  by  side  with  the  minor  seizures  was  in 

practice  the  regulation  that  enough  of  the  ancient  territory  should  be  left 
each  native  community  to  support  it  comfortably  in  a  fixed  residence.    Such 
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were  the  wishes  of  crown  and  clergy;  for  which  both  strove  steadily  though 
unsuccessfully  until  the  object  of  their  solicitude  crumbled  into  earth. 

For  the  soldier,  the  sailor,  the  cavalier,  the  vagabond,  the  governor,  and 
all  their  subordinates  and  associates,  all  the  New  World  rabble  from  viceroy 
to  menial  willed  it  otherwise.  However  onmipotent  in  Spain,  there  were 
some  things  in  America  that  the  sovereigns  and  their  confessors  could  not  do. 
They  could  not  control  the  bad  passions  of  their  subjects  when  beyond  the 
reach  of  rope  and  dungeon.  The  fact  is  that  for  everj^  outrage  by  a  subject 
in  the  far  away  Indies,  there  were  ten,  each  of  magnitude  tenfold  for  evil, 
committed  by  the  sovereigns  in  Spain;  so  that  it  was  by  no  means  wonderful 
that  the  Spaniards  determined  here  to  practise  a  little  fiendishness  for  their 
own  gratification,  even  though  their  preceptors  did  oppose  wickedness  which 
-by  reason  of  their  absence  they  themselves  could  not  enjoy. 

Though  the  monarchs  protested  earnestly,  honestly,  and  at  the  length  of 
centuries,  their  subjects  went  their  way  and  executed  their  will  with  the 
natives.  Were  we  to  tell  a  tenth  of  the  atrocities  perpetrated  by  Christian 
civilisation  on  the  natives  of  America,  we  could  tell  nothing  else.  The  cata- 

logue of  European  crime,  Spanish,  English,  French,  is  as  long  as  it  is  revolting. 
Passing  the  crimes  of  Columbus  and  Bobadilla,  the  sins  of  the  two  being, 

for  biographical  effect,  usually  placed  upon  the  latter,  let  us  look  at  the  con- 
duct of  Ovando  who,  as  Spanish  provincial  rulers  went  in  those  days,  was 

an  average  man.  He  ruled  with  vigour;  and  as  if  to  offset  his  strict  dealings 
with  offending  Spaniards,  unoffending  Indians  were  treated  with  treachery 
and  merciless  brutality.  Rumour  reaching  him  that  Anacaona,  queen  of 
Jaragua,  meditated  revolt,  he  marched  thither  at  the  head  of  two  hundred 
foot  soldiers  and  seventy  horsemen.  The  queen  came  out  to  meet  him,  and 
escorted  him  with  music  and  dancing  to  the  great  banqueting  hall,  and  enter- 

tained him  there  for  several  days.  Still  assured  by  evil  tongues  that  his  hostess 
intended  treachery,  he  determined  to  forestall  her.  On  a  Sunday  afternoon, 
while  a  tilting  match  was  in  progress,  Ovando  gave  the  signal.  He  raised  his 
hand  and  touched  his  Alcantara  cross  —  a  badge  of  honour  it  was  called, 
which,  had  it  been  real,  should  have  shrivelled  the  hand  that  for  such  a  purpose 
touched  it.  On  the  instant  Anacaona  and  her  caciques  were  seized  and  a  mock 
trial  given  them;  after  which  the  queen  was  hanged,  the  caciques  tortured 
and  burned,  and  the  people  of  the  province,  men,  women,  and  children  ruth- 

lessly and  indiscriminately  butchered.  Those  who  escaped  the  massacre  were 
afterwards  enslaved.  For  intelligence,  grace,  and  beauty  Anacaona  was  the 
Isabella  of  the  Indies,  and  there  was  no  valid  proof  that  she  meditated  the 
slightest  injury  to  the  Spaniards. 

The  natives  of  Saona  and  Higuey,  in  revenge  for  the  death  of  a  chief  torn 
in  pieces  by  a  Spanish  bloodhoimd,  rose  to  arms,  and  slew  a  boat's  crew  of 
eight  Spaniards.  Juan  de  Esquivel  with  four  hundred  men  was  sent  against 
them  and  the  usual  indiscriminate  hanging  and  burning  followed.  It  is 
stated  that  over  six  hundred  were  slaughtered  at  one  time  in  one  house.  A 
peace  was  conquered,  a  fort  built;  fresh  outrages  provoked  a  fresh  outbreak; 
and  the  horrors  of  the  extermination  that  followed  Las  Casas  <*  confessed  him- 

self unable  to  describe.  A  passion  arose  for  mutilation,  and  for  prolonging 
agony  by  new  inventions  for  refining  cruelty.  And  the  irony  of  Christianity 
was  reached  when  thirteen  men  were  hanged  side  by  side  in  honour  of  Christ 
and  his  apostles.  Cotubano,  the  last  of  the  five  native  kings  of  Hispaniola,  was 
taken  to  Santo  Domingo,  and  hanged  by  order  of  Ovando.  In  Higuey  were 
then  formed  two  settlements,  Salvaleon  and  Santa  Cruz. 

To  take  the  places  in  the  Spanish  service  of  the  Indians  thus  slain  in 
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Hispaniola,  forty  thousand  natives  of  the  Lucayas  Islands  were  enticed  thither 
upon  the  pretext  of  the  captors  that  they  were  the  Indians'  dead  ancestors 
come  from  heaven  to  take  their  loved  ones  back  with  them.  Hispaniola  was 
indeed  their  shortest  way  to  heaven,  though  not  the  way  they  had  been  led  to 

suppose.  When  tidings  of  Ovando's  doings  reached  Spain,  notably  of  his 
treatment  of  Anacaona,  Queen  Isabella  was  on  her  death  bed;  but  raising  her- 

self as  best  she  was  able,  she  exclaimed  to  the  president  of  the  council,  "  I  will 
have  you  take  of  him  such  a  residencia  as  was  never  taken." 

The  colonists  clamoured,  and  the  crown  was  at  a  loss  what  to  do.  In  her 
dilemma  there  is  no  wonder  the  queen  appeared  to  equivocate;  but  when  in 
December,  1503,  she  permitted  Ovando  to  use  force  in  bringing  the  natives  to 
a  sense  of  their  duty,  though  they  must  be  paid  fair  wages  and  made  to  work 
"as  free  persons,  for  so  they  are,"  she  committed  a  fatal  error.  The  least 
latitude  was  sure  to  be  abused.  Under  royal  permission  of  1501,  a  few  negro 
slaves  from  time  to  time  were  taken  to  the  Indies.  Las  Casas  urged  the 
extension  of  this  traffic  in  order  to  save  the  Indians.  Ovando  complained 
that  the  negroes  fled  and  hid  themselves  among  the  natives,  over  whom  they 
exercised  an  vmwholesome  influence;  nevertheless  in  September,  1505,  we 
find  the  king  sending  over  more  African  slaves  to  work  in  the  mines,  this  time 
about  one  hundred.  From  1517,  when  importations  from  the  Portuguese 
establishments  on  the  Guinea  coast  were  authorised  by  Charles  V,  the  traffic 
increased,  and  under  the  English,  particularly,  assumed  enormous  proportions. 
This  unhappy  confusion  of  races  led  to  a  negro  insurrection  at  Hispaniola  in 
1522. 

We  come  now  to  some  of  the  results  of  the  temporising  policy  of  Spain  — 
always  a  bad  one  when  the  subject  is  beyond  the  reach  of  the  ruling  arm  — 
in  regard  to  the  Indians.  For  out  of  a  desire  to  avoid  the  odium  of  Indian 
slavery,  and  yet  secure  the  benefits  thereof,  grew  a  system  of  servitude  em- 

bodying all  the  worst  features  of  absolute  bondage,  with  none  of  its  mitiga- 
tions. It  will  be  remembered  that  during  his  second  voyage  Columbus  made 

war  on  the  natives  of  Hispaniola,  and  after  sending  some  as  slaves  to  Spain, 
imposed  a  tribute  on  the  rest;  on  some  a  bell-measure  of  gold,  and  on  others 
an  arroba  (25  pounds)  of  cotton,  every  three  months.  So  severe  was  this  tax 
that  many  could  not  meet  it,  and  in  1496  service  was  accepted  in  place  of 
tribute.  This  was  the  beginning  in  the  New  World  of  the  repartimiento 

("  distribution  " ),  or  as  it  shortly  afterward  became,  the  encomienda  {"  a 
giving  in  charge  "),  system,  imder  which  the  natives  of  a  conquered  country 
were  divided  among  the  conquerors,  recommended  to  their  care,  and  made 
tributary  to  them. 

The  theory  was  that  the  Indians  were  the  vassals  of  Spain,  no  more  to  be 
imposed  upon  than  other  Spanish  subjects.  The  sovereigns  wishing  to  stim- 

ulate discovery,  pacification,  and  settlement,  were  willing  to  waive  their 
right  to  the  tribute  due  the  crown  in  favour  of  enterprising  and  meritorious 
persons,  who  had  taken  upon  themselves  hardships  incident  to  life  in  a  new 
country.  At  first  in  certain  instances,  but  later  to  an  extent  which  became 
general,  they  settled  this  tribute  upon  worthy  individuals  among  the  con- 

querors and  colonists  and  their  descendants,  on  condition  that  those  who  thus 
directly  received  a  portion  of  the  royal  revenue  should  act  the  part  of  royalty 
to  the  people  placed  temporarily  in  their  care.  They  were  to  be  as  a  sovereign 
lord  and  father,  and  not  as  a  merciless  or  \mjust  taskmaster.  They  were  to 
teach  their  wards  the  arts  of  civilisation,  instruct  them  in  theChristian  doc- 

trine, watch  over  and  guide  and  guard  them,  and  never  to  restrict  them  in  the 
use  of  their  liberties,  nor  unpose  burdens  on  them,  nor  in  any  way  to  injure  or 
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permit  injury  to  befall  them.  And  for  this  protection  they  were  neither  to 
demand  nor  receive  more  than  the  legal  tribute  fixed  by  the  royal  officers,  and 
always  such  as  the  natives  could  without  distress  or  discomfort  pay.  What 
the  system  was  in  practice  we  shall  have  ample  opportimity  of  jud;ging  as  we 
proceed. 

First,  repartimientos  of  lands  were  authorised  by  the  sovereigns.  This  was 
in  1497,  and  nothing  was  then  said  about  the  natives.  But  after  dividing  the 
land  it  was  but  a  step  to  the  dividing  of  the  inhabitants.  With  the  shipment 
of  six  hundred  slaves  in  1498,  and  an  offer  to  their  majesties  of  as  many  more 
as  they  could  find  sale  for,  Columbus  wrote  asking  permission  to  enforce  the 
services  of  the  natives  until  settlement  should  be  fairly  begun,  say  for  a  year 
or  two;  but  without  waiting  for  a  reply  he  at  once  began  the  practice,  which 
introduced  a  new  feature  into  repartimientos.  Then  to  all  who  chose  to  take 
them,  to  Roldan  and  his  followers,  to  the  worst  characters  on  the  island, 
among  whom  were  the  late  occupants  of  Spanish  prisons,  the  vilest  of  human- 

kind, was  given  absolute  dominion  over  these  helpless  and  innocent  creatures. 
Having  paid  nothing  for  them,  having  no  pecuniary  interest  in  them,  they  had 
no  object  in  caring  whether  they  were  fed  or  starved,  whether  they  lived  or 
died,  for  if  they  died  there  were  more  at  hand  upon  the  original  terms. 

Under  BobadUla  the  infamy  assumed  bolder  proportions.  BobadiUa  not 
only  permitted  the  exaction  from  the  natives  of  mining  and  farming  labour, 
but  aU  restrictions  were  laid  aside,  and  from  working  their  own  soil  they 
became  mere  labour  gangs  to  be  driven  anywhere.  Before  sailing  for  the  New 
World,  Ovando  had  been  charged  by  the  sovereigns  with  the  exercise  of 
extreme  moderation  in  levying  tributes  and  making  repartimientos.  Those 
who  came  with  him  not  only  failed  in  mining,  but  neglected  to  plant,  as  did 
likewise  the  natives,  thinking  thereby  the  quicker  to  rid  themselves  of  the 
invaders.  Hence  famine,  engendermg  new  diseases,  was  at  hand  for  both 
white  and  red.  Then  the  Indians  were  systematically  parcelled  among  the 
Spaniards  to  one  fifty,  to  another  one  hundred,  and  the  repartimiento  unfolded 
into  the  encomienda. 

A  steadUy  growing  character,  impressing  itself  more  and  more  upon  the 
affairs  of  the  Indies  as  time  went  by,  was  that  of  Bartolom^  de  las  Casas. 
Born  at  Seville,  in  1474,  he  conned  his  humanities  at  Salamanca,  making  little 

stir  among  the  Gamaliels  there,  but  taking  the  bachelor's  degree  in  his  eigh- 
teenth year.  After  a  residence  of  about  eight  years  in  the  Indies,  having 

come  with  Ovando  in  1502,  he  was  admitted  to  priestly  orders,  from  which 
time  he  takes  his  place  in  history.  He  was  a  man  of  very  pronounced  tem- 

perament and  faculties,  as  much  man  of  business  as  ecclesiastic,  but  more 
philanthropist  than  either;  possessed  of  a  burning  enthusiasm,  when  once  the 
fire  of  his  conviction  was  fairly  kindled,  he  gave  rest  neither  to  himself  nor  to 
his  enemies.  For  every  evil-minded  man  who  came  thither  was  his  enemy, 
between  whom  and  himself  was  a  death-struggle.  The  Apostle  of  the  Indies 
he  was  sometimes  called,  and  the  mission  he  took  upon  himself  was  to  stand 
between  the  naked  natives  and  their  steel-clad  tormentors.  In  this  work  he 
was  ardent,  ofttimes  imprudent,  always  eloquent  and  truthful,  and  as  impu- 

dently bold  and  brazen  as  any  cavalier  among  them  all.  Nor  was  he  by  any 
means  a  discontented  man.  He  sought  nothing  for  himself;  he  had  nothing 
that  man  could  take  from  him  except  life,  upon  which  he  set  no  value,  or 
except  some  of  its  comforts,  which  were  too  poor  at  best  to  trouble  himself 
about.  His  cause,  which  was  the  right,  gave  breadth  and  volume  to  his 
boldness,  beside  which  the  courage  of  the  hare-brained  babbler  was  sounding 
brass.« 
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AN     eye-witness'    ACCOUNT     OF     SPANISH     CRUELTIES     TO     THE     NATIVES 

(las  CASAS)  ' 

These  people  are  naturally  simple,  they  know  not  what  belongs  to  policy 
and  address,  to  trick  and  artifice;  but  are  very  obedient  and  faithful  to  their 
rightful  governors:  They  are  humble,  patient,  and  submissive,  even  to  the 
Spaniards  who  have  subdued  and  enslaved  them:  They  are  a  weak,  effeminate 
people,  not  capable  of  enduring  great  fatigues  they  care  not  to  be  exposed  to 
toil  and  labour,  and  their  life  is  of  no  long  continuance;  their  constitution  is 
so  nice,  that  a  small  fit  of  sickness  carries  them  off. 

The  Almighty  seems  to  have  inspired  these  people  with  a  meekness  and 
softness  of  humour  like  that  of  lambs.  The  Spaniards  who  have  given  them 
so  much  trouble,  and  fallen  upon  them  so  fiercely,  resemble  savage  tigers, 
wolves,  and  lions,  when  enraged  with  pressing  hunger.  They  applied  them- 

selves forty  years  together  wholly  to  the  massacring  the  poor  wretches  that 
inhabitated  the  islands;  putting  them  to  all  kinds  of  unheard  of  torments 
and  punishments,  insomuch  that  this  island  [Hispaniola]  which  before  the 
arrival  of  the  Europeans,  contained  three  millions  of  people,  is  now  reduced 
to  less  than  three  hundred.  The  island  of  Cuba,  the  length  of  which  is  equal 
to  the  distance  between  Vallidolid  and  Rome,  is  entirely  desert  and  destitute  of 
its  inhabitants,  and  nothing  but  ruins  now  to  be  seen  in  it.  The  islands  of 
St.  John  and  Jamaica,  have  met  with  a  like  treatment,  and  were  very  fertile 
and  populous,  but  are  rendered  desolate  and  waste  by  the  like  means.  Above 
thirty  isles  near  that  of  St.  John  were  entirely  depopulated,  though  of  a  vast 
extent,  so  that  there  is  scarce  an  inhabitant  to  be  found  in  them. 

As  for  the  continent  it  is  certain,  and  what  I  myself  know  to  be  true,  that 
the  Spaniards  have  ruined  ten  kingdoms  there,  bigger  than  all  Spain,  by  the 
commission  of  all  sorts  of  barbarity  and  unheard  of  cruelties.  They  have 
driven  away  or  killed  all  the  inhabitants;  so  that  all  these  kingdoms  are  deso- 

late to  this  day,  and  reduced  to  a  most  deplorable  condition. 
The  gold  and  silver  these  people  had  in  their  possession,  was  the  motive 

that  violently  prompted  the  Europeans  to  persecute  and  destroy  them.  They 
made  so  little  account  of  the  miserable  inhabitants  of  these  islands,  that  I 
may  aver,  without  fear  of  being  accused  either  of  imposture,  or  of  speaking 
inconsiderately  since  it  is  that  of  which  I  have  been  an  eye-witness,  that  they 
valued  them  less,  and  treated  them  worse  than  beasts. 

They  had  so  little  regard  of  the  salvation  of  their  souls  that  they  would 
not  give  themselves  the  trouble  so  much  as  to  speak  of  the  Christian  faith 
and  sacraments  to  those  numberless  multitudes  of  men  and  women  whom 
they  sacrificed  to  their  ambition  and  tyranny;  and  that  which  aggravates 
the  enormity  of  their  crimes,  is  that  these  poor  Indians  had  offered  them  no 
injury,  but  on  the  contrary,  gave  them  as  much  honour  and  respect  as  if  they 
had  been  sent  from  heaven. 

['  It  is  hardly  necessary  to  warn  the  reader  against  the  manifest  numerical  exaggerations 
in  the  famous  work  of  Las  Casas.*  They  are  so  extravagant  that  they  carry  their  own  moni- 

tion. It  is  rather  necessary  to  warn  the  reader  against  discrediting  his  other  statements. 
These  seem  to  be  based  on  irrefutable  evidences  and  they  can  be  corroborated  from  other  eye- 

witnesses. Officially  appointed  "the  Protector  of  the  In<£ans,"  Las  Casas  gave  his  life  to  their 
defence,  toiling  in  their  behalf  in  the  islands  and  in  the  court  at  Spain.  In  spite  of  him  and 
others  like  him  the  depopulation  of  whole  islands  went  on  till  slaves  had  to  be  stolen  from 
Africa  to  replace  those  murdered  in  America.  From  his  eloquence  as  an  author,  the  unselfish- 

ness of  his  whole  career,  the  bravery  and  the  fervour  of  his  lifelong  battle  for  the  oppressed,  he 
has  been  accepted  as  one  of  the  noblest  figures  in  history.  We  quote  from  a  translation  pub- 

lished in  1699  of  his  tracts  published  in  1553  called  Breuissima  relaoion  de  la  destruycion  de 
las  Indiaa.] 
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The  Spaniards  arrived  at  Hispaniola  in  their  first  voyages,  and  here 
began  to  persecute  and  murder  the  Indians,  taking  away  their  wives  and 
children,  and  using  them,  or  rather  abusing  them  at  their  pleasure.  They 
devoured  all  that  these  poor  creatures  had  amassed  together  for  their  sub- 

sistence with  a  great  deal  of  care  and  labour.  One  Spaniard  would  consume 

in  a  day,  that  which  would  sufiice  thr'-e  Indian  families  of  ten  persons  each, 
for  the  space  of  a  whole  month.  This  I'l  treatment  and  spoil  soon  made  the inhabitants  of  this  island  lose  the  esteem  they  had  conceived  of  the  Spaniards, 
whom  they  at  first  looked  upon  as  messengers  from  heaven:  so  that  at  length 
they  began  to  hide  their  wives  and  children,  and  whatever  goods  they  had 
from  them.  Some  retired  into  caves,  others  fled  up  into  the  mountains. 
The  Spaniards  did  not  content  themselves  to  beat  them,  and  to  offer  them 
many  other  indignities,  but  cut  their  throats  in  cold  blood;  and  without  any 
respect  either  to  age  or  quality,  put  their  princes  and  the  governors  of  their 
cities  to  death.  They  came  to  that  height  of  impudence  and  villany,  that  a 
Spanish  captain  had  the  insolence  to  abuse  the  wife  of  the  greatest  king  of 
the  island.  This  vile  fact  drove  them  quite  to  despair,  so  that  from  that 
time  they  sought  means  of  driving  the  Spaniards  out  of  their  country;  they 
betook  themselves  to  arms,  and  did  what  they  could  to  defend  themselves 
against  these  tyrants:  but  the  weapons  they  used  were  neither  capable  of 
defending  them,  nor  of  offending  their  enemies  to  any  piu^ose;  and  were 
more  like  those  that  children  use  to  play  with,  than  such  as  are  fit  for  soldiers 
to  use  in  war. 

The  Spaniards,  who  were  mounted  on  fine  horses,  and  armed  with  lances 
and  swords,  looked  upon  enemies  so  meanly  equipped  with  the  greatest 
contempt  and  committed  the  most  horrible  slaughters  with  impunity.  They 
passed  through  the  several  cities  and  towns,  sparing  neither  age  nor  sex,  but 
killed  women  and  children  as  well  as  men.  They  ripped  up  women  with 
child,  that  root  and  branch  might  be  destroyed  together.  They  laid  wagers 
one  with  another,  who  should  cleave  a  man  with  his  sword  most  dexterously 
at  one  blow;  or  who  should  take  his  head  from  his  shoulders  most  cleverly; 
or  who  should  run  a  man  through  after  the  most  artistic  manner.  They 

tore  away  children  out  of  their  mothers'  arms,  and  dashed  out  their  brains 
against  the  rocks,  while  others  they  threw  into  the  river,  diverting  themselves 
with  this  brutish  sport,  and  giving  great  shouts  while  they  saw  them  in  this 

misery;  and  to  add  insulting  scoffs  to  their  cruelty,  they  advised  them  to' 
struggle  in  the  water,  and  try  if  they  could  save  themselves  from  drowning. 
They  held  up  the  bodies  of  mothers  and  children  together  upon  their  lances. 
They  set  up  gibbets,  and  hanged  up  thirteen  of  these  poor  creatures  in  honour 
of  Jesus  Christ  and  his  twelve  apostles  (as  they  blasphemously  expressed  them- 

selves). They  kindled  a  great  fire  under  these  gibbets,  to  burn  those  they  had 
hanged  upon  them.  They  cut  off  the  hands  of  those  they  saved  alive,  and  sent 
them  away  in  that  miserable  condition,  bidding  them  carry  the  news  of  their 
calamities  to  those  that  were  retired  into  the  mountains  to  escape  the  Span- 
iards. 

They  erected  a  small  scaffold,  supported  with  forks  and  poles,  upon  which 
to  execute  their  chiefs,  and  those  of  the  most  considerable  quality  among 
them.  When  they  had  laid  them  at  length  upon  this  scaffold,  they  kindled 
a  gentle  fire  to  make  them  feel  themselves  die  gradually,  till  the  poor  wretches 
after  the  most  exquisite  pain  and  anguish,  attended  with  horrible  screeches 
and  outcries,  at  length  expired.  I  one  day  saw  four  or  five  of  the  highest 
rank  in  this  island  burned  after  this  manner.  But  the  dreadful  cries  this 
torment  extorted  from  them,  incommoding  a  Spanish  captain,  and  hindering 
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his  sleep,  he  commanded  them  to  be  presently,  strangled.  But  a  certain 
officer  whose  name  I  know,  and  whose  relations  are  well,  known  at  Seville, 
put  gags  into  their  mouths  to  hinder  them  from  making  a  noise,  that  he  might 
not  be  deprived  of  the  brutish  pleasure  of  broiling  them  gently  till  they  breathe 
out  their  souls  in  this  torment.  I  have  been  an  eye  witness  of  all  these  cruelties 
and  an  infinite  number  of  others,  which  I  pass  over  in  silence. 

And  because  the  Indians  after  they  had  been  provoked  with  so  many 
unheard  of  injuries  now  and  then  killed  one  of  them  when  they  met  with 
them  straggling:  the  Spaniards  made  a  law  among  themselves  to  massacre 
a  hundred  Indians  for  every  Spaniard  they  should  kill. 

After  this  unjust  war  was  ended  with  the  destruction  and  massacre  of 
the  inhabitants  of  these  countries,  having  reserved  few  besides  the  women 
and  children,  they  divided  these  among  themselves,  keeping  thirty  of  them; 
others  forty;  others  one  himdred,  some  two  hundred,  according  to  the  interest 
they  had  in  the  tyrant  of  the  island,  whom  they  honoured  with  the  title  of 
governor.  These  (as  might  well  have  been  expected)  took  no  care  to  instruct 
them;  but  confined  the  men  to  the  mines  to  get  out  gold  with  incredible  toil 
and  labour;  they  used  the  women  for  husbandry  and  tillage,  though  this  last 
was  a  labour  hard  enough  for  men  of  the  most  robust  and  vigorous  constitu- 
tion. 

They  fed  them  only  with  herbs,  or  such  like  food,  that  had  but  little  sub- 
stance or  nourishment  in  it:  So  that  the  milk  dried  up  in  the  breasts  of  the 

women  that  gave  suck  and  their  children  in  a  little  time  pined  away  and  died 
with  faintness  and  hunger.  The  men  having  no  conversation  with  the  women, 
but  dwelling  in  separate  houses,  there  could  be  no  farther  propagation  of 
children  by  them.  Thus  at  length  the  men  perished  in  the  mines  with  hunger 
and  labour,  the  women  died  under  the  pressure  of  their  servitude  in  the  fields; 
so  that  all  the  inhabitants  of  this  populous  island  were  exterminated  in  a 
short  time.  And  indeed  if  the  same  course  were  taken  everywhere  else,  all 
mankind  would  be  destroyed  in  the  space  of  a  few  years.  The  Spaniards 
obliged  these  poor  creatures  to  carry  burdens  of  fourscore  or  a  hundred  pound 
weight  for  one  hundred  or  two  hundred  leagues.  And  that  they  might  travel 
the  more  at  ease,  they  would  make  these  Indians  carry  them  in  chairs  and 
horse-litters  on  their  shoulders.  But  it  would  be  endless  to  describe  all  the 
miseries  these  unfortunate  people  were  made  to  suffer;  it  would  require  whole 
volumes  and  the  reading  of  so  deplorable  a  story  would  deeply  affect  and 
soften  every  mind  not  quite  divested  of  humanity. 

A  rich  and  potent  cacique  named  Hathuey  was  retired  into  the  isle  of  Cuba 
to  avoid  that  slavery  and  death  with  which  the  Spaniards  menaced  him; 
and  being  informed  that  his  persecutors  were  upon  the  point  of  landing  in 
this  island,  he  assembled  all  his  subjects  and  domestics  together  and  made  a 

speech  to  them  after  this  manner:  "  You  know  the  report  that  is  spread  abroad, 
that  the  Spaniards  are  ready  to  invade  this  island;  and  you  are  not  ignorant 
of  the  ill  usage  our  friends  and  countrymen  have  met  with  at  their  hands,  and 
the  cruelties  they  have  committed  at  Hayei  (so  Hispaniola  is  called  in  their 
language),  they  are  now  coming  hither  with  a  design  to  exercise  the  same 
outrages  and  persecutions  upon  us.  Are  you  ignorant  of  the  ill  intentions 

of  the  people  of  whom  I  am  speaking?  I'U  teU  you  then  that  these  Europeans 
worship  a  very  covetous  sort  of  God,  so  that  it  is  difficult  to  satisfy  him;  and 

to  perform  the  worship  they  render  to  this  idol,  they'll  exact  immense  treasures 
of  us,  and  will  use  their  utmost  endeavour  to  reduce  us  to  a  miserable  state 

of  slavery  or  else  to  put  us  to  death."  Upon  which  he  took  a  box  of  gold  and 
valuable  jewels  which  he  had  with  him,  and  exposing  it  to  their  view:  "Here 
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is  (says  he)  the  God  of  the  Spaniards  whom  we  must  honour  with  our  sports 
and  dances,  to  see  if  we  can  appease  him,  and  render  him  propitious  to  us; 

that  so  he  may  command  the  Spaniards  not  to  offer  us  any  injury."  They 
all  applauded  this  speech,  and  fell  a  leaping  and  dancing  roimd  the  box,  till 
they  had  quite  tired  and  spent  themselves.  After  which  the  cacique  Hathuey 

resuming  his  discourse,  continued  to  speak  to  them:  "If  we  keep  this  God 
(says  he)  till  he  is  taken  away  from  us,  he'll  certainly  cause  our  lives  to  be 
taken  from  us;  and  therefore  I  am  of  opinion  it  will  be  the  best  way  to  cast 

him  into  the  river."  They  all  approved  of  this  advice,  and  went  all  together 
with  one  accord  to  throw  this  pretended  God  into  the  river. 

The  Spaniards  were  no  sooner  arrived  in  the  isle  of  Cuba  but  this  cacique 
unfortunately  fell  into  their  hands:  and  because  he  had  taken  all  the  pre- 

cautions he  could  to  avoid  the  persecutions  of  so  cruel  and  impious  a  people, 
and  had  taken  arms  to  defend  his  own  life,  as  well  as  the  lives  of  his  subjects; 
this  was  made  a  capital  crime  in  him,  for  which  he  was  burned  alive.  WhUe 
he  was  in  the  midst  of  the  flames,  tied  to  a  stake,  a  certain  Franciscan  friar 
of  great  piety  and  virtue,  took  upon  him  to  speak  to  him  of  God  and  our 
religion,  and  to  explain  to  him  some  articles  of  the  Catholic  faith,  of  which 
he  had  never  heard  a  word  before,  promising  him  eternal  life,  if  he  would 
believe,  and  threatening  him  with  eternal  torment,  if  he  continued  obstinate 
in  his  infidelity. 

Hathuey  reflecting  on  the  matter,  as  much  as  the. place  and  condition  in 
which  he  was  would  permit,  asked  the  friar  that  instructed  him  whether  the 
gate  of  heaven  was  open  to  the  Spaniards;  and  being  answered  that  such  of 
them  as  were  good  men  might  hope  for  entrance  there.  The  cacique,  without 
any  further  deliberation,  told  him,  he  had  no  mind  to  go  to  heaven  for  fear 
of  meeting  with  such  cruel  and  wicked  company  as  they  were;  but  would 
much  rather  choose  to  go  to  hell,  where  he  might  be  delivered  from  the  trouble- 

some sight  of  such  kind  of  people.  To  so  great  a  degree  have  the  wicked 
actions  and  cruelties  of  the  Spaniards  dishonoured  God  and  His  religion  in  the 
minds  of  the  Americans. 

One  day  there  came  to  us  a  great  number  of  the  inhabitants  of  a  famous 
city,  situated  above  ten  leagues  from  the  place  where  we  lodged,  to  compli- 

ment us,  and  bring  us  aU  sorts  of  provisions  and  refreshments,  which  they 
presented  us  with  great  marks  of  joy,  caressing  us  after  the  most  obliging 
manner  they  could.  But  that  evil  spirit  that  possessed  the  Spaniards  put 
them  into  such  a  sudden  fury  against  them,  that  they  fell  upon  them  and 
massacred  above  three  thousand  of  them,  both  men  and  women,  upon  the 
spot,  without  having  received  the  least  offence  or  provocation  from  them.  I 
was  an  eye-witness  of  this  barbarity;  and  whatever  endeavours  were  used  to 
appease  these  inhuman  creatures,  it  was  impossible  to  reduce  them  to  reason; 
so  resolutely  were  they  bent  to  satiate  their  brutal  rage  by  this  barbarous 
action. 

The  Indians  of  Havana  seeing  themselves  reduced  to  a  state  of  severe 
slavery,  that  there  was  no  remedy  left,  and  that  they  were  irrecoverably 
undone,  began  to  seek  refuge  in  the  deserts  and  mountains,  to  secure  them- 

selves if  possible  from  death.  Some  strangled  themselves  in  despair;  parents 
hanged  themselves,  together  with  their  children,  to  put  the  speedier  end  to 
their  miseries  by  death. 

I  saw  with  my  own  eyes  above  six  thousand  children  die  in  the  space  of 
three  or  fom-  months,  their  parents  being  forced  to  abandon  them,  being  con- 

demned to  the  mines.  After  this,  the  Spaniards  took  up  a  resolution  to 
pursue  those  Indians  that  were  retired  into  the  mountains,  and  massacred 
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multitudes  of  them;  so  that  this  island  was  depopulated  and  laid  waste  in  a 
very  little  time.  And  it  is  a  most  lamentable  spectacle  to  see  so  fine  a  country 
thus  miserably  ruined  and  unpeopled. 

They  massacred  such  as  made  a  shift  to  escape  the  fire,  or  kept  them  for 
slaves;  they  used  tortvires  to  force  them  to  tell  where  they  had  hid  their  gold. 
They  printed  marks  on  their  bodies  with  red  hot  branding-irons,  and  after  all 
these  cruelties,  used  their  utmost  diligence  to  make  a  strict  search  for  the  gold 
of  these  miserable  people,  of  which  they  got  vast  quantities  together,  besides 
pearls  and  diamonds  which  the  Indians  gave  them  to  avoid  their  fury.  All 
the_  Spaniards  who  had  any  office  or  place  of  trust,  committed  the  same 
rapine,  everyone  sent  as  many  soldiers  as  he  could  to  make  their  progresses, 
and  ravage  all  the  country.  The  first  bishop  that  was  sent  into  America 
imitated  the  conduct  of  the  covetous  governors,  and  made  use  of  his  servants 
to  procure  himself  a  share  of  the  spoU.  That  which  contributed  yet  farther 
to  unpeople  the  provinces  was  the  liberty  the  Spaniards  took  to  exact  of  the 
caciques,  and  richest  Indians,  a  great  nmnber  of  slaves.  This  kind  of  tribute 
was  authorised  by  the  governor,  and  levied  with  a  great  deal  of  severity;  for 
he  threatened  to  burn  them  alive  if  they  failed  to  send  him  a  recruit  of  fifty 
slaves  every  three  months,  or  as  often  as  he  should  give  order;  though  the 
Indians  have  no  great  number  of  slaves  ordinarily,  and  it  is  much  if  a  cacique 
has  three  or  fom-  among  his  other  domestics.  If  a  father  had  two  children, 
the  Spaniards  would  take  away  one  of  them,  or  two  if  he  had  three.  The 
parent  must  submit,  with  how  great  reluctancy  soever;  but  their  children  were 
not  ravished  from  them  without  abundance  of  tears  and  dolorous  complaints, 
for  they  have  a  very  tender  affection  to  their  offspring,  and  breed  them  up 
with  abundance  of  care.  This  kind  of  tribute  being  often  extorted,  all  this 
kingdom  was  in  a  few  years  depopulated.  There  arrived  five  or  six  ships  here 
every  year  which  were  laden  with  slaves,  whom  they  transported  into  Peru 
and  Panama,  and  there  sold  them,  where  they  died  in  a  little  time;  for  it  has 
been  confirmed  by  many  experiments  that  those  Indians  that  are  transported 
from  their  native  country  into  other  climates,  seldom  live  long,  ana  that 
which  contributed  to  kill  them  the  sooner  was  the  neglect  of  supplying  them 
with  sufficient  sustenance,  and  the  excessive  labour  with  which  they  were 
over-charged. 

These  inhuman  creatures  were  wont  when  they  declared  war  against  any 
city  or  province,  to  bring  with  them  as  many  of  the  conquered  Indians  as  they 
could,  to  make  them  fight  against  their  countrymen;  sometimes  they  had 
fifteen  or  twenty  thousand  of  those  men  subjects  among  them.  But  because 
they  were  not  able  to  furnish  them  with  all  necessary  provisions,  they  allowed 
them  to  eat  those  other  Indians  whom  they  took  in  war,  so  that  in  their  camp 
they  had  shambles  stored  with  human  flesh.  Infants  were  killed,  and  then 
broiled  and  eaten:  men  were  slaughtered  like  beasts,  and  their  legs  and  arms 
dressed  for  food;  for  the  Indians  like  the  taste  of  those  parts  better  than 
others.  The  news  of  these  terrible  practices  soon  alarmed  the  neighbouring 
countries,  and  filled  them  with  terror  and  consternation. 

Many  of  the  Indians  were  worn  out  with  carrying  the  tackle  of  the  Spanish 
ships  which  they  would  needs  have  brought  from  the  north  to  the  south  sea, 
which  are  130  leagues  distant.  They  made  them  carry  anchors  of  a  great 
weight  all  this  long  way.  They  laid  great  guns  upon  the  naked  backs  of  these 
poor  creatures,  under  the  weight  of  which  they  were  not  able  to  stand;  so 
that  the  greater  part  of  them  died  by  the  way,  not  being  able  to  endure  these 
fatigues.  To  increase  their  misery,  they  divided  their  families,  taking  hus- 

bands from  their  wives,  and  wives  from  their  husbands;  their  daughters  were 
H,  W.  —  VOL.  XXU,  an 
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taken  from  them,  and  given  to  the  seamen  and  soldiers  to  satisfy  their  lust 
and  to  appease  their  murmuring.  They  filled  the  ships  with  Indians,  and 
suffered  them  to  perish  with  hunger  and  thirst  because  they  would  take  no 
care  to  furnish  them  with  necessaries. 

The  Spaniards  had  two  powerfid  fleets  destined  to  the  same  purpose  of 
destroying  the  poor  Indians.  How  many  parents  have  they  bereaved  of  their 
children!  How  many  children  of  their  parents !  Of  how  many  adulteries  and 
other  infamous  practices  have  they  been  the  causes,  the  actors,  and  accom- 

plices! How  many  people  have  they  enslaved!  What  miseries  and  calam- 
ities have  they  not  brought  upon  this  new  world!  What  fountains  of  tears 

have  they  opened!  What  rivers  of  blood  have  they  poured  out!  How  many 
lives  have  they  taken  away  after  such  a  manner  as  might  render  them  yet 
more  miserable  in  the  other  world!  It  is  a  melancholy  reflection  both  in 
regard  to  the  Indians  who  have  suffered  so  many  cruelties,  and  to  the  Span- 

iards who  have  been  the  authors  of  so  much  mischief  and  villany. 

The  Spaniards  might  have  built  great  and  floiu-ishing  cities  in  so  pleasant 
and  commodious  a  country,  where  they  might  have  lived  in  the  midst  of 
pleasure  and  plenty  as  it  were  in  another  earthly  paradise;  but  their  stupidity, 
their  avarice,  and  the  enormous  crimes  they  have  committed  in  America 
rendered  them  unworthy  of  these  advantages.  These  covetous  wretches 
esteemed  gold  more  than  souls  which  were  purchased  by  the  blood  of  Jesus 
Christ,  they  made  slaves  of  those  whom  they  saved  alive,  and  filled  the  ships 
they  had  brought  to  the  coasts  of  the  kingdom  of  Yucatan  with  them  and  so 
exchanged  them  for  wine,  oil,  vinegar,  salt  pork,  horses,  and  all  other  neces- 

saries. They  would  give  fifty  or  a  hundred  young  girls  for  a  measure  of  wine, 
oil,  or  vinegar,  and  would  sell  a  himdred  or  two  himdred  lusty  well-made 
young  men  at  the  same  rate.  They  exchanged  a  prince's  son  for  a  cheese, 
and  a  hundred  persons  of  eminency  for  a  horse.  They  continued  in  this 
country  till  they  heard  of  the  riches  of  Peru,  the  news  of  which  made  them 
leave  it  immediately,  and  thus  their  persecutions  ended  in  the  kingdom  of 
Yucatan.  However,  before  they  went  they  committed  all  the  excesses  and 
disorders  that  can  be  imagmed  against  both  God  and  man;  so  that  those  three 
hundred  leagues  of  one  of  the  finest  countries  in  the  world  that  was  very  rich 
and  full  of  people  before  their  arrival,  were  in  a  little  time  reduced  to  a  vast 
desert.  A  certain  pilot  told  me  that  in  a  voyage  he  once  made  from  the 
Lucay  Islands  to  Hispaniola,  which  is  about  seventy  leagues,  he  had  no  need 
either  of  a  compass,  or  the  observation  of  the  stars  to  guide  his  vessel;  for  he 
assured  me  the  floating  bodies  of  the  Indians  that  had  been  thrown  into  the 
sea,  served  for  his  guide  throughout  this  passage,  and  conducted  him  straight 
to  the  port  to  which  he  was  bound. 

The  Spaniards  feed  their  fierce  dogs  with  human  flesh  on  purpose  to  accus- 
tom them  to  tear  men  in  pieces,  and  devour  them.  They  carry  these  dogs  with 

them  wherever  they  go,  and  barbarously  murder  the  poor  Indians  to  feed 
these  savage  curs  with  their  flesh.  They  say  one  to  another.  Give  me  a 
quarter  of  that  Indian  to  make  my  dog  a  feast;  and  when  I  kill  one  I  will  pay 
you  again.  They  commonly  hunt  in  the  morning  with  these  dogs,  and  when 
asked  by  their  fellows  what  luck  they  have  had,  they  answer  according  to 
their  success.  Sometimes  one  will  say  I  am  content,  my  dogs  have  killed 
about  a  score  of  them;  so  that  one  would  think  they  were  speaking  of  wolves 
or  wUd  boars.  Can  any  thing  be  imagined  that  exceeds  such  horrible  cruelty 
as  this?  And  all  these  barbarities  have  been  proved  and  averred  by  strict 
examinations  made  and  produced  before  the  Council  of  the  Indies. 

As  for  your  majesty,  they  think  you  are  the  most  cruel  and  impious  prince 
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in  the  world,  while  they  see  the  cruelty  and  impiety  your  subjects  so  inso- 
lently commit;  and  they  verily  believe  your  majesty  lives,  upon  nothing  but 

hximan  flesh  and  blood.  Probably  this  account  may  ̂ ^ery  much  surprise  your 
majesty,  who  perhaps  have  not  yet  received  sufficient  information  about 
these  matters;  but  this  opinion  is  of  long  standing,  and  become  inveterate 
among  them.  I  could  produce  a  great  many  instances  of  which  I  have  been 
an  eye-witness,  to  convince  you  of  the  truth  of  it;  but  I  am  afraid  of  making 
your  majesty  too  uneasy  and  of  filling  the  reader's  mind  with  too  much 
horror,  by  reciting  such  extraordinary  and  unparalleled  stories,  which  may 
give  a  just  occasion  of  wonder,  that  God  has  so  long  deferred  to  inflict  some 
exemplary  and  terrible  judgment  upon  Spain,  to  punish  all  the  abominations 
the  Spaniards  have  committed  in  the  Indies.** 

THE   COLLISION   OF   SPANISH   COLONISTS   WITH   FRENCH   IN   FLORIDA 

While  the  Castilians  were  everywhere  else  victorious,  Florida  was  wet  with 
the  blood  of  the  invaders,  who  had  stiU  been  unable  to  possess  themselves  of 
her  soil.  The  coast  of  the  Gulf  of  Mexico  was  not  at  this  time,  disputed  by 
any  other  nation  with  Spain;  while  that  power  claimed,  under  the  name  of 
Florida,  the  whole  seacoast  as  far  as  Newfoundland,  and  even  to  the  remotest 
north.  In  Spanish  geography,  Canada  was  a  part  of  Florida.  Yet  within 
that  whole  extent,  not  a  Spanish  fort  was  erected,  not  a  harbour  was  occupied, 
not  one  settlement  was  planned.  The  first  permanent  establishment  of  the 
Spaniards  in  Florida  was  the  result  of  jealous  bigotry.  / 

Meanwhile  a  great  religious  revolution  had  occurred  which  divided  western 
Europe  into  the  two  hostile  and  violent  parties  of  Protestants  and  Catholics, 
a  revolution  not  without  very  important  influences  on  the  colonisation  of 
North  America.  The  first  attempt  at  a  lodgment  within  the  limits  of  what 
are  now  the  United  States,  with  colonisation,  not  conquest,  as  its  principal 
object,  was  made  by  French  Protestants  called  Huguenots,  who  constituted 
at  that  time  a  formidable  party,  embracing,  besides  a  large  body  of  the  nobility, 
no  small  portion  of  the  intelligent  and  industrious  class,  especially  in  the  south 
of  France. 

The  plan  of  an  American  settlement  was  patronised  by  Admiral  de  Coligny, 
celebrated  in  French  history  as  one  of  the  ablest  leaders  of  the  Protestants. 
An  attempted  settlement  in  Brazil  having  proved  a  failure,  Jacques  Ribault 
of  Dieppe,  was  sent  in  1562,  with  two  ships  on  a  voyage  of  exploration  to 
Florida.  He  discovered  the  river  St.  John's,  May,  1562,  which  he  named  the 
river  of  May  * ;  and,  following  the  coast  toward  the  north,  entered  a  spacious 
inlet,  which  he  called  Port  Royal,  a  name  it  has  ever  since  retained.  On  an 
island  in  this  harbour  he  buUt  a  fort  called  Carolina,  after  Charles  IX,  then 
king  of  France  —  a  name  extended  afterward  to  the  circumjacent  territory, 
and  still  retained  by  two  of  the  United  States. 

The  twenty-six  men  left  by  Ribault,  while  he  returned  for  supplies,  lonely 
tenants  of  a  desolate  coast,  became  discontented  and  uneasy,  notwithstanding 
the  hospitality  of  the  neighbouring  Indians.  The  attempt  of  the  comrnandant 
to  repress  this  feeling  provoked  a  mutiny,  in  which  he  was  killed.  With  such 
materials  as  they  had,  the  home-sick  colonists  built  and  rigged  a  small  bark, 
in  which  they  set  sail  for  France.    But  their  provisions  failed,  and  they  were 

•  It  is  the  St.  Matlieo  of  the  Spaniards.  The  forests  of  mulberries  were  admired,  and  cat- 
erpillars readily  mistaken  for  silkworms.  The  cape  received  a  French  name  ;  as  the  ships 

sailed  along  the  coast,  the  numerous  streams  were  called  after  the  rivers  of  France ;  and 

America,  for  a  while,  had  its  Seine,  its  Loire,  and  its  Garonne.  —  Bancroft.  >■ 
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reduced  to  the  terrible  expedient  of  feeding  on  the  flesh  of  one  of  their  com- 
!)anions.    At  length  they  were  picked  up  by  an  Enghsh  vessel,  some  of  them 
anded  on  the  coast  of  France,  and  the  others  carried  to  England. 

Ribault,  on  his  return  to  France,  had  found  that  kingdom  distracted  and 
attention  occupied  by  civil  war,  then  first  breaking  out  between  the  Hugue- 

nots and  the  Catholics.  Peace  was  presently  patched  up,  and  two  years  after 
the  scheme  of  settlement  was  renewed.  Three  ships,  furnished  by  the  French 

government,  were  placed  under  the  command  of  Laudonni^re,  one  of  Ribault's 
companions  in  the  former  voyage.  Le  Mo3Tie  or  De  Morgues,  a  draughtsman 
and  painter,  whose  sketches,  made  upon  the  spot,  were  afterward  engraved 
and  published,  accompanied  the  expedition.  Laudonni^re  landed  his  people 
at  the  river  of  May,  where  he  built  a  fort,  called,  also,  Carohna.  (June  22nd, 
1564).  But  these  colonists,  like  their  predecessors,  were  an  unruly  set. 
Under  pretence  of  searching  for  provisions,  some  of  them  seized  two  small 
vessels  belonging  to  the  colony,  with  which  they  sailed  to  cruise  against  the 
Spaniards,  whose  ships  from  Mexico  and  the  West  Indies  offered  tempting 
prizes  '■  to  freebooters.  They  took  two  or  three  small  Spanish  vessels,  but 
escaped  with  difficulty  from  a  superior  force  at  Jamaica,  and  returned  to 
Fort  Carolina,  where  the  ringleaders  were  tried  and  executed.  In  distress  for 
food,  of  which  their  store  was  consumed,  the  colonists  had  made  up  their 
minds  to  abandon  the  settlement,  when  they  were  visited,  August  3rd,  1564, 
by  Sir  John  Hawkins,  an  English  adventurer,  on  his  way  home  from  the 
Spanish  West  Indies,  where  he  had  just  sold,  at  a  great  profit,  a  second  cargo 
of  slaves,  kidnapped  on  the  coast  of  Africa.  Hawkins  appears  to  have  been 
the  first  Englishman  who  engaged  in  this  detestable  traffic.  Moved  by  reli- 

gious sjTnpathy,  he  supplied  the  French  colonists  with  provisions,  and  even 
gave  them  a  vessel,  in  which  they  were  just  about  to  embark  for  France,  when 
Ribault  arrived,  bringing  with  him  a  recruit  of  colonists,  men,  women,  and 
children,  abimdance  of  provisions,  and  a  supply  of  tools,  seeds,  and  other 
necessaries.? 

The  French,  now  wild  with  joy,  seemed  about  to  acquire  a  home,  and 
Calvinism  to  become  fixed  in  the  inviting  regions  of  Florida.  But  Spain  had 
never  relinquished  her  claim  to  that  territory;  where,  if  she  had  not  planted 
colonies,  she  had  buried  many  hundreds  of  her  bravest  sons.  Should  the 
proud  Philip  II  abandon  a  part  of  his  dominions  to  France?  Should  he  suffer 
his  commercial  monopoly  to  be  endangered  by  a  rival  settlement  in  the 
vicinity  of  the  West  Indies?  Should  the  Romanist  permit  the  heresy  of 
Calvinism  to  be  planted  in  the  neighbourhood  of  his  Catholic  provinces? 
There  had  appeared  at  the  Spanish  court  a  bold  commander,  well  fitted  for 
acts  of  reckless  hostility.  Pedro  Menendez  [or  Melendez]  de  AvD^s  had,  in  a 
long  career  of  military  service,  become  accustomed  to  scenes  of  blood;  and  his 
natiu"al  ferocity  had  been  confirmed  by  his  course  of  life.  The  wars  against 
the  Protestants  of  Holland  had  nourished  his  bigotry;  and,  as  a  naval  com- 

mander, often  encountering  pirates,  whom  the  laws  of  nations  exclude  from 
mercy,  he  had  become  inured  to  acts  of  prompt  and  unsparing  vengeance. 
He  had  acquired  wealth  in  Spanish  America,  which  was  no  school  of  benevo- 

lence; and  his  conduct  there  had  provoked  an  inquiry,  which,  after  a  long 
arrest,  ended  in  his  conviction.  The  nature  of  his  offences  is  not  apparent; 
the  justice  of  the  sentence  is  confirmed,  for  the  king,  who  knew  him  well, 
esteemed  his  bravery,  and  received  him  again  into  his  service,  remitted  only 
a  moiety  of  his  fine.    The  heir  of  Menendez  had  been  shipwrecked  among  the 

['  Thus  the  French  were  the  aggressois  in  the  first  act  of  hostility  in  the  new  world,  an  act 
of  crime  and  temerity,  which  was  soon  ayenged.— Bancroft,/] 
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Bermudas;  the  father  desired  to  return  and  search  among  the  islands  for 
tidings  of  his  only  son.  Philip  II  suggested  the  conquest  and  colonisation  of 
Florida;  and  a  compact  was  soon  framed  and  confirmed,  March  20th,  1565, 
by  which  Menendez,^  who  desired  an  opportunity  to  retrieve  his  honour,  was 
constituted  the  hereditary  governor  of  a  territory  of  almost  unlimited  extent. 

The  terms  of  the  compact  are  curious.  Menendez,  on  his  part,  promised, 
at  his  own  cost,  in  the  following  May,  to  invade  Florida  with  at  least  five 
hundred  men;  to  complete  its  conquest  within  three  years;  to  explore  its 
currents  and  channels,  the  dangers  of  its  coasts,  and  the  depth  of  its  havens; 
to  establish  a  colony  of  at  least  five  hundred  persons,  of  whom  one  hundred 
should  be  married  men;  to  introduce  at  least  twelve  ecclesiastics,  besides  four 
Jesuits.  It  was  further  stipulated,  that  he  should  transport  to  his  province 
all  kinds  of  domestic  animals.  Philip  II  had  no  scruples  respecting  slavery; 
Menendez  contracted  to  import  into  Florida  five  hundred  negro  slaves.  The 
sugar  cane  was  to  become  a  staple  of  the  country. 

The  king,  in  return,  promised  the  adventurer  various  commercial  immu- 
nities; the  ofiice  of  governor  for  life,  with  the  right  of  naming  his  son-in-law 

as  his  successor;  an  estate  of  twenty-five  square  leagues  in  the  immediate 
vicinity  of  the  settlement;  a  salary  of  two  thousand  ducats,  chargeable  on  the 
revenues  of  the  province;  and  a  fifteenth  part  of  all  royal  perquisites. 

Meantime,  news  arrived,  as  the  French  writers  assert,  through  the  treachery 
of  the  court  of  France,  that  the  Huguenots  had  made  a  plantation  in  Florida, 
and  that  Ribault  was  preparing  to  set  sail  with  reinforcements.  The  cry  was 
raised,  that  the  heretics  must  be  extirpated;  the  enthusiasm  of  fanaticism 
was  kindled,  and  Menendez  readily  obtained  all  the  forces  which  he  required. 
More,  than  twenty-five  hundred  persons  -^  soldiers,  sailors,  priests,  Jesuits, 
married  men  with  their  families,  labourers,  and  mechanics,  and,  with  the 
exception  of  three  nundred  soldiers,  all  at  the  cost  of  Menendez  —  engaged  in 
the  invasion.  After  delays  occasioned  by  a  storm,  the  expedition  set  sail; 
and  the  trade-winds  soon  bore  them  rapidly  across  the  Atlantic.  A  tempest 
scattered  the  fleet  on  its  passage; ,  it  was  with  only  one  third  part  of  his  forces 
that  Menendez  arrived  at  the  harbour  of  St.  John  in  Porto  Rico  (August  9th). 
But  he  esteemed  celerity  the  secret  of  success;  and,  refusing  to  await  the 
arrival  of  the  rest  of  his  squadron,  he  sailed  for  Florida.  It  had  ever  been  his 
design  to  explore  the  coast;  to  select  a  favourable  site  for  a  fort  or  a  settle- 

ment; and,  after  the  construction  of  fortifications,  to  attack  the  French.  It 
was  on  the  day  (August  28th)  which  the  customs  of  Rome  have  consecrated 
to  the  memory  of  one  of  the  most  eloquent  sons  of  Africa,  and  one  of  the  most 
venerated  of  the  fathers  of  the  chm-ch  [St.  Augustine],  that  he  came  in  sight 
of  Florida.  For  four  days  he  sailed  along  the  coast,  uncertain  where  the 
French  were  established;  on  the  fifth  day,  he  landed,  and  gathered  from  the 
Indians  accounts  of  the  Huguenots.  At  the  same  time  [Sept.  2nd]  he  dis- 
dovered  a  fine  haven  and  beautiful  river;  and,  remembering  the  saint,  on  whose 
day  he  came  upon  the  coast,  he  gave  to  the  harbour  and  to  the  stream  the 
name  of  St.  Augustine.  Sailing,  then,  to  the  north,  he  discovered  a  portion 
of  the  French  fleet,  and  observed  the  nature  of  the  road  where  they  were 

anchored.  The  French  demanded  his  name  and  objects.  "I  am  Menendez 
of  Spain,"  replied  he;  "sent  with  strict  orders  from  my  king  to  gibbet  and 
behead  all  the  Protestants  in  these  regions.  The  Frenchman  who  is  a 

Catholic,  I  will  spare;  every  heretic  shall  die."     The  French  fleet,  unpre- 

['  Parkman  <>  says  of  Menendez  and  Ribault :  "  Menendez  was  a  leader  fit  to  stand  with 
Oortes  and  Pizarro  ;  but  he  was  matched  with  a  man  as  cool,  skilful,  prompt,  and  daring  as 

himself."] 
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pared  for  action,  cut  its  cables;  the  Spaniards,  for  some  time,  continued  an 
meffectual  chase. 

It  was  at  the  hour  of  vespers,  on  the  evening  preceding  the  festival  of  the 
nativity  of  Mary,  that  the  Spaniards  returned  to  the  harbour  of  St.  Augustine, 
At  noonday  of  the  festival  itself,  the  governor  went  on  shore,  to  take  possession 
of  the  continent  in  the  name  of  his  King.  Philip  II  was  proclaimed 
monarch  of  all  North  America.  The  solemn  mass  of  Our  Lady  was  per- 

formed, and  the  foundation  of  St.  Augustine  was  immediately  laid,  Sept.  8th, 
1565.  It  is,  by  more  than  forty  years,  the  oldest  town  in  the  United  States. 
Houses  in  it  are  yet  standing,  which  are  said  to  have  been  built  many  years 
before  Virginia  was  colonised. 

By  the  French  it  was  debated,  whether  they  should  improve  their  fortifi- 
cations, and  await  the  approach  of  the  Spaniards,  or  proceed  to  sea,  and 

attack  their  enemy.  Against  the  advice  of  his  officers,  Ribault  resolved  upon 
the  latter  course.  Hardly  had  he  left  the  harbour  for  the  open  sea,  before 
there  arose  a  fearful  storm,  which  continued  till  October,  and  wrecked  every 
ship  of  the  French  fleet  on  the  Florida  coast.  The  vessels  were  dashed  against 
the  rocks  about  fifty  leagues  south  of  Fort  Carolina;  most  of  the  men  escaped 
with  their  lives. 

The  Spanish  ships  also  suffered,  but  not  so  severely;  and  the  troops  at  St. 
Augustine  were  entirely  safe.  They  knew  that  the  French  settlement  was  left 
in  a  defenceless  state:  with  a  fanatical  indifference  to  toil  Menendez  led  his 

men  through  the  lakes,  and  marshes,  and  forests,  that  divided  the  St.  Au^s- 
tine  from  the  St.  John's,  and,  on  September  21st,  with  a  furious  onset,  surprised 
the  weak  garrison,  who  had  looked  only  towards  the  sea  for  the  approach  of 
danger.  After  a  short  contest,  the  Spaniards  were  masters  of  the  fort.  A 
scene  of  carnage  ensued;  soldiers,  women,  children,  the  aged,  the  sick,  were 
alike  massacred.  The  Spanish  accoimt  of  Barcia"  asserts,  that  Menendez 
ordered  women  and  young  children  to  be  spared;  yet  not  till  after  the  havoc 
had  long  been  raging.  « 

Nearly  two  hundred  persons  were  killed.  A  few  escaped  into  the  woods, 

among  them  LaudonniSre,*'  Challus,?  and  Le  Moyne,*  who  have  related  the  hor- rors of  the  scene.  But  whither  should  they  fly?  Death  met  them  in  the 
woods;  and  the  heavens,  the  earth,  the  sea,  and  men,  all  seemed  conspired 
against  them.  Should  they  surrender,  appealing  to  the  sympathy  of  their 

conquerors?  "  Let  us,"  said  Challus,  "  trust  in  the  mercy  of  God,  rather  than 
of  these  men."  A  few  gave  themselves  up,  and  were  immediately  murdered. 
The  others,  after  the  severest  sufferings,  found  their  way  to  the  sea-side,  and 
were  received  on  board  two  small  French  vessels  which  had  remained  in  the 
harbour.  The  Spaniards,  angry  that  any  should  have  escaped,  insulted  the 
corpses  of  the  dead  with  wanton  barbarity.' 

The  victory  had  been  gained  on  the  festival  of  St.  Matthew;  and  hence  the 
Spanish  name  of  the  river  May.  After  the  carnage  was  completed,  mass  was 
said;  a  cross  was  raised;  and  the  site  for  a  church  selected,  on  ground  still 
smoking  with  the  blood  of  a  peaceful  colony. 

The  shipwrecked  men  were,  in  their  turn,  soon  discovered.  They  were  in 
a  state  of  helpless  weakness,  wasted  by  their  fatigues  at  sea,  half  famished, 
destitute  of  water  and  of  food.  Should  they  surrender  to  the  Spaniards? 
Menendez  invited  them  to  rely  on  his  compassion;  the  French  capitulated, 
and  were  received  among  the  Spaniards  in  such  successive  divisions  as  a  boat 
could  at  once  ferry  across  the  intervening  river.    As  the  captives  stepped  upon 

['  Such  as  tearing  out  the  eyes  and  flicking  them  from  the  points  of  their  daggers  at  the 
French  ships.] 
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the  bank  which  their  enemies  occupied,  their  hands  were  tied  behind  them; 
and  in  this  way  they  were  marched  towards  St.  Augustine,  like  a  flock  of  sheep 
driven  to  the  slaughter-house.  As  they  approached  the  fort,  a  signal  was 
given;  and,  amidst  the  sound  of  trumpets  and  drums,  the  Spaniards  fell  upon 
the  unhappy  men,  who  had  confided  in  their  humanity,  and  who  could  offer 
no  resistance.  A  few  Catholics  were  spared;  some  mechanics  were  reserved 

as  slaves;  the  rest  were  massacred,  "not  as  Frenchmen,  but  as  Calvinists."  * 
The  whole  number  of  the  victims  of  bigotry,  here  and  at  the  fort,  is  said,  by 
the  French,  to  have  been  about  nine  hundred;  the  Spanish  accounts  diminish 
the  number  of  the  slain,  but  not  the  atrocity  of  the  deed.  Menendez  returned 
to  Spain,  impoverished,  but  triumphant.  The  French  government  heard  of 
the  outrage  with  apathy,  and  made  not  even  a  remonstrance  on  the  ruin  of  a 
colony,  which,  if  it  had  been  protected,  would  have  given  to  its  country  a 
flourishing  empire  in  the  south,  before  England  had  planted  a  single  spot  on 
the  new  continent.  History  has  been  more  faithful,  and  has  assisted  humanity 
by  giving  to  the  crime  of  Menendez  an  infamous  notoriety.  The  first  town  in 
the  United  States  sprung  from  the  unrelenting  bigotry  of  the  Spanish  king. 
Its  origin  should  be  carefully  remembered,  for  it  is  a  fixed  point,  from  which 
to  measure  the  liberal  influence  of  time;  the  progress  of  modern  civilisation; 
the  victories  of  the  American  mind,  in  its  contests  for  the  interests  of  humanity.* 

The  Huguenots  and  the  French  nation  did  not  share  in  the  apathy  of  the 
court.  Dominique  de  Gourgues  —  a  bold  soldier  of  Gascony,  whose  life  had 
been  a  series  of  adventures,  now  employed  in  the  army  against  Spain,  now  a 
prisoner  and  a  galley-slave  among  the  Spaniards,  taken  by  the  Turks  with  the 
vessel  in  which  he  rowed,  and  redeemed  by  the  commander  of  the  knights  of 
Malta  —  burned  with  a  desire  to  avenge  his  own  wrongs  and  the  honour  of  his 
country.  The  sale  of  his  property,  and  the  contributions  of  his  friends,  fur- 

nished the  means  of  equipping  three  ships,  in  which,  with  one  hundred  and 
fifty  men,  he  embarked  (August  22nd,  1567),  for  Florida.  His  strength  was 
not  sufficient  to  occupy  the  country  permanently;  he  desired  only  to  destroy 
and  revenge.  He  was  able  to  surprise  two  forts  near  the  mouth  of  the  St. 
Matheo;  and,  as  terror  magnified  the  number  of  his  followers,  the  consterna- 

tion of  the  Spaniards  enabled  him  to  gain  possession  of  the  larger  fort,  near 
the  spot  which  the  French  colony  had  fortified.  But  he  was  not  strong  enough 
to  maintain  his  position;  he,  therefore,  hastily  retreated,  and  sailed  to  Europe, 
having  first  hanged  his  prisoners  upon  the  trees,  and  placed  over  them  the 
inscription,  "  I  do  not  this  as  unto  Spaniards  or  mariners,  but  as  unto  traitors, 
robbers,  and  murderers."  The  natives,  who  had  been  ill-treated  both  by  the 
Spaniards  and  the  French,  enjoyed  the  savage  consolation  of  seeing  their 
enemies  butcher  one  another. 

The  attack  of  the  fiery  Gascon  was  but  a  passing  storm.  France  disavowed 
the  expedition,  and  rehnquished  all  pretension  to  Florida.  Spain  grasped  at 
it,  as  a  portion  of  her  dominions;  and,  if  discovery  could  confer  a  right,  her 
claim  was  founded  in  justice.    Cuba  now  formed  the  centre  of  her  West 

['  The  statement  that  Menendez  hung  such  a  legend  round  the  necks  of  the  hanged  does 

jays  in  his  own  letter  to  Philip  11 :  "  It  appeared 
was  a  service  to  God  our  Lord  and  your  Majesty  (Dios,  Nuestro  Seflor  y  V.  Mag'')  by  which 
Beans  we  were  left  freed  of  this  wicked  sect  for  the  planting  of  the  gospel  in  these  regions."] 

[•  As  J.  G.  Shea"»  points  out,  a  French  expedition  under  Jacques  de  Sorie  had  captured 
Havana,  in  1555,  and  in  spite  of  promises  to  spare  those  who  surrendered,  put  the  prisoners  to 
leath.  In  1570  the  French  captured  a  Portuguese  ship  with  forty  Jesuit  missionaries  on 

board,  all  of  whom  were  put  to  death.  Shea  adds :  "  In  aU  my  reading  I  find  no  case  where 

;he  French  in  Spanish  waters  then  gave  quarter  to  Spaniards,  except  ia  hope  of  large  ransom. "] 
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Indian  possessions,  and  everything  around  it  was  included  within  her  empire. 
Sovereignty  was  asserted,  not  only  over  the  archipelagoes  within  the  tropics, 
but  over  the  whole  continent  round  the  inner  seas.  From  the  remotest  south- 

eastern cape  of  the  Caribbean,  along  the  whole  shore  to  the  Cape  of  Florida 
and  beyond  it,  all  was  hers.  The  Gulf  of  Mexico  lay  embosomed  within  her 
territories./ 

H.  H.  Bancroft's*  account  of  the  Spanish  in  new  Mexico 

New  Mexico  was  revisited  and  finally  occupied  before  1600.  In  1581 
Rodriguez,  with  two  other  Franciscans  and  a  few  soldiers,  went  from  San 
Bartolom6  down  the  Conchos  and  up  the  Rio  del  Norte  to  the  land  of  the 

Tiguas,  Coronado's  Tiguex.  The  soldiers  soon  returned,  but  the  friars  re- 
mained to  be  killed.  In  1582-3,  Espejo  with  a  strong  force  went  in  search  of 

Rodriguez,  learning  at  Puara,  near  Sandia,  of  the  friars'  fate  and  of  Coronado's 
former  ravages  in  that  region.  Espejo  explored  eastward  to  the  Buffalo 
plains,  northward  to  Cia  and  Galisteo,  and  westward  to  Zuni  and  the  region 
of  the  modern  Prescott,  returning  by  way  of  the  Rio  Pecos.  In  1590-1 
Castano  de  Sosa  went  up  the  Pecos  and  across  to  the  Pueblo  towns  of  the 
Rio  Grande  with  a  colony  of  one  hundred  and  seventy  men,  women,  and 
children.  After  receiving  the  submission  of  thirty-three  towns,  he  was  carried 
back  to  Mexico  in  chains  by  Captain  Morlete,  on  the  charge  of  having  made  an 
illegal  entrada,  or  expedition.  About  1595,  BoniUa  and  Humana,  sent  out 
against  rebellious  Indians,  marched  without  licence  to  New  Mexico  and  sought 
Quivira  in  the  northeastern  plains.  Humana  murdered  his  chief,  and  was 
himself  killed  with  most  of  his  party  by  the  natives.  In  1595,  the  viceroy 
made  a  contract  for  the  conquest  of  New  Mexico  with  Ofiate,  who,  as  governor 
and  captain-general  left  Mexico  with  a  large  force  of  soldiers  and  colonists  in 
1596.  Vexatious  complications  hindered  Onate's  progress  and  exhausted  his 
funds,  so  that  it  was  not  until  1598  that  he  entered  the  promised  land.  San 
Juan  was  made  the  capital;  all  the  towns  submitted;  the  Franciscans  were 
stationed  in  six  nations;  Ofiate  visited  Zuni;  and  the  rebellious  warriors  of 
the  Acoma  penol  were  conquered  in  a  series  of  hard-fought  battles,  all  before 
the  summer  of  1599. 

Prosperity  ceased  for  a  long  time  on  account  of  controversies  between 
Onate,  the  colonists,  and  the  Franciscan  friars.  The  latter  abandoned  the 
province  in  1601,  but  were  sent  back  to  reoccupy  the  missions.  Onate  made 
some  explorations;  Santa  F6  was  founded  and  became  the  capital;  and  in 
1608  eight  padres  were  at  work,  having  baptised  eight  thousand  natives. 
Thirty  new  friars  came  in  1629,  and  the  next  year  fifty  missionaries  were  serv- 

ing sixty  thousand  converts  in  ninety  pueblos.  This  was  the  date  of  New 

Mexico's  highest  prosperity,  though  the  decline  was  very  slight  for  fifty  years, 
a  period  whose  history  offers  nothing  but  petty  local  happenings.  But  in  1680 
a  general  revolt  occurred,  in  which  four  hundred  Spaniards,  including  twenty- 
one  friars,  were  killed  and  the  survivors  driven  out  of  the  country.  While  the 
refugees  founded  El  Paso  and  did  some  missionary  work  in  that  region,  the 
New  Mexicans  fought  among  themselves  and  threw  away  their  chances  for 
continued  independence.  After  several  unsuccessful  efforts  by  different  lead- 

ers. Governor  Vargas  reconquered  the  province  after  many  a  hard-fought 
battle  in  1693-4;  but  two  years  later  a  new  revolt  occurred,  in  which  five 
missionaries  and  twenty  other  Spaniards  were  killed,  and  the  year  1696  may 

['  Eeproduced  by  permission.    Clopyright,  1884,  by  Hubert  H.  Bancroft.] 
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be  regarded  as  the  date  of  New  Mexico's  permanent  submission  to  Spanish 
authority.^ 

CARTIER   AT  MONTREAL 
V 

The  description  which  Cartier  had  given  of  the  country  bordering  on  the 
St.  Lawrence,  furnished  arguments  against  attempting  a  colony.  The  intense 
severity  of  the  cUmate  terrified  even  the  inhabitants  of  the  north  of  France; 
and  no  mines  of  silver  and  gold,  no  veins  abounding  in  diamonds  and  precious 
stones,  had  been  promised  by  the  faithful  narrative  of  the  voyage.  Three  or 
four  years,  therefore,  elapsed,  before  plans  of  colonisation  were  renewed.  Yet 
imagination  did  not  fail  to  anticipate  the  establishment  of  a  state  upon  the 
fertile  banks  of  a  river,  which  surpassed  all  the  streams  of  Europe  in  grandeur, 
and  flowed  through  a  country  situated  between  nearly  the  same  parallels  as 
France. 

Soon  after  a  short  peace  had  terminated  the  third  desperate  struggle 
between  Francis  I  and  Charles  V,  attention  to  America  was  again  awakened; 
there  were  not  wanting  men  at  court,  who  deemed  it  unworthy  a  gallant  nation 
to  abandon  the  enterprise;  and  a  nobleman  of  Picardy,  Francis  de  la  Roque 
[or  Roche],  lord  of  Roberval,  a  man  of  considerable  provincial  distinction, 
sought  and  obtained  a  commission  (January  15th,  1540).  It  was  easy  to 
confer  provinces  and  plant  colonies  upon  parchment;  Roberval  could  con- 

gratulate himself  on  being  the  acknowledged  lord  of  the  unknown  "  Norum- 
bega,"  ̂   and  viceroy,  with  full  regal  authority,  over  the  immense  territories  and 
islands  which  lie  near  the  gulf  or  along  the  river  St.  Lawrence.  But  the  ambi- 

tious nobleman  could  not  dispense  with  the  services  of  the  former  naval  com- 
mander, who  possessed  the  confidence  of  the  king;  and  Cartier  also  received 

a  commission.  Its  terms  merit  consideration.  He  was  appointed  captain- 
general  and  chief  pilot  of  the  expedition  (October  17th,  1540) ;  he  was  directed 
to  take  with  him  persons  of  every  trade  and  art;  to  repair  to  the  newly  dis- 

covered territory;  and  to  dwell  there  with  the  natives.  But  where  were  the 
honest  tradesmen  and  industrious  mechanics  to  be  found,  who  would  repair 
to  this  New  World?  The  commission  gave  Cartier  full  authority  to  ransack 
the  prisons;  to  rescue  the  unfortunate  and  the  criminal;  and  to  make  up  the 
complement  of  his  men  from  their  number.  Thieves  or  homicides,  the  spend- 

thrift or  the  fraudulent  bankrupt,  the  debtors  to  justice  or  its  victims,  pris- 
oners rightfully  or  wrongfully  detained,  excepting  only  those  arrested  for 

treason  or  counterfeiting  money  —  these  were  the  people  by  whom  the  colony 
was,  in  part,  to  be  established. 

The  division  of  authority  between  Cartier  and  Roberval  of  itself  defeated 
the  enterprise.  Roberval  was  ambitious  of  power;  and  Cartier  desired  the 
exclusive  honour  of  discovery.  They  neither  embarked  in  company,  nor 
acted  in  concert.  Cartier  sailed  (May  23rd,  1541)  from  St.  Malo  the  next 
spring  after  the  date  of  his  commission;  he  arrived  at  the  scene  of  his  former 
adventures,  ascended  the  St.  Lawrence,  and,  near  the  site  of  Quebec,  built  a 
fort  for  the  security  of  his  party;  but  no  considerable  advances  in  geographical 
knowledge  appear  to  have  been  made.  The  winter  passed  in  suUenness  and 
gloom.    In  June  of  the  following  year,  he  and  his  ships  stole  away  and  returned 

['  Norumbega  is  a  name  that  attained  an  almost  mystic  significance.  In  1529,  on  a  map  of 
Hieronymus  da  Verrazano,  it  appeared  as  Aranbaga.  In  1539  it  is  called  a  region  of  untold 
wealth  stretching  between  the  capes  of  Breton  and  Florida.  The  name  became  gradually 
restricted  to  New  England  and  part  of  Canada,  The  name  probably  came  from  a  considerable 
Indian  gettlemeut  that  later  disappeared,] 
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to  France,  just  as  Roberval  arrived  with  a  considerable  reinforcement.  Unsus- 
tained  by  Cartier,  Roberval  accomplished  no  more  than  a  verification  of  pre- 

vious discoveries.  Remaining  about  a  year  in  America,  he  abandoned  his 
immense  viceroyalty.  Estates  in  Picardy  were  better  than  titles  in  Norum- 
bega.  His  subjects  must  have  been  a  sad  company;  during  the  winter,  one 

was  hanged  for  theft;  several  were  put  in  irons;  and  "  divers  persons,  as  well 
women  as  men,"  were  whipped.  By  these  means  quiet  was  preserved.  Per- 

haps the  expedition  on  its  return  entered  the  bay  of  Massachusetts;  the  French 
diplomatists  always  remembered,  that  Boston  was  built  within  the  original 
limits  of  New  France.  The  commission  of  Roberval  was  followed  by  no  per- 

manent results.  It  is  confidently  said,  that,  at  a  later  date  (1549),  he  again 
embarked  for  his  viceroyalty,  accompanied  by  a  numerous  train  of  adven- 

turers; and,  as  he  was  never  more  heard  of,  he  may  have  perished  at  sea. 
Can  it  be  a  matter  of  surprise,  that,  for  the  next  fifty  years,  no  further  dis- 

coveries were  attempted  by  the  government  of  a  nation,  which  had  become 
involved  in  the  final  struggle  of  feudalism  against  the  central  power  of  the 
monarch,  of  Calvinism  against  the  ancient  religion  of  France?  The  colony  of 
Huguenots  at  the  south  sprung  from  private  enterprise;  a  government  which 
could  devise  the  massacre  of  St.  Bartholomew,  was  neither  worthy  nor  able 
to  found  new  states. 

At  length,  under  the  mild  and  tolerant  reign  of  Henry  IV,  the  star  of  France 
emerged  from  the  clouds  of  blood,  treachery,  and  civil'war,  which  had  so  long 
eclipsed  her  glory.  The  number  and  importance  of  the  fishing  stages  had 
increased;  in  1578  there  were  one  hundred  and  fifty  French  vessels  at  New- 

foundland, and  regular  voyages,  for  trafiic  with  the  natives,  began  to  be  suc- 
cessfully made.  One  French  mariner,  before  1609,  had  made  more  than  forty 

voyages  to  the  American  coast.  The  purpose  of  foimding  a  French  Empire 
in  America  was  renewed  in  1598,  and  an  ample  commission  was  issued  to  the 
marquis  de  la  Roche,  a  nobleman  of  Brittany.  Yet  his  enterprise  entirely 
failed.  Sweeping  the  prisons  of  France,  he  established  their  tenants  on  the 
desolate  Isle  of  Sable;  and  the  wretched  exiles  sighed  for  their  dungeons. 
After  some  years,  the  few  survivors  received  a  pardon.  The  temporary  resi- 

dence in  America  was  deemed  a  sufficient  commutation  for  a  long  hnprison- ment. 
The  prospect  of  gain  prompted  the  next  enterprise.  A  monopoly  of  the 

fur  trade,  with  an  ample  patent,  was  obtained  by  Chauvin  in  1600;  and 
Pontgrav^,  a  merchant  of  St.  Malo,  shared  the  traffic.  The  voyage  was 
repeated,  for  it  was  lucrative.  The  death  of  Chauvin  prevented  his  settling 
a  colony. 

champlain:   new  fbance:  acadia 

A  firmer  hope  of  success  was  entertained,  when  a  company  of  merchants  of 
Rouen  was  formed  by  the  governor  of  Dieppe  in  1603;  and  Samuel  de  Cham- 
plain,  of  Brouage,  an  able  marine  officer  and  a  man  of  science,  was  appointed 

to  direct  the  expedition.  By  his  natural  disposition,  "  delighting  marvellously 
in  these  enterprises,"  Champlain  became  the  father  of  the  French  settlements 
in  Canada.  He  possessed  a  clear  and  penetrating  understanding,  with  a  spirit 
of  cautious  inquiry;  untiring  perseverance,  with  great  mobility;  indefatigable 
activity,  with  fearless  courage.  The  account  of  his  first  expedition  gives  proof 
of  sound  judgment,  accurate  observation,  and  historical  fidelity.  It  is  full  of 
exact  details  on  the  manners  of  the  savage  tribes,  not  less  than  the  geography 
of  the  country;  and  Quebec  was  already  selected  as  the  appropriate  site  for  a 
fort. 
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Champlain  returned  to  France  (November  8th,  1603),  just  before  an  exclu- 
sive patent  had  been  issued  to  a  Calvinist,  the  able,  patriotic,  and  honest  De 

Monts.  The  sovereignty  of  Acadia  and  its  confines,  from  the  fortieth  to  the 
forty-sixth  degree  of  latitude,  that  is,  from  Philadelphia  to  beyond  Montreal; 
a  still  wider  monopoly  of  the  fur  trade;  the  exclusive  control  of  the  soil,  gov- 

ernment, and  trade;  freedom  of  religion  for  Huguenot  emigrants  —  these  were 
the  privileges  which  the  charter  conceded.  Idlers,  and  men  withput  a  pro- 

fession, and  all  banished  men,  were  doomed  to  lend  him  aid.  A  lucrative 
monopoly  was  added  to  the  honours  of  territorial  jurisdiction.  Wealth  and 
glory  were  aUke  expected. 

An  expedition  was  prepared  without  delay,  and  left  the  shores  of  France 
(March  7th,  1604),  not  to  return  till  a  permanent  French  settlement  should  be 
made  in  America.  All  New  France  was  now  contained  in  two  ships,  which 
followed  the  well-known  path  to  Nova  Scotia.  The  summer  glided  away, 
while  the  emigrants  trafficked  With  the  natives  and  explored  the  coasts.  The 
harbour  called  Annapolis  after  the  conquest  of  Acadia  by  Queen  Anne,  an 
excellent  harbour,  though  difficult  of  access,  possessing  a  small  but  navigable 
river,  which  abounded  in  fish,  and  is  bordered  by  beautiful  meadows,  so 
pleased  the  imagination  of  Poutrincourt,  a  leader  in  the  enterprise,  that  he 
sued  for  a  grant  of  it  from  De  Monts,  and,  naming  it  Port  Royal,  determined 
to  reside  there  with  his  family.  The  company  of  De  Monts  made  their  first 
attempt  at  a  settlement  on  the  island  of  St.  Croix,  in  1604,  at  the  mouth  of  the 
river  of  the  same  name.  The  remains  of  their  fortifications  were  still  visible 
in  1798.  Yet  the  island  was  so  ill  suited  to  their  purposes,  that,  in  the  follow- 

ing spring,  they  removed  to  Port  Royal. 
For  an  agricultural  colony,  a  milder  climate  was  more  desirable;  in  view 

of  a  settlement  at  the  south,  De  Monts  explored  and  claimed  for  France  the 
rivers,  the  coasts  and  the  bays  of  New  England,  as  far,  at  least,  as  Cape  Cod. 
The  numbers  and  hostility  of  the  savages  led  him  to  delay  a  removal,  since  his 
colonists  were  so  few.  Yet  the  purpose  remained.  Thrice  in  the  spring  of  the 
following  year,  did  Dupont,  his  lieutenant,  attempt  to  complete  the  discovery. 
Twice  he  was  driven  back  by  adverse  winds;  and  at  the  third  attempt,  his 
vessel  was  wrecked  (August  28th,  1606).  Poutrincourt,  who  had  visited 
France,  and  was  now  returned  with  supplies,  himself  renewed  the  design;  but, 
meeting  with  disasters  among  the  shoals  of  Cape  Cod  (November  14th,  1605), 
he,  too,  returned  to  Port  Royal.  There  the  first  French  settlement  on  the 
American  continent  had  been  made;  two  years  before  the  James  river  was 
discovered  and  three  years  before  a  cabin  had  been  raised  in  Canada. 

The  possessions  of  Poutrincourt  were  confirmed  by  Henry  IV,  in  1607; 
the  apostolic  benediction  of  the  Roman  pontiff  was  solicited  on  families  which 
exiled  themselves  to  evangelise  infidels;  Mary  of  Medici  herself  contributed 
money  to  support  the  missions,  which  the  marchioness  de  Guercheville  pro- 

tected; and  by  a  compact  with  De  Biencourt,  the  proprietary's  son,  the  order 
of  the  Jesuits  was  enriched,  in  1610,  by  an  imposition  on  the  fisheries  and  fur 
trade. 

The  arrival  of  Jesuit  priests  was  signalised  by  conversions  among  the 
natives.  In  the  following  year,  De  Biencourt  and  Father  Biart  explored  the 
coast  as  far  as  the  Kennebec,  and  ascended  that  river.  The  Canibas,  Algon- 
quins  of  the  Abenaki  nations,  touched  by  the  confiding  humanity  of  the 
French,  listened  reverently  to  the  message  of  redemption;  and,  already  hostile 
towards  the  English  who  had  .visited  their  coast,  the  tribes  between  the 
Penobscot  and  the  Kennebec  became  the  allies  of  France,  and  were  cherished 
as  a  barrier  against  danger  from  English  encroachments. 
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A  French  colony  within  the  United  States  followed  (1613),  under  the  aus- 
pices of  De  Guercheville  and  Mary  of  Medici;  the  rude  intrenchments  of  St. 

Sauveur  were  raised  by  De  Saussaye  on  the  northern  bank  of  the  Penobscot. 
The  conversion  of  the  heathen  was  the  motive  to  the  settlement;  the  natives 
venerated  Biart  as  a  messenger  from  heaven;  and  under  the  summer  sky, 
round  a  cross  in  the  centre  of  the  hamlet,  matins  and  vespers  were  regu- 

larly chanted.  France  and  the  Roman  religion  had  appropriated  the  soil  of 
Maine. 

Meantime  the  remonstrances  of  French  merchants  had  effected  the  revo- 
cation of  the  monopoly  of  De  Monts,  and  a  company  of  merchants  of  Dieppe 

and  St.  Malo  had  founded  Quebec  (July  3rd,  1608).  The  design  was  executed 
by  Champlain,  who  aimed  not  at  the  profits  of  trade,  but  at  the  glory  of  found- 

ing a  state.  The  city  of  Quebec  was  begun;  that  is  to  say,  rude  cottages  were 
framed,  a  few  fields  were  cleared,  and  one  or  two  gardens  planted.  The  next 
year,  that  singularly  bold  adventurer,  attended  but  by  two  Europeans,  joined 
a  mixed  party  of  Hurons  from  Montreal,  and  Algonquins  from  Quebec,  in  an 
expedition  against  the  Iroquois,  or  Five  Nations,  in  the  north  of  New  York. 
He  ascended  the  Sorel,  and  explored  the  lake  which  bears  his  name,  and  per- 

petuates his  memory. 
The  Huguenots  had  been  active  in  plans  of  colonisation.  The  death  of 

Henry  IV,  in  1610,  deprived  them  of  their  powerful  protector.  Yet  the  zeal 
of  De  Monts  survived,  and  he  quickened  the  courage  of  Champlain.  After  the 
short  supremacy  of  Charles  de  Bourbon,  the  prince  of  Cond^,  an  avowed 
protector  of  the  Calvinists,  became  viceroy  of  New  France;  through  his  inter- 

cession, merchants  of  St.  Malo,  Rouen,  and  La  Rochelle,  obtained  a  colonial 
patent  from  the  king,  in  1615;  and  Champlain,  now  sure  of  success,  embarked 
once  more  for  the  New  World,  accompanied  by  monks  of  the  order  of  St. 
Francis.  Again  he  invades  the  territory  of  the  Iroquois  in  New  York. 
Wounded,  and  repulsed,  and  destitute  of  guides,  he  spends  the  first  winter  after 
his  return  to  America  in  the  country  of  the  Hurons;  and  a  knight  errant 
among  the  forests  carries  his  language,  religion,  and  influence,  even  to  the 
hamlets  of  Algonquins,  near  Lake  Nipissing. 

Religious  disputes  combined  with  commercial  jealousies  to  check  the 
progress  of  the  colony;  yet  in  the  summer  of  1620,  when  the  Pilgrims  were 
leaving  Leyden,  in  obedience  to  the  wishes  of  the  unhappy  Montmorenci,  the 
new  viceroy,  Champlain,  began  a  fort.  The  merchants  grudged  the  expense. 

"It  is  not  best  to  yield  to  the  passions  of  men,"  was  his  reply;  "they  sway 
but  for  a  season;  it  is  a  duty  to  respect  the  future";  and  in  1624  the  castle 
St.  Louis,  so  long  the  place  of  council  against  the  Iroquois  and  against  New 

England,  was  durably  founded  on  "a  commanding  cliff." 
In  the  same  year,  the  viceroyalty  was  transferred  to  the  religious  enthusiast 

Henri  de  Levi;  and  through  his  influence,  in  1625,  just  a  year  after  Jesuits  had 
reached  the  sources  of  the  Ganges  and  Thibet,  the  banks  of  the  St.  Lawrence 
received  priests  of  the  order  which  was  destined  to  carry  the  cross  to  Lake 
Superior  and  the  west. 

The  presence  of  Jesuits  and  Calvinists  led  to  dissensions.  The  savages 
caused  disquiet.  But  the  persevering  founder  of  Quebec  appealed  to  the 
royal  council  and  to  Richelieu;  and  though  disasters  intervened,  Champlain 
successfuU}^  established  the  authority  of  the  French  on  the  banks  of  the  St. 
Lawrence,  in  the  territory  which  became  his  country  in  1627.  "The  father 
of  New  France"  [dying  December  25th,  1635],  lies  buried  in  the  land  which  he 
colonised.  Thus  the  humble  industry  of  the  fishermen  of  Normandy  and 
Brittany  promised  their  country  the  acquisition  of  an  empire. 
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Raleigh's  attempts  at  English  colonisation 

The  attempts  of  the  French  to  colonise  Florida,  though  unprotected  and 
unsuccessful,  were  not  without  an  important  influence  on  succeeding  events. 
About  the  time  of  the  return  of  De  Gourgues,  Walter  Raleigh,  a  yoimg  English- 

man, had  abruptly  left  the  University  of  Oxford,  to  take  part  in  the  civil  con- 
tests between  the  Huguenots  and  the  Catholics  in  France,  and  with  the  prince 

of  Navarre,  afterwards  Henry  IV,  was  learning  the  art  of  war  under  the 
veteran  Coligny.  The  Protestant  party  was,  at  that  time,  strongly  excited 
with_  indignation  at  the  massacre  which  De  Gourgues  had  avenged;  and 
Raleigh  could  not  but  gather  from  his  associates  and  his  commander  intelli- 

gence respecting  Florida  and  the  navigation  to  those  regions.  Some  of  the 
miserable  men  who  escaped  from  the  first  expedition,  had  been  conducted  to 
Elizabeth,  and  had  kindled  in  the  public  mind  in  England  a  desire  for  the 
possession  of  the  southern  coast  of  North  America;  the  reports  of  Hawkins,  who 
had  been  the  benefactor  of  the  French  on  the  river  May,  increased  the  national 
excitement;  and  De  Morgues,  the  painter,  who  had  sketched  in  Florida  the 
most  remarkable  appearances  of  nature,  ultimately  found  the  opportunity  of 
finishing  his  designs,  through  the  munificence  of  Raleigh. 

The  bold  spirit  of  Raleigh  was  not  disheartened  by  the  sad  fate  of  his  step- 
brother [Sir  Humphrey  Gilbert,  whose  voyages,  in  one  of  which  Raleigh  took 

part,  we  have  already  described].  He  was  determined  to  secure  to  England 
those  delightful  countries  from  which  the  Protestants  of  France  had  been 
expelled.  Having  presented  a  memorial,  he  readily  obtained  from  Elizabeth 
a  patent  (March  25th,  1584),  as  ample  as  that  which  had  been  conferred  on 
Gilbert.  Two  vessels,  well  laden  with  men  and  provisions,  under  the  com- 

mand of  Philip  Amidas  [or  Amadas]  and  Arthur  Barlow,  set  sail  for  the  New 
World  (April  27th).  They  pursued  the  circuitous  route  by  the  Canaries  and 
the  islands  of  the  West  Indies ;  after  a  short  stay  in  those  islands,  they  saUed 
for  the  north,  and  were  soon  opposite  the  shores  of  Carolina.  As  they  drew 

near  land  (July  2nd),  the  fragrance  was  "as  if  they  had  been  in  the  midst  of 
some  delicate  garden,  abounding  with  all  kinds  of  odoriferous  flowers."  They 
ranged  the  coast  for  a  distance  of  one  himdred  and  twenty  miles,  in  search  of 
a  convenient  harbour;  they  entered  the  first  haven  which  offered,  and,  after 
thanks  to  God  for  their  safe  arrival,  they  landed  (July  13th)  to  take  possession 
of  the  country  for  the  queen  of  England. 

The  spot  on  which  this  ceremony  was  performed,  was  in  the  island  of 
Wocoken,  the  southernmost  of  the  islands  forming  Ocracock  inlet.  The  desire 
of  traffic  overcame  the  timidity  of  the  natives,  and  the  English  received  a 
friendly  welcome.  On  the  island  of  Roanoke,  they  were  entertained  by  the 
wife  of  Granganimeo,  father  of  Wingina,  the  king,  with  the  refinements  of 
Arcadian  hospitality.  "The  people  were  most  gentle,  loving  and  faithful, 
void  of  all  guUe  and  treason,  and  such  as  lived  after  the  manner  of  the  golden 
age,"  says  Barlow."  And  yet  it  was  added,  with  singular  want  of  comparison, 
that  the  wars  of  these  guileless  men  were  cruel  and  bloody;  that  domestic 
dissensions  had  almost  exterminated  whole  tribes;  that  they  employed  the 
basest  stratagems  against  their  enemies;  and  that  the  practice  of  inviting  men 
to  a  feast,  that  they  might  be  murdered  in  the  hour  of  confidence,  was  not 
merely  a  device  of  European  bigots,  but  was  known  to  the  natives  of  Secotan. 
The  English,  too,  were  solicited  to  engage  in  a  similar  enterprise,  under  promise 
of  lucrative  booty. 

"ITie  adventurers  were  satisfied  with  observing  the  general  aspect  of  the 
New  World;  no  extensive  examination  of  the  coast  was  undertaken;  Pamlico 
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and  Albemarle  sounds  and  Roanoke  Island  were  explored,  and  some  informa- 
tion gathered  by  inquiries  from  the  Indians;  the  commanders  had  not  the 

courage  or  the  activity  to  survey  the  coimtry  with  exactness.  Having  made 
but  a  short  stay  in  America,  they  arrived  in  September  in  the  west  of  England, 
accompanied  by  Manteo  and  Wanchese,  two  natives  of  the  wilderness;  and 
the  returning  voyagers  gave  such  glowing  descriptions  of  their  discoveries,  as 
might  be  expected  from  men  who  had  done  no  more  than  sail  over  the  smooth 

waters  of  a  summer's  sea,  among  "the  hundred  islands"  of  North  Carolina. 
Elizabeth,  as  she  heard  their  reports,  esteemed  her  reign  signalised  by  the 
discovery  of  the  enchanting  regions,  and,  as  a  memorial  of  her  state  of  life, 
named  them  Virginia. 

Nor  was  it  long  before  Raleigh,  elected  to  represent  in  parliament  the 
coimty  of  Devon,  obtained  a  bill  confirming  his  patent  of  discovery;  and 
while  he  received  the  honour  of  knighthood,  as  the  reward  of  his  valour,  he 
also  acquired  a  lucrative  monopoly  of  wines,  which  enabled  him  to  continue 
with  vigour  his  schemes  of  colonisation.  While  a  new  patent  was  issued  to 
his  friend,  for  the  discovery  of  the  northwestern  passage,  and  the  well-known 
voyages  of  Davis,  sustained,  in  part,  by  the  contributions  of  Raleigh  himself, 
were  increasing  the  acquaintance  of  Europe  with  the  Arctic  sea,  the  plan  of 
colonising  Virginia  was  earnestly  and  steadily  pursued. 

The  new  expedition  was  composed  of  seven  vessels,  and  carried  one  hun- 
dred and  eight  colonists  to  the  shores  of  Carolina.  Ralph  Lane,  a  man  of  con- 

siderable distinction,  and  so  much  esteemed  for  his  services  as  a  soldier,  that 
he  was  afterwards  knighted  by  Queen  Elizabeth,  was  willing  to  act  for  Raleigh 
as  governor  of  the  colony.  Sir  Richard  Grenville,  the  most  able  and  cele- 

brated of  Raleigh's  associates,  distinguished  for  bravery  among  the  gallant 
spirits  of  a  gallant  age,  assumed  the  command  of  the  fleet.  It  saUed  (April 
9th,  1585)  from  Plymouth,  accompanied  by  several  men  of  merit,  whom  the 
world  remembers  —  by  Cavendish,  who  soon  after  circumnavigated  the  globe; 
Harlot,  the  inventor  of  the  system  of  notation  in  modern  algebra,  the  historian 
of  the  expedition;  and  With,  an  ingenious  painter,  whose  sketches  of  the 
natives,  their  habits,  and  modes  of  life,  were  taken  with  beauty  and  exactness, 
and  were  the  means  of  encouraging  an  interest  in  Virginia,  by  diffusing  a 
knowledge  of  its  productions. 

To  sail  by  the  Canaries  and  the  West  Indies,  to  conduct  a  gainful  com- 
merce with  the  Spanish  ports  by  intimidation;  to  captm-e  Spanish  vessels  — 

these  were  but  the  expected  preliminaries  of  a  voyage  to  Virginia.  At  length 
the  fleet  fell  in  with  the  main  land  of  Florida;  it  was  in  great  danger  of  being 
wrecked  on  the  cape  which  was  then  first  called  the  Cape  of  Fear;  and  two 
days  after,  on  June  26th,  it  came  to  anchor  at  Wocoken.  It  was  through 
Ocracock  inlet  that  the  fleet  made  its  way  to  Roanoke. 

THE  LOST   COLONY  OF  ROANOKE 

But  the  fate  of  this  colony  was  destined  to  be  influenced  by  the  character 
of  the  natives.  Manteo,  the  friend  of  the  English,  and  who  returned  with  the 
fleet  from  a  visit  to  England,  was  sent  to  the  main  to  armoimce  their  arrival. 
Grenville,  accompanied  by  Lane,  Hariot,  Cavendish,  and  others,  in  an  exciu-- 
sion  of  eight  days,  explored  the  coast  as  far  as  Secotan,  and,  as  they  relate,  were 
well  entertained  by  the  savages.  At  one  of  the  Indian  towns,  a  sUver  cup  had 
been  stolen;  its  restoration  was  delayed;  with  hasty  cruelty,  Grenville  ordered 
the  village  to  be  burned  and  the  standing  corn  to  be  destroyed.  Not  long 
after  thJ3  action  of  iaconsiderate  revenge,  the  ships  having  landed  the  colony, 
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sailed  for  England;  a  rich  Spanish  prize,  made  by  Grenville  on  the  return 
voyage,  secured  him  a  courteous  welcome  as  he  entered  the  harbour  of  Ply- 

mouth.     The  transport  ships  of  the  colony  were  at  the  same  time  privateers. 
The  employments  of  Lane  and  his  colonists,  after  the  departure  of  Sir 

Richard  Grenville,  could  be  none  other  than  to  explore  the  country;  and  in 
a  letter,  which  he  wrote  while  his  impressions  were  yet  fresh.  Lane  "  expressed 
himself  in  language  of  enthusiastic  admiration.  "  It  is  the  goodliest  soil  under 
the  cope  of  heaven;  the  most  pleasing  territory  of  the  world;  the  continent  is 
of  a  huge  and  imknown  greatness,  and  very  well  peopled  and  towned,  though 
savagely.  The  climate  is  so  wholesome,  that  we  have  not  one  sick,  since  we 
touched  the  land.  If  Virginia  had  but  horses  and  kine,  and  were  inhabited 
with  English,  no  realm  in  Christendom  were 
comparable  to  it." 

The  keenest  observer  was  Hariot  P;  and  he 
was  often  employed  in  dealing  with  "  the  na- 

tural inhabitants."  He  carefully  examined 
the  productions  of  the  country,  those  which 
would  furnish  commodities  for  commerce,  and 
those  which  were  in  esteem  among  the  natives. 
He  observed  the  culture  of  tobacco;  accus- 

tomed himself  to  its  use,  and  was  a  firm  be- 
liever in  its  healing  virtues.  The  culture  of 

maize,  and  the  extraordinary  productiveness 
of  that  grain,  especially  attracted  his  admira- 

tion; and  the  tuberous  roots  of  the  potato, 
when  boiled,  were  found  to  be  very  good  food. 
The  inhabitants  are  described  as  too  feeble  to 
inspire  terror.  The  country  which  Hariot  ex- 

plored was  on  the  boundary  of  the  Algonquin 
race,  where  the  Lenni  Lenape  tribes  melted 
into  the  widely-differing  nations  of  the  south. 
In  every  town  which  Hariot  entered,  he  dis- 

played the  Bible,  and  explained  its  truths;  the 
Indians  revered  the  volume  rather  than  its 
doctrines;  and,  with  a  fond  superstition,  they 
embraced  the  book,  kissed  it,  and  held  it  to 
their  breasts  and  heads,  as  if  it  had  been  an 
amulet.  As  the  colonists  enjoyed  uniform  health,  and  had  no  women  with 
them,  there  were  some  among  the  Indians  who  imagined  the  English  were 
not  born  of  woman,  and  therefore  not  mortal;  that  they  were  men  of  an  old 
generation,  risen  to  immortality.  The  terrors  of  fire-arms  the  natives  could 
neither  comprehend  nor  resist;  every  sickness  which  now  prevailed  among 
them,  was  attributed  to  wounds  from  invisible  bullets,  discharged  by  un- 

seen agents,  with  whom  the  air  was  supposed  to  be  peopled. 
Was  it  strange,  then,  that  the  natives  desired  to  be  delivered  from  the 

presence  of  guests  by  whom  they  feared  to  be  supplanted?  The  colonists 
were  mad  with  the  passion  for  gold;  and  a  wily  savage  invented,  respecting 
the  river  Roanoke  and  its  banks,  extravagant  tales,  which  nothing  but  cupidity 
could  have  credited.  The  river,  it  was  said,  gushed  forth  from  a  rock,  so  near 
the  Pacific  Ocean,  that  the  surge  of  the  sea  sometimes  dashed  into  its  fountain; 
its  banks  were  inhabited  by  a  nation  skilled  in  the  art  of  refining  the  rich  ore 
in  which  the  country  abounded.  The  walls  of  the  city  were  described  as 
glittering  from  the  abvmdance  of  pearls.    Lane  was  so  credulous,  that  he 

Sib  Walter  Raleigh 

(From  an  old  print) 
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attempted  to  ascend  the  rapid  current  of  the  Roanoke;  and  his  followers, 
infatuated  with  greedy  avarice,  would  not  return  till  their  stores  of  provisions 
were  exhausted,  and  they  had  killed  and  eaten  the  very  dogs  which  bore  them 
company.  On  this  attempt  to  explore  the  interior,  the  English  hardly 
advanced  higher  up  the  river  than  some  point  near  the  present  Williamstown. 

The  Indians  had  hoped  to  destroy  the  English  by  thus  dividing  them;  but 
the  prompt  return  of  Lane  prevented  open  hostilities.  The  English  believed 
that  a  general  conspiracy  was  preparing;  it  is  certain  that,  in  the  contest  of 
dissimulation,  they  proved  themselves  the  more  successful  adepts.  Desiring 
an  audience  of  Wingina,  the  most  active  among  the  native  chiefs,  Lane  and 
his  attendants  were  quickly  admitted  to  his  presence  (June  1st,  1586).  A 
preconcerted  watchword  was  given;  and  the  Christians,  falling  upon  the 
unhappy  king  and  his  principal  followers,  put  them  without  mercy  to  death. 

It  was  evident  that  Lane  did  not  possess  the  qualities  suited  to  his  station. 
Yet  some  general  results  of  importance  were  obtained.  The  climate  was  found 
to  be  salubrious;  during  the  year  not  more  than  four  men  had  died,  and  of 
these,  three  brought  the  seeds  of  their  disease  from  Europe.  The  hope  of 
finding  better  harbours  at  the  north  was  confirmed;  and  the  Bay  of  Chesa- 

peake was  already  regarded  as  the  fit  theatre  for  early  colonisation.  But  in 
the  island  of  Roanoke,  the  men  began  to  despond;  they  looked  in  vain  towards 
the  ocean  for  supplies  from  England;  they  were  sighing  for  the  luxuries  of  the 
cities  in  their  native  land;  when  of  a  sudden  it  was  rumoured,  that  the  sea 
was  white  with  the  sails  of  three-and-twenty  ships;  and  (June  8th)  Sir  Francis 
Drake  had  anchored  his  fleet  at  sea  outside  of  Roanoke  inlet,  in  "the  wild 
road  of  their  bad  harbour." 

He  had  come,  on  his  way  from  the  West  Indies  to  England,  to  visit  the 
domain  of  his  friend.  With  the  celerity  of  genius,  he  discovered  the  measures 
which  the  exigency  of  the  case  required,  and  supplied  the  wants  of  Lane  to 
the  uttermost;  but  Lane  shared  the  despondency  of  his  men;  and  Drake 
yielded  to  their  unanimous  desire  of  permission  to  embark  in  his  ships  for 
England  (June  19th) .  Thus  ended  the  first  actual  settlement  of  the  English 
in  America.  The  exiles  of  a  year  had  grown  familiar  with  the  favourite 
amusement  of  the  lethargic  Indians;  and  they  introduced  into  England  the 
general  use  of  tobacco. 

The  return  of  Lane  was  a  precipitate  desertion;  a  little  delay  would  have 
furnished  the  colony  with  ample  supplies.  A  few  days  after  its  departure,  a 
ship  arrived,  laden  with  all  stores  needed  by  the  infant  settlement.  It  had 

been  despatched  by  Raleigh;  but  finding  "  the  paradise  of  the  world"  deserted, 
it  could  only  return  to  England.  Another  fortnight  had  hardly  elapsed,  when 
Sir  Richard  Grenville  appeared  off  the  coast  with  three  well-furnished  ships, 
and  renewed  the  vain  search  for  the  departed  colony.  Unwilling  that  the 
English  should  lose  possession  of  the  country,  he  left  fifteen  men  on  the  island 
of  Roanoke,  to  be  the  guardians  of  English  rights. 

Raleigh  was  not  dismayed  by  ill  success,  nor  borne  down  by  losses.  The 
enthusiasm  of  the  people  of  England  was  diminished  by  the  reports  of  the 
unsuccessful  company  of  Lane;  but  the  decisive  testimony  of  Hariot  to  the 
excellence  of  the  country  still  rendered  it  easy  to  collect  a  new  colony  for 
America.  The  wisdom  of  Raleigh  was  particularly  displayed  in  the  policy 
which  he  now  .adopted.  He  determined  to  plant  an  agricultural  state;  to 
send  emigrants  with  wives  and  families,  who  should  at  once  make  their  homes 
in  the  New  World;  and,  that  life  and  property  might  be  secured,  he  granted  a 
charter  of  incorporation  (January  7th,  1587)  for  the  settlement,  and  estab- 

lished a  municipal  government  for  "  the  city  of  Raleigh."    John  White  was 
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appointed  its  governor;  and  to  him,  with  eleven  assistants,  the  administration 
of  the  colony  was  intrusted.  A  fleet  of  transport  ships  was  prepared  at  the 

expense  of  the_ proprietary;  "Queen  Elizabeth,  the  godmother  of  Virginia," 
declined  contributing  "to  its  education."  The  company  as  it  embarked 
April  26th),  was  cheered  by  the  presence  of  women;  and  an  ample  provision 
of  the  implements  of  husbandry  gave  a  pledge  for  successful  industry.  In 
July,  they  arrived  on  the  coast  of  North  CaroUna;  they  were  saved  from  the 
dangers  of  Cape  Fear;  and,  passing  Cape  Hatteras,  they  hastened  to  the  isle 
of  Roanoke,  to  search  for  the  handful  of  men  whom  Grenville  had  left  there 
as  a  garrison.  They  found  the  tenements  deserted  and  overgrown  with 
weeds;  human  bones  lay  scattered  on  the  field;  wild  deer  were  reposing  in  the 
untenanted  houses,  and  were  feeding  on  the  productions  which  a  rank  vege- 

tation still  forced  from  the  gardens.  The  fort  was  in  ruins.  No  vestige  of 
surviving  life  appeared.  The  miserable  men  whom  GrenviUe  had  left,  had 
been  murdered  by  the  Indians. 

The  fort  of  Governor  Lane,  "with  sundry  decent  dwelling-houses,"  had 
been  built  at  the  northern  extremity  of  the  island;  it  was  there  that  the 
foundations  of  the  city  of  Raleigh  were  laid  (July  23rd).  The  island  of 
Roanoke  is  now  almost  uninhabited;  commerce  has  selected  securer  harbours 
for  its  pursuits;  the  inquisitive  stranger  may  yet  discern  the  ruins  of  the  fort, 
round  which  the  cottages  of  the  new  settlement  were  erected. 

But  disasters  thickened.  A  tribe  of  savages  displayed  implacable  jealousy, 
and  murdered  one  of  the  assistants.  The  mother  and  the  kindred  of  Manteo 
welcomed  the  English  to  the  island  of  Croatan;  and  a  mutual  friendship  was 
continued.  But  even  this  alliance  was  not  imclouded.  A  detachment  of  the 
English,  discovering  a  company  of  the  natives  whom  they  esteemed  their 
enemies,  fell  upon  them  by  night,  as  the  harmless  men  were  sitting  fearlessly 
by  their  fires;  and  the  havoc  was  begun,  before  it  was  perceived  that  these 
were  friendly  Indians. 

The  vanities  of  life  were  not  forgotten  Ln  the  New  World;  and  Manteo,  the 
faithful  Indian  chief,  "  by  the  commandment  of  Sir  Walter  Raleigh,"  received 
Christian  baptism,  and  was  invested  with  the  rank  of  a  feudal  baron,  as  the 
lord  of  Roanoke.  It  was  the  first  peerage  erected  by  the  English  in  America, 
and  remained  a  solitary  dignity,  tUl  Locke  and  Shaftesbury  suggested  the 
establishment  of  palatinates  in  Carohna,  and  Manteo  shared  his  honours  with 
the  admired  philosopher  of  his  age.  As  the  tkne  for  the  departure  of  theship 
for  England  drew  near,  the  emigrants  became  gloomy  with  apprehensions; 
they  were  conscious  of  their  dependence  on  Europe;  and  they,  with  one 
voice,  women  as  well  as  men,  urged  the  governor  to  return  and  use  his  vigorous 
intercession  for  the  prompt  despatch  of  reinforcements  and  supplies.  It  was 
in  vain  that  he  pleaded  a  sense  of  honour,  which  called  upon  him  to  remain  and 
share  in  person  the  perils  of  the  colony,  which  he  was  appointed  to  govern. 
He  was  forced  to  yield  to  the  general  importunity. 

Yet,  previous  to  his  departure,  his  daughter,  Eleanor  Dare,  the  wife  of  one 
of  the  assistants,  gave  birth  (August  18th)  to  a  female  child,  the  first  offspring 
of  EngHsh  parents  on  the  soil  of  the  United  States.  The  infant  was  named 

from  the  place  of  its  birth.  The  colony,  now  composed  of  eighty-nine  men, 
seventeen  women,  and  two  children,  whose  names  are  all  preserved,  might 
reasonably  hope  for  the  speedy  return  of  the  governor,  who,  as  he  sailed  for 

England,  left  with  them,  as  hostages,  his  daughter  and  his  grandchild,  Vir- 
ginia Dare. 

And  yet  even  those  ties  were  insufficient.  The  colony  received  no  season- 
able relief;  and  the  further  history  of  this  neglected  plantation  is  involved  in 

H.W.— VC4.  iill.30 
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gloomy  uncertainty.  The  ijihabitants  of  the  city  of  Raleigh,  the  emigrants 
from  England  and  the  first-born  of  America,  failed,  like  their  predecessors,  in 
establishing  an  enduring  settlement;  _  but,  unlike  their  predecessors,  they 
awaited  death  in  the  land  of  their  adoption.  If  America  had  no  English  towns, 
it  soon  had  English  graves. 

For  when  White  reached  England,  he  found  its  whole  attention  absorbed 
by  the  threats  of  an  invasion  from  Spain;  and  Grenville,  Raleigh,  andXane, 
not  less  than  Frobisher,  Drake,  and  Hawkins,  were  engaged  in  planning 
measures  of  resistance.  Yet  Raleigh,  whose  patriotism  did  not  diminish  his 
generosity,  found  means  to  despatch  White  with  supplies  in  two  vessels 
(April  22nd,  1588).  But  the  company,  desiring  a  gainful  voyage  rather  than 
a  safe  one,  ran  in  chase  of  prices;  till,  at  last,  one  of  them  fell  in  with  men-of- 
war  from  Rochelle,  and,  after  a  bloody  fight,  was  boarded  and  rifled.  Both 
ships  were  compelled  to  return  immediately  to  England,  to  the  ruin  of  the 
colony  and  the  displeasure  of  its  author.  The  delay  was  fatal;  the  inde- 

pendence of  the  English  kingdom,  and  the  security  of  the  Protestant  reforma- 
tion, were  in  danger;  nor  could  the  poor  colonists  of  Roanoke  be  again  remem- 

bered, till  after  the  discomfiture  of  the  invincible  armada. 
Even  when  complete  success  against  the  Spanish  fleet  had  crowned  the 

arms  of  England,  Sir  Walter  Raleigh,  who  had  already  incurred  a  fruitless 
expense  of  forty  thousand  pounds,  found  himself  unable  to  continue  the 
attempts  at  colonising  Virginia.  Yet  he  did  not  despair  of  ultimate  success; 
and  as  his  fortune  did  not  permit  him  to  renew  his  exertions,  he  used  the  priv- 

ilege of  his  patent  to  form  a  company  of  merchants  and  adventurers,  who  were 
endowed  by  his  liberality  with  large  concessions,  and  who,  it  was  hoped,  would 
replenish  Virginia  with  settlers.  Among  the  men  who  thus  obtained  an 
assignment  of  the  proprietary's  rights  in  Virginia,  is  found  the  name  of  Richard 
Hakluyt;  it  is  the  connecting  link  between  the  first  efforts  of  England  in  North 
Carolina  and  the  final  colonisation  of  Virginia.  The  colonists  at  Roanoke  had 
emigrated  with  a  charter;  the  new  instrument  (March  7th,  1589)  was  not  an 

assignment  of  Raleigh's  patent,  but  extended  a  grant,  already  held  under  its 
sanction,  by  increasing  the  number  to  whom  the  rights  of  that  charter  belonged. 

Yet  the  enterprise  of  the  adventm-ers  languished,  for  it  was  no  longer 
encouraged  by  the  profuse  liberality  of  Raleigh.  More  than  another  year 
elapsed,  before  White  could  return  to  search  for  his  colony  and  his  daughter; 
and  then  the  island  of  Roanoke  was  a  desert.  An  inscription  on  the  bark  of  a 
tree  pointed  to  Croatan;  but  the  season  of  the  year  and  the  dangers  from 
storms  were  pleaded  as  an  excuse  for  an  immediate  return.  Had  the  emi- 

grants already  perished?  or  had  they  escaped  with  their  lives  to  Croatan,  and, 
through  the  friendship  of  Manteo,  become  familiar  with  the  Indians?  The 
conjecture  has  been  nazarded,  that  the  deserted  colony,  neglected  by  their 
own  countrymen,  were  hospitably  adopted  into  the  tribe  of  Hatteras  Indians, 
and  became  amalgamated  with  the  sons  of  the  forest.  This  was  the  tradition 
of  the  natives  at  a  later  day,  and  was  thought  to  be  confirmed  by  the  physical 
character  of  the  tribe,  in  which  the  English  and  the  Indian  race  seemed  to  have 
been  blended.  Raleigh  long  cherished  the  hope  of  discovering  some  vestiges 
of  their  existence;  and  though  he  had  abandoned  the  design  of  colonising 
Virginia,  he  yet  sent  at  his  own  charge,  and,  it  is  said,  at  five  several  times, 

to  search  for  his  liege-men.'  But  it  was  all  in  vain;  imagination  received  no 
help  in  its  attempts  to  trace  the  fate  of  the  colony  of  Roanoke./ 

['  In  1602,  Raleigh  made  his  fifth  effort  to  afEord  them  help  hy  sending  them  Captain  Mace, 
a  mariner  of  experience,  with  instructions  to  search  for  them.  Mace  returned  without 
executing  his  oideis,  and  Baleigh  wrote  to  Sir  Robert  Cecil  on  the  21st  of  August  that  he  would 
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After  the  founding  of  Jamestown,  according  to  Strachey,9  the  English 
were  told  by  the  Indians  that  the  Roanoke  settlers  had  finally  intermingled 
with  the  natives  and  had  been  massacred  at  the  command  of  Powhatan  and 
his  priests  just  about  the  time  when  the  English  reached  Jamestown.  One 
chief  had  saved  the  lives  of  four  men,  two  boys,  and  a  girl,  and  from  their 
intermarriage  came  the  so-called  Hatteras  Indians  found  near  Roanoke  Island 
early  in  the  eighteenth  century,  and  notable  for  their  grey  eyes,  and  their 
traditions  of  white  ancestry .« 

GEORGE  Bancroft's  estimate  of  raleigh 

The  name  of  Raleigh  stands  highest  among  the  statesmen  of  England,  who 
advanced  the  colonisation  of  the  United  States;  and  his  fame  belongs  to 
American  history.  No  Englishman  of  his  age  possessed  so  various  or  so 
extraordinary  qualities.  Courage  which  was  never  daunted,  mild  self-pos- 

session, and  fertility  of  invention,  insured  him  glory  in  his  profession  of  arms; 
and  his  services  in  the  conquest  of  Cadiz,  or  the  capture  of  Fayal,  were  alone 
sufficient  to  establish  his  fame  as  a  gallant  and  successful  commander.  In 
every  danger,  his  life  was  distinguished  by  valour,  and  his  death  was  ennobled 
by  true  magnanimity. 

He  was  not  only  admirable  in  active  life  as  a  soldier;  he  was  an  accom- 
plished scholar.  No  statesman  in  retirement  ever  expressed  the  charms  of 

tranquil  leisiu-e  more  beautifully  than  Raleigh;  and  it  was  not  entirely  with 
the  language  of  grateful  friendship,  that  Spenser  described  his  "sweet  verse 
as  sprinkled  with  nectar,"  and  rivalling  the  melodies  of  "the  sunamer's  night- 

ingale." When  an  unjust  verdict,  contrary  to  probability  and  the  evidence, 
"against  law  and  against  equity,"  on  a  charge  which  seems  to  have- been  a 
pure  invention,  left  him  to  languish  for  years  in  prison,  with  the  sentence  of 
death  suspended  over  his  head,  his  active  genius  plunged  into  the  depths  of 
erudition;  and  he  who  had  been  a  soldier,  a  courtier,  and  a  seaman,  now 
became  the  elaborate  author  of  a  learned  History  of  the  World. 

His  career  as  a  statesman  was  honourable  to  the  pupil  of  Coligny  and  the 

contemporary  of  L'Hopital.  In  his  public  policy,  he  was  thoroughly  an 
English  patriot;  jealous  of  the  honour,  the  prosperity,  and  the  advancement 
of  his  coimtry;  the  inexorable  antagonist  of  the  pretensions  of  Spain.  In 
parliament,  he  defended  the  freedom  of  domestic  industry.  When,  by  the 
operation  of  unequal  laws,  taxation  was  a  burden  upon  industry  rather  than 
wealth,  he  argued  for  a  change :  himself  possessed  of  a  lucrative  monopoly,  he 
gave  his  voice  for  the  repeal  of  all  monopolies;  and,  while  he  pertinaciously 
used  his  influence  with  his  sovereign  to  mitigate  the  severity  of  the  judgments 
against  the  non-conformists,  as  a  legislator  he  resisted  the  sweeping  enactment 
of  persecuting  laws-. 

In  the  career  of  discovery,  his  perseverance  was  never  baffled  by  losses. 

He  joined  in  the  risks  of  Gilbert's  expedition;  contributed  to  the  discoveries 
of  Davis  in  the  northwest;  and  himself  personally  explored  "the  insular 
regions  and  broken  world ' '  of  Guiana.  The  sincerity  of  his  belief  in  the  wealth 
of  the  latter  country  has  been  unreasonably  questioned.  If  Efizabeth  had 
hoped  for  a  hyperborean  Peru  in  the  Arctic  seas  of  America,  why  might  not 
Raleigh  expect  to  find  the  city  of  gold  on  the  banks  of  the  Oruioco?  His 
lavish  efforts  in  colonising  the  soil  of  America,  his  sagacity  which  enjoined  a 

send  Mace  back,  and  expressed  his  faith  in  the  colonisation  of  Virginia  in  these  -words  :  "  I  shall 
ret  live  to  see  it  an  English  nation."  He  lived,  indeed,  to  see  his  prediction  verified,  but  not 
until  he  -was  immured  in  the  Tower  of  London. — Wm.  Wibt  Hbnbt.''] 
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eettlement  within  the  Chesapeake  Bay,  the  publications  of  Hariot,P  and 
Hakluyt,"  which  he  countenanced,  if  followed  by  losses  to  himself,  diffused 
over  England  a  knowledge  of  America,  as  well  as  an  interest  in  its  destinies, 
and  sowed  the  seeds,  of  which  the  fruits  were  to  ripen  during  his  lifetime, 
though  not  for  him. 

Raleigh  had  suffered  from  palsy  before  his  last  expedition.  He  returned 
broken  hearted  by  the  defeat  of  his  hopes,  by  the  decay  of  his  health,  and  by 

the  death  of  his  eldest  son.  "What  shall  be  said  of  King  James,  who  would open  to  an  aged  paralytic  n-j  other  hope  of  liberty  but  through  success  in  the 
discovery  of  mines  in  Guiana?  What  shall  be  said  of  a  monarch  who  could, 
at  that  time,  under  a  s:  ntence  which  was  originally  unjust,  and  which  had 
slumbered  for  fifteen  years,  order  the  execution  (in  1618)  of  the  decrepit  man, 
whose  genius  and  valour  shone  brilliantly  through  the  ravages  of  physical 
decay,  and  whose  English  heart,  within  a  palsied  frame,  still  beat  with  an 
imdying  love  for  his  country  ? 

The  judgments  of  the  tribunals  of  the  Old  World  are  often  reversed  at  the 
bar  of  public  opinion  in  the  New.  The  family  of  the  chief  author  of  early 
colonisation  in  the  United  States  was  reduced  to  beggary  by  the  government 
of  England,  and  he  himself  was  beheaded.  After  a  lapse  of  nearly  two  cen- 

turies, the  state  of  North  Carolina,  in  1792,  by  a  solemn  act  of  legislation, 
revived  in  its  capital  the  city  of  Raleigh,  and  thus  expressed  its  confidence  in 
the  integrity,  and  a  grateful  respect  for  the  memory,  of  the  extraordiuary  man, 
who  united  in  himself  as  many  kinds  of  glory  as  were  ever  combined  in  an 
individual,  and  whose  name  is  indissolubly  connected  with  the  early  period 
of  American  history. 

VOYAGES  OF  GOSNOLD  AND  PRING 

Some  traffic  with  Virginia  may  perhaps  have  been  contmued.  But  at  the 
north,  the  connection  of  the  English  merchants  was  become  so  intimate,  that, 
in  1593,  Sir  Walter  Raleigh  in  the  house  of  commons  had  declared  the  fishmg 
of  Newfoundland  to  be  the  stay  of  the  west  countries.  These  voyages,  and 
the  previous  exertions  of  Raleigh,  had  trained  men  for  the  career  of  discovery; 
and  Bartholomew  Gosnold,  who,  perhaps,  had  already  sailed  to  Virginia,  in 
the  usual  route,  by  the  Canaries  and  West  Indies,  now  conceived  the  idea  of 
a  direct  voyage  to  America,  and,  with  the  concurrence  of  Raleigh,  had  well 
nigh  secured  to  New  England  the  honour  of  the  first  permanent  English 
colony.  Steering,  in  a  small  bark,  directly  across  the  Atlantic,  in  seven  weeks 
he  reached  (March  26th,  1602)  the  continent  of  America  in  the  bay  of  Massa- 

chusetts, not  far  to  the  north  of  Nahant.  He  failed  to'observe  a  good  harbour, and,  standing  for  the  south,  discovered  (May  14th,  1602)  the  promontory 
which  he  called  Cape  Cod  —  a  name  which  would  not  yield  to  that  of  the  nejrt 
monarch  of  England.  Here  he  and  four  of  his  men  landed;  Cape  Cod  was  the 
first  spot  in  New  England  ever  trod  by  Englishmen.    Doublmg  the  cape,  and 

Eiassing  Nantucket,  they  again  landed  on  a  little  island,  now  called  No  Man's 
and,  and  afterwards  passed  round  the  promontory  of  Gay  Head,  naming  it 
Dover  Cliff.  At  length  they  entered  Buzzard's  Bay  —  a  stately  sound,  which 
they  called  Gosnold's  Hope.  The  westernmost  of  the  islands  was  named 
Elizabeth,  from  the  queen  —  a  name  which  has  been  transferred  to  the  whole 
group.  There  is  on  the  island  a  pond,  and  within  it  lies  a  rocky  islet;  this 
was  the  position  which  the  adventurers  selected  for  their  residence.  Here  they 
built  their  storehouse  and  their  fort;  and  here  the  foundations  of  the  first  New 
England  colony  were  to  be  laid. 
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A- traffic  with  the  natives  on  the  main  land,  soon  enabled  Gosnold  to  com- 
plete his  freight,  which  consisted  chiefly  of  sassafras  root,  then  greatly  esteemed 

in  pharmacy  as  a  sovereign  panacea.  The  little  band,  which  was  to  have 
nestled  on  the  Elizabeth  Islands,  finding  their  friends  about  to  embark  for 
Europe,  despaired  of  obtainmg  seasonable  supplies  of  food,  and  determined 
not  to  remain.  Fear  of  an  assault  from  the  Indians,  who  had  ceased  to  be 
friendly,  the  want  of  provision:,  and  jealousy  respecting  the  distributioij  of 
the  risks  and  profits,  defeated  the  design.  The  whole  party  soon  set  sail  and 
bore  for  England.  The  return  voyage  lasted  but  fi.e  wee ks;  and  the  expedi- 

tion was  completed  in  less  than  four  montns,  during  which  entire  health  had 
prevailed. 

Gosnold  and  his  companions  spread  the  most  favourable  reports  of  the 
regions  which  he  had  visited.  The  merchants  of  Bristol,  with  the  ready 
assent  of  Raleigh,  and  at  the  instance  of  Richard  Hakluyt,  determined  to 
pursue  the  career  of  investigation.  The  Speedwell,  a  small  ship  of  fifty  tons 
and  thirty  men,  and  the  Discoverer,  a  bark  of  twenty-six  tons  and  thirteen  men, 
under  the  command  of  Martin  Pring,  set  sail  for  America  (April  10th,  1603) 
a  few  days  after  the  death  of  the  queen.  It  was  a  private  undertaking,  and 
therefore  not  retarded  by  that  event.  It  reached  the  American  coast  among 
the  islands  which  skirt  the  harbours  of  Maine.  The  mouth  of  the  Penobscot 
offered  good  anchorage  and  fishing.  Pring  made  a  discovery  of  the  eastern 
rivers  and  harbours  —  the  Saco,  the  Kennebunk,  and  the  York;  and  the 
channel  of  the  Piscataqua  was  examined  for  three  or  four  leagues.  Finding 
no  sassafras,  he  steered  for  the  south;  doubled  Cape  Ann;  and  went  on  shore 
in  Massachusetts;  but,  being  still  unsuccessful,  he  again  pursued  a  southerly 

track,  and  finally  anchored  in  Old  Town  harbour,  on  Martha's  Vineyard.  The 
whole  absence  lasted  about  six  months,  and  was  completed  without  disaster 
or  danger.  Pring,  a  few  years  later,  in  1606,  repeated  his  voyage,  and  made  a 
more  accurate  survey  of  Maine. 

Enterprises  for  discovery  were  now  continuous.  Bartholomew  Gilbert, 
returning  from  the  West  Indies,  made  an  unavailing  search  for  the  colony  of 
Raleigh.  It  was  the  last  attempt  to  trace  the  remains  of  those  tmfortunate 
men.  But  as  the  testimony  of  Pring  had  confirmed  the  reports  of  Gosnold, 
the  career  of  navigation  was  vigorously  pursued.  An  expedition,  in  1605, 
promoted  by  the  earl  of  Southampton  and  Lord  Arimdel,  of  Wardour,  and 
commanded  by  George  Weymouth,  who,  in  attempting  a  northwest  passage, 
had  already  explored  the  coast  of  Labrador,  now  discovered  the  Penobscot 
river.  Weymouth  left  England  in  March,  and,  in  about  six  weeks,  came  in 
sight  of  the  American  continent  near  Cape  Cod.  Turning  to  the  north,  he 
approached  the  coast  of  Maine,  and  ascended  the  western  branch  of  the 
Penobscot  beyond  Belfast  Bay.  Five  natives  were  decoyed  on  board  the 

ship,  and  Weymouth,  returning  to  England,  gave  three  of  them  to  Sir  Ferdi- 
nand Gorges,  a  friend  of  Raleigh,  and  governor  of  Plymouth. 

Such  were  the  voyages  which  led  the  way  to  the  colonisation  of  the  United 
States.  The  daring  and  skill  of  these  earliest  adventurers  upon  the  ocean 
deserve  the  highest  admiration.  The  difficulties  of  crossing  the  Atlantic  were 
new,  and  it  required  great  courage  to  encounter  hazards  which  ignorance 
exaggerated.  The  character  of  the  prevalent  winds  and  currents  was  tmknown. 
The  possibility  of  making  a  direct  passage  was  but  gradually  discovered.  The 
imagined  dangers  were  infinite;  the  real  dangers,  exceedingly  great.  The 
ships  at  first  employed  for  discovery  were  generally  of  less  than  one  hundred 
tons  burthen;  Frobisher  sailed  in  a  vessel. of  but  twenty-five  tons;  two  of 
those  of  Columbus  were  without  a  deck;  and  so  perilous  were  the  voyages 
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deemed,  that  the  sailors  were  accustomed,  before  embarkmg,  to  perform 
solemn  acts  of  devotion,  as  if  to  prepare  for  eternity.  The  anticipation  of 
disasters  was  not  visionary;  Columbus  was  shipwrecked  twice,  and  once 
remained  for  eight  months  on  an  island,  without  any  communication  with  the 
civilised  world;  Hudson  was  turned  adrift  in  a  small  boat  by  a  crew  whom 
suffering  had  rendered  mutinous;  Willoughby  perished  with  cold;  Roberval, 
Parmenius,  Gilbert  —  and  how  many  others?  —  went  down  at  sea;  and  such 
was  the  state  of  the  art  of  navigation,  that  intrepidity  and  skill  were  unavailing 
against  the  elements  without  the  favour  of  heaven./ 



CHAPTER  V 

VIRGINIA  AND  MARYLAND  TO  THE  RESTORATION 

[1606-1660  A.D.] 

"  Being  for  most  part  of  such  tender  educations,  and  small  experi- 
ence in  Martiall  accidents  because  they  found  not  LoyaHst  Cities,  nor 

such  fairs  houses,  nor  at  their  owne  wishes  any  of  their  accustomed 
dainties  with  feather  beds  and  downe  pillowes,  Tavernes  and  Ale- 

houses in  every  breathing  place,  neither  such  plentie  of  gold  and  silver 
and  dissolute  libertie  as  they  expected,  they  had  little  or  no  care  of 
anything  but  to  pamper  their  bellies,  to  fly  away  with  our  Pinnaces, 
or  procure  their  meanes  to  returne  to  England.  For  the  country  was 
to  them  a  misery,  a  ruine,  a  death,  a  hell,  and  their  reports  here,  and 

their  actions  there  according." — Captain  John  Smith.'' 

The  accession  of  James  I  in  1603  to  the  English  throne  and  the  peace 
which  he  negotiated  with  Spain  having  put  an  end  to  privateering  expedi- 

tions against  the  Spanish  settlements,  the  attention  of  English  merchants, 
navigators,  and  adventurers  was  now  directed  to  more  peaceful  enterprises. 
Commerce  and  colonisation  took  the  place  of  piracy  and  plunder.  Sir  Walter 
Raleigh  was  in  the  Tower,  attainted  of  high  treason  for  his  attempt  to  sub- 

stitute Arabella  Stuart  instead  of  James  I  as  Elizabeth's  successor.  His  patent 
being  forfeit  by  his  attainder,  James  I  granted  a  new  charter  (April  10th, 
1606),  by  which  the  American  coast,  between  the  thirty-fourth  and  the  forty- 
fifth  degree  of  north  latitude  —  from  Cape  Fear  to  Passamaquoddy  Bay  — 
was  set  apart  to  be  colonised  by  two  rival  companies  [or  rather,  one  company 
in  two  divisions],  one  composed  chiefly  of  London  adventurers,  the  other  of 
residents  in  the  west  of  England,  especially  at  Plymouth  and  Bristol,  at  that 
time  the  chief  seats  of  the  west  country  trade.  Liverpool,  as  yet,  was  an 
inconsiderable  village,  and  the  north  of  England  a  pastoral  country. 

The  advancement  of  the  divine  glory,  "by  brmging  the  Indians  and 
sa.vages  resident  in  those  parts  to  human  civility  and  a  settled  and  quiet 
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government,"  was  alleged  as  the  principal  motive  of  James's  grant.  The undertakers,  however,  looked  chiefly  to  a  gainful  commerce  and  profitable 
returns. 

By  the  provisions  of  the  charter,  the  London  Company,  whose  settlement 
was  to  be  distinguished  as  the  First  Colony  of  Virginia,  might  plant  any- 

where between  thirty-four  and  forty-one  degrees  of  north  latitude,  or  between 
Cape  Fear  and  the  east  end  of  Long  Island.  The  Plymouth  Company,  whose 
settlement  was  to  be  called  the  Second  Colony  of  Virginia,  might  plant  any- 

where between  the  thirty-eighth  and  forty-fifth  degrees  of  north  latitude, 
or  between  Delaware  Bay  and  Halifax;  but  neither  company  was  to  begin 
its  settlement  within  a  hundred  miles  of  any  spot  previously  occupied  by  the 
other.  Each  colony  was  to  extend  along  the  coast  fifty  miles  either  way 
from  the  point  first  occupied,  and  from  the  same  point  inland  and  seaward, 
either  way,  one  hundred  miles,  including  all  islands  within  that  distance,  and 
embracing  ten  thousand  square  miles  of  continental  territory.  A  council, 
resident  in  each  colony,  to  be  composed  of  thirteen  members  nominated  by 
the  king,  was  to  manage  local  affairs.  No  settlement  was  to  be  allowed 

inland  of  either  colony  without  the  express  consent  of  its  council.  A  "  Council 
of  Virginia,"  resident  in  England,  its  members  also  appointed  by  the  kmg, 
was  to  exercise  a  general  superintendence  over  both  colonies. 

The  two  companies  were  authorised  to  search  for  mines,  paying  the  king 
a  fifth  of  all  gold  and  silver,  and  a  fifteenth  of  all  copper.  They  were  empow- 

ered to  coin  money,  to  invite  and  carry  over  adventurers,  to  repel  intruders, 
to  levy  duties  for  their  own  use  during  twenty-one  years,  and  to  export  goods 
from  England  free  of  all  imposts  for  seven  years.  Lands  in  the  colony  were 
to  be  held  of  the  king,  on  the  most  favourable  tenure;  the  colonists  and  their 
children  to  have  all  the  rights  of  native-born  Englishmen. 

A  few  months  after  the  grant  of  this  charter,  James  issued  "  Instructions 
for  the  government  of  Virginia,"  in  which  he  appointed  a  council,  as  pro- 

vided for  in  the  charter,  to  be  increased  or  altered  at  the  king's  pleasure,  and 
authorised  to  nominate  and  superintend  the  local  councils,  reduced  by  these 
instructions  to  seven  members  each,  who  annually  were  to  choose  a  president 
from  their  own  number,  with  power  to  suspend  him  or  any  councillor  for 
good  cause,  and  to  fill  vacancies  till  new  appointments  came  from  England; 
the  president  to  have  a  double  vote.  It  was  made  the  especial  duty  of  these 

councils  to  provide  that  "  the  true  word  and  service  of  God,  according  to 
the  rites  and  service  of  the  Church  of  England,  be  preached,  planted,  and 
used  in  the  colonies  and  among  the  neighbouring.savages."  Tumults,  rebel- 

lion, conspiracy,  mutiny,  and  sedition,  along  with  five  other  offenses,  all  tri- 
able by  jury,  were  declared  capital.  For  five  years  after  their  first  planta- 
tion, the  trade  and  industry  of  the  colonists  were  to  remain  a  common  stock, 

or  "  two  or  three  stocks  at  the  most,"  to  be  managed,  in  each  colony,  by  a 
factor  selected  annually  by  the  local  council,  and  in  England  by  committees 
appointed  for  that  purpose.  A  knowledge  of  these  provisions  is  necessary 
to  make  the  early  history  of  Virginia  intelligible. 

THE  LONDON  COMPANY  SETTLES  VIRGINIA  AT  JAMESTOWN   (1607  A.D.) 

The  persons  named  in  the  charter  of  Virginia  as  founders  of  the  London 
Company  were  Sir  Thomas  Gates,  Sir  George  Somers,  Richard  Hakluyt,  and 
Edwin  Maria  Wingfield.  Others  were  persuaded,  or  had  previously  agreed 

to  take  part  in  the  enterprise,  especially  Sir  Thomas  Smith,  an  eminent  mer- 
chant of  London,  one  of  the  assignees  of  Raleigh's  patent,  who  was  chosen 
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treasurer  of  the  new  company.  For  every  sum  of  £12  10s.,  about  $60,  paid 
into  the  company's  treasury,  the  contributor  was  entitled  to  a  hundred  acres of  land,  and  as  much  more  when  the  first  lot  was  cultivated.  This  was  called 

"  the  adventure  of  the  purse."  Under  the  head  of  "  personal  adventure," whosoever  emigrated  to  Virginia,  or  carried  others  thither  at  his  own  expense, 
was  to  be  allowed  a  hundred  acres  for  each  person  so  transported.  It  was 
expected  by  this  allowance  not  only  to  encourage  the  voluntary  emigration 
of  persons  able  to  pay  their  own  expenses,  but  to  promote  the  transportation, 
at  the  expense  of  private  individuals,  of  servants  indented  or  bound  for  a 
term  of  years  —  a  species  of  emigrants  esteemed  essential  to  the  industry  of 
the  colony,  and  which  we  shall  find  as  a  distinct  class  in  all  the  Anglo- Amer- 

ican settlements.    On  all  grants  of  land  a  quit-rent  was  reserved. 
The  company  thus  organised  fitted  out  three  vessels,  under  the  command 

of  Christopher  Newport,  who  had  acquired  a  maritime  reputation  by  former 
expeditions  against  the  Spaniards.  One  hundred  and  five  men  embarked  in 
these  vessels  (December  19,  1606),  destined  to  form  the  first  colony  of  Vir- 

ginia, but  not  very  well  selected  for  such  a  purpose.  Of  this  small  number 

forty-eight  were  "gentlemen,"  persons  brought  up  to  esteem  manual  labour 
as  degrading.  There  were  but  twelve  labourers,  four  carpenters,  and  a  few 
other  mechanics.  The  rest  were  soldiers  and  servants.  The  leaders  were 
Wingfield,  a  merchant,  one  of  those  named  in  the  charter  as  projector  of  the 
colony;  Gosnold,  whose  voyage,  already  mentioned,  had  revived  the  spirit 
of  colonisation;  Hunt,  the  chaplain;  and  John  Smith  [not  yet  twenty-eight 
years  old],  an  energetic  adventurer,the  historian  of  the  enterprise,  in  which 
he  played  a  conspicuous  part.  While  a  mere  boy,  impelled  by  a  restless  spirit, 
he  had  left  home,  and,  finding  his  way  across  Europe,  had  engaged  in  the 
Austrian  service  in  the  war  against  the  Turks,  still  regarded,  at  that  time,  as 
the  common  enemy  of  Christendom.  After  many  adventures,  in  which  he 
gave  repeated  proofs  of  remarkable  courage  and  resolution.  Smith  had  returned 
to  England,  and  accidentally  forming  an  acquaintance  with  Gosnold,  entered 
with  characteristic  zeal  into  the  scheme  for  colonising  Virginia. 

The  names  of  the  future  councillors  to  whom  the  government  of  the  colony 
was  to  be  intrusted  were  carried  to  Virginia  a  profound  secret,  carefully 

sealed  up  in  a  tin  box,  along  with  King  James's  instructions.  Newport  pro- 
ceeded by  way  of  the  Canaries  and  the  West  Indies,  and  during  the  long 

passage  cabals  arose.  Wingfield,  jealous  of  Smith's  reputation,  accused  him 
of  a  design  to  murder  the  council,  usurp  the  government,  and  make  himself 
king  of  Virginia;  and  on  this  extraordinary  charge  Smith  was  arrested,  and 
kept  in  confinement  during  the  remainder  of  the  passage.  Several  weeks 
were  spent  among  the  Caribbee  Islands.  Sailing  thence  in  search  of  the  coast 
of  Virginia,  a  fortunate  storm  drove  the  vessels  past  Roanoke,  and  after  a 

four  months'  passage  from  England  they  entered  Chesapeake  Bay  April 
26th,  1607.  The  two  headlands  at  the  entrance  were  named  Cape  Henry 

and  Cape  Charles,  after  the  king's  two  sons.  A  party  of  thirty  landing  on 
Cape  Henry  were  attacked  by  five  of  the  natives,  and  had  two  of  their  num- 

ber wounded.  Presently  the  ships  came  to  anchor  at  old  Point  Comfort,  at 
the  mouth  of  a  broad  river  or  estuary.  The  sealed  box  was  now  opened  and 
the  names  of  Wingfield,  Newport,  Gosnold,  Smith  and  three  others  were  found 
in  it,  appointed  to  compose  the  council. 

Nearly  three  weeks  were  employed  in  exploring  the  country,  during  which 
the  vessels  ascended  the  great  river  Powhatan,  a  principal  tributary  of  the 

Chesapeake.  "The  new  comers  were  kindly  received  at  several  places  by  the 
natives,  who  now  saw  white  men  for  the  first  time.    A  spot  was  chosen  for 
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settlement  May  13th  on  the  north  bank  of  the  river,  about  fifty  miles  from 
the' bay  —  a  peninsula  which  afforded,  on  the  water  side,  good  anchorage, 
and  on  the  land  side  might  be  easily  defended,  but  with  a  low  and  marshy 

situation  unfavourable  to  health.  This  spot  was  called  Jamestown,^  and  the 
river  soon  became  known  as  James,  or  Kmg's  river.  ̂  

CAPTAIN  JOHN  SMITH's  OWN  ACCOUNT  OF  THE  LANDING  AT  JAMESTOWN 

Kinde  Sir,  commendations  remembred,  &c.  you  shall  vnderstand  that 
after  many  crosses  in  the  downes  by  tempests  wee  arriued  safely  uppon  the 
Southwest  part  of  the  great  Canaries :  within  f oure  or  f iue  daies  after  we  set 
saile  for  Dominica,  the  26.  of  April:  the  first  land  we  made,  we  fell  with  Cape 
Henry,  the  verie  mouth  of  the  Bay  of  Chissiapiacke,  which  at  that  present 
we  little  expected,  hauing  by  a  cruell  storme  bene  put  to  the  Northward: 
anchoring  in  this  Bay  twentie  or  thirtie  went  a  shore  with  the  Captain,  and 
in  coming  aboard,  they  were  assalted  with  certaine  Indians,  which  charged 
them  within  PistoU  shot:  in  which  conflict,  Captaine  Archer  and  Mathew 
Morton  were  shot:  whereupon,  Captaine  Newport  seconding  them,  made  a 
shot  at  them,  which  the  Indians  little  respected,  but  hauing  spent  their 
arrowes  retyred  without  harme,  and  in  that  place  was  the  box  opened,  wherein 
the  counsell  for  Virginia  was  nominated:  and  arriuing  at  the  place  where  wee 
are  now  seated,  the  Counsel  was  sworn,  and  the  president  elected,  which  for 
that  yeare  was  Maister  Edm.  Maria  Wingfield,  where  was  made  choice  for 
our  scituation,  a  verie  fit  place  for  the  erecting  of  a  great  cittie,  about  which 
some  contention  passed  betwixt  Captaine  Wingfield  and  Captaine  Gosnold, 
notwithstanding  all  our  prouision  was  brought  a  shore,  and  with  as  much 
speede  as  might  bee  wee  went  about  our  fortification. 

The  two  and  twenty  day  of  Aprill,  Captain  Newport  and  myselfe  with 
diuers  others,  to  the  number  of  twenty  two  persons  set  forward  to  discouer 
the  Riuer,  some  fiftie  or  sixtie  miles,  finding  it  in  some  places  broader,  &  in 
some  narrower,  the  Countrie  (for  the  moste  part)  on  each  side  plaine  high 
ground,  with  many  fresh  Springes,  the  people  in  places  kindely  in  treating 
vs,  daunsing  and  feasting  vs  with  strawberries.  Mulberries,  Bread,  Fish,  and 
other  their  Countrie  prouisions  wherof  we  had  plenty:  for  which  Captaine 
Newport  kindely  requited  their  least  fauours,  with  Bels,  Pinnes,  Needles, 
beades,  or  Glasses,  which  so  contented  them  that  his  liberallitie  made  them 
follow  vs,  from  place  to  place,  and  euer  kindely  to  respect  vs. 

In  the  midway  staying  to  refresh  our  selues  in  a  little  He  foure  or  fine 
sauages  came  vnto  vs  which  described  vnto  vs  the  course  of  the  Riuer,  and 
after  in  our  iourney,  they  often  met  vs  trading  with  vs  for  such  prouision  as 
wee  had,  and  arriuing  at  Arsatecke,  hee  whom  we  supposed  to  bee  the  chiefe 
King  of  all  the  rest,  moste  kindely  entertained  vs,  giuing  vs  in  a  guide  to  go 
with  vs  up  the  Riuer  to  Powhatan,  of  which  place  their  great  Emperor 
taketh  his  name,  where  he  that  they  honored  for  King  vsed  vs  kindely.  But 
to  finish  this  discourie,  we  passed  on  further,  where  within  an  ile  we  were 
intercepted  with  great  craggy  stones  ye  in  the  midst  of  the  riuer  where  the 
water  falleth  so  rudely,  and  with  such  a  violence,  as  not  any  boat  can  pos- 

sibly passe,  and  so  broad  disperseth  the  streame,  as  there  is  not  past  fine  or 

['  As  this  settlement  was  in  the  vast  region  claimed  by  Spain  under  the  name  of  Florida, 
there  was  constant  danger  of  incursions  like  that  of  Menendez  against  the  French,  as  described 
in  the  last  chapter.  Indeed  Dr.  Alexander  Brown  "  has  recently  published  the  correspondence 
between  the  king  of  Spain  and  his  minister  at  London,  both  of  them  eager  to  wipe  out  the 
Jamestown  settlement,  but  deferring  hostilities  in  the  hope  that  this  colony  would  be  abandoned 
as  had  so  mwy  Others.] 
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sixe  Foote  at  a  low  water,  and  to  the  shore  scarce  passage  with  a  barge,  the 
water  floweth  foure  foote,  and  the  freshes  by  reason  of  the  Rockes  haue  left 
markea  of  the  inundations  8  or  9  foote:  the  South  side  is  plaine  low  ground, 
and  the  north  side  high  mountaines,  the  rockes  being  of  a  grauelly  nature, 
interlaced  with  many  vains  of  glistring  spangles. 

That  night  we  returned  to  Powhatan:  the  next  day  (being  Whitsunday 
after  dinner)  we  returned  to  the  fals,  leaning  a  mariner  in  pawn  with  the 
Indians  for  a  guide  of  theirs,  hee  that  they  honoured  for  King  followed  vs  by 
the  riuer.  That  afternoone  we  trifled  in  looking  vpon  the  Rockes  and  riuer 
(further  he  would  not  goe)  so  there  we  erected  a  crosse,  and  that  night  taking 
our  man  at  Powhatans,  Cap.  Newport  congratulated  his  kindenes  with 
a  Gown  and  a  Hatchet:  returning  to  Arsetecke,  and  stayed  there  the  next 
day  to  obserue  the  height  thereof,  &  so  with  many  signes  of  loue  we 
departed.6 

EARLY   JEALOUSIES 

Exercising  the  powers  conferred  upon  them  by  the  royal  instructions,  the 
council  excluded  Smith,  and  chose  Wingfield  president.  It  was  proposed  to 
send  Smith  to  England;  nor  was  it  without  difficulty  that  he  ob tamed  the 
privilege  of  being  tried  in  the  colony.  Meanwhile,  with  Newport,  he  explored 
James  river  as  high  up  as  the  falls,  where  they  were  hospitably  entertained  at 
an  Indian  village  there.  On  their  return,  they  found  the  colonists  at  James- 

town already  in  a  quarrel  with  the  natives;  but  this  diflSculty  was  soon 
arranged.  Smith  was  tried,  and,  being  honorably  acquitted  by  the  jury, 
who  levied  heavy  damages  on  Wingfield,  his  accuser,  he  was  now,  by  the 
mediation  of  Hunt,  restored  to  his  seat  in  the  council. 

All  that  part  of  the  present  state  of  Virginia  below  the  falls  of  the  rivers 
was  found  by  the  English  in  the  possession  of  native  tribes  of  Algonquin 
speech,  united  in  a  confederacy,  called  by  the  settlers  the  Powhatans,  plural 
of  the  name  by  which  they  distinguished  the  great  chief  at  its  head.  This 

chief,  "a  tall,  sour,  athletic  man,  about  sixty  years  old,"  who  dwelt  sometimes at  Werowocomo,  on  the  north  bank  of  the  York  river,  and  sometimes  at  the 

falls  of  the  James  river,  was  magnified  by  the  colonists  into  the  "  emperor 
of  Virginia." The  Powhatan  confederacy  embraced  more  than  forty  clans  or  petty 
tribes,  scattered  over  a  great  space,  living  together  in  little  hamlets,  few 
of  which  had  so  many  as  two  or  three  hundred  inhabitants.  James  river, 
above  the  falls,  was  inhabited  by  the  five  tribes  of  the  Monicans,  generally 
hostile  to  the  Powhatans,  as  were  the  Mannahoacs,  a  confederacy  of  eight 
tribes  inhabiting  the  upper  courses  of  the  Rappahannock  and  the  Potomac. 
These  two  confederacies  appear  to  have  spoken  dialects  of  the  Wyandot 
language.  The  total  population  of  the  three  confederacies,  including  all  the 
Indians  west  of  Chesapeake  Bay,  as  far  as  the  Blue  Ridge,  did  not  probably 
exceed  fifteen  or  twenty  thousand.  But  to  the  few  English  they  appeared 
very  ntunerous. 

Shortly  after  Newport's  departure  for  England  in  June,  the  colonists 
began  to  suffer  from  disease,  aggravated  by  want  of  proper  food.  The 
water  was  bad;  their  provisions,  doled  out  in  small  allowances  from  the 

common  store,  consisted  principally  of  wheat  and  barley  heated  and  dam- 
aged on  the  long  voyage.  To  this  they  added  crabs  and  sturgeons,  with 

which  the  river  abounded.  The  natives  began  again  to  grow  unfriendly. 

Disease  was  aggravated  by  melancholy  and  despair,    From  May  to  Septem- 
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ber  half  the  colonists  died,  among  others  Gosnold,  after  whose  death  the 
c6uncil  could  hardly  agree.'' 

Wingfield,  the  president  at  that  time,  has  left  an  account  from  which  we 
quote;  he  refers  to  himself  in  the  third  person." 

WINGFIELD,   THE   FIRST   PRESIDENT'S  ACCOUNT   OF  EARLY  PRIVATIONS 

About  this  tyme,  diuers  of  our  men  fell  sick.  We  myssed  aboue  fforty 
before  September  did  see  us;  amongst  whom  was  the  worthy  and  religious 
gent,  Captn.  Bartholomew  Gosnold,  upon  whose  liefs  stood  a  great  part  of 
the  good  succes  and  fortune  of  our  gouernment  and  colony.  In  his  sicknes 
tyme,  the  President  did  easily  foretel  his  owne  deposing  from  his  command; 
so  much  differed  the  President  and  the  other  Councellors  in  managing  the 
government  of  the  Collonye. 

Sicknes  had  not  now  left  us  vj  able  men  in  our  towne.  God's  onely  mercy did  now  watch  and  warde  for  us:  but  the  President  hidd  this  our  weaknes 
carefully  from  the  salvage;  neuer  suffring  them,  in  all  his  tyme  to  come  into 
our  towne.  The  vj*'^  of  September,  Pasyaheigh  sent  vs  a  boy  that  was  run 
from  vs.  This  was  the  first  assurance  of  his  peace  w'"  vs;  besides,  wee 
found  then  no  canyballs. 

The  Council  demanded  some  larger  allowance  for  themselues,  and  for 

some  sick,  their  fauorites;  w"'*  the  President  would  not  yeeld  vnto,  w'"  out 
their  warrants.  This  matter  was  before  ppounded  by  Captn.  Martyn,  but  so 
nakedly  as  that  he  neyther  knew  the  quantity  of  the  stoare  to  be  but  for 

xiij  weekes  and  a  half,  under  the  Cap  Merchaunt's  hand.  He  prayed  them 
further  to  consider  the  long  tyme  before  we  expected  Captn.  Newport's 
retorne;  the  incertainty  of  his  retorne,  if  God  did  not  fauor  his  voyage; 
the  long  tyme  before  our  haruest  would  bee  ripe;  and  the  doubtfull  peace 
that  wee  had  w'*^  the  Indyans,  w"*"  they  would  keepe  no  longer  than  oppor- 

tunity served  to  doe  vs  mischief. 
It  was  then  therefore  ordered  that  euery  meale  of  fish  or  fleshe  should 

excuse  the  allowance  for  poridg,  both  against  the  sick  and  hole.  The  Coun- 
cell,  therefore,  sitting  againe  upon  this  proposition,  instructed  in  the  former 
reasons  and  order,  did  not  thinke  fit  to  break  the  former  order  by  enlarging 
their  allowance,  as  will  appeare  by  the  most  voyces  reddy  to  be  shewed  under 
their  handes.  Now  was  the  common  store  of  oyle,  vinigar,  sack,  &  aquavite 
all  spent,  saueing  twoe  gallons  of  each:  the  sack  reserued  for  the  Communion 
Table,  the  rest  for  such  extreamityes  as  might  fall  upon  us,  w""  the  President 
had  onely  made  knowne  to  Captn.  Gosnold;  of  w""  course  he  liked  well. 
The  vessells  wear,  therefore,  boonged  vp'p.  When  Mr.  Gosnold  was  dead, 
the  President  did  acquaint  the  rest  of  the  Counsell  w*''  the  said  remnant! 
but.  Lord,  how  they  then  longed  for  to  supp  up  that  little  remnant!  for  they 
had  nowe  emptied  all  their  own  bottles  and  all  other  that  they  could  smell 
out. 

The  President,  well  seeing  to  what  end  their  ympacience  would  grow, 
desired  them  earnestly  &  often  tymes  to  bestow  the  Presidentshipp  amonge 
themselues;  that  he  would  obey,  a  private  man,  as  well  as  they  could  com- 
and  But  they  refused  to  discharge  him  of  the  place;  sayeing  they  moughf 
not  doe  it,  for  that  hee  did  his  Ma""  good  service  in  yt.  In  this  meane  tyme, 
the  Indians  did  daily  relieue  us  w*  corne  and  fleshes,  that,  in  three  weekes, 
the  President  had  reared  vpp  xx  men  able  to  worke;  for,  as  his  stoare 
increased,  he  mended  the  comon  pott;  he  had  laid  vp,  besides,  prouision  for 
3  weekes'  wheate  before  hand.«  ,   ' 
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CAPT.   JOHN  smith's  ADVENTURES 

Wingfield  was  accused  of  appropriating  the  best  stores  to  his  own  private 
use,  and  of  living  in  luxury  while  the  others  were  starving.  He  attempted  to 
escape  from  the  unfortunate  colony  in  a  bark  which  Newport  had  left,  but 
was  detected,  deposed  from  his  office  of  president,  and,  along  with  Kendall, 
one  of  his  confederates,  was  expelled  the  council.  That  body  was  now  reduced 
to  three  members,  the  vacancies  occasioned  by  the  departure  of  Newport,  the 
death  of  Gosnold,  and  the  recent  expulsions  remaining  unfilled.  Ratcliffe, 
the  new  president,  was  inefficient,  and  the  management  of  affairs  fell  chiefly 
into  the  hands  of  Smith.  Inspiring  his  companions  with  a  portion  of  his 
own  energy,  he  induced  them  to  build  a  palisadoed  fort  as  a  protection  against 
the  Indians,  and  to  erect  huts  for  the  winter.  As  the  season  approached  for 
gathering  the  Indian  corn,  with  a  few  attendants  he  visited  the  neighbouring 
tribes,  and  by  presents  and  caresses  among  the  friendly,  and  open  force  upon 
the  unwilling,  obtained  a  much-needed  supply.  Plots  still  continued  to  be 
formed  by  Wingfield,  Kendall,  and  others,  for  leaving  the  colony,  and  an 
encounter  presently  took  place,  in  which  these  plotters  were  defeated,  and 
Kendall  was  killed.  As  winter  set  in,  abundance  of  game  and  wild  fowl  dis- 

sipated all  apprehensions  of  famine. 
Matters  thus  in  a  more  favourable  train.  Smith  set  out  to  explore  the 

Chickahominy,  a  tributary  which  entered  James  river  a  little  above  James- 
town. No  just  ideas  were  yet  entertained  as  to  the  breadth  of  the  continent, 

which  was  still  believed  to  be  as  narrow  at  the  north  as  it  was  known  to  be 
in  Mexico.  The  colonists  were  specially  instructed  to  seek  for  a  passage  to 
the  South  Sea;  and  it  was  thought  that  possibly  the  Chickahommy  might 
lead  thither.  Having  ascended  as  high  as  he  could  in  his  barge,  Smith  fol- 

lowed up  the  stream  in  a  canoe,  with  two  colonists  and  two  Indians  for  com- 
panions, and  when  the  canoe  would  float  no  longer,  he  left  the  two  colonists 

to  guard  it,  and  struck  inland  with  a  single  Indian  as  a  guide. 
Set  upon  unexpectedly  by  a  large  party  of  natives,  who  had  already  sur- 

prised and  killed  the  two  men  left  to  guard  his  canoe,  Smith  bound  his  Indian 
guide  to  his  arm  as  a  buckler,  and  made  a  vigorous  defense,  killing  three  of 
his  assailants;  but  as  he  retreated  backward,  he  presently  sank  into  a  miry 
swamp,  and  was  taken  prisoner.  His  captors  would  have  killed  him,  but  he 
amused  them  with  a  pocket  compass.  Carried  in  a  sort  of  triumph  through 
several  villages,  he  was  taken  before  Powhatan  at  Werowocomo,  about  four- 

teen miles  north  of  the  English  settlement.  An  attempt  was  made  to  engage 
his  services — at  least  so  Smith  understood  it  — in  surprising  the  colonists 
at  Jamestown.  Having  failed  in  this,  after  much  consultation  it  was  resolved 
to  put  him  to  death.  He  was  dragged  to  the  ground  aiid  [according  to 

Smith's  own  story]  his  head  placed  upon  a  stone;  Powhatan  raised  a  club 
to  dash  out  his  brains,  when  Pocahontas,  the  sachem's  favourite  daughter, 
a  ohild  ten  or  twelve  years  old,  rushed  through  the  crowd,  clasped  in  her 
arms  the  head  of  the  victim,  and,  resting  her  own  upon  it,  averted  the  fatal 
blow.  His  life  was  saved;  many  new  ceremonies  passed  between  him  and 
the  Indians,  and  after  seven  weeks'  captivity,  accompanied  by  twelve  Indian 
guides,  he  was  sent  back  to  Jamestown  in  January,  1608.<^  This  is  Smith's own  account  of  the  transaction,  in  his  letter  introducing  Pocahontas  to  the 
queen: 

"  Some  ten  years  ago,  being  in  Virginia,  and  taken  prisoner  by  the  power 
of  Powhatan,  their  chief  king,  I  received  from  this  great  savage  exceeding 

great  courtesy,  especially  from  his  son  Nantaquans,  the  most  manlieet,  come- 
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liest,  boldest  spirit  I  ever  saw  in  a  savage,  and  his  sister  Pocahontas,  the 

king's  most  dear  and  well-beloved  daughter,  being  but  a  child  of  twelve  or 
thirteen  years  of  age,  whose  compassionate  pitiful  heart,  of  desperate  estate, 
gave  me  much  cause  to  respect  her.  I  being  the  first  Christian  this  proud 
king  and  his  grim  attendants  ever  saw,  and  thus  enthralled  in  their  barbarous 
power,  I  cannot  say  I  felt  the  least  occasion  of  want  that  was  in  the  power 
of  these  my  mortal  foes  to  prevent,  notwithstanding  all  their  threats.  After 
some  six  weeks  falling  amongst  these  savage  courtiers,  at  the  minute  of  my 
execution,  she  hazarded  the  beating  of  her  own  brains  to  save  mine,  and  not 
only  that,  but  so  prevailed  with  her  father  that  I  was  safely  conducted  to 

James  Town."/  ' 
THE  TRADITIONAL  POCAHONTAS 

Romance  has  nothing  stranger  than  the  life  of  Captain  John  Smith.  He 
attracted  adventures  as  a  magnet  gathers  iron  fihngs.  His  own  account  of 
his  life  has  overtaxed  the  credulity  of  many  a  person  versed  in  the  possibilities 

of  history.  And  yet  side  evidences 
verify  some  of  his  most  improbable 
feats,  as  that  of  the  three  Turks  he 
claimed  to  have  beheaded  in  succes- 

sive single  combats.  On  the  other 
hand,  the  Hungarians  laugh  at  his  ac- 

counts of  his  life  and  honours  among 
them  as  absolutely  impossible.  But 
strip  from  his  narration  all  that  the 
severest  critics  disallow,  and  there  is 
left  enough  incident  to  furnish  forth  a 
dozen  ordinary  lives.  The  remarkable 
accuracy  with  which  Smith  made  maps 
and  surveys  under  greatest  hardships 
argues  for  a  mind  not  wholly  averse  to 
exact  truth,  although  the  comparison 
of  his  earlier  writings  with  his  later 
show  that  his  stories  had  a  tendency 
to  grow.  Those  were  times  when  ad- 

ventures were  to  be  had  for  the  asking 

in  all  parts  of  the  world,  and  Smith's 
adventures  are  only  a  little  more  varied 
than  the  sober  record  of  the  life  of 
the  novelist  and  plajrwright  Cervantes. 

Smith's  story  of  Pocahontas  has  been  a  chess-boara  of  critical  ingenuity 
and  exercise.  People  who  know  nothing  else  of  colonial  history  know  the 
story  of  how  Pocahontas  rescued  Smith  by  laying  her  pretty  head  upon  his 
as  the  clubs  of  the  executioners  were  about  to  descend.  It  is  among  the 
most  fascinating  pictures  in  history  or  fiction.  It  was  not  till  1860  that  any 
historian  ever  hinted  at  an  inaccuracy  in  the  story.  In  that  year  Charles 

Deane  9  (in  a  note  to  a  privately  printed  edition  of  Wingfield's  Discourse 
from  which  we  have  already  quoted)  called  attention  to  a  discrepancy  in 
Smith's  accounts.  He  showed  how  Smith  did  not  mention  the  Pocahontas 
rescue  in  his  first  account;  but  many  years  afterward,  when  Pocahontas  was 
the  sensation  of  London,  and  it  would  add  romance  to  his  own  career  to  be 

associated  with  her,  he  developed  the  story.  Deane's  theory  was  more  fully 
exploited  in  1867  by  Henry  Adams^ 

John  Smith 

(1579-1631) 
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Here  is  an  example  of  Smith's  improvements;  in  his  first  account,  the True  Relation  of  1608,  he  says  that  when  he  returned  from  his  captivity,  he 
was  tried  for  losing  the  lives  of  the  two  men  who  had  accompanied  him  and 
was  to  have  been  put  to  death  the  next  day,  but  "  in  the  midst  of  my  miseries 
it  pleased  God  to  send  Captain  Nuport,"  who  saved  his  life.  In  his  later 
account,  the  General  Historic  of  1624,  he  says  that  on  his  return  from  cap- 

tivity he  found  out  the  conspirators  against  him  and  "  he  quietly  tooke  such order  with  such  lawyers,  that  he  layd  them  by  the  heeles  till  he  sent  some  of 
them  prisoners  for  England." 

It  is  impossible  here  to  go  into  the  arguments  pro  and  con  the  Pocahontas 
story.  The  arguments  against  its  credibility  are  numerous  and  attractive, 
but  they  are  not  without  flaws.  The  arguments  in  support  of  Smith  are 
even  less  complete.  But,  after  all,  the  adventure  is  one  the  like  of  which  has 
frequently  happened  in  Indian  history;  there  is  nothing  in  the  least  incred- 

ible about  it,  and  as  to  the  inconsistencies  in  its  publication,  we  have  but  to 
study  published  accounts  of  any  event  of  our  own  day  to  see  how  deeply 
inconsistencies  are  imbedded  in  all  human  chronicle.  Among  those  who  had 
cordially  accepted  the  Pocahontas  story,  in  the  face  of  the  assaults  upon  it, 
have  been  John  Fiske*  and  John  Esten  Cooke.?  On  the  opposite  side  are 
those  mentioned  and  most  of  the  late  historians,  especially  E.  D.  Neill.* 
Leaving  the  controversy,  then,  as  what  it  must  always  remain,  a  matter  of 
controversy  and  individual  opinion,  we  return  to  the  chronicle.  Certain  it 

is  that  Smith's  career  has  importance  and  romance  enough  even  after  Poca- 
hontas is  subtracted  from  it,  and  that  on  his  return  from  captivity,  after 

being  ransomed  for  "two  great  guns  and  a  grindstone,"  he  found  work 
enough  for  his  hand  to  do.o 

JOHN  SMITH  AS  PRESIDENT 

Smith  found  the  colony  reduced  to  thirty-eight  persons,  wholly  discour- 
aged and  disheartened,  and  some  of  them  again  planning  an  escape  in  the 

bark.  For  the  third  time,  mingling  threats  and  entreaties,  he  induced 
them  to  remain,  and  having  procured  from  the  Indians,  with  whom  he  was 
now  in  great  favour,  abundance  of  provisions,  he  maintained  plenty  in  the 
colony  till  Newport  arrived,  bringing  supplies  and  a  hundred  and  twenty 
new  settlers.  But  of  the  two  ships  of  which  this  expedition  consisted  one 
was  driven  by  rough  weather  to  the  West  Indies,  and  thus  kept  back  for 
several  weeks. 

This  new  company  were  much  the  same  sort  of  people  who  had  composed 
the  first  colony,  vagabond  gentlemen,  unaccustomed  to  labour  and  disdainful 
of  it,  with  three  or  four  bankrupt  London  jewelers,  goldsmiths,  and  refiners, 
sent  out  to  seek  for  mines.  In  a  small  stream  near  Jamestown  they  presently 
discovered  some  glittering  bits  of  yellow  mica,  which  they  mistook  for  gold 
dust.  Everything  else  was  now  neglected;  there  was  no  thought  nor  con- 

versation but  about  digging,  washing,  and  refining  gold.  Newport,  whom 

Smith  /  describes  as  "  empty,  idle,  timid,  and  ostentatious,"  went  to  Werowo- 
como  to  visit  Powhatan,  and  deliver  to  him  some  presents  he  had  brought. 
His  ship  was  thus  kept  waiting,  the  crew  trenching  on  the  supply  of  provisions, 
diminished  also  by  an  accidental  fire,  which  destroyed  the  storehouse  and  most 
of  the  huts.  At  last  Newport's  ship  set  sail  for  England,  laden  with  fancied 
wealth.  Wingfield  and  some  of  his  partisans  went  in  her.  Martin,  one  of 
the  councillors,  returned  to  England  m  the  other  vessel,  to  claim  the  reward 

promised  to  the  first  discoverer  of  a  mine.    With  much  difficulty  Smith  pre- 
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vailed  to  load  that  vessel  with  cedar,  which,  with  a  quantity  of  skins  and  furs, 
constituted  the  first  valuable  remittance  from  Virginia.  Martin's  place  in 
the  council  was  supplied  by  Scrivener,  who  had  come  out  in  Newport's 
vessel. 

While  the  colonists  rebuilt  their  huts  and  tended  their  corn-fields,  Smith 
employed  himself  in  the  exploration  of  Chesapeake  Bay,  for  which  purpose  he 
made  two  voyages  in  an  open  boat  of  five  tons,  attended  by  a  surgeon,  six 
gentlemen,  and  five  soldiers..  He  explored  the  numerous  rivers  and  inlets, 
especially  on  the  west  side  of  the  bay;^  entered  the  Susquehanna,  the  Patapsco, 
and  the  Potomac,  all  of  which  he  ascended  to  their  first  falls;  and,  after  sail- 

ing more  than  three  thousand  miles,  drew  the  first  chart  of  the  Chesapeake, 
which  was  transmitted  to  England,  and  presently  published,  with  a  descrip- 

tion of  the  country.  Smith  found  the  Susquehannas,  and  other  Indians  at 
the  head  of  the  bay,  already  in  possession  of  iron  hatchets,  obtained  probably 
ty  way  of  Canada  from  the  French  fur  traders  in  the  St.  Lawrence.  These 
Indians  lived  in  constant  terror  of  the  formidable  Massawomacs,  no  doubt 
the  Iroquds  or  Five  Nations.  Smith  hirap^'f  met  with  a  party  of  that 
dreaded  race  returning  in  canoes  from  a  war  expedition.  After  visiting  the 
Mannahoacs  at  the  head  of  the  Rappahannock,  and,  in  the  same  expedition, 
the  Nansemonds  and  Chesapeakes,  at  the  south  part  of  the  bay,  he  returned 
in  September  to  Jamestown  with  a  cargo  of  corn.  The  settlers  now  also 
gathered  the  first  corn  of  their  own  planting. 

■  On  bis  return  from  his  second  voyage  of  exploration  Smith  became  presi- 
dent of  the  council,  an  office  held  for  some  time  previously  by  Scrivener,  to 

whom  the  sick  and  inefficient  Ratchffe  had  yielded  it.  Newport  arrived  soon 
after  with  seventy  additional  people,  among  whom  were  two  new  councillors 
and  two  women,  the  first  who  visited  the  colony.  There  came,  also,  eight 
Poles  and  Germans,  sent  to  teach  the  art  of  making  pitch,  tar,  potashes,  and 
glass.  The  officers  of  the  company  wrote  by  this  opportunity  in  an  angry 
strain.  They  were  much  disturbed  by  a  story,  started  probably  by  Wing- 
field  and  the  other  returned  emigrants,  that  the  starving  and  discontented 
colonists,  who  desired  nothing  so  much  as  to  get  away,  intended  to  seize  the 
territory  of  Virginia,  and  to  divide  it  among  themselves.  They  expressed 
great  dissatisfaction  that  their  heavy  outlays  had  yet  produced  no  adequate 
return;  and  Newport  brought  special  orders  to  obtain  certain  intelligence  of 
a  passage  to  the  South  Sea,  to  send  home  a  lump  of  real  gold,  or  to  find  some 
of  the  lost  company  formerly  planted  on  the  island  of  Roanoke.  Unless  val- 

uable commodities  were  remitted  sufficient  to  pay  the  expense  of  this  voyage, 
amounting  to  £2,000,  about  $10,000,  the  colonists  were  threatened  to  be 
left  to  shift  for  themselves,  "  as  banished  men." 

Resolved  to  make  the  best  of  such  materials  as  he  had.  Smith  exerted  his 
authority  with  vigour.  The  gentlemen,  taught  to  wield  the  axe,  and  con- 

verted into  dexterous  woodcutters,  were  employed  in  preparing  a  cargo  for 
the  ship.  To  eat,  they  must  work.  The  common  store  from  which  the  col- 

onists were  fed  was  mainly  dependent  on  corn  purchased  from  the  Indians 
with  goods  sent  out  by  the  company.  Newport  again  visited  Powhatan,  car- 

rying as  presents  a  scarlet  cloak  and  gilded  crown.  He  wished  to  engage  that 
chief  to  assist  him  in  exploring  the  country  of  the  Monicans  above  the  falls 
of  James  river,  and,  notwithstanding  Powhatan's  refusal,  he  undertook  an 
expedition  for  that  purpose,  from  which  he  returned  with  some  specimens 
of  alleged  silver  ore,  his  men  starving,  sick,  and  dispirited.  Great  exertions 
now  became  necessary  to  secure  a  supply  of  provisions.  Contributions  were 
levied  on  the  neighbouring  Indian  villages.    Smith  also  visited  Powhatan  for 
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the  same  purpose,  but  found  him  hostile  and  treacherous.  Again  he  was 
saved  [he  claims]  by  Pocahontas,  who  came  through  a  storm  at  midnight  to 
inform  him  of  his  danger. 

Already  Newport's  vessel  was  dispatched  with  a  cargo  of  wainscot  and 
clapboards,  and  specimens  of  tar,  pitch,  and  potashes,  prepared  by  the  Ger- 

mans. Smith  wrote,  in  reply  to  the  complaints  of  the  company,  that  it  were 
better  to  send  out  thirty  working  men  tnan  a  thousand  like  the  present  col- 

onists. Whatever  disappointment  might  be  expressed  in  their  letters  to 
Virginia,  the  London  Company  put  a  good  face  upon  matters  at  home. 
Means  were  taken  to  make  the  speculation  popular,  and  the  number  of 
adventurers  was  greatly  increased.  Besides  many  noblemen,  knights,  gen- 

tlemen, merchants,  and  wealthy  tradesmen,  most  of  the  incorporated  trades 
of  London  were  induced  to  take  shares  in  the  stock. 

THE    SECOND    CHARTER   OF   VIRGINIA    (1609   A.D.) 

A  new  charter  was  also  obtained  May  23,  1609,  by  which  the  enterprise 

was  placed  upon  quite  a  new  footing.  "The  Treasurer  and  Company  of 
Adventurers  and  Planters  of  the  City  of  London,  for  the  First  Colony  in 

Virginia,"  were  made  a  corporation,  its  affairs  to  be  managed  by  a  council, 
of  which  the  first  members  were  named  in  the  patent;  but  all  vacancies  were 
to  be  filled  by  the  stockholders,  who  were  also  empowered  to  choose  the 
treasurer,  the  chief  executive  officer  of  the  company.  To  this  corporation 
was  granted  a  territory  extending  two  hundred  miles  north  from  Old  Point 
Comfort,  the  same  distance  south,  and  west  to  the  Pacific.  The  local  council 
of  the  colony,  distracted  as  it  had  been  by  cabals  and  personal  jealousies,  the 
universal  fate  of  a  divided  executive,  was  superseded  by  a  governor,  to  be 

appointed  by  the  company's  council  in  England,  and  to  have  the  sole  super- 
intendence of  local  affairs.  That  same  council  was  also  empowered  to  make 

laws  for  the  colony,  conformable,  however,  "  as  near  as  might  be,"  to  those 
of  England  —  a  restriction  inserted  into  all  subsequent  charters,  and,  inde- 

pendently of  any  charter,  a  fundamental  limitation  on  colonial  legislation. 

To  guard  against  the  intrusion  of  "  Romish  superstitions,"  the  oath  of  suprem- 
acy was  to  be  taken  by  all  persons  sailing  for  the  colony.  Under  this  new 

charter  Lord  Delawarr  was  appointed  governor.  Sir  Thomas  Gates  lieutenant- 
governor.  Sir  George  Somers  admiral,  Newport  vice-admiral,  and  Sir  Thomas 
Dale  high  marshal,  all  for  hfe. 

Lord  Delawarr's  affairs  detained  him  for  some  time  in  England;  but  a 
fleet  of  nine  vessels  set  sail  at  once,  with  five  hundred  colonists  on  board, 
including  twenty  women  and  children.  Gates,  Somers,  and  Newport  sailed 

in  this  fleet,  with  authority  to  administer  the  government  till  Lord  Delawarr's 
arrival.  Not  able  to  agree  about  precedence,  these  three  commanders 
embarked  in  the  same  vessel,  and,  in  a  violent  storm  which  dispersed  the 
fleet,  they  were  cast  ashore  on  one  of  the  Bermudas.  The  other  ships,  except 
one  which  was  lost,  arrived  safely  in  James  river.  Most  of  the  new  comers 
were  of  the  same  sort  with  those  formerly  sent  out,  poor  gentlemen,  indolent, 

dissolute,  and  insubordinate,  or  else  broken  tradesmen,  "fitter  to  breed  a 
riot  than  to  found  a  colony."  The  old  system  had  been  abrogated;  but, 
owing  to  the  non-arrival  of  the  three  commissioners,  there  was  no  person  in 
the  colony  authorised  to  act  under  the  new  charter. 

The  new  comers  disputed  the  authority  of  Smith,  who  struggled,  how- 
ever, to  maintain  his  power,  in  which,  indeed,  he  was  justified  by  the  express 

provisions  of  the  new  charter,  which  continued  the  old  government  until  the 
H.  W. —  VOL.  XXII.  2P 
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new  one  should  be  formally  organised.  To  rid  himself  in  part  of  these  trou- 
blesome guests,  he  established  two  new  settlements,  one  at  the  falls  of  James 

river,  the  other  at  Nansemond,  near  the  present  site  of  Norfolk.  These 
settlers  conducted  with  great  insolence,  and  soon  involved  themselves  in  dis- 

pute with  the  neighbouring  Indians.  Smith  quieted  matters  for  the  moment; 
but  the  colony  soon  lost  his  valuable  services.  Severely  wounded  by  the 
accidental  explosion  of  his  powder-bag  as  he  was  sleeping  in  his  boat,  he  was 
obliged  in  October  to  return  to  England,  in  one  of  the  newly  arrived  vessels, 
for  surgical  aid.'  He  left  near  five  hundred  persons  in  Virginia,  well  sup- 

plied with  arms,  provisions,  and  goods  for  the  Indian  traffic.  Jamestown 
had  a  fort,  church,  store-house,  and  about  sixty  dwelling  houses,  with  a 
stock  of  hogs,  goats,  sheep,  fowls,  and  a  few  horses;  but  the  cultivated  land, 
the  produce  of  which  went  into  the  colony  store,  was  limited  to  thirty  or 
forty  acres.  The  main  resource  for  food  was  corn  purchased  or  extorted  from 
the  Indians,  and  dealt  out  from  the  common  store. 

THE   STABVING  TIME;     DALe's   ADMINISTKATION 

At  Smith's  departure  the  colonists  gave  themselves  up  to  riot  and  idle- 
ness. They  wastefully  consumed  the  store  of  provisions,  killed  the  stock, 

traded  away  their  arms  with  the  natives,  and  presently  suffered  severely  from 
famine.  Ratcliffe,  with  a  numerous  party,  on  a  trading  expedition  for  corn, 
was  waylaid  by  the  Indians,  and  cut  off  with  all  his  company.  Many  strag- 

glers, wandering  about  in  search  of  food,  suffered  the  same  fate.  A  com- 
pany of  thirty  seized  a  small  vessel  belonging  to  the  colony,  and  sailed  away 

to  turn  pirates.  In  the  traditions  of  Virginia,  this  period  was  long  remem- 
bered as  "  the  Starving  Time."  In  six  months  there  were  only  sixty  persons 

remaining,  and  those  so  feeble,  dejected,  and  destitute  that,  without  aid, 
they  could  not  have  survived  for  ten  days  longer. 

At  this  critical  moment  (May  26th,  1610)  Newport,  Gates,  and  Somers, 
with  an  hundred  and  fifty  men,  arrived  from  Bermuda,  in  two  small  vessels 
built  of  the  cedar  of  that  island  and  the  fragments  of  their  stranded  ship. 
Even  shipwreck  had  not  reconciled  the  jealous  commissioners,  who  had 
formed  two  parties,  and  had  built  separate  vessels.  Arriving  from  such  a 
land  of  plenty,  the  new  comers  were  horror-struck  at  the  starving  condition 
of  the  colony.  They  had  themselves  but  sixteen  days'  provisions.  It  was 
resolved  to  abandon  Virginia,  and  to  sail  for  Newfoundland,  there  to  seek 
food  and  a  passage  home  from  the  fishermen.  So  great  was  the  disgust  of 
the  disappointed  colonists  that  on  leaving  Jamestown  they  were  hardly 
restrained  from  setting  fire  to  the  buildings. 

As  they  descended  the  river,  June  10,  a  boat  was  seen  coming  up.  It 
was  Lord  Delawarr,  the  governor,  just  arrived  from  England,  with  three 
ships,  bringing  provisions  and  colonists.  He  persuaded  the  fugitive  settlers 
to  return  to  Jamestown,  where  he  entered  ceremoniously  upon  his  office 
with  a  speech  from  himself  and  a  sermon  from  his  chaplain.  Somers  sailed 
to  the  Bermudas  for  hogs,  and  died  there,  leaving  his  name  to  the  islands. 
Gates  returned  to  England  for  supplies.  Captain  Argall,  in  a  private  trading 
ship,  obtained  a  cargo  of  corn  from  the  Potomac.  Delawarr  established  a 
post  at  Kiquotan,  now  Hampton,  at  the  entrance  of  James  river.  In  pun- 

ishment of  injuries  inflicted  by  the  Indians  during  the  late  distressed  state 

['  So  Smith-^  puts  it,  all  other  contemporary  accounts  say  he  was  sent  to  England,  "  to 
answer  some  misdemeanors."  Both  reasons  were  correct  it  now  seems  from  a  MS.  at  Petworth 

House  in  Surrey.") 
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of  the  colony,  he  attacked  and  burned  several  of  their  villages,  but  was 
repulsed  when  he  attempted  to  renew  the  settlement  at  the  falls.  Taken 
sick,  he  presently  returned  to  England  (March  28th),  leaving  Percy  as  his 
deputy.    The  colony  now  consisted  of  two  hundred  men. 

Sir  Thomas  Dale  arrived  (May  10th)  with  three  ships,  some  cattle,  and 

three  hundred  settlers,  and,  in  Delawarr's  absence,  assumed  the  government. 
He  proclaimed  a  code  of  laws,  harsh  and  strict,  by  its  excessive  severity  fitter 
for  a  camp  than  a  colony,  and  intended  to  prevent  a  repetition  of  the  late  dis- 

orders. This  code,  printed  at  London  by  the  care  of  Secretary  Strachey, 
remained  for  eight  years  the  law  of  Virginia,  additional  regulations  being 
from  time  to  time  added  by  proclamations  of  the  governor. 

Being  superseded  by  Sir  Thomas  Gates,  who  came  back  from  England  in 
August  with  six  ships,  three  hundred  and  fifty  colonists,  and  a  supply  of 
hve-stock.  Dale  proceeded  to  settle  a  new  plantation  up  the  river,  enclosed 
by  a  stockade,  and  called  Henrico,  after  the  king's  eldest  son.  Another  set- 

tlement, called  New  Bermuda,  was  established  at  the  junction  of  the  Appo- 
mattox with  the  James.  The  Indians  who  dwelt  there  were  driven  away,  and 

a  stockade  from  river  to  river  inclosed  a  considerable  extent  of  ground.  To 
all  the  indented  servants  of  the  company  Dale  assigned  three  acres  each  to 
cultivate  on  their  private  account. 

GATES,    ARGALL,    AND   YEARDLEY;     THE   FIRST   ASSEMBLY    (1619   A.D.) 

The  heavy  outlay  since  the  new  organisation  of  the  company,  without 
any  return,  gave  occasion  to  loud  complaints  on  the  part  of  the  stockholders. 
They  seem  very  unreasonably  to  have  looked  to  the  colony  as  an  immediate 
source  of  mercantile  profit.  The  returned  emigrants  had  brought  back  many 
unfavourable  reports;  and  Virginia,  late  the  theme  of  such  romantic  hopes, 
fell  into  very  bad  repute.  It  was  sneered  at  on  the  stage;  even  the  abandon- 

ment of  the  enterprise  was  openly  talked  of.  Something  must  be  done  to 
appease  these  discontents;  and  a  supplementary  charter  was  obtained,  under 

which  the  control  of  the  company's  affairs  was  taken  from  the  council  and 
given  to  the  body  of  the  stockholders,  who  were  to  hold  a  great  and  general 
court  once  in  each  quarter  for  more  important  business,  besides  meetings 
weekly  or  oftener  for  smaller  matters.  The  Bermudas  were  also  annexed  to 
Virginia;  but  these  islands  sooa  passed  into  the  hands  of  a  particular  asso- 

ciation, and  were  occupied  by  a  separate  colony.  The  supplementary  charter 
also  authorised  the  company  to  raise  money  by  lotteries,  now  introduced 
into  England  for  the  first  time.  About  £30,000,  near  $150,000,  were  sub- 

sequently raised  by  this  means. 
Captain  Argall,  again  in  Virginia  with  two  ships  on  private  account,  in 

a  new  expedition  to  the  Potomac  to  trade  for  corn,  found  Pocahontas  there, 
of  whom  the  colonists  had  seen  nothing  for  two  years.  With  the  assistance 
of  the  chief  of  that  district,  whom  he  bribed  with  a  brass  kettle,  he  enticed 
the  Indian  girl  on  board  his  ship,  and  carried  her  to  Jamestown.  Powhatan 
demanded  the  release  of  his  daughter,  but  the  colonists  refused  to  give  her 
up  except  in  exchange  for  some  German  servants  who  had  deserted  to  the 
Indians,  and  the  English  tools  and  arms  of  which  Powhatan's  people  had 
possessed  themselves,  by  purchase  as  they  alleged,  but,  as  the  English  said, 
by  theft.  The  Indian  chief  declined  these  terms,  and  vowed  revenge,  but 
was  appeased  by  a  fortunate  circumstance.  John  Rolfe,  a  young  colonist 
of  respectable  condition,  having  won  the  favour  of  the  Indian  maid,  was 
encouraged  by  the  governor  to  ask  her  in  marriage.    Her  father  willingly 
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consented.  He  did  not  care,  indeed,  to  trust  himself  in  Jamestown,  but  he 

sent  two  of  his  principal  warriors  as  his  representatives  at  the  marriage  cere- 
mony. The  young  bride  was  baptised,  and  by  means  of  this  connection  a 

good  understanding  was  established  with  Powhatan.'  As  yet  there  were  very 
few  white  women  in  the  colony;  yet  Rolfe's  example  was  not  followed.  Inter- 

marriage was  urged  by  the  Indians  as  the  only  test  of  sincere  friendship;  and 
such  a  course,  as  a  native  historian  of  Virginia  has  remarked,  might  have 

prevented  the  subsequent  Indian  wars  and  gradually  have  absorbed  the 
native  inhabitants  into  the  growing  body  of  white  colonists.  But  the  idea 
of  such  an  intermixture  was  abhorrent  to  the  EngUsh,  who  despised  the 
Indians  as  savages,  and  detested  them  as  heathen.  They  would  receive  them 
only  as  subjects. 

Sailing  to  the  eastward  on  a  fishing  voyage,  in  1613,  in  company  with  a 
number  of  other  English  vessels.  Captain  Argall  broke  up  a  little  station 
called  St.  Saveur,  on  the  island  of  Mount  Desert,  not  far  from  Penobscot 
Bay,  which  two  Jesuit  missionaries  from  Port  Royal,  dissatisfied  with  their 
treatment  there,  had  just  established,  by  assistance  of  a  pious  lady  of 
France.  Some  of  the  Frenchmen  were  allowed  to  seek  a  passage  home  in  the 

French  fishing  vessels;  the  others  were  carried  to  Virginia  —  among  the  rest 
one  of  the  Jesuits,  the  other  having  been  killed  in  the  attack. 

With  three  vessels  and  sixty  men,  piloted  by  his  Jesuit  prisoner,  Argall 
soon  after  visited  Port  Royal,  which  he  burned;  but  the  dispersed  settlers 
found  shelter  in  the  woods.  On  his  homeward  voyage  the  English  com- 

mander entered  the  mouth  of  the  Hudson,  and  compelled  the  Dutch  ̂   traders, 
lately  estabUshed  on  the  island  of  Manhattan,  to  acknowledge  the  authority 
of  the  English.  England  was  at  peace  both  with  France  and  Holland,  but 
the  English  claimed  all  that  coast  as  a  part  of  Virginia.  This  expedition, 
forerunner  of  future  bloody  contests  for  the  possession  of  North  America,  had 
no  immediate  results.  Upon  the  departure  of  Argall,  the  Dutch  flag  was  again 
hoisted  at  Manhattan.  The  French  also  re-established  themselves  at  Port 
Royal,  where  they  continued  to  carry  on  a  prosperous  fur  trade;  and  they 
soon  occupied  other  points  of  the  neighbouring  coast. 

By  the  original  proposals  of  the  company,  all  persons  coming  to  Virginia, 
or  transporting  others  thither,  were  entitled,  for  each  person  so  introduced, 
to  a  hundred  acres  of  land.  This  allowance  was  now  limited  to  fifty  acres, 
at  which  amount  it  remained  fixed  so  long  as  Virginia  continued  a  British 
colony,  subject,  like  all  grants  of  land  in  Virginia,  to  an  annual  quit-rent,  at 
the  rate  of  two  shillings  for  every  hundred  acres.  The  labourers  consisted 
mainly  of  indented  servants,  of  whom  many  belonged  to  the  compaoy.  The 
governor  had  for  his  support  a  plantation  cultivated  by  a  hundred  of  these 
servants;  and  the  salaries  of  other  colonial  officers  were  paid  by  similar 
assignments.  Besides  the  grants  to  actual  settlers,  the  members  of  the 
company  had  received  large  tracts  of  land  in  consideration  of  their  payments 
into  the  treasury;  and  other  large  grants  had  been  made  for  meritorious 

['  Even  Pocahontas'  marriage  has  been  questioned.  E.  D.  Neill  *  has  tried  to  prove  that, 
since  John  Rolfe  left  a  widow  and  children  when  he  died  Pocahontas  could  have  been  only  his 
mistress,  though  she  is  known  to  have  borne  him  a  child.  Ralph  Hamor,'  however,  who  knew 

Pocahontas  well  in  Virginia,  describes  the  marriage  as  taking  place  ' '  about  the  fift  of  Aprill, " 
in  1614,  and  states  that  Powhatan  sent  her  uncle  as  sponsor  and  her  two  brothers  as  witnesses. 
There  can  be  little  doubt  that  the  marriage  was  formal ;  Pocahontas  made  a  sensation  in  England 

as  Eolfe's  wife.  She  is  believed  to  have  died  at  Gravesend,  March  21st,  1617,  as  she  was  sailing 
for  her  American  home.  There  is  a  reference  in  the  records  of  St.  George's  church  there  of  the 
death  on  that  date  of  "  a  lady  Virginia  born."    But  this  is  also  under  dispute.] 

[» This  raid  on  the  Dutch  settlements  is  denied  by  some  historians  ;  by  others  the  scene  is 
laid  at  the  present  site  of  Albany.] 
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services,  real  or  pretended.  This  engrossment  of  lands  very  early  became  a 
subject  of  complaint  in  the  colony.  Meanwhile,  the  cultivation  of  corn  had 
so  increased  that,  from  buyers,  the  colonists  became  sellers  to  the  Indians. 
They  also  had  turned  their  attention  to  the  cultivation  of  tobacco.*  The 
Virginia  tobacco,  though  esteemed  far  inferior  to  that  of  the  West  Indies, 
sold,  however,  for  three  shillings,  nearly  three-quarters  of  a  dollar,  per  pound; and,  stimulated  by  this  high  price,  the  colonists  entered  into  its  cultivation 
with  such  extreme  zeal  as  soon  to  be  in  danger  of  a  dearth  of  provisions. 

Dale,  who  had  resumed  the  government  after  the  departure  of  Gates,  gave 
it  up  to  George  Yeardley  in  1616,  and,  returning  to  England,  took  with  him 
Pocahontas,  known  since  her  marriage  as  the  Lady  Rebecca.  Her  husband 
went  with  her,  and  several  Indian  followers;  among  the  rest,  a  chief  sent  by 
her  father  to  count  the  people  of  England.  Pocahontas  attracted  admiration 
by  her  modest  and  graceful  demeanour,  and  was  greatly  caressed,  being  rec- 

ommended to  the  queen's  notice  in  a  petition  from  Captain  Smith,  in  which 
he  recounted  her  services  to  the  colony,  and  especially  to  himself.  In  those 
days,  in  which  the  genius  of  a  Bacon  worshipped  at  the  feet  of  a  James  I, 
royalty  even  in  a  savage  was  thought  to  have  something  sacred  about  it,  and 
Rolfe,  we  are  told,  came  near  being  called  to  account  for  having  presumed, 
being  a  mere  private  person,  to  marry  a  princess.  To  make  some  provision 
for  him,  he  was  appointed  secretary,  an  office  held  before  by  William  Strachey. 
When  about  to  return  to  Virginia,  Pocahontas  died,  leaving  an  infant  son, 
who  was  educated  in  England,  and  became  afterward  a  prosperous  person  in 
the  colony.  Through  him  and  his  descendants,  the  Bollands  and  Randolphs 
of  Virginia  have  been  proud  to  trace  their  pedigree  from  the  Indian  princess. 

The  office  of  deputy  governor  of  Virginia  was  conferred  on  Captain  Argall. 
When  Argall  arrived  at  Jamestown  in  May,  1617,  to  enter  upon  his  office,  he 
found  the  public  buildings  fallen  to  decay,  and  only  five  or  six  houses  fit  to 
be  inhabited.  Argall  governed  with  severity,  and,  as  the  colonists  alleged, 
with  a  single  eye  to  private  emolument,  assuming  for  his  own  use  the  goods 
of  the  company.  Delawarr  was  earnestly  entreated  to  resume  the  personal 
exercise  of  his  authority;  and  with  that  intent  he  sailed  for  Virginia,  but 
died  (April,  1618)  on  the  passage  off  the  entrance  of  the  bay  already  known 
among  the  English  by  his  name. 

After  a  warm  struggle  in  the  company,  Yeardley,  the  former  deputy,  was 
appointed  governor  (January,  1619),  and  to  give  greater  dignity  to  the  office, 
the  honour  of  knighthood  was  obtained  for  him.  A  few  days  before  Yeard- 
ley's  arrival,  Argall  escaped  to  the  West  Indies  with  his  property.  Presently 
he  returned  to  England,  but,  through  the  support  of  his  patrons,  evaded  all 
attempts  to  call  him  to  account. 

Another  controversy  had  arisen  which  aggravated  the  dispute  growing 
out  of  the  conduct  of  Argall.  Though  Sir  Thomas  Smith  had  disbursed 

£80,000,  nearly  $400,000,  of  the  company's  money,  with  all  this  expenditure 
and  after  twelve  years'  struggle  there  were  but  six  hundred  colonists  in  Vir- 

ginia.    Some  fault  was  found  with  the  treasurer's  vouchers,  and  when  he 

['  "1613  was  a  marked  one  in  the  inauguration  by  Jolin  Eolfe  of  the  systematic  culture  of 
tobacco — a  staple  destined  to  exert  a  controlling  influence  in  the  future  welfare  and  progress  of 
the  colony,  and  soon,  by  the  paramount  profit  yielded  by  its  culture,  to  subordinate  all  other 
interests,  agricultural  as  well  as  manufacturing.  This  influence  permeated  the  entire  social 
fabric  of  the  colony,  directed  its  laws,  was  an  element  in  all  its  political  and  religious  disturb- 

ances, and  became  the  direct  instigation  of  its  curse  of  African  slavery.  It  may  be  added,  how- 
ever, as  an  indisputable  fact,  that  the  culture  of  tobacco  constituted  the  basis  of  the  present 

unrivalled  prosperity  of  the  United  States,  and  that  this  staple  is  stUl  one  of  the  most  prolific 

factors  in  the  revenue  of  the  general  government. "]—R.  A.  Brock.™ 
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offered  to  resign  the  company  took  him  at  his  word.  At  this  he  was  very- 
much  offended,  and  a  violent  quarrel  ensued  between  his  friends  and  oppo- 

nents. The  vacant  post  of  treasurer  was  conferred  (April  28th)  on  Sir  Edwin 
Sandys,  a  man  of  energy  and  liberal  ideas,  who  entered  with  zeal  on  the  dis- 

charge of  his  oflSce.  The  holders  of  grants  of  land  in  Virginia  were  induced 
to  send  out  settlers,  and  to  establish  plantations  at  their  private  expense. 

I'he  cultivation  of  tobacco  seemed  to  promise  a  profitable  return;  and  the 
vessels  engaged  in  the  Newfoundland  fisheries  were  availed  of  to  transport 
the  emigrants  at  a  moderate  cost. 

Yeardley  found  in  the  colony  seven  distinct  plantations,  to  which  he 
presently  added  four  more,  composed  of  new  emigrants.  At  the  head  of 
each  plantation  was  a  commandant,  at  once  chief  of  the  militia  and  civil 
magistrate.  The  tyranny  of  Argall  had  induced  the  company  to  re-establish 
a  local  council  as  a  check  upon  the  governor,  and  Yeardley  presently  called 
the  first  colonial  assembly  of  Virginia  [July  30th,  1619],  composed  of  the 
governor,  the  council,  and  deputies  from  the  eleven  plantations.  These 
deputies  were  called  burgesses  —  a  name  which  they  continued  to  retain  after 
the  representation  was  distributed  by  counties.** 

Of  this  assembly,  H.  C.  Lodge  says:  "The  burgesses  prayed  the  com- 
pany that  the  clause  in  the  charter  guaranteeing  equal  laws  might  not  be 

violated,  and  the  maintenance  of  the  great  English  principle  of  the  equaUty 
of  all  men  before  the  law  dignifies  the  first  meeting  of  the  first  representative 
body  of  America.  The  session  was  mainly  occupied  with  the  passage  of 
sumptuary  laws  and  police  regulations.  Appropriate  statutes  provided  for 
the  government  of  ministers,  and  a  tax  on  tobacco  was  laid  for  their  support. 
The  legislation  of  these  men  was  as  unimportant  as  it  could  well  be  in  its 
general  character,  yet  it  contained  the  germ  of  that  jealous  resistance  to  the 
mother  country  and  all  things  proceeding  thence  which  indelibly  marks 

American  colonial  history.  Dale's  firm  government  had  imparted  stability 
to  the  infant  state,  while  Argall's  galling  tyranny  had  stimulated  the  latent 
political  life."" During  the  year  that  Sandys  held  office  he  sent  to  Virginia  twelve  hun- 

dred emigrants  —  twice  as  many  as  there  were  inhabitants  in  the  colony  when 
he  became  treasurer.  Among  them  were  ninety  young  women,  "  pure  and 
uncorrupt,"  who  were  disposed  of,  for  the  cost  of  their  passage,  as  wives  to 
the  planters.  The  price  of  a  wife  was  a  hundred  pounds  of  tobacco,  worth 
then  about  $75.00.  But  haK  as  much  more  was  obtained  for  those  of  a  sec- 

ond cargo  sent  out  a  year  or  two  after. 

There  were  other  emigrants  of  a  sort  less  desirable.  By  the  king's  special 
order,  a  hundred  dissolute  vagabonds,  the  sweepings  of  the  prisons,  famUiarly 
known  among  the  colonists  as  "jail-birds,"  were  sent  to  Virginia  to  be  sold 
as  servants  —  a  practice  long  continued  as  a  regular  item  of  British  criminal 
jurisprudence,  in  spite  of  the  repeated  complaints  of  the  colonists,  and  their 
efforts  to  prevent  it.** 

BRITISH  CONVICTS  AS  AMERICAN  PIONEERS 

Americans  occasionally  speak  lightly  of  their  forefathers  in  the  early  col- 
onies, but  at  heart  they  accept  them  as  men  and  women  sanctified  by  courage, 

conscience,  and  the  irrepressible  enterprise  that  sends  the  ambitious  from  the 
comfort  of  a  settled  home  to  the  dangers  of  a  new  world.  It  is  admitted  that 
many  of  those  who  left  England  left  it  by  request,  and  "  for  the  country's 
good,"  but  it  is  not  generally  known  how  large  was  this  element.    Bancroft," 



VIEGINIA   AND   MAEYLAND   TO   THE   EESTOEATION      583 
[1619  A..D.] 

writing  of  the  early  Virginians,  said  "  some  of  them  were  even  convicts;  but, it  must  be  remembered,  the  crimes  of  which  they  were  convicted  were  chiefly 
political.  The  number  transported  to  Virginia  for  social  crunes  was  never 
considerable."  But  James  Davie  Butler?  declares  that  Bancroft  told  him 
personally  that  he  had  not  dared  to  publish  all  he  knew  of  the  high  percentage 
of  downright  criminals  and  felons  among  the  early  settlers.  It  is  known  that 
some  of  the  prisoners  taken  in  Scotch  and  Irish  wars  were  sent  to  New  Eng- 

land and  Virginia  and  sold,  but  the  largest  shipments  of  these  were  sent  to 
the  West  Indies,  and  the  percentage  of  honourable  political  prisoners  could 
not  have  been  nearly  so  large  as  some  of  the  American  historians  assume.  In 
fact,  there  seems  to  have  been  a  vindictive  unwillmgness  to  send  rebels  to  any 
less  dire  climate  than  the  fierce  tropics. 

In  1611  Governor  Dale  begged  the  king  to  send  to  Virginia  "all  offenders 
condemned  to  die,  out  of  common  gaoles."  Beginning  with  1619,  the  trans- 

portation of  felons,  unreformed  boys  and  girls  who  had  been  twice  punished, 
and  others,  became  regular.  They  were  indentured  to  the  earlier  settlers, 
who  paid  for  them  in  tobacco,  which  had  been  made  legal  tender  by  the  assem- 

bly of  1619.  The  Virginia  prohibitory  enactment  of  1670,  quoted  by  Hening,? 
alluding  to  "  the  great  number  of  felons  and  other  desperate  villains  sent 
hither  from  the  several  prisons  of  England,"  adds,  "  We  are  believed  to  be  a 
place  only  fit  to  receive  such  base  and  lewd  persons."  Maryland  received,  it 
seems,  even  a  larger  quota  than  Virginia. 

New  England  was  not  a  penal  settlement,  but  desired  to  purchase  trans- 
ported convicts,  and  actually  offered  a  bounty  for  this  human  merchandise. 

Irishmen  were  sold  for  a  century  in  Boston,  and  Butler  P  thinks  that  some  of 
them  must  have  been  felons.  Maine  also  had  a  large  criminal  element  among 
its  early  settlers.  Philadelphia  at  first  accepted  labourers  without  question 
as  to  their  previous  condition  of  servitude  but  in  1722  the  Pennsylvania 

assembly  imposed  a  duty  on  "  all  persons  guilty  of  heinous  crimes."  It  is 
not  stated  whether  this  was  a  tariff  for  protection  or  for  revenue  only;  but, 
at  any  rate,  the  king  shortly  forbade  such  a  tax.  New  York  received  large 
numbers  of  felons  and  vagrants  both  from  the  Dutch  and  the  English  gov- 
ernments. 

In  1718  a  regular  statute  in  England  provided  that  all  persons  found  guilty 
of  such  capital  offences  as  burglary,  robbery,  perjury,  forgery,  and  theft 
might  at  the  court's  discretion  have  their  sentence  commuted  to  seven  years' exile  in  America.  Butler  estimates  the  total  number  of  criminals  sent  to 
America  between  1717  and  1775  as  ten  thousand.  In  1768  Scotland  also 
began  this  clearance  of  her  jails.  Franklin  protested  bitterly,  and  called  the 
emptying  of  British  jails  upon  the  colonies  a  cruel  insult. 

But  so  it  went  till  the  outbreak  of  the  Revolutionary  War,  when  many  of 
the  convicts  were  placed  in  the  ranks  of  the  British  invading  armies.  After 
the  recognition  of  American  independence,  when  convicts  could  be  shipped 
thither  neither  as  servants  nor  as  soldiers,  it  was  found  necessary  in  1787  to 
form  the  penal  settlement  at  Botany  Bay  to  receive  the  refuse  of  the  jails. 

Dr.  Samuel  Johnson,  who  was  connected  with  the  Gentleman's  Magazine, 
which  regularly  published  lists  of  criminals  transported  to  America,  once  said, 
with  his  notorious  acerbity  that  he  could  love  anybody  but  an  American,  and 
in  1769  burst  out  in  denunciation  of  American  presumption  in  claiming  certain 

rights.  "  Sir,  they  are  a  race  of  convicts,"  he  said,  "  and  ought  to  be  content 
with  anything  we  may  allow  them  short  of  hanging."  A  more  complimentary allusion  to  the  results  of  transportation  was  made  by  Doctor  Ferguson  in 

1844,  of  whom  Dr.  Francis  Lieber'"  says,  "I  remarked  how  curious  a  fact  it 
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was  that  all  American  women  look  so  genteel  and  refined,  even  the  lowest; 
small  heads,  fine  silky  hair,  delicate  and  marked  eyebrows.  The  doctor 

answered,  '  Oh,  that  is  easily  accounted  for.  The  superabundance  of  public 
women,  who  are  always  rather  good-looking,  were  sent  over  to  America  in 

early  times.' " Such  ridiculous  theories  have  received  serious  attention  and  found  places 
in  sober  histories.  A  little  consideration  of  the  great  total,  in  which  the 
criminal  class  could  not  have  made  even  a  considerable  minority,  will  serve 
as  a  refutation.  Admitting  the  highest  estimates  as  to  the  number  of  con- 

victs sent  to  America  —  fifty  thousand  in  the  course  of  a  century  and  a  half 
—  it  is  ridiculous  to  claim  that  this  small  percentage  to  the  total  could  have 
exerted  a  determining  influence  on  the  character  of  the  country.  In  the  first 
place,  they  came  as  the  humblest  of  servants,  under  indentures  that  made 
them  practically  slaves  for  years.  Under  the  hard  conditions  of  a  new  world 
and  away  from  the  crowded  slums,  their  long  period  of  discipline  and  healthy 
toil  in  pure  air  must  have  sobered  the  misguided  into  a  reformation  that  made 
them  desirable  citizens;  the  hopeless  criminals  would  merely  sink  to  that 
lowest  ooze  which  exists  in  the  depths  of  every  society. 

Virginia  has  suffered  the  most  obloquy  as  the  home  of  the  convict,  but 
the  early  fame  of  the  colony  as  a  place  of  remarkably  delicate  social  refine- 

ment, the  early  existence  of  private  libraries  on  the  plantations  of  the  seven- 
teenth century,  and  innumerable  other  considerations  prove  that  the  "  first 

families  of  Virginia  "  came  neither  from  the  streets  nor  the  jails.  During  the 
revolution  in  England  so  many  cavaliers  came  to  Virginia  that  the  population 
increased  from  15,000  in  1656  to  40,000  in  1670.  The  convict  shipments, 
much  as  they  may  have  relieved  the  mother  country  of  an  overplus  of  vice, 
unloaded  on  the  New  World  no  more  corruption  than  it  could  assimilate. 
In  fact  it  may  be  said  that  the  imported  convicts  had  far  less  influence  on  the 
social  and  political  life  of  the  main  body  than  the  negroes  who  began  at 
the  same  time  to  be  unloaded  by  shipfuls  on  the  colonies  and  to  be  treated 
almost  exactly  the  same  as  the  indentured  white  servants." 

THE   FIRST  NEGEO   SLAVES    (1619  A.D.) 

It  was  by  the  free  consent  and  co-operation  of  the  colonists  themselves 
that  this  still  more  objectionable  species  of  population  was  introduced  into 
Virginia,  in  August,  1619,  not  without  enduring  and  disastrous  effects  upon 
the  social  condition  of  the  United  States.  Twenty  negroes,  brought  to  James- 

town by  a  Dutch  trading  vessel,  and  purchased  by  the  colonists,  were  held, 
not  as  indented  servants  for  a  term  of  years,  but  as  slaves  for  life. 

Even  so  late  as  the  first  English  migrations  to  America,  there  might  have 
remained,  in  obscure  corners  of  England,  some  few  hereditary  serfs  attached 
to  the  soil,  faint  remnants  of  that  system  of  villanage  once  universal  throughout 
Europe,  and  later  prevalent  in  Hungary  and  Russia.  But  villains  in  gross  — 
slaves,  that  is,  who  had  inherited  from  their  parents  the  condition  of  servitude, 
and  transferable  from  hand  to  hand — had  entirely  disappeared  from  England, 
not  by  any  formal  legislative  act,  but  as  the  joint  result  of  private  emancipa- 

tions and  the  discouragement  long  given  by  the  English  courts  to  claims  so 
contrary  to  natural  right.  It  had  come,  indeed,  to  be  an  established  opinion 
throughout  western  Europe  that  Christians  could  not  be  held  as  slaves  —  an 
immunity,  however,  not  thought  to  extend  to  infidels  or  heathen.  The 
practice  of  buying  negroes  on  the  coast  of  Africa,  introduced  by  the  Portu- 

guese, had  been  adopted  by  the  Spanish,  English,  and  Dutch.    There  was 
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little  inducement  to  bring  them  to  Europe,  where  hired  labourers  might  be 
abundantly  obtained;  but  in  the  Spanish  and  Portuguese  colonies  in  America, 
especially  after  the  introduction  of  the  sugar  manufacture,  the  slave  traders 
found  a  ready  market,  and  the  cultivation  of  tobacco  began  now  to  open  a  like 
market  in  Virginia. 

In  buying  and  holding  negro  slaves,  the  Virginians  did  not  suppose  them- 
selves to  be  violating  any  law,  human  or  divine.  Whatever  might  be  the  case 

with  the  law  of  England,  the  law  of  Moses,  in  authorising  the  enslavement  of 
"  strangers,"  seemed  to  give  to  the  purchase  of  negro  slaves  an  express  sanction. The  number  of  negroes  in  the  colony,  limited  as  it  was  to  a  few  cargoes, 
brought  at  intervals  by  Dutch  traders,  was  long  too  small  to  make  the  matter 
appear  of  much  moment,  and  more  than  forty  years  elapsed  before  the  colo- 

nists thought  it  necessary  to  strengthen  the  system  of  slavery  by  any  express enactments. 

After  a  year's  service  Sandys  was  succeeded  as  treasurer  by  the  earl  of 
Southampton;  but  the  same  policy  was  persevered  in,  and  during  the  follow- 

ing two  years  twenty-three  hundred  emigrants  were  sent  to  Virginia.  The 
trade  of  the  colony  had  hitherto  been  a  close  monopoly.  A  joint  stock, 
called  the  Magazine,  had  been  annually  formed  by  subscriptions  on  the  part 
of  the  company  and  its  members,  and  goods  had  been  purchased  with  this 

joint  stock  and  sent  to  an  agent  in  the  colony,  known  as  the  "  Cape  merchant," 
who  exchanged  them  for  tobacco  and  other  produce.  This  trade  had  proved 
a  losing  concern,  and  had  occasioned  great  disputes  and  dissatisfaction.  It 
was  now  abandoned,  and  the  supply  of  the  colony  thrown  open  to  private 
enterprise. 

New  plantations  were  established  on  York  and  James  rivers,  and,  for  the 
convenience  of  trade  with  the  Indians,  one  on  the  eastern  shore  of  the  Chesa- 

peake, and  another  on  the  Potomac.  John  Pory,  the  founder  of  these  settle- 
ments, was  the  first  to  cross  by  land  from  the  Potomac  to  the  Patuxent.  He 

also  explored  the  country  south  of  the  Chesapeake,  as  far  as  the  banks  of  the 
Chowan. 

An  estate  of  ten  thousand  acres  near  the  falls  of  James  river,  with  a  number 
of  indented  tenants  to  cultivate  it,  was  assigned  by  the  company  toward  the 
endowment  of  a  college  for  the  education  of  Indians  as  well  as  of  colonists. 
The  money  contributed  for  the  same  object  by  some  philanthropic  individuals 
in  England  was  invested  by  the  treasurer  in  the  establishment  of  iron  works, 
from  which  great  benefits  were  hoped  to  the  colony,  and  increase  to  the  fund. 

The  cultivation  of  tobacco  had  given  a  sudden  impulse  to  Virginia;  but 
the  use  of  it  was  still  quite  limited,  and  the  English  market  was  soon  over- 

stocked. The  price  began  to  fall,  and  great  anxiety  was  evinced  by  the 
enlightened  treasurer  for  the  introduction  into  the  colony  of  other  staples  — 
flax,  silk,  wine,  and  the  preparation  of  lumber.  New  attempts  were  made  at 
the  manufacture  of  glass,  pitch,  tar,  and  potashes,  and  some  Italians  and 
Dutch  were  sent  out  to  instruct  the  colonists  in  these  operations. 

SOUTHAMPTON   TREASURER;     THE   GENERAL  ASSEMBLY   (1621   A.D.) 

That  leaven  which  presently  produced  so  remarkable  a  revolution  against 

monarchical  authority  was  already  working  in  England,  and  James'  third 
parliament,  which  met  in  1621,  after  an  interval  of  seven  years  —  the  same 
which  impeached  Lord  Bacon  —  protested  against  the  Virginia  Company's 
lotteries  as  an  illegal  raising  of  money  without  parliamentary  sanction.  The 
lotteries  were  stopped  in  consequence  by  order  in  council,  and  that  resource 
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came  to  an  end.  The  colony  still  remained  a  losing  concern.  The  disputes 
between  the  adherents  of  Sir  Thomas  Smith  and  the  present  administration 
grew  every  day  more  vehement.  The  stockholders  had  become  quite  numer- 

ous, and  the  affairs  of  the  company  gave  rise,  in  the  courts  of  proprietors,  to 
very  lively  debates.  The  king  wished  to  dictate  the  choice  of  a  treasurer 
more  courtly  than  Southampton,  and  less  an  opponent  of  royal  prerogative. 
The  farmers  of  the  customs  attempted  to  levy  an  excessive  duty  on  tobacco, 
and  the  company,  to  escape  it,  sent  theirs  to  Holland.  An  order  in  council 
forbade  the  exportation  of  colonial  produce  to  foreign  countries  unless  it  had 
first  paid  duties  in  England  —  the  first  germ  of  that  colonial  system  after- 

ward sanctioned  by  parliamentary  enactment,  and  one  of  the  principal 
features  in  the  subsequent  relations  of  the  mother  country  to  the  colonies. 
Other  orders  in  council,  more  favourable  to  Virginia,  but  having  in  view  the 
same  object  of  augmenting  the  royal  revenue,  prohibited  the  importation  of 
Spanish  tobacco,  or  its  cultivation  in  England. 

Southampton  and  his  adherents  in  the  Virginia  Company  belonged  to  the 
rising  party  in  favour  of  parliamentary  and  popular  rights  as  opposed  to  the 
royal  prerogative.  With  more  conformity  to  their  principles  than  is  always 
displayed  in  like  cases,  they  induced  the  company  to  confirm,  by  special 
ordinance,  the  privilege  of  a  general  assembly,  already  conceded  to  the  colony 
by  Yeardley,  probably  at  their  suggestion.  This  ordinance,  sent  out  by  Sir 
Francis  Wyatt,  appointed  to  supersede  Yeardley  as  governor,  granted  a  con- 

stitution to  Virginia,  modeled  after  that  of  the  mother  coimtry,  and  itself  the 
model,  or  at  least  the  prototype,  of  most  of  the  governments  of  English  origin 
subsequently  established  in  America.  For  the  enactment  of  local  laws,  the 
governor  and  council  appointed  by  the  company  were  to  be  joined  by  dele- 

gates chosen  by  the  people,  the  whole  to  be  known  as  the  general  assembly. 
For  many  years  they  sat  together  as  one  body,  but  for  the  passage  of  any  law 
the  separate  assent  of  the  deputies,  the  council,  and  the  governor  was  required. 
Even  enactments  thus  sanctioned  might  still  be  set  aside  by  the  company. 
The  governor  and  council  acted  as  a  court  of  law,  and  held  quarterly  sessions 
for  that  purpose ;  but  an  appeal  lay  to  the  general  assembly,  and  thence  to 
the  company.  The  laws  of  England  were  considered  to  be  in  force  in  the 
colony,  the  colonial  legislation  extending  only  to  local  matters. 

Simultaneously  with  this  civil  constitution  an  ecclesiastical  organisation 
was  introduced.  The  plantations  were  divided  into  parishes,  for  the  endow- 

ment of  which  contributions  were  collected  in  England.  A  glebe  of  a  hundred 
acres,  cultivated  by  six  indented  tenants,  was  allowed  by  the  company  to  each 
clergyman,  to  which  was  added  a  salary  to  be  paid  by  a  parish  tax.  The 
governor  was  instructed  to  uphold  public  worship  according  to  the  forms  and 
discipline  of  the  Chiu-ch  of  England,  and  to  avoid  "  all  factious  and  needless 
novelties"  —  a  caution,  no  doubt,  against  Puritan  ideas,  at  this  time  much 
on  the  increase  in  England,  and  not  without  partisans  even  in  Virginia. 

Wyatt,  the  new  governor,  was  instructed  to  restrict  the  planters  to  a 
hundred  weight  of  tobacco  for  each  man  employed  in  its  cultivation;  to  turn 
the  attention  of  the  colonists  to  com,  mulberry  trees,  vines,  and  cattle;  and 
to  look  after  the  glass  and  iron  works.  He  was  also  to  cultivate  a  good  under- 

standing with  the  natives;  but  this  injunction,  unfortunately,  came  too  late. 

THE  INDIAN  MASSACRE   (1622  A.D.) 

Powhatan  was  dead.  His  successor  was  Opechancanough,  a  bold  and 
cunning  chief,  always  hostile  to  the  English.    Blood  had  several  times  been 
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shed  on  both  sides,  especially  in  the  earlier  years  of  the  colony,  but  as  yet 
there  had  been  no  formidable  or  protracted  hostilities.  The  colonists,  confi- 

dent in  their  firearms,  regarded  with  contempt  the  bows  and  clubs  of  the 
Indians.  The  Indian  villages,  with  their  cornfields  of  cleared  lands,  fertile 
spots  along  the  banks  of  the  rivers,  offered  tempting  locations  to  the  new 
conaers.  Quite  unsuspicious  of  danger  from  a  people  whose  simplicity  they 
derided,  and  whose  patience  they  despised,  the  colonists  had  neglected  their 
military  exercises,  and  had  dropped  all  precautions  for  defence.  In  disregard 
of  the  proclamations  which  forbade  teaching  the  Indians  the  use  of  firearms, 
they  were  employed  as  fowlers  and  himtsmen  by  the  colonists,  and  freely 
admitted  to  the  plantations.  Provoked  by  the  murder  of  one  of  their  principal 
warriors,  and  taking  advantage  of  this  carelessness  and  familiarity,  at  an  hour 
appointed  beforehand  they  fell  at  once  upon  every  settlement  (March  22nd, 
1622).  A  converted  Indian  gave  warning  the  night  before,  in  season  to  save 
Jamestown  and  a  few  of  the  neighbouring  plantations,  otherwise  the  massacre 
might  have  been  much  more  extensive.  As  it  was,  three  hundred  and  fifty 
persons  perished  in  the  first  surprise,  including  six  councilors.  Several  settle- 

ments, though  taken  unawares,  made  a  brave  resistance,  and  repulsed  the 
assailants. 

A  bloody  war  ensued,  of  the  details  of  which  we  know  little.  Sickness  and 
famine  added  their  horrors,  and  within  a  brief  period  the  colonists  were 
reduced  from  four  thousand  to  twenty-five  hundred,  concentrated,  for  con- 

venience of  defense,  in  six  settlements.  The  university  estate  was  abandoned, 
the  glass  and  iron  works  were  destroyed.  But  the  white  men  soon  recovered 
their  wonted  superiority.  The  Indians,  treacherously  entrapped,  were  slain 
without  mercy.  Driven  from  the  James  and  York  rivers,  their  fields  and 
villages  were  occupied  by  the  colonists.  Greatly  reduced  in  number,  they 
were  soon  disabled  from  doing  much  damage,  but  no  settled  peace  was  made 
till  fourteen  years  had  expired. 

The  breaking  out  of  this  war  and  the  threatened  ruin  of  the  colony  served 
to  aggravate  the  dissensions  of  the  company,  which  presently  reached  a  high 
pitch.  The  minority  appealed  to  the  king,  who  ordered  the  records  to  be 

seized,  and  appointed  commissioners  to  investigate  the  company's  affairs. 
Other  commissioners  were  soon  after  appointed,  to  proceed  to  Virginia,  to 
examine  on  the  spot  the  condition  of  the  colony,  the  control  of  which  the  king 
had  determined  to  assume. 

About  the  time  of  the  arrival  of  these  commissioners  (March,  1624),  the 
first  extant  colony  statutes  were  enacted.  Thirty-five  acts,  very  concisely 
expressed,  repealed  all  prior  laws,  and  shed  a  clear  and  certain  light  upon  the 
condition  of  the  colony.  The  first  acts,  as  in  many  subsequent  codifications 
of  the  Virginia  statutes,  relate  to  the  church.  Absence  from  pubhc  worship, 
"without  allowable  excuse,"  exposed  to  the  forfeiture  of  a  pound  of  tobacco, 
or  fifty  pounds  if  the  absence  continued  for  a  month.  The  celebration  of 
divine  service  was  to  be  in  conformity  to  the  canons  of  the  English  church. 
The  ministers'  salaries  were  to  be  paid  out  of  the  first  gathered  and  best  to- 

bacco and  corn;  and  no  man  was  to  dispose  of  his  tobacco  before  paying  his 
church  dues,  under  pain  of  paying  double.  The  proclamations  formerly  set 
forth  against  drunkenness  and  swearing  were  confirmed  as  law,  and  the 
church  wardens  were  to  present  all  such  offenders. 

The  governor  was  to  lay  no  taxes  of  any  kind,  except  by  authority  of  the 
assembly;  and  the  expenditure,  as  well  as  levy  of  all  public  money,  was  to  be 

by  order  of  that  body  only.  The  governor  was  not  to  withdraw  the  inhab- 
itants from  their  private  employments  for  any  work  of  his  own,  under  any 
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colour;  and  if,  in  the  intervals  of  the  assembly,  men  were  needed  for  the 
public  service,  the  whole  council  must  concur  in  the  levy.  The  old  planters, 
before  Sir  Thomas  Gates'  last  coming,  "and  their  posterity,"  were  to  be 
exempt  from  personal  service  in  the  Indian  war  except  as  officers  —  a  provision 
afterward  several  times  re-enacted,  with  the  omission,  however,  of  the  hered- 

itary clause  The  burgesses  were  privileged  from  arrest  going  to,  coming 

from,  and  during  the  assembly.  For  convenience  of  "the  more  distant 
parts,"  Elizabeth  City,  at  the  mouth  of  James  river,  and  Charles  City,  at  the 
junction  of  the  Appomattox,  monthly  courts  were  to  be  holden  by  special 
commissioners,  as  an  intermediate  tribunal  between  commanders  of  planta- 

tions and  the  quarterly  courts  held  by  the  governor  and  council. 
Every  dwelling  house  was  to  be  palisadoed  for  defence,  and  none  were  to 

go  abroad,  except  in  parties  and  armed,  not  even  to  work;  and  watch  was  to 
be  kept  at  night.  No  powder  was  to  be  spent  unnecessarily  at  drinking 
frolics  or  other  entertainments.  At  the  beginning  of  July,  the  inhabitants  of 

every  plantation  were  to  fall  upon  "their  adjoining  salvages,"  as  they  had 
done  the  last  year.  Any  persons  wounded  in  this  service  were  to  be  cured  at 
the  public  charge,  and  if  permanently  lamed  were  to  have  a  maintenance  suit- 

able to  their  quality.  To  pay  the  expenses  and  debts  occasioned  by  the  war, 
ten  pounds  of  tobacco  per  head  were  to  be  levied  on  each  male  colonist. 

THE   VIRGINIA   COMPANY   DISSOLVED   BY   JAMES   I    (1624  A.D.) 

Evident  allusion  appears  in  this  code  to  the  controversy  then  pending 
between  the  king  and  the  company.  No  person,  upon  rumour  of  supposed 
change,  was  to  presume  to  be  disobedient  to  the  present  government,  nor 

servants  to  their  masters,  "at  their  uttermost  peril."  The  last  law  of  the 
code  levies  a  tax  of  four  pounds  of  tobacco  per  head,  to  pay  the  expense  of 
sending  an  agent  to  England  to  look  after  the  interests  of  the  colony  and  to 

solicit  the  exclusion  of  foreign  tobacco.  The  king's  commissioners  to  examine 
into  the  state  of  the  colony  seem  to  have  been  looked  upon  with  some  suspi- 

cion; and  the  clerk  of  the  assembly,  for  betrayal  of  his  trust  in  furnishing  them 
with  copies  of  certain  papers,  was  pimished  with  the  loss  of  his  ears.  The 

colonists  had  some  reason  to  fear  lest  the  recall  of  the  company's  charter  might 
deprive  them  of  their  share  in  colonial  legislation,  so  recently'  granted,  or  might even  endanger  their  titles  to  land. 

The  reports  of  the  commissioners  were  as  unfavourable  as  the  king  could 

desire.  In  vain  the  stockholders  appealed  to  James'  fourth  parliament,  then 
in  session,  little  sympathy  being  felt  in  that  body  for  monopolies  or  exclusive 
corporations  of  any  sort.  The  action  of  the  company  suspended  by  procla- 

mation, it  was  soon  called  upon  to  answer  to  a  process  of  quo  warranto  —  a 
legal  inquiry,  that  is,  into  its  conduct  and  pretensions.  The  respondents  had 
little  to  hope  from  judges  who  held  office  at  the  pleasure  of  the  royal  com- 

plainant, and  the  proceedings  were  soon  closed  by  a  judgment  of  forfeiture. 
Thus  fell  the  Virginia  Company,  after  spending  £150,000,  nearly  $750,000,  in 
establishing  the  colony.  This  did  not  include  the  expenditures  of  private 
individuals  to  a  large  amount,  some  of  whom  obtained,  perhaps,  a  return  for 
their  money,  while  the  outlay  of  the  company  was  a  dead  loss.*^ 

Dr.  Alexander  Brown "  calls  Virginia  "  the  first  republic  in  America,"  and 
endeavours  to  show  that  Virginia  had  so  large  a  measure  of  liberty  that  she 
was  in  fact  a  republic,  but  William  Wirt  Henry  controverts  this  theory  as 

"a  remarkable  blunder,"  and  comments:  "The  colonists  by  their  charters 
were  guaranteed  the  civil  rights  of  Englishmen,  but  they  never  in  fact  enjoyed 
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them  in  full  measure  during  the  period  of  which  Doctor  Brown  writes,  and 
Virginia  was  not  during  any  part  of  that  time  a  republic.  A  republic  is  a  state 
in  which  the  supreme  power  is  vested  in  representatives  chosen  by  the  people. 
This  was  never  the  condition  of  the  colony  of  Virginia.  During  the  existence 
of  the  Virginia  Company  of  London,  that  company  governed  the  colony, 
appointed  its  officers,  and  gave  it  its  laws.  Even  after  the  allowance  of  a 
representative  legislative  body  in  Virginia,  in  1619,  the  acts  of  the  body  were 
of  no  force  until  approved  by  the  council  in  England,  which  still  appointed  the 
governor  and  council  in  Virginia,  parts  of  the  legislative  body.  The  granting 
of  that  assembly  was  a  great  advance  in  the  development  of  free  institutions 
in  Virginia,  it  is  true,  but  it  did  not  constitute  Virginia  a  republic.  Neither 
did  the  incorporation  of  the  London  Company,  in  1612,  with  power  to  govern 
the  Virginia  colony  without  interference  from  the  crown,  except  in  matters 
touching  the  state,  make  the  colony  a  republic.  Indeed,  the  government  of 
the  colony  by  the  London  Company  afterwards,  was  much  more  despotic  than 
it  had  been  under  the  first  charter,  when  the  company  was  controlled  by  the 
king;  for  then  the  council  in  Virginia  had  the  privilege  of  choosing  its  own 
president,  who  was  the  governor.  All  this  appears  of  necessity  in  Doctor 

Brown's  book,  for  he  could  not  entirely  suppress  the  administrations  of  Gates, 
Dale,  and  Argall,  nor  the  bitter  complaints  of  the  colonists  as  shown  even  in 
papers  issued  by  the  assembly.  We  have  to  look  further  north  for  the  first 

republic  in  America."  » 
The  fate  of  the  London  company  found  little  sympathy;  in  the  domestic 

government  and  franchises  of  the  colony,  it  produced  no  immediate  change. 
Sir  Francis  Wyatt,  though  he  had  been  an  ardent  friend  of  the  London  Com- 

pany, was  confirmed  in  office  (August  26th,  1624) ;  and  he  and  his  council,  far 

from  being  rendered  absolute,  were  only  empowered  to  govern  "  as  fully  and 
amplye  as  any  governor  and  council  resident  there,  at  any  time  within  the 

space  of  five  years  now  last  past."  This  term  of  five  years  was  precisely  the 
period  of  representative  government;  and  the  limitation  could  not  but  be 
interpreted  as  sanctioning  the  continuance  of  popular  assemblies.  James  I, 
in  appointing  the  council  in  Virginia,  refused  to  nominate  the  imbittered 
partisans  of  the  court  faction,  but  formed  the  administration  on  the  principles 
of  accommodation.  The  vanity  of  the  monarch  claimed  the  opportunity  of 
establishing  for  the  colony  a  code  of  fundamental  laws;  but  death  (March 
27th,  1625),  prevented  the  royal  legislator  from  attempting  the  task,  which 
would  have  furnished  his  self-complacency  so  grateful  an  occupation. 

POPULARITY  OF  YEAEDLEY  AND  THE   IMPEACHMENT  OF  HARVEY  (1625-1634  A.D.) 

Ascending  the  throne  in  his  twenty-fifth  year  Charles  I  inherited  the  prin- 
ciples and  was  governed  by  the  favourite  of  his  father.  The  plantation,  no 

longer  governed  by  a  chartered  company,  was  become  a  royal  province  and  an 
object  of  favour;  and,  as  it  enforced  conformity  to  the  Church  of  England,  it 
could  not  be  an  object  of  suspicion  to  the  clergy  or  the  court.  The  king  felt 
an  earnest  desire  to  heal  old  grievances,  to  secure  the  personal  rights  and  prop- 

erty of  the  colonists,  and  to  promote  their  prosperity.  Franchises  were 
neither  conceded  nor  restricted;  for  it  did  not  occur  to  his  pride,  that,  at  that 

time,  there  could  be  in  an  American  province  any  thing  hke  established  privi- 
leges or  vigorous  political  life;  nor  was  he  aware  that  the  seeds  of  liberty 

were  already  germinating  on  the  borders  of  the  Chesapeake.  His  first  Vir- 
ginian measure  was  a  proclamation  on  tobacco;  confirming  to  Virginia  and 

the  Somers  Isles  [Bermudas]  the  exclusive  supply  of  the  British  market,  under 
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penalty  of  the  censure  of  the  Star  Chamber  for  disobedience.  In  a  few 
days,  a  new  proclamation  appeared,  in  which  it  was  his  evident  design  to 
secure  the  profits  that  might  before  have  been  engrossed  by  the  corporation. 

There  is  no  room  to  suppose  that  Charles  nourished  the  design  of  sup- 
pressing the  colonial  assemblies.  For  some  months,  the  organisation  of  the 

government  was  not  changed;  and  when  Wyatt,  on  the  death  of  his  father, 
obtained  leave  to  return  to  Scotland,  Sir  George  Yeardley  was  appointed  his 

successor.  This  appointment  was  in  itself  a  guaranty  that,  as  "the  former 
interests  of  Virginia  were  to  be  kept  inviolate,"  so  the  representative  govern- 

ment, the  chief  political  interest,  would  be  maintained;  for  it  was  Yeardley 
who  had  had  the  glory  of  introducing  the  system.  Representative  liberty 
had  become  the  custom  of  Virginia.  The  words  were  interpreted  as  favouring 
the  wishes  of  the  colonists;  and  King  Charles,  intent  only  on  increasing  his 
revenue,  confirmed,  perhaps  unconsciously,  the  existence  of  a  popular  assem- 

bly. The  colony  prospered;  Virginia  rose  rapidly  in  public  estimation;  in 
one  year  (1627),  a  thousand  emigrants  arrived;  and  there  was  an  increasing 
demand  for  all  the  products  of  the  soil. 

The  career  of  Yeardley  was  now  closed  by  death,  November  14th.  Posterity 
will  ever  retain  a  gratefid  recollection  of  the  man  who  first  convened  a  repre- 

sentative assembly  in  the  western  hemisphere.  The  day  after  his  burial, 
Francis  West  was  elected  his  successor;  for  the  council  was  authorised  to 

elect  the  governor,  "from  time  to  time,  as  often  as  the  case  shall  require." 
But  if  any  doubts  existed  of  the  royal  assent  to  the  continuance  of  colonial 

assemblies,  they  were  soon  removed  by  a  letter  of  instructions,  which  the  king 
addressed  to  the  governor  and  council.  After  much  caviling,  in  the  style  of 
a  purchaser  who  undervalues  the  wares  which  he  wishes  to  buy,  the  monarch 
arrives  at  his  main  purpose,  and  offers  to  contract  for  the  whole  crop  of 
tobacco;  desiring,  at  the  same  time,  that  an  assembly  might  be  convened  to 
consider  his  proposal.  This  is  the  first  recognition,  on  the  part  of  a  Stuart, 
of  a  representative  assembly  in  America.  Hitherto,  the  king  had,  fortunately 
for  the  colony,  found  no  time  to  take  order  for  its  government.  His  zeal  for 
an  exclusive  contract  led  him  to  observe  and  to  sanction  the  existence  of  an 
elective  legislature.  The  assembly,  in  its  answer,  March  26th,  1629,  firmly 
protested  against  the  monopoly,  and  rejected  the  conditions  which  they  had 
been  summoned  to  approve.  The  independent  reply  of  the  assembly  was 
signed  by  the  governor,  by  five  members  of  the  coimcil,  and  by  thirty-one 
burgesses.  The  Virginians,  happier  than  the  people  of  England,  enjoyed  a 
faithful  representative  government,  and,  through  the  resident  planters  who 
composed  the  council,  they  repeatedly  elected  their  own  governor.  When 
West  designed  to  embark  for  Europe,  his  place  was  supplied  by  election. 

No  sooner  had  the  news  of  the  death  of  Yeardley  reached  England,  than 
the  king  proceeded  to  issue  a  commission  to  John  Harvey.  It  was  during  the 
period  which  elapsed  between  the  appointment  of  Harvey  and  his  appearance 
in  America  that  Lord  Baltimore  visited  Virginia.  The  zeal  of  religious 
bigotry  pursued  him  as  a  Romanist;  and  the  intolerant  jealousy  of  popery  led 
to  memorable  results.  Nor  should  we,  in  this  connection,  forget  the  hospitable 
plans  of  the  southern  planters;  the  people  of  New  Plymouth  were  invited  to 
abandon  the  cold  and  sterile  chme  of  New  England,  and  plant  themselves  in 
the  milder  regions  on  the  Delaware  Bay;  a  plain  indication  that  Puritans  were 
not  then  molested  in  Virginia. 

It  was  probably  in  the  autumn  of  1629  that  Harvey  arrived  in  Virginia. 
Till  October,  the  name  of  Pott  appears  as  governor;  Harvey  met  his  first 
assembly  of  burgesses  in  the  following  March.    He  had  for  several  years  been 
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a  member  of  the  council;  and  as,  at  a  former  day,  he  had  been  a  willing  instru- 
ment in  the  hands  of  the  faction  to  which  Virginia  ascribed  its  earliest  griefs, 

and  continued  to  bear  a  deep-rooted  hostility,  his  appointment  coiild  not  but 
be  unpopular.  Two  successive  chief  magistrates  had  been  elected  in  Vir- 

ginia. The  appointment  of  Harvey  implied  a  change  of  power  among  political 
parties;  it  gave  authority  to  a  man  whose  connections  in  England  were  pre- 

cisely those  which  the  colony  regarded  with  the  utmost  aversion.  As  his  first 
appearance  in  America,  in  1623,  had  been  with  no  friendly  designs,  so  now  he 
was  the  support  of  those  who  desired  large  grants  of  land  and  unreasonable 
concessions  of  separate  jurisdictions;  and  he  preferred  the  interests  of  himself, 
his  partisans  and  patrons,  to  the  welfare  and  quiet  of  the  colony.  The 
extravagant  language  which  exhibited  him  as  a  t3rrant,  without  specifying 
his  crimes,  was  the  natural  hyperbole  of  political  excitement;  and  when  his- 

torians, receiving  the  account,  and  interpreting  tyranny  to  mean  arbitrary 
taxation,  drew  the  inference  that  he  convened  no  assemblies,  trifled  with  the 
rights  of  property,  and  levied  taxes  according  to  his  caprice,  they  were  betrayed 
into  extravagant  errors.  Such  a  procedure  would  have  been  impossible.  He 
had  no  soldiers  at  his  command;  no  obsequious  officers  to  enforce  his  wiU; 
and  the  Virginians  would  never  have  made  themselves  the  instruments  of  their 
own  oppression.  The  party  opposed  to  Harvey  was  deficient  neither  in 
capacity  nor  in  colonial  influence;  and  while  arbitrary  power  was  rapidly 
advancing  to  triumph  in  England,  the  Virginians,  during  the  whole  period, 
enjoyed  the  benefit  of  independent  colonial  legislation;  through  the  agency 
of  their  representatives,  they  levied  and  appropriated  all  taxes,  secured  the 
free  industry  of  their  citizens,  guarded  the  forts  with  their  own  soldiers,  at 
their  own  charge,  and  gave  to  the  statutes  their  greatest  possible  publicity. 
When  the  defects  and  inconveniences  of  infant  legislation  were  remedied  by  a 
revised  code,  which  was  published  with  the  approbation  of  the  governor  and 
council,  all  the  privileges  which  the  assembly  had  ever  claimed,  were  carefully 
confirmed.     Indeed,  they  seem  never  to  have  been  questioned. 

But  the  whole  colony  of  Virginia  was  in  a  state  of  excitement  and  alarm  in 
consequence  of  the  dismemberment  of  its  territory  by  the  cession  to  Lord 
Baltimore.  In  Maryland,  the  first  occupants  had  refused  to  submit,  and  a 
skirmish  had  ensued,  in  which  the  blood  of  Europeans  was  shed  for  the  first 
time  on  the  waters  of  the  Chesapeake,  in  1635;  and  Clayborne  [or  Claiborne] 
defeated  and  banished  from  Maryland  as  a  murderer  and  an  outlaw,  sheltered 
himself  in  Virginia,  where  he  had  long  been  a  member  of  the  council.  There 
the  contest  was  renewed;  and  Harvey,  far  from  attempting  to  enforce  the 
claims  of  Virginia  against  the  royal  grant,  sent  Clayborne  to  England  to 
answer  for  the  crimes  with  which  he  was  charged.  The  colonists  were  indig- 

nant that  their  governor  should  thus,  as  it  seemed  to  them,  betray  their 

interests;  and  as  the  majority  of  the  council  favoured  their  wishes,  "Sir 
John  Harvey  was  thrust  out  of  his  government  and  Captain  John  West 

appointed  to  the  office,  till  the  king's  pleasure  be  known."  An  assembly  was 
summoned  in  May,  to  receive  complaints  against  Harvey;  but  he  had  in  the 
meantime  consented  to  go  to  England,  and  there  meet  his  accusers. 

The  commissioners  appointed  by  the  council  to  manage  the  impeachment 
of  Harvey,  met  with  no  favour  in  England,  and  were  not  even  admitted  to  a 
hearing.  Harvey  immediately  reappeared  to  occupy  his  former  station,  and 
remained  in  ofl&ce  till  1639.  The  complaints  which  have  been  brought  against 
him,  will  be  regarded  with  some  degree  of  distrust,  when  it  is  considered,  that 
the  public  mind  of  the  colony,  during  his  administration,  was  controlled  by  a 

party  which  pursued  him  with  implacable  hostility.    At  length  he  was  super- 
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seded,  and  Sir  Francis  Wyatt  appointed  in  his  stead.    Early  in  the  next  year, 
he  convened  a  general  assembly. 

GOVERNORSHIP   OF   BERKELEY 

After  two  years,  a  commission  was  issued  to  Sir  William  Berkeley  (August 
9th,  1641).  Historians,  reasoning  from  the  revolutions  which  took  place  in 
England  that  there  had  been  corresponding  attempts  at  oppression  and  cor- 

responding resistance  in  Virginia,  have  delighted  to  draw  a  contrast,  not  only 
between  Harvey  and  the  new  governor,  but  between  the  institutions  of 
Virginia  under  their  respective  governments;  and  Berkeley  is  said  by  Chal- 

mers* to  have  "restored  the  system  of  freedom,"  and  to  have  "effected  an 
essential  revolution."  We  cannot  find  that  his  appointment  was  marked  by 
the  slightest  concession  of  new  political  privileges,  except  that  the  council 
recovered  the  right  of  supplying  its  own  vacancies;  and  the  historians,  who 
make  an  opposite  statement,  are  wholly  ignorant  of  the  intermediate  admin- 

istration of  Wyatt. 
The  instructions  given  Berkeley,  far  from  granting  franchises  to  the  Vir- 

ginians, imposed  new,  severe,  and  unwarrantable  restrictions  on  the  liberty 
of  trade ;  and,  for  the  first  time,  England  claimed  that  monopoly  of  colonial 
commerce  which  was  ultimately  enforced  by  the  Navigation  Act  of  Charles  II, 
and  which  never  ceased  to  be  a  subject  of  dispute  till  the  War  of  Independence. 

It  was  in  February,  1642,  that  Sir  William  Berkeley,  arriving  in  the  colony, 
assumed  the  government.  His  arrival  must  have  been  simultaneous  with  the 
adjournment  of  the  general  assembly,  which  was  held  in  the  preceding  Jan- 

uary. He  found  the  American  planters  in  possession  of  a  large  share  of  the 
legislative  authority;  and  he  confirmed  them  in  the  enjoyment  of  franchises 
which  a  long  and  uninterrupted  succession  had  rendered  familiar.  Imme- 

diately after  his  arrival,  he  convened  the  colonial  legislature.  The  utmost 
harmony  prevailed;  the  memory  of  factions  was  lost  in  a  general  amnesty  of 
ancient  griefs. 

Believing  themselves  secure  of  all  their  privileges,  the  triumph  of  the 
popular  party  in  England  did  not  alter  the  condition  or  the  affections  of  the 
Virginians.  The  commissioners  appointed  by  parliament,  with  unlimited 
authority  over  the  plantations,  found  no  favour  in  Virginia. 

The  condition  of  contending  parties  in  England  had  now  given  to  Virginia 
an  opportunity  of  legislation  independent  of  European  control;  and  the 
voluntary  act  of  the  assembly,  restraining  religious  liberty,  adopted  from 
hostihty  to  political  innovation,  rather  than  from  a  spirit  of  fanaticism,  or 
respect  to  instructions,  proves  conclusively  the  attachment  of  the  representa- 

tives of  Virginia  to  the  Episcopal  church  and  the  cause  of  royalty.  Yet  there 
had  been  Puritans  in  the  colony  almost  from  the  beginning:  even  the  Brown- 
ists  were  freely  offered  a  secure  asylum;  and  several  Puritan  families,  and 
perhaps  some  even  of  the  Puritan  clergy,  emigrated  to  Virginia.  They  were 
so  content  with  their  reception  that  large  numbers  were  preparing  to  follow, 
and  were  restrained  only  by  the  forethought  of  English  intolerance.  The 
Pilgrims  at  Plymouth  were  invited  to  remove  within  the  jurisdiction  of  Vir- 

ginia, in  1629.  Puritan  merchants  planted  themselves  on  the  James  river 
without  fear,  and  immigrants  from  Massachusetts  had  established  themselves 
in  the  colony,  in  1640.  But  now  the  democratic  revolution  in  England  had 
given  an  immediate  political  importance  to  religious  sects :  to  tolerate  Puritan- 

ism was  to  nurse  a  republican  party.  It  was,  therefore,  specially  ordered  that 
no  minister  should  preach  or  teach,  publicly  or  privately,  except  in  conformity 
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to  the  constitutions  of  the  Church  of  England,  and  non-conformists  were 
banished  from  the  colony.  The  unsocial  spirit  of  political  discord,  fostering 
a  mutual  intolerance,  prevented  a  frequent  intercourse  between  Virginia  and 
New  England.  It  was  in  vain  that  the  ministers,  invited  from  Boston  by  the 
Puritan  settlements  in  Virginia,  carried  letters  from  Winthrop,  written  to 
Berkeley  and  his  council  by  order  of  the  general  court  of  Massachusetts. 

"The  hearts  of  the  people  were  much  inflamed  with  desire  after  the  ordi- 
nances"; but  the  missionaries  were  silenced  by  the  government,  and  ordered 

to  leave  the  country.  Sir  William  Berkeley  was  "  a  courtier,  and  very  malig- 
nant towards  the  way  of  the  churches"  in  New  England. 

While  Virginia  thus  displayed,  though  with  comparatively  little  bitterness, 
the  intolerance  which  for  centuries  had  almost  universally  prevailed  through- 

out the-  Christian  world,  a  scene  of  distress  was  prepared  by  the  vindictive 
ferocity  of  the  natives,  with  whom  a  state  of  hostility  had  been  of  long  con- 

tinuance. In  1643  it  was  enacted  by  the  assembly  that  no  terms  of  peace 
should  be  entertained  with  the  Indians;  whom  it  was  usual  to  distress  by 
sudden  marches  against  their  settlements.  But  the  Indians  had  now  heard 
of  the  dissensions  in  England,'  and  taking  counsel  of  their  passions  rather  than 
of  their  prudence,  they  resolved  on  one  more  attempt  at  a  general  massacre; 
believing  that,  by  midnight  incursions,  the  destruction  of  the  cattle  and  the 
fields  of  corn,  they  might  succeed  in  famishing  the  remnant  of  the  colonists 
whom  they  should  not  be  able  to  murder  by  surprise.  On  the  eighteenth  day 
of  April,  1644,  the  time  appointed  for  the  carnage,  the  unexpected  onset  was 
begun  upon  the  frontier  settlements.  But  hardly  had  the  Indians  steeped 
their  hands  in  blood,  before  they  were  dismayed  by  the  recollection  of  their 
own  comparative  weakness;  and  trembling  for  the  consequences  of  their 
treachery,  they  feared  to  continue  their  design,  and  fled  to  a  distance  from 
the  colony.  The  number  of  victims  had  been  three  hundred.  Measures  were 
promptly  taken  by  the  English  for  protection  and  defence:  and  a  war  was 
vigorously  conducted." 

The  Indians  were  presently  driven  from  their  fastnesses.  Opechancanough 
decrepit  and  incapable  of  moving  without  assistance,  described  by  a  contem- 

porary writer  as  "that  bloody  monster  upon  a  hundred  years  old,"  was  taken 
prisoner  and  carried  to  Jamestown,  where  he  was  shot  in  the  back  by  a  vin- 

dictive soldier  appointed  to  guard  him.  The  Indian  towns  were  broken  up, 
and  their  "clear  land  possessed  by  the  English  to  sow  wheat  in."  Opechan- 
canough's  successor  submitted;  and  a  peace  was  made  by  act  of  assembly,  the 
Indians  ceding  all  the  lands  between  James  and  York  rivers.  No  Indian  was 
to  come  south  of  York  river  under  pain  of  death.  The  Powhatan  confederacy 
was  dissolved.  The  Indians  of  lower  Virginia  sunk  into  servile  dependence, 
and  dwindled  away,  or,  migrating  to  the  south  and  west,  were  mingled  and 
confounded  with  other  tribes.*^ 

Of  the  labours  of  the  Indians  on  the  soil  of  Virginia,  there  remains  nothing 
so  respectable  as  would  be  a  common  ditch  for  the  draining  of  lands;  the 
memorials  of  their  former  existence  are  found  only  in  the  names  of  the  rivers 
and  the  mountains. 

Thus  the  colony  of  Virginia  acquired  the  management  of  all  its  concerns; 
war  was  levied,  and  peace  concluded,  and  territory  acquired,  in  conformity  to 
the  acts  of  the  representatives  of  the  people.  Numbers  increased;  the 

cottages  were  filled  with  children,  as  the  ports  were  with  ships  and  emigrants. 

['  They  were  encouraged  by  signs  of  discord  among  the  English,  having  seen  a  fight  in 

James  river  between  a,  London  ship  for  the  parliament  and  a  Bristol  ship  for  the  king. — 
HlIiDRETH.'*] 

H.  W.  —  VOL.  XXII.  30 
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At  Christmas,  1648,  there  were  trading  in  Virginia  ten  ships  from  London, 
two  from  Bristol,  twelve  Hollanders,  and  seven  from  New  England. 

SYMPATHY  FOE  CHARLES  I 

The  number  of  the  colonists  was  already  twenty  thousand;  and  they,  who 
had  sustained  no  griefs,  were  not  tempted  to  engage  in  the  feuds  by  which 
the  mother  country  was  divided.  They  were  attached  to  the  cause  of  Charles, 
not  because  they  loved  monarchy,  but  because  they  cherished  the  liberties  of 
which  he  had  left  them  in  the  undisturbed  possession;  and,  after  his  execu- 

tion, in  1649,  though  there  were  not  wanting  some  who,  from  ignorance,  as 
.  the  royalists  affirmed,  favoured  republicanism,  the  government  recognised 
his  son  without  dispute.  The  disasters  of  the  cavaliers  in  England  strength- 

ened the  party  in  the  New  World.  Men  of  consideration  "  among  the  nobility, 
gentry,  and  clergy,"  struck  "with  horror  and  despair"  at  the  execution  of 
Charles  I,  and  desiring  no  reconciliation  with  the  unrelenting  "  rebels,"  made 
their  way  to  the  shores  of  the  Chesapeake,  where  every  house  was  for  them  a 

"hostehy,"  and  every  planter  a  friend.  The  mansion  and  the  purse  of 
Berkeley  were  open  to  aU;  and  at  the  hospitable  dwellings  that  were  scattered 
along  the  rivers  and  among  the  wilds  of  Virginia,  the  cavaliers,  exiles  like  their 
monarch,  met  in  frequent  groups  to  recount  their  toils,  to  sigh  over  defeats, 
and  to  nourish  loyalty  and  hope.  The  faithfulness  of  the  Virginians  did  not 
escape  the  attention  of  the  royal  exile;  from  his  retreat  in  Breda  he  trans- 

mitted to  Berkeley  a  new  commission;  he  still  controlled  the  distribution  of 
officers,  and,  amidst  his  defeats  in  Scotland,  still  remembered  with  favour  the 
faithful  cavaliers  in  the  western  world.  Charles  II,  a  fugitive  from  England, 

was  still  the  sovereign  of  Virginia.  "Virginia  was  whole  for  monarchy," 
said  Hammond,"  "and  the  last  country,  belonging  to  England,  that  submitted 
to  obedience  of  the  commonwealth." 

But  the  parliament  did  not  long  permit  its  authority  to  be  denied.  Having 
by  the  vigorous  energy  and  fearless  enthusiasm  of  repubhcanism,  triumphed 
over  all  its  enemies  in  Europe,  it  turned  its  attention  to  the  colonies;  and  a 
memorable  ordinance,  October  3rd,  1650,  at  once  empowered  the  council  of 
state  to  reduce  the  rebellious  colonies  to  obedience,  and,  at  the  same  time, 
established  it  as  a  law  that  foreign  ships  should  not  trade  at  any  of  the  ports 
"in  Barbadoes,  Antigua,  Bermudas,  and  Virginia."  Maryland,  which  was 
not  expressly  included  in  the  ordinance,  had  taken  care  to  acknowledge  the 
new  order  of  things;  and  Massachusetts,  alike  unwilling  to  encoimter  the 
hostility  of  parliament,  and  jealous  of  the  rights  of  independent  legislation, 
by  its  own  enactment  prohibited  all  intercourse  with  Virginia,  till,  the  supre- 

macy of  the  commonwealth  should  be  established;  although  the  order,  when 
it  was  found  to  be  injurious  to  commerce,  was  promptly  repealed,  even  whilst 
royalty  still  triumphed  at  Jamestown.  But  would  Virginia  resist  the  fleet  of 
the  republic? 

But  while  the  preparations  were  yet  making  for  the  reduction  of  the 
colonies,  which  still  preserved  an  appearance  of  loyalty,  the  commercial  policy 
of  England  tmderwent  an  important  revision,  and  the  new  system,  as  it  was 
based  upon  the  permanent  interests  of  English  merchants  and  ship-builders, 
obtained  a  consistency  and  durability  which  could  never  have  been  gained  by 
the  feeble  selfishness  of  the  Stuarts. 

After  the  long-continued  efforts  which  the  enterprise  of  English  merchants 
and  the  independent  spirit  of  EngHsh  planters  had  perseveringly  defied, 
King  Charles,  on  the  appointment  of  Sir  William  Berkeley,  had  devised  the 
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expedient  which  was  destined  to  become  so  celebrated.  No  vessel,  laden  with 
colonial  commodities,  might  sail  from  the  harbours  of  Virginia  for  any  ports 
but  those  of  England,  that  the  staple  of  those  commodities  might  be  made  in 
the  mothef  country;  and  all  trade  with  foreign  vessels,  except  in  case  of 
necessity,  was  forbidden.  This  system,  which  the  instructions  of  Berkeley 
commanded  him  to  introduce,  was  ultimately  successful;  for  it  sacrificed  no 
rights  but  those  of  the  colonists,  while  it  identified  the  interests  of  the  English 
merchant  and  the  English  government,  and  leagued  them  together  for  the 
oppression  of  those,  who,  for  more  than  a  century,  were  too  feeble  to  offer 
effectual  resistance. 

The  Long  Parliament  was  more  just;  it  attempted  to  secure  to  English 
shipping  the  whole  carrying  trade  of  the  colonies,  but  with  the  free  con- 

sent of  the  colonies  themselves;  offering  an  equivalent,  which  the  legislatures 
in  America  were  at  liberty  to  reject.  The  memorable  ordinance  of  1650  was  a 
war  measure,  and  extended  only  to  the  colonies  which  had  adhered  to  the 
Stuarts.  All  intercourse  with  them  was  forbidden,  except  to  those  who  had 
a  licence  from  pariiament  or  the  council  of  state.  While,  therefore,  the 
Navigation  Act  secured  to  English  ships  the  entire  carrying  trade  with  Eng- 

land, in  connection  with  the  ordinance  of  the  preceding  year,  it  conferred  a 
monopoly  of  colonial  commerce. 

But  this  state  of  commercial  law  was  essentially  modified  by  the  manner 
in  which  the  authority  of  the  English  commonwealth  was  established  in  the 
Chesapeake.  The  republican  leaders  of  Great  Britain  suffered  the  fever  of 
party  to  subside,  before  decisive  measures  were  adopted;  and  then  two  of 
the  three  commissioners,  whom  they  appointed,  were  takeii  from  among  the 
planters  themselves.  The  instructions  given  them  were  such  as  Virginians 
might  carry  into  effect;  for  they  constituted  themi  the  pacificators  and  bene- 

factors of  their  country.  In  case  of  resistance,  the  cruelties  of  war  were 
threatened.  If  Virginia  would  but  adhere  to  the  commonwealth,  she  might 
be  the  mistress  of  her  own  destiny. 

VIEGI^*IA   CAPITULATES  TO   THE   COMMONWEALTH   (1651   A.D.) 

What  opposition  could  be  made  to  the  parliament,  which,  in  the  moment 
of  its  power,  voluntarily  proposed  a  virtual  independence?  No  sooner  had 
the  Guinea  frigate  anchored  in  the  waters  of  the  Chesapeake  (March,  1652), 

than,  said  Lord  Clarendon,"  "all  thoughts  of  resistance  were  laid  aside,"  and 
the  colonists,  having  no  motive  to  contend  for  a  monarch  whose  fortunes 
seemed  irretrievable,  were  earnest  only  to  assert  the  freedom  of  their  own 
institutions.  It  marks  the  character  of  the  Virginians  that  they  refused  to 
surrender  to  force,  but  yielded  by  a  voluntary  deed  and  a  mutual  compact.  It 

was  agreed,  upon  the  surrender,  that  the  "people  of  Virginia"  should  have 
all  the  liberties  of  the  freeborn  people  of  England;  should  entrust  their  busi- 

ness, as  formerly,  to  their  own  grand  assembly;  should  remain  unquestioned 
for  their  past  loyalty;  and  should  have  "as  free  trade  as  the  people  of  Eng- 

land." No  taxes,  no  customs,  might  be  levied,  except  by  their  own  repre- 
sentatives; no  forts  erected,  no  garrisons  maintained,  but  by  their  own  consent. 

In  the  settlement  of  the  government,  the  utmost  harmony  prevailed  between 
the  burgesses  and  the  commissioners:  it  was  the  governor  and  council  only 
who  had  aay  apprehensions  for  their  safety,  and  who  scrupulously  provided 
a  guaranty  for  their  security  of  persons  and  property,  which  there  evidently 
had  existed  no  design  to  injure. 

These  terms,  so  favourable  to  liberty,  and  almost  conceding  independence, 
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were  faithfully  observed  till  the  restoration.  Historians  have,  indeed,  drawn 
gloomy  pictures  of  the  discontent  which  pervaded  the  colony,  and  have 
represented  that  discontent  as  heightened  by  commercial  oppression.  The 
statement  is  a  fiction.  The  colony  of  Virginia  enjoyed  liberties  as  large  as  the 
favoured  New  England;  displayed  an  equal  degree  of  fondness  for  popular 
sovereignty,  and  fearlessly  exercised  political  independence.  There  had  long 
existed  a  republican  party;  and,  now  that  monarchy  had  fallen,  on  whom 
could  the  royalists  rely  so  safely  as  on  themselves?  The  executive  officers 
became  elective;  and  so  evident  were  the  designs  of  all  parties  to  promote  an 
amicable  settlement  of  the  government,  that  Richard  Bennett,  himself  a 
commissioner  of  the  parliament,  and,  moreover,  a  merchant  and  a  roundhead, 
was,  on  the  recommendation  of  the  other  commissioners,  unanimously  chosen 
governor.  Under  the  administration  of  Berkeley,  Bennett  had  been  driven 
from  Virginia;  and  now  not  the  slightest  effort  at  revenge  was  attempted. 

The  act  which  constituted  the  government  claimed  for  the  assembly  the 
privilege  of  defining  the  powers  which  were  to  belong  to  the  governor  and 
council;  and  the  public  good  was  declared  to  require  "that  the  right  of 
electing  all  officers  of  this  colony  should  appertain  to  the  burgesses,"  as  to 
"the  representatives  of  the  people."  Thus  the  house  of  burgesses  acted  as  a convention  of  the  people;  exercising  supreme  authority,  and  distributing 
power  as  the  public  welfare  required. 

Nor  was  this  an  accidental  and  transient  arrangement.  Cromwell  never 
made  any  appointments  for  Virginia;  not  one  governor  acted  imder  his 
commission.  When  Bennett  retired  from  office,  the  assembly  itself  elected 
his  successor;  and  Edward  Diggs,  who  had  before  been  chosen  of  the  council, 

and  who,  says  Hening,?  "  had  given  a  signal  testimony  of  his  fidelity  to  Vir- 
ginia, and  to  the  commonwealth  of  England,"  received  the  suffrages  (March 

31st,  1655).  The  commissioners  in  the  colony  were  rather  engaged  in  settling 
the  affairs  and  adjusting  the  boundaries  of  Maryland,  than  in  controlling  the 
destinies  of  Virginia. 

The  right  of  electing  the  governor  continued  to  be  claimed  by  the  repre- 
sentatives of  the  people,  and  "Samuel  Matthews,  an  old  planter,  of  nearly 

forty  years'  standing,"  who  had  been  "  a  most  deserving  commonwealth's  man, 
kept  a  good  house,  lived  bravely,  and  was  a  true  lover  of  Virginia,"  was  next 
honoured  with  the  office  (1658).  But  the  worthy  old  gentleman  had  too 
exalted  ideas  of  his  station.  The  governor  and  council,  by  message,  declared 
the  dissolution  of  the  assembly.  The  legality  of  the  dissolution  was  denied; 
and,  after  an  oath  of  secrecy,  eveiy  burgess  was  enjoined  not  to  betray  his 
trust  by  submission.  Matthews  yielded,  reserving  a  right  of  appeal  to  the 
protector.  When  the  house  unanimously  voted  the  governor's  answer  unsat- 

isfactory, he  expressly  revoked  the  order  of  dissolution,  but  still  referred  the 
decision  of  the  dispute  to  Cromwell.  The  members  of  the  assembly,  appre- 

hensive of  a  limitation  of  colonial  liberty  by  the  reference  of  a  political  question 
to  England,  determined  on  a  solemn  assertion  of  their  independent  powers. 
A  committee  was  appointed,  of  whicTi  John  Carter,  of  Lancaster,  was  the  chief; 
and  a  complete  declaration  of  popular  sovereignty  was  solemnly  made.  The 
governor  and  council  had  ordered  the  dissolution  of  the  assembly;  the  bur- 
f esses  now  decreed  the  former  election  of  governor  and  council  to  be  void, 
laving  thus  exercised,  not  merely  the  right  of  election,  but  the  more  extrar 

ordinary  right  of  removal,  they  re-elected  Matthews.  The  governor  sub- 
mitted* and  acknowledged  the  validity  of  his  ejection  by  taking  the  new  oath, 

wtrtch  had  juet  been  prescnbed.  The  council  was  organise4  anew;  and  the 
spirit  of  popular  liberty  established  all  its  claims. 
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The  death  of-Cromwell  in  1658  made  no  change  in  the  constitution  of  the 
colony.  The  message  of  the  governor  duly  annoimced  the  event  to  the  legis- 

lature. It  has  pleased  some  English  historians  to  ascribe  to  Virginia  a  precipi- 
tate attachment  to  Charles  II.  On  the  present  occasion,  the  burgesses  delib- 

erated in  private,  and  unanimously  resolved  that  Richard  Cromwell  should  be 
acknowledged.  But  it  was  a  more  interesting  question,  whether  the  change 
of  protector  in  England  would  endanger  liberty  in  Virginia.  The  letter  from 
the  council  had  left  the  government  to  be  administered  according  to  former 
usage.  The  assembly  declared  itself  satisfied  with  the  language.  But,  that 
there  might  be  no  reason  to  question  the  existing  usage,  the  governor  was 
summoned  to  come  to  the  house;  where  he  appeared  in  person,  deliberately 
acknowledged  the  supreme  power  of  electing  officers  to  be,  by  the  present  laws, 
resident  in  the  assembly,  and  pledged  himself  to  join  in  addressing  the  new 
protector  for  special  confirmation  of  all  existing  privileges.  The  reason  for 

this  extraordinary  proceeding  is  assigned  "  that  what  was  their  privilege  now 
might  be  the  privilege  of  their  posterity."  The  frame  of  the  Virginia  govern- ment was  deemed  worthy  of  being  transmitted  to  remote  generations. 

_  On  the  death  of  Matthews,  March,  1660,  the  Virginians  were  without  a 
chief  magistrate,  just  at  the  time  when  the  resignation  of  Richard  had  left 
England  without  a  government.  The  burgesses,  who  were  immediately  con- 

vened, resolving  to  become  the  arbiters  of  the  fate  of  the  colony,  enacted  "  that 
the  supreme  power  of  the  government  of  this  country  shall  be  resident  in  the 
assembly;  and  all  writs  shall  issue  in  its  name,  until  there  shall  arrive  from 

England  a  commission,  which  the  assembly  itself  shall  adjudge  to  be  lawful." 
This  being  done.  Sir  William  Berkeley  was  elected  governor;  and,  acknowl- 

edging the  validity  of  the  acts  of  the  burgesses,  whom,  it  was  expressly  agreed, 
he  could  in  no  event  dissolve,  he  accepted  the  office,  and  recognised,  without  a 
scruple,  the  authority  to  which  he  owed  his  elevation.  "  I  am,"  said  he,  "  but 
a  servant  of  the  assembly."  Virginia  did  not  lay  claim  to  absolute  inde- 

pendence, but,  awaiting  the  settlement  of  affairs  in  England,  hoped  for  the 
restoration  of  the  Stuarts. 

During  the  suspension  of  the  royal  government  in  England,  Virginia 
attained  unlimited  liberty  of  commerce,  which  she  regulated  by  independent 
laws.  The  ordinance  of  1650  was  rendered  void  by  the  Act  of  Capitulation; 
the  Navigation  Act  of  Cromwell  was  not  designed  for  her  oppression,  and  was 
not  enforced  within  her  borders.  If  an  occasional  corffiscation  took  place,  it 
was  done  by  the  authority  of  the  colonial  assembly.  The  war  between  Eng- 

land and  Holland  did  not  wholly  interrupt  the  intercourse  of  the  Dutch  with 
the  English  colonies;  and  if,  after  the  treaty  of  peace,  the  trade  was  considered 
contraband,  the  English  restrictions  were  entirely  disregarded.  A  remon- 

strance, addressed  to  Cromwell,  demanded  an  unlimited  liberty.  Proposals 
of  peace  and  commerce  between  New  Netherlands  and  Virginia  were  discussed 
without  scruple  by  the  respective  colonial  governments;  and  at  last  in  1660  a 
special  statute  of  Virginia  extended  to  every  Christian  nation,  in  amity  with 
England,  a  promise  of  Hberty  to  trade  and  equal  justice.  At  the  restoration, 
Virginia  enjoyed  freedom  of  commerce  with  the  whole  world. 

Religious  liberty  advanced  under  the  influence  of  independent  domestic 
legislation.  No  churches  had  been  erected  except  in  the  heart  of  the  colony; 
and  there  were  so  few  ministers,  that  a  bounty  was  offered  for  their  importa- 

tion. Conformity  had,  in  the  reign  of  Charles,  been  enforced  by  measures  of 
disfranchisement  and  exile.  By  the  people  under  the  commonwealth,  though 
&ey  were  attached  to  the  church  of  their  fathers,  all  things  respecting  parishes 
and  parishioners  were  referred  to  their  own  ordering;  and  religious  liberty 
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would  have  been  perfect,  but  for  an  act  of  intolerance  (March  1st,  1658)  by 
which  all  Quakers  were  banished,  and  their  return  regarded  as  a  felony. 

Virginia  was  the  first  state  in  the  world,  composed  of  separate  boroughs, 
diffused  over  an  extensive  surface,  where  the  government  was  organised  on  the 
principle  of  universal  suffrage.  All  freemen,  without  exception,  were  entitled 
to  vote.  An  attempt  was  once  made  to  limit  the  right  to  house-holders,  in 
1655;  but  the  public  voice  reproved  the  restriction;  the  very  next  year,  it  was 
decided  to  be  "  hard,  and  unagreeable  to  reason,  that  any  person  shall  pay 
equal  taxes,  and  yet  have  no  votes  in  elections";  and  the  electoral  franchise 
was*  restored  to  all  freemen.    Servants,  when  the  time  of  their  bondage  was 

   completed,  at  once  became  electors,  and 

.^2SZIS^S^h|SSm2^     might  be  chosen  burgesses. 

t^^^^K^^^Kj^^^^^^M  Thus  Virginia  established  upon  her  soil 

I^^^^^^^^^^^^^^H  the  supremacy  of  the  popular  branch,  the 
-^^^^  "^^  .-...jAi;>  ̂ B^B  freedom  of  trade,  the  independence  of  re- ligious societies,  the  security  from  foreign 

taxation,  and  the  universal  elective  fran- 
chise. If,  in  following  years,  she  departed 

from  either  of  these  principles,  and  yielded 
a  reluctant  consent  to  change,  it  was  from 
the  influence  of  foreign  authority.  Virginia 
had  herself,  almost  unconsciously,  estab- 

lished a  nearly  independent  democracy;  and 
already  preferred  her  own  sons  for  places  of 
authority.  The  country  felt  itself  honoured 

by  those  who  were  "Virginians  bom" ;  and 
emigrants  never  again  desired  to  live  in 
England.  Prosperity  advanced  with  free- 

dom; dreams  of  new  staples  and  infinite 
wealth  were  indulged;  while  the  population 
of  Virginia,  at  the  epoch  of  the  restoration, 
may  have  been  about  thirty  thousand. 
Many  of  the  recent  emigrants  had  been  roy- 
ahsts  in  England,  good  officers  in  the  war, 
men  of  education,  of  property,  and  of  condi- 

tion. The  revolution  had  not  subdued  their 
characters;  but  the  waters  of  the  Atlantic 

divided  them  from  the  political  strifes  of  Europe;  their  industry  was  employed 
in  making  the  best  advantage  of  their  plantations;  the  interests  and  liberties 
of  Virginia,  the  land  which  they  adopted  as  their  country,  were  dearer  to  them 
than  the  monarchical  principles  which  they  had  espoused  in  England;  and 
therefore  no  bitterness  could  exist  between  the  firmest  partisans  of  the  Stuarts 
and  the  friends  of  republican  liberty  .<> 

Cecil  Calvert 

(LoBD  Baltimore) 

(1605-1675) 

THE   COLONISATION   OF   MARYLAND 

The  whole  territory  of  Maryland  was  included  under  the  second  charter 
of  Virginia;  but  the  dissolution  of  the  London  Company  by  James  I,  in  1624, 
restored  to  the  crown  the  right  to  make  a  fresh  grant;  and  this  right  was  not 
considered  to  have  been  vitiated  by  the  trading  colony  established  on  Kent 
Island,  in  the  heart  of  the  province,  by  William  Clayborne,  in  1631.  The 
effective  settlement  of  the  province  was  destined  to  be  made  under  the  auspices 
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of  the  Calvert  family.  George  Calvert,  the  first  Lord  Baltimore,  had  early 
become  interested  in  American  colonisation.  His  first  attempts  were  made 
on  the  inhospitable  shores  of  Newfomidland;  and  he  twice  visited  his  settle- 

ment on  that  island,  freely  expending  his  fortune  in  planting,  and  risking  his 
life  in  defending  the  colony  against  the  attacks  of  the  French,  whose  participa- 

tion in  the  fishery  rendered  them  jealous  of  the  English  settlers. 
The  project  was  at  length  abandoned,  and  Lord  Baltimore,  turning  his 

attention  towards  a  more  fertile  soil  and  a  milder  climate,  visited  Virginia,  in 
1629,  with  the  intention  of  founding  a  settlement  there.  But  he  was  a  con- 

scientious Catholic;  and  his  attempts  to  gain  a  footing  on  the  soil  were  resisted 
by  the  government  tendering  to  him  the  oaths  of  allegiance  and  supremacy 
[which  he  refused].  Observing  that  the  country  north  of  the  Potomac  was 
still  unappropriated,  and  learning  that  the  French,  the  Dutch,  and  the  Swedes 
were  preparing  to  occupy  it,  he  conceived  the  design  of  obtaining  possession 
of  this  region,  and  colonising  it  himself,  and  easily  prevailed  with  Charles  I  to 
bestow  on  him  the  investiture  he  desired. 

Having  thus  obtained  a  grant  of  the  country,  he  proceeded  to  settle  it;  and 
while  he  aimed  at  rendering  his  colony  the  asylum  of  civil  liberty,  he,  at  the 
same  time,  conceived  the  laudable  design  of  raising  here  a  shelter  for  the  per- 

secuted of  every  Christian  denomination.  He  had  hardly  completed  the  con- 
struction of  his  charter,  when  death,  April  15,  1632,  terminated  his  honourable 

and  useful  career.  His  son,  Cecil,  inherited,  with  his  father's  title  and  fortune, 
his  liberal  views  with  respect  to  religious  liberty,  and  his  determination  to 
plant  the  colony.  In  his  name  was  completed  and  executed  the  charter,  June 

20th,  1632,  which  described  the  district  assigned  him  as  "  that  region  bounded 
by  a  line  drawn  from  Watkins'  Point  of  Chesapeake  Bay;  thence  to  that  part 
of  the  estuary  of  Delaware  on  the  north  which  lies  under  the  fortieth  degree, 
where  New  England  is  terminated;  thence  in  a  right  line  by  the  degree  afore- 

said, to  the  meridian  of  the  fountain  of  Potowmack;  thence  following  its 

course  by  the  farthest  bank,  to  its  confluence."  [It  thus  included  all  of  Dela- 
ware and  a  large  portion  of  Pennsylvania.] 

In  honour  of  the  queen,  Henrietta  Maria,  daughter  of  Henry  IV  of  France, 
it  received  from  the  king  its  name  of  Terra  Mariae,  or  Maryland;  and  in 

honour  of  her  majesty's  faith,  more  ample  immunities  were  conferred  on  it 
than  were  possessed  by  any  other  of  the  colonies.  Lord  Baltimore  was 
created  the  absolute  proprietary,'  save  the  allegiance  due  to  the  crown.  He 
was  empowered,  with  the  consent  of  the  freemen,  to  make  laws  for  the  pro- 

vince, and  to  execute  the  laws  of  assembly.  With  the  agreement  of  the 
people,  he  might  impose  all  just  and  proper  subsidies;  and,  on  the  part  of  the 
king,  it  was  covenanted  that  neither  his  majesty,  nor  his  successors,  should 
impose  any  taxes  upon  the  colonists,  their  goods,  or  commodities.  This 
exemption  was  to  be  perpetual  with  Maryland,  while,  to  the  other  colonies,  it 
was  granted  for  a  term  of  years  only. 

Thus  was  Maryland  erected  into  a  palatinate;  the  proprietary  invested 
with  all  the  royal  rights  of  the  palace;  while  the  king  exercised  towards  him 
the  highest  prerogatives  of  a  feudal  sovereign,  holding  the  palatine  and  his 
domain  in  feudal  tenure.  For  the  population  of  the  new  colony,  license  was 

given  to  his  majesty'is  subjects,  without  distinction  of  sect  or  party,  to  trans- 

[•  Maryland  was  thus  the  first  of  the  proprietary  colonies,  though  Lord  Baltimore  did  not 

sail  thither  he  sent  his  two  brothers,  Leonard  and  George  Calvert.  Of  these  emigrants  McSherry  •" 

says  :  "  all  of  them  were  Catholics  and  gentlemen  of  fortune  and  respectability,  who  desired, 
like  himself  and  as  had  his  father,  to  flee  from  the  spirit  of  intolerance  which  pervaded  England, 

and  rear  their  altars  of  freedom  in  the  wilderness. "   With  the  coIoBists  were  two  Jesuit  priests.  J 



600  THE  HISTORY   OP   THE   UNITED   STATES 
[1633-1634  A.D.] 

port  themselves  thither;  and  in  addition  to  the  immunities  already  mentioned 
as  being  granted  to  them,  they  were  declared  to  be  liegemen  of  the  king,  and 
entitled  to  all  the  liberties  of  Englishmen  born  in  the  realm. 

The  first  body  of  emigrants,  under  this  charter,  consisted  of  about  two 
hundred  English  gentlemen,  and  a  large  number  of  inferior  adherents,  who 
sailed  with  Leonard  Calvert,  the  first  governor  of  the  province,  in  November, 
1633.  Having  taken  the  route  by  the  West  Indies,  and  spent  some  time  in 
Barbadoes  and  St.  Christopher;  they  landed  probably  on  the  present  Black- 
stone's  Island,  then  moved  to  the  shores  of  St.  Mary's  river,  about  four 
leagues  from  its  junction  with  the  Potomac,  on  the  27th  of  March,  1634.  Here 
Calvert  erected  a  cross  and  took  possession  of  the  country,  "  for  our  Saviour, 
and  for  our  sovereign  lord,  the  king  of  England."  Aware  that  the  Virginians 
had  girven  offence  to  the  Indians,  by  possessing  themselves  of  their  lands,  with- 

out offering  any  remuneration  for  them,  or  even  obtaining  their  permission  to 
occupy  them,  the  governor  wisely  determined  to  procure  their  friendship,  as 
the  first  step  towards  effecting  a  happy  and  successful  settlement.  He  there- 

fore submitted  to  a  neighbouring  chief  his  propositions  for  settling;  but  re- 
ceived from  him  an  answer  of  sullen  indifference:  "I  will  not  bid  you  go, 

neither  will  I  bid  you  stay;  but  you  may  use  your  own  discretion."  Such  was 
the  address  and  courtesy  of  the  governor,  however,  that  not  only  was  this 
sullen  warrior  subsequently  won  over  to  the  interest  of  the  colony,  but  he  also 
persuaded  the  neighbouring  tribes  to  preserve  peace  with  the  new  comers. 
They  procured,  for  a  moderate  price,  a  considerable  tract  of  country,  within 
the  limits  of  which  was  the  Indian  town  of  Yoacomoco.  To  this  town  they 
gave  the  name  of  St.  Marys,  and  here  was  established  the  capital  of  the  colony. 

[Thus  the  method  of  William  Penn  was  a"nticipated  by  half  a  century]. 
A  guard-house  and  a  store-house  were  erected,  and  corn  was  planted. 

A  friendly  visit  was  received  from  Sir  John  Harvey,  the  governor  of  Virginia, 
who  appears  not  to  have  participated  in  the  jealous  feeFings  of  his  people 
towards  the  new  coloriy.  Several  Indian  chiefs  from  the  interior  came  to  pay 
their  respects  to  the  governor,  and  were  sumptuously  entertained  on  board  a 
ship  which  lay  at  anchor  in  the  river,  the  king  of  Patuxent  being  seated,  at 
table,  between  the  governor  of  Virginia  and  the  governor  of  Maryland. 

The  store-house  being  finished,  and  it  becoming  necessary  to  unload  the 
ship,  and  bring  the  stores  for  the  ctolony  on  shore,  the  governor,  to  impress 
the  natives  with  respect,  ordered  it  to  be  done  with  some  solemnity.  The 
colours  were  brought  on  shore,  and  the  colonists  were  all  paraded  under  arms. 
Volleys  of  musketry  were  fired,  which  were  answered  by  discharges  of  cannon 
on  board  the  ship.  The  kings  or  werowances  of  Patuxent  and  Yoacomoco 
being  present  at  this  exhibition,  the  former  took  occasion  to  advise  the  Indians 
of  Yoacomoco  to  keep  the  league  which  they  had  made  with  the  English. 
He  remained  in  town  several  days  afterwards;  and  it  is  said  that  when  he  took 

his  leave,  he  made  this  remarkable  speech  to  the  governor:  "I  love  the  Eng- 
lish so  well  that  if  they  should  go  about  to  kill  me  I  would  command  the  people 

not  to  revenge  my  death;  for  I  know  they  would  not  do  such  a  thing,  except 

it  were  through  my  own  fault."  During  the  remainder  of  the  year,  while  the 
English  and  the  Indians  lived  together,  in  St.  Marys,  each  community  occu- 

pying half  of  the  town,  according  to  a  stipulation  made  between  them,  the 
utmost  harmony  prevailed. 

The  natives  testified  their  friendly  disposition  by  gomg  every  day  into  the 
woods  with  their  new  neighbours,  pointing  out  the  best  resorts  of  game,  join- 

ing them  in  the  chase,  and  bringmg  home  venison  and  wild  turkeys  in  abund-  . 
ance ;  well  satisfied  with  a  cheap  requital  in  knives,  tools,  and  toys.    They  also 
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supplied  them  with  fish  in  plenty,  and  their  women  instructed  the  wives  of  the 
colonists  in  making  bread  of  maize.  As  a  certain  mark  of  the  entire  confidence 
of  the  Indians,  their  women  and  children  became,  in  some  measure,  domesti- 

cated in  the  English  families. 
The  settlement  was  now  making  rapid  progress.  Fifty  acres  of  land  was 

assigned  to  every  colonist,  and  their  number  being  augmented  by  new  emi- 
grations, aided  by  the  judicious  administration  of  Baltimore,  a  dreary  wilder- 

ness was  soon  converted  into  a  flourishing  colony.  The  fact  that  Maryland 
had  been  granted  to  the  proprietor  in  opposition  to  the  wishes  of  the  Virginia 
Company,  which  claimed  a  priority  of  right,  was  a  considerable  evil  to  the 
colony,  as  it  tended  greatly  to  aid  Clayborne  in  his  designs  against  its  pros- 

perity. About  a  year  prior  to  the  date  of  Lord  Baltimore's  charter,  that  indi- 
vidual had  obtained  from  the  king  license  to  trade  in  such  parts  of  America  as 

were  not  comprehended  in  any  prior  patent  of  exclusive  trade.  His  object 
being  to  monopolise  the  trade  of  the  Chesapeake,  he  founded  a  settlement  on 
Kent  Island;  and  being  thus  in  the  very  centre  of  Maryland,  he  claimed  juris- 

diction over  the  whole  colony:  and  although  in  every  legal  proceeding  he  was 
defeated,  yet  he  persisted  in  asserting  his  claims,  and  continued  to  harass  the 

province  [with  a  small  boat  built  "  to  cruise  against  the  colonists,"  and  cap- tured after  a  small  naval  engagement  in  April,  1635]  until  banished  from  its 
limits  by  an  act  of  assembly. 

'TUl  this  emergency,  the  colony  had  subsisted  without  enacting  or  realising 
its  civil  institutions;  but  the  same  emergency  that  now  called  forth  the  powers 
of  government,  tended  also  to  develop  its  organisations.  Accordingly,  in 
February,  1635,  was  convened  the  first  provincial  assembly,  consisting  of  the 
whole  body  of  freemen.  Various  regulations  were  adopted  for  the  preserva- 

tion of  good  order,  among  which  was  a  law  for  the  punishment  of  murders  and 
other  felonies,  providing  that  the  perpetrators  of  such  crimes  should  be  trans- 

ported to  England,  there  to  be  tried  by  the  law  of  the  land.  This  was  intended 
to  pave  the  way  for  the  judicial  proceedings  contemplated  against  Clayborne, 
who,  being  soon  after  indicted  for  murder,  piracy,  and  sedition,  escaped  from 
justice;  and,  in  consequence,  his  estate  was  confiscated.  His  petitions  to  the 
king  proved  unavailing;  for,  though  he  possessed  considerable  influence  at 
court,  yet  the  lords  commissioners  of  the  colony  pronounced  a  final  sentence 
against  him:  and  his  hopes  of  victory  were  exchanged  for  schemes  of  re- 
venge. 

The  second  assembly  [a  pure  democracy]  was  convened  in  1637,  to  consider 
the  code  of  laws  proposed  by  the  proprietary;  which,  contrary  to  all  expecta- 

tion, they  hesitated  not  a  moment  to  reject,  substituting  in  its  place  a  collection 

of  regulations  highly  creditable  to  their  good  sense;  and  such  as  evinced  'the state  of  the  province  at  this  period.  The  province  was  divided  into  baronies 
and  manors,^  the  privileges  of  which  were  clearly  defined.  Bills  were  framed 
for  securing  the  liberties  of  the  people  and  the  titles  to  landed  property,  and 
for  regulating  the  course  of  intestate  succession.  A  bill  was  passed  for  the 
support  of  the  proprietary,  and  an  act  of  attainder  against  Clayborne.  The 
population  had,  by  this  time,  so  greatly  increased  that  on  the  meeting  of  the 
third  assembly,  in  1639,  a  representative  form  of  government  was  established, 
although  it  was  provided  that  persons  who  did  not  vote  for  burgesses  could 
take  their  seats  as  members  of  the  assenibly. 

Slavery  appears  to  have  been  established  in  Maryland  from  its  earliest 

colonisation;  for  an  act  of  assembly  describes  "the  people"  to  consist  of  all 
['  "It  was  only  in  this  regard  that  the  design  of  transplanting  the  institutions  of  expiring 

feudalism  to  the  New  World  was  carried  out."— Wm.  T.  Brantly.^] 
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Christian  inhabitants, "  slaves  only  excepted." '  The  discontent  with  which  the 
Virginians  regarded  the  establishment  of  the  new  colony,  was  augmented  by 
the  contrast  between  the  liberty  and  happiness  enjoyed  by  the  Marylanders, 
and  the  tyranny  to  which  they  themselves  were  exposed  from  the  government 
of  Harvey;  so  that,  when  their  own  liberties  were  restored,  they  regarded  with 
aversion  the  revival  of  the  patent,  being  sensible  that  their  interest  would  be 
impaired  by  an  event  that  should  re-annex  Maryland  to  their  territory.  The 
mutual  animosities  therefore  ceased,  and  the  new  settlers  henceforth  received 
but  little  annoyance  from  this  source.  But  troubles  threatened  from  another 
quarter.  Clayborne  having  infected  the  minds  of  the  Indians  with  a  jealous 
suspicion,  which  the  rapid  increase  of  the  strangers  augmented,  an  Indian  war 
broke  out,  in  1642,  and  for  several  years  afflicted  the  colony,  without  being 
brought  to  a  decisive  issue.  Peace  having  been  at  length  restored,  the  assem- 

bly enacted  laws  for  the  prevention  of  the  more  obvious  causes  of  animosity; 
providing  that  no  lands  should  be  obtained  from  the  Indians  without  the  con- 

sent of  the  proprietary;  that  it  should  be  a  capital  offence  to  sell  or  kidnap 
any  friendly  Indians,  and  a  high  misdemeanour  to  supply  them  with  ardent 
spirits,  ammunition,  or  firearms :  by  the  observance  of  these  laws  a  peace  was 
established,  which  lasted  without  interruption  for  several  years. 

But  scarcely  was  peace  with  this  enemy  concluded  when  Clayborne,  the 
prime  mover  of  all  their  troubles,  was  again  at  work;  and  by  his  constant  ad- 

herence to  the  predominant  party  in  England  —  whether  royal  or  popular  — 
together  with  the  influence  he  possessed  over  his  old  associates  in  Kent  Island, 
he  succeeded  in  raising  a  rebellion  in  Maryland,  in  1645.  [It  is  known  as  Clay- 

borne and  Ingle's  Rebellion  from  Richard  Ingle  who  had  received  letters  of 
marque  from  the  parliament,  and  now  arrived  with  a.  warship  from  London], 
Calvert,  unprepared  for  this  emergency,  fled  into  Virginia,  whereupon  the 
government  was  immediately  appropriated  by  the  insurgents,  who  held  sway 
until  August  of  the  next  year,  when  the  revolt  was  suppressed.  By  the 
assembly  of  1649,  an  Act  of  Oblivion  was  passed  which  extended  to  all  except 
a  few  of  the  prominent  offenders ;  and  by  the  same  assembly  an  act  of  religious 
toleration  was  established,  y 

The  "Act  of  Toleration"  did,  indeed,  but  carry  out  a  policy  coeval  with  the 
settlement  of  the  colony,  and  lately  confirmed  by  the  oath  imposed  upon  the 
governor,  TJie  first  four  sections  of  this  celebrated  act  exhibit,  however,  but 
little  of  a  tolerant  spirit.  Death,  with  forfeiture  of  land  and  goods,  is  de- 

nounced against  all "  who  shall  blaspheme  God,  that  is,  curse  him,  or  shall  deny 
our  Saviour  Jesus  Christ  to  be  the  Son  of  God,  or  shall  deny  the  Holy  Trinity, 
the  Father,  Son,  and  Holy  Ghost,  or  the  Godhead  of  any  of  the  said  three 
persons  of  the  Trinity,  or  the  unity  of  the  Godhead,  or  shall  use  or  utter  any 

reproachful  speeches  against  the  Holy  Trinity."  Strange  as  it  may  seem,  this 
penalty  of  death  remained  for  two  hundred  ̂ ears,  still  darkening  the  statute 
book  of  Maryland!  Fine,  whipping,  and  banishment  for  the  third  offense  are 

denounced  against  all  "  who  shall  utter  any  reproachful  words  or  speeches 
concerning  the  blessed  virgin  Mary,  or  the  holy  apostles  or  evangelists." 
Fine,  and,  in  defect  of  goods,  whipping,  and  a  public  apology  are  to  be  the 

['  Up  to  the  time  of  the  Civil  War  the  condition  of  the  slave  was  the  same  in  Maryland  as  in 
the  other  southern  states.  The  first  slaves  imported  into  Maryland  came  from  Bermuda  (1634). 
The  importation  of  the  slave  vcas  encouraged,  but  there  was  too  large  an  influx  of  the  negro, 
and  in  1695  a  per  capita  tax  was  imposed  on  all  slaves  brought  into  the  province.  By  the  Treaty 
of  Utrecht  "  Spain  guaranteed  to  England  the  monopoly  of  supplying  negro  slaves  from  the 
Spanish-American  provinces."  Prior  to  the  Revolution  the  negro  population  of  Maryland  was 
20  per  cent,  that  of  the  white.  As  far  back  as  1789  there  was  a  strong  anti-slavery  sentiment 
in  Maryland.— -J AMES  McShbbky."] 
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punishment  for  calling  any  person  within  the  colony,  in  a  reproachful  manner, 
"heretic,  schismatic,  idolater,  Puritan,  Presbyterian,  Independent,  popish priest,  Jesuit,  Jesuited  papist,  Lutheran,  Calvinist,  Anabaptist,  Brownist, 
Antinomian,  Barrowist,  Roundhead,  Separatist,  or  other  name  or  term,  in  a 
reproachful  manner,  relating  to  matters  of  religion."  Similar  penalties  are 
imposed  for  profaning  "the  Sabbath  or  Lord's  day,  called  Sunday,"  by  "any 
uncivil  or  disorderly  recreation,"  or  by  wo'rk.  After  this  incongruous  preface, 
the  fifth  section  sets  out  "that  the  enforcing  the  conscience  in  matters  of 
religion  hath  frequently  fallen  out  to  be  of  dangerous  consequence  in  those 
commonwealths  where  it  hath  been  practised,"  and  therefore  enacts  that, 
"  for  the  more  quiet  and  peaceable  government  of  the  province,  and  the  better 
to  preserve  mutual  love  and  unity,"  no  person  professing  to  believe  in  Jesus 
Christ  shall  be  molested  or  discountenanced  on  account  of  his  religion,  nor 
interrupted  in  the  free  exercise  of  it;  breaches  of  this  section  to  be  punished 
by  fine  and  imprisonment. 

Policy,  it  is  evident,  had  a  much  greater  share  in  the  enactment  of  this  act 
than  any  enlightened  view  of  the  rights  of  opinion,  of  which,  indeed,  it  evinces 
but  a  very  limited  and  confused  idea.  Now  that  the  Puritans  were  trium- 

phant in  England,  an  exclusively  Catholic  colony  would  not  have  been  toler- 
ated for  a  moment.  The  sole  chance  of  securing  to  the  Catholics  the  quiet 

enjoyment  of  their  faith  consisted  in  bestowing  a  like  liberty  on  the  Prot- 
estants —  a  policy,  indeed,  upon  which  Baltimore  had  found  it  necessary  to 

act  from  the  very  first  planting  of  the  colony.*^ 
McSherry  notes  also  a  limitation  on  the  principle  of  toleration  with  regard 

to  the  Jews :  "  Although  Maryland  was  the  original  home  of  religious  liberty 
in  America,  yet  until  the  year  1826  no  Jew  was  allowed  to  hold  any  office, 
civil  or  military,  under  the  state  government.  The  history  of  the  agitation 
for  the  enfranchisement  of  the  Jews  is  an  interesting  record  of  the  struggle  for 
a  right  which  to-day  is  so  manifest  that  it  is  difficult  to  appreciate  the  groimds 
for  its  denial  at  the  time.  In  fact,  the  basis  of  such  denial  was  prejudice. 
Finally,  at  the  end  of  the  session  of  1824,  a  bill  to  alter  the  constitution  so  as  to 
afford  relief  to  persons  from  political  disqualification  on  account  of  their  religi- 

ous opinions  again  passed  the  assembly.  The  bill  was  ratified  by  the  assembly 

of  1825,  and  by  it  the  Jews  attained  the  status  of  free  men  in  Maryland."  ̂  
None  the  less  the  very  idea  of  toleration  was  so  rare  that  the  attitude  in 

Maryland,  even  if  incomplete,  has  won  the  highest  praise  of  historians, 
among  whom  Bancroft  is  especially  enthusiastic." 

GEOEGE  BANCROFT  ON  THE  CIVIL  AND  RELIGIOUS  LIBERTIES  OF  MARYLAND 

George  Calvert  the  first  Lord  Baltimore  deserves  to  be  ranked  among  the 
most  wise  and  benevolent  lawgivers  of  all  ages.  He  was  the  first  in  the  history 
of  the  Christian  world  to  seek  for  religious  security  and  peace  by  the  practice 
of  justice,  and  not  by  the  exercise  of  power;  to  plan  the  establishment  of 
popular  institutions  with  the  enjoyment  of  liberty  of  conscience;  to  advance 
the  career  of  civilisation  by  recognising  the  rightful  equality  of  all  Christian 
sects.  The  asylum  of  papists  was  the  spot,  where,  in  a  remote  corner  of  the 
world,  on  the  banks  of  rivers  which,  as  yet,  had  hardly  been  explored,  the  mild 
forbearance  of  a  proprietary  adopted  religious  freedom  as  the  basis  of  the 
state. 

Before  the  patent  could  be  finally  adjusted  and  pass  the  great  seal.  Sir 
George  Calvert  died,  in  1632,  leaving  a  name  against  which  the  breath  of 

salumny  has  hardly  whispered  a  reproach.    The  people  of  Maryland  were  not 
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content  with  vindicating  the  limits  of  their  province;  they  were  jealous  of 
their  liberties.  The  charter  had  secured  to  them  the  right  of  advising  and 
approving  in  legislation.  Did  Lord  Baltimore  alone  possess  the  right  of  origi- 

nating laws?  The  people  of  Maryland  rejected  the  code  which  the  proprietary, 
as  if  holding  the  exclusive  privilege  of  proposing  statutes,  had  prepared  for 
their  government;  and,  asserting  their  equal  rights  of  legislation,  they,  in 
turn,  enacted  a  body  of  laws,  which  they  proposed  for  the  assent  of  the  pro- 

prietary —  so  uniformly  active  in  America  was  the  spirit  of  popular  liberty. 
How  discreetly  it  was  exercised  cannot  now  be  known;  for  the  laws,  which 
were  then  enacted,  were  never  ratified,  and  are  therefore  not  to  be  found  in 
the  provincial  records. 

In  the  early  history  of  the  United  States  nothing  is  more  remarkable  than 
the  uniform  attachment  of  each  colony  to  its  franchises;  and  popular  assemb- 

lies burst  everywhere  into  life  with  a  consciousness  of  their  importance,  and 
an  immediate  capacity  for  efficient  legislation.  The  first  assembly  of  Mary- 

land had  vindicated  the  jurisdiction  of  the  colony;  the  second  had  asserted 

its  claims  to  original  legislation*  the  third  examined  its  obligations,  and, 
though  not  all  its  acts  were  carried  through  the  forms  essential  to  their  valid- 

ity, it  yet  displayed  the  spirit  of  the  people  and  the  times  by  framing  a  declara- 
tion of  rights.  Acknowledging  the  duty  of  allegiance  to  the  English  monarch, 

and  securing  to  Lord  Baltimore  his  prerogatives,  it  likewise  confirmed  to  the 
inhabitants  of  Maryland  all  the  liberties  which  an  Englishman  can  enjoy  at 
home;  established  a  system  of  representative  government;  and  asserted  for 
the  general  assemblies  in  the  province  all  such  powers  as  may  be  exercised  by 
the  commons  of  England.  Indeed,  throughout  the  whole  colonial  legislation 
of  Maryland,  the  body  representing  the  people,  in  its  support  of  the  interests 
and  civil  liberties  of  the  province,  was  never  guilty  of  timidity  or  treachery. 

It  is  strange  that  religious  bigotry  could  ever  stain  the  statute-book  of  a 
colony  founded  on  the  basis  of  the  freedom  of  conscience.  An  apprehension 
of  some  remote  danger  of  persecution  seems  even  then  to  have  hovered  over  the 
minds  of  the  Roman  Catholics ;  and,  at  the  session  of  1639,  they  secured  to 
their  church  its  rights  and  liberties.  Those  rights  and  those  liberties,  it  is 
plain  from  the  charter,  could  be  no  more  than  the  tranquil  exercise  of  the 
Roman  worship.  The  constitution  had  not  yet  attained  a  fixed  form;  thus 
far  it  had  been  a  species  of  democracy  imder  a  hereditary  patriarch.  The  act 
constituting  the  assembly  marks  the  transition  to  a  representative  govern- 

ment. At  this  session  any  freeman,  who  had  taken  no  part  in  the  election, 
might  attend  in  person;  henceforward,  the  governor  might  summon  his  friends 

by  special  writ;  while  the  people  were  to  choose  as  many  delegates  as  "the 
freemen  should  think  good."  As  yet  there  was  no  jealousy  of  power,  no  strife 
for  place.  While  these  laws  prepared  a  frame  of  government  for  future  gen- 

erations, we  are  reminded  of  the  feebleness  and  poverty  of  the  state,  where  the 

whole  people  were  obliged  to  contribute  to  "the  setting  up  of  a  watermill." 
Maryland,  at  that  day,  was  unsurpassed  for  happiness  and  liberty.  Con- 

science was  without  restraint;  a  mild  and  liberal  proprietary  conceded  every 
measure  which  the  welfare  of  the  colony  required;  domestic  union,  a  happy 
concert  between  all  the  branches  of  government,  an  increasing  immigration,  a 
productive  commerce,  a  fertile  soil,  richly  favoured  with  rivers  and  deep  bays, 
united  to  perfect  the  scene  of  colonial  felicity  and  contentment.  Ever  intent 
on  advancing  the  interests  of  his  colony,  Lord  Baltimore,  in  1642,  had  invited 
the  Puritans  of  Massachusetts  to  emigrate  to  Maryland,  offering  them  lands 

and  privileges,  and  "  free  liberty  of  religion  "  ;  but  Gibbons,  to  whom  he  had 
forwarded  a  commission,  was  "  so  wholly  tutored  m  the  New  England  disci- 
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pline"  that  he  would  not  advance  the  wishes  of  the  Irish  peer;  and  the  people who  subsequently  refused  Jamaica  and  Ireland  were  not  now  tempted  to 
desert  the  bay  of  Massachusetts  for  the  Chesapeake. 

The  controversy  between  the  king  and  the  parliament  advanced;  the  over- 
throw of  the  monarchy  seemed  about  to  confer  unlimited  power  in  England 

upon  the  Lmbittered  enemies  of  the  Romish  church;  and,  as  if  with  a  foresight 
of  impending  danger,  and  an  earnest  desire  to  stay  its  approach,  the  Roman 
Catholics  of  Maryland,  with  the  earnest  concurrence  of  their  governor  and  of 
the  proprietary,  determined  to  place  upon  their  statue-book  an  act  for  the 
religious  freedom  which  had  ever  been  sacred  on  their  soil.  "  And  whereas  the 
enforcing  of  the  conscience  in  matters  of  religion"  —  such  was  the  sublime 
tenor  of  a  part  of  the  statute  —  "  hath  frequently  fallen  out  to  be  of  dangerous 
consequence  in  those  commonwealths  where  it  has  been  practised,  and  for  the 
more  quiet  and  peaceable  government  of  this  province,  and  the  better  to  pre- 

serve mutual  love  and  amity  among  the  inhabitants,  no  person  within  this 
province,  professing  to  believe  in  Jesus  Christ,  shall  be  any  ways  troubled, 
molested,  or  discountenanced,  for  his  or  her  religion,  or  in  the  free  exercise 

thereof."  The  clause  for  liberty  in  Maryland  extended  only  to  Christians 
and  was  introduced  by  the  proviso,  that  "  whatsoever  person  shaU  blaspheme 
God,  or  shall  deny  or  reproach  the  Holy  Trinity,  or  any  of  the  three  persons 
thereof,  shall  be  punished  with  death."  Nowhere  in  the  United  States  is 
rehgious  opinion  now  deemed  a  proper  subject  for  penal  enactments. 

The  design  of  the  law  of  Maryland  was  undoubtedly  to  protect  freedom  of 
conscience;  and,  some  years  after  it  had  been  confirmed,  Langford  the  apolo- 

gist of  Lord  Baltimore,  could  assert  that  his  government,  in  conformity  with 
his  strict  and  repeated  injunctions,  had  never  given  disturbance  to  any  person 
in  Maryland  for  matter  of  religion;  that  the  colonists  enjoyed  freedom  of  con- 

science, not  less  than  freedom  of  person  and  estate,  as  amply  as  ever  any 
people  in  any  place  of  the  world.  The  disfranchised  friends  of  prelacy  from 
Massachusetts,  and  the  Puritans  from  Virginia,  were  welcomed  to  equal  liberty 
of  conscience  and  political  rights  in  the  Roman  Catholic  province  of  Maryland. 

An  equal  imion  prevailed  between  aU  branches  of  the  government  in 
explaining  and  confirming  the  civU  liberties  of  the  colony.  In  1642  Robert 
Vaughan,  in  the  name  of  the  rest  of  the  burgesses,  had  desired  that  the  house 
might  be  separated,  and  thus  a  negative  secured  to  the  representatives  of  the 
people.  Before  1649  this  change  had  taken  place;  and  it  was  confirmed  by  a 
statute.  A  perpetual  act  declared  that  no  tax  should  be  levied  upon  the  free- 

men of  the  province,  except  by  the  vote  of  their  deputies  in  a  general  assembly. 
"The  strength  of  the  proprietary"  was  confidently  reposed  "in  the  affections 
of  his  people."  Well  might  the  freemen  of  Maryland  place  upon  their  records 
a  declaration  of  their  gratitude,  "as  a  memorial  to  all  posterities,"  and  a  pledge 
that  succeeding  generations  would  faithfully  "remember"  the  care  and  indus- 

try of  Lord  Baltimore  in  advancing  "the  peace  and  happiness  of  the  colony." 

MAKYLAND  UNDER  THE  LONG  PARLIAMENT  AND  THE  COMMONWEALTH 

The  revolutions  in  England  could  not  but  affect  the  destinies  of  the  colonies; 
and  while  New  England  and  Virginia  vigorously  advanced  their  liberties  under 
the  salutary  neglect,  Maryland  was  involved  in  the  miseries  of  a  disputed 
government.  The  government,  which  had  been  a  government  of  benevolence, 
good  order,  and  toleration,  was,  by  the  force  of  circumstances,  soon  abandoned 
to  the  misrule  of  bigotry  and  the  anarchy  of  a  disputed  sovereignty.    When 
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the  throne  and  the  peerage  had  been  subverted  in  England,  it  might  be  ques- 
tioned whether  the  mimic  monarchy  of  Lord  Baltimore  should  be  permitted 

to  continue.  When  hereditary  power  had  ceased  in  the  mother  country, 
might  it  properly  exist  in  the  colony?  It  seemed  uncertain,  if  the  proprietary 
comd  rnaintain  his  position;  and  the  scrupulous  Puritans  hesitated  to  take  an 
unqualified  oath  of  fealty,  with  which  they  might  bo  unable  to  comply. 
Englishmen  were  no  longer  lieges  of  a  sovereign,  but  members  of  a  common- 

wealth; and,  but  for  the  claims  of  Baltimore,  Maryland  would  equally  enjoy 
the  benefits  of  repubUcan  hberty.  Great  as  was  the  temptation  to  assert 
independence,  it  would  not  have  prevailed  could  the  peace  of  the  province 
have  been  maintained.  But  who,  it  might  well  be  asked,  was  the  sovereign 

of  Maryland?  Her  "  beauty  and  extraordinary  goodness"  had  been  to  her  a 
fatal  dowry;  and  Maryland  was  claimed  by  four  separate  aspirants.  Virginia 
was  ever  ready  to  revive  its  rights  to  jurisdiction  beyond  the  Potomac,  and 
Clayborne  had  already  excited  attention  by  his  persevering  opposition; 
Charles  II,  incensed  against  Lord  Baltimore  for  his  adhesion  to  the  rebels ' 
and  his  toleration  of  schismatics,  had  issued  a  commission  to  Sir  William 
Davenant;  Stone  was  the  active  deputy  of  Lord  Baltimore;  and  parliament 
had  already  appointed  its  commissioners. 

In  the  ordinance  for  the  reduction  of  the  rebellious  colonies,  Maryland  had 
not  been  included;  if  Charles  II  had  been  inconsiderately  proclaimed  by  a 
temporary  officer,  the  offence  had  been  expiated ;  and,  as  assurances  had  been 
given  of  the  fidelity  of  Stone  to  the  commonwealth,  no  measures  against  his 
authority  were  designed.  Yet  the  commissioners  were  instructed,  September, 

1651,  to  reduce  "all  the  plantations  within  the  bay  of  the  Chesapeake";  and 
it  must  be  allowed  that  Clayborne  might  find  in  the  ambiguous  phrase, 
intended,  perhaps,  to  include  only  the  settlements  of  Virginia,  a  sufficient 
warrant  to  stretch  his  authority  to  Maryland.  The  commissioners  accord- 

ingly entered  the  province;  and,  after  much  altercation  with  Stone,  depriving 
him  of  his  commission  from  Lord  Baltimore,  and  changing  the  officers  of  the 
province,  they  at  last  established  a  compromise,  June,  1652.  Stone,  with 
three  of  his  council,  was  permitted  to  retain  the  executive  power  till  further 
instructions  should  arrive  from  England. 

The  dissolution  of  the  Long  Parliament,  April,  1653,  threatened  a  change 
in  the  political  condition  of  Maryland;  for,  it  was  argued,  the  only  authority 
under  which  Bennett  and  Clayborne  had  acted  had  expired  with  the  body 
from  which  it  was  derived.  In  consequence.  Stone,  Hatton  and  his  friends 
reinstated  the  rights  of  Lord  Baltimore  in  their  integrity;  displacing  all  offi- 

cers of  the  contrary  party,  they  introduced  the  old  council,  and  declared  the 
condition  of  the  colony,  as  settled  by  Bennett  and  Clayborne,  to  have  been  a 
state  of  rebellion.  A  railing  proclamation  to  that  effect  was  published  to  the 
Puritans  in  their  church  meeting. 

The  measures  were  rash  and  ill  advised.  No  sooner  did  Clayborne  and 
his  colleague  learn  of  the  new  revolution,  than  they  hastened  to  Maryland,  in 

['  When  Leonard  Calvert  died,  June  9th,  1647,  he  had  named  on  his  deathbed,  a  Catholic 
named  Thomas  Greene,  as  his  successor.  Greene  issued  an  amnesty  to  all  rebels  except  Ingle. 

The  assembly  of  January,  1648,  is  notable  for  the  first  demand  for  woman's  rights.  Miss  Mar- 
garet Brent,  administratrix  for  the  late  Governor  Calvert  and  thereby  attorney  for  Lord  Balti- 
more, asked  for  a  vote  in  the  assembly  as  attorney  for  the  proprietary,  and  for  another  vote  for 

herself.  The  assembly  refused  her  demand  but  later  defended  her  administration. when  Lord 
Baltimore  called  it  into  question.  Baltimore  tried  to  conciliate  both  Puritans  and  Catholics  and 
in  August,  1648,  supplanted  Greene  by  William  Stone,  a  Protestant,  a  Virginian  and  an  adherent 
of  parliament ;  new  councillors  were  appointed  from  Protestant  ranks  but  required  to  take  an 
oath  not  to  molest  the  Catholics.] 
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July,  1654;  where  it  was  immediately  obvious  that  they  could  be  met  by  no 
effectual  resistance.  Unable  to  persuade  Stone,  "  in  a  peaceable  and  loving 
way,"  to  abandon  the  claims  of  Lord  Baltimore,  they  yet  compelled  him  to 
surrender  his  commission  and  the  government  into  their  hands.  This  being 
done,  Clayborne  and  Bennett  appointed  a  board  of  ten  commissioners,  to 
whom  the  administration  of  Maryland  was  entrusted. 

Intolerance  followed  upon  this  arrangement;  for  parties  had  necessarily 
become  identified  with  religious  sects;  and  Maryland  itself  was  the  prize  con- 

tended for.  The  Puritans,  ever  the  friends  of  popular  liberty,  hostile  to  mon- 
archy, and  equally  so  to  a  hereditary  proprietary,  contended  earnestly  for 

every  civil  liberty;  but  had  neither  the  gratitude  to  respect  the  rights  of  the 
government,  by  which  they  had  been  received  and  fostered,  nor  magnanimity 
to  continue  the  toleration,  to  which  alone  they  were  indebted  for  their  residence 
in  the  colony.  A  new  assembly,  convened  at  Patuxent,  in  October,  acknowl- 

edged the  authority  of  Cromwell;  but  it  also  exasperated  the  whole  Roman 
party  by  their  wanton  disfranchisement.  An  act  concerning  religion  con- 

firmed the  freedom  of  conscience,  provided  the  liberty  were  not  extended  to 

"popery,  prelacy,  or  licentiousness"  of  opinion.  Yet  Cromwell,  a  friend  to 
religious  toleration,  and  willing  that  the  different  sects,  "  like  the  cedar,  and 
the  myrtle,  and  the  oil-tree,  should  be  planted  in  the  wilderness  together," 
never  approved  the  ungrateful  decree.  He  commanded  the  commissioners 

"not  to  busy  themselves  about  religion,  but  to  settle  the  civil  government." 
When  the  proprietary  heard  of  these  proceedings,  he  felt  indignant  at  the 

want  of  firmness  which  his  lieutenant  had  displayed.  The  pretended  assem- 
bly was  esteemed  "illegal,  mutinous  and  usurped";  and  Lord  Baltimore  and 

his  officers  determined,^under  the  powers  which  the  charter  conferred,  to  vindi- 
cate his  supremacy.  In  the  latter  end  of  January,  1655,  on  the  arrival  of  a 

friendly  ship,  it  was  immediately  noised  abroad  that  his  patent  had  been  con- 
firmed by  the  protector;  and  orders  began  again  to  be  issued  for  the  entire 

restoration  of  his  authority.  Papists  and  others  were  commissioned  by  Stone 
to  raise  men-in-arms;  and  the  leaders  of  this  new  revolution  were  able  to  sur- 

prise and  get  possession  of  the  provincial  records.  They  marched,  also,  from 
Patuxent  towards  Anne  Arundel,  the  chief  seat  of  the  republicans,  who 
insisted  on  naming  it  Providence.  The  inhabitants  of  Providence  and  their 
partisans  gathered  together  with  the  zeal  that  belongs  to  the  popular  party 
and  with  the  courage  in  which  Puritans  were  never  deficient.  Vain  were 
proclamations,  promises,  and  threats.  The  party  of  Stone  was  attacked  and 
utterly  discomfited;  he  himself,  with  others,  was  taken,  and  would  have  been 
put  to  death  but  for  the  respect  and  affection  borne  him  by  some  among  the 
insurgents  whom  he  had  formerly  welcomed  to  Maryland.  He  was  kept  a 
prisoner  during  most  of  the  administration  of  Cromwell;  while  four  of  the 
principal  men  of  the  province  sentenced  t.o  death  by  a  council  of  war,  were 
presently  executed. 

A  friend  to  Lord  Baltimore,  then  in  the  province,  begged  of  the  protector 
no  other  boon  than  that  he  would  "  condescend  to  settle  the  country  by  declar- 

ing his  determinate  wiU."  And  yet  the  same  causes  which  led  Cromwell  to 
neglect  the  internal  concerns  of  Virginia  compelled  him  to  pay  but  little  atten- 

tion to  the  disturbances  in  Maryland.  On  the  one  hand,  he  respected  the 
rights  of  property  of  Lord  Baltimore;  on  the  other,  he  protected  his  own 
political  partisans,  corresponded  with  his  commissioners,  and  expressed  no 
displeasure  at  their  exercise  of  power.  The  right  to  the  jurisdiction  of  Mary- 

land remained,  therefore,  a  disputed  question.  Fuller,  Preston,  and  the  others, 
appointed  by  Clayborne,  actually  possessed  authority;  while  Lord  Baltimore, 
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with  the  apparent  sanction  of  the  protector,  July  10th,  1656,  commissioned 
Josias  Fendall  to  appear  as  his  lieutenant. 

For  a  season  there  was  a  divided  rule;  Fendall  was  acknowledged  by  the 
Catholic  party  in  the  city  of  St.  Marys;  and  the  commissioners  were  sustained 
by  the  Puritans  of  St.  Leonards.;  At  length,  the  conditions  of  a  compromise 
were  settled;  and  the  government  of  the  whole  province  was  surrendered  to 
the  agent  of  the  proprietary,  March  24,  1658.  Permission  to  retain  arms;  an 
indemnity  for  arrears;  relief  from  the  oath  of  fealty;  and  a  confirmation  of 
the  acts  and  orders  of  the  recent  Puritan  assemblies  —  these  were  the  terms 
of  the  surrender,  and  prove  the  influence  of  the  Puritans. 

Fendall  was  a  weak  and  impetuous  man;  but  we  cannot  find  any  evidence 
that  his  administration  was  stained  by  injustice.  Most  of  the  statutes  enacted 
during  his  government  were  thought  worthy  of  being  perpetuated.  The 
death  of  Cromwell  left  the  condition  of  England  uncertain,  and  might  well 
diffuse  a  gloom  through  the  counties  of  Maryland.  For  ten  years  the  unhappy 
province  had  been  distracted  by  dissensions,  of  which  the  root  had  consisted 
in  the  claims  that  Baltimore  had  always  asserted,  and  had  never  been  able  to 
establish.  What  should  now  be  done?  England  was  in  a  less  settled  condi- 

tion than  ever.  Would  the  son  of  Cromwell  permanently  hold  the  place  of  his 
father?  Would  Charles  II  be  restored?  Did  new  revolutions  await  the 
colony?  new  strifes  with  Virginia,  the  protector,  the  proprietary,  the  king? 

Wearied  with  long  convulsions,  a  general  assembly  saw  no  security  but  in 
asserting  the  power  of  the  people,  and  constituting  the  government  on  the 
expression  of  their  will.  Accordingly,  March  12th,  1660,  just  one  day  before 
that  memorable  session  of  Virginia,  when  the  people  of  the  Ancient  Dominion 
adopted  a  similar  system  of  independent  legislation,  the  representatives  of 
Maryland,  convened  in  the  house  of  Robert  Slye,  voted  themselves  a  lawful 
assembly,  without  dependence  on  any  other  power  in  the  province.  The  bur- 

gesses of  Virginia  had  assumed  to  themselves  the  election  of  the  council;  the 
burgesses  of  Maryland  refused  to  acknowledge  the  rights  of  the  body  claiming 
to  be  an  upper  house.  In  Virginia,  Berkeley  yielded  to  the  public  will;  in 
Maryland,  FendaU  permitted  the  power  of  the  people  to  be  proclaimed.  The 
representatives  of  Maryland,  having  thus  successfully  settled  the  government, 
and  hoping  for  tranquillity  after  years  of  storms,  passed  an  act,  making  it 
felony  to  disturb  the  order  which  they  had  established.  No  authority  would 
henceforward  be  recognised,  except  the  assembly  and  the  king  of  England. 
The  light  of  peace  promised  to  dawn  upon  the  province.  Thus  was  Maryland, 
like  Virginia,  at  the  epoch  of  the  restoration,  in  full  possession  of  liberty,  based 
upon  the  practical  assertion  of  the  sovereignty  of  the  people.  Like  Virginia, 
it  had  so  nearly  completed  its  institutions  that,  till  the  epoch  of  its  final 
separation  from  England,  it  hardly  made  any  further  advances  towards  free- 

dom and  independence.  Men  love  liberty,  even  if  it  be  turbulent;  and  the 
colony  had  increased,  and  flourished,  and  grown  rich,  in  spite  of  domestic 
dissensions.  Its  population,  in  1660,  is  variously  estimated  by  Fuller »  at 
eieht  thousand,  and  by  Chalmers '  at  twelve  thousand.*' 



CHAPTER  VI 

THE  FOUNDING  OF  NEW  ENGLAND 

[1607-1635  A.D.] 

That  group  of  liberal  English  statesmen  who  were  charged  with 

keeping  "  a  school  of  sedition  "  in  the  courts  of  the  Virginia  Com- 
pany founded  the  two  centres  of  liberal  institutions  in  America.  The 

earl  of  Southampton,  the  Ferrars,  Sir  John  Dauvers,  and  above  all 
and  more  than  all,  Sir  Edwin  Sandys,  were  the  fathers  of  representa- 

tive government  in  New  England  by  the  charter  of  February  3nd, 
1630,  as  they  had  been  of  representative  government  in  Virginia  by 
the  charter  of  November  13th,  1618.  When  the  Pilgrims  found  them- 

selves, upon  landing,  too  far  north  to  use  their  ' '  large  patent  "  from 
the  Virginia  Company,  they  organised  a  government  on  the  lines  laid 
down  in  the  general  order  of  the  company.  The  government  estab- 

lished by  them  in  their  famous  compact  was  precisely  the  provisional 
government  which  the  Virginia  Company  in  the  preceding  February 

had  given  them  liberty  to  found  "  till  a  form  of  government  be  here 
settled  for  them." — Edwakd  Eqglbston.  <> 

EARLY   FAILUEES   IN   COLONISATION:     THE   PLYMOUTH  COMPANY 

We  have  seen  in  previous  chapters  the  earlier  views  of  New  England  by 
European  eyes,  from  the  Norse  who  may  have  described  it  in  their  sagas  of 

Vinland,  down  to  Gosnold  who  on  May  15th,  1602,  found  a  "  mighty  head- 
land" which  he  named  after  its  principal  neighbours  "Cape  Cod,"  a  name 

which,  says  Cotton  Mather ,«  "  I  suppose  it  will  never  lose  till  shoals  of  cod- 
fish be  seen  swimming  upon  the  tops  of  its  highest  hills."  Here  they  landed 

and  the  first  soil  touched  upon  in  Massachusetts  by  an  Englishman  became 
also  the  spot  where  the  Mayflower  landed  the  first  permanent  English  colony 
in  the  state. 

Pring's  voyage  followed  the  next  year,  but  effected  nothing  permanent; 
nor  did  that  of  Weymouth  in  1605.    We  have  seen  the  formation  of  the  two 
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companies  (or  as  Thwaites'*  insists,  the  single  company  in  two  divisions) 
known  as  the  London  or  South  Virginia  compajiy,  and  the  Plymouth  or 
North  Virginia  company.  They  were  given  an  identical  charter  by  King 
James  I  in  1606  to  colonise  that  vast  and  shapeless  land  claimed  by  England 
under  the  style  and  title  of  Virginia." 

The  Northern  District  was  allotted  to  Thomas  Hanham,  Raleigh  Gilbert, 
William  Parker,  George  Popham,  and  their  associates,  knights,  gentlemen,  and 
merchants,  of  Exeter,  Plymouth,  and  other  towns  of  the  west  of  England, 
with  similar  privileges,  and  a  like  grant  of  territorial  sovereignty  and  domain. 
The  First  Company,  by  far  the  most  opulent,  was  permitted  to  begin  its  plan- 

tation at  any  place  below  the  forty-first  degree  of  North  latitude;  and  the 
Second  Company,  which  was  much  the  poorer  of  the  two,  anywhere  above 
the  thirty-eighth  degree:  and  the  intermediate  space  was  left  open  to  both, 
though  to  prevent  interference  it  was  stipulated  that  the  colony  last  planted 
should  not  begin  a  settlement  within  one  hundred  miles  of  that  first  planted. 

The  government  of  these  colonies  was  vested  (1)  in  a  council  of  thirteen, 
resident  in  England,  approved  by  and  removable  at  the  pleasure  of  the  king, 
who  were  to  have  paramount  jurisdiction  according  to  laws  given  under  his 
sign-manual;  and  (2)  in  two  subordinate  councils,  each  of  thirteen  members, 
resident  in  America,  and  nominated  by  the  king,  who  were  to  rule  and  manage 
the  internal  affairs  of  each  colony  agreeably  to  his  instructions.  The  charter 
conceded  to  all  the  colonists  the  rights  of  citizens  of  the  realm,  and  the  privi- 

lege of  holding  their  lands  by  the  freest  and  least  burdensome  tenure;  all 
things  necessary  for  their  subsistence  and  commerce  were  to  be  free  of  duty 
for  seven  years;  and  all  duties  levied  on  foreign  conamodities  for  twenty-one 
years  were  to  constitute  a  fund  for  their  particular  benefit.  Authority  was 
also  given  to  coin  money,  and  expel  intruders  as  occasion  required. 

We  have  given  at  length  an  abstract  of  this  charter,  because  of  its  bearings 
upon  the  history  of  New  England.  That  it  was  hberal  for  the  age  may  pos- 

sibly be  true;  yet  its  provisions  were  the  product  of  but  a  limited  experience, 
and  the  instrument  itself  contained  exceptionable  features,  for  by  it,  as  Chal- 

mers «  says, "  the  most  ancient  colonists  were  placed  under  the  regimen  of  a 
three-fold  jurisdiction;  they  were  subject  equally  to  the  personal  power  of 
their  sovereign,  to  the  distant  regulations  of  a  commercial  company,  and  to 
the  immediate  government  of  a  president  and  council,  without  tasting  the 

pleasures  of  suffrage,  or  enjoying  the  importance  of  self-legislation." 
Under  all  the  circumstances,  however,  the  charter  was  as  good  as  could 

have  been  reasonably  expected.  The  enterprise  was  a  new  one.  England 
had  but  just  entered  upon  her  career  of  deducing  colonies  abroad.  The  few 
abortive  efforts  of  the  past  had  done  little  to  enlighten  her  judgment.  And 
it  needed  that  she  should  be  taught  by  the  results  of  her  future  movements 
the  defectiveness  of  her  policy,  and  wherein  it  needed  amendment  for  her 
own  good,  and  the  good  of  her  several  dependencies.  These  lessons  were 
slowly  learned;  all  favours  were  grudgingly  conceded;  and  the  conflict  of 
interests  was  at  last  so  intolerable  that  not  only  were  the  colonists  compelled 
to  overstep  the  boundaries  of  their  charters,  but  the  monarch  was  compelled 
to  wink  at  such  irregularities,  or  run  the  risk  of  alienating  his  subjects  and 
destroying  the  settlements. 

Eight  months  from  the  issue  of  this  patent  and  one  hundred  and  nine 
years  after  the  discovery  of  the  continent  by  Cabot,  i.e.,  on  December  19th, 
1606,  a  small  squadron  of  three  ships  —  the  largest  not  exceeding  one  hundred 
tons  burden  —  was  sent  by  the  London  Company,  under  Captain  Newport, 
a  distinguished  naval  officer,  with  one  hundred  and  five  colonists,  including 
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the  members  of  a  colonial  council,  to  the  coast  of  South  Virginia;  and  in  the 
following  spring,  after  many  obstacles  encountered,  and  amidst  jealousies  and 
dissensions,  a  settlement  was  effected,  as  we  have  seen,  upon  the  peninsula 
of  Jamestown,  of  which  but  the  ruins  at  present  remain. 

Nearly  at  the  same  time  a  similar  enterprise  was  projected  by  the  Ply- 
mouth Company,  under  more  discouraging  circumstances,  owing  to  its  pov- 

erty, and  on  May  31st,  1607,  two  ships  —  the  Gijt  of  God  and  the  Mary  and 
John — with  a  few  over  a  hundred  landsmen,  were  despatched  under  Raleigh 
Gilbert,  a  nephew  of  Sir  Walter  Raleigh,  and  George  Popham,  the  brother  of 
the  chief  justice;  but  the  result  was  the  unfortunate  colony  at  Sagadahoc' 
The  fate  of  this  attempt,  with  the  doleful  reports  of  the  inhospitableness  of 
the  climate  circulated  by  the  emigrants  to  cover  their  cowardice  checked  for 
a  season  the  ardour  of  the  company;  though  Sir  Ferdinando  Gorges,  and  Sir 
Francis  Popham,  the  son  of  the  chief  justice  — the  former  of  whom  was  never 
dismayed  —  continued  sending  vessels  to  the  coast,  and  spent  large  sums  in efforts  at  colonisation. 

Meanwhile,  under  the  auspices  of  the  Dutch,  discoveries  were  made  by 
Henry  Hudson,  Hendrick  Christiaensen,  Adrian  Block,  and  others,  at  the 
charge  of  prominent  merchants  of  Amsterdam,  who  derived  great  profits  from 
the  furs  brought  home  by  the  vessels  in  their  employ.  Explorations  were 

vigorously  prosecuted  around  ''Manhattan"  by  Block,  in  the  Restless;  and 
the  discovery  of  the  island  which  bears  his  name,  and  the  three  famous  rivers, 
the  Housatonic,  the  Thames,  and  the  Connecticut,  with  Long  Island  and  Rhode 
Island  are  said  to  have  been  the  fruits  of  his  energetic  enterprise.  Even 
the  shores  of  Massachusetts  as  far  as  Nahant  were  visited  by  this  navigator, 
and  names  were  given  to  places  discovered  by  Gosnold  and  others.  It  should 
be  noticed  that  the  territory  embraced  in  the  Dutch  charter  of  1614  was 
claimed  by  England,  and  was  included  in  the  patent  to  the  Virginia  Com- 

pany; the  settlements  of  the  Dutch  were  ever  regarded  as  intrusions;  the 
controversies  growing  out  of  these  claims  disturbed  for  a  long  time  the  peace 
of  the  colonies;  nor  were  they  permanently  adjusted  until  after  the  reduction 
of  New  Netherlands  in  1664. 

JOHN  smith's  explorations   (1614  A.D.) 

A  new  era  in  the  annals  of  New  England  begins  with  the  voyages  of  Cap- 
tain John  Smith,  president  of  the  colonial  council  of  South  Virginia.  Fur- 

nished, principally  at  the  charge  of  four  private  gentlemen,  with  an  outfit  of 
two  vessels  and  a  company  of  forty-nine  men  and  boys,  he  sailed  from  London 
March  3rd,  1614,  and  in  a  few  weeks  arrived  at  Monhegan,  where  he  imme- 

diately entered  upon  the  chief  business  of  his  voyage:  "  to  take  whales,  and 
make  trials  of  a  mine  of  gold  and  copper."  But  "  whale  fishing  "  proved  a 
"costly  conclusion";  the  "gold  mine"  was  a  chimera  of  the  brain  of  "the 
master";  and  fish  and  furs  became  the  last  resort.  "  Of  dry  fish,"  says 
Smith,/ "  we  made  about  forty-thousand,  of  codfish  about  seven  thousand  ";  * 
whilst  the  sailors  fished,  Captain  Smith  and  a  few  others  ranged  the  coast 
in  an  open  boat,  in  the  most  attractive  season  of  the  year,  making  noted  dis- 

coveries, and  purchasing,  "  for  trifles,  near  eleven  hundred  beaver  skins,'  one 
['  This  was  at  the  mouth  of  the  Kennebec  river,  which  Weymouth  had  explored  in  1605, 

not  far  from  Pemaquid  peninsula.  Popham  built  a  fort  and  a  "town"  at  Sabino,  but  both, were  abandoned  after  his  death.] 
'  In  his  Pathway  he  says  60,000 ;  but  in  his  Oenerall  Mistorie  and  his  Description  of  Nt/ut 

Ungland  he  says  40,000. 
'  It  is  11,000  in  the  OeneraU  Histories  and  1,100  in  the  other  works. 
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hundred  martens,  and  near  as  many  otters"  —  valued  in  all  at  £1,500. 
"With  these  furs,  the  train,  and  codfish,"  he  returned  to  England,  and  within 
six  months  '"arrived  safe  back"  —  the  other  ship  remaining  for  a  season  to 
"  fit  herself  for  Spain  with  the  dry  fish." 

In  this  remarkable  voyage  the  coast  was  explored  "from  Penobscot  to 
Cape  Cod,"  within  which  bounds,  he  says,  "  I  have  seen  at  least  forty  several 
habitations  upon  the  sea  coast,  and  sounded  about  twenty-five  excellent  good 
harbours,  in  many  whereof  there  is  anchorage  for  five  hundred  sails  of  ships 

of  any  burden,  in  some  of  them  for  five  thousand;  *  and  more  than  two  hun- 
dred^ isles  overgrown  with  good  timber  of  divers  sorts  of  woods."  Of  the 

coast  of  Massachusetts  he  says:  "  Who  can  but  approve  this  a  most  excellent 
place,  both  for  health  and  fertility?  And  of  all  the  four  parts  of  the  world 
that  I  have  yet  seen,  not  inhabited,  could  I  but  have  means  to  transport  a 
colony,  I  would  rather  live  here  than  anywhere.  And  if  it  did  not  maintain 

itself,  were  we  but  once  indifferently  well  fitted,  let  us  starve."  Indeed,  the 
Massachusetts  country,  to  him,  was  "  the  paradise  of  all  those  parts." 

But  though  Smith  acted  honourably  as  principal  of  this  expedition,  his 
companion  Hunt,  whom  he  left  behind,  vilely  copied  the  example  of  Wey- 

mouth, and  enticing  to  his  vessel  upwards  of  twenty  of  the  natives  under 
pretence  of  trade,  he  confined  them  in  the  hold,  and  sailed  for  Malaga,  where 

part  of  them,  at  least,  were  sold  as  slaves.  "This  barbarous  act,"  says 
Mather,"  "  was  the  unhappy  occasion  of  the  loss  of  many  a  man's  estate  and 
life,  which  the  barbarians  did  from  thence  seek  to  destroy;  and  the  English, 
in  consequence  of  this  treachery,  were  constrained  for  a  time  to  suspend  their 

trade,  and  abandon  their  project  of  a  settlement  in  New  England." 
The  prosperous  pecuniary  issue  of  the  first  voyage  of  Smith  awakened  in 

his  mind  an  earnest  desire  to  visit  again  the  delightful  regions  which  his  pen 
has  described;  and  imparting  his  views  to  Sir  Ferdinando  Gorges,  a  man  of 
kindred  enthusiasm,  and  to  Doctor  Sutcliffe,  dean  of  Exeter,  he  was,  after 
some  delay,  furnished  with  two  ships,  with  which  he  set  out  on  his  second 
voyage  (March,  1615) ;  but,  as  if  an  inexorable  fate  relentlessly  pursued  the 
persevering  Gorges,  the  largest  ship  was  disabled  ere  Smith  had  sailed  two 
hundred  leagues,  and  he  was  forced  to  return.  The  smaller  vessel,  com- 

manded by  Captain  Thomas  Dermer,  after  a  successful  voyage  of  five  months, 
returned  in  safety.  The  dauntless  Smith,  gathering  fresh  courage  from  the 
consciousness  of  difficulties,  renewed  his  attempt  (June  24th,  1615);  but 
misfortune  followed  misfortune,  until  it  seemed  as  if  everything  was  arrayed 
to  defeat  his  plans.  He  was  first  attacked  by  brutal  pirates;  then  taken 
prisoner  by  four  French  men-of-war,  stripped  of  everything,  and  detained 
three  months,  when  he  succeeded  in  escaping  "  far  beyond  all  men's  reason 
or  his  expectation." 

Forced  by  these  reverses,  and  by  the  discouragement  of  his  employers,  to 
relinquish  for  a  time  his  plans  of  colonisation,  the  restless  spirit  of  this  resolute 
man  could  not  be  content  to  remain  inactive;  and  publishing  to  the  world 
his  Description  of  New  England  in  1616,  he  traversed  the  kingdom  to  awaken 
an  interest  in  establishing  permanent  settlements  in  these  parts.  But  the 

only  result  of  his  earnest  labours  was  a  promise  that  "  twenty  saile  of  ships  " 
should  be  furnished  him  the  next  year;  and  "  in  regard  of  my  paines,  charge, and  former  losses,  the  westerne  commissioners  in  behalf  of  themselues  and 
the  rest  of  the  company,  and  them  hereafter  that  should  be  ioyned  to  them, 

'  It  is  5,000  in  the  Description  of  New  England,  but  1,000  in  his  other  works. 
*  It  is  200  in  tha  Otnerall  Hutorie  and  the  Description  of  New  Englwnd,  and  300  in  the 

PathiUia/y, 
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contracted  with  me  by  articles  indented  vnder  our  hands,  to  be  admirall  of 
that  country  during  my  life,  and  in  the  renewing  of  their  letters-patent  so  to 
be  nominated." ' 

DERMEr's  voyage    (1619  A.D.) 

Contemporary  events,  however,  unlooked  for  by  the  Plymouth  Council, 
were  preparing  New  England  for  successful  colonisation.  First  of  all  a  war 
broke  out  among  the  aborigines,  which  resulted  in  the  destruction  of  thou- 

sands of  the  Indians,  with  the  Great  Bashaba  at  their  head;  and  to  war  suc- 
ceeded pestilence  which  completed  the  work  of  depopulation.  This  singular 

disease,  says  Gorges,/  "the  greatest  that  ever  the  memory  of  father  to  son 
took  notice  of,"  spread  far  and  wide,  and  was  exceedingly  fatal.  It  raged, at  intervals,  for  more  than  two  years,  and  extended,  in  its  wasting  effects, 
from  the  borders  of  the  Tarratines  southward  to  the  Narragansetts.  The  peo-. 

pie  "  died  in  heaps,  insomuch  that  the  living  were  in  no  wise  able  to  bury  the' 
dead  ";  the  wigwams  were  filled  with  putrefying  corpses;  "  young  men  and 
children,  the  very  seeds  of  increase,"  and  whole  families  and  tribes  perished; 
and  even  seven  years  after  the  bones  of  the  unburied  lay  bleaching  upon  the 
ground  at  and  around  their  former  habitations. 

The  nature  of  this  epidemic  has  never  been  determined.  It  has  been 

called  the  "  small  pox,"  and  the  "  yellow  fever."  But  whatever  was  its  char- 
acter, all  were  not  equally  affected  by  its  ravages,  for  the  Penobscots  and  the 

Narragansetts  suffered  but  little.  Nor  does  it  seem  to  have  troubled  the  few 
English  residents  of  the  country. 

Learning  that  Captain  Dermer,  the  companion  of  Smith  in  the  voyage  of 
1615,  was  then  at  Newfoundland,  through  the  persuasion  of  Gorges  Captain 
Edward  Rocroft  was  sent  to  those  parts  in  1618  in  a  vessel  of  two  hundred 
tons,  with  orders  to  join  Dermer  in  exploring  the  coasts  of  New  England. 
His  men  conspired  to  rob  and  slay  him;  but  putting  the  mutineers  ashore  at 

"  Sawaguatock,"  he  sailed  to  Virginia,  where  he  had  lived  some  years  before, 
and  in  another  quarrel  he  was  killed,  and  his  bark  was  sunk  during  a  storm. 
Dermer,  learning  his  fate  by  a  ship  from  Virginia,  sent  his  own  vessel  to 
England,  laden  with  fish  and  furs,  and  embarked  in  an  open  pbnace  of  five 
tons  (May  26th,  1619),  taking  with  him  Tisquan  tumor  Squanto  —  the  sub- 

sequent friend  and  interpreter  of  the  Pilgrims  —  and  "  searching  every  har- 
bour, and  compassing  every  cape-land,"  he  arrived  at  length  in  the  neigh- bourhood of  what  is  now  Plymouth.  Returning  to  the  northward  the  ensuing 

spring  for  the  prosecution  of  his  discoveries,  in  the  vicinity  of  Cape  Cod  he 
was  beset  by  the  natives,  and  received  a  large  number  of  wounds  of  which 
he  subsequently  died.  This  journey  of  1619,  as  preceding  by  a  year  the  set- 

tlement of  Plymouth,  and  as  taken  in  the  territory  so  often  alluded  to  by  the 
Pilgrims  is  exceedingly  interesting.  It  was  an  important  addition  to  the 
knowledge  of  the  country,  and  prepared  the  way,  by  its  friendly  termination, 
for  the  hospitable  reception  of  the  Plymouth  colonists  by  the  generous  Mas- 
sasoit  and  his  brother  Quadequina,  whom  all  will  recognise  as  the  two  savage 
kings  alluded  to  in  the  narrative. 

THE  GREAT  PATENT  FOR  NEW  ENGLAND 

Eighteen  years  had  now  elapsed  since  the  discovery  of  Massachusetts  by 
the  enterprising  Gosnold,  and  as  yet  no  colony  was  planted  upon  its  territory. 

•  Prince'  and  Holmes''  quote  Purclias*  as  authority  for  a  voyage  undertaken  by  Smith  m 
1617;  but  we  find  no  notice  of  such  a  voyage  in  Smith's  own  writings. 
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The  settlements  to  the  north  were  more  successful,  and  m  Canada  and  New- 
foundland colonies  were  established,  and  children  had  been  bom.  To  the 

south,  also,  the  Dutch  had  thrown  up  slight  bulwarks  at  New  Netherlands, 
and  were  conducting  a  lucrative  trade  in  furs.  But  the  indefatigable  Gorges 
was  not  easily  baffled.  Application  was  made  to  the  king  for  a  charter. 
His  majesty,  who  was  at  this  time  highly  offended  with  the  members  of  the 
London  Council  for  their  bold  defiance  of  his  arbitrary  will,  readily  sanctioned 
their  request  for  a  patent.    But  two  years  elapsed  before  it  could  be  obtained. 

November  3rd,  1620,  the  Great  Patent  for  New  England  passed  the  seals. 
In  this  memorable  document,  the  principal  foundation  of  all  subsequent 
grants  of  territory  in  New  England,  his  majesty  conveyed  to  forty  of  his 
subjects  —  among  whom  were  the  most  powerful  and  wealthy  of  his  nobility 
— all  that  part  of  America  extending  from  the  40th  to  the  48th  degree  of 
North  latitude,  anc!  between  these  parallels  from  the  Atlantic  to  the  Pacific : 
a  body  of  land  embracing  the  Acadia  of  the  French,  and  the  New  Netherlands 
of  the  Dutch,  and  covering  nearly  the  whole  of  the  present  inhabited  British 
possessions  in  North  America,  all  New  England,  the  state  of  New  York,  half 
of  New  Jersey,  nearly  all  of  Pennsylvania,  and  the  vast  country  to  the  west 
— comprising,  and  at  the  time  believed  to  comprise,  more  than  a  million  of 
square  miles,  and  capable  of  sustaining  more  than  two  hundred  million  of 
inhabitants.* 

The  company  established  by  this  grant  was  to  be  known  as  "  the  council 
established  at  Plymouth,  in  the  county  of  Devon,  for  the  planting,  ruling, 

ordering,  and  governing  of  New  England  in  America."  Absolute  property 
in  the  soil,  unlimited  jurisdiction,  the  regulation  of  trade,  sole  powers  of 
legislation,  the  administration  of  justice,  and  the  appointment  of  all  officers 
were  among  the  privileges  conceded  by  his  majesty.  Subordinate  patents, 
vesting  property  in  the  soil,  could  be  granted  by  this  council,  but  it  could 
not  confer  powers  of  government  without  the  authority  and  consent  of  the 

king.^  In  other  respects  its  powers  were  complete.  The  lands  and  islands,  the 
rivers  and  harbours,  the  mines  and  fisheries  were  all  under  its  control.  None, 
without  leave,  could  buy  a  skin,  catch  a  fish,  or  build  a  hut.  It  was  a  com- 

mercial monopoly,  exclusive  and  despotic  —  a  corporation  potent  for  evil  or 
for  good. 

At  the  very  moment  this  charter  was  granted,  as  if  to  prove  that  without 
its  aid  more  could  be  accomplished  than  under  its  sanction,  a  solitary  bark 
—  the  forlorn  Mayflower — was  wending  its  way  wearily  across  the  Atlantic, 
bearing  in  its  bosom  a  resolute  band  of  one  hundred  men,  women,  and  chil- 

dren, who  were  to  become  the  founders  of  a  wide-spread  republic,  and  to  plant 
the  seeds  of  a  thriving  nation,  whose  destiny,  yet  unfolding,  futurity  alone 
can  fully  reveal. 

THE   PURITANS   AND  THE   SEPARATISTS   IN   ENGLAND 

To  appreciate  the  circumstances  which  led  to  the  settlement  of  Plymouth 
in  1620,  and  to  the  establishment  of  the  Massachusetts  colony  a  few  years 

'  Douglass*  says  this  patent  "  was  designedly  extended  much  north  and  south,  to  include 
and  keep  up  the  English  claims  to  New  Netherlands  in  possession  of  the  Dutch,  to  the  south- 

ward, and  to  L'Acadie,  since  called  Nova  Scotia,  then  in  possession  of  the  French,  to  the 
northward." 

'  This  fact  is  worthy  of  notice,  and  should  ever  be  hprne  in  mind  in  investigating  the 
history  of  New  England.  We  are  aware  it  has  been  asserted  that  the  council  could  confer  by 
grant  powers  similar  to  its  own;  but  this  was  denied  by  the  crown  lawyers,  and  must  therefore 
be  considered  as  doubtful. 
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later,  it  is  necessary  to  be  acquainted  with  the  history  of  religion  during  the 
preceding  hundred  years.  [This  can  be  found  traced  in  its  various  phases 
in  the  earlier  volumes,  especially  in  our  history  of  England,  where  the  rise  of 
Puritanism  and  its  protest  against  ritualism  have  been  described  in  much 
detail.] 

It  must  not  be  forgotten,  however,  in  defining  the  position  of  Puritanism 
in  the  reign  of  Elizabeth,  that  the  controversies  which  convulsed  the  king- 

dom were  not  wholly  confined  to  the  tippet  and  the  surplice,  the  square  cap 
and  the  liturgy.  The  Puritans  were  the  harbingers  of  a  political  as  well  as 
of  a  moral  revolution.  Doubtless  the  ultimate  tendency  of  their  views  was 
to  republicanism  rather  than  to  monarchy.  They  would  yield,  in  religion, 
nothing  arbitrarily  to  the  temporal  sovereign.  It  was  their  motto  that,  in 

church  matters  God's  word  was  the  guide.  And  though  they  cannot  be  prop- 
erly accused  of  open  disloyalty,  it  must  at  the  same  time  be  acknowledged 

that  their  loyalty  did  not  extend  so  far  as  to  approbate  the  doctrine  of  passive 
obedience.  And  because  the  church  and  the  state  were  considered  one  and 
inseparable,  and  the  unity  of  the  former  was  deemed  the  safety  of  the  latter, 
non-conformity  was  persecuted  on  the  plea  of  necessity. 

This  is  the  true  secret  of  the  opposition  of  the  English  church  to  Puritan- 
ism and  independency.  This  church  had  virtually  assumed  its  own  infalli- 

bility. It  had  driven  down  the  stakes  which  were  never  more  to  be  removed. 
It  had  interwoven  the  hierarchy  with  the  whole  temporal  constitution  of  the 
realm.  And  the  test  of  loyalty  was  undeviating  conformity  to  the  canons  of 
the  church,  and  implicit  obedience  to  the  mandates  of  the  crown.  The  church 
was  yet  in  its  infancy,  surroimded  by  subtle  foes.  The  state  was  trembling 
upon  the  verge  of  revolution.  And  the  instinct  of  self-preservation  prompted 
persecution  of  all  who  refused  to  put  forth  their  hands  to  aid  in  supporting 
the  ark  of  the  Lord  and  the  supremacy  of  the  crown. 

If  this,  however,  was  the  policy  of  the  government  of  England,  it  was  the 
natural  result  of  such  a  policy  to  beget,  on  the  part  of  the  Puritans,  an  attach- 

ment equally  strong  to  the  peculiarities  of  their  religious  system;  and  upon 
their  removal  to  America,  the  same  principle  of  self-defense  prompted  the 
caution  which  was  used  in  laying  the  foundations  of  their  infant  common- 

wealth, to  guard  it  with  jealous  watchfulness  against  the  aggressions  and 
encroachments  of  Episcopacy,  which  they  had  learned  to  mistrust,  and  to 
build  up  a  community  exclusively  of  their  own  faith,  as  in  England  non- 

conformity was  neither  tolerated  nor  allowed.  Puritanism,  notwithstanding 
its  errors  and  its  early  excesses,  contained  the  seminal  principles  of  true 
religious  toleration;  and  as  experience  enlightened  the  judgment  of  the  pro- 

fessors of  that  faith,  and  as  circumstances  sanctioned  the  adoption  of  a  more 
liberal  policy,  measures  were  promptly  taken  to  initiate  so  desirable  a  reform, 
and  the  world  is  now  reaping  the  fruits  of  Puritan  iconoclasm  and  asceticism. 

The  Puritans,  though  as  a  body  they  made  no  strenuous  objections  to 
the  lawfulness  of  ecclesiastical  government,  when  they  found  that  persecution 
continued  to  oppose  them,  that  reform  was  hopeless,  and  that  rule  or  ruin 
was  the  motto  of  the  day,  sent  forth  a  party  of  stern,  intrepid,  and  uncom- 

promising spirits,  who,  unawed,  but  baited  into  an  almost  savage  stubborn- 
ness and  hostility,  refused  longer  to  commune  with  a  church  many  of  whose 

ceremonies  were  reprobated,  and  whose  government  had  become  odious, 
intolerant,  and  oppressive. 

A  few  separate  congregations  were  formed  so  early  as  1567;  in  1570  Cart- 
wright  entered  the  field;  and  in  1572  the  "  first  born  of  all  presbyteries  "  was established  at  Wandsworth  in  Surrey.    But  it  was  not  until  nine  years  after 
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that  opposition  to  Episcopacy  and  its  concomitants  reached  its  culminating 
point.  In  1581  a  new  sect  made  its  appearance,  at  first  called  Brownists, 
from  Robert  Brown,  its  earliest  advocate,  who  had  been  a  preacher  in  the 
diocese  of  Norwich,  inveighing  against  the  ceremonies  and  discipline  of  the 
Establishment,  and  asserting  the  highly  democratic  and  peculiarly  unpalat- 

able doctrine  of  the  independency  and  complete  jurisdiciion  of  every  church  in 
its  own  affairs.  From  his  subsequent  apostasy,  his  followers  very  properly 
refused  to  be  called  by  his  name,  and  were  known  as  separatists,  or  independ 
ents.'  But  questionable  as  was  his  sincerity,  and  inconstant  as  were  his  pro- 

fessions, so  congenial  were  the  doctrines  he  taught  to  the  views  of  the  people 
that  he  easily  succeeded  in  gathering  a  large  congregation  and  after  its  dis- 

persion and  his  own  defection,  the  seed  which  had  been  scattered  so  rapidly 
grew  that  Sir  Walter  Raleigh,  in  a  speech  in  parliament,  computed  the  num- 

ber of  separatists  or  Brownists  at  twenty  thousand. 
There  were  now  at  least  four  classes  or  parties  in  religion  in  England :  the 

Catholics,  who  adhered  to  the  church  of  Rome;  the  members  of  the  English 
church;  the  Puritans;  and  the  separatists  or  independents.  Of  the  third 
class  were  the  founders  of  the  Massachusetts  colony,  and  to  the  fourth  belonged 
the  settlers  at  Plymouth.  The  former — the  Puritans — were  simply  non- 

conformists. Connected  with  the  national  church,  they  questioned  chiefly 
the  propriety  of  some  of  her  observances.  They  submittea  to  her  authority 
so  far  as  they  could,  and  acknowledged  her  as  their  "mother"  in  all  matters 
of  doctrinal  concern.  Their  clergy  were  educated  at  her  colleges,  and  ordained 
by  her  bishops;  the  laity  were  connected  with  her  by  many  of  the  dearest 
ties;  and  up  to  the  date  of  their  removal  to  America,  they  made  no  open 
secession  from  her  communion,  and  had  liberty  been  allowed  them,  they 
would  probably  have  continued  in  the  land  of  their  nativity,  and  in  the  bosom 
of  the  Establishment. 

The  Plymouth  colonists  were  not  of  the  national  church.  Years  before 
their  expatriation  they  had  renounced  her  communion,  and  formed  churches 
of  their  own.  Between  them,  however,  and  the  Massachusetts  colonists,  the 
differences  which  existed  were  in  matters  of  policy  rather  than  in  articles  of 
faith;  and  on  arriving  in  the  New  World,  apart  from  the  influences  of  their 
native  land,  and  under  circumstances  of  a  far  different  character,  a  few  years' intercourse  assimilated  their  views  and  cemented  their  union.  Such  was  the 
origin  of  Puritanism  and  independency;  and  though,  in  the  history  of  both 
these  sects,  as  well  as  of  the  English  and  the  Romish  churches,  we  shall  find 
much  intolerance  displayed,  the  result  of  this  contest  for  greater  individual- 

ism in  religious  affairs  has  been,  to  induce  watchfulness  of  all  encroachments 
upon  the  rights  of  conscience;  and  happy  changes  have  followed  in  all  Pro- 

testant communities  where  these  rights  are  respected  and  secured. 

THE   PILGRIMS  AND  THE   CHURCH  AT  SCROOBY 

We  must  now  pass  to  the  history  of  the  church  of  the  Pilgrims.  So  early 
as  1592,  a  church  was  gathered  at  London,  of  which  Francis  Johnson  was 
chosen  pastor,  and  John  Greenwood  became  the  teacher;  but  this  church 
being  broken  up  by  the  authorities,  and  its  teacher  imprisoned,  the  pastor, 
with  a  portion  of  his  flock,  escaped  to  Holland,  and  settled  at  Amsterdam 

'  It  was  long  the  fashion  to  stigmatise,  by  way  of  reproach,  as  Brownists,  all  the  early settlers  of  New  England;  but  the  injustice  of  this  procee(Ung  will  be  evident  to  every  candid mind. 
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where  for  many  years  they  continued  to  abide.  A  few  years  later  another 
church  was  gathered,  "  to  the  north  of  the  Trent,"  in  a  rural  district  "  near the  joining  borders  of  Nottinghamshire,  Lincolnshire,  and  Yorkshire."  This 
was  the  church  of  the  Pilgrims,  which,  though  first  established  at  Gainsbo- 

rough, was  afterwards  formed  into  two  bodies,  and  the  junior  ordinarily  met for  public  worship  at  the  house  of  William  Brewster,  well  known  as  the  elder 
of  the  church  at  Plymouth.  This  eminent  man,  so  famous  in  the  annals  of 
the  Plymouth  colony,  is  supposed  to  have  been  born  in  Suffolk,  England  [in 1566  or  1567].  He  became  a  student  at  Cambridge,  and  afterwards  an  attache 
to  William  Davison,  esquire,  a  polished  courtier  of  the  reign  of  Elizabeth, 
her  secretary  of  state,  and  her  ambassador  to  Holland,  whither  Mr.  Brewster 
accompanied  him.  Withdrawing  from  public  life  when  his  employer  was 
displaced,  Mr.  Brewster  received  an  appointment  before  April,  1594,  as  post- 

master at  Scrooby,  in  Nottinghamshire,  and  there  resided  until  his  removal 
to  Holland,  faithfully  discharging  the  duties  of  his  office,  and  devoting 
himself  zealously  to  the  interests  of  the  church  with  which  he  was  con- 
nected. 

The  location  of  this  church,  and  the  history  of  its  patron,  had  been  involved 
in  more  or  less  obscurity  imtil  1852,  when  through  the  successful  researches 
of  the  reverend  Joseph  Hunter,'  fellow  of  the  Society  of  Antiquaries  of  Lon- 

don, and  an  assistant  keeper  of  her  majesty's  records,  many  new  facts  were 
brought  to  light.  It  may  now  be  considered  as  satisfactorily  proved,  that 
the  church  of  the  Pilgrims  was  first  gathered  at  Gainsborough,  and  afterwards 
at  Scrooby,  in  that  part  of  Nottingham  known  as  the  Hundred  of  Bassetlaw, 
a  mile  and  a  half  south  of  the  market  town  of  Bawtry,  on  the  borders  of  York, 
and  only  a  short  distance  from  the  verge  of  Lincolnshire. 

Scrooby,  at  present,  is  an  obscure  agricultural  village  [of  about  two  hun- 
dred population],  with  few  objects  of  interest  beside  its  church;  but  anciently 

it  was  a  place  of  much  more  note,  and  was  surrounded  by  religious  houses 
even  before  the  reformation.  Situated  near  the  highroad  from  York  to 
London,  it  was,  on  that  account,  a  convenient  resting  place  for  the  arch- 

bishops of  York  in  their  journeys  to  the  metropolis;  it  was  for  many  weeks 
the  abode  of  Cardinal  Wolsey  in  his  disgrace;  and  it  was  the  rendezvous 
of  the  earl  of  Shrewsbury  and  his  contingent,  when  he  joined  the  army  of 
the  king  assembled  to  oppose  "  the  pilgrimage  of  grace." 

Governor  Bradford*"  has  left  us  the  names  of  two  ministers,  formerly 
Puritans,  who  seceded  from  the  national  church,  and  resided  at  or  near 
Scrooby:  John  Smith  and  Richard  Clifton.  Smith  was  the  pastor  of  the 
shurch  at  Gainsborough,  which  is  supposed  to  have  been  gathered  before 
that  at  Scrooby;  but  lacking  the  spirit  of  gentleness  which  the  gospel 
commends,  he  seems  to  have  been  in  favour  with  few  of  his  contemporaries. 

The  most  noted  of  the  seceding  ministers,  however,  whose  name  is  con- 
nected with  the  history  of  the  Pilgrims,  was  John  Robinson,  who,  even  by 

Baillie" — no  friend  to  his  views  —  is  called  "  the  most  learned,  polished,  and 
modest  spirit "  that  ever  separated  from  the  Church  of  England.  Of  the 
parentage  and  early  history  of  this  celebrated  man,  nothing  is  certainly 
known.  He  was  probably  born  in  Nottingham,  or  Lincolnshire,  in  1575,  and 
it  the  age  of  seventeen,  is  supposed  to  have  entered  Corpus  Christi,  Cam- 

bridge, and  on  completing  his  term  at  the  university,  he  proceeded  to  Norfolk, 
md  in  the  neighbourhood  of  or  at  Norwich,  commenced  his  labours  in  the 
national  church.  But  his  scruples  respecting  the  ceremonies  of  this  church 
aeing  immovably  fixed,  he  omitted  or  modified  them  in  his  parochial  labours. 
This  subjecting  bim  to  annoyance,  he  was  temporarily  suspended  from  his 
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clerical  functions,  and  withdrew  entirely  from  the  church  —  not  as  "the 
victim  of  chagrin  and  disappointment,"  as  has  been  ungenerously  insinuated 
by  PagettjO  but  "  on  most  sound  and  unresistable  conviction  ";  for  it  required 
at  that  time  no  ordinary  courage  to  avow  one's  self  a  separatist,  when  perse- 

cution, if  not  death,  was  the  doom  of  all  dissidents. 
Proceeding  to  Lincolnshire  and  Nottingham,  he  there  found  a  body  of 

men  who,  "  urged  with  apparitors,  pursuivants  and  the  commission  courts," 
met  for  worship  as  often  as  they  could  escape  the  Argus  eyes  of  their  perse- 

cutors—  somewhat,  perhaps,  like  the  covenanters  of  Scotland. 
Secretary  Morton?  is  the  only  early  writer  who  gives  the  date  of  the 

establishment  of  this  church;  and  if  that  date  is  correct,  and  if  the  statement 
of  Hunter  I  is  also  correct,  that  the  church  at  Gainsborough  is  older  than  that 
at  Scrooby,  the  church  now  gathered  was  probably  located  at  Gainsborough; 
Mr.  Smith  and  Mr.  Clifton  were  associated  in  its  oversight;  and  Mr.  Robin- 

son may  have  joined  them  in  1604.  But  if  the  first  church  was  gathered  at 

Gainsborough,  "  in  regard  of  distance  of  place  these  people  became  two  dis- 
tinct bodies  or  churches,"  that  at  Gainsborough  continuing  under  the  over- 
sight of  Mr.  Smith,  and  that  at  Scrooby  being  organised  under  Mr.  Clifton, 

with  whom  Mr.  Robinson  remained  as  an  assistant;  and  this  event  probably 
took  place  early  in  1606. 

Such  was  the  origin  of  the  churches  at  Gainsborough  and  Scrooby.  That 
at  Scrooby,  though  it  seems  to  have  been  second  in  point  of  time,  is  first  in 
importance  in  the  history  of  the  Pilgrims;  for  here  the  choice  and  noble 
spirits  who  planted  New  England  learned  the  lessons  of  truth  and  liberty. 
It  will  be  noticed  that  Mr.  Robinson  appears  upon  the  stage  at  about  the 
date  of  the  accession  of  James  I  the  greatest  pedant  that  ever  sat  upon  the 
English  throne.  Arbitrary,  capricious,  tyrannical  and  unprincipled,  he  tram- 

pled upon  the  most  solemn  oaths,  and  seemed  never  better  pleased  than  when 
torturing  or  anathematising  the  victims  of  his  vengeance.  Hence  at  the 
Hampton  Court  Conference,  at  the  close  of  the  second  day,  speaking  of  the 

Puritans,  he  said :  "  I  shall  make  them  conform  themselves,  or  I  will  harry 
them  out  of  the  land,  or  else  do  worse." 

In  his  speech  at  the  opening  of  the  first  parliament  (March  19th,  1604),  the 
king  acknowledged  the  Roman  church  to  be  his  mother  church,  though  defiled 
with  some  infirmities  and  corruptions,  and  professed  his  readiness,  if  its 

priests  would  forsake  their  "  new  and  gross  corruptions,"  to  meet  them  half- 
way; but  the  Puritans,  for  "  their  discontent  with  the  present  government, 

and  impatience  to  suffer  any  superiority,"  he  declared  to  be  "  a  sect  insuffer- 
able in  a  well-governed  commonwealth";  and  in  one  of  his  letters  he  says: 

"  I  had  rather  live  like  a  hermit  than  be  a  king  over  such  a  people  as  the  pack 
of  Puritans  are  that  overrule  the  lower  house." 

Finally  a  proclamation  was  issued  (July  16th,  1604),  ordermg  the  Puritan 
clergy  to  conform  before  the  last  of  November,  or  to  dispose  of  themselves 

and  families  in  some  other  way,  as  "unfit  for  their  obstinacy  and  contempt 
to  occupy  such  places."  In  consequence  of  this  edict,  a  large  number  of 
ministers  were  ejected,  some  of  whom  had  preached,  ten,  some  twenty,  and 
some  even  thirty  years;  the  bloodhounds  of  persecution  were  slipped  from 
their  leash,  and  the  kingdom  was  converted  into  a  general  hunting-groundi 
with  the  king  himself  to  shout  the  "  View!  Halloo! " 

The  independent  churches  at  Scrooby  and  Gainsborough  suffered  with 
the  rest;  and,  unable  to  conceal  themselves  from  the  inquisitions  of  the  spy, 
beset  in  their  houses,  driven  from  their  homes,  and  incarcerated  in  prisons, 
they  resolved  to  escape.    Mr.  Smith  and  his  church  were  the  first  to  depart, 
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eeing  to  Holland,  and  seeking  a  refuge  at  Amsterdam.'  Here,  joining  with 
he  church  under  Francis  Johnson,  which  had  been  established  several  years, Ir.  Smith  became  involved  in  contentions  with  his  predecessors,  and  that 
ivision  was  produced  which  has  been  often,  but  unjustly,  ascribed  to  the 
lembers  of  Mr.  Robinson's  church. 

Mr.  Robinson  and  his  flock  yet  tarried  for  a  season  in  England,  hoping 
omething  would  transpire  to  lull  the  fierceness  of  the  storm  which  was  rag- 
ag;  but  month  after  month  passed  away,  and  no  abatement  of  its  fury  was 
■isible.  Accordingly  he  resolved  to  flee  to  a  land  where  toleration,  at  least, F  not  perfect  freedom,  was  accorded  to  all.  But  it  was  easier  to  resolve  than 
t  was  to  effect  an  escape.  Thrice  was  the  attempt  made  before  they  suc- eeded.3 

fOVERNOR  Bradford's  account  of  the  pilgrims'  voyage  to  Holland 
(1608  A.D.) 

Being  thus  constrained  to  leave  their  native  soyle  and  countrie,  their 
mds  &  livings,  and  all  their  friends  &  familiar  acquaintance,  it  was  much, 
nd  thought  marvelous  by  many.  But  to  goe  into  a  countrie  they  knew  not 
but  by  hearsay),  wher  they  must  learne  a  new  language,  and  get  their  liv- 
igs  they  knew  not  how,  it  being  a  dear  place,  &  subiecte  to  ye  misseries  of 
^arr,  it  was  by  many  thought  an  adventure  almost  desperate,  a  case  intol- 
rable,  &  a  misserie  worse  then  death.  Espetially  seeing  they  were  not 
quainted  with  trads  nor  traffique  (by  which  y'  countrie  doth  subsiste)  but 
ad  only  been  used  to  a  plaine  countrie  life,  &  ye  inocente  trade  of  husbandrey. 
Jut  these  things  did  not  dismay  them  (though  they  did  some  times  trouble 
liem)  for  their  desires  were  sett  on  ye  ways  of  God,  &  to  injoye  his  ordi- 
ances;  but  they  rested  on  his  providence,  &  knew  whom  they  had  beleeved. 
et  this  was  not  all,  for  though  they  could  not  stay,  yet  were  they  not  suffered 
)  goe,  but  ye  ports  &  havens  were  shut  against  them,  so  as  they  were  faine 
3  seeke  secrete  means  of  conveance,  &  to  bribe  &  fee  ye  mariners,  &  give 
sterordinarie  rates  for  their  passages.  And  yet  were  they  often  times 
etrayed  (many  of  them),  and  both  they  &  their  goods  intercepted  &  sur- 
risea,  and  thereby  put  to  great  trouble  &  charge,  of  which  I  will  give  an 
istance  or  tow,  &  omitte  the  rest. 

Ther  was  a  large  companie  of  them  purposed  to  get  passage  at  Boston 
I  Lincoln-shire,  and  for  that  end  had  hired  a  shipe  wholy  to  them  selves,  & 
lade  agreement  with  the  maister  to  be  ready  at  a  certaine  day,  and  take 
lem  and  their  goods  in,  at  a  conveniente  place,  wher  they  accordingly  would 
II  attende  in  readines.  So  after  long  waiting,  &  large  expences,  though  he 
epte  not  day  with  them,  yet  he  came  at  length  &  tooke  them  in,  in  ye  night, 
ut  when  he  had  them  &  their  goods  abord,  he  betrayed  them,  having  before 
and  complotted  with  ye  serchers  &  other  oflicers  so  to  doe  who  tooke  them, 
id  put  them  into  open  boats,  &  ther  rifled  &  ransaked  them,  searching  them 
)  their  shirts  for  money,  yea  even  ye  women  furder  then  became  modestie; 
id  then  caried  them  back  into  ye  towne,  &  made  them  a  spectackle  & 
onder  to  ye  multitude,  which  came  flocking  on  all  sids  to  behould  them. 
Being  thus  first,  by  the  chatchpoule  officers,  rifled,  &  stripte  of  their 

[•  The  spirit  of  the  times  could  hardly  be  more  vividly  condensed  than  in  a  comment  on  the 
msual  religious  toleration  of  the  Dutch,  made  by  Robert  Baillie,  who  in  a  sermon  to  the 
luse  of  lords,  exclaimed  :  "For  this  one  thing  they  have  become  infamous  in  the  Christian 
Mid."  Even  a  scientist  like  Bacon  could  complain  of  the  tolerance  of  heretics  in  a  colony, 

ying  that  "  It  wiU  make  a  schism  and  rent  in  Christ's  coat,  which  should  be  seamless."] 
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money,  books,  and  much  other  goods,  they  were  presented  to  ye  mage- 
strates,  and  messengerrs  sente  to  informe  ye  lords  of  ye  Counsell  of  them; 
and  so  they  were  comited  to  ward.  Indeed  ye  magestrats  used  them  courte- 

ously, and  shewed  them  what  favour  they  could;  but  could  not  deliver  them, 
till  order  came  from  ye  Counselltable.  But  ye  issue  was  that  after  a  months 
imprisonmente,  ye  greatest  parte  were  dismiste,  &  sent  to  ye  places  from 
whence  they  came;  but  7.  of  ye  principall  were  still  kept  in  prison,  and  bound 
over  to  ye  Assises. 

The  nexte  spring  after,  ther  was  another  attempte  made  by  some  of  these 
&  others,  to  get  over  at  an  other  place.  And  it  so  fell  out,  that  they  light  of 
a  Dutchman  at  Hull,  having  a  ship  of  his  owne  belonging  to  Zealand;  they 
made  agreemente  with  him,  and  acquainted  him  with  their  condition,  hoping 
to  find  more  faithfullnes  in  him,  than  in  ye  former  of  their  owne  nation.  He 
bad  them  not  fear,  for  he  would  doe  well  enough.  He  was  by  appointment 
to  take  them  in  betweene  Grimsbe  &  Hull,  wher  was  a  large  comone  a  good 
way  distante  from  any  towne.  Now  against  the  prefixed  time,  the  women 
&  Children  with  ye  goods,  were  sent  to  ye  place  in  a  small  barke,  which  they 
had  hired  for  y'  end;  and  ye  men  were  to  meete  them  by  land.  But  it  so 
fell  out,  that  they  were  there  a  day  before  ye  shipe  came,  &  ye  sea  being 
rough,  and  ye  women  very  sicke,  prevailed  with  ye  seamen  to  put  into  a 
creeke  hardby,  wher  they  lay  on  ground  at  lowwater.  The  nexte  morning 
ye  shipe  came,  but  they  were  fast,  &  could  not  stir  till  aboute  noone.  In  ye 
mean  time,  ye  shipe  maister,  perceiving  how  ye  matter  was,  sente  his  boate 
to  be  getting  ye  men  abord  whom  he  saw  ready,  walking  aboute  ye  shore. 

But  after  ye  first  boat  full  was  gott  abord,  &  she  was  ready  to  goe  for 
more,  the  mr  espied  a  greate  company,  both  horse  &  foote,  with  bills,  & 
gunes,  &  other  weapons;  for  ye  countrie  was  raised  to  take  them.  Ye  Dutch- 

man seeing  y',  swore  his  countries  oath,  "  sacremente,"  and  having  ye  wind 
faire,  waiged  his  Ancor,  hoysed  sayles,  &  away. 

But  ye  poore  men  which  were  gott  abord,  were  in  great  distress  for  their 
wives  and  children,  which  they  saw  thus  to  be  taken,  and  were  left  destitute  of 
their  helps;  and  themselves  also,  not  having  a  cloath  to  shif  te  them  with,  more 
then  they  had  on  their  baks,  &  some  scarce  a  peney  aboute  them,  all  they 
had  being  abord  ye  barke.  It  drew  tears  from  their  eyes,  and  any  thing  they 
had  they  would  have  given  to  have  been  a  shore  againe;  but  all  in  vaine; 
ther  was  no  remedy,  they  must  thus  sadly  part.  And  afterward  endured  a 

fearful!  storme  at  sea,  being  14.  days  or  more  before  y"''  arived  at  their  porte 
in  7.  whereof  they  neither  saw  son,  moone,  nor  stars,  &  were  driven  near  ye 
coast  of  Norway;  the  mariners  them  selves  often  despairing  of  life;  and  once 
with  shriks  &  cries  gave  over  all,  as  if  ye  ship  had  been  foundred  in  ye  sea, 
&  they  sinking  without  recoverie.  But  when  mans  hope  &  helpe  wholy 
failed,  ye  Lords  power  &  mercie  appeared  in  their  recoverie;  for  ye  ship  rose 
againe,  &  gave  ye  mariners  courage  againe  to  manage  her.  And  if  modestie 
would  suffer  me,  I  might  declare  with  what  fervente  prayers  they  cried  unto 
ye  Lord  in  this  great  distress,  (espetialy  some  of  them),  even  without  any 
great  distraction,  when  ye  water  rane  into  their  mouthes  &  ears;  and  the 
mariners  cried  out,  We  sinke,  we  sinke;  they  cried  (if  not  with  mirakelous, 
yet  with  a  great  hight  or  degree  of  devine  faith).  Yet  Lord  thou  canst  save, 
yet  Lord  thou  canst  save;  with  shuch  other  expressions  as  I  will  forbeare. 
Upon  which  ye  ship  did  not  only  recover,  but  shortly  after  ye  violence  of  ye 
storme  begane  to  abate,  and  ye  Lord  filed  their  afflicted  minds  with  shuch 
comforts  as  every  one  canot  understand,  and  in  ye  end  brought  them  to  their 
desired  Haven,  wher  ye  people  came  flockeing  admiring  their  deliverance,  the 
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storme  having  ben  so  longe  &  sore,  in  which  much  hurt  had  been  don,  as  ye 
masters  freinds  related  unto  him  in  their  congratulations. 

But  to  returne  to  ye  others  wher  we  left.  The  rest  of  ye  men  y'  were  in 
greatest  danger,  made  shift  to  escape  away  before  ye  troope  could  surprise 

them;  those  only  staying  y'  best  might,  to  be  assistante  unto  ye  women. 
But  pitifuU  it  was  to  see  ye  heavie  case  of  these  poore  women  in  this  distress; 
what  weeping  &  crying  on  every  side,  some  for  their  husbands,  that  were 
caried  away  in  ye  ship  as  is  before  related;  others  not  knowing  what  should 
become  of  them,  &  their  little  ones;  others  againe  melted  in  teares,  seeing 
their  poore  little  ones  hanging  aboute  them,  crying  for  feare,  and  quaking 
with  could. 

Being  thus  aprehended,  they  were  hurried  from  one  place  to  another, 
and  from  one  justice  to  another,  till  in  ye  ende  they  knew  not  what  to  doe 
with  them;  for  to  imprison  so  many  women  &  innocent  children  for  no  other 
cause  (many  of  them)  but  that  they  must  goe  with  their  husbands,  semed 
to  be  unreasonable  and  all  would  crie  out  of  them  and  to  send  them  home 
againe  was  as  diflBcult,  for  they  aledged,  as  ye  trueth  was,  they  had  no  homes 
to  goe  to,  for  they  had  either  sould,  or  otherwise  disposed  of  their  houses  & 
livings.  To  be  shorte,  after  they  had  been  thus  turmolyed  a  good  while, 
and  conveyed  from  one  constable  to  another,  they  were  glad  to  be  ridd  of 
them  in  ye  end  upon  any  termes;  for  all  were  wearied  &  tired  with  them. 
Though  in  ye  mean  time  they  (poore  soules)  indured  miserie  enough  and 
thus  in  ye  end  necessitie  forste  a  way  for  th6m. 

But  y'  I  be  not  tedious  in  these  things,  I  will  omitte  ye  rest,  though  I 
might  relate  many  other  notable  passages  and  troubles  which  they  endured 
&  underwente  in  these  their  wanderings  &  travells  both  at  land  &  sea  but 
I  hast  to  other  things.  Yet  I  may  not  omitte  ye  fruite  that  came  hearby, 
for  by  these  so  publick  troubls,  in  so  many  eminente  places,  their  cause 
became  famouss,  &  occasioned  many  to  looke  into  ye  same;  and  their  godly 
cariage  &  Christian  behaviour  was  such  as  left  a  deep  impression  in  the  minds 
of  many.  And  though  some  few  shrunk  at  these  first  conflicts  &  sharp 
beginings,  (as  it  was  no  marvell,)  yet  many  more  came  on  with  fresh  courage, 
&  greatly  animated  others.  And  in  ye  end,  notwithstanding  all  these  stormes 
of  opposition,  they  all  gatt  over  at  length,  some  at  one  time  &  some  at  an 
other,  and  some  in  one  place  &  some  in  an  other,  and  mette  together  againe 
according  to  their  desires,  with  no  small  rejoycing.'" 

THE   PILGRIMS  IN   HOLLAND 

In  August,  1608,  we  find  Mr.  Clifton,  and  probably  Mr.  Robinson,  safely 
arrived  and  settled  in  Holland.  They  were  soon  united  with  their  former 
companions,  and  are  said  to  have  become  one  with  the  original  members  of 
the  church  at  Amsterdam.  But  though  the  members  of  the  Scrooby  church 

settled  first  at  Amsterdam,  their  stay  in  that  city  was  transient;  for  diffi- 
culties had  already  arisen  there,  and  it  was  thought  best  to  remove  before 

they  became  personally  involved  in  them.  Leyden  was  the  place  to  which 
their  steps  were  turned;  and  the  removal  was  probably  effected  in  the  spring 

of  1609.  Their  temporal  circumstances  in  this  strange  land  —  "the  battle 

ground  of  Europe,"  and  "  the  amphitheatre  of  the  world  "  —  were  the  first 
to  engage  their  attention.  Most  of  them  had  been  "  only  used  to  a  plain 
country  life,  and  the  innocent  trade  of  husbandry,"  and  they  were  now  in 
"  the  principal  manufacturing  town  of  the  Netherlands,  and  one  of  the  most 
important  in  Europe."    A  change  of  occupation,  therefore,  became  necessary 
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to  nearly  all;  and  they  "  fell  to  such  trades  and  employments  as  they  best 
could,  valuing  peace  and  their  spiritual  comfort  above  any  other  riches  what- 

ever." Here,  too,  having  established  a  printing  press,  Mr.  Brewster  published 
several  books,  some  of  which,  of  a  prohibited  character,  being  "  vented  under- 
handedly"  in  England,  the  ire  of  the  Scotch  prince  was  aroused,  and  a 
"  schout,"  at  his  instance,  was  employed  by  the  magistrates  of  Leyden  to 
apprehend  the  offender;  but  the  "  schout "  being,  says  Bradford,*"  a  "  dull, 
drunken  fellow,"  he  "  took  one  man  for  another,"  and  by  a  fortunate  mistake. 
Brewer,  not  Brewster,  was  "  confined  fast  in  the  university's  prison." 

We  must  not,  however,  omit  to  notice  here  one  of  the  exiles,  who,  though 
but  a  youth  at  this  time,  became  subsequently  one  of  the  first  members  of 
the  colony  of  Plymouth,  and  exerted  for  many  years  a  decided  influence  upon 
its  fortunes  and  destiny.  We  refer  to  William  Bradford,  best  known  as 
Governor  Bradford.  Born  at  the  Httle  village  of  Austerfield,  in  Yorkshire, 

in  1588,  he  was  trained  "  to  the  affairs  of  husbandry."  He  was  soon  a  reg- 
ular attendant  upon  the  ministry  of  Mr.  Clifton.  Joining  the  church  before 

he  was  eighteen,  he  was  with  it  during  its  exile;  and  whilst  in  Holland,  he 
is  said  by  Mather  c  to  have  learned  the  art  of  silk  dyeing,  of  a  French  Pro- 

testant, though  we  find  no  confirmation  of  this  statement  in  earlier  writers. 
Of  other  members  of  the  Pilgrim  church,  we  shall  have  occasion  to  speak 

hereafter.  It  is  impossible,  at  the  present  day,  to  state  with  exactness  how 
many  were  connected  with  this  church,  either  in  England  or  in  Holland.  No 
records  have  descended  to  us  from  which  a  list  of  their  names,  or  an  account 
of  their  proceedings  can  be  authentically  drawn;*  and  for  the  want  of  such 
knowledge,  it  is  as  absurd  as  it  is  unnecessary,  as  Plutarch  says  in  his  Life  of 
Numa,  to  "  forge  ancient  archives  to  stretch  their  lineage  back,  and  to  deduce 
it  from  the  most  illustrious  houses."  Their  proudest  pedigree  is  Massachu- 

setts and  America.    "Si  monumentum qiuBris,  circwnspice" 

THE   EMIGRATION  TO  AMERICA 

Eight  years  residence  in  a  land  of  strangers,  subjected  to  its  trials  and 
burdened  with  its  sorrows,  satisfied  this  little  band  that  Holland  could  not  be 

for  them  a  perma,nent  home.  The  "  hardness  of  the  place  "  discouraged  their 
friends  from  joining  them.  Premature  age  was  creeping  upon  the  vigorous. 
Severe  toil  enfeebled  their  children.  The  corruption  of  the  Dutch  youth  was 
pernicious  in  its  influence.  They  were  Englishmen,  attached  to  the  land  of 
their  nativity.  The  Sabbath,  to  them  a  sacred  institution,  was  openly  neg- 

lected. A  suitable  education  was  diflicult  to  be  obtained  for  their  children. 
The  truce  with  Spain  was  drawing  to  a  close,  and  the  renewal  of  hostiUties 
was  seriously  apprehended  But  the  motive  above  all  others  which  prompted 
their  removal,  was,  says  Bradford,™  a  "  great  hope  and  inward  zeal  of  laying 
some  good  foundation  for  the  propagating  and  advancing  of  the  Gospel  of 
the  kingdom  of  Christ  in  these  remote  parts  of  the  world;  yea,  though  they 
should  be  but  as  stepping  stones  to  others  for  performing  of  so  great  a 

work." For  these  reasons  a  removal  was  resolved  upon.  They  could  not  in  peace 
return  to  England.  Whittier  should  they  turn  their  steps?  Some,  and 
"  none  of  the  meanest,"  were  "  earnest  for  Guiana."  =*    Others,  of  equal  worth, 

'  The  number  connected  with  the  church  in  Holland  is  supposed  to  have  been  not  far  from three  hundred. 

[•  "  One  can  hardly  imagine,"  says  Eggleston,  *  "  what  American  Puritanism  would  have 
become  under  the  skies  of  Guiana."] 
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were  in  favour  of  Virginia,  "where  the  English  had  already  made  entrance and  beginning.  But  a  majority  were  for  "  living  in  a  distinct  body  by theiMelves,  though  under  the  general  government  of  Virginia."  Guiana  was 
the  iil  Dorado  of  the  age.  Sir  Walter  Raleigh,  its  discoverer,  had  described 
Its  tropical  voluptuousness  in  the  most  captivating  terms;  and  Chapman, the  poet,  dazzled  by  its  charms,  exclaims: 

Ouiana,  whose  rich  feet  are  mines  of  gold, 
Whose  forehead  knocks  against  the  roof  of  stars, 
Stands  on  her  tiptoe  at  fair  England  looking, 
Kissing  her  hands,  bowing  her  mighty  breast, 
And  every  sign  of  all  submission  making, 
To  be  the  sister  and  the  daughter  both 
Of  our  most  sacred  maid. 

Is  it  surprising  that  the  thoughts  of  the  exiles  were  enraptured  in  con- 
templating this  beautiful  land?  But  as  an  offset  to  its  advantages,  its 

"grievous  diseases"  and  "noisome  impediments"  were  vividly  portrayed; and  it  was  urged  that,  should  they  settle  there  and  prosper,  the  "  jealous 
Spaniard  "  might  displace  and  expel  them,  as  he  had  already  the  French  from their  settlements  in  Florida;  and  this  the  sooner,  as  there  would  be  none  to 
protect  them,  and  their  own  strength  was  inadequate  to  cope  with  so  power- ful an  adversary. 

Against  settling  in  Virginia,  it  was  urged  that,  "  if  they  lived  among  the English  there  planted,  or  under  their  government,  they  would  be  in  as  great 
danger  to  be  persecuted  for  the  cause  of  religion  as  if  they  lived  in  England, 
and  it  might  be  worse;  and  if  they  lived  too  far  off,  they  should  have  neither 
succour  nor  defence  from  them."  Upon  the  whole,  therefore,  it  was  decided 
to  "Jive  in  a  distinct  body  by  themselves,  under  the  general  government  of 
Virginia,  and  by  their  agents  to  sue  his  majesty  to  grant  them  free  liberty, 
and  freedom  of  religion." 

Accordingly  John  Carver,  one  of  the  deacons  of  the  church,  and  Robert 
Cushman,  a  private  member,  were  sent  to  England  in  1617  to  treat  with  the 
Virginia  Company  for  a  grant  of  land,  and  to  solicit  of  the  king  liberty  of 
conscience.  The  friends  from  whom  aid  was  expected  were  Sir  Edwin  Sandys, 
the  distinguished  author  of  the  Europece  Speculum,  Sir  Robert  Naunton, 
afterwards  secretary  of  state,  and  Sir  John  Wolstenholme,  an  eminent  mer- 

chant and  a  farmer  of  the  customs.  Sir  Ferdinando  Gorges  seems  also  to 
have  been  interested  in  their  behalf. 

The  messengers  —  "  God  going  along  with  them  "  —  bore  a  missive  signed 
by  the  principal  members  of  the  church  commending  them  to  favour,  and 
Bonducting  their  mission  with  discretion  and  propriety;  but  as  their  instruc- 

tions were  not  plenary,  they  soon  returned  (November  12th,  1617).  The 
aext  month  a  second  embassy  was  despatched. 

The  new  agents,  upon  their  arrival  in  England,  found  the  Virginia  Com- 
pany anxious  for  their  emigration  to  America,  and  "  willing  to  give  them  a 

batent  with  as  ample  privileges  as  they  had  or  could  grant  to  any";  and 
some  of  the  chief  members  of  the  company  "  doubted  not  to  obtain  their  suit 
)f  the  king  for  liberty  in  religion."  But  the  last  "  proved  a  harder  work 
;han  they  took  it  for."  Neither  James  nor  his  bishops  would  grant  such  a 
■equest.  All  that  could  be  obtained  of  the  king  after  the  most  diligent 
'sounding,"  was  a  verbal  promise  that  "  he  would  connive  at  them,  and  not 
nolest  them,  provided  they  conducted  themselves  peaceably:  but  to  allow 
)r  tolerate  them  under  his  seal,"  he  would  not  consent.  With  this  answer 
;he  messengers  returned  (May,  1618);  and  their  report  was  discouraging  to 
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the  hopes  of  the  exiles.  Should  they  trust  their  monarch's  word,  when  bit- 
ter experience  had  taught  them  the  ease  with  which  it  could  be  broken? 

And  yet,  reasoned  some,  says  Bradford,"*  "  his  word  may  be  as  good  as  his bond;  for  if  he  purposes  to  injure  us,  though  we  have  a  seal  as  broad  as  the 

house-floor,  means  will  be  found  to  recall  or  reverse  it."  In  this  as  in  other 
matters,  therefore,  they  relied  upon  providence,  trusting  that  distance  would 
prove  as  effectual  a  safeguard  as  the  word  of  a  prince  which  had  been  so  often 
forfeited. 

At  length,  after  tedious  delays,  and  "  messengers  passing  to  and  fro,"  a 
patent  was  obtained  which,  by  the  advice  of  friends,  was  taken  in  the  name 
of  John  Wincob  [or  Whincop '],  a  gentleman  in  the  family  of  the  countess  of 
Lincoln;  and  with  this  document,  and  the  proposals  of  Mr.  Thomas  Weston, 
one  of  the  agents  returned,  and  submitted  the  same  to  the  church  for  inspec- 

tion. The  nature  of  these  proposals  has  never  transpired,  nor  is  the  original 
patent  —  the  first  which  the  Pilgrims  received  —  known  to  be  in  existence. 
It  was  concluded  that  the  youngest  and  strongest  should  be  the  pioneers  of 
the  church,  and  that  the  eldest  and  weakest  should  follow  at  a  future  date. 

If  the  Lord  "  frowned  "  upon  their  proceedings,  the  first  emigrants  were  to 
return;  but  if  he  prospered  and  favoured  them,  they  were  to  "  remember  and 
help  over  the  ancient  and  poor."  As  the  emigrants  proved  the  minority,  it 
was  agreed  that  the  pastor  should  remain  in  Holland,  and  that  Mr.  Brewster, 
the  elder,  should  accompany  those  who  were  to  leave.  Each  party  was  to 
be  an  absolute  church  in  itself;  and  as  any  went  or  came,  they  were  to  be 
admitted  to  fellowship  without  further  testimonies.  Thus  the  church  at  Ply- 

mouth was  the  first  in  New  England  established  upon  the  basis  of  independ- 
ent Congregationalism. 
Their  greatest  hardship  was  the  compact  with  the  merchants.  The  Pil- 

grims were  poor,  and  their  funds  were  limited.  They  had  no  alternative, 
therefore,  but  to  associate  with  others;  and,  as  often  happens  in  such  cases, 
wealth  took  advantage  of  their  impoverished  condition.  To  satisfy  the  mer- 

chants, who  drove  their  bargains  sharply  and  shrewdly,  some  changes  were 
made,  and  by  ten  tight  articles  the  emigrants  were  bound  to  them  for  the 
term  of  seven  years.  At  the  end  of  this  period,  by  the  original  compact, 
the  houses  and  improved  lands  were  to  belong  wholly  to  the  planters;  and 
each  colonist,  having  a  family  to  support,  was  to  be  allowed  two  days  in  each 
week  to  labour  for  their  benefit.  The  last  is  a  liberty  enjoyed,  says  Sumner,* 
by  "  even  a  Vallachian  serf,  or  a  Spanish  slave  ";  and  the  refusal  of  the  mer- 

chants to  grant  so  reasonable  a  request  caused  great  complaint.  As  it  was, 
it  threatened  a  seven  years'  check  to  the  pecuniary  prosperity  of  the  colony; but  as  it  did  not  interfere  with  their  civil  or  religious  rights,  it  was  submitted 
to  with  the  less  reluctance,  though  never  acceptable. 

At  this  critical  juncture,  while  the  Pilgrims  were  in  such  perplexity,  and 
surrounded  by  so  many  difficulties,  the  Dutch,  who  could  not  but  be  sensible 
that  the  patent  they  had  obtained  of  the  Virginia  Company  would  interfere 
seriously  with  their  projected  West  India  Company,  and  with  their  settlement 
at  New  Netherland,  stepped  forward  with  proposals  of  the  most  inviting,  and 
apparently  disinterested  and  liberal  character.  Overtures  were  made  to  Mr. 
Robmson  as  pastor,  that  if  he  and  his  flock,  and  their  friends  in  England, 

['  The  patent  was  not  used,  says  Bradford, »»  another  taken  out  in  1620  under  the  name  of 
John  Pierce  seems  to  have  been  substituted.  Wincob,  the  first  patentee  did  not  go  with  the 
emigrants  (1620).  He  is  never  heard  of  again.  In  the  household  of  this  countess  (widow  of 
the  fourteenth  earl),  Thomas  Dudley,  later  one  of  the  founders  of  Massachusetts,  was  steward. 
—  F.  B.  DBXTSB.r 
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would  embark  under  the  auspices  of  the  lords  states  general,  themselves 
should  be  transported  to  America  free  of  expense,  and  cattle  should  be  fur- 

nished for  their  subsistence  on  their  arrival.  These  are  the  "  hberal  offers  " 
alluded  to  in  general  terms  by  early  Pilgrim  writers,  and  which  are  uniformly 
represented  as  having  originated  with  the  Dutch,  though  it  has  been  sug- 

gested, and  even  asserted,  that  the  overtures  came  from  the  Pilgrims  them- 
selves, but  there  is  an  inherent  improbability  in  this  last  representation.  But 

they  were  willing  to  accept  them  upon  certain  conditions,  of  which  one  was 
that  the  government  of  Holland  would  guarantee  to  protect  them.  This  con- 

cession was  enough  for  the  merchants  to  act  upon.  The  prince  of  Orange  was 
then  in  the  zenith  of  his  power;  and  to  him,  as  staHholder,  the  merchants 
repaired  with  a  memorial,  professedly  in  the  name  of  the  "  English  preacher 
at  Leyden,"  praying  that  "  the  aforesaid  preacher  and  four  hundred  families 
may  be  taken  under  the  protection  of  the  United  Provinces,  and  that  two 
ships  of  war  may  be  sent  to  secure,  provisionally,  the  said  lands  to  this 
government,  since  such  lands  may  be  of  great  importance  whenever  the  West 

India  Company  shall  be  organised." 
The  stadholder  was  too  wary  a  politician  to  approbate  immediately  so 

sweeping  a  proposal,  and  referred  it  to  the  states  general.  For  two  months 
it  was  before  this  body,  where  it  was  several  times  discussed;  and  finally, 

after  repeated  deliberations,  it  was  resolved  (April  11th,  1620)  "  peremptorily 
to  reject  the  prayer  of  the  memorialists."  Nor  can  we  doubt  the  wisdom  of 
the  policy  which  prompted  this  decision.  It  was  well  known  in  Holland  that  the 
English  claimed  the  territory  of  New  Netherland.  The  Dutch  had  hitherto 
been  tolerated  in  settling  there,  because  they  had  not  openly  interfered  with 
the  trade  of  the  English.  But  should  they  now  send  over  a  body  of  English 
emigrants,  under  the  tri-coloured  flag,  designed  to  found  a  colony  for  the 
benefit  of  the  Batavian  Republic,  the  prudent  foresaw  that  a  collision  would 
be  inevitable,  and  might  result  disastrously  to  the  interests  of  their  nation. 

At  last  the  Speedwell  —  miserable  misnomer  —  of  sixty  tons,  was  pur- 
chased in  Holland  for  the  use  of  the  emigrants;  and  the  Mayflower,  of  one 

hundred  and  eighty  tons'  —  whose  name  is  immortal — was  chartered  in 
England,  and  was  fitting  for  their  reception.  The  cost  of  the  outfit,  includ- 

ing a  trading  stock  of  £1,700,  was  but  £2,400  —  about  $12,000  of  the  currency 
of  the  United  States !  It  marks  thepovertyofthe  Pilgrims  that  their  own  funds 
were  inadequate  to  meet  such  a  disbursement;  and  it  marks  the  narrowness 
of  the  adventurers  that  they  doled  the  sum  so  grudgingly,  and  exacted  such 
securities  for  their  personal  indemnity. 

As  the  time  of  departure  drew  near,  a  day  of  public  humiliation  was 
observed  —  the  last  that  the  emigrants  kept  with  their  pastor.  At  the  con- 

clusion of  his  discourse,  those  who  were  to  leave  were  feasted  at  their  pastor's 
house,  where,  after  "tears,"  warm  and  gushing  from  the  fulness  of  their 
hearts,  the  song  of  praise  and  thanksgiving  was  raised;  and  "  truly,"  says 
Wins]ow,'an  auditor,  "  it  was  the  sweetest  melody  that  ever  mine  ears  heard." 
At  starting,  they  gave  their  friends  "  a  volley  of  small  shot,  and  three  pieces 
of  ordnance  ";  and  so,  "  lifting  up  their  hands  to  each  other,  and  their  hearts 
for  each  other  to  the  Lord  God,"  they  set  sail  from  the  port  of  Delfthaven 
July  22,  1620.  They  soon  reached  Southampton,  where  lay  the  Mayflower 
in  readiness  with  the  rest  of  their  company. 

In  about  a  fortnight  (August  5th),  the  Speedwell,  commanded  by  Captain 

Reynolds,  and  the  Mayflower,  conynanded  by  Captain  Jones  —  both  having 
1  Capt.  John  Smith/  says  the  Speedwell  was  of  70  tons,  and  the  Mayflower  of  160.  But  we 

follow  the  statement  of  Governor  Bradford." 
H.  W. — VOL.  XXII.  28 
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one  hundred  and  twenty  passengers  on  board  —  were  ready  to  set  out  to 
cross  the  Atlantic.  Scarcely  had  the  two  barks  left  the  harbour,  ere  Captain 
Reynolds  complained  of  the  leakiness  of  the  Speedwell,  and  both  put  in  at 
Dartmouth  for  repairs.  At  the  end  of  eight  precious  days  they  started  again, 

but  had  sailed  "  only  a  hundred  leagues  beyond  the  land's  end,"  when  the 
former  complaints  were  renewed,  and  the  vessels  put  in  at  Plymouth,  where, 

"by  the  consent  of  the  whole  company,"  the  Speedwell  was  dismissed;  and 
as  the  Mayflower  could  accommodate  but  one  hundred  passengers,  twenty  of 
those  who  had  embarked  in  the  smaller  vessel  were  compelled  to  return;  and 

matters  being  ordered  with  reference  to  this  arrangement,  "another  sad 
parting  took  place." Finally,  after  the  lapse  of  two  more  precious  weeks,  on  September  6th, 

1620,  the  Mayflower,  "  freighted  with  the  destinies  of  a  continent,"  and 
having  on  board  one  hundred  passengers  — resolute  men,  women  and  children 
—  "  loosed  from  Plymouth,"  and,  with  the  wind  "  east-northeast,  a  fine  small 
gale,"  was  soon  far  at  sea. 

The  particulars  of  this  voyage  —  more  memorable  by  far  than  the  famed 
expedition  of  the  Argonauts  —  are  few  and  scanty.  Though  fair  winds 
wafted  the  bark  onward  for  a  season,  contrary  winds  and  fierce  storms  were 

soon  encountered,  by  which,  says  Bradford,  she  was  "  shrewdly  shaken,"  and 
her  "  upper  works  made  very  leaky."  One  of  the  main  beams  of  the  mid- 

ships was  also  "  bowed  and  cracked,"  but  a  passenger  having  brought  with 
him  "  a  large  iron  screw,"  the  beam  was  replaced,  and  carefully  fastened,  and 
the  vessel  continued  on.  During  the  storm,  John  Rowland,  "  a  stout  young 
man,"  was,  by  a  "  heel  of  the  ship  thrown  into  the  sea,  but  catching  by 
the  halliards,  which  hung  overboard,  he  kept  his  hold  and  was  saved."  "  A 
profane  and  proud  young  seaman,  stout  and  able  of  body,  who  had  despised 
the  poor  people  in  their  sickness,  telling  them  he  hoped  to  help  cast  half  of 

them  overboard  before  they  came  to  their  journey's  end,  and  to  make  merry 
with  what  they  had,  was  smitten  with  a  grievous  disease,  of  which  he  died  in 
a  desperate  manner,  and  was  himself  the  first  thrown  overboard,  to  the 
astonishment  of  all  his  fellows."  One  other  death  occurred,  that  of  a  serv- 

ant, and  there  was  one  birth,  in  the  family  of  Stephen  Hopkins,  of  a 
son,  christened  Oceanus,  who  died  shortly  after  the  landing.  The  ship 
being  leaky,  and  the  passengers  closely  stowed,  their  clothes  were  con- 

stantly wet.  This  added  much  to  the  discomfort  of  the  voyage,  and  laid 
the  foundation  for  a  portion  of  the  mortality  which  prevailed  the  first 
winter. 

"Land  ho!"  This  welcome  cry  was  not  heard  until  two  months  had 
elapsed,  and  on  November  9th,  old  style,  or  November  19th,  new  style,  the 
sandy  cliffs  of  Cape  Cod  were  the  first  points  which  greeted  the  eyes  of  the 
exiles.9 

GOVERNOR  Bradford's  account  of  the  Mayflower's  arrival 

Being  thus  arived  in  a  good  harbor  and  brought  safe  to  land,  they  fell 
upon  their  knees-  &  blessed  ye  God  of  heaven,  who  had  brought  them  over 
ye  vast  &  furious  ocean,  and  delivered  them  from  all  ye  periles  &  miseries 
therof,  againe  to  set  their  feete  on  ye  firme  and  stable  earth,  their  proper 
elemente.  And  no  marvell  if  they  were  thus  joyefull,  seeing  wise  Seneca  was 
so  afifected  with  sailing  a  few  miles  on  ye  coast  of  his  own  Italy;  as  he 
affirmed,  that  he  had  rather  remaine  twentie  years  on  his  way  by  land,  then 
pass  by  sea  to  any  place  in  a  short  time;  so  tedious  &  dreadfull  was  ye  same 
unto  him. 
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But  hear  I  cannot  but  stay  and  make  a  pause,  and  stand  half  amased  at 
this  poore  peoples  presente  condition;  and  so  I  thinke  will  the  reader  too, when  he  well  considers  ye  same.  Being  thus  passed  ye  vast  ocean,  and  a  sea ot  troubles  before  in  their  preparation  (as  may  be  remembered  by  yt  which wente  before),  they  had  now  no  friends  to  wellcome  them,  nor  inns  to  enter- tame  or  refresh  their  weatherbeaten  bodys,  no  houses  or  much  less  townes 
to  repaire  too,  to  seeke  for  succoure.  It  is  recorded  in  scripture  as  a  mercie to  ye  apostle  &  his  shipwraked  company,  yt  the  barbarians  shewed  them  no 
smale  kindness  in  refreshing  them,  but  these  savage  barbarians,  when  they mette  with  them  (as  after  will  appeare)  were  readier  to  fill  their  sids  full  of 
arrows  then  otherwise.  And  for  ye  season  it  was  winter,  and  they  that 
know  ye  winters  of  yt  countrie  know  them  to  be  sharp  &  violent,  &  subjecte 
to  cruell  &  feirce  stormes,  deangerous  to  travill  to  known  places,  much  more to  serch  an  unknown  coast. 

Besids,  what  could  they  see  but  a  hidious  &  desolate  wilderness,  full  of 
wild  beasts  &  wild  men?  and  what  multitudes  ther  might  be  of  them  they 
knew  not.  Netheir  could  they,  as  it  were,  goe  up  to  ye  tope  of  Pisgah,  to 
vew  from  this  wilderness  a  more  goodly  cuntrie  to  feed  their  hops;  for  which 
way  soever  they  turnd  their  eys  (save  upward  to  ye  heavens)  they  could 
have  Uttle  solace  or  content  in  respecte  of  any  outward  objects.  For  sumer 
being  done,  all  things  stand  upon  them  with  a  wetherbeaten  face;  and  ye 
whole  countrie,  full  of  woods  &  thickets,  represented  a  wild  &  savage  heiw. 
If  they  looked  behind  them,  ther  was  ye  mighty  ocean  which  they  had  passed, 
and  was  now  as  a  maine  barr  &  goulfe  to  separate  them  from  all  ye  civill 
parts  of  ye  world. 

If  it  be  said  they  had  a  ship  to  sijccour  them,  it  is  trew;  but  what  heard 
they  daly  from  ye  mr  &  company?  but  yt  with  speede  they  should  looke  out 
a  place  with  their  shallop,  wher  they  would  be  at  some  near  distance;  for  ye 
season  was  shuch  as  he  would  not  stirr  from  thence  till  a  safe  harbor  was  dis- 

covered by  them  wher  they  would  be,  and  he  might  goe  without  danger;  and 
that  victells  consumed  apace,  but  he  must  &  would  keepe  sufficient  for  them 
selves  &  their  retume.  Yea,  it  was  muttered  by  some,  that  if  they  gott  not 
a  place  in  time,  they  would  turne  them  &  their  goods  ashore  &  leave  them. 
Let  it  also  be  considered  what  weake  hopes  of  supply  &  succoure  they  left 
behinde  them,  yt  might  bear  up  their  minds  in  this  sade  condition  and  trialls 
they  were  under;  and  they  could  not  but  be  very  smale.  It  is  true,  indeed, 
ye  affections  &  love  of  their  brethren  at  Leyden  was  cordiall  &  entire  towards 
them  but  they  had  httle  power  to  help  them,  or  them  selves;  and  how  ye 
case  stode  betweene  them  &  ye  marchants  at  their  coming  away,  hath  all- 
ready  been  declared.  What  could  now  sustaine  them  but  ye  spirite  of  God 
and  his  grace  ?  May  not  &  ought  not  the  children  of  these  fathers  rightly 
say .  Our  faithers  were  Englishmen  which  came  over  this  great  ocean,  and  were 
ready  to  perish  in  this  wilderness;  but  they  cried  unto  ye  Lord,  and  he  heard 
their  voyce,  and  looked  on  their  adversitie."* 

THE   COMPACT  AND   THE   LANDING   AT   PLYMOUTH    (1620  A.D.) 

Morton  P  asserts  that  <he  Mayfloioer  put  in  at  this  cape, "  partly  by  reason 
of  a  storm  by  which  she  was  forced  in,  but  more  especially  by  the  fraudulency 
and  contrivance  of  the  aforesaid  Mr.  Jones,  the  master  of  the  ship;  for  their 

intention  and  his  engagement  was  to  Hudson's  river;  but  some  of  the  Dutch 
Aaving  notice  of  their  intention,  and  having  thoughts  about  the  same  time 
of  erecting  a  plantation  there  likewise,  they  fraudulently  hired  the  said 
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Jones,  by  delays,  while  they  were  in  England,  and  now  under  the  pretence 
of  the  shoales,  etc.,  to  disappoint  them  in  their  going  thither.  Of  this  plot 
betwixt  the  Dutch  and  Mr.  Jones,  I  have  had  late  and  certain  intelligence." 
The  e-xplicitness  of  this  assertion  caused  the  charge  of  treachery  —  brought 
by  no  one  but  Morton  —  to  be  repeated  by  ahnost  every  historian  for  years, 
but  its  correctness  has  since  been  questioned  by  writers  whose  judgment  is 
entitled  to  respect. 

The  Pilgrims  were  now  ready  to  pass  to  the  shore.  But  before  taking 
this  step,  as  the  spot  where  they  lay  was  without  the  bounds  of  their  patent, 
and  as  signs  of  insubordination  had  appeared  among  their  servants,  an  asso- 

ciation was  deemed  necessary,  and  an  agreement  to  "  combine  in  one  body 
and  to  submit  to  such  government  and  governors  as  should  by  common  con- 

sent ' '  be  selected  and  chosen.  Accordingly  a  compact  was  prepared,  and  signed 
before  landing  by  all  the  males  of  the  company  who  were  of  age,  and  this  in- 

strument was  the  constitution  of  the  colony  for  several  years.  It  was  as  follows : 

In  y«  name  of  God,  Amen.  We  whose  names  are  underwriten,  the  loyall  subjects  of  our 
•dread  soveraigne  Lord,  King  James,  \>j  y»  grace  of  God,  of  Great  Britaine,  Prance,  &  Ireland 
king,  defender  of  y=  faith,  &c.,  haveing  undertaken,  for  y«  glorie  of  God,  and  advancemente  of 
y*  Christian  faith,  and  honour  of  our  king  &  countrie,  a  voyage  to  plant  y«  first  colonie  in  y« 
Northerne  parts  of  Virginia,  doe  by  these  presents  solemnly  &  mutually  in  y"  presence  of  God, 
and  one  of  another  covenant  &  combine  our  selves  togeather  into  a  civill  body  politick,  for  our 
better  ordering  &  preservation  &  furtherance  of  ys  ends  aforesaid ;  and  by  vertue  hearof  to 
enacte,  constitute,  and  frame  such  just  &  equall  lawes,  ordinances,  acts,  constitutions,  &  offices, 
from  time  to  time,  and  shall  be  thought  most  meete  and  convenient  for  y"  generall  good  of  y° 
Colonie,  unto  which  we  promise  all  due  submission  and  obedience.  In  witness  whereof  we 
have  hereunder  subscribed  our  names  at  Cape-Codd  y"  11  of  November,  in  y»  year  of  y"  raigne 
of  our  soveraigne  lord.  King  James,  of  England,  France,  &  Ireland  y^  eighteenth,  and  of  Scot- 

land ye  fiftie  fourth.     Ano.  Dom.  1620. 

While,  on  the  one  hand,  much  eloquence  has  been  expended  in  expatiating 
on  this  compact,  as  if  in  the  cabin  of  the  Mayflower  had  consciously,  and  for 
the  first  time,  been  discovered  in  an  age  of  Cimmerian  darkness  the  true 

principles  of  republicanism  and  equality '  —  on  the  other  hand,  it  has  been 
asserted  that  the  Pilgrims  were  "  actuated  by  the  most  daring  ambition," 
and  that  even  at  this  early  period  they  designed  to  erect  a  government  abso- 

lutely independent  of  the  mother  country.  But  the  truth  seems  to  be  that, 
although  the  form  of  government  adopted  by  the  emigrants  is  republican  in 
its  character,  and  remarkably  liberal,  at  the  same  time  its  founders  acknowl- 

edged suitable  allegiance  to  England,  and  regarded  themselves  as  connected 

"with  the  land  of  their  nativity  by  political  and  social  ties,  both  endearing  and 
enduring.  Left  to  themselves  in  a  wilderness  land,  apart  from  all  foreign  aid, 
and  thrown  upon  their  own  resources,  with  none  to  help  or  advise,  they 
adopted  that  course  which  commended  itself  to  their  calm  judgment  as  the 
simplest  and  best;  and  if,  under  such  circumstances,  their  compact  was 
democratic,  it  seems  chiefly  to  intimate  that  self  government  is  naturally 
attractive  to  the  mind,  and  is  spontaneously  resorted  to  in  emergencies  like 
the  present. 

The  first  care  of  the  exiles,  having  established  their  provisional  govern- 
ment [and  choosing  John  Carver  as  governor],  was  to  provide  for  their  shelter. 

Cautiously,  therefore,  for  fear  of  harm,  on  the  same  day  that  the  compact 
was  signed,  fifteen  or  sixteen  men,  well  armed,  were  set  ashore  at  Long  Point 
to  explore  the  country;  and  returning  at  night  with  a  boat-load  of  juniper, 
which  debghted  them  with  its  fragrance,  they  reported  that  they  had  found 
"neither  persons  nor  habitations." 

['  This  has  often  been  called  "the  first  written  constitution  in  the  world."] 
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The  stillness  of  the  Sabbath  (November  12th,  1620)  was  consecrated  to 

■worship  —  the  first,  probably,  ever  observed  by  Christians  in  Massachusetts 
—  and. on  the  morrow  the  shallop  was  drawn  to  the  beach  for  repairs,  and  for 
the  first  time  the  whole  company  landed  for  refreshment.  The  adventurous,, 
impatient  of  delay,  were  eager  to  prosecute  a  journey  by  land  for  discovery! 
Sixteen  were  detailed  under  Captain  Standish  —  their  military  leader,  who 
had  served  in  the  armies  both  of  Elizabeth  and  James  —  and  the  party 
debarked  (November  15th)  at  Stevens'  Point,  at  the  western  extremity  of 
the  harbour,  and  marching  in  single  file,  at  the  distance  of  about  a  mile,  five 
savages  were  espied,  who,  at  their  approach,  hastily  fled.  Graves  were  dis- 

covered; and  at  another  spot  the  ruins  of  a  house,  and  heaps  of  sand  filled 
with  corn  stored  in  baskets.  With  hesitancy  —  so  scrupulous  were  they  of 
wilfully  wronging  the  natives  —  an  old  kettle,  a  waif  from  the  ruins,  was 
filled  with  this  corn,  for  which  the  next  summer  the  owners  were  remuner- 

ated. In  the  vicinity  of  the  Pamet  were  the  ruins  of  a  fort,  or  palisade;  and 
encamping  for  the  night  near  the  Pond  in  Truro,  on  November  17th  they 
returned  to  the  ship. 

Ten  days  after  another  expedition  was  fitted  out,  in  which  twenty-five  of 
the  colonists  were  engaged,  and  visited  the  mouth  of  the  Pamet,  called  by 
them  Cold  Harbour.  A  third  expedition  was  agreed  upon  December  6th; 
and  though  the  weather  was  unfavourable,  and  some  difficulty  was  experienced 

in  clearing  Billingsgate  point,  they  reached  the  weather  shore,  and  there  "  had 
better  sailing."  Yet  bitter  was  the  cold,  and  the  spray,  as  it  froze  on  them, 
gave  them  the  appearance  of  being  encased  in  glittering  mail.  The  next  day 
(December  9th)  the  island  was  explored  —  now  known  as  Clarke's  Island. 
On  Monday,  December  11th  (December 21st,  new  style),  a  landing  was  effected 

upon  Forefather's  Rock.*  The  site  of  this  stone  was  preserved  by  tradition,, 
and  a  venerable  cotemporary  of  several  of  the  Pilgrims,  whose  head  was  sil~ 
vered  with  the  frosts  of  ninety-five  winters,  settled  the  question  of  its  identity 
in  1741.  Borne  in  his  arm-chair  by  a  grateful  populace.  Elder  Faunce  took 
his  last  look  at  the  spot  so  endeared  to  his  memory,  and  bedewing  it  with 
tears,  he  bade  it  farewell!  In  1774  this  precious  boulder,  as  if  seized  with 
the  spirit  of  that  bustling  age,  was  raised  from  its  bed  to  be  consecrated  to 
Liberty,  and  in  the  act  of  its  elevation  it  split  in  twain!  —  an  occurrence 
regarded  by  many  as  ominous  of  the  separation  of  the  colonies  from  England 
— and  the  lower  part  being  left  in  the  spot  where  it  still  lies,  the  upper  part, 
weighing  several  tons,  was  conveyed,  amidst  the  heartiest  rejoicings,  to  Liberty- 
pole  square,  and  adorned  with  a  flag  bearing  the  imperishable  motto:  "Lib- 

erty or  Death! "  On  the  4th  of  July,  1834.  the  natal  day  of  the  freedom  of 
the  colonies,  this  part  of  the  rock  was  removed  to  the  ground  in  front  of 
Pilgrim  Hall,  and  there  it  rests,  encircled  with  a  railing,  ornamented  with 
heraldic  wreaths,  bearing  the  names  of  the  forty-one  signers  of  the  compact 
in  the  Mayflower. 

On  the  day  of  the  landing  the  harbour  was  sounded,  and  the  land  was 

['  Plymouth  Rock  has  been  generally  granted  the  honour  of  receiving  the  first  permanent 
landing  of  Pilgrims  on  the  mainland,  but  no  rock  is  mentioned  in  the  so-called  Relation  of 
Mourt "  of  which  he  wrote  only  the  preface,  the  main  text  being  the  work  of  Bradford  au^ 
Winslow.  In  the  latter  part  of  last  century  a  controversy  was  started  by  S.  H.  Gay, "  who 
declared  that  the  landing  must  have  been  at  the  present  Duxbury  or  Kingston,  not  at  the  pres- 

ent Plymouth.  H.  M.  Dexter"  however,  brought  strong  evidence  from  channel-soundings  to 
support  the  tradition.  Legend  credits  John  Alden  and  Mary  Chilton  with  being  the  first  to  set 

foot  on  the  rock,  but  according  to  F.  B.  Dexter  >■  they  could  not  have  landed  on  December  11th. 
The  very  date  of  the  landing  has  been  the  subject  of  mistake.  In  calculating  the  New  Style 
for  purposes  of  fixing  a  day  of  celebration  December  23nd  was  taken  instead  of  December  2lBt, 

and  in  spite  of  efforts  to  correct  the  date,' the  23ud  has  fastened  on  popular  usage.] 
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explored;  and  the  place  inviting  settlement,  the  adventurers  returned  with 
tidings  of  their  success;  the  Mayflower  weighed  anchor  to  proceed  to  the 
spot;  and  ere  another  Sabbath  dawned  she  was  safely  moored  in  the  desired 
haven.  Monday  and  Tuesday  were  spent  in  exploring  tours;  and  on  Wed- 

nesday, December  20th,  the  settlement  at  Plymouth  was  commenced  —  twenty 
persons  remaining  ashore  for  the  night.  On  the  following  Saturday  the  first 
timber  was  felled;  on  Monday  their  storehouse  was  commenced;  on  Thurs- 

day preparations  were  made  for  the  erection  of  a  fort,  and  allotments  of  land 
were  made  to  the  [nineteen]  families;  and  on  the  following  Sunday  religious 
worship  was  performed  for  the  first  time  in  their  storehouse. 

For  a  month  the  colonists  were  busily  employed.  The  houses  were 
arranged  in  two  rows,  on  Leyden  street,  each  man  building  his  own.  The 
whole  of  this  first  winter  was  a  period  of  unprecedented  hardship  and  suffer- 

ing. Mild  as  was  the  weather,  it  was  far  more  severe  than  that  of  the  land  of 
their  birth;  and  the  diseases  contracted  on  shipboard,  aggravated  by  colds 
caught  in  their  wanderings  in  quest  of  a  home,  caused  a  great  and  distressing 
mortality  to  prevail.  In  December,  six  died;  in  January,  eight;  in  February, 
seventeen;  and  in  Marfch,  thirteen  —  a  total  of  forty-four  died  in  four  months, 
of  whom  twenty-one  were  signers  of  the  compact.  It  is  remarkable  that  the 
leaders  of  the  colony  were  spared.  The  first  burial  place  was  on  Cole's  Hill; 
and  as  an  affecting  proof  of  the  miserable  condition  of  the  sufferers,  it  is  said 
by  Baylies  x  that,  knowing  they  were  surrounded  by  warlike  savages,  and  fear- 

ing their  losses  might  be  discovered,  and  advantage  be  taken  of  their  weakness 
and  helplessness  to  attack  and  exterminate  them,  the  sad  mounds  formed 
by  rude  coffins  hidden  beneath  the  earth  were  carefully  leveled  and  sowed 
with  grain.? 

'V  KELATIONS  WITH  THE  INDIANS:  CAPTAIN  MILES   STANDISH 

On  John  Smith's  map  the  harbour  where  the  Pilgrims  had  come  to  anchor 
was  designated  by  the  English  name  of  Plymouth,  and  was  indicated  on  it 
as  a  fit  place  for  settlement.  In  compliment,  it  is  said,  to  the  kind  treatment 
received  at  the  English  city  of  Plymouth,  the  name  of  New  Plymouth  was 
retained.  The  settlers  themselves  are  often  designated  as  the  Plymouth 
pilgrims.v 

The  Indians,  remembering  the  kidnapping  exploits  of  Hunt  and  others, 
were  hostile.  More  than  half  the  colonists,  including  John  Carver,  their 
governor,  died  before  spring.  Those  who  retained  their  strength  were  hardly 
sufficient  to  minister  to  the  urgent  wants  of  the  sick  and  dying.  In  this 
employment  no  one  distinguished  himself  more  than  Carver,  the  governor. 
He  was  a  man  of  fortune,  who  had  spent  all  in  the  service  of  the  colony,  and 
readily  sacrificed  his  Hfe  in  discharging  the  humblest  offices  of  kindness  to 
the  sick.  He  was  succeeded  by  William  Bradford,  who  was  re-elected  for 
many  successive  years,  notwithstanding  his  remonstrance  that  "  if  this  office 
were  an  honour,  it  should  be  shared  by  his  feUow  citizens  and  if  it  were  a 
burden,  the  weight  of  it  should  not  always  be  imposed  on  him." 

Previous  to  the  arrival  of  the  Pilgrims  in  New  England,  a  sweeping  pesti- 
lence had,  as  we  have  seen,  carried  off  whole  tribes  of  natives,  in  the  region 

where  they  had  now  settled.  The  traces  of  former  habitation  were  apparent; 
but  no  Indians  were  found  residing  in  their  immediate  vicinity.  The  spring, 
which  restored  health  to  the  colonists,  brought  them  also  an  agreeable  sur- 

prise, in  the  visit  of  some  Indians  whose  disposition  was  friendly.  The  visit 
of  Samoset,  whose  previous  intercourse  with  the  English  fishermen  enabled 
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m  to  salute  them  with  "  Welcome,  welcome,  Englishmen! "  was  followed 
1  u  J  Massasoit,  the  principal  sachem  of  the  country,  with  whom  the 
lebrated  treaty  was  concluded,  which  was  inviolably  observed,  for  more 
lan  fifty  years,  and  contributed,  during  that  period,  more  than  any  other rcumstance,  to  secure  New  England  from  the  horrors  of  Indian  warfare.2 
In  the  fall  of  1621  the  first  harvest  of  the  colonists  was  gathered.  The 

corn''  yielded  well,  and  the  "barley"  was  "indifferently  good,"  but  the 
peas  "  were  a  failure,  owing  to  drought  and  late  sowing.  Satisfied,  however, ith  the  abundance  of  their  fruits,  four  huntsmen  were  sent  for  fowl;  and 
i  their  return,  "  after  a  special  manner "  the  Pilgrims  rejoiced  together, asting  King  Massasoit  and  ninety  men  for  three  days,  and  partaking  of 
jnison,  wild  turkeys,  water  fowl,  and  other  delicacies  for  which  New  England 
as  then  famous.  Thus  the  time-honoured  festival  of  Thanksgiving  was 
stituted  —  a  festival  which,  originally  confined  in  its  observance  to  the  sons 
the  Pilgrims  and  the  state  of  Massachusetts,  has  now  become  almost  a 

itional  festival.? 
The  treaty  with  Massasoit  was  one  of  the  most  important  events  in  the 

story  of  New  England.  Another  efficient  means  of  preserving  the  colony 
om  Indian  hostility  was  found  in  the  courage,  ability,  and  military  experi- 
ice  of  Captain  Miles  Standish.  He  was  the  hero  of  New  England,  says 
octor  Belknap,^*  as  Captain  Smith  had  been  of  Virginia.  Though  small  in 
ature,  he  had  an  active  genius,  a  sanguine  temper,  and  a  strong  constitu- 
on.  He  had  early  embraced  the  profession  of  arms;  and  the  Netherlands 
jing,  in  his  youth,  the  theatre  of  war,  he  had  entered  into  the  service  of 
ueen  EUzabeth,  in  aid  of  the  Dutch,  and,  after  the  truce,  steped  with  the 
nglish  refugees  at  Leyden.-  He  came  over  with  the  Pilgrims,  and  on  their 
rival  at  Cape  Cod,  he  was  appointed  commander  of  the  first  party  of  sixteen 
en,  who  went  ashore  on  discovery,  and  when  they  began  their  settlement 
Plymouth,  he  was  unanimously  chosen  captain,  or  chief  military  com- 
ander.  In  several  interviews  with  the  natives,  he  was  the  first  to  meet 
lem,  and  was  generally  accompanied  by  a  very  small  number  of  men, 
lected  by  himself. 
After  the  treaty  was  made  with  Massasoit,  one  of  his  petty  sachems,  Cor- 

tant,  became  discontented,  and  was  preparing  to  join  with  the  Narragansetts 
;ainst  the  English.  Standish,  with  fourteen  men  and  a  guide,  went  to 
)rbitant's  residence  and  surrounded  his  house;  but,  not  finding  him  at 
)me,  he  informed  the  Indians  of  his  intention  of  destroying  him,  if  he  should 
irsist  in  his  rebellion.  This  decisive  proceeding  struck  terror  into  the  tur- 
ilent  chieftain,  who  promptly  submitted  to  Massasoit,  and  entreated  his 
ediation  with  the  English.  The  example  was  not  lost  upon  the  neighbour- 
5  sachems,  eight  of  whom  came  forward  in  September,  1621,  to  subscribe 
L  instrument  of  submission  to  the  English  government.  When  the  town  of 
ymouth  was  enclosed  and  fortified,  the  defence  of  it  was  committed  to  the 

ptain,  who  organised  the  military  force,  made  the  appointments  of  sub- 
dinate  officers,  and  took  efficient  measures  against  sudden  surprise  by  the 
,tives. 

The  Narragansetts  were  the  enemies  of  Massasoit's  people.  Indeed,  Cap- 
in  Smith,-'^  in  his  history,  says  it  was  to  secure  a  powerful  ally  against  tlus 
be  that  the  great  chieftain  made  his  treaty  with  the  English.  Their  chief, 

inonicus,  sent  a  bundle  of  arrows  tied  up  with  a  rattlesnake's  skin  to  the 
vernor,  in  token  of  hostility;  but  when  Bradford  filled  the  rattlesnake's 
in  with  powder  and  shot,  and  sent  it  back  in  defiance,  the  sachem  was 
timidated,  and  gladly  consented  to  a  treaty.    The  Indians  were  afraid  to 
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receive  the  significant  token  of  the  governor,  or  to  let  it  remain  in  their  houses; 
and  it  was  finally  sent  back  to  Plymouth. 

A  rival  settlement  was  attempted  in  the  immediate  neighbourhood  of  the 
Plymouth  colony.  Thomas  Weston,  London  merchant,  originally  concerned 
in  the  adventure  to  Plymouth,  having  obtained  a  separate  patent  for  a  tract 
of  land  on  Massachusetts  Bay,  sent  two  ships,  with  fifty  or  sixty  men,  to  set- 

tle a  plantation.  Many  of  the  adventurers  being  sick  on  their  arrival,  became 
dependent  on  the  hospitality  of  the  Plymouth  people,  with  whom  they 
remained  through  the  summer  of  1622.  They  afterwards  established  them- 

selves: at  Wessagusset,  or  Weymouth;  but  their  affairs  never  prospered. 
Their  treatment  of  the  Indians  was  such  as  to  provoke  their  hostiUty;  and 
a  plot  was  laid  for  the  extirpation  of  all  the  English  settlers.  This  conspir- 

acy extended  to  many  tribes,  and  came  to  the  knowledge  of  Massasoit,  who 
revealed  it  to  Edward  Winslow  and  John  Hampden,  when  they  were  paying 
him  a  friendly  visit,  and  relieving  him  from  a  dangerous  illness.  The  great 
sachem  advised  them  to  kill  the  leading  conspirators,  as  the  only  means  of 
safety  (1623). 

The  governor,  on  learning  the  impending  danger,  instantly  committed  the 
affair  to  Standish;  directing  him  to  take  with  him  as  many  men  as  he  chose, 
and  if  he  should  be  satisfied  of  the  existence  of  the  plot,  to  fall  upon  the 
conspirators.  Standish  took  but  eight  men  for  the  expedition,  and  arriving 
at  Weymouth,  learned  from  the  people  enough  of  the  insolent  behaviour  and 
threats  of  the  Indians  to  satisfy  him  of  their  hostile  intentions.  Indeed,  those 
who  came  to  the  place  insulted  and  defied  him.  His  only  difiiculty  now  was 
to  bring  a  sufficient  number  of  the  Indians  together  to  commence  the  attack. 
At  length,  when  Wittuwumet  and  Pecksuot,  two  of  the  boldest  and  most 
powerful  chiefs,  were  together  in  the  same  room,  with  a  youth  of  eighteen, 
the  brother  of  Wittuwumet,  and  another  Indian,  "  putting  many  tricks  on 
the  weaker  sort  of  men,"  the  captain  having  about  as  many  of  his  own  party 
with  him,  according  to  Winslow,*  "  gave  the  word,  and  the  door  being  shut 
fast  he  began  himself  with  Pecksuot,  and  snatching  the  knife  from  his  neck, 
after  much  struggling,  killed  him  therewith;  the  rest  killed  Wittuwumet  and 

the  other  man;  the  youth  they  took  and  hanged.'  It  is  incredible  how  many 
wounds  these  men  received  before  they  died;  not  making  any  fearful  noise, 
but  catching  at  their  weapons  and  striving  to  the  last.  Hobomoc  (Stand- 
ish's  Indian  guide  and  interpreter)  stood  by  as  a  spectator,  observing  how 
our  men  demeaned  themselves  in  the  action;  which  being  ended,  he,  smiling, 

broke  forth  and  said :  '  Yesterday  Pecksuot  bragged  of  his  own  strength  and 
stature,  and  told  you  that  though  you  were  a  great  captain  yet  you  were 
but  a  little  man;  but  to-day  I  see  you  are  big  enough  to  lay  him  on  the 

ground.' " 
By  Standish's  order,  several  other  Indians  were  subsequently  killed;  but 

the  women  were  sent  away  uninjured.  This  exploit  of  Standish  so  terrified 
the  other  Indians  who  had  conspired  with  the  Massachusetts,  or  Massachu- 
sencks,  as  Winslow  calls  them,  "  that  they  forsook  their  houses,  running  to 
and  fro  like  men  distracted;  living  in  swamps,  and  other  desert  places,  and  so 
brought  diseases  upon  themselves,  whereof  many  died,  as  Canacum  sachem 

of  Manomet,  Aspinet  of  Nauset,  and  laough  of  Matachiest."  The  plantation 
of  Weston  was  broken  up  and  the  settlers  dispersed,  within  one  year  after  it 

['  These  bloody  proceedings  excited  some  misgivings  in  the  mind  of  John  Robinson,  who, 
though  still  in  Holland,  extended  a  pastor's  oversight  to  the  colony,  which  he  intended  presently 
to  join.  "  Oh,  how  happy  a  thing  it  would  have  been,"  he  wrote  in  a  letter  to  the  colonists, 
"that  you  had  converted  some  before  you  killed  any,"  — Hildbeth.*] 
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begun.  Some  of  the  people  returned  to  England,  and  others  remained  in  the 
country.  Weston  did  not  come  to  America  himself  till  after  the  dispersion 
of  his  people,  some  of  whom  he  found  among  the  eastern  fishermen;  and  from 
them  he  first  heard  of  the  ruin  of  his  enterprise.  In  a  storm  he  was  cast 
away  on  the  coast  south  of  the  Piscataqua,  and  robbed  by  the  Indians  of  all 
which  he  had  saved  from  the  wreck.  By  the  charity  of  the  inhabitants  of 
Piscataqua,  he  was  enabled  to  reach  Plymouth,  where  he  obtained  some 

pecuniary  aid,  and  "  he  never  repaid  the  debt  but  with  enmity  and  reproach."2 
The  situation  of  the  colonists  in  the  spring  of  1623  was  peculiarly  distress- 

ing. By  the  scantiness  of  their  crops  and  the  prodigality  of  their  neighbours, 
their  granaries  were  exhausted  and  they 
were  reduced  to  want.  The  narrative  of 
their  sufferings  is  affecting  and  thrilling. 

"  By  the  time  their  corn  was  planted,  their 
victuals  were  spent,  and  they  knew  not  at 
night  where  to  have  a  bit  in  the  morning, 
nor  had  they  corn  or  bread  for  three  or 

four  months  together."  Elder  Brewster 
lived  upon  shell-fish.  With  only  oysters 
and  clams  at  his  meals,  he  gave  thanks  that 
he  could  "seek  of  the  abundance  of  the 
seas,  and  of  treasures  hid  in  the  sand." Tradition  affirms  that  at  one  time  there 

was  but  a  pint  of  corn  left  in  the  settle- 
ment, which,  being  divided,  gave  to  each 

person  a  proportion  of  five  kernels.  In  al- 
lusion to  this  incident,  at  the  bi-centennial 

celebration,  in  1820,  when  much  of  the 
beauty,  fashion,  wealth,  and  talent  of  Mas- 

sachusetts had  congregated  at  Plymouth, 
and  orators  had  spoken,  and  poets  sang 
the  praises  of  the  Pilgrims;  amidst  the 
richest  viands,  which  had  been  prepared  to 
gratify  the  most  fastidious  epicure  to 

satiety,  five  kernels  of  parched  corn  were  placed  beside  each  plate,  "  a  simple 
but  interesting  and  affecting  memorial,"  says  Baylies,^  "of  the  distresses  of 
those  heroic  and  pious  men  who  won  this  fair  land  of  plenty,  and  freedom,  and 

happiness,  and  yet,  at  times,  were  literally  in  want  of  a  morsel  of  bread."? 
Another  rival  colony  was  attempted  in  the  neighbourhood  of  the  Ply- 

mouth settlers,  by  John  Pierce,  in  whose  name  their  first  patent  had  been 
taken  out.  He  procured  another  patent  of  larger  extent,  intending  to  keep 
it  for  his  own  benefit;  but  his  treachery  met  its  punishment.  Having  embarked 
with  a  company  of  one  hundred  and  nine  persons,  his  vessel  was  dismasted 
and  driven  back  to  Portsmouth.  His  property  was  purchased  by  the  Ply- 

mouth settlers,  and  the  passengers  and  goods  being  embarked  in  another  ves- 
sel, arrived  safely  at  Plymouth,  in  July,  1623.  The  connection  of  the  Pilgrims 

with  the  trading  company  in  London,  who  were  their  partners  in  the  scheme 
of  colonisation,  was  attended  with  many  inconveniences.  To  meet  their 
engagements  the  colonists  were  obliged  to  submit  to  the  payment  of  exces- 

sive usury,  and  to  trade  at  a  serious  disadvantage.  One  of  their  number, 
feaac  Allerton,  was  sent  to  London  in  1626.  He  returned  in  the  spring  of 
1627,  having  obtained  a  loan  of  two  hundred  pounds  at  thirty  percent,  inter- 

est, and  laid  it  out  in  goods  suitable  for  the  supply  of  the  colony .^ 

Edward  Winslow 

(1595-1655) 



634  THE   HISTORY   OF   THE   UNITED   STATES 
[1637-1630  A.D.] 

At  the  end  of  the  seven  years  originally  limited  in  the  agreement  between 
the  Plymouth  colonists  and  the  London  adventurers,  the  London  partners 
agreed  to  sell  out  their  interest  for  £1,800,  or  about  $9,000,  to  be  paid  in  nine 
annual  instalments.  Eight  of  the  principal  colonists,  in  consideration  of  a 

six  years'  monopoly  of  the  Indian  traffic,  gave  their  private  bonds  for  the 
amount.  The  joint-stock  principle  was  now  abandoned;  a  division  was 
made  of  the  movable  property;  and  twenty  acres  of  land,  nearest  the  town, 
were  assigned  in  fee  to  each  colonist. 

The  soil  of  New  Plymouth  was  very  poor;  some  not  very  successful 
attempts  were  made  at  the  cultivation  of  tobacco;  but  the  chief  reliance  to 
pay  for  cloths  and  other  goods  from  England  was  the  peltry  collected  by 
trade  with  the  Indians.  To  save  the  voyage  round  Cape  Cod,  and  to  facili- 

tate the  traffic  with  the  Indians  on  Narragansett  Bay  and  Long  Island  Sound, 

a  trading  house  was  built  at  the  head  of  Buzzard's  Bay.  A  grant  was  also obtained  from  the  council  for  New  England  of  a  large  tract  at  the  mouth  of 
the  Kennebec,  where  a  post  was  established,  and  a  lucrative  traffic  opened 
with  the  eastern  Indians.  A  friendly  message  brought  by  Secretary  De 
Razier  [or  De  Rasieres]  had  been  received  in  October,  1627,  from  the  Dutch 
at  the  mouth  of  the  Hudson.  From  these  Dutchmen  the  use  of  wampum 
was  learned,  soon  found  very  serviceable  in  the  trade  with  the  eastern  Indians. 
There  was  not  yet  capital  enough  to  engage  in  the  cod  fishery,  but  a  step  was 
made  toward  it  in  the  establishment  of  a  salt  work. 

Straggling  settlers,  with  or  without  grants  from  the  council  for  New  Eng- 
land, were  now  fast  planting  themselves  along  the  coast.  East  of  the  Pisca- 

taqua,  obscure  hamlets  of  fishermen  were  established  in  1625  at  Agamenticus, 
now  York,  and  at  the  mouth  of  the  Saco.  A  party  of  some  thirty  persons, 
under  a  Captain  WoUaston,  had  set  up  a  plantation  in  Massachusetts  Bay, 
not  far  from  Wissagusset,  at  a  place  which  they  called  Mount  Wollaston,  now 

Quincy.  This  plantation  presently  fell  under  the  control  of  one  Morton,  "  a 
pettifogger  of  Furnival's  Inn,"  or,  as  he  describes  himself,  "  of  Clifford's  Inn, 
gentleman."  He  changed  the  name  to  Merry  Mount;  sold  powder  and  shot 
to  the  Indians;  gave  refuge  to  runaway  servants;  and  set  up  a  May-pole, 
upon  which  occasion  he  broached  a  cask  of  wine  and  a  hogshead  of  ale,  and 
held  a  high  revel  and  carousal.  The  people  of  Plymouth  were  requested  by 
the  other  settlers  to  interfere;  and  Morton  was  seized  by  the  redoubtable 
Standish,  and  sent  prisoner  to  England  in  1628.  Eight  plantations,  from 
Piscataqua  to  Plymouth,  some  of  them  only  single  families,  contributed  to 
the  expense. 

Though  their  number  did  not  yet  amount  to  three  hundred,  the  Plymouth 
colonists  considered  themselves  now  firmly  established.  "  It  was  not  with 
them  as  with  other  men,  whom  small  things  could  discourage,  or  small  dis- 

contents cause  to  wish  themselves  at  home  again";  so  they  stated  in  their 
application  to  the  council  for  New  England  for  a  new  patent.  They  presently 
obtained  it  (June  13th,  1630),  with  an  assignment  as  boundaries,  on  the  land 
side,  of  two  lines,  the  one  drawn  northerly  from  the  mouth  of  the  Narragansett 
river,  the  other  westerly  from  Cohasset  rivulet,  to  meet  "  at  the  uttermost 
limits  of  a  country  or  place  called  Pocanoket."  The  tract  on  the  Kennebec 
was  also  included  in  this  grant. 

This  patent  gave  a  title  to  the  soil;  but  prerogatives  of  government, 
according  to  the  ideas  of  the  English  lawyers,  could  only  be  exercised  under 
a  charter  from  the  crown.  A  considerable  sum  was  spent  in  the  endeavour 
to  obtain  such  a  charter,  but  without  success.  Relying,  however,  upon  their 
original  compact,  the  colonists  gradually  assumed  all  the  prerogatives  of 
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government  — even  the  power,  after  some  hesitation,  of  capital  punishment. No  less  than  eight  capital  offences  are  enumerated  in  the  first  Plymouth  code 
of  1636,  including  treason  or  rebellion  against  the  colony,  and  "  solemn 
compaction  or  conversing  with  the  devil."  Trial  by  jury  was  eariy  intro- duced, but  the  punishments  to  be  inflicted  on  minor  offences  remained  for 
the  most  part  discretionary. 

For  eighteen  years  all  laws  were  enacted  in  a  general  assembly  of  all  the 
colonists.  The  governor,  chosen  annually,  was  but  president  of  a  council, 
in  which  he  had  a  double  vote.  It  consisted  first  of  one,  then  of  five,  and 
finally  of  seven  counsellors,  called  assistants.  So  little  were  political  honours 
coveted  at  New  Plymouth,  that  it  became  necessary  to  inflict  a  fine  upon 
such  as,  being  chosen,  declined  to  serve  as  governor  or  assistant.  None, 
however,  were  to  be  obliged  to  serve  for  two  years  in  succession. 

The  constitution  of  the  church  was  equally  democratic.  For  the  first 
eight  years  there  was  no  pastor,  unless  Robinson,  still  in  Holland,  where  he 
died  March  1st,  1625,  might  be  considered  in  that  light.  Lyford,  sent  out  by 
the  London  partners,  was  refused  and  expelled  in  1624.  Brewster,  the  ruling 
elder,  and  such  private  members  as  had  the  gift  of  prophecy  officiated  as 
exhorters.  On  Sunday  afternoons  a  question  was  propounded,  to  which  all 
spoke  who  had  anything  to  say.  Even  after  they  adopted  the  plan  of  a 
Dastor,  no  minister,  it  was  observed,  stayed  long  at  New  Plymouth.2/ 

COLONISATION   OF  MAINE   AND  NEW  HAMPSHIRE 

There  is  considerable  obscurity  in  the  early  history  of  the  extensive  terri- 
tory now  constituting  the  states  of  Maine  and  New  Hampshire,  arising  from 

the  nximerous  and  conflicting  grants  made  by  the  councU  of  Plymouth  for 
New  England.  The  extensive  powers  conferred  upon  this  company  by  the 
crown  were  a  source  of  discontent  in  the  mother  country,  and  of  litigation  in 
the  colonies.  Their  claim  to  the  exclusive  enjoyment  of  the  fisheries  was 
opposed  in  the  house  of  commons;  and  their  attempt  to  establish  this  claim, 
by  despatching  Francis  West,  with  a  commission  as  admiral  of  New  England, 
to  protect  their  monopoly  by  the  presence  of  a  naval  force  was  entirely  nuga- 

tory; nor  was  the  grant  of  a  patent  for  a  tract  extending  ten  miles  on  Massa- 
chusetts Bay,  which  they  made  to  Robert  Gorges,  with  power  "to  restrain 

interlopers,"  attended  with  any  better  success.  These  failures  discouraged 
the  council ;  and  their  subsequent  operations  were  chiefly  confined  to  the  grant- 

ing of  patents  for  tracts  of  land  in  New  England  of  various  extent,  without 
much  regard  to  the  inevitably  conflicting  claims  of  the  patentees.  Under 
some  of  these  patents  the  settlements  on  the  coast  of  Maine  and  New  Hamp- 

shire were  commenced. 
Among  the  earliest  settlements  in  New  England  were  those  on  the  coasts 

of  Maine.  Its  shores,  as  we  have  seen,  were  visited  by  Martin  Pring  in  1603 
and  1606,  and  the  knowledge  which  he  obtained  of  the  interior  of  the  country 
was  communicated  to  the  patrons  of  American  colonisation.  This  led  the 

Plymouth  Company  to  attempt  the  unfortunate  settlement  under  Popham,' 
['  There  was  for  many  years  a  hot  dispute,  over  the  early  history  of  the  Maine  plantations 

and  the  Maine  Historical  Society  engaged  Dr.  Leonard  Woods  and  later  Dr.  John  G.  Kohl ""  in 
researches  which  brought  about  a  deal  of  controversy.  By  some,  notably  John  A.  Poor,**  it 
was  claimed  that  the  unfortunate  Popham  colony  at  Sabino  in  1607  deserved  the  honour  of  sav- 

ing New  England  for  England.  The  adversaries  of  this  theory  protested  that  the  Popham 
colony  having  been  a  futility  could  not  steal  the  glory  of  the  permanent  establishment  at  Plymouth 
in  1630.  In  spite  of  a  long  warfare  the  older  accounts  are  now  re-established,  and  in  the  words 
of  Winsor  "  "  A  reaction  that  at  one  time  claimed  the  necessity  of  rewriting  history  has  in  the 
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at  the  mouth  of  the  Kennebec,  in  1607,  whose  failure  followed  so  speedily 
after  its  commencement.  One  of  the  most  zealous  supporters  of  this  enter- 

prise was  Sir  Ferdinando  Gorges,  who  vainly  urged  his  associates  to  repeat 
the  experiment. 

Gorges  continued  his  private  course  of  discovery  for  several  years;  and 
in  1622,  uniting  his  fortune  with  that  of  the  wealthy  John  Mason,  they  obtained 
conjointly  from  the  Plymouth  Company  -  of  which  they  were  both  members 
—  a  grant  of  the  territory  called  Laconia,  lying  between  the  Merrimac  and 
Kennebec  rivers.  A  number  of  colonists  were  sent  over  the  next  year,  and 
these  commenced  settlements  near  the  mouth  of  the  Piscataqua,  in  1623. 
Here  a  part  of  them  erected  the  first  house,  calling  it  Mason  hall;  the  remainder 
proceeding  farther  up  the  river,  settled  at  Cocheco,  afterwards  called  Dover. 
Fishing  and  trade  were  the  chief  objects  of  these  emigrants;  and  consequently, 
their  settlement  increased  slowly.  Portsmouth  had  no  more  than  sixty  fami- 

lies in  thirty  years  after  its  settlement.  The  council  issued  several  patents 
of  inferior  extent  a  few  years  after,  and  some  of  these  were  comprised  within 
the  limits  of  Mason  and  Gorges'  grant.  Two  of  these  were  situated  at  the 
mouth  of  the  Kennebec,  where  a  permanent  colony  was  planted  in  1630,  under 
the  direction  of  Richard  Vines,  a  former  agent  of  Gorges.  The  year  following 
a  tract,  comprehending  the  peninsula  on  which  Portland  is  built,  was  conveyed 
by  the  council  to  two  merchants,  who  erected  a  trading-house  on  an  island 
near  Portland  harbour,  and  thus  promoted  the  settlement  of  the  neighbouring 
coasts.  The  colonists  were  principally  from  the  southwest  of  England;  and 
being  accompanied  by  clergjmaen  of  the  establishment,  they  found  little  favour 
with  the  Massachusetts  planters. 

The  Pemaquid  territory,  lying  without  the  limits  of  Gorges'  patent,  and  to 
the  eastward,  extended  about  thirty  miles  from  the  Kennebec.  This  tract  had 
been  the  subject  of  an  Indian  treaty  in  1625,  at  which  time  the  settlement  was 
commenced  there.  Pemaquid  must  therefore  be  regarded  as  the  first  per- 

manent settlement  in  Maine.  In  1635,  Gorges  obtained  from  the  council  a 
separate  title  to  that  portion  of  their  former  grant  which  lies  east  of  the  Pisca- 

taqua, whUe  Mason  was  confirmed  in  the  possession  of  the  western  part. 
Gorges  conferred  on  the  tract  thus  acquired  the  name  of  New  Somersetshire, 
in  compliment  to  his  native  coimty  in  England. 

In  like  manner  Mason  gave  to  his  portion  the  name  of  New  Hampshire. 
He  sent  agents  to  dispose  of  his  lands,  and  take  care  of  his  interests;  but  he 
soon  after  died,  leaving  his  affairs  in  so  disordered  a  state  that  his  family 
derived  little  benefit  from  his  proprietorship,  and  the  colonists  were  left  to 
take  care  of  themselves.  Gorges  took  immediate  measures  for  organising  a 
government,  and  to  this  end,  sent  over  Captain  WUliam  Gorges  to  his  colony, 
with  commissions  to  several  gentlemen  resident  in  the  province.  Seven  of 
these  commissioners  assembled  at  Saco,  March  25th,  1636,  received  from  the 
inhabitants  an  acknowledgment  of  the  jurisdiction  of  the  proprietary,  and 
attended  some  days,  hearing  cases  in  dispute  and  exercising  a  cognisance  of 
criminal  offences. 

There  appears  not  to  have  been  entire  satisfaction  on  the  part  of  the  colon- 
ists, with  this  early  administration;  for  in  1637  Gorges  gave  authority  to 

Governor  Winthrop  and  others  of  Massachusetts,  to  govern  the  province  and 
oversee  his  servants  and  private  affairs.  But  this  order  was  entirely  disre- 

garded by  those  to  whom  it  was  addressed:  and,  not  long  after,  the  proprie- 

end  engaged  few  advocates,  and  is  now  almost  lost  sight  of."  This  is  only  one  among  many 
of  the  instances  where  destructive  historical  criticism  after  maJigniiig  the  old  aathorities  has 
been  forced  to  accept  them  as  our  only  sources  of  information.] 
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tary  obtained  a  royal  charter,  confirming  the  grant  of  the  council,  and  creating 
him  lord  palatine,  with  powers  similar  to  those  exercised  by  the  bishop  of 
Durham.  Gorges  thereupon  appointed  a  new  board  of  councillors  for  the  gov- 

ernment of  his  province,  the  name  of  which  was  now  changed  to  Maine.  The 
first  general  court  under  this  charter  assembled  at  Saco,  June  25th,  1640,  at 
which  the  inhabitants  of  the  several  plantations  renewed  their  oaths  of  alle- 

giance to  the  proprietary.  Thomas  Gorges  arrived  with  the  commission  of  gov- 
ernor the  same  year,  and  presided  at  the  second  session  of  the  court,  held  in 

September.  He  resided  at  the  city  of  Gorgeana  —  now  the  town  of  York  — 
of  which  he  was  created  mayor. 

Previous  to  the  date  of  Mason's  patent  for  New  Hampshire,  the  reverend John  Wheelvmght,  an  emigrant  from  Massachusetts,  for  causes  which  we  shall 
hereafter  notice,  had  purchased  lands  of  the  Indians,  and  laid  the  foundation  of 
Exeter;  but  it  was  not  till  1639,  that  the  inhabitants  combined  and  estab- 

lished civil  government;  an  example  which  was  followed  a  year  or  two  after- 
wards by  Dover  and  Portsmouth.  In  1641,  New  Hampshire  was  brought 

under,  the  jurisdiction  of  Massachusetts,  and  permitted  to  send  two  representa- 
tives to  the  general  court  at  Boston;  thus  ceasing  to  be  a  separate  province  in 

six  years  from  the  time  of  its  first  settlement. 
At  the  suggestion  of  Sir  Ferdinando  Gorges,  his  friend  Sir  William  Alex- 

ander had  obtained  in  1621,  a  patent  for  the  territory  east  of  the  river  St. 
Croix,  and  south  of  the  St.  Lawrence,  under  the  name  of  Nova  Scotia.  This 
was  followed  in  1628,  by  the  capture  of  Port  Royal  by  the  English;  and  in 
1629,  Quebec  itself  surrendered  to  a  naval  force  commanded  by  Sir  David 
Kirke.  All  New  France  was  thus  conquered  by  the  English,  one  hundred  and 
thirty  years  before  its  final  subjugation  by  the  army  of  General  Wolfe;  but 
it  was  immediately  afterwards  restored  by  treaty;  the  British  government 
apparently  not  being  aware  of  the  value  of  the  acquisition. 

Sir  Ferdinando  Gorges,  in  common  with  other  royalists,  was  unable  to 
breast  the  storm  of  civil  war  which  was  become  ruinous  to  all  adherents  to  the 
crown.  He  was  taken  prisoner  on  the  surrender  of  Bristol  to  the  parliamentary 
forces,  in  1645,  and  soon  died,  leaving  his  estate  to  his  son  John  Gorges.  On 
the  return  of  the  governor  to  England,  in  1643,  he  was  succeeded  in  his  officp 
by  Richard  Vines.  During  his  brief  administration,  Colonel  Alexander  Rigoy 
revived  a  title  to  a  large  portion  of  the  province,  which  had  been  granted  by 

the  council  of  Plymouth  in  1630,  under  the  name  of  the  "Plough  Patent" 
[from  the  name  of  the  ship  Plough  in  which  the  patentees  came  over].  This 
patent  claimed  jurisdiction  of  the  towns,  as  well  as  possession  of  the  soil,  of  a 
tract  forty  miles  square,  located  in  the  most  populous  part  of  the  province. 
Mr.  George  Cleaves,  who  had  long  resided  in  the  province,  was  sent  over  by 
Rigby  as  his  agent  and  deputy  governor.  Cleaves  summoned  a  court  at 
Casco,  in  1644,  in  the  name  of  the  "lord  proprietor  and  president  of  the 
province  of  Lygonia,"  as  the  new  proprietor  denominated  his  patent;  and 
though  the  inhabitants  seem  generally  to  have  opposed  the  pretensions  of 
Rigby,  yet  as  Vines  received  no  directions  from  Gorges  as  to  his  mode  of  pro- 

ceeding, he  yielded  to  the  storm,  resigned  his  commission,  and  removed  with 
his  family  to  the  island  of  Barbadoes.  Two  years  after,  the  commissioners 
for  foreign  plantations  in  England  recognised  the  claims  of  Rigby,  and  the 
government  of  Lygonia  became  regularly  established. 

But  few  towns  and  plantations  were  left  to  the  jurisdiction  of  the  former 
proprietary  of  Maine.  These  elected  Edward  Godfrey  of  Gorgeana  their  gov- 

ernor; and  fearing  they  should  fall  into  the  hands  of  the  puritan  colonies,  they 
petitioned  parliament  in  1650  to  constitute  them  a  distinct  jurisdiction. 
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Their  application  was  unsuccessful,  and  their  apprehensions  were  soon  real- 
ised. The  Massachusetts  Bay  Company  laid  claim  to  the  greater  part  of 

Maine  in  1652,  tinder  pretence  that  it  was  embraced  within  the  limits  of  their 
patent.  They  accordingly  proceeded  to  exercise  jurisdiction  over  the  towns, 
notwithstanding  the  manly  protests  and  well-founded  claims  of  Governor 
Godfrey:  and  Lygonia  being  soon  after  left  in  a  defenceless  state,  by  the  death 
of  Rigby,  it  also  was  brought  within  the  Massachusetts  charter,  though  some 
of  its  towns  did  not  submit  until  1658. 

The  royal  commissioners  sent  out  soon  after  the  restoration  to  inspect 
affairs  in  New  England,  visited  Maine  in  the  summer  of  1665,  and  declared  the 
province  to  be  under  the  protection  and  government  of  the  king.    They  also 

Cbaddock  Old  Fort,  Medford 

(Bnilt  in  1634.    A  refuge  for  the  early  settlers) 

designated  several  gentlemen  to  administer  affairs  imtil  the  royal  pleasure 
shomd  be  known:  but  the  commissioners  had  scarcely  left  New  England, 
when  the  authorities  of  Massachusetts,  aided  by  a  military  force,  resumed 
their  sway,  and  reduced  the  province  to  a  reluctant  submission.  The  legal 
proprietor,  F.  Gorges,  grandson  to  the  original  patentee,  succeeded  in  obtain- 

ing a  restitution  of  his  title  in  1677.  This  was  effected  by  a  formal  adjudica- 
tion at  Whitehall,  where  the  agents  of  the  Massachusetts  Bay  Company  ap- 

peared in  compliance  with  a  royal  order.  But  the  colony  was  unwilling  to 
renounce  her  hold  on  the  province,  and  in  conformity  with  her  instructions, 
her  agents  purchased  the  title  from  Gorges  for  the  sum  of  £1,250.  After  this 
transaction,  the  governor  and  council  of  Massachusetts  Bay  took  possession, 
under  colour  of  a  right  derived  from  their  former  patent,  and  declaring  them- 

selves the  lawful  assigns  of  Ferdinando  Gorges,  they  proceeded  to  organise  a 
provincial  jurisdiction  accordingly. 

The  government  established  at  this  time,  consisted  of  a  president,  deputy, 
and  assistant,  eight  justices,  and  an  elective  general  court.    This  form  of 
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government  was  retained  until  1692,  when  by  a  new  charter  granted  to  Massa- 
chusetts, Maine  was  constituted  a  county,  with  the  name  of  Yorkshire.  This 

arrangement  continued  unchanged  till  1760,  when  Cumberland  and  Lincob 
counties  were  incorporated,  and  York  reduced  to  nearly  its  present  limits. 
After  the  revolution,  Maine  was  styled  a  district,  although  its  connection  with 
Massachusetts  remained  the  same  until  1820,  when  it  was  erected  mto  a 
separate  and  independent  state.  About  one-third  of  the  present  territory  of 
Maine  was  included  in  the  patent  of  Gorges.  The  other  portions  fell  to  Massa- 

chusetts in  virtue  of  the  charter  of  1692. 

Prior  to  that  date,  the  ancient  settlement  of  Pemaquid  —  now  Bristol  — 
was  the  only  important  post  east  of  the  Kennebec.  The  French  province  of 
Acadia,  originally  so  indefinite  in  its  asserted  limits,  was  finally  restricted  on 
the  west  of  the  Pemaquid  river.  But  the  EngHsh  resisted  even  this  reduced 
demand  of  territory  on  the  part  of  the  French;  and  in  1664,  Charles  II  included 
in  his  patent  to  James,  duke  of  York,  the  country  extending  from  Pemaquid 
to  St.  Croix  river.  Being  thus  united  in  its  government  with  New  York,  it 
received  the  name  of  the  county  of  Cornwall;  a  fortress  was  built  at  Pema- 

quid to  defend  the  inhabitants;  and  at  the  instigation  of  the  governors  of 
New  York,  a  considerable  niunber  of  emigrants  estabhshed  themselves  at 
different  points  along  the  coast.  The  ravages  of  the  Indians  prevented  the 
growth  of  these  settlements,  and  finally  occasioned  the  dispersion  of  the 
inhabitants  for  a  number  of  years.  When  James  was  dethroned  as  king  of 
England,  his  title  to  these  lands  ceased.  The  charter  granted  by  William  in 
1692,  vested  the  territory  in  Massachusetts,  as  already  stated.  On  the  reduc- 

tion of  Canada  and  the  termination  of  Indian  hostilities,  numerous  settlers 
again  took  up  these  lands:  and  from  that  time  to  the  present,  notwithstanding 
the  many  perplexities  produiced  by  conflicting  and  unsettled  claims  to  the 
riight  of  the  soil,  this  portion  of  Maine  has  steadily  advanced  in  cultivation 
and  improvement.  The  inexhaustible  fisheries  and  forests  of  timber  which 
first  drew  settlers  to  the  shores  of  Maine  and  New  Hampshire,  covering  their 
waters  with  fleets  of  small  vessels,  and  enlivening  their  solitudes  with  the  busy 
sounds  of  the  saw-mills,  have,  in  all  periods  of  their  history,  proved  great 
sources  of  wealth.* 

THE  COLONY  OF  MASSACHUSETTS  BAT 

Besides  the  settlements  mentioned  as  made  or  attempted  on  the  coast  of 
New  England,  there  had  been  another,  of  no  great  consequence  in  itself,  but 
interesting  as  the  embryo  of  the  colony  of  Massachusetts  Bay.  White,  a 
clergyman  of  Dorchester,  in  the  west  of  England,  a  Puritan,  though  not  a 
separatist,  had  in  1624  persuaded  several  merchants  of  that  city  to  attempt  a 
settlement  in  New  England  in  conjunction  with  the  fishing  business.  The 
rocky  promontory  of  Cape  Ann,  which  forms  the  north  shore  of  Massachusetts 
Bay,  was  fixed  upon  for  this  purpose :  and  Lyf ord  and  Conant,  the  same  who 
had  been  expelled  from  New  Plymouth  by  the  zeal  of  the  stricter  separatists  of 
that  colony,  were  taken  into  employ,  the  first  as  preacher  or  chaplain,  the 
other  as  general  manager.  This  undertaking,  like  other  similar  enterprises, 
proved  more  expensive  and  less  profitable  than  had  been  expected.  It  was 
abandoned  in  1626;  Lyf  ord  removed  to  Virginia;  but  Conant,  relying  upon 
the  further  co-operation  of  White,  betook  himself,  with  three  companions, 
and  a  flock  of  cattle  sent  out  by  his  employers,  to  Naumkeag,  a  fitter  place,  in 
his  judgment,  for  a  settlement. 

White  exerted  himseK  to  find  new  adventurers,  and  not  without  success. 
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The  English  Puritans,  for  years  past,  had  been  growing  more  and  more  uneasy. 
Many  clergymen  of  that  cast  had  been  silenced  or  deprived  ot  their  cures  for 
nonconformity,  and  the  present  fashion  of  colonisation  in  America,  as  well  as 
the  example  of  the  Plymouth  colony,  had  suggested  the  idea  of  a  Puritan 
refuge  across  the  Atlantic.  With  this  view,  John  Humphrey,  a  brother-in- 
law  of  the  earl  of  Lincoln,  John  Endicott,  and  four  others,  gentlemen  of  Dor- 

chester, obtained,  at  White's  instigation,  from  the  council  for  New  England,  a 
grant  of  the  coast  between  Laconia  on  the  one  side,  and  the  Plymouth  patent 
on  the  other,  including  the  whole  of  Massachusetts  Bay.  This  grant  of  March 
19th,  1628,  extended  westward  to  the  Pacific,  coterminate  in  that  direction 
with  the  New  England  patent  itself;  north  and  south  it  was  bounded  by  two 

parallel  lines,  the  one  three  miles  north  of  "any  and  every  part"  of  the  Merri- 
mac,  the  other  three  miles  south  of  "  any  and  every  part"  of  Charles  river,  one 
of  the  streams  flowing  into  the  head  of  Massachusetts  Bay,  and  so  named  on 
Smith's  map  of  New  England.  Part  of  this  tract  on  the  seacoast  had  been 
conveyed,  in  March,  1622,  to  Mason,  under  the  name  of  Mariana,  and  another 
smaller  portion  to  Robert  Gorges,  the  late  lieutenant  general.  He  was  dead; 
but  his  brother  and  heir  had  conveyed  a  part  of  this  tract  to  Oldham,  the  exile 
from  Pl3Tnouth,  who  had  estabhshed  himself  as  an  Indian  trader  at  Nantasket. 
The  rest  had  been  transferred  to  Sir  William  Brereton,  who  about  this  time 
sent  over  indented  servants,  and  began  a  settlement,  probably  at  Winnissimet, 
now  Chelsea.  The  earl  of  Warwick  appears  also  to  have  had  a  claim  to  this 
territory,  or  a  part  of  it;  but,  whatever  it  was  he  presently  relinquished  it  to 
the  Massachusetts  patentees.  Those  patentees,  indeed,  for  some  reason  not 
very  apparent,  seem  to  have  regarded  all  the  previous  grants  as  void  against 
them. 

ENDICOTT's  arrival   (1628  A.D.) 

New  partners  were  soon  found.  John  Winthrop,  of  Groton,  in  Suffolk, 
educated  a  lawyer,  a  gentleman  of  handsome  landed  property,  Sir  Richard 
Saltonstall,  and  other  wealthy  Puritans  in  London  and  the  vicinity,  became 
interested  in  the  enterprise;  and,  to  prepare  the  way  for  a  larger  migration, 

John  Endicott  whom  Edward  Johnson//  calls,  "a  fit  instrument  to  begin  this 
wilderness  work,"  indefatigable,  undaunted,  austere,  yet  of  a  "sociable  and 
cheerful  spirit,"  was  despatched  at  once,  with  sixty  or  seventy  people,  to 
make  the  commencement  of  a  settlement.  Welcomed  at  Naumkeag  by 
Conant,  September  14th,  1628,  in  conformity  with  his  instructions,  he  soon 
despatched  a  small  party  by  land,  to  explore  the  head  of  Massachusetts  Bay, 
where  it  had  been  resolved  to  plant  the  principal  colony.  The  peninsula 
between  Charles  and  Mystic  rivers,  already  known  as  Charleton  or  Charlestown, 
was  found  in  possession  of  one  Walford,  a  smith.  The  opposite  peninsula  of 
Shawmut  was  occupied  by  another  lonely  settler,  one  Blackstone,  an  eccentric 
non-conforming  clergyman.  The  island,  now  East  Boston,  was  inhabited 
by  Samuel  Maverick,  an  Indian  trader,  who  had  a  little  fort  there,  with  two 

small  cannon.  On  Thompson's  Island,  more  to  the  south,  dwelt  David 
Thompson,  already  mentioned  as  one  of  the  original  settlers  on  the  Piscataqua. 
Oldham  stiU  had  an  establishment  at  Nantasket,  though  at  this  moment  he 
was  in  England,  negotiating  with  the  Massachusetts  Company.  There  were  a 
few  settlers,  it  is  probable,  at  Winnissimet,  servants  of  Brereton;  some,  also, 
at  Wissagusset,  and  a  few  more  at  Mount  Wollaston. 

Endicott  sent  home  loud  complaints  of  these  "  old  planters,"  especially  in 
relation  to  the  Indian  trade,  which  formed  their  chief  business.    They  came, 
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in  fact,  in  direct  conflict  with  the  new  patentees,  who  claimed  an  exclusive 
right  of  Indian  traffic  within  the  limits  of  their  patent.  The  unportance  of this  trade  was  very  much  exaggerated.  There  dwelt  on  the  shores  of  Massa- 

chusetts Bay  only  four  or  five  petty  sachems,  each  with  some  thirty  or  forty 
warriors.  Yet,  at  Endicott's  suggestion,  the  company  obtained  a  renewal  of the  royal  proclamation  of  1622  against  irregular  trading  with  the  Indians. 

New  associates,  meanwhile,  had  joined  the  company  in  England,  including 
several  from  Boston  and  its  vicinity,  in  Lincolnshire;  among  them,  Isaac 
Johnson,  another  brother-in-law  of  the  earl  of  Lincoln;  Thomas  Dudley,  the 
earl's  steward;  Simon  Bradstreet,  steward  to  the  dowager  countess  of  War- wick, and  son-in-law  of  Dudley;  William  Coddington,  a  wealthy  merchant  of 
Boston;  and  Richard  Bellingham,  bred  a  la-wyer  —  all  conspicuous  in  the subsequent  history  of  Massachusetts.  A  very  warm  interest  was  taken  in  the 
enterprise  by  the  Lady  Lincoln,  a  daughter  of  Lord  Say,  a  conspicuous  Puritan 
nobleman,  himself  active,  as  we  shall  presently  see,  in  American  colonisations. 
The  compa,ny,  thiis  re-enforced,  and  sustained  by  money  and  influential 
friends,  easily  obtained  a  royal  charter  confirming  their  grant,  and  superadd- 

ing powers  of  government.  This  charter  was  modelled  after  that  of  the  late 
Virginia  Company,  vacated  by  Quo  Warranto  five  years  before.^ 

BANCROFT  ON  THE   CHARTER  AND  FIRST  SETTLERS  OF  MASSACHUSETTS 

The  patent  for  the  company  of  the  Massachusetts  Bay  passed  the  seals, 
March  4th,  1629;  a  few  days  only  before  Charles  I,  in  a  public  state-paper, 
avowed  his  design  of  governing  without  a  parliameiut.  The  charter,  which 
bears  the  signature  of  Charles  I,  and  which  was  cherished  for  more  than  half  a 
century  as  the  most  precious  boon,  established  a  corporation,  like  other  cor- 

porations within  the  realm.  The  associates  were  constituted  a  body  politic  by 
the  name  of  "  The  Governor  and  Company  of  the  Massachusetts  Bay  in  New 
England."  The  administration  of  its  affairs  was  entrusted  to  a  governor, 
deputy,  and  eighteen  assistants,  who  were  to  be  annually  elected  by  the-stock- 
holders,  or  members  of  the  corporation. 

Four  times  a  year,  or  oftener  if  desired,  a  general  assembly  of  the  freemen 
was  to  be  held;  and  to  these  assemblies,  which  were  invested  with  the  neces- 

sary powers  of  legislation,  inquest,  and  superintendence,  the  most  iinportant 
affairs  were  referred.  No  provision  required  the  assent  of  the  king  to  render 
the  acts  of  the  body  valid;  in  his  eye  it  was  but  a  trading  corporation,  not  a 
civU  government;  its  doings  were  esteemed  as  indifferent  as  those  of  any  guild 
or  company  in  England;  and  if  powers  of  jurisdiction  in  America  were  con- 

ceded, it  was  only  from  the  nature  of  the  business  in  which  the  stockholders 
were  to  engage.  For  the  charter  designedly  granted  great  facilities  for  coloni- 

sation. It  empowered,  but  it  did  not  require,  the  governor  to  administer  the 
oaths  of  supremacy  and  allegiance;  yet  the  charter,  according  to  the  strict 
rules  of  legal  interpretation,  was  far  from  conceding  to  the  patentees  the  privi- 

lege of  freedom  of  worship.  Not  a  single  line  alludes  to  such  a  purpose;  nor 
can  it  be  implied  by  a  reasonable  construction  from  any  clause.  The  omission, 
of  an  express  guaranty  left  religious  liberty  unprovided  for  and  unprotected. 
The  express  concession  of  power  to  administer  the  oath  of  supremacy,  demon- 

strates that  universal  religious  toleration  was  not  designed;  am  the  freemen  of 
the  corporation,  it  should  be  remembered,  were  not  at  that  time  separatists. 
Even  Higginson,  and  Hooker,  and  Cotton  were  still  ministers  of  the  Church  of 

England;  nor  could  the  patentees  foresee,  nor  the  English  government  antici- 
pate, how  wide  a  departure  from  English  usages  would  grow  out  of  the  omi- a,  v.— roL.  zxii.  Zt 
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gration  of  Puritans  to  America.  Episcopacy  had  no  motive  to  emigrate;  it 
was  Puritanism,  almost  alone,  that  emigrated;  and  freedom  of  Puritan  worship 
was  necessarily  the  piu-pose  and  the  result  of  the  colony.  If  the  privilege 
could  not  have  been  established  as  a  legal  right,  it  followed  so  clearly  from  the 
facts,  that,  in  1662,  the  sovereign  of  England,  probably  with  the  assent  and  at 
the  instance  of  Clarendon,  declared,  "the  principle  and  foundation  of  the 
charter  of  Massachusetts  to  be  the  freedom  of  liberty  of  conscience." 

Massachusetts  was  not  erected  into  a  province,  to  be  governed  by  laws  of 
its  own  enactment;  it  was  reserved  for  the  corporation  to  decide  what  degree  of 
civil  rights  its  colonists  should  enjoy.  The  charter  on  which  the  freemen  of 
Massachusetts  succeeded  in  erecting  a  system  of  independent  representative 
liberty,  did  not  secure  to  them  a  single  privilege  of  self  government;  but  left 
them,  as  the  Virginians  had  been  left,  without  one  valuable  franchise,  at  the 
mercy  of  a  corporation  within  the  realm.  This  was  so  evident,  that  some  of 
those  who  had  already  emigrated  clamoured  that  they  were  become  slaves. 
It  was  perhaps  implied,  though  it  was  not  expressly  required,  that  the  affairs 
of  the  company  should  be  administered  in  England;  yet  the  place  for  holding 
the  courts  was  not  specially  appointed.  What  if  the  corporation  should  vote 
the  emigrants  to  be  freemen,  and  call  a  meeting  beyond  the  Atlantic?  What 
if  the  governor,  deputy,  assistants,  and  freemen,  should  themselves  emigrate, 
and  thus  break  down  the  distinction  between  the  colony  and  the  corporation? 
The  history  of  Massachusetts  is  the  coimterpart  to  that  of  Virginia;  the  latter 
obtained  its  greatest  liberty  by  the  abrogation  of  the  charter  of  its  company; 
the  former  lay  a  transfer  of  its  charter,  and  a  daring  construction  of  its  powers 
by  the  successors  of  the  original  patentees. 

The  charter  had  been  granted  in  March;  in  April,  preparations  were  hasten- 
ing for  the  embarkation  of  new  emigrants.  The  government  which  was  now 

established  for  Massachusetts  merits  commemoration,  though  it  was  never 
duly  organised.  It  was  to  consist  of  a  governor  and  counsellors,  of  whom 
eight  out  of  the  thirteen  were  appointed  by  the  corporation  in  England;  three 
were  to  be  named  by  these  eight;  and,  as  it  was  said,  to  remove  all  grounds  of 
discontent,  the  choice  of  the  remaining  two  counsellors  was  granted  to  the 
colonists  as  a  liberal  boon.  The  board,  when  thus  constituted,  was  invested 
with  all  the  powers  of  legislation,  justice,  and  administration.  Such  was  the 
inauspicious  dawn  of  civU  and  religious  liberty  on  the  bay  of  Massachusetts. 

Benevolent  instructions  to  Endicott  were  at  the  same  time  issued.  "  If 
any  of  the  salvages"  —  such  were  the  orders  long  and  uniformly  followed  in  all 
changes  of  government,  and  placed  on  record  more  than  half  a  century  before 
William  Penn  proclaimed  the  principles  of  peace  on  the  borders  of  the  Dela- 

ware —  "  pretend  right  of  inheritance  to  all  or  any  part  of  the  lands  granted 
in  our  patent,  we  pray  you  endeavour  to  purchase  their  tytle,  that  we  may 

avoid  the  least  scruple  of  intrusion."  "Particularly  publish,  that  no  wrong 
or  injiury  be  offered  to  the  natives." 

The  departure  of  the  fleet  for  America  was  now  anxiously  desired.  The 
colonists  were  to  be  cheered  by  the  presence  of  religious  teachers;  and  the 
excellent  and  truly  catholic  Francis  Higginson,  an  eminent  non-conforming 
minister,  receiving  an  invitation  to  conduct  the  emigrants,  esteemed  it  as  a 
call  from  heaven.  The  propagation  of  the  gospel  among  the  heathen  was 
earnestly  desired;  in  pious  sincerity  they  resolved  if  possible  to  redeem  these 
wrecks  of  human  nature;  the  colony  seal  was  an  Indian,  erect,  with  an  arrow 

in  his  right  hand,  and  the  motto,  "  Come  over  and  help  us."  The  company  of 
emigrants  was  wiimowed  before  sailing;  and  servants  of  ill  life  were  discharged. 

"No  idle  drone  may  live  amongst  us,"  was  the  spirit  as  well  as  the  law  of  the 
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dauntless  community,  which  was  to  turn  the  sterility  of  New  England  into  a 
cluster  of  wealthy  states. 

It  was  in  the  last  days  of  June,  that  the  little  band  of  two  hundred  arrived 

at  Salem,  where  the  "corruptions  of  the  English  church"  were  never  to  be 
planted,  and  where  a  new  "reformation"  was  to  be  reduced  to  practice. 
They  found  neither  church  nor  town;  eight  or  ten  pitiful  hovels,  one  more 
stately  tenement  for  the  governor,  and  a  few  cornfields,  were  the  only  proofs 
that  they  had  been  preceded  by  their  countrymen.  The  whole  body  of  old 
and  new  planters  now  amounted  to  three  hundred;  of  whom  one  third  joined 
the  infant  settlement  at  Charlestown. 

To  the  great  European  world  the  few  tenants  of  the  mud  hovels  and  log 
cabins  at  Salem  might  appear  too  insignificant  to  merit  notice;  to  themselves 
they  were  as  the  chosen  emissaries  of  God;  outcasts  from  England,  yet  fav- 

ourites with  heaven;  destitute  of  security,  of  convenient  food  and  shelter,  and 
yet  blessed  beyond  all  mankind,  for  they  were  the  depositaries  of  the  purest 
truth,  and  the  selected  instruments  to  kindle  in  the  wilderness  the  beacon  of 
pure  religion,  of  which  the  undying  light  should  not  only  penetrate  the  wig- 

wams of  the  heathen,  but  spread  its  benignant  beams  across  the  darkness  of 
the  whole  civilised  world.  The  emigrants  were  not  so  much  a  body  politic, 
as  a  church  in  the  wilderness.  An  entire  separation  was  made  between  state 
and  church  July  20th;  religious  worship  was  established  on  the  basis  of  the 
independence  of  each  separate  religious  community;  all  officers  of  the  church 
were  elected  by  its  members;  and  these  rigid  Calvinists,  of  whose  rude  intoler- 

ance the  world  has  been  filled  with  calumnies,  subscribed  a  covenant,  cher- 
ishing, it  is  true,  the  severest  virtues,  but  without  one  tinge  of  fanaticism. 

It  was  an  act  of  piety,  not  of  study;  it  favored  virtue,  not  superstition; 
inquiry,  and  not  submission.  The  people  were  enthusiasts,  but  not  bigots. 
The  church  was  self-constituted.  It  did  not  ask  the  assent  of  the  king,  or 
recognise  him  as  its  head;  its  officers  were  set  apart  and  ordained  among 
themselves;  it  used  no  liturgy;  it  rejected  unnecessary  ceremonies,  and 
reduced  the  simplicity  of  Calvin  to  a  stUl  plainer  standard.  The  motives 
which  controlled  their  decisions  were  so  deeply  seated  in  the  very  character 
of  their  party,  that  the  doctrine  and  discipline  then  established  at  Salem 
remained  the  rule  of  Puritans  in  New  England. 

There  existed,  even  in  this  little  company,  a  few  individuals  to  whom 
the  new  system  was  unexpected;  and  in  John  and  Samuel  Browne,  they 
found  able  leaders.  They  declared  their  dissent  from  the  church  of  Higgin- 
son;  and,  at  every  risk  of  union  and  tranquillity,  they  insisted  upon  the  use 
of  the  English  liturgy.  But  should  the  emigrants  give  up  the  very  purpose 
for  which  they  had  crossed  the  Atlantic?  Should  not  even  the  forests  of 
Massachusetts  be  safe  against  the  intrusion  of  the  hierarchy,  before  which  they 
had  fled?  Finding  it  to  be  a  vain  attempt  to  persuade  the  Brownes  to  relin- 

quish their  resolute  opposition,  and  believing  that  their  speeches  tended  to 
produce  disorder  and  dangerous  feuds,  Endicott  sent  them  to  England  in  the 
returning  ships;  and  faction,  deprived  of  its  leaders,  died  away. 

Winter  brought  disease  and  the  sufferings  incident  to  early  settlements. 
Above  eighty,  almost  half  of  the  emigrants,  died  before  spring.  Higginson 
himself  fell  a  victim  to  a  hectic  fever. 

TRANSFER  OF  THE  CHARTER  TO  MASSACHUSETTS 

On  the  suggestion  of  the  generous  Matthew  Cradock,  the  governor  of  the 

company,  it  was  proposed  July  28th,  1629,  that  the  charter  should  be  trans- 
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f erred  to  those  of  the  freemen  who  shotdd  themselves  inhabit  the  colony;  and 
the  question  immediately  became  the  most  important  that  could  be  debated. 
An  agreement  was  at  once  formed  at  Cambridge  in  England,  between  men  of 
fortune  and  education,  that  they  would  themselves  embark  for  America,  if, 
before  the  last  of  September,  the  whole  government  should  be  legally  trans- 

ferred to  them  and  the  other  freemen  of  the  company,  who  should  inhabit  the 
plantation.  The  plan  was  sufficient  to  excite  in  the  family  of  John  Winthrop, 
and  in  many  of  the  purest  men  in  England,  the  desire  to  emigrate.  "I  shall 
call  that  my  country,"  said  the  younger  Winthrop  to  his  father,  "where  I  may 
most  glorify  God,  and  enjoy  the  presence  of  my  dearest  friends."  September 
1st,  1629,  it  was  with  general  consent  declared,  that  the  government  and  the 

patent  should  be  transferred  be- 
yond the  Atlantic,  and  settled 

in  New  England. 
This  vote  was  simply  a  deci- 

sion of  the  question  where  the 
future  meetings  of  the  company 
should  be  held;  and  yet  it  ef- 

fectually changed  a  commercial 
corporation  into  an  independent 
provincial  government.  The 
measure  was  believed  to  be  con- 

sistent with  the  principles  of  the 
charter.  The  corporation  did 
not  sell  itself;  the  corporation 
emigrated.  They  could  not  as- 

sign the  patent;  but  they  could 
call  a  legal  meeting  at  London  or 
on  board  ship  in  an  English  har- 

bour; and  why  not  in  the  port 
of  Salem  as  well  as  at  the  Isle  of 
Wight?  in  a  cabin  or  imder  a  tree 
at  Charlestown,  as  weU  as  at 
the  house  of  Goflfe  in  London? 
The  propriety  of  the  measure, 
in  a  juridical  point  of  view,  has 

been  questioned.  Similar  patents  were  granted  by  the  Long  Parliament 
and  Charles  II,  to  be  exercised  in  Rhode  Island  and  Connecticut;  Baltimore 
and  Penn  long  resided  on  their  domains;  and  the  Pilgrims  brought  with  them 
a  patent,  which,  it  is  true,  had  not  passed  the  seals,  but  which  was  invalid  for 
a  very  different  reason.  But,  whatever  may  be  thought  of  the  legality  of  the 
transfer  of  the  charter,  it  certainly  conferred  no  new  franchises  or  power  on 
the  emigrants,  unless  they  were  already  members  of  the  company;  it  admitted 
no  new  freemen;  it  gave  to  Massachusetts  a  present  government;  but  the 
corporation,  though  it  was  to  meet  in  New  England,  retained  in  its  full  integ- 

rity the  chartered  right  of  admitting  freemen  according  to  its  pleasure.  The 
manner  in  which  that  power  was  to  be  exercised  would  control  the  early 
political  character  of  Massachusetts. 

John  Winthrop 

(1587-1649) 

THE  EMIGRATION  WITH  JOHN  WINTHROP   (1629  A.D.) 

At  the  court  convened,  October  20th,  for  the  purpose  of  appointing  officers 
who  would  emigrate,  John  Winthrop,  a  man  approved  for  piety,  liberality, 
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and  conduct,  was  chosen  governor,  and  the  whole  board  of  assistants  selected 
for  America.  Yet,  as  the  hour  of  departure  drew  near,  the  consciousness  of 
danger  spread  such  terrors,  that  even  the  hearts  of  the  strong  began  to  fail. 
One  and  another  of  the  magistrates  declined.  It  was  principally  the  calm 
decision  of  Winthrop  which  sustained  the  courage  of  his  companions.  An 
honest  royalist,  averse  to  pure  democracy,  yet  firm  in  his  regard  for  existing 
popular  liberties;  in  England  a  conformist,  yet  loving  "gospel  purity"  even 
to  Independency;  in  America  niildly  aristocratic,  advocating  a  government  of 

"the  least  part,"  yet  desiring  that  part  to  be  "the  wiser  of  the  best";  disin- 
terested, brave,  and  conscientious  —  his  character  marks  the  transition  of  the 

reformation  into  avowed  republicanism;  when  the  sentiment  of  loyalty,  still 
sacredly  cherished,  was  gradually  yielding  to  the  irresistible  spirit  of  civil  free- 
dom. 

The  whole_  number  of  ships  employed  during  the  season  was  seventeen; 
and  they  carried  over  not  far  from  fifteen  hundred  sovls.  About  eight  hun- 

dred —  all  of  them  Puritans,  inclined  to  the  party  of  the  independents;  many 
of  them  men  of  high  endowments,  large  fortune,  and  the  best  education; 
scholars,  well  versed  in  all  the  learning  of  the  times;  clergymen,  who  ranked 
among  the  most  eloquent  and  pious  in  the  realm  —  embarked  with  Winthrop 
for  their  asylum,  bearing  with  them  the  charter,  which  was  to  be  the  basis  of 
their  liberties.  Before  leaving  Yarmouth,  they  published  to  the  world  the 
grounds  of  their  removal,  and  bade  an  affectionate  farewell  to  the  Church  of 

England  and  to  the  land  of  their  nativity.  "  Our  hearts,"  say  they,  "  shall  be 
fountains  of  tears  for  your  everlasting  welfare,  when  we  shall  be  in  our  poor 
cottages  in  the  wilderness." 

The  emigrants  were  a  body  of  sincere  believers,  desiring  purity  of  religion, 
and  not  a  colony  of  philosophers,  bent  upon  universal  toleration.  Reverence 
for  their  faith  led  them  to  a  new  hemisphere,  where  distance  might  protect 
them  from  inquisition;  to  a  soil  of  which  they  had  purchased  the  exclusive 
possession,  with  a  charter  of  which  they  had  acquired  the  entire  control;  for 
the  sake  of  reducing  to  practice  the  doctrines  of  religion  and  the  forms  of  civil 
liberty,  which  they  cherished  more  than  life  itself.  They  constituted  a  cor- 

poration to  which  they  themselves  might  establish,  at  their  pleasure,  the 
terms  of  admission.  They  held  in  their  own  hands  the  key  to  their  asylum, 
and  maintained  their  right  of  closing  its  doors  against  the  enemies  of  its  har- 

mony and  its  safety. 
In  June  and  July,  1630,  the  ships  which  bore  Winthrop  and  his  immediate 

companions,  arrived  to  a  scene  of  gloom;  such  of  the  earlier  emigrants  as  had 
survived  the  previous  winter,  were  poor  and  weak  from  sickness;  their  corn 

and  bread  were  hardly  enough  for  a  fortnight's  supply.  Instead  of  offering  a 
welcome,  they  thronged  to  the  new-comers  to  be  fed.  Nearly  two  hundred 
servants,  who  had  been  sent  over  at  a  great  expense,  received  their  liberty, 
free  from  all  engagements:  their  labour  —  such  was  the  excessive  scarcity  — 
was  worth  less  than  the  cost  of  their  maintenance. 

The  selection  of  places  for  the  new  plantations  became  the  immediate  care. 
The  bay  and  the  adjoining  rivers  were  examined:  if  Charlestown  was  the  place 
of  the  first  sojourning,  it  was  not  long  before  the  fires  of  civilisation,  never  more 
to  be  quenched,  were  kindled  in  Boston  and  the  adjacent  villages.  Boston, 

especially,  had  "sweet  and  pleasant  springs,"  "and  good  land,  affording  rich 
corn-fields  and  fruitful  gardens."  The  dispersion  of  the  company  was 
esteemed  a  grievance;  but  no  time  was  left  for  long  deliberation,  and  those 
who  had  health  began  to  build.  Yet  sickness  delayed  the  progress  of  the  work; 
and  death  often  withdrew  the  labourer  from  the  fruit  of  his  exertions.    Every 
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hardship  was  encountered.  The  emigrants  lodged  at  best  in  tents  of  cloth 

and  in  miserable  hovels;  they  beheld  their  friends  "weekly,  yea,  almost  daily, 
drop  away  before  their  eyes";  in  a  coimtry  abounding  in  secret  fountains, 
they  perished  for  the  want  of  good  water.?? 

THE  GOVERNORSHIP  OP  WINTHROP 

The  first  public  worship  was  held  under  a  tree.  On  the  30th  of  July,  1630, 
a  solemn  fast  was  observed  at  Charlestown;  and  on  this  occasion  were  laid 
the  foundations  of  the  first  church  at  this  place  and  at  Boston.  John  Win- 
throp  governor,  and  Thomas  Dudley  deputy,  with  eighteen  assistants,  and 
the  body  of  the  freemen  who  should  settle  in  the  new  province,  were  to  con- 

stitute a  legislative  and  executive  body,  in  which  all  the  corporate  rights  of 
the  colony  were  vested.  The  court  of  assistants  held  its  first  meeting  at 
Charlestown,  on  the  23rd  of  August,  and  enacted  that  houses  be  built  for  the 
ministers,  and  salaries  raised  for  them  at  the  common  charge.  A  second 
court  ordered  that  no  settlements  should  be  made  within  the  limit  of  their 
patent,  without  the  consent  of  the  governor  and  his  assistants;  and  changed 
the  name  of  Trimountain  to  Boston,  of  Metapan  to  Dorchester,  and  gave  to 
the  town  on  Charles  river  the  name  of  Watertown.  The  first  general  court  of 
Massachusetts  was  held  the  same  year  at  Boston,  where  the  governor  and  most 
of  his  assistants  had  removed  with  their  families  some  time  previous.  This 
court  enacted,  in  October,  that  the  freemen  should  in  future  elect  representa- 

tives, who  were  to  choose  a  governor  and  deputy  from  their  own  number,  and 
with  these,  possess  power  to  make  laws  for  the  province  and  appoint  officers  to 
execute  them.  To  this  measure  the  people  gave  their  assent  by  a  general  vote; 
but  the  court  rescinded  it  early  the  next  year,  and  enacted  that  the  officers 
should  be  chosen  by  the  whole  body  of  freemen. 

The  colony  suffered  much  from  the  severity  of  the  climate,  and  other 
trials  incident  to  a  new  settlement.  Before  December,  two  hundred  of  their 
number  died,  among  whom  was  Lady  Arbella  Johnson,  a  daughter  of  the  earl 
of  Lincoln,  who  had  left  the  abodes  of  luxury  and  social  comfort  for  the 
American  wilderness,  there  to  leave  a  memorial  of  her  virtues  and  misfortimes. 
Her  husband,  one  of  the  chief  patrons  of  the  colony,  weighed  down  by  sorrow 
and  suffering,  soon  followed  her.     But  the  colonists  bore  all  with  fortitude. 

As  soon  as  the  severity  of  the  winter  was  sufficiently  abated  to  admit  of 
assemblies  being  convened,  the  court  proceeded  to  enact  laws  for  their  internal 
regulation:  and  in  May  (1631)  that  body  ordered  that  in  future  no  persons 
shoTild  be  admitted  freemen,  or  entitled  to  a  share  in  the  government,  unless 
members  of  some  of  the  churches  within  the  province.  Many  historians  and 
statesmen  have  censured  this  provision,  and  the  right  of  the  government  to 
make  it  has  been  much  questioned.  Yet  it  was  perfectly  consistent  with  the 
spirit  of  the  age;  and  though  it  subsequently  produced  much  dissension,  it 
continued  in  force  imtil  the  dissolution  of  the  government. 

In  1632  the  chiefs  of  several  Indian  tribes  visited  Governor  Winthrop,  and 
sought  his  alliance.  Among  them  were  the  sachems  of  the  Mohegans,  Nip- 
mucs,  Narragansetts,  and  Pequots.  They  were  hospitably  entertained  by  the 
governor,  and  entered  respectively  into  treaties  of  amity  with  the  colony. 
To  confirm  their  friendly  relations  with  the  Plymouth  colony,  Winthrop  and 
Wilson  paid  a  visit  to  Governor  Bradford,  and  passed  a  Sabbath  with  him; 
an  event  to  which  no  small  importance  was  attached  at  the  time.  During 
the  summer  of  1633,  two  hundred  emigrants  arrived  from  England,  among 
whom  were  some  eminent  Puritan  ministers,  Eliot  and  Mayhew,  the  first 
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Protestant  missionaries  to  the  Indians;  John  Cotton,  "a  man  whose  singular 
worth  procured  and  long  preserved  to  him  a  patriarchal  repute  and  authority 
in  the  colony";  and  Thomas  Hooker,  a  man  Uttle  inferior  to  him  in  worth  and 
influence.  At  a  later  period.  Dr.  Increase  Mather  arrived,  whose  family  sup- 

plied no  less  than  ten  ministers  to  the  colony  in  after  times,  and  produced  the 
celebrated  author  of  the  Ecclesiastical  History  of  New  England. 

The  small-pox  had  prevailed  in  the  neighbourhood  of  the  Enghsh  settle- 
ments to  a  considerable  extent,  destroying  the  natives  and  leaving  their  lands 

desolate ;  and  as  several  of  the  vacant  Indian  stations  were  well  chosen,  the 
colonists  eagerly  took  possession  of  them.  This  produced  a  greater  dispersion 
of  the  population  than  suited  the  condition  of  an  infant  colony,  and  it  led  to 
innovation  in  the  government,  totally  altering  its  nature  and  constitution. 

"When  a  general  court  was  to  be  held  in  1634,  instead  of  attending  in  person, as  the  charter  prescribed,  the  freemen  elected  representatives  in  their  different 
districts,  authorising  them  to  appear  in  their  name,  with  full  power  to  delib- 

erate and  decide  on  all  points  that  fell  under  the  cognisance  of  the  general 
court.  This  court  asserted  their  right  to  a  greater  share  in  the  government 
than  they  had  formerly  possessed,  and  provided  that  the  whole  body  of  free- 

men should  assemble  but  once  a  year  for  the  election  of  magistrates,  while  the 
deputies  from  the  several  districts  were  to  assemble  in  general  court  four  times 
a  year.  They  also  provided  against  arbitrary  taxation,  by  enacting  that  the 
disposing  of  land  and  raising  of  money  should  be  done  only  by  the  representa- 

tives of  the  people.  This  general  court  is  the  second  instance  of  a  house  of 
representatives  in  America,  the  first  being  that  of  Virginia,  convened  June 
19th,  1619.  The  government  thus  established,  was  retained,  with  but  slight 
alterations,  during  the  continuance  of  the  charter.  We  must  henceforth  con- 

sider the  colony,  not  as  a  corporation,  whose  powers  were  defined  and  mode  of 
procedure  regulated  by  its  charter  —  but  as  a  society  possessed  of  political 
liberty,  and  a  constitution  framed  on  the  model  of  that  in  England.^  Thus 
early  did  Massachusetts  echo  the  voice  of  Virginia. 

The  state  was  filled  with  the  hum  of  village  politicians;  "the  freemen  of 
every  town  in  the  bay  were  busy  in  inquiring  into  their  liberties  and  privi- 

leges." With  the  exception  of  the  principle  of  universal  suffrage,  now  so 
happily  established,  the  representative  democracy  was  as  perfect  two  centuries 
ago  as  it  is  to-day.  Even  the  magistrates,  who  acted  as  judges,  held  their 
office  by  the  annual  popular  choice.  "  Elections  cannot  be  safe  there  long," 
said  the  lawyer  Lechford.  The  same  prediction  has  been  made  these  two 
hundred  years.  The  public  mind,  ever  in  perpetual  agitation,  is  still  easily 
shaken,  even  by  slight  and  transient  impulses;  but  after  all  its  vibrations,  it 
follows  the  laws  of  the  moral  world,  and  safely  recovers  its  balance. 

To  limit  the  discretion  of  the  executive,  the  people  next  demanded  a  writ- 
ten constitution;  and  a  commission  was  appointed,  in  May,  1635,  "  to  frame  a 

hody  of  grounds  of  laws  in  resemblance  to  a  magna  charta,"  to  serve  as  a  bill of  rights.  The  ministers,  as  well  as  the  general  court,  were  to  pass  judgment 

on  the  work;  and,  with  partial  success.  Cotton  urged  that  God's  people 
«hould  be  governed  by  the  laws  from  God  to  Moses.  The  relative  powers  of 
the  assistants  and  the  deputies  remained  for  nearly  ten  years,  1634  to  1644, 
the  subject  of  discussion  and  contest.  Both  were  elected  by  the  people;  the 
former  by  the  whole  colony,  the  latter  by  the  several  towns.  The  two  bodies 
acted  together  in  convention;  but  the  assistants  claimed  and  exercised  the 

further  right  of  a  separate  negative  vote  on  all  joint  proceedings.  The  popu- 
lar branch  resisted;  yet  the  authority  of  the  patricians  was  long  maintained, 

sometimes  by  wise  delay,  sometimes  by  "a  judicious  sermon;"  till,  at  last, 
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March,  1644,  a  compromise  divided  the  court  into  two  branches,  and  gave  to 
each  a  negative  on  the  other.  99 

BANCROFT  ON  PURITAN  INSTITtmONS  AND  INFLUENCE 

It  was  ever  the  custom,  and  it  soon  became  the  law,  in  Puritan  New  Eng- 
land, that  "  none  of  the  brethren  shall  suffer  so  much  barbarism  in  their  fami- 

lies as  not  to  teach  their  children  and  apprentices  so  much  learning  as  may 
enable  them  perfectly  to  read  the  English  tongue. "  "  To  the  end  that  learning 
may  not  be  buried  in  the  graves  of  our  forefathers,"  it  was  ordered  in  all  the 
Puritan  colonies  "that  every  township,  after  the  Lord  hath  increased  them  to 
the  number  of  fifty  householders,  shall  appoint  one  to  teach  all  children  to 
write  and  read;  and  where  any  town  shall  increase  to  the  number  of  one  hun- 

dred families,  they  shall  set  up  a  grammar  school;  the  masters  thereof  being 
able  to  instruct  youth  so  far  as  they  may  be  fitted  for  the  university."  The 
press  began  its  work  in  1639.  "When  New  England  was  poor,  and  they  were 
but  few  in  number,  there  was  a  spu-it  to  encourage  learning." 

FREE  schools:      HARVARD   COLLEGE 

Six  years  after  the  arrival  of  Winthrop,  the  general  court  voted  a  sum, 

equal  to  a  year's  rate  of  the  whole  colony,  towards  the  erection  of  a  college. 
In  1638,  John  Harvard,  who  arrived  in  the  bay  only  to  fall  a  victim  to  the 
most  wasting  disease  of  the  climate,  desiring  to  connect  himself  imperishably 
with  the  happiness  of  his  adopted  country,  bequeathed  to  the  college  one  half 
of  his  estate  and  all  his  library.  The  infant  institution  was  a  favorite;  Con- 

necticut, and  Plymouth,  and  the  towns  in  the  east  often  contributed  little 
offerings  to  promote  its  success;  the  gift  of  the  rent  of  a  ferry,  in  1645,  was  a 
proof  of  the  care  of  the  state;  and  once,  at  least,  every  family  in  each  of  the 
colonies  gave  to  the  college  at  Cambridge  twelve  pence,  or  a  peck  of  corn,  or  its 
value  in  unadulterated  wampumpeag;  while  the.  magistrates  and  wealthier 
men  were  profuse  in  their  liberality.  The  college,  in  return,  exerted  a  power- 

ful influence  in  forming  the  early  character  of  the  country.  In  these  measures, 
especially  in  the  laws  establishing  common  schools,  lies  the  secret  of  the  suc- 

cess and  character  of  New  England.  Every  chUd,  as  it  was  born  into  the 
world,  was  lifted  from  the  earth  by  the  genius  of  the  country,  and,  in  the 
statutes  of  the  land,  received,  as  its  birthright,  a  pledge  of  the  public  care  for 
its  morals  and  its  mind. 

There  are  some  who  love  to  enumerate  the  singularities  of  the  early  Puri- 
tans. They  were  opposed  to  wigs;  they  would  preach  against  veils;  they 

denounced  long  hair;  they  disliked  the  cross  in  the  banner,  as  much  as  the 
people  of  Paris  disliked  the  lilies  of  the  Bourbons,  and  for  analogous  reasons. 
They  would  not  allow  Christmas  Day  to  be  kept  sacred;  they  caUed  neither 
months,  nor  days,  nor  seasons,  nor  churches,  nor  inns  by  the  names  common 
in  England;  they  revived  Scripture  names  at  christenings.  The  grave 
Romans  legislated  on  the  costume  of  men,  and  their  senate  could  even  stoop 
to  interfere  with  the  triumphs  of  the  sex  to  which  civic  honors  are  denied; 
the  fathers  of  New  England  prohibited  frivolous  fashions  in  their  own  dress; 
and  their  austerity,  checking  extravagance  even  in  woman,  frowned  on  her 
hoods  of  silk  and  her  scarfs  of  tiffany,  extended  the  length  of  her  sleeve  to  the 
wrist,  and  limited  its  greatest  width  to  half  an  ell.  The  Puritans  were  formal 
and  precise  in  their  manners;  singular  in  the  forms  of  their  legislation;  rigid 
in  the  observance  of  their  principles.    Every  topic  of  the  day  found  a  place 



THE   FOUNDING   OF   NEW   ENGLAND  649 
[1638-1639  A.D.] 

in  their  extemporaneous  prayers,  and  infused  a  stirring  interest  into  their  lone 
and  frequent  sermons.  The  courts  of  Massachusetts  respected  in  practice  the code  of  Moses;  the  island  of  Rhode  Island  enacted  for  a  year  or  two  a  Jewish 
masquerade;  in  New  Haven,  the  members  of  the  constituent  committee  were 
called  the  seven  pillars,  hewn  out  for  the  house  of  wisdom.  But  these  are 
only  the  outward  forms,  which  gave  to  the  new  sect  its  marked  exterior. 

If  from  the  outside  peculiarities,  which  so  easily  excite  the  sneer  of  the 
superficial  observer,  we  look  to  the  genius  of  the  sect  itself,  Puritanism  was 
religion  struggling  for  the  people.  "Its  absurdities,"  says  its  enemy,  "were 
the  shelter  for  the  noble  principles  of  liberty."  It  was  its  office  to  engraft  the new  institutions  of  popular  energy  upon  the  old  European  system  of  a  feudal 
aristocracy  and  popular  servitude;  the  good  was  permanent;  the  outward 
emblems  which  were  the  signs  of  the  party,  were  of  transient  duration;  like 
the  clay  and  ligaments  with  which  the  graft  is  held  in  its  place,  and  which  are 
brushed  away  as  soon  as  the  scion  is  firmly  united. 

Puritanism  exalted  the  laity.  Every  individual  who  had  experienced  the 
raptures  of  devotion,  every  believer,  who,  in  his  moments  of  ecstasy,  had  felt 
the  assurance  of  the  favor  of  God,  was  in  his  own  eyes  a  consecrated  person. 
For  him  the  wonderful  counsels  of  the  Almighty  had  chosen  a  Saviour;  for 
him  the  laws  of  nature  had  been  suspended  and  controlled,  the  heavens  had 
opened,  earth  had  quaked,  the  sun  had  veiled  his  face,  and  Christ  had  died  and 
had  risen  again;  for  him  prophets  and  apostles  had  revealed  to  the  world  the 
oracles  and  the  will  of  God.  Viewing  himself  as  an  object  of  the  divine  favour, 
and  in  this  connection  disclaiming  all  merit,  he  prostrated  himself  in  the  dust 
before  heaven;  looking  out  upon  mankind,  how  could  he  but  respect  himself, 
whom  God  had  chosen  and  redeemed?  Angels  hovered  round  his  path, 
charged  to  minister  to  his  soul;  spirits  of  darkness  leagued  together  to  tempt 
him  from  his  allegiance.  His  burning  piety  could  use  no  liturgy;  his  peni- 

tence could  reveal  his  transgressions  to  no  confessor.  He  knew  no  superior 
in  sanctity.  He  could  as  little  become  the  slave  of  a  priestcraft  as  of  a  despot. 
He  was  himself  a  judge  of  the  orthodoxy  of  the  elders;  and  if  he  feared  the 
invisible  powers  of  the  air,  of  darkness,  and  of  hell,  he  feared  nothing  on  earth. 
Puritanism  constituted,  not  the  Christian  clergy,  but  the  Christian  people,  the 
interpreter  of  the  divine  will.  The  voice  of  the  majority  was  the  voice  of  God; 
and  the  issue  of  Puritanism  was  therefore  popular  sovereignty. 

Of  all  contemporary  sects,  the  Puritans  were  the  most  free  from  credulity, 
and,  in  their  zeal  for  reform,  pushed  their  regulations  to  what  some  would  con- 

sider a  sceptical  extreme.  So  many  superstitions  had  been  bundled  up  with 
every  venerable  institution  of  Europe,  that  ages  have  not  yet  dislodged  them 
all.  The  Puritans  at  once  emancipated  themselves  from  a  crowd  of  observ- 

ances. They  established  a  worship  purely  spiritual.  To  them  the  elements 
remained  but  wine  and  bread;  they  invoked  no  saints;  they  raised  no  altar; 
they  adored  no  crucifix;  they  kissed  no  book;  they  asked  no  absolution;  they 
paid  no  tithes;  they  saw  in  the  priest  nothing  more  than  a  man;  ordination 
was  no  more  than  an  approbation  of  the  officer,  which  might  be  expressed  by 
the  brethren,  as  well  as  by  other  ministers;  the  church,  as  a  place  of  worship, 
was  to  them  but  a  meeting-house;  they  dug  no  graves  in  consecrated  earth; 
unlike  their  posterity,  they  married  without  a  minister,  and  buried  the  dead 
without  a  prayer.  Witchcraft  had  not  been  made  the  subject  of  sceptical 
consideration;  and  in  the  years  in  which  Scotland  sacrificed  hecatombs  to  the 
delusion,  there  were  three  victims  in  New  England. 

On  every  subject  but  religion,  the  mildness  of  Puritan  legislation  corres- 
ponded to  the  popular  character  of  Puritan  doctrines.    Hardly  a  nation  of 
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Europe  has  as  yet  made  its  criminal  law  so  humane  as  that  of  early  New  Eng- 
land. A  crowd  of  offences  was  at  one  sweep  brushed  from  the  catalogue  of 

capital  crimes.  The  idea  was  never  received  that  the  forfeiture  of  life  may  be 

demanded  for  the  protection  of  property;  the  pimishment  for  theft,  for  burg- 
lary, and  highway  robbery  was  far  more  mild  than  the  penalties  imposed  even 

by  modern  American  legislation.  Of  divorce  we  have  found  no  example;  yet 
a  clause  in  one  of  the  statutes  recognises  the  possibility  of  such  an  event. 
Divorce  from  bed  and  board,  the  separate  maintenance  without  the  dissolution 
of  the  marriage  contract  —  an  anomaly  in  Protestant  legislation,  that  pimishes 
the  innocent  more  than  the  guilty  —  was  utterly  abhorrent  from  their  pru?.- 
ciples.  The  care  for  posterity  was  everywhere  visible.  Since  the  sanctity  of 
the  marriage-bed  is  the  safeguard  of  families,  and  can  alone  interest  the  father 
in  the  welfare  and  mstruction  of  his  offsprmg,  its  piu-ity  was  protected  by  the 
penalty  of  death;  a  penalty  which  was  inexorably  enforced  against  the  guilty 
wife  and  her  paramour.  If  in  this  respect  the  laws  were  more  severe,  in 
another  they  were  more  lenient  than  modern  manners  approve.  The  girl 
whom  youth  and  affection  betrayed  into  weakness  was  censured,  pitied,  and 
forgiven;  the  law  compelled  the  seducer  of  innocence  to  marry  the  person 
who  had  imposed  every  obligation  by  the  concession  of  every  right. 

The  benevolence  of  the  early  Puritans  appears  from  other  examples. 
Their  thoughts  were  always  fixed  on  posterity.  Domestic  discipline  was 
highly  valued;  but  if  the  law  was  severe  against  the  undutiful  child,  it  was  also 
severe  against  a  faithless  parent.  The  slave-trade  was  forbidden  under 
penalty  of  death.  The  earliest  laws,  tiU  1654,  did  not  permit  any  man's 
person  to  be  kept  in  prison  for  debt,  except  when  there  was  an  appearance  of 
some  estate  which  the  debtor  would  not  produce.  Even  the  brute  creation 
was  not  forgotten;  and  cruelty  towards  animals  was  a  civil  offence.  The 
sympathies  of  the  colonists  were  wide;  a  regard  for  Protestant  Germany  is  as 

old  as  emigration;  and,  during  the  Thirty  Years'  War,  the  whole  people  of 
New  England  held  fasts  and  offered  prayers  for  the  success  of  their  Saxon 
brethren. 

The  purity  of  morals  completes  the  picture  of  colonial  felicity.  "As  Ire- 
land will  not  brook  venomous  beasts,  so  will  not  that  land  vile  livers."  One 

might  dwell  there  "  from  year  to  year,  and  not  see  a  drunkard,  or  hear  an  oath, 
or  meet  a  beggar."  The  consequence  was  universal  health  —  one  of  the  chief 
elements  of  public  happiness.  The  average  duration  of  life  in  New  England, 
compared  with  Europe,  was  doubled;  and  the  human  race  was  so  vigorous 
that  of  all  who  were  bom  into  the  world  more  than  two  in  ten,  fuU  four  in 
nineteen,  attained  the  age  of  seventy.  Of  those  who  lived  beyond  ninety, 
the  proportion,  as  compared  with  European  tables  of  longevity,  was  still  more 
remarkable. 

We  have  dwelt  the  longer  on  the  character  of  the  early  Puritans  of  New 
England,  for  they  are  the  parents  of  one  third  the  whole  white  population  of 
the  United  States.  In  the  first  ten  or  twelve  years  —  and  there  was  never 
afterwards  any  considerable  increase  from  England  —  we  have  seen  that  there 
came  over  21,200  persons,  or  four  thousand  families.  To  New  York  and  Ohio, 
where  they  constitute  half  the  population,  they  have  carried  the  Puritan  sys- 

tem of  free  schools;  and  their  example  is  spreading  it  through  the  civilised 
world. 

Historians  have  loved  to  eulogise  the  manners  and  virtues,  the  glory  and 
the  benefits,  of  chivalry.  Puritanism  accomplished  for  mankind  far  more. 
Chivahy  delighted  in  outward  show,  favored  pleasure,  multiplied  amusementsj 
and  degraded  the  human  race  by  an  exclusive  respect  for  the  privileged  classes; 
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Puritanism  bridled  the  passions,  commanded  the  virtues  of  seK  denial,  and 
rescued  the  name  of  man  from  dishonor.  The  former  valued  courtesy;  the 
latter,  justice.  The  former  adorned  society  by  graceful  refinements;  the  lat- 

ter founded  national  grandeur  on  universal  education.  The  institutions  of 
chivalry  were  subverted  by  the  gradually  increasing  weight,  and  knowledge, 
and  opulence  of  the  industrious  classes;  the  Puritans,  rallying  upon  those 
classes,  planted  in  their  hearts  the  undying  principles  of  democratic  liberty .9? 
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